City of Dickinson Municipal Code

December 1, 2023

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: General Provisions

Chapter 2: Administration

Chapter 3: Adult Entertainment Centers or Establishments

Chapter 4: Alcoholic Beverages Chapter 5: Animals and Fowl

Chapter 6: Bicycles Chapter 7: Buildings

Chapter 8: Carnivals and Circuses

Chapter 9: Cemeteries

Chapter 10: Community Antenna Television Systems

Chapter 11: Courts, Fines, and Imprisonments

Chapter 12: Electricity

Chapter 13: Fire Prevention and Protection

Chapter 14: Flood Prevention

Chapter 15: Food and Food Establishments

Chapter 16: Frozen Desserts Chapter 17: Games of Chance Chapter 18: Garbage and Refuse

Chapter 19: Gas

Chapter 20: Health and Sanitation

Chapter 21: Licenses

Chapter 22: Meat and Meat Products Chapter 23: Motor Vehicles and Traffic

Chapter 24: Nuisances

Chapter 25: Offenses/Miscellaneous

Chapter 26: Parks

Chapter 27: Pawnbrokers and Junk Dealers

Chapter 28: Peddlers, Hawkers, and Transient Merchants

Chapter 29: Personnel

Chapter 30: Plumbing

Chapter 31: Police

Chapter 32: Retirement

Chapter 33: Streets and Sidewalks

Chapter 34: Subdivision of Land

Chapter 35: Sales and Use Tax

Chapter 36: Taxicabs and other Vehicles for Hire

Chapter 37: Urban Forestry

Chapter 38: Water and Sewers

Chapter 39: Zoning

Chapter 40: Oil, Gas, and Mineral Regulations

Chapter 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

Last updated February 2018

Sections:

- 1.010 Adoption of Code
- 1.015 Title--Citation--Reference
- 1.020 Definitions and rules of interpretation
- 1.025 Reference applies to all amendments
- 1.030 Title, chapter and section headings
- 1.035 Reference to specific ordinances
- 1.040 Provisions considered as continuations of existing ordinances
- 1.043 Ordinances passed prior to adoption of the Code
- 1.047 Effect of Code on past actions and obligations
- 1.050 Constitutionality
- 1.055 References to prior code
- 1.060 Repeal--Generally
- 1.070 Same--Revival of provision previously repealed
- 1.080 Precinct boundaries and polling places.

Section 1.010 Adoption of Code

There is hereby adopted by the board of city commissioners that certain code entitled "The Code of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota," as compiled, edited and published by Book Publishing Company, Seattle, Washington, containing certain ordinances of a general and permanent nature as compiled, consolidated and indexed in Chapters 1 to 39, both inclusive. (Ord. No. 1098, § 1.)

Section 1.015 Title--Citation--Reference

This code shall be known as "The Code of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota" and it shall be sufficient to refer to said Code as the "Dickinson City Code" in any prosecution for the violation of any provision thereof or in any proceeding at law or equity. It shall be sufficient to designate any ordinance adding to, amending, correcting or repealing all or any part or portion thereof as an addition to, amendment to, correction or repeal of "The Code of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota." Further reference may be had to the titles, chapters, sections and subsections of "The Code of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota" and such references shall apply to that numbered title, chapter, section or subsection as it appears in the Code. (Ord. No. 1098, § 2.)

Section 1.020 Definitions and rules of interpretation

In the construction of this Code and of all ordinances, the following rules shall be observed, unless such construction would be inconsistent with the manifest intent of the board of city commissioners:

Board of City Commissioners. The words "board of city commissioners" shall be construed as if followed by the words "of Dickinson."

Boulevard. That strip of land abutting on either side of the streets of the city lying between the outside edge of the sidewalks and the curb along such streets or that area between the inside edge of sidewalks and the lot lines in areas having curb sidewalks.

City. The words "the city" or "this city" shall be construed as if followed by the words "of Dickinson."

Code. "The Code of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota."

Computation of Time. The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, and then it is also excluded.

For state law as to computation of time, see NDCC, § 1-02-15.

County. Stark County, North Dakota.

Day. The period of time between any midnight and the midnight following.

Daytime, Nighttime. Daytime is the period between sunrise and sunset. Nighttime is the period of time between sunset and sunrise.

Gender. Words used importing masculine gender include the feminine and neuter. For state law as to gender, see NDCC, § 101-34.

In the City. All territory over which the city now has or shall hereafter acquire jurisdiction for the exercise of its police powers or other regulatory powers.

Joint Authority. All words giving a joint authority to three or more persons or officers shall be construed as giving such authority to a majority of such persons.

Month. A calendar month.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-33.

Number. The singular number includes the plural, and the plural the singular. *For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-35.*

Oath. The word "oath" shall include affirmation. *For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-49.*

Officers, departments, etc. Officers, departments, boards, commissions and employees referred to shall mean officers, departments, boards, commissions and employees of the city, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

Or, And. "Or" may be read "and" and "and" may be read "or" if the sense requires it.

Owner. Applied to a building or land, includes any part owner, joint owner, tenant in common, tenant in partnership or joint tenant of the whole or a part of such building or land.

Person. A corporation, firm, partnership, association, organization and any other group acting as a unit, as well as an individual.

For state law definition of person, see NDCC, § 1-01-28.

Personal Property. Money, goods, chattels, things in action and evidences of debt. *For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-49.*

Preceding, Following. The words "preceding" and "following" mean next before and next after respectively.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-49.

Property. Property, real and personal.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-49.

Real Property. Real property shall be coextensive with lands, tenements and hereditaments.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-49.

Several. In relation to number, two or more.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-29.

Shall, May. Shall is mandatory, and may is permissive.

Sidewalk. That portion of a street between the curb lines or the lateral lines of a roadway and the adjacent property lines intended for the use of pedestrians.

Signature or Subscription. The words "signature" or "subscription" include a mark when the name of a person who cannot write is written near it by a person who writes his own name as a witness.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-49.

State. The State of North Dakota.

Street. The entire width between property lines of every way or place of whatsoever nature when any part thereof is open to the use of the public as a matter of right of way for purposes of vehicular traffic.

Tense. Words in the present tense include the future.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-35.1.

Usual and customary. "According to usage."

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-32.

Written and printed. The words "writing" and "written" shall include typewriting and typewritten and printing and printed, except in the case of signatures and when the words are used by way of contrast to typewriting and printing. Writing may be made in any manner; except, that when a person entitled to require the execution of a writing demands that it be made with ink, it must be so made.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 1-01-37.

Year. A calendar year, except where otherwise provided. (Code 1958, § 1-2.) For state law as to definition of year, see NDCC, § 1-01-33. For state law definitions, see NDCC, § 1-01-01 et seq. As to rules of interpretation, see NDCC, § 1-02-01 et seq. 1-2.)

Section 1.025 Reference applies to all amendments

Whenever a reference is made to this code as the "Dickinson City Code" or to any portion thereof, or to any ordinance of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, codified herein, the reference shall apply to all amendments, corrections and additions heretofore, now or hereafter made. (Ord. No. 1098, § 3.)

Section 1.030 Title, chapter and section headings

Title, chapter and section headings contained herein shall not be deemed to govern, limit, modify or in any manner affect the scope, meaning or intent of the provisions of any title, chapter or section hereof. (Ord. No. 1098, § 4.)

Section 1.035 Reference to specific ordinances

The provisions of this Code shall not in any manner affect matters of record which refer to, or are otherwise connected with ordinances which are therein specifically designated by number or otherwise and which are included within the Code, but such reference shall be construed to apply to the corresponding provisions contained within this Code. (Ord. No. 1098, § 5.)

Section 1.040 Provisions considered as continuations of existing ordinances

The provisions appearing in this Code, so far as they are substantially the same as those of the Code of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, 1958 and other ordinances existing at the time of the adoption of this Code, shall be construed as a continuation thereof and not as new enactments. (Code 1958, § 1-4.)

Section 1.043 Ordinances passed prior to adoption of the Code

The last ordinance included in this Code was Ordinance 1086, passed December 7, 1992. The following Ordinances, passed subsequent to Ordinance 1086, but prior to adoption of this Code, are hereby adopted and made a part of this Code: Ordinances 1087, 1088, 1089, 1090, 1091, 1092, 1093, 1094, 1095, 1096, and 1097. (Ord. No. 1098, § 6.)

Section 1.047 Effect of Code on past actions and obligations

The adoption of this Code does not affect prosecutions for ordinance violations committed prior to the effective date of this Code, does not waive any fee or penalty due and unpaid on the effective date of this Code, and does not affect the validity of any bond or cash deposit posted, filed or deposited pursuant to the requirements of any ordinance. (Ord. No. 1098 § 7.)

Section 1.050 Constitutionality

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this Code is for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Code. (Ord. No. 1098 § 8.)

Section 1.055 References to prior code

References in city forms, documents and regulations to the chapters and sections of the former City Code shall be construed to apply to the corresponding provisions contained within this Code. (Ord. No. 1098 § 9.)

Section 1.060 Repeal--Generally

The repeal of any provision of this Code or other ordinance of the city by the board of city commissioners shall not have the effect of releasing or extinguishing any penalty, fine, liability or forfeiture incurred under such provision, but as to cases tried before or subsequent to the repeal of such provision, it shall have the effect of extinguishing any jail or prison sentence that may be or has been imposed by reason of such law, unless the repealing ordinance shall provide expressly that the penalties of imprisonment shall remain in force as to crimes committed in violation of such law prior to its repeal. In other respects, such provision shall remain in force only for the purpose of the enforcement of such fine, penalty or forfeiture. (Code 1958, § 1-7.)

For similar state law as to statutes, etc., see NDCC, § 1-02-17.

Section 1.070 Same--Revival of provision previously repealed

Whenever any ordinance of the board of city commissioners which repealed a former provision of this Code or other ordinance of the city is repealed, such former provision shall not be revived by such repeal, unless there is express intent to the contrary. (Code 1958, § 1-6.) For similar state law as to statutes, etc., see NDCC, § 1-02-19.

Section 1.080 Precinct boundaries and polling places.

There shall be two precincts within the city, to be known and designated as Precinct No. 1 and Precinct No. 2. Each precincts shall consist of all that part of the city which lies within boundaries hereinafter set forth for each of such precincts. Polling places shall be located at-such location as is determined by resolution of the Board of City Commissioners.

<u>Precinct No. 1</u>. All that area within the city limits of the City of Dickinson which lies within the State of North Dakota 37th Legislative District, as may be amended from time to time.

<u>Precinct No. 2.</u> All that area within the city limits of the City of Dickinson which lies within the State of North Dakota 36th Legislative District, as may be amended from time to time.

All property within the Corporate limits which is not contained in Precincts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, or 7 shall be a part of Range 96.

(Code 1958, § 1-10; Ord. No. 581; Ord. No. 587; Ord. No. 595; Ord. No. 639, § 1; Ord. No. 787, § 1; Ord. No. 848, § 1; Ord. No. 904, § 1; Ord. No. 906, § 1; Ord. No. 953, § 1; Ord. No. 985, § 1; Ord. No. 1037, § 1.; Ord. No. 1066, § 1; Ord. No. 1128 § 1; Ord. No. 1167 § 1; Ord. No. 1216, § 1; Ord. 1241 § 1; Ord. No. 1275 § 1; Ord. No. 1310 § 1; Ord. No. 1435 § 1.)

For authority of the city to redistrict the city into precincts and to prescribe the boundaries thereof, see NDCC, § 40-05-02(12).

Chapter 2 ADMINISTRATION

Last updated May, 2023

2.ED	Editor's	note to	Chapter	2
-------------	-----------------	---------	---------	---

- 2.04 In General
- 2.08 Board of City Commissioners
- 2.12 Appointive Officers
- **2.16** Bonds
- 2.20 Planning Commission
- 2.24 Comprehensive Plan
- 2.28 City Property
- 2.30 Appointive Boards
- 2.35 Human Relations Commission
- 2.40 Special Assessments.
- 2.45 Historic Preservation Commission
- 2.50 Oil and Gas Trust Fund
- 2.60 Cemetery Trust Fund
- 2.70 Development Impact Fees

Article 2.ED Editor's note to Chapter 2

Sections:

2.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 2

Section 2.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 2

For state law as to commission cities, see NDCC, §§ 40-04-01 et seq., 40-09-01 et seq., 40-15-01. As to general provisions governing officers in municipalities, see NDCC, § 40-13-01. As to officers in commission cities generally, see NDCC, § 40-15-01 et seq.

As to ward boundaries and polling places, see § 1.080 of this Code. As to municipal judge, see §§ 11.08.010 to 11.08.090. As to fire department, see §§ 13.12.02.010 to 13.12.06.030. As to bureau of fire prevention, see §§ 13.12.06.010 to 13.12.06.030. As to department of health generally, see §§ 20.04.010, 20.04.020. As to public health officer, see §§ 20.04.030 to 20.04.070. As to traffic administration and enforcement, see §§ 23.08.070 to 23.36.140. As to park districts, see §§ 26.010 to 26.030. As to personnel, see Ch. 29. As to police, see Ch. 31. As to retirement, see Ch. 32. As to composition of street department, see § 33.04.020. As to powers and duties of superintendent of streets, see § 33.04.030. As to duties of city engineer, see § 33.04.040. As to administration and enforcement of subdivision regulations, see §§ 34.08.010 to 34.08.070. As to waterworks superintendent, see §§ 38.08.020, 38.08.030. As to duties of city engineer as to water, see § 38.08.040. As to powers and duties of city engineer and street commissioner as to sewers, see § 38.12.020. As to administration and enforcement of Zoning Ordinance, see §§ 39.04.120 to 39.16.060. As to zoning board of adjustment, see §§ 39.12.060 to 39.16.060.

Article 2.04 In General

Sections:

2.04.00E Editor's note to Article 2.04 2.04.010 Ordinances--Method of passage

2.04.020 Same--Books

2.04.030 Same--Use as evidence in courts

Section 2.04.00E Editor's note to Article 2.04

As to repeal, see §§ 1-6, 1-7 of this Code.

Section 2.04.010 Ordinances--Method of passage

All ordinances shall be read twice, and the second reading shall not be had in less than one week after the first reading. After a first reading, before its final passage, an ordinance may be amended and shall then be put upon its second reading and final passage; and, if passed by the board of city commissioners, shall be signed by the president of the board and attested by the city auditor. (Code, 1958, § 2-1.)

For provisions of state law as to ordinances generally, see NDCC, § 40-11-01 et seq. As to initiative and referendum, see NDCC, § 40-12-01 et seq.

Section 2.04.020 Same--Books

The city auditor shall record in a book kept for that purpose, together with the affidavit of the publisher, all ordinances passed by the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 2-2.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-11-08. As to affidavits of publisher, see NDCC, § 40-11-08.

Section 2.04.030 Same--Use as evidence in courts

The ordinance book or a certified copy of the ordinances as so recorded shall be received as evidence in all courts and places without further proof; or, if printed in book or pamphlet form by the authority of the board of city commissioners, they shall be so received. (Code 1958, § 2-4.)

Article 2.08 Board of City Commissioners

Sections:	
2.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 2.08
2.08.010	Composition; election and terms of members
2.08.015	Portfolios Eliminated
2.08.020	Bond required of president and commissioners
2.08.030	Salary of president and commissioners
2.08.040	Powers and duties of president generally
2.08.050	Vice-president
2.08.060	Acting president
2.08.070	Regular meetings
2.08.080	Special meetingsCalling
2.08.090	SameReconsideration or rescission of past vote
2.08.100	Rules of procedure generally
2.08.110	VotingTaking of yeas and nays
2.08.120	SamePassage of ordinances, etc.
2.08.130	SameSales of city property
2.08.140	Disclosure of Interests

Section 2.08.00E Editor's note to Article 2.08

For provisions of state law as to board of city commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-09-01 et seq.

Section 2.08.010 Composition; election and terms of members

The board of city commissioners shall consist of the president of the board of city commissioners and four commissioners. All members shall be elected at large and not by wards and shall hold office for four years from and after the date of election and until their successors shall have been duly elected and qualified. (Code 1958, § 2-6.)

For state law as to municipal elections, see NDCC, § 40-21-01 et seq. As to composition of board of commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-09-01. As to requirement that commissioners be elected at large, see NDCC, § 40-09-03. As to term of office, see NDCC, § 40-09-04.

Section 2.08.015 Portfolios Eliminated

The designation of portfolios for police and fire commissioners, commissioner of streets and improvements, waterworks and sewerage commissioner, and commissioner of finance and revenue are hereby eliminated, and such duties and functions shall hereafter be performed by the City Administrator, as set forth in Section 2.12.055 of this Code. (Ord. No. 1151 § 2.)

Section 2.08.020 Bond required of president and commissioners

The president of the board of city commissioners and each commissioner, before entering upon the duties of his office, shall furnish a bond in the penal sum of three thousand dollars, conforming to the provisions of sections 2-26 to 2-31 of this Code. (Code 1958, § 2-7.)

For state law requiring commissioners to furnish bond, see NDCC, § 40-09-07.

Section 2.08.030 Salary of president and commissioners

The monthly salary for the president and each commissioner on the board of city commission shall be in such amounts as are approved annually in the Annual Appropriation & Tax Levy Ordinance. (Code 1958, § 2-8; Ord. No. 326, § 1; Ord. No. 551; Ord. No. 561; Ord. No. 1134 § 1.)

Section 2.08.040 Powers and duties of president generally

The president of the board of city commissioners shall be the executive officer of the city and shall see that all the laws thereof are enforced. He shall have the right to vote as a member of the board on all questions which may arise, but shall have no right of veto. (Code 1958, § 2-9.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-09-08.

Section 2.08.050 Vice-president

At the first meeting of the board of city commissioners after each biennial election they shall elect one of their number as vice-president, and such vice-president shall, in case of the absence or inability of the president to act, perform all the duties of the office of president. (Code 1958, § 2-10.)

For state law as to the vice-president of the board of commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-09-09.

Section 2.08.060 Acting president

In case of the absence or inability to act of both the president and vice-president, the board of city commissioners shall elect one of their number who shall be known as acting president, who shall, during such absence or disability, have all the powers and perform all the duties of the president. (Code 1958, § 2-11.)

For state law as to acting president of board of commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-09-09.

Section 2.08.070 Regular meetings

The board of city commissioners shall meet regularly at City Hall every first and third Tuesday, in accordance with section 40-09-11 of the North Dakota Century Code, at the hour of 4:30 P.M., unless some other time or place shall be specifically fixed by the board of city commissioners. If the date of a regular meeting falls on a holiday, the meeting shall be held on the next business day.

A meeting may be held in person, or by video or audio conference, provided that the meeting shall be originated from City Commission chambers or some other advertised public location, and the public shall be permitted to attend at the point of origin. A quorum of members must by physically present at the meeting location unless it is determined that is necessary for health and public safety to allow three or more members to appear telephonically or by other reliable electronic means. A member may appear telephonically or by other reliable electronic means and must have good cause for participating by telephone or other reliable electronic means rather than in person, such as personal or family illness or career obligations. The member intending to participate telephonically or by other reliable electronic means must notify the City Administrator of the Commissioner's intent within a reasonable amount of time before the meeting in which he or she

intends to participate remotely. (Code 1958, § 2-12; Ord. No. 538, § 1; Ord. 1238 § 1; Ord. 1639 § 1; Ord. 1646 § 1; Ord. 1701§ 1)

Section 2.08.080 Special meetings--Calling

Special meetings may be called at any time by the president or any two members of the board to consider matters mentioned in the call of such meeting. Written notice of any special meeting shall be given to each member of the board. (Code 1958, §§ 2-13, 2-14.)

For state law as to special meetings of board of commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-09-11.

Section 2.08.090 Same--Reconsideration or rescission of past vote

No vote of the board of city commissioners shall be reconsidered or rescinded at a special meeting, unless at such special meeting there is present as large a number of members as was present when such vote was taken. (Code 1958, § 2-15.)

Section 2.08.100 Rules of procedure generally

- (a) At the hour of meeting, the president shall call the board of city commissioners to order. He shall preserve order and decorum and decide all questions of order, subject to an appeal to the board.
- (b) As soon as the board shall be called to order, the auditor shall proceed to call the names of the members in alphabetical order marking who is present and who is absent, and record the marking in the proceedings of the board.
- (c) In case of the absence of the president and vice-president at the time of meeting, the auditor shall call the board to order. Thereupon, the board shall select one of their own members as president pro tempore.
- (d) At each regular meeting of the board the order of business shall be substantially as follows:
 - (1) Reading and correcting the minutes of the last preceding meeting.
 - (2) Receiving petitions, memorials, remonstrances and communications.
 - (3) Report of committees and special boards may be made and considered, first from standing committees and next from select boards and committees.
 - (4) Ordinances may be introduced, and ordinances introduced at a previous meeting may be put on final passage.
 - (5) Accounts and claims may be presented and acted upon.
 - (6) Miscellaneous business.
 - (7) Adjournment.
- (e) All accounts presented to the board of commissioners for allowances shall be in detail, stating: If for labor performed, the locality, when such work was done, by whose order, number of days employed and the price to be paid per day; if for material furnished, by whose order, and the place where such material was used and delivered.
- (f) When a motion is made, it shall be stated by the presiding officer or read by the auditor previous to debate. All resolutions shall be reduced to writing, and any resolution may be withdrawn by consent of the board before discussion or amendment.
- (g) All questions, except passage of ordinances, shall be put in this form:

Those that are in favor of the motion (state the question), say "Aye," those opposed say "No."

- (h) When a question has once been decided it shall be in order for any member of the majority or, in case of a tie, for any member voting the affirmative to move a reconsideration thereof at the same or next regular meeting.
- (i) In all cases when a resolution or motion shall be entered on the minutes, the names of the members moving such resolution or motion shall be entered on the minutes.
- (j) The reports of committees shall be made in writing.
- (k) The city auditor shall see that all ordinances and resolutions are correctly engrossed and enrolled before they are published.
- (1) The rules of parliamentary practice in "Robert's Rules of Order" shall govern the board in all cases in which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these rules. (Code 1958, § 2-16; Ord. No. 416, § 1.)

Section 2.08.110 Voting--Taking of yeas and nays

The yeas and nays shall be taken upon the passage of all ordinances and on all propositions to create any liability against the city or for the expenditure or appropriation of money; and, in all other cases, at the request of any member, which shall be entered on the minutes of its proceedings. (Code 1958, § 2-17.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-11-03.

Section 2.08.120 Same--Passage of ordinances, etc.

The concurrence of a majority of all the members elected shall be necessary to the passage of any ordinance or other matter which shall come before the board of city commissioners for decision, except as otherwise provided by law or ordinance. (Code 1958, § 2-18.)

For state law requiring majority vote of quorum, see NDCC, § 40-09-11.

Section 2.08.130 Same--Sales of city property

It shall require a three-fifths vote of all the members elected to the board of city commissioners to sell any city property. (Code 1958, § 2-19.)

Sections 2.08.140 Disclosure of Interests

- 1. Any member of the Board of City Commissioners must make a full and public disclosure of the nature and extent of:
 - a) His or her financial or personal interest, if any, in business transactions with the City; and
 - b) His or her private employment arrangements with entities engaged in business transactions with the City, if any.
- 2. The following definitions shall apply:

- a) "Financial Interest" means any interest which yields, directly or indirectly, a monetary or other material benefit (other than the duly authorized salary or compensation for services to the City) to you or any person employing or retaining your services.
- b) "Personal Interest" means any interest arising from blood, marital or adoptive relationship whether or not financial interest is involved.
- 3. Disclosure must be made when any member is sworn in after being duly elected in a regularly scheduled election. After a member's initial disclosure after an election, each member shall be responsible for making an annual disclosure of his or her interests as defined in this Section on or before January 1 of every subsequent year the member holds office. If a member's interests change prior to the annual reporting period, member must disclose the change immediately.
- 4. The disclosures required under this Section shall be directed to the Deputy City Administrator. (Code 1694 § 1)

Article 2.12 Appointive Officers

Sections:	
2.12.00E	Editor's note to Article 2.12
2.12.010	Appointment of officers by Board of City Commissioners
2.12.020	Salary
2.12.030	Terms
2.12.035	Oath of Office of Appointive Officers
2.12.040	Bonds
2.12.050	DutiesGenerally
2.12.055	City Administrator
2.12.060	SameAssessor
2.12.070	SameAttorney
2.12.080	SameAuditor
2.12.090	Same—Treasurer

Section 2.12.00E Editor's note to Article 2.12

For state law as to appointive officers in commission cities generally, see NDCC, §§ 40-15-05 to 40-15-07. For state law as to general provisions governing officers in municipalities, see NDCC, § 40-13-01 et seq.

Section 2.12.010 Appointment of Officers by Board of City Commissioners

The Board of City Commissioners, shall appoint the following officers: ; auditor; attorney; a city assessor; a public health officer;; fire chief;; public works director; police chief;, city engineer and such other officers or boards as the Board of City Commissioners may deem necessary; provided, that the Board of City Commissioners, by a majority vote, may dispense with the offices which in its judgment are unnecessary and provide that the duties thereof shall be performed by other officers or boards, by the Board of City Commissioners or by a committee thereof. (Code 1958, § 2-20; Ord. 1784 § 1)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-15-05.

Section 2.12.020 Salary

The salary of the appointive officers of the city shall be such sum as the board of city commissioners shall from time to time fix and determine. (Code 1958, § 2-21.)

For state law as to salaries of municipal officers, see NDCC, § 40-13-04.

Section 2.12.030 Terms

Appointive officers shall be appointed by the Board of City Commissioners for an indefinite period subject to the laws of the State of North Dakota and the civil service ordinances as set forth in Chapter 29 of the Dickinson Municipal Code (Ord. 1784 § 1)

For state law as to terms of office of appointees, see NDCC, § 40-15-06.

Section 2.12.035 Oath of office of appointive officers

Before entering upon the duties of their respective offices, all appointive officers shall take and subscribe the oath of office prescribed in Section 4 of Article XI of the Constitution of the State of North Dakota. Such oath shall be filed with the City Administrator. (Ord. 1784 § 1)

Section 2.12.040 Bonds

The treasurer, auditor, assessor and such other appointive officers as the Board of City Commissioners may direct, before entering upon the duties of their respective offices, shall furnish bonds in a penal sum to be fixed by the Board of City Commissioners, conforming to the provisions of sections 2.16.010 to 2.16.060 of this Code; provided, that the bond of the treasurer shall be at all times in an amount set by resolution of the Board of City Commissioners at its regular meeting in April of each year, but the amount so set shall be equal at least to twenty-five per cent of the average amount of money that has been subject to the treasurer's control during the preceding fiscal year. Such average amount of money shall be determined by taking the total of the daily balances of the treasurer for the preceding year and dividing it by the figure three hundred or the sum of two hundred fifty thousand dollars, whichever is least. (Code 1958, § 2-23. Ord. 1784 § 1)

For state law as to bonds of appointive municipal officers, see NDCC, § 40-13-02.

Section 2.12.050 Duties--Generally

The duties of the appointive officers of the city shall be the same as those certain duties set forth in the statutes of this state, this Code and other ordinances of the city. (Code 1958, § 2-24.)

Section 2.12.055 City Administrator

It shall be the duty of the City Administrator to administer policies established by the Board of City Commissioners for the operation of the municipality, to represent the City in the absence of specific members of the Board of City Commissioners, to chair various City committees, to prepare and administer the municipal budget, to exercise significant influence in the appointment of key administrative personnel, to oversee the operation of all departments, to perform the duties of the various portfolios as specified in NDCC §40-09-12 together with such other duties as are assigned from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners.

The City Administrator shall be responsible for all the duties of the city auditor, as set forth in the Dickinson City Code and applicable statutes of this state. The City Administrator shall have the authority to perform all duties and function of a city auditor, under all city ordinances and state law, and shall have the authority to designate the responsibility for any of said functions to other city employees with the finance department.

The City Administrator shall have the authority to perform all duties and functions under state law and city ordinances of the police and fire commissioner, commissioner of streets and improvements, waterworks and sewerage commissioner, and commissioner of finance and revenue as set forth in NDCC §40-09-12, subject to direction and control of the Board of City Commissioners. All policy making authority shall remain with the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 1127, § 1; Ord. No. 1151 §1.)

Section 2.12.060 Same--Assessor

The city assessor shall perform all duties necessary for the assessing of property within the city limits for the purpose of levying city, county, school and state taxes. (Code 1958, § 2-25.)

For state law as to duties of city assessor, see NDCC, § 40-19-01 et seq.

Section 2.12.070 Same--Attorney

The city attorney shall conduct all the law business of the city and of the departments thereof and all law business in which the city shall be interested. The city attorney shall, when requested, furnish written opinions upon the subjects submitted to him by the Board of City Commissioners or any other department. The city attorney shall keep a docket of all the cases to which the city may be party in any court of record, in which docket shall be briefly entered all steps taken in such cases. Such docket shall, at all reasonable hours, be open to public inspection. It shall also be his duty to draft all ordinances, bonds, contracts, leases, conveyances and such other instruments as may be required by the officers of the city; to examine and inspect tax and assessment rolls and all other proceedings in reference to the levying and collection of taxes; and to perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of City Commissioners. (Code 1958, § 2-26, Ord. No. 1784 §1)

For specific provision of state law as to duties of city attorney, see NDCC, § 40-20-01.

Section 2.12.080 Same--Auditor

It shall be the duty of the city auditor to attend all meetings of the Board of City Commissioners and keep a full record of their proceedings; to record all ordinances and bonds in a book kept for that purpose; to keep a record of all licenses granted, which record shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by the public; to carefully preserve all receipts filed with him and draw and sign all orders upon the treasury, except as otherwise provided by law, in pursuance of an order or resolution of the Board of City Commissioners and keep a full and correct account thereof in books provided for that purpose. He shall keep an accurate account and charge him with all tax lists presented to him for collection and all sums of money paid into the treasury. Within thirty days after the close of each fiscal year he shall make and cause to be published in the city official newspaper a financial statement showing the receipts and disbursements on account of each fund during the last preceding year. (Code 1958, § 2-27, Ord. 1784 § 1.)

For state law as to duties of city auditor, see NDCC, § 40-16-03 to 40-16-10.

Section 2.12.090 Same--Treasurer

The office of city treasurer is hereby abolished. The city auditor shall assume all functions and duties of the city treasurer where indicated in any other provisions of this Code. (Code 1958, § 2-28; Ord. No. 631, § 5.)

For state law as to duties of city treasurer, see DCC, § 40-17-01 et seq.

Article 2.16 Bonds

Sections:	
2.16.00E	Editor's note to Article 2.16
2.16.010	Compliance with article required
2.16.020	Faithful discharge of duties
2.16.030	Approval of president of board of city commissioners; filing
2.16.040	Sureties
2.16.050	Payment of premiums
2.16.060	Additional bonds required by board

Section 2.16.00E Editor's note to Article 2.16

For state law as to bonds of municipal officials, see NDCC, § 40-13-02. As to bonds of city commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-09-07.

Section 2.16.010 Compliance with article required

Whenever a bond is required of any city official or employee by this Code or other ordinances of the city or by any provision of state law, such bond shall conform with the provisions of this article. (Code 1958, § 2-29.)

Section 2.16.020 Faithful discharge of duties

All bonds of city officials and employees required by law shall be conditioned for the faithful discharge of the duties of their respective offices. (Code 1958, § 2-30.)

Section 2.16.030 Approval of president of board of city commissioners; filing

All bonds of city officials and employees required by law must be approved by the president of the board of city commissioners; and, when so approved, shall be filed in the office of the city auditor. (Code 1958, § 2-31.)

Section 2.16.040 Sureties

No personal surety shall be accepted on any bond, but all such bonds must be with the state bonding fund or with a corporate surety company authorized to do business within this state. (Code 1958, § 2-32.)

For provisions of state law as to state bonding fund, see NDCC, § 26-23-01 et seq.

Section 2.16.050 Payment of premiums

Premiums for bonds of the state bonding fund shall be paid by the city in the manner provided by law, but no premium shall be paid by the city upon any other bonds than those upon which the state bonding fund shall be surety, unless it is to procure a bond to replace a bond canceled by the state bonding fund. (Code 1958, § 2-33.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-13-02.

Section 2.16.060 Additional bonds required by board

The board of city commissioners may by resolution at any time require new and additional bonds of any officer or employee, unless such additional bonds are prohibited or not otherwise allowed by any provision of law. (Code 1958, § 2-34.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-13-02.

Article 2.20 Planning Commission

Sections:	
2.20.00E	Editor's note to Article 2.20
2.20.010	MembersAppointment
2.20.020	SameEx officio members
2.20.030	SameCompensation; attendance at planning institutes, conferences, etc.
2.20.040	SameTerms; vacancies
2.20.050	Officers and employees
2.20.060	Meetings; rules and records
2.20.070	Territorial jurisdiction
2.20.080	Master planCreation and adoption; amendment
2.20.090	SamePurpose; preparation
2.20.100	SameContents
2.20.110	SameAdoption of parts
2.20.120	SamePublic hearing prior to adoption or amendment
2.20.130	SameResolution of adoption; certification to city commissioners
2.20.140	SameApproval of subdivision plats after filing
2.20.150	Compliance with state law

Section 2.20.00E Editor's note to Article 2.20

For state law as to planning commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-48-01 et seq. As to regulation of subdivisions of land, see §§ 34.08.020, 34.08.030 of this Code. As to zoning, see Ch. 39.

Section 2.20.010 Members--Appointment

The City Administrator shall appoint, with the approval of the Board of City Commissioners, seven or nine persons to serve on the planning commission so that an odd number is always maintained. One of those positions shall be a sitting member of the Board of City Commissioners. One of those positions shall also include a member of the Board of Parks and Recreation. In addition to the members appointed by the City, the planning commission shall include three persons appointed by the Board of County Commissioners that reside outside of the corporate limits of the city, including one from the extraterritorial zoning area of the City pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, Chapter 40-48-03. (Code 1958, § 2-35; Ord. No. 529; Ord. No. 566; Ord. No. 1593 § 1, Ord 1751 § 1)

For state law as to appointment of members and number to be appointed, see NDCC, § 40-48-03.

Section 2.20.020 Same--Ex officio members

The president of the board of city commissioners, the city engineer and the city attorney shall be ex officio members of the planning commission, in addition to the appointed members. (Code 1958, § 2-36, Ord. 1623 § 1, Ord. 1607 § 1)

For state law as to ex officio members, see NDCC, § 40-48-03.

<u>Section 2.20.030</u> <u>Same--Compensation; attendance at planning</u> institutes, conferences, etc.

All members of the planning commission shall serve with compensation. When duly authorized by the planning commission, members may attend conferences and meetings of planning institutes or hearings upon pending planning legislation; and, in such instances, the commission may pay reasonable traveling expenses pursuant to a resolution spread upon its minutes. (Code 1958, § 2-37, Ord. 1607 § 1)

For state law as to compensation and traveling expenses, see NDCC, § 40-48-05.

Section 2.20.040 Same--Terms; vacancies

When the members of the planning commission shall be first appointed, one member shall hold office for the term of one year, one for the term of two years, one for the term of three years, one for the term of four years and one for the term of five years. When the respective term of office for a member shall have expired, the vacancy shall be filled by an appointment for a term of five years. If a vacancy occurs otherwise than by expiration of a term, it shall be filled by appointment for the unexpired portion of the term. Tenure for ex officio members of the commission shall correspond to their respective official tenures. (Code 1958, § 2-38.)

For state law as to terms of office and filling of vacancies, see NDCC, § 40-48-04.

Section 2.20.050 Officers and employees

The planning commission shall elect its president from among the appointed members and he shall serve for a term of one year. (Code 1958, § 2-39, Ord. 1607 § 1.)

For state law as to officers and employees of planning commission, see NDCC, § 40-48-06.

Section 2.20.060 Meetings; rules and records

The planning commission shall hold at least one regular meeting each month. It shall adopt rules for the transaction of business and shall keep a record of its resolutions, transactions, findings and determinations. The record kept shall be a public record. (Code 1958, § 2-40.)

For state law as to meetings of the planning commission and adoption of rules and records, see NDCC, § 40-48-06.

Section 2.20.070 Territorial jurisdiction

The territorial jurisdiction of the planning commission shall include all land located in the city and all land outside corporate limits of the city pursuant to NDCC, § 40-48-18 and 40-47-01 as determined by the zoning map on file with the City.

For state law on jurisdiction of planning commission, see NDCC, § 40-48-18 and § 40-47-01.1. (Code 1749, § 1)

Section 2.20.080 Master plan--Creation and adoption; amendment

The planning commission shall make and adopt a master plan for the physical development of the city and of any land outside its boundaries which, in the commission's judgment, bears a relation to the planning of the city. The planning commission may amend, extend or add to the master plan. (Code 1958, § 2-42.)

For state law as to adoption and amendment of master plan, see NDCC, § 40-48-08.

Section 2.20.090 Same--Purpose; preparation

The master plan shall be made with the general purpose of guiding and accomplishing a coordinated, adjusted and harmonious development of the city. In the preparation of the master plan, the planning commission shall make careful and comprehensive surveys and studies of present conditions and future growth of the city with due regard to its relation to neighboring territory. (Code 1958, § 2-43.)

For state law as to purpose of master plan, see NDCC, § 40-48-09.

Section 2.20.100 Same--Contents

The master plan with the accompanying maps, plats, charts and descriptive matter shall show the planning commission's recommendations for the development of the territory, including:

- (a) The general location, character and extent of streets, waterways, waterfronts, playgrounds, plazas, squares and open spaces, parks, aviation fields and other public ways and grounds;
- (b) The general location of public buildings and other public property;
- (c) The general location and extent of public utilities and terminals, whether publicly or privately owned or operated;
- (d) The removal, relocation, widening, narrowing, vacation, abandonment, change of use or extension of any of the foregoing ways, grounds, open spaces, buildings, property, terminals or utilities;
- (e) Other matters authorized by law. (Code 1958, § 2-44.)

For state law as to contents of master plan, see NDCC, § 40-48-08.

Section 2.20.110 Same--Adoption of parts

The planning commission may adopt and publish a part of the master plan covering one or more major sections or divisions of the territory under its jurisdiction or one or more of the subjects set out in section 2.20.100 of this Code, when it deems such advisable. (Code 1958, § 2-45.)

For state law as to adoption of part of master plan for certain areas, see NDCC, § 40-48-08.

Section 2.20.120 Same--Public hearing prior to adoption or amendment

Before adopting a master plan or part of it or any substantial amendment thereof, the planning commission shall hold at least one public hearing thereon. Notice of the time of such hearing shall be given by one publication in the official city newspaper. (Code 1958, § 2-46.)

For state law requiring hearing prior to adoption of master plan by planning commission, see NDCC, § 40-48-10.

Section 2.20.130 Same--Resolution of adoption; certification to city commissioners

The adoption of the master plan or of any part thereof or amendment thereto, shall be by a resolution of the planning commission carried by the affirmative votes of not less than four members. The resolution shall refer expressly to the maps and descriptive matter intended by the commission to form the whole or part of the plan or amendment. The action taken by the commission shall be recorded on the map, plan and descriptive matter by the identifying signature of the secretary of the commission. An attested copy of the master plan shall be certified to the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 2-47.)

For state law as to resolution of adoption and certification to the city commissioners, see NDCC, § 40-48-10.

Section 2.20.140 Same--Approval of subdivision plats after filing

When the planning commission has adopted a major street plan and shall have filed a certified copy of such plan in the office of the register of deeds of the county, no plat of a subdivision of land within the territorial jurisdiction of the commission or part thereof shall be filed or recorded until it shall have been approved by the commission and such approval shall have been entered in writing on the plat by the president or secretary of the commission. (Code 1958, § 2-48.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-48-19.

Section 2.20.150 Compliance with state law

The planning commission, in addition to the provisions of this article, shall be further authorized or restricted in its authority as is provided by the laws of this state. (Code 1958, § 2-49.)

Article 2.24 Comprehensive Plan

Sections:	
2.24.00E	Editor's note to Article 2.24
2.24.010	Adoption
2.24.020	Purpose
2.24.030	Acceptance, opening, improving, etc. streets
2.24.040	Erection of buildings
2.24.050	Recordation
2.24.060	Approval of plats generally
2.24.070	Amendment

Section 2.24.00E Editor's note to Article 2.24

For state law as to municipal master plans generally, see NDCC, § 40-48-01 et. seq.

Section 2.24.010 Adoption

There is hereby adopted a basic housing study (goals and guideline plan), central business district plan, community facilities plan, land use plan, thoroughfare plan, guide for the preparation of a capital improvements program, basic research report, city base map and overlays, central business district base map and overlays, and concept illustratives; all shall be parts of the comprehensive plan (master plan) of the city. All of such parts of the comprehensive plan, master plan, together with maps, all notations, information and data contained thereon are hereby made a part of this article. (Ord. No. 560.)

For state law as to adoption of master plan, see NDCC, § 40-48-08.

Section 2.24.020 Purpose

All parts of and the entire comprehensive plan, master plan, are adopted to protect and promote public health, safety, comfort, convenience and general welfare and for the accomplishment thereof are adopted for the purposes more particularly set forth as follows:

- (a) To assist in providing definite plans of development for the city and adjacent territory and to guide, control and regulate the future growth of such area in accordance with such plans.
- (b) To provide a guide for the intelligent outlay of the capital expenditures of the city for street and thoroughfare improvements.
- (c) To provide an authentic source of information as to the development of the city for prospective residents and investors therein.
- (d) To provide a pattern for such future subdivision as may take place in the city and adjacent territory.
- (e) To obviate the menace to the public safety resulting from inadequate provision of traffic thoroughfares in connection with and as a result of the development of the city.
- (f) To prevent deterioration of property values and impairment of conditions making for desirable agricultural, residential, commercial or industrial development as the case may be which would result from a lack of plans designed to assure the

- orderly, harmonious and beneficial development of the city and territory adjacent thereto.
- (g) To provide for the general locations, character and extent of streets, waterways, waterfronts, playgrounds, plazas, squares and open spaces, parks, aviation fields and other public ways and grounds.
- (h) To provide for the general location of public buildings and other public property.
- (i) To provide for the general location and extent of public utilities and terminals whether publicly or privately owned or operated.
- (j) To provide for the removal, relocation, widening, narrowing, vacation, abandonment, change of use or extension of any of the foregoing ways, grounds, open spaces, buildings, property, terminals or utilities. (Ord. No. 560.)

For state law as to purpose of the master plan, see NDCC, § 40-48-02.

Section 2.24.030 Acceptance, opening, improving, etc. streets

After March 23, 1971, the city shall not accept, lay out, open, improve, grade, pave or curb any street or lay or authorize to be laid sewers or connections thereto or water mains or connections thereto in any street or right-of-way within the territory of the subdivision jurisdiction of the city, unless such street:

- (a) Shall have been accepted or open as or shall otherwise have received the legal status of a public street prior to the adoption of the thoroughfare plan or any amendment thereto made a part of this article; or
- (b) Corresponds with a street shown on the thoroughfare plan or any amendments thereto which is a part of this article. (Ord. No. 560.)

Section 2.24.040 Erection of buildings

After March 23, 1971, no building shall be erected on any lot within the territory of subdivision jurisdiction of the city nor shall a building permit be issued for such building unless the street giving access to the lot upon which such building is proposed to be placed:

- (a) Shall have been accepted prior to that time; or unless such street
- (b) Corresponds with a street shown on the thoroughfare plan or any amendments thereto which has been made a part of this article. Any building erected in violation of this section shall be deemed an unlawful structure and the general inspector or other appropriate official may cause it to be vacated and have it removed. (Ord. No. 560.)

Section 2.24.050 Recordation

The auditor of the city is hereby instructed to cause to be recorded in the office of the register of deeds of the county a certificate showing that the city has established this comprehensive plan (master plan) and is further instructed to file a certified copy of the major street and thoroughfare plan in the office of the register of deeds of the county. (Ord. No. 560.)

Section 2.24.060 Approval of plats generally

No plat pertaining to any of the property herein described shall be filed with the register of deeds of the county, unless such plat will have first been approved in writing by the city commission pursuant to the statutes in such cases made and provided. (Ord. No. 560.)

Section 2.24.070 Amendment

This article may be amended from time to time in accordance with the laws of the state providing for the adoption and amendment of the comprehensive plan, master plan, of a city. (Ord. No. 560.)

Article 2.28 City Property

Sections:	
2.28.00E	Editor's note to Article 2.28
2.28.010	Statement of Policy
2.28.020	Definitions
2.28.030	Competitive Bidding Required
2.28.040	Exceptions to Competitive Bidding
2.28.050	Sale or Disposal of City Property
2.28.060	Acquisition of Public Improvements
2.28.070	Gifts or Donations to City Projects Without Bidding Allowed

Section 2.28.00E Editor's note to Article 2.28

For state law requiring city to pass ordinance providing for sale, etc., of property, see NDCC, § 40-11-04. As to authority of city to transfer property, etc., see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (56).

Section 2.28.010 Statement of Policy

It is the intent of this Article to provide for a uniform method for procuring supplies, materials, equipment, and contractual services necessary to carry on activities of the City and to sell or otherwise transfer needed supplies, equipment and other property.

It is the policy of the City to procure supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services in an efficient manner and to assure that the highest quality is obtained at the best price available. When practicable and in the best interests of the City, competitive bids shall be solicited in order to reduce prices.

It is the policy of the City to comply with all laws, rules, regulations and orders with respect to local preference, non-discrimination, wages and hours and all other applicable laws, rules, regulations and orders.

All suppliers, contractors and service providers doing business with the City shall certify that they are in compliance with all federal, state and local laws, regulations and orders including but not limited to those regarding non-discrimination, wages and hours, workers compensation and immigration. Failure of compliance may result in the cancellation of any City contract and exclusion from consideration for future contracts.

Any purchase of a good or service, or contractual relationship which might directly or indirectly benefit a municipal officer must be obtained through a formal public bid process regardless the estimated or actual purchase price.

Regardless the value, all contractual agreements obligating the City must be approved by the Board of City Commissioners.

Section 2.28.020 Definitions

For the purposes of this Article, unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires:

1. "Contractual services" means services provided by entities other than the City of Dickinson, other governmental bodies, or public utilities.

- 2. "Emergency" means a situation in which, due to unforeseen circumstances, immediate action or action which cannot or should not be delayed, pending solicitation of bids and purchase of needed supplies or services by competitive bids, is called for.
- 3. "Non-competitive type or kind" means supplies or services which are by their nature unique and not subject to competition, including professional services, consultant services, management services, contracts with the manufacturer or seller or service agent for repair of equipment, services or supplies of a specialized nature that are available from only one supplier or a limited number of suppliers who are not in competition with each other, other supplies or services for which the local market is not competitive, or supplies or services for which, in order to obtain the best quality at the lowest price, purchase in the open market is called for.

Section 2.28.030 Competitive Bidding Required

- 1. All purchases of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services and all contracts for supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services shall be made by competitive bid, except as otherwise provided in Section 2.28.040. Bids shall be advertised in the official newspaper of the City once each week for two consecutive weeks with the bid opening at least 10 days after the last advertisement.
- 2. The City shall accept only sealed bids. If all of the bids are not rejected, the purchase shall be made from the lowest responsible bidder meeting or exceeding specifications. Pursuant to NDCC 44-08-01, the City shall give preference to bidders, sellers, or contractors resident in North Dakota. The City reserves the right to reject any and all bids, and to waive irregularities.
- 3. The requirement for competitive bidding shall be deemed satisfied where the supplies, materials, equipment, or contractual services have previously competitively bid by the State of North Dakota or one of its agencies, for which the State or agency has made provision for participation by political subdivisions, and the supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services may be purchased through the State's or agency's bid.

Section 2.28.040 Exceptions to Competitive Bidding

Notwithstanding Section 2.28.030, competitive bidding shall not be required for the following purchases:

- 1. Purchases of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services having a total cost of less than One Hundred Thousand Dollars and No Cents (\$100,000.00) may be made in the open market, without competitive bidding; provided:
 - (a) The purchasing department head or designee solicits prices or quotes for the supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services from a minimum of three vendors; or if fewer than three vendors are available, then from all available vendors.
 - (b) A report is filed with the City Administrator by the purchasing department head stating:
 - (1) the particular supplies, materials, equipment or contractual services that are sought to be purchased without competitive bidding;
 - (2) the purchasing department head's opinion as to why the purchase should not be made using competitive bidding;

- (3) the vendors from who the purchasing department head solicited prices or quotes for the supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services;
- (4) the prices or quotes supplied by such vendors;
- (5) the department head's recommendation that the purchase be made from the vendor submitting the lowest price or quote that meets or exceeds the specifications of the purchase and the needs of the City;
- (6) the department head's opinion that the purchase price for the supplies, materials, equipment or contractual services is a reasonable and fair price in the local market.
- (c) The purchase without competitive bidding is approved by the City Administrator or his designee
- (d) The purchase without competitive bidding is reported to the Board of City Commissioners.
- 2. Purchases of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services of a non-competitive type or kind may be made in the open market without competitive bidding.
- 3. Purchases of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services from other governmental bodies or agencies may be made in the open market without competitive bidding.
- 4. When, in the opinion of the Board of City Commissioners or the City Administrator, an emergency requires the purchase of supplies, materials, equipment and contractual services, such purchases may be made in the open market without competitive bidding.
- 5. When, due to the nature of the purchase sought, it is difficult, if not impossible, to strictly define or delineate bid specifications, the City may identify interested vendors and issue a Request for Proposals ("RFP") or Request for Qualifications ("RFQ") in order for such vendors to demonstrate their goods and services. Following such demonstration and review of the merits and costs of the goods and services, the City may purchase such goods or services in the open market without competitive bidding, upon a recommendation made to the Board of City Commissioners, who may then approve or disapprove the purchase.

Section 2.28.050 Sale or Disposal of City Property

- 1. Sale or Disposal of City Property Less than \$2,500; Obsolete Property. Upon the approval of the Board of City Commissioners, the City may sell or dispose of real property or personal property with an estimated value of less than \$2,500 by any means deemed prudent by the City Administrator or his designee, including by private sale. Prior to the sale of such property, a list of all items to be sold will be presented and approved by the City Commission through a surplus property declaration.
- 2. Sale or Disposal of City Property Greater than \$2,500. Upon the approval of the Board of City Commissioners, the City may provide for the sale or disposal of real property or personal property with an estimated value of more than \$2,500 by any one or more of the following methods:
 - (a) Sale or Disposal by Public Auction.

Real property or personal property owned by the City may be sold or disposed of by public advertisement and auction. For such public auction of property, a notice containing a description of the property to be sold and designating the place where and the day and hour when the sale will be held shall be published in the official county newspaper once each week for two consecutive weeks, with the last publication being at least ten days in advance of the date set for the sale. Such notice shall specify whether the bids are to be received at auction, or as sealed bids, or as a combination thereof. The property advertised shall be sold to the highest bidder if the bid is deemed sufficient by the City Administrator.

In the event the City has a considerable number of parcels of real property and/or items of personal property, the notice shall refer generally to the location of the properties, acknowledging a complete list and description which is on file at city offices for inspection.

Regarding the sale of real property acquired through delinquent taxes, upon a resolution passed by the Board of City Commissioners, the City may release and cancel delinquent special assessments levied on the properties for the county auditor to give tax deeds to the City.

The City Administrator shall have the authority to set any minimum bid amounts to be accepted at public auction, and shall further have the right to reject any and all bids deemed insufficient or otherwise defective.

(b) Sale by Listing Agreements.

Real property or personal property may be sold or disposed of through listing agreements, whether exclusive or non-exclusive. The Board of City Commissioners may by resolution describe the real property or personal property that is to be sold or disposed of and provide a maximum rate of fee, compensation or commission for the sale. The City is authorized to engage sales professionals, including any licensed real estate brokers or others, to attempt to sell the described property. The City reserves the right to reject any and all offers determined to be insufficient.

(c) Sale or Disposal in the Best Interests of the City.

The Board of City Commissioners may, upon a finding that it is in the best interests of the City, enter into such purchase, sale, exchange or other agreements for the purchase, acquisition, sale, lease or conveyance of any personal property or real property, or combination thereof, as the Board of City Commissioners deems appropriate, waiving any purchase or sale requirements under state law or local ordinances.

- 3. When specific statutory provisions contained in the North Dakota Century Code provide for a procedure governing the conveyance, sale, lease or disposal of real property, those procedures shall apply unless modified by this section. Said statutory procedures include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Lease of airports or landing fields, or portions thereof under authority granted in Chapter 2-02, NDCC. Leases must be in compliance with regulations and directives of appropriate federal agencies.
 - (b) Conveyance of right-of-way for any state highway as provided in section 24-01-46, NDCC.

- (c) Leasing of oil and gas lands as provided in Chapter 38-09, NDCC,
- (d) Conveyance of property to a municipal parking authority as provided in section 40-61-05, NDCC.
- (e) Lease of public buildings or portions thereof as provided in Chapter 48-08, NDCC, except that the City shall have the authority to enter into such leases for a period or term as set by the City Commission.
- (f) Granting of concessions for cafes, restaurants, and confectionaries on public buildings and grounds as provided in Chapter 48-09, NDCC, except that the concession may be for a term as set by the City Commission.
- (g) Granting of rights-of-way for a railway, telephone line, electric light system, or a gas or oil pipeline system as provided in section 49-09-16, NDCC.
- (h) Transfer of property pursuant to a joint powers agreement in accordance with chapter 54-40, NDCC.

Section 2.28.060 Acquisition of Public Improvements

Except as otherwise provided by North Dakota law, if construction of a public improvement, as that term is defined in NDCC §48-01.2, is estimated to cost in excess of two hundred thousand dollars, the City shall abide by all requirements and obligations of NDCC §48-01.2 as may apply, to include public advertisement for bids and competitive award of bids.

Construction of public improvements estimated to cost less than two hundred thousand dollars may be acquired in the open market without competitive bidding, unless otherwise provided by North Dakota law. (Ord. No. 1693 § 1.)

Section 2.28.070 Gifts or Donations to City Projects Without Bidding Allowed

The City may accept gifts or donations of land, services, materials, money or other items or property to be used or incorporated within a public building, without including the items or property to be donated in the public bidding process, regardless of the size of the project or of the value of the donated items or property. (Ord. No. 1567 § 1.)

Article 2.30 Appointive Boards

Sections:

2.30.100 Library Board - Terms 2.30.200 Airport Authority – Terms

Section 2.30.100 Library Board – Terms

Pursuant to N.D.C.C. § 40-38-03, the City of Dickinson has appointed the Board of Directors of the Library. In said statute, the terms are for a period of three years and commence on the first day of July following the appointment. Commencing on January 1, 2023, the terms for all subsequent appointees shall expire on July 1 of the third year following the appointment. No member of the Board may serve for more than two consecutive terms, after which an interval of one year must elapse before the same member may be reappointed. (Ord. No. 1200, § 6; Ord. No. 1770, § 1)

Section 2.30.200 Airport Authority - Terms

Pursuant to NDCC §2-06-02, the City of Dickinson has appointed five commissioners to the Dickinson Municipal Airport Authority, each for a term of five years. Commencing on January 1, 2000, the terms for all subsequent appointees shall be for three years, and shall expire on December 31 of the third year following the appointment. (Ord. No. 1200, § 7.)

Article 2.35 Human Relations Commission

Sections:	
2.35.010	Creation of Human Relations Commission
2.35.020	Number of members - Term of members - Appointment of members - Filling vacancies.
2.35.030	President of commission - Meetings - Record to be kept
2.35.040	Goals of the Human Relations Commission
2.35.050	Powers and duties of commission
2.35.060	Commission advisory in nature

Section 2.35.010 Creation of Human Relations Commission

There is hereby created and established a body to be known as the Human Relations Commission, whose purpose is to promote the acceptance and respect for diversity through educational programs and activities and to discourage all forms of discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, national origin, age, the presence of any mental or physical disability, status with regard to marriage or public assistance, or participation in lawful activity off the employer's premise during non-working hours which is not in direct conflict with the essential business-related interests of the employer. (Ord. No. 1248 § 1)

<u>Section 2.35.020</u> <u>Number of members - Term of members - Appointment of members - Filling vacancies.</u>

The Human Relations Commission shall consist of not less than five nor more than nine members, who shall be appointed by the President of the Board of City Commissioners, subject to confirmation by the Board of City Commissioners. The terms of office of the initial commissioners shall be for staggered terms, with member(s) who shall serve until December 1, 2003; member(s) who shall serve until December 1, 2005. At the expiration of the terms of the members as aforesaid, members shall be appointed for three-year terms. If a vacancy occurs otherwise than by expiration of a term, it shall be filled by appointment for the unexpired portion of the term. Notwithstanding the expiration of a member's term, such member may serve until his or her successor has been appointed and qualified. (Ord. No. 1248 § 1)

Section 2.35.030 President of commission - Meetings - Record to be kept

The Human Relations Commission shall elect its president for a term of one year from among the appointed members and shall hold regular monthly meetings. The commission shall keep a record of its resolutions, findings and the determinations and such record shall be a public record. The commission may appoint such subcommittees from among the appointed members as it may be necessary for its work. (Ord. No. 1248 § 1)

Section 2.35.040 Goals of the Human Relations Commission

The goals of the Human Relations Commission are:

To provide leadership in the areas of civil rights.

To encourage and educate the public in the promotion of civil rights.

To identify issues of principal concern to members of the community in the area of civil rights and to recommend priorities and objectives to the Board of City Commissioners.

To encourage adherence to federal and state laws regarding civil rights, including Chapter 14-02.4 of the North Dakota Century Code, through education, conciliation and mediation. (Ord. No. 1248 § 1)

Section 2.35.050 Powers and duties of commission

The Human Relations Commission shall:

Recommend to the Board of City Commissioners, from time to time, action and programs in furtherance of the purpose of the Human Relations Commission as described in this article.

Consult and advise with public officials and agencies and with private individuals and organizations to provide education regarding civil rights. The commission may, in its discretion, assist aggrieved individuals, but such assistance shall consist of information, guidance and, in its discretion, conciliation and mediation services. (Ord. No. 1248 § 1)

Section 2.35.060 Commission advisory in nature

The Human Relations Commission shall be advisory in nature and shall submit all reports and determinations to the Board of City Commissioners of the City of Dickinson. Final authority shall be in the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 1248 § 1)

Article 2.40 Special Assessments.

Sections:	<u> </u>
2.40.010	Power to defray expenses of improvement by special assessments.
2.40.011	Improvement district to be created.
2.40.012	Size and form of improvement districts - regulations governing.
2.40.013	Engineer's report required - Contents.
2.40.014	Resolution declaring improvements necessary - Exception for sewer and
	water improvements - Contents of resolution - Publication of resolution.
2.40.015	Protest against resolution of necessity - Meeting to hear protest.
2.40.016	Protest bar to proceeding - Invalid or insufficient protests - Payment of costs - Tax levy.
2.40.050	Contracts for improvements.
2.40.051	Approval of plans, specifications, and estimates - Approval establishes grade
of street.	
2.40.052	Plans, specifications, and estimates filed in office of city administrator.
2.40.053	Contract proposals.
2.40.054	Engineer's statement of estimated cost required - City Commission to enter
	into contracts.
2.40.055	Execution and filing of contract.
2.40.056	Contracts.
2.40.057	Defects and irregularities in improvement proceedings are not fatal.
2.40.100	Assessment of Benefits.
2.40.105	Alternate Method
2.40.110	Special Assessment Commission - Terms.
2.40.200	Financing Improvements of Undeveloped Property by Special Assessment.

Section 2.40.010 Power to defray expenses of improvement by special assessments.

The City of Dickinson, upon complying with the provisions of this Chapter, may defray the expenses of any or all of the following type of improvements by special assessment:

The improvement of the municipal street system and any part thereof, including any one or more of the processes of acquisition, opening, widening, grading, graveling, paving, repaving, surfacing with tar, asphalt, bituminous, or other appropriate material, resurfacing, resealing, and repairing of any street, highway, avenue, alley or public place within the City of Dickinson, and the construction and reconstruction of overhead pedestrian bridges, pedestrian tunnels, storm sewers, curbs and gutters, sidewalks, and service connections for water and other_utilities, and the installation, operation, and maintenance of street lights and all types of_decorative street lighting, including but not restricted to Christmas street lighting_decorations.

The construction of a water supply system, or a sewerage system, or both, or any part thereof, or any improvement thereto or extension or replacement thereof, including the construction and erection of wells, intakes, pumping stations, settling basins, filtration plants, standpipes, water towers, reservoirs, water mains, sanitary and storm sewer mains and outlets, facilities for the treatment and disposal of sewage and other municipal,

industrial, and domestic wastes, and all other appurtenances, contrivances, and structures used or useful for a complete water supply and sewerage system.

The improvement of boulevards and other public places by the planting of trees, the construction of grass plots and the sowing of grass seed therein, and the maintenance and preservation of such improvements by the watering of such trees and grass, the cutting of such grass, and the trimming of such trees, or otherwise in any manner which may appear necessary and proper to the governing body of the City of Dickinson.

The acquiring of the necessary land and easements and the construction of the necessary works, within and without the City of Dickinson, for flood protection of properties within the City of Dickinson.

The acquiring or leasing of the necessary property and easements and the construction of parking lots, ramps, garages, and other facilities for motor vehicles. In planning an improvement project of a type specified in any one of the foregoing subsections, the City Commission may include in such plans any and all items of work and materials which in its judgment are necessary or reasonably incidental to the completion of an improvement project of such type. (Ord. No. 1183 § 1.)

Section 2.40.011 Improvement district to be created.

For the purpose of making an improvement project of one of the types specified in section 2.40.010 and defraying the cost thereof by special assessments, the City of Dickinson may create water districts, sewer districts, water and sewer districts, street improvement districts, boulevard improvement districts, flood protection districts, and parking districts, and may extend any such district when necessary. The appropriate special improvement district may be created by resolution. The district shall be designated by a name appropriate to the type of improvement for the making of which it is created, and by a number distinguishing it from other improvement districts. Nothing herein, however, shall prevent the City of Dickinson from making and financing any improvement and levying special assessments therefor under any alternate procedure set forth under Title 40, NDCC. (Ord. No. 1183 § 2.)

Section 2.40.012 Size and form of improvement districts - regulations governing.

Any improvement district created by the City of Dickinson may embrace two or more separate property areas, and may embrace the entire city. Each improvement district shall be of such size and form as to include all properties which in the judgment of the city commission, after consultation with the engineer planning the improvement, will be benefited by the construction of the improvement project which is proposed to be made in or for such district, or by any portion or portions of such project. A single district may be created for an improvement of the type specified in any one of the subsections of section 2.40.010, notwithstanding any lack of uniformity among the types, items, or quantities of work and materials to be used at particular locations throughout the district. The jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson to make, finance, and assess the cost of any improvement project shall not be impaired by any lack of commonness, unity, or singleness of the location, purpose, or character of the improvement, or by the fact that any one or more of the properties included in the district is subsequently determined not to be benefited by the improvement, or by a particular portion thereof, and is not assessed therefor. There may be omitted from a water or sewer district, in the discretion of the City Commission,

properties within the corporate limits which are benefited by the improvement therein but do not abut upon a water or sewer main, without prejudice to the right and power of the municipality subsequently, to assess such properties to the extent and in the manner permitted by law. The City Commission may, by resolution, enlarge an improvement district in which an improvement is proposed or under construction upon receipt of a petition therefor signed by the owners of three-fourths of the area to be added to the district. (Ord. No. 1183 § 3.)

Section 2.40.013 Engineer's report required - Contents.

After a special improvement district has been created, the City Commission, if it deems it necessary to make any of the improvements set out in section 2.40.010 in the manner provided in this chapter, shall direct the city engineer to prepare a report as to the general nature, purpose, and feasibility of the proposed improvement and an estimate of the probable cost of the work.. The engineer's report shall include estimates of the portion of the improvement contemplated each year, the period of years which the improvement will be completed, and the estimated cost of the improvement each year. (Ord. No. 1183 § 4.)

Section 2.40.014 Resolution declaring improvements necessary - Exception for sewer and water improvements - Contents of resolution - Publication of resolution.

After the engineer's report required by section 2.40.013 has been filed and approved, the City Commission, by resolution, shall declare that it is necessary to make the improvements described therein. A resolution shall not be required, however, if the improvement constitutes a water or sewer improvement as described in subsection 2 of section 2.40.010, nor if the governing body determines by resolution that a written petition for the improvement, signed by the owners of a majority of the area of the property included within the district, has been received. The resolution shall refer intelligibly to the engineer's report, and shall include a map of the City of Dickinson showing the proposed improvement districts. The resolution shall then be published once each week for two consecutive weeks in the official newspaper of the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1183 § 5.)

<u>Section 2.40.015</u> <u>Protest against resolution of necessity -</u> Meeting to hear protest.

If, within thirty days after the first publication of the resolution declaring the necessity of an improvement project of the type specified in any one of the subsections of section 2.40.010, the owners of any property within the improvement district file written protests describing the property which is the subject of the protest with the city administrator protesting against the adoption of said resolution, the City Commission, at its next meeting after the expiration of the time for filing such protests, shall hear and determine the sufficiency thereof. (Ord. No. 1183 § 6.)

Section 2.40.016 Protest bar to proceeding - Invalid or insufficient protests - Payment of costs - Tax levy.

If the City Commission finds the protests to contain the names of the owners of a majority of the area of the property included within the improvement district, the protests shall be a bar against proceeding further with the improvement project described in the engineer's report. The termination of proceedings, by reason of protest or otherwise, shall not relieve the City of Dickinson of responsibility for payment of costs theretofore incurred; and for payment of such costs the City of Dickinson may, if funds on hand and available for the purpose are insufficient, issue its certificates of indebtedness or warrants, or levy a tax which shall be considered a tax for a portion of the cost of a special improvement project by general taxation within the meaning of section 57-15-10. If the protests are found to be insufficient or invalid, the City Commission may cause the improvements to be made and may contract or otherwise provide in accordance with this title for the construction thereof and the acquisition of the property required in connection therewith and may levy and collect assessments therefor. (Ord. No. 1183 § 7.)

Section 2.40.050 Contracts for improvements.

If the City Commission determines that the improvement should be made, it shall proceed on an annual basis, and consistent with the engineer's report, to make the improvements. The City Commission shall also direct the city engineer to prepare, on an annual basis, a report as to the portion of the project to be constructed, together with the estimated cost of the same. (Ord. No. 1183 § 8.)

Section 2.40.051 Approval of plans, specifications, and estimates - Approval establishes grade of street.

At any time after receiving the engineer's report required by section 2.40.013, and the annual report required by section 2.40.050, the City Commission may direct the city engineer to prepare detailed plans and specifications for construction of the improvement, or the portion of the improvement to be constructed at that time. The plans and specifications shall be approved by a resolution of the City Commission, which resolution may authorize advertising for proposals for the improvements. If the plans and specifications include the establishment of the grade of a street and such grade has not been established previously by ordinance, the resolution approving the plans, specifications, and estimates shall constitute an establishment of the grade. (Ord. No. 1183 § 9.)

Section 2.40.052 Plans, specifications, and estimates filed in office of city administrator.

The plans, specifications, and estimates shall be the property of the City of Dickinson and shall be filed in the office of the city administrator and shall remain on file in his office subject to inspection by anyone interested therein. The City Administrator shall furnish to any person applying therefor copies of the same, and may charge the costs of such copies, as established by the City. (Ord. No. 1183 § 10.)

Section 2.40.053 Contract proposals.

Proposals for the work of making improvements provided for in this chapter must be advertised for by the City Commission in the official newspaper of the city once each week for three consecutive weeks. All proposals under this chapter are governed by the provisions of chapters 48-01.1 and 48-02, NDCC. (Ord. No. 1183 § 11.)

Section 2.40.054 Engineer's statement of estimated cost required - City Commission to enter into contracts.

Before adopting or rejecting any bid filed under the provisions of this chapter, the City Commission shall require the city engineer to make a careful and detailed statement of the estimated cost of the work. The City Commission may not award the contract to any bidder if the engineer's estimate prepared pursuant to this section exceeds the engineer's estimate by forty percent or more. (Ord. No. 1183 § 12.)

Section 2.40.055 Execution and filing of contract.

All contracts entered into for any work provided for in this chapter shall be entered into in the name of the City of Dickinson and shall be executed on the part of the City of Dickinson by the President of the Board of City Commissioners and countersigned by the city administrator. After the contract is signed by the contractor, it shall be filed in the office of the city administrator. (Ord. No. 1183 § 13.)

Section 2.40.056 Contracts.

The provisions of Sections 40-22-36, 40-22-37, 40-22-39 and 40-22-40, NDCC, together with any amendments thereto, are hereby incorporated by reference. (Ord. No. 1183 § 14.)

Section 2.40.057 Defects and irregularities in improvement proceedings are not fatal.

Defects and irregularities in any proceedings had or to be had under this chapter relating to municipal improvements by the special assessment method, where the proceedings are for a lawful purpose and are unaffected by fraud and do not violate any constitutional limitation or restriction, shall not invalidate such proceedings, and no action shall be commenced or maintained and no defense or counterclaim in any action shall be recognized in the courts of this state founded on any such defects or irregularities in such proceedings, unless commenced within thirty days of the adoption of the resolution of the City Commission awarding the sale of warrants to finance the improvement. (Ord. No. 1183 § 15.)

Section 2.40.100 Assessment of Benefits.

For any special assessment improvements made under the provisions of this Chapter the assessments shall be made as set forth in Chapter 40-23 or 40-23.1, NDCC. (Ord. No. 1183 § 16.)

Section 2.40.105 Alternate Method

Article 2.40.110, as adopted herein, is an alternate method of levying special assessments for the City of Dickinson, pursuant to its home rule authority. Nothing herein shall prohibit the city of Dickinson from proceeding under any other method of assessing benefits under Title 40 of the North Dakota Century Code. (Ord. No. 1183 § 17.)

Section 2.40.110 Special Assessment Commission - Terms.

Pursuant to NDCC §40-23-01, the City of Dickinson currently has a special assessment commission consisting of three commissioners, each serving a term of six years. Commencing on January 1, 2000, all subsequent terms shall be for three years, and expire on December 31 after the third year following the appointment, except that all members of the Special Assessment Commission as of January 1, 2000 shall continue to serve the terms which they were appointed.

Commencing January 1, 2001, the membership shall be increased to five members, by appointment by the Board of City Commissioners. The terms of the two additional commissioners shall be for two years and three years, respectively, thereafter all appointments shall be for three-year terms. (Ord. No. 1200, § 5; Ord. No. 1217, § 3.)

Section 2.40.200 Financing Improvements of Undeveloped Property by Special Assessment.

The owner of any undeveloped property may petition the City of Dickinson to make improvements to said property pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter. The city of Dickinson shall not authorize said improvements unless all of the provisions of this article are complied with, and the petitioner provides to the City of Dickinson an irrevocable letter of credit or other acceptable security to cover the cost of the improvements and all other associated costs. For purposes of this section, undeveloped property means property which does not have water, sewer, street, or curb and gutter.

Article 2.45 Historic Preservation Commission

Sections:	
2.45.010	Purpose and Declaration of Public Policy
2.45.020	Creation of Historic Preservation Commission
2.45.030	Members - Qualifications - Appointment - Terms - Compensation - Conflicts
2.45.040	Chairman - Quorum
2.45.050	Meetings - Notice - Minutes
2.45.060	Powers of Commission
2.45.070	Employment of Staff
2.45.080	Appropriations - Funding
2.45.090	Definition of Terms

Section 2.45.010 Purpose and Declaration of Public Policy

- (a) The purpose of this ordinance is to establish a program for the designation, preservation, protection, renovation and use of historic properties and/or historic districts within the City. The program shall:
 - (1) Promote cultural stability and safeguard the heritage of the City.
 - (2) Stimulate the tourist industry by preserving the City's economic base.
 - (3) Stabilize and improve property values.
 - (4) Foster economic development through increased pride of place.
 - (5) Provide a mechanism to review and comment on proposed alterations, demolitions, constructions, and relocations within historic districts and with regard to historic properties and/or historic districts.
 - (6) Promote knowledge and understanding of the City's historic properties and of the endeavors of the past.
- (b) This ordinance will enable the City to:
 - (1) Retain and enhance historic properties and/or historic districts within the City while allowing adaptation for current use by assuring that future construction, relocation and alterations are compatible with historic character.
 - (2) Assure that zoning ordinances, building permits, subdivision of lots, construction, alteration, relocation and demolition adjacent to historic properties and/or historic districts are compatible with historic preservation principles.
 - (3) Cooperate with and assist local, state and federal agencies implement and enforce federal and state legislation to identify, evaluate, designate, record, protect and preserve historic properties and/or historic districts.
 - (4) Promote and encourage National Register participation.

(Ord. No. 1257 § 1; Ord. No. 1716 § 1)

Section 2.45.020 Creation of Historic Preservation Commission

The Dickinson Historic Preservation Commission is hereby created (hereafter "the commission"). (Ord. No. 1257 § 1)

<u>Section 2.45.030 Members - Qualifications - Appointment -</u> Terms - Compensation - Conflicts

- (a) The commission shall consist of five (5) to seven (7) members who shall be residents of the City and/or the area within its extraterritorial jurisdiction. This requirement may be waived, with the agreement of the State Historical Society of North Dakota, if individuals having these professional qualifications are not available for appointment, and if reasonable efforts, as defined by the section, have been made to fill the positions, and if the applicant is employed within the City of Dickinson.
- (b) The commission shall be comprised of persons with a demonstrated knowledge, special interest in or knowledge of history, architecture, archeology, historic preservation, planning or related disciplines.
 - (1) The majority of the members shall have professional qualification in the fields of history, architectural history, prehistoric or historic archeology, architecture, folklore, cultural anthropology, curation, conservation, planning, landscape architecture or related disciplines.
 - (2) The requirements of this section may be waived, with the agreement of the State Historical Society of North Dakota, if individuals having these professional qualifications are not available for appointment, and if reasonable efforts, as defined by the section, have been made to fill the positions.
- (c) Applicants shall be solicited by requests for resumes and written assurance of willingness and interest in serving made:
 - (1) To city high schools, Dickinson State University staff and North Dakota State University Extension Services, utilizing ordinary means established by the institution for such requests;
 - (2) To city architectural, planning, and engineering firms;
 - (3) To the Stark County Historical Society;
- (4) To any other persons or organizations as determined by the Board of City Commission and staff; and
 - (5) By public advertisement in a newspaper of general circulation.
- (d) After the deadline for submission thereof, and review of applicant resumes and their written assurance of willingness and interest in serving, commission members shall be appointed by the Board of City Commissioners, subject to the approval of the State Historical Society of North Dakota.
- (e) Initially three members shall serve for a term of one year; two members shall serve for a term of two years; and two members shall serve for a term of three years. Individual term assignments will be selected by lot at the beginning of the first meeting of the commission. At the expiration of the initial terms, members shall be appointed for three-year terms but the member may serve until a successor has been appointed and the successor's appointment approved.
- (f) If a vacancy occurs other than by expiration of a term, it shall be filled by appointment by the Board of City Commissioners for the un-expired portion of the term following the procedures set forth in this section. Notwithstanding the expiration of a member's term, such member may serve until a successor has been appointed and the successor's appointment approved.
- (g) No commission member shall be entitled to any compensation, except that necessary reasonable expenses incurred in the performance of their duties may be reimbursed.

(h) It is recognized that conflicts of interest for commission members may occur due to the possibility of direct or indirect personal financial gain. Commission members in this position shall abstain from the discussion or voting on such matters. (Ord. 1257 § 1; Ord. 1716 § 2)

Section 2.45.040 Chairman - Quorum

The commission shall, at its first meeting following January 1 in each year, elect a chairperson and vice chairperson to serve until their successors are elected.

A majority of the members of the commission shall constitute a quorum to conduct business. (Ord. No. 1257 § 1.)

Section 2.45.050 Meetings - Notice - Minutes

The commission shall solicit public participation in its decisions and activities. It shall conduct itself in ways which encourage public participation. In furtherance of this goal:

- a) The commission shall hold a minimum of four (4) meetings annually. The dates for the four (4) required meetings shall, except for the first year of the commission's operation, be set at least a year in advance.
- b) All meetings shall be open to the public; shall be held in a facility accessible to the disabled; and shall be upon such public notice as required by law. Unless law shall provide greater notice, the notice of the meeting and its agenda must be published at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the meeting in a newspaper of general circulation. The meeting notice and agenda shall be sent to the North Dakota State Historic Preservation Office at least ten (10) calendar days before the meeting.

The commission's rules governing its own operation and minutes of all commission meetings shall be maintained at City Hall or the office of the commission/office of the City Historic Preservationist; shall be accessible during business hours to the public; and shall be filed at the State Historic Preservation Office within fifteen (15) days of being approved by the Board of Commissioners, or at such other times as may be directed. (Ord. No. 1257 § 1; Ord. No. 1716 § 3.)

Section 2.45.060 Powers of Commission

Subject to the restrictions and limitations of this ordinance, the commission is hereby empowered to represent the Dickinson City Commission and act in its interest. The following powers and duties are specifically conferred upon the commission:

- (a) Consistent with this ordinance, to promulgate rules governing its own operation.
- (b) To make recommendations to the Board of City Commissioners:
- (1) Concerning the acquisition of fee simple and less than fee simple rights in property within the City for purposes of historic preservation;
- (2) Identifying and recommending, for historic preservation purposes, such persons or entities to which fee simple or less than fee simple rights should be granted;
- (3) Recommending additional ordinances, resolutions and/or administrative procedures required to implement this ordinance or to assure adherence to regulations

promulgated by the federal or state government pertaining to the certified local government program.;

- (4) Reviewing and recommending applications for and acceptance and utilization of grants from federal, state and local agencies or other entities and individuals;
- (5) For budgetary appropriations promoting and advancing historic preservation within the City and otherwise implementing this ordinance;
- (6) Concerning any historic preservation issues or concerns including, without limitation, its enforcement of federal, state and local legislation for the designation and protection of historic properties and/or historic districts;
- (7) Concerning the need for protection of historic properties and/or historic districts within the impact area of any government approved, funded, assisted or licensed projects and proposed means of mitigating any adverse effect;
- (8) Designating property within the City that meets the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Identification and Registration of Historic Properties, the Secretary of the Interior's Criteria of Significance, the standards set by the National Register of Historic Places, and/or the North Dakota Historic Sites Registry;
 - (9) Implementing the program referred to in (e), below;
- (10) Preparing and submitting, in accordance with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations, property nominations to the National Register of Historic Places, and/or the North Dakota Historic Sites Registry;
 - (11) Accepting gifts or grants;
- (12) Contracting to obtain expertise from persons with professional qualifications in a discipline not represented by membership on the commission.
- (c) Making recommendations to administrative staff, the Planning and Zoning Commission and Board of Adjustment of the City and any Renaissance Zone Commission established within the City:
- (1) With respect to any building permits, zoning changes, or variances which are pending or issued by the City which may affect historic properties and/or historic districts. The commission shall have no power to prohibit the issuance of any building permit;
- (2) With respect to the review and the comment on any issues concerning historic properties and/or historic districts or historic preservation, even if a building permit is not otherwise required by City ordinances for its construction, alteration, demolition or relocation;
 - (3) Regarding any historic preservation issues or concerns;
- (d) preparing, or having prepared on its behalf, a comprehensive survey, according to the standards promulgated by the State Historical Society of North Dakota, to assist the City in designating properties within the City that meet the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Identification and Registration of Historic Properties, the standards set by the National Register of Historic Places, and/or the North Dakota Historic Sites Registry;
- (e) Developing, or having developed on its behalf, a program for the designation, protection and recognition of historic properties and/or historic districts within the City;
- (f) Reviewing property nominations to the National Register of Historic Places according to the standards and procedures promulgated by the State Historical Society of North Dakota;
- (g) Preserving records of surveys of historic or potentially historic properties and/or historic districts within the City and to file such information at the North Dakota State Historic Preservation Office;

- (h) Reviewing and commenting upon plans, proposals, permits and applications which are developed or required by any federal, state, and local agencies or by other entities which may, in the opinion of the commission, either directly or indirectly affect any historic properties and/or historic districts;
- (i) Reviewing and commenting upon all certifications of significance and certifications of rehabilitation as requested by the North Dakota State Historic Preservation Officer;
- (j) Reviewing and commenting to state or federal agencies regarding the presence of historic properties and/or historic districts within the impact area of any government funded, assisted or licensed projects, to the extent of the project's effect on historic properties and/or historic districts, and proposed means of mitigating any adverse effect; (k) Developing and participating in programs to increase public awareness of the value of historic preservation and historic properties and/or historic districts and of the program established by this ordinance;
- (1) Performing any other functions which may be delegated to it by the Board of City Commissioners. ((Ord. No. 1257 § 1; Ord. No. 1716 § 1.)

Section 2.45.070 Employment of Staff

The City shall provide staff for the commission. (Ord. No. 1257 § 1; Ord. No. 1716 § 1.)

Section 2.45.080 Appropriations - Funding

The Board of City Commissioners may appropriate funds for the operation of the commission. The commission shall receive, hold, dispose and account for assets of any nature or description and all funds received from any source. A special revenue fund known as the Historic Preservation Fund shall be created to receive all funds and account for all fund expenditures made. (Ord. No. 1257 § 1.)

Section 2.45.090 Definition of Terms

Alteration: Any change to a resource resulting from construction, renovation, improvement, repair, maintenance, or other actions.

Appurtenances: A feature related to a parcel of land or to a property including, but not limited to, buildings, objects, fences, signs, sidewalks, etc.

Building: A structure created to shelter any form of human activity, such as a house, garage, barn, church, hotel, or similar structure.

Chief Elected Official: Means the President of the Board of City Commissioners.

City: Means the city of Dickinson, North Dakota.

Commission: The Dickinson Historic Preservation Commission, a local historic preservation commission.

Construction: The addition, or placement of any improvement onto any historic property or historic district.

Criteria of Significance: The quality of significance in American history, architecture, archeology, engineering, and culture present in districts, sites, buildings, structures and objects that possess integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association, and:

- A. That are associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of national, state, regional, county, or local history or prehistory; or,
- B. That are associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; or,
- C. That embody the distinctive characteristics of an architectural style, type, period, or method of construction, or use of indigenous materials or craftsmanship, or that represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction; or,
- D. That have yielded, or may be likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.

Demolition: The complete or partial removal of buildings, structures, infrastructure, objects, sites, or appurtenances.

Designation: The identification, evaluation and registration of property for protection that meet criteria established by the State Historic Preservation Office or by the commission.

Eligibility: A determination by the commission or other legal authority, that a historic property meets the Criteria of Significance.

Historic District: A geographically definable area, urban or rural, which contains a concentration of significant sites, buildings, structures, or objects united historically or aesthetically in concentration, linkage or continuity by plan or physical development and which meets the Criteria of Significance. Districts may be contiguous or discontiguous and may contain properties that are individually eligible for the National Register of Historic Places and/or the North Dakota State Historic Sites Registry or that are designated as eligible by virtue of their ability to contribute to the significance of concentration.

Historic Property: A building, structure, site, object, resource or district that meets the Criteria of Significance as promulgated by the Secretary of the Interior and adopted by the State Historic Preservation Office.

Improvement: An appurtenance developed by human design, including, but not limited to, buildings, structures, infrastructure, objects, and manufactured units, such as mobile homes, carports, and storage buildings.

North Dakota State Historic Sites Registry: A legislatively approved (North Dakota Century Code (NDCC): Chapter 55-10) listing of significant historic properties located in North Dakota, comparable to the National Register of Historic Places.

National Register of Historic Places: A federal list of cultural resources worthy of preservation, authorized under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 as part of a national program to coordinate and support public and private efforts to identify, evaluate, and protect the nation's historic and archaeological resources. The National Register Program is administered by the commission, by the State Historic Preservation Office, and by the National Park Service under the Department of the Interior. Significant federal benefits may accrue to owners of properties listed or determined eligible for the listing in the National Register.

Object: An object is distinguishable from buildings or structures by being a construction that is primarily artistic in nature or relatively small in scale and simply constructed. Although it may be, by nature or design, movable, an object is associated with a specific setting or environment and may include, monuments fountains, statuary, mileposts, sculpture, et.al.

Professional Qualifications: The professional qualifications necessary to comply with this section shall be those defined by the Secretary of the Interior's Professional Qualification Standards.

Relocation: Any changes in the location of a building, object, or, structure in its present setting or to another setting.

Resource: Sites, buildings, structures, objects and all significant features within a preservation district, together with the appurtenances and improvements, if any. The term "resource" includes, but is not limited to, separate districts, buildings, structures, sites, objects, landscape features, and related groups thereof.

Protection: The commission review process for proposed conservation, demolition, alteration, improvement, relocation or other action that may affect historic properties and/or historic districts.

Site: A location of a significant event, a prehistoric or historic occupation or activity, or a building or structure, whether standing, ruined, or vanished, where the location itself possesses historic, cultural or archeological value regardless of the value of any existing structure.

State Historic Preservation Office: The Historic Preservation Division of the State Historical Society of North Dakota.

State Historic Preservation Officer: The person designated by the Governor to hold this position.

Structure: A constructed work of human origination created for purposes other than providing human shelter and may include constructions such as aircraft, automobiles, bridges, dams, earthworks, railroad facilities and equipment, et.al. (Ord. No. 1257 § 1.)

Article 2.50 Oil and Gas Trust Fund

Sections:

2.50.010 Dickinson Future Fund

2.50.020 Deposits

2.50.030 Expenditures

2.50.031 Loans

2.50.040 Board of Trustees

Section 2.50.010 Dickinson Future Fund

There is hereby created a limited expendable trust fund called Dickinson Future Fund for the deposit of revenues from oil, gas and other mineral interests, together with other revenues deemed appropriate by the Board of City Commissioners, to be administered as set forth in this article. (Ord. 1221 § 1; Ord. No. 1277 § 1.)

Section 2.50.020 Deposits

The Board of City Commissioners may, annually or at such times as it deems appropriate, deposit all or a portion of the revenues the City of Dickinson derives from oil, gas or other mineral interests and other revenues deemed appropriate by the Board of City Commissioners in the Dickinson Future Fund. Such revenues may include, but are not limited to bonus payments, delay rentals, revenue interests, production payments, and any other revenue derived from oil, gas and other mineral interests owned by the City of Dickinson. (Ord. 1221 § 1; Ord. No. 1277 § 2.)

Section 2.50.030 Expenditures

Upon deposit in the Dickinson Future Fund, such funds shall not be expended by the Board of City Commissioners, except as provided herein.

- (a) Principal, Interest and Dividends.
- (1) The Board of City Commissioners may annually withdraw an amount not to exceed 5% of the cash balance as of January 1 of the current year to supplement the general fund and reduce property taxes.
- (2) The Board of City Commissioners may loan certain funds for development projects pursuant to Section 2.50.031 of this chapter.
- (b) The principal and interest of said fund shall not be considered unencumbered cash on hand or income therefrom for budgetary purposes under NDCC Chapter 40-40. (Ord. No.1734 § 3)

Section 2.50.031. Loans

If and when the Board of City Commissioners deems it necessary and prudent to loan certain funds from the Dickinson Future Fund for development projects, reduce property tax and/or fund community betterment projects, the Board of Trustees shall follow the following process:

- (a) The Board of City Commissioners may borrow up to thirty-five percent (35%) of the principal, interest and dividend cash balance as of January 1 of the current year.
- (b) The loan amount will be put into the liability account line named "Future Fund Loan Payable" and expenditures and payments received will transact through this general ledger line.
- (c) Repayment of loan funds will be in a term of no more than 120 months. Payment term will start twelve (12) months after loan proceeds have been disbursed. Interest on the loan amount will be the discretion of the Board of City Commissioners. Board of City Commissioner shall have the right, but not the obligation, to prepay the full amount of the principal balance then due at any time, without penalty. (Ord. 1221 § 1; Ord. No. 1252 § 1; Ord. No. 1277 § 3; Ord. No.1734 § 3)

Section 2.50.040 Board of Trustees

A Board of Trustees, consisting of two City Commissioners, the City Administrator, and the Finance Director, shall manage the Dickinson Future Fund, and determine investment guidelines for said fund. The Board of Trustees may select a funding agent or agents to hold and invest the funds of the Dickinson Future Fund. The funds may be placed for investment only with a firm or firms whose primary endeavor is money management, and only after a trust agreement or contract has been executed. (Ord. 1240 § 1; Ord. No. 1277 § 4; Ord. No. 1734 § 4.)

Article 2.60 Cemetery Trust Fund

Sections:

2.60.010 Cemetery Trust Fund No. 2

Section 2.60.010 Cemetery Trust Fund No. 2

There is hereby created a perpetual care fund to be administered by the City Administrator of the City of Dickinson.

The City is hereby authorized to accept donations from any and all sources to such fund.

The principal of such fund shall remain in trust with the interest on said principal to be utilized as operating funds for the care and maintenance of cemeteries owned, maintained or operated by the City of Dickinson.

All non-tax funds currently held by the City which have been designated for such purpose shall be merged herewith and administered as part of this cemetery trust fund.

The Board of City Commissioners may allocate a portion of the fees generated from sale of cemetery lots or other fees received for cemetery purposes to the principal of this fund, to be administered as set forth herein. (Ord. 1222 § 1.)

Article 2.70 Development Impact Fees

Sections:	
2.70.010	Requirements for Development Approval
2.70.015	Definitions
2.70.020	Imposition of impact fee
2.70.030	Application for Impact Fee Approval
2.70.040	Review by City Engineer
2.70.050	Notification to Property Owners
2.70.060	Approval of Application and Establishment of development service areas
2.70.070	Plans and Specifications
2.70.080	Assessment
2.70.090	City Commission Approval of Assessment
2.70.100	Payment of Impact Fees
2.70.110	Impact fee exemptions

Section 2.70.010 Requirements for Development Approval

All impact fees approved under this chapter shall comply with the following terms and conditions:

If a developer owns at least 51% of the affected properties in a proposed improvement area, the developer may apply to the City for special assessments to be placed upon properties in the proposed improvement area, in order to pay, in part, for improvements to the affected properties.

The City shall require the developer to cover at least 50% of the costs of improvements. The City may assess up to 50% of the cost of improvements to benefited properties to a maximum amount, as set forth in Section 2.70.020

In enacting this Article 2.70, the Board of City Commissioners finds that by requiring the developer to pay for at least 50% of the costs, that person or company will be at considerable risk for the improvements and less likely to abandon the project after construction of improvements.

If the City initiates a street improvement project, proportionate costs of water, sewer, storm water, curb, gutter, and sidewalk will be assessed to benefited properties.

If the City initiates any necessary infrastructure improvements in an area a developer or landowner is not ready to develop, the City will cover the costs of the improvement and assess proportionate impact fees on benefited properties following development.

All developer proposed improvements are subject to approval by the City and must be designed to City standards.

All properties served by City improvements or services must be in the City limits.

All properties eligible to apply for development impact fees must be within city limits or annexed thereto prior to approval of the development impact fee application. No property lying outside of city limits shall be eligible to obtain development impact fees or cost participation by the City.

The Board of City Commissioners finds that it is in the best interests of the City to prioritize "in-fill" development projects over those that may wish to be annexed to the City. Accordingly, preference in the granting and approval of development impact fees may be given to those properties within city limits as of August 1, 2010.

Application for development impact fees shall not be made prior to approval of a final plat by the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Cost share reimbursement by the City shall be made only upon the City's receipt of actual invoices from the developer. Total cost share reimbursement shall not exceed 50% of the actual costs incurred by the developer for the improvements. Total cost share reimbursement shall not exceed the estimates provided by the developer in the development impact fee application filed with the City.

A developer shall have a period of 12 months from the date of the approval of the application in which to begin construction. In the event construction has not commenced within 12 months of the date of approval of the application, such application and approval shall be null and void, and shall require a new application and approval. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1; Ord. No. 1311 §1 Ord. No. 1396 § 1.)

Section 2.70.015 Definitions

For the purpose of this Article, the following terms shall have the definitions set forth below:

- A. Contiguous Lot. Two or more platted lots which share a common boundary. Lots shall be considered contiguous, regardless of whether one or more of said lots is outside the development service area.
- B. Developer. The person or entity who submits an Application for impact fee approval pursuant to
- C. Improvement. Any public improvement for which impact fees may be assessed, including streets, water, sewer, storm water, curb, gutter an sidewalk.
- D. Residential Improvement Project. Any proposed development project for which the majority of land within the proposed development area consists of lots intended and designated for residential development and appropriately zoned therefore.
- E. Commercial/Industrial Improvement Project. Any proposed development project for which the majority of the land within in proposed development area consists of lots intended and designated for commercial or industrial development and appropriately zoned therefore. (Ord. No. 1285 §1 Ord. No. 1396 §1)

Section 2.70.020 Maximum Financial Participation by the City

- 1. The City will permit a maximum of \$7 million in assessments and/or cost share in improvements at any time citywide.
- 2. The City will permit a maximum of \$300,000 in assessments and/or cost share for any single Residential Improvement Project.
- 3. The City will permit a maximum of \$600,000 in assessments and/or cost share for any single Commercial/Industrial Improvement Project.
- 4. The City shall endeavor to limit outstanding development impact fees for Residential Improvement Projects to less than \$4 million, and for Commercial/Industrial Improvement Projects to less than \$3 million; provided, however, that such limits may temporarily be exceeded, so long as the maximum limit of \$7 million for all outstanding development impact fees is not exceeded. (Ord. No. 1396 § 1)

Section 2.70.030 Application for Impact Fee Approval

Any person or entity desiring to utilize impact fees for the construction of improvements and infrastructure for undeveloped property shall make application to the City Engineer on the form provided by the City Engineer. The developer shall also pay, at the time the application is

submitted, an application fee in such amount as is set in the City Fee Schedule. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.040 Review by City Engineer

After receipt of an impact fee application, the City Engineer shall review said application, and may request additional information from the developer. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.050 Notification to Property Owners

If the development service area contains property owned by any person or entity other than the developer, the City shall provide written notice by Certified Mail to each such property, which shall include a map of the service area, and the application. Each property owner shall have 15 days after the date of mailing of said notice to file a written protest to the application. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.060 Approval of Application and Establishment of development service areas

At any time after receiving the recommendation of the City Engineer, but not less than 15 days after the date of mailing Notification to Property Owners pursuant to Section 2.70.050, the Board of City Commissioners shall consider the Application and any written protests and, may in its discretion:

- A. Approve the Application with or without changes or conditions;
- B. Establish the maximum financial participation of the City of Dickinson in the project; and
- C. Designate the development service area for the project.

In designating service areas, such areas shall provide a nexus between those paying the fees and receiving the benefits to ensure that those developments paying impact fees receive substantial benefits. Service areas may be designated by the city commission upon consideration of the following factors:

- 1. The comprehensive plan.
- 2. Standards for adequate public facilities incorporated in the capital improvement plan.
- 3. The projections for full development as permitted by all applicable, zoning, storm water and other land use ordinances and timing of development.
- 4. The need for funding unprogrammed capital improvements necessary to support projected development.
- 5. Such other factors as the city may deem relevant. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.070 Plans and Specifications

The developer shall provide plans and specifications for the improvements prepared by an engineer licensed and certified by the State of North Dakota, which must be approved by the City Engineer. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.080 Assessment

After the total amount of impact fees to be charged to all property owners within the development service area has been determined, the amount of fees to be assessed against each parcel of property shall be determined in the same manner as special assessments are assessed under the provisions of Article 2.40 of the City Code, and Chapter 40-23 and 40-23.1 of the North Dakota Century Code. If a developer has made payments for improvements for which the impact fee is assessed to property not owned by the developer, the developer may, at the discretion of the Special Assessment Commission, receive a credit for the amount of such payments. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.090 City Commission Approval of Assessment

The City Commission shall consider and approve, by resolution, the impact fees to be assessed against each parcel located in the development service area. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Section 2.70.100 Payment of Impact Fees

Impact fees certified pursuant to this chapter shall be assessed and paid as follows:

- A. The impact fee shall be due and payable by the property owner at the time the city's commitment to the project is met.
- B. The impact fee may be paid in full, immediately, at the option of the property owner.
- C. If not paid in full immediately, the impact fee shall be assessed against the property owner as follows:
 - 1. For a Residential Improvement Project, the impact fee shall be assessed against the property for a period not to exceed ten years, with interest charged thereon at the rate allowable for special assessments.
 - 2. For a Commercial Industrial Improvement Project, the impact fee shall be assessed against the property for a period not to exceed five years, with interest charged thereon at the rate allowable for special assessments.
- D. If the property owner requests that the impact fee be assessed against the property, the fees shall be certified to the County in the same manner as special assessments. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1; Ord. No. 1311 §3. Ord. No. 1396 §1)

Section 2.70.110 Impact fee exemptions

Parks and recreation facilities owned or operated, in whole or in part, by the city may be exempt from the requirement for payment of impact fees. (Ord. No. 1285 § 1.)

Chapter 3 ADULT ENTERTAINMENT CENTERS OR ESTABLISHMENTS

Last updated January, 2022

3.000	Legislative	intent a	ınd pu	rpose

- 3.020 Definitions
- 3.030 Special use permit; license required
- 3.040 Fees
- 3.050 Hours of operation
- 3.060 Location and zoning requirements
- 3.070 Loitering, exterior lighting and monitoring, and interior lighting requirements
- 3.080 Prohibited conduct
- 3.090 Conditions of operations
- 3.010 Signage
- 3.011 Inspection
- 3.012 Expiration and renewal of license
- 3.013 Transfer of license
- 3.014 Suspension and revocation of license
- 3.015 Hearing procedure; appeal
- 3.016 Remedies
- 3.017 Severability

Section 3.000 Legislative intent and purpose

The purpose of this chapter is to recognize and to provide for the fact that the operation of adult entertainment centers or adult establishments and the operation of associated mechanical amusement devices which depict or display specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas results in increased enforcement problems for the city and additional expense to the city that justifies a higher license fee for these centers, establishments or devices than for other mechanical amusement devices, establishments or centers. This follows because it is not immediately possible to distinguish between constitutionally protected non-obscene depictions or portrayals of explicit sexual conduct, on one hand, from non-constitutionally protected obscene portrayals of sexual conduct on the other hand. This necessitates greater police vigilance to assure that the lawful business of displaying non-obscene portrayals or depictions of sexual conduct is not used inadvertently or by design as the means of unlawfully displaying or depicting obscenity. In order to recoup some of the costs thus imposed on the city, it is appropriate that there be imposed on the persons who profit from such devices, centers or establishments some of the costs of insuring that the devices, centers or establishments are used only lawfully. For the purposes of promoting the health, safety, morals or general welfare of the city residents as authorized by state law, the state has provided certain powers to the City in furtherance thereof. In addition to the increased enforcement problems for the City and additional expense, it is necessary that the City specify certain zoning areas and establish certain regulations pertaining to licensing adult entertainment centers or adult establishments and associated mechanical amusement devices, delineating the placement of such centers, establishments or devices in certain specified zoning areas and requiring certain information, before licensing such centers, establishments or devices and placement of such businesses. (Ord. No. 814, § 1., Ord. 1729 §1)

Section 3.020 Definitions

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Adult Bookstore. A bookstore having as a preponderance of its publications books, magazines and other periodicals which are distinguished or characterized by their emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas as defined in this section, or which also sells sexually oriented devices as herein defined in conjunction with their business as defined herein.

Adult Cabaret. Any commercial premises or private club, to which a member of the public or a club member is invited or admitted, and where an entertainer provides live entertainment or activity that includes any exhibition, performance or dance of any type involving a person who performs in such clothing or removes such clothing such that the areola of the female breast or any portion of the pubic area, anus, buttocks, vulva or genitals are less than completely and opaquely covered. This definition shall include the following:

- any exhibition, performance or dance involving the performance of acts or simulated acts of sexual intercourse, masturbation, sodomy, bestiality, oral copulation, flagellation or any sexual acts prohibited by law.
- the actual or simulated touching, caressing or fondling of the breast, buttocks, anus or genitals.
- the actual or simulated display of pubic hair, anus, vulva or genitals, or the nipples of a female.
- appearances, entertainment or performances of any type consisting of or containing any nude performer or topless female dancer.
- any exhibition, performance or dance that is intended to sexually stimulate any member of the public and which is conducted on a regular basis or as a substantial part of the premises activity.

Adult Establishment or Adult Entertainment Center. An adult bookstore, an adult cabaret, an adult motion picture theater, or an adult mini-motion picture theater, all as defined in this section, or any other business the preponderance of whose activities or sales are designed to display, show, perform or depict specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas as defined in this section, or which may otherwise be designed to sexually arouse any member of the public. Any establishment or center that displays or sells sexually oriented devices as herein defined as a preponderance of its business is also an adult entertainment center or adult establishment within the meaning of this section.

Adult Entertainment License. A license to operate an adult establishment or adult entertainment center, all as defined in this Chapter.

Adult Mini-Motion Picture Theater. An enclosed building with a capacity for less than fifty persons and which is used for presenting motion pictures, a preponderance of which are distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas as defined in this section, for observation by patrons of the theater.

Adult Motion Picture Theater. An enclosed building with a capacity of fifty or more persons and which is used for presenting motion pictures, a preponderance of which are distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on matter depicting, describing or relating to

specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas as defined in this section, for observation by patrons of the theater.

Influential interest. This shall mean any of the following:

- (1) The actual power to operate the adult entertainment center or control the operation, management or policies of the adult entertainment center or legal entity which operates the adult entertainment center;
- (2) Ownership of a financial interest of thirty (30) percent or more of a business or of any class of voting securities of a business; or
- (3) Holding an office (e.g., president, vice president, secretary, treasurer, managing member, managing director, etc.) in a legal entity which operates the adult entertainment center.

Licensee. A person in whose name a license to operate an adult entertainment center has been issued, as well as the individual or individuals listed as an applicant on the application for an adult entertainment center license.

Mechanical Amusement Device. Without limitation, any machine which, upon the insertion of a coin or the payment of consideration, operates or may be operated for use as a game, contest or amusement of any description, or which depicts, displays or projects, directly or indirectly, pictures, photographs or other visual images.

Nudity. The showing of the human male or female genitals, pubic area, vulva, or anus with less than a fully opaque covering, or the showing of the female breast with less than a fully opaque covering of any part of the nipple and areola.

Operator. Any person on the premises of an adult entertainment center who manages, supervises, or controls the business or a portion thereof. A person may be found to be an operator regardless of whether such person is an owner, part owner, or licensee of the business.

Person. An individual, proprietorship, partnership, corporation, association, or other legal entity.

Premises. The real property upon which the adult entertainment center is located, and all appurtenances thereto and buildings thereon, including, but not limited to, the adult entertainment center, the grounds, private walkways, and parking lots and/or parking garages adjacent thereto, under the ownership, control, or supervision of the licensee, as described in the application for a adult entertainment center license.

Regularly. The consistent or repeated doing of an act on an ongoing basis.

Sexually Oriented Device. Without limitation, any artificial or simulated specified anatomical area or any other device or paraphernalia that is designed, in whole or in part, for specified sexual activities.

Specified Anatomical Areas.

- 1) Less than completely and opaquely covered human genitals and pubic regions, buttocks or female breasts below a point immediately above the top of the areola.
- 2) Human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state, even if completely and opaquely covered.

Specified criminal activity. Any of the following specified crimes for which less than five (5) years has elapsed since the date of conviction or the date of release from confinement for the conviction, whichever is the later date:

- 1) Sex offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 12.1-20;
- 2) Obscenity-related offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 12.1-27.1;

- 3) Offenses involving sexual performances by children as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 12.1-27.2;
- 4) Prostitution offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 12.1-29;
- 5) Assault-related offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 12.1-17;
- 6) Controlled substance offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 19-03.1;
- 7) Drug paraphernalia offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 19-03.4;
- 8) Racketeering offenses as defined in N.D.C.C. Chapter 12.1-06.1;
- 9) Any attempt, solicitation, or conspiracy to commit one (1) of the foregoing offenses; or
- 10) Any offense in another jurisdiction that, had the predicate act(s) been committed in North Dakota, would have constituted any of the foregoing offenses.

Specified sexual activities.

- 1) Human genitals in a state of sexual stimulation or arousal;
- 2) Actual or simulated acts of human masturbation, sexual intercourse or sodomy; or
- 3) Fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals and pubic regions, buttocks or female breasts.

Transfer of ownership or control. This shall mean any of the following:

- 1) The sale, lease, or sublease of the business;
- 2) The transfer of securities which constitute an influential interest in the business, whether by sale, exchange, or similar means; or
- 3) The establishment of a trust, gift, or other similar legal device which transfers the ownership or control of the business, except for transfer by bequest or other operation of law upon the death of the person possessing the ownership or control.

Section 3.030 Special use permit; license required (1)

License Required. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate an adult entertainment center in the City without a valid adult entertainment center license. In order to obtain a license, an applicant must complete a special use permit application pursuant to Subsection 2 of this section.

- (2) Special Use Permit Application. An applicant for an adult entertainment center license shall file in person at the office of the City Planner a completed special use permit application made on a form provided by the City. An adult entertainment center may designate an individual with an influential interest in the business to file its application for an adult entertainment center license in person on behalf of the business. The application shall be signed as required by subsection (3) herein and shall be notarized. An application shall be considered complete when it contains, for each person required to sign the application, the information and/or items required in this subsection (2), accompanied by the appropriate licensing fee:
 - (A) The applicant's full legal name and any other names used by the applicant in the preceding five (5) years.
 - (B) Current business address or another mailing address for the applicant.
 - (C) A complete statement of the type of business contemplated.

- (D) A complete financial statement, detailing all of applicant's assets and liabilities of every nature and description and including all property interests of every nature and description.
- (E) Written proof of age, in the form of a driver's license, a picture identification document containing the applicant's date of birth issued by a governmental agency, or a copy of a birth certificate accompanied by a picture identification document issued by a governmental agency.
- (F) The business name, location, legal description, mailing address and phone number of the adult entertainment center.
- (G) The name and business address of the statutory agent or other agent authorized to receive service of process.
- (H) A statement of whether an applicant has been convicted of or has pled guilty or nolo contendere to a specified criminal activity as defined in this article, and if so, each specified criminal activity involved, including the date, place, and jurisdiction of each as well as the dates of conviction and release from confinement, where applicable.
- (I) A statement of whether the applicant has ever been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States or of any state or of the violation of any local ordinance, and if so, the dates, names of places and courts in which such convictions were obtained.
- (J) The applicant shall show a history of his residency and employment for five years immediately prior to the date of the application. If the applicant is a partnership, this information shall be furnished for all of the partners; and if a corporation, the amount of authorized capital, the amount paid in capital, whether such corporation is a subsidiary of any corporation and, if so, the name of the parent corporation, the purposes for which the corporation was incorporated and the names and addresses of all officers, directors and managing agents and the names and addresses of all stockholders holding more than five percent of the capital stock of such corporation shall be furnished.
- (K) The applicant shall state the name and address of the legal title owner of the premises for which the license is sought, and if the license is sought for a person other than the owner of the premises, the terms and conditions of the lease under which the applicant holds the possession of such premises shall be stated, insofar as the terms of the lease and the rental to be paid are concerned. The applicant shall, when required by the Board of City Commissioners, furnish to the Board a copy of the lease under which he holds possession of the premises. If the license is sought by the owner of the premises, the application shall state the time when such applicant acquired title thereto.
- (L) The applicant shall state whether the applicant has ever engaged in the form of business he is applying for prior to the date of application, and if so, the date and type of business and the place where such business was conducted shall be furnished.
- (M) The applicant shall state whether the applicant has ever had a license for such business revoked or canceled by any municipality, state or federal

- authority, and if so, the date of cancellation, the place and authority canceling the same and the reasons for such cancellation shall be stated.
- (N) The applicant shall state whether he or she has any interest whatsoever, directly or indirectly, in any other similar business within or without the state, and if so, the names, addresses and details concerning such establishments shall be furnished.
- (O) A statement of whether any adult entertainment center in which an applicant has had an influential interest, has, in the previous five (5) years (and at a time during which the applicant had the influential interest):
 - 1. Been declared by a court of law to be a nuisance; or
 - 2. Been subject to a court order of closure or padlocking.
- An application for an adult entertainment center license shall be (P) accompanied by a legal description of the property where the business is located and a sketch or diagram showing the configuration of the premises, including a statement of total floor area occupied by the business and a statement of floor area visible or accessible to patrons for any reason, excluding restrooms. The sketch or diagram need not be professionally prepared but shall be drawn to a designated scale or drawn with marked dimensions of the interior of the premises to an accuracy of plus or minus six (6) inches. Applicants who are required to comply with the stage, booth, and/or room configuration requirements of this article shall submit a diagram indicating that the setup and configuration of the premises meets the requirements of the applicable regulations. The City may waive the requirements of this subsection (P) for a renewal application if the applicant adopts a legal description and a sketch or diagram that was previously submitted and certifies that the configuration of the premises has not been altered since it was prepared.
- (Q) A statement to promise and agree to abide by and obey all applicable laws of the state and all applicable ordinances of the City so far as such laws or ordinances may be concerned with the operation of the licensed premises and any activities conducted thereon.
- (3) Signature. If a person who seeks an adult entertainment center license under this section is an individual, he shall sign the application for a license as applicant. If a person who seeks an adult entertainment center license is other than an individual, each person with an influential interest in the adult entertainment center or in a legal entity that controls the adult entertainment center shall sign the application for a license as applicant. Each applicant must be qualified under this article and each applicant shall be considered a licensee if a license is granted.
- (4) Supplemental Information. The information provided pursuant to this subsection shall be supplemented in writing by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the City within ten (10) working days of a change of circumstances which would render the information originally submitted false or incomplete.
- (5) *Issuance of License*. If the City approves the special use permit application, the City may issue an applicant an adult entertainment center license, which is subject to an annual renew pursuant to this Chapter.

(5) *Compliance*. The City shall conduct an annual review of the requirements set forth in the special use permit issued by the City to determine if applicant remains in compliance and is eligible for renewal in the event applicant chooses to seek a renewal.

Section 3.040 Fees

The fee for the special use permit application shall be set by the City fee schedule. After the issuance of the special use permit, the annual renewal license fee shall be \$2,000.00.

Section 3.050 Hours of operation

The business premises of the adult entertainment center or adult establishment that are generally open to its patrons shall be closed to its patrons from 1:00 A.M to 8:00 A.M. daily, except 12:01 A.M. on Sundays to 8:00 A.M. the following day.

Section 3.060 Location and zoning requirements

- (1) Notwithstanding anything in Chapter 39 of this Code and this chapter to the contrary, an adult entertainment center shall be allowed to operate only in General Industrial (GI) or Light Industrial (LI) zoning districts and in no other zoning district, provided the center or establishment meets the conditions set forth in this Chapter as well as any additional requirements as determined through the special use permit application process.
- (2) It shall be unlawful to establish, operate, or cause to be operated an adult entertainment center in the City of Dickinson, unless said adult entertainment center is at least:
 - A. Five hundred (500) feet from any parcel occupied by another adult entertainment center; and
 - B. One Thousand Two Hundred (1,200) feet from any parcel occupied by a church, synagogue, or other place of worship, public park, or any parcel zoned for residential use in an R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4 District or comparable PUD.
 - C. One thousand Two Hundred (1,200) feet from any parcel occupied by a public or private elementary, middle or secondary school.
- (3) For the purpose of this section, measurements shall be made in a straight line in all directions without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the closest part of any structure, including signs and roof overhangs, used in conjunction with the adult entertainment center to the closest point on a property boundary or right-of-way associated with any of the land use(s) identified in subsection (2) above.
- (4) An adult entertainment center will be deemed to satisfy the location requirements of this section if, on the date that its application is filed, the business is a lawful conforming use at its location under the provisions of the Dickinson Land Development Code. This requirement of lawful conforming use status must be met on the date of filing of the adult entertainment center's initial application under this chapter and at all times thereafter.

Section 3.070 Loitering, exterior lighting and monitoring, and interior lighting requirements.

- (1) It shall be the duty of the operator of an adult entertainment center to:
 - A. Ensure that at least two (2) conspicuous signs stating that no loitering is permitted on the premises are posted on the premises;
 - B. Designate one (1) or more employees to monitor the activities of persons on the premises by visually inspecting the premises at least once every ninety (90) minutes or inspecting the premises by use of video cameras and monitors; and
 - C. Provide lighting to the exterior premises to provide for visual inspection or video monitoring to prohibit loitering.
- (2) It shall be the duty of the operator of an adult entertainment center to ensure that the interior premises shall be equipped with overhead lighting of sufficient intensity to illuminate every place to which customers are permitted access.
- (3) Except as otherwise required by Dickinson Municipal Code, no adult entertainment center shall erect a fence, wall, or similar barrier that prevents any portion of the parking lot(s) for the establishment from being visible from a public right-of-way.

Section 3.080 Prohibited conduct

- (1) No patron, employee, or any other person shall knowingly or intentionally, in an adult entertainment center, appear in a state of nudity or engage in a specified sexual activity.
- (2) No person shall knowingly or intentionally, in an adult entertainment center, appear in a semi-nude condition unless the person is an employee who, while semi-nude, remains at least six (6) feet from all patrons and on a stage at least eighteen (18) inches from the floor in a room of at least six hundred (600) square feet.
- (3) No employee who regularly appears semi-nude in an adult entertainment center shall knowingly or intentionally touch a customer or the clothing of a customer on the premises of an adult entertainment center.
- (4) The center or establishment shall not sell, distribute, or permit the consumption of any alcohol or other intoxicating substance on the premises of the center or establishment.
- (5) No person shall knowingly or recklessly allow a person under the age of eighteen (18) years to be or remain on the premises of an adult entertainment center.
- (6) No operator or licensee of an adult entertainment center shall knowingly violate the regulations in this section or knowingly allow an employee or any other person to violate the regulations in this section.

Section 3.090 Conditions of operations

(1) All portions of the licensed premises to which members of the general public are admitted shall be readily visible from immediately within the front entrance of the center or establishment, and the center or establishment shall contain no private booths or other areas screened off or otherwise not visible from immediately within the front entrance of the center or establishment,

ordinary restrooms or bathrooms excepted; provided that any entrance and exit to such restrooms or bathrooms is readily visible from immediately within the front entrance of the center or establishment.

- (2) No member of the public shall be permitted at any time to enter into any of the non-public portions of the licensed premises, which shall include but are not limited to: the dressing rooms of entertainers or other rooms provided for the benefit of employees, the kitchen and storage areas; provided that persons delivering goods and material, food and beverages, or performing maintenance or repairs to the premises or equipment may be permitted into non-public areas to the extent necessary to perform their job duties.
- (3) The following standards of conduct shall be observed and adhered to by all employees and entertainers of any center or establishment:
 - a) No employee or entertainer shall be unclothed or in less than completely opaque attire so as to expose to view any portion of the female breast below the top of the areola or any portion of the pubic region, anus, buttocks, vulva or genitals.
 - b) No employee shall caress, fondle, or erotically touch any member of the public. No employee or entertainer shall encourage or permit any member of the public to caress, fondle or erotically touch any employee or entertainer.
 - c) No employee or entertainer shall perform any actual or simulated act of sexual conduct as defined in this Chapter, or any act that constitutes a violation of NDCC Chapters 12.1-27.1 or 12.1-27.2, or which may otherwise be a criminal violation under North Dakota state law.
 - d) No employee or entertainer shall conduct any dance, performance or exhibition in or about the non-stage area of the center or establishment for less than all members of the public present in the center or establishment.
 - e) No employee or entertainer shall accept tips or gratuities in advance of their performance. No employee or entertainer shall accept tips or gratuities directly from patrons. All tips or gratuities shall be deposited in a receptacle provided by the center or establishment.
 - f) The performance area where any performance, exhibition or dance where adult entertainment is provided shall be a stage or platform at least eighteen (18) inches in elevation above the level of the patron seating areas, and shall be separated by a distance of at least six (6) feet from all areas to which members of the public have access. A continuous railing at least three (3) feet high and located at least six (6) feet from all points of the performance area shall separate the performance area from the patron seating area.

Section 3.010 Signage

- (1) An adult entertainment center shall not be permitted to display signs visible from the exterior of the premises, except non-obscene signs identifying the facility as an adult entertainment center or adult establishment as defined herein.
- (2) No materials depicting specified sexual activities or specified anatomical activities shall be visible from the exterior of the center or establishment.
- (3) A sign at least two feet by two feet, with letters at least one inch in height shall be conspicuously displayed in the public areas of the premises, stating as follows:

This center or establishment is regulated by the City of Dickinson. Entertainers are:

- 1. Not permitted to engage in any type of sexual conduct.
- 2. Not permitted to appear nude or semi-nude.
- 3. Not permitted to accept tips or gratuities in advance of their performance.
- 4. Not permitted to accept tips directly from patrons at any time. Tips may be deposited in the receptacle provided by this center or establishment.

Section 3.011 Inspection

An adult entertainment center does expressly consent that any member of the Board of City Commissioners, any police officer of the city, city planner and city attorney or any person or persons duly authorized by the Board of City Commissioners may enter upon the premises described in this application at any reasonable hour of the day or night; and at such time they shall have free access to all portions of the property comprising the licensed premises for the purpose of inspecting such premises for any possible violation of any of the laws of the state or any of the ordinances of the city, whether they pertain specifically to the operation of the business or not. Such access shall be permitted for such purposes without the necessity of a search warrant. This section shall be narrowly construed by the City to authorize reasonable inspections of the licensed premises pursuant to this article, but not to authorize a harassing or excessive pattern of inspections.

Section 3.012 Expiration and renewal of license

- (1) Each license shall remain valid for a period of one (1) calendar year from the date of issuance unless otherwise suspended or revoked. Such license may be renewed only by making application and payment of a fee as provided in this article.
- (2) Application for renewal of an annual license should be made at least ninety (90) days before the expiration date of the current annual license, and when made less than ninety (90) days before the expiration date, the expiration of the current license will not be affected.

Section 3.013 Transfer of license

A licensee shall not transfer his or her license to another, nor shall a licensee operate an adult entertainment center under the authority of a license at any place other than the address designated in the adult entertainment center license application.

Section 3.014 Suspension and revocation of license

- (1) The City may suspend or revoke any license issued under this Chapter at any time for the following reasons:
 - a) The licensee knowingly gave false information in the application for the license;
 - b) The licensee knowingly or recklessly engaged in or allowed possession, use, or sale of controlled substances on the premises;
 - c) The licensee knowingly or recklessly engaged in or allowed prostitution on the premises;

- d) The licensee knowingly or recklessly operated an adult entertainment center during a period of time when the license was finally suspended or revoked;
- e) The licensee knowingly or recklessly engaged in or allowed any specified sexual activity or specified criminal activity to occur in or on the premises;
- f) The licensee knowingly or recklessly allowed a person under the age of twenty-one (21) years to consume alcohol on the premises; or
- g) The licensee has knowingly or reckless allowed a person under the age of (18) years on the premises.
- (2) A license procured by fraud or misrepresentation shall be revoked. Where other violations of this Chapter or other applicable ordinances, statutes or regulations are found, the license shall be suspended for a period of thirty (30) days upon the first such violation, ninety (90) days upon the second violation within a twenty-four (24) month period and revoked for the third and subsequent violations within a twenty-four (24) month period, not including periods of suspension.
- (3) When, after the notice and hearing procedure described in this article, the City revokes a license, the revocation shall continue for one (1) year and the licensee shall not be issued a license or for one (1) year from the date revocation becomes effective.

Section 3.015 Hearing procedure; appeal

- (1) The City Administrator or his or her designee shall provide at least ten days prior written notice to the licensee of the recommendation to suspend or revoke the license and the date of the hearing before the Board of City Commissioners, which must not be more than 30 days from the date of service of the notice, either by certified mail with a return receipt or by personal service upon the manager or owner of the licensed premises.
- (2) Such notice shall inform the licensee of the right to a hearing before the Board of City Commissioners, the date of the scheduled hearing, and shall state the grounds for revocation and suspension.
- (3) The Board of City Commissioners shall hold the hearing within 30 days of service upon the licensee and shall issue its decision within 15 days following the close of the hearing.
- (4) Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Board of City Commissioners shall have a right to appeal to the district court. The decision of the Board of City Commissioners shall be stayed during the pendency of the appeal except as provided in Subsection (5) below.
- (5) Where the city building official or fire chief or their designees or the city health officer find that any condition exists upon the premises of a center or establishment which constitutes a threat of immediate serious injury or damage to persons or property, said official may immediately suspend any license issued under this Chapter pending a hearing in accordance with the provisions of this section. The official shall issue notice setting forth the basis for the action and the facts that constitute a threat of immediate serious injury or damage to persons or property, and informing the licensee of the right to appeal the suspension to the Board of City Commissioners under the same appeal provisions set forth in Subsection (c) above, provided, however, that a suspension based on threat of immediate serious injury or damage shall not be stayed during the pendency of the appeal and the licensee may request an expedited hearing at the next scheduled regular meeting of the Board.
- (6) Any person aggrieved by the action of the Board in refusing to issue or renew any license issued under this Chapter shall have the right to appeal such action to the district court.

Pending completion of the appeal process the City shall issue a temporary license, provided the aggrieved person files a notice of appeal with the City within 30 days of notice of the refusal to issue or renew.

Section 3.016 Remedies

The city attorney is hereby authorized to institute civil proceedings necessary for the enforcement of this article to enjoin, restrain, or correct violations hereof. Such proceedings shall be brought in the name of the city, provided, however, that nothing in this section and no action taken hereunder, shall be held to exclude such criminal or administrative proceedings as may be authorized by other provisions of this article, or any of the laws in force in the city or to exempt anyone violating this code or any part of the said laws from any penalty which may be incurred.

Section 3.017 Severability

The provisions in this chapter are severable, and if any of the provisions, sentences, clauses or paragraphs shall be held unconstitutional, contrary to statute, exceeding the authority of the city or otherwise illegal or inoperative by any court of competent jurisdiction, the decision of such court shall not affect or impair any of the other remaining provisions, unless the court should conclude that the partial invalidation would frustrate the intent of this chapter.

(Ord No. 814 § 1, Ord No. 1409 § 1; Ord. 1729 §1)

Chapter 4 ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES

Last updated August, 2023

Articles:

4.ED Editor's note to Chapter 4

4.04 In General

4.08 Licenses.

Article 4.ED Editor's note to Chapter 4

Sections:

4.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 4

Section 4.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 4

As to driving under influence of liquor, see $\S 20.76.010$ of this Code. As to intoxication or drunkenness generally, see $\S 25.16.08.040$. As to use, possession, etc., of controlled substances, see $\S 25.16.12.130$.

Article 4.04 In General

Sections:	
4.04.00E	Editor's note to Article 4.04
4.04.010	Definitions
4.04.020	Territorial jurisdiction of chapter
4.04.030	Enforcement of chapter - REPEALED
4.04.040	MinorsEmployment by establishments having on-sale license
4.04.050	Conduct on premises where sale permitted
4.04.060	Nudity, semi nudity and sexually explicit acts prohibited
4.04.070	Sale, consumption, etc. on streets, public ways, etc.
4.04.080	Sale to certain persons
4.04.090	Prohibited hours and days of sale
4.04.100	Purchases on certain days
4.04.110	Drive-in and walk-up facilities
4.04.120	Toilet requirements for on-sale premises
4.04.130	Sale of alcoholic beverages prohibited after certain hours
4.04.140	Credit sales - REPEALED
4.04.150	Side rooms, booths, etc., on premises where beverages are sold - REPEALED
4.04.160	Sale of beer in kegs; records and marking required

Section 4.04.00E Editor's note to Article 4.04

For state law as to alcoholic beverages generally, see NDCC, § 5-01-01 et seq. As to authority of city to regulate and license alcoholic beverages generally, see NDCC, §§ 5-02-09, 40-05-01.

Section 4.04.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them in this section:

<u>Alcoholic Beverages</u>. Any liquid suitable for drinking by human beings which contains one-half of one percent or more of alcohol by volume and shall include, but is not necessarily limited to, any whiskey, rum, beer, hard cider and wine. It shall be presumed, for purposes of this chapter, that any such beverages contain more than one-half percent of alcohol by volume.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 5-01-01.

<u>Barrel of Beer.</u> A cylindrical container used for holding beer not to exceed 32 gallons of beer.

Beer. Any malt beverage containing more than 1/2 of 1% of alcohol by volume.

<u>Brewer Taproom.</u> A brewer which brews 25,000 barrels or fewer of beer per year and produced or manufactured on the licensed premises for consumption on or off the premises, or serves beer produced or manufactured on the premises for purposes of sampling the beer.

<u>Growler</u>. A sealed aluminum can not to exceed 32 ounces that is filled with beer and sealed on site for the sole purpose of off-premises consumption.

<u>Distilled Spirits</u>. Any alcoholic beverage that is not beer, wine, or sparkling wine.

<u>Domestic Distillery</u>. An operation located within the State of North Dakota in which the owner or operator produces distilled spirits in accordance with the provisions of N.D.C.C. § 5-01-19.

<u>Domestic Winery</u>. An operation located within the State of North Dakota in which the owner or operator produces wine in accordance with the provisions of N.D.C.C. § 5-01-17.

Gas Station. An establishment beside a road selling fuel for motor vehicles.

Growler. A sealed container not to exceed 64 ounces that is filled with beer and sealed on site for the sole purpose of off-premises consumption. At the time of sale, the container shall be sealed with a paper or plastic adhesive band, strip, or sleeve which is applied over the top of the twist-type closure, cork, stopper, or plug in such a manner that the seal must be broken in order to open the container. The adhesive band, strip, or sleeve shall either (a) bear the name and address of the licensee-seller, or (b) have the sales receipt attached to the container. The sale of growlers in compliance with this chapter is authorized only for general microbrewery licensees approved to sell alcoholic beverages both on-sale and off-sale. The filling of growlers shall not constitute the breaking of a package, as defined in this chapter. The sale of a filled growler shall be considered off-sale. A growler with a broken seal shall be considered an open container for the purposes of N.D.C.C. § 39-08-18.

<u>Hotel or Motel License</u>. A license issued to the owner or lessee of any hotel or motel containing seventy-five or more rental units in one contiguous area.

<u>Licensed premises</u>. All areas or spaces where alcoholic beverages are sold, served or dispensed as identified in the comprehensive site drawing required in the application for a license under this Chapter. The licensed premises may be located in two buildings, but all portions of the licensed premises must be contiguous. Any licensee whose licensed premises was located in more than one noncontiguous building as of January 1, 2005 may continue to operate in such buildings, provided that, if either building ceases to be a portion of the licensed premises at any time, the licensed premises thereafter must comply with the current definition of licensed premises.

Liquor. Any alcoholic beverage except beer.

<u>Lodge or Club</u>. Any corporation or association organized for civic, fraternal, social or business purposes or the promotion of sports, which has at least two hundred members at the time the license is applied for and was in existence at the time of the adoption of the Liquor Control Act of the state. The effective date of the adoption of the Liquor Control Act of the state is defined and determined to be December 3, 1936.

<u>Microbrewery Pub License</u>. A brewer which brews 10,000 or fewer barrels of beer per year and sells beer produced or manufactured on the licensed premises for consumption on or off the premises, or serves beer produced or manufactured on the premises for purposes of sampling the beer

Minor. A person under twenty-one years of age.

Off-Sale. The sale of intoxicating beverages in original packages for consumption off or away from the premises where sold.

On-Sale. The sale of any alcoholic drinks for consumption on the premises where sold. An on-sale license shall authorize the person named therein to conduct such sales at the place designated in such license and not elsewhere. An on-sale license issued pursuant

to the provisions of this chapter shall permit off-sales of liquor under the terms and conditions set forth therein.

On/off Sale License. A license issued to the owner or lessee of an establishment, which shall authorize the person named therein to sell alcoholic beverages for consumption either on or off the premises on which it is sold.

<u>Package and Original Package</u>. Any container or receptacle holding alcoholic beverages which is corked or sealed by the manufacturer and which cork or seal has not been removed or broken prior to the sale of such package to the purchaser.

<u>Person</u>. Any of the following: Any individual who is a bona fide resident and a citizen of the state; any domestic, private or municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the state; any limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state; and partnership, all of whose members are bona fide residents in and citizens of the state; or any lodge or club existing as defined in this section and maintaining its main lodge or club rooms within the city. No foreign corporation shall be considered a person for purposes of this chapter, nor shall any foreign corporation be entitled to a license under this chapter.

Qualified Alcoholic Beverage Licensee. Unless the context otherwise indicates, means a commercial establishment that is licensed to engage in the sale of alcoholic beverages, and which has paid and continues to pay the city Hospitality tax under section 35.125 of this Code. A commercial establishment licensed to engage in the sale of alcoholic beverages that is not required to pay the Hospitality tax may voluntarily pay the tax to become a qualified alcoholic beverage licensee. A commercial establishment shall be considered to have paid the tax upon its first payment of said tax to the State Tax Department. Failure to continuously pay the tax will void the remaining term of the permit and the licensee will be ineligible for reinstatement until it has continuously paid the tax for a period of 12 months. Said licensee, upon request of the City, shall provide sufficient proof of payment of the tax.

Restaurant. An establishment having sufficient dining areas, commercial kitchen and complete food service facilities to adequately serve its patrons, and for which gross sales of food are equal to or greater than gross sales of alcoholic beverages.

Restaurant License. A license issued to the owner or lessee of any restaurant.

<u>Retailer</u>. Any person engaged in the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages of any type under any type of license, except a wholesale license.

<u>Sale and Sell</u>. Any transfer, exchange or barter in any manner or by any means whatsoever for an amount of money or its equivalent, including all sales made by any person, whether as principal proprietor, agent, servant or employee.

<u>Sell at Retail or Sale at Retail</u>. A sale to a consumer for use or consumption and not for the purpose of resale in any form.

Sparkling Wine. Wine made effervescent with carbon dioxide.

<u>Sunday Opening Permit</u>. A permit awarded to qualified alcoholic beverage licensees in accordance with Section 35.125 of this Code, which permits the licensee to open for business on Sundays.

<u>Wholesaler</u>. Any persons engaged in the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages at wholesale to persons holding a retail license for the sale and distribution of alcoholic beverages within the State or in interstate commerce.

Wine. The alcoholic beverage obtained by fermentation of agricultural products containing natural or added sugar or such beverage fortified with brandy and containing not more than 24% alcohol by volume. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 456, § 3-1; Ord. No. 701, § 1; Ord. No. 832, § 2; Ord. No. 1106, § 1; Ord. No. 1113, § 1; Ord. No. 1184 § 1; Ord. No. 1298 §1; Ord. No. 1327 §1.; Ord. No. 1608 §1; Ord. No. 1654 §1; Ord. No. 1664 §1; Ord. No. 1635 §1; Ord. No. 1733 § 1)

Section 4.04.020 Territorial jurisdiction of chapter

This chapter shall apply to all territory within the corporate limits of the city and to such outlying, contiguous territory without the corporate limits within which this city may exercise police jurisdiction as defined by law. (Ord. No. 396.)

Section 4.04.030 Enforcement of chapter - REPEALED

This section was repealed with passage of Ordinance No. 1298 dated July 5, 2005.

Section 4.04.040 Minors--Employment by establishments having on-sale license

Any licensee who dispenses alcoholic beverages to a person under twenty-one years of age or who permits such a person to remain on the licensed premises while alcoholic beverages are being sold or displayed is guilty of a class B misdemeanor, subject to the provisions of Article 25.16 of this Code. Any person under twenty-one years of age may remain:

- (a) in a restaurant where, alcoholic beverages are being sold, if accompanied by a parent or legal guardian,
- (b) in a restaurant where that person is employed by the restaurant as a food waiter, waitress, or server, busboy or busgirl, provided that such person is at least eighteen years of age, and under the direct supervision of a person over twenty-one years of age, and such person is not engaged in the sale, dispensing, or consumption of alcoholic beverages,
- in a restaurant where, alcoholic beverages are being sold if the seating is separated from the area in which alcoholic beverages are opened or mixed,
- in an area of a site where beer, wine or sparkling wine is sold in accordance with the conditions of an event permit issued pursuant to Section 4.08.270,
- (e) any person who is nineteen years of age or older but under twenty-one years of age may be employed by the restaurant to serve and collect money for alcoholic beverages, if the person is under the direct supervision of a person twenty-one or more years of age, but may not be engaged in mixing, dispensing or consuming alcoholic beverages,
- (f) in any establishment where, alcoholic beverages are sold may employ persons from eighteen to twenty-one years of age to work in the capacity of musicians under the direct supervision of a person over twenty-one years of age,
- (g) if the person is an independent contractor or the independent contractor's employee engaged in contract work and is not engaged in selling, dispensing, delivering, or consuming alcoholic beverages,
- (h) if the person is a law enforcement officer or other public official who enters the

- premises in the performance of official duty, or
- (i) if the person enters the premises for training, education, or research purposes under the supervision of a person twenty-one or more years of age with prior notification of the local licensing authority.

Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 647, § 2; Ord. No. 987, § 1; Ord. No. 1188, § 1; Ord. No. 1298 § 3; Ord. No. 1642 § 1)

For state law as to employment of minor in restaurant where alcoholic beverages are being sold, see NDCC, § 5-02-06.

Section 4.04.050 Conduct on premises where sale permitted

Every person holding a license to sell alcoholic beverages shall be responsible for the conduct in his place of business and shall maintain order and sobriety in such place. (Ord. No. 396.)

Section 4.04.060 Nudity, seminudity and sexually explicit acts prohibited

- (a) No person who is within or upon premises which are licensed under this chapter shall knowingly omit to cover securely with an opaque covering the following portions of his or her anatomy:
 - (1) the nipples;
 - (2) the pubes;
 - (3) the cleavage between the buttocks; and
 - (4) the genitals.
- (b) No person while upon or within premises licensed under this chapter shall perform or simulate acts of sexual intercourse, masturbation, sodomy, bestiality, oral copulation, flagellation, or shall perform or simulate the touching, caressing or fondling of breasts, buttocks, anus or genitals.
- (c) Premises licensed under this chapter for the purposes of this section shall include any area or room under control of the licensee, or as to which he has the lawful right to assert control, whether control is exercised or not:
 - (1) in which or in any portion of which alcoholic beverages are stored, mixed, prepared, opened, served or consumed as an incident of the business operation of the licensee carried on pursuant to the license; or
 - (2) the interior of which his visible from an area or room described in subparagraph (1) but only while its interior is so visible.

(Ord. No. 922, 1; Ord. No. 1298 §4.)

Section 4.04.070 Sale, consumption, etc. on streets, public ways, etc.

Unless authorized by Event Alcoholic Beverage Permit the sale, serving, possession, or consumption of any alcoholic beverage upon or across any street, alley or public way is hereby prohibited. A person who violates this section shall be guilty of an infraction and sentenced accordingly. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 950, § 1; Ord. No. 1176, § 8; Ord. No. 1184 § 2.)

Section 4.04.080 Sale to certain persons

No licensee under this chapter nor any of his agents, servants or employees shall sell, serve or dispense in any manner any alcoholic beverage to any habitual drunkard, intoxicated person, incompetent person under guardianship or to any person under twenty-one years of age. No such licensee shall permit any of such persons to be furnished with any type of alcoholic beverage on the premises for which such license is granted.

Whosoever shall in any way procure or furnish any alcoholic beverage for the use of any person named in this section shall be deemed to have sold the same to such person and to have violated the terms and conditions of this section. (Ord. No. 3906.)

For similar state laws, see NDCC, § 5-01-09.

Section 4.04.090 Prohibited hours and days of sale

A person may not dispense or permit the consumption of alcoholic beverages on licensed premises between 1:00 A.M. and 11:00 A.M. on Sundays; between the hours of 1:00 A.M. and 8:00 A.M. on all other days of the week; on Christmas Day, or after 6:00 P.M. on Christmas Eve. In addition, a person may not provide off-sale after 1:00 A.M. on Thanksgiving Day. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 425, § 1; Ord. No. 515, § 1; Ord. No. 987, § 2; Ord. No. 1020, § 1; Ord. No. 1075, § 1; Ord. No. 1088, § 1; Ord. No. 1298 § 5, Ord. No. 1594 § 1)

For state laws as to hours of sale, see NDCC, § 5-02-05.4.08.030

Section 4.04.100 Purchases on certain days

It shall be unlawful for any person to purchase or seek to purchase any beer, liquor or any form of alcoholic beverage within the city at any time or any day when such purchases are prohibited by state law. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 425, § 2; Ord. No. 515, § 2.)

For state laws as to sale of alcoholic beverages on certain days, see IVDCC, § 5-02-05.

Section 4.04.110 Drive-in and walk-up facilities

It is hereby declared to be unlawful on or after January 1, 1978, for any person holding any license for the sale of alcoholic beverages within the city to maintain or operate any walk-up or drive-in facility for the sale, dispensing or delivery of any alcoholic beverage. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 701, § 3.)

Section 4.04.120 Toilet requirements for on-sale premises

The premises where any on-sale license is granted for the sale of any alcoholic beverages must be equipped with adequate and sufficient lavatories and toilets separately maintained for men and women and kept in a clean and sanitary condition. (Ord. No. 396.)

For state law as to authority of city to establish health standards for licensed premises, see NDCC, § 5-02-09.

Section 4.04.130 Sale of alcoholic beverages prohibited after certain hours

No alcoholic beverage licensee or any of his agents or employees shall allow any on-sale alcoholic beverages to be sold after 12:45 A.M. Sales of on-sale alcoholic beverages shall cease and be prohibited from and after 12:45 A.M. This restriction is additional to any restrictions and prohibitions now required by state law. (Ord. No. 711, § 1; Ord. No. 836, § 1; Ord. No. 987, § 3.)

Section 4.04.140 Credit sales - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1298 § 5 approved July 5, 2005.

Section 4.04.150 Side rooms, booths, etc., on premises where beverages are sold - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1298 § 7 approved July 5, 2005.

Section 4.04.160 Sale of beer in kegs; records and marking required

- (a) A retail licensee selling beer in a container having a liquid capacity greater than six gallons (22.71 liters) shall place a distinctive symbol, notation or mark on the container which uniquely identifies him/her, and moreover, shall mark such container with a "registration" number or letters, or both, unique to that container. The paint or ink used to mark the containers or other manner of marking the containers must be approved by the attorney general.
- (b) Whenever a retail licensee sells beer in a container with a liquid capacity greater than six gallons (22.71 liters), he/she shall record the date of sale and the name, address, driver's license number or number of other official state or military identification card of the person to whom the beer is sold, together with the signature, and registration number or letters of the container, or both. Such records must be retained for a period of no less than six months and must be kept on the licensed premises of the retail establishment where the sales are made.
- (c) Each retail licensee shall register his or her unique identification symbol, notation or mark with the attorney general and shall permit any law enforcement officer to inspect the records required to be kept pursuant to this section during times the retail establishment is normally open for business or at other reasonable times.
- (d) This section shall not apply to the sale of beer in a container by a retail licensee if the contents of the container are consumed on the licensed premises where the sale occurred. (Ord. No. 851, § 1; Ord. No. 987, § 4.)

Article 4.08 Licenses.

THE CICIC	1.00 Literises.
Sections:	
4.08.010	Eligible persons
4.08.020	License Required
4.08.030	License - Classes
4.08.040	Repealed by 1184
4.08.060	License Requirements - Limitation on number; issuance generally; renewal
4.08.065	Addition of On/Off Sale License – Procedure for Granting
4.08.070	License Applications
4.08.075	License Renewals
4.08.080	Term; fees
4.08.090	Wholesale
4.08.100	Licensee to be owner of business
4.08.110	Premises near churches or schools
4.08.120	Number per person
4.08.130	Identification number and record; display
4.08.140	Issuance to certain persons prohibitedMinors or immoral persons -
	REPEALED
4.08.150	Restrictions on issuance to lodge or club
4.08.160	Repealed by 1184
4.08.170	Issuance or refusal generally
4.08.180	Approval of applications by city commission
4.08.190	Majority vote by city commission required for issuance
4.08.200	Change in location of licensed premises
4.08.210	Transfer of On/Off Sale Licenses
4.08.220	Transfer of ownership of business - REPEALED
4.08.230	Payment, proration and refund of fees
4.08.240	Revocation and suspension by city commission
4.08.250	SameEffect on imposition of other penalties
4.08.260	Repealed by 1184
4.08.270	Special event alcoholic beverage permit
4.08.275	Restricted special event alcoholic beverage permit
4.08.280	Sunday alcoholic beverage permit

Section 4.08.010 Eligible persons

No license shall be issued under the provisions of this Chapter to any applicant, except as follows:

- (1) If the applicant is an individual, such individual must be at least 21 years of age, a legal resident of the United States, a legal resident of the State of North Dakota, and must establish residency in Stark County within three months of the issuance of the license.
- (2) If the applicant is a partnership, all such partners must be at least 21 years of age, legal residents of the United States, legal residents of the State of North Dakota, and must establish residency in Stark County within three months of the issuance of the license.

(3) If the applicant is a corporation or other limited liability entity, the designated manager of the licensed premises must be at least 21 years of age, a legal resident of the United States, a legal resident of the State of North Dakota, and must establish residency in Stark County within three months of the issuance of the license. (Ord. No. 1492 §1)

Section 4.08.020 License Required

It shall be unlawful for any person to sell, exchange, dispose of or keep for sale any alcoholic beverage within the city without first obtaining a license for the sale thereof from the city. Persons violating this section shall be guilty of a Class A misdemeanor. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1298 § 9, Ord. No. 1492 §1)

For state law requiring both state and local licenses, see NDCC, § 5-02-01.

Section 4.08.030 License - Classes

The City may issue the following licenses for the retail sale of alcoholic beverages:

- (a) On/Off-Sale License.
- (b) Lodge or Club License.
- (c) Motel or Hotel License.
- (d) Restaurant On-Sale License.
- (e) Military Club Beer and Wine License.
- (f) Microbrewery Pub License.
- (g) Beer and Wine Concession License.
- (h) Distillery License.
- (i) Brewer Taproom License.
- (j) Domestic Winery License.
- (k) Beer Only On-Sale License
- (1) Beer and Wine Only On-Sale License.
- (m) Legacy Square Concession License.

(Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 456, § 3-4; Ord. No. 832, § 1; Ord. No. 969, § 1; Ord. No. 1106, § 3; Ord. No. 1184 § 3; Ord. 1232 § 1; Ord. No. 1298 § 10, Ord. No. 1492 §1; Ord. No. 1589 §1; Ord. No. 1649 §; Ord. No. 1654 §2; Ord. No. 1664 §2; Ord. No. 1733 §2; Ord. No. 1775 § 1)

Section 4.08.060 License Requirements

The Board of City Commissioners hereby finds that in order to ensure compliance by all licensees with all applicable federal, states, and city laws, ordinances, and regulations, and in order to adequately police establishments engaged in the retail sale of alcoholic beverages, and in order to promote the public welfare, it is necessary and proper to limit the number of certain classes of licenses, as provided herein, pursuant to the City's police powers and the authority granted by Title 5 of the North Dakota Century Code.

(a) On/Off Sales License

The City may grant an "on/off sale license", which authorizes the licensee to sell beer and/or intoxicating liquor at retail for consumption on and off the licensed premises subject to the following conditions:

- As of December 31, 2012, a total of seventeen on/off sale licenses existed within the city limits of the City of Dickinson. No additional on/off sale licenses shall be granted until the population of the City reaches an estimated twenty-one thousand (21,000) people at which time the Board of City Commissioners may, but shall not be required to, grant an additional on/off sale license, as hereinafter provided pursuant to Section 4.08.065 of this Chapter.
- The Board of the City Commissioners may grant an additional on/off sale license for each incremental population increase of three thousand people above 21,000 people, as may be determined in the sole discretion of the Board of the City Commissioners from time to time, based upon annexations, household units, census projections, census results, or other methods of estimated population.
 - a. Any on/off sale license which is added to the City by virtue of annexation shall automatically increase the number of on/off sale licenses available under subsection (1) of this section. Notwithstanding addition of on/off sale licenses added by annexation, the City may nevertheless add additional on/off sale licenses based upon the requisite population increases, as stated in subsection (2) of this section.
- 3) If additional licenses have been granted because of an increase in population, said licenses will be eliminated when the population falls below the population level that authorized the additional license. In addition, if the population of the City falls below twenty-one thousand, one on/off sale license shall be eliminated from the number authorized under this section. However, said licenses shall not be eliminated until such time as a license is vacated.
- 4) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 5) A licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining provisions of this Code, including this chapter.

(b) Lodge or Club License.

The City may grant a "lodge or club license", which authorizes the licensee to sell beer and/or intoxicating liquor at retail for consumption upon the premises of the licensee, except when permitted by subsection (4) below, primarily for the convenience of the club or lodge members subject to the following conditions:

- 1) No license shall be transferable to any other owner.
- 2) Any additional lodge or club license shall be granted only to organizations qualifying as a lodge or club, and then only in the discretion of the Board of City Commissioners.
- 3) No electronic or mechanical gaming devices or games of chance shall be allowed upon the premises licensed hereunder in any area where minors are allowed to be present.
- 4) A licensee may apply for a special event permit under Section 4.08.270.
- 5) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 6) A licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining provisions of this Code, including this chapter.

(c) Motel or Hotel License.

The City may grant a "motel or hotel license", which authorizes the licensee to sell beer and/or intoxicating liquor on and off -sale of the hotel or motel, subject to the following conditions:

- 1) The room from which such sales are made must be physically attached to and be a part of said hotel or motel.
- 2) Temporary bars may be used in banquet rooms or other areas for special events such as conventions, dinner meetings, or similar events, all of which must be held within the confines of the hotel or motel; such areas need not be designated in the license.
- 3) To qualify for the renewal of a hotel or motel on-sale liquor license, the applicant must have maintained an average room occupancy rate of at least 50% for the year preceding the application for renewal.
- 4) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this chapter subsection.
- 5) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 6) A licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining provisions of this Code, including this.

(d) Restaurant On-Sale License.

The City may grant a "restaurant on-sale license", to any restaurant within city limits, which authorizes the licensee to sell beer and liquor on an on-sale basis only, except when permitted by subsection (4) below, subject to the following terms and conditions:

- 1) The restaurant shall have sufficient dining area and facilities to adequately serve its patrons, as well as the public generally.
- 2) The restaurant may have a lounge area or waiting area lounge for patrons waiting to be seated for the purposes of serving alcoholic beverages in conjunction with its restaurant business. Permission for such area should be duly noted on the licensee's license.
- 3) No electronic or mechanical gaming devices or games of chance shall be allowed upon the premises licensed hereunder unless licensee has a designated bar area upon said premises.
- 4) A licensee may apply for a special event permit under Section 4.08.270 or Section 4.080.275.
- 5) Those receipts from the sales of alcoholic beverages hereunder shall not exceed fifty percent of the gross receipts from the sale of all food items and alcoholic beverages combined.
- All restaurant on-sale license holders shall file with the application for license renewal a sworn statement executed by the licensee and a certified public accountant certifying that gross food sales and liquor sales for the previous calendar year meet the requirements of this section. The Board of City Commissioners may, in its discretion, require the licensee to provide such additional proof of the licensee's compliance with this section as the it deems necessary.

- 7) All sales of alcoholic beverages by restaurant on-sale licensees must be separately receipted to the customer by cash register receipt and clearly identified as sales of liquor, beer or wine on all receipts.
- 8) In order to qualify for an alcoholic beverage license under this provision, it is necessary that the dining area and other food service facilities be in operation and be open for business.
- 9) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 10) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 11) A licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining provisions of this Code, including this chapter.

(e) Military Club Beer and Wine License.

The City may grant a "military club beer and wine license", to military clubs of the armed forces within city limits, which authorizes the licensee to sell beer and/or wine on an on-sale basis only, subject to the following terms and conditions:

- 1) For the purposes of this section and others pertaining thereto, "armed forces" shall mean the Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps and Coast Guard of the United States of America.
- 2) A license hereunder shall comply with all of the laws of the State relating to the sale and dispensation of alcoholic beverages.
- The beer and/or wine license hereunder shall be for the sale of beer and/or wine for consumption on the premises only, to military club members only, and no sales for consumption off the premises.
- 4) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 5) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- A licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining provisions of this Code, including this chapter.

(f) Microbrewery Pub License.

The City may grant a "microbrew pub license", which authorizes the licensee to produce and manufacture beer at retail for consumption upon the licensed premises, in accordance with the requirements and limitations of N.D.C.C. § 5-01-14, which are incorporated herein by reference. A microbrew pub licensee is also subject to the following specifications and restrictions:

- 1) A microbrew pub may manufacture on the licensed premises, store, transport, sell to wholesale malt beverage licensees, and export no more than 10,000 barrels of beer per year.
- 2) A microbrew pub license will authorize the licensee to sell:
 - a. Growlers, sold off-sale only; and
 - b. Beer that has been brewed on the premises of the licensee, which may be sold either on-sale or off-sale
- A microbrew pub licensee may not engage in wholesaling activities. All sales and delivery of beer to any other retail licensed premises may be made only through a wholesale beer licensee. A microbrew pub licensee must comply with all statutory provisions for taxation under N.D.C.C. § 5-01-14.

- 4) A microbrew pub licensee is not precluded from retailing beer it purchases from a wholesaler.
- 5) Complimentary samples of beer may not be in an amount exceeding 16 ounces per patron.
- 6) Except as modified in this subsection, a microbrew pub licensee shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining qualifications for licensees.
- 7) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 8) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 9) A licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all of the remaining provisions of this Code, including this chapter.

(g) Beer and Wine Concession License.

The City may grant a "beer and wine concession license" to the operator(s) of the food and beverage concession(s) under contract with Dickinson Parks and Recreation District for concession services at Dakota Community Bank & Trust Ballpark – Astoria & Coke Fields, a Dickinson municipal ballpark (Ballpark) subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

- 1) A licensee hereunder shall comply with all of the laws of the state relating to the sale and dispensation of alcoholic beverages.
- 2) A licensee hereunder may sell wine, tap beer, beer in opened bottles, cans or similar packages.
- The license hereunder shall be for the sale of beer and wine for consumption on the premises only, and no sales for consumption off the premises shall be made.
- 4) The license is nontransferable and may be held only by the operator(s) who have been awarded and currently hold a concession(s) contract, provided the contract permits the sale of beer and wine, and may be held only for the period of the operator's concession contract and shall terminate with the termination of that contract.
- 5) This license is limited to on-sale service of beer and wine to patrons of the Ballpark.
- 6) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 7) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.

(h) Distillery License.

The City may grant a "domestic distillery license", which authorizes the licensee to produce distilled spirits and authorizes the sale of distilled spirits in accordance with the requirements and limitations of N.D.C.C. § 5-01-19, which are incorporated herein by reference. A domestic distillery licensee is also subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

1) A domestic distillery licensee may sell spirits produced by that distillery at on-sale or off-sale, in retail lots, and not for resale, and may sell or direct ship its spirits to persons inside or outside the State in a manner consistent with the laws of the place of the sale or delivery in total quantities not to exceed 25,000 gallons in a calendar year. Direct sales within the State of

- North Dakota are limited to 2.38 gallons or less per month per person for personal use and not for resale. The packaging for spirits must conform with the labeling requirements set forth in N.D.C.C. § 5-01-16.
- A domestic distillery licensee may obtain a domestic distillery license and a retailer license allowing the on-premises sale of alcoholic beverages at a restaurant owned by the licensee and located on property contiguous to the domestic distillery. A domestic distillery licensee may also own or operate a winery.
- 3) A domestic distillery license shall only be issued to a domestic distillery owner or operator who has obtained an annual manufacturing license from the North Dakota State Tax Commissioner allowing the production of distilled spirits.
- 4) To the extent the following activities are authorized under N.D.C.C. § 5-01-19(2), the same shall also be authorized within the City:
 - a. A licensee may dispense free samples of the distilled spirits offered for sale.
 - b. Special events for which a permit has been obtained from the State Tax Commissioner allowing the domestic distillery to give free samples of its product and to sell its product by the glass or in closed containers at off-premises events are, as a result of such permit, authorized within the City.
 - c. Participation in Pride of Dakota events for which a special events permit has been obtained from the State Tax Commissioner is, as a result of such permit, authorized within the City.
- 5) A domestic distillery license authorizes the licensee to sell glassware, distilled spirits literature and accessories, cheese, cheese spreads, and other snack food items.
- 6) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 7) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 8) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.
- (i) Brewer Taproom License.

The City may grant a "brewer taproom license", which authorizes the licensee to manufacture on the licensed premises, store, transport, sell, and export 25,000 barrels or less of beer annually in accordance with the requirements of N.D.C.C. § 5-01-21, as amended from time to time, which are incorporated herein by reference. A brewer taproom licensee is also subject to the following restrictions and limitations:

- 1) A licensee may sell malt beverages manufactured on the licensed premises for consumption on the premises of the brewery or a restaurant owned by the licensee and located on property contiguous to the brewery.
- 2) A brewer taproom licensee may sell beer manufactured on the licensed premises for off-premises consumption in brewery-sealed containers of not less than 12 ounces, growlers, and in brewery-sealed kegs not to exceed 5.16 gallons.

- 3) A licensee may sell and deliver beer produced by the brewery to licensed beer wholesalers.
- 4) A brewer taproom licensee shall obtain any brewery license required by the State of North Dakota.
- Multiple brewer taproom licenses may be issued to the owner or operator of a brewery producing no more than 25,000 barrels of malt beverages annually. Brewer taproom licensees with multiple taprooms must produce beer at each location and the total amount of beer produced at all locations combined may not exceed 25,000 barrels of malt beverages annually.
- To the extent the following activities are authorized under N.D.C.C. § 5-01-21(2), as amended from time to time, the same shall also be authorized within the City:
 - a. A licensee may dispense free samples of beer offered for sale. Complimentary samples may not exceed 16 ounces per patron.
 - b. A licensee may sell and deliver beer produced by the brewery to licensed retailers within the State of North Dakota, subject to the conditions set forth in N.D.C.C. § 5-01-21(2)(f), as amended from time to time.
 - c. Special events for which a permit has been obtained from the State Tax Commissioner allowing the brewer taproom licensee to give free samples of its beer and to sell its beer by the glass or in enclosed containers at off-premises events are, as a result of such permit, authorized within the City, so long as notice of the special event to which the permit is issued is given to the City Administrator, who shall forward to the Chief of Police, no less than three days before the event is to occur.
- All sales and delivery of beer to licensed retailers within the State must be made in accordance with N.D.C.C. § 5-03-07 (governing tax rate) and N.D.C.C. § 5-01-21(2)(f) (governing sale and delivery of beer to licensed retailers within the State). Additional sales may be made through a wholesaler licensed in this State. Beer manufactured on the licensed premises and sold by a brewer taproom licensee directly to the consumer for consumption on or off of the premises are subject to the taxes imposed pursuant to N.D.C.C. § 5-03-07, in addition to any other taxes imposed on brewers and retailers.
- 8) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 9) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 10) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.
- (j) Domestic Winery License.

The City may grant a "domestic winery license", which authorizes the licensee to operate a domestic winery and to produce and sell wine on-sale and off-sale within in the City in accordance with the requirements and limitations of N.D.C.C. § 5-01-17, which are incorporated herein by reference. A domestic winery licensee is also subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

- 1) A domestic winery license may be issued only to a domestic winery owner or operator who obtains a license from the State Tax Commissioner allowing the production of wine.
- A domestic winery license authorizes the licensee to sell wine produced by that winery at on-sale or off-sale, in retail lots, and not for resale, and may sell or direct ship its wine to persons inside or outside the State in a manner consistent with the laws of the place of the sale or delivery in total quantities not to exceed 25,000 gallons in a calendar year. In addition, a domestic winery licensee may, if so authorized by a license issued by the State of North Dakota, sell beer on-sale only, provided that such on-sale beer sales shall be incidental to the sale of wine.
- A domestic winery license authorizes the licensee to sell glassware, wine literature and accessories, cheese, cheese spreads, and other snack food items.
- 4) Direct sale by licensed wineries.
 - a. A licensed winery that produces no more than 50,000 gallons of wine per year may sell and deliver, on site or off site, the wine produced by the winery directly to licensed retailers. The licensed winery may sell and deliver wine on site to a licensed retailer who presents the retailer's license or a photocopy of the license. The winery may deliver the wine off site if the winery:
 - i. Uses the winery's equipment, trucks, and employees to deliver the wine;
 - ii. Contracts with a licensed distributor to ship and deliver the wine to the retailer; or
 - iii. Contracts with a common carrier to ship and deliver the wine to the retailer directly from the winery or the winery's bonded warehouse.
 - b. The shipments delivered by a winery's equipment, trucks, and employees in a year may not exceed 4,500 cases. A case may not exceed 2.38 gallons of wine.
 - c. Individual shipments delivered by common carrier may not exceed three cases per day for each licensed retailer. The shipments delivered by a common carrier in a year may not exceed 4,500 cases. A case may not exceed 2.38 gallons of wine.
- 5) To the extent the following activities are authorized under N.D.C.C. § 5-01-17(2), the same shall also be authorized within the City:
 - a. A licensee may dispense free samples on the licensed premises of the wines offered for sale.
 - b. Special events for which a permit has been obtained by the State Tax Commissioner to give free samples of its product and to sell its wine by the glass or in closed containers at off-premises events are, as a result of such permit, authorized within the City.
 - c. Participate in Pride of Dakota events, for which a special events permit has been obtained from the State Tax Commissioner is, as a result of such permit, authorized within the City, provided that the

incidental sales of on-sale beer allowed by paragraph c above, will not be allowed at the locations where said permits are utilized.

- A domestic winery license shall not be required for a domestic winery owner or operator possessing a license from the State Tax Commissioner allowing the production of wine and only being present within the City to utilize special event permits issued by the State Tax Commissioner. It is the intent of this exemption to not require licensure by domestic winery owners or operators, if properly licensed elsewhere, where its only presence in the City is to utilize special event permits.
- 7) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 8) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 9) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.

(k) Beer Only On-Sale License

The City may grant a "beer only on-sale license," which authorizes a licensee to sell on-sale tap beer, beer in open bottles and cans in similar packages at retail for consumption upon the leased premises of the licensee subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

- 1) A licensee hereunder shall comply with all of the laws of the state relating to the sale and dispensation of alcoholic beverages.
- 2) The license hereunder shall be for the sale of beer for consumption on the premises only, except when permitted by subsection (5) below, and no sales for consumption off the premises shall be made.
- A licensee hereunder shall ensure that any alcoholic beverages sold pursuant to this section shall be sold, distributed, and/or dispensed by an authorized employee of licensee.
- 4) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 5) A license may apply for a restricted special event permit under Section 4.08.275.
- 6) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 7) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.

(1) Beer and Wine Only On-Sale License.

The City may grant a "beer and wine only on-sale license," which authorizes a licensee to sell on-sale tap beer, beer in open bottles and cans, and/or wine in similar packages at retail for consumption upon the leased premises of the licensee subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

- 1) A licensee hereunder shall comply with all of the laws of the state relating to the sale and dispensation of alcoholic beverages.
- 2) The license hereunder shall be for the sale of beer and/or wine for consumption on the premises only, except when permitted by subsection (3) below, and no sales for consumption off the premises shall be made.
- 3) A license may obtain a restricted special event permit under Section 4.08.275.

- 4) A licensee hereunder shall ensure that any alcoholic beverages sold pursuant to this section shall be sold, distributed, and/or dispensed by an authorized employee of licensee.
- 5) There shall be no restrictions as to the number of licenses issued under this subsection.
- 6) The fee for this license shall be set by the City's fee schedule.
- 7) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.

(m) Legacy Square Concession License

The City may grant the "Legacy Square Concession License" to the licensee awarded the license to operate concession services at the City of Dickinson Legacy Town Square, subject to the following restrictions and conditions:

- 1) This license is limited to on-sale service of beer, wine, liquor as set forth below to patrons of the Legacy Town Square during City sanctioned and sponsored events.
 - a. Any events occurring at the Legacy Town Square not sponsored and sanctioned by the City will require a special event permit pursuant to section 4.08.270 of this chapter.
 - b. The licensee granted the Legacy Town Square License hereunder shall be given the right of first refusal for any private events occurring at the Legacy Town Square requesting alcohol service. Should the licensee choose not to exercise the right of first refusal, the patron shall have the ability to contract with any licensee qualified to dispense alcoholic beverages pursuant to a special use permit issued by the City.
- 2) A licensee may sell liquor, wine, and beer in cans. Sales of any of these items in bottles shall not be permitted.
- The license hereunder shall be for the sale for consumption in the Legacy Town Square Corridor only, and no sales for consumption off the Legacy Town Square Corridor shall be made. For purposes off this section, the Legacy Town Square Corridor shall mean the defined Legacy Square streets located in the 100 Block of 1st Ave West and 10 Block of 2nd Street West.
- 4) This license shall be an annual license that will begin January 1st of every year and end on December 31st of that year with the bidding process occurring prior to December 31st.
- 5) Licensee shall be responsible for ensuring all events conducted pursuant to this license have sufficient security personnel. This would include any private events where the licensee exercised its right of first refusal pursuant to (m)(1)(b).
- 6) The license is nontransferable and may be held only by a licensee with an On/Off Sale License or a Lodge or Club License.
- 7) A licensee hereunder shall comply with all the laws of the state relating to the sale and dispensation of alcoholic beverages.
- 8) In addition to the bid price paid by the licensee pursuant to paragraph 9 below, the City shall also receive twenty (20) percent of gross sales of all alcohol sold at all City sanctioned and sponsored events. The licensee shall

- provide documentation to the City upon the expiration of the annual license term to verify sales for that year.
- 9) This bidding process for this license shall be as follows:
 - a. Prior to October 1st of every year, the City shall set a date for the receipt of sealed bids from any interested on/off sale licensees and a date and time for a bid opening.
 - b. The Board of City Commissioners may, in its sole discretion, establish a minimum bid amount, which shall be made known to any and all potential bidders.
 - c. Interested parties shall submit an application for the license, together with the information required by Dickinson City Code 4.08.070, or as may otherwise be required for City staff to determine the party's qualifications for the license. Parties failing to submit the required application and information, shall have their bids removed from consideration.
 - d. Interested parties shall further submit to the City a sealed bid for the license.
 - e. City staff shall review the application and information submitted by all interested parties. Parties who are determined by City staff to be not qualified for a license shall have their bids removed from consideration.
 - f. Opening of sealed bids shall be held at the time and date set by the City. Parties shall have the opportunity to improve their written bids pursuant to an auction process.
 - g. City staff shall submit all final, qualified bids to the Board of City Commissioners, together with a recommendation from City staff regarding the award of the bid.
 - h. At its sole discretion, the Board of City Commissioners may grant the license to the highest responsible bidder.
 - i. Upon grant of the license from the Board of City Commissioners, the successful party shall immediately pay the full bid price. If the successful party is unable to immediately pay the full bid price, the Board of City Commissioners may offer the license to the next highest bidder or, in the Board of City Commissioner's sole discretion, decline to offer the license to any remaining bidder.
 - j. The City reserves the right to reject any and all bids, to waive any informalities in the bidding process or any bid received, and to accept any bid which, in sole judgment of the Board of City Commissioners, is in the City's best interest.
- 10) Except as modified herein, a licensee hereunder shall comply with and be subject to all the remaining provisions of this Code, including this Chapter.

(Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 456, § 3-5; Ord. No. 701, § 4; Ord. No. 832, § 4; Ord. No. 969, § 2; Ord. No. 1012, § 1; Ord. No. 1106, § 4; Ord. No. 1113, § 2; Ord. No. 1164 § 1; Ord. No. 699 § 1; Ord. No. 706, § 1; Ord. No. 832, § 3; Ord. No. 1184 § 5; Ord. 1232 § 2 & 3; Ord. No. 1253 § 1; Ord. No. 1298 § 11; Ord. No. 1402 § 1, Ord. No. 1492 § 1; Ord. No. 1589 § 2; Ord. No. 1608 § 2; Ord. No. 1649 § 2; Ord. No. 1654 § 3; Ord. No. 1664 § 3; Ord. No. 1635 § 1; Ord. No. 1733 § 3° Ord. No. 1747 § 1; Ord. No. 1775 § 1)

For state law as to local regulations of licensees including determining the number of licenses granted, see NDCC, § 5-02-09.

Section 4.08.065 Addition of On/Off Sale License – Procedure for Granting

In the event that the Board of City Commissioners elects to grant an additional on/off sale license as provided in Section 4.08.060(a)(2), the City shall award the additional on/off sale license pursuant to a public bidding process. The City shall proceed as follows:

- a) The City shall set a date for the receipt of sealed bids from interested parties, and a date and time for bid opening.
- b) The City shall provide notice to the general public of its intent to grant an additional on/off sale license by sealed bids. Such notice shall be published in the official newspaper of the City at least fifteen (15) days prior to the deadline for receipt of bids. Notice shall further be given by such other means as the Board of City Commissioners or City staff shall deem appropriate. The Board of City Commissioners may, in its sole discretion, establish a minimum bid amount, which shall be made known to any and all potential bidders.
- c) Interested parties shall submit an application for an on/off sale license, together with the information required by Dickinson City Code 4.08.070, or as may otherwise be required for City staff to determine the party's qualifications for a license. Interested parties shall further submit the non-refundable application fee set by the City. Parties failing to submit the required application, information, and application fee shall have their bids removed from consideration.
- d) Interested parties shall further submit to the City a sealed bid for the additional on/off sale license.
- e) City staff shall review the application and information submitted by all interested parties. Parties who are determined by City staff to be not qualified for a license shall have their bids removed from consideration.
- f) Opening of sealed bids shall be held at the time and date set by the City. Parties shall have the opportunity to improve their written bids pursuant to an auction process.
- g) City staff shall submit all final, qualified bids to the Board of City Commissioners, together with a recommendation from City staff regarding the award of the bid.

- h) At its sole discretion, the Board of City Commissioners may grant the additional on/off sale license to the highest responsible bidder.
- i) Upon grant of the on/off sale license from the Board of City Commissioners, the successful party shall immediately pay the full bid price. If the successful party is unable to immediately pay the full bid price, the Board of City Commissioners may offer the license to the next highest bidder or, in the Board of City Commissioner's sole discretion, decline to offer the license to any remaining bidder.
- j) The City reserves the right to reject any and all bids, to waive any informalities in the bidding process or any bid received, and to accept any bid which, in sole judgment of the Board of City Commissioners, is in the City's best interest.
- k) The successful bidder shall have a period of one year from the date of granting of the addition on/off sale license in which to open and operate a business pursuant to the on/off sale license. The successful bidder may request, in writing, an extension from the City Administrator of up to twelve (12) months in the event that extraordinary circumstances prevent the successful bidder from opening and operating a business pursuant to the additional on/off sale license within the initial time allotted. The City Administrator shall grant such extension if it is in the best interests of the public health, safety and welfare. Additional extensions may be granted in the sole discretion of the Board of City Commissioners upon a showing by the successful bidder of extraordinary circumstances preventing the successful bidder from opening and operating a business pursuant to the on/off sale license within the time allotted, and upon a showing of significant progress toward opening and operating a business pursuant to the on/off sale license. If a business is not opened and operated by the licensee within one year of its granting by the Board of City Commissioners, or within such additional time as may be granted, in writing, the license shall revert back to the City, without refund or reimbursement to the
- 1) The additional on/off sale license shall be non-transferable during the first year of its actual operation and sales. (Ord. No. 1733 § 4)

Section 4.08.070 License Applications

- (a) Licenses Generally. Any person desiring to obtain a license for the retail sale of alcohol beverages pursuant to this Chapter shall make and file an application for such license with the Board of City Commissioners. The application shall be made on a form approved by the Board of City Commissioners and made available through the office of the City Administrator. In addition to information required on the application form, the Board of City Commissioners, in its discretion, may require such other information as it deems necessary in determining whether a license should be issued to the applicant.
 - 1) Every applicant shall be required, as a portion of the written application, to promise and agree to abide by and obey all applicable laws of the state and all applicable ordinances of the City so far as such laws or ordinances may be concerned with the operation of the licensed premises and any activities conducted thereon.
 - 2) There shall also be incorporated on any such application the following consent which shall be signed by the applicant:

- a. The applicant hereby does expressly consent that any person(s) duly authorized by the City of Dickinson may enter upon the premises described in this application at any reasonable hour of the day or night including all hours in which the establishment is occupied, and at such times they shall have free access to all portions of the property comprising the licensed premises for the purpose of inspecting such premises for any possible violations of laws of the state of North Dakota or ordinances of the City of Dickinson regardless whether said laws pertain to the sales of alcoholic beverages. Such access shall be permitted without necessity of a search warrant.
- (b) New Applicants. In addition to the provisions required of all applicants, all new applicants or those who previously have not been granted alcoholic beverage licenses by the city shall be required to furnish the following:
 - Such applicant shall furnish a complete statement of the type of business contemplated and give a comprehensive site drawing, including exact location(s) and extent of the area(s) in the building in which alcoholic beverages will be sold and/or served.
 - 2) Each applicant shall cooperate to the fullest extent in obtaining a complete background investigation concerning any persons involved with the individual applicant or the applicant's organization.
 - The applicant, if an individual, shall show a history of the applicant's residency, employment and business ownership for five years immediately prior to the date of application. If the applicant is a partnership, this information shall be furnished for all the partners; and, if a corporation, or other limited liability entity, the amount of authorized capital, the amount paid in capital, whether such corporation is a subsidiary of any corporation, and, if so, the name of the parent corporation, the purposes for which the corporation was incorporated and the names and addresses of all officers, directors and managing agents and the names and addresses of all stockholders holding more than five percent of the capital stock of such corporation shall be furnished.
 - The applicant shall state the name and address of the legal title owner of the premises for which the license is sought, and if the license is sought for a person other than the owner of the premises, the terms and conditions of the lease under which the applicant holds the possession of such premises shall be stated insofar as the terms of the lease and the rental to be paid are concerned. The applicant shall, when required by the Board of City Commissioners, furnish to the Board of City Commissioners a copy of the lease under which he holds possession of the premises. If the license is sought by the owner of the premises, the application shall state the time when such applicant acquired title thereto.
 - 5) The applicant shall state whether he has ever engaged in the sale or distribution of alcoholic beverages prior to the date of application, and, if so, the date and type of business and the place of each instance where such distribution was conducted shall be furnished.

- 6) It shall be stated whether during the five (5) years preceding the date of the Application, the applicant has ever had a license for the sale of alcoholic beverages revoked or canceled by any municipality, state or federal authority; and, if so, the date of cancellation, the place and authority canceling the same and the reasons for such cancellation shall be stated.
- 7) It shall be stated whether during the five (5) years preceding the date of the Application, the applicant has ever been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States or of any state or of the violation of any local ordinance with regard to the manufacture, sale, distribution or possession of alcoholic beverages or driving under the influence and, if so, the dates, names of places and courts in which such convictions were obtained.
- 8) The applicant shall state whether any person other than the applicant has any right, title or interest in the leasehold or in the furniture and fixtures or equipment of the premises for which the license is sought and, if so, the names and addresses of such person or persons together with a statement of the interest held shall be furnished.
- 9) It shall be stated whether the applicant has any agreement, understanding or intention to have any agreement or understanding with any person to obtain for any other person or to transfer to any other person the license obtained or to use the license for any other purpose other than the specific use of the applicant; and, if so, the names and addresses of such persons and the conditions of such agreements shall be stated.
- 10) The applicant shall state whether he has any interest whatsoever, directly or indirectly, in any other liquor or alcoholic beverage establishment, either wholesale or retail, within or without the state; and, if so, the names and addresses and details concerning such establishments shall be furnished.
- 11) The applicant shall state the classification of the license applied for, whether on/off-sale, lodge or club, restaurant on-sale, restaurant wine & beer, beer only, hotel/motel, military club beer and wine, or microbrewery license.
- 12) If the license is sought for a lodge or club, the date of the organization of the club and the number of the members therein as well as the purpose for which such club was organized shall be stated in full.

(Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 456, § 3-6; Ord. No. 1184, § 6; Ord. No 1298 § 12; Ord. No. 1492 §1; Ord. No. 1589 § 3; Ord. No. 1733 § 5)

Section 4.08.075 License Renewals

Each year when the issuance of licenses is considered by the City Commission, it shall first consider applications from persons holding existing licenses before considering any request for new applicants.

In considering whether or not to issue licenses to those previously licensed, the Board of City Commissioners will review and evaluate the past record of such licensees, including any violations of city ordinances and state law and the general manner in which the licensed premises has been conducted and managed, including the licensee's control of its licensed premises and the prevalence of bar fights, violence, or police calls necessary to control the licensed premises and other areas, such as parking lots surrounding or servicing the licensed premises.

The actual decision of whether or not a license should be issued under this chapter, whether it is to a previous licensee or to a new applicant, shall be made only in the discretion of the board of city commissioners and in accordance with the various requirements of this chapter. No licensee shall necessarily be entitled to an automatic renewal of his license.

In the event that the licensed establishment has been closed for six months or more during the previous calendar year, the Board of City Commissioners may, in its sole discretion, not renew such licensee.

In the event that a holder of an on/off sale license has failed to, or refrained from, opening or operating a business pursuant to such license for a period of more than six months in the preceding calendar year, the Board of City Commissioners shall not grant a renewal of the license. However, upon a showing of extraordinary circumstances, the holder of an on/off sale license may request, in writing, an extension of time in which to open and operate under such license. The City Administrator shall grant such an extension of time upon a showing by the licensee of a plan to open and operate under the license, and upon finding that an extension of time is in the best interests of the public health, safety and welfare. (Ord. No. 1298 § 13, Ord. No. 1492 § 1; Ord. No. 1733 § 6)

Section 4.08.080 Term; fees

All licenses under this chapter shall run for annual periods commencing January 1 of each year and terminating on December 31 of the same year. The license renewal application must be received and fees shall be paid prior to October 1. Failure to pay the license fees when due shall be cause for non-issuance of the license.

Annual license fees shall be set by resolution of the Board of City Commissioners, and included in the City Fee Schedule.

Each applicant for a new license, or a transfer of a license as described in 4.08.200 and 4.08.210, shall at the time of submission of the application for such issuance or transfer, pay (1) an application fee; and (2) an issuance fee or transfer fee as may be set by the Board of City Commissioners by resolution and incorporated into the City Fee Schedule.

(Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 456, § 3-7; Ord. No. 557; Ord. No. 647, § 1; Ord. No. 701, § 5; Ord. No. 832, § 5; Ord. No. 1010, § 1; Ord. No. 1084, §1; Ord. No. 1106, § 5; Ord. No. 1184, §7; Ord. 1232 § 4; Ord. No. 1288 § 1; Ord. No. 1298 14; Ord. No. 1402 §2; Ord. No. 1635, §1)

For state law as to local license fees, see NDCC, § 5-02-03.

Section 4.08.090 Wholesale

Any person engaging in the sale at wholesale of beer or liquor in the city must first procure a license from the State Treasurer for the state of North Dakota. The city shall not issue wholesale beer or liquor licenses. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1106, § 6.)

Section 4.08.100 Licensee to be owner of business

No license provided for in this chapter shall be issued to any person engaged in business as a representative or agent of another. The license may be issued only to the person owning the business being conducted or to be conducted at the locations sought to be licensed.

Proof of ownership interest in the business conducted or to be conducted at the locations sought to be licensed, shall be the responsibility of the person making application for the license, and shall be shown to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1346 §1.)

Section 4.08.110 Premises near churches or schools

No license for the sale of alcoholic beverages shall be granted or issued under this chapter for any premises within three hundred feet of any church, public or parochial school or synagogue. In determining such distance, it shall be measured by the ordinary route of travel from the main entrance from such church, school or synagogue to the nearest entrance of such premises sought to be licensed. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1298 § 15)

Section 4.08.120 Number per person

Any one person may have an interest in no more than two on/off sale licenses for the sale of alcoholic beverages, whether such interest is acquired by direct ownership or indirect ownership of the business being conducted or to be conducted at the locations sought to be licensed.

An interest in an on/off sale license acquired by "indirect ownership" shall be deemed to exist whenever a person has any financial interest whatsoever in the business conducted or to be conducted at the location sought to be licensed, regardless of the amount of the financial interest, the percentage ownership of the business, or the corporate form in which the financial interest is held; provided, however, that in the event that an on/off sale license is granted to a publicly traded company, persons holding less than five percent of the total voting shares of such publicly traded company shall be deemed not to have an interest acquired by "indirect ownership".

An interest in an on/off sale license acquired by "indirect ownership" shall further be deemed to exist where, under the totality of the circumstances, in the sole discretion of the Board of City Commissioners, any two on/off sale licenses may be operated in conjunction with one another, due to familial relationships or other business interests held in common among persons holding or applying for a license, or having any interest therein.

This provision applies only to the on/off sale licenses governed by Section 4.08.060(a) of this Code. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1184, § 8; Ord. No. § 16; Ord. No. 1346 §2.)

Section 4.08.130 Identification number and record; display

Each license issued under the provisions of this chapter must be given an identification number, and a permanent record thereof must be kept by the city auditor showing the name and address of the licensee and a description of the place licensed. All licenses must be displayed at all times in a prominent place on the premises described in the application and license. (Ord. No. 396.)

Section 4.08.140 Issuance to certain persons prohibited--Minors or immoral persons - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1298, Section 17, approved July 5, 2005 (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1298 § 17.)

Section 4.08.150 Restrictions on issuance to lodge or club

No license shall be issued to any lodge or club where sales of alcoholic beverages in such lodge or club are made for the profit of individuals and unless the profit made on the sale of such alcoholic beverage by such lodge or club is used for benevolent purposes.

Lodges and clubs are prohibited from advertising or displaying off-sale sales. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1106. § 7; Ord. No. 1298 § 18.)

Section 4.08.170 Issuance or refusal generally

If an application for a license under this chapter is approved, the City Administrator shall issue to the applicant a license showing the amount paid and for what location the license is authorized. Such license shall further state the class of license.

Any license provided for in this chapter shall be denied to any applicant who, in the discretion of the Board of City Commissioners, is a person of questionable character or for any other cause which would, in the opinion of the board, render the applicant or the premises to be licensed, improper or unfit or which would, in the board's opinion, make the granting of the license contrary to the best interests of this city and its citizens.

If a license becomes available, and there is more than one applicant, the City Commission may conduct an auction amongst all qualified applicants, and award the license to the successful bidder at said auction. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1106, § 8; Ord. No. 1184, § 9; Ord. No. 1298 § 19; Ord. No. 1733 § 7)

Section 4.08.180 Approval of applications by city commission

The City Administrator shall submit each application for a license under this chapter to the Board of City Commissioners, who shall have whatever hearings they deem appropriate and who shall then act upon such application at the next meeting thereafter. Every new applicant for a license under this chapter shall be required to make a personal appearance before the Board of City Commissioners. If the applicant is a partnership, such appearance shall be made by at least one of such partners. If the applicant is a limited partnership, limited liability partnership, or limited liability limited partnership, at least one general partner or managing partner shall appear. If the applicant is a limited liability company or a corporation, such appearance shall be made by the manager of the premises for which the application is made. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1184, § 10.; Ord. No. 1635, § 1; Ord. No. 1733 § 8)

Section 4.08.190 Majority vote by city commission required for issuance

No license shall be issued hereafter, whether it be a renewal of an old license or not, without the affirmative vote of a majority of all of the members of the board of city commissioners. (Ord. No. 396.)

Section 4.08.200 Change in location of licensed premises

No change of location of a licensed premises shall be permitted or considered unless the licensee shall first make a written application for such change to the City Administrator clearly stating when and to what location the change is requested. Thereafter, the City Administrator shall

cause a public notice to be published in the official newspaper of the City one time at least fifteen days prior to a public meeting to be held by the Board of City Commissioners for the purpose of reviewing the proposed change in location of licensed premises. Such an application for change of location may be granted only upon the majority vote of all of the members of the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1298 § 20; Ord. No. 1733 § 9)

Section 4.08.210 Transfer of Licenses

Licenses issued under the provisions of this Chapter shall be transferable to a qualified applicant with the approval of the Board of City Commissioners. The transferee shall file an application for license on the prescribed form, and a written request for transfer shall be filed with the City Administrator signed by both the transferor and the transferee. In addition to the regular annual fee for the license, the transferee shall further pay a transfer fee as may be set by the Board of city Commissioners by resolution and incorporated in to the City Fee Schedule. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1164 § 2; Ord. No. 1298 § 21; Ord. No. 1402 §3; Ord. No. 1635, § 1)

Section 4.08.220 Transfer of ownership of business - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1298 approved July 5, 2005 (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1298 § 22.)

Section 4.08.230 Payment, proration and refund of fees

A license under this chapter shall not be issued until a check in the appropriate amount of the license fee payment is submitted to the City Administrator.

In the event that the license is issued after the expiration of a portion of the licensing year, the licensee shall then be granted a credit toward the payment of the fee for such year. The credit so granted shall bear the same relation to the annual license fee as does the period that the applicant was not in business to the annual licensing period.

If the application for a license is denied, the City Administrator shall refund the fee deposited with him to the applicant upon demand. All license fees collected by the City Administrator under this chapter shall be credited to the general fund of the City.

In the event of a sale or transfer of the licensed premises during the licensing period, January 1 through December 31, the annual license fee previously paid by the prior license holder is not refundable. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 557; Ord. No. 1010, § 3; Ord. No. 1164, § 3; Ord. No. 1184, § 11; Ord. No. 1733 § 10)

Section 4.08.240 Revocation and suspension by city commission

The Board of City Commissioners may review the status of any license issued pursuant to this Chapter and take appropriate action against the licensee pursuant to this section.

- (a) Suspension and Revocation for Cause. Any license issued pursuant to this chapter may be revoked or suspended for cause by the board of city commissioners, which cause may include, among other grounds, the following:
 - 1) When a licensee is adjudged bankrupt.
 - 2) When a licensee has made any false statement or statements in an application for the issuance of such license.

- 3) When the licensee or, in the case of a corporation or other entity, manager of a licensee has been convicted of a violation of any felony crime under the laws of the United States or of any state.
- 4) When the licensee or, in the case of a corporation or other entity, manager of a licensee ceases to be a legal, bona fide resident and citizen as required by this chapter to be eligible for a license.
- 5) When the license or permit of the licensee from the United States government or from the state to sell alcoholic beverages at the location licensed has been terminated or has been revoked.
- When the business of the licensee at the location licensed has been conducted in violation of the health or sanitary regulations of the city or of the state.
- When the licensee, if an individual, or one of the partners if the licensee is a partnership, or one of the officers or managers if the licensee is a corporation, is convicted of drunkenness, disorderly conduct or a violation of any law of the United States or of any state or of the violation of any local ordinance with regard to the manufacture, distribution or possession of alcoholic beverages (including driving under the influence of intoxicating beverages or illegal drugs) or if an appeal is taken from such conviction, then when such conviction is sustained by the higher court or courts.
- 8) When in the opinion of the board of city commissioners, the licensee has conducted his business or permitted his business to be conducted in a disorderly manner or in a manner that is dangerous or detrimental to the public welfare and morals.
- 9) When the licensee, or an agent or employee of the licensee, violates any term or condition of the license or any provision of this Chapter.
- (b) Server Training. Server training shall be available for licensees, together with their managers and employees. Server training shall mean training that has been approved by the Dickinson Police Chief and/or the City Administrator for managers and employees involved in selling alcoholic beverages at licensed liquor establishments, including restaurants. Persons successfully completing an approved class with a test score of at least 72% will receive a server training certificate card which will remain with that individual wherever employed. For new managers and employees not having previously received server training, there shall be a grace period of 90 days in which to successfully complete the approved class. The server training card must be renewed every three (3) years from the anniversary date as shown on the card.
- (c) Penalty for Ordinance Violations. Any license issued pursuant to this Chapter may be suspended or revoked by the Board of City Commissioners for violating any of the provisions of this Chapter. Any licensee or agent or employee of a licensee who has violated any provisions of this Chapter shall be subject to the following penalties, in addition to possible license revocation:
 - First Offense: (i) If the agent or employee of the licensee possesses a server training certificate card, or is within the 90-day grace period referenced in subsection (2), above, at the time of the violation by said agent or employee, the licensee will receive a written warning. (ii) If the agent or employee of the licensee does not possess a server training certificate card at the time of the violation by said agent or employee, the licensee will receive a written warning and a \$1,000.00 administrative penalty.
 - 2) Second Offense: \$2,000 administrative penalty.

- 3) Third Offense: \$5,000 administrative penalty.
- 4) Fourth Offense: Upon a fourth offense, the License Holder shall appear before the Commission for a determination of penalty which may include monetary fines of at least \$5,000, suspension of the license for a period of days to be determined by the Commission, or revocation of license.

The level of offenses shall be determined by reference to an 18-month period from the first offense by the licensee. By way of illustration, a second offense occurring more than 18 months after a first offense would then be deemed a first offense. Any offenses occurring prior to the effective date of this ordinance (April 18, 2005 - Ordinance No. 1296) shall not be considered an offense for purposes of this Section.

- (d) Suspensions--food sales. Any suspension of alcoholic beverage license provided for herein shall relate to liquor sales only so that food sales, if applicable, may continue on the licensed premises.
- (e) Notice--public hearing. Sanctions or penalties under this section may not be invoked without a public hearing if requested by the licensee. Upon written notification to the licensee by the City Administrator that a penalty is being sought under this section, the licensee may notify the City Administrator's office within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification and request a hearing on the proposed penalty. Failure to notify the City Administrator within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification will be deemed acceptance of the penalty without hearing.
 - 1) A hearing shall be set before the Board of City Commissioners specifying the time and place of the hearing and shall be served on the licensee in the same manner as provided by law for the service of a Summons in a civil action. No suspension hearing shall be held before the expiration of fifteen (15) days after the date of service of the notice. A record of any hearing shall be made by electronic recording device.
 - 2) If, upon such hearing, it appears to a majority of the Board of City Commissioners that sufficient cause exists for the penalty sanctions, the Board of City Commissioners shall make its order in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. The Board of City Commissioners shall further issue its findings, conclusions and order which shall be served upon the licensee. The order is appealable pursuant to Chapter 28-34 of the North Dakota Century Code.
- (f) No Refunds on Suspension. When any license is revoked or suspended for any reason, no portion of the license fee shall be returned to the licensee. (Ord. No. 396; Ord. No. 1296 § 1; Ord. No. 1305 § 1; Ord. No. 1319 § 1; Ord No. 1366 § 1; Ord 1635 § 1; Ord. No. 1733 § 11)

Section 4.08.250 Same--Effect on imposition of other penalties

The revocation or suspension of a license granted under this chapter shall not be considered as a penalty so as to bar any other penalty being enforced for such a violation. (Ord. No. 396.)

Section 4.08.270 Special event alcoholic beverage permit

- (a) Authorization. The following classifications of licenses may apply for a special event permit:
 - 1) On/Off-Sale License

- 2) Lodge or Club License
- 3) Restaurant On Sale License
 - a) For a licensee holding a Restaurant On-Sale license to obtain a special event permit under this section, the licensee must cater the food for the special event for which the permit is being requested and provide sufficient documentation to the City Administrator as part of the application process
- 4) Distillery License, subject to a permit obtained from the State Tax Commissioner
- 5) Brewer Taproom License, subject to a permit obtained from the State Tax Commissioner
- 6) Domestic Winery License, subject to a permit obtained from the State Tax Commissioner
- (b) Regulations Regarding Permit. The City Administrator may, by permit, authorize a qualified alcoholic beverage licensee identified above in subsections (1)-(6) to engage in the sale of alcoholic beverages at events, public dances, private groups, or parties, conventions or similar gatherings, shows, exhibitions, beer gardens, music festivals or similar event sponsored, operated or conducted in the expectation of a profit on such premises, including public buildings other than the licensed property identified with the primary license as may be designated by such permit.(c)

Fee. The fee for such local permit shall be set from time to time by action of the Board of City Commissioners through the adoption of the City Fee Schedule and related resolution. Such permit shall not be valid for a period greater than ten consecutive days. A separate application must be submitted for each event for which a permit is sought.

- (d) Application for Permits. An alcoholic beverage licensee desiring to conduct an event as described in (b) above wherein alcoholic beverages will be sold, or to sell alcoholic beverages at an event as described in (b) above conducted by any other person who has been granted a local permit shall make an application for a permit to the City. The application shall set forth:
 - 1) The name of the applicant;
 - 2) The time or period for which the permit is desired;
 - 3) The place where such event is to be conducted or held;
 - 4) Detailed drawing of area/location to be used and in the case of outdoor events, to include the area to be fenced, in order to define the site:
 - 5) Statement of one entrance, one exit;
 - 6) Verification that a person will be stationed at the entrance/exit at all times to check ID's;
 - 7) Verification that food items will be sold/served in an area separate from area where alcohol is sold.
 - 8) If the applicant is a Restaurant On-Sale licensee, applicant must provide documentation that applicant is catering the event for which the special event permit is being sought.

- (e) An individual under twenty-one years of age my attend an event where alcoholic beverages are sold in accordance with the conditions of any event permit issued hereunder.
- (f) Refusal and Revocation of Permit for Cause. The City Administrator shall refuse to issue such permit and shall revoke a permit already issued, where it appears following inspections prior and during such event that:
 - 1) The permitted site is or is likely to become a public nuisance or detrimental to public morals;
 - 2) Alcoholic beverages or controlled substances are being sold or given away except as provided by such permit;
 - 3) Any of the ordinances of the City or of the laws of the state are being violated; or
 - 4) In the sole judgment of the City, protests to the issuing of such permit are made, either orally or in writing, by a sufficient number of the people living in the neighborhood of the site for which application for such permit is made to warrant refusal or revocation of such permit as being in the public interest.
 - (e) State and Local Laws Apply. The sale or dispensation of alcoholic beverages pursuant to a permit issued under this section shall fully comply with all state laws and with the remaining provisions of this chapter which are consistent with the purposes and intent of this section.
 - (f) Appeal of the City Administrator's Decision of Refusal or Revocation of Permit. The applicant may appeal a decision by the City Administrator to refuse to issue or to revoke a permit to the Board of City Commissioners during the first regular commission meeting following the refusal or revocation decision unless the complaint is filed following the deadline for the order of business. In which case, the appeal will be scheduled during the next regular meeting. The appeal must be filed on a form provided by the City and signed by the applicant.

(Ord. No. 720, § 1; Ord. No. 1088, § 2; Ord. No. 1155 § 1; Ord. No. 1184, § 12; Ord. No. 1188, § 2; Ord. No. 1298 § 23, Ord. No. 1747 § 2 Ord. No. 1775 § 1)

Section 4.08.275 Restricted special event alcoholic beverage permit

- (a) Authorization. The following classifications of licenses may apply for a restricted special event permit:
 - 1) Restaurant On-Sale License
 - 2) Military Club Beer and Wine License
 - 3) Beer Only On-Sale License
 - 4) Beer and Wine Only On-Sale License

- (b) Designated Location. The City Administrator may, by permit, authorize a licensee identified above in subsections (1)-(5) to engage in the sale of alcoholic beverages at events, sponsored, operated or conducted in the expectation of a profit, at or on a location adjacent to licensee's permitted location under an existing alcoholic beverage license. For purposes of this section, "adjacent to" shall mean the immediate area surrounding the licensee's existing permitted location. Any permit issued under this section shall not be taken off-premises and used at any location for any other purpose.
- (c) Fee. The fee for such local permit shall be set from time to time by action of the Board of City Commissioners through the adoption of the City Fee Schedule and related resolution. Such permit shall not be valid for a period greater than ten consecutive days. A separate application must be submitted for each event for which a permit is sought.
- (d) Limitations on Permit. A licensee granted a permit under this section is only permitted to sell alcoholic beverages that the licensee is allowed to sell under its existing alcoholic beverage license. If a licensee desires to sell any alcoholic beverages other than what is it licensed to sell under an existing alcoholic beverage license, then the licensee must obtain permission from an existing On/Off Sale licensee to use that licensee's license for said event, and the On/Off Sale licensee must apply for the special event permit under Section 4.08.270. The City Administrator may only issue two permits each year under these circumstances.
- (e) Application for Permits. A licensee desiring to conduct an event as described in (b) above wherein alcoholic beverages will be sold, or to sell alcoholic beverages at an event as described in (b) above conducted by any other person who has been granted a local permit shall make an application for a permit to the City. The application shall set forth:
 - 1) The name of the applicant;
 - 2) The time or period for which the permit is desired;
 - 3) The place where such event is to be conducted or held;
 - 4) Detailed drawing of area/location to be used and in the case of outdoor events, to include the area to be fenced, in order to define the site;
 - 5) Statement of one entrance, one exit;
 - 6) Verification that a person will be stationed at the entrance/exit at all times to check ID's:
 - 7) Verification that food items will be sold/served in an area separate from area where alcohol is sold.
- (f) The City may authorize an individual under twenty-one years of age to remain in the area of the event or a portion thereof, where beer, wine or sparkling wine may be sold pursuant to the permit subject to the following:
 - 1) The area where persons under twenty-one years of age may remain must be specifically set forth in the permit.
 - 2) Only employees of the qualified alcoholic beverage licensee who are at least twenty-one years of age may deliver and sell the beer, wine, or sparkling wine.

- 3) Subject to section 4.04.040, the area where persons under twentyone years of age may remain may not be qualified alcoholic beverage licensee's fixed or permanent licensed premises as shown on the state and local governing body's alcoholic beverage license issued pursuant to section 5-02-01.
- 4) No person under twenty-one years of age within the area described in the permit may consume, possess, or receive alcoholic beverages.
- 5) The City shall not require a segregated area specifically designated for the restrained consumption of liquor for events specifically permitted for private functions not open to the public without invite, no monetary benefit is to be received and no ticket for admission is required to attend the event.
- (g) Refusal and Revocation of Permit for Cause. The City Administrator shall refuse to issue such permit and shall revoke a permit already issued, where it appears following inspections prior and during such event that:
 - 1) The permitted site is or is likely to become a public nuisance or detrimental to public morals;
 - 2) Alcoholic beverages or controlled substances are being sold or given away except as provided by such permit;
 - 3) Any of the ordinances of the City or of the laws of the state are being violated; or
 - 4) In the sole judgment of the City, protests to the issuing of such permit are made, either orally or in writing, by a sufficient number of the people living in the neighborhood of the site for which application for such permit is made to warrant refusal or revocation of such permit as being in the public interest.
 - (e) State and Local Laws Apply. The sale or dispensation of alcoholic beverages pursuant to a permit issued under this section shall fully comply with all state laws and with the remaining provisions of this chapter which are consistent with the purposes and intent of this section.
 - (f) Appeal of the City Administrator's Decision of Refusal or Revocation of Permit. The applicant may appeal a decision by the City Administrator to refuse to issue or to revoke a permit to the Board of City Commissioners during the first regular commission meeting following the refusal or revocation decision unless the complaint is filed following the deadline for the order of business. In which case, the appeal will be scheduled during the next regular meeting. The appeal must be filed on a form provided by the City and signed by the applicant. (Ord. No. 1747 § 3)

Section 4.08.280 Sunday alcoholic beverage permit

(a) Permit Authorized. A Sunday alcoholic beverage permit may be issued to a qualified alcoholic beverage licensee, licensed as a retail alcoholic beverage establishment under NDCC chapter 5.02 or to a publicly owned or operated facility

- which collect and submit the City hospitality tax as described in Section 35.125. The authority to issue a special permit rests solely in the discretion of the Board of City Commissioners.
- (b) Application for Permit. A Sunday alcoholic beverage permit may be granted only upon proper application to and approval by the Board of City Commissioners. The application for a Sunday alcoholic beverage permit must be made in writing.
- (c) Use of Sunday Alcoholic Beverage Permit. Under the permit, alcoholic beverages may be distributed between the hours of 11:00 a.m. on Sunday and 1:00 A.M. on Monday, unless otherwise prohibited by this Code. The general public may consume alcoholic beverages distributed under the authority of the permit. The establishment or facility shall enforce the requirements of this section and any other conditions established by the Board of City Commissioners under the permit.
- (d) Failure to continuously pay the Hospitality tax will void the remaining term of the Sunday permit and the licensee will be ineligible for a Sunday permit for the remainder of the term of the license.
- (e) Sunday Beer and Wine. Eating establishments which have a special restaurant beer and wine license pursuant to section 4.08.060 of this Code may obtain a Sunday alcoholic beverage permit by complying with all requirements of this section. Said permit shall be limited to serving beer and wine on Sundays, for consumption only in that part of the eating establishment habitually used for the serving of prepared meals, excluding any room that has a bar in it where alcoholic beverages are mixed, opened or stored. Said permit may be withdrawn by action of the Board of City Commissioners for failure to abide by the requirements of this section. (Ord. No. 1020, § 2; Ord. No. 1073, 1; Ord. No. 1084, § 2; Ord. No. 1088 § 3; Ord. No. 1184, § 13; Ord. No. 1635 § 1; Ord. No. 1733 § 13)

Chapter 5 ANIMALS AND FOWL

Last updated December 1, 2022

Articles:

5.ED Editor's note to Chapter 5

5.02 Definitions

5.04 Animals In General

5.08 Animals

5.12 Other Animals

Article 5.ED Editor's note to Chapter 5

Sections:

5.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 5

Section 5.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 5

As to driving animals across sidewalks and curbs, see \S 33.04.380. As to fastening animals to trees, see \S 33.04.450.

Article 5.02 Definitions

Sections:

5.02.010 Definitions

Section 5.02.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them:

Animal. All vertebrate and non-vertebrate animals including but not limited to: bovine cattle, horse and other equine, hogs and other swine, goats, dogs, cats, hares and rabbits, sheep, chickens, ducks, geese, turkeys, and fowl or wild animals, reptiles, fish, bees or birds that have been tamed, domesticated or captivated.

Animal Impound. The facility operated by the city or its authorized agent for the purpose of impounding and caring of animals under the authority of this chapter or state law.

At Large. To be outside of a fence or other enclosure which restrains the animal to a particular premise or not under the control by leash or lead of the owner or other authorized person capable of restraining the animal. Animals tethered to a stationary object within range of public thoroughfares are deemed to be at large.

Bite. Any penetration of the skin by an animal's teeth.

Dangerous animal. An animal which because of its venomous bite or sting, size, or propensity to viciousness or aggressiveness would constitute a hazard or threat to the safety of other animals or humans.

Dangerous or Vicious Dog or Cat. Any dog or cat that (a) inflicts severe injury on a human being without provocation on public or private property, (b) kills or severely injures a dog or cat without provocation while the animal is off the owner's property, or (c) has been previously found to be potentially dangerous because of injury or bite inflicted on a human or dog or cat, the owner having received notice of such and the dog or cat aggressively bites, attacks, or endangers the safety of dogs, cats, or humans.

Dog. An animal that is a domesticated canid, *Canis familiaris*, bred in many varieties. Does not include hybrids which include *Canis lupus* (wolf) and other wild canids.

Domestic Fowl. Means poultry which is valued for its meats and eggs including chickens, turkeys, ducks, geese, guinea fowl, and pigeons.

Cat. An animal that is a small domesticated carnivore, *Felis catus*, bred in a number of varieties.

Exotic Pet. An animal that is not a dog, cat, or fish and is non-indigenous to North Dakota.

Euthanasia. Death brought about by any method which produces rapid loss of consciousness leading to a painless death.

Farm Animals/Livestock. Animals generally bred, raised, and housed on farms and in rural places for production of food, or for work purposes, such as horses.

Fish. Animals of various cold-blooded, aquatic vertebrates, having gills, commonly fins, and typically an elongated body covered with scales.

Hybrid. The offspring of wild animals cross-bred to domestic animals.

Kennel. A facility permitted through either zoning or a special use permit as defined in Chapter 39 to breed, raise, and house dogs and/or cats.

Neutered. Any male or female animal that has been permanently rendered sterile.

Owner. Any person owning, keeping or harboring an animal or knowingly permits an animal to remain on or about any premises occupied by that person.

Severe Injury. Any physical injury to a human being or animal that results in muscle tears or disfiguring lacerations or requires multiple sutures or corrective or cosmetic surgery.

Wild Animal. An animal that may be native to North Dakota, but is not considered domestic and may be listed as a huntable animal or protected by the state or federal government. (Ord. No. 1332 § 1; Ord. No. 1764 § 1.)

Article 5.04 Animals In General

Sections:	
5.04.010	Designation of pound
5.04.020	PoundmasterAppointment - REPEALED
5.04.030	SameDuties generally - REPEALED
5.04.040	Disposition of dead animals
5.04.050	Cruelty to animals
5.04.055	Rabid animals
5.04.058	Right of city animal control officer to enter property to confiscate an animal.
5.04.060	Penalties

Section 5.04.010 Designation of pound

The City shall maintain or designate an animal shelter, with buildings, for housing animals as provided by this chapter. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272, § 3; Ord. No. 1332 § 2.)

Section 5.04.020 Poundmaster--Appointment - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 3, 2003. (Ord. No. 857, § 1, Ord. No. 1272, § 4.)

Section 5.04.030 Same--Duties generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord No. 857, § 1, Ord. No. 1272, § 5.)

Section 5.04.040 Disposition of dead animals

No owner or person having custody or responsibility for the care of any animal which shall have died shall abandon or allow the same to lie on any public ground, right of way or any private lot or place within the city limits, nor shall any person throw or discard any dead animal or decayed animal matter into any pool of water in the city, nor shall any person bury the remains of any animal on any public ground, right of way, or any private property not owned by that person. The expense of burying or removing any dead animal shall be a charge against the owner or person having custody or responsibility for the care of the same, the fee for which shall be established in the City Fee Schedule. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 6; Ord. No. 1332 § 3.)

Section 5.04.050 Cruelty to animals

Every person who shall willfully (a) torture, torment, deprive of necessary food or water or cruelly beat any animal, or (b) harmfully and knowingly expose any animal to heat or cold, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to the penalties provided for in this code. (Ord. No. 857, § 1.)

For state law as to authority of city to prohibit cruelty to animals, see NDCC, § 40-05-01(42).

Section 5.04.055 Rabid animals

The owner or person in possession of any animal which has contracted rabies, been exposed to the same, suspected of having rabies, or bitten any person, shall, upon demand of the police department, surrender the animal to the police department to be held in quarantine for observation for ten days. If, upon examination, any animal is found to be infected with rabies, the animal shall be euthanized and destroyed.

No person shall knowingly keep or harbor any animal infected with rabies, or any known to have been bitten by any wildlife, nor fail to report to the police or to the city health officer the existence of any animal which he knows to be so infected or exposed to infection.

Any animal running at large and noticeably infected with rabies and displaying vicious propensities shall be killed by the police or animal control officer without notice to the owner. Any animal found to be infected with rabies during the impoundment shall be euthanized and destroyed. (Ord. No. 1332 § 4; Ord. No. 1764 § 2.)

Section 5.04.056 Animal with infectious disease.

No person owning or having charge of any animal, knowing the animal to have any infectious or contagious disease, or to have recently been exposed thereto, may knowingly permit such animal to run at large or come into contact with another animal, or with another person without person's knowledge and permission. NDCC 36-21.1-05. (Ord. No. 1764 § 3.)

Section 5.04.058 Right of city animal control officer to enter property to confiscate an animal.

Whenever the animal control officer shall have satisfactory evidence of any resident of the city harboring an animal of any description on said person's premises deemed in violation of any portion of this chapter, the animal control officer may follow proper protocol to confiscate said animal and hold in the animal shelter or adequate housing for a period of up to five days. If, by the end of the impoundment period the owner has not licensed the dog or cat, remedied the violation and claimed the animal, it may be euthanized or given to another individual. Should the party harboring the animal refuse to surrender the animal, the keeper or owner shall be subject to a misdemeanor. (Ord. No. 1332 § 5; Ord. No. 1764 § 4)

Section 5.04.060 Penalties

Any violation of or failure to comply with any of the provisions of this chapter is punishable by a fine not exceeding five hundred dollars or by imprisonment of not more than thirty days, or both, in the discretion of the court, unless stated otherwise. (Ord. No. 857, \S 1; Ord. No. 1272 \S 7.)

Article 5.08 Animals

AT ticle 3	.uo Ammais
Sections:	
5.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 5.08
5.08.001	Definitions - REPEALED
5.08.002	When dog or cat is a public nuisance
5.08.004	"Keeping dangerous animal or vicious dog or cat prohibited
5.08.006	Owner or keeper of nuisance
5.08.008	Citation to dog or cat owner.
5.08.010	Procedure for Person Filing a Complaint Regarding a Nuisance.
5.08.011	Retention of Animals
5.08.012	Disposition of dog or cat waste
5.08.014	Limitation on number of dogs and cats; permit to exceed limitation; kennels
5.08.016	Regulation of pit bull dogs - REPEALED
5.08.018	Impoundment Generally
5.08.020	Abatement of a Nuisance
5.08.022	Notice to owner regarding impounded dog or cat
5.08.024	Disposition of unreclaimed animals - REPEALED
5.08.026	Rabid animals - REPEALED
5.08.028	Muzzling of Vicious Animals in public - REPEALED
5.08.030	License requirements
5.08.032	Terms; cancellation for failure to have rabies and distemper inoculation
5.08.034	Issuance of tag; records - REPEALED
5.08.036	Refunds and transfer of license prohibited
5.08.038	Tag to be affixed to collar
5.08.040	Failure to license dog or cat
5.08.042	Right of city animal warden to enter property to collect license fee -
	REPEALED
5.08.044	Fraudulent licenses
5.08.045	Breaking into the Pound - REPEALED
5.08.02000	Division 5.08.02 Generally - REPEALED
5.08.02030	Female cats and dogs in heat - REPEALED
5.08.02070	Procedure for complaint - Generally - REPEALED
5.08.02090	Citation to animal owner; disposition - REPEALED
5.08.2100	Running at large prohibited - REPEALED
5.08.04000	Division 5.08.04 Impoundment - REPEALED
5.08.06000	Division 5.08.06 Licensing – REPEALED

Section 5.08.00E Editor's note to Article 5.08

For state law as to authority of city to license, regulate and prohibit dogs, see NDCC, § 40-05-02 (22).

Section 5.08.001 Definitions - REPEALED

This section was repealed on March 19, 2007 (Ordinance No. 1332 § 6.)

Section 5.08.002 When dog or cat is a public nuisance

Any dog or cat within the city limits is a public nuisance when:

- (a) It frightens, annoys, or chases any person or vehicle.
- (b) Is more than four months old and does not have a current vaccination or inoculation against rabies.
- (c) It is not wearing a collar bearing a City Dog or Cat license tag or microchipped and rabies vaccination tag verifying up to date vaccination.
- (d) An unattended animal that exhibits loud and frequent yelping, barking, crying or howling outside of the dwelling.
- (e) It damages any property not the property of its owner.
- (f) It runs at large upon any right of way, public property or upon the private premises of any person other than the owner or keeper of the dog or cat.

(Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 10; Ord. No. 1332 § 7; Ord. No. 1764 § 6)

Section 5.08.004 "Keeping dangerous animal, vicious dog or cat prohibited

Any person who shall knowingly keep, harbor or shelter a dangerous animal or vicious dog or cat within the city limits or in the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the city shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and subject to the penalties provided for this code. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 12; Ord. No. 1332 § 8; Ord. No. 1764 § 7.)

Section 5.08.006 Owner or keeper of nuisance

Any person who owns or keeps and permits a nuisance within the city shall be subject to an administrative fee set and maintained on file in the City fee schedule. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 13.)

Section 5.08.008 Citation to dog or cat owner.

Whenever the animal control officer or any police officer shall find a dog or cat, whether licensed or unlicensed, that meets the definition of a nuisance under any of the provisions of this article, that person may issue a citation to the owner or keeper of the dog or cat. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 14; Ord. No. 1332 § 9.)

Section 5.08.010 Procedure for Person Filing a Complaint Regarding a Nuisance.

Any person desiring to sign a complaint against the owner of a nuisance, as defined in this article must contact the city police department and state his/her name, address and facts supporting the alleged nuisance. (Ord. No. 857, § 1, Ord. No. 1176, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 16.)

Section 5.08.011 Retention of animals

No person shall, without the knowledge or consent of the owner/keeper, hold or retain possession of any animal of which he/she is not the owner/keeper for more than twenty-four (24) hours without first reporting the possession of such animal to an Animal Control Officer or animal

impound; nor shall any person feed or shelter any unowned animal for seventy-two (72) or more consecutive hours without reporting such animal to the animal impound. (Ord. No. 1764 § 8.)

Section 5.08.012 Disposition of dog or cat waste

Every person having custody or control of a dog or cat on property other than his own shall be equipped to, and shall collect such dog's or cat's solid waste when eliminated. Any person having custody of a dog or cat on his premises shall not permit animal waste to accumulate on his/her property. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord No. 1272 § 19; Ord No. 1332 § 10.)

Section 5.08.014 Limitation on number of dogs and cats; permit to exceed limitation; kennels

- (a) No person shall harbor or keep more than four dogs and/or cats upon premises within the city which are owned or controlled by said person, except where permitted by the City Zoning Code and unless a special use permit is obtained, if necessary pursuant to subsections (b).
- (b) The City may grant a person a special use permit and license to operate a kennel within permitted zones as described in Chapter 39. The special use permit and license shall specify the number of dogs and/or cats that the licensee may harbor or keep subject to such limitations and conditions listed in the special use permit and the license. The license shall attach to the premises to which it relates and shall be personal to the licensee and may not be transferred.
- (c) In determining whether a permit shall be issued or not, the City shall consider:
 - (1) The area in square footage of the premises to which the permit relates;
 - (2) The proposed facilities to house the dogs and/or cats and to provide them with an exercise area;
 - (3) The proposed sanitation measures the licensee will employ;
 - (4) The size and customary habits of each type or breed of dog and/or cat sought to be kept:
 - (5) The distance from the kennel to premises owned by other persons;
 - (6) The past history of the applicant with regard to violations of this chapter and generally with regard to providing sanitary and humane care for dogs and/or cats; and
 - (7) Any other factor reasonably likely to affect adversely the persons who live, work, visit or transact business in close proximity to the proposed permit area.
 - (d) The willful violation of any permit term or condition shall be subject violator to an administrative fee as specified in the City fee schedule;
 - (e) Each person; group, association, or corporation engaged in the commercial business of buying, selling, breeding or boarding animals who owns or keeps more than four animals where permitted to do so, shall pay an annual kennel license fee in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the city fee schedule. (Ord. No. 1069, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 20; Ord. No. 1332 §11; Ord. No. 1764 § 9)

Section 5.08.016 Regulation of pit bull dogs - REPEALED

This section was repealed on March 19, 2007. (Ord. No. 1332 § 12.)

Section 5.08.018 Impoundment Generally

It is the duty of every police officer and animal control officer to apprehend any dog or cat found at large, impound such dog or cat in the city animal shelter or other suitable place. Upon receiving any dog or cat, the City shall make a complete registry, entering the breed, color and sex of such dog or cat. When owner information is available to animal control, the owner will be contacted within 48 hours of impoundment. Whether a dog or cat is captured at large, or seized, the dog or cat may be impounded in the city animal shelter for a period five days. The owner of the dog or cat shall make arrangements to remove the animal from the animal shelter. If the owner fails to make such arrangements, the animal may be destroyed by the City or given to another person who is willing to adopt the animal and commits to licensing, vaccinating, and spaying or neutering the animal. Said owner will be subject to a fee as described in the city fee schedule for impoundment of the dog or cat. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 22; Ord. No. 1332 § 13; Ord. No. 1764 § 10.)

Section 5.08.020 Abatement of a Nuisance

An animal control officer or a police officer may direct the owner of a nuisance pursuant to this Article to forthwith surrender the dog or cat. Failure to do so constitutes a violation of this article. In the event the owner fails to voluntarily surrender the dog or cat, the dog or cat may be seized by the animal control officer or police officer. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 23; Ord. No. 1332 § 14.)

Section 5.08.022 Notice to owner regarding impounded dog or cat

No later than two days after the impounding of any dog or cat, the owner shall be notified or, if the owner of the dog or cat is unknown, an electronic notice describing the dog or cat and the place and date of impoundment shall be posted for five days. Except as provided in section 5.08.018, the owner of any dog or cat so impounded may reclaim the dog or cat upon payment of the license fee and verification that the dog or cat will be vaccinated if necessary, and all costs and charges incurred by the city for impounding and maintenance of the dog or cat. Failure to vaccinate an unvaccinated dog or cat within the time specified will subject the dog or cat to seizure and further impoundment and violation of a misdemeanor. The charges for impounding any animal shall be as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the city fee schedule (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 24; Ord. No. 1332 § 15; Ord. No. 1764 § 11.)

Section 5.08.024 Disposition of unreclaimed animals - REPEALED

This section was repealed on March 19, 2007 (Ord. No. 1332 § 16.)

Section 5.08.026 Rabid animals - REPEALED

This section was repealed March 19, 2007. (Ord. No. 1332 § 16.)

Section 5.08.028 Muzzling of Vicious Animals in public - REPEALED

This section was repealed March 19, 2007. (Ord. No. 1332 § 16.)

Section 5.08.030 License requirements

All dogs and cats kept or maintained in the city shall display a valid City dog or cat license or have a registered microchip implant. A dog or cat license shall be issued by the city upon payment of license fee and verification that animal has an up to date vaccination against rabies. The owner shall state at the time application is made for such license, upon printed forms provided for such purpose, said owner's name and address and the breed, color and sex of the dog or cat, and date of rabies inoculation of the animal. A license shall not be issued unless the license application is accompanied by a certificate showing the dog or cat has current rabies The licensing provision of the section shall not apply to dogs or cats brought into the city for the purpose of participating in any city-authorized dog or cat show. The license herein provided for shall be in force for the life of the dog or cat. (Ord. No. 856, § 1; Ord. No. 1044, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 2; Ord. No. 1272 § 29; Ord. No. 1332 § 17; Ord. No. 1764 § 12.)

Section 5.08.032 Terms; cancellation for failure to have rabies and distemper inoculation

Such license shall be canceled if the records of the city contain written evidence that the dog or cat does not have an up to date vaccination against rabies and/or has not been vaccinated against distemper. (Ord. No. 857, 1; Ord. No. 1044, § 2; Ord. No. 1272 § 30; Ord. No. 1332 § 18.)

Section 5.08.034 Issuance of tag; records - REPEALED

This section was repealed March 19, 2007. (Ord. No. 1332 § 19.)

Section 5.08.036 Refunds and transfer of license prohibited

No refund of any license fee required by this article shall be made upon the death of the dog or cat or the removal of a dog or cat from the city. A tag issued for a dog or cat shall not be transferable to any other dog or cat. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 32; Ord. No. 1332 § 20.)

Section 5.08.038 Tag to be affixed to collar

Each owner or keeper of a dog or cat shall cause the license tag issued by the city to be affixed to a collar and the collar shall be securely fastened about the neck of the animal licensed.

The owner of the dog or cat shall see that the collar is constantly worn. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1044, § 4; Ord. No. 1272 § 33; Ord. No. 1332 § 21.)

Section 5.08.040 Failure to license dog or cat

In case of the failure of an owner or keeper of a dog or cat to license or register a microchip implant of said dog or cat, the owner or keeper thereof shall be subject to a \$50 fine and required license or microchip said dog or cat prior to release. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 34; Ord. No. 1332 § 22; Ord. No. 1764 § 13.)

Section 5.08.042 Right of city animal warden to enter property to collect license fee - REPEALED

This section was repealed on March 19, 2007. (Ord. No. 1332 § 23.)

Section 5.08.044 Fraudulent licenses

It shall be unlawful for any person, with the intention to defraud the city of the collection of a license fee, to put a collar or tag attached around the neck of any animal without having first paid the license fee required by this article. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 36.)

Section 5.08.045 Breaking into the City Pound - REPEALED

This section was repealed November 15, 2022. (Ord. No. 1764 § 14)

Section 5.08.02000 Division 5.08.02 Generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord. No. 1272 § 8)

Section 5.08.02030 Female cats and dogs in heat - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord, No, 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 11.)

Section 5.08.02070 Procedure for complaint - Generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord. No. 857 § 1, Ord. No. 1272 § 15.)

<u>Section 5.08.02090 Citation to animal owner; disposition -</u> REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord. No. 1068, § 1; Ord. No. 1272 § 17.)

Section 5.08.2100 Running at large prohibited - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord. No. 857, \S 1, Ord. No. 1176, \S 2; Ord. No. 1272 \S 18.)

Section 5.08.04000 Division 5.08.04 Impoundment - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003 (Ord. No. 1272 § 21.)

Section 5.08.06000 Division 5.08.06 Licensing - REPEALED

This section was repealed on September 2, 2003 (Ord. No. 1272 § 28.)

Article 5.12 Other Animals

Sections:	
5.12.010	Domestic fowl not to run at large
5.12.020	Keeping chickens or poultry generally
5.12.030	When keeping fowl declared nuisance
5.12.040	Farm animals, livestock Restrictions on keeping, etc.
5.12.045	Citation to animal owner.
5.12.050	Impoundment
5.12.060	Keeping of wild animals prohibited
5.12.070	Exposure of male animals - REPEALED
5.12.080	What constitutes nuisance; nuisances prohibited
5.12.090	Dangerous Animals
5.12.100	Exotic Pets

Section 5.12.010 Domestic fowl not to run at large

In this chapter unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires:

- 1. Animal means every living animal except the human race.
- 2. Dangerous animals means any animals which because of their venomous bite or sting, their size, or their propensity to viciousness or aggressiveness would constitute a hazard or threat to the safety of the citizens of Dickinson.
- 3. Domestic foul means poultry which is valued for its meats and eggs including chickens, turkeys, ducks, geese, guinea fowl, and pigeons.
- 4. Livestock farm animals regarded as an asset to include but not limited to: cattle, cows, sheep, pigs, horses, oxen, goats, donkeys, llamas, alpacas. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1131 § 2; Ord. No. 1764 § 15.)

Section 5.12.020 Keeping chickens or poultry generally

This section was repealed in 1996. (Ord. No. 1131, § 1.)

Section 5.12.030 When keeping fowl declared nuisance

This section was repealed in 1996. (Ord. No. 1131, § 1.)

Section 5.12.040 Farm animals, livestock -- Restrictions on keeping, etc.

- 1. The raising and keeping of domestic fowl or livestock is hereby prohibited except: As permitted in the zoning ordinances of the City; at zoos; at schools, clinics or laboratories for recognized educational, scientific or research purposes; providing the keeping of them does not create a public health or safety problem.
- 2. A person may not keep or raise domestic fowl, livestock or non-traditional livestock, within the City of Dickinson except as permitted in property which is zoned as Residential Agricultural "RA" or Rural Residential "RR", as defined by zoning ordinances. Domestic fowl when kept as permitted may not be kept

within 150 feet of any dwelling unit other than that of the owner of such fowl. All fowl must be kept within a secure enclosure and it is unlawful to allow confinement areas of fowl to cause unpleasant odors, or to permit fowl to create noise or attract vermin which may affect the health and well-being of persons living nearby. The restrictions concerning where fowl may be kept do not apply to young domestic fowl being kept temporarily in business places for sale.

- 3. It is unlawful to keep animals or fowl in the city which have been bred or trained for fighting for sport or exhibition.
- 4. It is permitted to display farm animals in parades approved by the city. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1131 § 3; Ord. No. 1332 § 24; Ord. No. 1764 § 16.)

Section 5.12.045 Citation to animal owner.

Whenever the animal control officer or any police officer encounters an animal meeting the definition of a nuisance under any of the provisions of this article, said officer may issue a citation to the owner or keeper of the animal. (Ord. No. 1332 § 25.)

Section 5.12.050 Impoundment

Any animals mentioned in article 5.12 found to be in violation of the provisions of any section 5.12 shall be subject to impoundment according to law. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1131 § 4; Ord. No. 1332 § 26.)

Section 5.12.060 Keeping of wild animals prohibited

The keeping or maintaining of any wild animal within the corporate limits or within the area of extended planning and zoning jurisdiction of the city as defined in section 39.04.060(b) is hereby prohibited. Any zoo, circus, animal show, carnival or any other entity which shall receive a permit from the board of city commissioners to exhibit wild animals shall be exempt from the provisions hereof. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1332 § 27.)

Section 5.12.070 Exposure of male animals - REPEALED

This section was repealed March 19, 2007. (Ord. No. 1332 § 28.)

Section 5.12.080 What constitutes nuisance; nuisances prohibited

The keeping of any animal, other than a dog described in this article which causes annoyance, disturbance or offense to persons residing in or passing through the neighborhood, either by reason of:

- (a) Excessive barking, howling, braying, crowing or other sound common to its species;
- (b) Biting, threatening, chasing or molesting persons upon the public sidewalk or streets, or the property of persons other than the owner;
- (c) The failure of any person responsible for an animal to maintain all structures, pens, coops or yards wherein any animal is kept in a clean and sanitary condition devoid of rodents and vermin, and free from all objectionable odors;

- (d) Keeping any animal in violation of any provision of this article, is hereby declared to be a nuisance and the keeping or maintaining of any such nuisance is hereby prohibited. Each day's continuance of such nuisance shall be a separate offense; or
- (e) Allowing solid waste of animal to accumulate. (Ord. No. 857, § 1; Ord. No. 1332 § 29; Ord. No. 1764 § 17.)

Section 5.12.090 Dangerous Animals

The keeping of dangerous animals is prohibited. When such an animal is discovered, the City will confiscate said animal and when possible, hold it five days in the animal shelter or a more suitable housing until arrangements are made by the owner to remove the animal from the City limits. If the owner does not make an arrangement after the five-day period the animal will become property of the City. If the animal is poisonous, venomous, noxious or deemed too dangerous to house at the shelter, the animal may be euthanized. (Ord. No. 1332 § 30; Ord. No. 1764 § 18.)

Section 5.12.100 Exotic Pets

Exotic pets, except those which fall under the definition of a dangerous animal or domestic fowl or livestock may be kept in the City, so long as such pets are confined to the owner's property and do not impact any other properties. If an exotic pet is found to be in violation of this chapter, the City will remove the animal and hold it, no more than 5 days, in the animal shelter to allow the owner to make arrangements to remove the animal from the City limits. If the owner does not make arrangements within five days, the animal will become property of the City. (Ord. No. 1332 § 31; Ord. No. 1764 § 19.)

Chapter 6 BICYCLES

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

6.ED Editor's note to Chapter 6

6.04 In General6.08 Operation

Article 6.ED Editor's note to Chapter 6

Sections:

6.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 6

Section 6.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 6

As to motor vehicles and traffic, see Ch. 23 of this Code. As to attaching bicycles to vehicles on roadways, see § 23.08.060.

Article 6.04 In General

Sections:	
6.04.010	Permitting child to violate article; applicability of chapter generally
6.04.020	LicensesRequired
6.04.030	SameApplication
6.04.040	SameIssuance; term; records kept by chief of police
6.04.050	SameDestruction, defacement or loss of license
6.04.060	License plates or decalsIssuance and form
6.04.070	SameAttachment; removal
6.04.080	Rentals
6.04.090	Records of purchases and sales by dealers
6.04.100	EquipmentLamps
6.04.110	SameAural warning devices
6.04.120	Same—Brakes

Section 6.04.010 Permitting child to violate article; applicability of chapter generally

The parent of any child and the guardian of any ward shall not authorize or knowingly permit any such child or ward to violate any of the provisions of this chapter.

The regulations applicable to bicycles shall apply whenever a bicycle is operated upon any street or upon any public path set aside for the exclusive use of bicycles, subject to those exceptions stated in this chapter. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-100.)

Section 6.04.020 Licenses--Required

No person who resides within the city shall ride or propel a bicycle on any street or upon any public path set aside for the exclusive use of bicycles unless such bicycle has been licensed and a license plate or decal is attached thereto as provided in this chapter. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-101.)

For state law as to authority of city to fix amount, terms, etc., of licenses, see NDCC, § 40-05-01.

Section 6.04.030 Same--Application

Application for a bicycle license and license plate or decal shall be made upon a form provided by the city and shall be made to the city auditor. The city auditor may designate local business establishments who sell, maintain, or repair bicycles as licensing facilities provided that said local business establishments shall issue said licenses in accordance with appropriate forms, rules and regulations as provided to them by the city auditor.

(a) A nonrefundable license fee shall be paid to the city before each license is granted. Said license shall constitute a permanent license until transferred when the ownership of the bicycle changes. Upon a transfer of ownership a nonrefundable license fee shall be paid to the city for said transfer thereof. The amount of the license fee shall be determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city

fee schedule. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-102; Ord. No. 642, § 4; Ord. No. 1051, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 3.)

Section 6.04.040 Same--Issuance; term; records kept by chief of police

The city auditor upon receiving proper application is authorized to issue a bicycle license which shall be effective until transfer of ownership of said bicycle.

The city auditor shall not issue a license for any bicycle when he knows or has reasonable ground to believe that the applicant is not the owner of or entitled to the possession of such bicycle.

The city auditor shall keep a record of the number of each license, the date issued, the name and address of the person to whom issued, the number on the frame of the bicycle for which issued and a record of all bicycle license fees collected by him. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-103; Ord. No. 1051, § 2.)

Section 6.04.050 Same--Destruction, defacement or loss of license

Upon the destruction, defacement or loss of any bicycle license, a new license plate or decal can be obtained upon a showing of proof of ownership of bicycle and payment of the same fee as upon an original application. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-106; Ord. No. 1051, § 3.)

Section 6.04.060 License plates or decals--Issuance and form

The city auditor upon issuing a bicycle license shall also issue a license plate or decal bearing the license number assigned to the bicycle, the name of the city and the calendar year for which issued. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-104; Ord. No. 1051, § 4.)

Section 6.04.070 Same--Attachment; removal

The license holder shall cause such license plate or decal to be firmly attached to the rear mudguard or frame of the bicycle for which issued in such position as to be plainly visible from the rear.

No person shall remove a license plate or decal from a bicycle during the period for which issued, except upon a transfer of ownership or in the event the bicycle is dismantled and no longer operated upon any street in this city. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-104; Ord. No. 1051, § 5.)

Section 6.04.080 Rentals

A rental agency shall not rent or offer any bicycle for rent unless the bicycle is licensed and a license plate or decal is attached thereto as provided in this chapter and such bicycle is equipped with the lamps and other equipment required in this article. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-107.)

Section 6.04.090 Records of purchases and sales by dealers

Every person engaged in the business of buying or selling new or secondhand bicycles within the city shall keep a record of every bicycle purchased or sold by such dealer, giving the name and address of the person from whom purchased or to whom sold, a description of such bicycle by name or make, the frame number thereof and the number of license plate or decal, if any, found thereon. Such record shall be made available to the city auditor at reasonable times and hours. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-108; Ord. No. 1051, § 7.)

Section 6.04.100 Equipment--Lamps

Every bicycle when in use at nighttime shall be equipped with a lamp on the front which shall emit a white light visible from a distance of at least five hundred feet to the front and with a red reflector on the rear of a type which shall be visible from all distances from fifty feet to three hundred feet to the rear when directly in front of lawful upper beams of handlamps on a motor vehicle. A lamp emitting a red light visible from a distance of five hundred feet to the rear may be used in addition to the red reflector. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-119.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 39-10-63.1.

Section 6.04.110 Same--Aural warning devices

No person shall operate a bicycle unless it is equipped with a bell or other device capable of giving a signal audible for a distance of at least one hundred feet; except, that a bicycle shall not be equipped with nor shall any person use upon a bicycle any siren or whistle. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-119.)

Section 6.04.120 Same--Brakes

Every bicycle shall be equipped with a brake which will enable the operator to make the braked wheel skid on dry, level, clean pavement. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, 20-119.) *For similar state law, see NDCC*, § 39-10-63.1.

Article 6.08 Operation

Sections:	
6.08.010	Compliance of riders with laws, etc., governing vehicles
6.08.020	Obedience to traffic control devices
6.08.030	Propelling; number of riders permitted
6.08.040	Proper side of road; passing other vehicles; riding two abreast; use of paths adjacent to roadways
6.08.050	Speed
6.08.060	Emerging from alleys, driveways or buildings
6.08.070	Clinging to vehicles
6.08.080	Carrying articles
6.08.090	Parking
6.08.100	Riding on sidewalks generally

Section 6.08.010 Compliance of riders with laws, etc., governing vehicles

Every person riding a bicycle upon a roadway shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by the laws of this state declaring rules of the road of the city applicable to vehicles or by the traffic provisions of this Code or other ordinances of the city applicable to the driver of a vehicle, except as to special regulations in this article and those provisions which by their nature can have no application. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-109.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 39-10-02.1. As to motor vehicles and traffic generally, see Ch. 23 of this Code.

Section 6.08.020 Obedience to traffic control devices

Any person operating a bicycle shall obey the instructions of official traffic control signals, signs and other control devices applicable to vehicles, unless otherwise directed by a police officer.

Whenever authorized signs are erected indicating that no right, left or U turn is permitted, no person operating a bicycle shall disobey the direction of any such sign, except where such person dismounts from the bicycle to make any such turn, in which event such person shall then obey the regulations applicable to pedestrians. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-110.)

Section 6.08.030 Propelling; number of riders permitted

A person propelling a bicycle shall not ride other than astride a permanent and regular seat attached thereto.

No bicycle shall be used to carry more persons at one time than the number for which it is designed and equipped. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-111.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 39-10-60.

Section 6.08.040 Proper side of road; passing other vehicles; riding two abreast; use of paths adjacent to roadways

Every person operating a bicycle upon a roadway shall ride as near to the right-hand side of the roadway as practicable, exercising due care when passing a standing vehicle or one proceeding in the same direction.

Persons riding bicycles upon a roadway shall not ride more than two abreast, except on paths or parts of roadways set aside for the exclusive use of bicycles.

Whenever a usable path for bicycles has been provided adjacent to a roadway, bicycle riders shall use such path and shall not use the roadway. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-112.) For similar state law, see NDCC, § 39-10-62.

Section 6.08.050 Speed

No person shall operate a bicycle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions then existing. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-113.)

Section 6.08.060 Emerging from alleys, driveways or buildings

Upon approaching a sidewalk or the sidewalk area extending across any alleyway, the operator of a bicycle emerging from an alley, driveway or building shall yield the right-of-way to all pedestrians approaching on such sidewalk or sidewalk area and upon entering the roadway, shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles upon such roadway. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-114.)

Section 6.08.070 Clinging to vehicles

No person riding upon any bicycle shall attach such bicycle or himself to any vehicle upon a roadway. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, \S 20-115.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 39-10-61.

Section 6.08.080 Carrying articles

No person operating a bicycle shall carry any package, bundle or article which prevents the rider from keeping at least one hand upon the handlebars. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-116.) *For similar state law, see NDCC, § 39-10-63.*

Section 6.08.090 Parking

No person shall park a bicycle upon a street other than upon the roadway against the curb or upon the sidewalk in a rack to support the bicycle or against a building or at the curb in such a manner as to afford the least obstruction to pedestrian traffic. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-117.)

Section 6.08.100 Riding on sidewalks generally

No person shall ride a bicycle upon a sidewalk within a business district.

No person fifteen or more years of age shall ride a bicycle upon any sidewalk in any district.

Whenever any person is riding a bicycle upon a sidewalk, such person shall yield the right-of-way to any pedestrian and shall give audible signal before overtaking and passing such pedestrian. (Ord. No. 483, art. 11, § 20-118.)

Chapter 7 BUILDINGS

Last updated July, 2022

Sections:	
7.00E	Editor's note to Chapter 7
7.010	Housing CodeAdoption - REPEALED
7.020	Building CodeAdoption
7.030	Dangerous Buildings or Structures
7.030.010	Standards for Repair, Vacation or Demolition
7.030.020	Dangerous Buildings - Nuisances
7.030.030	Duties of Building Inspector
7.030.040	Duties of the City Commission
7.030.050	Failure to Comply with Decision of the City Commission
7.030.060	Violations
7.030.070	Duties of the City Attorney
7.030.080	Where Owner Absent from the City
7.030.090	Duties of Fire Department, Police Department and Southwest District Health
	Unit
7.030.100	Appeal
7.040	Mechanical CodeAdoption - REPEALED
7.050	International Property Maintenance Code adopted
7.060	Rain gutters and downspouts
7.070	Drainage
7.080	Day care and child care facilities
7.090	Bond or cash deposit for removal of house or building from existing
	foundation
7.100	Mover's license required
7.110	Bond requirement of applicant
7.120	Fee
7.130	Application for moving permit
7.140	Building Relocation Permit
7.150	Director of inspections
7.160	Appointment
7.170	Permit fees
7.180	Violation—Penalties

Section 7.00E Editor's note to Chapter 7

For state law as to authority of city to regulate building construction, see NDCC, § 40-05-02(7). As to building permits, see NDCC, § 40-05-02(6). As to electricity, see Ch. 12 of this Code. As to Fire Prevention Code, see §§ 13.08.010 to 13.08.050. As to gas installation generally, see Ch. 19. As to inspection of buildings, etc., by public health officer, see § 20.04.060. As to maintenance of blighted structures, see §§ 24.08.010 to 24.08.060. As to erection, construction, etc., of barbed wire fences, see § 25.16.12.020. As to plumbing, see Ch. 30. As to house numbering, see §§ 33.08.010 to 33.08.040.

Section 7.010 Housing Code--Adoption - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 15, 2003. (Ord. No. 586; Ord. No. 646, § 1; Ord. No. 850, § 1; Ord. No. 1071, § 1; Ord. No. 1109, § 1; Ord. No. 1276 § 3.)

For state law as to authority of city to adopt standard copies printed in pamphlet form, see NDCC, § 40-05-01(1).

Section 7.020 Building Code--Adoption

The erection, construction, enlargement, alteration, repair, moving, removal, demolition, conversion, occupancy, equipment, uses, height, area and maintenance of buildings or structures in the City of Dickinson shall meet with the provisions of the rules and regulations of the North Dakota State Building Code as set forth in NDCC Chapter 54-21.3, and any future updates and amendments to that code, copies of which are on file with the City Administrator and are hereby made a part of this chapter by reference; with the exception of the sections hereinafter set forth affecting local conditions in the City, which are amended, for use and application in the City, and the City hereby adopts said code, with the following additions, deletions and amendments:

To the International Building Code:

- (a) Section 101.1. Insert: City of Dickinson
- (b) Section 1612.3. Insert: City of Dickinson
- (c) Section 1612.3. Insert: [June 1, 1978]
- (d) Section 3409.2. Insert: [1969]

To the International Mechanical Code:

- (e) Section 101.1. Insert: City of Dickinson
- (f) Section 106.5.2. Insert: City of Dickinson Fee Schedule
- (g) Section 106.5.3. (2) Insert: 0%.
- (h) Section 106.5.3 (3) Insert: 0%
- (i) Section 108.4. Insert: Offense, \$1,000, 30 days
- (j) Section 108.5. Insert: \$100, \$500

To the International Residential Code:

- (k) Section R101.1 Insert: City of Dickinson
- (1) Table R301.2 (1) Insert: (see chart below):

TABLE R301.2 (1) CLIMATIC AND GEOGRAPHICAL DESIGN CRITERIA

GROUND SNOW LOA	WIND I	DESIGN	SEISMIC DESIGN CRITERIA	SUBJECT TO DAMAGE FI		WINTER DESIGN TEMP	ICE BARRIER UNDERLAYMENT REQUIRED	FLOOD HAZARDS	AIR FREEZING INDEX	MEAN ANNUAL TEMP
Ð	Speed	Topographic		Weathering	Termite					

	(mph)	effects			Frost Depth Line						
30	90	No	A	Severe	4'-0"	None to Slight	-10°	Yes	Amendment to Local Zoning Ordinance	2800	

For SI: 1 pound per square foot = 0.0479kPa, 1 mile per hour = 0.447m/s.

- a. Weathering may require a higher strength concrete or grade of masonry than necessary to satisfy the structural requirements of this code. The weathering column shall be filled in with the weathering index (i.e., "negligible," "moderate" or "severe") for the concrete as determined from Weathering Probability Map [Figure R301.2(3)]. This grade of masonry units shall be determined from ASTM C 34, C 55, C 62, C 73, C 90, C 129, C 145, C 216 or C 652.
- b. The frost line depth may require deeper footings than indicated in Figure R403.1 (1). The jurisdiction shall fill the frost line depth column with the minimum depth of footing below finish grade.
- c. The jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table to indicate the need for protection depending on whether there has been a history of local subterranean termite damage.
- d. The jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table with the wind speed from the basic wind speed map [Figure R301.2 (4)]. Wind exposure category shall be determined on a site-specific basis in accordance with Section R301.2.1.4.
- e. The outdoor design dry-bulb temperature shall be selected from the columns of 97 1/2 percent values for winter from Appendix D of the *Uniform Plumbing Code*. Deviations from Appendix D temperature shall be permitted to reflect local climates or local weather experience as determined by the building official.
- f. The jurisdiction shall fill this part of the table with the seismic design category determined from Section R301.2.2.1.
- g. The jurisdiction shall fill this part of the table with (a) the date of the jurisdiction's entry into the National Flood Insurance Program (date of adoption of the first code or ordinance for management of flood hazard areas), (b) the date(s) of the Flood Insurance Study and (c) the panel numbers and dates of all currently effective FIRMs and FBFMs or other flood hazard maps adopted by the authority having jurisdiction, as amended.
- h. In accordance with Sections R905.2.7.1, R905.4.3.1, R905.5.3.1, R905.6.3.1, R905.7.3.1 and R905.8.3.1, where there has been a history of local damage from the effects of ice damming, the jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table with "Yes." Otherwise, the jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table with "No."
- i. The jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table with the 100-year return period air freezing index (BF-days) from Figure R403.3(2) or from the 100- year (99%) value on the National Climatic Data Center data table "Air Freezing Index USA Method (Base 32°)" at www.ncdc.noaa.gov/fpsf.html.
- j. The jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table with the mean annual temperature from the National Climatic Data Center data table "Air Freezing Index USA Method (Base 32°)" at www.ncdc.noaa.gov/fpsf.html.

k. In accordance with Section R301.2.1.5, where there is local historical data documenting structural damage to buildings due to topographical wind speed-up effects, the jurisdiction shall fill in this part of the table with "Yes." Otherwise, the jurisdiction shall indicate "No" in this part of the table. (Ord. No. 533, § 1; Ord. No. 578; Ord. No. 605; Ord. No 625, § 1; Ord. No. 655, § 1; Ord. No. 713, § 1; Ord. No. 728, § 1; Ord. No. 789, § 1; Ord. No. 819, § 1; Ord. No. 892, § 1; Ord. No. 981, § 1; Ord. 1071, § 2; Ord. No. § 1109, 2; Ord. No. 1143 § 1; Ord. No. 1166 § 1; Ord. No. 1276 § 1; Ord. No. 1422 § 1.)

For state law as to authority of city to adopt a building code by reference, see NDCC, § 40-05-01(1).

Section 7.030 Dangerous Buildings or Structures

For the purpose of this ordinance, any building or structure which has any or all of the conditions or defects hereinafter described shall be deemed to be a dangerous building, provided that such conditions or defects exist to the extent that the life, health, property or safety of the public or its occupants are endangered. For purposes of this ordinance, the term "Building Code", shall mean the building code adopted by the City of Dickinson in Chapter 7 of the Dickinson City Code.

Whenever any door, aisle, passageway, stairway or other means of exit is not of sufficient width or size or is not so arranged as to provide safe and adequate means of exit in case of fire or panic.

Whenever the walking surface of any aisle, passageway, stairway or other means of exit is so warped, worn, loose, torn or otherwise unsafe as to not provide safe and adequate means of exit in case of fire or panic.

Whenever the stress in any materials, member or portion thereof, due to all dead and live loads, is more than one and one half times the working stress or stresses allowed in the Building Code for new buildings of similar structure, purpose or location.

Whenever any portion thereof has been damaged by fire, earthquake, wind, flood or by any other cause, to such an extent that the structural strength or stability thereof is materially less than it was before such catastrophe and is less than the minimum requirements of the Building Code for new buildings of similar structure, purpose or location.

Whenever any portion or member or appurtenance thereof is likely to fail, or to become detached or dislodged, or to collapse and thereby injure persons or damage property.

Whenever any portion of a building, or any member, appurtenance or ornamentation on the exterior thereof is not of sufficient strength or stability, or in not so anchored, attached or fastened in place so as to be capable of resisting a wind pressure of one half of that specified in the Building Code for new buildings of similar structure, purpose or location without exceeding the working stresses permitted in the Building Code for such buildings.

Whenever any portion thereof has wracked, warped, buckled or settled to such an extent that walls or other structural portions have materially less resistance to winds or earthquakes than is required in the case of similar new construction.

Whenever the building or structure, or any portion thereof, because of (a) dilapidation, deterioration or decay; (b) faulty construction; (c) the removal, movement or instability of any portion of the ground necessary for the purpose of supporting such building; (d) the deterioration, decay or inadequacy of its foundation; or (e) any other cause, is likely to partially or completely collapse.

Whenever, for any reason, the building or structure, or any portion thereof, is manifestly unsafe for the purpose for which it is being used.

Whenever the exterior walls or other vertical structural members list, lean or buckle to such an extent that a plumb line passing through the center of gravity does not fall inside the middle one third of the base.

Whenever the building or structure, exclusive of the foundation, shows 33 percent or more damage or deterioration of its supporting member or members, or 50 percent damage or deterioration of its non-supporting members, enclosing or outside walls or coverings.

Whenever the building or structure has been so damaged by fire, wind, earthquake or flood, or has become so dilapidated or deteriorated as to become (a) an attractive nuisance to children; (b) a harbor for vagrants, criminals or immoral persons; or as to (c) enable persons to resort thereto for the purpose of committing unlawful or immoral acts.

Whenever any building or structure has been constructed, exits or is maintained in violation of any specific requirement or prohibition applicable to such building or structure provided by the building regulations of this jurisdiction, as specified in the Building Code, or of any law or ordinance of this state or jurisdiction relating to the condition, location or structure of buildings.

Whenever any building or structure which, whether or not erected in accordance with all applicable laws and ordinances, has in any non-supporting part, member or portion less than 50 percent, or in any supporting part, member or portion less than 66 percent of the (a) strength, (b) fire resisting qualities or characteristics, or (c) weather-resisting qualities or characteristics required by law in the case of a newly constructed building of like area, height and occupancy in the same location.

Whenever a building or structure, because of inadequate maintenance, dilapidation, decay, damage, faulty construction, or arrangement, inadequate light, air or sanitation facilities, or otherwise, is determined by the health officer to be unsanitary, unfit for human habitation or in such a condition that is likely to cause sickness or disease.

Whenever any building or structure, because of obsolescence, dilapidated condition, deterioration, damage, inadequate exits, lack of sufficient fire-resistive construction, faulty electric wiring, gas connections or heating apparatus, or other cause, is determined by the fire marshal to be a fire hazard.

Whenever any building or structure is in such a condition as to constitute a public nuisance known to the common law or in equity jurisprudence.

Whenever any portion of a building or structure remains on a site after the demolition or destruction of the building or structure or whenever any building or structure is abandoned for a period in excess of six months so as to constitute such building or portion thereof an attractive nuisance or hazard to the public. (Ord. 1230 § 2.)

Section 7.030.010 Standards for Repair, Vacation or Demolition

The following standards shall be followed in substance by the building inspector and the city commission in ordering repair, vacation or demolition:

If the "dangerous building" can be reasonably repaired so that it will no longer exist in violation of the terms of this ordinance, it shall be ordered repaired.

If the "dangerous building" is in such condition as to make it dangerous to the health, safety or general welfare of its occupant, it shall be ordered to be vacated.

In any case where a "dangerous building" cannot be repaired so that it will no longer exist in violation to the terms of this article, it shall be demolished. In all cases where a

"dangerous building" is a fire hazard existing or erected in violation of the terms of this ordinance or any ordinance of the City or statute of the State of North Dakota, it shall be demolished. (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.020 Dangerous Buildings - Nuisances

All "dangerous buildings" within the terms of section 7.030 are hereby declared to be public nuisances and shall be repaired, vacated or demolished as provided in this ordinance. (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.030 Duties of Building Inspector

The Building Inspector shall:

Inspect any building, wall or structure about which complaints are filed by any person to the effect that a building, wall or structure is or may be existing in violation of this ordinance.

Inspect any building, wall or structure reported by the Fire or Police Departments of this City as probably existing in violation of the terms of this article.

Notify in writing the owner, occupant, lessee, mortgagee and all other persons having an interest in said building, as shown by the records in the office of the County Register of Deeds, of any building found by the Building Inspector to be a ""dangerous building" within the standards set forth in section 1 of this ordinance that: (a) the owner must vacate, or repair, or demolish said building in accordance with the terms of the notice and this article; (b) the owner or occupant must vacate said building or may have it repaired in accordance with the notice and remain in possession. Provided, that any person notified under this subsection to repair, vacate, or demolish any building shall be given such reasonable time, not exceeding thirty days, as may be necessary to do, or have done, the work or act required by the notice.

Set forth in the notice provided for in subsection 3 a description of the building or structure deemed unsafe, a statement of the particulars which make the building or structure a "dangerous building", and an order requiring the same to be put in such condition as to comply with the terms of this ordinance within such length of time, not exceeding thirty days, as is reasonable.

Report to the City Commission any noncompliance with the notice provided for in subsections 3 and 4.

Appear at all hearings conducted by the City Commission and testify as to the conditions of the "dangerous buildings".

Place a notice on all "dangerous buildings" reading as follows: "This building has been found to be a dangerous building by the Building Inspector. This notice is to remain on this building until it is repaired, vacated, or demolished in accordance with the notice which has been given the owner, occupant, lessee or mortgagee of this building as shown by the records of the County Register of Deeds. It is unlawful to remove this notice until its requirements have been met." (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.040 Duties of the City Commission

The City Commission shall:

Upon receipt of a report of the Building Inspector as provided for in section 7.030.030, give written notice to the owner, occupant, mortgagee, lessee and all other persons having an interest in said building as shown by the records of the County Register of Deeds, to appear before it on the date specified in the notice to show cause why the building or structure reported to be a "dangerous building" should not be repaired, vacated or demolished in accordance with the statement of particulars set forth in the Building Inspector's notice provided for in section 7.030.030.

Hold a hearing and hear such testimony as the Building Inspector or the owner, occupant, mortgagee, lessee or any other person having an interest in said building as shown by the records of the County Register of Deeds shall offer relative to the "dangerous building".

Make written findings of fact from the testimony offered as to whether or not the building in question is a "dangerous building" within the terms of section 7.030. Issue an order based upon findings of fact requiring the owner, occupant, mortgagee, lessee, or other persons having an interest in said building as shown by the records of the County Register of Deeds to repair, vacate or demolish any building found to be a "dangerous building" within the terms of this article and provided that any person so notified, except the owners, shall have the privilege of either vacating or repairing said "dangerous building". (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.050 Failure to Comply with Decision of the City Commission

If the owner, occupant, mortgagee or lessee fails to comply with the order of the City Commission or fails to appeal to the District Court within thirty days, the City through its officers and employees shall cause such building or structure to be repaired, vacated or demolished as ordered by the City governing body and shall bill the owner, occupant, mortgagee or lessee for the costs of such repair, vacation or demolition. If the bill is not paid when due, the costs may be assessed against the land on which the building existed. (N.D.C.C. §40-05-01.1) (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.060 Violations - Penalty for Disregarding Notices or Orders

The owner of any "dangerous building" who shall fail to comply with any notice or order to repair, vacate or demolish said building given by any person authorized by this article to give such notice or order shall be guilty of an infraction and upon conviction thereof shall be fined not exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1,000) for each offense and every day subsequent to such notice in which said owner shall fail to comply with any notice or order shall be deemed a separate offense.

The occupant or lessee in possession who fails to comply with any notice to vacate or who fails to repair said building in accordance with any notice shall be guilty of an infraction and upon conviction thereof shall be fined not exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1,000) for each offense and

every day subsequent to such notice in which the said occupant or lessee shall fail to comply with any notice or order as above stated, shall be deemed a separate offense.

Any person removing the notice provided for in section 7.030.030, subsection 7, shall be guilty of an infraction and upon conviction shall be fined an amount not exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1,000) for each offense. (Ord. 1230 § 2, Ord. 1746 § 1)

Section 7.030.070 Duties of the City Attorney

The City Attorney shall:

Prosecute all persons failing to comply with the terms of the notice provided for in section 7.030.030, subsections 3 and 4, and the order provided for in section 7.030.040, subsection 4.

Appear at all hearings before the City governing body in regard to "dangerous buildings".

Take such other legal action as is necessary to carry out the terms and provisions of this ordinance. (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.080 Where Owner Absent from the City

In cases, except emergency cases, where the owner, occupant, lessee or mortgagee is absent from the city, all notice or orders provided for herein shall be sent by registered or certified mail to the owner, occupant, mortgagee, lessee and all other persons having an interest in the building, as shown by the records of the County Register of Deeds, to the last known address of each, and a copy of such notice shall be posted in a conspicuous place on the "dangerous building" to which it relates. Such mailing and posting shall be deemed adequate service. (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.090 Duties of Fire Department, Police Department and Southwest District Health Unit

All employees of the Fire Department, Police Department and Southwest District Health Unit shall make written reports to the Building Inspector of all buildings or structures which are, may be, or are suspected to be "dangerous buildings" as defined in section 7.030. (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.030.100 Appeal

The City Commission shall serve upon the owner, occupant, mortgagee, lessee and all other persons having an interest in any building ordered to be repaired, vacated or demolished, a copy of its order. The owner, occupant, mortgagee, lessee or other person shall have thirty days from the date of the service of such order in which to appeal to the District Court or to take such other legal steps to enjoin the enforcement of such order. (Ord. 1230 § 2)

Section 7.040 Mechanical Code--Adoption - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 15, 2003. (Ord. No. 1071, § 4; Ord. No. 1109, § 3; Ord. No. 1166 § 2; Ord. No. 1276 § 3.)

Section 7.050 International Property Maintenance Code adopted

The terms, provisions and conditions of the International Property Maintenance Code, including all supplements, additions and amendments thereto, copies of which are on file in the office of the City Administrator, are hereby adopted as a part of this Code as through the same were set forth in full. (Ord. No. 1071, § 5; Ord. No. 1109, § 4; Ord. No. 1276 § 2.)

Section 7.060 Rain gutters and downspouts

All residential buildings within the city must have gutters, downspouts and splash blocks installed with a minimum of a two foot extension from any wall of the structure. (Ord. No. 981, § 9.)

Section 7.070 Drainage

As regards residential building structures within the city, for the purposes of drainage, there shall be a minimum slope of three-eighths inch to one inch per foot from the sides of the house towards the lot lines; and in relation to the backyard, a slope of three-eighths inch to one inch per foot for a minimum distance of fifteen feet from the house to the back yard lot line. (Ord. No. 981, § 10.)

Section 7.080 Day care and child care facilities

The following are minimum requirements for day care and child care facilities being provided for and housed in existing residential type occupancies:

- (a) Interior finish of walls must be a minimum of one-half inch gypsum. Ceilings shall have a flame spread rating of not greater than Class I (0-25) for required vertical exits and passways.
- (b) Draperies, hangings and other decorative materials suspended from walls or ceilings shall be noncombustible or flame resistant. The permissible amount of flame resistant decorative wall hangings shall not exceed ten percent of the total wall and ceiling area.
- (c) Maximum floor area allowances per occupant must meet all state requirements.
- (d) Exits shall meet the following requirements:
 - (1) All required exits shall be located so as to be discernable and accessible, with unobstructed access to lead directly to the street or area of refuge that will not be obstructed or impaired by fire, smoke or other cause.
 - (2) Egress from a room or space shall not open into an adjoining or intervening room or area, except where such adjoining room or area is accessory to the area served, is not a high hazard use and provides a direct means of egress to an exit. A maximum of one exit access shall be permitted to pass through a kitchen, storeroom, restroom, closet or similar space; provided, that it is not the only means of access to an exit. An exit access shall not pass through a room subject to locking.
 - (3) Exterior exit doors must be a minimum of thirty-six inches.

- (4) Every floor area shall be provided with two independent exits, to be as remote from each other as practical.
- (5) Passageways, aisles and corridors shall be a minimum of thirty-six inches, unless the occupant load is fifty or more, in which case the minimum width shall be forty-four inches.
- (6) All exit corridors shall be enclosed in fire separation walls having a fire resistant rating of one hour when serving an occupant load greater than thirty.
- (7) Each egress door shall be readily openable from the side from which egress is to be made, without the use of a key or special knowledge.
- (8) Interior exit stairways shall not be less than forty-four inches in width; except, that such width may be reduced to thirty-six inches when serving an occupancy of fifty or less.
- (9) Interior exit stairs shall have a maximum of seven-inch rise and a minimum four-inch rise and minimum eleven-inch tread. Stairs shall have guards and handrails on both sides. Stairways less than forty-four inches may have one handrail.
- (10) Balusters shall not be spaced more than six inches apart.
- (11) The width of every exit door, to and from a stairway, shall not be less than thirty-two inches.
- (12) Approved internally-illuminated signs reading "Exit" shall be installed in corridors, stairwells, adjoining or intervening rooms and multistory buildings where egress is not easily discernible. Signs shall be visible from the exit access and, when necessary, supplemented by directional signs in the exit access corridors indicating the direction and way of egress. All exit signs shall be located at exit doors. A structure constructed for the specific purpose of day-care center operations shall be equipped with internally illuminated "Exit" signs.
 - a. "Exit" signs shall have red letters at least six inches high, the minimum width of each stroke being three fourths inch, on white background.
 - b. "Exit" signs must be illuminated at all times, when the building is occupied, from an emergency electrical system.
- (13) Emergency lighting must be provided, for egress, from an independent power source, to assure continued illumination in case of emergency or primary loss for a duration of one hour.
- (e) A manual fire alarm system must be provided and maintained in full operating condition in multistory buildings and structures. An automatic fire alarm system (smoke detectors) may be installed in lieu of a manual fire alarm system, provided the detection system is interconnected and shall cause an audible alarm in all areas.
- (f) A fire suppression system shall be installed in every basement where there is not provided at least twenty square feet of opening entirely above the adjoining ground level in each fifty linear feet on at least one side of the

- building. The minimum dimension shall not be less than twenty-two inches. Such openings shall be accessible to the fire department from the exterior and shall be unobstructed to allow firefighting and rescue operations from the exterior.
- (g) All facilities shall be provided with one fire extinguisher for each two thousand five hundred square feet of floor area, but not less than one fire extinguisher per floor.
- (h) Automatic smoke detectors shall be installed in all rooms (e.g., furnace, mechanical rooms). (Ord. No. 989, § 1.)

Section 7.090 Bond or cash deposit for removal of house or building from existing foundation

No person shall remove any house or any building of any kind or nature from an existing foundation within the city limits without first giving a surety bond in the sum of two thousand dollars approved by the board of city commissioners, or giving a cash deposit in the same amount. The bond or cash deposit as submitted to the city auditor's office shall be conditioned upon the party removing such house or building and causing the vacant lot to be filled and property brought into compliance with applicable city ordinances. After the city's inspection department determination that the vacant lot and property are in compliance with such ordinances, the party shall be entitled to return of the bond or cash deposit within a reasonable period of time. In the event the party, after proper notice, fails to fill the vacant lot or otherwise fails to comply with the applicable city ordinances, the city may fill the vacant lot and bring the property into conformance with this Code, and the bond or cash deposit shall be forfeited to cover the city's costs. (Ord. No. 991, § 1.)

Section 7.100 Mover's license required

No person shall engage in the occupation of moving houses or buildings of any kind or nature whatsoever from place to place within the city limits or upon the streets or alleys of the city without first obtaining a license therefor from the city auditor. (Ord. No. 1071, § 6.)

Section 7.110 Bond requirement of applicant

The applicants for a license under section 6-14 above shall give a surety bond in the sum of one thousand dollars approved by the president of the board of city commissioners, such bond to run to the city for the use and benefit of the city and its inhabitants, and shall be conditioned, among other things, that the party asking for the license will pay any and all damages which, by reason of the granting of the license or the moving of any house or building thereunder, may be caused to any property, either public or private, within the city, whether such damage or injury shall be inflicted by such part or his agent, employees or workmen and conditioned also that the party will indemnify and keep harmless the city against all liability, judgments, costs and expenses which may accrue against the city in consequence of granting of such license and that the party will in all things comply with the conditions of such license or of any permit issued to him. Upon the execution of the required bond and the payment of the license fee, the license applied for under this section shall be issued by the city auditor. (Ord. No. 1071, § 6.)

Section 7.120 Fee

The fee to be paid for the annual license provided for in this section shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule. (Ord. No. 1071, § 6; Ord. No. 1086, § 4.)

Section 7.130 Application for moving permit

The holder of a license granted pursuant to sections 7.100 and 7.110 above shall not move any house, building or other structure without first obtaining a moving permit therefor for each house, building or other structure to be moved. Prior to obtaining such a moving permit, the owner of the structure to be moved or the license holder described herein shall provide the director of inspections, the following:

- (a) The streets over which said house or building is proposed to be moved, a certificate from the director of inspections showing that he has previously inspected the said house or building and that the requirements for construction, alteration and repairs necessary to place said building or house in conformity with the building code and other ordinances of the city.
- (b) Mover shall also agree that he will notify the director of inspections, forty-eight hours in advance of actual removal of a house, building or structure.
- (c) The permit fee for moving a building shall be twenty-five dollars. (Ord. 1071, § 6.)

Section 7.140 Building Relocation Permit

- Moving Permit: A City building relocation permit is required to move a building. (a) Application for a building relocation permit must be obtained from the City before any action is taken to move the structure. Application must be made on a form provided by the City which includes a description of the building to be moved, the location in the City onto which it is to be moved, the name of the mover, proof of liability insurance and other requirements of the form and the applicable fee. A hearing before the Board of Adjustment shall be required before a building relocation permit is granted to a building owner. All persons within 200 feet of the subject property to which a building is proposed to be moved will be notified of a proposed building relocation and the date of the hearing before the City's Board of Adjustment. Any decision of the Board of Adjustment may be appealed to the City Commission by the applicant or a petition signed by at least 51 percent of the property owners within 200 feet of the proposed location. Before a building relocation permit is issued, all affected utilities must sign a petition verifying that they are aware of the proposed move and have worked out arrangements with mover.
- (b) City Inspection: Prior to the hearing before the Board of Adjustment and before a building is moved into or within the City's jurisdiction the building must first be inspected by a City building inspector to determine compliance with building related codes. The building inspector may also require building improvements including, but not limited to: painting of exterior; new windows and/or doors; reshingling; new roof; site work to control drainage; setbacks; and such other improvements as determined by the building inspector.
- (c) Code and Order Compliance: The building must meet all applicable codes and other orders of the building inspector before it is occupied in the new location. All

mandated work must be completed within one year of placement of the building on the foundation in the new location. If the owner of the house fails to complete the work proposed and required within the one-year time frame, that person will be subject to a fine of \$50 with each day after the expiration of the one year time frame being considered a separate violation. A building permit and other permits and fees must be obtained and paid before the building is moved. The building must be moved by a city licensed mover.

- (d) Limitations: No permit shall be issued to relocate any building, or structure which is considered by a City building inspector in such a condition as to be dangerous or unsafe or if to be used for human habitation, considered unfit for human habitation, or which is dilapidated or defective or in such a state of deterioration that its relocation to the proposed site would create a safety hazard.
- (e) Costs: The cost of all fees and charges related to this section shall be declared and maintained in the City Fee Schedule.

 (Ord. 1071, § 6; Ord. No. 1270 § 1.)

Section 7.150 Director of inspections

The department of building inspection is hereby created and the executive official in charge thereof shall be known as the director of inspections. (Ord. 1071, § 6.)

Section 7.160 Appointment

The director of inspections shall be appointed by the board of city commissioners from a list certified by the Civil Service Commission. (Ord. 1071, § 6.)

Section 7.170 Permit fees

Fees shall be based on valuation and shall be as follows:

Valuation of \$1.00 to \$1,000.00 \$15.00 permit fee Valuation in excess of \$1,000.00 \$15.00 for the first

\$1,000.00, plus \$3.00 for each additional \$1,000.00

or fraction thereof.

Plan reviews will be minimum of \$20.00. (Ord. No. 1071, § 6; Ord. No. 1109, § 5.)

Section 7.180 Violation--Penalties

Any person who shall violate a provision of this Code or shall fail to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, construct, alter or repair a building or structure in violation of an approved plan or directive of the code official, or of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this Code, shall be guilty of: (1) for the first conviction, an infraction punishable by a fine of more than one thousand dollars; (2) Any person who has previously been convicted under this section may be charged with a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand, five hundred dollars, or by imprisonment, not exceeding thirty days, or both such fine and imprisonment. Each day

that a violation continues shall be deemed a separate offense. (Ord. 1071 \S 6; Ord. No. 1150 \S 1; Ord. No. 1157 \S 1, Ord No. 1752 \S 1)

Chapter 8 CARNIVALS AND CIRCUSES

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

8.04 In General

8.08 Permits, Contracts and Licenses

Article 8.04 In General

Sections:

8.04.00E Editor's note to Article 8.04

8.04.010 Definitions

8.04.020 Enforcement of chapter generally; policeman's right of entry

8.04.030 Exits in tents

8.04.040 Fire resistance of tents 8.04.050 Fire-fighting equipment

Section 8.04.00E Editor's note to Article 8.04

For state law as to authority of city to regulate and license amusements, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (26). As to carnivals generally, see NDCC, § 53-03-01 et seq.

Section 8.04.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Carnival. An aggregation of attractions, whether shows, acts, animals, vending devices, riding devices or amusement devices, whether conducted under one or more managements or individually, which are temporarily set up or conducted in a public place or upon any private premises and accessible to the public with or without admission fee and which from the nature of the aggregation attracts attendance and causes promiscuous commingling of persons in the spirit of merrymaking and revelry.

Circus. Any show under a tent where there are exhibited feats of horsemanship, animals and animal shows, acrobatic feats or trained animals and having a ring or rings. (Code 1958, § 8-1.)

Section 8.04.020 Enforcement of chapter generally; policeman's right of entry

The police department of the city shall aid and assist in the enforcement of the provisions of this chapter, and it is hereby made the duty of each and every police officer of the city to see that no person granted a permit or license under the provisions of sections 8.08.04.010 to 8.08.06.030 of this Code shall violate any of the provisions of this chapter.

Any police officer or policeman of the city shall have the right to enter upon the premises upon which any circus or carnival is showing for the purpose of inspecting its tent or tents as to exits and the number and kind thereof. (Code 1958, § 8-2.)

Section 8.04.030 Exits in tents

No person shall set up, run, operate or exhibit any show, carnival or circus in a tent or tents within the city, unless such circus, show or carnival shall provide and have three well defined and unobstructed exits from such tent or tents. (Code 1958, § 8-12.)

Section 8.04.040 Fire resistance of tents

No person shall show or exhibit any circus or carnival within the city in a tent, unless such tent shall be made or treated with fire-resistant material. (Code 1958, § 8-13.)

Section 8.04.050 Fire-fighting equipment

No person shall set up, run, operate or exhibit any show, carnival or circus within the city, unless such circus, show or carnival shall provide and have adequate fire-fighting equipment, either for the use of water or for the use of chemicals, for the purpose of extinguishing any fire that might endanger the lives or property of patrons in or about such tent, containing such circus, show or carnival. (Code 1958, § 8-14.)

Article 8.08 Permits, Contracts and Licenses

Sections:

8.08.02000 Division **8.08.02** Generally

8.08.02010 Payment of fees; issuance of licenses generally; disposition of fees collected

8.08.04000 Division 8.08.04 Carnivals

8.08.04000E Editor's note to Division **8.08.04**

8.08.04010 Issuance generally

8.08.04020 Written contract and permit required

8.08.04030 Conditions precedent to issuance

8.08.04040 License fee

8.08.04050 Possession and display 8.08.06000 Division 8.08.06 Circuses

8.08.06000E Editor's note to Division 8.08.06

8.08.06010 License--Required

8.08.06020 Same--Consent of surrounding landowners

8.08.06030 Same—Fee

Section 8.08.02000 Division 8.08.02 Generally

Section 8.08.02010 Payment of fees; issuance of licenses generally; disposition of fees collected

The license fees provided for in this article shall be paid to the city auditor, who, upon the payment of the fees provided for herein, shall issue a license to such applicant; provided, that the same has been approved by the board of city commissioners, where such approval is required, and the city auditor shall deliver such fees to the treasurer of the city, and the same shall be credited to the general fund of the city. (Code 1958, § 8-4.)

Section 8.08.04000 Division 8.08.04 Carnivals

Section 8.08.04000E Editor's note to Division 8.08.04

For state law requiring contract and permit from city prior to operation of a carnival, see NDCC, § 53-03-02.

Section 8.08.04010 Issuance generally

It shall be unlawful for the city to enter into any contract or grant a permit to any group or organization acting for or on behalf of any carnival or carnival company. The permit or contract mentioned in this article shall be issued only to such persons as are bona fide engaged in the carnival business. (Code 1958, § 8-3; Ord. No. 1083, § 18.)

Section 8.08.04020 Written contract and permit required

No person shall, within the city limits, set up, run, operate or conduct any itinerant carnival, unless and until such person shall have procured and has in his possession a written

contract and permit from the city auditor, setting forth the conditions under which such carnival shall be operated. (Code 1958, § 8-5; Ord. No. 1083, § 19.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 53-03-02.

Section 8.08.04030 Conditions precedent to issuance

- (a) Consent of Surrounding Property Owners. The board of city commissioners shall not issue a permit for the renting, setting up, operating or conducting of any itinerant carnival to be conducted outdoors and not within a permanent building, unless the applicant for such permit shall file with his application the consent of the owners of seventy-five percent of the property by area within a distance of three hundred feet from the outer boundary lines upon which the applicant proposes to exhibit or conduct the performances for which application is made.
- (b) Prohibited Activities. The permit required by section 8.08.04.020 of this Code shall be granted upon the condition, and the contract shall state that there shall not be set up or operated any gambling device, lottery, number or paddle wheel, number board, punchboard or other game of chance or skin game of any kind whatsoever, lewd, lascivious or indecent show, indecent exposure of the person, suggested lewdness or immorality, hoochie-coochie or other indecent dance, men only shows where women or girls perform or any other lewd, immoral or indecent show or attraction, and that such shows, etc., will not be allowed or permitted, and that such person will not knowingly allow or permit to follow or be connected with such carnival any man or woman affected with venereal disease and will cooperate with the board of city commissioners in discovering and apprehending any such man or woman.

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 53-03-04.

(c) Inspections and Bond. No permit shall be granted by the board of city commissioners until they have caused to be investigated such carnival and are satisfied that, if permitted, such carnival will be operated in accordance with the laws of the state, the provisions of this Code and other ordinances of the city and that none of the illegal or unlawful acts mentioned in the contract and set forth in this section shall be permitted.

The board of city commissioners is hereby authorized to enter into such contract, issue such permits, collect such permit fees as are necessary to pay the expense of the investigation, aid in policing such grounds, and otherwise compensate the municipality in such amount as they determine, and shall require such person to execute and deliver to the city a bond in the penal sum of five hundred dollars to be approved by the board of city commissioners, conditioned for the faithful conduct of such carnival, in accordance with the laws and ordinances of the city, and that the same shall be forfeited upon the violation of the laws or acts prohibited by such contract.

The board of city commissioners is hereby required to enforce the provisions of this article, the contract made and entered into, and the laws of the state, the provisions of this Code and other ordinances of the city, in reference to such carnivals and shall not allow or permit the acts prohibited in this article by such person. (Code 1958, § 8-6.)

For state law as to bond and authority of city generally, see NDCC, § 53-03-05. As to enforcement of contract by board of commissioners, see NDCC, § 53-03-06.

Section 8.08.04040 License fee

The license fee for a permit to operate a carnival shall be payable in advance for the number of days the permit is issued. The amount is to be determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city of fee schedule. (Code 1958, § 8-7; Ord. No. 1086, § 5.)

For state law as to authority of city to collect permit fees, see NDCC, § 53-03-05.

Section 8.08.04050 Possession and display

Contracts and permits as provided for in this article shall be made in duplicate, and one shall be in the possession of the city auditor and the other in the possession of the manager of such carnival.

In either case, the contracts and permits shall, upon request of an officer or citizen, be produced and shown. Refusal to show such contract, etc., to one asking to see it shall be presumptive evidence that such carnival is being operated without such contract or permit. (Code 1958, § 8-8.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 53-03-07.

Section 8.08.06000 Division 8.08.06 Circuses

Section 8.08.06000E Editor's note to Division 8.08.06

For state law defining carnival so as to include circus, see NDCC, § 53-03-01.

Section 8.08.06010 License--Required

No person shall set up, run, operate or exhibit any circus within the city, without having first procured or obtained a license therefor. (Code 1958, § 8-10.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 53-03-03.

Section 8.08.06020 Same--Consent of surrounding landowners

The board of city commissioners shall not issue a license for the renting, setting up, operating or conducting of any circus to be conducted outdoors and not within a permanent building, unless the applicant for such license shall file with his application the consent of the owners of seventy-five percent of the property by area within a distance of three hundred feet from the outer boundary lines upon which the applicant proposes to exhibit or conduct the performances for which application is made. (Code 1958, § 8-10.)

Section 8.08.06030 Same--Fee

For a license for the exhibition of any circus, there shall be taxed and collected a license fee in an amount that shall be determined by the board of city commissioners, and no person shall be permitted to exhibit a circus within the limits of the city without first having obtained a license as provided in this division. The license fee shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule. (Code 1958, § 8-11; Ord. No. 1086, § 6.)

For state law as to authority of city to collect license fees, see NDCC, § 53-03-05.

Chapter 9 CEMETERIES and MAUSOLEUMS

Last updated August, 2023

Sections:

- 9.010 Definitions
- 9.020 Cemetery director--Office created; appointment REPEALED
- 9.030 Cemetery Management Duties generally REPEALED
- 9.035 Cemetery Advisory Committee created appointment duties REPEALED
- 9.040 Disclaimer by city
- 9.050 "Resident" defined; applicability of definition to infants REPEALED
- 9.060 Regulations applicable to general care area
- 9.070 Monuments and markers generally
- 9.080 Markers generally REPEALED
- 9.090 Use of vault generally REPEALED
- 9.100 Surface vaults prohibited
- 9.110 Outer burial containers
- 9.120 Interments and funerals generally
- 9.130 Disinterments
- 9.140 Relocating bodies
- 9.150 Vacated lots
- 9.160 Services by city for Funeral Directors REPEALED
- 9.170 Conduct of persons in cemetery and mausoleum
- 9.180 Selecting sites
- 9.190 Payments for right of burial REPEALED
- 9.200 Purchase of cemetery lots--Generally
- 9.210 Fees generally
- 9.220 Same--Right of burial
- 9.230 Repurchase of lots by city
- 9.235 Title to cemetery lots or burial spaces reverts after 60 years procedure
- 9.240 Recording change of ownership
- 9.250 Payments for services payable in advance
- 9.260 Charges for use of vault REPEALED
- 9.270 Disinterment charge REPEALED
- 9.280 Funeral Directors to assume liability for certain charges
- 9.290 Reports; disposition of fees collected; accounting procedures
- 9.300 Endangered gravesites

Section 9.010 "Cemetery" defined

Cemetery. Shall mean a place for burying the deceased on all grounds owned and maintained by the City for this purpose. Cemetery shall be construed to mean the St. Patrick's Catholic Cemetery, St. Wenceslaus Catholic Cemetery, St. Joseph's Catholic Cemetery, Dickinson Cemetery and the Dickinson South Cemetery. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1364 § 1)

Columbarium. Shall mean a room, building, or wall that is designated for the interment of the ashes of a deceased person or people who have died and been cremated.

Mausoleum. Shall mean an external free-standing building constructed as a monument enclosing the interment space or burial chamber of a deceased person or people.

Mausoleum Crypt. Shall mean the chamber within the mausoleum that holds the burial remains. In some cases, these may be cremation urns instead of or as well as caskets.

Monument. Shall mean any headstone or footstone made of stone, granite, or marble which shall be placed upon a burial site or plot for the purposes of marking a grave site or identifying the person or persons buried therein.

Niche. Shall mean a permanent, above-ground location in which to place an urn that contains cremation ashes.

Resident. Shall mean a person who lived within the corporate limits of the City immediately preceding the date of death and is a bona fide resident of the City under North Dakota law. Reference NDCC Sections 54-01-21, 54-01.26, and other pertinent sections of NDCC. All other persons shall be considered as nonresidents. (Ord. No. 1778 § 1.)

Section 9.020 Cemetery director--Office created; appointment - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1273 § 1.)

Section 9.030 Cemetery Management Duties generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed October 6, 2008 with the passage of Ordinance No. 1364.

Section 9.035 Cemetery Advisory Committee created appointment duties - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1322 passed June 19, 2006.

Section 9.040 Disclaimer by City

The City shall take every reasonable precaution to protect the property within the cemeteries and mausoleums but it distinctly disclaims all responsibility for loss or damage, whether direct or collateral, from the acts of thieves, vandals, rioters and malicious mischief makers; from all acts of God, including but not limited to winds, tornadoes, cyclones, hail, snow, frost, fire, explosion or lightning; and from breakage or accident to equipment of any kind and character and from all causes beyond its reasonable control. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1778 § 1)

Section 9.050 "Resident" defined; applicability of definition to infants - REPEALED

This section was repealed July 18, 2023 with the passage of Ordinance No. 1778. (Ord. No.

Section 9.060 Regulations applicable to general care area

- (a) In the cemetery area, the City shall not provide for the care of private mausoleums, monuments or markers or set out or take care of any decorative planting. The City shall, however, undertake to keep the grass cut and to maintain the entire area in a neat and generally tidy condition.
- (b) Lot owners or authorized persons may have any special work, consistent with this section, done by notifying the City. Lot owners or authorized persons wishing to have the work done must give the City a signed order covering the proposed improvements.
- (c) Lot owners or members of their families are permitted to do any work not involving construction and not otherwise prohibited by this chapter on their sites, either before or after interments, and the performance of such work must be confined to the working hours of the cemeteries.
- (d) No corner stakes of any lot shall be disturbed.
- (e) No lot or grave shall be defined by any fence, railing, coping, hedge, embankment or depression, nor may trees or shrubs be planted to define corners or boundaries. No cement curbs shall be permitted, and all unsightly curbs shall be removed.
- (f) The planting of trees, bushes, shrubs, flowers or vines is not permissible.
- (g) Existing trees generally will not be removed to make additional burial space.
- (h) To prevent injury to adjoining lots and to preserve the beauty of the grounds, no trees or shrubs shall be planted on lots or graves, nor shall any existing trees or shrubs be cut down, removed or trimmed. All maintenance will be performed by the City or authorized personnel.
- (i) The placing of wreaths, sprays or flower boxes, and the placing of cut flowers shall be restricted to those graves which have a regular container that is on at least a four (4) inch base secured on a monument foundation, for that purpose. The use of jars, glass bottles or vases, tin cans, etc., is prohibited. Spading up of grass will be permitted only for the purpose of planting grass. Planting of flowers is not permitted.
- (j) Placement of floral arrangements on mausoleum grounds is prohibited. Floral arrangements are to be attached only to crypt and niche covers by a vase purchased from the City, which shall be placed in the lower left corner of the cover. Floral arrangements must be placed within the dimensions of the cover and not extend into other covers. Only one porcelain picture not to exceed three (3) inches by five (5) inches and one (1) military emblem per single crypt or single niche cover will be allowed. Additional items shall not be placed on the covers. If non-compliant items are placed on crypt and niche covers, the City shall remove and destroy the items.
- (k) The City or any authorized personnel as designated by the City, may remove or order removal of all floral designs, trees, shrubs, plants or herbage of any kind, and may also remove toys or any other kind of non-green decoration as soon as such items become unsightly, interfere with maintenance activities, or become detrimental or diseased. The City has no responsibility to return any item the City so removes or orders removed.
- (l) Individual mausoleums are not permitted.
- (m) The use of monuments is permitted, subject to the provisions of this chapter.

- (n) Grave covers shall not be allowed in a cemetery. Any and all grave covers which are situated in any city cemetery and determined by the City to be in a state of disrepair or otherwise in need of maintenance, repair or servicing shall be removed.
- (o) The cemetery will be available to the public per City policy or during posted days and hours. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1041, § 2; Ord. No. 1208, § 1. Ord. No. 1273 § 3; Ord. No. 1364 § 1; Ord. No. 1371 §1; Ord. No. 1778 §1)

Section 9.070 Monuments and Markers generally

- (a) All monuments must be marked by the City for correct location and alignment. All monuments must be placed on the west end of the grave and face east. Each plot permits one headstone placed on west end of the grave and one ground level footstone (i.e., veterans' marker) placed on the east end of the grave. No monuments will be allowed to be placed in between the designated area for headstones and footstones.
- (b) No monuments or markers or portions thereof made of any material other than granite, marble, standard bronze or other durable material such as but not limited to natural stone, petrified stone, stainless steel, etc., shall be allowed in the cemetery.
- (c) All foundations for monuments or markers shall be of concrete, or granite with a minimum of four (4) inches in depth and shall be installed at the expense of the owner.
- (d) All foundations shall be constructed so as to permanently support the monument or marker in true position and shall have a ground level border around the bottom of the base of the monument, which shall be four inches minimum on all sides. Foundations shall be constructed as part of the monument.
- (e) All monuments or markers must be located as directed by authorized City personnel and cannot be placed without City authorization.
- (f) No person shall be allowed to remove any monument or marker from the cemetery or to alter any monument erected in the cemetery without first securing permission from the City.
- (g) Privately owned benches that are not the monument for a grave site are prohibited at cemeteries. Any privately owned benches located in any cemetery that exist as of August 1, 2023 may remain, if those benches to not encroach upon any adjacent plot. Any private benches that are found to encroach upon any adjacent lot may be removed by the City. City owned benches located at any cemetery will be placed where deemed necessary by the City.
- (h) Privately owned benches at mausoleums are not permitted. Any privately owned benches located in any mausoleum that exist as of August 1, 2023 may remain. City owned benches located on the mausoleum grounds will be placed where deemed necessary by the City. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1273 § 4; Ord. No. 1364 § 1; Ord No. 1371 §1; Ord No. 1778 §1)

Section 9.080 Markers generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 §1 on October 6, 2008.

Section 9.090 Use of vault generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1778 §1 on July 18, 2023.

Section 9.100 Surface vaults prohibited

Surface vault burials shall no longer be allowed in any City cemetery. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1208, § 2; Ord. No. 1273 § 6.)

Section 9.110 Outer burial containers

All burials, both full body and cremation, in any cemeteries shall be enclosed in concrete vaults, concrete grave liners, or made of a non-biodegradable material placed in a grave with a base or floor five feet below the surface or a minimum of eighteen (18) inches at any point, of earth on top of the vaults or grave liners. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1208, § 3; Ord. No. 1364 § 1. Ord No. 1371 §1; Ord. No. 1778 §1).

Section 9.120 Interments and funerals generally

- (a) All burials, entombments, and inurnments must be scheduled through a funeral home to ensure that all documentation and paperwork has been filed with the City, county, and state. The funeral home must make arrangements for the grave, crypt, or niche to be opened and closed in the designated place of interment. The City will be responsible for properly marking the gravesite where the burial will take place.
- (b) If there is not a permanent marker on the grave, a temporary marker must be placed on the gravesite on the day of interment.
- (c) Not wanting to prolong the grief of those mourning the loss of loved ones, it is the intention of the city to accommodate the burial of deceased individuals in a timely manner. However, the physical condition of the cemeteries, i.e., frozen soil, saturated ground, the placement of graves, accumulation of snow, etc., may make timely interment difficult. The city reserves the right to require that the remains of any deceased person be stored until such time as interment becomes possible without damaging city cemeteries. The judgment of the City shall prevail in these matters.
- (d) All information required by the State of North Dakota to appear on a Burial Transit Permit shall be furnished to the City prior to internment. No burials will be allowed without this information.
- (e) If the order for the interment is for a deceased person not of the immediate family of the lot owner, permission in writing from the lot owner or other authorized person must be filed with the City of Dickinson.
- (f) When lots are held jointly by two or more persons, by descent, devise or purchase, an order will be accepted from either of them or their heirs for interment in the lots as the order shall require.
- (g) Funerals while within the cemetery grounds shall be under the control of the City.
- (h) The City shall allow no more than two (2) cremations buried in any single grave plot.
- (i) One full burial of casket and one urn or infant casket is permitted per grave. No double depth casket burials will be permitted unless the second casket is an infant or child.
- (j) No double depth casket burials will be allowed in the Dickinson South Cemetery unless authorized by the City.
 - (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1208, § 4; Ord. No. 1273 § 7; Ord. No. 1322 §2; Ord. No. 1364 §1.; Ord. No. 1778 §1)

Section 9.130 Disinterments

Graves will be reopened for official inspection or for any other purpose only when all statutory provisions relating to the opening of graves have been complied with and the regular charge for a disinterment is paid to the City. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1.)

Section 9.140 Relocating bodies

Should the owner of a single lot in the cemetery area in which an interment has been made or should an authorized person wish to secure two or more laterally adjacent lots elsewhere in the cemetery in order to provide for contiguous burials, the owner may have the body in the single lot disinterred and reinterred in the new location by paying the regular charges both for disinterment and for reinterment and by conveying to the City the vacated lot. The amount of the refund for such vacated lot, if any, shall be determined by the City and shall not exceed the purchase price paid by the owner. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1364 § 1; Ord. No. 1778 §1.)

Section 9.150 Vacated lots

Should any single lot be vacated and the body removed from the cemetery, the regular charge for disinterment must be paid. The title to the lot remains in the family or may be bought back by the City. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1208, § 5; Ord. No. 1273 § 8.)

Section 9.160 Services by City for Funeral Directors - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1778 §1 on July 18, 2023.

Section 9.170 Conduct of persons in cemetery and mausoleum

- (a) Lot owners, their families and visitors shall be admitted daily to the cemetery and mausoleum and are requested to observe all rules adopted for the regulation of visitors.
- (b) Children must be accompanied by parent or guardian.
- (c) Vehicular traffic and bicycle riding shall not be permitted off of paved surfaces unless authorized by the City.
- (d) Liquor consumption shall not be allowed within any cemetery or mausoleum.
- (e) Firearms shall not be permitted, other than for regular burial services.
- (f) Pets are permitted so long as the animals are leashed. Owners must properly dispose of any animal waste.
- (g) Unauthorized trucks in exceedance of 10,000 pounds and trailers shall not be allowed to enter the grounds without special permission of the City.
- (h) All persons are strictly prohibited from plucking any wild or cultivated plants, breaking any tree or shrub, marring any stonework or defacing property of lot owners or of the City or authorized personnel.
- (i) Water is provided for the use of watering grave sites. The sprinklers shall not be left unattended. Hoses and sprinklers must be properly stowed upon completion of watering.
- (j) No improper use of the national flag will be permitted in the cemetery or mausoleum, nor will the display of any worn out and tattered flag be allowed.

(k) It is the utmost importance that there should be a strict observance of all the proprieties due the place, whether embraced in this section or not. No impropriety will be tolerated, and all well-disposed persons will confer a favor by informing the city at once of any breach of decorum that may come to their notice. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1364 §1; Ord. No. 1778 §1.)

Section 9.180 Selecting sites

Persons desiring to purchase rights of burial may visit City Hall located at 38 1st Street West, Dickinson, North Dakota and authorized City personnel will aid in making a selection, or individuals may contact a funeral home to make these arrangements. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1364 § 1; Ord. No. 1778 § 1.)

Section 9.190 Payments for right of burial – REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1778 §1 on July 18, 2023.

Section 9.200 Fees - Generally

- (a) When the buyer desires to purchase a right of burial on two or more single grave lots in the cemetery area, the City reserves the right to insist that the selection shall be made in such a location and manner as not to leave any isolated single grave lots alongside those purchased.
- (b) Single grave lots shall normally be sold only from single grave lot sections, except as isolated single grave lots may be elsewhere available. In single grave lot sections, there can be no choice of location, as these lots must be filled in regular order, nor can any such lots be reserved or sold for future use.
- (c) Dickinson South Cemetery. Grave plots will be sold by section starting west working east. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1208, § 6; Ord. No. 1364 § 1; Ord. No. 1778 § 1.)

<u>Section 9.210 Fees – generally</u>

- (a) The fees for the right of burial in all City-owned cemeteries and mausoleums as well as any other services offered by the City shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners and shall be on file by the City in the City fee schedule. All payments for lots, crypts, or niches are payable in advance, except as otherwise provided.
- (b) In the case of the death of an infant whose parent(s) meet residency requirements, resident rates shall apply. In all other cases, nonresident rates shall apply. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1.)
- (c) The City may provide a grave site at no charge for any person in the armed services killed in a conflict, who lived in Dickinson prior to current military service or any Dickinson City employee killed in the line of duty in which the body of the deceased is to be buried. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 7; Ord. No. 1273 § 10; Ord. No. 1778 § 1)

Section 9.220 Same--Right of burial

- (a) Burial sites are conveyed by "right of burial" form furnished the purchaser, the purchaser's his/her family and heirs, granting a right forever for the purpose of burying the human dead only, subject to the rules and regulations that are now in force or may be adopted by the City but exempt from taxation and liability for debt.
- (b) In the event that a burial site is unused for more than sixty (60) years after its sale, resale and/or transfer, title to the burial space shall revert to the City as provided in section 9.235.
- (c) No "right of burial" will be issued until a lot is fully paid for, and if interment is permitted before such time, the City retains the right to refuse future interments or any improvements until the balance due on the lot is fully paid, and in case of persistent default, to remove any body already interred to the single grave section.
- (d) A "right of burial" from the City and its record on the books of the City is the only evidence of title recognized by the City; therefore, no lot shall be subdivided or transferred by deed or otherwise; and in the event of any subdivision or transfer or use of the property contrary to any of the provisions of the right of burial, the whole thereof shall revert to the City. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1273 § 11; Ord No. 1371 §1; Ord. No. 1778 § 1)

Section 9.230 Repurchase of lots by city

The City may, by mutual agreement with any site owner, repurchase any unused site from owner or authorized person at a reasonable price. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1778 § 1)

Section 9.235 Title to cemetery lots or burial spaces reverts after 60 years - procedure

It is a conclusive presumption that an owner has abandoned a cemetery lot or burial space if for a period of more than sixty (60) years the owner has not used any portion of the lot for purposes of burial and has not made provision for care of the lot beyond that provided uniformly to all lots within the cemetery, and if the owner has failed to express an interest in retaining the cemetery lot or burial space after notice provided for in this section.

Cemetery lots or burial spaces remaining unused for more than sixty (60) years from the date of their sale, resale and/or transfer shall revert to the City upon occurrence of the following events:

- (1) Upon the request of any person, the City may pass a resolution demanding that the record owner of a cemetery lot or burial space that has been unused for more than sixty (60) years express an interest in the cemetery lot or burial space. The resolution shall notify the owner that the owner must, within sixty (60) days after service of the resolution upon the owner, express an interest in retaining the unused cemetery lot.
- (2) A copy of the resolution shall be served upon the owner in the same manner as personal service of process in a civil action. If the owner is unknown or cannot be found, the City shall publish its resolution once a week for three consecutive weeks in the official newspaper of the county where the cemetery is located, and shall further mail a copy of the resolution to the owner at the last known address of the owner, if known.

(3) If within sixty (60) days after personal service or after publication of the City's resolution is completed, the owner or person with a legal interest in the cemetery lot or burial space fails to express an interest in retaining the unused cemetery lot or burial space, the owner's rights therein are terminated and title to that person's plot reverts to the City. (Ord No. 1371 §1; Ord. No. 1778 §1)

Section 9.240 Recording change of ownership

On the death of an owner or part-owner of a site, the heirs or designees of the deceased, if required, shall file with the City satisfactory proof of their heirship for the purpose of establishing the new ownership on the books of the city. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1364 § 1.)

Section 9.250 Payments for services payable in advance

All payments for charges for all services are payable in advance, except as otherwise provided. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1.)

Section 9.260 Charges for use of vault - REPEALED

This section was repealed September 2, 2003 (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1208, § 7; Ord. No. 1273 § 12.)

Section 9.270 Disinterment charge - REPEALED

This section was repealed June 20, 2023 with the passage of Ordinance No.1778. (Ord. No. 1078, \S 1; Ord. No. 1778 \S 1)

Section 9.280 Funeral Directors to assume liability for certain charges

In all instances where a funeral director arranges for lots or interments, the funeral director shall assume the liability for payment to the City of the cost of the lots or interments. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1273 § 14.)

Section 9.290 Reports; disposition of fees collected; accounting procedures

This section was repealed September 2, 2003. (Ord. No. 1006, § 1; Ord. No. 1273 § 15.)

Section 9.300 Endangered gravesites

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code, the City may move graves 13which are located in the City and maintained by the City when the gravesites are in imminent danger of destruction by natural elements. The City shall, to the extent possible, give personal notice to a relative of a deceased person whose grave is to be moved, if the identity of that person and the identity of the relative are known. The City shall provide at least thirty days prior notice in a legal newspaper of the City's intended action to be taken pursuant to this section. (Ord. No. 1078, § 1; Ord. No. 1778 § 1)

Chapter10COMMUNITYANTENNATELEVISION SYSTEMS

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

10.04 In General10.08 Franchise

10.12 Service

Article 10.04 In General

Sections:	
10.04.010	Definitions
10.04.020	Grant of authorityGeneral
10.04.030	SameExclusiveness
10.04.040	Subjection of franchised company to police power of city
10.04.050	Liability insurance required
10.04.060	Conditions upon street occupancy
10.04.070	Warranting by city of authority to use streets
10.04.080	Approval of transfer of system
10.04.090	Access to plans, etc; filing of rules and regulations; inspection of records
10.04.100	Promulgation of rules and regulations by company
10.04.110	Penalty

Section 10.04.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Commission. The city commission.

Company. Any grantee of rights under the terms of this chapter. (Ord. No. 406, § 2.)

Section 10.04.020 Grant of authority--General

Authority is hereby made available by the city to any person, who qualifies under all of the provisions of this chapter, to construct, erect, operate and maintain in, upon, along, across, above, over and under the streets, alleys, public ways and public places now laid out or dedicated and all extensions thereof and additions thereto in the city poles, wires, cables, underground conduits, manholes and other television conductors and fixtures necessary for the maintenance and operation in the city of a system for the transmission of television, FM radio and electrical impulses and signals for all public and private uses. (Ord. No. 406, § 3.)

Section 10.04.030 Same--Exclusiveness

The right to use and occupy such streets, alleys, public ways and places for the purposes herein set forth shall not be exclusive and the city reserves the right to grant a similar use of such streets, alleys, public ways and places to any other person or persons at any time during the period of any franchise granted pursuant to this chapter. (Ord. No. 406, § 4.)

Section 10.04.040 Subjection of franchised company to police power of city

Any company shall at all times during the life of its franchise be subject to all lawful exercise of the police power by the city and to such reasonable regulations as the city shall hereafter by resolution or ordinance provide. (Ord. No. 406, § 5.)

Section 10.04.050 Liability insurance required

Any company obtaining a franchise under the provisions of this chapter shall indemnity and save the city and its agents and employees harmless from any and all claims for personal injuries or property damages and any other claims, costs including attorneys' fees, expense of investigation and litigation of claims and suits thereon which may arise from the installation, operation or maintenance of its system within the city. For this purpose each company shall carry and at all times maintain on file with the city auditor and at all times keep in force a public liability policy of insurance insuring the company and the city against any and all such liability for not less than fifty thousand dollars property damage, one hundred thousand dollars for any one person for personal injury or death, and three hundred thousand dollars for any one accident resulting in personal injury or death. Such policy or policies of insurance or certificates thereof, by a company licensed to do business in the state, shall be filed with the city prior to the final approval of any franchise granted hereunder. Any company, upon receipt of due notice in writing from the city, shall defend at its own expense any action or proceeding against the city in which it is claimed that injury or damages arose from the company's activities in the operation of its community antenna system. The city shall notify the company's representatives within the city within thirty days after the presentation of any claim or demand, either by suit or otherwise, made against the city on account of any negligence as aforesaid on the part of the company. (Ord. No. 406, § 6.)

Section 10.04.060 Conditions upon street occupancy

- (a) Use Generally. All transmission and distribution structures, lines and equipment erected or constructed by the company within the city shall be so located as to cause minimum interference with any other proper use of streets, alleys and other public ways and places and to cause minimum interference with the rights and reasonable convenience of property owners who adjoin any of such streets, alleys or other public ways and places.
- (b) Restoration. In case of any disturbance of pavement, sidewalk, driveway or other surfacing, the company shall, at its own cost and expense and in a manner approved by the city engineer, replace and restore all paving, sidewalk, driveway or surface of any street or alley disturbed in as good condition as before the work was commenced and shall maintain the restoration in an approved condition for a period of at least one year thereafter.
- (c) Relocation. In the event that at any time during the period of a franchise the city shall lawfully elect to alter or change the grade of any street, alley or other public way, the company, upon reasonable notice by the city, shall remove, relay and relocate its poles, wires, cables, underground conduits, manholes and other telephone and television fixtures at its own expense.
- (d) Placement of Fixtures. The company shall not place poles or other fixtures where the same will interfere with any gas, electric or telephone fixtures, water hydrant or main; and all such poles or other fixtures placed in any street shall be placed at the outer edge of the sidewalk and inside the curb line; and those placed in alleys shall be placed close to the line of the lot abutting on such alley and then in such a manner as not to interfere with the usual travel on such streets, alleys and public ways; provided, however, that the company will place all wires, cables, fixtures and other equipment underground when other telephone, telegraph or other electrical utilities services are so located in such area

unless the company is specifically, by action of the commission, permitted to do otherwise where extreme hardship would result or where an underground installation is not workable. It is the intention of this section to require that any company granted a franchise hereunder use a portion of other utility poles already erected for the development of the company's aboveground distribution system, and no company shall be permitted to erect its own poles, except where existing utility poles are inadequate to handle the additional load and where the placing of such additional poles is specifically authorized by the commission or its duly authorized representatives.

- (e) Temporary Removal of Wire for Building Moving. The company shall, on the request of any person holding a building moving permit issued by the city, temporarily raise or lower its wires to permit the moving of buildings. The expense of such temporary removal, raising or lowering of wires shall be paid by the person requesting such removal, etc., and the company shall have the authority to require such payment in advance. The company shall be given at least forty-eight hours advance notice to arrange for such temporary wire changes.
- (f) Tree Trimming. The company shall have the authority to trim trees upon and overhanging streets, alleys, sidewalks and public places of the city so as to prevent the branches of such trees from coming in contact with the wires, cables, fixtures and equipment of the company; all such trimming shall be done under the supervision and direction of the city and at the expense of the company. (Ord. No. 406, § 10.)

For state law as to authority of city to regulate the use, etc., of streets, see NDCC, § 40-05-01(8). As to streets and sidewalks generally, see Ch. 30 of this Code.

Section 10.04.070 Warranting by city of authority to use streets

It is understood that there may be within the city various streets, alleys and other public ways which the city does not have the unqualified right to authorize any company to use because of reservations in favor of the dedicators or because of other legal impediments. Therefore, in granting any franchise pursuant to this chapter, the city does not warrant or represent as to any particular street or portion thereof that it has the right to authorize any company to install or maintain portions of its systems therein, and in each case the burden and responsibility for making such determination in advance of the installation shall be upon the company. (Ord. No. 406, § 22.)

Section 10.04.080 Approval of transfer of system

The company shall not sell or transfer its plant or system or any portion thereof to any person nor transfer any right under any franchise except by operation of law to any person without prior approval of the commission. No sale or transfer shall be effective until the vendee, assignee or lessee has filed in the office of the city auditor an instrument duly executed, reciting the fact of such sale, assignment or lease, accepting the terms of the franchise by the transferee and agreeing to perform all the conditions thereof. (Ord. No. 406, § 13.)

Section 10.04.090 Access to plans, etc; filing of rules and regulations; inspection of records

The city shall have access at all reasonable hours to all of the company's plans, engineering drawings and statistical customer records relating to the property and operation of the company and to all other records required to be kept hereunder insofar as the same are concerned with the community antenna television system of the company.

Along with the other matters required to be filed by this chapter, a complete copy of the company's rules and regulations, adopted by the company for the conduct of its business, shall be filed with the city auditor and in the local office of the company.

The city shall be entitled to inspection of any records bearing on the number of subscribers for service with the company and to require reasonable documentation of such information by the company when the annual payment, provided in section 8-16, is tendered. (Ord. No. 406, § 17.)

Section 10.04.100 Promulgation of rules and regulations by company

The company shall have the authority to promulgate such rules, regulations, terms and conditions governing the conduct of its business as shall be reasonably necessary to enable the company to exercise its rights and perform its obligations under its franchise and to assure an uninterrupted service to each and all of its customers; provided, however, that such rules, regulations, terms and conditions shall not be in conflict with the provisions of this chapter or the laws of the state and shall be subject to approval by the commission and any other duly authorized public agency or board. (Ord. No. 406, § 9.)

Section 10.04.110 Penalty

Any violation by any company, its lessee or successor under any franchise granted pursuant hereto or the failure to promptly perform any of the provisions of such franchise shall be cause for the forfeiture of such franchise and all rights thereunder to the city after reasonable written notice to such company and continuation thereafter of such violation, failure or default. (Ord. No. 406, § 24.)

Article 10.08 Franchise

Sections:	
10.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 10.08
10.08.010	Application generally; final approval of application
10.08.020	Application fee
10.08.030	Bonds and commitments
10.08.040	Submission of extension policy; extensions made under franchise
10.08.050	Payment to city for privilege; method of computation of payment to city
10.08.060	Term
10.08.070	Rights of city in franchise

Section 10.08.00E Editor's note to Article 10.08

For state law as to authority of city to grant franchises, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (57).

Section 10.08.010 Application generally; final approval of application

- (a) Any person wishing to apply for a franchise under this chapter shall fill out its application and file the same in the office of the city auditor for consideration by the commission. Such application need not be in any particular form but shall include the following information:
 - (1) The complete name and address of the applicant.
 - (2) If a corporation, the amount of authorized and issued stock, the names and the addresses of all stockholders owning more than five percent of the stock of such corporation and the interest held by each.
 - (3) If a corporation, the names and addresses of all officers and managing agents thereof insofar as the same are concerned in any respect with the community antenna television system of such corporation.
 - (4) A complete financial statement of the assets and liabilities of the applicant as prepared by a certified public accountant insofar as such are concerned with the completion of the community antenna television project.
 - (5) A statement of the number of channels of television service to be offered by the company and an explanation of the source and method of transmission of such signals. Each applicant shall be required to guarantee to offer no less than five separate channels of viewing throughout the period of the franchise with a minimum of duplication of programs.
 - (6) Any other information which may from time to time be requested by the city auditor or by the commission.
 - (7) Any other information that the applicant may wish to submit bearing on its qualifications.
 - (8) A complete schedule of all rates and charges to be effective following the issuance of the franchise.
- (b) All applications received shall be considered by the commission, which shall be authorized to accept any number that it deems advisable. Such acceptance shall be considered a preliminary approval and thereafter such successful applicant shall secure

and submit, as required elsewhere in this chapter, all insurance policies, surety bonds, its extension policy and everything else required for the issuance of a franchise. The commission shall then reconsider all information available to it including the original application and all other matters submitted pursuant to this chapter and shall then, in its own discretion, determine whether or not to grant final approval to any application. The final approval shall be indicated by the passage of a special ordinance granting the franchise to the successful applicant, subject to all of the terms and conditions of this chapter. (Ord. No. 406, § 20.)

Section 10.08.020 Application fee

Every applicant for a franchise shall be required to pay a franchise fee of five hundred dollars, which shall be submitted at the time of the initial application. In the event that the franchise is refused by the commission, the fee shall be refunded in full. (Ord. No. 406, § 21.)

Section 10.08.030 Bonds and commitments

- (a) Before any franchise shall be finally approved by the commission, the company shall submit and file with the city auditor the following bonds and commitments to be approved by the commission at the time of or prior to the issuance of a franchise:
 - (1) A written commitment signed by the company guaranteeing the city that all wires, cables, fixtures and facilities of the company shall be removed at the termination of the franchise or at such earlier date as the franchise may be terminated by revocation or otherwise. Such commitment shall be in the minimum amount of ten thousand dollars and shall be made in favor of the city. The amount of such commitment shall be adjusted semiannually during the term of the franchise and such adjustments shall be subject to approval by the city commission so as to provide a total commitment of the applicant corporation equal to at least one thousand dollars for each mile of cable constructed by the company within the city. Such commitment must guarantee that the company has assets over and above all debts and liabilities equal to at least twice the amount of the commitment herein required from time to time.
 - (2) A surety bond in the amount of twenty thousand dollars in favor of the city guaranteeing that if any resident of the city pays any fees to the company and does not obtain community antenna television service within six months thereafter, that the full amount paid shall be refunded to the individual involved. Such bond may be obtained for an annual period but must be renewed from year to year throughout the period of any franchise granted hereunder and must allow for the payment of bona fide claims presented within one year after the termination of the bonding period; provided, that the claimant makes payment to the company during the bonding period. Any valid claim held by any resident of the city under the provisions of this paragraph may be satisfied against such bond and may be presented by filing such claim with the office of the city auditor.
- (b) Any bond or commitment required under this section is subject to approval by the city commission which approval may be revoked at any time for cause. Such bond, etc., shall at all times be filed in the office of the city auditor. Any franchise granted hereunder shall

be immediately revoked upon the noncompliance of any franchisee with any requirements of this section. (Ord. No. 406, § 19; Ord. No. 415, § 1.)

Section 10.08.040 Submission of extension policy; extensions made under franchise

At the time that any application is submitted under the terms of this chapter, the applicant shall submit therewith its extension policy which shall be considered in connection with such application by the city commission. Such extension policy shall specify in detail the area of the city that will be served following the initial installation of the company's system and shall further indicate the plans of the company to extend services to other areas of the city, indicating the times and the conditions precedent for such extensions. No precise form of an extension policy is specified herein but any applicant shall agree to furnish any information that may be requested from time to time by the city commission in clarification of the company's extension policy. Once a company is granted a franchise under this chapter, following approval of its extension policy as submitted and filed, it shall not make or refuse to make any extension thereunder except as provided by such extension policy or as may otherwise be permitted by this chapter or subsequent enactments of the commission. The extension policy, and any amendments thereto, which in turn must be first approved by the commission before becoming effective, shall at all times be on file at the office of the city auditor and be available to inspection by the public. (Ord. No. 406, § 12.)

Section 10.08.050 Payment to city for privilege; method of computation of payment to city

The company shall pay to the city for the privilege of operating a system pursuant to any franchise granted under this chapter a sum equivalent to one dollar per year for each subscriber doing business with the company. Such payment shall be made annually at the end of the fiscal year of the company and shall be computed on the total number of subscribers doing business with the company at any time during the fiscal year just concluded. The failure to pay such amount within thirty days following the conclusion of the fiscal year shall be justification for the revocation of any franchise granted hereunder. (Ord. No. 406, § 15.)

Section 10.08.060 Term

Any franchise and rights granted thereunder shall take effect and be in full force from and after final approval thereof by the commission, as specifically provided in section 10.08.010, and upon filing of a written acceptance of such franchise by the company with the city auditor, and such franchise shall continue in full force and effect for a term of fifteen years after such date; provided, that if a written acceptance is not filed within sixty days after such final approval of the franchise by the commission or if the system authorized thereunder is not completely constructed within six months after the time of such acceptance, unless such construction is prevented by strike, insurrection, an act of God or other cause beyond the control of the applicant, the provisions of such franchise shall then become automatically null and void, unless such delay in construction is reasonably explained to the city commission and the commission, in its sole discretion, elects to grant an extension of time in which to complete such construction work. In the event that any system contemplated hereunder requires approval by the Federal

Communications Commission or any other state or federal board or agency prior to the commencement of construction, the six month period allowed herein for construction to be completed shall not begin until after such federal or state approval is obtained, although application therefor must be made no later than sixty days after the final approval of the franchise by the city commission. (Ord. No. 406, § 18; Ord. No. 896, § 1.)

Section 10.08.070 Rights of city in franchise

- (a) Adoption of Rules. The right is hereby reserved to the city to adopt, in addition to the provisions herein contained and existing applicable ordinances, such additional regulations as it shall find necessary in the exercise of the police power and in the exercise of its power over any franchise that is granted; provided, that such regulations, by ordinance or otherwise, shall be reasonable and shall not be in conflict with the laws of the state.
- (b) Use of System. The city shall have the right during the life of any franchise, free of charge where aerial construction exists, of maintaining upon the poles of the company within the city wire and pole fixtures necessary for a police and fire alarm system; such wires and fixtures shall be constructed and maintained to the satisfaction of the company and in accordance with its specifications. The city in its use and maintenance of such wires and fixtures shall at all times comply with the rules and regulations of the company so that there may be a minimum danger of contact or conflict between the wires and fixtures of the company and the wires and fixtures used by the city. The city shall be solely responsible for all damage to persons or property arising out of the construction or maintenance of such wires and fixtures authorized by this section and shall save the company harmless from all claims and demands whatsoever arising out of the attachment, maintenance, change or removal of such wires and fixtures to the poles of the company. In case of rearrangement of the company plant or removal of poles or fixtures, the city shall save the company harmless from any damage to persons or property arising out of the removal or construction of the wires or other fixtures belonging to the city.
- (c) Supervision and Inspection. The city shall have the right to supervise all construction or installation work performed subject to the provisions of this chapter and to make such inspections as it shall find necessary to insure compliance with governing laws, ordinances and resolutions.
- (d) Procedure after Termination, etc., of franchise. Upon the revocation or termination of any franchise granted hereunder, the city shall have the right to determine whether the company may continue to operate and maintain its distributing system pending the decision of the city as to the future maintenance and operation of such system.
- (e) Revocation of Franchise. Should any company fail or refuse to reasonably comply with all of the provisions of this chapter or any other rules, regulations, ordinances or resolutions enacted by the city or with any state law or rules or regulations promulgated pursuant to state law or laws, rules or regulations issued pursuant to the laws of the United States or any of its duly authorized agencies or boards, the commission shall have the power and authority, upon reasonable notice to such company and upon its failure thereafter to comply, to revoke or suspend, in the sole discretion of the commission, any franchise granted hereunder. (Ord. No. 406, § 14.)

Article 10.12 Service

Sections:	
10.12.010	Standards generally
10.12.020	Notice of interruption for repairs
10.12.030	Interference with reception of nonusers; attachment of coin collection boxes
10.12.040	Preferential or discriminatory practices
10.12.050	Rates generally

Section 10.12.010 Standards generally

Any company shall maintain and operate its system and render efficient service in accordance with the rules and regulations as are or may be set forth by the commission, in this chapter or otherwise, by the public service commission of the state, the Federal Communications Commission or any other duly authorized public commission or authority. (Ord. No. 406, § 7.)

Section 10.12.020 Notice of interruption for repairs

Whenever it is necessary to shut off or interrupt service for the purpose of making repairs, adjustments or installations, the company shall do so at such time as will cause the least amount of inconvenience to its customers, and unless such interruption is unforeseen and immediately necessary, the company shall give reasonable notice thereof to its customers. (Ord. No. 406, § 8.)

Section 10.12.030 Interference with reception of nonusers; attachment of coin collection boxes

It shall be unlawful for any company to interfere in any way with normal television reception by individuals not utilizing cable television. It shall further be unlawful for any company to install any box or other fixture on or near the sets connected to the company system for the purpose of the deposit of coins therein or to in any other way limit the use of a television set connected to the company's system; except, that it shall be permissible for any company to discontinue service upon nonpayment of appropriate fees. (Ord. No. 406, § 23.)

For state law as to authority of city to prevent interference with radio reception, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (64).

Section 10.12.040 Preferential or discriminatory practices

The company shall not, as to rates, charges, services, facilities, rules, regulations or in any other respect, make or grant any preference or advantage to any person nor subject any person to any prejudice or disadvantage; provided, that nothing in this section shall be deemed to prohibit the establishment of a graduated scale of charges and classified rate schedules to which any customer coming within such classification would be entitled. (Ord. No. 406, § 11.)

Section 10.12.050 Rates generally

Rates charged by any company for service shall be fair and reasonable and designed to meet all necessary costs of this service, including a fair rate of return on the net valuation of the

properties devoted thereto under efficient and economical management. The company agrees that it shall be subject to all authority now or hereafter possessed by the city, or any other regulatory body having competent jurisdiction to fix just, reasonable and compensatory rates. (Ord. No. 406, § 16.)

<u>Chapter 11 COURTS, FINES AND IMPRISONMENTS</u>

Last updated August, 2023

Articles:

11.ED Editor's note to Chapter 11

11.04 In General

11.08 Municipal Judge

11.12 Fines and Imprisonments

Article 11.ED Editor's note to Chapter 11

Sections:

11.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 11

Section 11.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 11

As to citations, arrests, fines and forfeitures relative to motor vehicles and traffic, see §§ 23.32.070 to 23.36.140 of this Code. As to police, see Ch. 31.

Article 11.04 In General

Sections:

11.04.010 Peace bonds

11.04.020 Judgements based on violations not originally charged

Section 11.04.010 Peace bonds

The municipal judge is hereby empowered to issue peace bonds in accordance with the procedure in Chapter 29-02 of the North Dakota Century Code. (Ord. No. 477, § 1.)

For state law as to authority of city to provide for issuance of peace bonds, see NDCC, § 40-05-02 (27).

Section 11.04.020 Judgements based on violations not originally charged

In all actions and proceedings brought and heard in the municipal court for violations of a provision of this Code or other city ordinance or the enforcement and recovery of any penalty provided for violation thereof when it shall appear from the evidence that another provision or ordinance of the city other than that charged to have been violated has been violated, the court shall have power and authority to find and adjudge the defendant guilty of the violation of such other ordinance; provided, that upon demand of the defendant so to do, a new complaint shall be made and filed charging the defendant with such violation, and the proceeding thereunder shall be had in manner and form as by law provided in cases otherwise instituted in such court. Such new complaint shall be made and filed by the chief of police when so directed by the municipal judge. (Ord. No. 489.)

Article 11.08 Municipal Judge

Sections:	
11.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 11.08
11.08.010	Election; term
11.08.020	CompensationGenerally
11.08.030	SameFees and other payments
11.08.040	Bond
11.08.050	Hours
11.08.060	Records of actions
11.08.070	Collection of fines and costsGenerally
11.08.080	SameReports to city auditor; disposition of fees
11.08.090	Suspended or deferred sentences

Section 11.08.00E Editor's note to Article 11.08

For state law as to municipal judges generally, see NDCC, § 40-18-01 et seq.

Section 11.08.010 Election; term

There shall be elected within the city a municipal judge, who shall hold his office for four years and until his successor is elected and qualified. (Code 1958, § 10-1; Ord. No. 455, § 10-1.)

Section 11.08.020 Compensation--Generally

The salary of the municipal judge shall be in such amount as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 10-2; Ord. No. 455, § 10-2.)

Section 11.08.030 Same--Fees and other payments

The municipal judge shall not be permitted to receive fees of any kind or in any amount, nor shall he be entitled to receive any payments of any kind for his service other than the salary as provided above. (Code 1958, § 10-3; Ord. No. 455, § 10-3.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-18-06.

Section 11.08.040 Bond

Before entering upon the duties of his office, the municipal judge shall furnish a bond in a penal sum to be fixed by the board of city commissioners, conforming to the provisions of sections 2-2.16.010 to 2.16.060 of this Code. (Code 1958, § 10-4; Ord. No. 455, § 10-4.)

Section 11.08.050 Hours

The municipal judge shall be in attendance at municipal court for the transaction of business that may come before him and shall devote the time necessary to handle and dispose of the business coming before him. (Ord. No. 455, § 10-5.)

Section 11.08.060 Records of actions

The municipal judge shall keep a complete record of all actions instituted before him under this Code and other ordinances of the city. (Code 1958, § 10-6; Ord. No. 455, § 10-6.)

Section 11.08.070 Collection of fines and costs--Generally

It shall be the duty of the municipal judge to collect all fines and costs imposed by him in actions instituted under this Code or any other ordinance of the city. (Code 1958, § 10-7; Ord. No. 455, § 10-7.)

For state law as to the collection of fines and costs, see NDCC, § 40-18-06.

Section 11.08.080 Same--Reports to city auditor; disposition of fees

At the end of each month the municipal judge shall make and file with the city auditor a report in writing under oath showing an account of all fines and costs collected by him during the preceding month in actions before him and showing the actions in which the same were collected; and he shall pay over to the city auditor at the time of filing such report all fines and costs collected by him for violations of this Code and other ordinances; and the city auditor shall then, after checking and approving the report, pay over all such fines and costs to the city treasurer. (Code 1958, § 10-8; Ord. No. 455, § 10-8.)

Section 11.08.090 Suspended or deferred sentences

The municipal judge may, in his discretion concerning suspended sentences and upon application or its own motion concerning deferred imposition of sentences, upon the conviction of any person of any offense against this Code or other ordinances of the city then and there impose a sentence of imprisonment as may be appropriate but defer imposition of sentence or suspend the sentence imposed on such person for a period of not to exceed two years after the order imposing probation; after the defendant's release from incarceration; or after termination of the defendant's parole. In any case of a suspended or deferred sentence, the court shall place the defendant on probation during such term of suspension and period of deferment. The municipal judge may, during such term or period, allow the defendant to go upon his own recognizance or upon such bail as may be regulated by law or the ordinances of the city; and may, in his discretion, at or before the expiration of such term or period have the defendant brought before him and commit such defendant or cause such sentence of imprisonment to be then and there imposed and executed in like manner, so far as applicable, as may be provided by law, this Code or other ordinances of the city, in cases where the commitment and imposition of the sentence of imprisonment is not deferred or suspended and may then and there forthwith commit such defendant and require that such sentence of imprisonment be executed and carried out. (Code 1958, § 10-18; Ord. No. 455, § 10-15; Ord. No. 1024, § 1.)

For state law as to suspension of sentence, see NDCC, § 40-18-13.

Article 11.12 Fines and Imprisonments

Sections:	
11.12.010	General penalty; continuing violations
11.12.020	Commitment until fine is paid
11.12.030	Hard laborAuthorized
11.12.040	SameRefusal to work
11.12.050	Release of prisoners by president of board of commissioners
11.12.060	Remittance of fines, costs, etc.
11.12.070	Fee assessment for funding crime victim and witness program.
11.12.080	Judgement for fine or costs
11.12.090	Notice of Filing
11.12.100	Stay
11.12.110	Fees
11.12.120	Effect of Filing

Section 11.12.010 General penalty; continuing violations

Whenever in this Code or in any ordinance of the city any act is prohibited or is made or declared to be unlawful or an offense, or whenever in this Code or any ordinance the doing of any act is required or the failure to do any act is declared to be unlawful, any person, upon conviction for the violation of any such provision of this Code or any ordinance where such violation is deemed an infraction, shall be punished by a fine not exceeding one thousand dollars. Any person convicted of an infraction who has, within one year prior to commission of the infraction of which he was convicted, been previously convicted of an offense classified as an infraction may be sentenced as though convicted of a class B misdemeanor. If the prosecution contends that the infraction is punishable as a class B misdemeanor, the complaint shall specify that the offense is a misdemeanor. (Ord. No. 1779, § 1)

Whenever in this Code or in any ordinance of the city any act is prohibited or is made or declared to be unlawful or an offense, or whenever in this Code or any ordinance the doing of any act is required or the failure to do any act is declared to be unlawful, where no specific penalty is provided therefor, any person, upon conviction for the violation of any such provision of this Code or any ordinance, shall be punished by a fine not exceeding one thousand five hundred dollars or by imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, or both such fine and imprisonment, for each such offense. Each day any violation of any provision of this Code or of any ordinance shall continue shall constitute a separate offense. In the construction and interpretation of this section, the revocation of a license or permit shall not be considered as a recovery or a penalty so as to bar any other penalty being enforced. (Code 1958, § 1-9; Ord. No. 516, § 1; Ord. No. 939, § 1; Ord. No. 1157 § 2; Ord. No. 1779, § 1)

For state law as to authority of city to impose penalty, see NDCC, § 40-05-06.

Section 11.12.020 Commitment until fine is paid

Any person upon whom any fine shall be imposed for violation of a provision of this Code or other ordinance of the city may be committed, upon the order of the court before whom the conviction is had, to the city jail until the fine and costs shall be fully paid in money or discharged by labor.

If such person is committed as provided by this section, the term of his imprisonment shall not exceed three months for any one offense. Each person so committed may be required to work for the city at such labor as his strength will permit, not exceeding ten hours in each working day, and for such work such person shall be allowed for each day, exclusive of his board, five dollars on account of the fines and costs assessed against him. (Code 1958, § 10-13; Ord. No. 455, § 10-10.)

Section 11.12.030 Hard labor--Authorized

When any person is convicted before the municipal judge for the violation of any provision of this Code or other ordinance of the city and is sentenced to imprisonment either on account of failure to pay the fine or otherwise, the municipal judge may order and sentence such offender to hard labor on the public streets of the city or any public works in the city for the full term of such imprisonment, and the sentence shall be carried into execution under the direction of the chief of police of the city. (Code 1958, § 10-14; Ord. No. 455, § 10-11.)

Section 11.12.040 Same--Refusal to work

Any person refusing to perform manual labor in accordance with the sentence of the municipal judge shall be deemed in contempt of court and shall be punished accordingly. No credit shall be allowed such person on account of such fine and costs for the day or days that such person refuses to perform manual labor in accordance with the sentence of the court. (Code 1958, § 10-15; Ord. No. 455, § 10-12.)

Section 11.12.050 Release of prisoners by president of board of commissioners

The president of the board of city commissioners may at any time release any person imprisoned for the violation of any provision of this Code or other ordinance of the city and shall report such release with the reason therefor to the board at its first session thereafter. (Code 1958, § 10-16; Ord. No. 455, § 10-13.)

Section 11.12.060 Remittance of fines, costs, etc.

Under no circumstances shall the municipal judge remit fines or penalties or payment of costs to any person other than to the city auditor or to the city treasurer. (Code 1958, § 10-17; Ord. No. 455, § 10-14.)

Section 11.12.070 Fee assessment for funding crime victim and witness program.

Whenever in this Code or in any ordinance any person pleads guilty to or is convicted of violating a municipal ordinance for which the maximum penalty that may be imposed under the ordinance for the violation includes imprisonment, the municipal judge may assess a fee of not more than twenty-five dollars as part of a sentence imposed for the purpose of funding a crime victim and witness program. The municipal judge may assess the fee when sentence is imposed or when sentence is suspended or imposition of sentence is deferred, unless the defendant is indigent and unable to pay the fee. All fees paid to the municipal court under this section shall be deposited monthly in the city treasury for allocation by the governing body of the city to a private, non-profit domestic violence or sexual assault program or a victim and witness advocacy program of which the primary function is to provide direct service to victims of and witnesses to crime. (Ord. No. 1174, § 1.)

Section 11.12.080 Judgement for fine or costs

If the judgement provided for in section 40-18-14.1 of the North Dakota Century Code imposes a fine or assesses a cost, the municipal judge may order an authenticated copy of the judgement be filed in the office of the clerk of any district court of any county in the state. The clerk of district court shall treat the municipal court judgement in the same manner as a civil judgement of any district court of any county of the state. (Ord. No. 1722, § 1.)

Section 11.12.090 Notice of Filing

- (a) At the time of filing a judgment under section 40-18-14 of the North Dakota Century Code, the municipal court judge shall order an affidavit providing the name and last know mailing address of the defendant and otherwise complying with section 28-20-15 of the North Dakota Century Code be filed.
- (b) Upon the filing of the judgement and affidavit as provided in section 40-18-14 of the North Dakota Century Code, the clerk of municipal court shall mail notice of the filing of the municipal judgement to the defendant at the defendant's last known address and file proof of mailing with the district court. The notice must include the name and mailing address of the municipal court.

An execution of other process for enforcement of a municipal court judgement filed under this section may not be issued until ten days after the date the judgement is filed. (Ord. No. 1722, § 2.)

Section 11.12.100 Stay

If the defendant shows the district court of any county that an appeal from the judgment provided in section 40-18-14 of the North Dakota Century Code is pending or will be taken, the court shall stay enforcement of the municipal court judgement until the appeal is concluded or the time of appeal expires. (Ord. No. 1722, § 3)

Section 11.12.110 Fees

The municipal judge shall order a filing fee of ten dollars to be paid to the clerk of the district court (Ord. No. 1722, § 4.)

Section 11.12.120 Effect of Filing

Upon filing a judgement under section 40-18-14 of the North Dakota Century Code with the district court in accordance with this chapter, the judgement is enforceable only in the same manner as provided for a judgement for money in a civil action. (Ord. No. 1722, §5.)

Chapter 12 ELECTRICITY

Last updated October 2007

Sections: 12.00E Editor's note to Chapter 12 12.010 Adoption of Electrical Code

Section 12.00E Editor's note to Chapter 12

For state law as to electricians generally, see NDCC, § 43-09-01 et seq.

For state law authorizing the city to make requirements for wiring and equipment, see NDCC, § 43-09-21.

As to buildings generally, see Ch. 7 of this Code. As to electrical interference with radio receptions, see §§ 25.16.12.060 to 25.16.12.100. As to plumbing, see Ch. 30.

Section 12.010 Adoption of Electrical Code

There is hereby adopted by reference by the board of city commissioners, for the purpose of regulating all electrical construction and materials and appliances used in connection with electrical work and the operation of all electrical apparatus within the city, that certain code known and designated as the National Electrical Code, 1987 Edition, as recommended by the National Fire Protection Association. A copy of the National Electrical Code shall be kept on file in the city auditor's office for inspection and use of the public. (Code 1958, § 11-1; Ord. No. 966, § 2.)

Chapter 13 FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION

Last updated January 2023

Articles:

13.ED Editor's note to Chapter 13

13.04 In General

13.08 International Fire Code

13.12 Fire Department

Article 13.ED Editor's note to Chapter 13

Sections:

13.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 13

Section 13.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 13

As to obedience to fire department officials generally, see § 23.12.050. As to powers of officers of fire department at scene of fire relative to motor vehicles, see § 23.12.010. As to following or parking near fire apparatus, see § 23.36.260. As to driving over fire hose, see § 23.36.270. As to parking near fire hydrant, see § 23.56.050. As to fire protection system, see §§ 38.08.150 to 38.08.180. (Ord. No. 1766, § 1.)

Article 13.04 In General

Sections:	
13.04.00E	Editor's note to Article 13.04
13.04.010	Obstructing or interfering with firemen
13.04.020	Occupying or entering rooms used by department
13.04.030	Handling department apparatus
13.04.040	Right of way of fire department's apparatus and vehicles
13.04.050	Private use of fire-fighting apparatus
13.04.060	False fire alarms; tampering with or damaging fire safety equipment
13.04.070	Setting fire to drapes, furniture, etc., in public or semipublic establishments
	(Repealed) (Code 1629 § 2.)
13.04.080	Storage of liquefied petroleum gases

Section 13.04.00E Editor's note to Article 13.04

For state law as to authority of city to regulate fire hazards, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (35).

Section 13.04.010 Obstructing or interfering with firemen

Any person found guilty of obstructing or interfering with any firefighter of the fire department while in the discharge of his duties shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. (Code 1958, § 12-26.)

For state law as to interference with firemen, see NDCC, § 18-08-09.

Section 13.04.020 Deleted

(Ord. No. 1411, § 1)

Section 13.04.030 Deleted

(Ord. No. 1411, § 1)

Section 13.04.040 Right of way of fire department's apparatus and vehicles

When going to a fire, any apparatus or vehicle belonging to the fire department shall have the right of way in all streets, alleys and public places over any automobile or other vehicle of any kind whatever. Any person in charge of any automobile or other vehicle must stop such vehicle, etc., whenever necessary to permit any apparatus or vehicle of the fire department to pass without hindrance or delay. (Code 1958, § 12-29, Code 1629, § 1)

Section 13.04.050 Private use of fire-fighting apparatus

No person shall use or cause to be used any firefighting apparatus for any private purpose whatsoever; nor shall any person, without authority from the chief of the fire department, remove the same from the place where kept; nor shall any person having charge of fire-fighting apparatus permit the same to be used for private purposes. (Code 1958, § 12-30; Ord. No. 360, § 1.)

Section 13.04.060 False fire alarms; tampering with or damaging fire safety equipment

Any person who shall knowingly give or cause to be given any false alarm of fire or who shall tamper with, damage or destroy or temporarily place out of order, or remove from its storage place without authority or in the absence of an emergency any fire extinguishers, fire extinguishing tools, equipment, chemicals or devices, sprinkler systems, smoke alarms, early fire warning devices, fire alarm box, wires or other apparatus in connection with a fire alarm system, or any other fire prevention or safety equipment or devices whatsoever, shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor. The penalty for violation hereof shall be as provided in this Chapter. (Code 1958, § 12-31; Ord. No. 737, § 2.; Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.04.070 Setting fire to drapes, furniture, etc., in public or semipublic establishments Deleted

(Code 1958, § 12-4; Ord. No. 1411, § 1, Code 1629 § 2)

Section 13.04.080 Deleted

(Ord. No. 1411, § 1)

Article 13.08 International Fire Code

Sections:	
13.08.010	Adoption of 2021 International Fire Code
13.08.020	Definitions
13.08.030	Appeals
13.08.040	(Deleted)
13.08.050	Penalty
13.08.060	Establishment of limits of districts in which storage of flammable or
	combustible liquids in outside above-ground tanks is prohibited
13.08.070	Establishment of limits in which storage of liquefied petroleum (LP) gases is
	to be restricted
13.08.080	Establishment of limits of districts in which storage of explosives and blasting
	agents is to be prohibited
13.08.090	Establishment of International Fire Code
13.08.100	Retail Sales and Storage of Fireworks (Repealed)
13.08.110	Day Care

Section 13.08.010 Adoption of 2021 International Fire Code

For the purpose of prescribing regulations governing conditions hazardous to life and property from fire, hazardous materials, or explosion, there is hereby adopted by the City of Dickinson the 2021 International Fire Code. Copies of the 2021 International Fire Code have been and are now on file in the office of the fire chief and city administrator.

The provisions of the 2021 International Fire Code shall be controlling within the limits of the City of Dickinson, with the following additions, deletions, and amendments:

(a) Definitions

- 1. Whenever the word "municipality", "jurisdiction" or "city" is used in any code adopted pursuant to this title, it means the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 2. Whenever the words "corporate counsel" or "city attorney" is used in any code adopted pursuant to this title, it means the city attorney of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 3. Whenever the term "International Building Code" is used in the International Fire Code, it shall mean the "Dickinson Building Code."
- 4. Whenever the term "International Plumbing Code" is used in the International Fire Code, it shall mean the "North Dakota State Plumbing Code."
- 5. Whenever the term "ICC Electrical Code" is used in the International Fire Code, it shall mean the "Wiring Standards of North Dakota."

(b) Permit Fees

The fee for any permit or license required by the International Fire Code and authorized by the fire chief, shall be as approved by the Board of City Commissioners.

- (c) Amendments to 2021 International Fire Code
 - The 2021 International Fire Code, as adopted by the City of Dickinson, is amended to state as follows:
 - 1. **101.1 Title** These regulations shall be known as the city fire code, hereinafter also referred to as "this code."

- 2. Section 105.1.1 Permits Required is amended to read as follows: A property owner or owner's authorized agent who intends to conduct an operation or business, or install or modify systems and equipment that are regulated by this code, or to cause any such work to be performed, shall first make application to the fire code official and may be required to obtain a permit.
- 3. The specified permits identified in each operational section in Sections 105.6.1 through 105.6.48 are amended from "being required" to "required upon the determination of the code official."
- 4. Section 111 is deleted in its entirety.
- 5. **112.4 Violation Penalties**. Persons who shall violate a provision of this code or who fails to comply with any of the requirements thereof or who shall erect, install, alter, repair or do work in violation of the approved construction documents or directives of the fire code official, or of a permit or certificate used under provisions of this code, shall be guilty of an infraction, punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000). Each day that a violation continues after due notice has been served shall be deemed a separate offense.
- 6. **113.4 Failure to Comply**. Any person who shall continue any work after having been served with a stop work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall be subject to a fine of not less than one hundred dollars (\$100) or more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000).
- 7. **307.1.1 Open Burning**. Open Burning shall be prohibited.
- 8. Section 307.4.1 is deleted in its entirety.
- 9. **307.4.2 Recreational Fires**. Recreational Fires shall be prohibited.
- 10. The Exception to Section 307.4.3, Portable outdoor fireplaces, is deleted in its entirety.
- 11. Exception 3 to Section 308.1.4, LP-gas cooking devices having LP-gas container with a water capacity not greater than 20 pounds.
- 12. 308.3 Group A Occupancies. Add exception 1.4. Open-flame devices for food warming.
- 13. 311.6 note 1 is amended to read "Storage is kept to a minimum and is neat and orderly".
- 14. 503.2.3 is hereby amended to read "Fire apparatus access roads shall be designed and maintained to support the imposed loads of fire apparatus and shall be surfaced so as to provide all weather driving capabilities, and shall be concrete or asphalt."
- 15. Chapter 9 and Chapter 10 of the 2021 International Fire Code as adopted by the City of Dickinson are hereby adopted with such amendments, additions and deletions as necessary to make such Chapters consistent with the concurrent sections of the applicable International Building Code, as adopted pursuant to Dickinson City Code Section 7.020. In the event of any dispute, the then applicable sections of the International Building Code, as adopted pursuant to Dickinson City Code Section 7.020 shall take precedence.
- 16. 903.3.1.1 is hereby amended by adding a second paragraph to read as follows: Sprinkler heads in unoccupied mall tenant spaces may be installed at ceiling height if allowed by the code official. Permission will be granted on an individual basis. Combustible storage shall not be allowed in these unoccupied tenant spaces if

- sprinkler heads are installed at ceiling height. Signage shall be provided outlining the storage restrictions.
- 17. 905, all references to Class II standpipes or Class III standpipes are amended to state "Class I standpipes."
- 18. 905.1 Exception: The installation of fire hose on standpipes may be omitted when approved by the fire code official. Approved standpipe hose valves and connection shall be provided where required.
- 19. 905.3.4.1 of the 2021 International Fire Code as adopted by the City of Dickinson, regarding Hose and cabinet, is deleted in its entirety.
- 20. 905.6 of the 2021 International Fire Code as adopted by the City of Dickinson, regarding Location of Class III standpipe hose connections, is deleted in its entirety.
- 21. Section 907.2.3 Group E. A manual fire alarm system that initiates the occupant notification signal utilizing an emergency voice/alarm communication system meeting the requirements of Section 907.5.2.2 and installed in accordance with Section 907.6 shall be installed in Group E occupancies. Where automatic sprinkler systems or smoke detectors are installed, such systems or detectors shall be connected to the building fire alarm system. Where approved by the fire code official, a building's emergency communication system interfaced with the fire alarm system in accordance with NFPA 72 is acceptable.
- 907.2.11.2 is hereby amended by adding item #4 to read as follows:
 4. In dwelling units where the ceiling height of a room open to the hallway serving the sleeping rooms exceeds that of the hallway by 24 inches (610 mm) or more, smoke alarms shall be installed in the hallway and in the adjacent room.
- 23. 1011.2: Exception 4. Stairways used only to attend equipment or private stairways serving an occupant load of 10 or fewer persons and which are not accessible to the public.
- 24. 1011.5.2 Exception 6. Stairways used only to attend equipment or private stairways serving an occupant load of 10 or fewer persons and which are not accessible to the public are permitted to have a maximum 8 inch riser height and minimum 9 inch tread depth.
- 25. Section 1011.11 Exceptions:
 - 6. Stairways used only to attend equipment or private stairways serving an occupant load of 10 or fewer persons and which are not accessible to the public. Handrail will be required on one side.
 - 7. Vehicle service pit stairways are exempt from the rules for stairway railings and guards if they would prevent a vehicle from moving into a position over the pit.
- 26. **1103.5.1** of the 2021 International Fire Code as adopted by the City of Dickinson, regarding Sprinklers in Group A-2, is deleted in its entirety.
- 27. Exception 2 to Section 5601.1.3 is deleted in its entirety.
- 28. Exception 4 to Section 5601.1.3 is deleted in its entirety.
- 29. Appendix B, Fire-Flow Requirements for Buildings, to the 2021 International Fire Code is adopted in its entirety.
- 30. Appendix C, Fire Hydrant Locations and Distribution, to the 2021 International Fire Code is adopted in its entirety.
- 31. Appendix D, Fire Apparatus Access Roads, to the 2021 International Fire Code, is adopted in its entirety.

- 32. Appendix E. Hazard Categories, to the 2021 International Fire Code, is adopted in its entirety.
- 33. Appendix F, Hazard Ranking, to the 2021 International Fire Code, is adopted in its entirety.
- 34. Appendix H, Hazardous Materials Management Plan, to the 2021 International Fire Code, is adopted in its entirety.
- 35. Appendix I, Fire Protection Systems Noncompliant Conditions, to the 2021 International Fire Code, is adopted in its entirety.
- Appendix N, Indoor Trade Shows and Exhibitions, to the 2021 International Fire Code, is adopted in its entirety.
 (Ord. No. 342, § 1; Ord. No. 446, § 1; Ord. No. 546, § 1; Ord. No. 655, § 2; Ord. No. 737, 1; Ord. No. 1072, § 1; Ord. No. 1123 § 1; Ord. No. 1159 § 1; Ord. No. 1306 § 1; Ord. 1355 §1; Ord. No. 1411 §1. Ord. No. 1544 § 1. Ord No. 1629 § 3. Ord No. 1690 § 1. Ord. No. 1766, § 2.)

Section 13.08.020 DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 § 1)

Section 13.08.030 Appeals

Whenever the fire chief disapproves an application or refuses to grant a permit applied for, or when it is claimed that the provisions of the code do not apply or that the true intent and meaning of the code have been misconstrued or wrongly interpreted, the applicant may appeal from the decision of the fire chief to the board of appeals within 30 days from the date of the decision. (Code 1958, § 12-13; Ord. No. 342, § 9; Ord. No. 1072, § 3; Ord. No. 1123 § 3; Ord. No. 1159 § 3.)

Section 13.08.040 DELETED (Ord. No. 1544 § 1)

(Ord. No. 1411 § 1)

Section 13.08.050 Penalty

(a) Any person who violates any of the provisions of this code or standards hereby adopted or fail to comply therewith, or who violates or fails to comply with any order made thereunder, or who builds in violation of any detailed statement of specifications or plans submitted and approved thereunder or any certificate or permit issued thereunder, within the time fixed herein, shall severally for each and every such violation and noncompliance, respectively, be guilty of: (1) for the first conviction, an infraction punishable by a fine of at least fifty dollars but not more than one thousand dollars (\$1,000); (2) any person who has previously been convicted under this section may be charged with a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1500), or by imprisonment, not exceeding thirty days, or both such fine and imprisonment. The imposition of one penalty for any violation shall not excuse the violation or defects within a reasonable time; and all such persons shall be required to correct or remedy such violations or defects within a reasonable length of time; and when not otherwise specified, each ten days that prohibited conditions are maintained shall constitute a separate offense.

(b) The application of the above penalty shall not be held to prevent the enforced removal of prohibited conditions. (Ord. No. 342, § 11; Ord. No. 1072, § 5; Ord. No. 1123 § 5; Ord. No. 1159 § 5. Ord No. 1629 § 3)

As to the general penalty for violation of Code, see § 11.12.010 of this Code.

Section 13.08.060 Establishment of limits of districts in which storage of flammable or combustible liquids in outside aboveground tanks is prohibited

The limits referred to in IFC Sections 5704.2.9.6.1 and 5706.2.4.4 of the 2021 International Fire Code in which the storage of Class I, II, & III liquids is restricted are hereby established as follows:

No Special use permit for storage of Class I, II, & III liquids will be allowed within 300`adjacent to or within any residentially zoned areas, heavily populated areas or congested commercially zoned areas without appropriate spacing as deemed necessary by the authority having jurisdiction. (Ord. No. 1072, § 6; Ord. No. 1123 § 6; Ord. No. 1306 § 4, Ord. No. 1355 §3. Ord. No. 1544 §. Ord. No. 1629, § 4. Ord. No. 1690, § 3. Ord. No. 1766, § 1.)

*A 500 gallon max shall be required per commercial site.

Section 13.08.070 Establishment of limits in which storage of liquefied petroleum (LP) gases is to be restricted

The limits referred to in Section 6104.2 of the 2021 International Fire Code, in which storage of liquefied petroleum gas is restricted, are hereby established as follows:

No conditional use permit shall be allowed for liquefied petroleum LP storage adjacent to or within residential zoned areas, heavily populated areas and congested commercial zoned areas without appropriate spacing as deemed necessary by the authority having jurisdiction. At no time shall the aggregate capacity exceed 2,000 gallons per location in areas approved by authority having jurisdiction. (Ord. No. 1072, § 7; Ord. No. 1123 § 7; Ord. No. 1159 § 7; Ord. No. 1306 § 5; Ord. No. 1355 § 4; Ord. No. 1411 § 1. Ord. No. 1544 § 1. Ord. No. 1629 § 5. Ord. No. 1690, § 4. Ord. No. 1766, § 1.)

Section 13.08.080 Establishment of limits of districts in which storage of explosives and blasting agents is to be prohibited

The limits referred to in Sections 5604.5 and 5604.5.3.1 of the 2021 International Fire Code, in which storage of explosives and blasting agents is prohibited, are hereby established as follows:

Conditional use permit shall be allowed only in isolated industrial areas and shall comply with nationally recognized standards for separation distances. (Ord. No. 1072, § 8; Ord. No. 1123 § 8; Ord. No. 1306 § 6; Ord. No. 1355 § 5. Ord. No. 1544 § 1. Ord. No. 1629 § 8. Ord. No. 1690, § 5. Ord. No. 1766, § 1.)

Section 13.08.090 Enforcement of International Fire Code

The International Fire Code shall be enforced by the fire department of the city which is hereby established and which shall be operated under the supervision of the chief of the fire department. (Ord. No. 1123 § 9; Ord No. 1159 § 9; Ord. No. 1306 § 7.)

Section 13.08.100 Retail sales and storage of 1.4G Fireworks (Repealed)

(Ord. No. 1411 §1. Ord. No. 1629 §7)

Section 13.08.110 Day Care

Day care not in a dwelling shall meet the requirements of the International Fire Code and International Building Code

Home Day cares in a *dwelling* shall meet the requirements of the International Residential Code Appendix AM, with the following additions, deletions, and amendments.

Amendments to 2021 International Residential Code Appendix AM

- a) The 2021 International Residential Code Appendix AM, as adopted by the City of Dickinson, is amended to state as follows:
- **b) Section AM101.1** This appendix shall apply to a home day care operated within a dwelling. It is to include buildings and structures occupied by twelve persons or less of any age who receive custodial care for less than 24 hours by individuals other than parents or guardians or relatives by blood, marriage, or adoption, and in a place other than the home of the person cared for.
- c) Section AM103.1.3 is deleted in its entirety.
- **d)** Additional requirements:
 - a. Fire extinguishers shall meet the requirements of the International Fire Code
 - **b.** Fire Drills shall meet the requirements of the International Fire Code
 - c. Fireplace shall not be used when the day care is in session (Ord. No. 1690 § 6. Ord. No. 1766, § 1.)

Article 13.12 Fire Department

THE CICIC TO	enz i ne Department
Sections:	
13.12.02000	Division 13.12.02 Generally
13.12.02010	Composition
13.12.02020	Election of members (Repealed)
13.12.02030	Duties of members generally (Repealed)
13.12.02040	Members eligible under Public Safety Officers' Benefits Act of 1976
(Repealed)	
13.12.02050	Duties of police commissioner(Repealed)
13.12.02060	Presiding officer at meetings (Repealed)
13.12.02070	Secretary and treasurer (Repealed)
13.12.02080	Assignment of firemen (Repealed)
13.12.02090	Receipt of rewards by firemen (Repealed)
13.12.02100	Appointment of members as inspectors generally; technical inspectors
(Repealed)	
13.12.02110	Use of liquor by personnel (Repealed)
13.12.02120	Police power of firefighters
13.12.02130	Bylaws, rules and regulations generally (Repealed)
13.12.02140	Obedience of firemen to rules, regulations and orders (Repealed)
13.12.02150	Removal or suspension of members (Repealed)
13.12.04000	Division 13.12.04 Chief
13.12.04000E	Editor's note to Division 13.12.04 (Repealed)
13.12.04010	Oath (Repealed)
13.12.04020	Bond (Repealed)
13.12.04030	Vacancies in office (Repealed)
13.12.04040	Property of department (Repealed)
13.12.04050	Control of personnel (Repealed)
13.12.04060	Leave of absence (Repealed)
13.12.04070	Command at fires generally (Repealed)
13.12.04080	Authority to command civilian assistance at fires
13.12.04090	Establishment of limits at fires
13.12.04100	Removal of property for protection and containment of fire
13.12.04110	Investigation of fires
13.12.04120	Inspection of buildings (Repealed)
13.12.04130	Obedience to Board of Commissioners
13.12.04140	Records (Repealed)
13.12.04150	Permission required to leave city; attendance at fires (Repealed)
13.12.04160	Reports (Repealed)
13.12.04170	Rules and regulations
13.12.04180	Removal
13.12.04190	Acting chief
13.12.06000	Division 13.12.06 Bureau of Fire Prevention (Repealed)
13.12.06010	Establishment and duties of bureau of fire prevention (Repealed)
13.12.06020	Appointment, term and removal of chief (Repealed)
13.12.06030	Annual report (Repealed)

Section 13.12.02000 Division 13.12.02 Generally

Section 13.12.02010 Composition

The fire department shall consist of a chief of the department and full-time and part-time employees.

(Code 1958, § 12-15; Ord. No. 1411 §1; Ord. No. 1731 §2)

<u>Section 13.12.02020 Election of members – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Section 13.12.02030 Duties of members generally—DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.02040 Members eligible under Public Safety Officers'
Benefits Act of 1976 – DELETED (Ord. No. 1731 §3)

Section 13.12.02050 Duties of police commissioner – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

<u>Section 13.12.02060 Presiding officer at meetings – DELETED</u> (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

<u>Section 13.12.02070 Secretary and treasurer – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Section 13.12.02080 Assignment of firemen – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.02090 Receipt of rewards by firemen – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.02100 Appointment of members as inspectors generally; technical inspectors – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.02110 Use of liquor by personnel – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.02120 Police power of firefighters

While in actual attendance at fires, the chief of the department, assistant chiefs, and officers shall have, and are hereby vested with, police power insofar as the exercise of the same may be necessary to prevent disorder, breach of the peace, interference with the work of the department, or the destruction or larceny of property. (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.02130 Bylaws, rules and regulations generally-DELETED (Ord. No. 1731 § 4)

Section 13.12.02140 Obedience of firemen to rules, regulations and orders – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

<u>Section 13.12.02150 Removal or suspension of members – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Section 13.12.04000 Division 13.12.04 Chief

The chief of the fire department shall be a competent and experienced fire officer who shall have charge, supervision, and control over all of the property, equipment, and supplies of the fire department, subject to the general supervision and control of the board of city commissioners. (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04000E Editor's note to Division 13.12.04

Repealed (Ord. No. 1629 §8)

<u>Section 13.12.04010 Oath – Repealed – (Ord. No. 1785 §1)</u> Repealed (Ord No. 1785 § 1)

<u>Section 13.12.04020 Bond – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Section 13.12.04030 Vacancies in office – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04040 Property of department – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04050 Control of personnel – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

<u>Section 13.12.04060 Leave of absence – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Section 13.12.04070 Command at fires generally – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04080 Authority to command civilian assistance at fires

In case of necessity the chief or officer in charge of an incident may, while actively engaged in the performance of their duties, call upon able-bodied bystanders for assistance. (Code 1958, § 12-43; Ord. No. 1411 §1; Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04090 Establishment of limits at fires

The chief of the fire department or his designee may prescribe limits in the vicinity of any fire within which no person, except those who reside therein, firefighters, police officers and those admitted by his order; shall be permitted to come. (Code 1958, § 12-44; Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04100 Removal of property for protection and containment of fire

The chief of the fire department or his designee shall have power to cause the removal of any property whenever it shall become necessary for the preservation of such property from fire, to prevent the spreading of fire or to protect adjoining property.

Section 13.12.04110 Investigation of fires

The chief of the fire department shall immediately after each fire carefully and thoroughly investigate such fire and may, for that purpose, call on the chief of police for assistance and, if possible, shall ascertain, record and report the cause of such fire. (Code 1958, § 12-46; Ord. No. 1411 §1.)

Section 13.12.04120 Inspection of buildings – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04130 Obedience to Board of Commissioners

The chief of the fire department shall at all times obey the instructions of the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 12-48. Code 1629, § 9)

<u>Section 13.12.04140 Records – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Section 13.12.04150 Permission required to leave city; attendance at fires – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04160 Reports – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

Section 13.12.04170 Rules and regulations

The chief of the fire department shall, in cooperation with the board of city commissioners, prescribe such rules and regulations for the government of the department as are in his judgment necessary to secure the best and most efficient service. (Code 1958, § 12-51.)

Section 13.12.04180 Removal

The board of city commissioners may, at any time and for cause which may seem sufficient to it and after an opportunity to be heard, remove the chief of the fire department. (Code 1958, § 12-53.)

Section 13.12.04190 Acting chief

In the absence of the chief of the fire department, the assistant chief or such other officer in charge of the company shall possess all the power granted in this article to perform all the duties herein required of the chief and shall be subject to all the requirements, conditions and restrictions of this article relating to the chief of the fire department.

Section 13.12.06010 Establishment and duties of bureau of fire prevention—DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)

<u>Section 13.12.06020 Appointment, term and removal of chief – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

<u>Section 13.12.06030 Annual report – DELETED (Ord. No. 1411 §1)</u>

Chapter 14 FLOOD PREVENTION

Last updated November 2010

Sections:

14.010 Adoption of Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance

Section 14.010 Adoption of Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance

That certain model Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance consisting of fourteen pages of printed material and made a part hereof by reference, and all of the provisions thereof, are hereby enacted and adopted as the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance of the city. (Ord. No. 732, § 1; Ord. No. 973, § 1; Ord. No. 1404 §1))

<u>Chapter 15 FOOD AND FOOD</u> ESTABLISHMENTS

Last updated October 2007

Sections:

15.00E Editor's note to Chapter 15

15.010 Adoption and amendment of United States Public Health Service Ordinance

15.020 Operation of restaurants generally

Section 15.00E Editor's note to Chapter 15

For state law as to hotels and restaurants generally, see NDCC, § 23-09-01 et seq. As to authority of city to regulate food products, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (32). As to authority of city to make health regulations, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (45).

As to frozen desserts generally, see Ch. 16 of this Code. As to meat and meat products generally, see Ch. 22.

Section 15.010 Adoption and amendment of United States Public Health Service Ordinance

The inspection, grading, regrading and placarding of eating and drinking establishments within the city or its police jurisdiction; the issuing, suspension and revocation of permits for the operation of such establishments; the sale of adulterated, misbranded or unwholesome food and drink; the enforcement of this chapter and fixing of penalties shall be regulated in accordance with the terms of the unabridged form of the 1962 edition of the Food Service Sanitation Manual published by the United States Department of Health Education and Welfare, a certified copy of which shall be kept on file in the office of the city auditor; provided, that the words "City of " in such ordinance shall be understood to refer to the City of Dickinson; and provided, that in such manual all parentheses signs which enclose words referring to grading shall be understood to be deleted; and provided, that sections seven, twelve, thirteen and fourteen of such manual shall be deleted; and provided, that in section two of such manual, itinerant restaurants shall be required to secure a permit. (Code 1958, § 13-1.)

Section 15.020 Operation of restaurants generally

No restaurant shall be operated within the city or its police jurisdiction except grade A or grade B or approved itinerant restaurants; provided, that when any restaurant fails to qualify for any of these grades, the public health officer is authorized to suspend the permit or, in lieu thereof, to degrade the restaurant and permit its operation during a temporary period not exceeding thirty days. (Code 1958, § 13-2.)

Chapter 16 FROZEN DESSERTS - This Chapter was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)

Last updated October 2007

Chapter 17 GAMES OF CHANCE

Last updated October 2007

17.110

Sections:	
17.010	Definitions
17.020	When playing or conducting games of chance lawful
17.030	Local licenseEligibility
17.040	SameApplication
17.050	SameFees
17.060	SameMethod of granting
17.070	SameForm and contents
17.080	SameSuspension or revocation
17.090	Site approval
17.100	License for blackjack dealer or blackjack pit boss

Miscellaneous provisions

Section 17.010 Definitions

- (a) The definitions in North Dakota Century Code, section 53-06.1-01 and in the rules promulgated by the state attorney general pursuant thereto are adopted herein by reference thereto.
- (b) A "local license" is one authorized under North Dakota Century Code, section 53-06.1-03 or 53-06.1-05. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.020 When playing or conducting games of chance lawful

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, it shall not be unlawful to play or conduct games of chance pursuant to chapter 53-06.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, as that section may be amended from time to time, in accordance with that chapter and implementing rules and regulations of the attorney general and guidelines established by the city and set forth in this chapter. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.030 Local license--Eligibility

An organization eligible to conduct games of chance under a local license, which conducts its principal activities within the city, may apply to the city commission for a local license to conduct games of chance within the city in the manner and subject to the restrictions set forth in this chapter. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.040 Same--Application

- (a) An application for a local license shall be made on a form provided by the city auditor, shall be sworn to under oath by an officer of the organization making such application and shall contain the following information:
 - (1) The full legal name of the organization;
 - (2) The mailing address of the organization;
 - (3) An indication as to which of the following classes of exempt organizations describe the applicant:

- a. Veterans,
- b. Charitable,
- c. Educational,
- d. Religious,
- e. Fraternal,
- f. Civic and service club,
- g. Other public-spirited organization, or
- h. College fraternity or sorority;
- (4) A brief recitation of the facts which establish that the organization applying for the local license is an eligible organization of the class indicated on the application;
- (5) A statement as to whether the local license is to authorize bingo or a raffle and the time and place at which the games of chance will be conducted during the period of time in which the local license is in effect;
- (6) A statement as to the length of time for which the local license is to be in effect;
- (7) A description of the educational, charitable, patriotic, fraternal, religious or other public-spirited uses to which the entire net proceeds will be devoted;
- (8) The office held in the organization by the person applying for a local license on behalf of the organization.
- (b) If the applicant for a local license is a college fraternity or sorority, the applicant shall file with the city auditor a signed acknowledgement by the administration of the college or university with which the applicant is affiliated to the effect that the applicant is a recognized fraternity or sorority. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.050 Same--Fees

- (a) The city auditor shall collect a nonrefundable application fee for a local license, as follows:
 - (1) With respect to a college fraternity or sorority:
 - a. Ten dollars if the applicant requests a local license to operate games of chance during all or a portion of one calendar day; or
 - b. Twenty-five dollars if the applicant requests the local license for a period of time in excess of one calendar day.
 - (2) With respect to an applicant for a local license under North Dakota Century Code, section 53-06.1-03(1), ten dollars.
- (b) An applicant required to pay a fee under paragraph (a) (2) shall make a separate application and pay a separate fee for each month under which and for each location at which a bingo game will be conducted pursuant to the local license. The application forms can be consolidated into one form by specifying more than one month or more than one location thereon but in any event the fee shall be calculated and paid as though separate applications had been filed.
- (c) An applicant required to pay a fee under paragraph (a) (2) shall make a separate application for each raffle which will be conducted pursuant to the local license. For purposes of this subsection the raffle shall consist of the issuance and distribution of a group of tickets or chances which all relate to the winning of one particular prize or group of prizes, and the eventual selection of the winning ticket or tickets from such group.

(d) The city commission, by resolution, may permit the payment of fees imposed herein by installments upon such terms and conditions as it sees fit. (Ord. No. 877, § 1; Ord. No. 942, § 1.)

Section 17.060 Same--Method of granting

- (a) The city auditor shall present any application for a local license to the next meeting of the city commission, whether a regularly scheduled meeting or a special meeting, whereupon the commission may approve or disapprove the same by way of a resolution passed by the majority or the members then present and voting. Alternatively, the commission, by majority vote of the members then present and voting, may postpone action thereon indefinitely or until a time and place certain, of which the applicant shall be notified. A postponement by the commission of action on the application may be made any number of times in the like manner.
- (b) The city commission shall have the power to issue a local license for a lesser period of time, or for fewer games of chance, than requested by the applicant, without requiring that the application be amended.
- (c) If the commission approves the issuance of a local license the city auditor shall, within three business days thereafter, issue a local license to the applicant. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.070 Same--Form and contents

A local license shall be signed by the city auditor or his deputy or other delegate who shall also affix thereto the official seal of the city. The local license shall state the name of the licensee to whom issued, the address of the licensee, the games of chance authorized under such local license, the particular times and places where and when such games may be operated, and the date upon which the local license first becomes effective and the period of time during which the local license shall remain in effect following such date. No local license will be issued to a college fraternity or sorority hereunder with an initial effective date which is less than thirty days after the date when the application for such local license was filed with the city auditor. Further, the maximum period of time for which a local license may remain in effect is one year next following the initial effective date of the local license. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.080 Same--Suspension or revocation

- (a) A failure to comply with any of these requirements or with any of the laws of the state or the rules and regulations of the Attorney General governing games of chance shall be cause for revocation or suspension of an eligible organization's permit to conduct games of chance at a particular site.
- (b) The board of city commissioners may revoke or suspend a permit granted pursuant to this article upon notice to the eligible organization and after hearing to consider revocation or suspension before the board of city commissioners. Such notice shall specify the time and place when and where the hearing shall be held and shall be served on the eligible organization in the same manner as provided by law for the service of the summons in a civil action or by certified mail. (Ord. No. 877, § 1.)

Section 17.090 Site approval

- (a) As part of its application for site approval for use with a state Class B license, an applicant shall submit duplicate copies of all documents filed or to be filed with the state attorney general with respect to the Class B state license which the applicant intends to use at the site for which approval is sought.
- (b) No organization may conduct more than six blackjack or twenty-one tables simultaneously at the same site within the city.
- (c) An applicant for site approval, by making such application, engages and agrees to comply with all rules, regulations and other restrictions imposed by this Section or by the commission enacting separate regulations. The commission hereby reserves the power to issue additional rules and regulations by way of resolution which shall be retroactively binding on the applicant.
- (d) The application fee for site approval shall be such amount as is determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners by Resolution and shall be on file in the office of the City Administrator in the annual fee schedule.
- (e) No grant of site approval to an organization with respect to all or a portion of a license period shall be construed as a commitment or representation that the organization will receive approval to use the same site or sites or any other site during the next or any subsequent license period. The city commission reserves the right, with respect to a request for renewal of a site approval by an organization holding a current site approval, to refuse to renew approval for any one or more of the currently approved sites and, furthermore, to refuse to grant any new site approvals in lieu of those for which renewal is denied.
- (f) Temporary site authorizations, for periods of five (5) day or less, may be issued by the City Administrator, provided all of the requirements of this section are met. The applicant may appeal a decision by the City Administrator to refuse to issue a permit to the City Commission during the first regular commission meeting following the refusal unless the appeal is filed following the deadline for the order of business, then the appeal will be heard during the next regular meeting. The appeal must be filed on a form provided by the City and signed by the Applicant. (Ord. No. 877, § 1; Ord. No. 1214, § 1.)

Section 17.100 License for blackjack dealer or blackjack pit boss

- (a) No person shall serve or act as a dealer or pit boss in a site authorized to conduct games of chance under the Class B provisions of the state charitable gambling laws for the game of blackjack (21) unless he shall first be licensed as a blackjack dealer in accordance with state law.
- (b) Such a person must further be fingerprinted in accordance with state law. The police department is available for the actual fingerprinting and the charges for same shall be three dollars for one set of fingerprints and five dollars for two sets.
- (c) Such a person must comply with all of the licensing and fingerprinting requirements as delegated by state law and state process. A person holding a valid dealer's license shall conspicuously display it about his person while actively serving as a blackjack dealer or blackjack pit boss.

(d) Such a person shall comply with any and all other state law and regulations pertaining to conducting and assisting games of chance as authorized by state law. (Ord. No. 877, § 1; Ord. No. 915, § 1; Ord. No. 1048, § 1.)

Section 17.110 Miscellaneous provisions

- (a) If the city commission is requested to grant special permission to a local licensee to hold the entire proceeds of games of chance for a period in excess of three months, as provided for in North Dakota Century Code, section 53-06.1-06(7), then the grant or denial of permission shall be by resolution of majority of the members present and voting, which resolution shall be entered upon the minutes of the city commission and a copy of which shall be sent to the office of the attorney general of the state.
- (b) There is no limit to the number of local licenses which may become consecutively or concurrently issued to an organization but each license must be separately applied for in the manner prescribed in this chapter.
- (c) Applications for designation as a local "civic and service club" or as an "other public-spirited organization" shall conform as nearly as practical with the requirements imposed by this chapter for the issuance of a local license.
- (d) No one shall conduct or participate in a game of chance upon premises licensed under chapter 4 of this Code when, pursuant to that chapter, the consumption or dispensing of alcoholic beverages upon the premises is forbidden.
- (e) Pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, section 53-06.1-03, only one eligible organization at a time may be authorized to conduct games of chance at a specific location; except, that a raffle drawing may be conducted for special occasions when one of the following conditions is met:
 - (1) When the area for the raffle drawing is physically separated from the area where gaming is conducted by the regular licensee.
 - (2) When, upon request of the licensee, the license is suspended for that specific day by the attorney general.
- (f) Individuals under the age of twenty-one may not conduct, assist or play games of chance in licensed premises, as those licensed premises are defined and described in chapter 4 of this Code. Individuals eighteen years of age or older may conduct or assist in the conduct of any raffle or bingo operation except at licensed premises. There is no age restriction as to individuals playing raffles and bingo; except, that individuals under the age of twenty-one may not play any games of chance on those licensed premises as defined and described under chapter 4 of this Code.
- (g) No person, except a member or employee of an eligible organization or a member of an organized auxiliary to an eligible organization may assist in the holding, operation or conducting of any games of chance.
- (h) If an eligible organization withdraws its games of chance from an approved site without the commission's consent, no other organization may conduct games of chance at that location for a sixty day period. An organization withdrawing from one location must wait sixty days to operate in a new location. The organization must submit to the city auditor a final report for the previous location, including the final money balance and explanation for closing previous location.
- (i) If a liquor license for a site at which games of chance are conducted is sold or transferred, site approval for games of chance at that site shall be reauthorized for the remainder of

- the period for which granted with the consent and approval of the buyer or grantee of the liquor license.
- (j) A copy of all information to be submitted to the state by applicant seeking a license to conduct games of change within the city limits must also be provided to the city auditor at the time the application for site approval is submitted. (Ord. No. 877, § 1; Ord. No. 927, § 1; Ord. No. 942, § 2.)

Chapter 18 GARBAGE AND REFUSE

Last updated May, 2023

Articles:

18.04 In General

18.08 Household Garbage and Refuse

18.12 Garbage from Business Establishments

18.16 Repealed by Ord. No. 1177

18.20 Penalty

Article 18.04 In General

Sections:

18.04.00E Editor's note to Article **18.04**

18.04.010 Municipal solid waste collection system generally

18.04.020 Landfill

18.04.030 Landfill regulations; penalty

18.04.040 Disposal of items collected or created by independent contractor

Section 18.04.00E Editor's note to Article 18.04

For state law as to solid waste collection and disposal in cities generally, see NDCC, § 40-34-01 et. seq.

Section 18.04.010 Municipal solid waste collection system generally

The municipal solid waste collection system of the City shall be operated as an enterprise fund, and the rates, charges and regulations provided by this chapter shall be and remain applicable thereto until duly amended. The Board of City Commissioners reserves the right and power to amend this article from time to time as the need or propriety thereof arises, and the rates and charges shall be specified in the annual City Fee Resolution and may thereby be increased or decreased; provided, that the gross revenues derived from such system shall be sufficient to pay all costs of operation and maintenance of the system.

The municipal solid waste collection and disposal service of the City shall collect and dispose of all municipal solid waste and recycling for commercial entities and residents. The regulations provided by this chapter shall be and remain applicable thereto until duly amended as provided by law. All municipal solid waste and recycling accumulated in the City shall be collected, conveyed and disposed of by the City or its duly authorized contractor. No persons shall collect, convey over any of the streets or alleys of the city or dispose of any refuse accumulated in the City except by the terms of this chapter; provided, that this chapter shall not prohibit the actual producers of municipal solid waste and recycling, or the owners and occupants of premises upon which municipal solid waste or recycling has accumulated, from personally collecting, conveying and disposing of such municipal solid waste, provided such producers, owners or occupants comply with the provisions of this chapter and with any other governing law or ordinance; provided, further, that this chapter shall not prohibit collectors of municipal solid waste and recycling from outside of the city from hauling such municipal solid waste and recycling over streets, provided such outside collectors comply with the provisions of this chapter and with any other governing law or ordinance. The purpose of the following provisions are to protect the health, welfare and safety of the public in the City by providing organized collection, transportation and disposal of wastes. (Code 1958, § 14-2; Ord. No. 845, § 1; Ord. No. 1337 §2; Ord. No. 1771 §1.)

For state Law as to authority of city to establish a garbage disposal system, see NDCC, § 40-34.01.

Section 18.04.020 Landfill

There is hereby established and created a public municipal solid waste landfill upon land located in section 17, township 139 north, range 95 west, fifth p.m., Stark County, North Dakota, more particularly described as follows:

Southwest quarter of the southeast quarter (SW 1/4 SE 1/4), and the west half of the northwest quarter of the southeast quarter (W 1/2 NW 1/4 SE 1/4) of section 17, township 139 north, range 95 west, fifth p.m.; and

A strip of land sixty feet wide lying north of and adjacent to the south line of the NW 1/4 of section 17, township 139 north, range 95 west, fifth p.m., bounded on the west side by the east firm easement line of the county road as constructed across such NW 1/4 of section 17 and on the east by the east line of such NW 1/4 of section 17, and also the south sixty feet of the west one hundred feet of the NE 1/4 of such section 17; and

That portion of the SW 1/4 of section 17, township 139 north, range 95 west, fifth p.m., bounded by the east firm easement line of the county road as constructed across such SW 1/4 of section 17 and the north and east lines of such SW 1/4 of section 17.

The tract contains 61.33 acres, more or less, and the disposal of municipal solid waste is permitted at such location under such rules and regulations as adopted by the City. (Ord. No. 784, § 1; Ord. No. 965, § 1; Ord. No. 1337 § 2.)

Section 18.04.030 Landfill regulations; penalty

It shall be unlawful for any person to scavenge, rummage, move, remove, sort or handle refuse material at the City landfill grounds, other than an employee of the City engaged to work there, and no person shall enter upon or in such ground or deposit solid waste except as permitted and directed by solid waste operations personnel.

The penalty for violation of sections 18.04.020 and 18.04.030 shall be the general penalty as provided by section 11.12.010. (Ord. No. 784, §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 1337 § 2; Ord. No. 1337 § 2.)

Section 18.04.040 Disposal of items collected or created by independent contractor

Any municipal solid waste collected or recycling by an independent contractor shall be disposed of by the contractor at the contractor's expense. (Ord. No. 411, § 5; Ord. No. 1337 § 2; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Article 18.08 Household Garbage and Refuse

Sections:	
18.08.010	Definitions
18.08.020	Municipal Solid Waste containersGenerally
18.08.030	Location of Municipal Solid Waste containers and additional requirements
18.08.040	Refuse containers - REPEALED
18.08.050	Violation of the rules and regulations governing preparation, handling, etc. of municipal solid waste generally
18.08.060	Refusal to accept refuse collection and disposal service - REPEALED
18.08.070	Draining and wrapping household garbage - REPEALED
18.08.080	Disposal of tin cans - REPEALED
18.08.090	Collection by city generally
18.08.100	Storage of refuse, garbage or rubbish for collection generally - REPEALED
18.08.110	Street litter and waste disposal containers - REPEALED
18.08.120	Construction debris - REPEALED
18.08.130	Burning prohibited - REPEALED
18.08.140	Unlawful acts generally
18.08.150	Separation of certain materials from municipal solid waste
18.08.160	Rates and chargesGenerally
18.08.170	Billing; failure to pay, etc.
18.08.180	Collection by legal action
18.08.190	Disposition of proceeds

Section 18.08.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this article, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Owner or Occupant. A person as herein defined in possession, charge, custody and control of any premises where municipal solid waste is collected or accumulated.

Person. Any individual, firm, partnership, corporation, institution or other entity acting as principal, agent, officer, servant or employee for himself or itself, or for any other individual, firm, partnership, corporation, institution or other entity, who owns, leases, rents or occupies any real property within the city limits.

Putrescible Waste. Solid waste containing organic matter that is susceptible to rapid decomposition.

Recyclable material. Any material listed as acceptable for recycling in the literature provided by the city.

Recycling. The process of recovering useful materials from solid waste, including items for reuse.

Scavenging. Uncontrolled removal of solid waste materials from any disposal site or collection point.

Solid Waste Containers Any container approved by the City's Solid Waste and Recycling operations, which are compatible with the solid waste disposal and recycling systems and the solid waste and recycling to be removed.

Solid Wastes. All garbage, refuse, rubbish and trash generated by residents and commercial properties and all other solid wastes and solid discarded materials. This term includes nonhazardous industrial waste and construction and demolition material.

White Goods. All appliances of whatever nature and kind, including but not limited to stoves, refrigerators, garbage compactors, dishwashers, and other appliances made of porcelain, metal or other such materials.

Yard Waste. All weeds, grass, lawn clippings, leaves, vegetable waste and similar organic matter gathered from lawns and gardens which is suitable for composting. Does not include trees and branches. (Code 1958, § 14-1; Ord. No. 411, § 1; Ord. No. 845, § 2; Ord. No. 1013, § 1; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Section 18.08.020 Municipal Solid Waste containers--Generally

The City shall furnish for each property owner or occupant or groups of property owners or occupants within the City one or more suitable containers, equipped with close fitting tops. Individual containers supplied by the City shall be placed curbside unless prior authorization by the City is granted.

Should the property owner or occupant lose the container furnished to such property owner or occupant of a household establishment, it shall be the responsibility of the property owner or occupant of a household establishment to purchase a new container from the City with the appropriate capacity required by the City at the owner's or occupant's expense. It is expected that at some point these containers may become worn out or incapable of use due to the normal wear and tear; at such time, upon notification to the City and upon return of the worn out container to the City, the City shall furnish the appropriate replacement container at the City's expense.

All property owners or occupants of household establishments shall comply with the terms herein and shall not maintain any other type containers which would prevent collection of municipal solid waste or recycling with the collection equipment used by the City. (Code 1958, § 14-3; Ord. No. 411, § 2; Ord. No. 845, § 3; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1)

Section 18.08.030 Location of Municipal Solid Waste containers and additional requirements

The following rules apply to municipal solid waste and recycling containers:

- (a) It shall be the responsibility of the customer to move his/her container to and from the collection location. It shall be unlawful to leave solid waste containers adjacent to a street or alley except on regular collection days with the exception of large alley solid waste containers which may remain in same position regardless of day. When possible, the containers shall be kept out from sight of the street and from the property, except on collection days.
- (b) Containers and the area around the location of said container(s) authorized under this article, shall be maintained in good condition. The City shall have the authority to refuse collection service for failure to comply herewith. It shall be the duty of the user to maintain the same in a reasonable sanitary condition, in keeping with reasonable health standards. The City shall have the responsibility of inspecting containers

- and of notifying the user for failure to maintain the same in a reasonable sanitary condition.
- (c) All municipal solid waste and recycling shall be placed in city supplied or approved containers.
- (d) If municipal solid waste will not fit in the container, sealed, plastic bags weighing less than 50 pounds may be placed adjacent to the solid waste container and resident shall call for a special pick up at the resident's expense. Bags may also be taken to the Solid Waste Baling Facility by the resident.
- (e) Leaves, grass, and weeds should be taken to a recycle site or the Solid Waste Baling Facility or any location designated by the City.
- (f) Tree branches and trimmings should be taken to a recycle site or the Solid Waste Baling Facility or any location designated by the City.
- (g) Carpets and construction debris will not be collected by City Solid Waste personnel. These materials must be transported to the Solid Waste Baling Facility by the property owner, customer, or contractor performing work resulting in debris at the site. Associated fees per the City's Fee Schedule, will be applied. (Code 1958, § 14-4; Ord. No. 411, § 3; Ord. No. 845, § 4; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Section 18.08.040 Refuse containers - REPEALED

This section was repealed on March 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.050 Violation of the rules and regulations governing preparation, handling, etc. of municipal solid waste generally

City municipal solid waste and recycling collection personnel may not collect municipal solid waste or recycling from any premises when the rules and regulations are violated, and the decision on the part of the City to not collect such municipal solid waste or recycling shall not relieve the owner or occupant of the premises from the payment of fees nor from the enforcement of penalties for violating this article. (Code 1958, § 14-13; Ord. No. 411, § 7; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1)

Section 18.08.060 Refusal to accept refuse collection and disposal service - REPEALED

This ordinance was repealed on May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.070 Draining and wrapping household garbage - REPEALED

This section was repealed on May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.080 Disposal of tin cans - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5)

Section 18.08.090 Collection by city generally

All municipal solid waste and recycling shall be collected by the City as often as is necessary to maintain and preserve the health of the community; except, that this section shall not require the collection of municipal solid waste and recycling where the streets or alleys are in a temporary condition which makes it impossible to collect such municipal solid waste and/or recycling, such failure shall not relieve the occupant of the premises from properly disposing of such municipal solid waste or recycling as is accumulated nor shall it relieve the occupant of the premises from the payment of collection fees. During weather events, it is the person's responsibility to secure their receptacle while still leaving access for City Collection vehicles. (Code 1958, § 14-8; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Section 18.08.100 Storage of refuse, garbage or rubbish for collection generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.110 Street litter and waste disposal containers - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.120 Construction debris - REPEALED

This section was repealed on May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.130 Burning prohibited - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 5.)

Section 18.08.140 Unlawful acts generally

It shall be unlawful for any person to:

- (a) Place or cause to be placed any municipal solid waste or recycling upon any public or private property not owned or under his/her control.
- (b) Place or cause to be placed any waste material in a container which is not leased or owned by said person.
- (c) Place or cause to be placed any unbagged putrescible waste in any solid waste containers, unless all liquid shall have been drained therefrom.
- (d) Place or cause to be placed any unbagged municipal solid waste in any refuse containers, unless the container is used only for that purpose.
- (e) Place or cause to be placed any unbagged small dead animal or fish and animal waste in a container.
- (f) Fail to restrain any dog or prevent interference with collection employees acting in the course of their employment.

- (g) Place hot and/or cold ashes shall not be placed in solid waste or recycling containers. Disposal of such ashes shall be the responsibility of the owner or occupant. This can be done at one of the solid waste recycling sites.
- (h) White goods as defined under this section shall be separated from other municipal solid waste for the purposes of separation at the landfill.
- (i) Vehicle and equipment batteries and tires shall not be placed in the containers and at no time shall be deposited in the landfill. These items may be recycling at the Solid Waste Baling Facility.
- (j) The use of litter containers in commercial areas for disposal of any municipal solid waste other than litter.
- (k) The burning of any municipal solid waste or recycling.
- (l) Refusal to accept the municipal solid waste and recycling collection and disposal service provided by the City.
- (m) Failure to remove any existing accumulation of municipal solid waste or recycling within forty-eight hours after notice from the city.
- (n) Casting, placing, sweeping or depositing anywhere within the City any municipal solid waste or recycling in such a manner that it may be carried or deposited by the elements upon any street, sidewalk, alley or other public place or in or on any occupied premises within the city.
- (o) Debris resulting from the construction, reconstruction or repairs of premises shall not be placed with municipal solid waste for collection but shall be disposed of directly by the person owning, occupying or leasing the premises
- (p) Place or cause to be placed any bagged recyclables in any recycling containers.
- (q) Place or cause to be placed any items that are deemed unacceptable by the city in the recycling containers.
- (r) Haul or transport solid waste or recycling to the City's transfer station or landfill except in a vehicle which does not permit any solid waste or recycling to seep, spill, leak, blow, drop off or fall in the streets, roads, or highways leading to disposal grounds.
- (s) Prevent solid waste or recycling from being collected. (Ord. No. 845, § 11; Ord. No. 887, § 1; Ord. No. 1013, § 2; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Section 18.08.150 Separation of certain materials from municipal solid waste

All trees, tree branches, limbs and the like, white goods and tires shall be separated at the municipal solid waste collection point. The following materials will not be picked up by collection trucks: ashes, bricks, concrete pieces, building materials, plaster, sod, tires and animal manure. Further, the Public Works Director or designee is hereby empowered to require separation of other items when necessary in accordance with federal, state and local law.

In the event laws, codes, ordinances, rules, regulations and standards are hereby passed, adopted or promulgated by state or federal agency or department of the United States or any other proper agency or authority having jurisdiction over matters relating to the hauling, disposal and dumping of municipal solid waste, which would require compliance with EPA regulations or such other agency regulations as are appropriate, the Public Works Director or designee is hereby empowered to take action necessary to comply with such laws, codes,

ordinances, rules, regulations and standards. (Ord. No. 1013, § 3; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

<u>Section 18.08.155 Composting and recycling program – drop sites</u> <u>and receptacles – penalties</u>

It shall be unlawful for any person, corporation, or any agent or employee thereof place any non-compatible waste in the compost or drop sites established by the City. Waste and recyclable materials shall be deposited in the appropriate containers and anyone depositing waste in a container not marked or designated for that type of waste or recyclable material shall be guilty of a violation. (Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Section 18.08.160 Rates and charges--Generally

The rates and charges related to the solid waste and recycling operation will be set, maintained, and changed in the City Fee Schedule. (Code 1958, § 14-9; Ord. No. 598; Ord. No. 633; 1; Ord. No. 683, § 1; Ord. No. 734, § 1; Ord. No. 754, § 1; Ord. No. 860, § 1; Ord. No. 1008, § 1; Ord. No. 1050, § 1; Ord. No. 1065, § 1; Ord. No. 1082, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 9; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

For state law as to authority of city to levy charges for use of city garbage system, see NDCC, § 40-34-05.

Section 18.08.170 Billing; failure to pay, etc.

The City will include applicable charges for municipal solid waste and recycling collection in the City utility billing. Late charges may be applicable to accounts for which payment is late. (Code 1958, § 14 - 10; Ord. No. 411, § 6; Ord. No. 754, § 2; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.))

Section 18.08.180 Collection by legal action

If the fees authorized in this article and detailed in the City Fee Schedule are not paid when due, said fees may be recovered by the City in an action at law against the owner or occupant, or both, of the property so served and may also be assessed against the premises so served and collected and returned in the same manner as other county and municipal taxes are assessed, certified, collected and returned. (Code 1958, § 14-11; Ord. No. 1337 § 3.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-34-05.

Section 18.08.190 Disposition of proceeds

The proceeds from collection of fees and charges provided for in this article shall be placed in a fund to be known as City of Dickinson Solid Waste Fund, and all of the expenses of the City in the collection and disposal of such solid waste and recycling shall be paid out of such fund. (Code 1958, § 14-12; Ord. No. 1337 § 3; Ord. No. 1771 § 1.)

Article 18.12 Garbage from Business Establishments

Sections:	
18.12.010	Definitions - REPEALED
18.12.020	Storage generally - REPEALED
18.12.030	Applicability of sections 18.08.100, 18.08.110, 18.08.120, 18.08.130 and
	18.08.140 - REPEALED
18.12.040	Compliance with article - REPEALED
18.12.045	Collection by City-Generally - REPEALED
18.12.050	ChargesGenerally - REPEALED
18.12.060	SameBilling; failure to pay, etc REPEALED
18.12.070	SameCollection by legal action - REPEALED
18.12.080	SameDisposition of proceeds – REPEALED

Section 18.12.010 Definitions - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.020 Storage generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.030 Applicability of sections 18.08.100, 18.08.110, 18.08.120, 18.08.130 and 18.08.140 - REPEALED

This section was repealed on May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.040 Compliance with article - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.045 Collection by City-Generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.050 Charges--Generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.060 Same--Billing; failure to pay, etc. - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.070 Same--Collection by legal action - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Section 18.12.080 Same--Disposition of proceeds - REPEALED

This section was repealed May 7, 2007. (Ord. No. 1337 § 6.)

Article 18.20 Penalty

Sections:

18.20.010 Violations

Section 18.20.010 Violations

Violation of this chapter is punishable by an administrative penalty as established and amended from time to time in the annual fee resolution. (Ord. No. 845, \S 16; Ord. No. 992, \S 3; Ord. No. 1337 \S 4.)

Chapter 19 GAS

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

19.04 In General

19.08 Plumber's and Gas Fitter's License

19.12 Pipes Generally

Article 19.04 In General

Sections:

19.04.010 Jurisdiction of chapter

19.04.020 Work on mains and meters generally; temporary repair of leaks

19.04.030 Installation, extension or alteration of gas piping generally

Section 19.04.010 Jurisdiction of chapter

The provisions of this chapter are intended to apply to the installation of gas piping in buildings and the use of city gas, natural and artificial, in and about buildings. They do not apply to the underground gas distribution system leading up to the building and to such parts of the system as the manufacturing plant, if any, which are the property of the gas company.

This chapter shall apply to all new and existing installations, extensions, additions or alterations. (Code 1958, § 15-1.)

Section 19.04.020 Work on mains and meters generally; temporary repair of leaks

No plumber or gas fitter, unless in the employ of the gas company or having a permit from the gas company, shall repair, alter or open the service pipe or set or remove the service meter or do any other work on the part of the gas supply system up to and including the meter. However, if gas is leaking from any part of the gas supply system referred to, a plumber or gas fitter not in the employ of the gas company may make necessary temporary repairs and report such repairs to the gas inspector, who shall notify the gas company to make permanent repairs. (Code 1958, § 15-2.)

Section 19.04.030 Installation, extension or alteration of gas piping generally

Gas piping and all work in connection with the installation, extension or alteration of gas piping, fixtures and equipment shall be done only by or under the supervision of a licensed plumber or a licensed gas fitter. (Code 1958, § 15-3.)

Article 19.08 Plumber's and Gas Fitter's License

Article 19.12 Pipes Generally

Sections:

19.12.010 Permit to install, alter or extend--Required

19.12.020 Same--Application

19.12.030 Same--Fee

19.12.040 Same—Issuance

Section 19.12.010 Permit to install, alter or extend--Required

The act of installing, altering or extending any system of piping for the conveyance, distribution or use of illuminating or fuel gas in any building or structure in the city, except meter installations by employees of the gas company in accordance with the provisions of this chapter and chapter 13 of this Code, is hereby declared unlawful unless the owner of the premises on which the work is to be done or someone on his behalf shall first obtain from the gas inspector a written permit authorizing such installation, extension or alteration. (Code 1958, § 15-9.)

Section 19.12.020 Same--Application

All applications for permits for the installation of any new gas piping or the making of extensions or alterations to present equipment or existing installations shall be made in writing to the gas inspector on special permit forms to be provided by the city. (Code 1958, § 15-10.)

Section 19.12.030 Same--Fee

In order to procure a permit for the installation of any new gas piping or the making of or extensions or alterations to present equipment or existing installations, the person applying for and receiving such permit shall pay to the city for such permit and for inspection of the work such sum as the board of city commissioners may, from time to time fix. Such fee must accompany the application for the permit. (Code 1958, § 15-11.)

Section 19.12.040 Same--Issuance

When the gas inspector is satisfied that the work for which a permit is sought under this article has been done in accordance with the provisions of this chapter and chapter 13 of this Code, he shall issue a permit therefor. (Code 1958, § 15-12.)

Chapter 20 HEALTH AND SANITATION

Last updated July, 2020

Articles:

20.ED Editor's note to Chapter 20 20.04 In General

20.08 Weeds

Article 20.ED Editor's note to Chapter 20

Sections:

20.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 20

Section 20.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 20

For state law as to authority of city to make regulations necessary or expedient for the promotion of health and sanitation or for the suppression of disease, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (45).

As to rabies control, see §§ 5.08.06.020 to 5.08.06.050 of this Code. As to food and food establishments, see Ch. 15. As to frozen desserts generally, see Ch. 16. As to garbage and refuse generally, see Ch. 18. As to meat and meat products generally, see Ch. 22.

Article 20.04 In General

Sections:	
20.04.010	Department of healthEstablished
20.04.020	SameComposition
20.04.030	Public health officerQualifications; appointment; term
20.04.040	SameOath and bond
20.04.050	SamePowers and duties generally
20.04.060	SameInspection of buildings, lots, etc., for health purposes
20.04.070	SameAbatement of nuisances, sources of filth, etc.
20.04.080	Depositing of garbage, human excreta, etc., in Heart River

Section 20.04.010 Department of health--Established

There is hereby established a department of health in and for the city. (Code 1958, § 16-1.)

Section 20.04.020 Same--Composition

The department of health shall consist of the public health officer and such assistants as he may appoint, subject to confirmation by the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 16-2.)

Section 20.04.030 Public health officer--Qualifications; appointment; term

The public health officer shall be a competent physician engaged in the regular practice of medicine and shall be appointed by the board of city commissioners at their regular meeting on the third Tuesday in the month of April of each odd-numbered year or at such other meeting as may be designated by the board, and such appointment shall be for a period of two years. (Code 1958, § 16-3.)

Section 20.04.040 Same--Oath and bond

The public health officer shall take or subscribe the usual oath of office and shall be under bond in the sum of one thousand dollars for the faithful performance of his duties. (Code 1958, § 16-4.)

Section 20.04.050 Same--Powers and duties generally

The public health officer shall perform such duties as may be conferred upon him by the laws of the state or the ordinances of the city. The public health officer shall have all the power and authority granted by the statutes of this state, and it shall be his duty to provide such additional rules and regulations as shall be proper and necessary for the preservation of the health of the people of the city, to prevent the spread of contagious disease, to cause the removal of all objects detrimental to the health of the people and to enforce such rules and regulations as may be provided for the government of the department of health. (Code 1958, § 16-5.)

Section 20.04.060 Same--Inspection of buildings, lots, etc., for health purposes

The public health officer or any person acting under him shall have authority to enter into and examine at any time all buildings, lots and places of any description within the city for the purpose of ascertaining the condition thereof so far as the public health may be affected thereby. (Code 1958, § 16-6.)

Section 20.04.070 Same--Abatement of nuisances, sources of filth, etc.

In all cases in which the public health officer shall deem it necessary for the protection of the health of the city to abate or to remove any nuisance, source of filth or cause of sickness that shall be found on private property, he shall cause notice to be served on the owner or occupant thereof, requiring him to remove such nuisance, etc., at his own expense within a reasonable time, not less than twenty-four hours.

If such owner or occupant shall refuse or neglect to comply with such notice or if such nuisance, source of filth or cause of sickness exists on property of nonresident owners or upon property the owners of which cannot be found, the public health officer shall cause the removal of such nuisance, source of filth or cause of sickness at his discretion at the expense of the city. The cost of such removal shall be charged against the lot, piece or parcel of land upon which the work has been done and shall be assessed against the property in the manner provided for the assessment and certification of sidewalk assessments. (Code 1958, § 16-7.)

For state law authorizing cities to prevent, abate and remove nuisances, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (44). As to assessment of costs for removal by city, see NDCC, § 40-05-01.1.

Section 20.04.080 Depositing of garbage, human excreta, etc., in Heart River

It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit, throw or leave any garbage, dead animals or parts thereof, offal, human excreta or any waste animal or vegetable matter in the Heart River or at any place within the drainage basin or area of the Heart River within the city. Any violation of this section shall constitute a nuisance and shall be abated as provided by law. (Code 1958, § 16-9.)

Article 20.08 Weeds

Sections:	
20.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 20.08
20.08.01	Control of noxious weeds within cities
20.08.02	City weed board members – Terms – Compensation
20.08.03	City weed board - Powers
20.08.04	City weed board – Duties
20.08.05	City weed board – Development of city weed list – Review – Removal
20.08.06	City weed control officer – Membership on city weed board – Employment
20.08.07	City weed control officer – Powers
20.08.08	City weed control officer – Duties
20.08.09	City noxious weed control program - Payment of expenses - Financial report
20.08.10	Publicly owned land – Noxious weed control
20.08.11	Noxious weed Control – Enforcement responsibilities of other agencies
20.08.12	Entry upon land for noxious weed control purposes – Notices – Landowners
	rights – Remedial requirements – Liens
20.08.13	Quarantine – Declaration – Hearing – Penalty
20.08.14	Preventing the dissemination of noxious weeds – Penalty
20.08.15	Civil Penalty
20.08.16	Action on complaint - Request for hearing
20.08.17	County and City weed board – Control of invasive species – acceptance of funds

20.08.01 Control of noxious weeds within cities

The governing body of any city having a population of three thousand or more may establish a program for the control of noxious weeds within the jurisdictional limits of the city. If a program is not established, the county weed board shall administer a program for the city. The Building and Code Department shall be responsible for enforcement of the provisions in this Chapter. (Code 1695, § 1)

<u>20.08.02 City weed board members – Terms – Compensation</u>

- 1. If the governing body of a city elects to establish a noxious weed control program, as authorized by section 20.08.01, the governing body shall appoint a weed board consisting of three, five, or seven members.
- 2. The term of office for a board member is four years or until a successor is appointed and qualified. The terms must be staggered so that no more than two expire each year.
- 3. Any qualified elector residing within the city is eligible to serve on the board.
- 4. A board member shall assume office at the first regular meeting of the city weed board following the member's appointment.
- 5. The governing body of the city shall remove a member of the city weed board for repeated unexcused failures to attend meetings, for refusal to act as a board member, or for incapacity. If a vacancy occurs on a city weed board, the governing body of the

- city, at its next regular meeting, shall appoint an individual who possesses the necessary qualifications to fill the unexpired term.
- 6. The city weed board shall elect a chairman and a vice chairman from among its members.
- 7. The city weed board shall appoint a secretary and a treasurer. The secretary and treasurer need not be members of the board.
- 8. The governing body of the city shall establish the rate of compensation for city weed board members.

20.08.03 City weed board – Powers

A city weed board may:

- 1. Expend funds from all available sources if it determines that the extent of noxious weed infestation on certain land is so severe that undertaking control efforts would place an extreme financial burden on the landowner.
- 2. Employ and compensate additional personnel to assist with noxious weed control efforts.

20.08.04. City weed board – Duties

- 1. Implement a program for the control of noxious weeds;
- 2. Establish the time and place of regular board meetings;
- 3. Meet at least once each year;
- 4. Keep minutes of its meetings and a complete record of all official acts;
- 5. Control and disburse all moneys received by the city from any source for noxious weed control;
- 6. a. Provide for the compensation for its members and its secretary and treasurer:
 - b. Reimburse its members and its secretary and treasurer for actual and necessary expenses; and
 - c. Provide a mileage allowance at the same rate as that established for state employees; and
- 7. a. Employ and provide for the compensation of a weed control officer or contract with a licensed and certified weed control officer
 - b. Reimburse the weed control officer for actual and necessary expenses; and
 - c. Provide a mileage allowance at the same rate as that established for state employees.

20.08.05 City weed board – Development of city weed list – Review – Removal

1. A city weed board may designate as noxious certain weeds that are not on the state or county noxious weed list, provided the city weed board first consults with the

- North Dakota state university extension service and that the designation is approved by the commissioner.
- 2. Before January 1, 2010, and at least every five years thereafter, each city weed board shall review its noxious weed list and, by majority vote, may remove any weed from its list. The city weed board shall provide the commissioner with at least fourteen days' notice of the time and place at which its list will be reviewed and, within fourteen days of the review, shall provide the commissioner with written notice of any changes to the city list.
- 3. A city weed board immediately shall remove any noxious weed from the board's list when directed to do so by the commissioner.

20.08.06 City weed control officer – Membership on city weed board – Employment

- 1. A city weed control officer may serve as a member of the weed control board by which the officer is employed if the officer is otherwise qualified to do so.
- 2. An individual may be employed as a weed control officer by several weed boards simultaneously.
- 3. The City may as provided for in Section 20.08.04 subcontract with a licensed and certified weed control officer. The provisions of this Chapter apply to a weed control officer hired by the City as an employee or a contractor hired by the City to perform weed control services.

20.08.07 City weed control officer – Powers

A city weed control officer may enter upon any land within the jurisdiction of the officer to perform duties and to exercise powers under this chapter, including taking specimens of weeds or other materials, without the consent of the landowner or other person responsible for the land and without being subject to any action for trespass or damages, provided reasonable care is exercised.

20.08.08 City weed control officer – Duties

The city weed control officer shall:

- 1. Cooperate with the board and be responsible for the operation and enforcement of this chapter within the city;
- 2. Become acquainted with the location of noxious weeds within the city;
- 3. Meet the pesticide certification requirements set forth in N.D.C.C. Chapter 4.1-33;
- 4. Encourage noxious weed control by all landowners and land occupants within the city;
- 5. Investigate all signed complaints received by the officer regarding noxious weeds within the city;
- 6. Post or publish in the official newspaper of the city any notices the commissioner deems necessary to further noxious weed control under this chapter;

- 7. Prepare reports as requested by the commissioner; and
- 8. Attend meetings called by the commissioner to further noxious weed control under this chapter.

20.08.09 City noxious weed control program – Payment of expenses – Financial report

- 1. The governing body of a city may provide funding for a city noxious weed control program authorized under this chapter from revenues derived from its general fund levy authority.
- 2. The city weed board may annually request the governing body of a city to provide funds derived from its general fund levy authority in the amount necessary for the city noxious weed control program. In the year for which the levy is south, a city weed board seeking approval of a property tax levy under this chapter must file with the city auditor, at a time and in a format prescribed by the city auditor, a financial report for the preceding calendar year showing the ending balances of each fund held by the city weed board during that year.
- 3. For purposes of this section, the expenses of a city noxious weed control program include compensation for and the reimbursement of expenses incurred by the city weed board, the city weed control officer, and other employees of the board, and expenses incurred in the provision of noxious weed control, as authorized by this chapter.

20.08.10 Publicly owned land – Noxious weed control

Each state agency shall provide for the control of noxious weeds on land within its jurisdiction. If a state agency fails to control noxious weeds on land under its jurisdiction, the county weed board, upon approval of the commissioner, may enter upon the land to control the noxious weeds. The state agency shall reimburse the county weed board for expenses incurred in controlling the noxious weeds, within thirty days after the agency receives the bill.

20.08.11 Noxious weed control – Enforcement responsibilities of other agencies

Law enforcement agents shall cooperate with the commissioner, a weed control board, and a weed control officer for the purpose of enforcing this chapter.

<u>20.08.12 Entry upon land for noxious weed control purposes – Notices – Landowner rights – Remedial requirements – Liens</u>

1. a. If a city weed control officer determines that land within the officer's jurisdiction contains noxious weeds, the officer may serve upon the landowner written notice either personally or by certified mail, requiring the

landowner to control the noxious weeds within the time period prescribed by the city weed control officer.

- b. The notice must:
 - 1) Specify the minimal remedial requirements;
 - 2) Specify the time within which the landowner must meet the minimum remedial requirements;
 - 3) Specify that the landowner may be subject to penalties provided under this chapter if the landowner fails to comply with the remedial requirement;
 - 4) Include a statement of costs if the landowner fails to control the noxious weeds and the city weed officer must provide for control of the weeds; and
 - 5) Provide that the landowner may stay any efforts by the city weed officer to control noxious weeds on the land, by requesting in writing that the city weed board hold a hearing on the matter.
- c. The city weed officer shall deliver a copy of the notice personally or forward a copy of the notice by certified mail to any tenant, lessee, or operator of the land on which the noxious weeds are located.
- d. If the landowner does not meet the minimum remedial requirements within the time specified in the notice and does not request a hearing on the matter by the city weed board, the city weed control officer may cause the noxious weeds to be controlled and the expenses charged against the land of the landowner. These expenses are part of the taxes to be levied against the land for the ensuing year and must be collected in the same manner as other real estate taxes.
- e. If after holding a hearing on the matter the city weed board directs that the noxious weeds be controlled by the city weed officer, the landowner may appeal the decision to the governing board of the city. A decision by the governing body is final.
- f. If the landowner does not appeal the decision to the governing body of the city, or if the governing body of the city upholds the decision of the city weed board, the city weed control officer may cause the noxious weeds to be controlled and any expenses incurred by the city weed officer in controlling the wees must be charged against the land of the landowner. These expenses are part of the taxes to be levied against the land for the ensuing year and must be collected in the same manner as other real estate taxes.

<u>20.08.13 Quarantine – Declaration – Hearing – Penalty</u>

1. If the commissioner determines that a quarantine of this state or any portion thereof may be necessary to prevent the spread of noxious weeds, the commissioner shall schedule a public hearing on the matter and provide notice of the hearing by publishing its time, place, and date in the official newspaper of each county having land within the area of the proposed quarantine. If after the hearing the commissioner order the imposition of a quarantine, the order must include the date

- by which or the circumstances under which the commissioner shall lift the quarantine order.
- 2. If the commissioner determines that the imposition of an emergency quarantine is necessary to prevent the spread of noxious weeds, the commissioner may impose such an order for a period not to exceed fourteen days. Within the fourteen-day period, the commissioner shall hold a public hearing as provided for in subsection 1 and determine whether a quarantine order under subsection 1 should be imposed.
- 3. Following the establishment of a quarantine, the movement of any product or material described in the quarantine order is subject to the order.
- 4. Any person who violates a quarantine order issued under this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.

20.08.14 Preventing the dissemination of noxious weeds – Penalty

- 1. a. A person may not willfully transport any material that contains noxious weed seeds or propagating parts, on a public road, in a manner that allows for the dissemination of noxious weeds.
 - b. A person may not willfully drive or transport any equipment, on a public road, in a manner that allows for the dissemination of noxious weeds.
 - c. A person may not willfully dispose of any material that contains noxious weed seeds or propagating parts in a manner that allows for the dissemination of noxious weeds.
- 2. Any person who violates this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.

20.08.15 Civil penalty

- 1. a. In addition to any other penalties provided for in this chapter, a person who violates this chapter or any rules adopted under this chapter is subject to a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed eighty dollars per day for each day of violation, subject to a maximum penalty of four thousand dollars per year.
 - b. Penalties imposed upon a landowner for failing to comply with the remedial requirements, as set forth in section 20.08.12, are a lien against the property of the landowner from the day the notice is delivered to the landowner under section 20.08.12.
 - c. A person who distributes, sells, or offers for sale within the state a noxious weed is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed one hundred dollars for each violation.
- 2. All penalties collected under this section must be credited to the noxious weed control fund of:
 - a. The city in which the violation occurred if the city has a noxious weed control program under this chapter; or
 - b. The county in which the violation occurred.
- 3. Any penalties provided for under this section may be adjudicated by a court or the city weed board after a hearing.

4. An aggrieved person may appeal the imposition of a penalty by a city weed board to the governing body of the city.

20.08.16 Action on complaint – Request for hearing

- 2. a. If an individual filed a signed complaint with a city weed board or the city weed control officer and if the individual believes that the complaint has not been addressed satisfactorily within twenty-one days from the date of the complaint, the individual may file a written request for a hearing with the governing body of the city.
 - b. Upon receiving a request for a hearing, the governing body of the city shall schedule a public hearing and shall provide notice of the hearing by publishing its time, place, and date in the official newspaper of the county.
 - c. Within fourteen days after the hearing, the governing body of the city shall issue a determination regarding the matter and shall issue appropriate directives to the city weed board.
 - d. A decision by the governing body of the city under this section is final.

20.08.17 County and city weed boards – Control of invasive species – Acceptance of funds

- 1. If the city weed board determines that an invasive species is present within its jurisdiction, the weed board shall notify the commissioner.
- 2. a. If funds for the control of invasive species are available to the commissioner, the commissioner may forward the funds to a weed board for the purpose of controlling the invasive species on public land and assisting private landowners in their efforts to voluntarily control the invasive species provided:
 - 1) The commissioner determines that, without intervention, the invasive species is likely to become a noxious weed during the ensuing five-year period; and
 - 2) The weed board files a plan with the commissioner detailing the manner in which and the time within which the funds are to be expended.
 - b. Notwithstanding any other law, the city weed board may accept funds under this subsection and implement a plan, approved by the commissioner, for the control of invasive species within its jurisdiction.
- 3. In addition to any funds available from the commissioner, the city weed board may accept funds from any other source to control invasive species within its jurisdiction.
- 4. For purposes of this section, an invasive species means a plant species that has been introduced into this state and which the North Dakota state university extension service determines has caused or is likely to cause:
 - a) Economic harm:
 - b) Environmental harm; or
 - c) Harm to human health. (Code 1695, § 1)

Section 20.08.00E Editor's note to Article 20.08

For state law as to authority of city to establish weed control authority, see NDCC, § 63-01.1-07. As to weed control generally, see NDCC, § 63-01.1-07 et seq.

Chapter 21 LICENSES

Last updated May, 2023

Articles:

- 21.04 In General
- 21.08 Going out of Business, Fire and Bankrupt Sales This Article was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)
- 21.12 Mobile Home Courts and Trailer Parks This Article was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)
- 21.20 Authority to Sell Tobacco
- 21.30 Temporary Homeless Shelter

Article 21.04 In General

Sections:	
21.04.010	Applicability of article
21.04.020	Applications
21.04.030	Issuance; form of license
21.04.040	Surrender and cancellation
21.04.050	Payment of fees; inclusion of fee amount and date on license
21.04.060	Term
21.04.070	Revocation
21.04.080	Appeal of auditor's denial of license application

Section 21.04.010 Applicability of article

Unless otherwise specifically provided, licenses required for the carrying on of a business or trade within the city shall be applied for, issued, terminated and revoked according to the provisions of this article. (Code 1958, § 17-1.)

Section 21.04.020 Applications

Every application for a license shall be made upon a blank form furnished by the city auditor and verified and shall contain the name, place of residence, age and occupation of the applicant, the purpose for which a license is desired, the place where and the term for which he proposes to carry on the business or trade to be licensed and such other information as may be required according to provisions of this article. (Code 1958, § 17-2; Ord. No. 550.)

Section 21.04.030 Issuance; form of license

If it shall appear that the applicant in section 21.04.020 is entitled to a license, the city auditor shall issue a license signed by him. Licenses shall be issued from a bound book and shall be consecutively numbered. Each license in such book shall have a stub attached thereto upon which the substance of the license shall be entered. (Code 1958, § 17-3.)

Section 21.04.040 Surrender and cancellation

Upon surrender or cancellation of a license, the fact that it has been surrendered or canceled shall be entered by the city auditor on the stub from which it was detached. (Code 1958, § 17-4.)

Section 21.04.050 Payment of fees; inclusion of fee amount and date on license

No license under the provisions of this article shall be issued until the fee prescribed therefor has been paid to the city auditor. The amount paid and the date thereof and the term for which the license was issued shall be shown on each license. (Code 1958, § 17-5.)

Section 21.04.060 Term

All licenses issued under the provisions of this article shall expire on the first day of January of each year; provided, that should any license issued pursuant to this article specify an expiration date, such license shall expire upon the date as stated upon the license issued pursuant to this article. (Code 1958, § 176; Ord. No. 550.)

Section 21.04.070 Revocation

Whenever it shall appear that a license has been improvidently issued or that the holder thereof is violating the authority granted to him thereby, it shall be the duty of the city auditor to revoke the license and to give notice of such revocation forthwith to the licensee. After such revocation the licensee shall be without authority to carry on the business or trade for which the license has been granted. (Code 1958, § 17-7.)

Section 21.04.080 Appeal of auditor's denial of license application

Whenever, by the provisions of this Code, the auditor is granted the authority to grant permits or licenses, and the auditor denies said application, the applicant shall have the right to appeal said denial to the city commission. The appeal shall be made by making a written request to the auditor within ten days of the decision. (Ord. No. 1083, § 21.)

Article 21.08 Going out of Business, Fire and Bankrupt Sales
- This Article was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)

Article 21.12 Mobile Home Courts and Trailer Parks - This Article was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)

Article 21.20 Authority to Sell Tobacco

Sections:	
21.20.010	Purpose
21.20.020	Definitions
21.20.030	Grant of Authority
21.20.040	License Fee
21.20.050	License Transferability
21.20.060	Authority to Sell, Application
21.20.065	Smoke/vape shop restriction and penalty
21.20.070	Licensee Requirements
21.20.080	Penalty
21.20.090	Compliance Checks Authorized
21.20.100	Grounds for Suspension or Revocation of Authority to Sell
21.20.110	Hearing for Revocation or Suspension

21.20.010 Purpose

The City of Dickinson has recognized that illegal tobacco purchase and use by minors is a significant problem with the city. This section is intended to reduce the illegal purchases of tobacco products by minors and to reduce the accessibility of tobacco products to minors. (Ord. 1234 § 1; Ord. 1722 §1)

21.20.020 Definitions

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

Business means any firm, fiduciary, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, trust, or association however formed.

Compliance survey program means a program conducted by a law enforcement agency or conducted by a state agency, city, county, board of health, tobacco retailer, or association of tobacco retailers, after consultation with the appropriate local law enforcement authority, which is intended to determine whether licensed tobacco product retailers are appropriately enforcing the state law or local ordinance relating to sales of tobacco products to individuals under 21 years of age.

Distribute means to give tobacco products to the general public at no cost or at nominal cost for product promotional purposes.

Electronic cigarettes means any electronic oral device, such as one composed of a heating element, battery, and/or electronic circuit, which provides a vapor of nicotine or any other substances, and the use or inhalation of which simulates smoking. The term "electronic cigarettes" includes any such device, whether manufactured, distributed,

marketed, or sold as an e-cigarette, e-cigar, and e-pipe or under any other product, name or descriptor.

Person means any individual, business, firm, fiduciary, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, trust, or association however formed.

Retail tobacco dealer means any person selling, offering for sale, exposing for sale or having in possession for sale at retail, tobacco products.

Sell, besides its ordinary purposes, means and includes dispensing from a vending machine under the control of the actor.

Smoke/vape shop means any person selling, offering for sale, exposing for sale, or having in its possession for sale at retail, tobacco products, which the sale of said tobacco products account for fifty-one percent or more of the gross sale receipts.

Tobacco products means, but is not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, cigarette papers, smokeless tobacco, tobacco snuff, chewing tobacco, electronic cigarettes, and tobacco in any other form in which it may be utilized for smoking or chewing.

Vending machine means any kind of device or mechanical machine which, upon the insertion of coins, tokens, or other objects will release tobacco products in packages or otherwise. (Ord. 1722 §1)

Section 21.20.030 Grant of authority

The City of Dickinson shall grant a license to sell tobacco or tobacco products at retail to persons or businesses who have a North Dakota State Tobacco Dealers License under NDCC Chapter 57-36, when required by the State, except as such license may be suspended or revoked by the City of Dickinson as provided for in this chapter or State of North Dakota. (Ord. 1234 § 1; Ord. 1478§ 1; Ord. 1601§ 3; Ord. 1722 § 1).

Section 21.20.040 License fee

Annual license fees shall be set by resolution of the Board of the City Commissioners and incorporated into the City Fee Schedule.

Section 21.20.050 License transferability

Any license issued pursuant to this chapter shall be non-transferable. (Ord. 1478§ 1; Ord. 1722 §1) 234 of 932

Section 21.20.060 Authority to sell, application

1. No person, firm, business or other entity may directly or indirectly or by means of device, offer or dispose of, or give away, tobacco without:

- a. A North Dakota State Tobacco Dealers License issued pursuant to NDCC Chapter 57-36 when required by the State; and
- b. A valid license to sell tobacco products at retail as granted by the City of Dickinson. (Ord. 1722 §1)

Section 21.20.065 Smoke/vape shop restriction and penalty

- 1. Any smoke/vape shop selling tobacco products must restrict its premises to prohibit any person under the age of eighteen from entering or remaining on its premises.
- 2. Any smoke/vape shop found in violation of this section shall be assessed an administrative fine of one hundred dollars.
- 3. Any violation of this section shall be considered by the Board of City Commissioners in determining whether the licensee's license shall be suspended or revoked pursuant to Section 21.20.100. (Ord. 1722 §1)

Section 21.20.070 Licensee requirements

- 1. A licensee, its agents and employees, are prohibited from selling or distributing tobacco products to persons under 21 years of age.
 - a. An employee aged 18 or older acting on behalf of his/her employer shall have the same license and authority with regard to tobacco products as the employer. All licensees under this ordinance shall be responsible for the actions of their employees in regard to the sale of tobacco or tobacco-related devices on the licensed premises, and the sale of such an item by an employee shall be considered a sale by a license holder.
 - b. Notwithstanding the provisions in 21.20.035(2)(a), the clerk or employee specifically involved in a compliance check violation with the sale of tobacco or tobacco-related devices shall be personally liable to pay an administrative fee in addition to any fees imposed upon the employer or license holder.
- 2. A licensee shall cooperate with local law enforcement in the conduct of compliance survey program inspections.

(Ord. 1234 § 1; Ord. 1478§ 1; Ord. 1601§ 3; Ord. 1689§ 1; Ord. 1722 §1)

Section 21.20.080 Penalty

Any person convicted of selling or distributing any tobacco product without having first obtained a valid license from the City or during a period of the license suspension shall be guilty of an infraction.

Section 21.20.090 Compliance checks authorized

- 1. The chief of police may organize and conduct or authorize the conduct of compliance checks by other agencies, in order to ensure that tobacco product licensees, or their employees or agents, are appropriately requiring identification of persons seeking to purchase tobacco products and refusing to sell any tobacco products to individuals under 21 years of age.
- 2. Licensees who fail to successfully pass the compliance checks may be subject to suspension of their license in addition to prosecution for any violations of the city's ordinances as provided for in this Chapter. (Ord. 1722 §1)

Section 21.20.100 Grounds for suspension or revocation of authority to sell

The license and authority to sell tobacco products granted under this Chapter may be revoked or suspended temporarily by the Board of City Commissioners upon any violation of Dickinson City Code 21.20 or 25.06. In the event a license is suspended or revoked pursuant to this chapter, the City Administrator has the authority to determine the date and time of the suspension or revocation. The City shall also assess against the licensee administrative fines as follows:

- 1. First Offense: If the agent or employee of the licensee possesses a tobacco server training at the time of the violation by said agent or employee, the licensee will receive a written warning. If the agent or employee of the licensee does not possess a server training certificate card at the time of the violation by said agent or employee, the City shall assess against the licensee an administrative fine in the amount of \$500.00.
- 2. Second Offense: In the event of a second violation within a 24 month period by the licensee, its agent or employee, of Article 21.20 or 25.06, the City shall assess against the licensee an administrative fine in the amount of \$1,000.00. The City shall further suspend the licensee's license and authority to sell tobacco products for no less than two days.
- 3. Third Offense: In the event of a third violation within a 24 month period by the licensee, its agent or employee, of Article 21.20 or 25.06, the City shall assess against the licensee an administrative fine in the amount of \$2,000.00. The City shall further suspend the licensee's license and authority to sell tobacco products for no less than four days or revocation of license. (Ord. 1689 § 2; Ord. 1708 § 1; Ord. 1722 §1)

Section 21.20.110 Hearing for revocation or suspension.

1. Prior to the entry of fines and sanctions provided herein, the licensee shall have the right to an informal hearing before the City Administrator and, if requested, a formal hearing before the Board of City Commissioners. An informal hearing before the City Administrator may be arranged at such dates and times as mutually agreeable to the City Administrator and the licensee. The licensee may accept responsibility for the violation, pay the fine, voluntarily agree to the proposed suspension and waive the formal hearing before the City Commission.

- 2. In the event that a formal hearing before the Board of City Commissioners is requested, the City Administrator shall notify the licensee of the hearing by written notice, including the following: (1) the proposed action to be taken; (2) the reason for such action; (3) the time and place of the hearing; and (4) the right of the licensee to present evidence or testimony on its behalf.
- 3. The notice shall be mailed to the licensee, by certified mail, not less than five days nor more than fifteen days before the hearing. If the licensee fails to waive the hearing, the City Administrator or designee shall present evidence relating to alleged violations and imposition of sanctions. The licensee shall have the right to present evidence in its defense. Upon hearing of the evidence presented if the Board of City Commissioners finds that the violations did occur, it may enter the fines and sanctions provided herein.
- 4. If the license accepts responsibility for the violation without a hearing or if the City Commission finds that a violation occurred upon a hearing, the Board of City Commissioners shall issue Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Order, which shall be served on the licensee. The decision of the Board of City Commissioners is a final decision by the City. A licensee aggrieved by a decision of the City may appeal the decision to the District Court in accordance with N.D.C.C. section 28-34-01. (Ord. 1234 § 1; Ord. 1478 § 1; Ord. 1689 §3; Ord. 1722 §1)

Article 21.30 Temporary Homeless Shelter

Sections:

21.30.010 Purpose

21.30.020 Permit Required 21.30.030 Permit Application 21.30.040 Issuance of Permit

Section 21.30.010 Purpose

The Board of City Commissioners of the City of Dickinson hereby recognizes and finds that it is in the best interests of the public health, safety and general welfare to provide for temporary homeless shelter for transient or homeless individuals within the community pursuant to the terms provided herein. (Ord. 1526§ 1)

Section 21.30.020 Permit Required

No person shall operate a temporary homeless shelter within the city limits of the City of Dickinson without a permit as provided for in this Article.

Any person or group of persons may apply to the City for a temporary homeless shelter permit as provided in this Article. Such permit shall entitle the grantee to certain uses of its property that would otherwise not conform to the requirements of the City's zoning code. The Board of City Commissioners shall issue such permit by resolution, following public hearing as provided herein, and may attach to the permit such reasonable conditions as they may deem necessary and appropriate, in order to ensure the protection of the public health, safety and general welfare. (Ord. 1526§ 1)

Section 21.30.030 Permit Application

Unless otherwise determined by the Board of City Commissioners, the applicant shall, as part of its application, provide the City with at least the following information:

- 1) The physical structure in which the temporary homeless shelter will be operated.
 - 2) Identify a temporary homeless shelter coordinator for each physical structure in which the temporary homeless shelter will be operated.
 - A manual of rules and regulations, acceptable to the City Administrator or his designee, for operation of the temporary homeless shelter at each physical structure in which the temporary homeless shelter will be operated. (Ord. 1526§ 1)

Section 21.30.040 Issuance of Permit

Upon receipt of the application materials, the City shall set the matter for a public hearing before the Board of City Commissioners. At least ten (10) days prior to such public hearing, the temporary homeless shelter coordinator identified in the application materials shall notify, in writing, all property owners within 300 feet of the proposed location of the temporary homeless shelter and provide verification to the City of such notification. Such notification shall include at least: (1) the location of the proposed temporary homeless shelter; (2) the date, time and place of

the public hearing; and (3) at the public hearing the Board of City Commissioners will take public comment from any interested person.

Following the public hearing, the Board of City Commissioners may grant the temporary homeless shelter permit if it finds that the applicant has met all requirements of Dickinson City Code regarding operating a temporary homeless shelter; the applicant appears to be a responsible and appropriate operator of a temporary homeless shelter; and granting such temporary homeless shelter permit is in the best interests of the public health, safety and general welfare.

Prior to beginning operations as a temporary homeless shelter, each proposed temporary homeless shelter facility shall be inspected by the City's building department and fire department, which shall verify whether the facility is in compliance with City Code. Any violations of Code shall be required to be corrected prior to beginning operations as a temporary homeless shelter.

If, at any time, a temporary homeless shelter facility is determined to be not in compliance with City Code, or with any other conditions of approval attached by the Board of City Commissioners, the City shall be entitled to: (1) require immediate compliance with City Code or other conditions of approval; or (2) revoke the temporary homeless shelter permit.

The temporary homeless shelter coordinator shall provide a summary of the activities of the temporary homeless shelter at such times as may be required by the City. (Ord. 1526§ 1)

Article 21.40 Mobile Home Community License and

Campground License

Sections:	
21.40.010	Definitions
21.40.020	Mobile Home Community License and Recreational Vehicle Park License
21.40.030	Application for License and Renewal; Fees
21.40.050	Park and/or Campground Standards
21.40.060	Certification Label
21.40.070	Appeal
21.40.080	Diagram for Propane Placement

21.40.010. Definitions

In this article, unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires:

- A. "Mobile home" means a structure meeting the definition of mobile home or Class A Mobile Home under Section 39.02.016(M) of this Code.
- B. "Mobile home lot" means a designated parcel of land, as depicted on a park map or description maintained by the licensee, in a mobile home community designated for the accommodation of one mobile home and its accessory equipment, for exclusive use of the occupants of the mobile home.
- C. "Mobile home community" means a mobile home community, park, or plot of ground under single ownership or management which has been planned and improved for the placement of mobile homes and meeting the definition of a mobile home park under Section 39.02.016(M) of this Code.
- D. "Recreational vehicle" means a vehicular unit primarily designed as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use, which wither has its own motive power or is mounted on or drawn by another vehicle. The basic entities are travel trailer, camping trailer, truck camper, and motor home.
- E. "Campground" means any parcel of land containing three or more lots intended for occupancy by travel trailers or tents.
- F. "Recreational vehicle lot" means a plot of ground within a recreational vehicle park intended for the accommodation of a recreational vehicle, tent, or other individual camping unit on a temporary basis as depicted on a park map or description maintained by the licensee.
- G. "Carport" means a roofed structure, attached or detached, for protection of a vehicle or vehicles, which, if attached to the mobile home is open on at least two sides and, if detached, is open on two or more sides except for necessary roof supports.
- H. "Service building" means a structure housing shower, bath, toilet, lavatory, and such other facilities as may be required by the North Dakota state plumbing code.
- I. "Tent" means a collapsible shelter of canvas or other fabric stretched and sustained by poles and used for camping outdoors.

- J. "Temporary" for the application of this Article shall mean a continuous period of time of up to 270 days.
- K. "All-Weather rated" shall mean a recreational vehicle that has a manufacturers installed enclosed and heated underbelly and is rated down to zero degrees for safe use in applicable weather and temperatures. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.40.020. Mobile home community license and recreational vehicle park license.

- A. It is unlawful for any person to maintain or operate a mobile home community or campground without a valid license issued annually by the Building Official in the name of such person. All applications for licenses must be made to the Building Official and a license issued upon compliance by the applicant with provisions of this chapter.
- B. Every person holding a license shall give notice in writing to the Building Official within 30 days after having sold, transferred, given away or otherwise disposed of interest in or control of any mobile home community or campground. The notice shall include the name and address of the person succeeding to the ownership or control. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.40.030. Application for license and renewal; fees.

Application for a license for a mobile home community and/or campground must be filed with the Building Official. The application shall contain the following:

- A. Name and address of the applicant and the annual fee.
- B. The location and legal description of the mobile home community and/or campground showing all the mobile home lots, recreational vehicle lots, structures, roads and other service facilities.
- C. The annual fee for mobile home parks and recreational vehicle parks shall be set by resolution of the board of city commissioners.
- D. Any additional supporting documentation requested by the Building Official to document compliance with this article.

Applications for renewal of licenses must be made on forms issued by the Building Official and must be accompanied by the required fee and contain any change in the information submitted since the original license was issued or the latest renewal granted. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.40.040. Term of license.

Every license issued under the provisions of this chapter is valid for the period of January 1st of each year through December 31 of that year. Licenses must be posted in the office or on the premises of the mobile home community at all times. Any license issued after January 1st of any year shall be valid only until the following December 31st. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.40.050. Park and/or campground standards.

In addition to the standards located in Chapter 39 of the Dickinson Municipal Code, each licensee shall comply with the following:

- A. The limits of each lot must be marked or clearly defined on the ground. The lot limits must be the same as shown on accepted plans. All lots must be placed in compliance with applicable floodplain requirements.
- B. A mobile home lot must be improved to provide adequate support for placement. The lot may not heave, shift or settle unevenly under the weight of the mobile home due to inadequate drainage. The lot must be graded to provide drainage away from the mobile home. Permanent foundations shall comply with the requirements of the city building code.
- C. Street Standards: Streets in mobile home parks shall be maintained as follows:
 - 1. For any mobile home parks created or expanded after the date of this ordinance all streets shall be paved, such paved streets must meet standards otherwise required in the Dickinson Municipal Code and approved by the City Engineer.
 - 2. For any streets existing in mobile home parks as of the date of enactment of this ordinance, streets that are currently paved must be maintained in good condition and unpaved streets must be constructed or repaired so as to maintain or provide a hard surface adequate to support imposed loads of at least 75,000 in all weather conditions by the licensee within 12 months of the date of enactment of this ordinance.
 - 3. Subsequent to the 12 month period provided for compliance under subsection 2, licensees shall maintain all streets as otherwise required by this section and shall repair any street deficiencies within a reasonable time after discovery.
- D. The connection of water, fuel, sanitary sewer and electrical service must be under the supervision of the mobile home community or campground owner or operator or a qualified representative of the utility company supplying fuel or electrical service. A mobile home may not be occupied before an inspection is conducted by the building official of the following items, as applicable, to insure ordinance compliance:
 - 1. Water and sanitary sewer connections;
 - 2. The electrical service conductors;
 - 3. The placement of the home to insure sideyard and setback requirements;
 - 4. A gas line test conducted by the owner or seller of the mobile home unit and certified by the building official;
 - 5. Heating appliances for transportation damages;
 - 6. Blocking to approved standards;
 - 7. The home is secured by approved tie-downs.
- E. Electrical service for each new or altered mobile home or recreational vehicle lot, as applicable, must comply with North Dakota State Electrical Code. Each existing lot must be provided with an electrical service of adequate size to serve the load.

F. Fuel supply.

- 1. Gas equipment and installation within a mobile home community and/or campground must be designed and constructed in accordance with the provisions of the city or state code. Each lot must be provided with an accessible, listed gas shutoff valve. The valve may not be located under the mobile home. The connector between the gas supply line and the mobile home must be an approved listed flexible mobile home connector of sufficient capacity to supply gas to the connected load.
- 2. Fuel oil equipment and supply must be designed and installed in accordance with the International Fire Code, as adopted by the city.
- 3. Propane Use and Placement shall be in compliance with the Fire and Building Code adopted by the City. A diagram describing set-back requirements is included under Section 21.040.080.
- G. A mobile home community must be provided with an adequate supply of potable water complying with the state health department standards for drinking and domestic use.
- H. Each mobile home lot must be provided with sanitary sewer and water connections. Such plumbing facilities shall conform to the North Dakota State Plumbing Code, as adopted by the City.
- I. Any buildings housing toilet rooms and/or laundry facilities must be a permanent structure. The interior surfaces must be moisture resistant and readily cleanable. Such structures shall meet the requirements of the city building code, and North Dakota Century Code Ch. 23-10.

J. Accessory buildings.

- Accessory buildings and carports must be of standard construction and shall meet
 the requirements of the city building code. An attached entryway may not obstruct
 any required exit from the mobile home. No more than one entryway is allowed for
 each mobile home.
- 2. Individual storm shelters are permitted provided they meet the requirements of the city building code and the consent of the Building Official has been obtained. Such shelters may not be included in lot coverage requirements of the zoning ordinances or be counted as an accessory building to the mobile home lot.
- 3. A mobile home park or community owner shall submit an Emergency Management Plan to the Building Official, and make such plan available to all residents of the mobile home community.
- 4. Accessory structures must be attached to proper foundations. Exceptions to foundations may be granted by the building official provided the methods used shall render them rodent proof and resistant to wind damage.
- 5. Accessory buildings may not be constructed without building permits.
- 6. Accessory storage or utility structures shall comply with setback and sideyard requirements of the zoning ordinances.

K. Occupant and Pet Lists

- 1. Occupancy record. The owner or manager of a mobile home park and/or campground shall maintain a current record of the names of the occupants of the park or campground.
- 2. Pet record. The owner or manager of a mobile home park and/or campground shall maintain a current record of the names of the occupants of the park or campground that maintain pets, and the number and type of pets present.
- L. Temporary and Tie Down requirements for Recreational Vehicles:

The licensee shall require any recreational vehicle present in a mobile home and/or campground to be secured to the ground or tied down if such vehicle remains in the park or campground for a period meeting or exceeding 30 days. The licensee shall not permit a recreational vehicle to remain in the park or campground for a continuous period exceeding 270 days. The licensee shall certify that any recreational vehicle present in the park or campground between the months of December through February shall be All-Weather rated. The licensee shall retain a list of occupant compliance with this section. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.40.060. Certification label.

Each mobile home shall be affixed with a permanent label certifying that the mobile home complies with the requirements of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and is constructed in conformance with the federal mobile home construction and safety standards. Licensee to retain a list of occupant compliance with this section. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.40.070. Appeal

Any licensee aggrieved by a determination of City staff relating to compliance with this section may appeal such determination in accordance with Appeals shall be conducted in accordance with the requirements of Article 21.04 of the City Code. (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

21.040.080. Diagram for Propane Placement

(Diagram to be added). . (Ord. No. 1661§ 1)

Article 21.50 Campground License

Sections:	
21.50.010	Definitions
21.50.020	Campground License
21.50.030	Application for License and Renewal; Fees
21.50.050	Campground Standards
21.50.060	Appeal
21.60.070	Diagram for Propane Placement

21.50.010. Definitions.

In this article, unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires:

- A. "All-Weather rated" shall mean a recreational vehicle that has a manufacturers installed enclosed and heated underbelly and is rated down to zero degrees for safe use in applicable weather and temperatures.
- B. "Campground" means any parcel of land containing three or more lots intended for occupancy by recreational vehicles, travel trailers or tents.
- C. "Campground lot" means a plot of ground that is a minimum of 1500 square feet, within a campground intended for the accommodation of a recreational vehicle, tent, or other individual camping unit on a temporary basis as depicted on a park map or description maintained by the licensee.
- D. "Recreational vehicle" means a vehicular unit primarily designed as temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, or travel use, which has its own motive power or is mounted on or drawn by another vehicle. The basic entities includes a travel trailer, camping trailer, truck camper, and motor home.
- E. "Service building" means a structure housing shower, bath, toilet, lavatory, and such other facilities as may be required by the North Dakota state plumbing code.
- F. "Temporary" for the application of this Article shall mean a continuous period of time of up to 270 days, with a minimum of 30 days absence before another continuous period shall start.
- G. "Tent" means a collapsible shelter of canvas or other fabric stretched and sustained by poles and used for camping outdoors. (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

21.50.020. Campground license.

- A. It is unlawful for any person to maintain or operate a campground without a valid license issued annually by the City in the name of such person. All applications for licenses must be made to the Building Official and a license issued upon compliance by the applicant with provisions of this chapter.
- B. Every person holding a license shall give notice in writing to the Building Official within 30 days after having sold, transferred, given away or otherwise disposed of interest in or control of any campground. The notice shall include the name and address of the person succeeding to the ownership or control. (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

21.50.030. Application for license and renewal; fees

Application for a license for a campground must be filed with the Building Official. The application shall contain the following:

- A. Name and address of the applicant and the annual fee.
- B. The location and legal description of the campground showing all of the campground lots, structures, roads and other service buildings located on the property.
- C. The annual fee for campgrounds shall be set by resolution of the board of city commissioners.
- D. Any additional supporting documentation requested by the Building Official to document compliance with this article.

Applications for renewal of licenses must be made on forms issued by the Building Official and must be accompanied by the required fee and contain any change in the information submitted since the original license was issued or the latest renewal granted. (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

21.50.040. Term of license.

Every license issued under the provisions of this chapter is valid for the period of January 1st of each year through December 31 of that year. Licenses must be posted in the office or on the premises of the campground at all times. Any license issued after January 1st of any year shall be valid only until the following December 31st. (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

21.50.050. Campground standards.

In addition to the standards located in the Dickinson Municipal Code, including Chapter 39, each licensee shall comply with the following standards as applicable to a Campground:

- A. Lot Limits. The limits of each campground lot must be marked or clearly defined. The lot limits must be the same as shown on accepted plans, and be in compliance with applicable municipal, state, and federal requirements. A 10 foot separation must exist between any recreational vehicle or tent.
- B. Campground Street Standards: Streets in campgrounds shall be maintained as follows:
 - 1. For any campgrounds created or expanded after the date of this ordinance, all streets shall be paved, such paved streets must meet standards otherwise required in the Dickinson Municipal Code and approved by the City Engineer.
 - 2. For any campgrounds existing as of the date of enactment of this ordinance, streets that are currently paved must be maintained in good condition and unpaved streets must be constructed or repaired so as to maintain or provide a hard surface adequate to support imposed loads of at least 75,000 in all weather conditions by the licensee within 12 months of the date of enactment of this ordinance.
 - 3. Subsequent to the 12 month period provided for compliance under subsection 2, licensees shall maintain all streets as otherwise required by this section and shall repair any street deficiencies within a reasonable time after discovery.
- C. Water, fuel, sanitary sewer, and electrical connections. The connection of any water, fuel, sanitary sewer and electrical service must be under the supervision of the campground

owner or operator or a qualified representative of the utility company supplying fuel or electrical service, and must comply with municipal, state, and federal requirements.

D. Propane supply.

- 1. In addition to a manufacturer installed or permitted propane tank on a recreation vehicle occupying a campground lot is subject to the following requirements: 1 additional external propane tank not to exceed 120 gallons is permitted on a campground lot.
- 2. Any Propane Use and Placement shall be in compliance with the Fire and Building Code adopted by the City. A diagram describing set-back requirements is included under Section 21.050.070.
- E. A campground must be provided with an adequate supply of potable water complying with the state health department standards for drinking and domestic use in accordance with North Dakota Century Code section 23-10-07.
- F. Any Service Building located in the Campground must meet the requirements of the City Code, and North Dakota Century Code section 23-10-07.
- G. Emergency Management Plan. A campground owner shall submit an Emergency Management Plan to the Building Official, and make such plan available to all occupants of the campground.
- H. A Campground owner or manager shall not permit the construction or installation of accessory buildings, structures, or other non-manufacturer installed accessory structures attached to recreational vehicles on Campground lots by occupants.
- I. Occupancy record. The owner or manager of a Campground shall maintain a current record of the names of the occupants in accordance with North Dakota Century Code section 23-10-09.
- J. The owner or manager of a campground shall not permit a recreational vehicle to remain in the park or campground for a continuous period exceeding 270 days. The owner or manager of a campground shall certify that any recreational vehicle present in the campground between the months of December through February shall be All-Weather rated. The owner or manager shall retain a list of occupant compliance with this section. (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

21.50.060. Appeal.

Any licensee aggrieved by a determination of the Building Official relating to compliance with this section may appeal such determination to the Building Board of Appeals within 20 days of the date the licensee was notified by the Building Official of the non-compliance. (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

21.050.070. Diagram for Propane Placement.

(Diagram to be added). (Ord. No. 1665 § 1)

Chapter 22 MEAT AND MEAT PRODUCTS - This Chapter was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)

Last updated October 2007

Chapter 23 MOTOR VEHICLES AND TRAFFIC

Last updated August, 2023

Articles:

- 23.ED Editor's note to Chapter 23
- 23.04 In General
- 23.08 Traffic Administration
- 23.12 Enforcement of and Obedience to Traffic Regulations
- 23.16 Traffic-Control Devices
- 23.20 Speed Regulations
- 23.24 Turning Movements
- 23.28 One-Way Streets and Alleys
- 23.32 Stop and Yield Intersections
- 23.36 Miscellaneous Driving Rules
- 23.40 Pedestrians' Rights and Duties
- 23.44 Motorcycles
- 23.46 Motorized Skateboards and Motorized Scooters
- 23.48 Bicycles
- 23.52 Angle Parking
- 23.56 Stopping, Standing or Parking Generally
- 23.60 Reserved Parking Areas
- 23.64 Time Limit Parking Zones
- 23.68 Equipment of Vehicles
- 23.72 Regulation of Kinds and Classes of Traffic on Certain Roadways
- 23.76 Criminal Traffic Violations
- 23.80 Disposition of Traffic Offenses
- 23.84 Equipment of Vehicle Size, Weight, and Load Restrictions

Article 23.ED Editor's note to Chapter 23

Sections:

23.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 23

Section 23.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 23

For state law as to authority of city to regulate traffic, see NDCC, \$\$ 40-05-01(17), 40-05-02(14). As to motor vehicles generally, see NDCC, \$ 39-01-01 et seq.

As to bicycles, see Ch. 6 of this Code. As to police, see Ch. 31. As to driving vehicles and animals across sidewalks and curbs, see § 33.04.380.

Article 23.04 In General

Sections:

23.04.010 Definitions

Section 23.04.010 Definitions

Words and phrases used in this chapter shall have the meanings and be defined as provided in the North Dakota Century Code in Title 39, and North Dakota Century Code section 39-10-01 and all subsequent amendments shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

In this chapter, unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Authorized emergency vehicles.

- (a) "Class A Authorized Emergency Vehicles" shall mean:
 - (1) Vehicles of a governmentally-owned fire department.
 - (2) Vehicles when operated by or under the control of a police officer having authority to enforce the provisions of this chapter or by a salaried employee of any municipal police department within the municipality or by any sheriff or deputy sheriff, not to include special deputy sheriffs or by the warden of the state penitentiary and his authorized agents.
 - (3) Ambulances.
 - (4) Vehicles operated by or under the control of the commissioner, and district deputy commissioner, and district deputy game warden of the state game and fish department.
 - (5) Vehicles owned or leased by the United States government used for law-enforcement purposes.
 - (6) Vehicles designated for the use of the adjutant general and assistant adjutant general in cases of emergency.
 - (7) Vehicles operated by or under the control of the director, assistant director and park superintendents of the state parks and recreation department.
- (b) "Class B Authorized Emergency Vehicles" shall mean wreckers and such other emergency vehicles as are authorized by the local authorities.
- (c) "Class C Authorized Emergency Vehicles" means those vehicles authorized by state and local disaster emergency services organizations and those vehicles used by volunteer firemen while performing their assigned disaster and emergency responsibilities.

Bicycle. A motorized bicycle and every device propelled by human power upon which any person may ride, having two tandem wheels either of which is more than twenty inches (50.8 centimeters) in diameter.

Bus. Every motor vehicle designed for carrying more than ten passengers and used for the transportation of persons, and every motor vehicle, other than a taxicab, designated and used for the transportation of persons for compensation; provided, every motor vehicle designed for carrying not more than fifteen persons and used for a ride-sharing arrangement, as defined in North Dakota Century Code, section 8-02-07, is not a "bus."

Business District. The territory contiguous to a highway when fifty percent or more of the frontage thereon for distance of three hundred feet (91.44 meters) or more is occupied by buildings in use for business.

Commercial Freighting. The carriage of things, other than passengers, for hire; except, that such terms shall not include:

- (a) The carriage of things other than passengers within the limits of the same city;
- (b) Carriage by local dray lines of baggage or goods to or from a railroad station from or to places in such city or in the immediate vicinity thereof, in the state, and not to exceed two miles (3.22 kilometers) from the corporate or recognized limits of the city; or
- (c) Hauling done by farmers for their neighbors in transporting agricultural products to or from market.

Commercial passenger transportation. The carriage of passengers for hire; except, that the term shall not include:

- (a) The carriage of passengers within the limits of the city.
- (b) The carriage by local buslines of passengers to or from a railroad station from or to places within any city or within two miles (3.22 kilometers) of the limits of the city.
- (c) The carriage of passengers under a ride-sharing arrangement, as defined in North Dakota Century Code, section 8-02-07.

Commissioner. The commissioner of the state highway department, acting directly or through his authorized agents.

Controlled-Access Highway. Every highway, street or roadway in respect to which owners or occupants of abutting lands and other persons have no legal right of access to or from the same except at such points only and in such manner as may be determined by the public authority having jurisdiction over such highway, street or roadway.

Crosswalk. That part of a roadway at an intersection included within the connections of the lateral lines of the sidewalks on opposite sides of the highway measured from the curbs, or, in the absence of curbs, from the edges of the traversable roadway; or any portion of a roadway at an intersection or elsewhere distinctly indicated for pedestrian crossing by lines or other markings on the surface.

Dealer. Every person, partnership or corporation engaged in the business of buying, selling or exchanging motor vehicles, or who advertises or holds himself out to the public as engaged in the buying, selling or exchanging of motor vehicles for resale. Any person, partnership, corporation or association doing business in several cities or in several locations within a city shall be considered a separate dealer in each such location.

Department. The motor vehicle department of this state.

Director. The director of the division of public safety of this state.

Division. The division of public safety of this state.

Driver. Every person who drives or is in actual physical control of a vehicle.

Essential Parts. All integral and body parts of a vehicle of a type required to be registered hereunder, the removal, alteration or substitution of which would tend to conceal the identity of the vehicle or substantially alter its appearance, model, type or mode of operation.

Explosives. Any chemical compound or mechanical mixture that is commonly used or intended for the purpose of producing an explosion and which contains any oxidizing and

combustive units or other ingredients in such proportions, quantities or packing that an ignition by fire, by friction, by concussion, by percussion or by detonator of any part of the compound or mixture may cause such a sudden generation of highly heated gases that the resultant gaseous pressures are capable of producing destructive effects on contiguous objects or by destroying life or limb.

Farm Tractor. Every motor vehicle designed and used primarily as a farm implement for drawing plows, mowing machines and other implements of husbandry.

Farm Trailer. Those trailers and semitrailers towed by a bona fide resident farmer hauling his own agricultural, horticultural, dairy and other farm products if the gross weight, not including the towing vehicle, does not exceed twenty-four thousand pounds (10,886.22 kilograms).

Flammable Liquid. Any liquid which has a flash point of seventy degrees Fahrenheit (21.11 degrees Celsius) or less, as determined by a Tagliabue or equivalent closed-cup test device.

Gross Weight. The weight of a vehicle without load plus the weight of any load thereon. Guest. A person who accepts a ride in any vehicle without giving compensation therefor.

Highway. The entire width between the boundary lines of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel and of every way privately maintained within a mobile home park, trailer park or campground containing five or more lots for occupancy by mobile homes, travel trailers or tents when any part thereof is open for purposes of vehicular travel.

House Car. A motor vehicle which has been reconstructed or manufactured for private use as sleeping or living quarters.

Implement of Husbandry. Every vehicle designed and adopted exclusively for agricultural, horticultural or livestock raising operations or for lifting or carrying an implement of husbandry and in either case not subject to registration if used upon the highway.

Intersection. The area embraced within the prolongation or connection of the lateral curb lines or, if none, then the lateral boundary lines of the roadways of two highways which join one another at, or approximately at, right angles, or the area within which vehicles traveling upon different highways joining at any other angle may come in conflict. Where a highway includes two roadways thirty feet (9.14 meters) or more apart, then every crossing of each roadway of such divided highway by an intersecting highway shall be regarded as a separate intersection. In the event such intersecting highway also includes two roadways thirty feet (9.14 meters) or more apart, then every crossing of two roadways of such highways shall be regarded as a separate intersection.

Intoxicating Liquor. Any beverage containing alcohol.

Judgment. Any judgment which shall have become final by expiration without appeal of the time within which an appeal might have been perfected, or by final affirmation on appeal, rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction of any state of the United States, upon a cause of action arising out of ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle, for damages, including damages for care and loss of services, because of bodily injury to or death of any person, or for damages because of injury to or destruction of property, including the loss of use thereof, or upon a cause of action on an agreement of settlement for such damages.

Legal Owner. A person who holds the legal title to a vehicle. Lienholder. A person holding a security interest in a vehicle. Local Authorities. Every county, municipal and other local board or body having authority to adopt local police regulations under the constitution and laws of this state.

Mail. To deposit mail properly addressed and with postage prepaid with the United States Postal Service.

Manufacturer. Any person who manufactures, assembles or imports and sells new motor vehicles to new motor vehicle dealers for resale in the state; but such term shall not include a person who assembles or specifically builds interior equipment on a completed vehicle supplied by another manufacturer, distributor or supplier.

Metal Tires. All tires the surface of which in contact with the highway is wholly or partly of metal or other hard, nonresilient material; except, that this provision shall not apply to pneumatic tires.

Motor Vehicle. "Motor vehicle" includes every vehicle which is self-propelled, every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley wires, but not operated upon rails, and, for purposes of motor vehicle registration, title registration, and operator's licenses, motorized bicycles.

Motorcycle. Every motor vehicle having a seat or saddle for the use of the rider and designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground, but excluding implements of husbandry.

Motorized Bicycle. A vehicle equipped with two or three wheels, foot pedals to permit muscular propulsion, a power source providing up to a maximum of two brake horsepower having a maximum piston or motor displacement of 3.05 cubic inches (49.98 milliliters) if a combustion engine is used, which will propel the vehicle, unassisted, at a speed not to exceed thirty miles (48.38 kilometers) per hour on a level road surface, is equipped with a power drive system that functions directly or automatically only, not requiring clutching or shifting by the operator after the drive system is engaged, and shall have a width no greater than thirty-two inches (81.28 centimeters).

Nonresident. Any person who is not a resident of this state.

Nonresident's Operating Privilege. The privilege conferred upon a nonresident by the laws of this state pertaining to the operation by such person of a motor vehicle, or the use of a vehicle owned by such person, in this state.

Official Traffic-Control Devices. All signs, signals, markings and devices not inconsistent with this chapter placed or erected by authority of a public body or official having jurisdiction, for the purpose of regulating, warning or guiding traffic.

Operator. Every person who drives or is in actual physical control of a motor vehicle upon a highway or who is exercising control over or steering a vehicle being towed by a motor vehicle.

Owner. A person, other than a lienholder, having the property in or title to a vehicle. The term includes a person entitled to the use and possession of a vehicle subject to a security interest in another person, but excludes a lessee under a lease not intended as security.

Park. When prohibited, the standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, otherwise than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in loading or unloading.

Pedestrian. Any person afoot.

Person. Every natural person, firm, copartnership, association or corporation.

Pneumatic tires. All tires inflated with compressed air. Pole Trailer. Every vehicle without motive power designated to be drawn by another vehicle and attached to the towing vehicle by means of a reach, or pole or by being boomed or otherwise secured to the towing

vehicle, and ordinarily used for transporting long or irregularly shaped loads such as poles, pipes or structural members capable, generally, of sustaining themselves as beams between the supporting connections.

Police Officer. Every officer authorized to direct or regulate traffic or to make arrests for violations of traffic regulations.

Private Road or Driveway. Every way or place in private ownership and used for vehicular travel by the owner and those having express or implied permission from the owner, but not by other persons.

Proof of Financial Responsibility. Proof of ability to respond in damages for liability, on account of accidents occurring subsequent to the effective date of such proof, arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle, in the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars because of bodily injury to or death of one person in any one accident and, subject to such limit for one person, in the amount of fifty thousand dollars because of bodily injury to or death of two or more persons in any one accident, and in the amount of ten thousand dollars because of injury to or destruction of property of others in any one accident.

Railroad. A carrier of persons or property upon cars, other than streetcars, operated upon stationary rails.

Railroad Sign or Signal. Any sign, signal or device erected by authority of a public body or official or by a railroad and intended to give notice of the presence of railroad tracks or the approach of a railroad train.

Reconstructed Vehicle. Every vehicle of a type required to be registered hereunder materially altered from its original construction by the removal, addition or substitution of essential parts, new or used.

Residence District. Territory contiguous to a highway not comprising a business district, when the frontage on such highway for a distance of three hundred feet (91.44 meters) or more is occupied mainly by dwellings, or by dwellings and buildings in use for business.

Right-of-Way. The privilege of the immediate use of a roadway.

Road Tractor. Every motor vehicle designed and used for drawing other vehicles and not so constructed as to carry any load thereon either independently or any part of the weight of a vehicle or load so drawn.

Roadway. That portion of a highway improved, designed or ordinarily used for vehicular travel, exclusive of the berm or shoulder. In the event a highway includes two or more separate roadways, the term "roadway" as used herein shall refer to any such roadway separately but not to all such roadways collectively.

Saddle Mount. Placing the front wheels of the drawn vehicle upon the bed of the drawing vehicle.

Safety Zone. The area or space officially set aside within a highway for the exclusive use of pedestrians and which is so plainly marked or indicated by proper signs as to be plainly visible at all times while set aside as a safety zone.

Salvage Certificate of Title. A document issued by the department for purposes of proof of ownership of a salvage or destroyed vehicle and not acceptable for motor vehicle registration purposes.

School Bus. Any motor vehicle owned by a public or governmental agency and operated for the transportation of children to or from school or to or from school-related activities, or privately owned and operated for compensation for the transportation of children to or from school or to or from school-related activities.

Semitrailer. Every vehicle of the trailer type so designed and used in conjunction with a truck or truck tractor that some part of its own weight and that of its own load rests upon or is carried by a truck or truck tractor; except, that it shall not include a "house trailer" or "mobile home" as defined in this section.

Sidewalk. That portion of a street between the curb lines, or the lateral lines of a roadway, and the adjacent property lines, intended for use of pedestrians.

Solid Tire. Every tire made of rubber or other resilient material other than a pneumatic tire.

Specially Constructed Vehicle. Any vehicle under distinctive name, make, model or type by a generally recognized manufacturer of vehicles and not materially altered from its original construction.

Stand or Standing. The halting of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, otherwise than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in receiving or discharging passengers.

State. A state, territory or possession of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico or a province of the Dominion of Canada.

Stop. When required, complete cessation from movement.

Stop or Stopping. When prohibited, any halting, even momentarily, of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, except when necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic or in compliance with the directions of a police officer or traffic-control sign or signal.

Street. The entire width between boundary lines of every way publicly maintained when any part thereof is open to the use of the public for purposes of vehicular travel.

Through Highway. Every highway or portion thereof on which vehicular traffic is given preferential right-of-way, and at the entrances to which vehicular traffic from intersecting highways is required by law to yield right-of-way to vehicles on such through highway and in obedience to either a stop sign or yield sign, when such signs are erected by law.

Trackless Trolley Coach. Every motor vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley wires but not operated upon rails.

Traffic. Pedestrians, ridden or herded animals, vehicles, streetcars and other conveyances either singly or together while using any highway for purpose of travel.

Traffic-Control Signal. Any device, whether manually, electrically or mechanically operated, by which traffic is alternately directed to stop and to proceed.

Trailer. Every vehicle without motive power designed to carry property or passengers wholly on its own structure and to be drawn by a motor vehicle; except, that it shall not include a "house trailer" or "mobile home," which terms shall mean a vehicle as defined herein which is designed and intended for use as living or sleeping quarters for people and which is not used for commercial hauling of passengers.

Truck. Every motor vehicle designed, used or maintained primarily for transportation of property.

Truck Tractor. Every motor vehicle designed and used primarily for drawing other vehicles and not so constructed as to carry a load other than a part of the weight of the vehicle and load so drawn.

Urban District. The territory contiguous to and including any street which is built up with structures devoted to business, industry or dwelling houses situated at intervals of less than one hundred feet (30.48 meters) for a distance of a quarter of a mile (402.34 meters) or more.

Used Vehicle. A motor vehicle which has been sold, bargained, exchanged, given away or the title to which has been transferred to another by the person who first acquired it from the manufacturer or importer, dealer or agent of the manufacturer or importer.

Vehicle. Every device in, upon or by which any person or property may be transported or drawn upon a public highway, except devices moved by human power or used exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1002, § 1.)

Article 23.08 Traffic Administration

Sections:	
23.08.010	Traffic divisionEstablished
23.08.020	SameDuties generally
23.08.030	Records of traffic violations
23.08.040	AccidentsTraffic division to investigate
23.08.050	SameStudies
23.08.060	SameReports
23.08.070	Traffic division to designate method of identifying funeral processions

Section 23.08.010 Traffic division--Established

There is hereby established in the police department of this city a traffic division to be under the control of an officer or police person appointed by and directly responsible to the chief of police. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.).

Section 23.08.020 Same--Duties generally

It shall be the duty of the traffic division with such aid as may be rendered by other members of the police department to enforce the street traffic regulations of this city and all of the state vehicle laws, to make arrests for traffic violations, to investigate accidents and to cooperate with the city traffic engineer and other officers of the city in the administration of the traffic laws and in developing ways and means to improve traffic conditions, and to carry out those duties specially imposed upon such division by this chapter and the traffic ordinances of the city. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.08.030 Records of traffic violations

- (a) The police department or the traffic division thereof shall keep a record of all violations of the traffic ordinances of the city or of the state vehicle laws of which any person has been charged, together with a record of the final disposition of all such alleged offenses. Such record shall be so maintained as to show all types of violations and the total of each. Such record shall accumulate during at least a five-year period and from that time on the record shall be maintained complete for at least for the most recent five-year period.
- (b) All forms for records of violations and notices of violations shall be serially numbered. For each month and year a written record shall be kept available to the public showing the disposal of such form.
- (c) All such records and reports shall be public records. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.).

Section 23.08.040 Accidents--Traffic division to investigate

It shall be the duty of the traffic division, assisted by other police officers of the department, to investigate traffic accidents, to arrest and to assist in the prosecution of those persons charged with violations of law causing or contributing to such accidents. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.08.050 Same--Studies

Whenever the accidents at any particular location become numerous, the traffic division shall cooperate with the city traffic engineer in conducting studies of such accidents and determining remedial measures. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.08.060 Same--Reports

The traffic division shall maintain a suitable system of filing traffic accident reports. Accident reports or cards referring to them shall be filed alphabetically by location. Such reports shall be available for the use and information of the city traffic engineer. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.08.070 Traffic division to designate method of identifying funeral processions

The traffic division shall designate a type of pennant or other identifying insignia to be displayed upon, or other method to be employed to identify, the vehicles in funeral processions. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.12 Enforcement of and Obedience to Traffic

Regulations

Sections:	
23.12.010	Authority of police and fire department officials
23.12.020	Traffic commissionCreated; composition; chairman; appointment and terms of members; resignations and removals
23.12.030	SameDuties
23.12.040	Obedience to chapter required
23.12.050	Obedience to police officer or fireman required; fleeing or attempting to elude police officer
23.12.060	Issuance of warrant
23.12.070	Illegally parked vehiclesIssuance and affixing of citation
23.12.080	SameFailure to comply with citation
23.12.090	SamePresumption of ownership and parking of vehicle
23.12.100	Certain nonmotorized traffic to obey traffic regulations
23.12.110	Use of coasters, roller skates and similar devices restricted
23.12.120	Public employees to obey traffic regulations
23.12.130	Emergency vehicles
23.12.140	Operation of vehicles on approach of authorized emergency vehicle
23.12.150	Immediate notice of accidents; reports by garages or repair shops

Section 23.12.010 Authority of police and fire department officials

- (a) It shall be the duty of the officers of the police department or such officers as are assigned by the chief of police to enforce all street traffic laws of the city and all of the state vehicle laws. The chief of police shall have the authority to assign any unsworn officer or staff within the Police Department to enforce parking violations within city limits.
- (b) Officers of the police department or such officers as are assigned by the chief of police are hereby authorized to direct all traffic by voice, hand or signal in conformance with traffic laws; provided, that in the event of a fire or other emergency or to expedite traffic or to safeguard pedestrians, officers of the police department may direct traffic as conditions may require notwithstanding the provisions of the traffic laws.
- (c) Officers of the fire department, when at the scene of a fire, may direct or assist the police in directing traffic thereat or in the immediate vicinity. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1774 § 1.)

Section 23.12.020 Traffic commission--Created; composition; chairman; appointment and terms of members; resignations and removals

There is hereby established a traffic commission, to serve without compensation, consisting of the public works director, or in his discretion, his representative, the chief of police or, in his discretion, his representative, a City Commissioner, and a state highway patrol representative. There shall, in addition to the aforesaid members, be appointed five members from the electorate of the city, whose terms shall be for a period of three years. The board of city commissioners shall appoint one member for a term of five years, one member for a term of four years, one member for a term of three years, one member for a term of two years and one member for a term of one year. Commencing on January 1, 2000, as the terms of office expire, the board of city commissioners shall make appointments for vacancy for three year terms. Any member of the commission may resign or may be removed at the will of the board of city commissioners. (Ord. No. 483, art. 2, paragraph 20-030; Ord. No. 511, paragraph 1; Ord. No. 898, § 1; Ord. No. 1200, § 1; Ord. No. 1247 § 1.)

Section 23.12.030 Same--Duties

It shall be the duty of the traffic commission, and it shall have the authority within the limits of the funds at its disposal, to coordinate traffic activities, to carry on educational activities in traffic matters, to supervise the preparation and publication of traffic reports, to receive complaints having to do with traffic matters and to recommend to the legislative body of the city, the city engineer, the chief of police and other city officials ways and means for improving traffic conditions and the administration and enforcement of traffic regulations. (Ord. No. 483, art. 2, paragraph 20-030; Ord. No. 511, paragraph 1; Ord. No. 898, § 1.)

Section 23.12.040 Obedience to chapter required

It shall be unlawful for any person to do any act forbidden or fail to perform any act required by the provisions of this chapter, and upon conviction of a violation of any of the provisions of this chapter, every person shall be punished as provided in section 20-162. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.12.050 Obedience to police officer or fireman required; fleeing or attempting to elude police officer

- (a) No person shall willfully refuse to comply with any lawful order or direction of any police officer or fireman vested by law with authority to direct, control or regulate traffic. Such violation shall be a class B misdemeanor as required by state law.
- (b) Any driver of a motor vehicle who willfully fails or refuses to bring his vehicle to a stop, or who otherwise flees or attempts to elude a pursuing police vehicle when given a visual or audible signal to bring the vehicle to a stop, shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor. The signal given by the police officer may be by hand, voice, emergency light or siren. The officer giving such signal shall be in uniform, prominently displaying his badge of office, and his vehicle shall be appropriately marked showing it to be an official police vehicle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 872, § 1.)

Section 23.12.060 Issuance of warrant

In the event any person fails to comply with a traffic citation given to such person or attached to a vehicle, or fails to make appearance pursuant to a summons directing an appearance in the municipal court, as the case may be, or if any person fails or refuses to deposit bail as required and within the time permitted by ordinance, the clerk of the municipal court shall secure and issue a warrant for his arrest. (Ord. No. 881, § 1.)

Section 23.12.070 Illegally parked vehicles--Issuance and affixing of citation

Whenever any motor vehicle without driver is found parked or stopped in violation of any of the restrictions imposed by ordinance of the city or by state law, the officer finding such vehicle shall take its registration number and may take any other information displayed on the vehicle which may identify its user and shall conspicuously affix to such vehicle a traffic citation on a form provided by the city auditor for the driver to answer to the charge against him within five days during the hours and at a place specified in the citation. (Ord. No. 881, § 1.)

Section 23.12.080 Same--Failure to comply with citation

If a violator of the restrictions of article 23.56 does not appear in response to a traffic citation affixed to such motor vehicle within a period of five days, the municipal court shall send the owner of the motor vehicle to which the traffic citation was affixed a letter informing him of the violation and warning him that in the event such letter is disregarded for a period of five days a warrant of arrest will be issued. (Ord. No. 881, § 1.)

Section 23.12.090 Same--Presumption of ownership and parking of vehicle

- (a) In any prosecution charging a violation of any law or regulation governing the standing or parking of a vehicle proof that the particular vehicle described in the complaint was parked in violation of any such law or regulation together with proof that the defendant named in the complaint was at the time of such parking the registered owner of such vehicle shall constitute in evidence a prima facie presumption that the registered owner of such vehicle was the person who parked or placed such vehicle at the point where and for the time during which such violation occurred.
- (b) The foregoing stated presumption shall apply only where the procedure as prescribed in sections 23.12.070 and 23.12.080 has been followed. (Ord. No. 881, § 1.)

Section 23.12.100 Certain nonmotorized traffic to obey traffic regulations

(a) Every person propelling any pushcart upon a roadway shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by this chapter and by the rules of the road portion of the State Vehicle Code, except those provisions which by their very nature can have no application.

(b) Every person riding a bicycle or an animal or driving any animal drawn vehicle upon a roadway shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by this chapter except those provisions of this chapter which by their very nature can have no application. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.12.110 Use of coasters, roller skates and similar devices restricted

No person upon roller skates, or riding in or by means of any coaster, toy vehicle or similar device, shall go upon any roadway except while crossing a street on a crosswalk and when so crossing such person shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to pedestrians. This section shall not apply upon any street while set aside as a play street as authorized herein. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.12.120 Public employees to obey traffic regulations

The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the drivers of all vehicles owned or operated by the United States, this state or any county, town, district or any other political subdivision of the state, subject to such specific exceptions as are set forth in this chapter or in the State Vehicle Code. (Ord. No. 866, §1.)

Section 23.12.130 Emergency vehicles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, sections 39-10-03, 39-10-03.1 and 39-10-03.2, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Class A Authorized Emergency Vehicles.
 - (1) The driver of a class A authorized emergency vehicle may:
 - a. Park or stand, irrespective of the provisions of this chapter;
 - b. Proceed past a red or stop signal or stop sign, but only after slowing down as may be necessary for safe operation;
 - c. Exceed the speed limit so long as he does not endanger life or

property; and

- d. Disregard regulations governing directions of movement or turning in specified directions
- (2) The exceptions herein granted to a class A authorized emergency vehicle shall apply only:
 - a. When the authorized emergency vehicle is in pursuit of or apprehension of a violator or a suspected violator requiring the use of these exemptions;
 - b. When the class A authorized emergency vehicle is being operated in response to a reported emergency involving a possible personal injury, death or damage to property, and when giving audible signal by siren or when giving adequate warning by use of a flashing red or combination red and white lights which are visible under normal atmospheric conditions for at least five hundred feet (152.4 meters); or

- c. In any instance when the head of a law-enforcement agency deems advisable within the area of his jurisdiction for the protection of persons and property and when giving audible signal by siren or when giving adequate warning by use of a flashing red or combination red and white lights which are visible under normal atmospheric conditions for at least five hundred feet (152.4 meters).
- (3) No emergency vehicle shall display or permit to be displayed any red lamp except when operated on official business.
- (b) Class B Authorized Emergency Vehicles.
 - (1) The driver of a class B authorized emergency vehicle may:
 - a. Park or stand, irrespective of the provisions of this chapter;
 - b. Exceed the speed limit so long as he does not endanger life or property during the time of a local or national disaster; and
 - c. Disregard regulations governing direction of movement or turning in specified directions.
 - (2) The exceptions herein granted to a class B authorized emergency vehicle shall apply only when the authorized emergency vehicle is displaying an amber light visible under normal atmospheric conditions for a distance of five hundred feet in any direction, and:
 - a. When it is necessary for the authorized emergency vehicle to use these exemptions for the immediate protection of life or property;
 - b. When an authorized emergency vehicle is stopped on a highway for the purpose of performing a duty as required of him; or
 - c. When traveling at a speed slower than the normal flow of traffic.
- (c) Class C Authorized Emergency Vehicle. All class B specifications apply to class C authorized emergency vehicles; except, that a rotating blue flashing light shall be displayed in place of an amber light as provided in section 39-10-03.1 of the North Dakota Century Code. The division of disaster emergency services shall be responsible for promulgating the rules for the use of flashing blue lights in accordance with chapter 28-32 of the North Dakota Century Code.
- (d) Any law-enforcement officer who has stopped another vehicle along a highway and is still involved in that incident, where flashing red or combination red and white lights were used in making the stop, may switch to the use of amber lights, visible under normal atmospheric conditions for at least five hundred feet (152.4 meters), for the purpose of maintaining traffic flow. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.12.140 Operation of vehicles on approach of authorized emergency vehicle

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-26, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

(a) Upon the immediate approach of an authorized emergency vehicle giving an audible signal by bell, siren or exhaust whistle and displaying a visible flashing, revolving or rotating blue, white or red light, the driver of every other vehicle shall yield to the right-of-way and shall immediately drive to a position parallel

- to, and as close as possible to, the right-hand edge or curb of the roadway clear of any intersection and shall stop and remain in such position until the authorized emergency vehicle has passed, except when otherwise directed by a police officer.
- (b) Whenever an emergency vehicle is parked or stopped at the scene of an emergency and is displaying a flashing, revolving or rotating blue, white or red light, approaching traffic shall move to the right-hand edge or curb of the roadway and shall stop, but once having stopped, traffic may proceed past the scene at its own risk when the roadway is clear, except when otherwise directed by a police officer.
- (c) This section shall not operate to relieve the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle from the duty to drive with due regard for the safety of all persons using the highways. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.12.150 Immediate notice of accidents; reports by garages or repair shops

- (a) The driver of a vehicle involved in an accident resulting in injury to or death of any person, or property damage to an apparent extent of at least four thousand dollars, shall immediately give notice of the accident to the local police department if the accident occurs within a municipality. Any person who violates this section must be assessed a fine of one hundred dollars. The name of the motor vehicle insurance policy carrier and the policy number of the driver or, if the driver is not the owner of the vehicle, the motor vehicle insurance policy carrier and the policy number of the owner of the vehicle must be furnished to the law enforcement officer investigating the accident. If the driver does not have the required information concerning insurance to furnish to the investigating law enforcement officer, the driver shall, within five days of the accident, supply that information to the driver's license division in the form the division requires.
- (b) When it shall appear to the magistrate that any person has failed to give immediate notice in compliance with this section or has failed to furnish the necessary insurance information to the driver's license division within five days of the accident, should the person not have the required information at the time of the accident, the magistrate shall notify the highway commissioner of such failure, so that appropriate action may be taken pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-09.
- (c) An accident notice is not required from any person who is physically incapable of making the report during the period of such incapacity.
 - (2) Whenever the driver of a vehicle is physically incapable of giving an immediate notice of an accident and there was another occupant in the vehicle at the time of the accident capable of doing so, such occupant shall make or cause to be given the notice not given by the driver.
 - (3) Whenever the driver is physically incapable of giving notice of an accident and such driver is not the owner of the vehicle, the owner of the vehicle involved shall, within five days after learning of the accident, give such notice and insurance information not given by the driver.
- (d) The person in charge of any garage or repair shop to which is brought any motor vehicle which shows evidence of having been involved in a reportable accident as provided in subsection (a) of this section or of being struck by any bullet, shall report or cause a

report to be made to a police officer within twenty-four hours after such motor vehicle is received, and before any repairs are made to such vehicle, giving the registration number and the name and address of the owner, operator or person in control of such vehicle with a description of the location and type of damage to the vehicle, or any missing parts, if the vehicle does not have a sticker on a window thereto issued by a police officer, sheriff or highway patrolman bearing information to show that the accident in which the vehicle was involved had been investigated. The police officer investigating any reportable accident shall attach a sticker to the window of any damaged vehicle showing that the accident in which such vehicle was involved has been investigated. If the vehicle does bear such a sticker the garage or repair shop need not make the report this subsection requires and may begin repairs immediately. After repairs have been made and before the vehicle is released, the sticker provided for herein shall be removed. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 972, §§ 1 to 3; Ord. No. 993, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, § 1; Ord. No. 1679, § 2)

Article 23.16 Traffic-Control Devices

Sections:	
23.16.010	Authority to install
23.16.020	Specifications
23.16.030	Traffic-control signal legend
23.16.040	Flashing signals
23.16.050	Pedestrian control signals
23.16.060	Designation of walks, lanes, etc.
23.16.070	Obedience to required traffic-control devices.
23.16.080	Unauthorized signs
23.16.090	Interference with official traffic-control devices or railroad signs or signals
23.16.100	Avoiding a Traffic Device

Section 23.16.010 Authority to install

The city engineer or any person authorized by the governing body shall place and maintain traffic-control signs, signals, traffic preemption devices and devices when and as required under the traffic ordinances of the city to make effective the provisions of such ordinances, and may place and maintain such additional traffic-control devices as he may deem necessary to regulate traffic under the traffic ordinances of the city or under state law, or to guide or warn traffic. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.020 Specifications

All traffic-control signs, signals and devices shall conform to the specifications approved by the state highway commissioner pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, section 39-13-06. All signs and signals required hereunder for a particular purpose shall, so far as practicable, be uniform as to type and location throughout the city. All traffic-control devices so erected and not inconsistent with the provisions of state law or this article shall be official traffic-control devices. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.030 Traffic-control signal legend

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-05, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Whenever traffic is controlled by traffic-control signals exhibiting different colored lights or colored lighted arrows, successively one at a time or in combination, only the colors green, red and yellow shall be used, except for special pedestrian signals carrying a word or legend, and such lights shall indicate and apply to drivers of vehicles and pedestrians as follows.

- (a) Green Indication.
 - (1) Vehicular traffic facing a circular green signal may proceed straight through or turn right or left unless a sign at such place prohibits either such turn. But vehicular traffic, including vehicles turning right or left, shall yield the right-of-way to other vehicles and to pedestrians lawfully within the intersections or an adjacent crosswalk at the time such signals are exhibited.

- (2) Vehicular traffic facing a green arrow signal, shown alone or in combination with another indication, may cautiously enter the intersection only to make the movement indicated by such arrow or such other movement as is permitted by other indications shown at the same time. Such vehicular traffic shall yield the right-of-way to pedestrians lawfully within an adjacent crosswalk and to other traffic lawfully using the intersection.
- (3) Unless otherwise directed by a pedestrian-control signal as provided for in section 23.16.050, pedestrians facing any green signal, except when the sole green signal is a turn arrow, may proceed across the roadway within any marked or unmarked crosswalk.
- (b) Steady Yellow Indication.
 - (1) Vehicular traffic facing a steady yellow signal is thereby warned that the related green movement is being terminated or that a red indication will be exhibited immediately thereafter when vehicular traffic shall not enter the intersection.
 - (2) Pedestrians facing a steady yellow signal unless otherwise directed by a pedestrian-control signal as provided for in section 23.16.050 are thereby advised that there is insufficient time to cross the roadway before a red indication is shown and no pedestrian shall then start to cross the roadway.
- (c) Steady Red Indication.
 - (1) Vehicular traffic facing a steady red signal alone shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, but if none, before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection, or if none, then before entering the intersection and shall remain standing until an indication to proceed is shown, except as provided for in paragraph (2) of this subsection.
 - (2) Except when a sign is in place prohibiting a turn, vehicular traffic facing a steady red signal may cautiously enter the intersection to turn right, or to turn left from a one-way street into a one-way street, after stopping as required by paragraph (1) of this subsection. Such vehicular traffic shall yield the right-of-way to pedestrians lawfully within adjacent crosswalk and to other traffic lawfully using the intersection.
 - (3) Unless otherwise directed by a pedestrian-control signal as provided for in section 23.16.050, pedestrians facing a steady red signal alone shall not enter the roadway.

In the event an official traffic-control signal is erected and maintained at a place other than an intersection, the provisions of this section shall be applicable, except as to those provisions which by their nature can have no application. Any stop required shall be made at a sign or marking on the pavement indicating where the stop shall be made, but in the absence of any such sign or marking the stop shall be made at the signal. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.040 Flashing signals

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-07, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Whenever an illuminated flashing red or yellow light is used in a traffic signal or with a traffic sign, it shall require obedience by vehicular traffic as follows:
 - (1) Flashing Red (Stop signal). When a red lens is illuminated with rapid intermittent flashes, drivers of vehicles shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, or, if none, before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection, or, if none, then at the point nearest the intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting roadway before entering it, and the right to proceed shall be subject to the rules applicable after making a stop at a stop sign.
 - (2) Flashing Yellow (Caution Signal). When a yellow lens is illuminated with rapid intermittent flashes, drivers of vehicles may proceed through the intersection or past such signal only with caution.
- (b) This section shall not apply at railroad grade crossings. Conduct of drivers of vehicles approaching railroad grade crossings shall be governed by the rules as set forth in section 23.32.060. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.050 Pedestrian control signals

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-06, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) "Walk." Pedestrians facing such signal may proceed across the roadway in the direction of the signal and shall be given the right-of-way by the drivers of all vehicles:
- (b) "Don't Walk." No pedestrians shall start to cross the roadway in the direction of such signal, but any pedestrian who has partially completed his crossing on the walk signal shall proceed to a sidewalk or safety island while the "Don't Walk" signal is showing. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.060 Designation of walks, lanes, etc.

The city engineer or any person shall, when authorized by the governing body:

- (a) Designate and maintain, by appropriate devices, marks or lines upon the surface of the roadway, crosswalks at intersections where there is particular danger to pedestrians crossing the roadway, and at such other places as directed by the governing body.
- (b) Establish safety zones of such kind and character and at such places as may be deemed necessary for the protection of pedestrians as determined by the governing body.
- (c) Mark traffic lanes upon the roadway of any street or highway where a regular alignment of traffic is necessary. Where such traffic lanes have been marked, it shall be unlawful for the operator of any vehicle to fail or

refuse to keep such vehicle within the boundaries of any such lane except when lawfully passing another vehicle or preparatory to making a lawful turning movement or performing other lawful traffic movements. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.070 Obedience to required traffic-control devices.

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-04, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of any vehicle shall obey the instruction of any official traffic-control device applicable thereto placed in accordance with the provisions of this chapter, unless otherwise directed by a traffic or police officer, subject to the exceptions granted the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle in this chapter.
- (b) No provision of this chapter for which traffic-control devices are required shall be enforced against an alleged violator if at the time and place of the alleged violation an official device is not in proper position and sufficiently legible to be seen by an ordinarily observant person. Whenever a state statute does not state the devices are required, such statute shall be effective even though no devices are erected or in place.
- (c) Whenever official traffic-control devices are placed in positions approximately conforming to the requirements of this chapter, such devices shall be presumed to have been so placed by the official act or direction of lawful authority, unless the contrary shall be established by competent evidence.
- (d) Any official traffic-control device placed pursuant to the provisions of this chapter and purporting to conform to the lawful requirements pertaining to services shall be presumed to comply with the requirement of this chapter, unless the contrary shall be established by competent evidence. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.080 Unauthorized signs

No person shall place, maintain or display upon or in view of any street any authorized sign, signal, marking or device which purports to be or is in imitation of or resembles an official traffic-control device or railroad sign or signal, or which attempts to direct the movement of traffic, or which hides from view or interferes with the effectiveness of any official traffic-control device or any railroad sign or signal. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.090 Interference with official traffic-control devices or railroad signs or signals

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-07 3, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person shall, without lawful authority, attempt to or in fact alter, deface, injure, knock down or remove any official traffic-control device or any railroad sign or signal or any inscription, shield or insignia thereon, or any other part thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.16.100 Avoiding a Traffic Device

It is unlawful for a driver of any motor vehicle to drive off of a street, highway, or other public way and across a parking lot, private drive, or other private property to another street, highway, or other public way, so as to avoid a traffic signal or sign or to take a "short-cut" across such parking lot, private drive, or private property from one street or highway to another. (Ord. No. 1400 § 1)

Article 23.20 Speed Regulations

Sections:	
23.20.010	Basic rule
23.20.020	Speed limitations generally
23.20.030	When local authorities may or shall alter maximum speed limits; posting of signs
23.20.040	Speed limitations inapplicable to certain emergency vehicles; liability of exempt driver for reckless driving
23.20.050	Minimum speed limits
23.20.060	Regulation of speed by traffic signals
23.20.065	Speed of trains
23.20.070	Exhibition driving and drag racing prohibited; penalty
23.20.080	Radar evidence in speed violations
23.20.090	Care required in operating vehicle
23.20.100	Use of Compression Brakes Prohibited

Section 23.20.010 Basic rule

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-09-01, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person shall drive a vehicle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing. Consistent with the foregoing, every person shall drive at a safe and appropriate speed when approaching and crossing an intersection or railroad grade crossing, when approaching and going around a curve, when approaching a hill crest, when traveling upon any narrow or winding roadway, and when special hazards exist with respect to pedestrians or other traffic or by reason of weather or highway conditions. Any person who shall drive a vehicle upon a highway or private or public property open to the public for the operation of motor vehicles without heed to the requirements or restrictions of this section shall have committed careless driving, and shall be assessed a fee of thirty dollars. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.20.020 Speed limitations generally

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-09-02, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Subject to the provisions of section 23.20.010 and state law regulating the speed of vehicles it shall be unlawful for any person to drive a vehicle at a speed in excess of 25 miles per hour or at a speed in excess of the speed limit when signs are in place giving notice thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 881, § 1; Ord. No. 938, § 1; Ord. No. 947, § 1; Ord. No. 955, § 1; Ord. No. 962, § 1; Ord. No. 1005, § 1; Ord. No. 1018, § 1; Ord. No. 1061, § 1; Ord. No. 1165 § 1; Ord. No. 1590 § 1.)

Section 23.20.030 When local authorities may or shall alter maximum speed limits; posting of signs

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-09-03, and all subsequent amendments shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Whenever the city, on the basis of any engineering and traffic investigation, determines that the maximum speed permitted under this chapter is greater or less than is reasonable and safe under the conditions found to exist upon a highway or part of a highway, the city may determine and declare a reasonable and safe maximum limit thereon which:
 - (1) Decreases the limit at an intersection;
 - (2) Increases the limit within an urban district but not to more than fifty-five miles per hour; or
 - (3) Decreases the limit outside an urban district, but not to less than thirty-five miles per hour.
- (b) The city shall determine by an engineering and traffic investigation the proper maximum speed for arterial streets and shall declare a reasonable and safe maximum limit thereon which may be greater or less than the minimum speed permitted under this chapter for an urban district.
- (c) Any altered limit established as hereinabove authorized shall be effective at all times or during hours of darkness or at other times as may be determined when appropriate signs giving notice thereof are erected upon such street or highway.
- (d) Any alteration of maximum limits on state highways or extensions thereof in the municipality shall not be effective until such alteration has been approved by the state highway commissioner.
- (e) Not more than six such alterations as hereinabove authorized shall be made per mile along a street or highway except in the case of reduced limits at intersections, and the difference between adjacent limits shall not be more an ten miles (16.09 kilo-meters) per hour. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.20.040 Speed limitations inapplicable to certain emergency vehicles; liability of exempt driver for reckless driving

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-09-06, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The speed limitations provided for in this article shall not apply to class A authorized emergency vehicles. The exceptions provided for in this section shall not protect the driver of any such vehicle from the consequences of a reckless disregard of the safety of others. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.20.050 Minimum speed limits

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-09-09, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

(a) No person shall drive a motor vehicle at such a slow speed as to impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic except when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation or in compliance with law.

(b) Whenever the state highway commissioner and the superintendent of the highway patrol, acting jointly, or the city, determine on the basis of engineering and traffic investigation that slow speeds on any highway or part of a highway impede the normal and reasonable movement of traffic, the commissioner and superintendent or the city may determine and declare a minimum speed limit below which no person shall drive a vehicle except when necessary for safe operation or in compliance with law, and that limit shall be effective when posted upon appropriate fixed or variable signs. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.20.060 Regulation of speed by traffic signals

The city traffic engineer or authorized person may regulate the timing of traffic signals so as to permit the movement of traffic in an orderly and safe manner at speeds slightly at variance from the speeds otherwise applicable within the district or at intersection and shall erect appropriate signs giving notice thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.20.065 Speed of trains

No person shall operate any locomotive engine, railroad car or train of cars across any street or sidewalk crossing any railroad in the city at a greater speed than the speed as set forth as the maximum allowable operating speed for the Classification of the track at such crossing, in Part 213.9 of the Code of Federal Regulations, but in no event shall the speed at any crossing exceed forty miles per hour. This speed restriction herein shall apply only to the engine or leading end of all trains.

All track in the City of Dickinson is currently classified as CLASS 3 Track. If the Classification of any track is changed, the railroad shall file with the City Administrator a notice specifying the new Classification. The allowable speed for the new Classification shall be effective upon the filing of said notice. (Ord. No. 1110, § 2; Ord. No. 1172 § 1.)

Section 23.20.070 Exhibition driving and drag racing prohibited; penalty

The provision of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-03.1, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person shall engage in exhibition driving of any vehicle on a highway, street, alley, sidewalk or any public or private parking lot or area, nor shall any person engage in a race, a speed competition, drag race or acceleration contest, test of physical endurance, or exhibition of speed or acceleration. Any person who violates this section by engaging in an act defined by subsection (b) must be assessed a fee.
- (b) As used in this section:
 - (1) "Drag Race" means the operation of two or more vehicles from a point side-by-side by accelerating rapidly in a competitive attempt to cause one vehicle to outdistance the other; or the operation of one or more vehicles over a common selected course from the same point to the same point for the purpose of comparing the relative speed or powers of acceleration of such vehicle or vehicles within a certain distance or time limit.

- (2) "Exhibition Driving" means driving a vehicle in a manner which disturbs the peace by creating or causing unnecessary engine noise, tire squeal, skid or slide upon acceleration or braking; or driving and executing or attempting one or a series of unnecessarily abrupt turns.
- (3) "Race" means the use of one or more vehicles in an attempt to outgain, outdistance or to arrive at a given distance ahead of another vehicle or vehicles; or the use of one or more vehicles to willfully prevent another vehicle from passing the racing vehicle or vehicles, or to test the physical stamina or endurance of the persons driving the vehicles over a long distance driving route.
- (c) Nothing in this section shall be construed as prohibiting drag racing, exhibition driving or similar events when carried out in an organized manner on a track or other privately owned area specifically set aside and used solely for such purposes by drivers of motor vehicles, including snowmobiles. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, §2; Ord. No. 1590, § 2)

Section 23.20.080 Radar evidence in speed violations

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-03-15, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The speed of any motor vehicle may be checked by the use of radio microwaves or other electrical device. The results of such checks shall be accepted as prima facie evidence of the speed of such motor vehicle in any court or legal proceedings where the speed of the motor vehicle is at issue. The driver of any such motor vehicle may be arrested without a warrant under this section, provided the arresting officer is in uniform or displays his badge of authority; provided, that such officer has observed the record of the speed of such motor vehicle by the radio microwaves or other electrical device, or has received a radio message from the officer who observed the speed of the motor vehicle recorded by the radio microwaves or other electrical device. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.20.090 Care required in operating vehicle

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-09-01.1, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any person driving a vehicle upon a highway or upon public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in the City shall drive the vehicle in a careful and prudent manner, having due regard to the traffic, surface and width of the highway or said public or private areas and other conditions then existing, and shall give such warnings as are reasonably necessary for safe operation under the circumstances. No person may drive any vehicle upon a highway or upon public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in a manner to endanger the life, limb or property of any person. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1117 § 1.)

Section 23.20.100 Use of Compression Brakes Prohibited

It shall be unlawful for the operator of a motor vehicle to retard the forward motion of said vehicle through the use of compression brakes, commonly known as "jake brakes," which use

the vehicle's engine compression to slow the engine's revolutions per minute. The fine for violating this section is forty dollars (\$40) (Ord. No. 1263 § 1; Ord. No. 1267 § 1.)

Article 23.24 Turning Movements

Sections:	
23.24.010	Authority to place devices altering normal course for turns
23.24.020	Authority to place restricted turn signs
23.24.030	Obedience to signs required
23.24.040	Required position and method of turning at intersections
23.24.050	Vehicle turning left at intersection
23.24.060	Limitations on turning around
23.24.070	Turning movements and required signals generally
23.24.080	Signals by hand and arm or signal lamps
23.24.090	Methods of giving hand and arm signals

Section 23.24.010 Authority to place devices altering normal course for turns

The city traffic engineer or other authorized person may place official traffic-control devices within or adjacent to intersections indicating the course to be traveled by vehicles turning at such intersections, and such course to be traveled as so indicated may conform to or be other than prescribed by law. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.020 Authority to place restricted turn signs

The city traffic engineer or other authorized person may determine those intersections at which drivers of vehicles shall not make a right, left or U turn and shall place proper signs at such intersections. The making of such turns maybe prohibited between certain hours of any day and permitted at other hours, in which event the same shall be plainly indicated on the signs or they may be removed when such turns are permitted. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.030 Obedience to signs required

Whenever authorized signs are erected indicating that no right or left or U turn is permitted, no driver of a vehicle shall disobey the direction of such sign. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.040 Required position and method of turning at intersections

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-35, and-all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn at an intersection shall do so as follows:

- (a) Right Turns. Both the approach for a right turn and a right turn shall be made as close as practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway;
- (b) Left Turns on Two-Way Roadways. At any intersection where traffic is permitted to move in both directions on each roadway entering the intersection, an approach for a left turn shall be made in that portion of the right half of the roadway nearest the centerline thereof and by passing to the right of such centerline where it enters the intersection and after entering the intersection the left turn shall be made so as to leave the

- intersection to the right of the centerline of the roadway being entered. Whenever practicable the left turn shall be made in that portion of the intersection to the left of the center of the intersection;
- (c) Left Turns on Other Than Two-Way Roadways. At any intersection where traffic is restricted to one direction on one or more of the roadways, the driver of a vehicle intending to turn left at any such intersection shall approach the intersection in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle and after entering the intersection the left turn shall be made so as to leave the intersection, as nearly as practicable, in the left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in such direction upon the roadway being entered.

The city may cause markers, buttons or signs to be placed within or adjacent to intersections and thereby require and direct that a different course from that specified in this section be traveled by vehicles turning at an intersection, and when markers, buttons, or signs are so placed no driver of a vehicle shall turn a vehicle at an intersection other than as directed and required by such markers, buttons or signs. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.050 Vehicle turning left at intersection

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-23, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn to the left within an intersection or into any alley, private road or driveway shall yield the right-of-way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction which is within the intersection or so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.060 Limitations on turning around

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-36, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of any vehicle shall not turn such vehicle so as to proceed in the opposite direction unless such movement can be made in safety and without interfering with other traffic.
- (b) No vehicle shall be turned so as to proceed in the opposite direction upon any curve or upon the approach to or near the rest of a grade, where such vehicle cannot be seen by the driver of any other vehicle approaching from either direction within five hundred feet.
- (c) The driver of any vehicle shall not turn such vehicle so as to proceed in an opposite direction upon any street in a business district and shall not upon any other street so turn a vehicle unless such movement can be made in safety and without interfering with other traffic. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.070 Turning movements and required signals generally

The provision of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-38, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person shall turn a vehicle at an intersection unless the vehicle is in proper position upon the roadway as required in section 23.29.040 or turn a vehicle to enter a private road or driveway, or otherwise turn a vehicle from a direct course, move right or left upon a roadway, or merge into or from traffic unless and until such movements can be made with reasonable safety. No person shall so turn any vehicle without giving an appropriate signal in the manner hereinafter provided in the event any other traffic may be affected by such movement.
- (b) A signal of intention to turn, move right or left, or merge into or from traffic shall be given continuously during not less than the last one hundred feet travelled by the vehicle before turning, moving right or left, or changing lanes.
- (c) No person shall stop or suddenly decrease the speed of a vehicle without first giving an appropriate signal in the manner provided herein to the driver of any vehicle immediately to the rear when there is opportunity to give such signal.
- (d) The signals required on vehicles by subsection (b) of section 23.24.080 shall not be flashed on one side only on a disabled vehicle, flashed as a courtesy or "do pass" signal to operators of other vehicles approaching from the rear, nor be flashed on one side only of a parked vehicle except as may be necessary for compliance with this section. (Ord. No. 866, § 1, Ord. No. 1723 § 1.)

Section 23.24.080 Signals by hand and arm or signal lamps

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-39, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Any stop or turn signal when required herein shall be given either by means of the hand and arm or by signal lamps, except as otherwise provided in subsection (b) of this section.
- (b) Any motor vehicle in use on a highway shall be equipped with, and required signals shall be given by, signal lamps when the distance from the center of the top of the steering post to the left outside limit of the body, cab or load of such motor vehicle exceeds twenty-four inches, or when the distance from the center of the top of the steering post to the rear limit of the body or load thereof exceeds fourteen feet. The latter measurement shall apply to any single vehicle and to any combination of vehicles. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.24.090 Methods of giving hand and arm signals

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-40, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

All signals herein required given by hand and arm shall be given from the left side of the vehicle in the following manner, and such signals shall indicate as follows:

(a) Left turn: Hand and arm extended horizontally.

- (b)
- Right turn: Hand and arm extended upward. Stop or decrease speed: Hand and arm extended downward. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.) (c)

Article 23.28 One-Way Streets and Alleys

Sections:

23.28.010 Authority to designate; signs required

Section 23.28.010 Authority to designate; signs required

The city traffic engineer or authorized person may determine and designate one-way streets or alleys and shall place and maintain official traffic-control devices giving notice thereof. No such designation shall be effective unless such devices are in place. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.32 Stop and Yield Intersections

Sections:	
23.32.010	Stop signs and yield signs
23.32.16.100	Avoiding a Traffic Device (REPEALED)
23.32.020	Additional provisions as to stop signs and yield signs
23.32.23.16.100	Avoiding a Traffic Device (REPEALED)
23.32.030	Designated through streets
23.32.040	Emerging from alley, driveway, private road or building
23.32.050	Obedience to signal indicating approach of train
23.32.055	Obstruction of streets
23.32.060	All vehicles must stop at certain railroad grade crossings
23.32.070	Certain vehicles must stop at all railroad grade crossings

Section 23.32.010 Stop signs and yield signs

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-44, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Preferential right-of-way at an intersection may be indicated by stop signs or yield signs.
- (b) Every stop sign and every yield sign shall be erected as near as practicable to the nearest line of the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection or, if there is no crosswalk, then as near as practicable to the nearest line of the intersecting roadway.
- (c) Every stop sign shall bear the word "Stop" in letters not less than eight inches in height. Every yield sign shall bear the word "Yield" in letters not less than six inches in height. Every stop sign and every yield sign shall at night time be rendered luminous by internal illumination, by a light projected on the face of the sign or by efficient reflecting elements in the face of the sign.
- (d) Except when directed to proceed by a police officer or traffic-control signal, every driver of a vehicle approaching a stop intersection indicated by a stop sign shall stop before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection or, in the event there is no crosswalk, shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, but if none, then at the point nearest the intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting roadway.
- (e) The driver of a vehicle approaching a yield sign, if required for safety to stop, shall stop before entering the crosswalk on the near side of the intersection or, in the event there is no crosswalk, at a clearly marked stop line, but if none, then at the point nearest the intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting highway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.32.16.100 Avoiding a Traffic Device

REPEALED

Section 23.32.020 Additional provisions as to stop signs and yield signs

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-24, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- a) Preferential right-of-way may be indicated by stop signs or yield signs.
- b) Except when directed to proceed by a police officer, every driver of a vehicle approaching a stop sign shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, or, if none, at the point of approaching traffic on the intersecting roadway before entering it. After having stopped, the driver shall yield the right-of-way to any vehicle in the intersection or approaching on another roadway so closely as to constitute an immediate hazard during the time when such driver is moving across or within the intersection or junction of roadways and shall yield the right of way to any other vehicle previously stopped for another stop sign at the intersection if the intersection is clear for each driver to proceed.
- c) The driver of a vehicle approaching a yield sign shall, in obedience to such sign, slow down to a speed reasonable for the existing conditions and, if required for safety to stop, shall stop at a clearly marked stop line, or, if none, at a point nearest the intersecting roadway where the driver has a view of approaching traffic on the intersecting roadway before entering it. After slowing or stopping, the driver shall yield the right-of-way to any vehicle in the intersection or approaching on another roadway so closely as to continue an immediate hazard during the time such driver is moving across or within the intersection or junction of roadways; provided, however, that if a driver is involved in a collision with a vehicle in the intersection or junction or roadways after driving past a yield sign without stopping, such collision shall be deemed prima facie evidence of his failure to yield the right-of-way. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.; Ord. No. 1783 § 3)

Section 23.32.23.16.100 Avoiding a Traffic Device REPEALED

Section 23.32.030 Designated through streets

The board of city commissioners, with reference to highways, streets, or parts thereof, under their jurisdiction, may, by resolution, designate as through streets, any highway, street, or part thereof. The provisions of NDCC, section 39-07-03, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section. (Ord. No. 919, § 1; Ord. No. 1018, § 2.)

Section 23.32.040 Emerging from alley, driveway, private road or building

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-45, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of a vehicle emerging from any alley, driveway, private road or building within a business or residence district shall stop such vehicle immediately prior to driving onto a sidewalk or onto the sidewalk area extending across such alley, building entrance, road or driveway, or in the event there is no sidewalk area, shall stop at the point of approaching traffic thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.32.050 Obedience to signal indicating approach of train

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, sections 39-10-41, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Whenever any person driving a vehicle approaches a railroad grade crossing under any of the circumstances stated in this section, the driver of such vehicle shall stop within fifty feet but not less than fifteen feet from the nearest rail of such railroad, and shall not proceed until he can do so safely. The foregoing requirements shall apply when:
 - (1) A clearly visible electric or mechanical signal device gives warning of the immediate approach of a railroad train;
 - (2) A crossing gate is lowered or when a human flagman gives or continues to give a signal of the approach or passage of a railroad train;
 - (3) A railroad train approaching within approximately one thousand three hundred and twenty feet of the highway crossing emits a signal audible from such distance and such railroad train, by reason of its speed or nearness to such crossing, is an immediate hazard; or
 - (4) An approaching railroad train is plainly visible and is in hazardous proximity to such crossing.
- (b) No person shall drive any vehicle through, around or under any crossing gate or barrier at a railroad crossing while such gate or barrier is closed or is being opened or closed. No person shall drive any vehicle past any human flagman at a railroad crossing until the flagman signals that the way is clear to proceed. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.32.055 Obstruction of streets

No streets shall be obstructed by any standing locomotive, railroad car or train of cars within the city for a longer period than fifteen minutes. (Ord. No. 1110, § 1.)

Section 23.32.060 All vehicles must stop at certain railroad grade crossings

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-42, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The state highway department and the city, with respect to highways under their respective jurisdictions, are hereby authorized to designate particularly dangerous highway grade crossings of railroads and to erect stop signs there. When such stop signs are erected, the driver of any vehicle shall stop within fifty feet but not less than fifteen feet from the nearest rail of such railroad and shall proceed only upon exercising due care. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.32.070 Certain vehicles must stop at all railroad grade crossings

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-43, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- The driver of a bus carrying passengers, or of any school bus carrying any school child, or of any vehicle carrying any chlorine, empty or loaded cargo tank vehicles used to transport dangerous articles or any liquid having a flashpoint below two hundred degrees Fahrenheit, cargo tank vehicles transporting a commodity having a temperature above its flashpoint at the time of loading. certain cargo tank vehicles transporting commodities under special permits issued by a hazardous materials regulations board, and every motor vehicle which must have the following placards: "explosives," "poison," "flammable oxidizers," "compressed gas," "corrosives," "flammable gas," "radio-active" or "dangerous" before crossing at grade any track or tracks of a railroad, shall stop such vehicle within fifty feet but not less than fifteen feet from the nearest rail of such railroad and while so stopped shall listen and look in both directions along such track for any approaching train and for signals indicating the approach of a train, and shall not proceed until he can do so safely. After stopping as required herein and upon proceeding when it is safe to do so the driver of any such vehicle shall cross only in such gear of the vehicle that there will be no necessity for manually changing gears while traversing such crossing and the driver shall not manually shift gears while crossing the track or tracks.
- (b) No stop need be made at any such crossing at which traffic is controlled by a police officer. For the purposes of this section, a United States marshall shall be considered a police officer. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.36 Miscellaneous Driving Rules

Article 2	5.50 Miscenaneous Driving Rules
Sections:	
23.36.010	Driver not to obstruct intersection or crosswalk
23.36.020	Driving through funeral or other procession
23.36.030	ProcessionsGenerally
23.36.040	SameFuneral processions to be identified
23.36.050	SameWhen permits required
23.36.060	Vehicles to be driven on right side of roadway; exceptions
23.36.070	Passing vehicles proceeding in opposite directions
23.36.080	Overtaking vehicle on left generally
23.36.090	When overtaking on right is permitted
23.36.100	Limitations on overtaking on left
23.36.110	Further limitations on driving on left of center of roadway
23.36.120	No-passing zones
23.36.125	One-way roadways and rotary traffic islands
23.36.130	Driving on roadways laned for traffic
23.36.140	Following too closely
23.36.150	Driving on divided highways
23.36.160	Entering or leaving restricted-access highways
23.36.170	Restrictions on use of controlled-access roadways
23.36.175	Closing road because of hazardous conditions – Posting of official traffic-
	control devices – Entering closed road prohibited
23.36.180	Vehicle entering roadway
23.36.190	Vehicle approaching or entering intersection
23.36.200	Overtaking and passing school bus
23.36.210	Unattended motor vehicle
23.36.220	Limitations on backing
23.36.230	Obstruction of driver's view or driving mechanism
23.36.240	Opening and closing vehicle doors
23.36.250	Coasting prohibited
23.36.260	Following fire apparatus prohibited
23.36.270	Crossing fire hose
23.36.280	Garbage, glass, etc., on highways prohibited
23.36.290	Driving through safety zone prohibited
23.36.300	Moving heavy equipment at railroad grade crossings
23.36.310	Alteration of odometers, hour meters, etc.
23.36.320	Open bottle law; penalty
23.36.330	Permitting unauthorized minor to drive
23.36.340	Permitting unauthorized person to drive
23.36.350	Use of a wireless communications device prohibited
23.36.360	Use of an electronic communication device by minor prohibited

Section 23.36.010 Driver not to obstruct intersection or crosswalk

No driver shall enter an intersection or a marked crosswalk unless there is sufficient space on the other side of the intersection or crosswalk to accommodate the vehicle he is operating without obstructing the passage of other vehicles or pedestrians, notwithstanding any traffic control signal indication to proceed. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.020 Driving through funeral or other procession

No driver of a vehicle (or motorman of a streetcar) shall drive between the vehicles comprising a funeral or other authorized procession while they are in motion and when such vehicles are conspicuously designated as required in this article. This provision shall not apply at intersections where traffic is controlled by traffic-control signals or police officers. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.030 Processions--Generally

Each driver in a funeral or other procession shall drive as near to the right-hand edge of the roadway as practicable and shall follow the vehicle and as close as is practicable and safe. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.040 Same--Funeral processions to be identified

A funeral composed of a procession of vehicles shall be identified as such by headlights burning in daylight hours on all vehicles in the procession, or by such other methods as may be determined and designated by the chief of police. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.050 Same--When permits required

No funeral, procession or parade containing two hundred or more persons or fifty or more vehicles, except the armed forces of the United States, the military forces of this state and the forces of the police and fire departments, shall occupy, march or proceed along any street except in accordance with a permit issued by the chief of police and such other regulations as are set forth herein which may apply. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.060 Vehicles to be driven on right side of roadway; exceptions

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-08, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Upon all roadways of sufficient width a vehicle shall be driven upon the right half of the roadway, except as follows:
 - (1) When overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction under the rules governing such movement;
 - (2) When an obstruction exists making it necessary to drive to the left of the center of the highway; provided, that any person so doing shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles traveling in the proper direction upon the

- unobstructed portion of the highway within such distance as to constitute an immediate hazard;
- (3) Upon a roadway divided into three marked lanes for traffic under the rules applicable thereto; or
- (4) Upon a roadway restricted to one-way traffic.
- (b) Upon all roadways any vehicle proceeding at less than the normal speed of traffic at the time and place and under the conditions then existing shall be driven in the right-hand lane then available for traffic, or as close as practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway, except when overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction or when preparing for a left turn in an intersection or onto a private road or driveway.
- (c) Upon any roadway having four or more lanes for moving traffic and providing for two-way movement of traffic, no vehicle shall be driven to the left of the centerline of the roadway, except when authorized by official traffic-control devices designating certain lanes to the left side of the center of the roadway for use by traffic not otherwise permitted to use such lanes, or except as permitted under paragraph (2) of subsection (a) hereof. However, this subsection shall not be construed as prohibiting the crossing of the centerline in making a left turn into or from an alley, private road or driveway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.070 Passing vehicles proceeding in opposite directions

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-09, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Drivers of vehicles proceeding in opposite directions shall pass each other to the right, and upon roadways having width for not more than one line of traffic in each direction each driver shall give to the other at least one-half of the main traveled portion of the roadway as nearly as possible. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.080 Overtaking vehicle on left generally

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-11, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this chapter.

The following rules shall govern the overtaking and passing of vehicles proceeding in the same direction, subject to those limitations, exceptions and special rules hereinafter stated:

- (a) The driver of a vehicle overtaking another vehicle proceeding in the same direction shall pass to the left thereof at a safe distance and shall not again drive to the right side of the roadway until safely clear of the overtaken vehicle.
- (b) Except when overtaking and passing on the right is permitted, the driver of an overtaken vehicle shall give way to the right in favor of the overtaking vehicle on audible signal and shall not increase the speed of his vehicle until completely passed by the overtaking vehicle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.090 When overtaking on right is permitted

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-12, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of a vehicle may overtake and pass upon the right of another vehicle only under the following conditions:
 - (1) When the vehicle overtaken is making or about to make a left turn; or
 - (2) Upon a roadway which unobstructed pavement of sufficient width for two or more lines of vehicles moving lawfully in the direction being traveled by the overtaking vehicle.
- (b) The driver of a vehicle may overtake and pass another vehicle upon the right only under conditions permitting such movement in safety. Such movement shall not be made by driving off the roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.100 Limitations on overtaking on left

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-13, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No vehicle shall be driven to the left side of the center of the roadway in overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction unless such left side is clearly visible and is free of oncoming traffic for a sufficient distance ahead to permit such overtaking and passing to be completely made without interfering with the operation of any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction or any vehicle overtaken. In every event the overtaking vehicle must return to an authorized lane of travel as soon as practicable, and in the event the passing movement involves the use of a lane authorized for vehicles approaching from the opposite direction, before coming within two hundred feet of any approaching vehicle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.110 Further limitations on driving on left of center of roadway

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-14, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No vehicle shall be driven to the left side of the roadway under the following conditions:
 - (1) When approaching or upon the crest of a grade or a curve in the highway where the driver's view is obstructed within such distance as to create a hazard in the event another vehicle might approach from the opposite direction:
 - (2) When approaching within one hundred feet of or traversing any intersection or railroad grade crossing; or
 - (3) When the view is obstructed upon approaching within one hundred feet of any bridge, viaduct or tunnel.
- (b) The foregoing limitations shall not apply upon a one-way roadway, nor under the conditions described in section 23.36.060, nor to the driver of a vehicle turning left into or from an alley, private road or driveway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.120 No-passing zones

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-15, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The state highway commissioner and local authorities are hereby authorized to determine those portions of any highway under their respective jurisdiction where overtaking and passing or driving on the left side of the roadway would be especially hazardous and may by appropriate signs or markings on the roadway indicate the beginning and end of such zones and when such signs or markings are in place and clearly visible to an ordinarily observant person, every driver of a vehicle shall obey the directions thereof.
- (b) Where signs or markings are in place to define a no-passing zone as set forth in subsection (a) hereof, no driver shall at any time drive on the left side of the roadway with such no-passing zone or on the left side of any pavement striping designed to mark such no-passing zone throughout its length.
- (c) This section does not apply under the conditions described in section 23.36.060 nor to the driver of a vehicle turning left into or from an alley, private road or driveway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.125 One-way roadways and rotary traffic islands.

- 1. The director and local authorities with respect to highways under their respective jurisdictions may designate any highway, roadway, part of a roadway, or specific lanes upon which vehicular traffic shall proceed in one direction at all or such times as shall be indicated by official traffic-control devices.
- 2. Upon a roadway so designated for one-way traffic, a vehicle shall be driven only in the direction designated at all or at such times as shall be indicated by official traffic-control devices.
- 3. A vehicle passing around a rotary traffic island must be driven only to the right of such island.
- 4. After a vehicle enters a rotary traffic island, the vehicle may not exit from any position within the rotary traffic island without first giving a signal of intention to exit the rotary traffic island. (Ord. No. 1783 § 6)

Section 23.36.130 Driving on roadways laned for traffic

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-17, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Whenever any roadway has been divided into two or more clearly marked lanes for traffic, the following rules in addition to all others consistent herewith shall apply:

(a) A vehicle shall be driven as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane and shall not be moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety.

- (b) Upon a roadway which is divided into three lanes and provides for two-way traffic, a vehicle shall not be driven in the center lane except when overtaking and passing another vehicle traveling in the same direction when such center lane is clear of traffic within a safe distance, or in preparation for making a left turn or where such center lane is at the time allocated exclusively to traffic moving in the same direction that the vehicle is proceeding and such allocation is designated by official traffic-control devices.
- (c) Official traffic-control devices may be erected directing specified traffic to use a designated lane or designating those lanes to be used by traffic moving in a particular direction regardless of the center of the roadway and drivers of vehicles shall obey the directions of every such device.
- (d) Official traffic-control devices may be installed prohibiting the changing of lanes on sections of roadway and drivers of vehicles shall obey the directions of every such device. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.140 Following too closely

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-18, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of a motor vehicle shall not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent, having due regard for the speed of such vehicles and the traffic upon and the condition of the highway.
- (b) The driver of any truck or motor vehicle drawing another vehicle when traveling upon a roadway outside of a business or residence district and which is following another truck or motor vehicle drawing another vehicle shall, whenever conditions permit leave sufficient space so that an overtaking vehicle may enter and occupy such space without danger; except, that this shall not prevent a truck or motor vehicle drawing another vehicle from overtaking and passing any vehicle or combination of vehicles.
- (c) Motor vehicles being driven upon any roadway outside of a business or residence district in a caravan or motorcade whether or not towing other vehicles shall be so operated as to allow sufficient space between each such vehicle or combination of vehicles so as to enable any other vehicle to enter and occupy such space without danger. This provision shall not apply to funeral processions. (Ord. No. 866, §1.)

Section 23.36.150 Driving on divided highways

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-19, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Whenever any highway has been divided into two or more roadways by leaving an intervening space or by a physical barrier or clearly indicated dividing section so constructed as to impede vehicular traffic, every vehicle shall be driven only upon the right-hand roadway, unless directed or permitted to use another roadway by official traffic-control devices or police officers. No vehicle shall be driven over, across or within any such dividing space, barrier or section, except through an opening in such physical barrier or dividing section or space at a crossover or intersection as established by public authority, unless such crossing is specifically

prohibited and such prohibition is indicated by appropriate traffic-control devices. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.160 Entering or leaving restricted-access highways

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-20, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person shall drive a vehicle onto or from any controlled-access roadway except at such entrances and exits as are established by public authority. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.170 Restrictions on use of controlled-access roadways

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-21, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The commissioner may by order, and the city may by ordinance, with respect to any controlled-access roadway under their respective jurisdictions, prohibit the use of any such roadway by any class or kind of traffic which is found incompatible with the normal and safe movement of traffic.

The state highway commissioner or the city, as the case may be, shall erect and maintain official signs on the controlled-access roadway on which such regulations are applicable and when so erected no person shall disobey the restrictions stated on such signs. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

<u>Section 23.36.175</u> Closing road because of hazardous conditions – <u>Posting of official traffic-control devices- Entering closed road</u> prohibited.

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-21.1, and all subsequent amendments, shall and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- 1. The highway patrol or local law enforcement authorities having jurisdiction over a road may close a road temporarily due to hazardous conditions for the protection and safety of the public. If a closing is made, the authority ordering the closing shall make every reasonable attempt to notify the public and, when practical, may post appropriate official traffic-control devices to advise motorists of the closing.
- 2. If a road closure under subsection 1 has been announced to the public, an individual may not drive on the road.
- 3. Violation of this section is punishable by a fine as set forth in NDCC 39-06.1-06(2)(g). (Ord. No. 1590, § 3; Ord. No. 1783 § 4.)

Section 23.36.180 Vehicle entering roadway

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-25, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of a vehicle about to enter or cross a roadway from any place other than another roadway shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles approaching on the roadway to be entered or crossed. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.190 Vehicle approaching or entering intersection

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-22, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) When two vehicles approach or enter an intersection from different highways at approximately the same time, the driver of the vehicle on the left shall yield the right-of-way to the vehicle on the right.
- (b) The right-of-way rule declared in this section is modified at through highways and otherwise as stated in this chapter. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.200 Overtaking and passing school bus

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-46, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of a vehicle meeting or overtaking from either direction any school bus stopped on the highway shall stop the vehicle before reaching such school bus when there is in operation on such school bus the flashing red lights specified in North Dakota Century Code, section 39-21-18, and such driver shall not proceed until such school bus resumes motion or he is signaled by the school bus driver to proceed or the flashing red lights are no longer actuated.
- (b) Every school bus shall bear upon the front and rear thereof plainly visible signs containing the words "school bus" in letters not less than eight inches in height. When a school bus is being operated upon a highway for purposes other than the actual transportation of children either to or from school or for a school sanctioned activity, all markings thereon indicating "school bus" shall be covered or concealed.
- (c) Every school bus shall be equipped with red visual signals meeting the requirements of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-21-18, which may be actuated by the driver of such school bus whenever, but only whenever, such vehicle is stopped on the highway for the purpose of receiving or discharging school children. A school bus driver shall not actuate such special visual signals:
 - (1) On city streets on which the receiving or discharging of school children is prohibited by ordinance;
 - (2) At intersections or other places where traffic is controlled by trafficcontrol signals or police officers; or
 - (3) In designated school bus loading areas where the bus is entirely off the roadway.
- (d) The driver of a vehicle upon a highway with separate roadways need not stop upon meeting or passing a school bus which is on a different roadway or when upon a controlled-access highway and the school bus is stopped in a loading zone which is a part of or adjacent to such highway and where pedestrians are not permitted to cross the roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.210 Unattended motor vehicle

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-51, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person driving or in charge of a motor vehicle shall permit it to stand unattended without first stopping the engine, effectively setting the brake thereon and, when standing upon any grade, turning the front wheels to the curb or side of the highway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.220 Limitations on backing

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-52, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of a vehicle shall not back the same unless such movement can be made with safety and without interfering with other traffic.
- (b) The driver of a vehicle shall not back the same upon any shoulder or roadway of any controlled-access highway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.230 Obstruction of driver's view or driving mechanism

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-54, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person shall drive a vehicle when it is so loaded, or when there are in the front seat such a number of persons, exceeding three, as to obstruct the view of the driver to the front or sides of the vehicle or as to interfere with the driver's control over the driving mechanism of the vehicle.
- (b) No passenger in a vehicle shall ride in such position as to interfere with the driver's view ahead or to the sides, or to interfere with his control over the driving mechanism of the vehicle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.240 Opening and closing vehicle doors

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-54.1, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person shall open the door of a motor vehicle on the side available to moving traffic unless and until it is reasonably safe to do so and can be done without interfering with the movement of other traffic, nor shall any person leave a door open on the side of a vehicle available to moving traffic for a period of time longer than necessary to load or unload passengers. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.250 Coasting prohibited

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-56, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) The driver of any motor vehicle, when traveling upon a down grade, shall not coast with the gears or transmission of such vehicle in neutral.
- (b) The driver of a truck or bus, when traveling upon a downgrade, shall not coast with the clutch disengaged. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.260 Following fire apparatus prohibited

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-57, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of any vehicle other than one on official business shall not follow any fire apparatus traveling in response to a fire alarm closer than five hundred feet or stop such vehicle within five hundred feet of any fire apparatus stopped in answer to a fire alarm. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.270 Crossing fire hose

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-58, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No vehicle shall be driven over any unprotected hose of a fire department when laid down on any street, private road or driveway to be used at any fire or alarm of fire, without consent of the fire department official in command. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.280 Garbage, glass, etc., on highways prohibited

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-59, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person shall throw or deposit upon any highway while in a motor vehicle any glass bottle, glass, nails, tacks, wire, cans or any other substance likely to injure any person, animal or vehicle, or throw or deposit rubbish of any kind upon the highway.
- (b) Any person who drops, or permits to be dropped or thrown, upon any highway any destructive or injurious material shall immediately remove the same or cause it to be removed.
- (c) Any person removing a wrecked or damaged vehicle from a highway shall remove any glass of other injurious substance dropped upon the highway from such vehicle.

A person who violates this section shall be assessed a fine of five hundred dollars. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1644, § 1; Ord. No. 1679, § 2, Ord. No. 1723 § 11)

Section 23.36.290 Driving through safety zone prohibited

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-64, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No vehicle shall at any time be driven through or within a safety zone. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.300 Moving heavy equipment at railroad grade crossings

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-67, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person shall operate or move any crawler-type tractor, steam shovel, derrick, roller or any equipment or structure having a normal operating speed of ten or less miles per hour or a vertical body or load clearance of less than one-half inch per foot of the distance between any two adjacent axles or in any event of less than nine inches, measured above the level surface of a roadway upon or across any tracks at a railroad grade crossing without first complying with this section.
- (b) Before making any such crossing, the person operating or moving any such vehicle or equipment shall first stop the same not less than fifteen feet nor more than fifty feet from the nearest rail of such railroad and while so stopped shall listen and look in both directions along such track for any approaching train and for signals indicating the approach of a train, and shall not proceed until the crossing can be made safely.
- (c) No such crossing shall be made when warning is given by automatic signal or crossing gates or flagman or otherwise of the immediate approach of a railroad train or car. If a flagman is provided by the railroad, movement over the crossing shall be under his direction. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.310 Alteration of odometers, hour meters, etc.

The provision of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-21-51, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any person altering a motor vehicle odometer or other mileage recorder, hour meter, tachometer or other hour recorder for the purpose of deceiving another shall be guilty of an infraction. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.320 Open bottle law; penalty

A person may not drink or consume alcoholic beverages, as defined in NDCC section 5-(a) 01-01, in or on any motor vehicle when the vehicle is upon a public highway or in an area used principally for public parking. A person may not have in his possession on his person while in or on a private motor vehicle upon a public highway or in an area used principally for public parking, any bottle or receptacle containing alcoholic beverages which has been opened, or the seal broken, or the contents of which have been partially removed. It is unlawful for the owner of any private motor vehicle or the driver, if the owner be not then present in or on the motor vehicle to keep or allow to be kept in a motor vehicle when such vehicle is upon the public highway or in an area used principally for public parking any bottle or receptacle containing such alcoholic beverages which has been opened, or the seal broken, or the contents of which have been partially removed except when such bottle or receptacle is kept in the trunk of the motor vehicle when such vehicle is equipped with a trunk, or kept in some other area of the vehicle not normally occupied by the driver or passengers, if the motor vehicle is not equipped with a trunk. A utility compartment or glove compartment must be deemed to

be within the area occupied by the driver and passengers. This subsection does not prohibit the consumption or possession of alcoholic beverages in a house car, as defined by subsection 25 of NDCC section 39-01-01, if the consumption or possession occurs in the area of the house car used as sleeping or living quarters and that area is separated from the driving compartment by a solid partition, door, curtain, or some similar means of separation; however, consumption is not authorized while the house car is in motion. Any person violating this subsection must be assessed a fee of fifty dollars; however, the licensing authority may not record the violation against the person's driving record unless the person was the driver of the motor vehicle at the time that the violation occurred.

(b) Subsection 1 does not apply to public conveyance that has been commercially chartered for group use, any passenger for compensation in a for-hire motor vehicle, or a privately owned motor vehicle operated by a person in the course of that person's usual employment transporting passengers at the employer's direction. This subsection does not authorize possession or consumption of an alcoholic beverage by the operator of any motor vehicle described in this subsection while upon a public highway or in an area used principally for public parking. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1080, §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 1202, § 9; Ord. No. 1658 § 1)

Section 23.36.330 Permitting unauthorized minor to drive

No person shall cause or knowingly permit his child or ward under the age of eighteen years to drive a motor vehicle upon any highway when such minor is not authorized under the laws of this state. (Ord. No. 866, § 1)

Section 23.36.340 Permitting unauthorized person to drive

No person shall authorize or knowingly permit a motor vehicle owned by him or under his control to be driven upon any highway by any person who is not authorized under the laws of this state. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.36.350 Use of a wireless communications device prohibited.

- 1. The operator of a motor vehicle that is part of traffic may not use a wireless communications device to compose, read, or send an electronic message.
- 2. Under this section:
 - "Electronic message" means a self-contained piece of digital communication that is designed or intended to be transmitted between physical devices. The term includes e-mail, a text message, an instant message, a command or request to access a world wide web page, or other data that uses a commonly recognized electronic communications protocol. The term does not include:
 - (1) Reading, selecting, or entering a telephone number, an extension number, or voice mail retrieval codes and commands into an electronic device for the purpose of initiating or receiving a telephone or cellular phone call or using voice commands to initiate or receive a telephone or cellular phone call;

- (2) Inputting, selecting, or reading information on a global positioning system device or other navigation system device;
- (3) Using a device capable of performing multiple functions, such as fleet management systems, dispatching devices, smart phones, citizen band radios, music players, or similar devices, for a purpose that is not otherwise prohibited;
- (4) Voice or other data transmitted as a result of making a telephone or cellular phone call; or
- (5) Data transmitted automatically by a wireless communication device without direct initiation by an individual.
- b. "Traffic" means operation of a motor vehicle while in motion or for the purposes of travel on any street or highway and includes a temporary stop or halt of motion, such as at an official traffic-control signal or sign. The term does not include a motor vehicle that is lawfully parked.
- 3. This section does not apply if a wireless communications device is used for obtaining emergency assistance to report a traffic accident, medical emergency, or serious traffic hazard or to prevent a crime about to be committed, in the reasonable belief that an individual's life or safety is in immediate danger, or in an authorized emergency vehicle while in the performance of official duties. (Ord. No. 1425, § 1.)

Section 23.36.360 Use of an electronic communication device by minor prohibited.

An individual at least sixteen and under eighteen years of age who has been issued a class D license may not operate an electronic communication device to talk, compose, read, or send an electronic message while operating a motor vehicle that is in motion unless the sole purpose of operating the device is to obtain emergency assistance, to prevent a crime about to be committed, or in the reasonable belief that an individual's life or safety is in danger. (Ord. No. 1425, \S 2.)

Article 23.40 Pedestrians' Rights and Duties

Sections:	
23.40.010	Obedience to traffic-control devices and traffic regulations
23.40.020	Right-of-way in crosswalks
23.40.030	Crossing other than at crosswalks
23.40.040	Drivers to exercise due care
23.40.050	Pedestrians to use right half of crosswalks
23.40.060	Use of roadways
23.40.070	Right-of-way on sidewalks
23.40.080	Pedestrians to yield to authorized emergency vehicles
23.40.090	Blind pedestrian to have right-of-way
23.40.100	Pedestrians under influence of alcohol or drugs
23.40.110	Bridge and railroad signals
23.40.120	Soliciting rides or business

Section 23.40.010 Obedience to traffic-control devices and traffic regulations

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-27, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) A pedestrian shall obey the instructions of any official traffic-control device specially applicable to him, unless otherwise directed by a police officer.
- (b) Pedestrians shall be subject to traffic and pedestrian-control signals as provided for in sections 23.16.030 and 23.16.050. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.020 Right-of-way in crosswalks

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-28, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) When traffic-control signals are not in place or not in operation, the driver of a vehicle shall yield the right-of-way, slowing down or stopping if need be to so yield, to a pedestrian crossing the roadway within a crosswalk when the pedestrian is upon the half of the roadway upon which the vehicle is traveling, or when the pedestrian is approaching so closely from the opposite half of the roadway as to be in danger.
- (b) No pedestrian shall suddenly leave a curb or other place of safety and walk or run into the path of a vehicle which is so close as to constitute an immediate hazard.
- (c) Subsection (a) of this section shall not apply under the conditions in subsection (b) of section 23.44.030.
- (d) Whenever any vehicle is stopped at a marked crosswalk or at any unmarked crosswalk at an intersection to permit a pedestrian to cross the highway, the driver of any other vehicle approaching from the rear shall not overtake and pass such stopped vehicle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.030 Crossing other than at crosswalks

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-29, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Every pedestrian crossing a roadway at any point other than within a marked crosswalk or within an unmarked crosswalk at an intersection shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles upon the roadway.
- (b) Any pedestrian crossing a roadway at a point where a pedestrian tunnel or overhead pedestrian crossing has been provided shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles upon the roadway.
- (c) Between adjacent intersections at which traffic-control devices are in operation pedestrians shall not cross at any place except in a marked crosswalk.
- (d) No pedestrian shall cross a roadway intersection diagonally unless authorized by official traffic-control devices; and, when authorized to cross diagonally, pedestrians shall cross only in accordance with the official traffic control devices pertaining to such crossing movements. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.040 Drivers to exercise due care

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-30, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this chapter, every driver of a vehicle shall exercise due care to avoid colliding with any pedestrian upon any roadway and shall give warning by sounding the horn when necessary and shall exercise proper precaution upon observing any child or any confused or incapacitated person upon a roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.050 Pedestrians to use right half of crosswalks

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-32, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Pedestrians shall move, whenever practicable, upon the right half of crosswalks. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.060 Use of roadways

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-33, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Where a sidewalk is provided and its use is practicable, it shall be unlawful for any pedestrian to walk along and upon an adjacent roadway.
- (b) Where a sidewalk is not available, any pedestrian walking along and upon a highway shall walk only on a shoulder, as far as practicable from the edge of the roadway.
- (c) Where neither a sidewalk nor a shoulder is available, any pedestrian walking along and upon a highway shall walk as near as practicable to an outside edge of the roadway and, if on a two-way roadway, shall walk only on the left side of the roadway.

(d) Except as otherwise provided for in this chapter, any pedestrian upon a roadway shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles upon the roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.070 Right-of-way on sidewalks

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-33.1, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of a vehicle shall yield the right-of-way to any pedestrian on sidewalk. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.080 Pedestrians to yield to authorized emergency vehicles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-33.2, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Upon the immediate approach of an authorized emergency vehicle making use of an audible signal by bell, siren or exhaust whistle and displaying a visible flashing, revolving or rotating blue, white or red light, every pedestrian shall yield the right-of-way to the authorized emergency vehicle.
- (b) This section shall not relieve the driver of an authorized emergency vehicle from the duty to drive with due regard for the safety of all persons using the highway nor from the duty to exercise due care to avoid colliding with any pedestrian. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.090 Blind pedestrian to have right-of-way

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-33.3, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The driver of a vehicle shall yield the right-of-way to any blind pedestrian carrying a clearly visible white cane or accompanied by a guide dog. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.100 Pedestrians under influence of alcohol or drugs

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-33.4, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

A pedestrian who is under the influence of alcohol or any drug to a degree which renders himself a hazard shall not walk or be upon a roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.110 Bridge and railroad signals

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-33.5, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No pedestrian shall pass through, around, over or under any crossing gate or barrier at a railroad grade crossing or bridge while such gate or barrier is closed or is being opened or closed. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.40.120 Soliciting rides or business

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-34, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person shall stand in a roadway for the purpose of soliciting a ride.
- (b) No person shall stand in a roadway for the purpose of soliciting employment, business or contributions from the occupant of any vehicle.
- (c) No person shall stand on or in proximity to a street or highway for the purpose of soliciting the watching or guarding of any vehicle while parked or about to be parked on a street or highway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.44 Motorcycles

Sections:	
23.44.010	Applicability of traffic laws
23.44.020	Riding on motorcycles
23.44.030	Operating motorcycles on roadways laned for traffic
23.44.040	Clinging to other vehicles
23.44.050	Footrests
23.44.060	Equipment for riders
23.44.070	Other applicable law

Section 23.44.010 Applicability of traffic laws

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-01, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Every person operating a motorcycle shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of any other vehicle under this chapter, except as to special regulations in this article and except as to those provisions of this chapter which by their nature can have no application. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.44.020 Riding on motorcycles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-02, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this chapter.

- (a) A person operating a motorcycle shall ride only upon the permanent and regular seat attached thereto, and such operator shall not carry any other person nor shall any other person ride on a motorcycle unless such motorcycle is designed to carry more than one person, in which event a passenger may ride upon the permanent and regular seat if designed for two persons, or upon another seat firmly attached to the motorcycle at the rear or side of the operator.
- (b) A person shall ride upon a motorcycle only while sitting astride the seat, facing forward, with one leg on each side of the motorcycle.
- (c) No person shall operate a motorcycle while carrying any package, bundle or other article which prevents him from keeping both hands on the handlebars.
- (d) No operator shall carry any person, nor shall any person ride in a position that will interfere with the operation or control of the motorcycle or the view of the operator. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.44.030 Operating motorcycles on roadways laned for traffic

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-03, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

(a) All motorcycles are entitled to a full use of a lane and no motor vehicle shall be driven in such a manner as to deprive any motorcycle of the full use of a lane. This subsection shall not apply to the operation of motorcycles two abreast in a single lane as authorized in subsection (d) hereof.

- (b) The operator of a motorcycle shall not overtake and pass in the same lane occupied by the vehicle being overtaken.
- (c) No person shall operate a motorcycle between lanes of traffic or between adjacent lines or rows of vehicles.
- (d) Motorcycles shall not be operated more than two abreast in a single lane.
- (e) Subsections (b) and (c) above shall not apply to police officers in the performance of their official duties. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.44.040 Clinging to other vehicles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-04, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person riding upon a motorcycle shall attach himself or the motorcycle to any other vehicle on a roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.44.050 Footrests

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-05, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any motorcycle carrying a passenger, other than in a sidecar or enclosed cab, shall be equipped with foot rests for such passengers. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.44.060 Equipment for riders

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-06, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) No person under the age of eighteen years shall operate or ride upon a motorcycle unless protective head gear, which complies with standards established by the motor vehicle department, is being worn on the head of the operator and rider, except when participating in a lawful parade. If the operator of a motorcycle is required to wear protective head gear, any passenger must also wear protective head gear regardless of the age of the passenger.
- (b) No person shall operate a motorcycle within the city limits when such person has a passenger upon such motorcycle under the age of fourteen years unless such passenger or person who rides upon such motorcycle wears protective head gear which complies with standards established by the motor vehicle department, except when participating in a lawful parade.
- (c) This section shall not apply to persons riding within an enclosed cab or on a golf cart. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.44.070 Other applicable law

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.2-07, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

All of the provisions of article 23.80 of this chapter derived from North Dakota Century Code, chapter 39-06.1, pertaining to the disposition of traffic offenses, shall apply to this article. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.46 Motorized Skateboards and Motorized

Scooters

Sections:	
23.46.010.	Motorized skateboard or motorized scooterdefinition
23.46.020.	Application of traffic laws.
23.46.030.	Responsibility of parents, guardians and custodians.
23.46.040.	Prohibited operation.
23.46.050.	General operating restrictions.
23.46.060.	Operating restrictions on roadway.
23.46.070.	Required safety equipment.
23.46.080.	LicenseRequired.
23.46.100.	Violations.

Section 23.46.010. Motorized skateboard or motorized scooter-definition.

Motorized skateboard or motorized scooter means a self-propelled device which has a motor or engine, a deck on which a person may ride and at least two (2) wheels in contact with the ground and which is not otherwise defined in NDCC §39-01-01(38), as amended, as a "motor vehicle." (Ord. No. 1281 § 1.)

Section 23.46.020. Application of traffic laws.

- (a) All traffic laws shall apply to persons riding on motorized skateboards or motorized scooters. Every person operating a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter upon a roadway shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by the laws of this state declaring rules of the road applicable to vehicles, or by the traffic regulations of this city applicable to the driver of a vehicle, except as to special regulations in this chapter and except as to those provisions which by their nature can have no application.
- (b) This section shall not be construed to require the licensing or registration of motorized skateboards or motorized scooters, or the carrying of insurance covering accidents involving motorized skateboards or motorized scooters.
- (c) It is unlawful for any person operating a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter not to obey the instructions of official traffic-control signals, signs and other traffic direction devices applicable to vehicles, unless otherwise directed by a police officer. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.030. Responsibility of parents, guardians and custodians.

No person shall, if a parent, guardian or custodian of a child, authorize or knowingly permit any child to violate this article. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.040. Prohibited operation.

No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter:

- (1) On any sidewalk in the city, except for use in crossing such sidewalk by the most direct route to gain access to any public or private road or driveway;
- (2) In any city parking structure or city park, except for use on public roadways within such park;
- On any public property that has been posted or designed by the owner of such property as an area prohibiting "skateboards";
- (4) On any public roadway consisting of a total of four (4) or more marked traffic lanes, or having an established speed limit of greater than twenty-five (25) miles per hour; or
- (5) On any private property of another, or any public property which is not held open to the public for vehicle use, without the written permission of the owner, the person entitled to immediate possession of the property, or the authorized agent of either. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.050. General operating restrictions.

- (a) No child under the age of fourteen (14) shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter.
- (b) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter in excess of the posted speed limit or at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the circumstances then existing.
- (c) The operator of a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter, approaching a sidewalk, bicycle path, bicycle lane or multi-use path in order to cross such, shall yield the right-of-way to all other users.
- (d) Motorized skateboards or motorized scooters may be operated on a path or lane that is designated as a bicycle path or lane by state or local authorities. However, motorized skateboard or motorized scooter operators on said bicycle path or lane shall yield at all times to other users.
- (e) No operator shall allow passengers when the motorized skateboard or motorized scooter is in operation or motion.
- (f) No person operating or riding upon a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter shall attach themselves in any manner to any other vehicle.
- (g) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter while carrying any package, bundle or article which prevents the operator from keeping both hands upon the steering mechanism at all times.
- (h) No person, other than the owner, shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter without the written permission of the owner.
- (i) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter that has been structurally altered from the original manufacturer's design.
- (j) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter in a crosswalk. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.060. Operating restrictions on roadway.

- (a) A person operating a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter on a roadway at less than the normal speed of traffic, at the time and place and under the then existing conditions, shall ride as close as practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway, except under the following conditions and when the movement can be made safely:
 - (1) If overtaking and passing a bicycle or vehicle proceeding in the same direction;
 - (2) In preparing for a left turn at an intersection or into a private roadway or driveway;
 - (3) If reasonably necessary to avoid hazardous conditions ahead in the roadway; or
 - (4) If the lane in which the person is operating the motorized skateboard or motorized scooter is too narrow for a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter and a bicycle or another vehicle to travel safely side by side within the lane.
- (b) No operator of a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter shall transport extra fuel in a separate container or alter the fuel reservoir from the original manufacturer's design. This includes the prohibition of physically attaching fuel packs or containers to the operator's person.
- (c) Persons operating motorized skateboards or motorized scooters on the roadway shall not ride more than two (2) abreast. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.070. Required safety equipment.

- (a) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter without a head lamp emitting a beam and a red rear reflector anytime from sunset to sunrise, or any other time when there is not sufficient light to render clearly discernible, persons or vehicles on the roadway.
 - (1) A head lamp shall emit a white light and be visible from the front at a distance no less than five hundred (500) feet;
 - (2) A rear red reflector shall be visible when illuminated by a vehicle head lamp from a distance of not less than three hundred (300) feet; and
 - (3) A rear red lamp visible from a distance of five hundred (500) feet to the rear may be used in addition to the rear red reflector.
- (b) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter unless it is equipped with a brake which enables the operator to make a braked wheel(s) skid on pavement.
- (c) Any operator of a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter under the age of eighteen (18) years being operated on a roadway shall at all times wear a protective helmet on his or her head in an appropriate and safely secured manner. The helmet shall meet minimum standards of testing and safety inspected by the bicycle industry.
- (d) No person shall operate a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter without wearing footwear. The footwear must have a sole and completely cover the feet and toes. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.080. License--Required.

No person who resides within the City shall ride a motorized skateboard or motorized scooter on any street or upon any public path set aside for use of bicycles unless such motorized

skateboard or motorized scooter has been licensed and a license plate or decal is attached thereto, as provided in Chapter 6 regarding bicycles. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Section 23.46.100. Violations.

Violations of any of the sections of this article concerning motorized skateboards or motorized scooters are designated as civil traffic violations and shall be prosecuted in the same manner as provided by law for other civil traffic violations. (Ord. No. 1281 §1.)

Article 23.48 Bicycles

Sections:	
23.48.010	Effect of regulations
23.48.020	Applicability of traffic laws
23.48.030	Obedience to traffic-control devices
23.48.040	Riding on sidewalks
23.48.050	Riding on roadways and bicycle paths
23.48.060	Clinging to vehicles
23.48.070	Carrying articles
23.48.080	Lamps and other equipment
23.48.090	Riding on bicycles; motorized bicycles; age of operator
23.48.100	Parking
23.48.105	Yielding and stopping while operating a bicycle on a roadway
23.48.110	Penalties
23.48.120	Point system not applicable

Section 23.48.010 Effect of regulations

- (a) It is a violation of this article for any person to do any act forbidden or fail to perform any act required in this article.
- (b) The parent of any child and the guardian of any ward shall not authorize or knowingly permit any such child or ward to violate any of the provisions of this article.
- (c) Those regulations applicable to bicycles shall apply whenever a bicycle is operated upon any highway or upon any path set aside for the exclusive use of bicycles subject to those exceptions stated herein. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.020 Applicability of traffic laws

Every person riding a bicycle upon a roadway shall be granted all of the rights and shall be subject to all of the duties applicable to the driver of a vehicle by this chapter, except as to special regulations in this article and except as to those provisions of this chapter which by their nature can have no application. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.030 Obedience to traffic-control devices

- (a) Any person operating a bicycle shall obey the instructions of official traffic-control devices applicable to vehicles, unless otherwise directed by a police officer.
- (b) Whenever authorized signs are erected indicating that no right, left or U-turn is permitted, no person operating a bicycle shall disobey the direction of any such sign, except where such person dismounts from the bicycle to make any such turn, in which event such person shall then obey the regulations applicable to pedestrians. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.040 Riding on sidewalks

- (a) No person shall ride a bicycle upon a sidewalk within a business district.
- (b) The chief of police or authorized person may erect signs on any sidewalk or roadway prohibiting the riding of bicycles thereon by any person and when such signs are in place no person shall disobey the same.

(c) Whenever any person is riding a bicycle upon a sidewalk, such person shall yield the right-of-way to any pedestrian and shall give an audible signal before overtaking and passing such pedestrian. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.050 Riding on roadways and bicycle paths

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.1-05, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Every person operating a bicycle upon a roadway shall ride as near to the right side of the roadway as practicable, exercising due care when passing a standing vehicle or one proceeding in the same direction.
- (b) Persons riding bicycles upon a roadway shall not ride more than one abreast except on paths or parts of roadways set aside for the exclusive use of bicycles.
- (c) Wherever a usable path for bicycles has been provided adjacent to a roadway, bicycle riders shall use such path and shall not use the roadway. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.060 Clinging to vehicles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.1-04, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person riding upon any bicycle, coaster, rollerskates, sled or toy vehicle shall attach the same or himself to any vehicle upon a roadway, except a sled being pulled by a snowmobile. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.070 Carrying articles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.1-06, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person operating a bicycle shall carry any package, bundle or article which prevents the driver from keeping at least one hand upon the handlebars. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.080 Lamps and other equipment

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.1-07, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Every bicycle, when in use at night, shall be equipped with a lamp on the front which shall emit a light visible from a distance of at least five hundred feet to the front and with a red reflector on the rear of a type approved by the motor vehicle department. A lamp emitting a red light visible from a distance of five hundred feet to the rear may be used in addition to the red reflector. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.090 Riding on bicycles; motorized bicycles; age of operator

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, sections 39-10.1-03 and 39-10.1-07, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) A person propelling a bicycle shall not ride other than upon or astride a permanent and regular seat attached thereto.
- (b) No bicycle shall be used to carry more persons at one time than the number for which it is designed and equipped.
- (c) No person under fourteen years of age may operate a motorized bicycle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.100 Parking

No person shall park a bicycle upon a street other than upon the roadway against the curb, upon the sidewalk in a rack to support the bicycle, against a building or at the curb, in such manner as to afford the least obstruction to pedestrian traffic. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.105 Yielding and stopping while operating a bicycle on a roadway.

- 1. An individual operating a bicycle who is approaching a stop sign at an intersection with a roadway having three or more lanes for moving traffic shall come to a complete stop before entering the intersection.
- 2. An individual operating a bicycle who is approaching a stop sign at an intersection where a vehicle is stopped in the roadway at the same stop sign shall come to a complete stop before entering the intersection.
- 3. An individual operating a bicycle who is approaching a stop sign at an intersection with a roadway having two or fewer lanes for moving traffic shall reduce speed and, if required for safety, stop before entering the intersection. After slowing to a reasonable speed or stopping, the individual shall yield the right-of-way to any vehicle in the intersection or approaching on another roadway so closely as to constitute an immediate hazard during the time the individual is moving across or within the intersection, except that an individual, after slowing to a reasonable speed and yielding the right of way if required, cautiously may make a turn or proceed through the intersection without stopping.
- 4. An individual operating a bicycle who is approaching an intersection shall yield the right-of-way to any vehicle that already has entered the intersection.
- 5. When an individual operating a bicycle and a vehicle enter an intersection from different roadways at approximately the same time, the operator of the vehicle or bicycle on the left shall yield the right-of-way to the vehicle or bicycle on the right.
- 6. If the individual operating a bicycle is involved in a collision with a vehicle in the intersection or junction of roadways after proceeding past a stop sign without stopping or past a steady red traffic-control light, the collision is deemed prima facie evidence of the individual's failure to yield the right-of-way. (Ord. No. 1723, § 2.)

Section 23.48.110 Penalties

Every person convicted of a violation of any provision of this article shall be punished by a fine of not more than fifty dollars or by impoundment of such person's bicycle for a period not to exceed ninety days or by any combination thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.48.120 Point system not applicable

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10.1-08, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any violation of the provisions of this chapter, or any moving violation as defined in section 23.80.090, when committed on a bicycle as defined in section 23.04.010, shall not be cause for the licensing authority to assess points against the driving record of the violator pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-10. Any other legally authorized penalty for a criminal traffic offense or noncriminal traffic violation shall be applicable to bicyclists. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.52 Angle Parking

Sections:

23.52.010 Generally

Section 23.52.010 Generally

The city engineer or other person authorized by the governing body may mark or sign streets upon which angle parking will be permitted (other than federal aid or state highways). Upon those streets which have been signed or marked for angle parking, no person shall park or stand a vehicle other than at the angle to the curb or edge of roadway indicated by such signs or markings. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.56 Stopping, Standing or Parking Generally

Article 2	5.50 Stopping, Standing or Parking Generally
Sections:	
23.56.010	Outside of business or residence districts
23.56.020	Removal of illegally stopped vehiclesAuthority of police officers
23.56.030	SameGenerally
23.56.040	SameRecovery; costs; disposal of unclaimed vehicles
23.56.050	Prohibited in certain areas
23.56.060	Additional parking regulations
23.56.070	Where prohibited at all times
23.56.080	Parking of trucks, trailers, semitrailers, delivery cars and other commercial
	vehicles
23.56.090	Parking for certain purposes prohibited
23.56.100	Stopping, etc., in congested or hazardous places
23.56.110	Parking, etc., in alleys
23.56.120	Parking adjacent to schools
23.56.130	Prohibited on narrow streets
23.56.140	One-way streets
23.56.150	One-way roadways
23.56.160	Parking privileges for physically handicapped; certificate; revocation of
	privilege
23.56.170	Prohibited at all times on certain streets
23.56.180	Prohibited during certain hours on certain days and streets for cleaning
	purposes
23.56.190	Snow emergency routesDefined; designated
23.56.200	SameParking on
23.56.210	SameDeclaration of snow emergency
23.56.220	SameSigns to mark
23.56.230	SameRemoval of stalled vehicles
23.56.240	SameImpoundment of illegally stopped vehicles
23.56.250	Evidence with respect to vehicles parked or left in violation of article
23.56.260	Prohibited during certain hours and days.
23.56.270	Parking by employers, employees and public servants prohibited in certain
	downtown areas (Repealed)
23.56.280	Assessment of businesses benefitted by certain parking lots; reassessment
22 T < 2 00	upon change in use
23.56.290	Leaving vehicle parked in one place for more than forty-eight hours;
22 54 200	impoundment and notice procedures
23.56.300	Restricted time parking zone
23.56.310	Five minute parking zone for U.S. Post Office
23.56.320	City parking lots
23.56.330	Marking of parking spaces; parking within spaces
23.56.340	Parking across lines or in driveway
23.56.345	Penalty for parking violations (repealed)
23.56.347	Permit process.
23.56.348	Permit fees.
23.56.350	Penalty

Section 23.56.010 Outside of business or residence districts

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-47, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Upon any highway outside of a business or residence district no person shall stop, park or leave standing any vehicle, whether attended or unattended, upon the paved or main-traveled part of the highway when it is practicable to stop, park or so leave such vehicle off such part of such highway, but in every event an unobstructed width of the highway of not less than twelve feet opposite a standing vehicle shall be left for the free passage of the vehicles and a clear view of such stopped vehicles shall be available from a distance of two hundred feet in each direction upon such highway.
- (b) This section and sections 23.56.050 and 23.56.060 shall not apply to the driver of any vehicle which is disabled while on the paved or main-traveled portion of a highway in such manner and to such extent that it is impossible to avoid stopping and temporarily leaving such disabled vehicle in such position. (Ord. No. 866, § 1. Ord. No. 1590 § 3.)

Section 23.56.020 Removal of illegally stopped vehicles--Authority of police officers

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-48, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Whenever any police officer finds a vehicle standing upon a highway in violation of any of the provisions of section 23.56.010, such officer is hereby authorized to move such vehicle, or require the driver or other person in charge of the vehicle to move the same, to a position off the paved or main-traveled part of such highway.
- (b) Whenever any police officer finds a vehicle unattended upon any highway, bridge or crossway, or in any tunnel where such vehicle constitutes an obstruction to traffic, such officer is hereby authorized to provide for the removal of such vehicle to the nearest garage or other place of safety.
- (c) Any police officer is hereby authorized to remove or cause to be removed to the nearest garage or other place of safety any vehicle found upon a highway when:
 - (1) A report has been made that such vehicle has been stolen or taken without the consent of its owner;
 - (2) The person or persons in charge of such vehicle are unable to provide for its custody or removal;
 - (3) When the person driving or in control of such vehicle is arrested for an alleged offense for which the officer is required by law to take the person arrested before a proper magistrate without unnecessary delay; or
 - (4) Whenever a snow emergency condition is declared and parking is prohibited in accordance with sections 23.56.190 through 23.56.260 and 23.56.350. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.030 Same--Generally

Whenever a vehicle remains parked or left standing on any street, alley or public way where such parking is prohibited by this Code or other ordinance of the city, such vehicle shall be removed by or under the direction of the police department to some location selected by the police department, until the costs of such removal and storage have been paid and until the owner or legal possessor of such automobile, truck or vehicle properly identifies himself as being the person entitled to the possession of such vehicle. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.040 Same--Recovery; costs; disposal of unclaimed vehicles

It shall be unlawful for any person to take or attempt to take such vehicle from the place where stored, as provided by sections 23.56.020 and 23.56.030, until it is released by the police department and until the costs of such removal and storage have been paid. The cost of removal of such vehicle shall be the actual cost to the city of such removal; in addition there shall be further taxed as costs the amount of fifty cents per day for storage of such vehicle by the police department.

If such vehicle is not claimed within one month after removal by the police department, such vehicle may be disposed of or sold in the manner provided by law for the disposal or sale of unclaimed motor vehicles. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.050 Prohibited in certain areas

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-49, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

No person shall stop, stand or park a vehicle, except when necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic or in compliance with law or the directions of a police officer or traffic-control device, in any of the following places:

- (a) On a sidewalk;
- (b) From a perpendicular line from the edge of the driveway to the curb of a public or private driveway and for the purposes of this subsection "driveway" means every way or place in private ownership and used for vehicular traffic by the owner and those having express or implied permission from the owner, but not by other persons;
- (c) Within an intersection;
- (d) From a perpendicular line from the hydrant to the curb and then extending five feet in each direction from this point along the curb or roadway;
- (e) On a crosswalk;
- (f) Within ten feet of a crosswalk at an intersection;
- (g) Within fifteen feet upon the approach to any flashing beacon, stop sign or trafficcontrol signal located at the side of a roadway;
- (h) Between a safety zone and the adjacent curb or within fifteen feet of points on the curb immediately opposite the ends of a safety zone, unless the state highway department or the city indicates a different length by signs or markings;
- (i) Within fifteen feet of the nearest rail of a railroad crossing;

- (j) Within twenty feet of the driveway entrance to any fire station and on the side of a street opposite the entrance to any fire station within seventy-five feet of such entrance when properly signposted;
- (k) Alongside or opposite any street excavation or obstruction when stopping, standing or parking would obstruct traffic;
- (l) On the roadway side of any vehicle stopped or parked at the edge or curb of a street;
- (m) Upon any bridge or other elevated structure upon a highway or within a highway tunnel;
- (n) At any place where official signs prohibit stopping;
- (o) At designated firelanes appropriately marked; or
- (p) On the public right-of-way except the street and that portion improved for driveway use so long as the vehicle so parked does not extend over the curbline or the edge of the sidewalk, or as allowed by a temporary right of way occupancy permit.

No person shall move a vehicle not lawfully under his control into any such prohibited area or away from a curb such distance as is unlawful. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1030, §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 1196, § 1.)

Section 23.56.060 Additional parking regulations

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code section 39-10-50 and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, every vehicle stopped or parked upon a two-way roadway shall be so stopped or parked with the right-hand wheels of such vehicle parallel to and within twelve inches of the right-hand curb or as close as practicable to the right edge of the right-hand shoulder.
- (b) Except where otherwise provided by ordinance, every vehicle stopped or parked upon a one-way roadway shall be so stopped or parked parallel to the curb or edge of the roadway, in the direction of authorized traffic movement, with its right-hand wheels within twelve inches of the right-hand curb or as close as practicable to the right edge of the right-hand shoulder, or with its left-hand wheels within twelve inches of the left-hand curb or as close as practicable to the left edge of the left-hand shoulder.
- (c) The city may permit angle parking on a roadway; except, that angle parking shall not be permitted on any federal-aid or state highway without first obtaining the written authorization of the state highway commissioner.
- (d) The state highway department with respect to highways under its jurisdiction may place official traffic-control devices prohibiting or restricting the stopping, standing or parking of vehicles on any highway where in its opinion such stopping, standing or parking is dangerous to those using the highway or where the stopping, standing or parking of vehicles would unduly interfere with the free movement of traffic thereon. No person shall stop, stand or park any vehicle in violation of the restrictions indicated by such devices.
- (e) No person shall park, allow to stand or stop a vehicle so as to constitute or precipitate a fire hazard.

(f) No motor vehicle, as described in North Dakota Century Code section 39-01-01 may be parked within seventy-five feet of any intersection, if said motor vehicle is over seven feet in height or six feet six inches in width. For purposes of this subsection, the distance from the intersection shall be measured from a point at which the extensions of the lateral curblines intersect. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1097, § 2.)

Section 23.56.070 Where prohibited at all times

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, it, shall be unlawful for any person to park or leave standing any motor vehicle, either attended or unattended. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.080 Parking of trucks, trailers, semitrailers, delivery cars and other commercial vehicles

No truck-tractor, trailer, semitrailer, delivery car, service car or other commercial vehicle shall be parked on any street, avenue, boulevard, public property or alley in any residential district of the city for a period longer than one hour; provided, that such vehicles loading or unloading cargo may be parked on the streets, avenues, boulevards, public property or alleys long enough to complete their loading or unloading; provided, further, that such restrictions shall not apply to any truck or service car in use on any repair, maintenance or construction project in progress on any such street, avenue, boulevard, public property or alley. In no case shall any semitruck trailer be parked on any street, avenue, boulevard, public property or alley in any district of the city while such semitruck trailer is disconnected from the tractor, nor shall any truck, trailer, semitrailer, delivery car, service car or other commercial vehicle be parked on any street, avenue, boulevard, public property or alley in any district of the city between the hours of 10:00 P.M. and 6:00 A.M. Vehicles as identified in this section containing any flammable and/or hazardous substances, as defined by state law, are restricted to off-street parking in areas zoned as I (industrial). A violation of this section shall be punishable by the general penalty provided by section 11.12.010 of this Code. (Ord. No. 891, § 1; Ord. No. 902, § 1; Ord. No. 954, § 1.)

Section 23.56.090 Parking for certain purposes prohibited

No person shall park a vehicle upon any roadway for the principal purpose of:

- (a) Displaying such vehicle for sale.
- (b) Washing, greasing or repairing such vehicle except repairing such vehicle necessitated by emergency. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.100 Stopping, etc., in congested or hazardous places

The city engineer or other person designated by the governing body is hereby authorized to determine and designate by proper signs places in which the stopping, standing or parking of vehicles would create an especially hazardous condition or could cause unusual delay to traffic.

When official signs are erected at hazardous or congested places as authorized herein, no person shall stop, stand or park a vehicle in any such designated place. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.110 Parking, etc., in alleys

No person shall park a vehicle within an alley, nor shall he stop a commercial vehicle so as to leave available less than twelve feet of the width thereof for free movement of vehicular traffic, nor shall he stop in such position as to block the driveway entrance to any abutting property. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.120 Parking adjacent to schools

- (a) The city traffic engineer or authorized person may erect signs indicating no parking upon either or both sides of any street adjacent to any school property when such parking would, in his opinion, interfere with traffic or create a hazardous situation.
- (b) When official signs are erected indicating no parking upon either side of a street adjacent to any school property as authorized herein, no person shall park a vehicle in any such designated place. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.130 Prohibited on narrow streets

- (a) The city traffic engineer or authorized person may erect signs indicating no parking upon any street when the width of the roadway does not exceed twenty feet, or upon one side of a street as indicated by such signs when the width of the roadway does not exceed thirty feet.
- (b) When official signs prohibiting parking are erected upon narrow streets as authorized herein, no person shall park a vehicle upon any street in violation of any such sign. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.140 One-way streets

The city traffic engineer or authorized person may erect signs upon the left-hand side of any one-way street to prohibit the standing or parking of vehicles, and when such signs are in place, no person shall stand or park a vehicle upon such left-hand side in violation of any such sign. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.150 One-way roadways

In the event a highway includes two or more separate roadways and traffic is restricted to the direction upon any such roadways, no persons shall stand or park a vehicle upon the left-hand side of such one-way roadway unless signs are erected to permit such standing or parking. The city traffic engineer is authorized to determine when standing or parking may be permitted upon the left-hand side of any such one-way roadway and to erect signs giving notice thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.160 Parking privileges for physically handicapped; certificate; revocation of privilege

The provisions of NDCC section 39-01-15, and all subsequent amendments, are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

(a) Any mobility impaired person who displays prominently upon an automobile parked by that person or under that person's direction and for the person's use, the

- distinguishing certificate specified in subsection (c) is entitled to courtesy in the parking of the automobile. Provided, however, that any municipality may, by ordinance, prohibit parking on any street or highway for the purpose of creating a fire lane, or to provide for the accommodation of heavy traffic during morning and afternoon rush hours, and the privileges extended to such impaired persons do not apply on streets or highways where and during such times as parking is prohibited.
- (b) A mobility impaired person as used in this section includes any person who has lost the use of one or both legs; requires personal assistance or the use of crutches, a wheelchair, or a walker to walk two hundred feet (60.96 meters) without rest; is restricted by cardiac, pulmonary, or vascular disease from walking two hundred feet (60.96 meters) without rest; has a forced expiratory volume of less than one liter for one second or an arterial oxygen tension of less than sixty millimeters of mercury of room air while at rest and is classified III or IV by standards for cardiac disease set by the American Heart Association; or has an orthopedic, neurologic, or other medical condition that makes it impossible for the person to walk two hundred feet (60.96 meters) without assistance or rest.
- The registrar of motor vehicles may issue, for a fee of three dollars per year or (c) part of a year, a special identifying certificate to any mobility impaired applicant upon submission by the applicant of a completed application and a written statement issued by a qualified physician to the registrar that the applicant is a mobility impaired person within the criteria of subsection (b). The application must include the information required by the registrar. The physician's statement must describe how the impairment limits the applicant's mobility and daily life functions of the applicant. The certificate is valid for a period, not to exceed three years, as determined by the registrar. A physician who provides a false statement that a person is mobility impaired for the purpose of that person obtaining a certificate under this subsection is guilty of an infraction for which a minimum fine of one hundred dollars must be imposed. A certificate issued under this subsection must be at least five and one-half inches (13.97 centimeters) in height and weight and one-half inches (21.59 centimeters) in width and must bear, in blue on white, the internationally accepted symbol of access for the mobility impaired. The certificate must bear the expiration date and registration number assigned by the registrar. The registrar shall adopt rules governing the issuance of the certificate. A temporary certificate, valid for an initial period not to exceed three months, may be issued by the registrar for a fee of three dollars upon application supported by a physician's statement. The temporary certificate may be extended an additional period, not to exceed three months, upon application supported by a physician's statement that the extension is warranted. The registrar shall determine the form and size of the temporary certificate.
- (d) A certificate issued under this section must be prominently displayed on the left-hand dashboard of the motor vehicle whenever the vehicle is occupying a space reserved for the mobility impaired and is being used by a mobility impaired person or another person for the purposes of transporting the mobility impaired person. No part of the certificate may be obscured. A fee of five dollars may be imposed for a violation of this subsection.

- (e) If a law enforcement officer finds that the certificate is being improperly used, the officer may report to the registrar of motor vehicles any such violation and the registrar may, in the registrar's discretion, remove the privilege. Any person who is not mobility impaired and who exercises the privileges granted a mobility impaired person under subsection (a) is guilty of an infraction for which a fine of one hundred dollars must be imposed.
- Whenever any public or private agency or authority designates parking spaces for (f) use by motor vehicles operated by mobility impaired persons, those reserved spaces shall be indicated by blue paint on the curb or edge of the paved portion of the street or parking lot adjacent to the space. In addition to blue paint, the spaces reserved must also be indicated by official signs approved by the commissioner bearing the internationally accepted symbol of access for the mobility impaired which indicate, through the use of arrows, the total width of the reserved area. The sign must indicate that unauthorized use of the space is a nonmoving violation for which a fine one hundred dollars must be imposed. For particular events, a public or private agency may reserve additional parking spaces for use by motor vehicles operated by mobility impaired persons. In that case, the temporarily reserved spaces must be indicated by signs or other suitable means. A sign indicating that a space is reserved for the mobility impaired and blue paint on the curb or edge of the paved portion of the street or parking lot adjacent to the space, unless the space is a temporary mobility impaired parking space is sufficient basis for the enforcement of this section. A law enforcement officer may enforce this section in any parking lot or parking facility whether publicly or privately owned.
- A person may not stop, stand, or park any vehicle in any designated parking space (g) that is reserved for the mobility impaired unless the vehicle displays a mobility impaired identification certificate issued by the registrar of motor vehicles to a mobility impaired person. A mobility impaired person may not permit the use of a certificate issued under this section by a person who is not mobility impaired when that use is not in connection with the transport of the mobility impaired person. The registered owner of a vehicle may not allow that vehicle to be used in a manner that violates this subsection. Proof of intent is not required to prove a registered owner's violation of this subsection. The registered owner, however, may be excused from violation if the owner provides the citing authority with the name and address of the person operating the vehicle at the time of the violation. A vehicle may temporarily use a space reserved for mobility impaired persons without a mobility impaired certificate for the purpose of loading and unloading mobility impaired persons. A violation of this subsection is a nonmoving violation for which a fee of one hundred dollars must be imposed.
- (h) Any motor vehicle licensed in another state which displays a special authorized vehicle designation issued by the licensing authority of that state for vehicles used in the transportation of mobility impaired persons must be accorded the same privilege provided in this section for similar vehicles licensed in this state if the laws of the other state provide the same privileges to North Dakota motor vehicles displaying the special identifying certificate authorized in this section. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1015, § 1; Ord. No. 1067, § 1.)

Section 23.56.170 Prohibited at all times on certain streets

Those streets or portions of streets upon which parking is prohibited shall be posted with special signs with wording similar to "NO PARKING ANYTIME". (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1057, § 1; Ord. No. 1180 § 1.)

Section 23.56.180 Prohibited during certain hours on certain days and streets for cleaning purposes

For street cleaning purposes, when signs are erected in each block giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle between the hours of 1:00 A.M. and 7:00 A.M. on streets running east and west on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays and between the hours of 1:00 A.M. and 7:00 A.M. on avenues running north and south on Tuesdays and Thursdays as follows:

Broadway, between west line of Riverside Addition and Fifth Avenue South East.

Eighth Avenue West, between Empire Road (10th Street West) and Villard Street.

First Avenue East, between Third Street and Villard Street.

First Avenue West, between Third Street and Villard Street.

First Street, between Fourth Avenue West and Fourth Avenue East.

First Avenue South East, between Broadway and First Street South East.

First Street South East, between South Main and Fifth Avenue South East.

Fourth Avenue East, between Third Street East and Villard Street.

Fourth Avenue West, between Fourth Street and Villard Street.

Ninth Street, between Fifth Avenue West and Fourth Avenue East.

South Main (Highway 22), between Heart River Bridge and Villard Street.

Second Avenue East, between Second Street and Villard Street.

Second Avenue West, between Third Street and Villard Street.

Second Street, between Eighth Avenue West and State Avenue; between Fourth Avenue West and Fourth Avenue East.

Seventh Street, between Sims Street and Third Avenue West.

Sims Street, between Twelfth Street and Villard Street.

Third Avenue East, between Second Street and Villard Street.

Third Avenue West, between Tenth Street West and Villard Street.

Third Street, between Fourth Avenue East and Eighth Avenue West.

Tenth Avenue East, between North Line of Suncrest Addition and Villard Street.

Villard Street, between Tenth Avenue East and State Avenue.

This prohibition shall be effective from March 15, through October 31 of each year. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.190 Snow emergency routes--Defined; designated

Snow emergency routes are those streets normally traversing the entire city or a major part of the city and which are essential to the rapid movement of emergency vehicles and normally carry the heaviest traffic volumes. The Board of City Commissioners shall designate by

resolution the streets or portions of streets which shall constitute the snow emergency routes within the City. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1181 § 1.)

Section 23.56.200 Same--Parking on

Upon the declaration of a snow emergency, parking on designated snow emergency routes shall be prohibited. This parking prohibition shall remain in effect until the declaration of a snow emergency has been terminated. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1181 § 2.)

Section 23.56.210 Same--Declaration of snow emergency

A declaration of a snow emergency shall be made upon the basis of falling snow, sleet or freezing rain or upon the basis of the forecast of the same. Upon it's declaration, a snow emergency shall remain in effect until it has been officially terminated. The City Commission shall designate by resolution those officials and employees empowered to declare or terminate a snow emergency. The declaration and termination of a snow emergency shall be publicly announced by local radio and television broadcast and when feasible, the official newspaper. These announcements shall contain information regarding the prohibition of parking on snow emergency routes. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1181 § 3.)

Section 23.56.220 Same--Signs to mark

Snow emergency routes shall be posted with special signs with wording "NO PARKING DURING SNOW EMERGENCY". (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 880, § 1; Ord. No. 1181 § 4.)

Section 23.56.230 Same--Removal of stalled vehicles

Whenever a vehicle becomes stalled for any reason on a snow emergency route on which there is a parking prohibition in effect, the person operating the vehicle shall take immediate action to have the vehicle towed or pushed off the snow emergency route. No person shall abandon or leave his vehicle on a snow emergency route except for the purpose of securing assistance during the actual time necessary to go to a nearby telephone or nearby garage, gasoline station or other place of assistance, and return without delay (one-half hour maximum allowed).

To facilitate the completion of plowing of all city streets other than snow emergency routes, after a snow emergency has been declared, it shall be unlawful for any person to stop, stand, park or leave unattended, other than adjacent to the street curb, a vehicle for more than one-half hour following the declaration of a snow emergency. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1181 § 5.)

Section 23.56.240 Same--Impoundment of illegally stopped vehicles

Any vehicle stopped on any snow emergency route in violation of the provisions of this article or on any other street of the city in violation of sections 23.56.170 through 23.56.260, providing for the completion of plowing of snow or ice may be impounded by members of the city police department and held in accordance with section 23.56.020. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.250 Evidence with respect to vehicles parked or left in violation of article

In any prosecution with regard to a vehicle parked or left in a place of violation of any provision of this article, proof that the particular vehicle described in the complaint was parked or left in violation of a provision of this article, together with proof that the defendant named in the complaint was at the time the registered owner of such vehicle, shall constitute prima facie evidence that the defendant was the person who parked or left the vehicle in violation of this article. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.260 Prohibited during certain hours and days.

For cleaning, construction, marking and other similar purposes, parking shall be prohibited on certain days and or between certain hours by the posting of special signs with wording similar to: "NO PARKING ON (days specified)"; "NO PARKING BETWEEN (hours specified)"; or "NO PARKING ON (days specified) BETWEEN (hours specified)". (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1180 § 2.)

Section 23.56.270 Parking by employers, employees and public servants prohibited in certain downtown areas

Repealed 6/1/2015 (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 881, § 2; Ord. No. 911, § 1; Ord. No. 960, § 1; Ord. No. 1030, § 3; Ord. No. 1116, § 1; Ord. No. 1141 § 1; Ord. No. 1202, § 11; Ord. No. 1213, § 1; Ord. No. 1584 § 1.)

Section 23.56.280 Assessment of businesses benefitted by certain parking lots; reassessment upon change in use

(a) Businesses. Any corporation, firm, partnership, association, organization and any other group acting as a unit, as well as an individual, who currently has established or hereafter establishes a business in a building on property within the boundaries of a special assessment district created for downtown parking, including Downtown Improvement District No. 3, Downtown Improvement District No. 4, and all similar Downtown Improvement Districts hereafter created and is benefitted by area parking lots, shall be assessed to create funds and revenue in order to allow limited free parking in such areas. The Special Assessment Commission shall determine the method of assessment for all buildings within the district, subject to approval of the Board of City Commissioners. Each parking space not provided on the property shall be multiplied by the amount necessary to provide an annual assessment, not to exceed the annual assessment required to maintain said Downtown Improvement District which shall be the amount assessed against such property annually before the city certifies taxes and special assessments to the county.

Any new business established within such district shall be notified of this assessment or reassessment. Notice shall be served personally to the new business, whereupon the proprietor shall be afforded thirty days from such personal service to protest the assessment procedure. All protests which may be filed with the city auditor within such

time shall be heard and considered at the next regular meeting of the board of city commissioners or within such time as the matter may properly be scheduled for the governing body to hear and consider the same.

(Ord. No. 998, § 1; Ord No. 1116, § 2; Ord. No. 1213, § 2; Ord. No. 1318 §1)

Section 23.56.290 Leaving vehicle parked in one place for more than forty-eight hours; impoundment and notice procedures

- (a) The owner, driver or other person having under his control or charge any automobile, truck, trailer, motor vehicle, tractor, motorcycle, motorized bicycle, semitrailer, truck tractor, house trailer, mobile home or any other type vehicle as described in North Dakota Century Code, section 39-01-01 shall not cause or allow such vehicle to stand or remain to be parked in any one place upon any street, avenue or alley of the city, or any city-owned parking lot, for a period of time longer than forty-eight hours. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to conflict with any other provisions of this article providing parking restrictions or limitations of a lesser time as therein provided.
- (b) It is unlawful for any person to park or leave standing any boat, bumper pull travel trailer, fifth wheel trailer, pull type camper, motor home, house car, bus, mini-motor home or trailer on the public right-of-way in any residentially zoned area from November 1st to March 31st. Any person violating this section is subject to a fine as set forth on the City Fee Schedule. A boat, bumper pull travel trailer, fifth wheel trailer, pull type camper, motor home, house car, bus, motor home, or trailer parked or left standing in violation of this section for a consecutive period longer than forty-eight (48) hours shall be considered abandoned and be removed pursuant to subsection (c) of this Section.
- (c) The city, through its peace officers or other duly authorized officials, shall take into custody and impound any motor vehicle or other vehicle as herein described according to the policies and procedures established by the board of city commissioners and the police department. A notice shall be affixed to the automobile, truck, trailer, motor vehicle, tractor, motorcycle, motorized bicycle, semitrailer, truck tractor, house trailer, mobile home or any other type of vehicle as described in North Dakota Century Code, section 39-01-01 identifying the owner or other person having control of the motor vehicle, and such notice shall state that the vehicle will be towed to a place of impoundment within forty-eight hours. The notice shall set forth the date, and the place of the taking, the year, make, model and such other information established by the board of city commissioners and the police department. The notice shall inform the owner of his right to reclaim the vehicle from the city, thereby taking it into custody, upon payment of all towing and storage charges resulting from taking the vehicle into custody. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 873, § 3; Ord. No. 930, § 1; Ord. No. 1097, § 1; Ord No. 1367 §1; Ord No. 1686 §1)

Section 23.56.300 Restricted time parking zone

The city traffic engineer or authorized person may determine and designate vehicle restricted time parking zones for a period of not longer than shown on the sign designating the restriction between the hours of 9:00 A.M. and 5:00 P.M. of any day except Sundays and holidays. The city traffic engineer or authorized person shall cause to be placed and maintain

official signs giving notice thereof. No person shall park a vehicle for a period of time longer than shown on the sign and no such restricted time parking zone shall be enforceable unless properly signed. Anyone disagreeing with the determination and designation of the city traffic engineer or authorized person may present their disagreement to the board of city commissioners at a regularly scheduled meeting as to the decision of such location. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 934, § 1; Ord. No. 1031, § 1.)

Section 23.56.310 Five minute parking zone for U.S. Post Office

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle for a period of time longer than five minutes between the hours of 9:00 A.M. and 5:00 P.M. of any day except Sundays and holidays upon the following:

The street adjacent to:

Lot 13, Block 11, original plat of the city, post office, all. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 883, § 1; Ord. No. 1031, § 2.)

Section 23.56.320 City parking lots

The following described land and premises within the city owned or leased by the city shall be operated, regulated and maintained by the city as public parking lots for motor vehicles used in the city:

- (a) Lot 1, (PIN-0010-0200-2001) West 90 feet Lots 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, Block 2, Original Plat; west of Dickinson Press;
- (b) Lot 2 (PIN-0010-1300-....) Lots 18, 19, 20 and 21, Block 13, Original Plat; north of City Hall;
- (c) Lot 3 (PIN-0010-1600-0900) Lots 11 and 12, Block 16, Original Plat; south of Kirkwood National Bank;
- (d) Lot 4 (PIN-0010-1100-0100) Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, Block 11, Original Plat; north of L-Air Apartment Building;
- (e) Lot 5 (PIN-7000-0000-1210) and (PIN-7000-0000-0030) West of Burlington Northern Depot;
- (f) Lot 6 (PIN 0010-0100-0100) Lots 1, 2, and part of 3, Block 1, Original Plat; north of downtown Fire Hall;
- (g) Lot 7 (PIN-0010-1100-2100) Lots 21, 22, 23, 24, Block 11, Original Plat; north of Post Office:
- (h) Lot 8 (PIN-1190-0100-0100) Lot 9, Block 1, South Dickinson; behind Pizza Patrol:
- (i) Lot 9 (PIN-0010-1400-0300) Lots 3, 4, 5, and South 2 feet of Lot 2, Block 14, Original Plat; north of KDIX Radio Station;
- (j) Lot 10 (PIN-0010-0800-1300) Lots 13, 14, and West 12.5 feet of Lot 15, Block 8, original Plat; east of Excel Cleaners Building; and
- (k) Lot 11 (PIN-0010-0900-9000) Lots 9 and 10, Block 9, Original Plat; west of Excel Cleaners Building;
- (l) Such other lots as are designated by resolution by the Board of City Commissioners.

It shall be unlawful for any person to cause, allow or suffer any vehicle registered in his name or operated or controlled by him to be upon any space within parking lot herein unless an

appropriate parking rental, as provided by resolution of the city, has been paid or unless such vehicle is parked on a specific parking area which is posted and designated as a free and appropriate public parking area. Any person found in violation of this provision may be punished as provided in section 23.56.350. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 883, § 2; Ord. No. 960, § 2; Ord. No. 1031, § 2; Ord. No. 1141 § 2; Ord. No. 1169 § 1; Ord. No. 1213, § 3; Ord. No. 1318 § 2.)

Section 23.56.330 Marking of parking spaces; parking within spaces

Suitable spaces for the parking of motor vehicles in each of the lots provided for in this article shall be indicated by lines or markings, and each vehicle parked within such area shall park within such lines or markings. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.340 Parking across lines or in driveway

It shall be unlawful for any person to park any vehicle across the lines or markings provided for in section 23.56.330 in the driveway leading into or out of any of the city parking lots. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.56.345 Penalty for parking violations.

The fees required for a non-criminal disposition pursuant to either section 23.80.040 or section 23.80.050 shall be a fee of fifteen dollars for a violation of sections 23.56.050, 23.56.060, 23.56.070, 23.56.080, 23.56.090, 23.56.100, 23.56.110, 23.56.120, 23.56.130, 23.56.140, 23.56.150, 23.56.180, 23.56.300, or 23.56.310. (Ord. No. 1202, § 10; Ord. No. 1292 § 1.)

Section 23.56.346 Temporary occupation permit.

Repealed 03-21-2016 (Ord. No. 1196, § 2, Ord. No. 1606, § 1)

Section 23.56.347 Permit process.

A temporary occupation permit applicant shall file an application with the City Administrator containing the following:

- 1. Name and address of the applicant.
- 2. Name and address of the person or organization the applicant represents.
- 3. The exact time and date of commencement and termination of each act or activity desired.
- 4. The purpose and location of each activity.
- 5. Such other relevant information as the City Administrator may require for the investigation of the activity and the applicant.

Upon completion and filing of the application, the City Administrator may issue the temporary occupation permit. (Ord. No. 1196, § 3.)

Section 23.56.348 Permit fees.

The applicant, prior to issuance of the permit, shall pay the amount as set forth in the City of Dickinson fee schedule. (Ord. No. 1196, § 4.)

Section 23.56.350 Penalty

Every person violating the provisions of this article shall, upon conviction, be punished by a fine of not to exceed five hundred dollars or imprisonment not to exceed thirty days, or by both fine and imprisonment in the discretion of the court, and the court shall have the power to suspend such sentence and to revoke the suspension thereof. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 882, § 1.)

Article 23.60 Reserved Parking Areas

Sections:

23.60.010 Generally

Section 23.60.010 Generally

No person shall, when signs are erected giving notice thereof, park or leave standing, either attended or unattended, any motor vehicle on street areas which are reserved for the following temporary uses: loading and unloading, bus parking, guest parking, taxi parking, emergency parking, no parking, police or fire use.

The city engineer or authorized person shall establish from time to time areas for loading and unloading, bus parking, guest parking, taxi parking, emergency parking, no parking, police and fire use on such public streets in such places and in such number as he shall determine or as the governing body may specifically designate to be of greatest benefit and convenience to the public and to promote the best use of the streets for traffic and pedestrians and designate the same by appropriate signs. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.64 Time Limit Parking Zones

Sections:

23.64.010 Generally.

Section 23.64.010 Generally.

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park or leave standing, either attended or unattended, any motor vehicle for more than five consecutive minutes on street areas so posted, or for more than ten consecutive minutes on street areas so posted, or more than thirty consecutive minutes on street areas so posted, or for more than one hundred twenty consecutive minutes on street areas so posted, when such areas have been made available for parking.

The city engineer or authorized person shall establish from time to time in such places and in such manner time parking zones as he shall determine, or as the governing body shall specifically designate to promote the greatest benefit and convenience to the public and the best use of the street areas. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.68 Equipment of Vehicles

Sections:	
23.68.010	Vehicles other than motorcycles
23.68.015	Safety belts required
23.68.020	Child restraint devices
23.68.030	Equipment requirementsPenalty
23.68.040	Motorcycle equipment
23.68.050	When lighted lamps are required; penalty
26.38.060	Windshield – must be unobstructed and equipped with wipers – tinted windows

Section 23.68.010 Vehicles other than motorcycles

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, chapter 39-21, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.68.015 Safety belts required

A driver may not operate upon a highway a motor vehicle designed for carrying fewer than eleven passengers, which was originally manufactured with safety belts unless each front seat occupant is wearing a properly adjusted and fastened safety belt. This section does not apply to a child in a child restraint or safety belt in accordance with NDCC 39-21-41.2; to drivers of implements of husbandry; to operators of farm vehicles as defined in subsection 5 of NDCC 39-04-19; to rural mail carriers while on duty delivering mail; to an occupant with a medical or physically disabling condition that prevents appropriate restraint in a safety belt, if a qualified physician, physician assistant, or advanced practice registered nurse states in a signed writing the nature of the condition and the reason restraint is inappropriate; or when all front seat safety belts are in use by other occupants. A physician, physician assistant, or advanced practice registered nurse who, in good faith, provides a statement that restraint would be inappropriate is not subject to civil liability. A violation for not wearing a safety belt under this section is not, in itself, evidence of negligence. The fact of a violation of this section is not admissible in any proceeding other than one charging the violation. (Ord. No. 1104, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, § 3; Ord. No. 1590, § 5; Ord. No. 1783 § 1)

Section 23.68.020 Child restraint devices

a) If a child, under eight years of age, is present in a motor vehicle, that motor vehicle must be equipped with at least one child restraint system for the child. However, a child under the age of eight who is at least fifty-seven inches [1.45 meters] tall is not required to use a child restraint system, but must be correctly buckled in a safety belt. The child restraint system must meet the standards adopted by the United States Department of Transportation for those systems [49 CFR 571.213]. While the motor vehicle is in motion, the child must be properly secured in the child restraint system in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. While the motor vehicle is moving,

each child of eight through seventeen years of age who is in the motor vehicle must be in an approved child restraint system in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions or correctly buckled in a safety belt. Use of child restraint systems and safety belts is not required in motor vehicles that were not equipped with safety belts when manufactured. If a child is being transported in an emergency situation, this section does not apply.

- b) Violation of this section is punishable by a fine as set forth in NDCC 39-06.1-06 (2).
- c) Violation of this section is not, in itself, evidence of negligence. The fact of a violation of this section is not admissible in any proceeding other than one charging the violation.

(Ord. No. 917, § 1; Ord. No. 1054, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, § 4; Ord. No. 1590, § 6; Ord. No. 1783 § 2)

Section 23.68.030 Equipment requirements--Penalty

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-21-46, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) It is unlawful for any person to drive or move, or for the owner to cause or knowingly permit to be driven or moved, on any highway/roadway/street any vehicle or combination of vehicles which the actor knows to be in such unsafe condition as to endanger any person, or which the actor knows does not contain those parts or is not at all times equipped with lamps and other equipment in proper condition and adjustment as required in this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21, or which the actor knows is equipped in any manner in violation of this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21, or for any person to do any act forbidden or fail to perform any act required under this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21. Unless otherwise specifically provided in this chapter or in section 23.80.090 or 23.80.100, any person who, in violation of this chapter, drives, or any owner who causes or knowingly permits to be driven upon a highway/roadway/street any vehicle or combination of vehicles which that person knows is unsafe or improperly equipped is guilty of an infraction.
- (b) Nothing contained in this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21 may be construed to prohibit the use of additional parts and accessories on any vehicle not inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21.
- (c) The provisions of this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21 with respect to equipment on vehicles do not apply to implements of husbandry, road machinery, road rollers, or farm tractors except as specifically made applicable.
- (d) The provisions of this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21 with respect to equipment required on vehicles do not apply to motorcycles or motor

driven cycles, except as specifically made applicable.

(e) The provisions of this chapter and North Dakota Century Code chapter 39-21 and regulations of the North Dakota Motor Vehicle Department do not apply to vehicles moved solely by human power, except as specifically made applicable. (Ord. No. 1027, § 1.)

Section 23.68.040 Motorcycle equipment

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, chapter 39-27, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.68.050 When lighted lamps are required; penalty

Every vehicle upon a street within this city at any time from sunset to sunrise, and every farm tractor upon a highway within this city at any time from a half hour after sunset to a half hour before sunrise, and at any other time when, due to insufficient light or unfavorable atmospheric conditions, persons and vehicles on the highway are not clearly discernible at a distance of one thousand feet (304.8 meters) ahead, shall display lighted lamps and illuminating devices as hereinafter respectively required for different classes of vehicles, subject to exceptions with respect to parked vehicles. Stoplights, turn signals, and other signaling devices shall be lighted as prescribed for the use of such devices. Any person who violates the provisions of this section shall be assessed a fee of forty dollars for each violation. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1035, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, § 5.)

23.68.060 Windshield - must be unobstructed and equipped with wipers - tinted windows.

- 1. A motor vehicle must be equipped with a windshield. An individual may not drive any motor vehicle with any sign, poster, or other nontransparent material upon the front windshield, side wings, or side or rear windows which obstructs the driver's clear view of the highway or any intersecting highway.
- 2. The windshield on a motor vehicle must be equipped with a device for cleaning rain, snow, or other moisture from the windshield, which must be constructed as to be controlled or operated by the driver of the vehicle.
- 3. The windshield wiper upon a motor vehicle must be maintained in good working order.
- 4. An individual may not operate a motor vehicle with any object, material, or tinting displayed, affixed, or applied on the front windshield or any window unless the object, material, or tinting in conjunction with the windshield upon which it is displayed, affixed, or applied has a light transmittance of at least seventy percent or the object, material, or tinting in conjunction with the front seat side windows other than the windshield upon which it is displayed, affixed, or applied has a light transmittance of at least fifty percent.

- 5. This subsection does not apply to windows behind the operator if the motor vehicle is equipped with outside mirrors on both sides that meet the requirements of NDCC 39-21-38.
- 6. Subsection 4 does not apply to nonreflective sunscreening or window tinting material above the AS-1 line or within the top five inches [12.7 centimeters] of the windshield.
- 7. A windshield may not be shattered or in such a defective condition that the windshield materially impairs or obstructs the driver's clear view. (Ord. No. 1783 § 8)

Article 23.72 Regulation of Kinds and Classes of Traffic on Certain Roadways

CONTINU	
Sections	• -
CCCIOIL	•

23.72.010 Weight and load restrictions

23.72.020 Commercial vehicles prohibited from using certain streets

23.72.030 Size restrictions

23.72.040 Restrictions upon use of streets by certain vehicles

Section 23.72.010 Weight and load restrictions

The city engineer or street superintendent may classify any street or part of a street so designated to be restricted from travel by trucks, truck-tractors, trailers, semitrailers, commercial buses, delivery vehicles or any other commercial vehicles, whether loaded or unloaded, except for the expressed use of making deliveries to locations within the restricted area, upon determination that conditions exist which would cause damage to the street should any person operate his/her vehicle on such street. Signs shall be erected giving notice of such restriction. The board of city commissioners shall approve or disapprove the restriction at their next regularly scheduled city commission meeting. This section shall not apply to vehicles and equipment of the city's public works department and fire department. For the purposes of this section, the word "street" shall mean any street, avenue, land, alley, drive or any other title that indicates a street. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 956, § 1.)

Section 23.72.020 Commercial vehicles prohibited from using certain streets

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall operate any commercial vehicle exceeding the maximum indicated gross weight at any time upon any street or part of a street so designated; except, that such vehicles may be operated thereon for the purpose of delivering or picking up materials or merchandise and then only by entering such street at the intersection nearest the destination of the vehicle and proceeding thereon no further than the nearest intersection thereafter. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.72.030 Size restrictions

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall operate any vehicle exceeding the dimensions specified by such sign or signs at any time upon any street or part of a street so designated. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.72.040 Restrictions upon use of streets by certain vehicles

- (a) The city traffic engineer or authorized person may determine and designate those heavily traveled streets upon which shall be prohibited the use of the roadway by motordriven cycles, bicycles, horse drawn vehicles or other nonmotorized traffic and shall erect appropriate signs giving notice thereof.
- (b) When signs are so erected giving notice thereof, no person shall disobey the restrictions stated on such signs. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.76 Criminal Traffic Violations

Sections:	
23.76.010	Persons under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any other drugs or
	substances not to operate vehiclePenalty
23.76.015	Bicycling or riding an animal while under the influence of alcohol or drug penalty
23.76.020	Reckless driving
23.76.030	Accidents involving damage to vehicle
23.76.040	Duty upon striking fixtures or other property
23.76.050	Penalty for driving while license suspended or revoked
23.76.060	Violations involving operation of snowmobiles
23.76.070	Violations involving operation of off-highway vehicles
23.76.080	Harassment of domestic animals
23.76.090	Operation of motor vehicle, etc., prohibited on flood protective works
23.76.100	Operator's licenseDriving without
23.76.110	SameTo be carried and exhibited on demand
23.76.120	Violations of motor vehicle registration provisions; penalties
23.76.125	Failure to register upon gainful employment
23.76.130	Display of number plates and tabs
23.76.140	Driving without liability insurancePenalty
23.76.150	Driving as permitted by class of license
23.76.160	Weighing
23.76.170	Registration to be carried in or on vehicle – inspection - penalty

Section 23.76.010 Persons under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any other drugs or substances not to operate vehicle--Penalty

The provisions of the North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-01, and all subsequent amendments thereto, shall be and are hereby adopted and incorporated by reference herein.

- (a) A person may not drive or be in actual physical control of any vehicle upon a highway or upon public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in this city if any of the following apply:
 - (1) That person has an alcohol concentration of at least eight one-hundredths of one percent by weight at the time of the performance of a chemical test within two hours after the driving or being in actual physical control of a vehicle.
 - (2) That person is under the influence of intoxicating liquor.
 - (3) That person is under the influence of any drug or substance or combination of drugs or substances to a degree which renders that person incapable of safely driving.
 - (4) That person is under the combined influence of alcohol and any other drugs or substances to a degree which renders that person incapable of safely driving.
 - (5) That individual refuses to submit to any of the following:

- (a) A chemical test, or tests, of the individual's blood, breath, or urine to determine the alcohol concentration or presence of other drugs, or combination thereof, in the individual's blood, breath, or urine, at the direction of a law enforcement officer under NDCC section 39-06.2-10.2 if the individual is driving or is in actual physical control of a commercial motor vehicle; or
- (b) A chemical test, or tests, of the individual's blood, breath, or urine to determine the alcohol concentration or presence of other drugs, or combination thereof, in the individual's blood, breath, or urine, at the direction of a law enforcement officer under NDCC section 39-20-01
- (6) Subdivision (5) does not apply to an individual unless the individual has been advised of the consequences of refusing a chemical test consistent with the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of North Dakota.

The fact that any person charged with violating this section is or has been legally entitled to use alcohol or other drugs or substances is not a defense against any charge for violating this section. It is an affirmative defense that a drug was used only as directed or cautioned by a practitioner who legally prescribed or dispensed the drug to that person. If the individual violated subsections 1, 2, 3 or 4 of this subsection and subdivision 5 of this subsection and the violations arose from the same incident, for the purposes of suspension or revocation of an operator's license, the violations are deemed a single violation and the court shall forward to the department of transportation only the conviction for driving under the influence or actual physical control.

- (b) An individual who operates a motor vehicle on a highway or on public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in this state who refuses to submit to a chemical test, or tests, required under NDCC 39-06.2-10.2, or 39-20-01, is guilty of an offense under this section.
- (c) An individual violating this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor for the first or second offense in a seven-year period. The minimum penalty for violating this section is as provided in subsection (e) hereof. The court shall take judicial notice of the fact that an offense would be a subsequent offense if indicated by the records of the Highway Department Commissioner or make a subsequent offense finding based on other evidence.
- (d) Upon conviction of a second or subsequent offense within seven years under this section, the court may order the motor vehicle number plates of all of the motor vehicles owned and operated by the offender at the time of the offense to be destroyed by the office of the police officer that made the arrest. The offender shall deliver the number plates to the court without delay at a time certain as ordered by the court following the conviction. The court shall deliver the number plates to the office and notify the Department of Transportation of the order. An offender who does not provide the number plates to the court at the appropriate time is subject to revocation of probation. The court may make an exception to this subsection, on an individual basis, to avoid undue hardship to an individual who is completely dependent upon the motor vehicle for the necessities of life,

including a family member of the convicted individual and a co-owner of the motor vehicle, or if the offender is participating in the twenty-four seven sobriety program.

- (e) A person convicted of violating this section, must be sentenced in accordance with this subsection:
 - (1) For a first offense, the sentence must include both a fine of at least five hundred dollars (\$500) and an order for addiction evaluation by an appropriate licensed addiction treatment program.
 - (2) In addition, for a first offense when the convicted person has an alcohol concentration of at least sixteen one-hundredths of one percent by weight, the offense is an aggravated first offense and the sentence must include a fine of at least seven hundred fifty dollars (\$750) and at least two (2) days' imprisonment.
 - (3) For a second offense within seven (7) years, the sentence must include at least ten (10) days' imprisonment of which forty-eight hours must be served consecutively a fine of at least one thousand five hundred (\$1,500) dollars; an order for addiction evaluation by an appropriate licensed addiction treatment program; and at least twelve (12) months' participation in the twenty-four seven sobriety program described in NDCC Chapter 54-12 as a mandatory condition of probation.
 - (4) The execution or imposition of sentence under this section may not be deferred under subsection 4 of North Dakota Century Code section 12.1-32-02 for an offense for an offense subject to this section.
 - (5) If the offense is subject to this Section 23.76.010, the court may not suspend a sentence, but may convert each day of a term of imprisonment to ten hours of community service for an offense subject to subsection (e)(1). The court may require the defendant to complete alcohol and substance abuse treatment and rehabilitation under the direction of the drug court program as a condition of probation in accordance with rules adopted by the supreme court. If the district court finds that a defendant has failed to undergo an evaluation or complete treatment or has violated any condition of probation, the court shall revoke the defendant's probation and shall sentence the defendant in accordance with this section.
 - (6) For purposes of this Section, conviction of an offense under a law or ordinance of another state which is equivalent to this Section shall be considered a prior offense if such offense was committed within the time limitations specified in this Section.
 - (7) If the penalty mandated by this Section includes imprisonment upon conviction of a violation of this section or equivalent ordinance, and if an addiction evaluation has indicated that the defendant needs treatment, the court may order the defendant to undergo treatment at an appropriate licensed addiction treatment program under NDCC 12.1-32-02(g)(1) and the time spent by the defendant in the treatment must be credited as a portion of a sentence of imprisonment or placement under this Section. A court

- may not order the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to be responsible for the costs of treatment in a private treatment facility.
- (8) As used in this Section, the term "imprisonment" includes house arrest. As a condition of house arrest, a defendant may not consume alcoholic beverages. The house arrest must include a program of electronic home detention and the defendant shall participate in the twenty-four seven sobriety program. The defendant shall defray all costs associated with the electronic home detention. For an offense under subsection (e)(3) of this Section, no more than ninety percent of the sentence may be house arrest.
- (f) As used in this Article, participation in the twenty-four seven sobriety program under NDCC Chapter 54-12 means compliance with NDCC sections 54-12-27 through 54-12-31, and requires sobriety breath testing twice per day seven days per week or electronic alcohol monitoring, urine testing, or drug patch testing. The offender is responsible for all twenty-four seven sobriety program fees and the court may not waive the fees. For purposes of this section, the twenty-four seven sobriety program is a condition of probation and a court may not order participation in the program as part of the sentence. If an individual ordered to participate in the twenty-four seven program is not a resident of this state, that individual shall enroll in a twenty-four seven program or an alcohol compliance program if available in that individual's state of residence and shall file proof of such enrollment.
- (g) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the municipal court or municipal judge has no jurisdiction to hear, try and determine an offense which could be a violation of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-01, or equivalent ordinance, if the individual charged with the offense has twice previously been convicted of a violation of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-01, or equivalent ordinance, within the seven (7) years preceding the commission of the offense charged or if the individual charged with the offense has three times previously been convicted of a violation of section 39-08-01 or equivalent ordinance within the fifteen years preceding the commission of the offense charged. If such an offense is charged in the municipal court and the municipal judge has notice of a violation section 39-08-01, or equivalent ordinance, twice within the seven (7) years or three times within the fifteen years, preceding the commission of the offense charged, municipal judge shall dismiss the charge, without prejudice and direct that the charge be filed against the individual in the county court.
- (h) Criminal Record Seal Exception: The Court shall seal an individual's criminal record in accordance with sections 12.1-32-07.1 and 12.1-32-07.2, which relates to a conviction under section 39-08-01 of the North Dakota Century Code, if the individual:
 - (1) Has plead guilty or nolo contendere to, or has been found guilty of a violation under section 23.76.010 or 39-08-01; and
 - (2) Has not plead guilty or nolo contender to, or has not been found guilty of a subsequent violation of section 23.76.010, or any other criminal offense, within seven years of the first violation under 23.76.010 or 39-08-01.
 - (3) This section does not apply to an individual licenses as a commercial driver under NDCC Section 39-06.2-10 or to a prosecutor's access to a prior offense for the purposes of enhancement under section (e)(3) above.

Section 23.76.015 Bicycling or riding an animal while under the influence of alcohol or drug- penalty.

An individual operating a bicycle or riding an animal on a roadway, or an area the public as access to, may not be under the influence of alcohol or any drug to a degree which renders the individual a hazard to themselves or the general public. An individual who violates this section must be assessed a fee of two hundred dollars. (Ord. No. 1783 § 11)

Section 23.76.020 Reckless driving

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-03, and all subsequent amendments; shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any person shall be guilty of reckless driving if he drives a vehicle:

- (a) Recklessly in disregard of the rights or safety of others; or
- (b) Without due caution and circumspection and at a speed or in a manner so as to endanger or be likely to endanger any person or the property of another.

Except as otherwise herein provided, any person violating the provisions of this section shall be guilty of an offense. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.76.030 Accidents involving damage to vehicle

The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting only in damage to a vehicle which is driven or attended by any person shall immediately stop such vehicle at the scene of such accident until he has given the driver's name and address and the name of the motor vehicle insurance policy carrier of the driver and owner, as well as the registration number of the vehicle. Every such stop shall be made without obstructing traffic more than is necessary. Any person failing to stop or comply with such requirements under such circumstances is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 993, § 2.)

Section 23.76.040 Duty upon striking fixtures or other property

The driver of any vehicle involved in an accident resulting only in damage to fixtures or other property shall take reasonable steps to locate and notify the owner or person in charge of such property of such fact and of his name and address and the registration number of the vehicle he is driving and shall, upon request and if available, exhibit his operator's or chauffeur's license and shall make report of such accident when and as required in section 23.12.150. Any person violating this section is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 993, § 4; Ord. No. 1192, § 1.)

Section 23.76.050 Penalty for driving while license suspended or revoked

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06-42, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and hereby are incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Except as provided in North Dakota Century Code, chapters 39-16 and 39-16.1 and section 39-06.1-11, any person who drives a motor vehicle on a highway or on public or private areas to which the public has a right of access for vehicular use in this state while that person's license or privilege so to do is suspended or revoked is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.
- (b) If the suspension or revocation was imposed for violation of North Dakota Century Code section 39-08-01 or equivalent ordinance, or was governed by North Dakota Century Code section 39-06-31 or chapter 39-20, the sentence must be at least four consecutive days' imprisonment and such fine as the court deems proper. The execution of sentence may not be suspended or the imposition of a sentence deferred under subsection 3 or 4 of North Dakota Century Code section 12.1-32.02. Forfeiture of bail is not permitted in lieu of the defendant's personal appearance in open court for arraignment on a charge under this subsection.
- (c) In addition to any other punishment imposed, the court may order the number plates of the motor vehicle owned and operated by the offender at the time of the offense to be impounded by the sheriff or chief law enforcement officer of the city for the duration of the period of suspension or revocation. When a period of suspension has been extended under subsection 5 of North Dakota Century Code section 39-06-17, the court may order the number plates to be impounded in accordance with this subsection the impounded number plates may be released, upon order of the court, to a bona fide purchaser of the offender's motor vehicle, if that purchaser produces a new certificate of title to the motor vehicle issued by the registrar of motor vehicles.
- (d) The city hereby authorizes its municipal judge to order impoundment of motor vehicle number plates in the manner provided by subsection (c). (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 873, § 2; Ord. No. 1027, § 3.)

Section 23.76.060 Violations involving operation of snowmobiles

(a) Definitions. For the purposes of this section, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this subsection:

Daylight Hours. Any time except from one-half hour after sunset to one-half hour before sunrise or at any other time when there is not sufficient light to render clearly discernible persons and vehicles at a distance of five hundred feet.

Operate. To ride in or on and control the operation of a snowmobile.

Operator. Every person who operates or is in actual physical control of a snowmobile.

Owner. A person, other than a lienholder, having the property in or title to a snowmobile entitled to the use or possession thereof.

Register. The act of assigning a registration number to a snowmobile by the registrar of motor vehicles of the state.

Registrar. The registrar of motor vehicles under North Dakota Century Code, chapter 39-02, acting directly or through his authorized agent.

Roadway. That portion of a highway improved, designed or ordinarily used for vehicular travel.

Snowmobile. A self-propelled vehicle designed for travel on snow or ice or a natural terrain steered by wheels, skis or runners.

Street or Highway. The entire width between the boundary lines of way or place when any part thereof is open to the use of the public in the city, as a matter of right, for the purposes of vehicular traffic.

- (b) Prohibited Operation. It shall be unlawful for any person to drive or operate any snowmobile in the following ways or under the following circumstances, which are hereby declared to be unsafe and a public nuisance:
 - (1) At a rate of speed greater than reasonable or proper under all the surrounding circumstances.
 - (2) In a careless, reckless or negligent manner so as to endanger the person or property of another or to cause injury or damage to such person or property.
 - (3) While under the influence of intoxicating liquor or narcotics or habit-forming drugs.
 - (4) Without a lighted head lamp and tail lamp when required for safety.
 - (5) In any tree nursery or planting in a manner which damages or destroys growing stock.
 - (6) Without a manufacturer-installed or equivalent muffler in good-working order and connected to the snowmobile exhaust system.
 - (7) Under the age of fourteen years.
 - (8) On direct crossing of a street or highway unless:
 - (A) The crossing is made at an angle of approximately ninety degrees to the direction of the highway and at a place where no obstruction prevents a quick and safe crossing;
 - (B) The snowmobile is brought to a complete stop before crossing the shoulder of main traveled way of the highway;
 - (C) The driver yields the right-of-way to all oncoming traffic which constitutes an immediate hazard; and
 - (D) In crossing in a divided highway, the crossing is made only at an intersection of such highway with another public street or highway.
 - (9) In violation of any rule or regulation promulgated for regulating the use of snowmobiles by the state highway commissioner where applicable within the geographical limits of the city.
 - (10) At a speed in excess of ten miles per hour at any time upon any street, alley, highway or other public ground or place in the city.
 - (11) While towing a sled, skid or any other vehicle, unless the sled, skid or other vehicle is connected to the snowmobile by a hinged swivel and secure hitch.
 - (12) Passing another snowmobile while such snowmobile is in operation and underway on any street, alley, highway or other public ground or place in the city.
 - (13) If the operator does not hold a valid, current North Dakota driver's license or is not accompanied by a licensed driver who is actually occupying a seat in the snowmobile.

- (14) Abreast of another snowmobile upon any street, alley, highway or other public ground or place.
- (15) Between the hours of 10:30 P.M. and 7:30 A.M.; except, that on Friday and Saturday the beginning hour is changed from 10:30 P.M. to 11:00 P.M. with the further exception that snowmobiles entering the city are not limited by time as long as they meet with the provisions of this section.
- (16) In any municipal park or recreation area except when posted as "open" to snowmobiles, and within the hours permitted.
- (17) Upon private property, other than that of the snowmobile owner or operator, without express permission of the owner.
- (18) While carrying a strung bow or loaded firearm.
- (19) Leaving or allowing a snowmobile to be or remain unattended on public property, streets, highway or other public grounds or places while the motor is running or with keys to start the same in the ignition switch.
- (20) At any time with more than two persons riding thereon in addition to the operator.
- (21) Without observing all traffic signs, signals, rules and regulations applying to motor vehicles when also applicable to snowmobiles.
- (c) Prohibition of Use on All Streets. No person shall operate a snowmobile upon any road, street or highway in this city kept open for vehicular traffic except:
 - (1) During a period of emergency when travel by other vehicles is not possible.
 - (2) For a special snowmobile event of limited duration when conducted on a prearranged schedule under permit from the governing body.
 - (3) In crossing a street as herein provided.
 - (4) On streets or roads not maintained for winter vehicular travel.
 - (5) In travelling from the operator's place of residence to the edge of the city limits, using the shortest route from such operator's residence to the edge of the city's limits.
- (d) Permissible use on streets as regulated herein. No person shall operate a snowmobile upon the roadway, shoulder or inside bank or slope of any road, street or highway in this city except as provided in this section. No snowmobile shall be operated upon a public street or highway unless it is equipped with at least one head lamp, one tail lamp and brakes all in working order which conform to standards prescribed by rule of the highway commissioner. When snowmobiles are operated within the right-of-way of any road, street or highway of this city pursuant to this section during times or conditions that warrant the use of lights, such snowmobiles shall travel in the same direction as the direction of motor vehicles on the side of the roadway immediately adjacent to the side of the right-of-way traveled by the snowmobiles.
- (e) Penalty. Any person who shall violate paragraph (2) or (3) of subsection (b) of this section shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.76.070 Violations involving operation of off-highway vehicles

- (a) Definitions. As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (1) "Dealer" means any person engaged in the business of buying, selling, or exchanging off-highway vehicles or who advertises, or holds out to the public as

- engaged in the buying, selling, or exchanging of off-highway vehicles, or who engages in the buying of off-highway vehicles for resale.
- (2) "Off-highway vehicle" means any wheeled motorized vehicle not designed for use on a highway and capable of cross-country travel on land, snow, ice, marsh, swampland, or other natural terrain. The term includes a motorized vehicle converted to operate on snow. An off-highway vehicle must be classified into one of the following categories:
 - (a) Class I off-highway vehicle is a vehicle that does not qualify as road capable under chapters 39-21 and 39-27, has a seat or a saddle designed to be straddled by the operator, and has handlebars for steering control of two wheels.
 - (b) Class II off-highway vehicle is less than fifty inches (1270.00 millimeters) in width, travels on three or more low-pressure tires, has a saddle designed to be straddled by the operator, and has handlebars for steering control.
 - (c) Class III off-highway vehicle weighs less than eight thousand pounds, travels on four or more tires, has a seat and a wheel for steering control, and is designated for or capable of cross-country on or over land, water, sand, snow, ice, marsh, swampland, or other natural terrain.
- (3) "Operate" means to ride in or on and control the operation of an off-highway vehicle.
- (4) "Operator" means an individual who operates or is in actual physical control of an off-highway vehicle.
- (5) "Owner" means a person, other than a lienholder, having the property in or title to an off-highway vehicle and entitled to its use or possession.
- (6) "Register" means the act of assigning a registration number to an off-highway vehicle.
- (7) "Emergency Circumstances" means emergency conditions (including snow emergency, natural disaster, man-made disaster, or public health emergency) that renders the use or operation of passenger vehicles impractical or impossible in the particular conditions at the time and location in question.
- (b) Registration. Except as provided in this section, a person may not operate an off-highway vehicle unless it has been registered in accordance with North Dakota Century Code, sections 39-29.02, 39-29-03, 39-29-04, 39-29-05 and 39-29-06.
- (c) Permitted Operation. It shall be lawful for any person age sixteen (16) years or older and who is in possession of a valid driver's license to operate a Class III off-highway vehicle on any street or highway within the city limits of the City of Dickinson; provided, however, that the Class III off highway vehicle is equipped with such safety equipment, including head lights, tail lights, brake lights, and such other safety equipment, all in working order, which may be required by standards prescribed by rule of the North Dakota Highway Commissioner as may apply to passenger automobiles. At all times, Class III off highway vehicles within the city limits of the City of Dickinson shall comply with such standards and rules of operation governing passenger automobiles as may be otherwise provided by city ordinance or state statute.
- (d) Restricted Operation on City Streets and Public Right of Way. It shall be unlawful for any person to drive or operate any Class I or Class II off-highway vehicle on any street or

public right of way within the city limits of the City of Dickinson, except in the following circumstances:

- (1) A Class I or Class II off highway vehicle may be operated on city streets and other public rights of way in the event of Emergency Circumstances, as defined in Section 23.76.070(a)(7).
- (2) A Class I or Class II off highway vehicle may be operated on city streets and other public rights of way for a special off highway vehicle event of limited duration, when conducted on a prearranged schedule under permit from the governing body.
- (3) A Class II off-highway vehicle may travel from the operator's place of residence to the edge of the city limits, using the shortest route from such operator's residence to the edge of the city's limits; provided, however, that the Class II off highway vehicle shall not be operated on any street or public right of way having more than two lanes or with a speed limit in excess of twenty five miles per hour.
- (4) Class II off-highway vehicles may be used for snow removal, provided that the off-highway vehicle has a mounted blade and an amber flashing light visible from all directions. The off-highway vehicle may go from one job site to another job site on city streets provided the operator obeys all other sections of the off-highway vehicle ordinance.
- (e) Prohibited Operation within City Limits not on City Streets or Public Right of Way. It shall be unlawful for any person to drive or operate any Class I or Class II off-highway vehicle within the city limits of the City of Dickinson in the following ways or under the following circumstances, which are hereby declared to be unsafe and a public nuisance:
 - (1) On a roadway, shoulder or inside bank or slope of any road, street or highway, except as provided in this section. Except in the event of Emergency Circumstances as defined in 23.76.070(a) (7), a person may not operate an off-highway vehicle within the right-of-way of any controlled access highway.
 - (2) On direct crossing of a street or highway, unless:
 - a. The crossing is made at an angle of approximately ninety degrees to the direction of the highway and at a place where no obstruction prevents a quick and safe crossing;
 - b. The off-highway vehicle is brought to a complete stop before crossing the shoulder or main traveled way of the highway;
 - c. The operator yields the right-of-way to all oncoming traffic which constitutes an immediate hazard; and
 - d. In crossing a divided highway, the crossing is made only at an intersection of the highway with another public street or highway.
 - (3) Without being equipped with at least one headlamp, one tail lamp and brakes, all in working order, which conform to standards prescribed by rule of the highway commissioner.
 - (4) At a rate of speed greater than reasonable or proper under all the surrounding circumstances.
 - (5) In a careless, reckless or negligent manner so as to endanger the person or property of another or to cause injury or damage to such person or property.
 - (6) While under the influence of intoxicating liquor or a controlled substance.
 - (7) In any tree nursery or planting in a manner which damages growing stock.

- (8) Without a manufacturer-installed or equivalent muffler in good working order and connected to the off-highway vehicle's exhaust system.
- (9) Without having in possession a valid driver's license or permit.
- (10) In a direction other than the same direction as the direction of other motor vehicles traveling on the side of the roadway immediately adjacent to the side of the right-of-way travelled by the off-highway vehicle, when such off-highway vehicle is operated within the right-of-way of any road, street or highway during times or conditions that warrant the use of lights by other motor vehicles.
- (11) In violation of any rule or regulation promulgated for regulating the use of off-highway vehicles by the state highway commissioner where applicable within the geographical limits of the city.
- (12) In any municipal park or recreation area, except when posted as "open" to off-highway vehicles, and only along established paths and trails and within the hours permitted.
- (13) On any private land where the private land is posted prohibiting trespassing. The name and address of the person posting the land and the date of posting must appear on each sign in legible characters. The posted signs must be readable from outside the property and be placed conspicuously at a distance of not more than eight hundred eighty yards apart. Land entirely enclosed by a fence or other enclosure is sufficiently posted by posting of these signs at or on all gates through the fence or enclosure. (Ord. No. 1658, § 1.)
 - (14) While carrying a loaded firearm.
- (15) Without observing all traffic signs, signals, rules and regulations applying to motor vehicles when also applicable to off-highway vehicles.
- (f) Operation by Person Under Age Sixteen. Except as otherwise provided in this section, a person under sixteen years of age who is not in possession of a valid operator's license or permit to operate an off-highway vehicle may not, except upon the lands of the person's parent or guardian, operate an off-highway vehicle. A person at least twelve years of age may operate an off-highway vehicle if the person has completed an off-highway vehicle safety training course prescribed by the director of the state parks and recreation department and has received the appropriate off-highway vehicle safety certificate issued by the commissioner. The failure of an operator to exhibit an off-highway vehicle safety certificate on demand to any official authorized to enforce this section is presumptive evidence that that person does not hold such a certificate.
- (g) Liability Insurance. Any operator of an off-highway vehicle operated in the city under this section is required to have liability insurance on the off-highway vehicle and present proof when it is requested by any law enforcement officer.
- (h) Enforcement. Only peace officers of the state and their respective duly authorized representatives may enforce this section.
- (i) Penalties. Violation of any provision of subsection (c), (d) or (e) of this Section is an infraction, for which a fee of twenty dollars must be assessed, except Sections (e)(5), (e)(6) and (e)(13), which constitute class B misdemeanors under North Dakota Century Code section 39-29-12. Violation of subsection (b) is an infraction, for which a fee of fifty dollars must be assessed. Violation of any other provisions of this section is an infraction, for which a fee of ten dollars must be assessed. (Ord. No. 931, § 1; Ord. No.

974, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, §6; Ord. No. 1316 §1; Ord No. 1354 § 1, Ord No. 1658 § 1; Ord No. 1723 § 4).

Section 23.76.080 Harassment of domestic animals

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-08-19, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any person operating a motorcycle, snowmobile or other motor vehicle, as defined in Section 23.04.010, who willfully harasses or frightens any domestic animal shall, upon conviction, be guilty of an offense. If injury or death results to the animal due to such action, such person shall be liable for the value of the animal and exemplary damages as provided in North Dakota Century Code, section 36-21-13. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.76.090 Operation of motor vehicle, etc., prohibited on flood protective works

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-10-65, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) Unless authorized by the authority in charge thereof, no person shall operate a motor vehicle, tractor or other vehicle upon or across any flood protective works, including but not limited to any dike or flood protective works constructed by a state or federal agency, or by any municipality or local subdivision of the state.
- (b) Any person violating the provisions of this section shall be liable to any person suffering injury as a result of the violation, and in addition, shall be guilty of an offense. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.76.100 Operator's license--Driving without

No person shall drive any motor vehicle upon a highway in this city unless such person has a valid license as an operator or is expressly exempted from licensing requirements by the laws of this state. (Ord. No. 866, § 1. Ord No. 1723 § 5)

Section 23.76.110 Same--To be carried and exhibited on demand

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06-16, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Every licensee shall have his physical or electronic operator's license or permit in his immediate possession at all times when operating a motor vehicle and shall display the same upon demand of any district court, municipal court, county court, patrolman, peace officer or field deputy or inspector of the highway department. However, no person charged with violating this section shall be convicted or assessed any court costs if he or she produces within fourteen days to the office of the prosecutor where the matter is pending, an operator's license or permit theretofore issued to him and valid and not under suspension, revocation or cancellation at the time of his arrest. (Ord. No. 866, § 1, Ord No. 1723 § 5).

Section 23.76.120 Violations of motor vehicle registration provisions; penalties

It is unlawful for any person to commit any of the following acts:

- (a) To operate, or for the owner thereof knowingly to permit anyone to operate, upon a highway any motor vehicle the registration of which has been canceled or revoked, or which is not registered, or which does not have attached thereto and displayed thereon a number plate, plates or validation tabs assigned thereto by the registrar of motor vehicles for the current registration period, subject to the exemptions allowed by the laws of the state. Any person, upon conviction for the violation of this provision, shall be subject to a fine as set forth in NDCC 39-06.1- 06 (1).
- (b) To display, cause or permit to be displayed or have in possession any registration card, registration number plate or validation tabs, knowing the same to be fictitious or to have been canceled, revoked, suspended or altered.
- (c) To lend any registration number plate, registration card or validation tabs to any person not entitled thereto, or knowingly permit the use of any registration number plate or registration card by any person not entitled thereto.
- (d) To fail or refuse to surrender to the department, upon demand, any registration card, registration number plate or validation tab which has been suspended, canceled or revoked as is provided in chapter 39-04 of the North Dakota Century Code
- (e) To use a false or fictitious name or address in any application for the registration of any vehicle, or for any renewal or duplicate thereof, or to knowingly conceal a material fact or otherwise to commit a fraud in any application.
- (f) To operate a passenger motor vehicle without payment of the registration fees as required pursuant to chapter 39-04 of the North Dakota Century Code.
- (g) To operate, or for the owner thereof knowingly to permit anyone to operate, a motor vehicle on a highway if the owner is employed in this state on a temporary or full-time basis, is a resident of the state, and does not have a temporary registration permit when required under subsection 1 of section 39-04-18.2 of the North Dakota Century Code.

With the exception of subsection (a) of this section, any person, upon conviction for the violation of any such provisions, shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor.

(Ord. No. 988 § 1; Ord. No. 996, § 1; Ord. No. 996, § 7; Ord. No. 1590, § 7, Ord No. 1723 § 6).

Section 23.76.125 Failure to register upon gainful employment

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-04-18, and all subsequent amendments, shall and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The following motor vehicles may be operated upon the highways, roads, and streets of this state without being registered, under such limitations as are herein specified:

- (a) Motor vehicles registered in any other state or territory when coming into this state a distance not exceeding twenty miles [32.19 kilometers]; provided, however, that such motor vehicles have displayed thereon the current license plates issued by the state or territory in which they are registered and provided further that the owners or operators thereof are not residents of this state.
- (b) Passenger motor vehicles registered in any other state or territory; provided, however, that such motor vehicles have displayed thereon the current license

plates issued by the state or territory in which they are registered and provided further that the owners or operators thereof are not residents of this state.

An individual is a resident of this state if the individual is gainfully employed or engages in any trade, profession, or occupation within this state and owns, leases, or rents a place of residence or otherwise lives within this state for the purposes of employment, or regardless of domicile or any other circumstance, remains in this state for a period of at least ninety consecutive days. For purposes of this subsection, a resident does not include a student at a university, college, or technical school in this state or a daily commuter from another jurisdiction if that jurisdiction exempts the vehicle of a daily commuter from this state from registration in that jurisdiction under a reciprocity agreement.

A person operating a motor vehicle in violation of this subsection shall purchase an annual registration for that motor vehicle for a fee that is not discounted from the appropriate amount listed in a table in section 39-04-19 of the North Dakota Century Code. Any person, upon conviction for the violation of this provision, shall be subject to a fine as set forth in NDCC 39-06.1-06(2)(f). (Ord. No. 1590, § 8.)

Section 23.76.130 Display of number plates and tabs

Except as otherwise specifically provided, no person may operate or drive a vehicle on the public highways of the state, unless the vehicle has a distinctive number assigned to it by the department, and two number plates, bearing the distinctive number conspicuously displayed, horizontally and in an upright position, one on the front and one on the rear of the vehicle, each securely fastened; except, that number plates assigned to a motorcycle, trailer or housetrailer must be attached to the rear thereof. When only one number plates is furnished for an apportioned vehicle licensed under the international registration plan as authorized in North Dakota Century Code, section 39-19-04, truck tractor or semitrailer, the plate must be attached to the front of the apportioned vehicle or truck tractor and the rear of the semitrailer. The bottom of each number plate must be a height of not less than twelve inches (30.48 centimeters) above the level surface upon which the vehicle stands. As far as is reasonably possible, the plates must at all times be kept free and clear of mud, ice or snow, so as to be clearly visible, and all number plates, markers or evidence of registration or licensing except for the current year must be removed from the vehicle. All vehicle license plates issued by the department continue to be the property of the state for the period for which the plates are valid. An annual registration tab or sticker for the current registration year must be displayed on each number plate in those years for which tabs or stickers are issued in lieu of number plates.

Any person, upon the conviction for the violation of the provisions of this section, shall be subject to a fine of twenty dollars. (Ord. No. 996, § 2; Ord. No. 1202, § 7.)

Section 23.76.140 Driving without liability insurance--Penalty

A person may not drive, or the owner may not cause or knowingly permit to be driven, a motor vehicle in this City without a valid policy of liability insurance in effect in order to respond in damages for liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of that motor vehicle in the amount required by NDCC Chapter 39-16.1, as may be amended from time to time.

Upon being stopped by a law enforcement officer for the purpose of enforcing or investigating the possible violation of an ordinance or state law, the person driving the motor

vehicle shall provide to the officer upon request satisfactory evidence, including written or electronic proof of insurance, of the policy required under this section. If unable to comply with the request, that person may be charged with a violation of this Section. If that person produces satisfactory evidence, including written or electronic proof of insurance, of a valid policy of liability insurance in effect at the time of the alleged violation of this section to the office of the prosecutor where the matter is pending that person may not be convicted or assessed any administration fee for violation of subsection 1.

Upon conviction for a violation of this Section, sentence shall be imposed as provided in NDCC §39-08-20 as may be amended from time to time.

(Ord. No. 993, § 5; Ord. No. 1026, § 1; Ord. No. 1079, § 1; Ord. No. 1117 § 2; Ord. No. 1157 § 4. Ord. No. 1543, § 1, Ord. No. 1723 § 7)

Section 23.76.150 Driving as permitted by class of license

A person issued a valid North Dakota operator's license pursuant to North Dakota Century Code Chapter 39-06 shall be deemed authorized to drive the type of motor vehicle or combination of vehicles as permitted by the class of license issued to him, such classes of license as more specifically set forth in North Dakota Century Code 39-06-14 or other applicable provision under Title 39 of the state law which provisions are incorporated by reference as though set forth in full.

Any person as a holder of a classified license who drives a motor vehicle otherwise than as permitted by the class of license issued to him must be deemed to be driving a motor vehicle without being duly licensed and shall be assessed a fee of twenty dollars. (Ord. No. 1045, § 1.)

Section 23.76.160 Weighing

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-12-21, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any driver of a vehicle who refuses to stop and submit the vehicle and load to a weighing when directed to do so by the police officer or any agent of this state having police powers relating to motor vehicles, shall be guilty of an offense. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

<u>Section 23.76.170 Registration to be carried in or on vehicle - inspection - penalty.</u>

The registration issued for a vehicle must be in the driver's vehicle or on an electronic device in the possession of the driver or, in the case of a housetrailer or mobile home or a trailer or semitrailer, regardless of when such vehicle was acquired, inside or on the vehicle, at all times while the vehicle is being operated upon a highway in this state. The registration is subject to inspection by any peace officer or highway patrol officer. Upon request of an inspection by any peace officer or highway patrol officer, a driver may produce either a registration card or electronic registration as provided by the department. An electronic registration must be designed so that there is no need for the registration holder to relinquish possession of the device, in which the electronic registration is installed, to present the registration, or for the individual to whom the registration is presented to access

the verification system to confirm the validity of the registration. Any person violating this section must be assessed a fee of twenty dollars. However, a person cited for violation of this section may not be found to have committed the violation if the person, within fourteen days after being cited produces and displays to the office of the prosecutor where the matter is pending, a registration valid at the time the person was cited. A peace officer or highway patrol officer, upon citing a person for violating this section, shall inform the person that a violation will be considered as not having occurred if the person produces and displays a valid registration in the manner provided in this section.

(Ord. No.1783 § 10.)

Article 23.80 Disposition of Traffic Offenses

Sections:	
23.80.010	Authority of officer halting person for violating traffic regulations
23.80.020	Hearing; time; promise of defendant to appear; failure to appear
23.80.030	Offenses under which person halted may not be entitled to release upon promise to appear
23.80.040	Noncriminal traffic violations Generally
23.80.050	SameAdministrative hearing; prepaid costs; procedures; appeals; stay orders
23.80.060	SameFailure to appear, pay statutory fee or post bond
23.80.070	Offenses excepted from procedures of sections 23.80.040 and 23.80.050
23.80.080	Amounts of statutory fees
23.80.090	"Nonmoving violation" defined
23.80.100	"Moving violation" defined
23.80.110	General penalty for violation of chapter
23.80.120	Notification of parents or guardians of juvenile traffic offenders

Section 23.80.010 Authority of officer halting person for violating traffic regulations

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-07-07, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Whenever any person is halted for the violation of any of the provisions of North Dakota Century Code, chapters 39-01 through 39-13, 39-18, 39-21 and 39-24, or of equivalent city ordinances, the officer halting such person, except as otherwise provided in section 23.80.030, may:

- (a) Take the name and address of such person;
- (b) Take the license number of his motor vehicle; and
- (c) Issue a summons or otherwise notify him in writing to appear at a time and place to be specified in such summons or notice.

A halting officer employed by any political subdivision of the state may not take a person into custody or require that person to proceed with the officer to any other location for the purpose of posting bond, where the traffic violation was a noncriminal offense under North

Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-02. The officer shall provide the person with an envelope for use by that person to mail the bond. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.80.020 Hearing; time; promise of defendant to appear; failure to appear

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-07-08, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The time to be specified in the summons or notice provided for in section 23.80.010 shall be within ten days after the issuance of such summons or notice. Such hearing shall be before the municipal court. Upon the receipt from the person halted of a written promise to appear at the time and place mentioned in the summons or notice, such officer shall release him from custody. Any person refusing to give written promise to appear shall be taken immediately by the halting officer before the nearest or most accessible magistrate, or to such other place or before such other person as may be provided by a statute or ordinance authorizing the giving of bail. Any person willfully violating his written promise to appear shall be guilty of an offense, regardless of the disposition of the charge upon which he originally was halted. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.80.030 Offenses under which person halted may not be entitled to release upon promise to appear

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-07-09, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The provisions of section 23.80.010 shall not apply to a person if:

- (a) The halting officer shall have good reason to believe such person guilty of any felony or when such person is halted and charged with any of the offenses listed in section 23.80.070, except reckless driving; or
- (b) The halting officer, acting within his discretion, deems it inadvisable to release such person upon his promise to appear when halted and charged with either of the following offenses:
 - (1) Reckless driving; or
 - (2) Driving in excess of speed limitations established by the state or by local authorities in their respective jurisdictions.

The halting officer forthwith shall take any person not released upon his promise to appear before the nearest or most accessible magistrate. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.80.040 Noncriminal traffic violations-- Generally

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-02, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

Any person cited, in accordance with the provisions of North Dakota Century Code, sections 39-07-07 and 39-07-08, for a traffic violation under state law or municipal ordinance, other than an offense listed in North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-05, shall be deemed to be charged with a noncriminal offense and may appear before the designated official and pay the statutory fee for the violation charged at or prior to the time scheduled for a hearing, or, if he has posted bond in person, as provided by North Dakota Century Code, section 39-07-07, or by mail, he may forfeit bond by not appearing at the designated time. If the person appears at the

time scheduled in the citation, he may take a statement in the explanation of this action and the official may at that time, in his discretion, waive, reduce or suspend the statutory fee or bond, or both. If the person cited follows the foregoing procedures, he shall be deemed to have admitted the violation and to have waived his right to a hearing on the issue of commission of the violation. The bond required to secure appearing before the official designated in the citation shall be identical to the statutory fee established by North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-06. Within ten days after forfeiture of bond or payment of the statutory fee, the official having jurisdiction over the violation shall certify to the licensing authority:

- (a) Admission of the violation; and
- (b) In speeding violations, whether the speed charged was in excess of the lawful speed limit by more than nine miles per hour and the miles per hour by which the speed limit was exceeded.

This section shall not be construed as allowing a halting officer to receive the statutory fee or bond, unless he is otherwise authorized by law to do so. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.80.050 Same--Administrative hearing; prepaid costs; procedures; appeals; stay orders

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-03, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

- (a) If a person cited for a traffic violation, other than an offense listed in section 23.80.070, does not choose to follow one of the procedures set forth in section 23.80.040, he may request a hearing on the issue of his commission of the violation charged, the hearing to be held at the time scheduled in the citation or at some future time, not to exceed ninety days later, set at the first appearance.
- (b) At the time of a request for a hearing on the issue of commission of the violation, the person charged shall deposit with the official having jurisdiction an appearance bond equal to the statutory fee for the violation charged.
- (c) If a person cited for a traffic violation, other than an offense listed in section 23.80.070, who has requested a hearing on the issue of the commission of the violation charged, appears at the time scheduled for the hearing and the state or city, as the case may be, does not appear or is not ready to prove the commission of a charged violation at the hearing, the official shall dismiss the charge.
- (d) If the official finds that the person had committed the traffic violation, he shall notify the licensing authority of that fact, and whether the person was driving more than nine miles (14.48 kilometers) per hour in excess of the lawful limit, stating specifically the miles (kilometers) per hour in excess of the lawful limit, if charged with a speeding violation, within ten days of the date of the hearing. The fact that a person has admitted a violation, or has, in any proceeding, been found to have committed a violation, shall not be referred to in any way, nor be admissible as evidence in any court, civil, equity or criminal, except in an action or proceeding involving that person's driving license or privilege.
- (e) (1) If a person is aggrieved by a finding that he committed the violation, he may, without payment of a filing fee, appeal that finding to the district court or county court for trial anew. If, after trial in the appellate court, the person is again found to have committed the violation, there may be no further appeal. Notice of

appeal under this subsection must be given within thirty days after a finding of commission of a violation is entered by the official. Oral notice of appeal may be given to the official at the time that the official adjudges that a violation has been committed. Otherwise, notice of appeal must be in writing and filed with the official, and a copy of the notice must be served upon the prosecuting attorney. An appeal taken under this subsection may not operate to stay the reporting requirement of subsection (d) hereof, nor to stay appropriate action by the licensing authority upon receipt of that report.

- (2) The appellate court upon application by the appellant may:
 - (A) Order a stay of any action by the licensing authority during pendency of the appeal, but not to exceed a period of one hundred twenty days;
 - (B) Order a stay and that the appellant be issued a temporary restricted driving certificate by the licensing authority to be effective for no more than one hundred twenty days; or
 - (C) Deny the application.

An application for a stay or temporary certificate under this subparagraph must be accompanied by a certified copy of the appellant's driving record, for the furnishing of which the licensing authority may charge a fee of two dollars. Any order granting a stay or a temporary certificate must be forwarded forthwith by the clerk of court to the licensing authority, which shall issue a temporary certificate in accordance with the order in the manner provided by law. A court may not make a determination on an application under this subparagraph without notice to the appropriate prosecuting attorney. A person who violates or exceeds the restrictions contained in any temporary restricted driving certificate issued pursuant to this subparagraph is guilty of a traffic violation and must be assessed a fee of twenty dollars.

- (3) If a person charged is found not to have committed the violation by the appellate court, the clerk of court shall report that fact to the licensing authority immediately. If an appeal under this subsection is from a violation of a city ordinance, the city attorney for the city wherein the alleged violation occurred shall prosecute the appeal. In all other cases, the appropriate state's attorney shall prosecute the appeal.
- (f) The city must prove the commission of a charged violation at the hearing or appeal under this section by a fair preponderance of the evidence. Upon an appeal under subsection (e) hereof, the court and parties shall follow, to the extent applicable, the North Dakota Rules of Civil Procedure. If, on the appeal from the finding of the official the finding is affirmed, costs may be assessed at the discretion of the trial judge.
- (g) As used in sections 23.80.040 and 23.80.050, the word "official" means a district judge, a judge of a county court, a municipal judge, or, when provided by statute, a person appointed by a district judge to serve as such official for all or a specified part of a judicial district. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1027, § 4.)

Section 23.80.060 Same--Failure to appear, pay statutory fee or post bond

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-04, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

If a person fails to choose one of the methods of proceeding set forth in section 23.80.040 or section 23.80.050, he shall be deemed to have admitted to commission of the violation charged, and the municipal court shall report such fact to the licensing authority within ten days after the date set for the hearing. Failure to appear at the time designated, after signing a promise to appear, without paying the statutory fee or posting and forfeiting bond shall be an offense. Failure to appear without just cause at the hearing shall also be deemed an admission of commission of the violation charged. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Section 23.80.070 Offenses excepted from procedures of sections 23.80.040 and 23.80.050

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, sections 39-06.1-05, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

The procedures authorized under sections 23.80.040 and 23.80.050 may not be utilized by a person charged with one of the following offenses:

- (a) Driving or being in actual physical control of a vehicle in violation of section 23.76.010.
- (b) Reckless driving in violation of section 23.76.020.
- (c) A violation of North Dakota Century Code chapter 12.1-16 resulting from the operation of a motor vehicle.
- (d) Leaving the scene of an accident in violation of sections 20.76.030 and 20.76.040.
- (e) Driving while license or driving privilege is suspended or revoked in violation of section 20.76.050.
- (f) Violating paragraph (2) or (3) of subsection (b) of section 23.76.060.
- (g) Driving without liability insurance in violation of section 23.76.140.
- (h) Operating an unsafe vehicle in violation of section 23.68.030. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1027, § 5.)

Section 23.80.080 Amounts of statutory fees

The fees required for a noncriminal disposition pursuant to either section 23.80.040 or section 23.80.050 shall be as follows:

- 1. For a nonmoving violation as defined in North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-08, a fee of any amount not to exceed twenty dollars.
- 2. For a moving violation as defined in North Dakota Century Code, section § 39-06.1-09, a fee of twenty dollars, except for:
 - a. A violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-26, 39-10-26.2, 39-10-41, -10-42, a fee of fifty dollars.
 - b. A violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-05 involving failure to yield to a pedestrian or subsection 1 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-28, a fee of fifty dollars.
 - c. A violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-21-41.2, a fee of

- twenty-five dollars.
- d. A violation of subsection 1 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-12-02 or § 39-08-23, a fee of one hundred dollars.
- e. A violation of subdivision d of subsections 1 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-12-04, a fee of one hundred dollars.
- f. A violation of subsection 1 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-04-37 by an individual by becoming a resident of the state, a fee of one hundred dollars,
- g. A violation of subsection 2 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-21.1, a fee of two hundred fifty dollars.
- h. A violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-59, a fee of five hundred dollars.
- i. A violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-46 or 39-10-46.1, a fee of one hundred dollars.
- j. A violation of subsection 1 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-08-20, a hundred fifty dollars for the first violation and three hundred dollars for a second or subsequent violation in three years.
- k. A violation of the North Dakota Century Code § 39-09-03, a fee of fifty dollars.
- 3. Except as provided in subsection 7 and 11 of North Dakota Century Code § 39-06.1-06, for a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-09-02, or an equivalent ordinance, a fee established as follows:

Miles per hour over	Fee
lawful speed limit	
1-5	\$5
6-10	\$5 plus \$1/each mph over 5 mph over limit
11-15	\$10 plus \$1/each mph over 10 mph over limit
16-20	\$15 plus \$2/each mph over 15 mph over limit
21-25	\$25 plus \$3/each mph over 20 mph over limit
26-35	\$40 plus \$3/each mph over 25 mph over limit
36-45	\$70 plus \$3/each mph over 35 mph over limit
46+	\$100 plus \$5/each mph over 45 mph over limit

- 4. For a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-09-01, or an ordinance defining careless driving, a fee of thirty dollars.
- 5. For a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-09-01.1, or an ordinance defining care required in driving, a fee of not less than ten dollars nor more than thirty dollars.
- 6. For a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-44, or an ordinance relating to stop signs, a fee of forty dollars.
- 7. For a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-10-44, or an ordinance relating to yield signs, a fee of twenty dollars.
- 8. For a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-09-02(1)(b), or an ordinance defining a school zone speed, a fee of forty dollars for one through ten miles per hour over the posted speed; and forty dollars, plus one dollar for each

- additional mile per hour over ten miles per hour over the limit unless a greater fee would be applicable under this section.
- 9. For a violation of North Dakota Century Code § 39-09-02(2), or an ordinance defining a highway construction zone speed, a fee of eighty dollars for one through ten miles per hour over the posted speed; and eighty dollars plus two dollars for each mile per hour over ten miles per hour over the limit, unless a greater fee would be applicable under this section. The fee in this subsection does not apply to a highway construction zone unless individuals engaged in construction are present at the time and place of the violation and the posted speed limit sign states "Minimum Fee \$80". (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 1202, § 8; Ord. No. 1352 § 1; Ord. No. 1590 § 9; Ord. No. 1679 § 4, Ord. No. 1723 § 8)

Section 23.80.090 "Nonmoving violation" defined

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 3-06.1-08, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

For the purpose of section 23.80.080, a "nonmoving violation" shall mean sections 23.36.240, 23.36.330, 23.36.340, or the provisions of article 23.60. (Ord. No. 866, § 1, Ord. No. 1723 § 9)

Section 23.80.100 "Moving violation" defined

The provisions of North Dakota Century Code, section 39-06.1-09, and all subsequent amendments, shall be and are hereby incorporated by reference in this section.

For the purpose of section 23.80.080, a "moving violation" means sections 23.76.110, 23.76.130, 23.36.310, 23.20.050, 23.44.020, 23.44.030, 23.44.040, 23.44.050, 23.44.060, 23.12.150(a) or 23.76.060(b) except paragraphs (2) and (3); or a violation of the provisions of article 23.36 or article 23.68 except section 23.68.050 and those sections which are specifically listed in section 23.80.080. (Ord. No. 866, § 1, Ord. No. 1723 § 10)

Section 23.80.110 General penalty for violation of chapter

Unless another criminal penalty is specifically provided in any of the provisions of this chapter, any person who is convicted of violating or of failing to comply with any of the provisions of this chapter may be punished by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or by imprisonment not to exceed thirty days, or both, and, upon conviction of any person of a violation of section 23.76.010 or section 23.76.050, the court may order the number plate of the motor vehicle owned and operated by the offender at the time of the offense to be impounded by the sheriff or chief law enforcement officer of the city, as is appropriate, for the duration of the period of suspension of the offender's driver's license or driving privilege by the licensing authority. (Ord. No. 866, § 1; Ord. No. 940, § 1; Ord. No. 933, § 6; Ord. No. 1157 § 4.)

Section 23.80.120 Notification of parents or guardians of juvenile traffic offenders

The municipal judge or his clerk shall notify the parent or guardian of any juvenile appearing before the court on a traffic offense of the charge as contained in the citation, the penalty attached to the offense and the time and place of any court hearing on the matter. (Ord. No. 866, § 1.)

Article 23.84 Equipment of Vehicle Size, Weight, and Load Restrictions

Sections:	
23.84.010	Size, weight, and load restrictions of vehicles operated within the City
23.84.020	Regulating movement of engines, tractors, and heavy vehicles on pavement
23.84.030	Permits for excessive size and weight
23.84.040	Trucks Prohibited on certain streets - Truck routes established - Maps and signs required
23.84.050	Restricted use of streets and highways
23.84.060	Peace officers or other agents may weigh vehicle and require removal of excess load
23.84.070	Impounding overweight vehicle
23.84.080	Impounding receipt - Information
23.84.090	Impounding Notice - Perishables
23.84.100	Civil Complaint
23.84.110	Voluntary settlement of extraordinary road use fee charges
23.84.120	Mailing complaint
23.84.130	Cash bond-Holding
23.84.140	Trial-Charges
23.84.150	Payment of charges - Confiscation - Sale
23.84.160	Payment - Effect
23.84.170	Proceeds of Sale
23.84.180	Load Restrictions upon Vehicles using certain roads
23.84.190	Penalty for violation of Chapter

Section 23.84.010 Size, weight, and load restrictions of vehicles operated within the City

No person, partnership, corporation, or other entity shall drive or permit to be driven through any agent or employee on any street or alley within the City any vehicle in violation of the restrictions on size, weight, and load established by North Dakota state law, Dickinson Municipal Code, or by resolution of the board of city commissioners. (Ord. No.1401 §1, Ord. No.1611 §1)

Section 23.84.020 Regulating movement of engines, tractors, and heavy vehicles on pavement

The city engineer may, under such policies as the city may establish, upon application in writing and good cause being shown therefore, issue a special permit in writing authorizing the applicant to operate or move a vehicle of a size and weight exceeding the maximum specified in this chapter upon any street or highway under the jurisdiction of and for the maintenance of which the city is responsible. Every such permit shall be issued for a single trip and may designate the route to be traversed and contain other restrictions or conditions deemed necessary by the city engineer. Every such permit shall be carried in the vehicle to which it refers and shall be open to inspection by any

peace officer or other agent of the city, and it shall be unlawful for any person to violate any of the terms and conditions of such special permit. The fee for such special permit shall be established by resolution of the board of city commissioners, and in accordance with those established by the North Dakota Association of Oil and Gas Producing Counties. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.030 Permits for excessive size and weight

The city engineer may, under such policies as the city may establish, upon application in writing and good cause being shown therefore, issue a special permit in writing authorizing the applicant to operate or move a vehicle of a size and weight exceeding the maximum specified in this chapter upon any street or highway under the jurisdiction of and for the maintenance of which the city is responsible. Every such permit shall be issued for a single trip and may designate the route to be traversed and contain other restrictions or conditions deemed necessary by the city engineer. Every such permit shall be carried in the vehicle to which it refers and shall be open to inspection by any peace officer or other agent of the city, and it shall be unlawful for any person to violate any of the terms and conditions of such special permit. The fee for such special permit shall be established by resolution of the board of city commissioners, and in accordance with those established by the North Dakota Association of Oil and Gas Producing Counties. (Ord. No. 1401 §1; Ord. No.1611 §2)

Section 23.84.040 Trucks Prohibited on certain streets - Truck routes established - Maps and signs required

- (a) No truck or commercial vehicle exceeding a gross vehicle weight rating of 26,001 pounds shall be operated in the City of Dickinson except upon truck routes designated as hereinafter provided in subsection (b) of this section; provided, that this ordinance shall not prohibit:
 - (1) Such vehicles from operating upon other city streets when delivering or picking up materials or merchandise, provided entrance or exit to or from such street is made at the nearest intersection; through streets as established elsewhere in the Dickinson city ordinances shall be considered as secondary truck routes and must be used in preference to other streets whenever possible.
 - (2) The operation of trucks owned or operated by the City of Dickinson.
 - (3) The operation of emergency vehicles, as defined in the traffic ordinances of the City of Dickinson, upon any street in the city.
 - (4) Trucks making more than one delivery on any one trip may take the most direct route between one delivery and the next.
 - (5) Commercial passenger buses, school buses, and other fleet passenger vehicles.
 - (6) Properly authorized snow removal equipment.
- (b) Truck routes shall be established by resolution of the board of city commissioners, after notice and hearing. The notice shall be by one publication in the official newspaper of the City at least 15 days prior to the date of the hearing. The truck routes, as established by the board of city commissioners, shall be stated in the resolution and on an official map which shall be kept and maintained in the office of the city engineer and shall be available for public inspection.

- (c) On each street or avenue designated as a truck route in accordance with subsection (b) above, such street or avenue may, but need not be, posted with appropriate signs.
- (d) A person operating a motor vehicle in violation of this Section, or the owner of the motor vehicle being operated in violation of this Section, must be assessed a One Hundred Dollars and No Cents (\$100.00). (Ord. No. 1401 §1; Ord. No. 1410§1; Ord. No. 1414 §1; Ord. No. 1590 §10)

Section 23.84.045 Trucks prohibited on certain streets

Section 23.84.045 of the City Code of the City of Dickinson is hereby repealed as follows: (Ord.No. 1446 §1; Ord. No. 1590 §11)

Section 23.84.050 Restricted use of streets and highways

The board of city commissioners, by resolution, may prohibit the operation of vehicles or impose restrictions as to the weight of vehicles upon any street or highway under their jurisdiction or for the maintenance of which they are responsible whenever any of said streets or highways, by reason of deterioration, rain, snow, or other climatic conditions, will be seriously damaged or destroyed unless the use of vehicles thereon is prohibited or the permissible weights thereof reduced. The board when enacting any such resolution shall erect, or cause to be erected and maintained, signs designating the provisions of the resolution at each end of that portion of any street or highway affected thereby, and the resolution shall not be effective until or unless such signs are erected and maintained. The board may also, by resolution, prohibit the operation of trucks or other commercial vehicles, or impose limitations as to the weight thereof, on designated streets and highways, which prohibitions and limitations shall be designated by appropriate signs placed on such streets or highways. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.060 Peace officers or other agents may weigh vehicle and require removal of excess load

Any peace officer, designated agent of city, or city-designated personnel, having reason to believe that the weight of a vehicle and load is unlawful is authorized to weigh the same, either by means of portable or stationary scales, and may require that such vehicle be driven to the nearest scales. The peace officer, or other designated individual as aforesaid, may then require the driver to unload immediately such portion of the load as may be necessary to decrease the gross weight of such vehicle to the maximum allowed therefor. Any person violating this Section shall be guilty of a Class B misdemeanor as provided by NDCC §39-12-21. (Ord. No. 1401 §1; Ord. No. 1410 §2)

Section 23.84.070 Impounding overweight vehicle

Any vehicle found to have been moved or used upon any highway, street, alley or other public way within the city at a weight exceeding the limitations as specified in any ordinance or resolution established hereunder, may be impounded by any peace officer, designated agent of city, or city-designated personnel and taken to a warehouse, garage or other facility for storage. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.080 Impounding receipt - Information

A receipt must be given by the peace officer or other person impounding the vehicle, to the driver or person in charge of such vehicle. Such receipt must identify as nearly as possible the owner of the vehicle and cargo, the driver or person in charge of such vehicle, the cargo, the place vehicle is to be stored during impoundment, the weight of the loaded vehicle and the name and address of the impounding officer. Information as to the owner of the vehicle and cargo must be obtained from the driver or person in charge of the vehicle. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.090 Impounding Notice - Perishables

The impounding officer shall notify the owner or owners, if they can be found, by wire or telephone, of the impoundment and the charges involved. If the cargo consists of perishables, the impounding officer shall use reasonable diligence in assisting the operator or owner in finding suitable storage facilities for such perishables, but all risk of loss or damage to such perishables must be upon the owner, operator, or lessee of such vehicle. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.100 Civil Complaint

The city attorney of the city shall, if no settlement is made under the next succeeding section, immediately prepare and file a civil complaint on behalf of the city for the purpose of recovering charges for the extraordinary use of the highways, streets, alleys or other public roadways of the city. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.110 Voluntary settlement of extraordinary road use fee charges

Before the complaint is issued pursuant to the preceding section, the owner, or the owner's driver or agent, may voluntarily pay the amount of the extraordinary road use fee, or may provide proof of surety coverage to ensure payment of the extraordinary road use fee, provided under Section 23.84.140, plus any towing or storage costs. Any settlement, whether made by the owner, or the owner's driver or agent, must be presumed to be of a voluntary nature. A peace officer or a peace officer's designee is authorized to receive the settlement payment on behalf of the city. The extraordinary road use fees must be remitted to the city administrator's office. (Ord. No.1401 §1)

Section 23.84.120 Mailing complaint

A copy of the complaint must be served upon the driver or person in charge of the vehicle and a copy must be sent by registered or certified mail to the owner of the vehicle, if the address of such owner is known. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.130 Cash bond-Holding

Unless a cash bond is furnished in an amount sufficient to cover the charge for extraordinary use of highways, streets, alleys or other public roadway, as provided in the next succeeding section, together with the costs which may be collectible under any subsequent settlement made pursuant to this article, said vehicle must be held until a trial of the case can be held before the district court. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.140 Trial-Charges

At the trial of the action, the court shall hear testimony concerning the facts and if it is found that such vehicle or vehicles were moved upon the highways, streets, alleys or other public roadways of the city at a weight in excess of the limitations imposed under the provisions of this article, charges for the extraordinary use of the highways, streets, alleys, or roadways must be assessed as follows:

- 1. The storage charges and costs of the action must be assessed; and
- 2. An additional charge must be assessed as follows: (39-12-17, NDCC)

Pounds	<u>Fee</u>
1 to 1,000	\$20
1,001 to 2,000	\$40
2,001 to 3,000	\$60
3,001 to 4,000	\$140
4,001 to 5,000	\$220
5,001 to 6,000	\$305
6,001 to 7,000	\$380
7,001 to 8,000	\$495
8,001 to 9,000	\$575
9,001 to 10,000	\$655
10,001 to 11,000	\$1,100
11,001 to 12,000	\$1,200
12,001 to 13,000	\$1,300
13,001 to 14,000	\$1,680
14,001 to 15,000	\$1,800
15,001 to 16,000	\$1,920
16,001 to 17,000	\$2,550
17,001 to 18,000	\$2,700
18,001 to 19,000	\$2,850
19,001 to 20,000	\$3,000
20,001 to 21,000	\$4,200
21,001 to 22,000	\$4,400
22,001 to 23,000	\$4,600
23,001 to 24,000	\$4,800
24,001 to 25,000	\$5,000
25,001 to 26,000	\$5,200
26,001 to 27,000	\$5,400
27,001 to 28,000	\$5,600

An additional charge of \$200 for every 1,000 pound increase over 30,000 pounds consistent with the above formula. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.150 Payment of charges - Confiscation - Sale

If the charges and costs as provided in the preceding section are not paid immediately from a cash bond previously posted or other cash payment, the judge shall order the vehicle

confiscated and sold by the sheriff of the county at a public sale to the highest bidder and the proceeds applied to the payment of the charges and costs assessed under the provisions of this article. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.160 Payment - Effect

The payment of charges may not be construed as a payment for the future use of highways, streets, alleys and other public roadways of the city by vehicles carrying excess loads. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.170 Proceeds of Sale

The proceeds of sale must be applied first to the payment of the costs of the proceeding, including any allowable attorney's and witness fees and costs, and next to the payment of the charges assessed. Such charges must be remitted to the city administrator to be credited to the city general fund. The balance of the proceeds of any sale after the payment of costs and charges must be paid over by the sheriff to the person entitled thereto as determined by the court, or must be deposited with the clerk of the court for such payment. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.180 Load Restrictions upon Vehicles using certain roads

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall operate any vehicle with a gross weight in excess of the amounts specified on said sign at any time upon any of the streets or parts of streets so posted. (Ord. No. 1401 §1)

Section 23.84.190 Penalty for violation of chapter

A person operating a motor vehicle or the owner of the motor vehicle being operated without a permit as specified in this Article must be assessed a fee of \$100.00. Any person violating any other provision of this Article, which a specific penalty is not provided, must be assessed a fee of twenty dollars. Violating the conditions of any permit type automatically voids the permit. (Ord. No. 1611 §3)

Chapter 24 NUISANCES

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

24.ED Editor's note to Chapter 24

24.04 In General

24.08 Storage of Junk, Maintenance of Blighted Structures, etc.

24.12 Noises

24.16 Standing Water

Article 24.ED Editor's note to Chapter 24

Sections:

24.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 24

Section 24.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 24

As to keeping of fowl, see §§ 5.04.040, 5.04.050 of this Code. As to certain dogs, see § 5.08.04.020. As to garbage and refuse generally, see Ch. 18. As to abatement of nuisances by public health officer, see § 20.04.070. As to uninvited calls by peddlers, hawkers, and transient merchants, see § 28.04.010. As to excavation in streets or sidewalks as attractive nuisance, see § 33.12.110.

Article 24.04 In General

Sections:	
24.04.010	Abandoned property; property in violation of ordinances, etcGenerally
24.04.020	SameRemoval and impoundment by police
24.04.030	SameCreation, continuance or maintenance
24.04.040	SameSale
24.04.050	Dry cleaning establishments"Dry cleaning" defined
24.04.060	SameDeclared nuisances in certain locations
24.04.070	SameInspection by fire chief; abatement of nuisance by fire chief

Section 24.04.010 Abandoned property; property in violation of ordinances, etc.--Generally

Any article of personal property located within the city, the use, condition or status of which is in violation of any provision of this Code or other ordinance of the city or any law of the state or which constitutes any obstruction, hazard or detriment to public traffic, public safety or public health or morals or which may be damaged, disabled or otherwise involved in an accident or in the commission of any violation of any ordinance of the city or any law of the state or any vehicle or other article or personal property abandoned or unclaimed within the city for a period of ten days or more, is hereby declared to be a nuisance and shall be abated in the manner provided by section 24.04.020. (Code 1958, § 21-1.)

For power of city as to abandoned property, see NDCC, § 40-05-02 (20).

Section 24.04.020 Same--Removal and impoundment by police

The police department of the city may remove or cause to be removed to the city hall or any other place within the city selected for the purpose any personal property described in section 24.04.010 and may impound and retain such property until the expense of removal, storage and impounding is paid together with the amount of any fine, costs, bail or other claims of the city against the owner or any other person lawfully entitled to the possession thereof. (Code 1958, § 21-1.)

Section 24.04.030 Same--Creation, continuance or maintenance

Any person who may create, continue, maintain or suffer to exist a nuisance, as defined in section 24.04.010 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. (Code 1958, § 21-1.)

Section 24.04.040 Same--Sale

If not reclaimed and redeemed by the true owner or the person lawfully entitled to the possession thereof within a period of sixty days after impounding, any article of personal property described in section 24.04.010 may be sold and disposed of by the police department of the city.

Notice that such property will be sold shall be published once at least ten days prior to the sale in a newspaper published in the city. Such notice shall specify a description of the property to be sold, the time and place of sale and shall be signed by the chief of police of the city.

Such sale shall be held between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. of the day specified in the notice. Such sale shall be held at the front door of the city hall or at the location of the property to be sold.

Any sale may be postponed or discontinued by public announcement at the time of the sale when there are no bidders, when the amount offered is grossly inadequate or for other reasonable cause. The city may become purchaser of any or all property at such sale.

The chief of police shall give the purchaser at such sale a bill of sale of such property.

Within thirty days after such sale, the person making the sale shall make out in writing and file with the city auditor a full report of such sale, specifying the property sold, the amount received therefor, the amount of costs and expenses and the disposition made by him of the proceeds of the sale. The proceeds arising from such sale shall be delivered over to the city treasurer and credited to the contingent fund.

Any time within six months after such sale, the owner of the property shall be entitled to receive from the city the proceeds of such sale, less all expenses incurred by the city in relation thereto. (Code 1958, § 21-2.)

Section 24.04.050 Dry cleaning establishments--"Dry cleaning" defined

Dry cleaning is defined as the method of cleaning or renovating clothing, rugs, furs, fabrics and textiles with an inflammable fluid. (Code 1958, § 21-9.)

Section 24.04.060 Same--Declared nuisances in certain locations

All dry cleaning places or establishments within the fire limits of the city using inflammable fluids are declared a nuisance and unlawful. (Code 1958, §§ 21-10.)

Section 24.04.070 Same--Inspection by fire chief; abatement of nuisance by fire chief

It shall be the duty of the chief of the fire department to enter and inspect all buildings or places where he believes dry cleaning is being done, and if he finds that the preceding section is being violated, it shall be his duty to immediately abate such nuisance by removing and destroying all such liquids and preparations used in such dry cleaning. (Code 1958, § 21-11.)

Article 24.08 Storage of Junk, Maintenance of Blighted

Structures, etc.

Sections:	
24.08.010	Definitions
24.08.020	Certain practices declared nuisances
24.08.030	Liability of owners, occupants, lessees, etc., generally
24.08.040	Removal of junked automobile from private property by general inspector or
	nolice

Section 24.08.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this article, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings ascribed to them by this section:

Abandoned Vehicle. Without limitation, any vehicle which has remained on private property for a period of forty-eight continuous hours or more without consent of the owner or occupant of the property or for a period of forty-eight continuous hours or more after the consent of the owner or occupant has been revoked.

Blighted Structure. Without limitation, any dwelling, garage or outbuilding; any factory, shop, store, warehouse; or any other structure or part of a structure which because of fire, wind or other natural disaster or physical deterioration is no longer habitable as a dwelling nor useful for the purpose for which it may have been intended.

Building Materials. Without limitation, lumber, bricks, concrete or cinder blocks, plumbing materials, electric wiring, or equipment, heating ducts or equipment, shingles, mortar, concrete, or cement nails, screws or any other materials used in constructing any structure.

Junk. Without limitation, parts of machinery or motor vehicles, unused furniture, stoves, refrigerators or other appliances, remnants of wood, metal or any other cast off material of any kind whether or not such material could be put to any reasonable use.

Junk Automobiles. Without limitation, any motor vehicle which is not licensed or use upon the highways of the state for a period in excess of sixty days and also includes, whether licensed or not, any motor vehicle which is inoperative for any reason for a period in excess of sixty days; provided, that there is excepted from this definition unlicensed but operative vehicles which are kept as the stock in trade of a regularly licensed and established new or used automobile dealer.

Trash and Rubbish. Any and all forms of debris not herein otherwise classified. (Ord. No. 525.)

Section 24.08.020 Certain practices declared nuisances

It is hereby determined that the following conditions tend to result in blighted and deteriorated neighborhoods, increase in criminal activity, spread of vermin and disease and are contrary to the public peace, health, safety, and general welfare of the community:

- (a) Storing or permitting the storage or accumulation of trash or rubbish.
- (b) Storing or permitting the storage of or accumulation of junk, junk automobiles or abandoned vehicles on any private property within the city, except within a completely enclosed building and in compliance with the provisions of this Code and other city ordinances; provided, that this shall not be construed to preclude

- the storage or accumulation of junk, junk automobiles or abandoned vehicles upon the business premises of a duly licensed junk dealer, junk buyer in used auto parts, or dealer in second hand goods or junk gatherer so long as such premises are operated and maintained in compliance with the provisions of this Code and other city ordinances.
- (c) Dismantling, cutting up, removing parts from or otherwise disassembling any automobile, whether it is a junk automobile, abandoned vehicle or any appliance or machinery, except in a completely enclosed building or upon the business premises of a duly licensed junk dealer, junk buyer, dealer in used auto parts, dealer in second hand goods or junk gatherer.
- (d) Keeping or maintaining any blighted or vacant structure, dwelling, garage, outbuilding, factory, shop, store or warehouse, unless such structure is kept securely locked, the windows kept glazed or neatly boarded up and otherwise protected to prevent entrance thereto by unauthorized persons or such structure is in the course of construction in accordance with a valid building permit issued by the city and such construction is completed within a reasonable time.
- (e) Storing or permitting the storage or accumulation of building materials on any private property, except in a completely enclosed building or where such building materials are part of the stock in trade of a business located on such property or when such materials are being used in the construction of a structure on the property in accordance with a valid building permit issued by the city and such construction is completed within a reasonable time.

Such conditions are hereby declared to be nuisances. (Ord. No. 525; Ord. No. 585.)

Section 24.08.030 Liability of owners, occupants, lessees, etc., generally

All persons maintaining or permitting the maintenance of any condition declared to be a nuisance by section 24.08.020, whether as owner, occupant, lessee, agent, servant or employee shall, except as herein otherwise provided, be equally liable as principals. (Ord. No. 525.)

Section 24.08.040 Removal of junked automobile from private property by general inspector or police

The general inspector or the police department may remove or cause to be removed any junk automobile or parts of either from any unenclosed private property after having notified in writing the owner or occupant of such property of its intention to do so at least forty-eight hours prior to such removal. Such notice shall be served personally upon the owner or occupant of the property if occupied or may be posted in a conspicuous place upon vacant or unoccupied property. Such junk automobiles or abandoned vehicles or parts of either shall be removed to the automobile pound and disposed of in accordance with law. Such removal by the police department or general inspector shall not excuse or relieve any person of the obligation imposed by this article to keep his property free from storage or accumulation of junk automobiles or abandoned vehicles, parts of junk automobiles or abandoned vehicles or parts of either nor from the penalties for violation thereof. (Ord. No. 525.)

Article 24.12 Noises

Sections:	
24.12.02000	Division 24.12.02 Generally
24.12.02010	Legislative findings
24.12.02020	Unnecessary noise prohibited
24.12.04000	Division 24.12.04 Noise Level Regulations
24.12.04010	Definitions
24.12.04020	Tests for unlawful noise
24.12.04030	Noise levelsZoning districts
24.12.04040	SameMotor vehicles
24.12.04050	SameAircraft
24.12.04060	Exemptions
24.12.04070	Application for special permit

Section 24.12.02000 Division 24.12.02 Generally

Section 24.12.02010 Legislative findings

24.12.04080 Penalty for violation of article

24.12.04090 Additional remedy

- (a) The making, creation or maintenance of such loud, unnecessary, unnatural or unusual noises which are prolonged, unusual and unnatural in their time, place and use, affect and are detrimental to public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and prosperity of the residents of the city.
- (b) The necessity, in the public interest, for the provisions and prohibitions contained in this article, is declared as a matter of legislative determination and public policy, and it is further declared that the provisions and prohibitions of this article are in pursuance of and for the purpose of securing and promoting the public health, comfort, convenience, safety, welfare and prosperity and the peace and quiet of the city and its inhabitants. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.02020 Unnecessary noise prohibited

It shall be unlawful for any person to make any loud, unnecessary or unusual noise which either annoys, disturbs, injures or endangers the comfort, repose, health, peace or safety of others within the limits of the city. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04000 Division 24.12.04 Noise Level Regulations

Section 24.12.04010 Definitions

For the purposes of this division, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

"A" Band Level. Total sound level of all noise as measured with a sound level meter using the "A" weighing network. The unit of measurement is the dB(A).

Ambient Noise. All-encompassing noise associated with a given environment, being usually composite of sounds from many sources, near and far.

Bel. Common logarithmic value of any sound intensity as related to the standard threshold of audibility (minimum detectible sound or 10-12 watts per square meter).

Cycle. Complete sequence of value of a periodic quantity that occur during a period.

Decibel. One-tenth of a bel as measured on the "A" scale of a standard sound meter using procedures recommended by the American Standard Association.

Emergency Vehicles. Those vehicles such as ambulance, fire, police and other city vehicles operating in time of emergency.

Emergency Work. Work made necessary to restore property to a safe condition following a public calamity or work required to protect persons or property from an imminent exposure to danger.

Frequency of a Function Periodic In Time. Reciprocal of the primitive period. The unit is the cycle per unit time and must be specified.

Sound-Level Meter. An instrument including a microphone, an amplifier, an output meter and frequency weighing networks for the measurement of noise and sound levels in a specified manner. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04020 Tests for unlawful noise

The standards which shall be considered in determining whether a violation of section 24.12.02.020 exists shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following:

- (a) The volume of the noise.
- (b) The intensity of the noise.
- (c) Whether the nature of the noise is usual or unusual.
- (d) Whether the origin of the noise is natural or unnatural.
- (e) The volume and intensity of the background noise, if any.
- (f) The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities.
- (g) The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates.
- (h) The density of inhabitation of the area within which the noise emanates.
- (i) The time of the day or night the noise occurs.
- (i) The duration of the noise.
- (k) Whether the noise is recurrent, intermittent or constant.
- (l) Whether the noise is produced by a commercial or noncommercial activity. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04030 Noise levels--Zoning districts

It shall be unlawful to project a sound or noise, excluding noise emanating from a motor vehicle, from one property into another or within the boundary of a use district, which exceeds the limiting noise criteria set forth in Table I below.

- (a) Sound or noise projecting from one use district into another use district with a different noise level limit shall not exceed the limits of the district into which the noise is projected
- (b) The permissible levels in decibels set forth in Table I shall be modified so that any noise occurring on property deemed to be nonconforming use property shall be determined upon the conforming zoning designation of the property.

TABLE I. LIMITING NOISE LEVELS FOR ZONING DISTRICTS Zoning District

Residential	Commercial	Industrial
(R1, R2, R3,	(C1, C2, C3,	(C-M, M-11)
R4. PUD)	C4)	M-2, M-3

Maximum number of decibels permited from 7:00 a.m. until 11:00 p.m.

daily 53 65 80

Maximum number of decibels permitted from 11:00 p.m. until 7:00 a.m. of the following day

the following day 50 60 75

(Ord. No. 717, §§ 1.)

Section 24.12.04040 Same--Motor vehicles

It shall be unlawful to operate a motorized vehicle within the city limits which creates a noise or sound which exceeds the noise level limits set out in Table II, as follows:

TABLE II. LIMITING NOISE LEVELS FOR MOTOR VEHICLES

- (a) Trucks, buses, construction equipment, or any motor vehicle with a gross weight rating of ten thousand (10,000) pounds or more: Maximum allowable limit: 88 dB measured at 25 feet.
- (b) Passenger cars, pickups, vans, motorcycles, snowmobiles, or any motor vehicle with a gross weight rating less than ten thousand (10,000) pounds: Maximum allowable limit: 80 dB measured at 25 feet. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04050 Same--Aircraft

It shall be unlawful for any person to operate or cause to be operated any type of aircraft over the city which produces noise levels exceeding eighty-eight dB(A) within the city. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04060 Exemptions

The following uses and activities shall be exempt from the noise level regulations:

(a) Noises of safety signals, warning devices and emergency relief valves.

- (b) Noises resulting from any authorized emergency vehicles, when responding to an emergency call or acting in time of an emergency.
- (c) Noises resulting from emergency work as defined in section 24.12.04.010.
- (d) Any construction or maintenance activities.
- (e) Any other noise resulting from activities of a temporary duration permitted by law and for which a license or permit therefor has been granted by the city in accordance with section 21.12.04.070.
- (f) Any aircraft operated in conformity with, or pursuant to federal law, federal air regulations and air traffic control instruction used pursuant to and within the duly adopted federal air regulations shall be exempt from the provisions of section 21.12.04.050 as well as other regulations of this division. Any aircraft operating under technical difficulties, in any kind of distress, under emergency orders of air traffic control or being operated pursuant to and subsequent to the declaration of an emergency under federal air regulations shall also be exempt from the provisions of section 21.12.04.050 as well as the other regulations of this division. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04070 Application for special permit

Applications for a permit for relief from the noise level designated in this division on the basis of undue hardship may be made to the city engineer or his duly authorized representative. Any permit granted by the city engineer hereunder shall contain all conditions upon which such permit has been granted and shall specify a reasonable time that the permit shall be effective. The city engineer, or his duly authorized representative, may grant the relief as applied for if he finds:

- (a) That additional time is necessary for the applicant to alter or modify his activity or operation to comply with this division; or
- (b) The activity, operation or noise source will be of temporary duration, and cannot be done in manner that would comply with other sections of this division; and
- (c) That no other reasonable alternative is available to the applicant; and
- (d) The city engineer may prescribe any conditions or requirements he deems necessary to minimize adverse effects upon the community or the surrounding neighborhood. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04080 Penalty for violation of article

The penalty for violation of any of the provisions of this article shall be in accordance with section 11.12.010 of the Dickinson City Code. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Section 24.12.04090 Additional remedy

As an additional remedy, the operation or maintenance of any device, instrument, vehicle or machinery in violation of any provisions hereof and which cause discomfort or annoyance to reasonable persons of normal sensitiveness or which endangers the comfort, repose, health or peace of residents in the area shall be deemed, and is declared to be, a public nuisance and may be subject to abatement summarily by a restraining order or injunction issued by a court of competent jurisdiction. (Ord. No. 717, § 1.)

Article 24.16 Standing Water

Sections:

24.16.010 Standing Water

Section 24.16.010 Standing Water

- (a) Standing Stagnant Water as Public Nuisance: All stagnant water in which mosquitoes can multiply is hereby declared to be a public nuisance. All items containing stagnant water which can serve as a breeding ground for mosquitoes are hereby declared to be a public nuisance. This includes, but is not limited to, bottles, cans, buckets, clogged gutters or any other places containing stagnant water. The outdoor storage of tires for more than seven (7) consecutive days is declared a public nuisance. The foregoing declarations of public nuisances shall not apply to ditches, drainage ways, detention basins, lakes, streams and natural land formations where water may collect. It shall be unlawful for any property owner, lessee, tenant or other person otherwise in control of property to allow a public nuisance as set forth in this article to exist on any property owned, leased, used, occupied or in which such person otherwise has an interest to remain on such property.
- (b) Nuisance Abatement: In the event of a violation of this article, the City Administrator or his designee, shall notify, in writing, such owner, occupant, person in control, or agent to remove such public nuisance. In the event such owner, occupant, person in control, or agent cannot be located after reasonable inquiry, posting shall be sufficient notice. The notice shall state that unless such nuisance is so abated or removed by a specified date, the City will cause it to be abated or removed. Such notice shall also state that the failure of such owner, occupant, person in control, or agent to abate the nuisance as required by such notice shall be deemed an implied consent for the City to abate or remove such nuisance. Such implied consent shall be deemed to form a contract between such owner, occupant, person in control, or agent and the City. If such owner, occupant, person in control, or agent fails to abate any nuisance within the time limit specified in such notice, the City may proceed to abate such nuisance, keeping an account of the expense of the abatement as to each particular lot or tract, and such expense shall be charged and paid by such owner, occupant, person in control, or agent.
- (c) Administrative Expense: In addition to the charges and fees set forth in this article the City may charge an administrative fee to cover a portion of the administrative costs incurred for removal of the nuisance, which will be listed in the City's fee schedule. Where the City causes the removal of public nuisances from more than one lot in the same subdivision and said lots are owned by the same person(s), then the City may charge an administrative fee for the first such lot and an additional fee for each additional lot as listed in the City's fee schedule.
- (d) Special Assessment of Fees: If the costs of abating or removing the nuisance remains unpaid on September 15 of any year, the City at its option, may place a special assessment against the real property where the nuisance was abated or removed. (Ord. No. 1271 §1.)

Chapter 25 OFFENSES—MISCELLANEOUS

Last updated May, 2023

Articles:

- 25.ED Editor's note to Chapter 25
- 25.04 In General
- 25.06 Sale of Tobacco Products
- 25.08 Offenses Against Persons
- 25.12 Offenses Against Property
- 25.16 Offenses Against Public Order, Health, Safety and Sensibilities
- 25.20 Sentencing

Article 25.ED Editor's note to Chapter 25

Sections:

25.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 25

Section 25.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 25

For state law authorizing the city to keep and preserve public peace, see NDCC, \S 40-05-01(33).

Article 25.04 In General

Sections: 25.04.01 **Definitions.** Division 25.04.02 Offenses of General Applicability 25.04.02000 25.04.02010 **Criminal attempt** 25.04.02020 Criminal conspiracy 25.04.04000 Division 25.04.04 Integrity and Effectiveness of Government Operation 25.04.04010 Aiding consummation of crime 25.04.04020 Public servants permitting escape **Criminal contempt** 25.04.04030 25.04.04040 Hindering proceedings by disorderly conduct 25.04.04050 Impersonating official Refusing to halt 25.04.04060 25.04.06000 Division 25.04.06 Civil Rights 25.04.06010 Discrimination in public places Preventing exercise of civil rights; hindering or preventing another aiding 25.04.06020 third person to exercise civil rights

Section 25.04.01 Definitions.

Any word not specifically defined in this Chapter, but which is defined in Title 12.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, shall have the meaning set forth in the said Title 12.1. (Ord. No. 1191, § 1.)

Section 25.04.02000 Division 25.04.02 Offenses of General Applicability

Section 25.04.02010 Criminal attempt

- (a) A person is guilty of criminal attempt if, acting with the kind of culpability otherwise required for commission of an offense, he intentionally engages in conduct which, in fact, constitutes a substantial step toward commission of the offense. A "substantial step" is any conduct which is strongly corroborative of the firmness of the actor's intent to complete the commission of the offense. Factual or legal impossibility of committing the offense is not a defense, if it could have been committed had the attendant circumstances been as the actor believed them to be.
- (b) A person who engages in conduct intending to aid another to commit an offense is guilty of criminal attempt if the conduct would establish his complicity as an accomplice under North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-03-01, were the offense committed by the other person, even if the other is not guilty of committing or attempting the offense, for example, because he has a defense of justification or entrapment.
- (c) Criminal attempt is an offense if the crime attempted is an offense; except, that whenever it is established by a preponderance of the evidence at sentencing that the conduct constituting the attempt did not come dangerously close to commission of the offense, an attempt to commit an offense shall be punished as an infraction. Criminal attempt to

commit an infraction is an infraction. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-06-01.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.04.02020 Criminal conspiracy

- (a) A person commits conspiracy if he agrees with one or more persons to engage in or cause conduct which, in fact, constitutes an offense or offenses proscribed by the ordinances of the city, and any one or more of such persons does an overt act to effect an objective of the conspiracy. The agreement or the overt act must occur within the city. The agreement need not be explicit, but may be implicit in the fact of collaboration or existence of other circumstances.
- (b) If a person knows or could expect that one with whom he agrees has agreed or will agree with another to effect the same objective, he shall be deemed to have agreed with the other, whether or not he knows the other's identity.
- (c) A conspiracy shall be deemed to continue until its objectives are accomplished, frustrated or abandoned. "Objectives" includes escape from the scene of the crime, distribution of booty and measures, other than silence, for concealing the crime or obstructing justice in relation to it. A conspiracy shall be deemed abandoned if no overt act to effect its objectives has been committed by any conspirator during the applicable period of limitations.
- (d) It is no defense to a prosecution under this section that the person with whom such person is alleged to have conspired has been acquitted, has not been prosecuted or convicted, has been convicted of a different offense, if immune from prosecution, or is otherwise not subject to justice.
- (e) Accomplice liability for offenses committed in furtherance of the conspiracy is to be determined as provided in North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-03-01.
- (f) Conspiracy shall be subject to the penalties provided for attempt in subsection 3 of section 25.04.02.010. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-06-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.04.04000 Division 25.04.04 Integrity and Effectiveness of Government Operation

Section 25.04.04010 Aiding consummation of crime

A person is guilty of the offense of aiding consummation of an offense against the ordinances of the city if he intentionally aids another to secrete, disguise or convert the proceeds of the offense against the ordinances or otherwise profits from the offense. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-08-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.04.04020 Public servants permitting escape

A public servant concerned in official detention, as defined by North Dakota Century Code, § 12.1-08-06(3), pursuant to process issued by a court, judge or magistrate is guilty of an offense against the ordinances of the city if he negligently permits an escape. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-08-07.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.04.04030 Criminal contempt

- (a) The municipal court has power to punish for contempt of its authority only for the following offenses:
 - (1) Misbehavior of any person in its presence or so near thereto as to obstruct the administration of justice;
 - (2) Misbehavior of any of its officers in their official transactions; or
 - (3) Disobedience or resistance to its lawful writ, process, order, rule or command; or
 - (4) As otherwise provided in 40-18-14, NDCC.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided, a criminal contempt proceeding under this section shall be deemed a prosecution for an offense for the purposes of North Dakota Century Code, chapters 12.1-01 through 12.1-05, North Dakota Century Code, chapter 12.1-32, and article 25.20 of this chapter.
- (c) A criminal contempt proceeding under this section is not a bar to subsequent prosecution for a specific offense if the court certifies in the judgment of conviction of criminal contempt, or the order terminating the proceeding without acquittal of dismissal, that a summary criminal contempt proceeding was necessary to prevent repetition of misbehavior disruptive of an ongoing proceeding and the subsequent prosecution as a specific offense is warranted. In a subsequent prosecution, the defendant shall receive credit for all time spent in custody and any fine paid by him pursuant to the criminal contempt proceeding.
- (d) This section shall not be construed to deprive a court of its power, by civil contempt proceedings, to compel compliance with its lawful writ, process, order, rule, decree or command or to compensate a complainant for losses sustained by reason of disobedience or resistance thereto, in accordance with the prevailing usages of law and equity, including the power of detention. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1157 § 5.)

Section 25.04.04040 Hindering proceedings by disorderly conduct

A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if he recklessly hinders an official city proceeding by noise or violent or tumultuous behavior or disturbance.

Comment: Intentional hinderings by disorderly conduct must be prosecuted in state court since the punishment authorized is higher than that authorized for municipal courts. However, the conduct might also fall within the scope of criminal contempt under section 25.04.04.030.

The proceedings intended to be covered under this offense are official proceedings as defined in North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-01-04(23), involving agencies or branches of the municipal government. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1645, § 1)

Section 25.04.04050 Impersonating official

- (a) A person is guilty of an offense if he falsely pretends to be a public servant of the city and acts as if to exercise the authority of such public servant.
- (b) It is no defense to prosecution under this section that the pretended capacity did not exist or the pretended authority could not legally or otherwise have been exercised or conferred. If the offender "obtains a thing of value" as a result of his pretension, he is guilty of the greater offense prohibited by North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-13-04(1) (b) which is classified as a class A misdemeanor and thus must be prosecuted in

state court. It is also the intention of this section to cover only impersonation of city officials rather than state officials. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.04.04060 Refusing to halt

Any person, other than the driver of a motor vehicle under section 23.12.050, who willfully fails or refuses to stop or who otherwise flees or attempts to elude, in any manner, a pursuing peace officer, when given a visual or audible signal to stop, is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. A signal to stop complies with this section if the signal is perceptible to the person and:

- 1. If given from a vehicle, the signal is given by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren, and the vehicle is appropriately marked showing it to be an official law enforcement vehicle; or
- 2. If not given from a vehicle, the signal is given by hand, voice, emergency light, or siren, and the officer is in uniform or prominently displays the officer's badge of office. (Ord. No. 1590, § 12.)

Section 25.04.06000 Division 25.04.06 Civil Rights

Section 25.04.06010 Discrimination in public places

A person is guilty of offense class B misdemeanor if, whether or not acting under color of law, he, by force or threat of force, or by economic coercion, intentionally:

- (a) Injures, intimidates or interferes with another because of his sex, race, color, religion or national origin and because he is or has been exercising or attempting to exercise his right to full and equal enjoyment of any facility open to the public.
- (b) Injures, intimidates or interferes with another because of his sex, race, color, religion or national origin in order to intimidate him or any other person from exercising or attempting to exercise his right to full and equal enjoyment of any facility open to the public. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-14-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1645 § 2)

Section 25.04.06020 Preventing exercise of civil rights; hindering or preventing another aiding third person to exercise civil rights

Section 25.04.06020 Preventing exercise of civil rights; hindering or preventing another aiding third person to exercise civil rights

A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if, whether or not acting under color of law, he, by force or threat of force or by economic coercion, intentionally:

(a) Injures, intimidates or interferes with another who is exercising or is about to

- exercise his civil rights, or because he has exercised his civil rights.
- (b) Intimidates or prevents another from aiding a third person to exercise his civil rights. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12. 114-05.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1645, § 3)

Article 25.06 Sale of Tobacco Products

Sections:	
25.06.010	Definitions
25.06.020	Possession, Purchase, or Use of tobacco products by an individual under the age of twenty-one years of age prohibited
25.06.030	Sale of tobacco products to minors prohibited
25.06.040	Penalties – Sale to Persons Under Twenty One years of Age, Use, Possession
	by Minors
25.06.050	Smoking Restrictions – Exceptions – Retaliation - Application
25.06.060	Responsibility of Proprietors
25.06.070	Penalties – Smoking Restrictions
25.06.080	Child-resistant packaging for liquid nicotine containers

Section 25.06.010 Definitions

Unless the context or subject matter otherwise requires:

- 1. Bar means a retail alcoholic beverage establishment licensed under Article 4 that is devoted to the serving of alcoholic beverages for consumption by guests on the premises and in which the serving of food is only incidental to the consumption of those beverages. The term includes a bar located within a hotel, bowling center, restaurant, or other establishment that is not licensed primarily or exclusively to sell alcoholic beverages. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 2. *Business* means a sole proprietorship, partnership, association, joint venture, corporation, or other business entity, either for profit or not for profit, including retail establishments where goods or services are sold and professional corporations and other entities where professional services are delivered. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 3. City shall mean the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 4. Compliance checks means the system the city uses to investigate and ensure that tobacco retailers are following and complying with the requirements of this article. Compliance checks may involve the use of persons between the ages of 14 and 20 who purchase or attempt to purchase tobacco products. Compliance checks may also be conducted by the city or other units of government for educational, research, and training purposes or for investigating or enforcing federal, state, or local laws and regulations relating to tobacco products.
- 5. *Child-resistant packaging* means packaging that meets the definition set forth in Code of Federal Regulations, title 16, section 1700.15(b), as in effect on January 1, 2015, and was tested in accordance with the method described in Code of Federal Regulations, title 16, section 1700.20, as in effect on January 1, 2015.
- 6. *E-cigarette* means any electronic oral device, such as one composed of a heating element and battery or electronic circuit, or both, which provides a vapor of nicotine or any other substances, and the use or inhalation of which simulates smoking. The term shall include any such device, whether manufactured, distributed, marketed, or sold as an e-cigarette, e-cigar, and e-pipe or under any other product, name or descriptor. *E-cigarette* also includes any component part of such product whether or not sold separately. *E-cigarette* does not include any product approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for legal

- sale as a tobacco cessation product and is being marketed and sold solely for the approved purpose. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 7. *Employee* means an individual who is employed by an employer in consideration for direct or indirect monetary wages or profit, or an individual who volunteers services for an employer. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 8. *Employer* means an individual, business, or private club, including a municipal corporation or trust, or the state and its agencies and political subdivisions that employs the services of one or more individuals. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 9. *Enclosed area* means all space between a floor and ceiling that has thirty-three percent or more of the surface area of its perimeter bounded by opened or closed walls, windows, or doorways. A wall includes any physical barrier regardless of whether it is opened or closed, temporary or permanent, or contains openings of any kind, and includes retractable dividers and garage doors. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 10. Health care facility means any office or institution providing health care services or treatment of diseases, whether physical, mental or emotional, or other medical, physiological or psychological conditions. Some examples of health care facilities include hospitals; clinics; ambulatory surgery centers; outpatient care facilities; weight control clinics; nursing homes; homes for the aging or chronically ill; nursing, basic, long-term, or assisted living facilities; laboratories; and offices of any medical professional licensed, including all specialties and subspecialties in those fields. This definition shall include all waiting rooms, hallways, private rooms, semiprivate rooms, wards within health care facilities, and any mobile or temporary health care facilities. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 11. *Health care services* means services provided by any health care facility. Some examples of health care services are medical, surgical, dental, vision, chiropractic, psychological, and pharmaceutical services. *Person* shall mean any individual, partnership, corporation or other business or other legal entity. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 12. *Minor* shall mean any person, regardless of sex, who has not yet reached the age of eighteen (18).
- 13. *Place of employment* means an area under the control of a public or private employer, including, work areas, auditoriums, classrooms, conference rooms, elevators, employee cafeterias, employee lounges, hallways, meeting rooms, private offices, restrooms, temporary offices, vehicles, and stairs. A private residence is not a place of employment unless it is used as a licensed child care, adult day care, or health care facility. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 14. *Public place* means an area which the public enters. Some examples of public places are publicly owned buildings, vehicles, or offices; bars; bingo facilities; gambling and gaming facilities; child care and adult day care facilities subject to licensure by the department of human services, including those operated in private homes; convention facilities; educational facilities, both public and private; facilities primarily used for exhibiting a motion picture, stage, drama, lecture, musical recital, or other similar performance; financial institutions; health care facilities; hotels and motels including all rooms that are rented to guests; laundromats; any common areas in apartment buildings, condominiums, mobile home parks, retirement facilities, nursing homes, and other multiple-unit residential facilities; private and semi-private nursing home rooms; museums, libraries, galleries, and aquariums; polling places; professional offices; public

- transportation facilities, including buses, trains, airplanes and similar aircraft, taxicabs and similar vehicles such as towncars and limousines when used for public transportation, and ticket, boarding, and waiting areas of public transit facilities, including bus and train stations and airports; reception areas; restaurants; retail food production and marketing establishments; retail service establishments; retail stores including tobacco and hookah establishments; rooms, chambers, places of meeting or public assembly, including school buildings; shopping malls; sports arenas; theaters; and waiting rooms. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 15. Publicly owned building, vehicle, or office means a place or vehicle owned, leased, or rented by any state or political subdivision, or by any agency supported by appropriation of, or by contracts or grants from, funds derived from the collection of taxes. Retail tobacco dealer shall mean any individual, partnership, corporation or other business or other legal entity selling, offering for sale, exposing for sale, or having in possession for sale, at retail, tobacco products. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 16. *Restaurant* includes every building or other structure, or any part thereof, and all buildings in connection therewith that are kept, used, maintained, advertised, or held out to the public as a place where food is served. Some examples of restaurants include coffee shops, cafeterias, Sandwich stands, private and public school cafeterias, kitchens, and catering facilities in which food is prepared on the premises for serving elsewhere, and a bar area within a restaurant. (Ord. 1772 § 1)
- 17. *Shopping mall* means an enclosed public walkway or hall area that serves to connect retail or professional businesses. (Ord. 1772 § 1)
- 18. *Smoking* means inhaling, exhaling, burning, or carrying any lighted or heated cigar, cigarette, or pipe, or any other lighted or heated tobacco or plant product intended for inhalation, in any manner or in any form. Smoking also includes the use of an e-cigarette which creates a vapor, in any manner or any form, or the use of any oral smoking device for the purpose of circumventing the prohibition of smoking. Ord. 1772 § 1)
- 19. *Sports arena* means an indoor or outdoor place where members of the public assemble to engage in physical exercise, participate in athletic competition, or witness sports or other events. Some examples of sports arenas include sports pavilions, stadiums, gymnasiums, health spas, boxing arenas, swimming pools, roller and ice rinks, and bowling centers. (Ord. 1234 § 2, Ord. 1495 § 1. Ord. 1601 § 1; Ord 1772 § 1)
- 20. *Tobacco products* includes any product that contains tobacco, is derived from tobacco, or contains nicotine or other similar substances that is intended for human consumption or is likely to be consumed, whether smoked, heated, inhaled, chewed, absorbed, dissolved, or ingested by any other means. *Tobacco product* includes E-cigarettes and other electronic smoking devices, pipes and rolling papers, but does not include any product approved by the United States Food and Drug administration for legal sale as a tobacco cessation product and is being marketed solely for the approved purpose.
- 21. *Vending machine* shall mean any kind of device or mechanical machine which, upon insertion of coins, tokens or other objects will release tobacco products in packages or otherwise. (Ord. 1234 § 2, Ord. 1495 § 1. Ord. 1601 § 1; Ord. 1773 § 1)

Section 25.06.020 Possession, Purchase, or Use of tobacco products by an individual under the age of twenty-one years of age prohibited

- 1. It shall be a noncriminal offense for a minor to possess, sell, purchase, attempt to purchase, smoke, or use tobacco products. The penalties for a violation of Section 25.06.020 are set forth in Section 25.06.040. This section shall not apply to a person under the age of twenty one (21) who purchases or attempts to purchase tobacco or tobacco products while under the direct supervision of the police department or an entity authorized by the City or the State of North Dakota for training, education, or research purposes, nor to a person under the age of eighteen (18) years who purchases or attempts to purchase tobacco products while under the direct supervision of the police department for enforcement purposes.
- 2. It shall be a noncriminal offense for a minor to enter and remain in a smoke/vape shop as defined in Section 21.20.065. The penalties for a violation of Section 25.06.020 are set forth in Section 25.06.040. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 3. Any minor fourteen years of age or older who has been cited for a violation of subsection (a) may appear before the Dickinson Municipal Court and pay the fee and schedule participation in an approved cessation program by the time scheduled for a hearing, or if bond has been posted, may forfeit the bond by not appearing at the scheduled time and provide the court proof of completion of an approved cessation program within 45 days of bond forfeiture. An individual appearing at the time scheduled in the citation may make a statement in explanation of that individual's action and the judge may waive, reduce, or suspend the fee or bond, or both. If the individual cited follows the procedures of this subdivision, that individual has admitted the violation and has waived the right to a hearing on the issue of commission of the violation. The bond required to secure appearance before the court must be identical to the fee. This subdivision does not allow a citing officer to receive the fee or bond.
- 4. If a minor fourteen years of age or older cited for a violation of subsection (a) does not choose to follow the procedures provided under subdivision (b), that individual may request a hearing on the issue of the commission of the violation cited. The hearing must be held at the time scheduled in the citation or at some future time, not to exceed ninety days later, set at that first appearance. At the time of a request for a hearing on the issue on commission of the violation, the individual cited shall deposit with the court an appearance bond equal to the fee for the violation cited.
- 5. The failure to pay an assessed fine and participate in any tobacco cessation program ordered by the court, is punishable as a contempt of court, except a minor may not be imprisoned for the contempt.
- 6. The prosecution must prove the commission of a cited violation under subsection (a) by a preponderance of the evidence. (Ord. 1234 § 2, Ord. 1495 § 1; Ord. 1689 § 4, Ord. 1724 § 6; Ord. 1773 § 1)

Section 25.06.030 Sale of tobacco products to minors prohibited

- 1. It shall be an offense for any person to sell, furnish to, or to procure for anyone under twenty one years of age, tobacco products. As used in this subsection, "sell" includes dispensing from a vending machine under the control of the actor.
- 2. Retailers shall check a state-issued photographic identification of purchasers thirty (30) years and younger for proof of age. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- 3. Sale of tobacco products through vending machines is restricted. It shall be unlawful for any person to sell or dispense any tobacco products from a vending machine, except that tobacco products may be offered for sale or sold from a vending machine on the premises of a licensed on-sale or off-sale alcoholic beverage establishment, in any area of the premises where persons under the age of twenty-one (21) years of age are prohibited and where the vending machine is located within the immediate vicinity, plain view and control of a responsible adult employee, so that all tobacco purchases will be readily observable by the employee. The vending machine may not be located in the coat room, restroom, unmonitored hallway, outer waiting area, or similar unmonitored area; nor shall the vending machine be accessible to the public when the establishment is closed.
- 4. Except on licensed alcohol premises, no tobacco products may be stored or displayed in a retail outlet in any area or in a manner which allows for self-service access by customers.
- 5. Every act or omission of whatever nature, constituting a violation of the provisions of this Section 25.06.030 by any officer, director, manager or other agent or employee of any licensee shall be deemed and held to be the act of such licensee; and such licensee shall be punishable in the same manner as if such act or omission had been done or omitted by the licensee personally. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the clerk or employee specifically involved in a compliance check violation with the sale of tobacco products shall be personally liable to pay an administrative fee in addition to any fees imposed upon the employer or license holder. (Ord. 1234 § 2, Ord. 1495 § 1; Ord. 1689 § 5; Ord. 1773 §1)

<u>Section 25.06.040</u> <u>Penalties – Sale to Persons Under Twenty One</u> <u>Years of Age, Use, Possession by Minors</u>

- 1. Any person violating the provisions of Section 25.06.030 shall, upon conviction, be guilty of an infraction. Any person violating the provisions of Section 25.06.020 by a minor shall be a noncriminal offense, as provided therein. Each day that a violation is permitted to exist shall constitute a separate punishable offense.
- 2. The minimum fee required for violating the provisions of the foregoing sections of this Article shall be as follows:
 - a. For a violation of Section 25.06.020 by a minor:

- 1) First offense, a fine of \$100, and participation in a tobacco cessation program as ordered by the court.
- 2) Second offense within two years, a fine of \$250.00, and participation in a tobacco cessation program as ordered by the court.
- 3) Third and subsequent offenses within two years, a fine of \$500.00 and participation in a tobacco cessation program as ordered by the court.
- b. For a violation of Section 25.06.030 by a Retail tobacco dealer:
 - 1) First offense, a fine of \$500.00
 - 2) Second offense within two years, a fine of \$1,000.00 and suspension of license of no less than two (2) days.
 - 3) Third and subsequent offenses within two years, a fine of \$2,000.00 and suspension of license for no less than four (4) days or revocation of license. (Ord. 1773 § 1)
- c. For procuring tobacco products for any person under twenty-one years of age in violation of Section 25.06.030(a):
 - 1) First offense, a fine of \$100.00
 - 2) Second offense within two years, a fine of \$250.00
 - 3) Third and subsequent offenses within two years, fine of \$500.00

A portion of all fines collected may be contributed to an established compliance program approved by the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. 1234 § 2, Ord. 1495 § 1; Ord. 1689 § 6; Ord. 1699 § 2; Ord. 1773 § 1)

Section 25.06.050 Smoking restrictions--Exceptions--Retaliation—Application

- 1. In order to protect the public health and welfare and to recognize the need for individuals to breathe smoke free air, smoking is prohibited in all enclosed areas of:
 - a. Public places; and
 - b. Places of employment.
- 2. Smoking is prohibited within twenty feet [6.10 meters] of entrances, exits, operable windows, air intakes, and ventilation systems of enclosed areas in which smoking is prohibited. Owners, operators, managers, employers, or other persons who own or control a public place or place of employment may seek to rebut the presumption that twenty feet [6.10 meters] is a reasonable minimum distance by making application to the director of the local health department or district in which the public place or place of employment is located. The presumption will be rebutted if the applicant can show by clear and convincing evidence that, given the unique circumstances presented by the location of entrances, exits, windows that open, ventilation intakes, or other factors, smoke will not infiltrate or reach the entrances, exits, open windows, or ventilation intakes or enter into

such public place or place of employment and, therefore, the public health and safety will be adequately protected by a lesser distance.

- 3. The following areas are exempt from subsections 1 and 2:
 - a. Private residences, except those residences used as a child care, adult day care, or health care facility subject to licensure by the department of human services.
 - b. Outdoor areas of places of employment, except those listed in subsection 2.
 - c. Any area that is not commonly accessible to the public and which is part of an owner operated business having no employee other than the owner operator.
- 4. Smoking as part of a traditional American Indian spiritual or cultural ceremony is not prohibited.
- 5. No person or employer shall discharge, refuse to hire, or in any manner retaliate against an employee, applicant for employment, or other person because that person asserts or exercises any rights afforded by this section or reports or attempts to prosecute a violation of this section. An employee who works in a setting where an employer allows smoking does not waive or surrender any legal rights the employee may have against the employer or any other party. Violations of this subsection shall be a class B misdemeanor.
- 6. This section may not be interpreted or construed to permit smoking where it is otherwise restricted by other applicable laws.
- 7. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, an owner, operator, manager or other person in control of an establishment, facility, or outdoor area may declare that entire establishment, facility, or outdoor area as a nonsmoking place. (Ord. 1495 § 1; Ord. 1689 § 5; Ord. 1773 § 1)

Section 25.06.060 Responsibility of proprietors

The owner, operator, manager or other person in control of a public place or place of employment where smoking is prohibited by the provisions of Section 25.06.050 shall:

- 1. Clearly and conspicuously post no smoking signs or the international no smoking symbol in that place.
- 2. Clearly and conspicuously post at every entrance to that place a sign stating that smoking is prohibited.
- 3. Clearly and conspicuously post on every vehicle that constitutes a place of employment at least one sign, visible from the vehicle's exterior, stating that smoking is prohibited.
- 4. Remove all ashtrays from any area where smoking is prohibited, except for ashtrays displayed for sale and not for use on the premises.
- 5. Communicate to all existing employees and to all prospective employees upon their application for employment that smoking is prohibited in that place.
- 6. For places under his or her control, direct a person who is smoking in violation of provisions of Section 25.06.050 to extinguish the product being smoked. If the person does

not stop smoking, the owner, operator, manager or employee shall refuse service and shall immediately ask the person to leave the premises. If the person in violation refuses to leave the premises, the owner, operator, manager, or employee shall immediately report the violation to law enforcement or to the Tobacco Prevention and Control Division of the Southwestern District Health Unit. The refusal of the person to stop smoking or leave the premises in response to requests made under this section by an owner, operator, manager, or employee shall not constitute a violation of the provisions of Sections 25.06.050 or 25.06.060 by the owner, operator, manager, or employee. (Ord. 1495 § 1)

Section 25.06.070 Penalties – Smoking Restrictions

- 1. An individual who smokes in an area in which smoking is prohibited under Section 25.06.050 is guilty of an infraction punishable by a fine not exceeding fifty dollars.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 5 of Section 25.06.050, an owner or other person with general supervisory responsibility over a public place or place of employment who willfully fails to comply with Section 25.06.050 is guilty of an infraction, subject to: a fine not to exceed one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for the first violation; a fine not to exceed two hundred dollars (\$200.00) for a second violation within one year; and to a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars (\$500.00) for each additional violation within one year of the preceding violation.
- 3. In addition to the fines established by this section, violation of any provision of Sections 25.06.050 or 25.06.060 by a person who owns, manages, operates, or otherwise controls a public place or place of employment may result in the suspension or revocation of any permit or license issued to the person for the premises on which the violation occurred.
- 4. Violations of any provision of Sections 25.06.050 and 25.06.060 are declared to be a public nuisance that may be abated by restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction, or other means provided by law.
- 5. Each day on which a violation of any provision of Sections 25.06.050 and 25.06.060 occurs shall be considered a separate and distinct violation.

Section 25.06.080 Child-resistant packaging for liquid nicotine containers

- 1. Any nicotine liquid container that is sold at retail in this state must satisfy the child-resistant packaging standards set forth in title 16, CFR, part 1700, section 15(b)(1), when tested in accordance with the method described in title 16, CFR, part 1700, section 20.
 - a. As used in this section, "nicotine liquid container" means a bottle or other container of a liquid or other substance containing nicotine in which the liquid or substance is sold, marketed, or intended for use in an electronic smoking device. The term does not

include a liquid or other substance containing nicotine in a cartridge that is sold, marketed, or intended for use in an electronic smoking device, provide that the cartridge is prefilled and sealed by the manufacturer and not intended to be opened by the consumer.

b. Any person that engages in retail sales of liquid nicotine containers in violation of this section is subject to a civil penalty of not more than five hundred dollars for each separate violation of this section. (Ord. 1601 § 2; Ord. 1773 § 1)

Article 25.08 Offenses Against Persons

Sections:

25.08.010 Simple assault 25.08.015 Domestic Violence

25.08.020 Harassment.

Section 25.08.010 Simple assault

- (a) A person is guilty of an offense if that person:
 - (1) Willfully causes bodily injury to another human being; or
 - (2) Negligently causes bodily injury to another human being by means of a firearm, destructive device or other weapon, the use of which against a human being is likely to cause death or serious bodily injury.
- (b) Consent to the conduct causing bodily injury by all persons injured by the conduct is a defense if:
 - (1) Neither the injury inflicted nor the injury threatened is such as to jeopardize life or seriously impair health;
 - (2) The conduct and the injury are reasonably foreseeable hazards of joint participation in a lawful athletic contest or competitive sport; or
 - (3) The conduct and the injury are reasonably foreseeable hazards of an occupation or profession or of medical or scientific experimentation conducted by recognized methods and the persons subjected to such conduct or injury, having been made aware of the risks involved, consent to the performance of the conduct or the infliction of the injury.
- (c) Assent does not constitute consent, within the meaning of this section, if:
 - (1) It is given by a person who is legally incompetent to authorize the conduct charged to constitute the offense and such incompetence is manifest or known to the actor;
 - (2) It is given by a person who by reason of youth, mental disease or defect, or intoxication, is manifestly unable or known by the actor to be unable to make a reasonable judgment as to the nature or harmfulness of the conduct charged to constitute the offense; or
 - (3) It is induced by force, duress or deception.
- (d) Violation of this Section shall constitute a class B misdemeanor.

Comment: This section parallels the simple assault offense in North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-01, and the consent provisions in North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-08. It essentially follows lay usage in covering what was under common law more technically a battery. Common law assault is now covered more descriptively as terrorizing, North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-04; menacing, North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-05; criminal coercion, North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-06; or harassment, North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-07.

More serious assault (battery) is covered by state law under aggravated assault, North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-02 or, as simple assault upon a peace officer or correctional institution employee acting in an official capacity, as a class C felony under

North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-17-01. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.) Second and subsequent offenses shall be considered a Class A misdemeanor and governed by state law when the victim is an actor's family or household member as defined in subsection 4 of N.D.C.C. § 14-07.1-01 and the actor has a prior conviction for simple assault under this section or an assault offense under section 12.1-17-01.1 or 12.1-17-02 involving the commission of domestic violence as defined in subsection 2 of section 14-07.1-01. (Ord. No. 1621 § 1. Ord. No. 1680, § 1)

Section 25.08.015 Domestic Violence

- a) For purpose of this section "family or household member" means family or household member as defined in N.D.C.C. § 14.07.1-01.
- b) A person is guilty of an offense if that person willfully causes bodily injury to the actor's family or household member.
- c) Violation of this Section shall constitute a class B misdemeanor.
- d) A person charged with an offense under this section must be prosecuted in district court.
- e) The sentence for an offense under this Section against an actor's family or household member, as defined in N.D.C.C. § 14.07.1-01, must include an order to complete a domestic violence offender treatment program. The court may not order the offender to attend anger management classes or individual counseling unless a domestic violence offender treatment program is not reasonably available to the defendant and the court makes findings for the record explaining why an order to complete a domestic violence offender treatment program would be inappropriate (Ord. No. 1680, § 2)

Section 25.08.020 Harassment.

- (1) A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if, with intent to frighten or harass another, the person:
 - (a) Makes a telephone call anonymously or in offensively coarse language;
 - (b) Makes repeated telephone calls, whether or not a conversation ensues, with no purpose of legitimate communication; or
 - (c) Communicates a falsehood in writing or by telephone and causes mental anguish.
- (2) Any offense defined herein and committed by use of a telephone may be deemed to have been committed at either the place at which the telephone call or calls were made or at the place where the telephone call or calls were received. (Ord. No. 1190, § 1.)

Article 25.12 Offenses Against Property

Sections:	
25.12.02000	Division 25.12.02 Property Destruction and Criminal Intrusion
25.12.02010	Criminal mischief
25.12.02020	Tampering with or damaging public service
25.12.02030	Consent as defense; definition of "of another" for purposes of sections
	25.12.02.010 and 25.12.02.020
25.12.02040	Criminal trespass
25.12.04000	Division 25.12.04 Theft and Related Offenses
25.12.04010	Consolidated theft offenses
25.12.04020	Theft of property generally
25.12.04030	Theft of services
25.12.04040	Theft of property lost, mislaid or delivered by mistake
25.12.04050	Thefts punishable under city ordinance
25.12.04060	Defrauding secured creditors
25.12.04070	Retail theft; shoplifting
25.12.04080	Defenses and proof as to theft and related offenses
25.12.04090	Definitions
25.12.04100	Making or uttering slugs

Section 25.12.02000 Division 25.12.02 Property Destruction and Criminal Intrusion

Section 25.12.02010 Criminal mischief

A person is guilty of an offense if he:

- (a) Willfully tampers with tangible property of another so as to endanger person or property; or
- (b) Willfully damages tangible property of another. Conduct is punishable as criminal mischief under this section when any pecuniary loss, if intentionally caused, is not in excess of one hundred dollars; if recklessly caused, is not in excess of two thousand dollars; and if the damages to tangible property of another are not by means of an explosive or a destructive device.
- (c) The penalty for the offense of criminal mischief may not exceed a fine of one thousand dollars, imprisonment for thirty days, or both such fine and imprisonment. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-21-05 and North Dakota Century Code, section 40-05-06 as amended by S.B. 2217 in 1975 and S.B. 2534 in 1977.) (Ord. No. 867, 1.)

Section 25.12.02020 Tampering with or damaging public service

A person is guilty of an offense if he negligently causes a substantial interruption or impairment of a public communication, transportation, supply of water, gas, power or other public service by:

- (a) Tampering with or damaging the tangible property of another;
- (b) Incapacitating an operator of such service; or

(c) Negligently damaging the tangible property of another by fire, explosive or other dangerous means. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-21-06.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.02030 Consent as defense; definition of "of another" for purposes of sections 25.12.02.010 and 25.12.02.020

For prosecutions of criminal mischief under section 25.12.02.010 or tampering with or damaging a public service under section 25.12.02.020:

- (a) Whenever it is an element of the offense that the property is of another, it is a defense to a prosecution under those sections that the other has consented to the actor's conduct with respect to the property.
- (b) Property is that "of another" if anyone other than the actor has a possessory or proprietary interest therein. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-21-07 and 08(2).) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.02040 Criminal trespass

- (a) A person is guilty of class B misdemeanor if, knowing that he is not licensed or privileged to do so, he enters or remains in any place as to which notice against trespass is given by actual communication to the actor by the person in charge of the premises or other authorized person or by posting in a manner reasonably likely to come to the attention of intruders.
- (b) A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if that person remains upon the property of another after being requested to leave the property by a duly authorized person. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1023, § 1; Ord. No. 1176, § 3 Ord. No. 1645, § 4.)

Section 25.12.04000 Division 25.12.04 Theft and Related Offenses

Section 25.12.04010 Consolidated theft offenses

- (a) Conduct denominated theft in sections 25.12.04.020 to 25.12.04.040 constitutes a single offense designed to include the separate offenses heretofore known as larceny, stealing, purloining, embezzlement, obtaining money or property by false pretenses, extortion, blackmail, fraudulent conversion, receiving stolen property, misrepresentation of public funds, swindling and the like.
- (b) A charge of theft under sections 25.12.04.020 to 25.12.04.040 which fairly apprises the defendant of the nature of the charges against him shall not be deemed insufficient because it fails to specify a particular category of theft. The defendant may be found guilty of theft under such a charge if his conduct falls under sections 25.12.04.020 and 25.12.04.040, so long as the conduct proved is sufficiently related to the conduct charged that the accused is not unfairly surprised by the case he must meet. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23.01.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.04020 Theft of property generally

A person is guilty of theft if he:

- (a) Knowingly takes or exercises unauthorized control over, or makes an unauthorized transfer of an interest in, the property of another with intent to deprive the owner thereof;
- (b) Knowingly obtains the property of another by deception or by threat with intent to deprive the owner thereof, or intentionally deprives another of this property by deception or by threat; or
- (c) Knowingly receives, retains or disposes of property of another which has been stolen, with intent to deprive the owner thereof. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23-02.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.04030 Theft of services

A person is guilty of theft if:

- (a) He intentionally obtains services, known by him to be available only for compensation, by deception, threat, false token or other means to avoid payment for the services: or
- (b) Having control over the disposition of services of another to which he is not entitled, he knowingly diverts those services to his own benefit or to the benefit of another not entitled thereto.

Where compensation for services is ordinarily paid immediately upon their rendition, as in the case of hotels, restaurants and comparable establishments, absconding without payment or making provision to pay is prima facie evidence that the services were obtained by deception. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23-03.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.04040 Theft of property lost, mislaid or delivered by mistake

A person is guilty of theft if he:

- (a) Retains or disposes of property of another when he knows it has been lost or mislaid; or
- (b) Retains or disposes of property of another when he knows it has been delivered under a mistake as to the identity of the recipient or as to the nature or amount of the property; and with intent to deprive the owner of it, he fails to take readily available and reasonable measures to restore the property to a person entitled to have it. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.04050 Thefts punishable under city ordinance

Theft under sections 25.12.04.020 to 25.12.04.040 may be punished as an offense against the city ordinances if the highest value by any reasonable standard, regardless of the actor's knowledge of such value, of the property or services which were stolen by the actor, or which the actor believed that he was stealing, or which the actor could reasonably anticipated to have been the property or services involved, does not exceed five hundred dollars, and if:

- (a) The theft was not committed by threat;
- (b) The theft was not committed by deception by one who stood in a confidential or fiduciary relationship to the victim of the theft;
- (c) The defendant was not a public servant or an officer or employee of a financial institution who committed the theft in the course of his official duties;
- (d) The property stolen is not a firearm, ammunition, explosive or destructive device, or an automobile, aircraft or other motor-propelled vehicle;
- (e) The property does not consist of any government file, record, document or other government paper stolen from any government office or from any public servant;
- (f) The defendant is not in the business of buying or selling stolen property and he does not receive, retain or dispose of the property in the course of that business;
- (g) The property stolen does not consist of any implement, paper or other thing uniquely associated with the preparation of any money, stamp, bond or other document, instrument or obligation of the State of North Dakota;
- (h) The property stolen does not consist of livestock taken from the premises of the owner; and
- (i) The property stolen does not consist of a key or other implement uniquely suited to provide access to property the theft of which would be a felony or was not stolen to gain such access. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12. 1-23-05.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645 § 5)

The offense was not charged as a second or subsequent offense theft committed by shoplifting.

(Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12. 1-23-05.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645 § 5; Ord. No. 1724 § 1)

Section 25.12.04070 Retail theft; shoplifting

- (a) Presumption. Any person concealing upon his person or among his belongings, or causing to be concealed upon the person or among the belongings of another, unpurchased merchandise displayed, held, offered or stored for sale in a retail mercantile establishment and removing it to a point beyond the last station for receiving payments in that retail mercantile establishment shall be prima facie presumed to have so concealed such merchandise with the intention of permanently depriving the merchant of possession or of the full retail value of such merchandise.
- (b) Procedure for Detention of Suspect. Any peace officer or merchant who reasonably believes that a person has committed or is in the process of committing theft may detain such person, on or off the premises of a retail mercantile establishment, in a reasonable manner and for a reasonable length of time for all or any of the following purposes:
 - (1) To require the person to identify himself.
 - (2) To verify such identification.
- (3) To determine whether such person has in his possession unpurchased merchandise and, if so, to recover such merchandise.
- (4) To inform a peace officer of the detention of the person and surrender custody of that person to a peace officer.
- (5) In the case of a minor, to inform a peace officer, the parents, guardian or other

- private person interested in the welfare of that minor of this detention and to surrender custody of such minor to the person informed.
- (c) Definitions. For the purposes of this section, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this subsection:

Concealed. An item which, even though there is some notice of its presence, is itself not visible through ordinary observation.

Full Retail Value. The merchant's stated or advertised price of the merchandise.

Merchandise. Any item of tangible personal property, and specifically includes shopping carts.

Merchant. An owner or operator of any retail mercantile establishment or any agent, employee, lessee, consignee, officer, franchisee or independent contractor of such owner or operator.

Person. Any natural person or individual.

Premises of a Retail Mercantile Establishment. Includes, but is not limited to, the retail mercantile establishment, any common use areas in shopping centers and all parking areas set aside by a merchant or on behalf of a merchant for the parking of vehicles for the convenience of the patrons of such retail mercantile establishment.

Retail Mercantile Establishment. Any place where merchandise is displayed, held, offered or stored for sale to the public.

Shopping Cart. Those pushcarts of the type or types which are commonly provided by grocery stores, drug stores or other retail mercantile establishments for the use of the public in transporting commodities in stores and markets and, incidentally, from the stores to a place outside the store.

- (d) "Shoplifting" defined; penalty. To willfully take possession of any merchandise owned, held, offered, or displayed for sale by a merchant, store, or other mercantile establishment, with the intent to deprive the owner of the merchandise. The term includes:
 - (a) Removing merchandise from a store or other mercantile establishment without paying for the merchandise
 - (b) Concealing a non-purchased good or merchandise;
 - (c) Altering, transferring, or removing a price marking on a good or merchandise;
 - (d) Transferring a good from one container to another; and
 - (e) Causing the amount paid for a good or merchandise to be less than the stated retail price.

A person who violates this section shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor for a first offense. A second or third offense occurring within three years is a class A misdemeanor and must be prosecuted in district court.

(Source: North Dakota Century Code, sections 51-21-01, 51-21-02, 51-21-03 and 40-05-06.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1176, § 4, Ord. No. 1645, § 7; Ord. No. 1724, § 2)

Section 25.12.04080 Defenses and proof as to theft and related offenses

- (a) It is a defense to a prosecution under sections 22.12.04.010 to 25.12.04.090 that:
 - (1) The actor honestly believed that he had a claim to the property or services involved which he was entitled to assert in the manner which forms the basis for the charge against him; or
 - (2) The victim is the actor's spouse, but only when the property involved constitutes household or personal effects or other property normally accessible to both spouses and the parties involved are living together. The term "spouse," as used in this section, includes persons living together as husband and wife.
- (b) It does not constitute a defense to a prosecution for conduct constituting an offense in violation of sections 22.12.04.010 to 25.12.04.090 that:
 - (1) Stratagem or deception, including the use of an undercover operative or law enforcement officer, was employed;
 - (2) A facility or an opportunity to engage in such conduct, including offering for sale property not stolen as if it were stolen, was provided; or
 - (3) Mere solicitation that would not induce an ordinary law abiding person to engage in such conduct was made by a law enforcement officer to gain evidence against a person predisposed to engage in such conduct.
- (c) (1) It shall be a prima facie case of theft under sections 22.12.04.010 to 25.12.04.090 if it is shown that a public servant or an officer, director, agent, employee of, or a person connected in any capacity with a financial institution has failed to pay or account upon lawful demand for money or property entrusted to him as part of his official duties or if an audit reveals a shortage or falsification of his accounts.
 - (2) Proof of the purchase or sale of stolen property at a price substantially below its fair market value, unless satisfactorily explained, gives rise to an inference that the person buying or selling the property was aware of the risk that it had been stolen.
 - (3) Proof of the purchase or sale of stolen property by a dealer in property, out of the regular course of business, or without the usual indicia of ownership other than mere possession, unless satisfactorily explained, gives rise to an inference that the person buying or selling the property was aware of the risk that it had been stolen. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23-09.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.12.04090 Definitions

For the purposes of sections 25.12.04.010 to 25.12.04.080, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Dealer in Property. A person who buys or sells property as a business.

Deception.

(a) Creating or reinforcing a false impression, including false impressions as to fact, law status, value, intention or other state of mind; but deception as

- to a person's intention to perform a promise shall not be inferred from the fact alone that he did not substantially perform the promise unless it is part of a continuing scheme to defraud;
- (b) Preventing another from acquiring information which would affect his judgment of a transaction;
- (c) Failing to correct a false impression which the actor previously created or reinforced, or which he knows to be influencing another to whom he stands in fiduciary or confidential relationship;
- (d) Failing to correct an impression which the actor previously created or reinforced and which the actor knows to have become false due to subsequent events;
- (e) Failing to disclose a lien, adverse claim or other impediment to the enjoyment of property which he transfers or encumbers in consideration for the property obtained or in order to continue to deprive another of his property, whether such impediment is or is not valid, or is or is not a matter of official record;
- (f) Using a credit card, charge plate or any other instrument which purports to evidence an undertaking to pay for property or services delivered or rendered to or upon the order of a designated person or bearer (1) Where such instrument has been stolen, forged, revoked or canceled, or where for any other reason its use by the actor is unauthorized, and (2) where the actor does not have the intention and ability to meet all obligations to the issuer arising out of his use of the instrument; or
- (g) Any other scheme to defraud. The term "deception" does not, however, include falsifications as to matters having no pecuniary significance, or puffing by statement unlikely to deceive ordinary persons in the group addressed. "Puffing" means an exaggerated commendation of wares in communications addressed to the public or to a class or group.

Deprive.

- (a) To withhold property or to cause it to be withheld either permanently or under such circumstances that a major portion of its economic value, or its use and benefit, has, in fact, been appropriated;
- (b) To withhold property or to cause it to be withheld with the intent to restore it only upon the payment of a reward or other compensation; or
- (c) To dispose of property or use it or transfer any interest in it under circumstances that make its restoration, in fact, unlikely.

Fiduciary. A trustee, guardian, executor, administrator, receiver or any other person acting in a fiduciary capacity, or any person carrying on fiduciary functions on behalf of a corporation or other organization which is a fiduciary.

Financial Institution. A bank, insurance company, credit union, safety deposit company, savings and loan association, investment trust or other organization held out to the public as a place of deposit of funds or medium of savings or collective investment.

Obtain.

(a) In relation to property, to bring about a transfer or purported transfer of an interest in the property, whether to the actor or another; or

(b) In relation to services, to secure performance thereof.

Property. Any money, tangible or intangible personal property, property (whether real or personal) the location of which can be changed (including things growing on, affixed to or found in land and documents although the rights represented thereby have no physical location) contract right, chose-in-action, interest in or claim to wealth, credit, or any other article or thing of value of any kind. "Property" also means real property the location of which cannot be moved if the offense involves transfer or attempted transfer of an interest in the property.

Property of Another. Property in which a person other than the actor or in which a government has an interest which the actor is not privileged to infringe without consent, regardless of the fact that the actor also has an interest in the property and regardless of the fact that the other person or government might be precluded from civil recovery because the property was used in an unlawful transaction or was subject to forfeiture as contraband. Property in possession of the actor shall not be deemed property of another who has a security interest therein, even if legal title is in the creditor pursuant to a conditional sales contract or other security agreement. "Owner" means any person or a government with an interest in property such that it is "property of another" as far as the actor is concerned.

Receiving. Acquiring possession, control or title, or lending on the security of the property. Services. Labor, professional service, transportation, telephone, mail or other public service, gas, electricity and other public utility services, accommodations in hotels, restaurants or elsewhere, admission to exhibitions, and use of vehicles or other property.

Shoplifting. To willfully take possession of any merchandise owned, held, offered, or displayed for sale by a merchant, store, or other mercantile establishment, with the intent to deprive the owner of the merchandise. The term includes:

- a. Removing merchandise from a store or other mercantile establishment without paying for the merchandise
- b. Concealing a nonpurchased good or merchandise;
- c. Altering, transferring, or removing a price marking on a good or merchandise;
- d. Transferring a good from one container to another; and
- e. Causing the amount paid for a good or merchandise to be less than the stated retail price.

Stolen. Property which has been the subject of theft or robbery or a vehicle which is received from a person who is then in violation of North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23-06.

Threat. An expressed purpose, however communicated, to:

- a) Cause bodily injury in the future to the person threatened or to any other person;
- b) Cause damage to property;
- c) Subject the person threatened or any other person to physical confinement or restraint:
- d) Engage in other conduct constituting a crime;
- e) Accuse anyone of a crime;

- f) Expose a secret or publicize an asserted fact, whether true or false, tending to subject a person, living or deceased, to hatred, contempt or ridicule or to impair another's credit or business repute;
- g) Reveal any information sought to be concealed by the person threatened;
- h) Testify or provide information or withhold testimony or information with respect to another's legal claim or defense;
- i) Take or withhold official action as a public servant, or cause a public servant to take or withhold official action;
- j) Bring about or continue a strike, boycott or other similar collective action to obtain property or deprive another of his property which is not demanded or received for the benefit of the group which the actor purports to represent;
- k) Cause anyone to be dismissed from his employment, unless the property is demanded or obtained for lawful union purposes; or
- Do any other act which would not in itself substantially benefit the actor or a group he represents but which is calculated to harm another person in a substantial manner with respect to his health, safety, business, employment, calling, career, financial condition, reputation or personal relationship. Upon a charge of theft, the receipt of property in consideration for taking or withholding official action shall be deemed to be theft by threat regardless of whether the owner voluntarily parted with his property or himself initiated the scheme.

Traffic.

- (a) To sell, transfer, distribute, dispense or otherwise dispose of to another person; or
- (b) To buy, receive, possess, or obtain control of, with intent to sell, transfer, distribute, dispense or otherwise dispose of to another person. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-23-10.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1724 § 3)

Section 25.12.04100 Making or uttering slugs

- (a) A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if he makes or utters a slug or slugs which do not exceed fifty dollars in value with intent to deprive a supplier of property or service sold or offered by means of a coin machine or with knowledge that he is facilitating such a deprivation by another person.
- (b) In this section:
 - (1) "Slug" means a metal, paper or other object which by virtue of its size, shape, or any other quality is capable of being inserted, deposited or otherwise used in a coin machine as an improper but effective substitute for a genuine coin, bill or token.
 - (2) "Coin machine" means a coin box, turnstile, vending machine or other mechanical or electrical device or receptacle designed (a) to receive a coin or bill of a certain denomination or a token made for the purpose; and (b) in return for the insertion or deposit thereof, automatically to offer, provide, assist in providing or permit the acquisition of property or a public or private service.

(3) Value of the slugs means the value of the coins, bills or tokens for which they are capable of being substituted. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-24-05.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645 § 8)

Article 25.16 Offenses Against Public Order, Health, Safety and Sensibilities

and Sen	sibilities
Sections:	
25.16.02000	Division 25.16.02 Riot
25.16.02010	Engaging in
25.16.02020	Disobedience of public safety orders under riot conditions
25.16.04000	Division 25.16.04 Disorderly Conduct; Loitering; Gambling; Prostitution
25.16.04010	Disorderly conductGenerally
25.16.04020	SameDefense when conduct consists of speech or other expression
25.16.04025	Discharging Fireworks
25.16.04030	Loitering
25.16.04040	Gambling
25.16.04050	Prostitution
25.16.06010	Sunday Business or Labor - This Section was repealed with Ordinance No.
	1312 (March 6, 2006)
25.16.08000	Division 25.16.08 Alcohol-Related Offenses
25.16.08010	Purchase, possession, etc., of alcoholic beverages by persons less than twenty
	one years of age prohibited; exceptions
25.16.08020	Misrepresentation of age; obligations of licensee
25.16.08030	Bottle clubs prohibited
25.16.08040	Public intoxication; assistance and/or medical care to be rendered
25.16.08050	No prosecution solely for intoxication
25.16.10000	Division 25.16.10 Protection of Minors
25.16.10010	Display of objectionable materials or performance to minors; definitions;
	penalty
25.16.12000	Division 25.16.12 Miscellaneous Offenses
25.16.12010	Discharging or using air guns, spring guns, sling shots, etc.
25.16.12020	Erection, construction or maintenance of barbed wire fences or enclosures
25.16.12030	Bomb threats, etc.
25.16.12040	Curfew for minors
25.16.12050	Discharging firearms, explosives, etc.
25.16.12060	Electrical interference with radio receptionGenerally
25.16.12070	SameOperation of X-ray equipment
25.16.12080	SameEnforcement of restrictions generally; right of city engineer to enter
	for inspection
25.16.12090	SameNotification of violation
25.16.12100	SameProsecution
25.16.12110	Manufacture, sale, use, etc., of explosives
25.16.12120	Installation of loudspeakers and musical instruments
25.16.12130	Use, possession, etc., of controlled substances
25.16.12131	Possession of Marijuana
25.16.12135	Unlawful Possession of Marijuana Paraphernalia
25.16.12140	Posting, etc., of bills, posters, etc.; distribution of handbills, etc.
25.16.12150	Spitting, throwing litter, etc., in public places
25.16.12160	Unlawful Deposit of Materials at Recycling Sites

Section 25.16.02000 Division 25.16.02 Riot

Section 25.16.02010 Engaging in

A person is guilty of an class B misdemeanor if, during a riot as defined in subsection (b) of section 25.16.02.010, or when one is immediately impending, he disobeys a reasonable public safety order to move, disperse or refrain from specified activities in the immediate vicinity of the riot. A public safety order is an order designed to prevent or control disorder, or promote the safety of persons or property, issued by the senior law-enforcement official on the scene. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-25-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645, § 8)

Section 25.16.02020 Disobedience of public safety orders under riot conditions

A person is guilty of an class B misdemeanor if, during a riot as defined in subsection (b) of section 25.16.02.010, or when one is immediately impending, he disobeys a reasonable public safety order to move, disperse or refrain from specified activities in the immediate vicinity of the riot. A public safety order is an order designed to prevent or control disorder, or promote the safety of persons or property, issued by the senior law-enforcement official on the scene. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-25-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645, § 9)

Section 25.16.04000 Division 25.16.04 Disorderly Conduct; Loitering; Gambling; Prostitution

Section 25.16.04010 Disorderly conduct--Generally

- (a) A person is guilty of violating the ordinances of this city if, with intent to harass, annoy or alarm another person or in reckless disregard of the fact that another is harassed, annoyed or alarmed by his behavior, he:
 - (1) Engages in fighting, or in violent, tumultuous or threatening behavior;
 - (2) In a public place, uses abusive, insulting or offensive language, or an abusive, insulting or offensive gesture, under circumstances in which such language by its very utterance, or gesture, is likely to cause or provoke a disturbance or breach of the peace;
 - (3) Makes, countenances, assists or permits unreasonable noise, disturbance or improper diversion;
 - (4) Obstructs vehicular or pedestrian traffic, or the use of a public facility;
 - (5) Persistently follows a person in or about a public place or places;

- (6) While loitering in a public place for the purpose of soliciting sexual contact, he solicits such contact;
- (7) Creates a hazardous or seriously alarming condition by any act which he is not licensed or privileged to do;
- (8) Enters on the property of another and for a lewd or unlawful purpose looks into a dwelling on the property through any window or other opening in the dwelling;
- (9) Not being a peace officer, discharges a firearm or displays a deadly weapon in a public place;
- (10) Exposes his genitals under circumstances in which, in fact, his conduct is likely to be observed by a person who would be offended or alarmed, and with intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of any person, including the actor;
- (11) Throws any missile in a public place or in any place where there is any person to be endangered thereby, although no injury to any person ensues;
- (12) Creates, by chemical means, a noxious and unreasonable odor in a public place; or
- (13) Damages, befouls or disturbs public property or the property of another so as to create a hazardous, unhealthy or physically offensive condition.
- (14) Remove any refuse material from a solid waste container, storage area, or collection point of another or from the city disposal grounds unless that person is the owner or other authorized person. Law enforcement shall be exempt and may remove refuse materials as provided under North Dakota law.
- (b) A person whose conduct violates paragraphs (1) through (10) of subsection (a) is guilty of class B misdemeanor. A person whose conduct violates paragraphs (11) through (14) of subsection (a) is guilty of an infraction.
- (c) Prosecutions under paragraphs (5) and (6) of subsection (a) shall be instituted only upon complaint to a law-enforcement officer by someone other than a law-enforcement officer.

(Sources: In general, see North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-31-01; Subsection (a): Paragraph (2): North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-31-01 (3); Wis. Stat. Ann. § SO 47.01; Minn. Stat. Ann. § 609.715; La. Rev. Stat. § 14.103 Paragraph (7): North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-31-01 (7); Ore. Rev. Stat. § 166.025(1) (h) Paragraph (8): Tex. Penal Code § 42.01(a) (7); Ill. Ann. Stat. Crim. Code § 26-1(a) (6) Paragraph (9): Tex.

Penal Code § 42.01(a) (8) and (9); Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 18-9-106(e) and (f) Paragraph (10): North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-2704, repealed by S.L. 1975, Ch. 119, § 13 Paragraph (11): North Dakota Century Code, section 62-04-02, repealed by S. L. 1975, Ch. 106, § 673 Paragraph (12): Tex. Penal Code § 42.01(a) (3) Subsection (b) is derived from the Proposed New Federal Criminal Code § 1861(2) Subsection (c) is derived from the Proposed New Federal Criminal Code § 1861(4).)

(Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1632, § 1, Ord. No. 1645, § 11; Ord. No. 1680 § 2; Ord. No. 1699 § 3)

Section 25.16.04020 Same--Defense when conduct consists of speech or other expression

- (a) If conduct that would otherwise violate section 25.16.04.010(a)(3) (unreasonable noise) or section 25.16.04.010(a)(4) (obstructing traffic or public facility) consists of speech or other communication, of gathering with others to hear or observe such speech or communication, or of gathering with others to picket or otherwise express in a nonviolent manner a position on social, economic, political or religious questions, the actor must be ordered to move, disperse, or otherwise remedy the violation prior to his arrest if he has not yet intentionally harmed the interests of others which those sections seek to protect.
- (b) The order required by this section may be given by a peace officer, a fireman, a person with authority to control the use of the premises or any person directly affected by the violation.
- (c) It is a defense to prosecution under section 25.16.04.010(a) (3) or (4):
 - (1) That in circumstances in which this section requires an order no order was given;
 - (2) That an order, if given, was manifestly unreasonable in scope; or
 - (3) That an order, if given, was promptly obeyed. (Source: Tex. Penal Code § 42.04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.04025 Discharging Fireworks

A person may not discharge, ignite, or otherwise engage in the use of fireworks within the City of Dickinson. See Section 13.08.100(a) for definition of fireworks. Any person who violates this section must be assessed an administrative fine of one hundred fifty dollars. (Ord. No. 1680 § 3; Ord. No. 1699 § 1)

Section 25.16.04030 Loitering

- (a) A person commits an infraction if he:
 - (1) Loiters in a place, at a time or in a manner not usual for law-abiding individuals under circumstances that warrant alarm for the safety of persons or property in the vicinity. Among the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether such alarm is warranted is the fact that the actor takes flight upon appearance of a peace officer, refuses to identify himself, or manifestly tries to conceal himself or any object.
 - (2) Loiters in or about a school, college or university building or grounds, not having any reason or relationship involving custody of, or responsibility for, a pupil or

student, or any other specific legitimate reason for being here, and not having written permission from a school administrator or other person authorized to grant such permission.

- (b) The word "loiter" means to delay or to stand idly around.
- (c) Unless flight by the actor or other circumstances makes it impracticable, a peace officer shall, prior to any arrest for an infraction under this section, afford the actor an opportunity to dispel any alarm which would otherwise be warranted, by requesting him to identify himself and explain his presence and conduct.
- (d) No person shall be convicted of an offense under this section if the peace officer did not comply with subsection (c) hereof, or if it appears at trial that the explanation given by the actor was true and, if believed by the peace officer at the time, would have dispelled the alarm.
- (e) It shall be an affirmative defense that the defendant's acts were lawful and he was exercising his right of lawful assembly as a part of peaceful and orderly petition for the redress of grievances, either in the course of labor disputes or otherwise. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.04040 Gambling

- (a) It shall be an infraction to engage in gambling except those forms of gambling allowed by state statute.
- (b) "Gambling" means risking any money, credit, deposit or other thing of value for gain contingent, wholly or partially, upon lot, chance, the operation of gambling apparatus or the happening or outcome of an event, including an election or sporting event, over which the person taking the risk has no control. Gambling does not include:
 - (1) Lawful contests of skill, speed, strength or endurance in which awards are made only to entrants or to the owners of entries; or
 - (2) Lawful business transactions or other acts or transactions now or hereafter expressly authorized by law.
- (c) "Gambling apparatus" means any device, machine, paraphernalia or equipment that is used or usable in playing phases or any gambling activity whether that activity consists of gambling between persons, or gambling by person involving the playing of a machine. Gambling apparatus does not include an amusement game or device as defined in North Dakota Century Code, section 53-03-01, or an antique "slot" machine twenty-five years old or older which is collected and possessed by a person as a hobby and is not maintained for the business of gambling. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.04050 Prostitution

- (a) A person is guilty of the offense of prostitution if he:
 - (1) Is an inmate of a house of prostitution or is otherwise engaged in sexual activity as a business; or
 - (2) Solicits another person with the intention of being hired to engage in sexual activity.
- (b) Testimony of a person against his or her spouse shall be admissible to prove offenses under this section involving the spouse's prostitution.
- (c) In this section:
 - (1) "Sexual activity" means sexual act or sexual conduct as those terms are defined in North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-20-02.

- (2) A "house of prostitution" is any place where prostitution is regularly carried on by a person under the control, management or supervision of another.
- (3) An "inmate" is a prostitute who acts as such in or through the agency of a house of prostitution.

Comment: The ordinance proscribing prostitution is derived from North Dakota Century Code, sections 12.1-29-03.04 and 05. Definitions pertaining to the more serious offenses of promoting prostitution and facilitating prostitution have been omitted. Those two offenses are prohibited as class C felonies or class A misdemeanors, depending on the circumstances, by North Dakota Century Code, sections 12.1-29-01 and 02, respectively. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.06010 Sunday Business or Labor - This Section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 (March 6, 2006)

This Section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1312 §5, dated March 6, 2006.

Section 25.16.08000 Division 25.16.08 Alcohol-Related Offenses

Section 25.16.08010 Purchase, possession, etc., of alcoholic beverages by persons less than twenty-one years of age prohibited; exceptions

- (a) Any person under twenty-one years of age purchasing, consuming or having consumed, attempting to purchase or having in his or her possession any alcoholic beverage, or furnishing money to any person for such purchase, or entering any licensed premises where such beverages are being sold or displayed, except as provided by subsection (b) hereof, is guilty of an infraction. The Court also may sentence a violator to an evidence-based alcohol and drug education program operated under rules adopted by the Department of Human Services under section 50-06-44. For a second or subsequent violation of this section, the court also shall sentence a violator to an evidence-based alcohol and drug education program operated under rules adopted by the department of human services under section 50-06-44 of the North Dakota Century Code.
- (b) An individual under twenty-one years of age may be permitted to remain in a restaurant where alcoholic beverages are being sold if the restaurant is separated from the designated area in which alcoholic beverages are opened or mixed, and gross sales of food are at least equal to gross sales of alcoholic beverages which are consumed in the dining area, or if the individual is employed by the restaurant as a food waiter, food waitress, busboy or busgirl under the direct supervision of a person twenty-one years of age or older; and not engaged in the sale, dispensing, delivery or consumption of alcoholic beverages, or if the person is a law-enforcement officer entering the premises in the performance of official duty. Any establishment where alcoholic beverages are sold may employ persons from eighteen to twenty-one years of age to work in the capacity of musicians under the direct supervision of a person over twenty-one years of age. (Source: North Dakota Century

- (c) At the discretion of the owner of the licensed premises, an individual under twenty-one years of age may be permitted to enter and remain in a restaurant where alcoholic beverages are being sold and in the area of the restaurant designated for the opening or mixing of alcoholic beverages if the individual:
 - (1) Is accompanied by a parent or guardian;
 - (2) Is not seated at or within three feet [0.91 meters] of the bar counter; and
 - (3) Does not enter or remain in the designated area after ten p.m.

(Source: North Dakota Century Code, sections 5-01-08 and 5-02-06.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1047, § 1; Ord. No. 1176, § 5, Ord. No. 1645, § 12, Ord. No. 1724 § 4)

Section 25.16.08020 Misrepresentation of age; obligations of licensee

Any person who shall misrepresent or misstate his age or the age of any other person, or shall misrepresent his age through presentation of any document purporting to show such person to be of legal age to purchase alcoholic beverages shall be guilty of an infraction. Every licensee shall be required to keep a book which such licensee and his employees shall require anyone who has shown documentary proof of his age, which substantiates his age to allow the purchase of alcoholic beverages, to sign if the age of such person is in question. Such book shall show the date of the purchase, the identification used in making the purchase and the appropriate numbers of such identification, the address of the purchaser and his signature. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 5-01-08.1.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1176, § 6.)

Section 25.16.08030 Bottle clubs prohibited

Any person operating an establishment whereby persons are allowed to bring their own alcoholic beverages on the premises where the proprietor sells soft drinks, mix, ice or charges for bringing such beverages on the premises, is guilty of a class B misdemeanor. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 5-01-10.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No.1645, § 13)

Section 25.16.08040 Public intoxication; assistance and/or medical care to be rendered

A peace officer shall have authority to take any apparently intoxicated person to his home, to a local hospital or, whenever such person constitutes a danger to himself or others, to a jail for the purposes of detoxification. A duly licensed physician of such local hospital shall have authority to hold such person for treatment up to seventy-two hours. Such intoxicated person shall not be held in jail because of intoxication more than twenty-four hours. An intoxicated person shall not be placed in a jail unless a jailer is constantly present within hearing distance and medical services are provided when the need is indicated. Upon placing such person in a hospital or jail, such peace officer shall notify the intoxicated person's family as soon as possible. Any additional costs incurred by the city on account of an intoxicated person shall be recoverable from such person. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 5-01-05.1.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.08050 No prosecution solely for intoxication

No person shall be prosecuted solely for public intoxication. Law-enforcement officers may utilize standard identification procedures on all persons given assistance because of apparent intoxication. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 5-01-05.2.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.10000 Division 25.16.10 Protection of Minors

Section 25.16.10010 Display of objectionable materials or performance to minors; definitions; penalty

- (a) A person is guilty of a class B misdemeanor if he willfully displays at a newsstand or any other business establishment frequented by minors, or where minors are or may be invited as a part of the general public, any photograph, paperback book, pamphlet or magazine, the exposed cover or available content of which exploits, is devoted to or is principally made up of depictions of nude or partially denuded human figures posed or presented in a manner to exploit sex, lust or perversion for commercial gain.
- (b) As used in this section:
- (1) "Nude or partially denuded human figures" means less than completely and opaquely covered human genitals, pubic regions, female breasts or a female breast, if the breast or breasts are exposed below a point immediately above the top of the areola, or human buttocks; and includes human male genitals in a discernibly turgid state even if completely and opaquely covered.
- (2) "Where minors are or may be invited as a part of the general public" includes any public roadway or public walkway.
- (3) The above shall not be construed to include a bona fide school, college, university, museum, public library or art gallery. (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645 § 14.)

Section 25.16.12000 Division 25.16.12 Miscellaneous Offenses

Section 25.16.12010 Discharging or using air guns, spring guns, sling shots, etc.

It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge or use any air guns, spring gun, sling shot or bow and arrow in the city when such activity may create an injury, danger or hazard to person or property. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12020 Erection, construction or maintenance of barbed wire fences or enclosures

No person shall, within the city, erect, construct or maintain any fence or enclosure of any premises, piece or parcel of ground with what is known as barbed wire, unless such barbed wire on such fence shall be at least six feet above the surface of the ground. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12030 Bomb threats, etc.

It shall be unlawful for any person, without any good reason and justification, to furnish or release any information to any individual or group intended to cause such individual or group to believe that an explosion or other occurrence likely to be damaging to person or property is going to happen. This section shall be considered violated regardless of whether or not anyone is actually deceived by such information as long as such report is calculated to create such deception. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12040 Curfew for minors

- It shall be unlawful for any minor under the age of eighteen years to loiter, idle, wander, (a) stroll or play or drive or ride in cars idly or aimlessly in or upon the public streets, avenues, highways, roads, alleys, parks, playgrounds and other public grounds, public places and public buildings, places of amusement or entertainment, and vacant lots or other undersupervised places in the city between the hours of 11:00 P.M. and 5:00 A.M. of the following day for the days of Sunday through Thursday; 1:00 A.M. and 5:00 A.M. of the following day for the days of Friday and Saturday. This section do not apply to a minor while attending or while en route to or from employment or activities supervised by a school, church, civic or fraternal organization or governmental agency, nor shall such provisions apply to a minor accompanied by his or her parents, guardian or other adult person having care and custody of such minor. If it is claimed that such minor is upon an emergency errand, such minor must carry a written permit signed by the parent or legal guardian of the child, stating the nature of the errand, time of departure and the place where the errand is being performed. The curfew as set forth herein shall be 1:00 a.m. for all days of the week for minors attending public dances or other events approved by the City in the summer months from the day after the Dickinson Public School system dismisses classes through the day before classes reconvene each year, provided however, that this exception only applies while said minor is en route to or from said public dance and while attending said dance.
- (b) It shall be unlawful for the parent, guardian or other adult person having the lawful care, custody or control of any minor person to willfully and recklessly allow or permit such minor person to violate the provisions of this section, or to aid or abet such violation.
- (c) It shall be unlawful for any person operating or in charge of any place of amusement, entertainment or refreshment or other place of business, to knowingly permit any minor to loiter, loaf or idle in such place during the hours prohibited by this section.
- (d) Whenever the owner or person in charge of any place of amusement, entertainment or refreshment or other place of business shall find a minor, during the hours prohibited, loitering, loafing or idling in such place of business, he shall immediately order the minor to leave, and if the minor refuses to leave the premises the owner or person in charge shall immediately notify the police department and inform the department of such refusal.
- (e) This section shall not be construed so as to permit the presence of any minor in any place where his presence is now prohibited by law.
- (f) Any police officer is hereby authorized to arrest without warrant any person or persons observed by him to be violating the provisions of this section.
- (g) A person who violates this section shall be guilty of an infraction and sentenced accordingly. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1099, § 1; Ord. No. 1114, § 1; Ord. No. 1176, § 7; Ord. No. 1250 § 1.)

Section 25.16.12050 Discharging firearms, explosives, etc.

No person shall fire or discharge within the city limits any gun, cracker, cannon cracker, fowling piece, pistol or firearm of any description containing powder or combustible material or do any blasting of rock or other substance, unless a written permit granting permission so to do, which shall prescribe the time at which such firing is permitted, shall first be issued by the president of the board of city commissioners. Any permit so issued shall be subject to revocation by the president at any time after it is granted. (Ord. No. 867, § 1, Ord. No. 1645 §15.) A person violating this section shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor.

Section 25.16.12060 Electrical interference with radio reception--Generally

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly to maintain, use, operate or cause to be operated within the city any machine, device, appliance, equipment or apparatus of any kind whatsoever, the operation of which shall cause reasonably preventable electrical interference with radio reception within the city. The maintenance, use or operation within the city of any machine, device, appliance, equipment or apparatus of any kind so as to interfere with radio reception in violation hereof is hereby declared to be a common nuisance.

This section shall not be held or construed to embrace or cover the regulation of any transmitting, broadcasting or receiving instrument, apparatus or device used in interstate commerce or the operation of which is licensed or authorized by or under the provisions of any act of Congress. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12070 Same--Operation of X-ray equipment

A person duly licensed to practice medicine, osteopathy, chiropractic or dentistry by the state may, in the course of the practice of his profession, operate or cause to be operated under his direct supervision at any time any machine or apparatus necessary to make X-ray pictures or examinations or to give treatments if the machines or apparatus used therefor are properly equipped to avoid all unnecessary or reasonably preventable interference with radio reception and are not negligently operated. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12080 Same--Enforcement of restrictions generally; right of city engineer to enter for inspection

It shall be the duty of the city engineer and his duly authorized deputies and assistants to administer and enforce the provisions of this section, to inspect the installation, working and operation of all apparatus, devices, appliances or equipment causing or likely to cause radio interference, to investigate complaints of such interference, to locate the sources thereof and to advise and make recommendations and orders as to its elimination.

The city engineer and his duly authorized deputies and assistants shall have the right to enter upon any premises at all reasonable hours for the purpose of inspecting the installation and working of all machines, devices, appliances, equipment or apparatus coming within the terms of sections 25.16.12.060 to 25.16.12.100. It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with any such officer in making the inspection, to refuse to permit him to enter the premises for any such

purpose or to hinder him in the discharge of his duties. Any inspector entering any premises to make any such inspection, upon request, shall exhibit to any person there in charge a certificate of the city auditor showing his authority as an inspector. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12090 Same--Notification of violation

When an official inspection and test shall have been made and it is found that any machine, device, appliance, equipment or apparatus is being operated within the city in violation of sections 25.16.12.060, 25.16.12.070, 25.16.12.080 and 25.16.12.090, the city engineer shall notify the owner or operator thereof in writing to discontinue the use of such device, etc. or to make such additions, repairs, adjustments or alterations so that such device, etc., may be lawfully operated. This notice shall be personally served on the owner or operator and, in the event that such owner or operator does not within seventy-two hours after such service either entirely discontinue the use of such device etc., or repair, adjust or alter it or attach proper silencing devices so that it conforms to this section, the further maintenance, use or operation thereof shall be deemed a violation. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12100 Same--Prosecution

When any person has been notified in writing by any peace officer that he is violating sections 25.16.12.060 to 25.16.12.090 and the written notice has specified the time within which the interfering apparatus shall be corrected, each day's maintenance or operation of the same without correction after the expiration of the time stated in the notice shall be considered a separate offense hereunder. The giving of such notice shall not be prerequisite to prosecution for a single offense, but one arrested for such a violation shall be discharged upon submission to the police magistrate of satisfactory evidence that he has within seventy-two hours caused the apparatus, device, appliance or equipment, the operation of which has caused radio interference, to conform to the requirements. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12110 Manufacture, sale, use, etc., of explosives

No person shall manufacture, keep, store or have in his possession for the purpose of storing, keeping or selling any nitroglycerine, dynamite, dynamite caps, fulminate of mercury, blasting powder, guncotton or any other dangerous explosive within the city.

Any person desiring to use any nitroglycerine, dynamite, dynamite caps, fulminate of mercury, blasting powder, guncotton or other dangerous explosive within the city shall first make application in writing to the chief of the fire department and it shall be illegal to proceed with such use of such explosive until a permit is issued by the chief of the fire department.

No person shall weigh, sell or handle by candle, lamp, gas light or any other open light any gunpowder or other explosive, and no person shall bring or have any such light or any fire or any burning substance within fifteen feet of any such explosive at any time. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12120 Installation of loudspeakers and musical instruments

It shall be unlawful for any person to place upon any street or sidewalk of the city or the entrance of any building in the city any radio or radio loudspeaker, or other musical instrument the sound of which is transmitted through the air, or to place or install any radio or radio

loudspeaker or other musical instrument in an opening so as to cause the sound thereof to be transmitted outside of the building; provided, however, that this section shall not apply in any manner to any type of sound equipment utilized on, in or in conjunction with church buildings or otherwise permitted by the city commission. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12130 Use, possession, etc., of controlled substances

A person who is under twenty-one years of age and intentionally ingests, inhales, injects or otherwise takes into the body a controlled substance that is marijuana, unless the substance was medical marijuana obtained in accordance with N.D.C.C. § 19-03.1-23, is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.

Whenever a person pleads guilty or is found guilty of a first offense regarding possession of marijuana aforesaid and the judgment of guilt is entered, the court, upon motion, shall seal the court record of that conviction if the person is not subsequently convicted within two years of a further violation of this section or chapter 19-03.1 of the North Dakota Century Code, and has not been convicted of any other criminal offense. Once sealed, the court record may not be opene4d even by order of the court.

Whenever any person who has not previously been convicted of any offense under this section or under any statute of the United States or of any state relating to narcotic drugs, marijuana, or stimulant, depressant or hallucinogenic drugs, pleads guilty to or is found guilty of possession of marijuana as aforesaid, the court, without entering a judgment of guilt and with the consent of the accused, may defer further proceedings and place him on probation upon terms and conditions. Upon violation of a term or condition, the court may enter an adjudication of guilt and proceed as otherwise provided. Upon fulfillment of the terms and conditions, the court shall discharge the person and dismiss the proceeding against him. Discharge and dismissal under this section shall be without adjudication of guilt and is not a conviction for purposes of this section or for purposes of disqualifications for disabilities imposed by law upon conviction of a crime. There may be only one discharge and dismissal under this section with respect to any person. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1590, § 13; Ord. No. 1680, § 4.)

Section 25.16.12131 Possession of Marijuana

It is unlawful for a person to willfully, as defined in N.D.C.C. § 12.1-02-02, manufacture, deliver, or possess with the intent to manufacture or deliver, a controlled substance that is marijuana, or to deliver, distribute, or dispense a controlled substance that is marijuana by means of the internet.

A person who violates this Section by possessing:

- (1) Marijuana in an amount less than one-half ounce [14.175] grams is guilty of an infraction.
- (2) At least one-half ounce [14.175 grams] but not more than 500 grams of marijuana is guilty of a class B misdemeanor.
- (3) More than 500 grams of marijuana is guilty of a class A misdemeanor and shall be prosecuted by the Stark County State's Attorney's Office.

A person who has been convicted previously at least twice under subsection (1) shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor as outlined in Section 25.20.010.

If an individual under the age of twenty-one pleads guilty or is found guilty of a first offense under subsection (1), the court also may sentence the individual to an evidence-based alcohol and drug education program operated under rules adopted by the Department of Human Services under section 50-06-44. For a second or subsequent offence under subsection (1), the court also shall sentence the individual to an evidence-based alcohol and drug education program operated under rules adopted by the Department of Human Services under section 50-06-44 of the North Dakota Century Code.

If a person pleads guilty or is found guilty of a first offense regarding possession of one ounce [14.175 grams] or less of marijuana and a judgment of guilt is entered, a court, upon motion, shall seal the court record of that conviction if the person is not subsequently convicted within two years of a further violation of this section. Once sealed, the court record may not be opened even by order of the court. (Ord. No. 1680, § 5, Ord. No. 1724, § 5)

Section 25.16.12135 Possession of Marijuana Paraphernalia

A person may not use or possess with the intent to use drug paraphernalia to ingest, inhale, or otherwise introduce into the human body marijuana or possess with the intent to use drug paraphernalia to store or contain marijuana in violation of N.D.C.C. § 19-03.1. A person violating this section is guilty of an infraction.

A person who has been convicted previously at least twice under this section shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor as outlined in Section 25.20.010. (Ord. No.1590, § 14; Ord. No. 1680, § 5)

Section 25.16.12140 Posting, etc., of bills, posters, etc.; distribution of handbills, etc.

Without having first obtained consent of the owner or occupants, no person shall paste-up, stick-up, nail or post handbills, placards or posters or make, print or mark any work, character or advertisement of any kind upon any private house, railing, fence, telegraph, telephone, electric light or other pole or post, any automobile or other vehicle, whether upon the streets of the city or elsewhere, or other private property; nor shall he post, print, mark or nail any handbill, poster or advertisement of any kind upon any public building, bridge, fence, street or sidewalk within the city, except in compliance with the requirements of law in the posting of legal notices.

No person, whether licensed or not, shall scatter or throw upon the streets, avenues, sidewalks or alleys of the city, or into any vehicles thereon any handbill, poster, advertisement or paper. (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.16.12150 Spitting, throwing litter, etc., in public places

It shall be unlawful for any person to spit, expectorate or throw fruit, fruit parings or skins, nuts or nut shells upon the sidewalks or crossing of any of the streets, avenues, alley or driveways within the corporate limits of the city or upon the floors, stairs or hallways within or sidewalls

leading to or from any public building, theatre, public hall or office or store or any railway depot or platform connected therewith or connected thereto, whether such premises are publicly or privately owned.

A person who violates this section shall be assessed an administrative fine of two hundred dollars. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1680, § 7)

Section 25.16.12160 Unlawful Deposit of Materials at Recycling Sites

The Board of City Commissioners hereby finds that designated recycling sites operated and maintained by the City of Dickinson are intended for the sole purpose of collection of recyclable materials therein designated at the site; and further finds that persons depositing materials at recycling sites other than those materials specifically designated therefore impose a significant harm upon the City and its citizens in the form of, among other things, increased costs of collection and potential of fire and other hazards.

Therefore, it shall be unlawful for any person to deposit any materials at any designated recycling site operated and maintained by the City of Dickinson except for those specific materials designated for collection of recyclables as provided in signs placed by the City upon the recycling site.

Any person who violates this section shall be guilty of an infraction, which may be punishable by a fine of up to \$500. (Ord. No.1441 § 1.)

Section 25.16.12170 Soliciting and Panhandling

1. Statement of Purpose. The intent and purpose of this section is to promote and protect the public health, welfare and safety of the City, its residents and visitors. The City finds that that the activity of begging, panhandling or soliciting the occupants or operators of vehicles from any roadway, highway, street, ally, driveway, median strip within or between a public roadway distracts drivers and creates a potential safety hazard or pedestrians and motorists. The activity of soliciting from occupants of vehicles distracts drivers from their primary duty to watch traffic and pedestrians and be alert for potential hazards and to observe all traffic control signals, signs or warnings. Distracted drivers are more prone to be involved in accidents, and accidents on the streets constitute a substantial traffic safety problem.

Solicitation near school and churches presents a potentially threatening environment and raises concerns regarding public health, welfare and safety of the City, its residents and visitors. Soliciting in a manner that is confrontational and involves conduct that is perceived by the person being solicited as harassing, coercing, or intimidating or which obstructs the free passage of that individual is detrimental to the quality of life and economic vitality of the community.

This section is not intended to limit any person from exercising his or her constitutional right to solicit, picket, protest or engage in other constitutionally protected activity, but rather to protect citizens from the fear and intimidation accompanying certain kinds of solicitations and to eliminate a source of traffic hazards and delays.

- 2. Definitions. Whenever the following words and phrases are used in this section, they shall have the following meanings:
 - (a) Aggressive Panhandling. Shall mean engaging in any conduct with the intention of intimidating another person, or in reckless disregard of the fact that another person is intimidated by his/her conduct, into giving away money or goods, including but not limited to, approaching, speaking to or following a person in a manner that would cause a reasonable person to fear imminent physical injury or the imminent commission of a criminal act upon the person or upon property in the person's immediate possession; touching another person without consent, continuing to solicit after the person gives a negative response to the request; using violent or threatening gestures or language in conjunction with the solicitation; or engaging in any conduct intended to or likely to intimidate a person into responding affirmatively to the solicitation.
 - (b) Panhandling or Soliciting. For purposes of this section, panhandling, solicit, soliciting and solicitation are interchangeable and mean employment of the spoken, written or printed word or other acts as are conducted in the furtherance of the purpose of collecting money or any item of value for the use of one's self or other's; or attempting to sell or obtain compensation for items or services under circumstances that would leave a reasonable person to conclude that the payment is in substance donation.
 - (c) Public Area. Shall mean an area to which the public or a substantial group of persons has access, and includes, but is not limited to, any street, highway, sidewalk, parking lot, plaza, transportation facility, school or school grounds, place of amusement, park, playground, and any doorway, entrance, hallway, lobby and other portion of any business establishment, an apartment, house or hotel not constituting a room or apartment designed for actual residence.
 - (d) Highway 22 Corridor shall mean that area in the City of Dickinson described as follows: Starting within five hundred feet in any direction from the center of the intersection of 12th Street and Highway 22 then north with a setback of one-hundred feet to the east and west of Highway 22 to the intersection of 23rd Street and Highway 22. This area shall include the five hundred feet in any direction from the center of the intersection of 23rd Street and Highway 22.

 3. Prohibition. It shall be unlawful for any person to:
 - (a) Engage in any aggressive panhandling in a public area;
 - (b) Solicit on private property if the owner, tenant or lawful occupant has asked the person not to solicit on their property, or has posted a sign clearly indicating that soliciting is not welcome on the property;
 - (c) Solicit any operator of a motor vehicle within the Highway 22 Corridor;
 - (d) Solicit any operator of a motor vehicle within five hundred feet from the centerline of any I-94 exit ramp into the City of Dickinson. This shall include any and all exit ramps

- currently in operation and any and all exit ramps subsequently constructed;
- (e) Solicit within 100 feet of any school building or school playground when children are present. For purposes of this subsection, a school shall not include a college, university or other institution of higher learning.
- (f) Solicit within 100 feet of any church or other religious establishment
- 3. This section does not apply to solicitations made on private property with the prior consent of the owner or other person in legal possession of the property. The section also does not apply to solicitations made by any person or entity that has obtained a special use permit or a temporary use permit from the City of Dickinson.
- 4. Penalty. A person who violates this Section by engaging in any of the conduct outlined in subsection 3(a)-(f) is guilty of an infraction. A motorist that stops the free flow of traffic at the intersections and exit ramps identified above for the purpose of engaging a person who is panhandling shall be cited under Chapter 23 of the Dickinson Municipal Code. (Ord. No. 1588, § 1.)

Article 25.20 Sentencing

Sections:	·
25.20.010	Classification of offenses
25.20.020	Sentencing alternatives
25.20.030	Procedure for trial of infraction
25.20.040	Special sanction for organizations
25.20.050	Factors to be considered in sentencing
25.20.060	Imposition of fine; response to nonpayment
25.20.070	ProbationGenerally
25.20.080	SameConditions; revocation
25.20.090	Restitution or reparation
25.20.100	Merger of sentences; sentencing for multiple offenses

Section 25.20.010 Classification of offenses

Offenses against the ordinances of the city are divided into two classes, as follows:

- (a) Offense, for which a maximum penalty of thirty days imprisonment, a fine of one thousand five hundred dollars, or both, may be imposed.
- (b) Infraction, for which a maximum fine of one thousand dollars may be imposed. Any person convicted of an infraction who within one year before commission of the infraction of which he was convicted has been previously at least twice of the same offense classified as an infraction of state statutes or the ordinances of this or any other North Dakota municipality may be sentenced as though convicted of class B misdemeanor. If the prosecution contends that the infraction is punishable as a class B misdemeanor, the complaint must specify the offense is a misdemeanor, unless the prosecution is unable with reasonable effort to learn of the prior conviction prior to execution of the complaint. Upon learning of the prior conviction, prosecution shall amend the complaint.

- (c) All violations of the provisions of the ordinances of the city are offenses unless specifically labeled infractions or unless a different classification or punishment is specifically authorized. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-01.)
- (d) North Dakota Century Code, section 40-05-06, shall not be construed to prohibit the utilization of the sentencing alternatives, other than a fine or imprisonment, provided by North Dakota Century Code, sections 12.1-32-02, for the violation of a city ordinance, nor shall this section limit the use of deferred or suspended sentences pursuant to subsections 3 and 4 of North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-02. (Ord. No. 867, § 1; Ord. No. 1025, § 1; Ord. No. 1157 § 6, Ord. No. 1645 § 16; Ord. No. 1680, § 8)

Section 25.20.020 Sentencing alternatives

- (a) Every person convicted of an offense who is sentenced by the court shall be sentenced to one or a combination of the following alternatives, unless the sentencing alternatives are otherwise specifically provided in the statute defining the offense:
 - (1) Payment of the reasonable costs of his prosecution.
 - (2) Probation.
 - (3) A term of imprisonment, including intermittent imprisonment.
 - (4) A fine.
 - (5) Restitution for damages resulting from the commission of the offense.
 - (6) Restoration of damaged property, or other appropriate work detail.
 - (7) Commitment to an appropriate licensed public or private institution for treatment of alcoholism, drug addiction or mental disease or defect.
 - (8) Commitment to any other facility or program deemed appropriate for the treatment of the individual offender, including available community-based programs.

Sentences imposed under this subsection shall not exceed in duration the maximum sentences provided in section 25.20.010, or as provided specifically in an ordinance defining an offense.

This subsection shall not be construed as not permitting the unconditional discharge of an offender following conviction. Sentences under paragraphs (5) or (6) shall be imposed in the manner provided in section 25.20.090. This subsection shall not be construed to prohibit utilization of North Dakota Century Code, section 40-18-13, relating to suspension of sentence, nor shall this subsection limit the conditions which can be imposed on a probationer under section 25.20.070.

- (b) Credit against any sentence to a term of imprisonment shall be given by the court to a defendant for all time spent in custody as a result of the criminal charge for which the sentence is imposed, or as a result of the conduct on which such charge was based. "Time spent in custody" shall include time spent in custody in a jail or mental institution for the offense charged, whether that time is spent prior to trial, during trial, pending sentence or pending appeal.
- (c) A court may refer a person convicted of driving while under the influence of an intoxicating liquor or a narcotic drug, prior to sentencing, to an approved treatment facility for diagnosis. Upon receipt of the results of this diagnosis, the court may impose a sentence as prescribed in section 23.76.010 or it may sentence the person to treatment in a facility approved by the state department of human services.

- (d) All sentences imposed shall be accompanied by a written statement by the court setting forth the reasons for imposing the particular sentence. The statement shall become part of the record of the case.
- (e) If an offender is sentenced to a term of imprisonment, that term of imprisonment commences at the time of the sentencing unless, upon motion of the defendant, the court orders the term to commence at some other time. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-02.) (Ord, No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.030 Procedure for trial of infraction

- (a) Except as provided in this subsection, all procedural provisions relating to the trial of criminal cases as provided in the statutes or rules relating to criminal procedure shall apply to the trial of a person charged with an infraction. A person charged with an infraction is not entitled to be furnished counsel at public expense unless he may be subject to a sentence of imprisonment under subsection (b) of section 25.20.010.
- (b) Except as provided in North Dakota Century Code, title 12.1, or the ordinances of the city, all provisions of law and rules of criminal procedure relating to offenses shall apply to infractions, including, but not limited to, the powers of law-enforcement officers, the periods for commencing action and bringing a case to trial and the burden of proof.
- (c) Following conviction of an infraction, the offender may be sentenced in accordance with subsection (a) of section 25.20.020, except that a term of imprisonment may not be imposed except in accordance with subsection (c) of section 25.20.060 or subsection (b) of section 25.20.010.
- (d) If an ordinance provides that conduct is an infraction without specifically including a requirement of culpability, no culpability is required.
- (e) Except as provided in this section, section 25.20.010 or section 25.20.020, or as the context may otherwise indicate a differentiation between the infraction classification and the offense classification, the term "offense" refers to all violations of the ordinances of the city including infractions. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-03.1.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.040 Special sanction for organizations

When an organization is convicted of an offense, the court may, in addition to any other sentence which may be imposed, require the organization to give notice of its conviction to the persons or class of persons ostensibly harmed by the offense, by mail or by advertising in designated areas or by designated media or otherwise. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-03.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.050 Factors to be considered in sentencing

The following factors, or the converse thereof where appropriate, while not controlling the discretion of the court, shall be accorded weight in making determinations regarding the desirability of sentencing an offender to imprisonment:

- (a) The defendant's criminal conduct neither caused nor threatened serious harm to another person or his property.
- (b) The defendant did not plan or expect that his criminal conduct would cause or threaten serious harm to another person or his property.

- (c) The defendant acted under strong provocation.
- (d) There were substantial grounds which, though insufficient to establish a legal defense, tend to excuse or justify the defendant's conduct.
- (e) The victim of the defendant's conduct induced or facilitated its commission.
- (f) The defendant has made or will make restitution or reparation to the victim of his conduct for the damage or injury which was sustained.
- (g) The defendant has no history of prior delinquency or criminal activity, or has led a law-abiding life for a substantial period of time before the commission of the present offense.
- (h) The defendant's conduct was the result of circumstances unlikely to recur.
- (i) The character, history and attitudes of the defendant indicate that he is unlikely to commit another crime.
- (j) The defendant is particularly likely to respond affirmatively to probationary treatment.
- (k) The imprisonment of the defendant would entail undue hardship to himself or his dependents.
- (l) The defendant is elderly or in poor health.
- (m) The defendant did not abuse a public position of responsibility or trust.
- (n) The defendant cooperated with law-enforcement authorities by bringing other offenders to justice, or otherwise cooperated.

Nothing herein shall be deemed to require explicit reference to these factors in a presentence report or by the court as sentencing. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-04.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.060 Imposition of fine; response to nonpayment

- (a) The court, in making a determination of the propriety of imposing a sentence to pay a fine, shall consider the following factors:
 - (1) The ability of the defendant to pay without undue hardship.
 - (2) Whether the defendant, other than a defendant organization, gained money or property as a result of commission.
 - (3) Whether the sentence to pay a fine will interfere with the defendant's capacity to make restitution.
 - (4) Whether a sentence to pay a fine will serve a valid rehabilitative purpose.
- (b) The court may allow the defendant to pay any fine or costs imposed in installments. When a defendant is sentenced to pay a fine or costs, the court shall not impose at the same time an alternative sentence to be served in the event that the fine or costs are not paid.
- (c) If the defendant does not pay any fine or costs imposed, or make any required partial payment, the court, upon motion of the prosecuting attorney or on its own motion, may issue an order to show cause why the defendant should not be imprisoned for nonpayment. Unless the defendant shows that this default is excusable, the court may, after hearing, commit him to imprisonment until the fine or costs, or both, are fully paid or discharged by labor as provided in North Dakota Century Code, section 40-18-12.

The court may not commit a person under this section when the sole reason for his nonpayment is his indigency. An order or commitment under this subsection shall not be

for a period in excess of thirty days. As used in this subsection, "fine" does not include a fee established pursuant to subsection (b) of section 23.80.080. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-05 and section 40-11-12.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.070 Probation--Generally

- (a) Unless terminated as provided in subsection (b) hereof, the period during which a sentence to probation shall remain conditional and be subject to revocation is two years.
- (b) The court may terminate a period of probation and discharge the defendant at any time earlier than that provided in subsection (a) above if warranted by the conduct of the defendant and the ends of justice.
- (c) Notwithstanding the fact that a sentence to probation can subsequently be modified or revoked, a judgment which includes such a sentence shall constitute a final judgment for all other purposes. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-06.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.080 Same--Conditions; revocation

- (a) The conditions of probation shall be such as the court in its discretion deems reasonably necessary to ensure that the defendant will lead a law-abiding life or to assist him to do so. The court shall provide as an explicit condition of every sentence to probation that the defendant not commit another offense during the period for which the sentence remains subject to revocation.
- (b) When imposing a sentence to probation, the court may impose such conditions as it deems appropriate, and may include any one or more of the following:
 - (1) Work faithfully at a suitable employment or faithfully pursue a course of study or of vocational training that will equip him for suitable employment.
 - (2) Undergo available medical or psychiatric treatment and remain in a specified institution as required for that purpose.
 - (3) Attend or reside in a facility established for the instruction, recreation or residence of persons on probation.
 - (4) Support his dependents and meet other family responsibilities.
 - (5) Make restitution or reparation to the victim of his conduct for the damage or injury which was sustained, or perform other reasonable assigned work. When restitution, reparation or assigned work is a condition of the sentence, the court shall proceed as provided in section 25.20.090.
 - (6) Pay a fine imposed after consideration of the provisions of section 25.20.060.
 - (7) Refrain from possessing a firearm, destructive device or other dangerous weapon unless granted written permission by the court.
 - (8) Refrain from excessive use of alcohol, or any use of narcotics or of another dangerous or abusable drug without a prescription.
 - (9) Promptly notify the court of any change of address or employment.
 - (10) Remain within the jurisdiction of the court, unless granted permission to leave by the court.
 - (11) Refrain from associating with known users or traffickers in narcotics, marijuana or other controlled substances.
- (c) When a defendant is sentenced to probation, he shall be given a certificate explicitly setting forth the conditions on which he is being released.

- (d) The court may, upon notice of the probationer, modify or enlarge the conditions of a sentence to probation at any time prior to the expiration or termination of the period for which the sentence remains conditional. If the defendant violates a condition at any time prior to the expiration or termination of the period, the court may, pursuant to the procedure specified in North Dakota Rules of Criminal Procedure, 32(f), continue him on the existing sentence, without modifying or enlarging the conditions or, if such continuation, modification or enlargement is not appropriate, may impose any other sentence that was available under section 25.20.020 at the time of the initial sentencing.
- (e) Jurisdiction over a probationer may be transferred from the court which imposed the sentence to another court of this state, with the concurrence of both courts. Retransfers of jurisdiction may also occur in the same manner. The court to which jurisdiction has been transferred under this subsection shall be authorized to exercise all powers permissible under this chapter over the defendant. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-07.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.090 Restitution or reparation

- (a) Prior to imposing restitution or reparation as a sentence or condition of probation, the court shall hold a hearing on the matter with notice to the prosecuting attorney and to the defendant as to the nature and amount thereof. At or following the hearing, the court shall make determinations as to:
 - (1) The reasonable damages sustained by the victim or victims of the criminal offense, which damages shall be limited to fruits of the criminal offense and expenses actually incurred as a direct result of the defendant's criminal action.
 - (2) The ability of the defendant to restore the fruits of the criminal action or to pay monetary reparations, or to otherwise take action to restore the victim's property.
 - (3) The likelihood that attaching a condition relating to restitution or reparation will serve a valid rehabilitational purpose in the case of the particular offender considered.

The court shall fix the amount of restitution or reparation, which shall not exceed an amount the defendant can or will be able to pay, or shall fix the manner of performance of any condition or conditions of probation established pursuant to this subsection. Any payments made pursuant to such order shall be deducted from damages awarded in a civil action arising from the same incident. An order that a defendant make restitution or reparation as a sentence or condition of probation may, if the court so directs, be filed, transcribed and enforced by the person entitled to the restitution or reparation in the same manner as civil judgments rendered by the courts of this state may be enforced.

(b) The court may order the defendant to perform reasonable assigned work as a condition of probation, which assigned work need not be related to the offense charged, but must not be solely for the benefit of the private individual other than the victim. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-08.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Section 25.20.100 Merger of sentences; sentencing for multiple offenses

(a) Unless the court otherwise orders, when a person serving a term of commitment is committed for another offense, or offenses, the shorter term or the shorter remaining term shall

be merged in the other term. When a person on probation or parole for an offense committed in this city is sentenced for another offense or offenses, the period still to be served on probation or parole shall be merged in any new sentence of commitment or probation. When the court merges sentences under this subsection it shall forthwith furnish the penal facility in which the defendant is confined under sentence with authenticated copies of its sentence, which shall cite the sentences being merged. If the court has imposed a sentence which is merged pursuant to this subsection, it shall modify such sentence in accordance with the effect of the merger.

(b) A defendant may not be consecutively sentenced to more than one year. (Source: North Dakota Century Code, section 12.1-32-11.) (Ord. No. 867, § 1.)

Chapter 26 PARKS

Last updated October 2007

Sections:

26.00E Editor's note to Chapter 26 26.010 Park district--Created; named

26.020 Same--Boundaries

26.030 Same--Acceptance of state law

Section 26.00E Editor's note to Chapter 26

As to cutting, etc., flowers, etc., see § 22-36 of this Code.

Section 26.010 Park district--Created; named

There is hereby created a park district in the city, and the name of such dark district shall be the "Park District of the City of Dickinson." (Code 1958, § 1-11.)

For state law as to parks and park districts, see NDCC, § 40-49-01 et seq.

Section 26.020 Same--Boundaries

The park district created by the preceding section shall embrace the whole of the territory within the limits of the city and such other areas as may from time to time be permitted by the laws of the state. (Code 1958, § 1-12.)

Section 26.030 Same--Acceptance of state law

It is the intention of the board of city commissioners hereby to accept and to create a park district within the city under the provisions of chapter 40-49 of the North Dakota Century Code, and all acts or amendments which may be hereafter enacted or made. (Code 1958, § 1-13.)

Chapter 27 PAWNBROKERS AND JUNK DEALERS

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

27.04 Pawnbrokers27.08 Junk Dealers

Article 27.04 Pawnbrokers

Sections:	
27.04.00E	Editor's note to Article 27.04
27.04.005	Declaration of purpose and intent
27.04.010	Definitions
27.04.020	LicenseRequired
27.04.030	Application; fee
27.04.040	Bonding of applicant; issuance
27.04.050	Record of goods
27.04.055	Purchase from minors prohibited
27.04.060	Inspection of registration books; aiding police; exhibition of goods
27.04.065	Police department to maintain list of stolen goods
27.04.070	Authorized inspections
27.04.080	Revocation of Licenses

Section 27.04.00E Editor's note to Article 27.04

For state law as to pledges, see NDCC, § 35-06-01 et seq. As to authority of city to regulate pawnbrokers, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (26).

Section 27.04.005 Declaration of purpose and intent

The board of city commissioners finds that pawn shops or businesses that deal in second-hand goods or valuables provide a convenient means by which thieves or those who deal in stolen goods may dispose of such property. In order to discourage transactions in stolen goods and other unauthorized transactions, and to assist in the recovery of stolen goods and identification of those who sell stolen goods or engage in other unauthorized transactions, the board finds that it is necessary to license such businesses, and to require that certain records be kept, and that police officers be authorized to inspect such records. (Ord. No. 1283 § 1)

Section 27.04.010 Definitions

- 1. "Pawnbroker" means any person who:
 - a. Loans money on deposit or pledge of personal property, or other valuable things;
 - b. Deals in the purchase of personal property or other valuable thing, on condition of selling the same back again at a stipulated price;
 - c. Loans money, secured by personal property, taking possession of the property or any part thereof. (Code 1958, § 22-1; Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.020 License--Required

No person, firm, partnership, corporation or other entity shall carry on or conduct the business of pawnbroker within the city without first having obtained a license to do so. (Code 1958, §§ 22-2; Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

For state law as to power of city to license pawnbrokers, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (26).

Section 27.04.030 Application; fee

Any person who shall desire to conduct the business of a pawnbroker within the city shall first make application for a license to the city administrator. Such application shall give the location at which business is to be carried on together with three personal references of the applicant. Such applicant shall deposit with the city administrator a license fee in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city administrator in the city fee schedule. (Code 1958, § 22-3; Ord. No. 1086, § 15; Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.040 Bonding of applicant; issuance

Accompanying the application for the license required by section 27.04.020, the applicant shall include a bond executed to the city in the sum of five thousand dollars, with sufficient surety, to be approved by the city administrator conditioned that the applicant will return to the person entitled thereto all property upon payment of the legal charges against such property and will in every particular conform with the requirements of this article and of any law or ordinance which may hereafter be passed concerning pawnbrokers, and thereupon the city administrator shall issue a license to conduct the business of a pawnbroker. (Code 1958, § 22-4; Ord. No. 1083, § 4; Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.050 Record of goods

Any person who operates a business defined in this chapter in the city must keep a written record on a form approved or designed by the City, in such form as required by the Chief of Police, of each and every purchase or loan made by the business, containing the following:

- (1) name and address of seller or pledger;
- (2) date of birth of the seller or pledger;
- (3) written consent of a parent or guardian if the seller or pledger is less than eighteen years of age;
- (4) the date, description of the article sold or pledged, including the make, model, serial number and color;
- (5) amount for which pledged or purchased;
- (6) date of forfeiture and sale; and
- drivers license number or other identifying information of the person by whom sold or left in pledge. (If identifying information other than a driver's license number is used, the type of identifying information must be specified.)
- (8) signature of the person selling or pledging the pawned item.

The records must be contained in a bound book, must be legible and no record may be destroyed or rendered illegible by any alteration or correction. Records must be retained for two years and freely exhibited to any city police officer conducting an inspection authorized by this chapter upon demand during usual business hours. (Ord. No. 1283 § 1,)

Section 27.04.055 Purchase from minors prohibited

A person who engages in a business defined in this chapter or agent or employee may not loan money to any person under the age of eighteen or purchase any merchandise, goods or

property from a minor without the written consent of the parents or guardian of that person. (Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.060 Inspection of registration books; aiding police; exhibition of goods

The register book required by section 27.04.050 shall be subject to the inspection of any member of the police department at any time. It shall be the duty of all pawnbrokers to aid the police department in arresting and convicting any person who shall have sold or attempted to sell them any stolen property. They shall also submit and exhibit to any officer of the police department any goods, personal property or choses in action that may be left, deposited, pledged or purchased with or by them. (Code 1958, § 22-6.; Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.065 Police department to maintain list of stolen goods

The police department will maintain a list of stolen goods and will respond to inquiries of persons licensed under this chapter. This list will be kept current insofar as is practicable. (Ordinance No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.070 Authorized inspections

The police department is authorized to conduct inspections of the records and premises of businesses licensed under this chapter during normal business hours. (Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Section 27.04.080 Revocation of Licenses

- 1. Licenses issued under the provisions of this chapter may be revoked by the board of city commissioners after notice and hearing, for any of the following causes:
 - a. Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement contained in the application for a license.
 - b. Fraud, misrepresentation or false statement made in the course of carrying on business.
 - c. Any violation of this article.
 - d. Failing to cooperate with any officer of the police department, as required in this chapter.
 - e. Conviction of any crime involving theft or dishonesty.
 - f. Conducting business in an unlawful manner or in such a manner to constitute a breach of the peace.
- 2. Notice of the hearing for revocation must be given in writing, setting forth specifically the grounds of the complaint and the time and place of the hearing. Such notice must be mailed, registered mail, to the licensee at least five days prior to the date set for the hearing. (Ord. No. 1283 § 1.)

Article 27.08 Junk Dealers

Sections:	
27.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 27.08
27.08.010	Definitions
27.08.020	LicenseRequired
27.08.030	Application; investigation; issuance or denial; restrictions on storage in city
27.08.040	SameFees
27.08.050	SameRevocation
27.08.060	SamePremises covered
27.08.070	Purchase of articles from minor
27.08.080	Presence of obnoxious materials on premises; cleanliness of premises;
	installation of water and sewer lines
27.08.090	Registration of property purchased; exhibition of registration book to police

Section 27.08.00E Editor's note to Article 27.08

For state law as to authority of city to regulate junk dealers, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (53).

Section 27.08.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this article, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Junk. Without limitation, parts of machinery or motor vehicles, unused furniture, stoves, refrigerators, other appliances, remnants of wood, metal or any other cast-off material of any kind whether or not such material could be put to any reasonable use.

Junk Automobile. Without limitation, any motor vehicle which is not licensed for use upon the highways of the state for a period in excess of sixty days and shall also include, whether licensed or not, any motor vehicle which is inoperative for any reason for a period in excess of sixty days; provided, that there is excepted from this definition unlicensed but operative vehicles which are kept as the stock-in-trade of a regularly licensed and established new or used automobile dealer.

Junk Dealer. Any person who shall, within the city, engage in any one or more of the following occupations: The buying or processing of hides, wools, scrap iron, metal or scrap batteries or dealing in junk automobiles or parts thereof. (Code 1958, § 22-7; Ord. No. 524.)

Section 27.08.020 License--Required

No person shall engage in the business of buying or selling junk, unless he shall apply for and receive a license as hereinafter provided for. (Code 1958, § 22-8; Ord. No. 524.)

Section 27.08.030 Application; investigation; issuance or denial; restrictions on storage in city

The annual license for junk dealers covering the period from January 1 to December 31shall be applied for at the office of the city administrator, and the license fee hereinafter provided for shall be deposited at the time of filing the application. The city administrator shall investigate as to the propriety of carrying on such business in the proposed location under the

city zoning laws. The city administrator shall report with his recommendations to the city administrator. If the application meets the requirements of this section, the city administrator shall grant the license.

If a license is granted to any person having an established place of business in the city, that person shall not store or keep any of the articles mentioned in section 27.08.010 in and around a building and enclosure, unless such established place of business shall have a solid, nonvisual fence of not less than six feet in height enclosing such area where any of the articles mentioned in section 27.08.010 are to be stored in the city, unless the license shall have been amended by order of the city commission to permit such storage at such locations; nor shall any such articles be permitted to remain in a vehicle or exposed at any place in the city for a longer time than is necessary to gather and remove them from the city. (Code 1958, § 22-9; Ord. No. 524; Ord. No. 844, § 1; Ord. No. 1083, § 10; Ord. No. 1320 §2.)

Section 27.08.040 Same--Fees

The annual fee for junk dealers shall be payable in advance in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule, except, that if a license is applied for by a new business organized or coming into the city for the first time during any license year, such fee may be prorated to the nearest quarter just past. (Code 1958, § 22-10; Ord. No. 524; Ord. No. 776, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 16.)

Section 27.08.050 Same--Revocation

Such license may be revoked at any time by the city commission for cause upon notice to the license holder. (Code 1958, § 22-11; Ord. No. 524.)

Section 27.08.060 Same--Premises covered

No license issued shall be considered as valid as to any premises other than those described in the license. Upon application the city commission may permit an amendment of the license to cover other premises if it be for the best interests of the city. (Code 1958, § 22-12; Ord. No. 524.)

Section 27.08.070 Purchase of articles from minor

It shall be unlawful for any dealer in junk or secondhand goods to purchase any article whatever from any minor without the consent of the parents or lawful guardians of such minors. (Code 1958, § 22-13; Ord. No. 524.)

Section 27.08.080 Presence of obnoxious materials on premises; cleanliness of premises; installation of water and sewer lines

Every licensee shall keep the premises used free of any junk or property which might create obnoxious odors or smoke. Such premises shall at all times be kept neat and clean and vermin free. Water and sewer lines shall be installed in any premises for which a license is issued. (Code 1958, § 22-14; Ord. No. 524.)

Section 27.08.090 Registration of property purchased; exhibition of registration book to police

Every person obtaining a license required by this article shall keep in his place of business a book or register in which he shall enter in writing an accurate description of all property or choses in action purchased by him, the time when they were received and the name and the residence of the person from whom they were purchased. Such register shall be displayed to any police officer, so requesting, of the city during the ordinary hours of business. (Code 1958, § 22-15; Ord. No. 524.)

For state law as to exhibition of stolen goods to owner, see NDCC, § 12-42-07.

Chapter 28 PEDDLERS, HAWKERS AND TRANSIENT MERCHANTS

Last updated February 2009

Articles:

- 28.04 In General Repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 (October 2008)
- 28.08 Peddlers and Hawkers Repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 (October 2008)
- 28.12 Transient Merchants Repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 (October 2008)
- 28.16 Door-to-Door Solicitations

Article 28.04 In General - Repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 (October 2008)

Article 28.08 Peddlers and Hawkers - Repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 (October 2008)

Sections:

28.08.28.16.020 No License or Permit Issued

Section 28.08.28.16.020 No License or Permit Issued

Article 28.12 Transient Merchants - Repealed with Ordinance No. 1363 (October 2008)

Article 28.16 Door-to-Door Solicitations

Sections:	<u> </u>
28.16.020	No License or Permit Issued
28.16.030	Door-to-Door Sales and Solicitations Prohibited Except as Permitted in this Article
28.16.040	Conditions upon which Door-to-Door Sales or Solicitations are Permissible
28.16.050	Location Where Solicitation Prohibited
28.16.060	Hours of Solicitation
28.16.070	Deceptive Practices Prohibited
28.16.080	Identification of Persons Engaging in Door-to-Door Sales or Solicitations
28.16.090	Enforcement of Chapter
28.16.100	Penalty

Section 28.16.020 No License or Permit Issued

The City of Dickinson shall not issue permits, licenses, or other certifications to persons or organizations engaging in door-to-door solicitations or sales, nor shall any action of the City of Dickinson constitute an endorsement, recommendation, or approval of the products, services, organizations, or personnel of the person or organization registered for door-to-door solicitations or sales. (Ord. No. 1363 § 2.)

Section 28.16.030 Door-to-Door Sales and Solicitations Prohibited Except as Permitted in this Article

The practice of going door-to-door at private residences without being requested or invited to do so by the owner or occupant thereof for the purpose of selling or soliciting orders for sale of goods, wares, merchandise, magazines, periodicals, books, or personal services is prohibited except as permitted pursuant to this Article. (Ord. No. 1363 § 3.)

Section 28.16.040 Conditions upon which Door-to-Door Sales or Solicitations are Permissible

Any person or organization desiring to engage in door-to-door sales or solicitation in residential areas within the City of Dickinson may do so only upon the invitation, consent, or acquiescence of the owner or occupant of the residence so solicited.

The owner or occupant of any residence solicited pursuant to this chapter shall have the right and authority to exclude any person engaging in door-to-door sales or solicitation from his or her residence or property. Any person engaging in door-to-door sales or solicitation who fails or refuses immediately to vacate the residence and property upon request of the owner or occupant thereof shall be guilty of an offense. (Ord. No. 1363 § 4.)

Section 28.16.050 Location Where Solicitation Prohibited

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 28.16.040, no person may solicit at any private residence if there is placed on the premises a sign bearing the words "No Soliciting," "No Trespassing," or similar notice. (Ord. No. 1363 § 5.)

Section 28.16.060 Hours of Solicitation

It is a violation of this Ordinance for any person, whether or not registered to engage in door-to-door solicitations and sales, to solicit any occupant of any residence within the City of Dickinson before 9:00 a.m., or after sunset, local time, unless the owner or adult occupant of the residence has granted individual permission to do so. (Ord. No. 1363 § 6.)

Section 28.16.070 Deceptive Practices Prohibited

No person engaging in door-to-door solicitations or sales shall intentionally make any false or fraudulent statement in the course of selling or soliciting within the City of Dickinson.

No person engaging in door-to-door sales or solicitations shall represent, directly or indirectly or by implication, that the City of Dickinson or any of its subdivisions endorse, recommend or approve of the products, services, organizations, or personnel of the person or organization registered for door-to-door solicitations or sales. (Ord. No. 1363 § 7.)

Section 28.16.080 Identification of Persons Engaging in Door-to-Door Sales or Solicitations

Any person engaging in door-to-door sales or solicitations shall, upon request, provide to each person solicited the following information:

- 1. The solicitor's name, current residence address, current business address, and current telephone number;
- 2. The solicitor's residence addresses and business addresses for the prior two year period;
- 3. The name and address of the organization the solicitor represents or is employed by;
- 4. Valid proof of identification of the solicitor, including at least one of the following: a valid driver's license, a valid visa or passport, or other valid identification issued by any state agency for the purpose of identification of the holder.
- 5. Such other information as may be reasonably required by the City. (Ord. No. 1363 § 8.)

Section 28.16.090 Enforcement of Chapter

Any person who is aware of a violation of this Article or who believes a violation of this Article may exist is hereby authorized and directed to file a complaint with the Dickinson Police Department, setting forth the factual basis for believing a violation of this Article exists.

The chief of police and all police officers of the City are hereby authorized and directed to investigate any such complaint filed, and are further authorized and directed to enforce the provisions of this Article. (Ord. No. 1363 § 9.)

Section 28.16.100 Penalty

Any person who engages in door-to-door solicitations or sales who fails to comply with the provisions of this Ordinance, is guilty of an offense, and shall, upon conviction thereof, be fined an amount not to exceed Fifty Dollars and No Cents (\$50.00) per violation plus costs. (Ord. No. 1363 § 10.)

Chapter 29 PERSONNEL

Last updated August, 2023

Article 29.08 Civil Service System

Sections:	
29.08.02000	Division 29.08.02 Generally
29.08.02010	Adoption
29.08.02020	Purpose
29.08.02030	Civil service commissionCreated
29.08.02040	SameComposition; appointment terms of office
29.08.02050	SameQualifications of members
29.08.02060	SameRemoval of members
29.08.02070	SameCompensation of members
29.08.02080	SameEx officio clerk
29.08.02090	SameChairman
29.08.02100	SameMeetings; quorum; order of business
29.08.02105	Role of the Civil Service Commission
29.08.02110	Amendments to Role of the Civil Service
29.08.02120	Officers and employees covered Generally
29.08.02140	Status of persons holding positions at time of adoption
29.08.02150	Violation of article by officer or employee
29.08.04000	Division 29.08.04 Rules and Regulations
29.08.04010	REAPELED – Ordinance 1637
29.08.04030	Human Resource Manual
29.08.04035	General Provisions of the Civil Service
29.08.04040	General Provisions
29.08.04050	Employee Status and Classification Plan
29.08.04060	Recruitment and Selection
29.08.04070	Hours of Work
29.08.04080	Compensation
29.08.04090	Leaves of Absence
29.08.04100	Separation From Municipal Service
29.08.04110	Disciplinary Process
29.08.04120	Grievance and Appeal Procedure
29.08.04130	Drug and Alcohol Policy
29.08.04140	Americans With Disabilities Act Employment Grievance Procedure
29.08.04150	Specific Exceptions from Certain Sections
29.08.04160	Penalty
29.08.04170	Nepotism

For provisions of state law as to civil service systems in cities, see NDCC, § 40-44-01 et seq.

Section 29.08.02000 Division 29.08.02 Generally

Note: in this article, where City Administrator duties and actions are referred to, such duties and actions will be understood to mean "the City Administrator or his designee", unless otherwise noted.

Section 29.08.02010 Adoption

Pursuant to the authority granted to the board of city commissioners under the provisions of state law a civil service system to conform to the provisions of this chapter is hereby adopted. (Code 1958, § 9-1, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02020 Purpose

The purpose of the civil service system is to increase the efficiency of city government and to promote the fair treatment of municipal employees by providing a personnel system to govern the appointment, promotion, transfer, layoff, removal and discipline of employees in the city civil service system. (Code 1958, § 9-2; Ord. No. 1315 §1, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02030 Civil service commission--Created

There is hereby established a civil service commission for the city. (Code 1958, § 9-3, Code 1637 § 1)

For state law as to authority of city to create a civil service commission, see NDCC, § 40-44.04.

<u>Section 29.08.02040 Same--Composition; appointment terms of office</u>

The civil service commission shall consists of five members, appointed by the Board of City Commissioners, upon recommendation of the City Administrator. Commencing on January 1, 2000, all subsequent appointments shall expire on December 31 of the third year following the appointment. (Code 1958, § 9-4; Ord. No. 1200 § 2; Ord. No. 1217, §1, Code 1637 § 1; Code 1709 § 1)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-44-05.

Section 29.08.02050 Same--Qualifications of members

The members of the civil service commission shall be citizens of the United States. No person shall be eligible to be a member of the civil service commission who is a member of any local, state or national political party committee or is a candidate for or holds any political office. (Code 1958, § 9-5; Ord. No. 1315 §2, Code 1637 § 1.)

Section 29.08.02060 Same--Removal of members

Any member of the civil service commission may be removed by a majority of the board of city commissioners for any act contrary to the best interest of the city civil service system. Such member sought to be removed shall be first given a copy of the charges against him and he shall have ten days from the date of service of such charges within which to request an opportunity to be publicly heard. (Code 1958, § 9-6, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02070 Same--Compensation of members

Each member of the civil service commission shall receive such compensation as determined by the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 9-7; Ord. No. 775, § 1; Ord. No. 1063, § 1; Ord. No. 1315 § 3, Code 1637 § 1) For state law as to compensation of commission

members, see NDCC, §40-44-06.

Section 29.08.02080 Same--Ex officio clerk

The city administrator shall be ex officio clerk of the civil service commission. (Code 1958, § 9-8; Ord. No. 1163 § 2, Code 1637 § 1) For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-44-05.

Section 29.08.02090 Same--Chairman

The civil service commission shall elect its chairman from among its own members and shall determine the length of his term of office as such. (Code 1958, § 9-9, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02100 Same--Meetings; quorum; order of business

The civil service commission shall hold such meetings as are called by the chairman. Three members of the civil service commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of official business. The civil service commission shall determine the order of business for the conduct of its meetings. (Code 1958, § 9-10; Ord. No. 1217, § 2, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02105 Role of the Civil Service Commission

It shall be the role of the Civil Service Commission, from time to time, to recommend to the Board of City Commissioners desirable amendments to the rules, regulations, and ordinances in this Chapter 29. The Role of the Civil Service Commission is to hear appeals to disciplinary matters and grievance appeals, as described in section 29.08.04120 (Grievance and Appeal Procedure). (Ord. No. 1315 §4, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02110 Amendments to the Role of Civil Service

The role may be amended at any time by the board of city commissioners by ordinance; provided, however, that before any official action is taken by the board of city commissioners, the civil service commission shall first hold a public hearing on such proposed amendments after giving five days' notice of such hearing; such notice shall be given by publication one time in the official newspaper of the city. Such notice need not describe in detail the proposed amendments but need refer only briefly to the general subjects to be considered. The board of city commissioners shall have the authority to make any amendments or changes by ordinance, following such public hearing. (Code 1958, § 9-11; Ord. No. 376; Ord. No. 1315 §5, Code 1637 § 1)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-44-04.

Section 29.08.02120 Officers and employees covered-- Generally

The provisions of this article shall apply to all departments and employees, full time, part time, exempt and non-exempt.

Exceptions: The provisions of this article as regards the Civil Service Classification Plan, as described in sections 29.08.04050 to 29.08.04120, shall not apply to persons outside of the classification plan -including the following: persons elected to office; persons elected to boards, persons appointed or elected to commissions and committees; the city administrator, volunteer fire department personnel; other volunteers paid or unpaid; and part time employees hired outside

the civil service system described as seasonal and limited hour schedule employees who are hired to work no more than six months in any 12 month period or average less than 20 hours per week on an hourly basis and are paid on an hourly rate.

Section 29.08.02140 Status of persons holding positions at time of adoption

Any person who held a position subject to the civil service system when the provisions of this article became effective and who shall have served in such position for a period of one year shall be retained without preliminary or performance tests and shall thereafter be subject in all other respects to the provisions of this article. Any other person employed by the city and who by the terms of this article comes under the civil service system of the city shall be considered as having been given probationary appointment as defined by the rules and regulations relating to this subject. (Code 1958, § 9-14, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.02150 Violation of article by officer or employee

Any willful violation of the provisions of this article or any violation of such provisions through culpable negligence shall be grounds for removal from office of a city official or for summary discharge of a city employee.

Section 29.08.04000 Division 29.08.04 Rules and Regulations

Section 29.08.04030 Human Resource Manual

Purpose of this Manual

This manual, which provides for human resources administration is enacted by the City of Dickinson in order to further the following goals:

- 1. To provide a uniform and sound personnel administrative system throughout the City of Dickinson.
- 2. To inform employees of the general policies and procedures of the City and of the benefits and obligations of employment with the City.
- 3. To ensure that all personnel actions are based upon employee qualifications (knowledge, skills and abilities) and job performance and are in compliance with federal and state law.
- 4. To serve as written documentation of the City of Dickinson's commitment to fair employment practices and equal employment opportunity.
- 5. To assist city administration in carrying out sound, equitable and consistent human resources administration and in making effective use of human resources.
- 6. To promote and encourage communication between the city administration and the employee(s).
- 7. To protect the rights of the employee(s) and employer throughout the employment relationship and to ensure that the responsibilities of both parties are carried out.

Application The Human Resource ordinance shall apply to all municipal employees except employees as specified in Section 29.08.02.120. In the event of a conflict between this ordinance, (also referred to as the manual, or personnel manual) and any state or federal law, the terms and conditions of such law shall prevail.

Section 29.08.04035 General Provisions of the Civil Service

Records of the Civil Service Commission

The city administrator is the custodian of the records of the civil service commission as well as the ex officio secretary thereto. He shall keep and maintain employees' employment records as well as such other records as may be necessary for the proper administration of the civil service.

1. Forms

The City Administrator shall design and implement all forms to be used in connection with the civil service program. Sample forms may be attached as appendices to this personnel manual, but shall not become an official part of the manual. (Code 1637 § 1)

2. Meetings of Civil Service Commission

The civil service commission shall hold meetings as may be necessary to hear appeals or hold other hearings hereinbefore provided, which meetings shall be at the call of the chairman and open to the public. Three members of the civil service commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business. The City Administrator shall be an ex officio member at civil service meetings. (Code 1637 § 1)

3. General Prohibitions.

3.1 Prohibition of Consideration of Political Endorsements

In no event shall any political endorsement be considered in connection with the appointment to any position in the civil service of the city.

3.2 Prohibition of Providing Influence for Personal Gain

No person shall, for the purpose of influencing the vote or political action of any other person, promise or use, directly or indirectly, any official authority to secure or attempt to secure an appointment, promotion, increase in salary or any other preferment in the city civil service.

3.3 Prohibition of Violation of any Provisions

Any willful violation of the above provisions of this rule shall be grounds for summary discharge of the offending party.

4. At-Will Status

The City of Dickinson recognizes that North Dakota is an employment at-will state and the intent of this municipality is to maintain that employment at-will status for employees.

5. This Manual is Not a Contract

This manual does not confer a contract of employment. No employee or manager of the city, except the city administrator, acting on behalf of the board of city commissioners, has the authority to enter into a contract or agreement of employment with any employee governed by this personnel manual. This manual is provided as a reference of present provisions and not a guarantee of employment or specific employment benefits.

Section 29.08.04040 General Provisions

1. Equal Employment Opportunity

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson to recruit, hire, train, promote, discipline and discharge all applicants and employees equally and without regard to race, religion, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, political affiliation, marital or veteran status, or any other basis prohibited by state or federal law. Violations of this policy by any municipal employee may be cause for immediate disciplinary action. Any employee who feels he/she has been discriminated against should bring this concern to his/her supervisor or higher authority according to the appeals

procedure specified in Section 29.08.04.140 of this manual.

2. Sexual and Other Harassment

The City of Dickinson is committed to providing a work environment that is free from discrimination and harassment. To maintain this commitment, the municipality will not tolerate any form of harassment, including sexual harassment.

2.1 Statement of No Tolerance

Sexual or any other form of harassment in the work place is prohibited by Federal and State law, whether committed by supervisory or non-supervisory employees, and will not be tolerated. Retaliation or intimidation directed toward a complaining party or a witness in an investigation is also prohibited by law and will not be tolerated by the City under any circumstances and is grounds for termination. The City will endeavor to take prompt remedial measures to immediately end the offending action.

2.2 Harassment by Non-Employees

The City will attempt to eliminate sexual or any other form of harassment of or by any non-employees, such as customers, visitors, or others, including the referral of appropriate matters to the appropriate law enforcement authority.

2.3 Employment Protections to Complaining Party

A true complaint of sexual or any other form of harassment will not have any bearing on the terms and conditions of employment of the complaining party, including but not limited to wages, advancement, evaluations, assigned duties, shift assignments, and career development.

2.4 Definition of Behavior Constituting Sexual Harassment

Under this policy, sexual harassment is defined as behavior of a sexual nature which is unwelcome and personally offensive to its recipient. It is a form of employee misconduct which is demeaning to another person and undermines the integrity of the employment relationship.

Sexual Harassment is specifically defined as unwelcome sexual advances, request for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature constitutes sexual harassment when:

- **2.4.1** By threat or insinuation, either explicitly or implicitly, an employee's refusal to submit to sexual advances or refusal to tolerate or participate in unwanted conduct or communication of a sexual nature will adversely affect the employee's terms and conditions of employment, including but not limited to wages, advancement, evaluation, assigned duties, shift assignment, and career development.
- **2.4.2** Any conduct or communication of a sexual nature that has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with work performance or of creating a hostile, intimidating, or offensive employment environment that may be considered offensive to another employee, including but not limited to:
 - repeated sexual flirtations, advances, or propositions;
 - continual or repeated verbal abuse of a sexual nature;
 - foul language;
 - unwanted physical contact;
 - graphic verbal commentaries about an individual's body or manner;
 - sexually degrading words used to describe the individual;
 - the display of sexually explicit pictures, cartoons, or other materials.

2.5 Definition of Other Harassment

Under this policy, other harassment in defined as behavior of a nature, which is unwelcome and personally offensive to its recipient. It is a form of employee misconduct, which is demeaning to another person and undermines the integrity of the employment relationship. Other Harassment includes action(s) by another person which in the opinion of the employee violate his/her personal rights. This includes one person bullying another person or persons through actions which demean the other employee through repeated use of demands, language, threats to control the other person's behavior or attitude.

2.6 Method of Filing a Complaint

Any employee who feels he/she has been sexually harassed or that his/her personal rights have been violated through some other form of harassment, should immediately report the matter to one of the following in order of preference: the City Attorney; the Human Resource Coordinator; the City Administrator; or to a Department Head. Any Supervisor, who becomes aware directly or indirectly, of a potential harassment issue will immediately contact the City Attorney, the Human Resource Coordinator, or the City Administrator, who will initiate an investigation. The obligation to report the potential harassment issue is absolute and not discretionary.

If the City Administrator is the offending party, the exempt employee should immediately notify the president of the City Commission, who will assign a qualified investigator(s) to perform an investigation.

2.7 Complaint Investigation Process

Upon becoming aware of a situation of possible sexual or any other form of harassment, the City Attorney and the City Administrator, or a designee, will assign a qualified investigator(s) to perform an investigation. The person or persons tasked with investigating the complaint will make a thorough and impartial investigation of the complaint, which will include the following:

- Interview of Complaining Party
- Interview of Offending Party
- Interview of Other Parties as necessary

All employees must cooperate with any such investigation. If the person or persons tasked with investigating the complaint finds through investigation that the complaint has grounds, the City Administrator will decide the appropriate disciplinary action for the offending party, keeping in mind the serious nature of this type of offense and will detail the findings of the investigation and outcome in a written notice, which will include the investigator's report.

2.8 Process If the City Administrator is the Offending Party

If the City Administrator is the offending party, the appropriate qualified investigator will turn his/her findings over to the President of the City Commission. It will be the City Commission's responsibility to take appropriate actions.

If at any time criminal charges may become applicable, the appropriate law enforcement authority will take the lead in the investigation.

2.9 Rights of Offending Party

The person about whom any sexual or any other harassment complaint has been filed will receive notice and an opportunity to appeal as described in Section 29.08.04.120 of this manual.

2.10 Violence Prevention

The City endeavors to provide a safe workplace for all employees. To ensure a safe workplace and to reduce the risk of violence, all employees should review and understand

all provisions of this workplace violence policy.

2.10.1 Prohibited Conduct

We do not tolerate any type of workplace violence committed by or against employees. Employees are prohibited from making threats or engaging in violent activities. This list of behaviors provides examples of conduct that is prohibited:

- Causing physical injury to another person.
- Making threatening remarks.
- Displaying aggressive or hostile behavior that creates a reasonable fear of injury to another person or subjects another individual to emotional distress.
- Intentionally damaging employer property or property of another employee.
- Possessing an unauthorized weapon while on City property or while on City business.
- Committing acts motivated by, or related to, sexual harassment or domestic violence.

2.10.2 Reporting Violent Situations

Any potentially dangerous situations must be immediately reported to a supervisor or the human resource (HR) department. Reports can be made anonymously, and all reported incidents will be investigated. Reports or incidents warranting confidentiality will be handled appropriately, and information will be disclosed to others only on a need-to-know basis. All parties involved in a situation will be counseled, and the results of investigations will be discussed with them. The City will actively intervene at any indication of a possibly hostile or violent situation.

2.10.3 Risk Reduction Measures

Hiring

The City takes reasonable measures to conduct background investigations to review candidates' backgrounds and to reduce the risk of hiring individuals with a history of violent behavior.

Inspection

The City may conduct periodic inspections of the premises to evaluate and determine any vulnerabilities to workplace violence or hazards, and will endeavor to take corrective action to reduce known risks.

Individual Situations

Although we do not expect all employees to be skilled at identifying potentially dangerous persons, employees are expected to exercise good judgment and to inform the HR department if any employee exhibits behavior that could be a sign of a potentially dangerous situation. Such behavior includes:

- Discussing weapons in a threatening way, or bringing them to the workplace (exceptions for public safety or other authorized personnel in the course of their official duties).
- Displaying overt signs of extreme stress, resentment, hostility or anger.
- Making threatening remarks.
- Showing sudden or significant deterioration of performance.
- Displaying irrational or inappropriate behavior.

Threatening conduct, or any other acts of aggression or violence in the workplace will not be tolerated. Any employee determined to have

committed such acts will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. Non-employees engaged in violent acts on the employer's premises will be reported to the proper authorities and fully prosecuted.

3. Use of Seat Belts

The City of Dickinson is committed to doing everything possible to prevent injury to employees, prevent damage to property and to protect the employees and the public from the results of accidents. The City realizes that seat belts are an important and efficient means to accomplish this goal. Thus, it is the policy that all City employees and their passengers shall be required to use seat belts when driving any city owned or leased vehicle (if equipped with seat belts) or while driving their personal vehicle on official municipal business. Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary action.

EXCEPTION: Police Officers may follow seat belt regulations specifically set out for law enforcement needs in the departmental policy manual.

4. <u>Use of Tobacco Products</u>

Use of all forms of Tobacco Products (as defined in City Code) is prohibited in/on City vehicles, equipment and properties, unless the area is clearly marked by the City as a tobacco use area.

5. <u>Conflicts of Interest Considerations of Outside Employment and/or Business Dealings</u>

5.1 Submitting requests

Although the City does not forbid off hours employment by employees, employees are prohibited from having business dealings or seeking or maintaining employment, which conflicts with the responsibilities or performance of the employee's City position. Therefore any requests for business dealings or outside employment must be submitted in writing on a city authorized form, an exhibit of which accompanies this document, and approved by the employee's Department Head prior to an employee engaging in such a relationship. Such approval will be required annually.

5.2 Review by Management

Following a review of the request, the Department Head will determine whether such employment interferes or negatively impacts the performance of the employee's duties with the City or results in a conflict of interest. Based on his/her review of the facts, the Department Head will notify the employee in writing of his/her decision to approve of the outside employment/business dealings or not. If the Department Head refuses to approve of the outside employment/business dealing, the employee may file a grievance as described in section 29.08.04.120.

5.3 Disciplinary Matters

If the Department Head refuses to approve of the outside employment/business dealing and the employee pursues the outside employment/business dealings, said employee may be subject to disciplinary action. An employee performing outside employment or business on City time shall be subject to disciplinary action.

5.4 Requests by Department Heads

In the case of a Department Head seeking approval of outside employment, the request will be made to the City Administrator, who will decide the appropriateness of the request.

5.5 Reporting injuries while working for others

Employees must report illness or injury due to secondary employment to their supervisor. The City's Workers' Compensation insurance coverage will not be extended to outside employment.

6. Performance Evaluations

6.1 Purpose and use of Performance Evaluations

Performance evaluations are designed to provide the employee with a record of his/her performance, to encourage professional growth and to promote communication between the supervisor and employee.

Performance evaluations are to be structured to each employee's position.

The purpose of the evaluation is to commend strengths, address opportunities for growth, suggest ways to improve, discuss employee goals and objectives, and discuss any difficulties and positive aspects the employee may be experiencing on the job. Completed evaluations (for exempt employees) may also serve as the basis and justification for merit based raises and/or promotions awarded to employees.

6.2 Frequency of Performance Evaluations

Performance appraisals will be conducted before the end of the employee's probationary period and at least once each year thereafter. Evaluations may be performed more often as need arises.

6.3 Completion of Evaluation Forms

The first step in the performance evaluation process is completion of evaluation forms. Evaluation forms will be completed by the supervisor, the employee, and others.

6.4 Performance Evaluation Conference

The purpose of the performance evaluation conference is to discuss the written evaluation forms completed by the supervisor, the employee, and others. The performance evaluation conference will be conducted by the employee's supervisor.

6.5 Signing Requirement

Employees are required to sign their evaluations and will receive a copy upon request. Signing does not imply agreement, but that the contents have been made known to and discussed with the employee. If the employee refuses to sign the evaluation form, the supervisor shall document the refusal and submit the evaluation and documentation to Human Resources. (Code 1637 § 1).

6.6 Placement in Personnel File

Completed evaluation forms shall be submitted to the City Administrator for placement in the employee's personnel file.

7. Policy on Personnel Records

7.1 Personnel Files

It is the policy of the City to maintain accurate and updated information on each municipal employee in its personnel files. The personnel file will include documents related to the employee's history with the city. Payroll information, I-9 forms and confidential/medical information will be maintained in separate files.

7.2 Maintenance of personnel files

The City Administrator shall be responsible for maintaining personnel records for all current and former employees.

7.3 Employee access to files

The employee shall have reasonable access to his/her personnel records upon

request to the City Administrator. The file will be made available to the employee's representative only upon express written authorization by the employee.

7.4 Placement of documents in files

No written incident report or records of disciplinary action shall be placed in an employee's personnel file unless the City first advises the employee of its intent to enter such document into the file and affords him/her an opportunity to read and sign such material. Signing does not imply agreement, only that the contents have been made known to or discussed with the employee. The employee shall have the express right to submit a letter of rebuttal to his/her file regarding any information contained in his/her file that is in dispute.

7.5 Changes of Name, Address, Telephone and Withholding Status

It is the employee's responsibility to inform Human Resources of any changes in name, address, telephone number, marital status, dependent changes, beneficiary changes, withholding status or any other life changing events. An employee must immediately report any of the above or other pertinent changes. Intentional failure to report such information is grounds for disciplinary action.

7.6 Personnel Record Retention

Personnel records are maintained in accordance with the records retention and destruction manual for cities published by the North Dakota Division of Management and Budget. The City permanently keeps an employee's name, social security number, dates of employment, positions held and salary history, all of which are listed in the city's employment history index.

7.7 Confidential Personnel Information

Medical information: The City of Dickinson maintains a separate confidential medical file on each employee, which is not considered part of the employee's personnel record and is confidential. Except as otherwise authorized by law, the information in this file may not be used or disclosed without written authorization of the employee. Access to this file is limited to the employee and the City Administrator.

Personal information regarding a public employee contained in an employee's personnel record or given to the state or a political subdivision by the employee in the course of employment is exempt from open records laws. As used in this context, "personal information" means a person's home address; home telephone number; photograph; medical information; motor vehicle operator's identification number; social security number; payroll deduction information; the name, address, phone number, date of birth, and social security number of any dependent or emergency contact; any credit, debit, or electronic fund transfer card number; and any account number at a bank or other financial institution.

7.8 Dissemination of Employment Information - Limitations and Rules

In accordance with the North Dakota Open Records Laws employee records are open to public inspection, with the exception of the employee's personal information and confidential medical file, described in Section 29.08.04040.7.7 For employment verification requests, the City will provide only the following information on both present and past employees unless additional information is requested:

- 1) whether a person is or has been employed with the City in municipal government service;
- 2) dates of employment;

- 3) current position or positions at the date of separation from employment and other positions held;
- 4) verification of salary information.

Additional information may be released following a specific request, upon approval of the City Administrator. Only the City Administrator shall give out employee information. All requests for information on an employee's employment shall be immediately directed to the City Administrator. (Code 1637 § 1)

8. Use of City Property by Employees

8.1 Purpose and scope

The purpose of this section is to clarify the use of City owned or leased property, including tools, equipment, supplies, sites and facilities by employees of the City

8.2 Use of City Owned Tools, Equipment and Supplies

Employees of the city of Dickinson are prohibited from removing any City owned tools, equipment or supplies from City premises for personal use

8.3 Use of City Owned Properties, and/or Facilities

Employees are prohibited from using or being in City-owned or leased properties for non-work related reasons. This includes, but is not limited to using any of the above for storage, housing, repair or maintenance of vehicles or other property.

9. Committees of Management and Employees

9.1 Purpose and limitation

The City shall allow for establishment of management/employee committees, on an as-needed basis, as determined by management and employees together, for the purpose of addressing issues or concerns that may arise. Committee makeup and procedures shall be agreed upon jointly at the creation of these committee(s).

10. Safety

The City of Dickinson cares about the safety of each and every employee. For this reason, it has developed and will enforce a safety program (including a Safety Policy separate from this manual, made available to employees upon hire) designed to prevent accidents, injuries and lost time for employees. Everything reasonably possible will be done to maintain safe working conditions. Each individual in a supervisory position will be responsible for enforcing the City's safety program. Each employee shall be familiar with the City's Safety Policy and will be expected to cooperate fully in helping to protect the employee and co-workers. A city employee shall be designated as the City Safety Coordinator. The Safety Coordinator shall have such powers reasonably necessary to enforce this policy including the power to appoint such assistants and delegate responsibility as necessary.

11. Use of the Internet and E-mail

11.1 General rules

This policy applies to employees, contractors, consultants, service providers and temporary workers (collectively, "users") on city of Dickinson ("City") premises or using the City system. Users are granted access to the internet, intranet, World Wide Web, e-mail and other applications through use of the City system. This access is granted for the business use of the City. This access may be denied at any time, for any reason. Users are responsible at all times for using the system in a manner that is ethical, legal and consistent with the best interest and policies of the City. Any violation of this section is subject to disciplinary action.

11.2 City Authority to access data

All information created, accessed or stored using the City applications and systems is the property of the City. Users do not have a right to privacy to any activity conducted using the City system. The City can review, read, access or otherwise monitor all activities on the City system or on any other system accessed by the use of the City system.

11.3 Who may use city electronic systems

Only users who are authorized by the City may use the system. A user may not allow any other person, including authorized users, to access any application through the user's account or system. Users may not impersonate another user by modifying e-mail header information, or otherwise hide the user's identity.

11.4 User responsibilities – passwords, and protection of files

Users are responsible for any and all activity initiated from their accounts. Therefore, users should protect their passwords, change them regularly, not reveal them to others, except that all passwords will be filed with the City Administrator. Any changes to passwords will be reported to the City Administrator immediately. Users shall not leave their computers on and open for non-authorized users to access. Users are responsible for protecting their own files (e-mail, word processing, spreadsheets, etc.) from unauthorized persons. If a user inadvertently access another user's files, the user must immediately discontinue access, and refrain from revealing any personal information discovered.

11.5 User responsibilities – sending emails

Users must not use e-mail to send confidential information to any unauthorized person. Such information may be sent to authorized persons in encrypted files if sent over publicly accessible media such as the internet or broadcast media such as wireless communication. Such information may be sent in unencrypted files only within the City system. Users are responsible for properly labeling such information.

11.6 User responsibilities – copies, downloads and copyrights

Users may not make copies of computer software applications running on City systems for use at home, on laptops or for other reasons, without authorization. Users may not import, download, copy or store copyrighted material without permission from the author. Doing so may violate application licensing agreements or copyright law.

11.7 User responsibilities – games, attachments and viruses

No software, games or other applications may be installed or downloaded without the authorization of the City Administrator. No e-mail attachments received from unknown persons shall be opened. Doing so leaves the City vulnerable to viruses, and also may violate application licensing agreements or copyright law.

11.8 User responsibilities – no illegal activities permitted

Users shall never harass, intimidate, threaten others or engage in other illegal activity (including pornography, terrorism, espionage, theft or drugs) by e-mail or other postings. All such instances shall be reported to management for appropriate action. In addition to violating this policy, such behavior also may violate other City policies, or civil or criminal laws.

11.9 Business Use

E-mail and internet access is intended for the business use. Non-business use includes, but is not limited to interfering with the City's business, interfering with the user's ability to perform his or her job, interfering with the ability of other users to perform their

jobs, exposing the City to liability or embarrassment, using it for external political purposes or financial gain, violating the laws of the location information is transmitted to or from, or violating any other policies of the City. Users may never use the system for soliciting other employees for any reason including but not limited to soliciting funds for school fundraising drives or selling products or merchandise. It is specifically prohibited for employees to knowingly visit sites that feature pornography, terrorism, espionage, theft or drugs unless approved for business by the City Administrator.

11.10 City's right to access and monitor

The City reserves the right to access, review or otherwise monitor all such use. The City may monitor and conduct audits of computer use and employee use of the World Wide Web.

11.11 Users and offensive materials

Users are hereby advised that there is material on the internet and World Wide Web that is offensive to people. The City has limited ability to control sites that may contain offensive material. Users must use good judgment and common sense to refrain from engaging such activity. The City disavows any liability for harassment by any person who uses the City's system and is offended upon discovering such sites.

11.12 No forwarding of certain materials

Users may not create or forward nuisance e-mail, including jokes and chain letters. If users receive unsolicited e-mail (SPAM) nuisance e-mail, including jokes, they shall immediately delete it without attempting to open any attachment.

11.13 Reporting of violations of this policy

Users are responsible for reporting to management any violation of this policy. Violations of this policy will be investigated and evaluated. Depending upon the nature of the offense, appropriate corrective action will be taken, up to and including immediate termination. Violators also may be subject to penalties imposed by U.S. state and federal laws, and/or the laws of jurisdictions outside of the U.S.

12. Privacv

12.1 There is no right to privacy for office spaces, lockers, work areas, vehicles or grounds owned, or leased by the City for its employee use.

12.2 Protected Health Information

Recent HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) legislation requires that the City provide a statement to employees regarding Protected Health Information (PHI). The City is a covered entity under HIPAA because we sponsor a health plan and a flex benefits plan which has a medical spending account feature. This means the City is required by law to maintain the privacy of employee health information.

PHI, or Protected Health Information means information that might identify an employee, including past present or future physical or mental conditions; provision of health care; or payment for care.

The City is permitted to use and disclose certain information without authorizations as in the following: to provide patient care through the health plan providers; to obtain payment for services; or to operate a health or flex plan.

Summary plan descriptions (SPD's) through the health care providers describe how employee health information will be protected through methods adopted by them as providers.

The City allows access to PHI only by those persons working on and within the

plan, referred to as the "Plan Workforce". This includes information that is within payroll, Human Resources, accounting staff who process applications for coverage and billing statements.

In all cases, no PHI will be disclosed by the Plan Workforce outside the HIPAA privacy rules.

Training will be provided to the Plan Workforce.

Sanctions are adopted for violations of this disclosure policy, up to and including termination of employment of the offending party.

Under HIPAA, employees can request their own information and how it is used; they may request that their information be disclosed to others. These requests are to be in writing to one of the privacy officials of the City, which include: The City Administrator, the City Attorney, or the Human Resource Coordinator.

13. Mobile Devices and Related Equipment

13.1 Purpose and scope

This policy outlines the use of personal mobile devices at work, use of city provided mobile devices and all mobile device equipment, safety issues, the issuance of mobile devices and additional information.

13.2 Department Head responsibilities

Each department head is responsible for determining whether an employee's job duties require the City provide a mobile device or stipend to an employee. Once a department head has made a determination a city issued mobile device is required for an employee to effectively carry out their assigned duties the City will cover all legitimate business charges related to the City issued mobile device. If a department head determines that the issuance of a city mobile device is not essential for an employee but the use of a personal mobile device is desired, they can authorize a monthly stipend which will be taxed as an income event on the employee's paycheck. The monthly stipend will be set annually during the budget process. When a stipend is provided it represents the total compensation an employee will receive regarding the use of a personal mobile device for business purposes.

13.3 Stipend conditions

Personal mobile devices, when a stipend is provided, are subject to the provisions of this policy.

Mobile device records, including phone and data transmissions, can be subject to public disclosure under the State of North Dakota Open Records laws.

13.4 Courteous and legal use

In situations where the use of a mobile device could be disruptive, courtesy is expected. Mobile devices cannot be used in an illegal, illicit or offensive manner. Excessive personal calls (including text messaging) during the work day can interfere with employee productivity and be distracting to others. Employees are expected to make personal calls on non-work time when possible.

13.5 City Issued Mobile Devices

Mobile devices shall remain the sole property of the City and shall be subject to inspection or monitoring (including related records) at any time if requested by the employee's supervisor or City Administrator. Upon separation of employment or when an employee's supervisor deems it necessary, the employee will be required to return the city issued mobile device and related equipment. Employees unable to present the phone/equipment in good working condition within one (1) business day may be required to bear the cost of

replacement. Employees who separate from employment with outstanding debts for equipment loss or unauthorized charges may be considered to have left employment on unsatisfactory terms and may be subject to legal action for recovery of loss.

13.6 Access to city server

Only city issued mobile devices or approved personal mobile devices where a monthly stipend has been authorized may access the city's server. All mobile devices must be password protected, per City IT department guidelines (see 13.9 below).

13.7 Personal Mobile Devices

The City is not responsible for loss or damage to personal mobile devices while on or off duty. If an individual releases a personal mobile device number to conduct City business where a stipend is not provided, the City will NOT reimburse any expense occurred.

13.8 Safety Issues while operating vehicles

Employees whose job responsibilities include regular or occasional driving are encouraged to refrain from using mobile devices while driving. Employees are strongly encouraged to pull off to a reasonably safe location and safely stop the vehicle before placing or accepting a call. If acceptance of a call is unavoidable while driving and pulling over is not an option, employees are strongly encouraged to use hands-free devices. In situations where a City mobile device has been issued and the employee's job responsibilities include regular driving and accepting of business calls, hands-free equipment will be provided to facilitate the provisions of this policy. Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of a mobile devices while driving on duty may be subject to disciplinary action and personal liability resulting from such traffic violations.

Texting while driving is strictly prohibited, and is a violation of state law; violations of this statute will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal.

13.9 Mobile Passwords

13.9.1 General

All Mobile devices containing stored data, calendar and contact information owned by the City of Dickinson must use a password to protect data at rest. This includes all devices accessing City of Dickinson's mail servers. Mobile devices are defined as, but not limited to include tablets, PDA'a and cell phones.

13.9.2 Scope

This policy applies to any mobile device issued by the City of Dickinson or personal device used for City of Dickinson business which contains stored data owned by the City of Dickinson.

13.9.3 Mobile Devices

Any City of Dickinson data stored on a mobile device must be saved on a device that is password protected. The City of Dickinson shall employ remote wipe technology to remotely disable and delete any data stored on a City of Dickinson mobile device as necessary.

13.9.4 Required procedures

The policy will require users to set their device to time out in 30 minutes unless they have a more restrictive policy set and they will be required to type in their password to make a call or send a message or email. Please be sure you sync

your mobile device applications periodically to your desktop in order to save a backup so you can restore should your device need to be wiped. A unique character combination that cannot be easily derived (such as 1111 or any single number pattern, your birthday, home address or zip code) and is at least 5 characters long is suggested. We recognize many devices can only store 4 character passwords. In this case, it is important to use all 4 characters.

13.9.5 Loss and Theft

The loss or theft of any mobile device containing City of Dickinson data must be reported to the City of Dickinson Information Technology Department immediately so that they may commence cellular wipe procedures.

13.10 Additional Information

Violations of this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. The City Administrator will determine if the issuance of a city mobile device is required for department directors and may review the issuance of any and all city issued mobile devices or stipends.

The mobile device policy will comply with all current IRS regulations. (Code 1958, § 9-29; Ord. No. 376; Ord. No. 1163 § 5; Ord. No. 1201, § 1; Ord. No. 1224, § 1, 4 & 5; Ord. No. 1307 § 2, 3, 4 & 5; Ord. No. 1379 §1)

Section 29.08.04050 Employee Status and Classification Plan

14. Employee Status and Classification

Municipal Employee

A person employed by the City who is not an independent contractor.

Probationary Employee

An employee who is newly hired by the city in a regular full or regular part-time position (see Section 29.08.04060.15.22).

Regular Full-Time Employee

An employee who is employed by the city to work in a Civil Service position which requires the employee to work at least 40 hours per week on a regular basis and has completed their probationary period. (This is to include Police Officers who work at least 80 hours in a standard 14 day work period and Firefighters who work at least 136 hours in an 18 day work period.)

Regular Part-time Employee

An employee who is employed by the city to work in a Civil Service position which requires the employee to work at least 20 hours and less than 40 hours per week on a regular basis and has completed their probationary period.

Limited Hour Schedule or Seasonal Employee

An employee who is employed by the municipality to work for less than 20 hours per week or less than 6 months in any 12 month period.

14.2 Classification Plan

14.2.1 Adoption

A Classification plan has been adopted by the City of Dickinson. Before the plan or any changes or amendments thereto shall become effective, they shall be subject to the approval of the board of City Commissioners by resolution. It shall not be necessary for the board of City Commissioners to hold a public hearing thereon, unless they deem it advisable. **14.2.2 Interpretation of Class Descriptions**

The class descriptions for any class of positions shall be considered as descriptive and explanatory of the kind of work required in positions of a particular class, but not necessarily inclusive of all duties to be performed.

14.2.3 Administration of the Classification Plan

Revision to class descriptions and reallocations within the approved classification plan will be made as follows: As a new class is created within the civil service system, the city administrator will study the duties and responsibilities thereof and on the basis thereof allocate the same to the appropriate grade. All permanent changes or modifications of the responsibilities of a class, will be promptly reported to the City Administrator by the department head.

14.2.4 Review of Classifications

Periodically, the City Administrator will review all classifications and, if necessary, recommend to the City Commission that existing classes be combined, abolished or, if necessary, reclassified.

At least once every three years, each department must review and update job descriptions. Each department head shall submit verification of no change or changes to the City Administrator by March 1st for consideration in the ensuing budget. The City Administrator shall review the job descriptions submitted by the department heads.

14.2.5 Amendments and Changes to Classification Plan and Class Descriptions

Before the plan or any changes or amendments thereto shall become effective, they shall be subject to approval, by motion, of the board of City Commissioners. It shall not be necessary for the board of City Commissioners to hold a hearing thereon, unless they deem it advisable, inasmuch as adequate opportunity for hearing is otherwise afforded the public before the Civil Service Commission.

14.2.6 Employee Requests for Reclassification

Any employee employed under Civil Service may at any time submit to the City Administrator a written request for a reclassification stating the reasons for said request. Any such request will become a part of the annual review or considered during the annual review process.

14.2.7 Effect of Reclassifications

If a job is reclassified into a lower pay grade, the employee shall receive a rate of pay no lower than step four in the grade, and progress according to the experience level in the pay schedule. If a job is reclassified to a higher rate of pay, the employee shall receive the pay grade that corresponds with his/her experience level, and will continue progression.

14.2.8 Use of Class and Working Titles

Following the adoption of the classification plan and the allocation of class descriptions therein to grades in the competitive Civil Service System, the class titles as therein set forth shall, unless working titles are assigned to specific positions, be used to designate such positions in all official records, vouchers, payrolls and communications. (Code 1958, § 9-20; Ord. No. 376; Ord. No. 634 §

1; Ord. No. 1163 § 5; Ord. No. 1224 § 6; Ord. No. 1330 §1; Ord No. 1370 §1; Ord No. 1709 §2.)

Section 29.08.04060 Recruitment and Selection

15. Recruitment and Hiring

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson to recruit and fill job vacancies with the most qualified* individuals for the positions. The city has four methods of recruiting qualified applicants to fill job vacancies in city employment. These are: 1) promotion from within; 2) transfer from within; 3) public announcement and advertisement; or 4) recruitment agencies.

*When considering qualifications, the city will use past work history, depth of experience, quality of work experience, as well as other factors.

15.1 Job Announcements

If the City Administrator determines it is appropriate to fill a vacant regular full-time or regular part-time position, the City Administrator may initiate any of the hiring methods available. Exception: Full-time, non-civil service positions will be advertised as deemed appropriate by the City Commission.

15.2 Internal Announcements

Internal announcements, which include either promotion or transfer from within shall be advertised in all occupied City buildings for a minimum of five calendar days.

15.3 Public Announcements

Public announcement of employment opportunities will be advertised in the places and means deemed appropriate by the City Administrator, and posted in a visible location in each occupied city building.

15.4 Recruitment Agencies

If the City Administrator determines it is in the best interest of the city, recruitment agencies that charge a fee for service may be used to fill job vacancies for exempt positions. Public announcements shall also be made to ensure the public has the opportunity to know of and apply for the position.

15.5 Applications for Employment

Individuals interested in applying for a specific position with the City of Dickinson must submit a completed city application, copies of which are available on the City's website.

15.6 Eligibility for Employment

To be eligible for employment with the City of Dickinson in addition to other qualifications an individual must: 1) be legally eligible to be employed in the United States as proven by completion of a federal I-9 form, 2) if a male born after December 31, 1959, be registered for the selective service, and 3) be 18 years of age or older at the time of employment. Exceptions to the age minimum may be considered in work areas that are deemed appropriate and safe for those under 18 years of age.

15.7 Qualifications for Employment

General Skills/Abilities Required, ADA Exception

All employees must be able to perform the physical and mental essential functions of their job with or without reasonable accommodation. The city will make reasonable accommodations pursuant to ADA.

15.8 Veteran's Preference

The City will follow applicable state law regarding the hiring of veterans. Veterans Preference will not be used for promotions, transfer or internal hires.

15.9 Disqualification for Employment

Applicants for employment may be disqualified if any of the following is proved to be true:

- applicant does not meet the minimum qualifications for appointment;
- applicant knowingly has made a false statement on the application form or resume;
- applicant has committed fraud during the selection process;
- applicant does not meet the eligibility for employment; or
- an unsigned employment application.

Applicants for the positions within the police department may be subject to more stringent disqualifying circumstances, pursuant to Police Department policies.

15.10 Selection Criteria

Selection to fill a job vacancy is made on the basis of knowledge, skills, education, experience, and ability to perform the duties of the specific position. Competitive examinations may be used in the selection process.

15.11 Limited Hour Schedule and Seasonal Positions

The City will publicly advertise for these positions. Following advertisement, the city Administrator will review the applications, set interviews and fill the positions as needed.

15.12 Temporary Appointments

The City Administrator may offer a temporary appointment for a position to a current full-time employee in order to prevent a stoppage of municipal services, public business, or inconvenience to the public. A period of employment under a temporary appointment may not be counted as part of the probationary period in case of a subsequent appointment to a regular position. An employee accepting a temporary appointment shall be paid an amount which is not less than that employee's current regular pay. Compensation will be determined by the current pay scale for the appointed position.

15.13 Promotions/Transfers

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson to generally promote or transfer from within when such promotion or transfer is in the best interest of the city. A process is established by the City Commission which will govern promotions and transfers. If it is in the best interest of the city, promotions or transfers of individuals already employed with the city shall be given first consideration. This consideration, however, does not entitle an individual employee to an automatic promotion or transfer to a higher level of employment. All selections shall be based on merit and fitness to fill the job vacancy. All recruitment efforts are based upon state and federal equal employment opportunity (EEO) laws.

15.14 Re-employment of Persons Laid-off

Any person who is separated from service due to lay-off may within one year from the date of lay-off be rehired without loss of seniority and without a selection process if an opening occurs in the same or a similar position.

15.15 Recruitment Agencies

When recruitment agencies are used, following public advertisement, the City Administrator will review the applications, set interviews, and fill the positions as needed.

15.16 List of Eligible Persons

The list of eligible persons will contain up to seven names for all openings. The City's Human Resource staff will maintain the list of eligible persons.

15.17 Duration

A new certified list of eligible persons shall be developed for every opening unless a hiring manager requests consideration of hiring an applicant on a list established within the proceeding twelve months for the same position. In that case, the City Administrator may authorize hiring without need to advertise an opening.

15.18 Pre-Offer/Hint of Employment Prohibited

There shall be no offer or hint of employment, promotion or transfer with the city conferred to a current employee, an applicant or potential applicant before or during a selection process.

15.19 Requirement to Report to Work

If the applicant fails to report to work on the date agreed, it shall be deemed that the applicant has declined the offer of employment.

15.20 Employment of Relatives

The employment of immediate family members is prohibited where one immediate family member would supervise the other. The employment of immediate family members of the City Commission members is prohibited. If a relationship change causes one employee to be supervised by an immediate family member, one of the employees must resign or be laid-off. The resigning/laid-off employee may apply for any open position subject to the City's Recruitment and Selection policies. This Section shall not apply to seasonal or temporary workers.

Exception for election of immediate family member to City Commission:

In the case where a current employee is in a situation wherein an immediate family member is elected to the City Commission, that employee will not have his/her employment position challenged or placed in jeopardy under this rule.

15.21 Definition of Immediate Family Member

Immediate family is defined as: parents, spouse, children, siblings, grandparents and grandchildren through blood, marriage or adoption. For the exclusive purpose of bereavement leave, immediate family members shall also include great grandparents, great grandchildren, step-parents, and step-children. (Code 1637 § 1)

15.22 Probationary Period and Trial Period

15.22.1 Term of Probationary Period – New Hire

Every employee hired by the City of Dickinson must complete a probationary period of not less than 90 days, for the purpose of assessing the individual's ability to perform the assigned duties. The probationary period may be extended by the employee's supervisor or the Department Head up to six months. Any extensions which would make the probationary period more than six months from the employee's first day shall require the written approval of the City Administrator. (Code 1637 § 1)

15.22.2 Term of Probationary Period – Transfers and Promotions

Transfers and promotions carry a trial period of up to 90 days for the purpose of assessing the individual's ability to perform the assigned duties. During the trial period the supervisor or the employee receiving a transfer or promotion may choose to remove the employee from the new position. In this case, the employee will be permitted to return to his/her former position, if it has not been filled. If after 90 days the new role is not suitable to the employee and the supervisor, the employee may apply for another position within the City. (Code

Section 29.08.04070 Hours of Work

16. Hours of Work

It is the City Commission's intent to create a standard work week within which an employee is expected to perform municipal services. The City Commission also realizes that emergency and extenuating circumstances may arise in which an employee is required to work variable hours. Nothing within this policy is meant as a guarantee to the number of hours, either daily or weekly, that an employee may be required or allowed to work. However, it is the City Commission's policy that every employee be treated equally and fairly when expected to work odd or extended hours.

16.1 Standard Work Period

The standard work period for licensed police officers shall consist of 80 hours in any standard 14-day period. For all other employees, the standard work period shall consist of 40 hours during a seven day period between 12:00 a.m. Sunday and 11:59 p.m. Saturday. Non-exempt Fire Suppression Personnel with a 207(k) work period exemption will work 136 hours in a defined 18 day work period. A full shift shall consist of 24 hours. (Code 1637 § 1)

The City has no established standard work day for all employees. Rather the standard work day for individual employees is set by departmental policy and procedure and may change from time to time depending on departmental need.

16.1.1 Paid break times

Paid break times (rest breaks) are scheduled by the department, usually 15 minutes per break, and two per 8 or 10-hour shift. Smoke breaks are included in the allotted time for rest breaks. Employees are expected to remain at the worksite while on this break. Breaks must be taken at the appointed times, and not combined or taken at the beginning or the end of a shift. Breaks must be taken within the allowed time. Flexibility regarding rest breaks must be discussed in advance with the supervisor.

16.1.2 Unpaid lunch breaks

Employees must be required to take an unpaid lunch break of at least 30 minutes during the work schedule if the employee works more than 5 consecutive hours. Lunch breaks are to be taken at or near the middle of ones shift. The employee must be completely relieved of all duties. Employees may leave the worksite for the lunch break. Requests for flexibility regarding the timing of lunch breaks must be discussed in advance with the supervisor. Unpaid lunch breaks may not be applicable to public safety personnel. Scheduling regarding paid or unpaid lunch breaks shall be addressed by the Department Head and clearly communicated to employees.

16.1.3 Nursing Mother Breaks

The City, in accordance with state and federal legislation, allows mothers reasonable paid break time to express breast milk for a nursing child for one year after the child's birth. Employees are provided a flexible work schedule for this purpose, using break times and leave time if necessary. Where flex time is possible, the employee may make up time as approved by the supervisor. The employee should inform Human

Resources of her need, and the city will provide suitable room arrangements for expression and storage.

16.2 Emergency Call-Out and Special Schedule Time Pay If an employee is not scheduled or working on a shift and is called out to work or required to work according to a special schedule, which special schedule shall not include an extension of the shift the employee is currently working on, with less than 24 hours' notice of the schedule change shall receive a minimum of one hour of pay at one and one-half times the employee's normal hourly wage, including any shift differential pay. Any call-out and special schedule time worked in addition to the initial hour will be also paid at one and one-half times the employee's normal hourly wage, including any shift differential pay. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1660 § 1; Code 1776 §1)

16.3 On Call

Some positions within the City require that employees, as a condition of employment are expected to be available for "on-call" assignments.

These employees will be required to be available by phone or radio for a specified period of time with the purpose of being contacted to report to work if required. Employees must be formally assigned to be "on-call" by their immediate supervisor and/or department head, and must be able to report to work within one-half hour of call under normal conditions at legal speed limits. Public safety positions have separate and unique requirements for on-call reporting by department policy. While on call, employees must adhere to all City of Dickinson policies, including the Drug Free Workplace and applicable Drug and Alcohol Policies to ensure they are fit for duty. (Code 1776 §1)

16.4 On-Call Allowance

Employees assigned to be "on-call" will be paid an on-call allowance as set by the City Commission for each day or week on-call. Public safety positions have separate and unique requirements for on-call reporting, by department policy. (Code 1776 §1)

16.5 Emergency Call-Out and Special Schedule Time Pay

If an employee is not scheduled or working on a shift and is called out to work or required to work according to a special schedule, which special schedule shall not include an extension of the shift the employee is currently working on, with less than 24 hours' notice of the schedule change shall receive a minimum of one hour of pay at one and one-half times the employee's normal hourly wage, including any shift differential pay, and skilled based pay. Any call-out and special schedule time worked in addition to the initial hour will be also paid at one and one-half times the employee's normal hourly wage, including any shift differential pay, and skilled based pay. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1660 § 1)

16.6 Remote Call-In / Resolve issue remotely

Hours worked as a result of being called during an "on-call" period and the employee is able to resolve the issue over the phone or remotely will be paid at one and one-half (1 ½) times the regular hourly wage, including any shift differential pay and skilled based pay, for all hours worked with a minimum 15 minute shift guarantee. (Code 1776 §1)

16.7 Flex Time

The Department Head may authorize flexible work hours within the applicable work week in situations where it is appropriate or necessary. Full-time employees must still adhere to their standard work week unless flex time or overtime has been approved by the Department Head. In all cases, the needs of the City will take first priority in determining flex time applications.

16.8 Overtime Compensation

Overtime compensation at 1.5 times normal hourly pay will be paid to non-exempt employees for time actually worked in excess of forty hours per work week; time paid in excess of 80 hours paid at normal hourly rate in any standard 14 day work period for licensed police officers; hours paid in excess of 40 hours paid at normal hourly rate in the standard seven day work period for all other eligible employees. Overtime work must be approved by the employee's supervisor in writing, in advance.

Fire Suppression Personnel with a 207(k) work period will receive overtime compensation for time worked in excess of 204 hours in a defined twenty-seven day work period. Overtime will be paid at 1.5 times the normal hourly pay of the employee. The hourly pay of the employee will be either the stated hourly rate of the employee's wage, or shall be calculated by dividing the employee's salary by 2.080 hours. Fire Suppression Personnel scheduled to work on a holiday will receive holiday pay for hours worked on the holiday, up to a maximum of twelve hours of holiday pay, regardless of whether the employee's shift exceeds twelve hours on the holiday, at 1.5 times the normal hourly pay of the employee. (Code 1637 § 1)

16.9 Compensation Time

Compensation Time is eliminated as City employment benefit as of December 31, 2013. Previously accrued compensation time shall be paid out to employees as of December 31, 2013. (Ord. No. 1533 § 2)

16.10 Exemptions to Overtime (Exempt Employees)

Department of Labor (DOL) Standards for Classifying Exempt Positions will be followed by the City. The City Administrator, along with the City Attorney and the Human Resources Coordinator shall make determinations regarding classification of exempt and non-exempt employees, and shall communicate these determinations to employees upon hire and/or upon changes to job descriptions.

16.11 Attendance

All municipal employees are expected to be at work on time and during their regularly scheduled hours. Employees who are unable to report for work on time are required to notify the appropriate Department Head or his pre-established designee prior to their being late or absent, unless an emergency arises. In the case of an emergency situation, the employee is expected to notify the appropriate Department Head or his pre-established designee as soon as reasonably possible. If an employee is absent more than two (2) consecutive shifts without proper notification, the employee will be considered to have voluntarily resigned their position. Failure to observe the attendance regulations may result in disciplinary action.

16.12 Time Sheets

Each non-exempt employee's time sheet is a record of his/her regular hours worked, overtime worked, on-call, call-back, and vacation or sick leave used for the purpose of calculating and issuing pay checks. Exempt employees will record their vacation and other leave time. Every employee must sign his/her time sheet to verify that all entries are accurate. Intentional falsification of time sheets may result in disciplinary action.

An employee may not log in or out for any other employee. Supervisors shall have the authority to adjust employee time sheets or time clock entries for legitimate purposes,

including but not limited to call-outs or to correct a mistake on an employee's time sheet. (Code 1637 § 1)

16.13 Travel Pay

The City will follow state and federal regulations on the compensation of employees for travel pay. Employees who travel will be required to obtain approval in advance from their supervisor. If an employee wishes to be counseled on the travel pay for their instance of travel, the employee should seek assistance from the Human Resources Coordinator. Human Resources will then outline the travel pay that will apply.

16.14 Pay Situations Not Covered in this Section

Pay Situations not addressed in this section of this policy will be addressed on a case by case basis. Such decisions will serve as the basis for changes to this policy in the future.

(Code 1637 § 1; Code 1660 § 1; Code 1776 § 1)

(Code 1958 § 9-22; Ord. No. 376; Ord. No. 721 § 1; Ord. No. 967 §§ 4, 5; Ord. No. 1053 §1; Ord. No. 1077 § 1; Ord. No. 1087 § 2; Ord. No. 1163 § 5; Ord. No. 1201, § 2; Ord. No. 1224, § 8.; Ord. No. 1307 § 8; Ord. No. 1308 § 1; Ord. No. 1339 § 1, Ord. No. 1533 §2, Code 1637 § 1; Code 1697 § 1; Code 1709 § 3; Code 1776 § 1Code 1776 §1)

Section 29.08.04080 Compensation

17. Compensation and Benefits

17.1 Pay Plan - Preparation; amendment

The board of city commissioners shall be responsible for the development of a uniform and equitable pay plan which shall consist of minimum and maximum rates of pay for each class of positions and such intermediate steps as may be necessary and equitable. After the adoption of such plan no position shall be assigned a higher than maximum or lower than the minimum wage or salary provided for that grade, unless the schedule for the whole grade be amended. When changes in responsibilities or work of positions, living costs, recruiting experience, prevailing rates of pay, the City's financial condition and policies or other pertinent conditions warrant such action, the board of city commissioners shall consider changes to such a plan and shall adopt any such changes as they deem necessary and advisable.

17.2 Pay Plan - Administration

Appointment Rate.

The minimum rate of pay for a class shall normally be paid upon appointment to the position. Appointment rate above the minimum rate, however, may be paid if in the opinion of the City Administrator it is justified on the basis of exceptional qualifications or other conditions. If a former employee is re-employed in a class or similar class in which he was previously employed, the City Administrator may make an appointment at the same rate of pay which the employee had been receiving at the termination of his services. Additionally, the City Administrator may, with the advice and consent of the Board of City Commissioners, establish a uniform system of signing bonuses for selected staff position, by class and grade.

17.3 Pay Increases

Adjustments to the salary and wage schedules shall be reviewed by the board of city commissioners at least annually, at or prior to the time of adoption of the budget for the following calendar year of the city. Any change to the salary and wage schedules shall be effected only by affirmative action of the board of city commissioners and such board shall prescribe in its action the effective date of such change. The City Administrator, based on recommendation of the Department Head, may withhold a salary or wage adjustment of an employee. This action may be appealed to the Civil Service Commission.

17.4 Remuneration

17.4.1 Non-Exempt Employees

Any wage rate established for a non-exempt employee shall represent his/her basic pay rate. Full-time employees shall be eligible to receive additional pay for hours worked in excess of 40 hours in any one week as described in Section 29.08.04070.16.6.

EXCEPTION: Police and Fire Suppression Personnel overtime compensation described in section 29.08.04070.16.6. (Code 1637 § 1)

17.4.2 – Exempt Employees

Any salary rate established for exempt employees shall represent their total remuneration except for reimbursement of official travel and reimbursement for other allowable expenses, if applicable.

17.5 Prohibition on Remuneration from Outside Sources

Under no circumstances shall an employee of the City accept any money, service or other valuable consideration from any source other than the City for performance of their duties or based on the employee's position with the City.

17.6 Pay rates on Promotion

An employee will receive a pay increase upon promotion, taking into account the pay they were receiving prior to promotion and the experience/education he/she brings to the classification into which he/she has been promoted. Changes in an employee's Job

Title, with no corresponding changes in duties or responsibilities shall not be considered a promotion.

17.7 Shift Differential Pay

"Shift-differential" compensation shall apply to those non-exempt employees working regularly scheduled hours between 6:00 PM and 6:00 AM, and shall be included in any Emergency Call-Out compensation. Should new alternative shift arrangements be necessary, the City Administrator shall identify for the employees concerned, any differential pay that may apply. (Code 1536 § 1; Ord. No. 1660 § 2)

17.8 Pay Period and Pay Day

The City will pay employees at least twice each month. If, for some reason, the City anticipates the need to enact a change to pay schedules or pay day, that alters the timing of such payments, the City shall provide employees with at least 30 days' notice before enacting the change, except when such change is mandated by the State or Federal Government. In the event the payday falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, checks will be distributed on the nearest workday preceding the payday.

17.9 Early Pay Checks

The City of Dickinson does not grant early pay checks to employees under any circumstances.

17.10 Direct Deposit of Paychecks

The City requires direct deposit of the employee's pay into the bank account(s) designated by the employee.

17.11 Payroll Deductions

The municipality is required to withhold Federal Income Tax, Social Security Taxes, Medicare Taxes, and North Dakota Income Tax from each employee's pay check. Other deductions may include: Employee designated deductions as permitted under the City's flexible benefits plan, and deductions requested by the employee which have received prior approval for payroll deduction. (Code 1709 § 4)

18. Benefits

The following benefits are afforded according to individual employee classifications (see Section 29.08.04050).

Regular Full Time:			
Description	Location	Benefit	Eligible for Benefit
Vacation Leave:	Section 29.08.04090	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Sick Leave:	Section 29.08.04090	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Personal Leave:	Section 29.08.04.90	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Holiday Pay:	Section 29.08.04090	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Health Insurance:	Section 29.08.04080	Full benefit	According to insurance
provider			
Retirement:	Section 29.08.04080	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Life Insurance:	Section 29.08.04080	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Longevity Pay:	Section 29.08.04080	Full benefit	Upon completion of five years
EAP:	Section 29.08.04080	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Flexible Benefits:	Section29.08.04080	Full benefit	Upon Hire
Med. Spend Acct.:	Section 29.08.04080	Full benefit	Upon Hire

Regular Part Time:					
Description	% of Benefit	Eligible for Benefit			
Vacation Leave:	Prorated to average weekly hours	Upon Hire			

Sick Leave:	Prorated to average weekly hours	Upon Hire		
Holiday Pay	Prorated to average weekly hours	Upon Hire		
Health Insurance:	Full Benefit	Upon Hire		
Life Insurance	Full Benefit	Upon Hire		
Employee Assistance Program Full Benefit Upon Hire				
Flexible Benefits:	Prorated to average weekly hours	Upon Hire		
Med. Spending Acct.: Full Benefit @ 30 hours avg. weekly Upon Hire				

No benefits are available to limited hour schedule or seasonal employees. (Code 1637 § 1)

18.1 Health Insurance

If an employee chooses this benefit, the City of Dickinson pays for 80% of Health Insurance costs for the coverage the employee requests, regardless whether said request is single or family coverage. A years of service benefit provides that for every 5 years of employment with the City, an additional 2.5% of the employee share will be paid by the City. The extents and limitations of the policy are negotiated by the City and a private carrier and approved by the City Commission. The 20% portion of the coverage which the employee pays may be deducted from the employee's paycheck as a pre-tax benefit.

Each member of the City's group health insurance plan will receive a copy of the health insurance policy.

18.2 Retirement Plans

Upon hire, eligible employees will be enrolled in the appropriate retirement plan. The City and the employee will contribute to a retirement plan operated on the City's behalf by an administrator designated by the City or the City itself. Each regular full-time employee will receive a copy of their retirement plan's Summary Plan Description (SPD).

18.3 Life Insurance

The City offers employees a \$60,000 group term life insurance policy with the City paying 50% of the single person policy and the employee paying the remaining 50%. Of the total policy amount, the first \$50,000 of coverage is pre-tax and the remaining premium is subject to payroll taxes. In addition to the single coverage, the employee may pick up dependent care coverage at the employee's cost. The dependent coverage has a face value of \$5,000 on the spouse and \$2,500 on each child.

18.4 Employee Paid Medical Flexible Spending Account

The City permits employees to have designated amounts of money deducted from each paycheck based on an employee designated annual amount on a pre-tax basis and placed in a medical expense spending benefit account. The employee is permitted to withdraw money from this account on an as needed basis to pay qualifying medical bills throughout the year up to the annual deduction amount. Each employee will receive a copy of

this plan. For more detail, employees are encouraged to refer to the actual plan.

18.5 Daycare Expenses Benefit Account

The City permits employees to have designated amounts of money deducted from each paycheck based on an employee designated annual amount on a pre-tax basis and placed in a daycare expense benefit account. The employee is permitted to withdraw money from this account on an as needed basis to pay daycare costs throughout the year up to the annual deduction amount.

18.6 AFLAC Coverage

The City makes available to the employees coverage in plans of AFLAC insurance at the employee's cost. Employees indicating interest in participating in any of the AFLAC programs will have premium amounts deducted from their paychecks.

18.7 Employer Paid Medical Flexible Spending Account

The City makes available up to \$250 annually per employee on permanent status, who average at least 40 hours per week on an annual basis, as a separate plan from that described in the paragraph above. For more detail, employees are encouraged to refer to the actual plan. The benefit is prorated for permanent PT benefit eligible employees.

18.8 COBRA Allowances

In compliance with COBRA (Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act) requirements, the City of Dickinson will offer continuing health care coverage on a selfpay basis to employees or their qualified beneficiaries following termination of employment (for reasons other than for gross misconduct), a reduction in hours, retirement, death, or change in familial status. These health benefits will be identical to the coverage offered to full time employees.

For terminated or reduced-hour employees, the coverage may last up to 18 months, (29 months for disabled employees or qualified beneficiaries if under Federal COBRA requirements), or until they become eligible for other health insurance coverage, whichever is earlier. In the event of the employee's retirement, divorce, separation or death, the coverage may last up to 36 months for a qualified beneficiary. The full policy monthly premium plus a 2% administration fee will be paid by the employee or the beneficiary. The employee or beneficiary may waive all rights to continuation coverage. Notification procedures and time limits are outlined in the continuation coverage "Notification of Rights" letter.

18.9 Special Benefits for Retirees

Any full-time City employee, who is at least 62 years old or who is at least 55 years old and has completed 25 years of service and retires from City employment is eligible for a benefit consisting of a subsidy of their actual monthly health insurance cost based on the type of benefit plan, either a single or family, the retiree carried at the time of retirement from the date of retirement until the retiree is eligible for federal Medicare. The benefit

will consist of a subsidy of 2% of the retiree's actual monthly health insurance cost for each full year of employment with the City to a maximum of 50% of the retiree's actual monthly health insurance cost. At no time will the monthly subsidy exceed the City's actual group premium cost for a comparable type of policy times the applicable percentage. If an employee covered by the City's group plan dies while employed by the City or a retiree covered by this subsection dies before attaining federal Medicare eligibility or becomes eligible for federal Medicare benefits, the person(s) covered under the employee's or retiree's health insurance benefit at the time of death or federal Medicare eligibility of the employee or retiree may continue to receive said benefit for the remainder of the employee's/retiree's benefit allowance period or three years or until that person(s) dies or becomes eligible for federal Medicare benefits whichever is less.

18.10 Employee Assistance Program (EAP)

Purpose

It is recognized that most people face personal difficulties at some point in their lives. Given this reality, the city of Dickinson EAP is committed to assisting employees with distress as a means of facilitating 1) a resolution of problems and 2) the maintenance of satisfactory job performance. For this reason, the City is offering all regular full-time and regular part-time benefited employees access to an Employee Assistance Program, the use of which is described in this subsection. In pursuing the above objective, the EAP can be used by employees to help prevent problems from hindering one's capacity to fulfill job requirements.

18.10.1 Use of the Program

Employees wishing to use this program may contact the EAP provider in accordance with the provisions of the program. EAP may be used in one of two primary ways:

18.10.2 Confidential Use

An employee experiencing difficulties may, on his/her own initiative, seek information, guidance, or personal therapy. In this pursuit of assistance, the employee's confidentiality will be maintained. The City of Dickinson EAP is a pre-paid benefit for regular full time employees and their family members. If services are needed beyond the scope of the EAP, a recommendation to a preferred provider will be made. If this occurs and the employee accepts the referral, the employee will be financially responsible and may be able to use their health insurance based on approval of the insurer.

18.10.3 Employer Involvement

When an employee's job performance is determined to be unsatisfactory as a result of personal difficulties caused by on or off the job circumstances, the employee's supervisor has the option of encouraging the use of the EAP. In cases where there is a serious

concern, as determined by the Department Head, about the employee's performance, the Supervisor, working with the Human Resource Coordinator, may require participation in the EAP as part of an action plan. When the EAP is used in this manner, the city of Dickinson may request of the provider a verification of the employee's appointments and treatment completion. Further, if such an employee refuses the referral to the EAP as part of an action plan, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action in accordance with Section 29.08.04110 of this manual.

18.11 Reimbursement for Travel Expenses

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson that employees be fully reimbursed for necessary and reasonable job related travel expenses. Every effort will be made to treat all employees fairly and equally when granting reimbursements for travel expenditures. It should be understood that approval for travel and training will always be subject to budget restrictions. Requests for reimbursement will require that forms and approvals be completed and signed by appropriate individuals.

18.11.1 Travel Approval Required

All in-state travel must be approved by the appropriate Department Head prior to travel except in emergency instances. All out-of-state travel must be approved by the appropriate Department Head prior to the date of travel except in emergency instances.

Only original approval is required for re-occurring meetings.

Employees must purchase reimbursable flight tickets when possible (provided that the extra charge is not more than \$50.00) Reimbursement is not allowed for the use of a personal vehicle when a city vehicle is available, unless health or safety conditions require it.

Employees are required to reimburse the city for expenses associated with training and education if the employee leaves the city within 90 days of the training event. An acknowledgement form for this reimbursement will be signed upon the approval of the training event.

18.11.2 In-State Travel Expenses

Per diem rates for approved in-state travel are as follows: the state of North Dakota lodging rate as listed in NDCC 44-08-04 and any subsequent amendments thereto. Unless the hotel/motel providing lodging is unwilling, the City of Dickinson will be billed directly by the establishment for lodging costs. In the case where the employee is required to pay for lodging, said employee will be reimbursed through the accounts payable process following submission of a signed travel voucher. Receipts are required. In the case of extenuating circumstances, wherein the employee is unable to obtain lodging at the state rate, the City Administrator may approve lodging costs higher than the state rate. Per diem payment for meals

at the current State Rate as listed in NDCC 44-08-04 and any subsequent amendments thereto. The City Administrator may approve reimbursements above the state rate when necessary.

18.11.3 Out-of-State Travel Expenses

Per diem rates for approved travel outside the state of North Dakota are as follows:

18.11.3.1 Per diem lodging allowance shall consist of the actual cost of lodging expense.

18.11.3.2 The per diem allowance for meals shall be:

Continental United States. The allowance for out-of-state meals, within the continental United States, is equal to the per diem meals rate in the city for which a claim is made on that day as established by rule for federal employees by the United States general services administration and must be allocated 20% to the first quarter, 30% to the second quarter, and 50% to the third quarter.

Canada, Alaska, and Hawaii. The allowance for meals in Canada, Alaska, and Hawaii may not exceed one and one-half time the current continental United States standard rate for federal employees established by the United States general services administration.

Outside Continental United States, Canada, Alaska, and Hawaii. The allowance for meals outside the continental United States, Canada, Alaska, and Hawaii may not exceed two time the current continental United States standard rate for federal employees established by the United States general services administration.

18.11.4 Meal Reimbursements - Schedule

for Computation The times for

allowance of paid meals is as follows:

First Reimbursement Period is from 12:00 midnight to 11:00 a.m. First quarter reimbursement may not be made if travel began after 7:00 a.m.

Second Reimbursement Period is from 11:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Second quarter reimbursement may not be made if travel began after 1:00 p.m.

Third Reimbursement Period is from 5:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight. If an employee is traveling for less than 3 hours in any quarter, meals will not be reimbursed.

Meals purchased within the City are not reimbursable unless included as part of conference or convention registration or meetings set by the City Administrator or City

Commission which require attendance. (Code 1637 § 1)

18.11.5 Receipts Required

Receipts shall be required for all non-per diem expenses which are to be reimbursed by the City of Dickinson.

18.11.6 Mileage and Air Travel Reimbursement Rate

When employees must use their private vehicles for approved travel, mileage shall be paid at the current state rate or other rate approved by the City Commission. In order to be reimbursed for on the job mileage, the employee must submit a travel voucher showing date of travel, odometer readings at beginning and end of trip, miles driven, destination, and purpose of the travel.

18.11.7 Miles driven to and from the workplace are not eligible for reimbursement. Employees are not reimbursed for miles driven to and from work. However, reimbursement is allowed when employees are asked to drive their own vehicles to regularly conduct deliveries or similar situations. Agreements on such reimbursement will be made in advance.

18.11.8 Travel Cost Advances

When an employee is required to travel by plane or will be traveling for a period exceeding one day may receive, upon request, an advance of 80% of estimated travel costs plus per diem. Upon submission of travel reimbursement request, the actual reimbursement will be adjusted based on the amount that was advanced to the employee.

18.11.9 Timing of Reimbursements

Employees will be reimbursed for travel and other reimbursable expenses as soon as practicable following submission of receipts and reimbursement voucher.

18.12 Clothing Allowance: Uniformed Personnel

Due to the fact that the City requires certain personnel to wear Department designated uniforms while on duty, the City will pay the cost of cleaning and replacement of said uniforms as approved by the department head.

18.13 Longevity Pay: Description of Benefit

Each Regular Full-time employee, as defined in Section 29.08.04050.14.1, who has been employed with the City for a period of five consecutive years or more shall be considered qualified and shall receive, in addition to his regular pay, a longevity payment. An employee who leaves his employment in good standing as determined by the City Administrator and who has completed fifteen years of service shall be entitled to percentage pay-out of his longevity pay based on the percentage of calendar year completed at the time of termination. (Code 1637 § 1)

18.13.1 Rate Schedule for Longevity Pay

Each qualified employee shall receive a longevity payment each year, for each month's service completed, computed as follows:

One through ten years of service \$3.00/month Eleven through twenty years of service \$3.50/month Twenty-one years and over service \$4.00/month

18.13.2 Time of Payment

Employees receiving longevity pay must be employed at the time that the reimbursement is paid, except as described 18.13. Payments shall be made on or about December 15 of each year. No early payment will be made except as authorized in Subsection 29.08.04080.18.3

18.13.3 Withholding of Payment

Upon a finding that an employee(s) is not in good standing, the City Administrator may withhold or not authorize longevity payment. Examples of employees who may be considered not in good standing include, but are not limited to employees on work improvement programs, disciplinary suspensions or employees who have a history of the same. The City Administrator may also consider input from the employee's supervisor or the employee's annual evaluation. In this case the employee(s) affected will be notified of the reason for nonpayment.

18.14 (RESERVED)

18.15 Workers' Compensation

The City of Dickinson purchases Worker's Compensation coverage from the state of North Dakota which is designed to protect employees against medical costs and salary loss as a result of injuries while on the job. The municipality pays the contribution cost for this coverage.

18.16 Special Benefit to Retiring Public Safety Employees

Retiring, full time, sworn police officers, who meet the requirements listed in this subsection will receive their service weapon as part of the service award recognition process upon retirement. In order to be eligible to receive their service weapon, the retiring officer must:

• have completed a minimum of 20 years of service with the Police

Department, and

- be terminating employment with the Police Department under favorable conditions, and
- that the appropriate Federal Firearms paperwork identifying the owner of the weapon is completed prior to actually receiving the weapon. For purposes of this subsection, leaving under unfavorable conditions means that the City is terminating employment for cause for violation of policy, procedure or law, or termination is for medical reasons of a psychological nature.

Upon retirement, a member of the Dickinson Fire Department, whether volunteer or full time, will receive their helmet mounted to a presentation plaque in appreciation of their service to the community. To qualify, a member must have completed a minimum of 10 years of service and be at

least 55 years of age OR completed 20 years of service with the Dickinson Fire Department. (Code 1637 § 1)

18.17 Sick Leave Bank

The purpose of the Sick Leave Bank (SLB) is to provide sick leave to participating employees who have suffered an unplanned, non-work-related personal illness, injury, disability or quarantine and whose accumulated leave is exhausted and, more specifically, to provide a last resort source of leave in cases of catastrophic illnesses.

18.17.1 Sick Leave Bank Administration

Sick Leave Bank Administration will be conducted by Human Resources and other designees as determined by the City Administrator. (Ord. 1777 § 1)

18.17.2 Membership and Eligibility

Employees will become participants in the SLB by donating hours at the beginning of employment or as provided in Paragraph 18.17.3. Donations of sick leave to the SLB are non-refundable, except in the event of the termination of the SLB. In the event the SLB is terminated, the total number of hours on deposit shall be returned proportionately to the then participating members and credited to their sick leave accumulation, not to exceed the employee's original donation. Employees participating in the SLB may cancel their participation in the SLB at any time, by submitting written notice of cancellation to the City Administrator. Membership withdrawal, as well as termination of employment, shall result in forfeiture of all hours contributed.

A member shall lose the right to obtain the benefits of the SLB by:

- termination of employment, including resignation, involuntary termination, and retirement;
- cancellation of participation;
- refusal to honor such assessment as may be required by the SLB;
- refusal to comply with the policies and procedures of the plan; or
- determination of permanent disability by the Social Security Administration (SSA). An SLB grant shall only be used by the individual member for his/her personal catastrophic or terminal illness or injury. Participation in the SLB is voluntary but requires an initial contribution to the SLB and subsequent contributions as assessed in accordance with this policy. Only contributors will be allowed to receive grants from the SLB with the exception of specific employee donations of leave through the SLB as described in section 18.17.3. (Ord. 1777 § 1)

Persons off work due to a normal pregnancy and delivery shall not be eligible to receive an SLB grant. The SLB shall not be used by a SLB member disabled by an injury covered by Worker's Compensation. The existence of the SLB and participation by an employee does not negate or eliminate any other sick leave policies of the City, nor does it in any way negate the rights of an individual who participates in the SLB to any other sick leave benefits. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1777 § 1)

18.17.3 Sick Leave Bank Contributions
A sixteen (16) hour sick leave assessment shall occur for each participating employee at the beginning of employment. Employees who do not opt into the SLB at the beginning of employment may opt in during the benefit election period for the next two plan years. Employees shall have no further opportunities to opt in, except as herein provided. The required initial sick leave assessment will be pro-rated for Regular Part-Time employees to the average number of hours that employee works. If an employee leaves the SLB, the employee may not re-enter

An employee drawing SLB benefits shall not be required to contribute any assessment or make back payments for assessments required while that person was drawing SLB benefits.

in the future. (Ord. 1777 § 1)

Upon initial adoption of the Human Resources Manual, the City shall contribute 800 hours (100 days) to the SLB. The Board of City Commissioners may be requested by the SLB to contribute additional time as necessary at future dates to keep the plan solvent depending on the number of employees receiving benefits following adoption of the plan.

All participants of the SLB, who are Regular Full-Time Employees may be assessed an additional eight hours of sick leave if it is determined to be necessary, but in no case shall a participant be required to donate more than that additional amount per request. There is no limit to the number of times the SLB may assess additional hours from its members. This assessment will be prorated for members who are Regular Part-time employees based on the average number of hours that employee worked per week for the year prior to the assessment.

Any employee who is rehired within one year of being laid off, who was a member of the sick leave bank prior to lay-off, will not be required to again make an initial time donation to the SLB in order to be a member. Likewise, any employee who is laid off and rehired within one year, who was not a member of the SLB prior to the lay-off will be ineligible to become a member upon rehire. Member employees may make general donations of leave to the SLB that are not directed to any specific employee whenever an employee so desires.

Employees (members or non-members) may donate leave to specific employees upon the request of a specific employee. Employees wishing to request donated leave from other employees must make the request through Human Resources and must have exhausted all of their own accrued leave time (sick, vacation, personal leave, and floating holiday) before requesting donated leave. Human Resources shall submit the request to all City employees. The requesting party's name shall not be included in the request unless the requesting party specifically consents in writing to the employee's name being released with the request. Employees shall not be required to consent to the use of their name in the request.

The SLB reserves the right to set a limit on the amount of leave any individual employee may grant per request to a specific employee with ongoing catastrophic or terminal illnesses as defined in the FMLA. The SLB also reserves the right to set a limit on the amount of leave any individual employee may grant per request to a specific employee for that employee to care for an immediate family member as defined in the FMLA with an ongoing serious medical illness as defined in the FMLA. These aforementioned limitations are to ensure that no more than 160 donated sick leave hours are on the books for any one Regular Full-Time Employee per request. Likewise, the maximum hours of donated sick leave carried on the books at any one time for a Regular Part-time Employee will not exceed the equivalent of four weeks at the average number of hours said employee worked for the year prior to receiving SLB or donated sick leave hours. The maximum number of hours an employee can receive through direct donations during the employee's employment with the City is 320. Should donations of time fall below that needed to maintain the recipient employee on full-time status, said employee will lose that status. Employees who wish to donate leave to a specific employee as provided hereunder may not donate leave in an amount which would cause the donating employee to have less than 160 hours of leave remaining for their own use. (Code 1637 § 1, Ord. No. 1777 § 1)

18.17.4 Sick Leave Bank Usage

Prior to being eligible to draw any hours from the SLB, or to receive sick leave donations from employees, recipients shall be required to exhaust all accrued sick leave, vacation leave, personal leave, and floating holiday. (Ord. No. 1777 § 1)

With the exception of specific employee donated grants of sick leave as described in section 18.17.3, any employee requesting an SLB grant must be a member of the SLB.

SLB participants shall not be eligible to receive SLB benefits until the employee has been off work for at least 160 working hours, unless the employee or his/her representative provides adequate evidence to the City Administrator that recent past major illness(es) have made it impossible to accumulate sufficient accruals to cover the 160 working hours requirement.

While receiving SLB benefits or a specific donation of leave, an employee shall not accrue any sick leave or vacation leave, nor will the employee be eligible to receive compensation for any holidays unless that employee is exercising his or her rights under the FMLA. (Ord. No. 1777 § 1)

No more than 240 hours shall be granted in any one grant even though an individual may be eligible to receive multiple grants up to a total of 720 hours. Applicants may submit requests for a SLB grant(s) or extensions of a SLB grant(s) before the prior grant(s) or other requirements of this policy have expired. (Code 1777 § 1)

Regular Part-Time Employees will be eligible to receive SLB benefits prorated to the average number of hours they work. (Code 1637 § 1)

18.17.5 Maintenance and Reporting of Sick Leave Bank Records

Human Resources shall maintain the records of all applications for donations, applications for withdrawal grants, and all cancellations. (Ord No. 1777 § 1)

Human Resources shall maintain records of all SLB participants as well as their contributions and successful withdrawal grants, and the status of the SLB. (Ord. No. 1777 § 1)

If a SLB grant recipient does not use all of the hours granted from the SLB, the unused hours shall remain in the SLB.

All appropriate SLB forms are available from Human Resources. City Administrator will annually distribute an administrative report reflective of SLB activity. (Code 1637 § 1, Ord. No. 1777 § 1)

18.17.6 Dissolution of the Sick Leave Bank

In the event the SLB is dissolved, the Sick Leave Bank Administrators shall determine the terms under which the SLB may be dissolved and will establish guidelines for distribution of remaining balances. (Ord. No. 1777 § 1)

18.18 Training and Tuition Reimbursement

18.18.1 Objective

The City will endeavor to support employees who wish to continue their education to secure increased responsibility and growth within their professional careers. In keeping with this philosophy, the City has established a reimbursement program for expenses incurred through approved institutions of learning. Full time regular employees who have completed their probationary period are eligible to participate.

18.18.2 Job-Related Training

Department heads may within budgetary constraints, plan, schedule and pay for any job-related training essential to the work assigned for regular full time and regular part time employees. This may include tuition, coursework, seminars, conference fees, as well as travel costs. Normally this training is provided during duty hours. If the training is conducted beyond duty hours, the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) for non-exempt employees must be applied.

18.18.3 Tuition Reimbursement Budget

The City will include in its budget annually an amount for continuing education. The City will advise employees of the budgeted amount each year for continuing education. Approvals will be based upon the number of applications received and the amount budgeted, as well as the City Administrator's discretion in carrying out the vision and mission of the City. A maximum of \$1.500.00 will be available to any one employee per semester (or semester equivalent).

18.18.4 Stipulations for Tuition Reimbursement

These reimbursements are not for job-related training as described above, and are for education events performed on the employee's own time. The employee must be in good standing at the time of the application for tuition reimbursement. The continuing education program must correspond to an accredited program that either offers growth in an area related to the employee's current position, or that might lead to promotional opportunities. This may include courses for college credit, continuing education credit courses, seminars, and certification exams. A grade of "C" or its equivalent is required for reimbursement. Expenses must be validated by receipts, and a copy of the final grade or a completion certificate must be presented. In some cases, books and study materials may be included in the reimbursement request. The City will reimburse up to 70% of approved costs.

18.18.5 Procedures for Applying for Tuition Reimbursement

- The employee provides his or her manager with information about the course of study.
- A tuition reimbursement form will be completed with appropriate signatures prior to the employee enrolling in the course. Final approval will be decided upon by the City Administrator in conjunction with the appropriate department head, and the HR Coordinator.
- The applicant is informed of the approval, and the amount of reimbursement approved.
- The original form is maintained by the employee, with a copy given to Human Resources.
- The employee then enrolls in the course.
- Upon completion, the employee submits the original, along with receipts and other documentation.

• The employee is reimbursed by the payroll department.

18.18.6 Limitations

The City will endeavor to make reimbursements equitable across departments, and to qualifying employees within budgetary restrictions. It shall retain the right to limit approvals or approval dollars so that the tuition reimbursement program will have maximum benefit to the most employees and to the City's needs.

An employee who resigns or is terminated while attending a course previously approved for reimbursement will not receive reimbursement. An employee who leaves employment with the City within one year of receiving tuition reimbursement must repay the tuition on a pro-rated basis. The City will consider exceptions in extreme cases of health or safety. (Code 1709 § 4)

Section 29.08.04090 Leaves of Absence

19. Leaves of Absence

Leaves of absence are considered a benefit and privilege offered by the City of Dickinson. Leaves are not granted automatically, but are to be requested by the employee. Every effort will be made to ensure that all employees are treated equally and fairly. In some instances it may not be possible to grant all leaves requested during busy times or emergency situations, however every effort will be made to grant requests.

Employees anticipating a leave of absence are encouraged to apply for such leave as early as possible prior to taking leave. Five days prior notice is required in the case of leaves extending more than one day, except in cases of emergency.

19.1 Vacation Leave

19.1.1 Vacation Leave Benefits for Regular Full Time Employees

Paid vacation leave will be granted to all qualified employees. Vacation leave for Regular Full-Time Employees will accrue at a rate according to an employee's tenure with the City based on the following schedule:

Employment Year	Pay Period (26 Pay Periods)
1 - 5	3.7
6 - 9	4.31
10 -13	5.54
14 -17	6.46
18 - 21	7.08
22 & over	7.38

Additionally, at the discretion of the City Administrator and with the concurrence of the Board of City Commissioners, the City may grant additional vacation days to certain executive level employees upon their hire to such executive level position. Such additional vacation days shall be granted irrespective of the vacation accrual schedule set forth in this section, and shall be granted only as an additional inducement to employment in such position. (Code 1637 § 1; Ord. No.1660 § 3; Ord. No.1670 § 3)

19.1.2 Vacation Leave Benefits for Regular Part Time Employees For Regular Part-time Employees, vacation accruals during the initial year of employment will be based on the estimated weekly hours the employee was hired to work. The average hours worked in a week will be compared to the 40 hours worked by a full-time employee and a percentage of benefit will be determined from that comparison. After the first year, the percentage of benefit will be based on the average of the actual weekly hours the employee worked in the previous year. Allocation of Accruals and Benefits for Regular Part-time Employees: (Code 1637 § 1)

<u>Qualifying Hours</u> Percent of Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 20 50% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 24 60% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 28 70% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 32 80% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 36 90% of Full Benefit

19.1.3 Suspension of Accrual for Employees on Leave of Absence without Pay Employees on leaves of absence without pay, employees who are absent for a full pay period may receive accrual of vacation leave benefits, depending upon the circumstances and a review by the City Administrator.

For cases of suspensions without pay, employees who are absent for more than a full pay period do not accrue vacation leave benefits.

19.1.4 Accrual and Availability of Vacation Leave

An employee's accrual of vacation leave shall begin upon their first hour of work, and may be used as it is earned, subject to the other requirements of this section.

19.1.5 Rules and Allowances of Vacation Accrual Carry-over

The maximum number of hours of vacation leave an employee shall be allowed to carry over as of December 31 of each year is 240 hours. Employees with a balance of 240 hours may continue to accrue hours at their regular rate of accrual over the year, but will not be permitted to carry over more than 240 hours as of December 31. It is the employee's responsibility to ensure that hours are used on a timely basis according to this Section. (Code 1637 § 1)

EXCEPTION: If an employee is denied vacation leave because of City or Department needs (snow emergencies in which the City needs employees on the job, for example) the Department Head, acting with the City Administrator, may allow carryover of hours — to be determined at the time, and specific to the work requested. Employees must request vacation leave in writing and the Department Head must respond to such request in writing. An email shall be sufficient to satisfy this request.

19.1.6 Benefit Pay-out to Separation Employees

Upon separation of employment, an employee will be paid for up to 240 hours any accrued but unused vacation time at the time of separation. Reimbursement for vacation leave will be at the employee's rate of pay on their last day of employment. Upon notice to the City by the employee that the employee intends to separate employment, the employee may not utilize accrued vacation leave from the period between the date of the notice to the official date of separation, unless such leave was already scheduled at the time the notice was given, and except in the case of extenuating circumstances. If the employee wishes to request an exception due to extenuating circumstances such request must be approved by the City Administrator.

19.1.7 Allowance for Employees on Vacation on a Recognized Holiday

When an employee's vacation time falls on a holiday, such time will not to be subtracted from an employee's vacation leave balance.

19.1.8 Rules for Submission of Vacation Leave Request Prior Notice of Leave Required

Vacation leave must be scheduled with the appropriate Department Head at the earliest possible time prior to the vacation leave requested. All employees requesting vacation leave shall complete a Request for Leave form and submit same with their request. Unless the employee can show extenuating circumstances, five days prior notice is required for vacation leave extending more than one day.

EXCEPTION TO FIVE DAY NOTICE REQUIREMENT: The City recognizes that extenuating circumstances may present themselves wherein the employee is not able to provide the normal notice. In this case, the Department Head may approve an exception to the five day notice requirement.

19.1.9 Right of City to Deny Request for Leave

The City of Dickinson reserves the right, to disapprove requested time for vacation leave for the purposes of maintaining the work force during heavy scheduled work periods. In the case where a denial of vacation leave would cause an employee to lose vacation leave at year end due to vacation accrual carry-over rules, refer to Section 29.08.04090.19.1.5. In normal operating situations, the City of Dickinson will make every effort possible to accommodate employee requests for vacation time off.

19.1.10 Limitations on Ability to Have Leave Request Approved Vacation leave will be granted on a first come first serve basis, based on operational needs. If the appropriate department head can anticipate the need to limit vacation leave to all but a certain number of employees during the last two months of the year, he/she is required to inform the employees of this situation and clearly establish and notify his/her employees in writing how many employees will be permitted to take said leave during those months by September 1 of the year. The exception to Section 29.08.04090.19.1.5 will not apply to employees who are notified of a year end leave allowance limitation. (Code 1637 § 1)

19.1.11 Minimum Charge to Vacation Leave

Fire Suppression Personnel with a 207(k) work period exemption will receive a leave reduction of 16 hours for any request of a minimum of 16 hours and a maximum of 24 hours. All other leave requests will be deducted at actual hours. (Code 1637 § 1; Ord. 1660 §5)

19.2 Sick Leave Benefits

19.2.1 Benefits for Regular Full Time Employees

Employees who are eligible for full benefits (see Section 29.08.04050) shall accrue sick leave at a rate of 3.7 hours of sick leave per pay period, over twenty-six

(26) pay periods annually. (Ord. No.1670 § 2)

19.2.2 Benefits for Regular Part Time Employees

For Regular Part-time Employees, sick leave accruals during the initial year of employment will be based on the estimated weekly hours the employee was hired to work. The average hours worked in a week will be compared to the 40 hours worked by a full-time employee and a percentage of benefit will be determined from that comparison. After the first year, the percentage of benefit will be based on the average of the actual weekly hours the employee worked in the previous year. (Code 1637 § 1)

Allocation of Accruals and Benefits for Regular Part-time Employees:

Average Weekly Hours > 20 50% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 24 60% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 28 70% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 32 80% of Full Benefit
Average Weekly Hours > 36 90% of Full Benefit

19.2.3 Suspension of Accrual for Employees on Leave of Absence Without Pay

Employees on leaves of absence without pay or suspensions without pay who are absent for a full pay period do not accrue sick leave benefits.

19.2.4 Accrual and Availability of Sick Leave

An employee's accrual of sick leave shall begin upon their first hour of work, and may be used as it is earned, subject to the other requirements of this section. (Ord. No.1670 § 3)

19.2.5 Rules and Allowances of Sick Leave Carry-over

Sick leave benefits not used during the calendar year in which they are earned may be carried over and used during the succeeding calendar years. There is no limit to the number of sick leave hours employees may accumulate.

19.2.6 Sick Leave Rate of Pay

Sick leave benefits shall be paid to non-terminating employees at the employee's regular rate of pay at the time the leave is taken. In the case of accumulated sick leave paid to a terminating employee, refer to Section

29.08.04090.19.2.10 (Code 1637 § 1)

19.2.7 Rules for Reporting Off Work Due to Sickness

An employee absent from work due to illness or disability shall notify their Department Head or his designee before scheduled to work, or as soon as reasonably possible if an emergency situation exists, and indicate the expected length of absence. Failure to report an illness in a timely manner may be cause to consider the absence as unauthorized and without pay.

Use of Sick Leave is allowed only for:

- Personal illness, injury or medical care appointments.
- To care for an immediate family member when medical care is necessary.

 Immediate family members are those persons listed in Section 29.08.04060.15.20.

When abuse is suspected as defined in Section 29.08.04090.19.2.9, the City Administrator or appropriate Department head may require a medical doctor's written statement to verify that a legitimate illness exists. A medical doctor's written statement may be required for any absence lasting more than four consecutive days. (Code 1637 § 1)

19.2.8 Minimum charge to Sick Leave

Fire Suppression Personnel with a 207(k) work period exemption will receive a leave reduction of 16 hours for any request of a minimum of 16 hours and a maximum of 24 hours. All other leave requests will be deducted at actual hours. (Ord. 1660§5)

19.2.9 Rules Affecting Abuse of Sick Leave

Use of sick leave benefits is permitted for the reasons listed in 29.08.04090.19.2.7. Use of sick leave for other than authorized purposes shall be deemed abuse of sick leave. Sick leave benefits are intended to protect an employee's earnings in the event of an illness, injury or authorized event. Abuse of sick leave benefits will not be tolerated and may prevent an employee from receiving pay increases or lead to disciplinary action. (Code 1637 § 1)

19.2.10 Benefit Pay-Out to Terminating Employee

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson that upon termination of employment employees shall be eligible for the payment of accrued sick leave at the rate of 1/4 of the employee's hourly wage at the time of separation for each hour of accrued sick leave.

19.2.11 Benefits Available to Employee Claiming On-the-Job Injury

The ultimate goal for the City is a no lost time rule, which means when feasible as determined by the City, the City will make accommodations for workers injured on the job making it possible for them to work while injured. It is possible the work assignment will be different from the employee's normal job assignment. During such assignment, the employee will be compensated at his/her normal rate of pay. However, if a Workers Compensation claim is approved for an on the job injury, which includes time lost from work and the employee had any hours charged to their accrued sick leave balance for the period before the claim was approved, the leave charged will be credited back to the employee's sick leave accrual balance for the time covered by the Workers Compensation benefits for the initial period. If an employee is collecting benefits from an approved Workers Compensation claim, the employee may use any available leave to supplement payments from Workers Compensation up to the employee's regular rate of pay, based on a standard work week for the employee.

Advancement of Sick Leave Accrual for Illness or Temporary Disability. REPEALED WITH ORDINANCE NO. 1339 § 6. (May 7, 2007)

19.3 Bereavement Leave

Employee(s) are allowed up to three days for bereavement in the case of a deceased immediate family member, up to a maximum of 9 working days annually. If leave beyond the three days of bereavement leave is requested by the employee, the request shall be drawn from the employee's accrued vacation or personal leave, or the employee's floating holiday.

Allowances are for:

- A death in the immediate family.
- Immediate family is defined in Section 15.21.

(Code 1637 § 1; (Ord. 1660 § 5))

19.4 Personal Leave

Employees are permitted to take up to sixteen (16) hours annually of leave per calendar year and charge such time off against their sick leave accrual. Employees will not be allowed to utilize sick leave for the conversion to personal leave if the conversion would cause their sick leave balance to drop below zero hours of accrued sick leave.

(Ord. No. 1533 § 4)

19.4.1 Benefit Pay-Out to Terminating Employee

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson that upon termination of employment employees shall be eligible for the payment of available personal leave at the rate of 1/4 of the employee's hourly wage at the time of separation.

19.5 Weather and Emergency Closures

- 19.5.1 All employees shall make every effort to get to work each day of employment with the City. The City Administrator or his/her designee will make the decision and announcement if there is no work or a delay in work due to inclement weather or an emergency ("Declared Event"). The beginning and end of the Declared Event will be specified by the City Administrator. If this should happen, every effort will be made to put this announcement through official City communication channels.
- 19.5.2 On an undeclared weather or emergency event, any benefiteligible employee who is unable to make it to work because of inclement weather or an emergency must use accrued vacation leave, personal leave or a floating holiday.
- 19.5.3 During a Declared Event, benefit-eligible employees will receive leave time, up to eight (8) hours, for any scheduled work time that is missed due to the Declared Event. This will be designated as "Weather/Emergency Closure Leave." The intent of Weather/Emergency Closure Leave is to make employees whole for work time missed due to the Declared Event.
 - a. If the Declared Event is a partial day, benefit-eligible employees will receive Weather/Emergency Closure Leave, up to eight (8) hours, for the portion of the scheduled shift missed due to the Declared Event.
 - b. Benefit-eligible employees who report to work a scheduled shift, then elect to go home on accrued leave before an inclement weather event or an emergency is declared, will receive Weather/Emergency Closure Leave only for the time that is authorized as to the Declared Event.
 - c. If an employee is on approved leave (vacation leave, personal leave, floating holiday, sick leave, funeral leave, or other approved leave) at the time of a Declared Event the applicable time will be treated as Weather/Emergency Closure Leave due to the Declared Event and will not be deducted as vacation or sick leave.
- **19.5.4.** Non-benefit-eligible employees working on an hourly basis are not eligible for Weather/Emergency Closure Leave and will be paid only

for time which is actually worked.

19.5.5 The guidelines in subsections 19.5.2, 19.5.3 and 19.5.4 of this section apply only to those employees whose services are not essential to maintain the safety and welfare of the citizens of the city. It shall be up to each department head to determine which employees within each department are essential during a Declared Event.

19.5.6 Non-exempt, benefit-eligible employees whose services are essential for the safety of the public as determined by management shall receive premium pay (one-half of their regular rate of pay) for time worked during a Declared Event, in addition to their regular rate of pay. This will be designated as "Weather/Emergency Closure Pay." The intent of Weather/Emergency Closure Pay is to recognize the essential personnel who are required to work during the Declared Event to maintain public safety and welfare.

19.5.7 Benefit-eligible employees who are on irregular work schedules, i.e. shift work, and not scheduled to work during a Declared Event are not eligible for Weather/Emergency Closure Leave or Weather/Emergency Closure Pay. (Ord. No. 1767 § 1)

19.6 Family and Medical Leave (FMLA) Benefits

The City complies with the U.S. Family and Medical Leave Act, and it's implementing regulations, as may be amended from time to time. This policy is intended to provide employees with a general description of rights and obligations under FMLA. In the event of any conflict between this policy and the applicable law, employees will be afforded all rights required by law.

The City shall grant to employees up to 12 weeks of leave (or up to 26 weeks of military caregiver leave for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness) during a 12-month period to eligible employees. The leave may be paid, unpaid, or a combination of paid and unpaid leave, depending on the circumstances of the leave and as specified in this policy. Employees who are on approved FMLA leave may not engage in any form of self-employment or perform work for any other employer during that leave, except when the leave is for military or jury or witness duty as defined in Section 19.8. (Ord. No. 1557 § 1) B.

19.6.1 Eligibility

To qualify for FMLA leave, the employee must meet all of the following conditions:

The employee must have worked for the City for 12 months. The 12 months need not have been consecutive. If the employee has a break in service that lasted seven years or more, the time worked

prior to the break will not be counted unless the break in service is due to service covered by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), or there is a written agreement outlining the City's intention to rehire the employee after the break in service;

The employee must have worked for the City at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period immediately before the date when the leave is requested. Time spent on paid or unpaid leave is not counted as hours worked.

19.6.2 Type of Leave Covered

To qualify for FMLA leave, the employee must be taking leave for one of the following reasons:

The birth of a child and to care for that child, or placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care and to care for the newly placed child;

To care for a spouse, son, daughter, or parent who has a serious health condition (as defined in FMLA and its implementing regulations); for a serious health condition (as defined in FMLA and its implementing regulations) that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his or her job; or for any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, son, daughter, or parent is a military member on covered active duty or call to covered active duty status. A serious health condition is defined by FMLA and its implementing regulations as: a condition that requires an overnight stay in a hospital, hospice, or other residential medical care facility, including any period of incapacity or any subsequent treatment in connection with such inpatient care; a condition that incapacitates the employee or a family member for more than three consecutive full calendar days and any subsequent treatment or a period of incapacity relating to the same condition that also involves: (a) treatment two or more times within 30 days of the first day of incapacity (unless extenuating circumstances exist) by a health care provider, by a nurse under direct supervision of a health care provider, or by a provider of health care services under orders of, or on referral by, a health care provider; or (b) treatment by a health care provider on at least one occasion that results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of the health care provider. The first (or only) treatment by a health care provider must be an inperson visit and take place within seven days of the first day of incapacity. A "regimen of continuing treatment" includes, for example, a course of prescription medication or therapy requiring special equipment to resolve or alleviate the health condition.

• any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or prenatal care:

- any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic serious health condition that requires periodic visits at least twice per year to a health care provider, continues over an extended period of time, and may cause episodic rather an continuing period of incapacity;
- a period of incapacity that is permanent or long-term due to a condition for which treatment may not be effective, but requires continuing supervision of a health care provider;
- any period of absence to receive multiple treatments by a health care provider for (a) restorative surgery after an accident or other injury or (b) a condition that would likely result in a period of incapacity of more than three consecutive full calendar days without the treatments.

Employees with questions about what conditions are covered under this FMLA policy or under the City's sick leave policy are encouraged to consult with the City's Human Resources Coordinator.

If an employee takes paid sick leave for a condition that progresses into a serious health condition, and the employee requests unpaid leave as provided under this policy, the City may designate all or some portion of related leave taken as leave under this FMLA policy, to the extent that the earlier leave meets the necessary qualifications.

19.6.3 FMLA Qualifying Leave for Families of Members of the National Guard or Reserves

The City shall follow the requirements of FMLA and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), and their respective implementing regulations, with respect to qualifying exigency leave for families of members of the National Guard or Reserves.

19.6.4 Amount of Leave

An eligible employee can take up to 12 weeks of FMLA qualifying leave under this policy (and up to 26 weeks of FMLA qualifying military care giver leave) during any 12-month period. The 12-month period is measured as a rolling 12month period, measured backward from the date on which the employees uses any FMLA leave under this policy. Each time the employee takes qualifying FMLA, the City shall compute the amount of FMLA leave the employee has taken in the previous 12 months and subtract it from the 12 weeks of available FMLA leave. The balance remaining is the amount of FMLA leave that the employee is entitled to take at that time.

If both spouses work for the City, and each wishes to take FMLA leave for the birth of a child, adoption or placement of a child in foster care, or to care for any parent (but not a "parent-in-law") with a serious health condition, the spouses may only take a combined 12 weeks of FMLA leave (or a combined 26 weeks of qualifying FMLA leave to care for a covered injured or ill service member).

19.6.5 Employee Status and Benefits During Leave

While an employee is on qualifying FMLA leave, the City will continue the employee's health insurance benefits during the leave period at the same level and under the same conditions as if the employee had continued to work.

Under current City policy, the employee pays a portion of the health care premium. While on paid leave, the employer will continue to make payroll deductions to collect the employee's portion of the premium. While on unpaid leave, the employee must make this payment to the City, either in person or by mail. The payment must be received in the Finance Department by the 5th day of each month. If the payment is more than 30 days late, the employee's health care coverage may be discontinued for the duration of the leave. The City shall provide at least 15 days' notice prior to the employee's loss of coverage.

If the employee contributes to other employer-sponsored employment benefits (such as life insurance or supplemental insurance), the City will continue to make payroll deductions for such benefits while the employee is on paid leave. While on unpaid leave, the employee may elect to maintain such benefits and pay the employee's portion of the premiums. The payment must be received in the Finance Department by the 5th day of each month. If such payment is not received, the employee shall be deemed to have elected to terminate participation in such employer-sponsored employment benefits.

19.6.6 Employee Status After Leave

An employee who takes qualifying FMLA leave may be asked to provide a fitness for duty clearance from a health care provider prior to returning to work. The City may also require a fitness for duty certification up to once every 30 days for an employee taking intermittent or reduced schedule FMLA leave if reasonable safety concerns exist regarding the employee's ability to perform his or her duties based on the condition for which leave was taken.

Generally, an employee who takes qualifying FMLA leave will be able to return to the same position or a position with equivalent status, pay, benefits, or other employment terms. Pursuant to FMLA regulations, the City may choose to exempt certain key employees from this requirement and not return them to the same or a similar position.

19.6.7 Use of Paid and Unpaid Leave

An employee who is taking FMLA leave must use all accrued leave time (whether vacation leave, sick, leave, personal leave, or otherwise) prior to being eligible for unpaid leave. Use of such accrued leave time shall run concurrently with qualifying FMLA leave.

19.6.7.1 Intermittent Leave or a Reduced Work Schedule

An employee may take FMLA leave in 12 consecutive weeks, may use the leave intermittently (take a day periodically when needed over the year) or, under certain circumstances, may use the leave to reduce the workweek or workday, resulting in a reduced hour schedule. In all cases, the leave may not exceed a total of 12 work weeks (or 26 work weeks for qualifying military care giver leave) over a 12 month period.

In instances where the FMLA leave is foreseeable (including recovery from an employee's serious health condition, the serious health condition of a family member, or to care for a child after birth or placement for adoption or foster care) the City may temporarily transfer an employee to an available alternative position with equivalent pay and benefits if the alternative position would better accommodate the intermittent or reduced schedule. For the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child, the City and the employee must mutually agree to the intermittent or reduced schedule prior to the employee taking FMLA leave. Leave for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child, must be taken within one year of such birth, adoption, or foster care placement.

If the employee is taking leave for a serious health condition or because of the serious health condition of a family member, the employee should attempt to reach agreement with the City prior to taking intermittent leave or a reduced hour schedule. If this is not possible, the employee must prove that such intermittent leave or reduced hour schedule is medically necessary.

19.6.7.2 Certification of Serious Health Condition

Pursuant to FMLA implementing regulations, the City will require certification of an employee's serious health condition or the serious health condition of an employee's family member. The employee must respond to such a request within 15 days or provide a reasonable explanation for the delay. Failure to provide certification may result in denial of continuation of leave. The City may ask for a second opinion or third opinion of a medical professional if the City has reason to doubt the certification given. The City may request recertification of a serious health condition, but no more frequently than once every 30 days Such certifications, re-certifications, and additional opinions are governed by FMLA

implementing regulations, and the City shall follow such implementing regulations.

19.6.8 Procedure for Requesting FMLA Leave

All employees requesting FMLA leave must provide verbal or written notice of the need for the leave to the HR Coordinator. The HR Coordinator shall notify the employee of his or her eligibility to take leave, and inform the employee of his or her rights and responsibilities under the FMLA. Absent extenuating circumstances, the City shall notify the employee of whether the employee is eligible to take FMLA leave within five business days of the employee requesting leave or the employer learning that an employee's leave may be for a FMLA qualifying reason. If the City determines that the employee is not eligible for FMLA leave, the City shall provide the employee with the reason why the employee is ineligible. When the need for FMLA leave is foreseeable, the employee must provide the City with at least 30 days' notice. When the employee becomes aware of a need for FMLA leave less than 30 days in advance, the employee must provide the City with notice of a need for FMLA leave as soon as practicable (normally the same day or the next business day). If the need for FMLA leave is not foreseeable, the employee shall comply with the City's usual and customary notice and procedural requirements for requesting leave, absent unusual circumstances.

19.6.9 Intent to Return to Work from FMLA Leave

On a basis that does not discriminate against employees on FMLA leave, the City may require that an employee on FMLA leave report periodically on the employee's status and intent to return to work.

19.7 Voluntary Leave Without Pay

Any request for leave without pay must be submitted to the Department Head on a Request for Leave form. Requests for such leave not exceeding two (2) working days shall be permitted at the discretion of the appropriate Department Head. Requests for such leave exceeding two (2) working days, shall be at the discretion of the City Administrator. It is the policy of the City of Dickinson that in circumstances such as these, vacation will be used in full before leave without pay is granted. In no case shall the City permit leave without pay to continue longer than six months. During any such leave lasting more than one pay period, the employee will be ineligible for employer paid benefits and accruals of leave benefits will halt during the leave. In the case of health insurance, the employee will be permitted to stay on the City policy, but must pay the policy in full during the time of leave, with the choice to stay on the policy being made before commencement of the leave.

EXCEPTION: Family Medical Leave Act, Military Leave

EXCEPTION: Employee(s) granted leave without pay by the City

Commission in a layoff situation.

19.8 Jury Duty / Witness Duty

Benefit Available to Regular Full-Time Employees Only

Regular Full-time and regular part-time employees will be granted leave with pay for jury duty or if they are subpoenaed to testify in court at their regular rate of pay. Regular full-time Employees shall be granted leave with pay for witness duty only if they are testifying in a job related situation or a non-related party relationship to the case being heard. Any pay received by the employee from the court system for jury or witness pay during granted leave with pay shall be returned to the City. If the employee fails to return such pay, the amount of the pay shall be deducted from the employee's regular pay check.

Any payment for mileage, lodging, and other costs reimbursed by the court may be retained by the employee. Additional reimbursement may not be requested from the City.

19.8.1 Retention of Job Status While on Jury Duty

Employees who are absent from work due to jury duty will not be dismissed or suspended from employment and shall retain and be entitled to the same job status and pay as he/she had prior to performing jury duty. Persons who are to be absent due to jury duty must notify their Department Head in advance of Jury Duty service. If no prior notification is given the employee may be subject to disciplinary procedures. It is the Department Head's responsibility to notify the Finance Department when an employee is on jury duty.

19.8.2 Accrual of Vacation, Sick Leave Benefits

Vacation and sick leave benefits shall accrue at the normal rate for eligible employees during jury / witness duty for which leave with pay has been granted.

19.9 Leave for Private Litigation

Employees involved in private litigation are required to use vacation leave or be granted leave without pay.

19.10 Voting Leave

Employees are allowed to vote during work hours. Employees who begin their work day less than three hours after polls open and finish less than three hours before polls close are entitled to leave work to vote during work hours. Any time spent voting is not compensable time. Voting leave time must be coordinated and approved by the employee's supervisor.

19.11 Military Leave

The City follows and enforces allowances and restrictions described in NDCC Chapter 37 and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 and subsequent amendments thereto.

19.12 Holidays

Holiday Pay

Eligible employees will be granted the holiday off work and will be paid eight (8) hours pay for each City recognized holiday. Regular part

time employees will have their holiday pay prorated. Holiday pay will not be counted toward total hours in the week or overtime period for the purposes of determining overtime eligibility. Employees required to work on a holiday will receive additional pay as per Section 29.08.04090.10.5.

19.12.1 Recognized Holidays

The City of Dickinson recognizes and observes the following as paid holidays for eligible employees:

New Year's Day January 1 Martin Luther King Day 3rd Monday in January

President's Day
Good Friday

3rd Monday in February
The Friday preceding Easter

Memorial Day Last Monday in May

Independence Day July 4

Labor Day 1st Monday in September

Veterans' Day November 11

Thanksgiving Day 4th Thursday in November Friday After Thanksgiving Friday After Thanksgiving

Christmas Eve December 24 Christmas Day December 25

Eligible employees will be permitted one paid birthday holiday each year. A birthday holiday still on the employee's accrual record at the time of another birthday will be removed from the record.

EXCEPTION: If an employee is denied the birthday holiday leave because of City or Department needs (snow emergencies in which the City needs employees on the job, for example) the Department Head, acting with the City Administrator, may allow carryover of hours — to be determined at the time, and specific to the work requested. (Code 1637 § 1; Ord. No. 1767 § 1)

19.12.2 Observance When Recognized Holiday Falls on a Weekend For employees whose shifts or regular working schedule occur Monday through Friday, when a holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday is observed as the paid holiday for eligible employees. If a holiday falls on a Sunday, it is observed on the following Monday. For all other employees, the holiday will be observed for compensation and payroll purposes on the actual holiday.

19.12.3 Allowance for Employees Ineligible for Holiday Pay

Employees ineligible for paid holiday leave due to employee classification (Section 29.08.04050) will be granted a day off without pay in observance of a holiday. (Code 1637 § 1)

19.12.4 Work on a Holiday

An hourly employee, eligible to receive holiday pay, will receive overtime for actual hours worked on a holiday plus the standard holiday pay benefit paid to all eligible employees as described in Section 29.08.04090.19.12.2, plus any applicable shift differential pay under 29.08.04080.17.7. (Ord. 1660§5)

19.13 Absence Without Leave

Any employee, who takes leave without proper prior notification and grant of permission, except in the cases of emergencies as described herein, shall be subject to disciplinary action.

19.14 Administrative Leave With Pay

The appropriate Department Head or his designee may place an employee on administrative leave with pay for up to three working days in accordance with written departmental policy or in other situations when the Department Head determines it is in the best interest of the City to remove an employee from a work situation. If three working days is not sufficient to meet the needs of the situation, the appropriate Department Head may increase the duration of administrative leave with pay for a period not to exceed 30 days with prior approval of the City Administrator.

19.15 Administrative Leave Without Pay

Where serious infractions have occurred, or where City officials must conduct investigations which could be of undetermined length, the City Administrator may, at his discretion, invoke the use of administrative leave without pay. The employee(s) will be notified in writing as soon as possible whether the administrative leave is to be with or without pay.

19.16 Leaves Required by City

Employees who hold certain positions, such as accountants and others responsible for significant financial transactions for the City, will be required to take a leave of at least five consecutive business days per year, excluding holidays. Persons holding such positions will be informed of the requirement upon hire, or at the approval of the Personnel Code as amended herein. (Code 1958 § 9-24; Ord. No. 376; Ord. No. 675 § 1; Ord. No. 967 §§ 7, 8; Ord. No. 1028 § 2; Ord. No. 1053 § 2; Ord. No. 1163 § 5; Ord. No. 1201, § 4; Ord. No. 1224, § 3 & 10; Ord. No. 1307 § 11 & 12; Ord. No. 1308 § 4; Ord. No. 1339 § 5-10, Ord. No. 1499 § 1-2, Ord. No. 11533§ 4, Code 1637 § 1; Code 1709 § 5)

Section 29.08.04100 Separation From Municipal Service

20. <u>Separation from Service</u>

20.1 Definitions

Voluntary Separation: Written resignation, extended absence without proper notification, or retirement. Voluntary separation is initiated by the employee.

Involuntary Separation: Layoff or discharge. Involuntary separation is initiated by the employer.

20.2 Return of City Property

City of Dickinson employees are expected to return all City property at the time of their separation from municipal service. The City of Dickinson reserves the right to withhold from the employee's final paycheck the amount for any property that is not returned or for which there is no explanation for the absence of the property. The City of Dickinson may take further action if necessary to recover municipal property.

20.3 Voluntary Separation

Resignation

A City of Dickinson employee, in order to resign in good-standing and be eligible for re-employment must resign from municipal service by giving their Department Head written notice of his/her resignation at least two weeks in advance of their leaving municipal service. In extenuating circumstances, the City Administrator may accept an employee's resignation with less than two weeks' notice and retain their good standing status upon separation. It is the Department Head's responsibility to forward the original letter of resignation to the City Administrator within two working days of submission by the employee.

Un-notified Absence

If an employee is absent for more than two (2) consecutive shifts without proper notification in accordance with the attendance policy, they shall be considered to have voluntarily resigned their position with the City. Re-instatement upon presentation of extenuating circumstances or reason for such absence shall be at the discretion of the City Administrator. Any un-notified absence may result in disciplinary action.

20.4 Involuntary Separation Lavoffs

Employees will be subject to layoff when it is deemed necessary by reason of shortage of work, the abolition of the employee's position or other material changes in the duties or organization of his department. The duties performed by an employee so laid off may be reassigned to other employees already working in appropriate employment classes. No regular or probationary employee shall be laid off while another person in a competitive position is employed on a provisional or temporary basis in the same class in that department. At the discretion of the City Commission, any employee subject to such layoff may be granted a leave of absence without pay (see Section 29.08.04090.19.7).

No temporary or permanent separation of an employee from employment as a penalty or disciplinary action shall be considered as a layoff.

In cases of layoff of employees, consideration will be given to the employee's performance record, their length of service, and the needs of the City and/or Department involved.

The City Administrator shall give written notice to the affected employee(s) of any proposed layoff with reasons therefore a reasonable time period prior to the effective date thereof.

At the discretion of the City Administrator, an employee on lay-off may be offered positions that come open for which he/she is qualified to fill. The employee

on lay-off, who is offered an open position, will have two weeks from the date of offer to accept the position. If the position offered to an employee on lay-off is equal in grade to the position which the employee lost and the employee fails to accept the position offered, said employee shall be removed from lay-off status. If the employee on lay-off accepts the position offered within the two week time frame, the employee will be permitted up to two additional weeks to report to work. Unless stated extenuating circumstances are agreed to by the City, if the employee fails to start the job within the two week time frame, the employee will lose his/her opportunity to receive the position and will lose his/her lay-off status. Employees will be offered positions, based on availability and qualification in reverse order of the lay-off process.

Reductions in Force

It may be necessary for the City to terminate a position within the City due to budgetary constraints or reorganization. An employee terminated as part of a reduction in force is deemed to be terminated and the city will not be required to give the employee preference for other open positions within the City.

The distinguishing factor between a layoff and a reduction in force is the reason for the termination of employment. In a layoff, an employee is removed from their current position due to a lack of work for that position. A layoff is considered temporary while the City looks for other opportunities within the City, which the employee could fulfill. If a new assignment is offered to an employee, but the employee refuses, the layoff is permanent, and the employee will be removed from layoff status, and deemed to have been terminated.

A reduction in force is due to budgetary constraints, which cause the elimination of a position, or re-organization of a department. Employees who are terminated because of a force reduction are deemed to be terminated, and do not have the position mobility that layoffs afford.

Non-Layoff Involuntary Separation

The City Administrator may terminate the employment of an employee for disciplinary reasons, poor performance, failure or inability to perform the essential duties of his/her assigned classification.

Procedures following Involuntary Separation

In cases of involuntary separation for disciplinary reasons, the process set forth in Section 29.08.04110 Disciplinary Process will be followed. In cases of involuntary separation for disciplinary reasons, poor performance, failure or inability to perform the essential duties of his/her assigned classification and the procedures in Section 29.08.04.120 Grievance and Appeal Procedures will be available.

20.5 Exit Interviews

It is a policy of the City of Dickinson, for Human Resources, to conduct an exit interview prior to an employee's separation from City employment whenever reasonably possible. In the case of a terminating Human Resources employee, the exit interview may be conducted by the City Administrator. The exit interview is conducted for several purposes, including: 1) to resolve all outstanding matters between the City and the employee; 2) to advise the employee of the affect their separation will have upon all benefits and what benefits they have coming upon separation; and 3) to aid the City in

gathering information to help improve the municipality's working environment and other employment relationships.

At the time or prior to the time of the exit interview, employees are expected to return all municipal property as specified in Section 29.08.04100.20.2. (Code 1958 § 9-25; Ord. No. 376; Ord. No. 721 § 4; Ord. No. 918 § 1; Ord. No. 920 §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 967 § 9; Ord. No. 1090 § 1; Ord. No. 1163 § 5; Ord. No. 1307 § 13, Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.04110 Disciplinary Process

21. Disciplinary Process

21.1 Misconduct Defined

Employee misconduct is defined as being any action or non-action of an employee deserving of disciplinary action, including but not limited to substandard performance, substandard attendance, misbehavior, or violation of any ordinance or policy of the City.

21.2 Misconduct

Employee misconduct will not be tolerated and may result in immediate disciplinary action.

21.3 Disciplinary Representation

At any point in the disciplinary process, an employee may select a personal representative at the employee's expense.

21.4 Disciplinary Action

Disciplinary actions shall be applied when the appropriate supervisory authority, as described in this subsection, determines such actions are necessary. A disciplinary action may be in the form of written reprimand, suspension, demotion or reassignment, or dismissal as defined below. The City of Dickinson may, but is not required to, apply these actions progressively.

Disciplinary actions by supervisors will include consultation with the Department Head and the Human Resource Coordinator prior to the execution of written reprimands or other actions.

21.5 Written Reprimand

The appropriate supervisor may discipline an employee by written reprimand as warning that behavior is considered misconduct. Signing requirements will apply. The employee may submit a written statement of response to the disciplinary action which shall be attached to and remain with the disciplinary action in his/her permanent personnel file.

21.6 Suspension without Pay

The appropriate Department Manager, with approval of the City Administrator, may suspend an employee without pay for employee misconduct for a period not to exceed 30 days. The employee may submit a written statement of response to the disciplinary action which shall be attached to and remain with the disciplinary action in his/her permanent personnel file.

21.7 Demotion or Disciplinary Reassignment

The City Administrator, may reduce an employee's wage or salary, assign the employee to a lower position, or change the employee's duties within his/her current position or use any combination of the above for employee misconduct. The employee may submit a written statement of response to the disciplinary action which shall be attached to and remain with the disciplinary action in the employee's permanent personnel file.

21.8 Dismissal

The City Administrator may terminate an employee from municipal employment for employee misconduct. The employee may submit a written statement of response to the disciplinary action which shall be attached to and remain with the disciplinary action in his/her permanent personnel file.

21.9 Signing Requirements

In all cases of disciplinary action the employee will be required to sign the written notice of discipline and such notice shall be dated and placed in the employee's permanent personnel file. If the employee refuses to sign the notice, a notation to that effect shall be made by the supervisor, who notified the employee of the disciplinary action. If the affected employee refuses to sign a disciplinary action, another city employee may be asked to sign the notice as witness to the fact that the disciplined employee was informed of the disciplinary action. The disciplinary action shall be final unless appealed as provided in Section 29.08.04120.

In all instances in this policy where an employee is required to sign, signing does not imply agreement with the action, only that the contents have been made known to or discussed with the employee.

21.10 Maintenance of Disciplinary Records

Formal Disciplinary Records

Records of disciplinary actions are maintained in the employee's personnel file at City Hall. These records will be maintained the employee's personnel file in accordance with the City's personnel record retention practices. For the purpose of determining pay increases, promotions, advancement, or other enhancements, an employee's disciplinary record which consists only of written reprimands may not be considered if the last written reprimand occurred more than three years prior. Where an employee's record consists of suspension without pay, demotion, or disciplinary reassignment, the record may not be considered if the last disciplinary action occurred more than five years prior.

21.11 Appeals

Grievances and appeals may be submitted for all disciplinary actions, and are described in Section 29.08.04120, (policy 22).

Section 29.08.04120 Grievance and Appeal Procedure

22. Grievance and Appeal

22.1 Purpose

The purpose of this grievance procedure is to provide a just and equitable method for the resolution of disciplinary action appeals and/or employee disputes resulting from an action or inaction of one of their superiors or fellow employees without discrimination, coercion, restraint, or reprisal against any employee or group of employees who may submit to or be involved in an appeal. The term appeal shall be synonymous with that of grievance.

22.2 Definition of a Grievance

A grievance is an action or decision of a supervisor or department head or other employee, other than suspension, demotion or termination, that may be in violation of any federal, state or city law, rule, regulation, ordinance or policy, relation to employment or personnel matters, sexual harassment or who alleges discrimination due to race, color,

creed, sex, age, marital status, national origin or physical disability.

22.3 Procedure For Filing a Grievance

If an employee wishes to file a grievance, the employee must submit a written notice of grievance to the City Administrator stating the reasons for the disagreement on a grievance form. The employee may choose representation at any point during the grievance procedure.

22.4 Appeals Regarding Written Reprimand

If an employee disagrees with a written reprimand, the employee may, within five (5) business days, from the signing date of the written reprimand, submit a written notice of grievance with the City Administrator stating the reasons for disagreement and the action that the employee desires.

In the event the employee's grievance concerns the City Administrator and submitting the written notice of grievance to the City Administrator would cause a conflict of interest, the employee shall submit the written notice of grievance to the City Attorney who in turn will provide the employee's written notice of grievance to the Board of City Commissioners for review and determination of appropriate disposition. (Code 1698 § 1)

22.5 Appeals regarding Suspensions without Pay, Demotions, Disciplinary Reassignments, or Dismissals

Any regular employee receiving notice of suspensions without pay, demotion, disciplinary reassignment, or dismissal may appeal therefrom to the Civil Service Commission by filing with the city administrator a notice of appeal within five (5) business days after receiving such notice. If the employee fails to meet the filing deadline, the right to appeal shall be considered waived.

22.6 Appearance Before the Civil Service Commission

No less than ten (10) nor more than twenty (20) business days after an appeal has been filed, the Civil Service Commission shall hold a hearing thereon. At such hearing, the employee must appear personally with or without representation. The employee, his/her representative and the City will then be heard publicly on the matter in issue. Firstly, each side will be provided the opportunity to make an opening statement. Each side may present evidence and call witnesses. Each side will also be provided the opportunity to cross examine the other side's witnesses. The technical rules of evidence shall not apply. The city attorney may be called upon to represent the City. The hearing by the Civil Service Commission, and any meetings of the Commission relating to a specific employee appeal shall be recorded by audio or visual means. If the employee(s) fails to appear before the Civil Service Commission on the employee's scheduled date of hearing, the employee shall be deemed to have waived any disagreement with the disciplinary action and shall waive all rights to appeal such decision. The Civil Service Commission shall have the right to retain independent legal counsel to advise them on the procedural matters involved in the appeal at the City's cost, if the City does not voluntarily provide one.

Within ten (10) business days after the hearing, the Civil Service Commission shall file its findings of fact, conclusions, and order in writing serving a copy thereof upon the affected employee or the employee's representative. The order may consist of the following:

Approve the disciplinary action; Reinstate the employee; or such other action as the commission deems appropriate.

22.7 Final Decisions in the Appeal Process

In the event of a written reprimand, the City Administrator shall be the final decision making authority.

In the event of a suspension without pay, demotion, or disciplinary reassignment, the Civil Service Commission shall be the final decision making authority in the appeal process.

In the event of a dismissal, appeals may be made to the Civil Service Commission, which will render a decision. The employee may appeal the decision of the Civil Service Commission to the City Commission, which will be the final decision making authority in the City's appeal structure.

22.7.1 Process for Appeal to City Commission

Within five days of the entry of the Civil Service Commission's findings of fact and order, the employee may file with the office of the City Administrator the employee's notice of intent to appeal the decision of the Civil Service Commission. The notice shall include the employee's alleged grounds for the appeal. The City Commission shall hear the appeal no sooner than fifteen days and not later than thirty days following the receipt of the employee's notice to appeal. The hearing shall be limited to evidence, witnesses, pleadings, and exhibits used during the Civil Service Commission hearing. The process for the hearing shall be as prescribed for the Civil Service hearing process hereunder. The hearing may occur during a regularly scheduled City Commission meeting, or may be heard at a properly noticed and convened special Meeting of the City Commission, at the determination of the President of the Commission.

22.8 Other appeals to Civil Service Commission

Other appeals where permitted by these rules shall be heard by the Civil Service Commission in the same manner as provided in this subsection.

22.9 Dismissal of Grievances Upon Voluntary Separations

Ongoing grievances will be immediately dismissed if the appealing employee(s) voluntarily terminates employment with the City during the appeal process.

EXCEPTION: If the Civil Service Commission so agrees, the appeal of any employee(s) who submitted a claim of extenuating circumstances at the time of resignation may be allowed to continue through the normal appeal process outlined in this section.

Section 29.08.04130 Drug and Alcohol Policy

City of Dickinson's Commitment to Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace (Code 1696 § 1)

The City of Dickinson has a strong commitment to its employees to provide a safe, healthful, and productive work environment and to promote high standards of employee health. Consistent with the spirit and intent of this objective the City will act to eliminate any substance and alcohol abuse which could impair an employee's ability to safely and effectively perform a particular job and which increases the potential for accidents, absenteeism, sub-standard performance, and tends to undermine public confidence in the City's work force. The City's goals are to establish and maintain a work environment that is free from the effects of alcohol and drug abuse and to maintain the reputation and integrity of the City of Dickinson by preventing unacceptable behavior by its employees that discredits the City and its employees.

While the City has no intention of unreasonably intruding into the private lives of its employees, the City expects employees to report for work in a condition ready to perform their duties, make the work environment safe for other employees, and represent a proper image to the citizens. It is clear that employee off-the-job, as well as on-the-job, involvement with drugs and alcohol can have an impact on the City's goals.

North Dakota has laws allowing for the medical use of marijuana. The City, as an employer, is committed to providing a safe work environment and reducing accidents and injuries, to ensuring the safety and protections of the public served by the employees of the City, and to complying with all relevant federally mandated laws, including all Drug-Free Workplace requirements and federally mandated drug and alcohol testing for Regulated employees.

The use of marijuana, whether it is for recreational or medical purposes, has physiological effects that can include sedation, disorientation, impaired judgment, lack of concentration and slowed fine motor skills. The City recognizes that the impairing effect of such use while at work creates workplace performance and safety issues that the City wishes to avoid.

Furthermore, marijuana is a controlled substance under the federal Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act. Its possession and use are prohibited in the workplace under federal Drug-Free Workplace regulations. The City relies on federal funding for many of its critical services and programs and failure to comply with the Drug-Free Workplace requirements could jeopardize that federal funding. It is the City's position and intent that this Medical Marijuana Policy shall meet or exceed all requirements of the federal Drug-Free Workplace laws, 41 USC §§ 8101, et. seq., as amended

It is the policy of the City of Dickinson that all employees are strictly prohibited from possessing, using, ingesting, or being under the influence of medical marijuana while on City premises, while operating City vehicles and equipment, while engaged in the performance of job duties or while otherwise representing the City of Dickinson in any capacity and during off-site lunch periods or breaks when an employee is expected to return to work or on call for work. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.0 Definitions

The following terms shall have the following means throughout this Section:

- 1. "City Premises" Any and all property, facilities, land, structures, and vehicles owned, leased, or under the control of the City.
- 2. "Illegal/Unauthorized Drug" Any drug which is not legally obtainable under both state and federal laws, any drug which is legally obtainable but has been illegally obtained, and/or is not being used for its prescribed purpose or in the prescribed manner.
- 3. "Legal Drug" Except for Medical Marijuana, any prescribed drug or over the counter drug which has been legally obtained and is used for the purpose for which it was prescribed or manufactured.
- 4. "Medical Marijuana" means marijuana used as authorized by the North Dakota Department of Health and the distribution, possession and use of the marijuana are in compliance with all laws and regulations authorized by North Dakota law.

- 5. Medical Review Officer" or "MRO." A licensed physician responsible for receiving and reviewing laboratory results generated by this policy, who has knowledge of substance abuse disorders and has appropriate medical training to interpret and evaluate positive test results together with an employee's history and any other relevant biomedical information.
- 6. "Monitored Collection." The monitor should be the same gender, unless the monitor is a medical professional (nurse, doctor, physician assistant, technologist, or technician, licensed or certified to practice in the jurisdiction). Secure the room being used for the monitored collection so no one else can enter until after the collection has been completed. A monitor does not watch the employee urinate into the collection container. If the monitor hears sounds or makes other observations indicating an attempt to tamper with a specimen, there must be an additional collection under "direct observation."
- 7. "Possession." Actual or constructive care, custody, control or immediate access to.
- 8. "Reasonable Suspicion." When a supervisor has reason to believe the appearance and/or conduct of an employee are indicative of the use of alcohol, drug(s) (including Medical Marijuana), or a combination thereof.
- 9. "Refusal To Test." (1) failure to appear for a test in specified time frame as set forth in the Federal Motor Carriers Safety Administration guidelines or any third party guidelines (excludes pre-employment) (2) once test is underway, failure to remain at the testing site until the process is completed, (3) failure to provide volume of breath or urine without valid medical explanation, (4) failure to undergo a medical examination to verify insufficient volume, (5) failure to permit the observation or monitoring of specimen donation when so required, (6) failure to take an additional test required by the employer or collector, (7) failure to cooperate with any part of the testing process, (8) a drug test result that is verified by the MRO as adulterated or substituted, (9) possess or wear a prosthetic or other device that could be used to interfere with the collection process, (10) failure to sign the certification on Step 2 of the Alcohol Test Form (11) admit to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the specimen (12) tampering, adulterating, or substituting specimen (13) leaving the scene of an accident without just cause prior to submitting to a test.
- 10. "Safety-sensitive." An employee who is required to hold a commercial driver license (CDL) or commercial learners permit (CLP) to operate a commercial vehicle is considered to perform safety-sensitive functions.
- 11. "Substance Abuse Professional" or "SAP." Evaluates employees who have violated a drug and alcohol regulation and makes recommendations concerning education, treatment, follow-up care and aftercare. Must be a licensed physician (M.D. or D.O.) or a licensed or certified psychologist, social worker, employee assistance professional, state-licensed or certified marriage and family therapist, or a drug and alcohol counselor certified by the National Association of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Counselors Certification Commission (NAADAC) or certified by: the International

Certification Reciprocity Consortium/Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse (ICRC); or by the National Board for Certified Counselors, Inc. and Affiliates/Master Addictions Counselor (NBCC) with knowledge of and clinical experience in the diagnosis and treatment of alcohol/substance abuse related disorders. Requires completion of qualification training and SAP certification per 49 CFR Part 40

12. "49 CFR Part 40." Federal Procedures for Transportation workplace drug testing programs. These rules are available for review in the Human Resource Department. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.1 Drug and Alcohol Abuse Policies

The following are the policies of the City regarding drug and alcohol abuse:

- 1. The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of controlled drugs or substances, including medical marijuana, or the use of alcohol while on duty, on or off property owned or leased by the City is proper cause for disciplinary action.
- 2. Any illegal controlled drug or substance, including medical marijuana, possessed while on duty by employees will be turned over to the appropriate criminal justice agencies and may result in criminal prosecution. This does not apply to public safety officers who are in possession of an illegal or controlled drug or substance while acting in the line of duty.
- 3. It is not permitted for an employee to be under the influence of controlled drugs or substances including medical marijuana or alcohol on the job, except as provided for in this Section 29.08.04130. The use of controlled drugs or substances prescribed by a licensed physician is not prohibited, but employees in positions where side effects of the prescribed medication could affect performance and safety on the job are required to make such use known to their immediate supervisor. Any employee misusing a prescription drug may be disciplined up to and including termination.
- 4. The illegal use, sale, and possession of alcohol, controlled drugs or substances while off duty and off City premises which results in a criminal conviction is unacceptable. They may affect the job performance and the confidence of the public in the City's ability to meet its responsibilities. Such off-the-job conduct may be proper cause for disciplinary action up to and including termination. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.2 Testing for Drugs or Alcohol

This section discusses the Alcohol/Controlled Substance Testing Program for Employees with Commercial Driver's Licenses (CDL) or Commercial Learners Permit (CLP) in Safety Sensitive Positions. In an effort to prevent injuries and deaths due to drug or alcohol-impaired drivers operating commercial vehicles, the United State Congress enacted the Omnibus Transportation Employee Testing Act of 1991 (the Act). This federal law mandates drug and alcohol testing for certain classes of transportation employees.

Department of Transportation (DOT) defines the following as safety sensitive positions:

- A city employee who operates a vehicle that is designed to transport 15 passengers or more;
- A city employee who operates a vehicle that weighs 26,001 pounds or more singular

- or articulated (tractor trailer) and the trailer weight is in excess of 10,000 pounds or more; or
- A city employee who operates a vehicle of any size requiring placards for transporting hazardous materials (hazmat).

Any employee of the city of Dickinson, who, as a requirement of the job, operates a vehicle classified as commercial and has a commercial driver's license or commercial learner's permit, is considered to be in a "safety-sensitive position" and is subject to the Department of Transportation 49 CFR part 40 of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) regulations. These employees must also be registered with the FMCSA Clearinghouse so that the City can comply with the annual requirement regulations stated in 49 CFR 382.701. Provisions for disciplinary actions are based on the independent authority of the City.

This portion of the Human Resources Manual covers only employees subject to the regulations and describes the City's implementation of these regulations. Employees in the safety sensitive positions are subject to the controlled substance requirements of the regulations and to this policy at all times when on duty, regardless of the task they are performing.

Designated Employer Representative (DER) is an individual identified by the employer as able to receive communications and test results from service agents and who is authorized to take immediate actions to remove employees from safety-sensitive duties and to make required decisions in the testing and evaluation processes. The individual must be an employee of the City. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.3 Alcohol Prohibition Employees must:

- Test when required.
- Not use alcohol, in any form, on the job (including mouthwash or cough syrup containing alcohol).
- Not have even one drink fewer than four hours before work duties begin.
- Not work under the influence of alcohol
- Not remain on duty with a confirmed breath-and/or saliva alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater.
- Not use alcohol within eight hours after an accident or until undergoing a postaccident alcohol test.

The regulations require that covered employees be available to be tested for alcohol while on duty, just prior to, just after, or while performing a safety-sensitive function. Employees who refuse to be tested or to cooperate in testing, or who attempt to alter test results, are subject to disciplinary procedures, which may include termination.

23.4 Controlled-Substance Prohibition Employees must:

- Test when required.
- Not use illegal controlled substances.
- Not use prescription drugs containing controlled substances contrary to a physician's instructions.
- Notify their supervisor if using a prescription containing a controlled substance. The safety sensitive employee must, upon request also provide documentation that

use of the drug does not adversely affect the safety sensitive employee's ability to operate a commercial motor vehicle as described in the regulations.

Employees who refuse to be tested or to cooperate in testing, or who attempt to alter test results, are subject to immediate removal from safety sensitive function and are subject to disciplinary procedures which may include termination.

No employee shall report for duty or remain on duty requiring the performance of safety sensitive functions when the employee uses any controlled substance, except when the use is pursuant to the instructions of a licensed medical practitioner, who has advised the employee that the substance will not adversely affect the employee's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle.

23.5 Alcohol and Controlled-Substance Tests

All applicants and employees who undergo City mandated tests will be notified if the test result is positive by the testing contractor before the City's designated employer representative is notified.

The City or a contractor of the City performing the tests will follow specific procedures if an alcohol-test result is 0.02 or greater. The procedures are required by federal guidelines and are intended to make sure that the test result is 0.02 or greater.

Tests required by the City, except for pre-employment tests and return-to duty tests, are considered a duty assignment. Time for travel and time spent in providing the specimen at the collection site will be with pay.

Any action which indicates a refusal to test will result in the employee being terminated. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.6 Definition of Positive Alcohol or Controlled-Substance Test

Alcohol concentration is defined by the Federal Department of Transportation Regulations. Alcohol tests will be considered positive if the breath and/or saliva test indicates an alcohol presence of 0.04 or greater. If the test results are positive, the employee and supervisor will be notified before the employee leaves the test site.

If an alcohol test indicates an alcohol concentration of at least 0.02, but less than 0.04, the test is considered negative, but the safety sensitive employee will be taken out of service for 24 hours. A controlled substance drug test will be considered positive if a controlled substance for which no legitimate explanation is determined by the Medical Review Officer (MRO) is found in the test specimen. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.7 Testing Responsibilities in Alcohol and Controlled-Substance Testing

If the initial alcohol test results are 0.02 or greater, the City or a contractor of the City performing the tests will wait 15 minutes and then issue a confirmation test. During the 15-minute waiting period before the confirmation test, the employee will be given a set of instructions (for example, no eating or drinking) that must be followed. If the employee does not follow these instructions, it may be considered an attempt to alter the test results. The confirmation test result is used for disciplinary purposes. Controlled-substance tests must use proper laboratory procedures.

If a test is confirmed positive, it will be reviewed by the physician serving as the testing vendor's MRO. The MRO will follow specific procedures required by the federal guidelines. These procedures are intended to make sure that the test result is a true positive. The MRO will call the employee who has tested positive, discuss what might have caused the test result to be positive before calling the City's designated employer representative, and make sure of the result before notifying the City. If the test remains positive, the employee may request, at his/her expense, that a second independent analysis be performed on the untested portion of the sample. This is considered a split test. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.8 Post-accident Tests

Drivers/operators are responsible for notifying the City of any vehicle or equipment accident while on duty or while driving a City vehicle on off hours. In an accident resulting in a death, the City driver(s)/operator(s) involved must undergo post-accident testing. In an accident which does not result in a death, but in which the City driver is cited for a moving traffic violation; or resulted in vehicles involved in the accident being towed from the scene or injuries as a result of the accident being treated away from the scene, the driver must undergo post-accident drug and alcohol testing. In the event of a reportable accident as identified under North Dakota law occurs resulting liability of at least \$4,000, the driver/operator shall be tested.

Employees must be tested for controlled substances within 32 hours after all accidents resulting in a death or where the driver is cited for a moving violation if the accident resulted in injuries needing to be treated away from the scene or vehicles involved in the accident are required to be towed from the scene. If the controlled-substance test is not administered within 32 hours, no test will be given, and the manager must file and maintain records stating the reason for the delay and the lack of testing.

Employees must be tested for alcohol within two hours of the accident. If the alcohol test is not administered within two hours, the manager must file and maintain records stating why. Once documented, the City has six additional hours to perform the test. If an alcohol test is not administered within eight hours of the accident, no test will be given, and the manager must file and maintain records stating the reason for the delay and lack of testing. Employees must remain at work, but must not perform safety-sensitive or job functions that could endanger themselves or others, until the post-accident alcohol test is administered or eight hours since the accident have lapsed, or an unimpaired adult agrees to pick the employee up from work and transport that employee home. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.9 Types of Required Drug Testing

23.9.1 Pre-Employment Tests

New employees will be hired for safety-sensitive positions on the condition of a negative controlled substances test (administered after being chosen but before being hired) and after obtaining a controlled substances and alcohol testing record from previous employers and the FMCSA Clearinghouse that shows the employee

has been in a random drug and alcohol program for the past 12 months and/or has been selected over the last six months in the time period between the end of their work performance at the previous job and application for the city's position has not exceeded 30 days and they do not have any known violations on the FMCSA Clearinghouse.

(Code 1696 § 1)

23.9.2 Random Testing

A minimum number of random alcohol tests, equal to 10 percent of the average number of City safety sensitive employees covered under the regulations will be conducted each year. The City or a contractor of the City performing the tests will select safety sensitive employees using a computerized random-selection program or other random selection method approved by the City. Safety sensitive employees selected will be tested prior to going on duty, while performing safety sensitive functions or just after.

A minimum number of random controlled-substance tests equal to 50 percent of the average number of safety sensitive employees, will be performed each year. Tests may be performed at any time the safety sensitive employee is on or off duty, regardless of the duties being performed at the time of testing. Safety sensitive employees may potentially be tested at any time, even if there is a recent previous test. Once a safety sensitive employee is notified of the testing, he or she must be escorted immediately to the testing site. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.9.3 Reasonable Suspicion Tests

A safety sensitive employee must undergo alcohol and controlled substance testing when any supervisor who has received the mandatory reasonable suspicion training has reason to believe that the safety sensitive employee has used alcohol or controlled substances in violation of the regulations. An alcohol and/or drug test may be administered just prior, just after, or while the safety sensitive employee is performing a safety-sensitive function.

All supervisors will be given adequate training to make judgments about a reasonable suspicion of controlled substance and alcohol use. The supervisor's judgment must be based on specific observations relating to appearance, behavior, speech, or body odors, including indications of the chronic and withdrawal effects of alcohol and/or controlled substances. The supervisor must document the observations fully notifying the employee that testing is required. Supervisors will be trained regarding physical, behavioral, speech, and performance indicators of probable alcohol misuse and use of controlled substances.

All employees, including non-supervisory employees, may call their Supervisor, Department Head, the Risk Management Specialist or the City Administrator to ask any questions about the program, or to state their suspicions about another employee, including a supervisor. The employee who calls must give his/her name, but the names will be kept confidential to the extent possible under the open records law of North Dakota.

(Code 1696 § 1)

23.9.4 Return-To-Duty Tests

If any test result is positive and the course of treatment recommended by a substance abuse professional (SAP) with the City EAP (or one chosen by the employee) has been completed, the safety sensitive employee must submit to return-to-duty alcohol and controlled substance tests prior to resuming duties. The return-to-duty alcohol test must indicate a breath-alcohol concentration of less than 0.02. Controlled-substance test results must be negative.

The employee will be required to pay for the return-to-duty testing. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.9.5 Follow-up Tests

Unannounced follow-up tests are required for a minimum of six months or as high as 60 months for any safety sensitive employee who, after a positive test result, is determined by a SAP to need help with alcohol or controlled-substance abuse. The City shall pay for the SAP and follow up test(s).

23.9.6 Test Results-Required Action

ALCOHOL TEST		
Results	Employee Status	Required Action
(Blood Alcohol Concentration)		
>0.00	applicant	Not hired
0.02-0.039	any safety sensitive	Taken out of service for 24 hours without pay
0.04+	any safety sensitive	Remove from safety sensitive duty and notify employee of EAP program and employee is
		subject to discipline up to termination

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE TEST		
Results	Employee Status	Required Action
Positive	Applicant	Not hired
Positive	Safety sensitive	Taken off duty; may be referred to EAP for evaluation and treatment; subject to City discipline, up to and including termination

OTHER PROHIBITED CONDUCT		
Prohibited Conduct	Employee Status	Required Action
Refusing to be tested	Applicant	Not hired
Refusing to be tested	Safety sensitive employee	Terminated
Possessing or consuming alcohol on the job	Safety sensitive employee	Taken off duty; may be referred to EAP for treatment; Subject to City disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment
Abusing cough syrup,	Safety sensitive	Taken off duty; may be referred to EAP
mouthwash, or any other	employee	for treatment; Subject to City disciplinary

substance containing alcohol while on the job		action up to and including termination of employment
Possessing or using a controlled substance without a doctor's permission	Safety sensitive employee	Termination
Performing a safety-sensitive function while using a prescription containing a controlled substance when a physician has instructed the employee that the substance may adversely affect the employee's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle	Any Employee	Taken off duty; may be referred to EAP for treatment; Subject to City disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment

(Code 1696 § 1)

23.10 Out-of-Service Request

All safety sensitive employees subject to call for emergency duties, who are not actually listed on-call, who have had one or more drink(s) in the four hours prior to an emergency call-out, or suspects that he/she may have a breath-alcohol concentration of 0.02 or above, must take him/herself out of service. No disciplinary measures will be taken when the safety sensitive employee, who is not listed as on-call requests to take him/herself out of service for an emergency call-out.

23.11 Required Records and Records Retention

The City, or a contractor of the City performing the tests under this section, will maintain necessary records as required by federal DOT regulations and the reporting regulations to the FMCSA Clearinghouse, either at City Hall, the primary contractor's place of business or on the Clearinghouse website for each driver. In all cases, information must be available at the City within 24 hours if requested by officials of the U.S. Department of Transportation responsible for the testing program.

The City, as an employer of individuals placed in safety-sensitive positions, is required to run a limited query of the FMCSA Clearinghouse for each employee at least once annually according to 49 CFR 382.701(b). The City will ask each safety-sensitive employee to sign a consent form to run a limited query of their Clearinghouse at least once annually. Employees who refuse to sign the limited query must be removed from their safety-sensitive position, which could lead to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

If the limited query shows DOT drug and alcohol infractions are present in the individual's Clearinghouse account, the City (as the employer) is required to electronically submit a request to the individual's Clearinghouse account to access the detailed information report within 24 hours of the limited query being accessed. The employee must approve the request by the City's representative to run a full query check for the details of the infraction(s). If the employee refuses access or has not consented to allow

the full query to be accessed within the 24 hour time line, the employee must be removed from and not allowed to perform job duties for a safety-sensitive position. If the employee refuses access to the full query detailed information, they will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.12 City Requirements to Inquire With Previous Employers

The City must inquire with previous employers before hiring someone to fill a safety-sensitive position. Prior to being hired by the City, applicants must sign a release of information allowing the City to inquire with previous employers about the applicant's controlled substance and alcohol testing history during the previous three years. The applicant must also be registered with the FMCSA Clearinghouse and approve the electronic permission request submitted by a City representative to run a full query of their background through the Clearinghouse as required by 49 CFR 382.701(a)(1) & (2). Information that may be requested includes:

- Previous test dates.
- Positive test results.
- Refusals to test.
- Evaluation and rehabilitation results. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.13 Release of Information to Prospective Employers

All testing information about individual employees is confidential and is not in the public domain. Such information may not be released except as required by law or expressly authorized by 49 CFR 382.405.

If requested in writing and proper release of information is provided, the City will disclose the following information to any potential future employees:

- Alcohol tests with a result of 0.04 or higher alcohol concentration;
- Verified positive drug tests;
- Refusals to be tested (including verified adulterated or substituted drug test results);
- Other violation of DOT agency drug and alcohol testing regulations; Documentation of the employee's successful completion of DOT return-to-duty requirements (including follow-up tests).

23.14 Non-DOT Safety Sensitive Employees

The City may request that the employee undergo drug and alcohol testing if there is a "reasonable suspicion" that the employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol during work hours. "Reasonable suspicion" means an articulated belief based on specific facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts that an employee is under the influence of controlled substances and/or alcohol. Supervisors who have received reasonable suspicion training acknowledge that because non-DOT safety sensitive employees have a greater right to privacy than DOT safety sensitive employees, the supervisor must observe significant indicators prior to ordering testing. Circumstances

which constitute a basis for determining reasonable suspicion may include, but are not limited to:

- A pattern of abnormal or erratic behavior which is so unusual that it warrants summoning another employee, a supervisor, a police officer or other individual for assistance.
- Information provided by a reliable and credible source with personal knowledge.
- Direct observation of drug or alcohol use.
- Presence of the physical symptoms of drug or alcohol use; (i.e. glossy or blood-shot eyes, alcohol odor on breath, slurred speech, poor coordination and/or reflexes). (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1696 § 1)

23.15 Pre-Employment Drug Testing

All prospective applicants are required to pass a pre-employment drug test as a condition of employment. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.16 Possession of substances in violation of the City's drug and alcohol policy.

The employee, where "reasonable suspicion" exists, may be asked to submit to a breath and/or saliva alcohol testing by the City's drug and alcohol contractor. Controlled substance urine and/or hair follicle testing will be conducted by the City's drug and alcohol contractor at the City's expense. Any action which indicates a refusal to test will result in the employee being terminated. A positive result from the controlled substance and/or alcohol test confirming the reasonable suspicion will result in disciplinary action up to termination.

The supervisor who has received reasonable suspicion training is required to document in writing, the specific facts, symptoms, or observations which led to the reasonable suspicion. Human Resources shall place this documentation in the employee's medical personnel file only if confirmed by a positive controlled substance and/or alcohol test.

All information from an employee's controlled substance and/or alcohol test is confidential, and only the City's DER will be informed of the test results. Disclosure of test results to any other person, agency, or organization is prohibited unless written authorization is obtained from the employee. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.17 Vehicle Accidents

Drivers/operators are responsible for notifying the City of any vehicle or equipment accident while on duty or while driving a City vehicle on off hours. In an accident resulting in a death, the City driver(s)/operator(s) involved must undergo post-accident testing. In an accident which does not result in a death, but in which the City driver is cited for a moving traffic violation or resulted in vehicles involved in the accident being towed from the scene or injuries as a result of the accident being treated away from the scene, the driver must undergo post-accident drug and alcohol testing. In the event of a reportable accident as identified under North Dakota law occurs resulting liability of at least \$4,000, the driver/operator shall be tested.

Employees must be tested for controlled substances within 32 hours after all accidents resulting in a death or where the driver is cited for a moving violation if the accident resulted in injuries needing to be treated away from the scene or vehicles involved in the accident are required to be towed from the scene. If the controlled-substance test is not administered within 32 hours, no test will be given, and the manager must file and maintain records stating the reason for the delay and the lack of testing.

Employees must be tested for alcohol within two hours of the accident. If the alcohol test is not administered within two hours, the manager must file and maintain records stating why. Once documented, the City has six additional hours to perform the test. If an alcohol test is not administered within eight hours of the accident, no test will be given, and the manager must file and maintain records stating the reason for the delay and lack of testing. Employees must remain at work, but must not perform job functions that could endanger themselves or others, until the post-accident alcohol test is administered or eight hours since the accident has lapsed, or an unimpaired adult agrees to pick the employee up from work and transport that employee home. (Code 1696 § 1)

23.18 Return to Duty Testing and Follow Up Tests

If any test result is positive and the course of treatment recommended by a substance abuse professional (SAP) with the City EAP (or one chosen by the employee) has been completed, the employee must submit to return-to-duty alcohol and controlled substance tests prior to resuming duties. The return-to-duty alcohol test must indicate a breath alcohol concentration of less than 0.02. Controlled-substance test results must be negative. The employee will be required to pay for the return-to-duty test. Unannounced follow-up tests are required for a minimum of six months or as high as 60 months for any employee who, after a positive test result, is determined by a SAP to need help with alcohol or controlled-substance abuse. The City shall pay for the SAP and follow up test(s). (Code 1696 § 1)

23.19 Controlled Substances to be Tested

The following drug groups were selected based on the ability of each drug to adversely affect physical/mental performance. All are controlled substances under state and federal law.

- Alcohol
- Amphetamines
- Cocaine Metabolites
- Opioids
- Marijuana Metabolites
- Phencyclidine PCP

(Code 1696 § 1)

23.20 Employee Responsibilities

23.20.1 Reporting Off When Alcohol/Drug Impaired

An employee must not report to work while his/her ability to perform his/her job duties is impaired due to on or off duty alcohol or prescription drug use. Employees called in for emergency duty to work outside their work schedule who are impaired by off-duty alcohol or prescription drug use shall be required to decline the offer of work.

23.20.2 Possession of Controlled Substance

An employee must not possess or use alcohol or controlled substance without a prescription or if a doctor determines the prescription medication may endanger the employee during working hours or while subject to duty. This includes medical marijuana.

23.20.3 Reporting Controlled Substance Use

An employee required to operate vehicles or equipment while on the job is required to notify his/her immediate supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any legal medication or controlled substance, prescription or non-prescription, which may interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties or operation of City equipment.

23.20.4 Reporting Alcohol/Controlled Substance Related Charges and Convictions

An employee, required to operate a motor vehicle as part of his/her job must notify his/her immediate supervisor of any controlled substance or alcohol related charge which has resulted in the employee losing his/her driving privileges prior to beginning the next regularly scheduled shift or call-out. An employee must notify his/her immediate supervisor of any controlled substance or alcohol related criminal statute conviction no later than five (5) days after such conviction. Any violations of the above stated may result in immediate disciplinary action. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1696 § 1)

23.21 Management Responsibilities and Guidelines

23.21.1 Searches

Any municipally owned property provided to or utilized by an employee during the course of employment with the City is subject to unannounced and unrestricted search to include items contained in and on the same property. These items include but are not limited to: City owned vehicles, offices, desks, lockers and their related contents. Searches of persons and their personal possessions held on or about their person are prohibited. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1696 § 1)

23.21.2 Notification of Law Enforcement

Supervisors shall notify the police department when they have reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee may have illegal drugs in his or her possession or in an area jointly or fully controlled by the City.

23.21.3 City's Responsibility, Employee Rights

Nothing in this Section shall be interpreted as constituting any waiver of or limitation on the City's responsibility to maintain discipline, or the right to invoke disciplinary measures, nor the employee's right to due process and the processing of appeals concerning such disciplinary measures in accordance with the appeal procedure set forth in Section 29.08.04120. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1696 § 1;)

23.22 Forms of Discipline

Whenever disciplinary action is used in accordance with this Section, it may include but not be limited to any or all of the following: written reprimand, suspension, demotion or discharge as set forth in Section 29.08.04110.21.3 and/or referral to SAP or EAP as described in Section 29.08.04080.18.10. (Code 1637 § 1; Code 1696 § 1)

23.23 Copies of This Section to be Given to All Employees

Each employee will be given a copy of the City's policy on Drug and Alcohol Substance Abuse. (Code 1958 § 9-28; Ord. No. 454 § 2; Ord. No. 1090 § 2; Ord. No. 1163 § 5; Ord. No. 1347 §1 Code 1637 § 1; Code 1696 § 1)

Section 29.08.04140 Americans With Disabilities Act Employment Grievance Procedure

ADA Employment Grievance Procedure

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) provides comprehensive civil rights protection to individuals with disabilities in the areas of employment, public accommodations, state and local government services and programs, and telecommunications. Title II of the ADA states, in part, that "no otherwise qualified disabled employee or prospective employee shall, solely by reason of such disability, be excluded from the participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to discrimination" in programs or activities sponsored by a public entity.

The City of Dickinson has adopted this grievance procedure to provide prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging any action prohibited by the U.S. Department of Justice regulations implementing Title II of the ADA. The language included here is drawn from the ADA policy adopted by the City in September, 1994. The City of Dickinson has designated its Human Resources Coordinator as its ADA Coordinator.

Any employee or prospective employee who believes that (s)he or a specific class of individuals with disabilities has been subjected to unlawful discrimination on the basis of that disability by the City of Dickinson may, by himself or herself or by any authorized representative, file a complaint. Complaints should be addressed to: ADA Coordinator, City of Dickinson, 99 2nd St. E, Dickinson, ND 58601, (701) 456-7801, who has been designated to coordinate ADA compliance efforts.

A complaint must be submitted in writing to the City ADA Coordinator and contain: the name and address of the individual or representative filing the complaint, a description of the alleged discriminatory action in sufficient detail to inform the entity of the nature and date of the alleged violation, and be signed by the complainant or authorized representative. Complaints filed on behalf of third parties must describe or identify the alleged victims of the discrimination.

A decision by the ADA Coordinator regarding the complaint will be made within ten (10) working days after its receipt. The ADA Coordinator will submit written notice of the decision to

the complainant. If the complaint is not resolved to the satisfaction of the complainant by the ADA Coordinator, the complainant may request the complaint be forwarded to the ADA Compliance Committee. The Committee will hear the complaint at a public meeting, after adequate notice is given. The Committee will issue a written decision within thirty (30) after receiving the complaint. If the complaint cannot be resolved to the complainant's satisfaction by the Committee, the complaint may be heard by the City Commission upon written request by the complainant.

The City Commission will consider the complaint at any regular or special meeting, after adequate public notice is given. A written determination by the City Commission will be rendered within thirty (30) days after receipt of the complaint. The decision of the City Commission is a final administrative decision.

As an alternative to the above, complaints regarding testing, selection, promotion, separation, and other employment policies or working conditions may be submitted to the Civil Service Commission in lieu of the Dickinson City Commission. In such an instance, the Commission shall consider the complaint during a regular or special meeting. A written decision by the Commission must be rendered within thirty (30) days after receipt of the complaint. The decision of the Civil Service Commission is a final administrative decision.

Files and records of all complaints filed shall be maintained regarding each level of the grievance process.

Nothing in this grievance procedure shall be construed as preventing an individual from pursuit of other remedies including filing the complaint with any federal agency (s)he believes is appropriate or with the U.S. Department of Justice. This procedure also does not preclude the individual's right to file a lawsuit in federal district court. (Code 1637 § 1)

Section 29.08.04150 Specific Exceptions from Certain Sections

Applicability of Sections of this Policy to FLSA exempt employees:

29.08.04030: All sub-sections 29.08.04040: All sub-sections 29.08.04050: All sub-sections

29.08.04060: All sub-sections EXCEPTION: City Administrator's supervisor is the

City Commission, hence all sub-sections referring to City Administrator

shall be interpreted as City Commission for this employee.

29.08.04070: Not applicable to the City Administrator, Public Works Director,

Department Heads, the Finance Director, and the Assistant Police Chief

if determined to be FLSA exempt.

29.08.04080: All sub-sections 29.08.04090: All sub-sections 29.08.04100: All sub-sections

29.08.04110: All sub-sections EXCEPTION: City Administrator's supervisor is the

City Commission, hence all sub-sections referring to City

Administrator shall be interpreted as City Commission for this

employee.

29.08.04120: All sub-sections EXCEPTION: City Administrator's supervisor is the

City Commission, hence all sub-sections referring to City

Administrator shall be interpreted as City Commission for this

employee.

29.08.04130: All sub-sections

29.08.04140: All sub-sections

(Ord. No. 721 § 3; Ord. No. 1163 § 5)

Section 29.08.04160 Penalty

The penalty for any violation of this chapter shall be as set forth herein. (Ord. No. 1163 § 7)

Section 29.08.04170 Nepotism

This section was repealed in 1998. (Ord. No. 1163 § 6).

Chapter 30 PLUMBING

Last updated October 2007

Articles:

30.ED Editor's note to Chapter 30

30.04 In General

30.08 Plumber's License

30.12 Work Permit

Article 30.ED Editor's note to Chapter 30

Sections:

30.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 30

Section 30.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 30

As to buildings generally, see Ch. 7 of this Code.

Article 30.04 In General

Sections:	
30.04.00E	Editor's note to Article 30.04
30.04.010	Definitions
30.04.020	State Plumbing CodeAdoption
30.04.030	SameApplicability
30.04.040	Sand and oil interceptorsRequired for floor drains in commercial buildings
30.04.050	SameMaintenance
30.04.060	Administration and enforcement of chapter
30.04.070	Authority of building inspector to order repair, removal, etc., of existing
	sanitary installations
30.04.080	Appeal from decisions of building inspector
30.04.090	Persons permitted to do plumbing work, etc.

Section 30.04.00E Editor's note to Article 30.04

For state law as to authority of city to regulate plumbing, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (25).

Section 30.04.010 Definitions

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Journeyman Plumber. A person skilled in the work of plumbing and holding himself out as able and willing to do the work of a plumber as an employee of a master plumber.

Master Plumber. An employing plumber and one who does not hold himself out as personally doing all of the plumbing work required to be done but as contracting to furnish the material and doing the work wholly or in part through others. (Code 1958, § 24-1.)

Section 30.04.020 State Plumbing Code--Adoption

The North Dakota State Plumbing Code (1986 Edition) is hereby adopted as a standard code and rules governing the practice of plumbing and the minimum standards of plumbing within the city.

A copy of such code shall be kept on file in the office of the city auditor for inspection and use of the public, and shall be marked with the words "City of Dickinson Official Copy." (Code 1958, § 24-2; Ord. No. 829, § 1; Ord. No. 966, § 1.)

For state law authorizing the city to adopt codes by reference generally, see NDCC, 1 40-0501 (1). As to adoption of state Plumbing Code by reference, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (25).

Section 30.04.030 Same--Applicability

The provisions of the North Dakota State Plumbing Code shall apply to and govern plumbing as defined in such code including the practice, materials and fixtures is used in the installation, maintenance, extension and alteration of all piping, fixtures, appliances and appurtenances in connection with any of the following: Sanitary drainage or storm drainage facilities, the venting system and the public or private water supply systems within or adjacent to any building or other structure or conveyance; also, the practice and materials used in the installation, maintenance, extension or alteration of the storm water or sewerage system of any

premises to their connection with any point of public disposal or other terminal. (Code 1958, § 24-3.)

Section 30.04.040 Sand and oil interceptors--Required for floor drains in commercial buildings

- (a) Pursuant to the provisions of the North Dakota State Plumbing Code as adopted by section 30.04.020 of this Code and the BOCA Basic Building Code as adopted by section 7.020 of this Code, all commercial buildings which utilize and have installed floor drains shall have sand and oil interceptors constructed and maintained per the North Dakota State Plumbing Code.
- (b) All existing commercial buildings with floor drains shall be required to change their floor drains to include sand and oil interceptors per the State Plumbing Code within three years from the date of the enactment and final passage of this section. (Ord. No. 835, § 1.)

Editor's Note. Ordinance No. 835, from which this section is derived, was adopted on August 3, 1981.

Section 30.04.050 Same--Maintenance

Sand, oil and grease interceptors must be maintained in a clean and sanitary condition so there is no discharge of sand, oil and grease into the city sanitary sewer system. Periodic inspections will be conducted by the building inspection department. Noncompliance with this section shall be an infraction in violation of this Code and punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars. (Ord. No. 914, § 1.)

Section 30.04.060 Administration and enforcement of chapter

The administration and enforcement of this chapter shall be the duty of the building inspector and city engineer, who are hereby authorized to take such action as may be necessary to enforce the purposes of this chapter. (Code 1958, § 24-4.)

Section 30.04.070 Authority of building inspector to order repair, removal, etc., of existing sanitary installations

The building inspector is hereby given authority to order the repair, alteration or removal of any sanitary sewer connection of plumbing, any connection to storm water sewer or any private sanitary drain, cesspool or privy which, in his judgment, is so installed or is in such condition as to be unsanitary or to constitute a public nuisance or menace to health. In case such repair, alteration or removal is not promptly executed by the owner thereof in accordance with the directions of the building inspector, he may cause such installation to be disconnected from any source of water supply or, with the consent of the waterworks department, he may shut off the supply of water from the water mains of the city to the building or property in or on which such installation is situated. It shall thereafter be unlawful for any person in any manner to use any such installation or to supply water thereto until such installation shall have been put in safe and sanitary condition according to the directions of the building inspector.

In case it shall be impracticable for the building inspector to proceed as above described, he shall notify the public health officer of the city, whose duty it shall then be to proceed with the removal of such installation in accordance with the laws of the state. (Code 1958, § 24-5.)

Section 30.04.080 Appeal from decisions of building inspector

In case any difference should arise between the building inspector and the owner of any property subject to the regulations of this chapter or any person engaged in or desirous of doing any plumbing or sewer work regarding the interpretation or enforcement of any of the provisions of this chapter, appeal may be made to the board of appeals as established by section 127.1 et seq. of the Basic Building Code as adopted by section 7.020; whose decision thereon shall be final. (Code 1958, § 24-6.)

Section 30.04.090 Persons permitted to do plumbing work, etc.

All plumbing work, all excavations and cutting of pavement in the public streets or alleys, all laying of water and sewer connections and connections to storm sewers and all construction of private sanitary drains within the corporate limits of the city shall be undertaken and executed only by such plumbers or other persons as have obtained a license for such work together with a permit for each separate job. (Code 1958, § 24-7.)

Article 30.08 Plumber's License

Sections:

30.08.010 Required

30.08.020 Bond required of applicant for master's license

30.08.030 Fees 30.08.040 Issuance

30.08.050 Expiration and renewal

30.08.060 Revocation

Section 30.08.010 Required

No person shall engage in the occupation of installing or repairing the pipes, fixtures or other apparatus constituting the plumbing system of any building within the city without first procuring a license to do so, either as a master plumber or a journeyman plumber. (Code 1958, § 24-8.)

Section 30.08.020 Bond required of applicant for master's license

In addition to his license fee, an applicant for license as a master plumber must file in the office of the city auditor a surety company bond in the sum of one thousand dollars approved by the board of city commissioners and conditioned substantially that the principal will indemnify and save harmless the city from any and all loss, claim, suit or damage, direct or consequential, which the city may suffer or sustain by reason of any work done, any neglect or omission by the principal or his employees or the use of improper materials therein; that the work will be fully performed; and that the principal will comply with all ordinances and regulations of the city concerning plumbing, drain laying in water mains and sewers and will restore to the condition in which such installations were found, any paving, street, sidewalk, water pipe, sewer or other property disturbed by him or his agents in and about his employment. (Code 1958, § 24-9.)

Section 30.08.030 Fees

The fee for a master plumber's license and a journeyman plumber's license shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule. (Code 1958, § 24-10; Ord. No. 705, § 4; Ord. No. 1086, § 18.)

Section 30.08.040 Issuance

A license to engage in the business of plumbing, whether as a master or a journeyman plumber, shall be issued by the city auditor to any person presenting to him a certificate of competency issued by the board of plumbing examiners, upon payment by such person to the city of the fee specified in section 30.08.030. (Code 1958, § 24-11.)

Section 30.08.050 Expiration and renewal

All licenses issued under this article shall be for one year or a fractional part thereof and shall expire on the thirty-first day of December of each year. They shall be renewed by the city

auditor from year to year upon payment of the annual license fee specified in section 30.08.030. (Code 1958, § 24-12.)

Section 30.08.060 Revocation

The failure of any person licensed to engage in the work of plumbing or of any surety of such person to pay any damages sustained by the city by virtue of the breach by the licensee or any of his employees of the conditions of the indemnifying bond required by this article or the withdrawal of any surety from the contract of suretyship during the term of the license of any licensee shall be cause for revocation of the license by the board of city commissioners. Any such license shall be revoked only after notice of hearing and after an opportunity on the part of the licensee to be heard before such board. (Code 1958, § 24-14.)

Article 30.12 Work Permit

Sections:

30.12.010 Required; exception

30.12.020 Application

30.12.030 Fees

30.12.040 Issuance--Generally

30.12.050 Same--Not to be issued in certain cases

30.12.060 Allowing others to use permit

Section 30.12.010 Required; exception

Whenever any plumber or other person licensed by the city to engage in plumbing work covered by this chapter shall desire to commence any such work, he shall first obtain a permit so to do from the building inspector; provided, however, that no permit shall be required for ordinary repairs to plumbing. (Code 1958, § 24-15.)

Section 30.12.020 Application

An application for a permit required by this article shall be in such form, shall contain such information regarding the proposed work as shall be required by the building inspector and, if he so requires, shall be accompanied by plans, specifications and estimates of the cost thereof. (Code 1958, § 24-16.)

Section 30.12.030 Fees

For each plumbing permit required under the terms of this article, the applicable fees shall be paid to the director of code enforcement. The permit fees for one or two family dwellings, apartments and commercial buildings shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule. (Code 1958, § 24-17; Ord. No. 728, § 3; Ord. No. 789, § 3; Ord. No. 1086, § 19.)

Section 30.12.040 Issuance--Generally

When after due consideration and examination it shall appear to the building inspector that the provisions of this chapter are complied with, he shall issue a permit applied for under this article. (Code 1958, § 24-18.)

Section 30.12.050 Same--Not to be issued in certain cases

No permit shall be issued for the making of any connection between any sanitary sewer or storm water sewer or water mains of the city and any property which has not been assessed for the construction of such sanitary sewer, storm sewer or water main, except as authorized by the board of city commissioners. No permit shall be issued for the making of any connection to any sanitary sewer, storm sewer or water main of the city from any property on which any special assessment taxes for the foregoing improvements are delinquent.

No permit shall be issued by the building inspector for the connection of any storm water pipe or sewer or any pipe leading from any roof, gutter or downspout to any sanitary sewer or for

the connection of any sanitary sewer or pipe to any storm water sewer, and it shall be unlawful for any person to make such connection or cause the same to be made. (Code 1958, § 24-19.)

Section 30.12.060 Allowing others to use permit

No licensed plumber or other person shall allow the use of any permit granted him under this article by any other person not in his employ. (Code 1958, § 24-20.)

Chapter 31 POLICE

Last updated October 2007

Sections:

- 31.00E Editor's note to Chapter 31
 31.010 Department--Created
 31.020 Same--Composition
 31.030 Duties of chief generally
 31.040 Powers and duties of policemen generally
 31.050 Supervision; display of insignia; conduct
 31.060 Adoption of peace officer's standards
- 31.070 Arrests without warrant
- 31.080 Resisting officer
- 31.090 Alarm systems
- 31.100 Same--Not monitored by police department REPEALED
- 31.110 Dickinson police department asset forfeiture fund--Created—Purpose--Continuing appropriation

Section 31.00E Editor's note to Chapter 31

For authority of city to regulate the police of the city and to pass and enforce police ordinances, see NDCC, § 40-05-02 (9).

As to obedience to police relative to motor vehicles, see § 23.12.050 of this Code. As to powers and duties of police relative to motor vehicles, see § 23.12.010.

As to police employees' pension plan, see §§ 32.12.010.

Section 31.010 Department--Created

There is hereby established a police department in and for the city. (Code 1958, § 25-1.)

Section 31.020 Same--Composition

The police department shall consist of a chief of police and such number of policemen as from time to time may be deemed necessary by the board of city commissioners; provided, however, that the police commissioner may appoint extra policemen in case of emergency. (Code 1958, § 25-2.)

Section 31.030 Duties of chief generally

The chief of police shall see that the ordinances of the city are strictly enforced. He shall report to the board of city commissioners any violation of the ordinances or anything occurring within the city which, in his opinion, is detrimental to the health or safety or good order of the city. He shall at all times be subject to and obey the orders of the commissioner of police and perform such other additional duties and orders as the board of city commissioners may prescribe and shall have supervision over the other members of the police department. (Code 1958, § 25-3.)

Section 31.040 Powers and duties of policemen generally

All police officers of the city shall, within the city limits and for a distance of one and one-half miles in all directions within the state next outside the city limits, perform the duties and exercise the power of peace officers as defined and prescribed by the laws of the state and shall also have power and it shall be their duty to serve and execute any warrants, writs, process, order or notice issued to them by any court so authorized by state law within the city in any civil or criminal action or proceeding for or on account of a violation of any city ordinance, or in any action or proceeding in which the city is a party or beneficially considered, and, in addition thereto, shall perform such duties as shall be prescribed by the ordinances of the city and shall also have power within such limits to serve and execute all writs and process whatsoever issued by such justices in civil actions. (Code 1958, § 25-4.)

Section 31.050 Supervision; display of insignia; conduct

The policemen shall be under the supervision of the chief of police and shall obey all orders, rules and regulations prescribed by the commissioner of police of the chief of police and shall, when on duty, wear the insignia of their office on their outer garment in a conspicuous place, except when occasion requires that it be not exposed. They shall be quiet, civil and orderly in their conduct and refrain from violent, profane, obscene and insolent language and abstain from intoxicating liquors, insubordination and dereliction of duty. Any violation of this section shall be reported to the commissioner of police and the board of commissioners by the chief of police immediately upon obtaining knowledge thereof. (Code 1958, § 25-5.)

Section 31.060 Adoption of peace officer's standards

Those certain Peace Officer's Standards for North Dakota as previously adopted and published by the North Dakota Combined Law Enforcement Council on May 30, 1974, copies of which are on file in the office of the city auditor, are hereby adopted as a part of this Code. (Ord. No. 640, § 1.)

Section 31.070 Arrests without warrant

Arrests of persons by a policeman without a warrant shall be done only in compliance with state law.

For state law as to arrest without warrant, see NDCC, §§ 29-06-15 to 29-06-26.

Section 31.080 Resisting officer

It shall be unlawful for any person to resist or oppose any police officer in the discharge of his duties. (Code 1958, § 21-7.)

Section 31.090 Alarm systems

- (a) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:
 - (1) "False alarm" shall mean any activation of an alarm system by purposeful or accidental tripping, which results in an emergency response. An activation of an alarm system shall not be considered a "false alarm" when due to an act of God or an occurrence beyond the alarm user's control.

- (2) The term "alarm system" is defined as one intended for use in detection of unauthorized intrusion into a premises for commission of a crime or to detect a fire. The term "alarm system" does not include a system in buildings owned by governmental entities.
- (3) The term "department" is defined as the city police department and city fire department, unless otherwise indicated.
- (b) The department shall not monitor alarm systems, nor shall the department assume any responsibility for maintenance or care of such systems, nor shall the department make any guarantees or representations to suggest it has a duty to monitor any alarm system. The use of auto-dialers on alarm systems to dial directly to emergency or non-emergency numbers at the department is prohibited.
- (c) The city administrator shall bill an alarm user immediately following each chargeable false alarm, and each shall be due and payable to the city administrator within thirty days after the bill is mailed.
- (d) The false fire alarms as contemplated and defined under section 13.04.060 of this Code are not subject to this section and shall be prosecuted as therein stated.
- (e) The fees referenced in this section shall be in such amount as is determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners in the City of Dickinson fee schedule. (Ord. No. 968, § 1; Ord. No. 1303 § 1; Ord. No. 1325 §1.)

Section 31.100 Same--Not monitored by police department - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1303 on October 3, 2005. (Ord. No. 976, § 1; Ord. No. 1303 § 2.)

Section 31.110 Dickinson police department asset forfeiture fund--Created--Purpose--Continuing appropriation

There is hereby created a fund to be known as the Dickinson police department asset forfeiture fund. The fund consists of funds appropriated by the board of city commissioners and additional funds obtained from moneys, assets, and proceeds seized and forfeited pursuant to North Dakota Century Code section 19-03.1-36, from restitution by defendants of official funds previously expended in an investigation, and amounts remaining from the forfeiture of property after the payment of expenses for the forfeiture and sale authorized by law. The total aggregate amount in the fund may not exceed thirty thousand dollars, and at the end of each fiscal year any moneys in excess of that amount must be deposited in the general fund. The funds are appropriated, as a standing and continuing appropriation, to the Dickinson police department for the following purposes:

- (a) For obtaining evidence for enforcement of any state criminal law or law relating to the control of drug abuse or any other criminal investigation specifically determined by the chief of police.
- (b) For paying, at the discretion of the chief of police, awards for information or assistance leading to a forfeiture under North Dakota Century Code section 19-03.1-36, or a federal forfeiture action.

- (c) For paying, at the discretion of the chief of police, subject to approval by the board of city commissioners, any expenses necessary to seize, detain, inventory, safeguard, maintain, advertise, or sell property seized, detained, or forfeited pursuant to North Dakota Century Code section 19-03.1-36, or of any other expenses incident to the seizure, detention, or forfeiture of such property.
- (d) For equipping for law enforcement function, forfeited aircraft, vehicles and vessels retained as provided by law for official use by the Dickinson police department.
- (e) For paying, at the discretion of the chief of police, overtime, compensation to officers of the Dickinson police department, such overtime incurred as a result of investigations of violations of North Dakota Century Code chapter 19-03.1, or any other specialized investigation specifically determined by the chief of police.
- (f) For paying matching funds required to be paid as a condition for receipt of funds from a federal or state government program awarding monetary grants or assistance for the investigation, apprehension, or prosecution of persons violating the provisions of North Dakota Century Code chapter 19-03.1.
- (g) For equipping for law enforcement operations, specialized or necessary equipment which is needed in performing enforcement or investigative operations in and around the city of Dickinson, as determined by the chief of police.
- (h) For "specialized" educational or training programs, within the city's school district, or specific drug-alcohol related topics as determined by the chief of police.

The chief of police shall, with the concurrence of the city auditor, establish the necessary accounting procedures for the use of such fund. The chief of police and police commissioner shall personally approve, in writing, all requests from the Dickinson police department for the use of such fund and shall be accountable to the board of city commissioners, for the expenditures thereof. (Ord. No. 1022, § 1.)

Chapter 32 RETIREMENT

Last updated March, 2023

Articles:

- 32.ED Editor's note to Chapter 32
- 32.04 In General
- 32.08 City of Dickinson Pension Plan and Trust
- 32.12 City of Dickinson Police Employee's Pension Plan and Trust
- 32.16 Part Time Fire Fighter Pension Plan
- 32.20 City of Dickinson Defined Contribution Plan

Article 32.ED Editor's note to Chapter 32

Sections:

32.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 32

Section 32.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 32

As to personnel generally, see Ch. 29 of this Code.

Article 32.04 In General

Sections:

32.04.010 Hospitalization insurance benefits for retirees

Section 32.04.010 Hospitalization insurance benefits for retirees

This section was repealed in 1998. (Ord. No. 1163 § 6)

Article 32.08 City of Dickinson Pension Plan and Trust

Article 3	2.08 City of Dickinson Pension Plan and Trust
Sections:	
32.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 32.08
32.08.100	Definitions.
32.08.210	Participation.
32.08.220	Transfer.
32.08.230	Termination of Participation.
32.08.240	City's Obligation.
32.08.250	Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, and Family
	Medical Leave Act.
32.08.310	City Contributions.
32.08.410	Years of Service.
32.08.420	Vesting of Participants' Benefits.
32.08.430	Plan Termination.
32.08.510	Limitations on Allocations Definitions.
32.08.520	Limitations of Benefits.
32.08.530	Combined Limitations.
32.08.610	Accrued Benefit.
32.08.620	Retirement Benefits.
32.08.630	Form of Benefit.
32.08.640	Required Distributions.
32.08.650	Termination of Employment.
32.08.660	Death Benefits.
32.08.670	Designation of Beneficiary.
32.08.680	Minimum Aggregate Benefits.
32.08.690	Other Distribution Rules.
32.08.692	Eligible Rollover Distributions.
32.08.694	Retiree Benefits.
32.08.710	Appointment of Board Trustees.
32.08.720	Information to be made available to Board of Trustees.
32.08.730	Duties and Powers of Board of Trustees.
32.08.740	Notices from Participants.
32.08.750	Qualified Domestic Relations Orders.
32.08.810	Investment of Plan Assets.
32.08.820	Records.
32.08.830	Administrative Powers of the Trustee.
32.08.840	Allocated Earnings Account.
32.08.850	Organization and Operation of Office of Trustee.
32.08.860	Advice of Counsel.
32.08.870	Appointment, resignation, removal and substitution of Trustee.
32.08.910	Amendments to Plan and Trust.
32.08.920	Termination of Plan and Trust.
32.08.930	Merger, Consolidation, or Transfer of Assets or Liabilities of the Plan.
32.08.940	Distribution Upon Termination of Trust.
32.08.1010	Text to Control.
32.08.1020	Severability.

32.08.1030 Jurisdiction.

32.08.1040 Forum Selection.

32.08.1050 Expenses.

32.08.1060 Rules of Construction.

Section 32.08.00E Editor's note to Article 32.08

For state law as to authority of city to adopt employee pension system by ordinance, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (70).

Section 32.08.100 Definitions.

When used in this Plan, the following words will have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

- 1.1 Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent means a payment or a series of payments that has the same present value computed on the basis of the following interest rate and mortality assumptions:
 - [i] Interest Rate: 8% pre-retirement and 6% post-retirement
 - [ii] Mortality Table: 1983 IAM with six year setback
 - [iii] For any distribution with an annuity starting date on or after the effective date of this Section and before the adoption date of this Section, if application of the amendment as of the annuity starting date would have caused a reduction in the amount of any distribution, such reduction is not reflected in any payment made before the adoption date of this section. However, the amount of any such reduction that is required under Code Section 415(b)(2) must be reflected actuarially over any remaining payments to the Participant. (Ord. No. 1539 § 4; Ord. No. 1768 § 1)
- <u>1.2</u> Beneficiary means the person who, under this Plan becomes entitled to receive a Participant's interest upon the Participant's death.
- 1.3 Board of Trustees means the Board designated by the Plan in Article VII whose duties and responsibilities are specified in this Plan.
- 1.4 City means the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 1.5 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it presently is constituted, as it may be amended, or any successor statute of similar purpose.
- 1.6 Compensation, for all pay received after December 31, 1999, means all pay received by an Employee during the calendar year, except special bonuses or severance upon separation, mileage or any other form of expense reimbursement. Compensation includes only compensation that is actually paid to the Participant during the calendar year.

Compensation, for all pay received on or before December 31, 1999, means the annual salary approved for each Employee in the city's annual budget for the calendar year. Compensation does not include longevity pay, overtime, mileage, or any other form of additional compensation. Compensation includes only compensation that is actually paid to the Participant during the calendar year.

Pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(17), Compensation taken into account for all purposes under this Plan shall not exceed [A] \$200,000 (as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost of living increases each year) for any Plan Year ending prior to January 1, 1996, and [B] \$150,000 (as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost of living increases each year) for any Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996. If

Compensation is determined for any period of fewer than 12 months, the Code Section 401(a)(17) limitation will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar months in the determination period and the denominator of which is 12.

Increase in limit. The annual compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining benefit accruals for any Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed \$200,000, as adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(17)(B). Annual Compensation means Compensation during the Plan Year or such other consecutive 12-month period over which Compensation is otherwise determined under the Plan (the determination period). For purposes of determining benefit accruals in a Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2001, compensation for any prior determination period shall not exceed \$200,000 (as adjusted) for any Plan Year ending before January 1, 1996; \$150,000 for any determination period beginning in 1997, 1998, or 1999; and \$170,000 for any determination period beginning in 2000 or 2001.

Cost-of-living adjustment. The \$200,000 limit on annual compensation in the preceding paragraph shall be adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to annual compensation for the determination period that begins with or within such calendar year.

If Compensation for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining a Participant's benefits for the current Plan Year, the Compensation for such prior determination period is subject to the applicable Annual Compensation Limit in effect for that prior period. For this purpose, in determining benefits in Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1989 and before January 1, 1996, the Annual Compensation Limit in effect for determination periods beginning before that date is \$200,000. For this purpose, in determining benefits in Plan Years beginning after January 1, 1996, the Annual Compensation Limit in effect for determination periods beginning before that date is \$150,000 as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for increases in the cost of living in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(17)(B).

Unless otherwise provided under the Plan, the Accrued Benefit of each Section 401(a)(17) Employee under the Plan will be the sum of:

- [a] the Participant's Accrued Benefit as of December 31, 1995, frozen in accordance with Reg. '1.401(a)(4)-13, and
- [b] the Participant's Accrued Benefit determined under the benefit formula applicable for the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996, as applied to the Participant's Years of Benefit Service credited for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1996, for purposes of benefit accruals.

A Section 401(a)(17) employee means an employee whose current accrued benefit as of a date on or after the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996, is based on compensation for a year beginning prior to the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996 that exceeded \$150,000.

For limitation years beginning after December 31, 1997, Compensation paid or made available during such limitation year shall include any elective deferral (as defined in Code section 402(g)(3)), and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the employer at the election of the employee and which is not includable in the gross income of the employee by reason of Code sections 125 or 457.

- 1.7 Earnings means for Employee contributions, [A] interest credited at the rate of 5% compounded annually from the date contributions are made to January 1, 2000 or, if earlier, to the date payment of benefits begins; and [B] interest compounded annually and credited at a rate that reflects the annualized net earnings realized on investments of the Plan assets from the later of January 1, 2000 or the date contributions are made to the date payment of benefits begin.
- 1.8 Effective Date means April 1, 1969. The effective date of this amended and restated Plan is January 1, 1989 for provisions required by law to be effective as of that date or as of the date required if an earlier effective date is required or as of the date specified for any provision for which a different effective date is specified.
- 1.9 Employee means every permanent and probationary regular full-time Employee of the City or the Dickinson Park District, prior to April 18, 2006, who is a Participant of this Plan and who is not a police department employee.

"Leased Employee" means any person (other than an Employee of the City) who has performed services of the City (or for the City and related persons as determined under Code Section 414(n)(6)) under an agreement between the City and the leasing organization on a substantially full-time basis for a period of at least one year, and, prior to 1997, such services were of a type historically performed by the Employees in the business field of the City, or, if after 1996, such services are performed under the primary direction or control by the City.

- 1.10 Final Average Compensation means the average of a Participant's Total Basic Compensation for the five years that will result in the highest average.
- 1.11 Normal Retirement Age means the date a Participant attains age 62 and has completed fifteen (15) years of Service or has completed thirty (30) years of service.
- 1.12 Plan Year means the 12-consecutive-month period commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31 of each year. The Plan Year will also be the fiscal (taxable) years of the Trust.
- 1.13 Retirement means the last day of the month in which a Participant attains either his Normal Retirement Age or Early Retirement Age and benefits under the Plan are immediately payable.
- 1.14 Surviving Children means the surviving issue of a Participant or a child or children legally adopted by a Participant.
- 1.15 Surviving Spouse means the Spouse to whom the Participant was married on the date of the Participant's termination of employment.
- <u>1.16</u> Total Basic Compensation means the annual salary approved for each Employee in the City's annual budget for the calendar year. Total Basic Compensation does not include longevity pay, overtime, mileage or any other form of additional compensation.
- 1.17 Total Disability means to become, while in the service of the city, mentally or physically, totally and permanently disabled from discharging his duties.

The question of Total and Permanent Disability shall be determined by the Trustees upon the concurring report of at least two out of three physicians designated by the Board of Trustees to make a complete physical examination of the Employee. The Trustees shall have the power at any time to cause an Employee of the City, retired by reason of physical or mental Disability, to be brought before it and again examined by three physicians appointed by the Board of Trustees to discover whether such retired Employees shall be continued on the disability pension roll. Such Employees shall be entitled to reasonable

notice that such examination will be made and to be present at the time of the taking of any testimony pertinent thereto.

Thereafter the City Employee shall submit to the Trustees annual notice of employment status and medical examination not later than October 1 of each year. Such annual notice shall include the employment status and medical status of Employee in such form as the Trustees shall determine.

Failure to comply with the requirements set forth shall result in suspension of any disability retirement benefit payments until such time as this section is complied with, or shall result in the termination of disability retirement benefits.

- $\underline{1.18}$ Trustee means the individuals or institution appointed by the Board of Trustees as Trustee(s).
- 1.19 Year of Service means each Plan Year and fractional year of employment with the City for which a Participant receives credit under the terms of this Plan.
- 1.20 Termination of Employment means a severance of employment by not being on the payroll of the City or Dickinson Park District for a minimum of one month. Approved leave of absence or if reemployed by the City or Dickinson Park District within one month of being off of payroll does not constitute termination of employment.

(Ord. No. 1265 §1.; Ord. No. 1289 § 1; Ord. No. 1676 § 1.)

Section 32.08.210 Participation.

Except as otherwise provided in the special rules below, an Employee will become a Participant as of the date the Employee becomes an Employee. The following special rules apply:

- [a] If a Plan is amended, any Employee who is already a Participant on the date the amended and restated Plan is adopted will continue to participate.
- [b] If an Employee who is not a member of an eligible class of Employees becomes a member of an eligible class, the Employee will participate immediately.
- [c] Upon reemployment_by the City or Dickinson Park District within one month of being off of payroll, and returning to employment in a category of Employees that is eligible to participate, a former Participant or former Employee will become a Participant immediately.

No individual who has not become a Participant prior to April 18, 2006, shall become a Participant after April 17, 2006. Notwithstanding the foregoing if an individual was a Participant in the City of Dickinson Police Employee's Pension Plan, such individual shall be eligible to become a Participant under this Plan if the individual meets the eligibility requirements of this Plan.

(Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1313 §1; Ord. No. 1676 § 1.)

Section 32.08.220 Transfer.

If an individual who has been employed by the City of Dickinson as a police department employee becomes an Employee and a Participant in this Plan, the benefit accrued by the Participant under the City of Dickinson Police Employees' Pension Plan will be transferred to this Plan. If a Participant in this Plan becomes a police department employee and a Participant in the City of Dickinson Police Employees' Pension Plan, the Participant's benefit accrued under this Plan shall be transferred to the City of Dickinson Police Employees' Pension Plan.

The employee shall be subject to the terms of the Pension Plan, including its obligations and benefits, in which the employee was enrolled at the time of retirement.

(Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1382 §1)

Section 32.08.230 Termination of Participation.

Participation will cease upon complete distribution of a Participant's vested Accrued Benefit and forfeiture of the Participant's non-vested Accrued Benefit. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.240 City's Obligation.

Neither participation in the Plan nor the City's adoption and continuance of the Plan will be deemed to constitute a contract between the City and any Employee or Participant, nor to be a consideration for, or an inducement or condition of, the employment of any person. Nothing in this Plan will be deemed to give any Employee or Participant the right to be retained in the employ of the City, or to interfere with the right of the City to discharge any Employee or Participant at any time, nor will it be deemed to give the City the right to require the Employee or Participant to remain in its employ, nor will it interfere with the right of any Employee or Participant to terminate his employment at any time. In adopting this Plan, the City does not make any representation as to the amount of the contribution that it will make for any year other than as recommended by the actuary employed by the Plan. Except insofar as the City fails to make contributions to this Plan adequate to fund the Plan on a sound actuarial basis, the City assumes no liability or responsibility for direct payment of benefits. All benefits payable under this Plan will be paid or provided solely from the Trust Fund. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.250 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, Heroes Earnings, Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008 and Family Medical Leave Act.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). Effective January 1, 2009, and notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the death after 2006 of a Participant during qualified military service (as defined in Code Section 414(u)(5)) will be treated as death while in the employment of the City for purposes of any benefits (other than benefit accruals related to the period of qualified military service) to which the Employee's survivors would have been entitled had the Employee resumed employment and then terminated employment on account of death. Years of Service will be credited in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

(Ord. No. 1265 §1.; Ord. No. 1539 §5.)

Section 32.08.310 City Contributions.

For each Plan Year, the City will pay to the Trustee the contribution determined by the City.

- [a] Cash: City Contributions must be paid in cash.
- [b] Employee Contributions: Each Employee shall be required to contribute to the Plan monthly by payroll deduction an amount equal to 7% of the Employee's monthly salary. The required Employee Contributions shall be paid by the city in

- lieu of payment by the Employee and therefore shall be picked up by the City and within the meaning of Code Section 414(h)(2) shall be treated as City Contributions. No Employee shall have the option of having Employee Contributions paid to the Employee instead of having the required Employee Contribution paid by the City to the Plan.
- [c] Forfeitures: City Contributions will be offset by any amounts forfeited under Section 6.5. Forfeitures will not be applied to increase benefits provided by the Plan unless benefits are increased by appropriate amendments. Forfeitures arising under this Plan will only be applied to reduce the contributions of the City.
- [d] Actuarial Determination: For each Plan Year, the City will make contributions to the Plan in an amount adequate to fund the benefits provided in this Plan on a sound actuarial basis. The amount of contributions to the Plan will be recommended by the actuary employed by the Plan and determined by the City.
- [e] Time and Form of Payment: City and Employee Contributions for any Plan Year may be paid to the Trustee in one sum or in several installments on any date or dates the City elects.
- [f] Exclusive Benefit: This Plan and Trust has been established for the exclusive benefit of the Participants' and their Beneficiaries. The corpus or income of the Trust may not be diverted to or used for other than the exclusive benefit of the Participants or their Beneficiaries. All contributions by the City to the Plan are conditional upon the qualification of the Plan.

At the City's written request to the Trustee specifying the assets to be liquidated to make the payment, any contribution made by the City because of a mistake of fact may be returned to the City within one year of the contribution.

In the event that the Commissioner of Internal Revenue determines that the Plan is not initially qualified under the Internal Revenue Code, then at the City's written request to the Trustee specifying the assets to be liquidated to make the payment, any contribution made incident to that initial qualification by the City must be returned to the city within one year after the date the initial qualification is denied. (Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1768 § 1.)

Section 32.08.410 Years of Service.

Years of service will be credited as follows:

- [a] Years of Service will be credited for the period beginning on the date the Employee becomes an Employee and ending on the date the Employee terminates employment. Fractional Years of Service will be credited by counting 1/12 of a Year of Service for each complete calendar month of the fractional year.
- [b] Years of Service will be credited for period of military duty for participants covered by and who have complied with the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as set forth in Chapter 43 of Title 38 United States Code, as currently set forth and as may hereafter be amended.
- [c] Except as otherwise provided in subsection [b], Service will not be credited for any period during which an Employee is on leave of absence. Service will be credited for periods of vacation or sick leave duly granted.
- [d] For purposes of vesting under Section 4.2, but not for purposes of benefit accrual under Section 6.1, Years of Service will be credited for any period during which

- an Employee or former Employer is employed by the City of Dickinson Police Department.
- [e] Service will not be credited for any period of employment for which the Employee received a distribution under Section 6.5.
- [f] For purposes of vesting and for purposes of determining eligibility for retirement but not for purposes of benefit accrual years of employment in an ineligible class of employees will be counted as Years of Service. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.420 Vesting of Participants' Benefits.

A Participant's Accrued Benefit will become fully vested and non-forfeitable if he attains Normal Retirement Age while employed by the City. A Participant's Employee contributions plus interest will be fully vested at all times. A Participant shall be vested in his Accrued Benefit attributable to Employer contributions in accordance with the following schedule:

Completed	Percentage of Benefit
Years of Service	That is Vested
Fewer than 4	0
4 or more but fewer than 5	25%
5 or more but fewer than 6	50%
6 or more but fewer than 7	75%
7 or more	100%

(Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.430 Plan Termination.

Upon the termination or partial termination of this Plan, the rights of all affected Participants to the benefits accrued as of the date the termination or partial termination (to the extent funded as of such date) will be fully vested. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.510 Limitations on Allocations Definitions.

For purposes of this Section, the following terms will be defined as follows:

- [a] **Annual Benefit**. A retirement benefit under the Plan that is payable annually in the form of a straight life annuity. Except as provided below, a benefit payable in a form other than a straight life annuity must be adjusted to an actuarially equivalent straight life annuity before applying the limitations of this Article. This actuarial equivalent straight life annuity shall be determined under the following rules.
 - (1) **Not §417(e)(3) Forms**. If the benefit is paid in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does not apply (e.g., lifetime annuity), the actuarially equivalent straight life annuity benefit is the greater of
 - (A) the annual amount of the straight life annuity (if any) payable to the Participant under the Plan commencing at the same

- annuity starting date as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, or
- (B) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using a five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table described in Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations for that annuity starting date.
- (2) **§417(e)(3) Forms.** If the benefit is paid in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does apply (e.g., lump sum), the actuarially equivalent straight life annuity benefit is the greatest of:
 - (A) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using the interest rate and mortality table, or tabular factor, specified in the Plan for determining the amount of that form of benefit, or
 - (B) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using a five and one half percent (5.5%) interest and the applicable mortality table described in Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations for that annuity starting date, or
 - (C) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using the applicable interest rate for the distribution under §1.417(e)-1(d)(3) and the applicable mortality table for the distribution under §1.417(e)-1(d)(2), divided by 1.05.
- (3) **Excluded Contributions**. The annual benefit does not include any benefits attributable to employee contributions, rollover contributions or the assets transferred from a qualified plan that was not maintained by a Controlled Group Member.
- (4) **Ancillary Benefits**. No actuarial adjustment to the annual benefit is required for: (A) the value of a qualified joint and survivor annuity (to the extent such value exceeds the sum of the value of a straight life annuity beginning on the same date and the value of

post-retirement death benefits that would be paid even if the annuity were not in the form of a joint and survivor annuity), or (B) the value of benefits that are not directly related to retirement benefits (such as a pre-retirement disability benefit, a pre-retirement death benefit or a post-retirement medical benefit), or (C) the value of post-retirement cost of living increases made in accordance with regulations under the Code.

- [b] Controlled Group Member. Controlled Group Member means the City and each member of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Code Section 414(b) and as modified by Code Section 415(h)), all commonly controlled trades or businesses (as defined in Code Section 414(c) and as modified by Code Section 415(h)), affiliated service groups (as defined in Code Section 414(m)) of which the City is a part and other organizations required to be aggregated for this purpose under Code Section 414(o).
- [c] **Defined Benefit Plans**. Defined benefit plans shall have the meaning assigned to that term by Code Section 415(k)(1). Whenever reference is made to defined benefit plans in this Section, it shall include all such plans maintained by the City and all controlled group members including terminated plans, plans maintained by predecessor employers and plans that were formerly maintained by the employer or a related employer but shall not include any multiemployer plan (as defined in Code Section 414(f)).
- [d] **Limitation Year**. Limitation year means the Plan Year.
- [e] **Maximum Permissible Benefit**. Maximum permissible benefit means, for any one (1) limitation year, an amount determined as follows:
 - (1) **Age 62 Commencement.** If the annual benefit commences at or after age sixty-two (62) years (but before age sixty-five years), the maximum permissible benefit is One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000).
 - (2) **Early Commencement.** If the annual benefit commences before age sixty-two (62) years, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-two (62) years. This actuarial equivalent (i.e., the pre-age sixty-two actuarial equivalent) shall be the lesser of:
 - (A) the equivalent amount computed using the interest rate and mortality table (or tabular factor) specified in the defined benefit plan for determining the amount of the early retirement benefit that is payable under the plan, or

- (B) the equivalent amount computed using five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table as prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury for these purposes.
- (3) **Late Commencement.** If the annual benefit commences after age sixty-five (65) years, the benefit may not exceed the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-five (65) years. This actuarial equivalent (i.e., the post-age sixty-five actuarial equivalent) shall be the lesser of:
 - (A) the equivalent amount computed using the interest rate and mortality table (or tabular factor) specified in the defined benefit plan for determining the amount of the late retirement benefit that is payable under the plan, or
 - (B) the equivalent amount computed using five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table as prescribed by the Secretary of the Treasury for these purposes.
- [f] Cost-of-Living Adjustments. Effective January 1, 2002, and each January 1 thereafter, the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) limit shall be adjusted automatically for increases in the cost of living by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to Code Section 415(d). The new amount will apply to limitation years ending within such calendar year. The new amounts shall also apply to a participant who has had a severance from employment or an annuity starting date.
- Participation Reduction. If a Participant has less than ten (10) Years of Participation in the plan, the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) limit otherwise defined and adjusted above shall be reduced to an amount equal to One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) as otherwise defined and adjusted above multiplied by a fraction: (i) the numerator of which is the number of Years (and part thereof) of Participation (not less than one), and (ii) the denominator of which is ten (10).
- [h] **No Reduction for Certain Participants**. Paragraph [e][2] shall not apply in the case of a "qualified participant" as defined in Code Section 415(b)(2)(H). For purposes of paragraph [e][2] only, "qualified participant" means a participant in the Plan with respect to when the Years of Service used to determine the amount of benefit under the Plan includes at least 15 years of service of the Participant as either [1] a full-time employee of a police or fire department or [2] as a member of the United States Armed Forces.

- [i] **Year of Participation**. The Participant shall be credited with a Year of Participation (computed to fractional parts of a year) for each accrual computation period for which the following conditions are met: (1) The Participant is credited with a Year of Service, and (2) the Participant is included as a Participant under the eligibility provisions of the Plan for at least one day of the accrual computation period. If these two conditions are met, the portion of a Year of Participation credited to the Participant shall equal the amount of benefit accrual service credited to the Participant for that accrual computation period. A Participant who is permanently and totally disabled within the meaning of Code Section 415(c)(3)(C)(i) for an accrual computation period shall receive a Year of Participation with respect to that period. In addition, for a Participant to receive a Year of Participation (or part thereof) for an accrual computation period, the Plan must be established no later than the last day of such accrual computation period. In no event will more than one Year of Participation be credited for any 12-month period.
- [j] Multiple Annuity Starting Dates. If a Participant is entitled to benefits under this plan and under defined benefit plans that commenced as of an earlier annuity starting date, the annual benefits due under all such plans must not exceed the maximum permissible benefit at all annuity starting dates.
- [k] **Effect on Participants**. Benefit increases resulting from the increase in the limitations of section 415(b) of the Code will be provided only to active Participants who are credited with an hour of service on or after the first day of the first limitation year ending after December 31, 2001.
- [l] **Effective Date**. This Section is effective for limitation years beginning on or after January 1, 2008. (Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1539 §7.)

Section 32.08.520 Limitations of Benefits.

This section applies regardless of whether any Participant is or has ever been a Participant in another qualified plan maintained by the City. The Annual Benefit otherwise payable to a Participant at any time will not exceed the maximum Permissible Amount. If the benefit of the Participant would otherwise accrue in a Limitation year would produce an Annual Benefit in excess of the Maximum Permissible Amount, the rate of accrual will be reduced so that the Annual Benefit will equal the Maximum Permissible Amount. If a Participant has made nondeductible Participant contributions under the Plan, the amount of those contributions is treated as an Annual Addition to a qualified defined contribution plan, for purposes of this Article. The limitation in this section is deemed satisfied if the Annual Benefit payable to a Participant is not more than \$1,000 multiplied by the Participant's number of Years of Service or parts of Years of Service (not to exceed 10) with the City. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.530 Combined Limitations.

This section applies if any Participant is covered, or has been covered, by another qualified plan, which provides an Annual Addition and which is maintained by the City. For purposes of this Section, Allocated Earnings and Employee Contributions to this Plan are deemed to be contributions to a defined contribution plan which provides an Annual Addition.

- [a] **Defined Benefit Plan**. If a Participant is, or ever has been, covered under more than one defined benefit plan maintained by the City, the sum of the Participant's Annual Benefits from all plans may not exceed the Maximum Permissible Amount.
- [b] **Defined Contribution Plan**. The sum of the Participant's Defined Contribution Fraction and Defined Benefit Fraction will not exceed 1.0 in any Limitation Year, and the Annual Benefit otherwise payable to the Participant under this Plan will be limited as required to comply with this limitation. The preceding sentence applies for Limitation Years ending on or before December 31, 1999.
- [c] **Protection of Prior Benefits**. In the case of an individual who was a Participant in one or more defined benefit plans of the City as of the first day of the first Limitation Year beginning after December 31, 1986, the application of the limitations of this Section shall not cause the maximum permissible amount for such individual under all such defined benefit plans to be less than the individual's current accrued benefit. The preceding sentence applies only if such defined benefit plans met the requirements of Code Section 415, for all Limitation Years beginning before January 1, 1987. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.;Ord. No. 1539 §2.)

Section 32.08.610 Accrued Benefit.

- [a] Accrued Benefit of a Participant Retiring On Or After January 1, 2000. The Accrued Benefit of a Participant retiring on or after January 1, 2000 will be an annual benefit payable in monthly payments and commencing at Normal Retirement Age and payable for the life of the Participant that is computed as follows, or if greater, the Accrued Benefit calculated under [b] below:
 - [1] [2.3] percent of Final Average Compensation multiplied by the number of full and remaining fractional Years of Service completed by the Participant; plus
 - [2] Any Benefit Accrued by the Participant under and transferred to the Plan from the City of Dickinson Police Employees' Pension Plan and Trust.
- [b] Accrued Benefit of a Participant Retiring On Or After November 1, 1992 and before January 1, 2000: The Accrued Benefit of a Participant retiring on or after November 1, 1992 and before January 1, 2000, will be a monthly benefit commencing at Normal Retirement Age and payable for the life of the Participant that is computed as follows:

- [1] For each full Year and completed month of Service a Participant will be credited with a monthly benefit equal to one-twelfth of three and seven-tenths percent of his Total Basic Compensation applicable to the period; plus
- [2] Any Benefit Accrued by the Participant under and transferred to the Plan from the City of Dickinson Police Employees' Pension Plan and Trust.
- [c] Accrued Benefit of A Participant Retiring Before November 1, 1992: The accrued benefit of a Participant who retired before November 1, 1992 will be increased as of November 1, 1992 to a monthly benefit commencing at the later of November 1, 1992 or Normal Retirement Age and payable for the life of the Participant that is computed as follows:
 - [1] For each full Year and completed month of Service before April 1, 1969 a Participant will be credited with a monthly benefit equal to one-twelfth of one and eighty-five one hundredths percent of his basic salary rate effective January 1, 1986 or, if earlier, the date the Participant terminated employment; plus
 - [2] For each full Year and completed month of Service after April 1, 1969 a Participant will be credited with a monthly benefit equal to one-twelfth of three and three-tenths percent of his Total Basic Compensation applicable to the period. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.620 Retirement Benefits.

- [a] General Rules: A Participant's Accrued Benefit will be distributable upon death, Total Disability, Retirement, Termination of Employment, or at the Required Beginning Date.
- [b] Normal Retirement: On the last day of the month in which a Participant attains his Normal Retirement Age, he may retire voluntarily or continue working subject to any mandatory retirement policy of the City otherwise permitted by law. Any Termination of Employment on or after the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age will be deemed to be a retirement. Until actual retirement a Participant may continue to participate in the Plan. Normal Retirement Benefit payments will begin as of the later of the Participant's Normal Retirement Age or the date the Employee retires but not later than the Required Beginning Date. There will be no actuarial adjustment for late commencement of payment for benefits commencing later than Normal Retirement Age.
- [c] Early Retirement: An Employee who terminates employment with the City after completing at least 15 Years of Service may elect Early Retirement benefits. Payment of the Actuarial Equivalent of the Participant's Accrued Benefit payable at Normal Retirement Age may commence as of the date of the Participant's Early Retirement. Alternatively, the Participant may elect in writing filed with the Board of Trustees not later than the Participant's Early Retirement Date, to defer the commencement of Actuarially Equivalent benefit payments to a date later than the date of the Participant's retirement but not later than the Participant's Normal Retirement Date.
- [d] Disability: An Employee who terminates employment with the City because of Total and Permanent Disability before attaining Early or Normal Retirement Age shall be paid Disability Retirement Benefits commencing as of the date of termination of employment. Disability Retirement Benefits shall be equal to the benefit accrued as of the date of disability retirement payable at Normal Retirement Age without actuarial reduction for the commencement of payment before Normal Retirement Age and without accrual of any additional benefit or Years of Service after the date of disability retirement but shall

not be less than \$50 per month. Any Disability Retirement Benefit payable under this Plan shall be reduced by the amount of any payment from the Workmen's Compensation Bureau made to the Employee because of the Total and Permanent Disability.

If the benefits received from the Workmen's Compensation Bureau exceed the Benefit the Employee would be entitled to under the Plan, no pension shall be paid from the Plan to the Employee during the time the Workmen's Compensation payments are being made. If settlement of State Workmen's Compensation payment shall be in a lump sum, such sum shall be apportioned in accordance with the determination of the State Workmen's Compensation Bureau over a period of years for purposes of the offset against Plan benefits.

Payment of Disability Retirement Benefits will cease upon determination by the Board of Trustees that the Total and Permanent Disability has terminated. Any Normal or Early Retirement benefits that subsequently become payable will be reduced by the actuarial value of the Disability Retirement Benefit actually paid.

- [e] Required Beginning Date: The Required Beginning Date is the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which occurs the later of [1] the date the Participant attains age 70 ½, or [2] the date the Participant retires from employment with the Employer.
- [f] Minimum Benefit. The benefits paid under this Section 6.2 will not in any event be less than the total amount of the Participant's Employee contributions plus Earnings. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.630 Form of Benefit.

The normal form of benefit under this Plan is a single life annuity for the life of the Participant. Effective for all Participants who commence benefits prior to August 1, 2010, the optional forms of benefit under this Plan are [a] a single sum cash payment that is the Actuarial Equivalent of the normal form of benefit; [b] the Actuarial Equivalent 100 percent benefit for both the Participant and surviving spouse; and [c] single life annuity for the life of the participant with 120 payments guaranteed. Effective for all Participants who commence benefits on or after August 1, 2010, the optional forms of benefit under this Plan are [a] the Actuarial Equivalent of the normal form of benefit, paid in 9 equal annual installments; [b] the Actuarial Equivalent 100 percent benefit for both the Participant and the surviving spouse; and [c] a single life annuity for the life of the Participant with 120 payments guaranteed. The value of the amounts payable to the Participant and all beneficiaries in the ten-year certain form shall be the actuarial equivalent of the amounts payable to the Participant in the normal form. A Participant's Allocated Earnings Account balance shall be distributable as of the valuation date next following termination of employment in a single sum cash payment. (Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1279 § 1; Ord No. 1384 §5)

Section 32.08.640 Required Distributions.

[a] All distributions required under this section will be determined and made in accordance with the Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9), including the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirement of Code Section 401(a)(9)(G). Effective with respect to

distributions made on or after January 1, 2003 and prior to January 1, 2005, all required distributions under this Section were determined in accordance with a reasonable and good faith interpretation of the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9). Effective with respect to distributions made on or after January 1, 2005, all distributuons required under this section will be made in accordance with the final Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) issued on April 17, 2002 and June 15, 2004, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary.

- [b] The vested Accrued Benefits of a Participant must be distributed or begin to be distributed no later than the Participant's Required Beginning Date.
- [c] As of the first Distribution Calendar Year, distributions shall be made in the form of an annuity for the life of the Participant.
- [d] Payments under the annuity must satisfy the following requirements:
- (1) the annuity distributions must be paid in periodic payments made at intervals not longer than one year:
- (2) the distribution period must be over a Life described in Section 401(a)(9)(A)(ii); and
- (3) payments must either be non-increasing or increase only to provide cash refunds of employee contributions upon the Participant's death; or because of an increase in benefits under the Plan.
- [e] Unless the Participant's spouse is the sole Designated Beneficiary, the period certain for the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed commencing during the Participant's lifetime may not exceed the applicable distribution period for the Participant under the Uniform Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations for the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. If the annuity starting date precedes the calendar year in which the Participant reaches age seventy (70), the applicable distribution period for the Participant is the distribution period for age seventy (70) under the Uniform Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations plus the excess of seventy (70) over the age of the Participant as of the Participant's birthday in the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. If the Participant's spouse is the Participant's sole Designated Deneficiary, the period certain for the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed may not exceed the longer of the Participant's applicable distribution period (determined as described in the preceding sentence) or the joint life and last survivor expectancy of the Participant and the Participant's spouse as determined under the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-3 of the Regulations using the Participant's and Spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and Spouse's birthdays in the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.; Ord. No. 1539 §3.)

Section 32.08.650 Termination of Employment.

A Participant with no vested interest in Accrued Benefits attributable to City Contributions

who terminates employment for any reason other than death or Total Disability before qualifying for immediate Early or Normal Retirement Benefits will receive a refund of Employee Contributions made and not previously distributed plus Earnings. Payment shall be made in a single sum within 90 days after the date the Participant terminates employment.

A Participant with a vested interest in Accrued Benefits attributable to City Contributions who terminates employment for any reason other than death or Total Disability before qualifying for immediate Early or Normal Retirement Benefits will receive payment of benefits as follows:

- [a] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is \$1,000 or less, the present value of the vested Accrued Benefit will be paid in a single sum cash payment as soon as administratively feasible after the Participant's termination of employment.
- [b] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is greater than \$1,000 but is not more than \$10,000, the present value of the vested Accrued Benefit will be paid in a single sum cash payment as soon as administratively feasible after the Participant requests payment following the Participant's termination of employment.
- [c] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is greater than \$10,000 and the Participant terminates employment prior to August 1, 2010, the Accrued Benefit will be paid under Section 620 commencing as of the last day of the month in which the Participant attains age 62, or if the Participant so elects in writing within 30 days after the Participant's termination of employment, the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit will be paid in a single sum cash payment as soon as administratively feasible after the Participant's termination of employment.
- [d] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is greater than \$10,000 and the Participant terminates employment on or after August 1, 2010, the Accrued Benefit will be paid under Section 620 commencing as of the last day of the month in which the Participant attains age 62.

The present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefits payable under this paragraph shall not be less than the Employee Contributions made by the Participant plus Earnings.

The Participant's non-vested Accrued Benefit will be forfeitable upon the distribution of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit or upon refund of the Participant's Employee Contributions plus interest if the Participant has no vested Accrued Benefit attributable to City Contributions or, if there is no distribution before Early or Normal Retirement Age, then upon the Participant's termination of employment. (Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1309 § 1. Ord. No. 1384 §6; Ord. No. 1663 §1)

Section 32.08.660 Death Benefits.

- [a] Surviving Spouse and Children: Upon the death of an active Employee or of a retired Participant benefits shall be paid to the Surviving Spouse or surviving children, if any, as follows:
 - [i] If a retired Participant has elected the normal form of benefit upon retirement, a monthly benefit shall be paid to the Surviving Spouse for life in an amount equal to 2/3 of the Participant's accrued benefit as of the date of death but such benefit shall not be less than \$50 per month.
 - [ii] If a retired Participant has elected the optional form of benefit of the Actuarial Equivalent 100 percent for both Participant and Surviving Spouse at retirement, a monthly benefit will be paid to the Surviving Spouse of 100% of the benefit payable continuing for the remaining life of the survivor.
 - [iii] A monthly benefit will be paid to the Surviving Spouse of an active Employee for life in an amount equal to the monthly benefit that would have been paid to the Surviving Spouse if the Participant had retired the day before his death with actuarially equivalent benefits payable in the form of an annuity for the joint life expectancy of the Participant and the Participant's spouse with 100% of the benefit payable during their joint lives continuing for the remaining life of the survivor. Alternatively, a Surviving Spouse of an active Employee who dies prior to August 1, 2010 may elect in writing within 90 days after the Participant's death to have the benefit payable under this subsection [iii] payable in an actuarially equivalent single sum payment. Any benefit payable under this subsection [iii] shall be reduced by the actuarially equivalent value of any benefits paid to the Participant before death under Section 6.2, 6.3, or 6.5.
 - [iv] The Surviving Spouse of a retired Participant shall receive the form of benefit as selected by the Participant upon Retirement. If the retired Participant elected at retirement the single sum cash payment, no benefit will be due the Surviving Spouse.
 - [v] A benefit of \$10 per month shall be paid on behalf of each surviving child until he child attains the age of 18 to the parent of the surviving child or if no parent is surviving then to the guardian of the surviving child.
 - [vi] If a retired participant has elected the optional form of benefit of the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed, the guaranteed monthly benefit will be paid to the participant's beneficiary for the remainder of the 120 month payment term.
 - [vii] If a retired participant has elected to receive 9 equal annual installments, and such participant dies before receiving all 9 payments, any remaining annual installment payments will be paid to the participant's beneficiary.
- [b] Minimum Benefit: The benefits paid under this Section 6.6 to a Participant's Surviving Spouse and Children will not be less than the total amount of the Participant's Employee Contributions plus Earnings, reduced by any benefits paid to the Participant under Section 6.2 or Section 6.5. Any remainder payable under this subsection will be paid to

the estate of the Participant. (Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1279 § ; Ord. No. 1384 §3 & 7 & 8)

Section 32.08.670 Designation of Beneficiary.

Each Participant will designate a Beneficiary to receive any aggregate minimum benefits payable under section 6.8 upon his death on the form prescribed by and delivered to the Board of Trustees. The Participant will have the right to change or revoke a designation at any time by filing a new designation or notice of revocation with the Board of Trustees.

If a Participant fails to designate a Beneficiary before his death, or if no Designated Beneficiary survives the Participant, the Board of Trustees will direct the Trustee to pay any benefit first to his Surviving Spouse, if any, or if none, then to his personal representative. If no personal representative has been appointed, and if the benefit does not exceed the minimum amount for which an estate or inheritance tax release or appointment of a personal representative is required under applicable state law the Board of Trustees may direct the Trustee to pay the benefit to such person as may be entitled to it under the laws of the state in which the Participant was domiciled at the date of his death. The Board of Trustees may require such proof of right or identity as he may deem necessary. If the benefit exceeds the minimum amount for which an estate or inheritance tax release or appointment of a personal representative is required under applicable state law, the Board of Trustees may direct the Trustee to hold the benefits in a segregated account until such time as the Trustee is notified that a personnel representative has been appointed. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.680 Minimum Aggregate Benefits.

In no event shall the total benefits payable under this Plan in respect to a given Participant be less than the total contributions made by such Participant plus Earnings. If the total aggregate benefit paid to the Participant and to his eligible Surviving Spouse and/or Children would otherwise be less than the total contributions made by the Participant, the difference shall be paid to the Participant's named beneficiary or if none then to the Participant's estate. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.690 Other Distribution Rules.

- [a] Spendthrift Trust Provisions: Except for benefits payable under Section 7.5 in accordance with the applicable requirements of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, all amounts payable by the Plan will be paid only to the person entitled to them, all such payments will be paid directly to such person and not to any other person or corporation and no benefit or interest under this Plan will be subject to assignment or alienation, either voluntarily or involuntarily. Payments will not be subject to the claim of any creditor of a Participant, nor may payments be taken in execution by attachment or garnishment or by any other legal or equitable proceedings. No person will have any right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber, or assign any payments or benefits that he may expect to receive, contingently or otherwise, under this Plan, except the right to designate a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries.
- [b] Participant Or Beneficiary Whose Whereabouts Are Unknown: In the case of any Participant or Beneficiary whose whereabouts are unknown, the Board of Trustees will notify the Participant or Beneficiary at his last known address by certified mail with return receipt requested advising him of his right to a pending distribution. If the

Participant or Beneficiary cannot be located in this manner, the Board of Trustees may direct the Trustee to forfeit the Accrued Benefit. If a claim for forfeited Accrued Benefits is subsequently made by the Participant or Beneficiary, the amount forfeited, unadjusted for earnings or interest, will be restored.

- [c] Minors or Persons of Unsound Mind. If the person designated to receive payments is a minor or a person of unsound mind, whether formally so adjudicated or not, the Trustee, upon receipt of instructions from the Board of Trustees, may make payment to the person's legal representative or legal guardian, and the receipt by any such person will be a full and complete discharge of the Plan for any sums paid.
- [d] Suspension of Benefit Payments: If a retired Participant is re-employed by the City for the performance of light duty, payment of benefits under this Plan will be suspended until the Participant terminates employment provided, however, that the President of the Board of City Commissioners may assign any Employee of the City, other than policemen, retired under the provisions of this Article, to the performance of light duties in the City. The salary received by any such person so assigned for light duty plus the pension received under the terms and provisions of this Article shall not exceed the regular pay for such duties.
- [e] Withdrawals: No Participant may withdraw any part of his Accrued Benefit while employed. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.692 Eligible Rollover Distributions.

Except as provided in Paragraphs [f] and [g] below, this Section is effective for distributions made on or after January 1, 2007. A distributee who is eligible to elect a direct rollover may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover.

- [a] **Eligible Rollover Distribution**: An eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include:
 - [1] any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; or
 - [2] any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9);
 - [3] any hardship distribution; and
 - [4] the portion of any distribution that is not includable in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to employer securities).

- [b] Eligible Retirement Plan: An Eligible Retirement Plan is an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a), an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b), a plan described in Code Section 403(a) or an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), or a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution, or an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relation order, as defined in Code Section 414(p).
- [c] **Employee After-Tax Contributions**. To the extent a distribution consists in part of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income, such portion of the distribution may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Sections 408(a) or (b), or to a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) or to an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(a) of the Code, if such trust or contract provides for separate accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
- [d] **Distributee**: A distributee includes a Participant or former Participant. In addition, the Participant's or former Participant's surviving spouse and the member's or former Participant's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.
- [e] **Direct Rollover**: A direct rollover means the payment of an eligible rollover distribution by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distribute who is eligible to elect a direct rollover.
- [f] Qualified Rollover Contribution to Roth IRA. Effective for distributions made on or after January 1, 2008, a distributee may elect to have all or a portion of an eligible rollover distribution rolled over to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A. However, for distributions made before January 1, 2010, the distributee shall not be eligible to make a qualified rollover contribution to a Roth IRA if the distributee's adjusted gross income exceeds One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) or the distributee is a married individual filing a separate return.
- [g] **Special Rule For Nonspouse Beneficiaries**. Effective for distributions payable on or after January 1, 2010, a distributee who is a Beneficiary and who is not the surviving spouse of a Participant or an alternate payee may

elect, at the time and the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have all or any portion of such distributee's eligible rollover distribution paid directly in a trustee-to-trustee transfer to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Sections 408(a) or (b), which is treated as an inherited individual retirement account or annuity within the meaning of Code Section 408(d)(3)(C). Any distribution to a nonspouse Beneficiary which is payable on or after January 1, 2010, shall be subject to the direct rollover requirements of Code Section 401(a)(31) and the notice requirements of Code Section 402(f). (Ord. No. 1265 §1; Ord. No. 1539§7)

Section 32.08.694 Retiree Benefits.

As of January 1, 2000, the monthly retirement benefit payable to each Eligible Retiree will be increased by 6%. For purposes of this paragraph only, an Eligible Retiree is a Participant or the surviving spouse of a Participant who is receiving as of January 1, 2000 monthly retirement benefits from this Plan. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.710 Appointment of Board Trustees.

The Board of Trustees for management of the City Employees' Pension Plan shall consist of the President of the Board of City Commissioners, the City Administrator, two persons elected by and from the City Employees who are currently participating and one person elected by and from the Park District Employees who are currently participating. No Employee shall be eligible for election until he or she has completed eight Years of Service. The election shall be held on the second Tuesday in September. Each elected member shall serve for a term of four years; with one member being elected at each biennial election. The term of elected members shall commence on January 1 of the year following the election of said member. The President of the Board of City Commissioners shall be the President and the City Administrator shall be the Treasurer of the Board. The faithful performance of the duties of the Treasurer shall be secured by his official bond as the City Administrator. Such trustees shall receive no compensation for the services as members of the Board. Such Board shall have such powers and perform such duties as may now or hereafter be provided by law and by the Plan. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.720 Information to be made available to Board of Trustees.

The City will provide the Board of Trustees with access to information the Board of Trustees requires. If required information is not available from the City's records, the Board of Trustees may obtain the information from the Participants. The Board of Trustees and the City may rely on and will not be liable for any information that an Employee provides either directly or indirectly. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.730 Duties and Powers of Board of Trustees.

[a] General: The Board of Trustees will have full discretionary authority to decide all questions arising in the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan and Trust, including all questions relating to eligibility and distributions, except as may be

- reserved under this Plan to the City. The Board of Trustees from time to time will direct the Trustee concerning the payments to be made out of the Plan assets pursuant to this Plan.
- [b] Employment of Advisers and Persons To Carry Out Responsibilities: The Board of Trustees may employ one or more persons to render advice with regard to any responsibility the Board of Trustees has under the Plan and may employ one or more persons (including the Trustee) to carry out any of its responsibilities under the Plan.
- [c] Keeping of Records: The Board of Trustees will keep such records as may be necessary or advisable in his judgment for the administration of this Plan and Trust. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.740 Notices from Participants.

Whenever provision is made in the Plan that a Participant may exercise any option or election or designate any Beneficiary, the action of the Participant will be evidenced in writing on the forms provided by the Board of Trustees, if a form is provided, signed by the Participant and delivered to the Board of Trustees in person or by mail. Written notice will not be effective until received by the Board of Trustees. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.750 Qualified Domestic Relations Orders.

- [a] Definitions:
 - [1] Alternate Payee means any Spouse, former Spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant who is recognized by a Qualified Domestic Relations Order as having a right to receive all, or a portion of, the benefits payable under a Plan with respect to the Participant.
 - [2] Earliest Retirement Age means, for purposes of this section only, the earlier of [i] the date the Participant is entitled to a distribution under the Plan or [ii] the later of the date the Participant attains age 50 or the earliest date on which the Participant could begin receiving benefits under the Plan if the Participant separated from service.
 - [3] Qualified Domestic Relations Order means an order that creates or recognizes the existence of an Alternate Payee's right to, or assigns to an Alternate Payee the right to, receive all or a portion of the benefits otherwise payable to a Participant under the Plan. A Qualified Domestic Relations Order includes any judgment, decree, or order (including approval of a property settlement agreement) that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights to a Spouse, Former Spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant, and is made pursuant to a State domestic relations law (including a community property law). To qualify, the domestic relations order must:
 - [A] clearly state the name and last known mailing address of the Participant and the name and mailing address of each Alternative Payee covered by the order;
 - [B] clearly state the amount or percentage of the Participant's benefits to be paid by the Plan to each Alternate Payee, or the manner in which the amount or percentage is to be determined;

- [C] clearly state the number of payments or period to which the order applies;
- [D] identify each Plan to which the order applies;
- [E] not require the Plan to provide any type or form of benefits, or any option, not otherwise provided under the Plan;
- [F] not require the Plan to provide increased benefits (determined on the basis of actuarial value); and
- [G] not require the payment of benefits to an Alternate Payee that are required to be paid to another Alternate Payee under another order previously determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order.
- [b] Payment of Benefits Under A Qualified Domestic Relations Order: Section 6.10[a] will not apply to prevent payment of benefits to an Alternate Payee under the terms of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. In the case of any distribution before a Participant has separated from service, a Qualified Domestic Relations Order will not fail to meet the requirements of subparagraph [E] above solely because the Order requires that payment of benefits be made to an alternate payee [A] on or after the date the Participant attains the Earliest Retirement Age, [B] as if the Participant had retired on the date on which such payment is to begin under the Order, and [C] in any form in which benefits may be paid under the Plan to the Participant (other than in the form of a Qualified Joint and survivor Annuity with respect to the Alternate Payee and his subsequent spouse. A person who is an Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order will be considered a Beneficiary under the Plan.
- [c] Procedures: The Board of Trustees will establish reasonable procedures for determining the qualified status of a domestic relations order. The procedures:
 - [1] will be in writing;
 - [2] will provide that each person specified in a Domestic Relations Order as entitled to payment of Plan benefits will be notified of the procedures promptly upon receipt of the Order by the Plan; and
 - will permit an Alternate Payee to designate a representative for receipt of copies [3] of notices that are sent to the Alternate Payee. Within a reasonable period of time after receipt of an order, the Board of Trustees will determine whether the order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order and notify the Participant and each Alternate Payee of the determination. During any period in which the issue of whether a domestic relations order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order is being determined, the Board of Trustees will segregate, in a separate account, any otherwise distributable amounts that would have been payable to the Alternate Payee during the period if the order had been determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. If, within 18 months the order is determined not to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order or the issue as to whether the order is a Oualified Domestic Relations Order is not resolved, then the Board of Trustees may pay the segregated amounts to the person or persons who would have been entitled to those amounts if there had been no order. If a plan fiduciary acts in accordance with the fiduciary responsibility provisions of the Plan, then the Plan's obligation to the Participant and each Alternate Payee is discharged to the extent of any payment made. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.810 Investment of Plan Assets.

The duty of the Trustee is to hold in trust the funds it receives. The Trustee in accordance with the instructions of the Board of Trustees, will have exclusive authority and discretion to manage and control the assets of the Plan and to manage, invest, and reinvest the Trust Fund and the income from it under this Article, without distinction between principal and income. The Trustee will make payments and distributions from the Trust Fund in accordance with the terms of this Plan and instructions of the Board of Trustees. The Trustee will be responsible only for sums that it actually receives as Trustee plus net gains on such amounts. The Trustee will have no duty to collect any sums from the Board of Trustees, City, or from a Participant. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.820 Records.

The Trustee will keep full records of its administration of the Plan assets. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.830 Administrative Powers of the Trustee.

Subject to the requirements imposed by law, the Trustee will have all powers necessary or advisable to carry out the provisions of this Plan and Trust and all inherent, implied, and statutory powers now or subsequently provided by law, including specifically the power to do any of the following:

- to invest or reinvest any and all money or property of any description at any time [a] held by the Trustee and constituting assets of the Plan, without previous application to, or subsequent ratification of, any court, tribunal or commission, or any federal or state governmental agency, in real property and all interests in real property, in bonds, notes, debentures, mortgages, commercial paper, preferred stocks, common stocks, or other securities, rights, obligations, or property, real or personal, including shares or certificates of participation issued by regulated investment companies or regulated investment trusts, shares or units of participation in qualified common Trust Funds, in qualified pooled funds, including Common Trust Funds or pooled funds maintained by the Trustee, or in pooled investment funds of an insurance Company qualified to do business in the state, group annuity contracts and with any federally insured bank or savings and loan association, and if the Trustee is a bank or similar financial institution supervised by the United States or a state, in its own deposits, savings accounts, and certificates of deposit;
- [b] to cause any securities or other property to be registered and held in its name as Trustee, or in the name of one or more of its nominees, without disclosing the fiduciary capacity, or to keep the same in unregistered form payable to bearer;
- [c] to sell, grant options to sell, exchange, pledge, encumber, mortgage, deed in trust, or use any other form of hypothecation, or otherwise dispose of the whole or any part of the Trust Fund on such terms and for such property or cash, or part cash and credit, as it may deem best; to retain, hold, maintain, or continue any securities or investments that it may hold as part of the Trust Fund for as long as it deems advisable; and generally, in all respects, to do all things and exercise each and every right, power, and privilege in connection with and in relation to the

- Trust Fund as could be done, exercised, or executed by an individual holding and owning such property in absolute and unconditional ownership;
- [d] to abandon, compromise, contest, and arbitrate claims and demands; to institute, compromise, and defend actions at law (but without obligation to do so); in connection with such powers, to employ counsel the Trustee deems advisable; and to exercise such powers all at the risk and expense of the Trust Fund;
- [e] to borrow money for this Trust on the terms and conditions the Trustee deems advisable, and to secure repayment by the mortgage or pledge of any assets of the Trust Fund except insurance contracts;
- [f] to vote in person or by proxy any shares of stock or rights held in the Trust Fund; to participate in and to exchange securities or other property in reorganization, liquidation, or dissolution of any corporation, the securities of which are held in the Trust Fund;
- [g] to pay any amount due on any loan or advance made to the Trust Fund, to charge against and pay from the Trust Fund all taxes of any nature levied, assessed, or imposed upon the trust fund, and to pay all reasonable expenses and attorney fees necessarily incurred by the Trustee with respect to any of the foregoing matters; and
- [h] to act pursuant to written blanket settlement authorization given by the City or the Participant on any transaction executed by the designated broker. The Trustee is authorized to honor all trade confirmations received according to the terms of the instructions relating to the conduct of business in the plan as previously provided to the designated broker. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.840 Allocated Earnings Account.

A separate account shall be maintained by the Trustee for Allocated Earnings of each Participant to whom earnings were allocated under plan provisions in effect prior to January 1, 1992. The assets of the trust will be valued annually at fair market value as of the last day of the Plan Year and at any other dates determined by the Board of Trustees to be appropriate. On each valuation date, the earnings and losses of the trust attributable to the Allocated Earnings Accounts will be allocated to each Participant's Allocated Earnings Account in the ratio that each Participant's Allocated Earnings Account balances bears to all such Account balances. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.850 Organization and Operation of Office of Trustee.

The Trustee(s) may adopt the procedures deemed desirable for the conduct of its affairs and may appoint agents any of whom may be an officer or Employee of the City. Any person dealing with the Trustee(s) may rely on a certificate or memorandum signed by the Trustee, or by any one Trustee if more than one Trustee is appointed, as evidence of any action taken by the Trustee(s). (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.860 Advice of Counsel.

The Trustee may consult with legal counsel, who may be counsel for the City or Trustee's own counsel, with respect to the meaning or construction of the Plan and Trust or Trustee's obligation or duties. The cost of any consultation will be an expense of the Plan and will be paid by the Plan unless paid by the City. The Trustee will be protected from any responsibility with respect to any action taken or omitted by it in good faith pursuant to the advice of counsel, to the extent permitted by law. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.870 Appointment, resignation, removal and substitution of Trustee.

The City will appoint a Trustee or Trustees, each of which will hold office until resignation or removal by the City. The Trustee may resign at any time upon 30 days' written notice to the City. The Trustee may be removed at any time by the City upon 30 days' written notice to the Trustee with or without cause. Upon resignation or removal of the Trustee, the City will appoint a successor Trustee that will have the same powers and duties as are conferred upon the Trustee appointed under this Plan. The resigning or removed Trustee will deliver to its successor Trustee all property of the Trust Fund, less a reasonable amount necessary to provide for its compensation, expenses, and any taxes or advances chargeable or payable out of the Trust Fund. If the Trustee is an individual, death will be treated as a resignation, effective immediately. If any corporate Trustee at any time is merged, or consolidated with, or sells or transfers substantially all of its assets and business to another corporation, whether state or federal, or is reorganized or reincorporated in any manner, then the resulting or acquiring corporation will be substituted for the corporate Trustee without the execution of any instrument and without any action on the part of the City, any Participant or Beneficiary, or any other person having or claiming to have an interest in the Trust Fund or under the Plan. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.910 Amendments to Plan and Trust.

At any time the City may amend the Plan. An amendment will be effective as of the date specified by the City, or if no date is specified, then on the first day of the Plan Year during which it is adopted. Except as may be permitted by regulations, no amendment to the Plan (including a change in the actuarial basis for determining optional or early retirement benefits) will be effective to the extent that it has the effect of decreasing a Participant's Accrued Benefit. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.920 Termination of Plan and Trust.

The City expects to continue this Plan and Trust indefinitely, but the continuance of the Plan and Trust is not assumed as a contractual obligation by the City and the right is reserved to the City to terminate this Plan and Trust in whole or part at any time. Termination of the Plan and Trust will take effect as of the date specified by the City's written notice of the termination which shall be given by the City to the Trustee and the Sponsor. At any time after termination of the Plan and Trust, but not before receipt of instructions from the Board of Trustees, the Trustee may distribute the interest of any Participant to him under Article VII. The Board of Trustees will file such terminal reports as are required. The Board of Trustees may request appropriate rulings as to qualification upon termination. Termination of this Plan and Trust by the City will

not re-vest any part of the Trust Fund in the City; provided, however, that any assets that remain after the Plan is terminated and all Accrued Benefits have been paid will be returned to the City upon written notice by the City to the Trustee. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.930 Merger, Consolidation, or Transfer of Assets or Liabilities of the Plan.

The City may merge or consolidate this Plan with any other plan and may transfer all or part of the assets or liabilities of the Plan to, or to this Plan from, any other plan. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.940. Distribution Upon Termination of Trust.

If the Plan Trust is terminated Accrued Benefits to the extent funded will be distributed in accordance with the provisions of Article VI. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.1010 Text to Control.

The headings of articles and sections are included solely for convenience of reference. If any conflict between any heading and the text of this Plan and Trust exists,, the text will control. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.1020 Severability.

If any provision of this Plan and Trust is illegal or invalid for any reason, such illegality or invalidity will not affect the remaining provisions. On the contrary, the remaining provisions will be fully severable, and this Plan and Trust will be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provisions never had been inserted in this agreement. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.1030 Jurisdiction.

This Plan will be construed and administered under the laws of the State of North Dakota when the laws of that jurisdiction are not in conflict with federal substantive law. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.1040 Forum Selection.

Any claims or disputes involving the Plan shall be litigated only in North Dakota and to the extent not preempted by federal law, North Dakota statutory and common law shall control during litigation. The litigants expressly waive any right they have to institute or conduct litigation in any other forum or location. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.1050 Expenses.

The expenses of the Plan and Trust shall be paid from Plan assets unless, in its discretion the City elects to pay some or all of the Plan expenses. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Section 32.08.1060 Rules of Construction.

The masculine gender will include the feminine, and the singular will include the plural. (Ord. No. 1265 §1.)

Article 32.12 City of Dickinson Police Employee's Pension

Plan and Trust

<u> 1 Ian and</u>	1 11 ust
Sections:	
32.12.00E	Editor's note to Article 32.12
32.12.100	Definitions.
32.12.210	Participation.
32.12.220	Transfers.
32.12.230	Termination of Participation.
32.12.240	City's Obligations.
32.12.250	Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act and Family
	Medical Leave Act.
32.12.310	City Contributions.
32.12.410	Years of Service.
32.12.420	Vesting of Participants' Benefits.
32.12.430	Plan Termination.
32.12.510	Limitation on Allocations Definitions.
32.12.520	Limitations on Benefits.
32.12.610	Accrued Benefit.
32.12.620	Retirement Benefits.
32.12.630	Form of Benefit.
32.12.640	Required Distributions.
32.12.650	Termination of Employment.
32.12.660	Death Benefits.
32.12.670	Designation of Beneficiary.
32.12.680	Minimum Aggregate Benefits.
32.12.690	Other Distribution Rules.
32.12.692	Eligible Rollover Distributions.
32.12.694	Retiree Benefits.
32.12.710	Appointment of Board of Trustees.
32.12.720	Information to be made available to Board of Trustees.
32.12.730	Duties and Powers of Board of Trustees.
32.12.740	Notices from Participants.
32.12.750	Qualified Domestic Relations Orders.
32.12.810	Investment of Plan Assets.
32.12.820	Records.
32.12.830	Administrative Powers of the Trustee.
32.12.840	Allocated Earnings Account.
32.12.850	Organization and Operation of Office of Office of Trustee.
32.12.860	Advice of Counsel.
32.12.870	Appointment, Resignation, Removal, and Substitution of Trustee.
32.12.910	Amendments to Plan and Trust.
32.12.920	Termination of Plan and Trust.
32.12.930	Merger, Consolidation or Transfer of Assets or Liabilities of the Plan.
32.12.940	Distribution Upon Termination of Trust.
32.12.1010	Test to Control.
~VIV	

- **32.12.1020** Severability.
- **32.12.1030** Jurisdiction.
- **32.12.1040** Forum Selection.
- 32.12.1050 Expenses.
- 32.12.1060 Rules of Construction.

Section 32.12.00E Editor's note to Article 32.12

For state law as to authority of city to adopt an employee pension system by ordinance, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (70).

Section 32.12.100 Definitions

When used in this Plan, the following words will have the following meanings, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent means a payment or a series of payments that has the same present value computed on the basis of the following interest rate and mortality assumptions:

- [i] Interest Rate: 8% pre-retirement and 6% post-retirement
- [ii] Mortality Table: 1983 IAM with six year setback

Notwithstanding any other Plan provisions to the contrary, effective for any distribution with an annuity starting date on or after January 1, 2008, the applicable mortality table used for purposes of adjusting any benefit or limitation under Code Section 415(b)(2)(B), (C) or (D) and the applicable mortality table used for purposes of satisfying the requirements of Code Section 417(e) is the applicable mortality table within the meaning of Code Section 417(e)(3)(B). For any distribution with an annuity starting date on or after the effective date of this Section and before the adoption date of this Section, if application of the amendment as of the annuity starting date would have caused a reduction in the amount of any distribution, such reduction is not reflected in any payment made before the adoption date of this section. However, the amount of any such reduction that is required under Code Section 415(b)(2) must be reflected actuarially over any remaining payments to the Participant. (Ord. No. 1539 §10.)

- 1.2 Beneficiary means the person who, under this Plan becomes entitled to receive a Participant's interest upon the Participant's death.
- 1.3 Board of Trustees means the Board designated by the Plan in Article VII whose duties and responsibilities are specified in this Plan.
- <u>1.4</u> City means the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 1.5 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it presently is constituted, as it may be amended, or any successor statute of similar purpose.
- 1.6 Compensation, for all pay received after December 31, 1999, means all pay received by an Employee during the calendar year, except special bonuses or severance upon separation, mileage or any other form of expense reimbursement. Compensation includes only compensation that is actually paid to the Participant during the calendar year.

Compensation, for all pay received on or before December 31, 1999, means the annual salary approved for each Employee in the city's annual budget for the calendar year. Compensation does not include longevity pay, overtime, mileage, or any other form of additional compensation. Compensation includes only compensation that is actually paid to the Participant during the calendar year.

Pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(17), Compensation taken into account for all purposes under this Plan shall not exceed [A] \$200,000 (as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost of living increases each year) for any Plan Year ending prior to January 1, 1996, and [B] \$150,000 (as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for cost of living increases each year) for any Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996. If Compensation is determined for any period of fewer than 12 months, the Code Section 401(a)(17) limitation will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar months in the determination period and the denominator of which is 12.

Increase in limit. The annual compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining benefit accruals for any Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2001, shall not exceed \$200,000, as adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(17)(B). Annual Compensation means Compensation during the Plan Year or such other consecutive 12-month period over which Compensation is otherwise determined under the Plan (the determination period). For purposes of determining benefit accruals in a Plan Year beginning after December 31, 2001, compensation for any prior determination period shall not exceed \$200,000 (as adjusted) for any Plan Year ending before January 1, 1996; \$150,000 for any determination period beginning in 1997, 1998, or 1999; and \$170,000 for any determination period beginning in 2000 or 2001.

Cost-of-living adjustment. The \$200,000 limit on annual compensation in the preceding paragraph shall be adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to annual compensation for the determination period that begins with or within such calendar year.

If Compensation for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining a Participant's benefits for the current Plan Year, the Compensation for such prior determination period is subject to the applicable Annual Compensation Limit in effect for that prior period. For this purpose, in determining benefits in Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1989 and before January 1, 1996, the Annual Compensation Limit in effect for determination periods beginning before that date is \$200,000. For this purpose, in determining benefits in Plan Years beginning after January 1, 1996, the Annual Compensation Limit in effect for determination periods beginning before that date is \$150,000 as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury for increases in the cost of living in accordance with Code Section 401(a)(17)(B).

Unless otherwise provided under the Plan, the Accrued Benefit of each Section 401(a)(17) Employee under the Plan will be the sum of:

- [a] the Participant's Accrued Benefit as of December 31, 1995, frozen in accordance with Reg. '1.401(a)(4)-13, and
- [b] the Participant's Accrued Benefit determined under the benefit formula applicable for the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996, as applied to the Participant's Years of Benefit Service credited for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1996, for purposes of benefit accruals.

A Section 401(a)(17) employee means an employee whose current accrued benefit as of a date on or after the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996, is based on compensation for a year beginning prior to the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1996 that exceeded \$150,000.

For limitation years beginning after December 31, 1997, Compensation paid or made available during such limitation year shall include any elective deferral (as defined in Code section 402(g) (3)), and any amount which is contributed or deferred by the employer at the election of the employee and which is not includable in the gross income of the employee by reason of Code sections 125 or 457.

For limitation years beginning on and after January 1, 2001, Compensation paid or made available during such limitation year shall include elective amounts that are not includable in the gross income of the employee by reason of Code Section 132(f)(4) (qualified transportation benefits).

- Earnings means for Employee contributions, [A] interest credited at the rate of 5% compounded annually from the date contributions are made to January 1, 2000, or, if earlier, to the date payment of benefits begins; and [B] interest compounded annually and credited at a rate that reflects the annual net earnings amount realized on investment of the Plan assets from the later of January 1, 2000 or the date contributions are made to the date payment of benefits begin.
- 1.8 Effective Date means April 1, 1969. The effective date of this amended and restated Plan is January 1, 1989 for provisions required by law to be effective as of that date or as of the date required if an earlier effective date is required or as of the date specified for any provision for which a different effective date is specified.
- <u>1.9</u> Employee means every permanent and probationary regular full-time Employee who is a police department employee.

"Leased Employee" means any person (other than an Employee of the City) who has performed services of the City (or for the City and related persons as determined under Code Section 414(n)(6)) under an agreement between the City and the leasing organization on a substantially full-time basis for a period of at least one year, and, prior to 1997, such services were of a type historically performed by the Employees in the business field of the City, or, if after 1996, such services are performed under the primary direction or control by the City.

- 1.10 Final Average Compensation means the average of a Participant's Total Basic Compensation for five years that will result in the highest average.
- 1.11 Normal Retirement Age means the date a Participant attains age 55 and has completed fifteen (15) years of Service, or has completed thirty (30) years of service.
- 1.12 Plan Year means the 12-consecutive-month period commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31 of each year. The Plan Year will also be the fiscal (taxable) years of the Trust.
- 1.13 Retirement means the last day of the month in which a Participant attains either his Normal Retirement Age or Early Retirement Age and benefits under the Plan are immediately payable.
- 1.14 Surviving Children means the surviving issue of a Participant or a child or children legally adopted by a Participant.
- 1.15 Surviving Spouse means the Spouse to whom the Participant was married on the date of the participant's termination of employment.
- 1.16 Total Basic Compensation means the annual salary approved for each Employee in the City's annual budget for the Plan Year. Total Basic Compensation does not include longevity pay, overtime, mileage or any other form of additional compensation.
- 1.17 Total Disability means to become, while in the service of the City, mentally or physically, totally and permanently disabled from discharging his duties.

The question of Total and Permanent Disability shall be determined by the Trustees upon the concurring report of at least two out of three physicians designated by the Board of Trustees to make a complete physical examination of the Employee. The Trustees shall have the power at any time to cause an Employee of the police department, retired by reason of physical or mental Disability, to be brought before it and again examined by three physicians appointed by the Board of Trustees to discover whether such retired Employees shall be continued on the disability pension roll. Such Employees shall be entitled to reasonable notice that such examination will be made and to be present at the time of the taking of any testimony pertinent thereto.

Thereafter the police department shall submit to the Trustees annual notice of employment status and medical examination not later than October 1 of each year. Such annual notice shall include the employment status and medical status of Employee in such form as the Trustees shall determine.

Failure to comply with the requirements set forth shall result in suspension on any disability retirement benefit payments until such time as this section is complied with, or shall result in the termination of disability retirement benefits.

- 1.18 Trustee means the individual(s) or institution appointed by the Board of Trustees asTrustee(s).
- 1.19 Year of Service means each Plan Year and fractional year of employment with the City for which a Participant receives credit under the terms of this Plan.

1.20 Termination of Employment means a severance of employment by not being on the payroll of the City for a minimum of one month. Approved leave of absence or if reemployed by the City within one month of being off of payroll does not constitute termination of employment. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.; Ord. No. 1290 § 1; Ord. No. 1676 § 3.)

Section 32.12.210 Participation.

Except as otherwise provided in the special rules below, an Employee will become a Participant as of the date the Employee becomes an Employee. The following special rules apply:

- [a] If a Plan is amended, any Employee who is already a Participant on the date this amended and restated Plan is adopted will continue to participate.
- [b] If an Employee who is not a member of an eligible class of Employees becomes a member of an eligible class, the Employee will participate immediately.
- [c] Upon reemployment by the City within one month of being off of payroll and returning to employment in a category of Employees that is eligible to participate, a former Participant or former Employee will become a Participant immediately.

No individual who has become a Participant prior to April 18, 2006, shall become a Participant after April 17, 2006. Notwithstanding the foregoing if an individual was a Participant in the City of Dickinson Pension Plan, such individual shall be eligible to become a Participant under this Plan if the individual meets the eligiblity requirements of this Plan. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1313 §2; Ord. No. 1676 § 4)

Section 32.12.220 Transfers.

If an individual who has been employed by the City of Dickinson or Dickinson Park District and who is a Participant in the City of Dickinson Pension Plan becomes an Employee of the Police Department and a Participant in this Plan, the benefit accrued by the Participant under the City of Dickinson Pension Plan will be transferred to this Plan. If a Participant in this Plan becomes a City of Dickinson employee and ceases to be a Police Department employee, and said employee has more than fifteen (15) years' service under the Police Pension Plan, said employee will be able to continue his or her current Police Department Pension Plan to the normal retirement age as defined in Section 32.12.100, paragraph 1.11. If said Police Department employee does not have the required fifteen (15) years of service, the employee will become a Participant in the City of Dickinson Pension Plan, and the Participant's benefit accrued under this Plan shall be transferred to the City of Dickinson Pension Plan.

The employee shall be subject to the terms of the Pension Plan, including its obligations and benefits, in which the employee was enrolled at the time of retirement. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No 1382 §2; Ord. No. 1676 § 5; Ord. No. 1757 § 1)

Section 32.12.230 Termination of Participation.

Participation will cease upon complete distribution of a Participant's vested Accrued Benefit and forfeiture of the Participant's non-vested Accrued Benefit. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.240 City's Obligations.

Neither participation in the Plan nor the City's adoption and continuance of the Plan will be deemed to constitute a contract between the City and any Employee or Participant, nor to be a consideration for, or an inducement or condition of, the employment of any person. Nothing in this Plan will be deemed to give any Employee or Participant the right to be retained in the employ of the City, or to interfere with the right of the City to discharge any Employee or Participant at any time, nor will it be deemed to give the City the right to require the Employee or Participant to remain in its employ, nor will it interfere with the right of any Employee or Participant to terminate his employment at any time. In adopting this Plan, the City does not make any representation as to the amount of the contribution that it will make for any year other than as recommended by the actuary employed by the Plan. Except insofar as the City fails to make contributions to this Plan adequate to fund the Plan on a sound actuarial basis, the City assumes no liability or responsibility for direct payment of benefits. All benefits payable under this Plan will be paid or provided solely from the Trust Fund. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.250 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act and Family Medical Leave Act.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). Effective January 1, 2009, and notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the death after 2006 of a Participant during qualified military service (as defined in Code section 414(u)(5)) will be treated as death while in the employment of the City for purposes of any benefits (other than benefit accruals related to the period of qualified military service) to which the Employee's survivors would have been entitled had the Employee resumed employment and then terminated employment on account of death. Years of Service will be credited in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.;(Ord. No. 1539 § 11.)

Section 32.12.310 City Contributions.

For each Plan Year, the City will pay to the Trustee the contribution determined by the City.

- [a] Cash: City Contributions must be paid in cash.
- [b] Employee Contributions: Each Employee shall be required to contribute to the Plan monthly by payroll deduction an amount equal to 7% of the Employee's monthly salary. The required Employee Contributions shall be paid by the City in lieu of payment by the Employee and therefore shall be picked up by the City and within the meaning of Code Section 414(h)(2) shall be treated as City Contributions. No Employee shall have the option of having Employee Contributions paid to the Employee instead of having the required Employee Contribution paid by the City to the Plan.

- [c] Forfeitures: City Contributions will be offset by any amounts forfeited under Section 6.5. Forfeitures will not be applied to increase benefits provided by the Plan unless benefits are increased by appropriate amendments. Forfeitures arising under this Plan will only be applied to reduce the contributions of the City.
- [d] Actuarial Determination: For each Plan Year, the City will make contributions to the Plan in an amount adequate to fund the benefits provided in this Plan on a sound actuarial basis. The amount of contributions to the Plan will be recommended by the actuary employed by the Plan and determined by the City.
- [e] Time and Form of Payment: City and Employee Contributions for any Plan Year may be paid to the Trustee in one sum or in several installments on any date or dates the City elects.
- [f] Exclusive Benefit: This Plan and Trust has been established for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries. The corpus or income of the Trust may not be diverted to or used for other than the exclusive benefit of the Participants or their Beneficiaries. All contributions by the City to the Plan are conditional upon the qualification of the Plan.

At the City's written request to the Trustee specifying the assets to be liquidated to make the payment, any contribution made by the City because of a mistake of fact may be returned to the City within one year of the contribution.

In the event that the Commissioner of Internal Revenue determines that the Plan is not initially qualified under the Internal Revenue Code, then at the City's written request to the Trustee specifying the assets to be liquidated to make the payment, any contribution made incident to that initial qualification by the City must be returned to the City within one year after the date the initial qualification is denied. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1768 § 1.)

Section 32.12.410 Years of Service.

Years of Service will be credited as follows:

- [a] Years of Service will be credited for the period beginning on the date the Employee becomes an Employee and ending on the date the Employee terminates employment. Fractional Years of Service will be credited by counting 1/12 of a Year of Service for each complete calendar month of the fractional year.
- [b] Years of Service will be credited for period of military duty for participants covered by and who have complied with the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as set forth in Chapter 43 of Title 38 United States Code, as currently set forth and as may hereafter be amended.
- [c] Except as otherwise provided in subsection [b], Service will not be credited for any period during which an Employee is on leave of absence. Service will be credited for periods of vacation or sick leave duly granted.
- [d] For purposes of vesting under Section 4.2 but not for purposes of benefit accrual under Section 6.1 Years of Service will be credited for any period during which an Employee or former Employee is employed by the City of Dickinson but is not a police department employee.
- [e] Service will not be credited for any period of employment for which the Employee received a distribution under Section 6.5.

[f] For purposes of vesting and for purposes of determining eligibility for retirement but not for purposes of benefit accrual years of employment in an eligible class of employees will be counted as Years of service. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.420 Vesting of Participants' Benefits.

A Participant's Accrued Benefit will become fully vested and non-forfeitable if he attains Normal Retirement Age while employed by the City. A Participant's Employee contributions plus interest will be fully vested at all times. A Participant shall be vested in his Accrued Benefit attributable to Employer contributions in accordance with the following schedule:

Completed	Percentage of
	Benefit
Years of Service	That is Vested
Fewer than 4	0%
4 or more but fewer than 5	25%
5 or more but fewer than 6	50%
6 or more but fewer than 7	75%
7 or more	100%

(Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.430 Plan Termination.

Upon the termination or partial termination of this Plan, the rights of all affected Participants to the benefits accrued as of the date the termination or partial termination (to the extent funded as of such date) will be fully vested. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.510 Limitation on Allocations Definitions.

For purposes of this Section, the following terms will be defined as follows:

- [a] **Annual Benefit.** A retirement benefit under the Plan that is payable annually in the form of a straight life annuity. Except as provided below, a benefit payable in a form other than a straight life annuity must be adjusted to an actuarially equivalent straight life annuity before applying the limitations of this Section. This actuarial equivalent straight life annuity shall be determined under the following rules.
 - (1) **Not §417(e)(3) Forms.** If the benefit is paid in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does not apply (e.g., lifetime annuity), the actuarially equivalent straight life annuity benefit is the greater of
 - (A) the annual amount of the straight life annuity (if any) payable to the Participant under the Plan commencing at the same annuity starting date as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, or

- (B) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using a five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table described in Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations for that annuity starting date.
- (2) **§417(e)(3) Forms.** If the benefit is paid in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does apply (e.g., lump sum), the actuarially equivalent straight life annuity benefit is the greatest of:
 - (A) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using the interest rate and mortality table, or tabular factor, specified in the Plan for determining the amount of that form of benefit, or
 - (B) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using a five and one half percent (5.5%) interest and the applicable mortality table described in Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations for that annuity starting date, or
 - (C) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Participant, computed using the applicable interest rate for the distribution under Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(3) and the applicable mortality table for the distribution under Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2), divided by 1.05.
- (3) **Excluded Contributions**. The annual benefit does not include any benefits attributable to employee contributions, rollover contributions or the assets transferred from a qualified plan that was not maintained by a Controlled Group Member.
- (4) **Ancillary Benefits**. No actuarial adjustment to the annual benefit is required for: (A) the value of a qualified joint and survivor annuity (to the extent such value exceeds the sum of the value of a straight life annuity beginning on the same date and the value of post-retirement death benefits that would be paid even if the annuity were not in the form of a joint and survivor annuity), or (B) the value of benefits that are not directly related to retirement benefits (such

as a pre-retirement disability benefit, a pre-retirement death benefit or a post-retirement medical benefit), or (C) the value of post-retirement cost of living increases made in accordance with regulations under the Code.

- [b] Controlled Group Member. Controlled Group Member means the City and each member of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Code Section 414(b) and as modified by Code Section 415(h)), all commonly controlled trades or businesses (as defined in Code Section 414(c) and as modified by Code Section 415(h)), affiliated service groups (as defined in Code Section 414(m)) of which the City is a part and other organizations required to be aggregated for this purpose under Code Section 414(o).
- [c] **Defined Benefit Plans**. Defined benefit plans shall have the meaning assigned to that term by Code Section 415(k)(1). Whenever reference is made to defined benefit plans in this Section, it shall include all such plans maintained by the City and all controlled group members including terminated plans, plans maintained by predecessor employers and plans that were formerly maintained by the employer or a related employer but shall not include any multiemployer plan (as defined in Code Section 414(f)).
- [d] Limitation Year. Limitation year means the Plan Year.
- [e] **Maximum Permissible Benefit**. Maximum permissible benefit means, for any one (1) limitation year, an amount determined as follows:
 - (1) **Age 62 Commencement**. If the annual benefit commences at or after age sixty-two (62) years (but before age sixty-five years), the maximum permissible benefit is One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000).
 - (2) **Early Commencement.** If the annual benefit commences before age sixty-two (62) years and the Plan does not have an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-two (62) years and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-two (62) years.

If the annual benefit commences before age sixty-two (62) years and the Plan has an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-two (62) and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the lesser of:

(a) the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty two (62) years, or

- (b) the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit multiplied by (i) divided by (ii), with (i) and (ii) determined as follows:
 - (i) the annual amount of the immediate commencing straight life annuity under the Plan (determined without applying the limitations of Code Section 415).
 - (ii) the annual amount of the straight life annuity under the Plan commencing at age sixty-two (62) (determined without applying the limitations of Code Section 415).

For purposes of this Paragraph [e](2), the actuarial equivalent (i.e., the pre-age sixty-two years actuarial equivalent) shall be computed using five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table within the meaning of Code Section 417(e)(3)(B) (and expressing the Participant's age based on completed calendar months as of the benefit commencement date.

(3) **Late Commencement**. If the annual benefit commences after age sixty-five (65) years and the Plan does not have an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-five (65) and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-five (65) years.

If the annual benefit commences after age sixty-five (65) years and the Plan has an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-five (65) and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the lesser of:

- (a) the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-five (65) years, or
- (b) the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit multiplied by (i) divided by (ii), with (i) and (ii) determined as follows:
 - (i) the annual amount of the immediate commencing straight life annuity under the Plan (determined without applying the limitations of Code section 415).

(ii) the annual amount of the straight life annuity under the Plan commencing at age sixty-five (65) (determined without applying the limitations of Code section 415).

For purposes of this Paragraph [e](3), the actuarial equivalent (i.e., the post age sixty five years actuarial equivalent) shall be computed using five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table within the meaning of Code Section 417(e)(3)(B) (and expressing the Participant's age based on completed calendar months as of the benefit commencement date).

- [f] Cost-of-Living Adjustments. Effective January 1, 2002, and each January 1 thereafter, the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) limit shall be adjusted automatically for increases in the cost of living by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to Code Section 415(d). The new amount will apply to limitation years ending within such calendar year. The new amounts shall also apply to a participant who has had a severance from employment or an annuity starting date.
- Participation Reduction. If a Participant has less than ten (10) Years of Participation in the plan, the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) limit otherwise defined and adjusted above shall be reduced to an amount equal to One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) as otherwise defined and adjusted above multiplied by a fraction: (i) the numerator of which is the number of Years (and part thereof) of Participation (not less than one), and (ii) the denominator of which is ten (10).
- [h] **No Reduction for Certain Participants**. Paragraph [e][3] shall not apply in the case of a "qualified participant" as defined in Code Section 415(b)(2)(H). For purposes of paragraph [e][3] only, "qualified participant" means a participant in the Plan with respect to when the Years of Service used to determine the amount of benefit under the Plan includes at least 15 years of service of the Participant as either [1] a full-time employee of a police or fire department or [2] as a member of the United States Armed Forces.
- [i] **Year of Participation**. The Participant shall be credited with a Year of Participation (computed to fractional parts of a year) for each accrual computation period for which the following conditions are met: (1) The Participant is credited with a Year of Service, and (2) the Participant is included as a Participant under the eligibility provisions of the Plan for at least one day of the accrual computation period. If these two conditions are met, the portion of a Year of Participation credited to the Participant shall equal the amount of benefit accrual service credited to the Participant for that accrual computation period. A Participant who is permanently and

totally disabled within the meaning of Code Section 415(c)(3)(C)(i) for an accrual computation period shall receive a Year of Participation with respect to that period. In addition, for a Participant to receive a Year of Participation (or part thereof) for an accrual computation period, the Plan must be established no later than the last day of such accrual computation period. In no event will more than one Year of Participation be credited for any 12-month period.

- [j] Multiple Annuity Starting Dates. If a Participant is entitled to benefits under this plan and under defined benefit plans that commenced as of an earlier annuity starting date, the annual benefits due under all such plans must not exceed the maximum permissible benefit at all annuity starting dates.
- [k] **Effect on Participants**. Benefit increases resulting from the increase in the limitations of section 415(b) of the Code will be provided only to active Participants who are credited with an hour of service on or after the first day of the first limitation year ending after December 31, 2001.
- [l] **Effective Date**. This Section is effective for limitation years beginning on or after January 1, 2009. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1539, § 12)

Section 32.12.520 Limitations on Benefits.

This section applies regardless of whether any Participant is or has ever been a Participant in another qualified plan maintained by the City. The Annual Benefit otherwise payable to a Participant at any time will not exceed the Maximum Permissible Amount. If the benefit of the Participant would otherwise accrue in a Limitation Year would produce an Annual Benefit in excess of the Maximum Permissible Amount, the rate of accrual will be reduced so that the Annual Benefit will equal the Maximum Permissible Amount. If a Participant has made nondeductible Participant contributions under the Plan, the amount of those contributions is treated as an Annual Addition to a qualified defined contribution plan, for purposes of this Article. The limitation in this section is deemed satisfied if the Annual Benefit payable to a Participant is not more than \$1,000 multiplied by the Participant's number of Years of Service or parts of Years of Service (not to exceed 10) with the City. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.610 Accrued Benefit.

- [a] Accrued Benefit of a Participant Retiring On Or After January 1, 2000. The Accrued Benefit of a Participant retiring on or after January 1, 2000 will be an annual benefit payable in monthly payments and commencing at Normal Retirement Age and payable for the life of the Participant that is computed as follows, or, if greater, the Accrued Benefit, calculated under (b) below:
 - [1] 2.3 percent of Final Average Compensation multiplied by the number of full and remaining fractional Years of Service completed by the Participant; plus

- [2] Any Benefit Accrued by the Participant under and transferred to the Plan from the City of Dickinson Pension Plan and Trust.
- [b] Accrued Benefit of a Participant Retiring On Or After November 1, 1992 and before January 1, 2000: The Accrued Benefit of a Participant retiring on or after November 1, 1992 and before January 1, 2000, will be a monthly benefit commencing at Normal Retirement Age and payable for the life of the Participant that is computed as follows:
 - [1] For each full Year and completed month of Service a Participant will be credited with a monthly benefit equal to one-twelfth of three and seventenths percent of his Total Basic Compensation applicable to the period; plus
 - [2] Any Benefit Accrued by the Participant under and transferred to the Plan from the City of Dickinson Pension Plan and Trust.
- [c] Accrued Benefit of A Participant Retiring Before November 1, 1992: The accrued benefit of a Participant who retired before November 1, 1992 will be increased as of November 1, 1992 to a monthly benefit commencing at the later of November 1, 1992 or Normal Retirement Age and payable for the life of the Participant that is computed as follows:
 - [1] For each full Year and completed month of Service before April 1, 1969 a Participant will be credited with a monthly benefit equal to one-twelfth of one and eighty-five one hundredths percent of his basic salary rate effective January 1, 1986 or, if earlier, the date the Participant terminated employment; plus
 - [2] For each full Year and completed month of Service after April 1, 1969 a Participant will be credited with a monthly benefit equal to one-twelfth of three and three-tenths percent of his Total Basic Compensation applicable to the period. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.620 Retirement Benefits.

- [a] General Rules: A Participant's Accrued Benefit will be distributable upon death, Total Disability, Retirement, Termination of Employment, or at the Required Beginning Date.
- [b] Normal Retirement: On the last day of the month in which a Participant attains his Normal Retirement Age, he may retire voluntarily or continue working subject to any mandatory retirement policy of the City otherwise permitted by law. Any Termination of Employment on or after the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age will be deemed to be a retirement. Until actual retirement a Participant may continue to participate in the Plan. Normal Retirement Benefit payments will begin as of the later of the Participant's Normal Retirement Age or the date the Employee retires but not later than the Required Beginning Date. There will be no actuarial adjustment for late commencement of payment for benefits commencing later than Normal Retirement Age.
- [c] Early Retirement: An Employee who terminates employment with the City after completing at least 15 Years of Service may elect Early Retirement benefits. Payment of the Actuarial Equivalent of the Participant's Accrued Benefit payable at Normal Retirement Age may commence as of the date of the Participant's Early Retirement. Alternatively, the Participant may elect in writing filed with the Board of Trustees not later than the Participant's Early Retirement Date, to defer the commencement of

- Actuarially Equivalent benefit payments to a date later than the date of the Participant's retirement but not later than the Participant's Normal Retirement Date.
- [d] Disability: An Employee who terminates employment with the City because of Total and Permanent Disability before attaining Early or Normal Retirement Age shall be paid Disability Retirement Benefits commencing as of the date of termination of employment. Disability Retirement Benefits shall be equal to the benefit accrued as of the date of disability retirement payable at Normal Retirement Age without actuarial reduction for the commencement of payment before Normal Retirement Age and without accrual of any additional benefit or Years of Service after the date of disability retirement but shall not be less than \$50 per month. Any Disability Retirement Benefit payable under this Plan shall be reduced by the amount of any payment from the Workers Compensation Bureau made to the Employee because of the Total and Permanent Disability.

If the benefits received from the Workers Compensation Bureau exceed the Benefit the Employee would be entitled to under the Plan, no pension shall be paid from the Plan to the Employee during the time the Workers Compensation payments are being made. If settlement of State Workers Compensation payment shall be in a lump sum, such sum shall be apportioned in accordance with the determination of the State Workers Compensation Bureau over a period of years for purposes of the offset against Plan benefits.

Payment of Disability Retirement Benefits will cease upon determination by the Board of Trustees that the Total and Permanent Disability has terminated. Any Normal or Early Retirement benefits that subsequently become payable will be reduced by the actuarial value of the Disability Retirement Benefit actually paid.

- [e] Required Beginning Date. The Required Beginning Date is the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which occurs the later of [1] the date the Participant attains age 70 1/2, or [2] the date the Participant retires from employment with the Employer.
- [f] Minimum Benefit: The benefits paid under this Section 6.2 will not in any event be less than the total amount of the Participant's Employee contributions plus Earnings. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.630 Form of Benefit.

The normal form of benefit under this Plan is a single life annuity for the life of the Participant. Effective for all Participants who commence benefits prior to August 1, 2010, the optional forms of benefit under this Plan are [a] a single sum cash payment that is the Actuarial Equivalent of the normal form of benefit; [b] the Actuarial Equivalent 100 percent benefit for both the Participant and surviving spouse, and [c] single life annuity for the life of the participant with 120 payments guaranteed. Effective for all Participants who commence benefits on or after August 1, 2010, the optional forms of benefit under this Plan are [a] the Actuarial Equivalent of the normal form of benefit, paid in 9 equal annual installments: [b] the Actuarial Equivalent 100 percent benefit for both the Participant and surviving spouse, and [c] single life annuity for the life of the participant with 120 payments guaranteed. The value of the amounts payable to the Participant and all beneficiaries in the ten-year certain form shall be the actuarial equivalent of the amounts payable to the Participant in the normal form. A Participant's Allocated Earnings

Account balance shall be distributable as of the valuation date next following termination of employment in a single sum cash payment. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1280 § 1, Ord. No. 1384 § 5)

Section 32.12.640 Required Distributions.

- All distributions required under this section will be determined and made in accordance with the Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9), including the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirement of Code Section 401(a)(9)(G). Effective with respect to distributions made on or after January 1, 2003 and prior to January 1, 2005, all required distributions under this Section were determined in accordance with a reasonable and good faith interpretation of the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9). Effective with respect to distributions made on or after January 1, 2005, all distributuons required under this section will be made in accordance with the final Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) issued on April 17, 2002 and June 15, 2004, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary.
- [b] The vested Accrued Benefits of a Participant must be distributed or begin to be distributed no later than the Participant's Required Beginning Date.
- [c] As of the first Distribution Calendar Year, distributions shall be made in the form of an annuity for the life of the Participant.
- [d] Payments under the annuity must satisfy the following requirements:
- (1) the annuity distributions must be paid in periodic payments made at intervals not longer than one year:
- (2) the distribution period must be over a Life described in Section 401(a)(9)(A)(ii); and
- (3) payments must either be non-increasing or increase only to provide cash refunds of employee contributions upon the Participant's death; or because of an increase in benefits under the Plan.
- [e] Unless the Participant's spouse is the sole Designated Beneficiary, the period certain for the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed commencing during the Participant's lifetime may not exceed the applicable distribution period for the Participant under the Uniform Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations for the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. If the annuity starting date precedes the calendar year in which the Participant reaches age seventy (70), the applicable distribution period for the Participant is the distribution period for age seventy (70) under the Uniform Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations plus the excess of seventy (70) over the age of the Participant as of the Participant's birthday in the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. If the Participant's spouse is the Participant's sole Designated Deneficiary, the period certain for the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed may not exceed the longer of the Participant's applicable distribution period (determined as described in the preceding sentence) or the joint life and last survivor expectancy of the Participant and the Participant's spouse as determined under

the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-3 of the Regulations using the Participant's and Spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and Spouse's birthdays in the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1539 § 9)

Section 32.12.650 Termination of Employment.

A Participant with no vested interest in Accrued Benefits attributable to City Contributions who terminates employment for any reason other than death or Total Disability before qualifying for immediate Early or Normal Retirement Benefits will receive a refund of Employee Contributions made and not previously distributed plus Earnings. Payment shall be made in a single sum within 90 days after the date the Participant terminates employment.

A Participant with a vested interest in Accrued Benefits attributable to City Contributions who terminates employment for any reason other than death or Total Disability before qualifying for immediate Early or Normal Retirement Benefits will receive payment of benefits as follows:

- [a] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is \$1,000 or less, the present value of the vested Accrued Benefit will be paid in a single sum cash payment as soon as administratively feasible after the Participant's termination of employment.
- [b] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is greater than \$1,000 but not more than \$10,000, the present value of the vested Accrued Benefit will be paid in a single sum cash payment as soon as administratively feasible after the Participant requests payment following the Participant's termination of employment.
- [c] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions is greater than \$10,000 and the Participant terminates employment prior to August 1, 2010, the Accrued Benefit will be paid under Section 620 commencing as of the last day of the month in which the Participant attains age 55, or if the Participant so elects in writing within 30 days after the Participant's termination of employment, the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit will be paid in a single sum cash payment as soon as administratively feasible after the Participant's termination of employment.
- [d] If the present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit attributable to Employee Contributions and City Contributions sis greater than \$10,000 and the Participant terminates employment on or after August 1, 2010, the Accrued Benefit will be paid under Section 620 commencing as of the last day of the month in which the Participant attains age 55.

The present value of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefits payable under this paragraph shall not be less than the Employee Contributions made by the Participant plus Earnings.

The Participant's non-vested Accrued Benefit will be forfeitable upon the distribution of the Participant's vested Accrued Benefit or upon refund of the Participant's Employee Contributions plus interest if the Participant has no vested Accrued Benefit attributable to City Contributions or, if there is no distribution before Early or Normal Retirement Age, then upon the Participant's termination of employment. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1309 § 2, Ord. No. 1384 § 6; Ord. No. 1663 § 2)

Section 32.12.660 Death Benefits.

- [a] Surviving Spouse and Children: Upon the death of an active Employee or of a retired Participant benefits shall be paid to the Surviving Spouse or surviving children, if any, as follows:
 - [i] If a retired Participant has elected the normal form of benefit upon retirement, a monthly benefit shall be paid to the Surviving Spouse for life in an amount equal to 2/3 of the Participant's accrued benefit as of the date of death but such benefit shall not be less than \$50 per month.
 - [ii] If a retired Participant has elected the optional form of benefit of the Actuarial Equivalent 100 percent for both Participant and Surviving Spouse at retirement, a monthly benefit will be paid to the Surviving Spouse of 100% of the benefit payable continuing for the remaining life of the survivor.
 - [iii] A monthly benefit will be paid to the Surviving Spouse of an active Employee for life in an amount equal to the monthly benefit that would have been paid to the Surviving Spouse if the Participant had retired the day before his death with actuarially equivalent benefits payable in the form of an annuity for the joint life expectancy of the Participant and the Participant's spouse with 100% of the benefit payable during their joint lives continuing for the remaining life of the survivor. Alternatively, a Surviving Spouse of an active Employee who dies prior to August 1, 2010, may elect in writing within 90 days after the Participant's death to have the benefit payable under this subsection [iii] payable in an actuarially equivalent single sum payment. Any benefit payable under this subsection [iii] shall be reduced by the actuarially equivalent value of any benefits paid to the Participant before death under Section 6.2, 6.3, or 6.5.
 - [iv] The Surviving Spouse of a retired Participant shall receive the form of benefit as selected by the Participant upon Retirement. If the retired Participant elected at retirement the single sum cash payment, no benefit will be due the Surviving Spouse.
 - [v] A benefit of \$10 per month shall be paid on behalf of each surviving child until the child attains the age of 18 to the parent of the surviving child or if no parent is surviving then to the guardian of the surviving child.
 - [vi] If a retired participant has elected the optional form of benefit of the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed, the guaranteed monthly benefit will be paid to the participant's beneficiary for the remainder of the 120 month payment term.
 - [vii] If a retired participant has elected to receive 9 equal annual installments, and such participant dies before receiving all 9 payments, any remaining annual installment payments will be paid to the participant's beneficiary

[b] Minimum Benefit: The benefits paid under this Section 6.6 to a Participant's Surviving Spouse and Children will not be less than the total amount of the Participant's Employee Contributions plus Earnings, reduced by any benefits paid to the Participant under Section 6.2 or Section 6.5. Any remainder payable under this subsection will be paid to the estate of the Participant. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1280 § 2, Ord. No. 1384 § 7.)

Section 32.12.670 Designation of Beneficiary.

Each Participant will designate a Beneficiary to receive any aggregate minimum benefits payable under section 6.8 upon his death on the form prescribed by and delivered to the Board of Trustees. The Participant will have the right to change or revoke a designation at any time by filing a new designation or notice of revocation with the Board of Trustees.

If a Participant fails to designate a Beneficiary before his death, or if no Designated Beneficiary survives the Participant, the Board of Trustees will direct the Trustee to pay any benefit first to his Surviving Spouse, if any, or if none, then to his personal representative. If no personal representative has been appointed, and if the benefit does not exceed the minimum amount for which an estate or inheritance tax release or appointment of a personal representative is required under applicable state law the Board of Trustees may direct the Trustee to pay the benefit to such person as may be entitled to it under the laws of the state in which the Participant was domiciled at the date of his death. The Board of Trustees may require such proof of right or identity as he may deem necessary. If the benefit exceeds the minimum amount for which an estate or inheritance tax release or appointment of a personal representative is required under applicable state law, the Board of Trustees may direct the Trustee to hold the benefits in a segregated account until such time as the Trustee is notified that a personnel representative has been appointed. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.680 Minimum Aggregate Benefits.

In no event shall the total benefits payable under this Plan in respect to a given Participant be less than the total contributions made by such Participant plus Earnings. If the total aggregate benefit paid to the Participant and to his eligible Surviving Spouse and/or Children would otherwise be less than the total contributions made by the Participant, the difference shall be paid to the Participant's named beneficiary or if none then to the Participant's estate. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.690 Other Distribution Rules.

[a] Spendthrift Trust Provisions: Except for benefits payable under Section 7.5 in accordance with the applicable requirements of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, all amounts payable by the Plan will be paid only to the person entitled to them, all such payments will be paid directly to such person and not to any other person or corporation and no benefit or interest under this Plan will be subject to assignment or alienation, either voluntarily or involuntarily. Payments will not be subject to the claim of any creditor of a Participant, nor may payments be taken in execution by attachment or garnishment or by any other legal or equitable proceedings. No person will have any right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber, or assign any payments or benefits that he may expect to receive, contingently or otherwise, under this Plan, except the right to designate a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries.

- [b] Participant Or Beneficiary Whose Whereabouts Are Unknown: In the case of any Participant or Beneficiary whose whereabouts are unknown, the Board of Trustees will notify the Participant or Beneficiary at his last known address by certified mail with return receipt requested advising him of his right to a pending distribution. If the Participant or Beneficiary cannot be located in this manner, the Board of Trustees may direct the Trustee to forfeit the Accrued Benefit. If a claim for forfeited Accrued Benefits is subsequently made by the Participant or Beneficiary, the amount forfeited, unadjusted for earnings or interest, will be restored.
- [c] Minors or Persons of Unsound Mind. If the person designated to receive payments is a minor or a person of unsound mind, whether formally so adjudicated or not, the Trustee, upon receipt of instructions from the Board of Trustees, may make payment to the person's legal representative or legal guardian, and the receipt by any such person will be a full and complete discharge of the Plan for any sums paid.
- [d] Suspension of Benefit Payments: If a retired Participant is re-employed by the City for the performance of light duty, payment of benefits under this Plan will be suspended until the Participant terminates employment, provided, however, that the President of the Board of City Commissioners may assign any Employee of the Police Department, retired under the provisions of this Article, to the performance of light duties in the City. The salary received by any such person so assigned for light duty plus the pension received under the terms and provisions of this Article shall not exceed the regular pay for such duties.
- [e] Withdrawals: No Participant may withdraw any part of his Accrued Benefit while employed.(Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.692 Eligible Rollover Distributions.

Except as provided in Paragraphs [f] and [g] below, this Section is effective for distributions made on or after January 1, 2007. A distributee who is eligible to elect a direct rollover may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover.

- [a] **Eligible Rollover Distribution**: An eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include:
 - [1] any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; or
 - [2] any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code Section 401(a)(9);
 - [3] any hardship distribution; and

- [4] the portion of any distribution that is not includable in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to employer securities).
- [b] Eligible Retirement Plan: An Eligible Retirement Plan is an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a), an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b), a plan described in Code Section 403(a) or an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), or a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution, or an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relation order, as defined in Code Section 414(p).
- [c] **Employee After-Tax Contributions**. To the extent a distribution consists in part of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income, such portion of the distribution may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Sections 408(a) or (b), or to a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) or to an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(a) of the Code, if such trust or contract provides for separate accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
- [d] **Distributee**: A distributee includes a Participant or former Participant. In addition, the Participant's or former Participant's surviving spouse and the member's or former Participant's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.
- [e] **Direct Rollover**: A direct rollover means the payment of an eligible rollover distribution by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distribute who is eligible to elect a direct rollover.
- [f] Qualified Rollover Contribution to Roth IRA. Effective for distributions made on or after January 1, 2008, a distributee may elect to have all or a portion of an eligible rollover distribution rolled over to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A. However, for distributions made before January 1, 2010, the distributee shall not be eligible to make a qualified rollover contribution to a Roth IRA if the distributee's adjusted gross income exceeds One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) or the distributee is a married individual filing a separate return.

Special Rule For Nonspouse Beneficiaries. Effective for distributions payable on or after January 1, 2010, a distributee who is a Beneficiary and who is not the surviving spouse of a Participant or an alternate payee may elect, at the time and the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have all or any portion of such distributee's eligible rollover distribution paid directly in a trustee-to-trustee transfer to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Sections 408(a) or (b), which is treated as an inherited individual retirement account or annuity within the meaning of Code Section 408(d)(3)(C). Any distribution to a nonspouse Beneficiary which is payable on or after January 1, 2010, shall be subject to the direct rollover requirements of Code Section 401(a)(31) and the notice requirements of Code Section 402(f). (Ord. No. 1266, § 1; Ord. No. 1539 § 13.)

Section 32.12.694 Retiree Benefits.

As of January 1, 2000, the monthly retirement benefit payable to each Eligible Retiree will be increased by 6%. For purposes of this paragraph only, an Eligible Retiree is a Participant or the surviving spouse of a Participant who is receiving as of January 1, 2000 monthly retirement benefits from this Plan. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.710 Appointment of Board of Trustees.

The Board of Trustees for management of the Police Employees' Pension Plan shall consist of the Chief of Police, the City Administrator, the President of the Board of City Commissioners and two persons elected by and from the Police Department Employees who are currently participating. No Employee shall be eligible for election until he or she has completed eight Years of Service. The election shall be held on the second Tuesday in September. Each elected member shall serve for a term of four years; with one member being elected at each biennial election. The term of elected members shall commence on January 1 of the year following the election of said member. The President of the Board of City Commissioners shall be the President and the City Administrator shall be the Treasurer of the Board. The faithful performance of the duties of the Treasurer shall be secured by his official bond as the City Administrator. Such trustees shall receive no compensation for the services as members of the Board. Such Board shall have such powers and perform such duties as may now or hereafter be provided by law and by the Plan. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.720 Information to be made available to Board of Trustees.

The City will provide the Board of Trustees with access to information the Board of Trustees requires. If required information is not available from the City's records, the Board of Trustees may obtain the information from the Participants. The Board of Trustees and the City may rely on and will not be liable for any information that an Employee provides either directly or indirectly. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.730 Duties and Powers of Board of Trustees.

- [a] General: The Board of Trustees will have full discretionary authority to decide all questions arising in the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan and Trust, including all questions relating to eligibility and distributions, except as may be reserved under this Plan to the City. The Board of Trustees from time to time will direct the Trustee concerning the payments to be made out of the Plan assets pursuant to this Plan.
- [b] Employment of Advisers and Persons To Carry Out Responsibilities: The Board of Trustees may employ one or more persons to render advice with regard to any responsibility the Board of Trustees has under the Plan and may employ one or more persons (including the Trustee) to carry out any of its responsibilities under the Plan.
- [c] Keeping of Records: The Board of Trustees will keep such records as may be necessary or advisable in his judgment for the administration of this Plan and Trust. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.740 Notices from Participants.

Whenever provision is made in the Plan that a Participant may exercise any option or election or designate any Beneficiary, the action of the Participant will be evidenced in writing on the forms provided by the Board of Trustees, if a form is provided, signed by the Participant and delivered to the Board of Trustees in person or by mail. Written notice will not be effective until received by the Board of Trustees. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.750 Qualified Domestic Relations Orders.

- [a] Definitions:
 - [1] Alternate Payee means any Spouse, former Spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant who is recognized by a Qualified Domestic Relations Order as having a right to receive all, or a portion of, the benefits payable under a Plan with respect to the Participant.
 - [2] Earliest Retirement Age means, for purposes of this section only, the earlier of [i] the date the Participant is entitled to a distribution under the Plan or [ii] the later of the date the Participant attains age 50 or the earliest date on which the Participant could begin receiving benefits under the Plan if the Participant separated from service.
 - [3] Qualified Domestic Relations Order means an order that creates or recognizes the existence of an Alternate Payee's right to, or assigns to an Alternate Payee the right to, receive all or a portion of the benefits otherwise payable to a Participant under the Plan. A Qualified Domestic Relations Order includes any judgement, decree, or order (including approval of a property settlement agreement) that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights to a Spouse, Former Spouse, child, or other dependent of a Participant, and is made pursuant to a State domestic relations law (including a community property law). To qualify, the domestic relations order must:
 - [A] clearly state the name and last known mailing address of the Participant and the name and mailing address of each Alternative Payee covered by the order;

- [B] clearly state the amount or percentage of the Participant's benefits to be paid by the Plan to each Alternate Payee, or the manner in which the amount or percentage is to be determined;
- [C] clearly state the number of payments or period to which the order applies;
- [D] identify each Plan to which the order applies;
- [E] not require the Plan to provide any type or form of benefits, or any option, not otherwise provided under the Plan;
- [F] not require the Plan to provide increased benefits (determined on the basis of actuarial value); and
- [G] not require the payment of benefits to an Alternate Payee that are required to be paid to another Alternate Payee under another order previously determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order.
- [b] Payment of Benefits Under A Qualified Domestic Relations Order: Section 6.10[a] will not apply to prevent payment of benefits to an Alternate Payee under the terms of a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. In the case of any distribution before a Participant has separated from service, a Qualified Domestic Relations Order will not fail to meet the requirements of subparagraph [E] above solely because the Order requires that payment of benefits be made to an alternate payee [A] on or after the date the Participant attains the Earliest Retirement Age, [B] as if the Participant had retired on the date on which such payment is to begin under the order, and [C] in any form in which benefits may be paid under the Plan to the Participant (other than in the form of a Qualified Joint and Survivor Annuity with respect to the Alternate Payee and his subsequent spouse). A person who is an Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order will be considered a Beneficiary under the Plan.
- [c] Procedures: The Board of Trustees will establish reasonable procedures for determining the qualified status of a domestic relations order. The procedures:
 - [1] will be in writing;
 - [2] will provide that each person specified in a Domestic Relations Order as entitled to payment of Plan benefits will be notified of the procedures promptly upon receipt of the Order by the Plan; and
 - will permit an Alternate Payee to designate a representative for receipt of copies [3] of notices that are sent to the Alternate Payee. Within a reasonable period of time after receipt of an order, the Board of Trustees will determine whether the order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order and notify the Participant and each Alternate Payee of the determination. During any period in which the issue of whether a domestic relations order is a Qualified Domestic Relations order is being determined, the Board of Trustees will segregate, in a separate account, any otherwise distributable amounts that would have been payable to the Alternate Payee during the period if the order had been determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. If, within 18 months the order is determined not to be a Qualified Domestic Relations order or the issue as to whether the order is a Oualified Domestic Relations Order is not resolved, then the Board of Trustees may pay the segregated amounts to the person or persons who would have been entitled to those amounts if there had been no order. If a plan fiduciary acts in accordance with the fiduciary responsibility provisions of the Plan, then the Plan's

obligation to the Participant and each Alternate Payee is discharged to the extent of any payment made. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.810 Investment of Plan Assets.

The duty of the Trustee is to hold in trust the funds it receives. The Trustee in accordance with the instructions of the Board of Trustees, will have exclusive authority and discretion to manage and control the assets of the Plan and to manage, invest, and reinvest the Trust Fund and the income from it under this Article, without distinction between principal and income. The Trustee will make payments and distributions from the Trust Fund in accordance with the terms of this Plan and instructions of the Board of Trustees. The Trustee will be responsible only for sums that it actually receives as Trustee plus net gains on such amounts. The Trustee will have no duty to collect any sums from the Board of Trustees, City, or from a Participant. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.820 Records.

The Trustee will keep full records of its administration of the Plan assets. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.830 Administrative Powers of the Trustee.

Subject to the requirements imposed by law, the Trustee will have all powers necessary or advisable to carry out the provisions of this Plan and Trust and all inherent, implied, and statutory powers now or subsequently provided by law, including specifically the power to do any of the following:

- to invest or reinvest any and all money or property of any description at any time [a] held by the Trustee and constituting assets of the Plan, without previous application to, or subsequent ratification of, any court, tribunal or commission, or any federal or state governmental agency, in real prop6rty and all interests in real property, in bonds, notes, debentures, mortgages, commercial paper, preferred stocks, common stocks, or other securities, rights, obligations, or property, real or personal, including shares or certificates of participation issued by regulated investment companies or regulated investment trusts, shares or units of participation in qualified common Trust Funds, in qualified pooled funds, including Common Trust Funds or pooled funds maintained by the Trustee, or in pooled investment funds of an insurance Company qualified to do business in the state, group annuity contracts and with any federally insured bank or savings and loan association, and if the Trustee is a bank or similar financial institution supervised by the United States or a state, in its own deposits, savings accounts, and certificates of deposit;
- [b] to cause any securities or other property to be registered and held in its name as Trustee, or in the name of one or more of its nominees, without disclosing the fiduciary capacity, or to keep the same in unregistered form payable to bearer;
- [c] to sell, grant options to sell, exchange, pledge, encumber, mortgage, deed in trust, or use any other form of hypothecation, or otherwise dispose of the whole or any part of the Trust Fund on such terms and for such property or cash, or part cash and credit, as it may deem best; to retain, hold, maintain, or continue any

- securities or investments that it may hold as part of the Trust Fund for as long as it deems advisable; and generally, in all respects, to do all things and exercise each and every right, power, and privilege in connection with and in relation to the Trust Fund as could be done, exercised, or executed by an individual holding and owning such property in absolute and unconditional ownership;
- [d] to abandon, compromise, contest, and arbitrate claims and demands; to institute, compromise, and defend actions at law (but without obligation to do so); in connection with such powers, to employ counsel the Trustee deems advisable; and to exercise such powers all at the risk and expense of the Trust Fund;
- [e] to borrow money for this Trust on the terms and conditions the Trustee deems advisable, and to secure repayment by the mortgage or pledge of any assets of the Trust Fund except insurance contracts;
- [f] to vote in person or by proxy any shares of stock or rights held in the Trust Fund; to participate in and to exchange securities or other property in reorganization, liquidation, or dissolution of any corporation, the securities of which are held in the Trust Fund;
- [g] to pay any amount due on any loan or advance-made to the Trust Fund, to charge against and pay from the Trust Fund all taxes of any nature levied, assessed, or imposed upon the trust fund, and to pay all reasonable expenses and attorney fees necessarily incurred by the Trustee with respect to any of the foregoing matters; and
- [h] to act pursuant to written blanket settlement authorization given by the City or the Participant on any transaction executed by the designated broker. The Trustee is authorized to honor all trade confirmations received according to the terms of the instructions relating to the conduct of business in the plan as previously provided to the designated broker. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.840 Allocated Earnings Account.

A separate account shall be maintained by the Trustee for Allocated Earnings of each Participant to whom earnings were allocated under plan provisions in effect prior to January 1, 1992. The assets of the trust will be valued annually at fair market value as of the last day of the Plan Year and at any other dates determined by the Board of Trustees to be appropriate. On each valuation date, the earnings and losses of the trust attributable to the Allocated Earnings Accounts will be allocated to each Participant's Allocated Earnings Account in the ratio that each Participant's Allocated Earnings Account balances to all such Account balances. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.850 Organization and Operation of Office of Office of Trustee.

The Trustee(s) may adopt the procedures deemed desirable for the conduct of its affairs and may appoint agents any of whom may be an officer or Employee of the City. Any person dealing with the Trustee(s) may rely on a certificate or memorandum signed by the Trustee, or by any one Trustee if more than one Trustee is appointed, as evidence of any action taken by the Trustee(s). (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.860 Advice of Counsel.

The Trustee may consult with legal counsel, who may be counsel for the City or Trustee's own counsel, with respect to the meaning or construction of the Plan and Trust or Trustee's obligation or duties. The cost of any consultation will be an expense of the Plan and will be paid by the Plan unless paid by the City. The Trustee will be protected from any responsibility with respect to any action taken or omitted by it in good faith pursuant to the advice of counsel, to the extent permitted by law. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.870 Appointment, Resignation, Removal, and Substitution of Trustee.

The City will appoint a Trustee or Trustees, each of which will hold office until resignation or removal by the City. The Trustee may resign at any time upon 30 days' written notice to the City. The Trustee may be removed at any time by the City upon 30 days' written notice to the Trustee with or without cause. Upon resignation or removal of the Trustee, the City will appoint a successor Trustee that will have the same powers and duties as are conferred upon the Trustee appointed under this Plan. The resigning or removed Trustee will deliver to its successor Trustee all property of the Trust Fund, less a reasonable amount necessary to provide for its compensation, expenses, and any taxes or advances chargeable or payable out of the Trust Fund. If the Trustee is an individual, death will be treated as a resignation, effective immediately. If any corporate Trustee at any time is merged, or consolidated with, or sells or transfers substantially all of its assets and business to another corporation, whether state or federal, or is reorganized or reincorporated in any manner, then the resulting or acquiring corporation will be substituted for the corporate Trustee without the execution of any instrument and without any action on the part of the City, any Participant or Beneficiary, or any other person having or claiming to have an interest in the Trust Fund or under the Plan. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.910 Amendments to Plan and Trust.

At any time the City may amend the Plan. An Amendment will be effective as of the date specified by the City, or if no date is specified, then on the first day of the Plan Year during which it is adopted. Except as may be permitted by regulations, no amendment to the Plan (including a change in the actuarial basis for determining optional or early retirement benefits) will be effective to the extent that it has the effect of decreasing a Participant's Accrued Benefit. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.920 Termination of Plan and Trust.

The City expects to continue this Plan and Trust indefinitely, but the continuance of the Plan and Trust is not assumed as a contractual obligation by the City and the right is reserved to the City to terminate this Plan and Trust in whole or part at any time. Termination of the Plan and Trust will take effect as of the date specified by the City's written notice of the termination which shall be given by the City to the Trustee and the Sponsor. At any time after termination of the Plan and Trust, but not before receipt of instructions from the Board of Trustees, the Trustee may distribute the interest of any Participant to him under Article VII. The Board of Trustees will file such terminal reports as are required. The Board of Trustees may request appropriate rulings as to qualification upon termination. Termination of this Plan and Trust by the City will

not re-vest any part of the Trust Fund in the City; provided, however, that any assets that remain after the Plan is terminated and all Accrued Benefits have been paid will be returned to the City upon written notice by the City to the Trustee. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.930 Merger, Consolidation or Transfer of Assets or Liabilities of the Plan.

The City may merge or consolidate this Plan with any other plan and may transfer all or part of the assets or liabilities of the Plan to, or to this Plan from, any other plan. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.940 Distribution Upon Termination of Trust.

If the Plan Trust is terminated Accrued Benefits to the extent funded will be distributed in accordance with the provisions of Article VI. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.1010 Test to Control.

The headings of articles and sections are included solely for convenience of reference. If any conflict between any heading and the text of this Plan and Trust exists, the text will control. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.1020 Severability.

If any provision of this Plan and Trust is illegal or invalid for any reason, such illegality or invalidity will not affect the remaining provisions, on the contrary, the remaining provisions will be fully severable, and this Plan and Trust will be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provisions never had been inserted in this agreement. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.1030 Jurisdiction.

This Plan will be construed and administered under the laws of the State of North Dakota when the laws of that jurisdiction are not in conflict with federal substantive law. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.1040 Forum Selection.

Any claims or disputes involving the Plan shall be litigated only in North Dakota and to the extent not preempted by federal law, North Dakota statutory and common law shall control during litigation. The litigants expressly waive any right they have to institute or conduct litigation in any other forum or location. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.1050 Expenses.

The expenses of the Plan and Trust shall be paid from Plan assets unless, in its discretion the City elects to pay some or all of the Plan expenses. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Section 32.12.1060 Rules of Construction.

The masculine gender will include the feminine, and the singular will include the plural. (Ord. No. 1266, § 1.)

Article 32.16 Part Time Fire Fighter Pension Plan

Sections:	
32.16.010	Part-Time Fire Fighter Pension Plan created
32.16.020	Definitions
32.16.030	Contributions by city; pension fund and investment of same
32.16.040	Board of trustees
32.16.050	Plan interpretation and intent
32.16.060	Receipt of gifts, grants, devises or bequests
32.16.070	Actuarial valuations
32.16.080	Eligible membership in plan
32.16.090	Exemption of benefits from debts
32.16.100	Pension fund
32.16.110	Procedure for disbursement from fund
32.16.120	Fiscal year and annual reports
32.16.130	Accrued monthly pension benefits
32.16.140	Regular benefit payments under plan and vesting
32.16.150	Optional benefit payment under plan
32.16.160	Severability and inclusiveness
32.16.170	Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act
32.16.180	Required Distributions
32.16.190	Eligible Rollover Distribution
32.16.200	Limitation on Annual Addition Definitions
32.16.220	Exclusive Benefit

Section 32.16.010 Dickinson Part Time Fire Fighter Pension Plan created

A pension plan for members of the Dickinson Fire Department is hereby created to be effective on and after July 1, 1979. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1732, § 2.)

Section 32.16.020 Definitions

For the purposes of this article, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Actuarial Equivalent or Actuarially Equivalent means a payment or a series of payments that has the same present value computed on the basis of the following interest rate and mortality assumptions:

- [i] Interest Rate: 8% pre-retirement and 6% post-retirement
- [ii] Mortality Table: 1983 IAM with six year setback

Notwithstanding any other Plan provisions to the contrary, effective for any distribution with an annuity starting date on or after January 1, 2008, the applicable mortality table used for purposes of adjusting any benefit or limitation under Code Section 415(b)(2)(B), (C) or (D) and the applicable mortality table used for purposes of satisfying the requirements of Code Section 417(e) is the applicable mortality table within the meaning of Code Section 417(e)(3)(B). For any distribution with an annuity starting date on or after the effective date of this Section and before the adoption

date of this Section, if application of the amendment as of the annuity starting date would have caused a reduction in the amount of any distribution, such reduction is not reflected in any payment made before the adoption date of this section. However, the amount of any such reduction that is required under Code Section 415(b)(2) must be reflected actuarially over any remaining payments to the Member.

Department. The Dickinson Fire Department as created, established, maintained and improved by the city.

Member. Any person who is a Part Time Fire Fighter member of the Dickinson Fire Department as determined by the chief of the Dickinson Fire Department and as provided in section 32.16.080.

Normal Retirement Age means the date a member attains the age 60 or completes 30 certified years of service, whichever occurs first.

Plan or The Plan or This Plan. The Dickinson Part Time Fire Fighter Pension Plan as created by the city and as thereafter may be amended by ordinance. This Plan is intended to qualify under Code Section 401(a) as a defined benefit pension plan. This Plan is also intended to be a governmental plan under Code Section 414(d).

A "qualifying year" shall mean a year in which the affected Part Time Fire Fighter obtains at least 156 points toward the Dickinson Part Time Fire Fighter Retirement Program. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord No. 1119 § 1; Ord. No. 1136 § 1; Ord. No. 1342 § 1; Ord No. 1375 §1; Ord. No. 1539, § 14; Ord. No. 1732, § 3)

Section 32.16.030 Contributions by city; pension fund and investment of same

The board of city commissioners shall annually appropriate sufficient funds to maintain the pension fund herein created in accordance with the most recent actuarial valuation. The proceeds of such fund shall be placed in a pension fund to be invested by the board of trustees. The funds may be invested in interest-bearing bonds of the United States or the state, bonds or warrants of any county, township or municipal corporation of the state which constitute the general obligations or contingent general obligations of the issuing tax authority or investments with any federally insured bank or savings and loan association. All securities in which monies belonging to the fund are invested shall be deposited with the treasurer of the board of trustees for safekeeping. The board may also invest all or part of such funds in other investments by selecting a funding agent and establishing an investment agreement contract regarding such funds. This contract shall authorize the funding agent to hold and invest such funds for the board, and such funds shall be placed for investment only with a firm whose primary endeavor is money management and only after a trust agreement or contract has been executed.

The board of trustees shall have the power, in selecting a funding agent or agents and establishing an investment agreement contract regarding such surplus fund, to delegate any such administrative functions necessary, including, but not limited to, funds established, issuance of checks and payments to retirees and establishing such custodial accounts as necessary in furtherance hereof. By delegation of such authority, the board of trustees in no way transfers such powers and such duties or responsibilities as may now or hereafter be provided by law which are nondelegable. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 910, § 4.)

Section 32.16.040 Board of trustees

The plan herein created shall be administered by a board of trustees which is hereby established. Such board shall be composed of the chief of the fire department, who shall be the president of the board, the president of the board of city commissioners of such other member of the board of city commissioners as appointed by said president, who shall be the vice-president of the board, the city administrator, or some other person from the city department of administration or finance as appointed by the board of city commissioners, who shall be the secretary and treasurer of the board, and one member elected from and by the membership of the Dickinson Fire Department, who shall serve for a three year term and may serve consecutive terms thereafter. The City attorney and the Finance Director shall be ex-officio non-voting members of the board of trustees. The faithful performance of the duties of the treasurer shall be secured by the official bond of the city administrator. Such trustees shall receive no compensation for their services as members of the board and they shall have such powers and perform such duties as may now or hereafter be provided by law for trustees generally and specifically as provided in this chapter. The board of trustees shall meet at least annually and at such other times as called by the president. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1179 § 1; Ord. No. 1732, § 5)

Section 32.16.050 Plan interpretation and intent

The board of trustees shall be authorized to adopt such regulations as may be deemed necessary, consistent with the terms and provisions of this plan, to aid in the interpretation or operation of the plan. (Ord. No. 783, § 1.)

Section 32.16.060 Receipt of gifts, grants, devises or bequests

The board of trustees may accept by gift, grant, devise or bequest any money or real or personal property or other thing of value for the benefit of this pension fund. When received, such property shall become a part of such fund. (Ord. No. 783, § 1.)

Section 32.16.070 Actuarial valuations

This pension plan shall have an actuarial valuation performed at intervals not to exceed five years. Such valuations shall be performed by an enrolled actuary within the context of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). (Ord. No. 783, § 1.)

Section 32.16.080 Eligible membership in plan

Each Part Time Fire Fighter of the Dickinson Fire Department shall be a member of the pension plan herein created and entitled to participate in the plan as provided in this chapter. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1119, § 2; Ord. No. 1732 § 5)

Section 32.16.090 Exemption of benefits from debts

All pensions paid under the provisions of this pension system shall not be subject to assignment and shall be exempt from liability for debts of the person to or on account of whom such pension is paid and shall not be subject to seizure upon execution or other process. (Ord. No. 783, § 1.)

Section 32.16.100 Pension fund

The pension fund established hereunder shall be used for the payment of benefits under this system and any related expenses of operation. No funds held hereunder shall inure to any other purpose. (Ord. No. 783, § 1.)

Section 32.16.110 Procedure for disbursement from fund

All benefits paid and all monies drawn from the pension fund shall be upon warrants authorized by the board of trustees and issued by the treasurer of such board. Such warrants shall designate the name of the payee and the purpose for which payment is made. (Ord. No. 783, § 1.)

Section 32.16.120 Fiscal year and annual reports

The first fiscal year shall be from January 1 to December 31. On or prior to January 31 of each year hereafter the treasurer shall prepare an annual report showing the receipts and disbursements for the preceding fiscal year and the present status of the funds invested. Such report shall be made to the board of trustees, the board of city commissioners and shall be filed in the office of the city auditor. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1119 § 3.)

Section 32.16.130 Accrued monthly pension benefits

At any time a member's accrued monthly pension benefit shall be equal to the sum of:

- (a) Three dollars multiplied times the number of completed qualifying years of service from first date of service through July 1, 1991.
- (b) Five dollars multiplied times the number of completed qualifying years of service from July 1, 1991 through December 31, 1998.
- (c) Ten dollars multiplied times the number of completed qualifying years of service from January 1, 1999 through December 31, 2006.
- (d) Fifteen dollars multiplied times the number of completed qualifying years of service after December 31, 2006. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1209, § 1; Ord. No. 1342 § 2.)

Section 32.16.140 Regular benefit payments under plan and vesting

Hired or Rehired on or after January 1, 2010. A member who is hired or rehired on or after January 1, 2010, and who is entitled to benefit under this plan will be eligible to receive a monthly pension for life commencing at normal retirement, or upon termination of the employment, if later, in an amount equal to such member's vested benefit determined as follows:

Vesting % Factor to be
Multiplied times the Accrued
Completed Years
Of Employment

Westing % Factor to be
Multiplied times the Accrued
Benefit to Determine
the Vested Benefit

Less than 5 0%

5	50%
6	60%
7	70%
8	80%
9	90%
10 or more	100%

If a member is employed until age sixty, such member will be one hundred percent vested in the accrued benefit regardless of the years of employment. It is the responsibility of a member or his authorized representative to make application to the board of trustees in order to initiate the payment of any benefit under this plan.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, upon the termination or partial termination of this Plan, the rights of all affected members to the benefits accrued as of the date the termination or partial termination (to the extent funded as of such date) will be fully (100%) vested.

Hired or Rehired Prior to January 1, 2010. A member who is hired or rehired prior to January 1, 2010, and who is entitled to benefit under this plan will be eligible to receive a monthly pension for life commencing at normal retirement age, or upon termination of employment, if later, in an amount equal to such member's vested benefit determined as follows:

Completed Years of Employment	Vesting % Factor to be Multiplied times the Accrued Benefit to Determine the Vested Benefit
Less than 1	0%
1	10%
2	20%
3	30%
4	40%
5	50%
6	60%
7	70%
8	80%
9	90%
10 or more	100%

If a member is employed until age sixty, such member will be one hundred percent vested in the accrued benefit regardless of the years of employment. It is the responsibility of a member or his authorized representative to make application to the board of trustees in order to initiate the payment of any benefit under this plan.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, upon the termination or partial termination of this Plan, the rights of all affected members to the benefits accrued as of the date the termination or partial termination (to the extent funded as of such date) will be fully (100%) vested. (Ord. No. 783 § 1; Ord. No. 1119 § 4. Ord. No. 1377 §1)

Section 32.16.150 Optional benefit payment under plan

A member who terminates employment as a member of the Dickinson Fire Department will be entitled to a benefit determined in accordance with section 32.16.140. With the approval of the board of trustees, a member may waive rights to the regular benefit payments and elect instead an optional benefit which will be of actuarial equivalent value and may be of the following forms: (a) A single sum cash settlement, or (b) A monthly pension for life, commencing at an earlier age than normal retirement age. If a member has ten certified years of service or less, he shall receive a single sum cash settlement, as soon as administratively feasible after the member's termination of employment.

Upon the death of an active or of a retired member, benefits shall be paid to the surviving spouse or surviving children, if any, as follows:

- (1) A monthly benefit shall be paid to the surviving spouse for life in an amount equal to the member's accrued benefits as of the date of death.
- (2) A benefit of \$10 per month shall be paid on behalf of each surviving child until the child attains the age of 18 to the parent of the surviving child or if no parent is surviving then to the guardian of the surviving child. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1119 § 5; Ord. No. 1209, § 2; Ord. No. 1732, § 6)

Section 32.16.160 Severability and inclusiveness

This article as created by Ordinance No. 783, and as may thereafter be amended by ordinance, shall constitute all of the provisions of the Dickinson Part Time Fire Fighter Pension Plan. No other benefits, express or implied, shall be provided or allowed, except as expressly provided in this article by ordinance. In the event that any parts or sections of this article shall be declared to be invalid or unconstitutional, the remaining parts and sections of this article shall remain valid and in full force and effect. (Ord. No. 783, § 1; Ord. No. 1732, § 7)

Section 32.16.170 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act

Effective for veterans reemployed on or after December 12, 1994, and notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits, and service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code Section 414(u). (Ord. No. 1375 §4)

Section 32.16.180 Required Distributions

- [a] The Required Beginning Date is the April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which occurs the later of (1) the date the Participant attains age 70-1/2, or (2) the date the Participant retires from employment with the City.
- [b] All distributions required under this section will be determined and made in accordance with the Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9), including the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirement of Code Section 401(a)(9)(G). Effective with respect to distributions made on or after January 1, 2003 and prior to January 1, 2005, all required distributions under this Section were determined in accordance with a reasonable and good faith interpretation of the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9). Effective with respect to distributions made on or after January 1, 2005, all distributions required under

- this section will be made in accordance with the final Regulations under Code Section 401(a)(9) issued on April 17, 2002 and June 15, 2004, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary.
- [c] The vested Accrued Benefits of a Member must be distributed or begin to be distributed no later than the Member's Required Beginning Date.
- [d] As of the first Distribution Calendar Year, distributions shall be made in the form of an annuity for the life of the Member.
- [e] Payments under the annuity must satisfy the following requirements:
 - (1) the annuity distributions must be paid in periodic payments made at intervals not longer than one year:
 - (2) the distribution period must be over a Life described in Section 401(a) (9) (A) (ii); and
 - (3) payments must either be non-increasing or increase only to provide cash refunds of employee contributions upon the Member's death; or because of an increase in benefits under the Plan.
- [f] The following rules shall apply to any distribution with an annuity starting date prior to January 1, 2005. The "Life Expectancy" is calculated using the attained age of the Member (or Designated Beneficiary) as of the Member's (or Designated Beneficiary's) birthday in the applicable calendar year. The applicable calendar year will be the first distribution calendar year. If annuity payments commence before the Required Beginning Date, the applicable calendar year is the year such payments commence. Life Expectancy and Joint and Last Survivor Expectancy are computed by use of the expected return multiples in Tables V and VI of Section 1.72-9 of the Income Tax Regulations.

The following rules shall apply to any distribution with an annuity starting date on or after January 1, 2005. Unless the Member's spouse is the sole Designated Beneficiary, the period certain for the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed commencing during the Member's lifetime may not exceed the applicable distribution period for the Member under the Uniform Table set forth in Section 1.401(a) (9) -9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations for the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. If the annuity starting date precedes the calendar year in which the Member reaches age seventy (70), the applicable distribution period for the Member is the distribution period for age seventy (70) under the Uniform Table set forth in Section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-2 of the Regulations plus the excess of seventy (70) over the age of the Member as of the Member's birthday in the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date. If the Member's spouse is the Member's sole Designated Beneficiary, the period certain for the single life annuity with 120 payments guaranteed may not exceed the longer of the Member's applicable distribution period (determined as described in the preceding sentence) or the joint life and last survivor expectancy of the Member and the Member's spouse as determined under the Joint and Last Survivor Table set forth in section 1.401(a)(9)-9, Q&A-3 of the Regulations using the Member's and Spouse's attained ages as of the Member's and Spouse's birthdays in the calendar year that contains the annuity starting date.

[g] If a Member dies after distribution of the Member's interest begins in the form of an annuity meeting the requirements of this section, the remaining portion of the Member's

- interest (if any) will continue to be distributed over the remaining period over which distributions commenced.
- [h] If a Member dies before distributions begin, the benefit provided to the Member's surviving spouse or surviving children pursuant to Section 32.16.150 shall begin by the December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Member died. (Ord No. 1375 §5)

Section 32.16.190 Eligible Rollover Distribution

Except as provided in Paragraphs [f] and [g] below, this Section is effective for distributions made on or after January 1, 2007. A distributee who is eligible to elect a direct rollover may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover.

- [a] **Eligible Rollover Distribution**: An eligible rollover distribution is any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include:
 - [1] any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; or
 - [2] any distribution to the extent such distributions is required under Code Section 401(a)(9);
 - [3] any hardship distribution; and
 - [4] the portion of any distribution that is not includable in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to employer securities).
- [b] **Eligible Retirement Plan**: An Eligible Retirement Plan is an individual retirement account described in Code Section 408(a), an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b), a plan described in Code Section 403(a) or an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), or a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution, or an eligible plan under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan. The definition of eligible retirement plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving spouse, or to a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relation order, as defined in Code Section 414(p).

- [c] **Employee After-Tax Contributions**. To the extent a distribution consists in part of after-tax employee contributions which are not includible in gross income, such portion of the distribution may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Sections 408(a) or (b), or to a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) or to an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(a) of the Code, if such trust or contract provides for separate accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution which is not so includible.
- [d] **Distributee**: A distributee includes a member or former member. In addition, the Member's or former Member's surviving spouse and the Member's or former Member's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p), are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.
- [e] **Direct Rollover**: A direct rollover means the payment of an eligible rollover distribution by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distribute who is eligible to elect a direct rollover.
- [f] Qualified Rollover Contribution to Roth IRA. Effective for distributions made on or after January 1, 2008, a distributee may elect to have all or a portion of an eligible rollover distribution rolled over to a Roth IRA described in Code Section 408A. However, for distributions made before January 1, 2010, the distributee shall not be eligible to make a qualified rollover contribution to a Roth IRA if the distributee's adjusted gross income exceeds One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) or the distributee is a married individual filing a separate return.
- [g] Special Rule For Nonspouse Beneficiaries. Effective for distributions payable on or after January 1, 2010, a distributee who is a Beneficiary and who is not the surviving spouse of a Member or an alternate payee may elect, at the time and the manner prescribed by the Plan Administrator, to have all or any portion of such distributee's eligible rollover distribution paid directly in a trustee-to-trustee transfer to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Sections 408(a) or (b), which is treated as an inherited individual retirement account or annuity within the meaning of Code Section 408(d)(3)(C). Any distribution to a nonspouse Beneficiary which is payable on or after January 1, 2010, shall be subject to the direct rollover requirements of Code Section 401(a)(31) and the notice requirements of Code Section 402(f). (Ord. No. 1375 §6; Ord. No. 1539 § 16)

Section 32.16.200 Limitation on Annual Addition Definitions

For purposes of this Section, the following terms will be defined as follows:

- [a] **Annual Benefit.** A retirement benefit under the Plan that is payable annually in the form of a straight life annuity. Except as provided below, a benefit payable in a form other than a straight life annuity must be adjusted to an actuarially equivalent straight life annuity before applying the limitations of this Section. This actuarial equivalent straight life annuity shall be determined under the following rules.
 - (1) **Not §417(e)(3) Forms.** If the benefit is paid in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does not apply (e.g., lifetime annuity), the actuarially equivalent straight life annuity benefit is the greater of
 - (A) the annual amount of the straight life annuity (if any) payable to the Member under the Plan commencing at the same annuity starting date as the form of benefit that is payable to the Member, or
 - (B) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Member, computed using a five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table described in Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations for that annuity starting date.
 - (2) §417(e)(3) Forms. If the benefit is paid in a form to which Code Section 417(e)(3) does apply (e.g., lump sum), the actuarially equivalent straight life annuity benefit is the greatest of:
 - (A) the annual amount of the straight life annuity commencing at the annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Member, computed using the interest rate and mortality table, or tabular factor, specified in the Plan for determining the amount of that form of benefit, or
 - (B) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Member, computed using a five and one half percent (5.5%) interest and the applicable mortality table described in Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2) of the Regulations for that annuity starting date, or
 - (C) the annual amount of straight life annuity commencing at the same annuity starting date that has the same actuarial present value as the form of benefit that is payable to the Member,

computed using the applicable interest rate for the distribution under Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(3) and the applicable mortality table for the distribution under Section 1.417(e)-1(d)(2), divided by 1.05.

- (3) **Excluded Contributions**. The annual benefit does not include any benefits attributable to employee contributions, rollover contributions or the assets transferred from a qualified plan that was not maintained by a Controlled Group Member.
- (4) Ancillary Benefits. No actuarial adjustment to the annual benefit is required for: (A) the value of a qualified joint and survivor annuity (to the extent such value exceeds the sum of the value of a straight life annuity beginning on the same date and the value of post-retirement death benefits that would be paid even if the annuity were not in the form of a joint and survivor annuity), or (B) the value of benefits that are not directly related to retirement benefits (such as a pre-retirement disability benefit, a pre-retirement death benefit or a post-retirement medical benefit), or (C) the value of post-retirement cost of living increases made in accordance with regulations under the Code.
- [b] Controlled Group Member. Controlled Group Member means the City and each member of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Code Section 414(b) and as modified by Code Section 415(h)), all commonly controlled trades or businesses (as defined in Code Section 414(c) and as modified by Code Section 415(h)), affiliated service groups (as defined in Code Section 414(m)) of which the City is a part and other organizations required to be aggregated for this purpose under Code Section 414(o).
- [c] **Defined Benefit Plans**. Defined benefit plans shall have the meaning assigned to that term by Code Section 415(k)(1). Whenever reference is made to defined benefit plans in this Section, it shall include all such plans maintained by the City and all controlled group members including terminated plans, plans maintained by predecessor employers and plans that were formerly maintained by the City or a related employer but shall not include any multiemployer plan (as defined in Code Section 414(f)).
- [d] **Limitation Year**. Limitation year means the Plan Year.
- [e] **Maximum Permissible Benefit**. Maximum permissible benefit means, for any one (1) limitation year, an amount determined as follows:
 - (1) **Age 62 Commencement**. If the annual benefit commences at or after age sixty-two (62) years (but before age sixty-five years), the maximum permissible benefit is One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000).

(2) **Early Commencement.** If the annual benefit commences before age sixty-two (62) years and the Plan does not have an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-two (62) years and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-two (62) years.

If the annual benefit commences before age sixty-two (62) years and the Plan has an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-two (62) and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the lesser of:

- (a) the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-two (62) years, or
- (b) the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit multiplied by (i) divided by (ii), with (i) and (ii) determined as follows:
 - (i) the annual amount of the immediate commencing straight life annuity under the Plan (determined without applying the limitations of Code Section 415),
 - (ii) the annual amount of the straight life annuity under the Plan commencing at age-sixty two (62) (determined without applying the limitations of Code Section 415).

For purposes of this Paragraph [e](2), the actuarial equivalent (i.e., the pre-age sixty-two years actuarial equivalent) shall be computed using five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table within the meaning of Code Section 417(e)(3)(B) (and expressing the Member's age based on completed calendar months as of the benefit commencement date.

(3) **Late Commencement.** If the annual benefit commences after age sixty-five (65) years and the Plan does not have an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-five (65) and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-five (65) years.

If the annual benefit commences after age sixty-five (65) years and the Plan has an immediately commencing straight life annuity payable at both age sixty-five (65) and the age of benefit commencement, the maximum permissible benefit may not exceed the lesser of:

- (a) the actuarial equivalent of a One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit beginning at age sixty-five (65) years, or
- (b) the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) annual benefit multiplied by (i) divided by (ii), with (i) and (ii) determined as follows:
 - (i) the annual amount of the immediate commencing straight life annuity under the Plan (determined without applying the limitations of Code section 415),
 - (ii) the annual amount of the straight life annuity under the Plan commencing at age sixty-five (65) (determined without applying the limitations of Code section 415).

For purposes of this Paragraph [e](3), the actuarial equivalent (i.e., the post-age sixty-five years actuarial equivalent) shall be computed using five percent (5%) interest and the applicable mortality table within

the meaning of Code Section 417(e)(3)(B) (and expressing the Member's age based on completed calendar months as of the benefit commencement date).

- [f] Cost-of-Living Adjustments. Effective January 1, 2002, and each January 1 thereafter, the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) limit shall be adjusted automatically for increases in the cost of living by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to Code Section 415(d). The new amount will apply to limitation years ending within such calendar year. The new amounts shall also apply to a Member who has had a severance from employment or an annuity starting date.
- [g] **Participation Reduction**. If a Member has less than ten (10) Years of Participation in the plan, the One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) limit otherwise defined and adjusted above shall be reduced to an amount equal to One Hundred Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$160,000) as otherwise defined and adjusted above multiplied by a fraction: (i) the numerator of which is the number of Years (and part thereof) of

Participation (not less than one), and (ii) the denominator of which is ten (10).

- [h] **No Reduction for Certain Members**. Paragraph [e](3) shall not apply in the case of a "qualified member" as defined in Code Section 415(b)(2)(H). For purposes of paragraph [e](3) only, "qualified member" means a Member in the Plan with respect to when the Years of Service used to determine the amount of benefit under the Plan includes at least 15 years of service of the Member as either [1] a full-time employee of a police or fire department or [2] as a member of the United States Armed Forces.
- [i] **Year of Participation**. The Member shall be credited with a Year of Participation (computed to fractional parts of a year) for each accrual computation period for which the following conditions are met: (1) the Member is credited with a Year of Service, and (2) the Member is included as a Member under the eligibility provisions of the Plan for at least one day of the accrual computation period. If these two conditions are met, the portion of a Year of Participation credited to the Member shall equal the amount of benefit accrual service credited to the Member for that accrual computation period. A Member who is permanently and totally disabled within the meaning of Code Section 415(c)(3)(C)(i) for an accrual computation period shall receive a Year of Participation with respect to that period. In addition, for a Member to receive a Year of Participation (or part thereof) for an accrual computation period, the Plan must be established no later than the last day of such accrual computation period. In no event will more than one Year of Participation be credited for any 12-month period.
- [j] **Multiple Annuity Starting Dates**. If a Member is entitled to benefits under this plan and under defined benefit plans that commenced as of an earlier annuity starting date, the annual benefits due under all such plans must not exceed the maximum permissible benefit at all annuity starting dates.
- [k] **Effect on Members**. Benefit increases resulting from the increase in the limitations of Code Section 415(b) will be provided only to active Members who are credited with an hour of service on or after the first day of the first limitation year ending after December 31, 2001.
- [l] **Effective Date**. This Section is effective for limitation years beginning on or after January 1, 2009. (Ord. No. 1375 §6; Ord. No. 1539 § 16)

Section 32.16.220 Exclusive Benefit

Article 32.20 City of Dickinson Defined Contribution Plan

Sections:

32.20.100 Defined Contribution Plan

Section 32.20.100 Defined Contribution Plan

Effective as of April 18, 2006, the City establishes a new, tax qualified, defined contribution plan for the benefit of eligible employees. The details of the City of Dickinson Defined Contribution Plan are set forth in a Plan document entitled "City of Dickinson, North Dakota Defined Contribution Retirement Plan", which is adopted herein by reference, together with its First Amendment of City of Dickinson, North Dakota, Retirement Savings Plan (2006 Statement), Second Amendment of City of Dickinson, North Dakota, Retirement Savings Plan (2006 Statement), and Third Amendment of City of Dickinson, North Dakota, Retirement Savings Plan (2006 Statement).

In general, the City of Dickinson Defined Contribution Plan provides as follows; provided, however, that in the event of any discrepancy between the following and the Plan document, the Plan document shall control:

- [a] Each City employee who has never been a Participant in either the City of Dickinson Police Employee's Pension Plan or the City of Dickinson Pension Plan shall be eligible to become a Participant in the new Defined Contribution Plan after meeting the eligibility requirements of the new Plan. Each such employee hired as regular, full-time, employee shall become a Participant as of April 18, 2006 or, if later, upon the employee's hire. Each other such employee shall become a Participant after the employee has both: (i) completed 1,000 hours of service for the City in the year following the employee's date of hire (or any subsequent Plan Year); and (ii) attained age 21.
- [b] Upon commencement of participation, each such Participant, as a condition of employment with the City, shall contribute seven percent (7%) (five percent (5%) prior to January 1, 2019) of his or her Recognized Compensation to this Plan. These required contributions are designated employee contributions. Notwithstanding that designation, however, these employees contributions will be picked up by the Employer within the meaning of Code § 414(h) (2). Such required employee contributions for a calendar month shall be delivered to the Trustee for deposit in the Fund not later than fifteen (15) days after the end of that calendar month. No other Participant contributions will be required or permitted.
- [c] In addition, the City shall contribute to the Trustee for deposit in the Fund and for crediting to the Participant's Employer Contribution Account an amount which (when taken together with forfeitures, if any, to be reallocated as of the date of the contribution) will equal seven percent (7%), (five (5%) prior to January 1, 2019) of the Participant's Recognized Compensation for the Plan Year.
- [d] Participants will be fully (100%) vested in their own contributions (adjusted from time to time for earnings, gains and losses). Participants will vest in the City contributions (adjusted from time to time for earnings, gains and losses) after 3 years of service.
- [e] Participants will be allowed, within limits, to direct the investment of their accounts in the Plan. Distributions will be made, upon proper application, in a single lump sum payment after severance from employment.
- [f] A formal Plan document was adopted August 21, 2006 but is effective as of April 18, 2006. The terms used above are defined in the Plan document and the Plan document contains substantial, additional, necessary, rules and provisions. (Ord No. 1313 §3. Ord No. 1539 § 17; Ord. No. 1768 § 4).

Chapter 33 STREETS AND SIDEWALKS Last updated September, 2019

Articles:

- 33.ED Editor's note to Chapter 33
- 33.02 Adoption of Standards
- 33.04 In General
- 33.08 House Numbering
- 33.12 Excavations
- 33.16 Creation of Municipal Street Light Utility

Article 33.ED Editor's note to Chapter 33

Sections:

33.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 33

Section 33.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 33

For state law as to authority of city to establish, regulate, etc., streets and sidewalks, see NDCC, 40-05-01 (8).

As to cleanliness, see NDCC, 40-05-01 (14). As to curbs and gutters, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (15). As to sidewalks, see NDCC § 40-29-01 et seq. As to boulevards, see NDCC, § 40-32-01 et seq.

As to sale, consumption, etc., of alcoholic beverages, on streets, etc., see § 4.04.070 of this Code. As to riding of bicycles on sidewalks, see § 6.08.100. As to use of streets by community antenna television system, see §§ 10.04.060, 10.04.070. As to spitting, throwing litter, etc., in public place, see § 25.16.12.150. As to specifications for streets in subdivisions, see § 34.24.04.010.

Article 33.02 In General

Sections:

33.02.010 Adoption of Standards

Section 33.02.010 Adoption of Standards

There is hereby adopted by the Board of City Commissioners certain standard specifications (known as the "City of Dickinson Standard Specifications") and standard drawings (known as the "Dickinson Standard Drawings") for all public improvements within the jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson.

"Public improvement" shall include any improvement undertaken by the City of Dickinson for the good of the public and which is paid for with public funds and constructed on public land (including public easements or rights-of-way). "Public improvement" shall also include any improvement on public or nonpublic land if any portion of the construction is paid for with public funds, or if the City of Dickinson is expected or anticipated to accept ownership of the improvement upon its completion.

A copy of such Standard Specifications and Standard Drawings is on file in the office of the City Administrator, and is available for use and examination by the public.

Upon notice to the Board of City Commissioners, the Standard Specifications and Standard Drawings may be modified, amended or supplemented from time to time by the City Administrator or his duly designated representative.

The City Administrator, or his duly designated representative, is hereby authorized and directed to enforce such Standard Specifications and Standard Drawings as hereby adopted or as may be amended from time to time.

The Standard Specifications and Standard Drawings adopted pursuant to this Section are minimum standards. This Section shall not create any liability on the part of the City, or its officers, agents, servants, representatives or employees for any damages that result from any person's reliance upon this Section or any administrative decisions lawfully made hereunder. (Ord. 1534, § 1)

Article 33.04 In General

Arucie 5	5.04 In General
Sections:	
33.04.010	Definitions
33.04.020	Composition of street department
33.04.030	Powers and duties of superintendent of streets generally
33.04.040	Duties of city engineer generally
33.04.050	Designation of streets and avenues
33.04.060	Street gradesFiling
33.04.070	SameInitial bench mark designated
33.04.080	SameChanges generally; excavations or additions changing grade
33.04.090	Grading, ditching, etc., of streets generally
33.04.100	Crosswalk constructionGenerally
33.04.110	SamePrivate crossings
33.04.120	Sidewalk constructionWidth and location
33.04.130	SameThickness
33.04.140	SamePermits
33.04.150	Preparation of area between curb and sidewalk
33.04.160	Construction of private driveways
33.04.170	Construction of curbs and gutters generally
33.04.180	Costs of curbing, gutter and grading
33.04.190	License for construction of driveways, sidewalks, curbs and retaining walls
	Required
33.04.200	SameApplication generally
33.04.210	SameApproval of application; bond required of applicant
33.04.220	SameIssuance; fee; term; renewal
33.04.230	Notice to city engineer of construction of sidewalks, curb or retaining wall
33.04.240	Repair or removal of defective driveways, sidewalks, etc.
33.04.250	Protection of manholes, gate boxes, etc.
33.04.260	Removal or destruction of construction stakes
33.04.270	Openings in sidewalks generally
33.04.280	Maintenance of sidewalksGenerally
33.04.290	SameRemoval of snow and ice
33.04.300	Depositing or scattering rubbish, refuse, etc.
33.04.310	Depositing snow or ice onto streets, etc.
33.04.320	Hauling sand, mud, etc., over streets, etc.
33.04.330	Washing of earth, etc., onto sidewalks
33.04.340	Depositing or throwing materials on streetsGlass, nails, etc.
33.04.350	SameWire or tacks
33.04.360	Painting signs on sidewalks
33.04.370	Coasting, tobogganing, etc.
33.04.380	Driving vehicles and animals across sidewalks and curbs
33.04.390	Exhibition or sale of goods on streets, sidewalks or building entrances
33.04.400	Assemblies impeding traffic or access to buildings
33.04.410	Signs, fences, etc., generally
33.04.420	Using boulevards, etc., for gardening purposes
33.04.430	Commercial tree trimmers

33.04.440 Regulation of pesticides application
33.04.450 Fastening animals to trees; traveling on areas used for lawn or park
33.04.460 Deposits accompanying application for vacation of public grounds, streets or alleys
33.04.470 Appeal of interpretation or enforcement of chapter

Section 33.04.010 Definitions

For the purpose of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Grade. The elevation from which the levels of street surfaces, curves and sidewalks are to be determined.

Owner. Any person owning or controlling property or a duly authorized agent, attorney, guardian, conservator or trustee.

Street. Any public highway designated as a street, highway, avenue, boulevard, place, court or road otherwise indicated as a public highway on the official records or maps.

Used. Includes the terms "arranged," "designed" or "intended to be used." (Code 1958, § 28-1.)

Section 33.04.020 Composition of street department

The street department shall consist of the commissioner of streets, the superintendent of streets and such number of other employees as from time to time may be deemed necessary by the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 28-2.)

Section 33.04.030 Powers and duties of superintendent of streets generally

The grading and surfacing of streets and alleys, except under contract; the construction of crosswalks; the grading, planting and maintenance of parking strips; the cleaning, maintenance and repair of all streets and alleys and all pavements, driveways, sidewalks, curbs, crosswalks and parking strips in or along such streets, etc.; the sprinkling of the streets, alleys and avenues; the cleaning, maintenance and repair of manholes, catch basins and drains; and the preservation of such streets, etc., safe and unobstructed for public travel shall be under the supervision and regulation of the superintendent of streets, subject to such rules and regulations as may be given him by the commissioner of streets and the city engineer and subject also to such rules and regulations as may be adopted for his guidance by the board of city commissioners. (Code 1958, § 28-3.)

Section 33.04.040 Duties of city engineer generally

The determination of lines and elevations for sidewalks, crosswalks, curbs and street surfaces in conformity with the grades established in this chapter and the widths of roadways and sidewalks laid down herein; the grading and surfacing of streets and alleys where such work is done under contract; and the construction of pavements, driveways, sidewalks, curbs and retaining walls in or along the public streets and alleys, whether by or for private persons or the city shall be under the supervision and regulation of the city engineer and shall conform to the

plans and specifications established by the city engineer and adopted and approved by the city commission. (Code 1958, § 28-4.)

Section 33.04.050 Designation of streets and avenues

All streets in the city running east and west shall be known as streets, and all streets running north and south shall be known as avenues. (Code 1958, § 28-5.) For state law as to authority of city to name streets, etc. see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (20).

Section 33.04.060 Street grades--Filing

All street grades shall be on file in the city engineer's office. (Code 1958, § 28-6.) For state law as to authority of city to establish street grades, see NDCC, § 40-39-03.

Section 33.04.070 Same--Initial bench mark designated

The initial bench mark on the east face of the city hall, three feet north of the southeast corner and four and one-half feet above the sidewalk, stamped "J-14-1931," such disc being the standard disc stamped "J-14-1931" set vertically 2,416.731 feet, such disc having been determined by the 1929 general adjustment of the first order level net of the United States Coast Geodetic Survey based on mean sea level datum, is hereby declared to be the initial bench mark from which all grades of streets, avenues, alleys, water mains, gas mains and sewers of the city are established. (Code 1958, § 28-7.)

Section 33.04.080 Same--Changes generally; excavations or additions changing grade

No regularly established grades shall be changed by any authority other than the city commission, except grades which affect work previously constructed in accordance with established grades given by the duly authorized officer appointed at that time to do such work.

No street or alley shall be graded, by contract or otherwise, in such manner as to bring an excavation lower than the established grade, or any fill or embankment higher than the established grade. No ashes, cinders, gravel or other surfacing material shall be placed upon any street or alley, by contract or otherwise, unless such street shall first have been so graded that the finished surface shall conform to the established grade. (Code 1958, § 28-8.)

Section 33.04.090 Grading, ditching, etc., of streets generally

No grading, ditching or other alteration of the existing ground level in the roadway of any street or alley and no surfacing by means of the placing of ashes, cinders, gravel or other material in or upon such street, etc., shall be undertaken or executed by any person other than the street commissioner or persons employed under him, unless such work is done under contract with the city. (Code 1958, § 28-9.)

Section 33.04.100 Crosswalk construction--Generally

No person shall lay any plank, stone or other material in any street or alley for the purpose of providing a crosswalk or construct any crosswalk therein, except the street commissioner and those employed under his direction. All crosswalks across the roadways of

any streets, which the board of city commissions may require to be constructed, shall be laid by the street commissioner. (Code 1958, § 28-10.)

Section 33.04.110 Same--Private crossings

It shall be unlawful for any person to construct over or across any boulevard or sidewalk any private or other crossing except in conformity with the plans and specifications to be prescribed by the city engineer. (Code 1958, § 28-27.)

Section 33.04.120 Sidewalk construction--Width and location

All sidewalks in the residential areas of the city shall be constructed not less than four and one-half feet in width with either the outer edge of the walk six feet from the property line or with the outer edge of the sidewalk along the curb. The width and location shall be subject to the judgment and determination of the engineer of the city with due regard to the pedestrian traffic thereon, the suitability, existing walks, street widths and traffic, the architectural landscaping and building harmony in the area and the street upon which such walk is constructed. In special instances where retaining walls are placed on the property line, the walks shall be full six feet in width for the full length of such retaining walls with the inner edge of such walk on the property line.

Within the fire limits and in areas generally devoted to commercial activities, the sidewalk shall be constructed to extend from the property line to the curb. (Code 1958, § 28-11.)

For state law as to authority of city to prescribe the width and location of sidewalks, see NDCC, § 40-29-01.

Section 33.04.130 Same--Thickness

The thickness of all concrete sidewalks placed in the city shall be three and one-half inches, except where such sidewalk is used for driveway or car parking, in which case the thickness shall be a full six inches. (Code 1958, § 28-13.)

For state law as to authority of city to prescribe the manner of sidewalk construction, see NDCC, § 40-29-01.

Section 33.04.140 Same--Permits

Any person who desires to or who has been ordered to construct or repair any sidewalk abutting his property and desires to construct such sidewalk within the time limit provided by law may do so; provided, however, that he shall first make application to the city engineer for a permit to construct such work, which application shall state the location of the work to be done, the name of the applicant, the name of the person who is to do the work, and the applicant's willingness that such sidewalk be constructed in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. Upon complying with the above requirements, a permit will be issued for such work, which permit shall expire in thirty days from the date of issuance or upon the day set as the time limit in which the sidewalk is to be built by the owner, in case such sidewalk has been ordered constructed as provided by law. The city engineer shall keep a record of such permits in his office. A separate permit shall be issued for each separate piece of work, but one permit may be issued to cover all continuous work in the same block. No permit shall be required by the city

contractor for sidewalks to be constructed by him upon orders from the city commission. (Code 1958, § 28-12.)

Section 33.04.150 Preparation of area between curb and sidewalk

Within sixty days after the construction of any curb or curb and gutter along any property, the owner shall cause the parking between the curb and the sidewalk to be properly filled in and graded and seeded to grass. (Code 1958, § 28-15.)

Section 33.04.160 Construction of private driveways

Whenever any private driveway is opened up between the roadway of any street and the property line so as to cross any existing sidewalk, such sidewalk, for the full width of the driveway, shall be removed and replaced with a walk constructed in accordance with the specifications prepared from time to time by the city engineer for the construction of crosswalks under contract with the city. Such work shall be done without expense to the city.

No private driveway or other approach to any building or property to be used for the passage of vehicles of any kind shall be so constructed that any portion of such driveway or approach is closer than six feet to any fire hydrant. (Code 1958, § 28-16.)

Section 33.04.170 Construction of curbs and gutters generally

The city commission, at the time specified by law, shall advertise for bids for the construction of curb and gutter in or along the streets and alleys of the city when application for the construction thereof has been made to the commission or the commission may proceed with the construction of curb and gutter, as is provided for in state law. (Code 1958, § 28-17.)

For state law as to construction and repair of curbs and gutters in cities, see NDCC, § 40-31-01 et seq.

Section 33.04.180 Costs of curbing, gutter and grading

All costs for curbing, gutter and grading shall be paid by the property owner either in cash or by special assessment against the property benefitted. (Code 1958, § 28-14.)

For state law as to assessment of property owners for costs of curbing and gutters, see NDCC, § 40-31-06.

Section 33.04.190 License for construction of driveways, sidewalks, curbs and retaining walls--Required

No person shall engage in the business or occupation of constructing paved driveways, sidewalks, curbs and retaining walls in or along the streets and alleys of the city nor engage in the construction of paved driveways, sidewalks, curbs and retaining walls in or along the streets and alleys of the city without first procuring a license to do so. (Code 1958, § 28-18.)

Section 33.04.200 Same--Application generally

All applications for licenses required by section 33.04.190 shall be made in writing to the city auditor and shall set forth the experience and competency of the applicant to perform such work. An applicant shall be required to submit, as part of the application, a copy of his

contractor's license or renewal certificate, issued pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, Chapter 43-07. A concrete license may not be issued unless the applicant has a current North Dakota contractor's license. (Code 1958, § 28-19; Ord. No. 1105, § 1.)

Section 33.04.210 Same--Approval of application; bond required of applicant

If all of the requirements of this chapter are met, the city auditor shall approve the application for a license required by section 33.04.190, which shall be filed with the city auditor, together with a surety bond in the sum of five thousand dollars approved by the city auditor, for the execution of all work in strict conformity with the provisions of this chapter and the protection, indemnification and saving harmless the city from any or all loss, claim, suit or damages, direct or consequential which the city may sustain through violation or any of the provisions of this chapter, through negligence or in any other manner whatsoever. (Code 1958, § 28-20; Ord. No. 1083, § 3; Ord. No. 1105, § 2.)

Section 33.04.220 Same--Issuance; fee; term; renewal

Upon the filing of the required application and bond the city auditor shall issue a license, as required by section 33.04.100, to the applicant upon payment by such person to the city auditor of a fee in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule. All licenses shall be for one year or a fractional part thereof and shall expire as of the thirty-first day of December of each year. They shall be renewed by the board of city commissioners from year to year upon the approval of such board and upon the filing of a bond and the payment of the annual license fee. (Code 1958, § 28-21; Ord. No. 705, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 20.)

Section 33.04.230 Notice to city engineer of construction of sidewalks, curb or retaining wall

No person shall commence the construction of any sidewalk or curb in or along any street or alley until he shall have notified the city engineer of his intention to construct such sidewalk or curb, nor until the city engineer shall have set stakes marking the line and grade at which such sidewalk is to be constructed; provided, that where a sidewalk and curb already are in place, no notification to the city engineer and no line and grade stakes shall be required for the construction of walks leading from the sidewalk to the curb, or for the construction of curbs adjacent to private drives. No person shall commence the construction of any retaining wall without first notifying the city engineer and obtaining from him the correct line and grade of such wall, unless the line and grade are already sufficiently marked by an existing sidewalk which is at the correct line and grade. (Code 1958, § 28-22.)

Section 33.04.240 Repair or removal of defective driveways, sidewalks, etc.

The city engineer is hereby given authority to order the repair or removal of any paved driveway, sidewalk, curb or retaining wall which has been constructed in violation of any provision of this chapter or of the specifications prepared by the city engineer for such work. In

case such driveway, sidewalk, curb or retaining wall is not properly repaired or removed, in accordance with the directions of the city engineer, he may cause such sidewalk, etc., to be repaired or removed at the expense of the city and the city shall be entitled to recover, under the bond specified in section 33.04.210, for all costs arising from such repairs or removal. (Code 1958, § 28-23.)

Section 33.04.250 Protection of manholes, gate boxes, etc.

It shall be unlawful to allow the wheels of any engine or other heavy body of injurious weight to go over or come in contact with any manhole, gate box or stop box within the city. (Code 1958, § 28-25.)

Section 33.04.260 Removal or destruction of construction stakes

No person shall in any way move or destroy any construction stakes, referencing alignment or grades, which have been placed by or under the direction of the city engineer. (Code 1958, § 28-26.)

Section 33.04.270 Openings in sidewalks generally

No permanent opening shall be made in any sidewalk in any of the public streets of the city for the purpose of stairways leading to any basement or cellar, for admitting light or for any other purpose; provided, that openings in sidewalks for the admission of coal, light, air or for other purposes, if covered with suitable iron covers, iron grating or glass set in iron or cement, set level with the surface of the sidewalk and of such construction as not be dangerous to pedestrians passing over such covers, may be constructed upon the approval of the city engineer under a permit obtained from him specifying the details of the construction to be used. No person shall keep or leave open or suffer or permit to be kept or left open any cellar door or grating of any kind in or upon any sidewalk in the city, except during such time as such door, etc., may be necessarily open during the use thereof, during which time it shall be properly guarded and protected. (Code 1958, § 28-24.)

Section 33.04.280 Maintenance of sidewalks--Generally

It shall be the duty of every owner of premises fronting on a public street or avenue to keep the sidewalk in front of such premises unobstructed, clean and in good order and repair.

It shall be the duty of the owner of any property along which a sidewalk has been constructed to maintain such sidewalk in good repair and safe condition. Should any such owner fail to so maintain such sidewalk, the street commissioner shall direct him to make such repairs as may be necessary to restore such sidewalk to a safe condition. Should he fail, within a reasonable time, to follow the directions of the street commissioner, the street commissioner shall report the facts to the board of city commissioners, who shall then proceed, as provided in the laws of the state, to make such sidewalk safe. (Code 1958, § 28-28.)

For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-29-02.

Section 33.04.290 Same--Removal of snow and ice

(a) It shall be the duty of the owner or occupant of each lot in the city to remove from the sidewalk in front of or along such lot any ice or snow which forms, accumulates or

- obstructs such sidewalk within seventy-two hours after the ice forms or the snow ceases to fall thereon; provided, that where the ice accumulated is of such character as to make removal thereof impossible, the sprinkling of ashes, salt or sand thereon within the time specified for removal in such manner as to make such sidewalk safe for the travel of pedestrians thereon shall be deemed a compliance with the provisions of this section.
- (b) In case the owner of any lot in the city refuses or neglects to remove from such sidewalk in front of or along any lot the ice or snow, within seventy-two hours after the ice forms or the snow ceases to fall thereon, such ice or snow may be removed by or under the direction of the street commissioner of the city. The street commissioner may remove or direct the removal of such ice or snow upon complaint received, wherein the complainant shall furnish his or her name, address and telephone number. The necessary expense of such ice or snow removal shall be chargeable against the abutting lot or property by billing and special assessment, if not paid in the manner prescribed by law.
- (c) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, any violation of this section shall be an infraction, punishable by the general penalty provided in section 11.12.010. (Code 1958, § 28-29; Ord. No. 753, § 1; Ord. No. 921, § 1.)

For state law as to snow and ice removal by city and assessment of costs against owner of butting property, see NDCC, §§ 40-05-01 (13), 40-29-18, 40-29-19.

Section 33.04.300 Depositing or scattering rubbish, refuse, etc.

It shall be unlawful for any person in the city to throw or permit to be deposited or scattered upon any sidewalk, alley, street, bridge, public passageway or any vacant lot, public or private property in the city any waste or other material of any kind, including but not limited to wood, ashes, grass, rubber, cans, cartons, bottles, offal, paper, earth or any other thing or substance whatever which may injure, disfigure or tend to render such street, etc., unclean or a nuisance.

Nothing herein shall prevent or make unlawful the storage and deposit of garbage and refuse pursuant to and in the manner provided in chapter 18, relating to the storage and collection of garbage and refuse within the city.

A person found violating this section shall be assessed an administrative fine of five hundred dollars. (Ord. No. 314, §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 1460, §§ 1, Ord. No. 1681§ 1)

Section 33.04.310 Depositing snow or ice onto streets, etc.

- (a) Generally. It shall be unlawful for any person in the city to throw, move, dump, deposit or permit to be deposited or scattered any snow or ice accumulated on private property, sidewalks or public passageway onto driving lanes of any street or alley, except as otherwise permitted by this section.
- (b) Residential Exceptions. Snow or ice may be deposited on the boulevard or area between the edge of the curb or paved surface of a street or alley and the sidewalk. Snow or ice may also be deposited, in the event there is no boulevard or the boulevard area is filled, along the curb and gutter in the parking lane of the street or alley.
- (c) Commercial Buildings. In order to facilitate safe and adequate parking for customers and other business related activities, any person operating or conducting a business in any

- commercial building within the city shall be prohibited from depositing snow or ice from the premises along the curb and gutter in the parking lane of the street or alley.
- (d) Commercial Exceptions. Subsection (c) of this section shall not apply to the sidewalk portions of the commercial building premises.
- (e) Penalty. Notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, violation of this section shall be punishable by a fine not exceeding five hundred dollars or by imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, or both such fine and imprisonment, for each such offense. (Ord. No. 970, § 1.)

Section 33.04.320 Hauling sand, mud, etc., over streets, etc.

No person shall haul or transport over the paved streets, avenues or alleys of the city any manure, sand, mud, dirt, clay, stone, ashes, coal, gravel or rubbish of any kind, unless such material is hauled or transported in a tight box so constructed as to prevent the spilling, sifting or scattering of any of the substances therein contained upon such streets, avenues or alleys. (Code 1958, § 28-31.)

Section 33.04.330 Washing of earth, etc., onto sidewalks

The owner of any lot or piece of land abutting any sidewalk in the city shall not allow or permit earth or other substances from such lot or piece of land to wash or accumulate upon any such walk, and in the event that any earth or other substance shall wash or accumulate upon any such walk, it shall be the duty of the owner of the abutting lot or piece of land to remove it, and failure so to do shall be a violation of this section. (Code 1958, § 28-32.)

Section 33.04.340 Depositing or throwing materials on streets--Glass, nails, etc.

No person shall throw or place in any street or alley any glass, nails or other material likely to puncture or injure the rubber tires of any vehicle. Any person who, through accident, may cause to be thrown or placed in any street or alley any glass, nails or other material likely to puncture or injure the rubber tires of any vehicle shall remove such material immediately. (Code 1958, § 28-33.)

Section 33.04.350 Same--Wire or tacks

It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or deposit in any street, avenue or alley of the city any wire or tacks. (Code 1958, § 28-34.)

Section 33.04.360 Painting signs on sidewalks

It shall be unlawful for any person to paint any signs upon the sidewalks within the city either with paint, chalk or other substance. (Code 1958, § 28-35.)

Section 33.04.370 Coasting, tobogganing, etc.

No person shall use any portion of any street or sidewalk for coasting, tobogganing or similar sports. (Code 1958, § 28-36.)

Section 33.04.380 Driving vehicles and animals across sidewalks and curbs

It shall be unlawful for any person to place, push, draw or propel any wagon, cart, buggy, automobile, bicycle or tricycle upon, over, against or across any sidewalk or curb or to use, ride or drive any horse or other animal, wagon, sleigh or other vehicle over, against, upon or across any sidewalk or curb in the city. (Code 1958, § 28-37.)

Section 33.04.390 Exhibition or sale of goods on streets, sidewalks or building entrances

It shall be unlawful for any person to place, construct or maintain any showcase or other device or display for the exhibition or sale of goods, wares or merchandise upon any of the streets or sidewalks of the city or the entrance to any building except for provided in Article 33.06. (Code 1958, § 28-38; Code 1605, § 1)

For state law as to authority of city to regulate sales on sidewalks, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (17).

Section 33.04.400 Assemblies impeding traffic or access to buildings

It shall be unlawful for any person to assemble upon any street, sidewalk or upon any public grounds in the city so as to hinder the street travel or traffic thereon or to hinder or impede free ingress and egress to and from any public place of business, private dwelling, public hall, church or other public building. Any person so assembled who shall refuse or neglect to move away, depart and give free passage after being requested by any police officer or by the owner, occupant or manager of such public place of business, hall, church or other public building obstructed as aforesaid shall be guilty of violating this section. (Code 1958, § 28-39.)

For state law as to authority of city to regulate traffic on streets and sidewalks, see NDCC § 40-05-01 (17).

Section 33.04.410 Signs, fences, etc., generally

It shall be unlawful for any person to erect, construct or place any sign, signpost, fence or hedge or to keep or maintain any sign, signpost, fence or hedge on the sidewalks, parking lots, boulevards or streets of the city or outside of the property line of the abutting property to any sidewalk, parking lot, boulevard or street of the city except as provided in Article 33.06. This section shall not affect the right of the city to erect, construct, keep and maintain fire hydrants, manholes, catch basins or other construction used for the maintenance or operation of the sewer or water systems of the city; nor shall it affect the right of the city or the state to erect, construct, keep end maintain highway signs and signposts upon sidewalks, parking lots, boulevards and streets of the city. (Code 1958, § 28-40; Code 1605§ 2)

For state law as to authority of city to regulate signs on streets and sidewalks, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (16).

Section 33.04.420 Using boulevards, etc., for gardening purposes

It shall be unlawful for any person to use any of the boulevards or any part or portion thereof lying adjacent to any of the paved streets or lying or being within the paved area of the city for gardening purposes. (Code 1958, § 28-41.)

Section 33.04.430 Commercial tree trimmers

- (a) Generally. It shall be unlawful to do commercial tree trimming in any public boulevard in the city without a permit therefor obtained from the city auditor, and the fee therefor shall be ten dollars. The applicant shall furnish a one thousand dollar bond and evidence of liability insurance in the amount of twenty-five thousand dollars property damage, fifty thousand dollars bodily injury in one accident or occurrence and one hundred fifty thousand dollars aggregate.
- (b) Commercial Certification. Any person providing commercial tree services within the city shall be required to obtain commercial certification under the state pesticide certification program in the category of ornamental and turf certification. This certification is provided by the state extension service. Failure to comply with this section shall subject such person to the penalty provided in section 35.130. (Ord. No. 610; Ord. No. 984, § 1.)

Section 33.04.440 Regulation of pesticides application

- (a) Purpose. It is hereby declared to be the policy of the city to regulate and control the application of pesticides within the city in order to protect persons and property within the city and to guard against injury to persons, property, pets, wildlife and desirable plants and other vegetation.
- (b) Definitions. Whenever the following words or terms are used in this section, they shall be construed to have the following meanings:

Pesticide. Any chemical or agent applied to lawns, shrubs, trees or other vegetation used to kill vegetation, insects or diseases.

Public Trees, Lawns and Shrubs. All trees, lawns or shrubs located on any park, playground or other property controlled or owned by the city or on any public street, boulevard or alley right-of-way.

- (c) Permit Required:
 - (1) Permit Required. It shall be unlawful for any person, for compensation, to apply pesticides in the city without first obtaining a commercial applicator license therefor from the city.
 - (2) Application and Qualifications. Any person desiring a commercial applicator permit to apply pesticides within the city shall file an application therefor with the office of the city auditor, on forms to be furnished by the city auditor, and as a part of such application shall certify and agree to the following:
 - A. That applicant shall obey all ordinances and regulations of the city and state with respect to the commercial application of pesticides.
 - B. That applicant agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the city from any and all claims for loss or damage caused by or resulting from the

- application of pesticides by applicant, its agents or employees within the city pursuant to the commercial applicator permit issued by the city.
- (3) Additional Documents. Prior to the issuance of any commercial applicator permit, applicant will furnish to the city the following documents:
 - A. Evidence of liability insurance with coverage of not less than three hundred thousand dollars per occurrence protecting applicant, its agents and employees from any and all claims for any loss or damages caused by or resulting from the application of pesticides;
 - B. Applicant's North Dakota Commercial Applicator's Certification/Classification;
 - C. A check for the annual license fee in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners in the city fee schedule which shall be on file in the office of the city administrator.
- (4) Granting of Permit. The city administrator shall review the application and attachments of the proposed applicant for a commercial applicator permit and, if the application is in order and the applicant otherwise is qualified for a commercial applicator's permit, the city administrator shall issue a commercial applicator's permit. All permits issued hereunder shall run for annual periods commencing January 1 of each year and terminating on December 31 of the same year.
- (5) Revocation of Permit. The board of city commissioners shall have the authority to revoke or to refuse to reissue a commercial applicator's permit for any violation by the permit holder of ordinances and regulations or for any other cause resulting in violation of this section. Written notice detailing such violations shall be given to the permit holder and the permit holder shall be entitled to a public hearing upon such violations before the board of city commissioners.
- (6) Exemptions from Permit Requirements. No individual owners or tenants of real property shall be required to have a permit to apply pesticides to their property or to the public property or right-of-way adjoining such property.
- (d) General Pesticide Application Regulations.
 - (1) Pesticides must be applied in accordance with label directions.
 - (2) Any persons applying pesticides commercially must, after making the application, leave written information with the property owner or occupant specifically stating (but not limited to) the following:
 - A. Product names of all pesticides applied.
 - B. Names of intended target organisms.
 - C. Date and exact time of application.
 - D. Applicator's signature, business phone number and name of firm.

(e) Penalties.

- (1) In the event that any person violates any provision of this section, he shall be subject to a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars or imprisonment not exceeding thirty days, or both such fine and imprisonment. Each day any violation of any provision of this section shall continue shall constitute a separate offense.
- (2) In addition to the penalties set forth herein, the city may avail itself of such injunctive remedies to enforce the terms and conditions of this section or to prohibit conduct contrary to the terms and conditions of this section as it may

deem necessary and is allowable by law by commencing an appropriate action in the appropriate courts having jurisdiction over such an action. Any such legal action by the city shall in no way affect the right of the city to enforce penalties within the criminal court in addition to obtaining injunctive relief. (Ord. No. 1042, § 1; Ord. No. 1059, § 1; Ord. No. 1083, § 2; Ord. No. 1086, § 21; Ord. No. 1320 §1)

Section 33.04.450 Fastening animals to trees; traveling on areas used for lawn or park

No person shall at any time fasten any horse or other animal to any ornamental or shade tree in any of the streets or public grounds of the city or to any box or protection around such tree without the consent of the owner of such tree.

No person shall go upon, cross or otherwise travel upon the grass or turf of any land or lot abutting on a public street or boulevard within the city where such land is used for lawn or park purposes or a boulevard without permission from the owner or person in charge thereof. (Code 1958, § 28-42.)

Section 33.04.460 Deposits accompanying application for vacation of public grounds, streets or alleys

Any petition that may be filed pursuant to chapter 40-39 of the North Dakota Century Code for the vacation of any public grounds, street or alley shall be accompanied by a deposit of one hundred and fifty dollars cash, which shall be deposited with the city treasurer before any proceedings pursuant to such petition will be held.

The city auditor shall keep an accurate account of all expenses incurred in connection with any such proceeding, including statements to be received from the city attorney, city engineer and any city department involved, reciting the value of any such services rendered in such proceeding. The total amount of all such actual expenses as well as the value of other services rendered in such proceeding shall be deducted from the amount deposited and shall be retained in the city treasury. Any part of such deposit not used for such expenses shall be returned to the petitioner at the conclusion of the proceeding. (Ord. No. 346, §§ 1, 2.)

For state law as to the opening and vacating of streets, alleys and public places, see NDCC, § 40-39-01 et seq.

Section 33.04.470 Appeal of interpretation or enforcement of chapter

In case any difference should arise between the city engineer or street commissioner and the owner of any property adjacent to any street, alley or any pavement, driveway, sidewalk, curb, retaining wall or parking strip in or along such street or alley, subject to the regulations of this chapter or any persons desirous of constructing any driveway, sidewalk, curb or retaining wall or of laying out or planting any parking strip regarding the interpretation or enforcement of any of the provisions of this chapter, appeal may be made to the board of city commissioners, whose decision regarding all matters affecting such dispute shall be final.

An appeal from any such determination by the city engineer or the street commissioner, as the case may be, shall be taken by filing notice thereof in writing in the office of the city

auditor within five days after such determination is made. The board of city commissioners shall act upon such appeal at its next regular meeting following the filing of such notice of appeal.

In the event that an appeal is not taken, the decision of the city engineer or street commissioner shall be final and conclusive. (Code 1958, § 28-43.)

Article 33.06 Commercial Use of Sidewalks, Streets, and Public Grounds

Sections:

33.06.010 Commercial use of sidewalks, streets and public grounds restricted

33.06.020 Permitted uses of sidewalks, streets, or other public grounds

33.06.030 Penalty

Section 33.06.010 Commercial use of sidewalks, streets and public grounds restricted

Except as authorized by this Chapter for locations within the Downtown Commercial District, no person, firm, or entity shall sell, offer, or expose for sale any food, goods, wares, or merchandise, upon any public street, alley, sidewalk, public right-of-way or other public grounds owned or controlled by the City.

- 1. Definitions. As used in this Chapter:
 - a. "Adjacent to" as it relates to patio areas, shall mean an area on the public sidewalk defined as the space between two lines, each drawn from the ends of a building or portion of a building housing a business, perpendicular to the right-of way.
 - b. "Cooking" shall mean the preparation of food through the use of heat by boiling, baking, roasting, microwaving, frying, grilling, smoking or any other method using heat.
 - c. "Designated area" shall mean an area of public right-of-way or public property specifically set aside or designated by the City for use by mobile vendors. The boundaries and rules for use of each designated area shall be as shown by maps or diagrams produced by the City and available from City Engineering or City Administration.
 - d. "Downtown Commercial District" shall mean the area of the zoning district entitled downtown commercial district pursuant to Article 39.04.
 - e. "Food" shall include any food item meant for human consumption and any beverage meant for human consumption.
 - f. "Grilling" shall mean the cooking of raw animal products such as meat, poultry or fish or vegetables on a flat top or charbroil style high-heat surface designed for such purpose, but does not include smoking, deep-fat frying, wok or skillet-style cooking, rotisserie-style cooking or any other type of cooking.
 - g. "Merchandise" shall include, but is not limited to, plants, flowers, wearing apparel, jewelry, ornaments, art work, household or office supplies or other goods or wares and excepting food or beverages of

- any kind.
- h. "Mobile vendor" shall mean any person or entity engaged in the business of preparing or serving food or merchandise from a pushcart or a mobile vendor vehicle.
- i. "Mobile Vendor Vehicle" shall mean a trailer which may be moved by towing with a vehicle or a self-contained mobile food truck which is designed and used for displaying, cooking, keeping or storing any food, beverages, merchandise or other articles for sale by a vendor. To the extent a mobile vendor vehicle is used for preparing, displaying, cooking, keeping or storing food or beverages, the mobile vendor vehicle must be inspected and approved by the Public Health Department/Environmental Health Division.
- j. "Outdoor patio area" shall mean an area in front of or adjacent to a business maintaining a liquor license, a restaurant license or limited restaurant license issued by the City and located on a public sidewalk whereon tables, chairs or benches are placed for purposes of serving food and/or alcoholic beverages.
- k. "Outdoor merchandise area" shall mean an area in front of or adjacent to a retail business where merchandise is located on a public sidewalk for the purpose of displaying, exhibiting, selling or offering merchandise for sale.
- 1. "Pushcart" shall mean a wheeled cart which may be moved by hand by one person without the assistance of a motor and which is designed and used for displaying, cooking keeping or storing any food, beverages or other articles for sale by a vendor. To the extent a pushcart is used for displaying, keeping or storing food or beverages, the pushcart must be inspected and approved by the Public Health Department/Environmental Health Division.
- 2. Each permit required by this Chapter shall expire on December 31 of each year, unless revoked by the City, regardless of the date of issuance. There shall be an application fee for permits issued under this Chapter as provided in the City Fees.
- 3. Each application and permit required by this Chapter shall clearly state that the applicant agrees to indemnify and hold the city harmless from any and all claims, demands or causes of action which may result from placement of outdoor patio areas, mobile vendors, sale of merchandise or sign on public property. The applicant shall, at the time of making application for the permit, provide proof of insurance to cover the risk of injury to person or property, including but not limited to public street, alley, sidewalk, public right-of-way or other public grounds or property owned or controlled by the City, caused by the presence of items on public property. Said insurance shall provide minimum coverage for bodily injury of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate. Such insurance shall be issued by an insurance company authorized to conduct business in the State of North Dakota, and the City of Dickinson shall be listed as a Certificate Holder on each such policy of insurance. Any license issued under this Chapter shall immediately and automatically expire upon lapse or termination of said policy.

Section 33.06.020 Permitted uses of sidewalks, streets, or other public grounds

Except as allowed under the provisions of this Chapter or as part of a permitted community event or festival within the Downtown Commercial District, it shall be unlawful for any person to sell, offer for sale or order, any food, goods, wares, merchandise, mechanical devices, animals or any other article of any kind whatsoever, by whatever name called, upon any public street, alley, sidewalk, public right-of-way or other City owned or controlled public grounds without a permit issued by the City.

- 1. Outdoor Patio Areas. No person may own, set up or operate an outdoor patio area on any public sidewalk without first obtaining a permit from the City. An application for an outdoor patio area and minimum rules for sidewalk clearances and border heights is available from the Building and Codes Department. Food and beverages may be sold in outdoor patio areas on the public sidewalks only pursuant to a permit issued by the City. An outdoor patio area must be adjacent to the business that has received the permit to operate the outdoor patio area. This section shall not apply to an outdoor patio area that is part of a permitted community event or festival. Permit holders for outdoor patio areas and their employees shall meet the following:
 - a. The permit holder shall set up the outdoor patio area, including, but not limited to, the furniture, canopies, fencing and/or other accessories used for the outdoor patio area, only in the area designated by the City in the permit. An outdoor patio area may not include a roadway or alley. The outdoor patio area shall not impede, endanger or interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic. The City shall set minimum sidewalk standards with regard to obstructions located in the clear space required by this section.
 - b. Furniture, canopies, fencing and/or other accessories used for the outdoor patio area shall be located so that a minimum of 48 consecutive inches of unobstructed clear space for pedestrian travel within the pedestrian way, or the minimum required by the Americans with Disabilities Act, if greater, is maintained at all times.
 - c. The permit holder shall provide proper containers or some other means for the collection of waste and trash within the outdoor dining area permitted. The permit holder shall keep the immediate area around the outdoor dining area and the outdoor patio area clean of garbage, trash, paper, cups, cans, litter, or other spillage associated with the operation of the outdoor dining area. All waste and trash shall be properly disposed of by the permit holder.
 - d. The permit holder shall comply with all City health and other applicable regulatory agency requirements, including, but not limited to, the requirements for food service. The permit holder shall display in a conspicuous location all such required permits and/or licenses and shall provide copies of those permits and/or licenses to the City prior

- to issuance of a permit for an outdoor patio area by the City. The permit holder shall renew the permit annually. The permit holder shall continuously maintain the required approvals, permits and/or licenses and provide evidence to the City upon request.
- e. The permit holder shall be responsible for the maintenance, upkeep, security, and safe condition of the furniture and accessories of the outdoor patio area and the City shall not be responsible for the same.
- f. The permit holder shall not have on the premises any bell, siren, horn, loudspeaker or any similar device to attract the attention of possible customers nor shall the permit holder use any such device to attract attention.
- g. Employees of the permit holder for the outdoor dining area shall not consume alcoholic beverages while working in the outdoor patio area.
- h. For any outdoor patio area where alcoholic beverages are served, the permit holder shall comply with all state and local regulations for the sale, possession and/or consumption of alcoholic beverages and shall provide the City with a diagram and/or plans showing the location of the outdoor patio area where alcoholic beverages will be served. In addition, the area where alcoholic beverages are sold, possessed and/or consumed must be effectively bordered by a partition, temporary fence or other rigid device designed and intended to separate the outdoor patio area from passersby.
- i. The permit holder shall not post any signs or other advertisements on any partitions, fence or other device designed and intended to separate the outdoor patio area from passersby.
- j. The permit holder shall comply with the prohibitions on disturbing, annoying and unnecessary noises set forth in Article 24.12.
- k. The design of the furniture, canopies, fencing and/or other accessories, including a border required for an outdoor patio area by paragraph 1(h) of this section, must be approved by the City prior to a permit being issued. The applicant must provide a scaled site plan including dimensions of the design of the furniture and accessories to be used for the outdoor patio area as part of the application for a permit.
- 1. Tables, chairs, fences or dividers and any other structure or item placed on the sidewalk must be removed by November 1 each year and may not be set out until April 1 each year unless different dates are specifically allowed by the City Administrator.
- m. Cooking or food preparation shall not be allowed in outdoor dining areas. Self-service food outdoors is allowed if approved by the Public Health Department/Environmental Health Division.
- n. No outdoor patio area equipment or furniture may be placed in such a manner as to obstruct a building exit.
- 2. Mobile vendors. A mobile vendor may not cook prepare, display or sell food or sell merchandise on any public street, public alley or sidewalk or other public grounds except as allowed by this section. Upon application and receipt of a permit

to do so issued by the City, a mobile vendor may, cook, prepare, display or sell food or merchandise in or on any designated area that has been specifically identified by the City for that use. No mobile vendor shall locate or operate in an area of the City not zoned for the sale of prepared food or merchandise. This section shall not apply to a mobile vendor that is part of a permitted community event or festival. Permit holders for mobile vendors and their employees shall meet the following:

- a. A mobile vendor may locate a mobile vendor vehicle or pushcart and operate in any designated area between the hours designated by the City for each designated area. Designated areas may be used from May 1 through October 31 each year. Designated areas are available to any permitted mobile vendor on a first come-first serve basis. A mobile vendor may not reserve, occupy or otherwise attempt to hold a designated area prior to the time requirements set forth above.
- b. A mobile vendor may not grill, barbeque or smoke food within 50 feet from any entrance of any building without first obtaining the written permission of the building owner and tenant(s) served by those entrances.
- c. A mobile vendor must provide and deploy portable lighting adequate to illuminate the vicinity of the mobile vendor vehicle or pushcart.
- d. A mobile vendor may not set up chairs, tables or other temporary seating in a designated area.
- e. A mobile vendor shall be responsible to remove any garbage, spills or stains or repair any damage to the designated area resulting from its operations, and shall be prohibited from any dumping into the storm sewers.
- f. A mobile vendor may not leave a mobile vendor vehicle or pushcart in a designated area unattended or overnight.
- g. A mobile vendor wishing to utilize the City's designated areas to sell food or merchandise shall make application for a mobile vendor license on an application which is available from the Building and Codes Department. At a minimum, the information in the application must contain:
 - i. For the sale of food, a letter from the Public Health Department/Environmental Health Division stating that the mobile vendor vehicle or pushcart has been inspected and approved.
 - ii. A certificate of insurance from a company licensed to do business in North Dakota evidencing that the applicant has general liability insurance policies in effect with limits of at least \$250,000 per individual and \$1,000,000 per occurrence.
 - iii. A mobile vendor failing to comply with any state law, city ordinance or policy adopted by the City is subject to permit suspension or revocation upon the order of the City Commission.
- 3. Use of the sidewalk by an adjacent business for sale of merchandise.

Merchandise may not be sold on any public street, alley, sidewalk, public right-ofway or other public grounds in the City except as part of a permitted community event or festival or except pursuant to a permit for the temporary use of the sidewalk within the Downtown Commercial District issued by the City. An application for a permit to use the sidewalk to sell merchandise shall be available from the Building and Codes Department.

- a. A permit to sell merchandise shall not be issued unless the proposed location is adjacent to the applicant's business and shall be located so that they do not impede, endanger or interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic.
- b. A minimum of 48 consecutive inches of unobstructed clearance within the pedestrian way, or the minimum required by the Americans with Disabilities Act, if greater, must be maintained at all times.
- c. Merchandise and the fixtures or devices on which the merchandise is displayed must not block regulatory signs, crosswalks or intersections and shall be sufficiently lit during times of low light in order to provide for safe pedestrian passage alongside the outdoor merchandise area.
- d. All merchandise located within an outdoor merchandise area shall be placed so that the outdoor merchandise and the fixtures or devices on which the merchandise is displays are stable and not easily tipped and do not include sharp edges, protrusions, or other features which may be hazardous to the public.
- e. All displays of merchandise within the outdoor merchandise area must meet a minimum height of 28 inches tall or of sufficient size or height so that safe pedestrian traffic is not impeded or must comply with the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act, whichever requirement is more restrictive.
- f. All merchandise and the fixtures or devices on which the merchandise is displayed shall be moved inside the building or structure wherein the retail business is located during inclement weather, including, but not limited to, heavy rain, wind, ice or snow.
- g. All merchandise and the fixture, or devised on which the merchandise is displayed must be secured so that it may not be dislodged during windy or stormy weather prior to being moved inside the building or structure wherein the retail business is located.
- h. Outdoor merchandise areas shall not include merchandising of any live animals.
- i. Alcoholic beverages may not be displayed or sold from outdoor merchandise areas.
- 4. Pedestrian Signs. Pedestrian signs may be on a public sidewalk that are at least six (6) feet in width, provided the dimensions and proposed location of the sign meet the following standards and provided a permit is obtained pursuant to Article 39.10.
 - a. A sign permit shall not be issued unless the proposed location is adjacent to the applicant's business and shall be located so that it does

- not impede, endanger or interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic.
- b. A minimum of 48 consecutive inches of unobstructed clearance within the pedestrian way, or the minimum required by the Americans with Disabilities Act, if greater, must be maintained at all times.
- c. The height of the sign shall not exceed four feet (48 inches) above the surface of the sidewalk. A height of five feet (60 inches) above the surface of the sidewalk is permitted if the sign is mounted on an easel.
- d. The width of the sign shall not exceed 30 inches, or a width that ensures that at least four feet (48 inches) of unobstructed clearance will exist on the sidewalk after sign placement, whichever results in the lesser sign width.
- e. No sign shall extend past one foot (12 inches) back from the curb or into any portion of the street surface or parking lane.
- f. Pedestrian signs shall be self-supporting and freestanding. Sign supports or features shall not protrude into the pedestrian area adjacent to the sign.
- g. Signs requiring electrical connections shall be prohibited.
- h. Permitted pedestrian signs may be displayed or located on the sidewalk only during hours the business is open.

Section 33.06.030 Penalty

A violation of this Chapter shall be an infraction. (Code 1605, § 3)

Article 33.08 House Numbering

Sections:	
33.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 33.08
33.08.010	Compliance with article required
33.08.020	Designation and furnishing of numbers by city engineer
33.08.030	Size and location of figures
33.08.040	Failure, refusal or neglect of owner, etc., to comply with article

Section 33.08.00E Editor's note to Article 33.08

For state law as to authority of city to regulate numbering of houses and lots, see NDCC, § 40-05-01 (19).

Section 33.08.010 Compliance with article required

The owner of each building in the city shall number the same in conformity with the provisions of this article. (Code 1958, § 28-44.)

Section 33.08.020 Designation and furnishing of numbers by city engineer

The city engineer shall designate the numbers of all houses and shall furnish the owner, occupant or agent of each house now or hereafter built with its proper number. (Code 1958, § 28-45.)

Section 33.08.030 Size and location of figures

The figures forming the numbers of all buildings shall be not less than three inches in height and shall be conspicuously painted over the entrance to each building or may be painted, stamped or printed on glass, tin or other substantial background or body and attached to such buildings in a conspicuous place over the front entrance thereto. (Code 1958, § 28-46.)

Section 33.08.040 Failure, refusal or neglect of owner, etc., to comply with article

If the owner or other person in charge or custody of a building within the city fails, refuses or neglects to comply with the requirements of this article, the city engineer shall cause proper numbers to be placed upon such building and the cost of so doing shall be collected from the owner or custodian of the building in a suit therefor by the city. (Code 1958, § 28-47)

Article 33.12 Excavations

Sections:	
33.12.010	PermitsFees
33.12.020	SameForm and display of placard
33.12.030	SameSurety bond of applicant
33.12.040	Routing of traffic
33.12.050	Interference with fire-fighting equipment, fire escapes, etc.
33.12.060	Encroachment of earth onto highways; traffic crossings
33.12.070	Removal and protection of utilities
33.12.080	Protection of adjoining property
33.12.090	Erection of footbridges over sidewalk excavations
33.12.100	Barriers, etc., surrounding excavation and materials excavated
33.12.110	Maintenance of attractive nuisance
33.12.120	Maintenance and storage of excavated materials generally
33.12.130	Repairing damage done to existing improvements
33.12.140	Cleaning site and surrounding area
33.12.150	Protection and restoration of watercourses, sewers or drains;
001121100	accommodation of surplus water, muck, silt, etc.
33.12.160	Promulgation of standards
33.12.170	Restoration of surface
33.12.180	Length, bracing and sheathing of pipe trenches
33.12.190	Period for completion of work generally
33.12.200	Emergency repairs generally
33.12.210	Declaration of emergency work
33.12.220	Avoidance of unnecessary inconveniences or annoyances; reduction of noise,
001121220	dust, etc.
33.12.230	Disturbing surface monuments or hubs
33.12.240	Inspections; promulgation of regulations to carry out article
33.12.250	Maintenance of drawings of subsurface street installations
33.12.260	Applicability of article to work done by or for city
33.12.270	Applicability of article to persons operating public utilities
33.12.280	Liability insurance required of permittee
33.12.290	Liability of city

Section 33.12.010 Permits--Fees

A permit fee shall be charged by the city engineer for the issuance of an excavation permit which shall be in addition to all other fees for permits or charges relative to any proposed construction work. The excavation permit fee shall be in an amount varying with the type of surface to be opened, dug or excavated under the permit issued as per the schedule of assessed fees maintained by the city engineer's office; such fees shall be uniform. The amount of said fees shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the office of the city auditor in the city fee schedule. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-48; Ord. No. 1086, § 22.)

Section 33.12.020 Same--Form and display of placard

The contractor shall provide each permittee at the time a permit is issued hereunder a suitable placard plainly written or printed in English letters at least one inch high with the following notice: "City of Dickinson, Permit No. __ Expires ____." In the first blank space on such placard there shall be inserted the number of the permit and after word "expires" shall be stated the date when the permit expires.

It shall be the duty of any permittee to keep the placard posted in a conspicuous place at the site of the excavation work. It shall be unlawful for any person to exhibit such placard at or about any excavation not covered by such permit or to misrepresent the number of the permit or the date of expiration of the permit. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-49.)

Section 33.12.030 Same--Surety bond of applicant

Before an excavation permit as herein provided is issued, the applicant shall deposit with the city auditor a surety bond in the amount of one thousand dollars payable to the city, unless the applicant has a current franchise issued by the City of Dickinson. The required surety bond must be:

- (a) With good and sufficient surety;
- (b) By a surety company authorized to transact business in the state;
- (c) Satisfactory to the city attorney in form and substance;
- Conditioned upon the permittee's compliance with this article and to secure and (d) hold the city and its officers harmless against any and all claims, judgments or other costs arising from the excavation and other work covered by the excavation permit or for which the city, the city council or any city officer may be made liable by reason of any accident or injury to persons or property through the fault of the permittee either in not properly guarding the excavation or for any other injury resulting from the negligence of the permittee and further conditioned to fill up, restore and place in good and safe condition as near as may be to its original condition and to the satisfaction of the city engineer all openings and excavations made in streets, and to maintain any street where excavation is made in as good condition for the period of twenty-four months after such work shall have been done, usual wear and tear excepted, as it was in before such work shall have been done. Any settlement of the surface within such two-year period shall be deemed conclusive evidence of defective back-filling by the permittee. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to require the permittee to maintain any repairs to pavement made by the city if such repairs should prove defective. Recovery on such bond for any injury or accident shall not exhaust the bond but it shall in its entirety cover any or all future accidents or injuries during the excavation work for which it is given. In the event of any suit or claim against the city by reason of the negligence or default of the permittee, upon the city's giving written notice to the permittee of such suit or claim any final judgment against the city requiring it to pay for such damage shall be conclusive upon the permittee and his surety.

An annual bond may be given under this provision which shall remain in force for one year conditioned as above, in the amount specified above and in other respects as specified above

but applicable as to all excavation work in streets by the principal in such bond during the term of one year from such date. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-50; Ord. No. 1269 § 1.)

Section 33.12.040 Routing of traffic

The permittee shall take appropriate measures to assure that during the performance of the excavation work traffic conditions as nearly normal as practicable shall be maintained at all times so as to cause as little inconvenience as possible to the occupants of the abutting property and to the general public; provided, that the city engineer may permit the closing of streets to all traffic for a period of time prescribed by him if in his opinion it is necessary. The permittee shall route and control traffic including its own vehicles as directed by the city police department. The following steps shall be taken before any highway may be closed or restricted to traffic:

- (a) The permittee must receive the approval of the city engineer and the police department therefor;
- (b) The permittee must notify the chief of the fire department of any street so closed;
- (c) Upon completion of construction work, the permittee shall notify the city engineer and city police department before traffic is moved back to its normal flow so that any necessary adjustments may be made;
- (d) Where flagmen are deemed necessary by the city engineer they shall be furnished by the permittee at its own expense. Through traffic shall be maintained without the aid of detours, if possible; in instances in which this would not be feasible the city engineer will designate detours. The city shall maintain roadway surfaces of existing highways designated as detours without expense to the permittee but in case there are no existing highways the permittee shall construct all detours at its expense and in conformity with the specifications of the city engineer. The permittee will be responsible for any unnecessary damage caused to any highways by the operation of its equipment. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-51.)

Section 33.12.050 Interference with fire-fighting equipment, fire escapes, etc.

The excavation work shall be performed and conducted so as not to interfere with access to fire stations and fire hydrants. Materials or obstructions shall not be placed within fifteen feet of fire plugs. Passageways leading to fire escapes or fire-fighting equipment shall be kept free of piles of material or other obstructions. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-52.)

Section 33.12.060 Encroachment of earth onto highways; traffic crossings

The permittee shall erect and maintain suitable timber barriers to confine earth from trenches or other excavations in order to encroach upon highways as little as possible.

The permittee shall construct and maintain adequate and safe crossings over excavations and across highways under improvement to accommodate vehicular and pedestrian traffic at all street intersections. Vehicular crossings shall be constructed and maintained of plank, timbers and blocking of adequate size to accommodate vehicular traffic safely. Decking shall be not less than four inches thick and shall be securely fastened together with heavy wire and staples. Pedestrian crossings shall consist of planking three inches thick, twelve inches wide and of

adequate length together with necessary blocking. The walk shall be not less than three feet in width and shall be provided with a railing as required by the city engineer. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-53.)

Section 33.12.070 Removal and protection of utilities

The permittee shall not interfere with any existing utility without the written consent of the city engineer and the utility company or person owning the utility. If it becomes necessary to remove an existing utility this shall be done by its owner. No utility owned by the city shall be moved to accommodate the permittee unless the cost of such work be borne by the permittee. The cost of moving privately owned utilities shall be similarly borne by the permittee unless he makes other arrangements with the person owning the utility. The permittee shall support and protect by timbers or otherwise all pipes, conduits, poles, wires or other apparatus which may be in any way affected by the excavation work and do everything necessary to support, sustain and protect them under, over, along or across such work. In case any such pipes, conduits, poles, wires or apparatus should be damaged, they shall be repaired by the agency or person owning them and the expense of such repairs shall be charged to the permittee, and his bond shall be liable therefor. The permittee shall be responsible for any damage done to any public or private property by reason of the breaking of any water pipes, sewer, gas pipe, electric conduit or other utility and his bond shall be liable therefor. The permittee shall inform itself as to the existence and location of all underground utilities and protect them against damage. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-54.)

Section 33.12.080 Protection of adjoining property

The permittee shall at all times and at his own expense preserve and protect from injury any adjoining property by providing proper foundations and taking other measures suitable for the purpose. Where in the protection of such property it is necessary to enter upon private property for the purpose of taking appropriate protective measures, the permittee shall obtain a license from the owner of such private property for such purpose; and if he cannot obtain a license from such owner; the city engineer may authorize him to enter the private premises solely for the purpose of making the property safe. The permittee shall, at its own expense shore up and protect all buildings, walls, fences or other property likely to be damaged during the progress of the excavation work and shall be responsible for all damage to public or private property or highways resulting from its failure properly to protect and carry out such work. Whenever it may be necessary for the permittee to trench through any lawn area, the sod shall be carefully cut and rolled and replaced after ditches have been backfilled as required in this article. All construction and maintenance work shall be done in a manner calculated to leave the lawn area clean of earth and debris and in a condition as nearly as possible to that which existed before such work began. The permittee shall not remove even temporarily any trees or shrubs which exist in parking strip areas or easements across private property without first having notified and obtained the consent of the property owner or in the case of public property the appropriate city department or city official having control of such property. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-55.)

Section 33.12.090 Erection of footbridges over sidewalk excavations

Any excavation made in any sidewalk or under a sidewalk shall be provided with a substantial and adequate footbridge over such excavation on the line of the sidewalk, which bridge shall be at least three feet wide and securely railed on each side so that foot passengers can pass over safely at all times. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-56.)

Section 33.12.100 Barriers, etc., surrounding excavation and materials excavated

The permittee shall erect such fence, railing or barriers about the site of the excavation work as shall prevent danger to persons using the city streets or sidewalks, and such protective barriers shall be maintained until the work shall be completed or the danger removed. At twilight there shall be placed upon such place of excavation and upon any excavated materials or structures or other obstructions to streets suitable and sufficient lights which shall be kept burning throughout the night during the maintenance of such obstructions. It shall be unlawful for anyone to remove or tear down the fence or railing or other protective barriers or any lights provided there for the protection of the public. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-57.)

Section 33.12.110 Maintenance of attractive nuisance

It shall be unlawful for the permittee to suffer or permit to remain unguarded at the place of excavation or opening any machinery, equipment or other device having the characteristics of an attractive nuisance likely to attract children and hazardous to their safety or health. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-58.)

Section 33.12.120 Maintenance and storage of excavated materials generally

All material excavated from trenches and piled adjacent to the trench or in any street shall be piled and maintained in such manner as not to endanger those working in the trench, pedestrians or users of the streets and so that as little inconvenience as possible is caused to those using streets and adjoining property. Where the confines of the area being excavated are too narrow to permit the piling of excavated material beside the trench, such as might be the case in a narrow alley, the city engineer shall have the authority to require that the permittee haul the excavated material to a storage site and then re-haul it to the trench site at the time of backfilling. It shall be the permittee's responsibility to secure the necessary permission and make all necessary arrangements for all required storage and disposal sites. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-59.)

Section 33.12.130 Repairing damage done to existing improvements

All damage done to existing improvements during the progress of the excavation work shall be required by the permittee. Materials for such repair shall conform with the requirements of any applicable code or ordinance. If upon being ordered the permittee fails to furnish the necessary labor and materials for such repairs the city engineer shall have the authority to cause

such necessary labor and materials to be furnished by the city and the cost shall be charged against the permittee and the permittee shall also be liable on his bond therefor. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-60.)

Section 33.12.140 Cleaning site and surrounding area

As the excavation work progresses all streets and private properties shall be thoroughly cleaned of all rubbish, excess earth, rock and other debris resulting from such work. All clean-up operations at the location of such excavation shall be accomplished at the expense of the permittee and shall be completed to the satisfaction of the city engineer. From time to time as may be ordered by the city engineer and in any event immediately after completion of such work, the permittee shall at his own expense clean up and remove all refuse and unused materials of any kind resulting from such work, and upon failure to do so within twenty-four hours after having been notified to do so by the city engineer, such work may be done by the city engineer and the cost thereof charged to the permittee, and the permittee shall also be liable for the cost thereof under the surety bond provided hereunder. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-61.)

Section 33.12.150 Protection and restoration of watercourses, sewers or drains; accommodation of surplus water, muck, silt, etc.

The permittee shall provide for the flow of all watercourses, sewers or drains intercepted during the excavation work and shall replace watercourses, etc., in as good condition as it found them or shall make such provisions for them as the city engineer may direct. The permittee shall not obstruct the gutter of any street but shall use all proper measures to provide for the free passage of surface water.

The permittee shall make provision to take care of all surplus water, muck, silt, slickings or other run-off pumped from excavations or resulting from sluicing or other operations and shall be responsible for any damage resulting from its failure to so provide. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-62.)

Section 33.12.160 Promulgation of standards

Standards for breaking through pavement, tunnels, back-filling and restoration of surface shall be promulgated by the city engineer from time to time which standards shall be kept on file in the city engineer's office for inspection during business hours. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-63.)

Section 33.12.170 Restoration of surface

If the permittee shall have failed to restore the surface of the street to its original and proper condition upon the expiration of the time fixed by such permit or shall otherwise have failed to complete the excavation work covered by such permit, the city engineer, if he deems it advisable, shall have the right to do all work and things necessary to restore the street and to complete the excavation work. The permittee shall be liable for the actual cost thereof and twenty-five percent of such cost in addition for general overhead and administrative expenses. The city shall have a cause of action for all fees, expenses and amounts paid out due it for such work and shall apply in payment of the amount due it any funds of the permittee deposited as herein provided and the city shall also enforce its rights under the permittee's surety bond provided pursuant to this article.

It shall be the duty of the permittee to guarantee and maintain the site of the excavation work in the same condition it was prior to the excavation for two years after restoring it to its original condition. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-64.)

Section 33.12.180 Length, bracing and sheathing of pipe trenches

Except by special permission from the city engineer, no trench shall be excavated more than two hundred fifty feet in advance of pipe laying nor left unfilled more than five hundred feet where pipe has been laid. The length of the trench that may be opened at any one time shall not be greater than the length of pipe and the necessary accessories which are available at the site ready to be put in place. Trenches shall be braced and sheathed according to generally accepted safety standards for construction work as prescribed by the city engineer. No timber bracing, lagging, sheathing or other lumber shall be left in any trench. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-65.)

Section 33.12.190 Period for completion of work generally

The permittee shall prosecute with diligence and expedition all excavation work covered by the excavation permit and shall promptly complete such work and restore the street to its original condition, or as near as may be, as soon as practicable and in any event not later than the date specified in the excavation permit therefor. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-66.)

Section 33.12.200 Emergency repairs generally

In the event of any emergency in which a sewer, main, conduit or utility in or under any street breaks, bursts or otherwise is in such condition as to immediately endanger the property, life, health and safety of any individual, the person owning or controlling such sewer, main, conduit or utility, without first applying for and obtaining an excavation permit hereunder, shall immediately take proper emergency measures to cure or remedy the dangerous conditions for the protection of property, life, health and safety of individuals. However, such person owning or controlling such facility shall apply for an excavation permit not later than the end of the next succeeding day during which the city engineer's office is open for business and shall not proceed with permanent repairs without first obtaining an excavation permit hereunder. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-68.)

Section 33.12.210 Declaration of emergency work

If in his judgment traffic conditions, the safety or convenience of the traveling public or the public interest require that the excavation work be performed as emergency work, the city engineer shall have full power to order, at the time the permit is granted, that a crew of men and adequate facilities be employed by the permittee twenty-four hours a day to the end that such excavation work may be completed as soon as possible. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-67.)

Section 33.12.220 Avoidance of unnecessary inconveniences or annoyances; reduction of noise, dust, etc.

Each permittee shall conduct and carry out the excavation work in such manner as to avoid unnecessary inconvenience and annoyance to the general public and occupants of neighboring property. The permittee shall take appropriate measures to reduce to the fullest

extent practicable in the performance of the excavation work, noise, dust and unsightly debris. During the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., such permittee shall not use, except with the express written permission of the city engineer or in case of an emergency as herein otherwise provided, any tool, appliance or equipment producing noise of sufficient volume to disturb the sleep or repose of occupants of the neighboring property. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-69.)

Section 33.12.230 Disturbing surface monuments or hubs

The permittee shall not disturb any surface monuments or hubs found on the line of excavation work until ordered to do so by the city engineer. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-70.)

Section 33.12.240 Inspections; promulgation of regulations to carry out article

The city engineer shall make such inspections as are reasonably necessary in the enforcement of this article.

The city engineer shall have the authority to promulgate and cause to be enforced such rules and regulations as may be reasonably necessary to enforce and carry out the intent of this article. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-71.)

Section 33.12.250 Maintenance of drawings of subsurface street installations

Users of subsurface street space shall maintain accurate drawings, plans and profiles showing the location and character of all underground structures including abandoned installations. Corrected maps shall be filed with the city engineer within sixty days after new installations, changes or replacements are made. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-72.)

Section 33.12.260 Applicability of article to work done by or for city

The provisions of this article shall not be applicable to any excavation work under the direction of competent city authorities by employees of the city or by any contractor of the city performing work for and in behalf of the city necessitating openings or excavations in streets. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-73.)

Section 33.12.270 Applicability of article to persons operating public utilities

All persons operating public utilities in the city under franchise granted by the city and having the right either by general or special permission to enter upon streets and open and excavate pavements, sidewalks or disturb the surface thereof by excavation or other work shall not be required to apply for a permit but shall be required to perform the work and bring it to completion as promptly as practicable and to that end shall employ an adequate standing force. Any person operating any such public utility shall, however, comply with other requirements of this article, including the surety bond and deposit requirements. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-74.)

Section 33.12.280 Liability insurance required of permittee

A permittee, prior to the commencement of excavation work hereunder, shall furnish the city engineer satisfactory evidence in writing that the permittee has in force and will maintain in force during the performance of the excavation work and the period of the excavation permit public liability insurance of not less than one hundred thousand dollars for any one person and three hundred thousand dollars for any one accident and property damage insurance of not less than fifty thousand dollars duly issued by an insurance company authorized to do business in this state. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-75.)

Section 33.12.290 Liability of city

This article shall not be construed as imposing upon the city or any official or employee any liability or responsibility for damages to any person injured by the performance of any excavation work for which an excavation permit is issued hereunder; nor shall the city or any official or employee thereof be deemed to have assumed any such liability or responsibility by reason of inspections authorized hereunder, the issuance of any permit or the approval of any excavation work. (Ord. No. 482, § 28-76.)

Article 33.16 Creation of Municipal Street Light Utility

Sections:	
33.16.010	Creation of Municipal Street Light Utility
33.16.020	Control of Systems
33.16.030	Rates and Charges to be Established
33.16.040	Rates and Charges to be Billed and Collected
33.16.050	Due Date; Failure to Pay - Generally
33.16.060	Joint and Several Liability of Owner and Occupant
33.16.070	Charges to constitute a lien on premises; assessment and collection of lien
33.16.080	Special Assessments Not Precluded

Section 33.16.010 Creation of Municipal Street Light Utility

There is hereby created a municipal street light utility on all lands, easements, rights in land, facilities, poles, wires, cables, conduits, and other electrical fixtures, and equipment necessary or proper for the maintenance and operation of the municipal street light system, whether heretofore or hereafter acquired by the City. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.020 Control of Systems

All properties and other assets set aside or held by the City for the municipal street light utility, and all monies derived or to be derived from the operation of the municipal street light utility shall at all times be under the management and control of the Board of City Commissioners, and shall be operated under such rules, regulations, terms, and conditions as the Board of City Commissioners may from time to time ordain and establish. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.030 Rates and Charges to be Established

In order to help defray the costs of operation, maintenance, and repair of the municipal street light system, the Board of City Commissioners shall from time to time determine and establish, by resolution, such rates, charges, or fees as the Board may deem necessary and proper for the services and benefits furnished by the municipal street light system. Such rates, charges, or fees shall be incorporated into the regular municipal fee schedule maintained by the City. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.040 Rates and Charges to be Billed and Collected

The rates and charges for the municipal street light utility shall be billed and collected on a monthly basis in the same manner and time as bills for other municipal utility services as provided by city ordinance. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.050 Due Date; Failure to Pay - Generally

All invoices for the municipal street light utility shall be due and payable on the date of billing. Accounts unpaid at the next billing date will be considered past due and will be assessed penalties as set by the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.060 Joint and Several Liability of Owner and Occupant

Rates and charges for the municipal street light utility shall be charged against both the owner of property so charged and any occupant, tenant, or lessee thereof, and shall be a personal liability on the part of the owner, occupant, tenant, or lessee and may be collected from any such person so liable. The owner and any occupant, tenant, or lessee of each premises billed shall be jointly and severally liable for all charges of the municipal street light utility during the period of their respective ownership or occupancy, tenancy, or lease. Any charges properly billed but not paid may be recovered by the City of Dickinson in a civil action in any court of competent jurisdiction against either the owner or occupant, tenant, lessee, or any of them. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.070 Charges to constitute a lien on premises; assessment and collection of lien

All charges for the municipal street light utility shall constitute liens upon the respective lots, tracts, and premises so billed for the municipal street light utility. All such charges that have been properly billed to the owner or occupant, tenant, or lessee of the premises, and which are more than 30 days past due or September 30th of each year shall be certified by the City to Stark County between the first and the tenth day of October each year. The City, in so certifying such charges, shall specify the amount thereof, the description of the premises, and the name of the owner thereof. The amount so certified shall be extended by the County on the tax rolls against such premises and collected by the County and paid to the City in the same manner as other county and municipal taxes are assessed, certified, collected, and returned. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Section 33.16.080 Special Assessments Not Precluded

It is recognized that the municipal street light utility hereby created may not fully defray the costs of construction, operation, maintenance, and repair of the municipal street light system. Accordingly, nothing in this Chapter shall be deemed or construed to preclude the City from defraying any part of the expense of the construction, operation, or improvement of the municipal street lighting system by levy of special assessments, taxes, or the issue of general obligation bonds, whenever and to the extent that such action is authorized in the manner provided by law and is deemed fair and equitable by the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord No. 1376 §1)

Chapter 34 SUBDIVISION OF LAND

Last updated October 1, 2019

In General

Sections:

- 34.010 Planning Commission
- 34.020 Purpose of Subdivision Regulations: Approval of Plats
- 34.030 Definitions
- 34.040 Procedure
- 34.050 Design Standards
- 34.060 Improvements
- 34.070 Specifications for Plats
- 34.080 Variances
- 34.090 Fees
- 34.100 Penalties
- 34.110 Vacation of Plats
- 34.120 Vacation of Easements

Section 34.010 Planning Commission

The planning commission of the City of Dickinson is hereby authorized and empowered to review and approve or disapprove the subdivision and platting of land within the city limits of the City of Dickinson and its extra-territorial jurisdiction. Such extra-territorial jurisdiction shall include all of that area set forth in the Dickinson Municipal Code §39.01. (Ord No. 1541 § 1; Ord No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.020 Purpose of Subdivision Regulations; Approval of Plats.

As each new subdivision of land in the City becomes a permanent unit in the basic structure of the expanding community, to which the community will be forced to adhere, the design and arrangement of such subdivisions must correlate to the unified scheme of community interests. In order to provide for the proper arrangement of streets in relation to other existing and planned streets, and to the master plan of the City of Dickinson; to provide for adequate and convenient open spaces, for recreation, for light and air; in order to avoid congestion of population; in order to provide for traffic, for utilities, for access of fire-fighting apparatus; in order to promote, preserve and enhance area natural resources; in order to provide for and improve the public health, safety and general welfare of the City of Dickinson, the following rules and regulations for the platting and subdivision of land within the City of Dickinson and adjacent territory have been adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Dickinson, in accordance with the laws of the State of North Dakota and the ordinances of the City of Dickinson.

Every piece of land proposed for division within the City or within the City's extraterritorial area shall be prepared, presented for approval and recorded as described in this Chapter. This chapter applies to the platting of land into a single parcel, the subdivision of a lot or parcel of land into two or more lots, or other division of land for the purpose of sale or development, whether immediate

or future, including the resubdivision or replatting of lots. No plat of a subdivision of land within the City of Dickinson or within the adjacent territory as subject to subdivision regulations of the City of Dickinson, shall be filed or recorded until it shall have been approved by the Planning Commission of the City of Dickinson and such approval entered in writing on the plat by the chairman and secretary of the City Planning Commission. Such subdivision plats must be prepared in accordance with provisions of Chapter 40-50 of the North Dakota Century Code. The filing of a plat of irregular description in accordance with Chapter 57-02-39 of the North Dakota Century Code does not meet the requirements of this Chapter. However, the division of land zoned Agricultural into parcels of ten (10) or more acres not involving any new street or easement of access shall be exempted from these regulations, except as to the rezoning of property. (Ord No. 1541 § 1; Ord No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.030 Definitions.

The following definitions represent the meanings of terms as they are used in these regulations:

Addition: A parcel of land that, when subdivided is or will be annexed into a municipality.

Alley: A public right-of-way generally designed to provide secondary access to the side or rear of a property whose principal frontage is on another street.

Applicant: An owner, developer, or subdivider submitting an application to divide property pursuant to this Ordinance.

Block: A tract of land entirely surrounded by public streets, by streets and the exterior boundary of the subdivision, by other blocks, or a combination of the above with a physical or man-made land barrier.

Collector Road: Roadway which provides traffic movements between local roads and arterial roads and also provides direct access to abutting property. Collectors are often only two-lane roads but should be planned and designed to minimize on-street parking and direct driveway access.

Condominium Owner's Association: An owners association comprised of condominium owners. Condominium owners own their individual units and have joint ownership in the building and grounds with other units (COA). COA fees not only cover common areas but the fees also cover building repairs and maintenance.

Concept Plan: A generalized plan indicating the boundaries of a parcel or parcels under common ownership, and identifying proposed land uses, land use density or intensity, and thoroughfare alignment.

Cul-de-Sac: A turnaround at the end of a dead end street.

Dedication: A grant of land to the City or another public agency for a public purpose.

Development: The act of building, engineering, excavation, or other operations in, on, over, or under land or the making of any material change in the use of any building or other land or the subdivision of land into two or more lots or tracts.

Development Plan – A conceptual land use plan focused on one or more sites within an area intended to guide growth and development.

Drainage: The removal of surface or ground water from land by drains, gravity, or other means.

Drainage Easement: An easement required for the installation of storm water sewers or drainage ditches, or required for the preservation or maintenance of a natural stream or water course or other drainage facility.

Drainage System: The system through which water flows from the land.

Driveway approach: That part of any driveway or road approach to property provided for the passage of motor vehicles which lies between the traveled portion of a street and property line of an abutting property. "Approach" is a shortened version on this term.

Easement: A grant of one or more of the property rights by the property owner to the public, a corporation, or another person or entity.

Final Approval: The final action of the Board of City Commissioners, upon a recommendation by the Planning and Zoning Commission. Final Approval follows the completion of detailed engineering plans, negotiation of subdivision agreements, posting of required guarantees, and other approvals of this Ordinance.

The filing of a subdivision with the Stark County Recorder and the conveyance of individual parcels and lots to subsequent owners shall not occur until the city commission grants final approval.

Frontage: The length of the property line for a single parcel which runs parallel to and along each public right-of-way (exclusive of alleys) it borders.

Functional Classification: The process by which streets and highways are grouped into classes, or systems, according to the character of service they are intended to provide.

Grade: The slope of a street or other public way, measured parallel to the centerline, is defined as a percentage or ratio of vertical change in elevation to horizontal change in distance.

Home Owners Association: A home owners association (HOA) is formed by a developer and pertains to a specific subdivision or project. The association provides the framework for the future maintenance of the development's common grounds, amenities and facilities, for instance a pool; clubhouse or common area landscaping. All homeowners are compelled to follow the codes, covenants and restrictions (CC&Rs) governing the development and pay association dues.

Improvement: A public improvement consisting of any sanitary sewer, storm sewer, drainage ditch, water main, roadway, street grading and surfacing, sidewalks, planting strips, crosswalks, off-street parking areas, park or greenway, trail, trees, lighting or any other facility for which the city may ultimately assume operational responsibility.

Intersection: A place of joining or crossing of streets.

Interstate: Roadway which provides rapid movement of large traffic volumes between major population centers and other arterials. Interstates are multi-lane divided highways with grade separations at all crossroads, full access control and no parking. The locations of roadways classified as interstates shall be as designated on the most recent edition of the North Dakota Department of Transportation functional classification map.

Local Road: Roadway whose primary function is to provide access to abutting property. Local roads are usually two-lane roads with parking and direct access to adjacent lands.

Lot: One unit of a recorded plat or subdivision or a portion of land considered as a unit and occupied or to be occupied by a building and its accessory buildings and including as a minimum such open spaces as required by other city ordinances and having frontage on a public street.

Lot, Corner: A lot abutting on and at the intersection of two or more streets.

Lot, Double Frontage: A lot, other than a corner lot, having frontage on two streets. Access shall be provided on a double frontage lot to the minor of the two streets or to the front lot line as determined at the time of platting.

Lot, Interior: A lot other than a corner lot.

Lot Area: The number of square feet or acres that covers a lot.

Lot Line: A property boundary line of record that divides one lot from another lot or a lot from the public or private street rights-of-way or easement.

- a) **Front Lot Line:** The lot lines separating a lot and a public or private street right-of-way or easement.
 - 1) For an interior lot, the lot line separating the lot from the right-of-way or easement.
 - 2) For a corner lot, the shorter lot line abutting a public or Private Street or easement. The Subdivision Administrator shall determine the front lot line, or as may be noted on a final plat.
 - 3) For a double frontage lot, the lot lines separating the lot from the right-of-way or easement of the more minor street. In cases where each street has the same classification, the Subdivision Administrator shall determine the front lot line, or as may be noted on a final plat.
- b) **Rear Lot Line:** The lot line which is opposite and most distant from the front lot line.
- c) **Side Lot Line:** Any lot line that is neither a front or rear lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from a street, or private way, is a street side lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from another lot or lots is an interior side lot line.

Lot Modification: An administrative lot line adjustment, lot split or lot combination as defined herein as an adjustment of an existing lot line by relocation of a common boundary.

- **a.)** Lot Combination: An administrative combination of two (2) or more platted lots into a lesser number of lots whose boundaries coincide with the lot lines shown on the recorded plat of the subdivision that meets the following criteria:
- 1) Does not involve the vacation of existing easements; and
- 2) Does not involve lots within more than one zoning classification
- **b.**) **Lot Line Adjustment:** An administrative adjustment of an existing platted lot line between two (2) adjoining lots by relocation of a common boundary that meets the following criteria:
- 1) Does not involve lots within more than one zoning classification;
- 2) Is not one lot line adjustment in a series of lot line adjustments proposed for contiguous lots as a way to circumvent the proper subdivision plat process;
- 3) Both of the resulting parcels conform to the minimum lot area, width and depth for the zoning district in which the property is located, or will when combined with an adjacent parcel as part of the same lot modification action; and
- 4) The resulting parcels can be legally described with no more than two (2) directional descriptors (e.g. the north 100 feet of the west 200 feet of Lot 1, Block 1, ABC Addition). For lot line adjustments between irregularly-shaped parcels or to transfer an irregularly-shaped portion of a lot to an adjacent land owner, the Administrator or designee may waive this requirement, provided the resulting parcels can be legally described as the original lot number combined with a letter (e.g. Lot 1 would become Lots 1A, 1B and 1C);
- **c.) Lot Split:** An administrative division of a previously platted lot into not more than four (4) lots that meets the following criteria:
- 1) The lot split does not involve the creation of new utility easements or improvements;
- 2) The lot split does not require the dedication of public rights-of-way for the purpose of gaining access to the property; minor dedications maybe allowed by the City Engineer;

- 3) All parcels conform to the minimum lot area, width and depth for the zoning district in which the property is located;
- 4) The resulting parcels can be legally described with no more than two (2) directional descriptors (e.g. the north 100 feet of the west 200 feet of Lot 1, Block 1, ABC Addition). For an irregularly-shaped lot, the Administrator or designee may waive this requirement, provided the resulting parcels can be legally described as the original lot number combined with a letter (e.g. Lot 1 would become Lots 1A, 1B and 1C), and provided that any line dividing the parcel along a common wall is a straight line from the front property line to the back property line among the common wall; and
- 5) The property has not previously been divided through the lot split provisions of this ordinance. **Lot Width:** The horizontal distance measured along the front lot line.

Major Maintenance: Any maintenance that is beyond the normal, routine upkeep of an asset. It allows the asset to reach its useful service life or to extend that life.

Main: The principal artery of a system of continuous piping which conveys fluids and to which branches may be connected.

Minor Arterial: Roadway which provides through traffic movements between areas and links collectors with other arterials. Minor arterials usually have two to four lanes and may be divided or undivided roads, preferably with little or no parking, and limited access.

Monument: An identification marker established by a registered land surveyor at each section corner, block corner, lot corner, or other point as required by this ordinance and North Dakota State Law.

Notify: The mailing of a written notice to the address on record with the City Assessor or Stark County Auditor, to be provided by applicant.

Off-Site: Located outside the boundaries of the parcel that is the subject of an application.

Open Space: Any parcel or area of land or water that is essentially retained in an open state and set aside for public or private use.

Parcel: A continuous quantity of land in the possession of or owned by, or recorded as the property of, the same person or persons.

Parking, Off-Street: Space located outside of any street right-of-way or easement and designed to accommodate the parking of domestic vehicles.

Pedestrian Way: A public or private right-of-way or easement across or within a block to provide access to be used by pedestrians. A pedestrian way may also be used for the installation of public utilities.

Plat: A map or delineated representation of the subdivision of lands, being a complete exact representation of the subdivision, and other information in compliance with the requirement of all applicable sections of this chapter, state statutes and of any local ordinances, and may include the terms "replat" and "amended plat."

Plat of Irregular Description: A plat made for taxation purposes at the request of the County Auditor in accordance with NDCC §57-02-39. Such a County Auditor's plat is not platting pursuant to NDCC §40-50.1, but rather is made for the convenience of tax officials in describing property on the tax rolls.

Principal Arterial: Roadway which provides for rapid movements of relatively large traffic volumes between large land areas, major traffic generators and other arterials. Principal arterials should have controlled access and are usually multi-lane roads with no parking.

Property Owner's Association: A governing body that encompasses HOAs and COAs. Its primary purpose is to be supportive of other associations and their members. Members are not only homeowners but may also be business owners or property managers who contribute to the real estate industry.

Right-of-Way: Land dedicated, deeded, used or to be used, for a street, alley, walkway, boulevard, drainage facility, access for ingress, egress or other purpose by the public, certain designated individuals or governing bodies.

Sidewalk: A paved path provided for pedestrian use, usually located at the side of and detached from a road, but within the right-of-way.

Storm Sewer: A conduit which conducts storm drainage from a development or_subdivision, ultimately to a drainage system or stream.

Stormwater: Flow of rainwater or melted snow that runs off streets, lawns and other sites into storm drains and drainage ditches.

Stormwater Major Maintenance- Major maintenance shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, maintenance of existing structures, cleaning of sediment and maintenance of access.

Stormwater Management Plan: That part of a Site Development Plan that shows existing and proposed drainage patterns, together with adequate justification that the flow rates will be less than or equal to predevelopment flow rates.

Street: Any access way such as a street, road, lane, highway, avenue, boulevard, parkway, viaduct, circle, court, terrace, place or cul-de-sac and also includes all of the land lying between the right-of-way lines as delineated on a plat showing such street, whether improved or unimproved, but shall not include those access ways such as easements and rights-of-way intended solely for limited utility purposes, such as for electric power lines, gas lines, telephone lines, water lines, drainage and sanitary sewers, and easements or rights-of-way of ingress and egress.

Street Hierarchy: The conceptual arrangement of streets based on function. The hierarchical approach classifies streets from local, which provide private access to a limited number of lots, to arterials, which accommodate large volumes of high-speed, regional traffic. Street types contained within the hierarchy include:

- (a) Local Road
- (b) Collector Road
- (c) Minor Arterial
- (d) Principal Arterial

Subdivision: The division of a tract or parcel of land into record lots for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale or of building development, including any plat or plan which includes the creation of any part of one or more streets, public easements, or other rights-of-way, whether public or private, for access to or from such lots, and/or including the creation of new or enlarged parks, playgrounds, plazas or open spaces. However, the division of land for into parcels of forty (40) or more acres not involving any new street or easement of access shall be exempted from these regulations. Federal, state and local jurisdictions, public utilities and telecommunications are exempt from this Chapter, but are required to dedicate rights-of-way along abutting roads if determined necessary by the appropriate jurisdiction. This provision does not include administrative or general office buildings.

Subdivision Administrator: The Subdivision Administrator shall be the City Administrator, or designee, who is responsible for the following:

- a) Enforcing and administering this ordinance;
- b) Reviewing concept plans, preliminary plats, and final plats for conformance with the regulations of this ordinance;
- c) Providing proper notice of public hearings for subdivision approval as established in this ordinance:
- d) Submitting reports to the Planning and Zoning Commission regarding conformance of proposed plats with these regulations, other applicable ordinances and status, and the Comprehensive Plan; and
- e) Providing and maintaining public information relative to matters pertaining to this chapter.

Subdivision Plat, Major: Any subdivision, platted pursuant to Chapter 40-50.1 NDCC, that does not meet the definition of a minor subdivision.

Subdivision Plat, Minor: A subdivision, platted pursuant to NDCC §40-50.1, that meets all of the following criteria:

- a. Does not require the dedication of public rights-of-way or the construction of new public streets or public infrastructure;
- b. Does not land-lock or otherwise impair convenient ingress and egress to or from the rear or side of the subject tract or any adjacent property;
- c. Does not violate any local, state or federally-adopted law, ordinance, regulation, plan or policy.
- 4. Consists of four lots or less (Ord No. 1545 § 1)

Tangent: A straight line departing from a curve which is perpendicular to the radius of that curve.

Traffic Impact Study: An analysis or study of how any use, plan or development will affect traffic in a surrounding area.

Utility: A community service available to the general public, including but not limited to electricity, telephone, cable television, water supply, gas and sanitary sewers.

Utility Easements: All platted easements within the City of Dickinson or its extra-territorial jurisdiction.

Vacation-The City's termination of, or the termination of the public's interest in, a street, alley, or subdivision. Requests for vacations are reviewed in a public hearing by the Planning Commission with final approval by the City Commission.

Variance: A relaxation of the dimensional regulations of the code where such actions will not be contrary to the public interest and where, owning to conditions peculiar to the property and not the result of actions or the situation of the applicant, a literal enforcement of this code would result in unnecessary and undue hardship. Requests for variances to these subdivision regulations shall be heard and considered by the City Planning Commission.

Zoning District: Areas of land or water, whose boundaries are indicated on the Zoning Map, within which all properties are regulated by the general regulations of this Code and the specific regulations of the individual district. (Ord No. 1541 § 1; Ord No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.040 Procedure.

1. Preliminary Steps:

- a. Prior to preparing any subdivision plat for submittal, a pre-application meeting between the applicant and the Planning Director shall occur. As part of the pre-application meeting the Planning Director shall indicate, on an agency checklist provided by the City, those agencies the applicant shall meet with to discuss the proposed plat, consistency of the plat with City policies and plans, the overall concept plan for the area, extension of municipal utilities to service the plat, compliance with the transportation master plan, and storm water management issues.
- b. It will be the duty of the planning commission to discourage the subdividing of lands that are far in advance of the needs of the community; that by their location cannot be efficiently served by public utilities, fire protection, police protection or other municipal services; that are located in areas subject to flooding; that are located in areas that would adversely impact water quality and environmentally sensitive lands; that are topographically unsuitable for development; or that for any other reason are being unwisely or prematurely subdivided. It shall also be the duty of the planning commission to encourage the replatting of lands deemed to be unsatisfactorily subdivided or which represent an obstacle to the orderly and efficient growth of the city. It shall also be the duty of the planning commission to encourage the coordinated platting of adjacent parcels of land. It shall also be the duty of the planning commission to discourage development plans that would include unnecessary or wasteful public infrastructure.
- c. The planning commission may require the submittal of a development plan that would include the following:
 - Location of existing property lines, buildings, drives, streams, wooded areas and other significant natural features;
 - General layout of proposed streets and location of blocks for designated uses:
 - Location of open spaces and facilities for public uses;
 - Existing drainage pattern based on the available topographic information from the U.S. Geological Survey maps and other similar information; and
 - Any additional information as requested by the Planning Commission.

2. **Lot Modifications** – (Lot Line Adjustments, Lot Splits and Lot Combinations):

a. The purpose of this subsection is to provide for approval of lot modifications that meet specific criteria and for the waiver of standard platting requirements specified elsewhere in this Chapter. This process is intended to facilitate the further division of

previously platted lots, the combination of previously platted lots or for the adjustment of an existing lot line by relocation of a common boundary.

- b. Any person having a legal interest in the property may file an application for a lot modification. For an adjustment of an existing lot line, an affidavit from all affected property owners indicating their consent must also be submitted.
- c. An application for a lot modification shall be submitted to the City Planning Director, along with the applicable fee; a certificate of survey prepared by a registered land surveyor showing the parcel or lot, the proposed modification, and all existing building or structures; a legal description of the original parcel, and a legal description of the resulting parcel(s).
- d. Applications for lot combinations and lot line adjustments in all zoning districts and for lot splits in all zoning districts will be reviewed by the City Planning Director in consultation with the City Engineer or designee. No hearing or review by either the Planning and Zoning Commission or City Commission shall be required.

3. Minor Subdivision Plat (Preliminary/Final)

- a. The purpose of this subsection is to provide for an expedited review and approval process that meets the criteria for a minor subdivision plat. Subdivision plats that do not meet the criteria shall be considered major subdivision plats.
- b. The applicant shall apply in writing to the City Administrator or designee for approval of a minor subdivision plat by the specified application deadline and on the proper form. All current owners of property within the plat shall sign or ratify the application form. The agency checklist from the presubmittal meeting, as well as written agency responses, shall be part of the complete submittal package.
- c. The number of prints of the minor subdivision final plat as indicated on the current application form shall accompany the application for approval. The minor subdivision final plat shall comply with the provisions of Section 34-070, as listed in the Development Application, and any other documentation and/or studies as deemed necessary by the City Administrator or designee or as indicated on the predevelopment checklist, and/or as required by state law.

d. Application Requirements

- i. After the concept plat conference, the applicant shall prepare and submit an application for minor plat approval. The application for preliminary minor plat approval shall be submitted to the Subdivision City Administrator or designee for a regular submittal application. The application shall consist of a form established by the City Administrator or designee; the supporting documents required for Minor Subdivisions; and payment of a fee, the amount of which shall be determined by the City Commission.
- ii.The City Administrator or designee may determine the minor plat shall be processed with one public hearing before the Planning Commission and final approval by the City Commission. The City Administrator or designee shall give notice of a public hearing on such proposed subdivision by advertising the time and place of such hearing in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Dickinson

- once each week for two (2) consecutive weeks prior to the date of such hearing. Not less than ten (10) days prior to date of the scheduled public hearing, the City shall notify all known property owners within three hundred (300) feet of the proposed minor subdivision plat. The failure of such property owners to actually receive the notice shall not invalidate the proceedings. The public hearing may be held at any regular or special meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission.
- iii. After a public hearing, the Planning Commission may act upon the request for minor subdivision plat approval. If the Planning Commission approves the minor subdivision plat, such approval will be entered upon the tracing and will be signed by the Secretary of the Planning and Zoning Commission (City Planning Director) and the Chair of the Planning and Zoning Commission. If the Planning and Zoning Commission disapproves the subdivision, such action, together with the reasons therefore, will be entered in the official records of the Planning and Zoning Commission and the applicant shall be so notified.
- iv. Legal acceptance of any dedicated streets, alleys or other public lands shall not occur until the plat is recorded.
- v. Following final approval by the Board of City Commissioners, a plat in recordable form shall be furnished to the City Administrator or designee within three hundred and sixty-five (365) days following approval. The City Administrator or designee may grant extensions in thirty (30) days increments for good cause shown in writing. Upon review and obtaining required signatures, the City Administrator or designee shall file and record the original signed minor subdivision plat with the Stark County Recorder. The applicant shall provide the City with recordation fees prior to final recordation. All required dedications shall be recorded at the same time.

4. Major Subdivision Preliminary Plat

- a. The applicant shall apply in writing to the City Administrator or designee for preliminary approval of a major subdivision plat by the specified application deadline and on the proper form. All current owners of property within the plat shall sign or ratify the application form.
- a. Application Requirements.
 - i. After the concept plat conference, the applicant shall prepare and submit an application for preliminary plat approval no later than the first Friday of every month and on the proper forms-The application shall consist of a form established by the City Administrator or designee; the supporting documents required for Major Subdivisions; and payment of a fee, the amount of which shall be determined by the City Commission.
- ii. The preliminary plat application shall include a draft of a subdivision agreement, following a format established by the City. The subdivision agreement establishes the mutual responsibilities of City and developer, including financing of public improvements; the nature of performance bonds and guarantees that the developer will offer; and the financing arrangements proposed for the subdivision. The City

Administrator or designee may waive this requirement for good cause shown. The plat shall comply with the provisions of Section 34-70 and the engineering development application checklist.

- iii. For a proposed subdivision plat, a preliminary utility servicing plan is also required. This preliminary utility servicing plan shall include: those items listed in the engineering development application checklist.
- iv. All areas proposed for development shall be platted to the edge of the property with all undevelopable land included within the plat, (subject to discussion and agreement by the landowner and the City).
 - (a) Land determined by the applicant and City to be undevelopable and/or needed for stormwater purposes shall be shall be included in adjoining platted lot(s) as a stormwater easement that is privately owned, with only major maintenance by City. The amount of property taxes and special assessments for these areas will be determined by the City based on the level of benefit and the value of the land or;
 - (b) Land needed for stormwater tracts should be platted as separate tracts. Intent of ownership of the tracts should be approved by the City and declared on the plat in a note; or platted as a separate tract(s) that is owned and maintained by the Dickinson Parks and Recreation Department (subject to their agreement) as a natural area, or platted as a separate tract(s) that is owned and maintained by the Dickinson Parks and Recreation Department, (subject to their agreement) and including a City-maintained stormwater easement; or
 - (c) Any combination of the above options.
 - (d) Undevelopable land will be maintained as a natural area unless a stormwater easement is present and the easement requires major maintenance. Major maintenance shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, maintenance of existing structures, cleaning of sediment and maintenance of access.
 - v. The Planning Commission shall approve, approve conditionally, table or disapprove such preliminary major subdivision plat. If approved with modification or waiver of certain requirements by the Planning Commission, the reasons therefore shall be specified. If approved conditionally, the conditions and reasons therefore shall be specified. In any conditional approval, the Planning Commission may require the subdivider to submit a revised preliminary major subdivision plat. If disapproved, the reasons for that action shall be stated, and if possible, the Planning Commission shall make recommendations on the basis of which the proposed subdivision may be approved.
- vi. The action of the Planning Commission shall be entered on the official records of the Planning Commission, including any conditions imposed and the reasons for any disapproval of a preliminary major subdivision plat.
- vii. Approval of a preliminary major subdivision plat by the Planning Commission is

- not an acceptance of the major subdivision plat for record, but is rather an expression of approval of a general plat for the final approval and recording upon fulfillment of all requirements of these regulations.
- viii. Approval shall be effective for a maximum period of twelve (12) months, unless upon application by the subdivider, the City Administrator or designee grants an extension. If the final major subdivision plat has not been submitted for final approval within this time limit, a preliminary major subdivision plat must again be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Commission for tentative approval.

5. Final approval – Major Subdivision Plats

- a. The applicant shall apply in writing to the City Administrator or designee for final approval of a major subdivision plat by the specified application deadline and on the proper form. All current owners of property within the plat shall sign or ratify the application form.
- b. The final plat shall comply with the provisions of Section 34-70 the engineering development application checklist as well as the following:
 - i. Either a copy of a current title insurance policy or a current attorney's opinion of ownership, running to the benefit of the City of Dickinson; and
 - A written statement that addresses preliminary plat conditions of approval or requirements recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission as well as any differences between the recommended preliminary plat and the proposed final plat.
- c. For proposed subdivision plats located within the City's extra-territorial area, an assurance of completion of the required improvements; (in a form acceptable to the Planning Commission), shall be required only if such improvements are not constructed and accepted prior to recording of the plat.
- d. For plats proposed within the Urban Service Area Boundary, the following shall be submitted if required by the City Administrator or their designee:
 - i. Grading plans for both rural section roadways to be constructed to serve the rural lots and future urban roadway sections to be constructed to serve the ghost platted future urban lots.
- ii. Master plans for the future extension of municipal water and sewer facilities to future urban lots.
- e. Application Requirements. The application for final plat approval shall be submitted to the Planning Director no later than the first Friday of each month for the following month's Planning and Zoning Commission meeting at which the application will be considered. The application shall consist of a form established by the Planning Director; the supporting documents required for Major

Subdivisions; and payment of fees, the amount of which shall be determined by the City Commission. Along with all updated agency comments required for submittal from the City of Dickinson Development application checklist. The final plat application shall include a proposed final version of a *Development Agreement*, following a format or template established by the City. The *Development Agreement* (DA) establishes the mutual responsibilities of city and developer, including financing of public improvements; the nature of performance bonds and/or the financing arrangements proposed for the subdivision, equal to 160% 130% of the applicant's estimate of the cost of required infrastructure to be affirmed by the City Administrator or designee as well as the cost of any additional review and inspection fees incurred as part of development as listed in Section 34.060 . Requests outside the city limits may require an Urban Service Boundary application and annexation request.

- f. The City Administrator or designee shall give notice of a public hearing on such proposed subdivision by advertising the time and place of such hearing in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Dickinson once each week for two (2) consecutive weeks prior to the date of such hearing. Not less than ten (10) days prior to date of the scheduled public hearing, the City shall attempt to notify all known adjacent property owners within three hundred (300) feet of the proposed major subdivision plat. The failure of adjacent property owners to actually receive the notice shall not invalidate the proceedings. The public hearing may be held at any regular or special meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission.
- g. After a public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission may act upon the request for final approval. If the Planning and Zoning Commission approves the subdivision, such will be a recommendation of approval to the Board of City Commissioners. If the Planning and Zoning Commission disapproves the subdivision, such action, together with the reasons therefor will be entered in the official records of the Planning and Zoning Commission and the subdivider shall be so notified.
- h. A final major subdivision plat that is approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission will be recommended for approval to the Board of City Commissioners. Following final approval by the Board of City Commissioners, a plat in recordable form shall be furnished to the City Administrator or designee within one hundred and eighty (180) days following approval. The City Administrator or designee may grant extensions in thirty (30) day increments for good cause shown in writing. Upon review and obtaining required signatures, the City Administrator or designee shall file and record the original signed final major subdivision plat with the Stark County Recorder. All final plats shall be provided digitally formatted to the City of Dickinson's current computer-aided drafting and geographic system software and policy, including coordinate system ties as defined within this zoning ordinance. The applicant shall provide the City with recordation fees prior to final recordation. (Ord No. 1541 § 1; Ord No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.050 Design Standards.

- 1. Streets and alleys
 - a. The arrangement, character, extent, width, grade, and location of all streets shall conform to the City's road standards and shall be considered in relation to existing and planned streets, to topographical conditions, and to

the proposed uses of lands to be served thereby.

- b. Where it is not shown on the road master plan, the arrangement of streets in a subdivision shall:
 - 1. Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing arterial and collector streets in surrounding areas; or
 - 2. Conform to a plan for the neighborhood approved or adopted by the Planning Commission to meet a particular situation where topographical or other conditions make continuance of or conformance to existing streets impractical. ÷
 - 3. Provide a minimum of two (2) points of ingress and egress:
- c. Where a subdivision abuts or contains an existing or proposed arterial street, the Planning Commission shall limit access to the arterial street and may require reverse frontage of lots with a screen planting contained in a non-access reservation along the rear property lines, deep lots with rear services alleys, or other treatment that it deems advisable to limit such access and to give adequate protection to residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic.
- d. Non-access lines shall be placed along all arterial streets and intersections thereof with the dimensions of same to be approved by the planning commission.
- e. Street jogs should be avoided, but if intersections cannot be aligned they should be separated by a minimum of 300 feet.
- f. A tangent at least one hundred (100) feet long shall be introduced between reverse curves on arterial and collector streets.
- g. When connecting street lines deflect from each other by more than five (5) degrees, they shall be connected by a curve of adequate radius to insure clear visibility for vehicles.
- h. Intersecting streets shall be laid out at as nearly right angles as possible, and no such angle of intersection shall be less than seventy-five (75) degrees.
- i. In all areas within the corporate limits of the City of Dickinson, unless otherwise shown on the Dickinson Comprehensive Plan and Transportation Plan, right-of-way and roadway widths shall be as follows:

Functional Classification	Minimum Right-of-Way (in feet)	Typical Roadway Width (in feet)
Principal Arterial	150	78
Minor Arterial	100	52
Collector	80	48
Local	70	40

If demonstrated by the applicant that special circumstances exist, the City Administrator or designee may adjust minimum required right-of-way widths.

j. In all areas approved as rural roadways, unless otherwise shown on the master plan, right-of-way and roadway widths shall be as follows:

	Minimum	Typical
Functional	Right-of-Way	Roadway
Classification	(in feet)	Width
		(in feet)
Principal Arterial	150	40
Minor Arterial	150	40
Collector	110	32
Local	80	28

If demonstrated by the applicant that special circumstances exist, the County Engineer or County Road Superintendent may adjust minimum required right-of-way widths.

Private streets shall meet, or exceed, the requirements of the city engineering and fire codes and shall not become a city maintenance liability. Each private street shall be evaluated by the city prior to installation. A Home Owners Association and/or business association shall be established by the developer to accept all future maintenance reasonability.

k. Half-streets shall be prohibited except where essential to the reasonable development of the subdivision in conformity with the other standards of these regulations, and where the Planning Commission finds it will be practicable to require the dedication of the other half-street when the adjoining property is subdivided. Wherever there exists a half-street adjacent to a tract to be subdivided, the other half of the street shall be platted within such tract.

Dead-end streets longer than 150 feet shall be prohibited except where an acceptable turnaround is provided as required by the city fire code.

- 1. The use of cul-de-sac streets shall be limited in order to promote a well-connected street network that provides for safe, direct and convenient access by vehicles, bicycles, and pedestrians. Cul-de-sac streets may be permitted in instances where there is no reasonable opportunity to provide for future connections to adjoining streets, including natural barriers such as topography or water features, man-made barriers such as railroad tracks, or to discourage through traffic between incompatible land uses. Detailed written justification for the use of cul-de-sac streets in proposed subdivision plats shall be provided as part of the plat application process. In such cases where cul-de-sacs are accepted by the City, the following standards shall apply:
 - i. The maximum overall length of a cul-de-sac shall be seven hundred-fifty (750) feet. The minimum throat length of a cul-de-sac shall be two hundred-thirty (230) feet. Such lengths shall be measured from the centerline intersection with the through street to the center point of the turnaround.
 - ii. The minimum drivable pavement diameter shall be 96 feet. Additional diameter may be necessary if required for municipal emergency service equipment. Right-of-way distances beyond required pavement shall be consistent with the connecting and/or adjacent road.
 - iii. Access easements may be required to provide current and/or future access connections from the turnaround terminus area to other streets, schools, neighborhood activity centers, or open space areas. Such access easements shall be included in a maintenance agreement with either a neighborhood association or governmental entities, subject to review and approval by the City and recorded as part of the subdivision plat approval process.
 - (a) Islands or medians within a cul-de-sac are subject to the following standards:
 - (b) Maintenance. Landscaped islands or medians shall be permitted provided a private association assumes responsibility for curb and landscape maintenance as well as other items identified in the development agreement. Maintenance agreements shall be reviewed and approved by the City and recorded as part of the subdivision plat approval process and included in draft protective covenants establishing an HOA or a POA.
 - (c) Parking. Islands and medians may provide off-street parking areas. All such parking shall be subject to review and approval by the City.
 - (d) Snow storage. Islands or medians, including any adjacent parking area shall be available for snow storage purposes by the City.
 - (e) The design of such proposed islands or medians shall be subject to review and approval by the City during the subdivision plat approval process.
 - (f) Landscaping within islands or medians shall be subject to the City's

- o. No street names will be used that will duplicate or be confused with the names of existing streets. Streets that are now or will eventually be continuations of existing streets shall be called by the names of the existing streets. The City shall be entitled to require specific street names within or outside of any subdivision.
- p. All streets shall have a grade of not less than three tenths (0.3) four-tenths (0.4) per cent. No arterial street shall have a grade in excess of five (5) six (6) per cent, and no other street shall have a grade in excess of eight (8) per cent except that roadways with grades not meeting these standards may be allowed where topography makes it impossible to meet normal standards. Intersection legs that will have stop controlled conditions should attempt to have a grade between 0.5 percent and 3.0 percent for a distance of 150 feet as measured from the center of the intersection. Roundabout intersections shall have grades between 0.5 percent and 3.0 percent through all portions of the roundabout.
- q. On rural road sections the following standards shall apply:
 - i. Adequate culverts shall be installed to handle all drainage, with a minimum size of eighteen (18) inches in diameter or equivalent. The owner shall present to the engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction two (2) copies of a report proposing the size, type, and location of all drainage structures. All drainage structures shall conform to current North Dakota Department of Transportation standard specifications. For drainage structures with drainage areas of over five (5) acres, the report shall include acceptable engineering calculations for the required hydraulic capacity. For drainage structures with drainage areas of over five (5) acres, the report shall include acceptable engineering calculations for the required hydraulic capacity. Written approval shall be obtained from the engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction prior to the installation of drainage structures.
 - ii. Rural subdivision roadways must be paved in accordance with the standards and specifications of the engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction (city or county). All approaches shall be paved in accordance with the standards and specifications of the engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction (city or county to the right-of-way line.
 - iii. All drainage under streets, private drives, and approaches must have culverts installed where required by the engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction or superintendent of roads.
 - iv. All streets must be constructed to an adequate height to insure proper snow clearance and removal. Any deviation from the minimum road section must have written approval of the engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction prior to construction. Protective covenants shall be filed by the owner to preserve

- the backslopes extending onto the lots.
- v. The engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction or superintendent of roads will inspect the completed roads in each subdivision before assuming responsibility and maintenance of the roads and streets to insure that the above standards, and those of the zoning and subdivision regulations, have been complied with.
- vi. No more than two (2) approaches onto a county or township road in any one thousand three hundred twenty (1,320) feet of distance will be allowed without prior approval of the Road Supervisor or engineer of the appropriate jurisdiction. No approach may be constructed without first having obtained an approach permit from the engineer of the respective jurisdiction.

2. **Easements**

- a. Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse, coulee, drainageway, channel, or stream, there shall be provided a storm water easement or drainage right-of-way conforming substantially to the lines of such watercourse, and such further width for construction that will be adequate for such purpose. Parallel streets or parkways may be required in connection with such drainage easement.
- b. There shall be a sidewalk construction and maintenance easement established on the front one foot of each lot except where this area is covered by a building.
- c. Utility easements shall be located in the front, side or rear of lots.
- d. Where a subdivision lot is impeded by an existing oil well site, there shall not be any building or structure of any residential use, educational use, institutional use, commercial office, retail use, or other place of assembly within 300 feet of an oil well.
- e. Where a subdivision is impeded by an above ground flammable or combustible liquids tank, buildings and streets shall meet the distance requirements of the city fire code.

3. Blocks

- a. Block length shall not exceed one thousand three hundred twenty (1,320) feet nor be less than three hundred (300) feet, measured from street center line to street center line.
- b. Pedestrian walkways/trails up to twelve (12) feet wide may be required in blocks longer than nine hundred (900) feet where such crosswalks are deemed by the planning commission to be essential to provide circulation, or access to schools, playgrounds, shopping centers, transportation, or other community facilities. Crosswalks may be six (6) feet wide if they are no more than one hundred fifty (150) feet in length.
- c. Blocks intended for business and industrial use should be designed for such purposes.

4. Lots

a. Lot dimensions and areas shall be no less than the underlying zoning district minimum lot, and shall be sized to accommodate on-site wastewater, storm water and water supply facilities as soil conditions require

- b. All lots shall abut on a street or other public or private right-of-way.
- c. Double frontage or reverse frontage lots shall not be permitted except where lots back onto arterial streets or highways, or where topographic or other conditions render subdividing in another fashion unreasonable. Such double frontage lots shall have an additional depth of at least twenty (20) feet over and above normal lot size in order to allow for a landscape buffer along the back lot line.
- d. Corner lots shall be of extra width sufficient to maintain building lines on both streets.
- e. Side lot lines shall be approximately at right angles or radial to street lines.

5. Parks and Recreational Spaces

- a. The Board of City Commissioners hereby finds that parks and recreational spaces provide a benefit to the general public and to the citizens of the City of Dickinson, and that adoption of an appropriate design policy for parks and recreational spaces within the City is for the general welfare of the City and its citizens.
- b. Land for Park District Purposes
 - i. The purpose of this section is to provide an equitable and effective development standard for securing adequate land for park district purposes, or funds for development of the same, in new residential subdivisions throughout the city or in areas of the city which are rezoned from some other land use to a residential land use. Proposals for provision of park land and/or funds for the development of park land shall meet with the approval of the City of Dickinson Park District.
 - ii. Any person applying for approval of a plat or zoning map amendment intended for any residential zoning request within the corporate limits of the City of Dickinson shall be obligated to first meet with the Board of Commissioners of the Park District of City of Dickinson. Such meeting shall be for the purpose of ascertaining whether the Park District desires to acquire land in such area for park district purposes. This meeting may take place following presentation of a sketch plat to the Planning Department. The Park District shall provide its comments and recommendations regarding the plat application or zoning application prior to any final action on the matter by the Dickinson Planning and Zoning Commission.
- iii. Any plat of any subdivision within city limits, when the same shall be designed, in whole or in part, for residential uses, shall provide that no less than seven percent (7%) of the combined area of land to be developed, exclusive of all other dedications, has been or will be conveyed to the Park District for any uses authorized by a park district

under North Dakota law. Such uses may include, pursuant to N.D.C.C. 40-49-12, the right to sell and convey the same. The Park District shall work in consultation with the planning and zoning commission in order to determine suitable locations for parks, playgrounds, trails, and recreational areas within the City of Dickinson.

Land so conveyed under this section shall be sufficient and suitable for use by the public as a park, playground, recreational space, trail, public space, green space, or other recreational area, and shall be acceptable to the Park District for park district purposes.

- iv. Any proposed plat of a planned unit development residential area, or any petition for rezoning from an existing classification to a planned unit development, shall be submitted to the Board of Commissioners of the Park District of City of Dickinson who shall have a reasonable opportunity to review the same and submit to the Planning Director their recommendations regarding such project. The planning and zoning commission shall then consider the recommendations of the park district regarding dedication of land, payment of funds in lieu thereof, whether the owners or developers of such PUD shall provide and maintain privately such parks, playgrounds or recreational areas which are proposed and any other reasonable recommendations which the park district may submit.
 - At the sole option of the Board of Commissioners of the Park District v. of City of Dickinson, the Park District may permit the owner or developer of residential property, or the applicant for approval of a plat or zoning designation, to make cash payment in lieu of the deeding to the Park District of seven percent (7%) of the total usable land area to be developed, exclusive of all other dedications, as provided in subsection (c). The Park District may further permit such owner or developer to make partial cash payment in lieu, in the event that the owner or developer conveys some land to the Park District for park purposes, but less than seven percent of the total land area to be developed exclusive of all other dedications. Such cash payment in lieu of land shall be intended to provide the Park District with a substantially equivalent economic benefit as if the Park District had received the land itself, as provided in subsection (c). Such payment in lieu of land shall be in amounts as may be determined by the Board of City Commissioners, and included, by resolution, in the annual City Fee Schedule. Such payment shall be calculated by the City, and shall be due and payable from the applicant for zoning at the time of zoning approval as a part of the application fee therefore. No zoning change shall be approved by the City prior to such payment being made. In the event of an application for replatting or rezoning of property already platted or zoned for residential uses, the applicant for such replatting or rezoning shall pay cash in lieu only for the difference between such rezoned residential use and the prior residential use previously paid for. However, an applicant seeking rezoning or replatting of a residential

land use shall not be permitted to receive any reimbursement of cash in lieu previously paid therefore. In the event that an applicant, owner, or developer cannot comply with the provisions of this Article, either by deeding seven percent (7%) of useable land to be developed or by paying cash in lieu therefore, the application for plat approval or application for zoning shall not be heard and considered by the City of Dickinson.

vi. Off-site assessment

- (a) Any party applying for a Limited Commercial, Downtown Commercial, Community Commercial, General Commercial, Limited Industrial, or General Industrial zoning designation on any property within the corporate limits of the City of Dickinson shall be assessed an off-site impact assessment for the Park District.
- (b) Such off-site impact assessment shall be in amounts as may be determined by the Board of City Commissioners, and included, by resolution, in the annual City Fee Schedule. The City shall work with the Park District to determine the amount of the off-site impact assessment.
- (c) Such payment shall be calculated by the City, and shall be due and payable from the applicant for zoning at the time of zoning approval as a part of the application fee therefore. No zoning change shall be approved by the City prior to such payment being made.
- (d) In the event that an applicant, owner, or developer cannot comply with the provisions of this Article by paying the off-site impact assessment therefore, the application for plat approval or application for zoning shall be denied.
- vii. Any or all of the requirements of this section may be waived upon a two-thirds majority vote of the entire planning and zoning commission. (Ord. No. 1491 § 1; Ord. No. 1684, § 1.)

Section 34.060 Improvements

1. Surety

- a. Prior to the construction of subdivision infrastructure, the City shall enter into an agreement with the developer and contractor regarding the construction of all public improvements. This agreement shall include specific dates of completion of improvements as well as an expiration date. This agreement shall be administered by the City Administrator or designee. The City Administrator or designee may determine whether a subdivision is exempt to this requirement based upon the size and nature of the subdivision.
- b. Before issuing a building permit for any structure within the city limits, the City shall require that the certain public improvements are either (1) constructed in place; or (2) assured of completion by

deposit with the City of Dickinson of sufficient surety equal to 130% of the city engineer's estimate of the cost of the following:

- i. Construction of all public infrastructure;
- ii. Warranty work; and
- iii. A contingency fund.

Such surety may be by certified check, performance bond, certificate of deposit, irrevocable letter of credit, or other instrument accessible to the City and approved by the City Attorney.

- c. Prior to the start of construction of public infrastructure the developer shall obtain a development permit from the City. The cost of the development permit shall cover the fees for plan reviews, inspections and administrative costs to the City. These fees shall be reflected in the City's fee schedule.
- d. The development permit shall be issued prior to work commencing on site.
- e. The surety shall be presented to the City at the time the final plat is presented for signature or recordation.
- f. Such surety shall be held by the City in order to ensure completion of the required public infrastructure, and shall be released in full by the City upon completion of the work and inspection and acceptance of the same by the City. The City may include provisions within the interlocal agreement to release portions of the surety based upon the completion of a certain percentage of the required public improvements after acceptance by the city engineer.
- g. In the event that the applicant or developer of the property should fail to construct or complete the required public improvements, the City shall be entitled to execute upon the surety and complete construction of the required public improvements.
- h. The public improvements for which the posting of surety shall be required are as follows:
 - i. Stormwater management;
 - ii. Storm Sewer;
 - iii. Stormwater prevention measures;
 - iv. Turf establishment;
 - v. Streets:
 - vi. Pavement markings;
 - vii. Sanitary sewer;
 - viii. Water;
 - ix. Survey;
 - x. Staking;
 - xi. Inspection;

- xii. Fences;
- xiii. Lighting;
- xiv. Sidewalk adjacent to public property;
- xv. Public space;
- xvi. Street signage;
- xvii. Mail box clusters;
- xviii. Private spaces maintained by HOA; and
 - xix. All other costs associated with the construction of public infrastructure.

Approval of Plans, Profiles and Specifications

- a. No public improvements shall be made unless and until all necessary plans, profiles and specifications therefor shall have been submitted to and approved by the City Engineer.
- b. The applicant will also provide documentation that proposed water and sewer improvements have been approved by the North Dakota Department of Health.
- c. At the time such plans, profiles and specifications are submitted for review, the City Engineer shall prepare an estimate of cost for office checking and field inspection of all improvements, which such costs may include the cost of third-party review by City engineering consultants.
- d. The applicant shall thereupon deposit with the City an amount of money equal to the estimated cost of such office checking.

2. **Building Permits**

- a. No Building Permit shall be issued by the City except where all of the requirements of this Chapter have been satisfied.
- b. No Building Permit shall be issued by the City unless a street giving access to such proposed structure is an existing street or unless such street appears on a recorded plat.
- c. At the time of filing an application for a Building Permit the applicant shall submit an acknowledgement by the City Administrator or designee that sufficient surety has been posted for completion of the public improvements.

3. Other Improvements

a. Other improvements which may be required by the City after a building permit is issued include:

- i. Sidewalks:
- ii. Landscaping;
- iii. Decorative lighting.
- b. If a homeowners association is proposed it shall be formed and assume all developer promised maintenance and ownership at a point where more than 50% of the land is owned by other parties than the developer. If the developer fails to organize at that point no more building permits would be issued for that development.
- c. Acceptance of Public Improvements
 - i. The City shall accept ownership and maintenance responsibility of all public improvements constructed within the City right-of-way only as provided herein.
 - (a) Upon completion of all of the public improvements, the applicant or developer of the property shall request final acceptance of the public improvements by the City. The developer shall submit appropriate documentation to the City Engineer or designee to indicate he roadways have been constructed in accordance with plans and specifications, which shall include, but not be limited to, the followings:
 - i. Inspection records;
 - ii. As built drawings;
 - iii. Product certifications;
 - iv. Shop drawings; and
 - v. Test results.
 - (b) The City Engineer or their designee shall make a final inspection of the public improvements and identify, in writing, a punch-list of any deficiencies.
 - (c) Such deficiencies shall be corrected by the applicant or developer of the subdivision prior to acceptance of the public improvements by the City.
 - (d) In the event that the applicant or developer of the subdivision fails to correct the punch-list deficiencies within ninety (90) days following the final inspection, the City may proceed to correct any such deficiencies and charge the cost thereof to the applicant and developer of the subdivision and to utilize bond to correct all unfinished or damaged improvements.
 - (e) A final acceptance form shall be presented by the City to the applicant or developer of the property. Once this form is signed and recorded the City shall accept ownership of the public improvements and shall be responsible for general maintenance of the public improvements. Any warranty work required after recording of the final acceptance form shall be at the expense

of the applicant/developer.

- ii. Until written acceptance is issued by the City Engineer, the applicant and developer of the subdivision shall retain ownership and maintenance responsibility for all public improvements including snow removal and electricity.
- iii. The acceptance of the final review and acceptance form will initiate a two (2) construction season warranty for all infrastructure improvements and will transfer operational and maintenance responsibility to the City in general. Sequencing of construction and City acceptance shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following:
 - (a) Standard specifications;
 - (b) standard drawings;
 - (c) development agreements; and
 - (d) Municipal separate stormwater systems for compliance with NPDES permit requirements; and
 - (e) Evaluation of the implementation statues of EPA stormwater regulations.

(Ord. No. 1491 § 1; Ord. No. 1541, § 1; Ord. No. 1545 § 2; Ord. No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.070 Specifications for Plats

Please reference the most recent city engineering development application checklist for platting specifications. This checklist is available at City Hall's Development desk, from city planning and engineering staff, or on the City's website. (Ord. No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.080 Variances

- 1. **Hardship**
 - a. Where it can be shown in the case of a particular proposed subdivision, that strict compliance with the requirements of these regulations would result in extraordinary hardship to the applicant or property owner because of unusual topography, soils, or other such conditions which would result in retarding the achievement of the objective of these regulations, then the Planning Commission may vary, modify or waive requirements so substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured; provided that such variance, modification or waiver will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of these regulations, or of the master plan.

- b. In no case shall any variance, modification or waiver be more than a minimum easing of the requirements; in no case shall it have the effect of reducing the traffic capacity of any arterial or collector street; in no case shall it be in conflict with the existing zoning regulations.
- c. In granting variances, modifications or waivers, the Planning Commission may require such conditions as will, in its judgment secure substantially the objectives of the standards and regulations so affected.

2. Large-scale development

a. These regulations may be modified by the Planning Commission in the case of a plan for a planned unit development which provides such covenants, financial guarantees, and other legal assurance that the plan will be followed and will be achieved. (Ord. No. 1541, § 1; Ord. No. 1684, § 1.)

Section 34.090 Fees.

- 1. In order to cover the costs of examining plans, advertising and holding public hearings, and other expenses incidental to the approval of a subdivision, the applicant shall pay a fee at the time of application for a lot modification, a minor subdivision plat or tentative approval of a preliminary major subdivision plat. If, because of the failure of the applicant to submit a final major subdivision plat within twelve (12) months after receiving tentative approval of a preliminary major subdivision plat, it is necessary to resubmit a preliminary major subdivision plat for tentative approval, the applicant shall be required to pay the fee currently in effect at the time of resubmission.
- 2. The fees to be charged and collected for consideration of any application for a major subdivision plat, subdivision plat vacation, lot modification or minor subdivision plat shall be established by the Board of City Commissioners and shall be collected at the time of filing of an application.
- 3. All fees established by this section are in addition to any sums paid to cover the costs of review of improvement plans and field inspection of construction required under this chapter and other provisions of the Dickinson Municipal Code. (Ord. No. 1541, § 1.)
- 4. In some cases additional fees may be charged to recover city costs for plan review or inspections as deemed necessary by the city engineer. (Ord. No. 1541, § 1; Ord. No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.100 Penalties.

Any owner or the agent of any owner of land located within a subdivision, who transfers, sells or negotiates to sell any such land by reference to or exhibition of a plat of a subdivision or by any other use thereof before such plat has been approved by the planning and zoning commission and governing body and recorded as approved by the planning and zoning commission in the office of the register of deeds, shall forfeit and pay a penalty of one hundred dollars for each lot or parcel transferred or sold or agreed or negotiated to be sold. The description of such lot or parcel by metes and bounds in the instrument of transfer or other document used in the process of selling or transferring shall not exempt the transaction from such penalties or from the remedies provided in this section. The municipality may enjoin such transfer, sale or agreement by an action for injunction or it may recover the penalty by a civil action. (Ord. No. 1541, § 1; Ord. No. 1684 § 1) For similar state law, see NDCC, § 40-48-23.

Section 34.110 Vacation of Plats.

Any property owner wishing to vacate a previously approved and recorded plat or any part thereof must follow the same procedures as those required for plat approval and outlined in this chapter. Fees for processing requests for vacations are listed in the City's current fee schedule as found on the City's website and/or at City Hall. (Ord. No. 1541, § 1; Ord. No. 1684 § 1)

Section 34.120 Vacation of Easements.

The procedure hereinafter set forth may be used as an alternative to the procedure set forth in NDCC §40-39 for the vacation of utility easements.

- 1. No utility easement shall be vacated by the City except on a petition signed by all of the owners of the property upon which to utility easement to be vacated is located. Such petition shall set for the facts and reasons for the vacation, shall be accompanied by a plat of the utility easement to be vacated, and shall be verified by the oath of the petitioner.
- 2. If the City Engineer finds that the petition for vacation is in proper form and contains the proper signatures, the City Engineer or designee shall give notice by publication in the official newspaper of the City that the petition will be considered by the Board of City Commissioners on a certain specified date, not less than seven (7) days following publication of the notice. The City Engineer may cause additional notice to be given to adjoining property owners as the City Engineer may deem necessary.
- 3. Prior to consideration of the petition by the Board of City Commissioners, the City Engineer or designee shall provide a copy

of the petition to all utility companies (including, but not limited to, electrical, gas, telephone, and cable television) which may be affected by the vacation. Consent of all such utility companies shall be required prior to any action by the Board of City Commissioners to vacate such easement.

- 4. The Board of City Commissioners shall investigate and consider the matter set forth in the petition. At the time and place specified in the notice, the Board of City Commissioners shall her testimony and evidence of the persons interested is such petition to vacate the easement. After public hearing, the Board of City Commissioners, by a resolution passed by a two-thirds vote of all of its members, may declare the utility easement described in the petition to be vacated upon such terms and conditions as it shall deem just and reasonable.
- 5. The resolution shall be filed for record and duly recorded in the Office of the Recorder, and such resolution shall have the effect of conveying to the abutting property owners all of the right, title, and interest of the municipality to the easement vacated.
- 6. All expenses incurred in vacating any utility easement shall be paid by the petitioners, who shall deposit with the City such sum as may be necessary before any such expense is incurred. The amount to be deposited shall be determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners in its fee schedule. (Ord. No. 1541, § 1; Ord. No. 1684 § 1)

Chapter 35 SALES AND USE TAX

Last updated January 2018

Sections:

- 35.010 Definitions
- 35.020 Sales tax imposed
- 35.030 Use tax imposed
- 35.040 Exemptions
- 35.050 Maximum tax imposed
- 35.060 Collection and administration
- 35.070 Contract with state tax commissioner
- 35.080 Corporate officer liability
- 35.090 Dedication of tax proceeds
- 35.100 Effective date
- 35.110 Termination
- 35.120 Lodging and restaurant tax
- 35.125 Hospitality Tax
- 35.130 Visitors committee for lodging and restaurant tax

Section 35.010 Definitions

All terms defined in chapter 57.39-2 NDCC, and chapter 57-40.2 NDCC, including all future amendments, are adopted by reference. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.020 Sales tax imposed

Except as otherwise provided in this article, a tax of one and one-half percent is imposed upon the gross receipts of retailers from all retail sales within the corporate limits of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, of the following:

- (a) Tangible personal property, consisting of goods, wares, or merchandise.
- (b) The furnishing or service of gas, communication services, or steam other than steam used for processing agricultural products.
- (c) Tickets or admissions to places of amusement or entertainment or athletic events, including amounts charged for participation in an amusement, entertainment, or athletic activity, and including the playing of any machine for amusement or entertainment in response to the use of a coin.
- (d) Magazines and other periodicals.
- (e) The leasing or renting of a hotel or motel room or tourist court accommodations.
- (f) The leasing or renting of tangible personal property, the transfer of title to which has not been subjected to a retail sales tax under this chapter.
- (g) Sales of alcoholic beverages and tobacco products as defined in section 57-39.2-03.2 NDCC.
- (h) Furnishing and installment or attachment to real property in this state by a contractor or a subcontractor who is a retailer of drapes, hardware for hanging drapes, or carpet for floor covering. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1; Ord. 1233 § 1.)

Section 35.030 Use tax imposed

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a use tax of one and one-half percent is imposed on the storage, use or consumption, in the city on:

- (a) The purchase price of tangible personal property purchased at retail for storage, use, or consumption within the city.
- (b) The fair-market value of tangible personal property which was not originally purchased for storage, use or consumption in the city, at the time which it is brought into this city.
- (c) Alcoholic beverages and tobacco products which are stored, used or consumed in this city, as provided in section 57-39.2-03.2 NDCC.
- (d) The purchase price of tangible personal property used by a contractor or subcontractor to fulfill a contract as defined in section 57-40.2-03.3 NDCC. This tax applies only to bids submitted on or after July 1, 1990. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1; Ord. 1233 § 2.)

Section 35.040 Exemptions

All sales, storage, use, or consumption of tangible personal property which are exempt from imposition and computation of the sales or use tax of the state are specifically exempt from the provisions of this article. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.050 Maximum tax imposed

No single transaction involving one or more items is subject to a tax in excess of one hundred dollars. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1; Ord. 1233 § 3; Ord. 1624 § 1 Ord. 1627 § 1.)

Section 35.060 Collection and administration

The tax commissioner and the city auditor for the city shall have the powers enumerated in the provisions of chapter 57-39.2 NDCC and chapter 57-40.2 NDCC relating to the collection and administration of the state sales and use tax, including all administrative rules adopted by the tax commissioner. The tax commissioner is authorized to establish rate tables integrating the tax imposed by this chapter with other state, county and city taxes. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.070 Contract with state tax commissioner

The city auditor is hereby authorized to contract with the tax commissioner for the administration and collection of taxes imposed by this chapter. The city auditor has all powers granted the commissioner and in the absence of a valid contract with the commissioner or failure of the commissioner to perform the delegated duties, shall perform these duties in place of the commissioner. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.080 Corporate officer liability

Officers of any corporation required to remit taxes imposed by this article are personally liable for the failure of the corporation to file required returns or remit required payments. The dissolution of a corporation shall not discharge an officer's liability for a prior failure of the

corporation to make a return or remit the tax due. The tax, penalty, and interest due may be assessed and collected pursuant to the provisions adopted by this chapter. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.090 Dedication of tax proceeds

- (a) All revenues raised and collected from the one percent sales and use tax initially adopted on July 1, 1990, less administrative expenses, shall be dedicated as follows:
 - (1) Fifty percent of said revenues shall be dedicated to bonded indebtedness, property tax reduction, and infrastructure (streets, water and sewer).
 - (2) Thirty percent of said revenues shall be dedicated to capital improvements to enhance social and economic vitality of Dickinson and the Southwest area.
 - (3) Twenty percent of said revenues shall be dedicated to job creation and senior citizen activities. All revenue shall be maintained in a fund, to be known as the sales tax fund, separate and apart from all other funds, except as provided by this section.
- (b) All revenues raised and collected from the additional one-half percent sales and use tax adopted by Ordinance No. 1233, less administrative expenses, shall be dedicated as follows:
 - (1) Construction of a public building (community center) to be used for the purpose of an aquatic center, gymnasium and related uses, which may include pledging such sales and use tax revenues to the payment of bond issued for such construction in anticipation of the collection and receipt of such sales and use tax, and if so pledged, the sales and use tax may not be repealed so long as any such bonds or bonds refunding the bonds are outstanding; or
 - (2) Operation, maintenance and repair expenses for a public building (community center) to be used for the purpose of an aquatic center, gymnasium and related uses; or
 - (3) Property tax reduction and infrastructure (streets, water and sewer).
- (c) The board of city commissioners shall determine the amount by which the bonded debt and the property tax levy shall be reduced each year prior to the adoption of the city's budget.
- (d) In the event that the board of city commissioners desires to change the distribution formula herein created and the board of city commissioners has so determined the necessity of such changes, the board of city commissioners shall call for an election for any change or modification of a sales tax in the city.
- (e) Revenues and any income therefrom shall accumulate in the sales tax fund until expended by the board as permitted by this section. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1; Ord. No. 1100, § 1; Ord. 1233 § 4; Ord. No. 1351 §1.)

Section 35.100 Effective date

The tax shall be implemented and take effect on July 1, 1990. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.110 Termination

The board of city commissioners shall refer to a vote of electorate, no later than July 1, in the fifth year following the year in which the ordinance codified in this chapter takes effect, the

question of whether said ordinance shall be repealed or continued in effect. If a majority of qualified voters voting on the question vote to repeal the ordinance, it shall be repealed effective at midnight on March 31 of the following year. (Ord. No. 1040, § 1.)

Section 35.120 Lodging and restaurant tax

In accordance with a resolution adopted May 17, 1982, the city of Dickinson imposes a two-percent tax on the gross receipts of retailers on the leasing or renting of hotel, motel, or tourist court accommodations within the City for periods of less than one month. All proceeds of this tax, less administration costs shall be deposited in the city visitor's promotion fund, up to \$800,000. Once the annual deposits into the city's visitor's promotion fund reach \$800,000, the City Commission shall, by resolution, determine the dedication and use of all further funds collected under this tax. (Ord. No. 1074, § 1; Ord. No. 1088, § 4; Ord. No. 1091, § 1; Ord. No. 1149 § 1, Ord. No. 1426 § 1, Ord. No. 1630 § 1)

Section 35.125 Hospitality Tax

Under the authority of NDCC 40-57.3, and its home rule authority, the City imposes a one-percent (1%) tax on gross receipts, which is separate from the lodging sales tax imposed under Dickinson Municipal Code 35.120 and the sales tax imposed under Dickinson Municipal Code 35.020 on the following: 1. the leasing or renting of hotel, motel, or tourist court accommodations within the City for periods of less than one month; 2. the gross receipts of a restaurant from any sales of prepared food or beverages, which are subject to state sales taxes. For purposes of this section, "restaurant" means any place where food is prepared and intended for individual position service for consumption on or off the premises and "prepared" includes heating prepackaged food; and 3. Other accommodations, food, and beverages are all, each, or in any combination subject to the tax under this section, if all items in any category which are taxable under state law are taxable, except as otherwise provided by chapter NDCC 40.57.03. An owner of an establishment licensed to engage in the sale of alcoholic beverages that is not required to pay the tax may voluntarily pay the tax to become a qualified alcoholic beverage licensee for the purposes of sections 4.08.270 and 4.08.280. Failure to continuously pay the tax will void the remaining term of the permit and the licensee will be ineligible for any additional permit. A portion of the proceeds will be deposited in the visitor's promotion capital construction reserve account within the fund. The City Commission may transfer funds from the visitor's promotion capital construction fund to the visitor's promotion fund. A portion not exceeding \$50,000 of total revenues are dedicated to support of Dickinson visitor attraction through a grant program to special projects and programs. The grant program will be established by the visitors committee, which will also oversee the program and recommend grant awards to the City Commission. (Ord. No. 1149 § 1; Ord. No. 1184, § 14; Ord. No. 1373 §1; Ord. No. 1426 § 1, Ord. No. 1631 §1)

Section 35.130 Visitors committee for lodging and restaurant tax

There is hereby created a visitor's committee, which shall serve as an advisory committee to the City Commission in administering the proceeds of taxes available to the City under Sections 35.120 and 35.125. The committee shall be appointed by the Board of City

Commissioners. The appointees shall serve without compensation, except for reimbursement for necessary expenses. (Ord. 1076, § 1; Ord. No. 1149 § 1; Ord. No. 1426 § 1.)

Chapter 36 TAXICABS AND OTHER VEHICLES FOR HIRE

Last updated February 2016

Articles:

36.ED Editor's note to Chapter 36

36.04 In General

36.08 Taxicab License

36.12 Driver's License

36.16 Buses and Omnibuses

Article 36.ED Editor's note to Chapter 36

Sections:

36.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 36

Section 36.ED.010 Editor's note to Chapter 36

As to stopping, standing and parking of buses, see § 23.76.110. As to stopping, standing and parking of taxicabs, see § 23.76.160. As to bus stops and taxicab stands, see § 23.80.010.

Article 36.04 In General

Amended by Ord. No. 1583.

Article 36.04 Taxicab Licensing

Sections:	
36.04.010	Statement of Purpose
36.04.020	Definitions
36.04.030	Taxicab License Required - Penalty
36.04.040	Taxicab Licensing Procedures – Business Applicants
36.04.050	Chauffeur Licensing Procedures – Driver Applicants
36.04.060	Revocation of License
36.04.070	Taximeters
36.04.080	Schedule of fares
36.04.090	Taxicabs - Requirements
36.04.100	Hours of Operation
36.04.110	Individual Service
36.04.120	No Delivery of Alcoholic Beverages and tobacco Products
36.04.130	Riders Prohibited
36.04.140	Direct Route
36.04.150	No Smoking
36.04.160	Non-Interference
36 04 170	Lost articles Delivered to Police

Section 36.04.010 Statement of Purpose

- A. The board of City Commissioners hereby finds that it is necessary and appropriate, and in the best interests of the public health, safety, and welfare, to provide for the regulation of taxicabs, buses, and others pursuing like occupations. Authority to license, tax, regulate, and prescribe rates for taxi drivers, bus drivers, and others pursuing like occupations is expressly granted to municipalities pursuant to NDCC §40-05-01(27).
- B. This Chapter 36 is adopted under the general police powers of the City of Dickinson as a regulatory measure, and does not and is not intended to grant a franchise to any person or entity, but is intended solely to regulate the operation of taxicabs and other vehicles for hire.
- C. This Chapter 36 governs the operation of vehicles for hire and ground transportation services in the City of Dickinson; provided, however, that this Chapter does not apply to the following:
 - 1) A vehicle operated for a funeral home in the performance of funeral services;
 - A vehicle provided by an employer or employee association for use in transporting employees between the employees' homes and the employer's place of business or between work stations, with the employees reimbursing the employer or employee association in an amount calculated only to offset the reasonable expenses of operating the vehicle;
 - 3) A vehicle owned and operated by the federal or state government, by a political subdivision of the state, or by a person under contract with the city for operation of the vehicle;

- 4) A vehicle used in a carpool to transport the person and others on prearranged basis between their homes and places of employment or places of common destination, if only a fee calculated to reasonably cover expenses is charged;
- 5) A vehicle used to transport children to or from school if only a fee calculated to reasonably cover expenses is charged;
- A vehicle owned by a nonprofit organization and carrying only passengers associated with that organization, if no compensation is received from any other person for carrying the passengers;
- 7) A courtesy vehicle, if the name of the business or sponsor of such vehicle is permanently affixed to the outside of the vehicle.

Section 36.04.020 Definitions

- A. Taxicab: A motor vehicle offering carriage of passengers for hire upon the public streets, whether by means of dispatch from a centralized location, accepting on demand response hails from passengers on a public street, or other public or private are accessible to the public. Each Taxicab shall be equipped with one taximeter, which shall be used every time the taxicab is engaged. Each Taxicab shall be limited to carrying no more than six passengers, provided further that the maximum passengers allowable, up to six, shall be determined by the number of available seatbelts for passengers in the Taxicab.
- B. Taximeter: an instrument or device that operates in conjunction with an affixed device in a Taxicab which automatically calculates at predetermined rates and plainly displays the charges to the passenger of a Taxicab. The taximeter shall be the only instrument authorized to calculate fares in a Taxicab. Any device which calculates fares charged to passengers for taxicab service, including devices which operate remotely based upon vehicle location technology, and which bases said fares upon time and distance, is considered a Taximeter, and must be approved by the City Administrator or his designee, irrespective of whether such device is a portable or handheld device, monitor, smart phone, or other electronic device or unit.
- C. Taxicab Fleet: Two or more Taxicabs owned and operated by the same business entity.

<u>Section 36.04.030 Taxicab License Required – Penalty</u>

- A. No person, firm, corporation, or other entity shall operate or permit to be operated any Taxicab or other vehicle for the purpose of carrying passengers for hire within the City of Dickinson without having first obtained a Taxicab license under the provisions of this Chapter.
- B. The Taxicab license issued under this Chapter shall be prominently displayed within the Taxicab and available upon demand for inspection by any Taxicab rider or customer, or by any law enforcement officer acting on behalf of the City of Dickinson. The Taxicab Identification Number issued in association with the Taxicab license shall be prominently displayed on the outside of the Taxicab on the right and left front and rear fenders of the Taxicab and on the trunk of the Taxicab in a font and size approved by the City Administrator or his designee.
- C. It shall be a Class B Misdemeanor for any person to operate or permit to be operated a Taxicab or other vehicle for hire without first obtaining from the City a Taxicab license under the provisions of this Chapter, to fail to prominently display such license within the

Taxicab, or fail to prominently display the trademark or logo of the Taxicab business on the Taxicab in a font and size approved by the City Administrator or his designee. Violation of this Section shall be punishable by a fine of not less than \$1,000 per occurrence. An occurrence shall be deemed to be each fare collected, and each occurrence shall be deemed a separate and distinct violation.

Section 36.04.040 Taxicab Licensing Procedures – Business Applicants

- A. Any person over the age of twenty-one (21) years who owns and operates a Taxicab business may apply for a Taxicab license from the City of Dickinson by submitting a fully-completed application therefore on the application form prescribed by the City Administrator or his designee, and by paying the license fee in an amount established by the Board of City Commissioners and incorporated in the City Fee Schedule.
- B. Along with the taxicab license application and fee, the applicant shall submit to the City the following:
 - (1) Full legal name of the business owner applying for the license, and other appropriate contact information including physical address, mailing address, phone number and email address for the business owner
 - (2) Full legal name of the business applying for the license, and other appropriate contact information including physical address, mailing address, phone number and email address for the business.
 - Business location(s) where the Taxicab will be stored when not in use, and where any required maintenance will be performed. Such business location(s) shall be permitted in commercial, industrial and residential zones. Parking of Taxicab Fleets in residential zones is strictly prohibited. Heavy maintenance of any kind including but not limited to engine and transmission repair on a Taxicab or Taxicab fleet in a residential zone is strictly prohibited.
 - (4) If the owner of the business will be operating a Taxicab, a copy of a valid North Dakota driver's license for the business owner
 - (5) Documentation that the business is registered with the North Dakota Secretary of State and is in active and good standing with the North Dakota Secretary of State.
 - (6) Identification of each vehicle the applicant seeks to license as a Taxicab within the City of Dickinson. Such identification shall be made by year, make, model, and VIN# of the vehicle.
 - (7) Evidence of insurance for each vehicle for which the applicant seeks a Taxicab license, including those owned by individual drivers but which are used in the operation of the Taxicab business. Such insurance shall be in the form of a commercial automobile insurance policy. Individual, private, or personal automobile insurance policies shall not be acceptable. Such insurance policy shall be issued by an insurance company authorized to conduct business in the State of North Dakota, and shall provide for policy limits of not less than \$500,000 for injury or

damage to one person and not less than \$1,000,000 for injury or damage in one accident. The City of Dickinson shall be listed as a Certificate Holder on each such policy of insurance. The policy of insurance filed with the City shall contain a clause obligating the company issuing the same to give at least ten (10) days' notice to the City Administrator before cancellation of the policy. Any taxicab license issued under this Chapter shall immediately and automatically expire upon lapse or termination of said policy. Upon cancellation of the policy, the licensee shall provide documentation of the cancellation to the City Administrator or his designee.

- (8) If the owner of the business applicant will be operating the Taxicab, a list of all alcohol offenses committed by the business owner, , in any jurisdiction, in the seven (7) years immediately preceding the date of the application.
- (9) If the owner of the business will be operating the Taxicab, a list of all felony convictions against the business owner in any jurisdiction, in the seven (7) years immediately preceding the date of the application.
- (10) If the owner of the business will be operating the Taxicab, a statement as to whether the business owner has ever been required to register as a sex offender in any jurisdiction, and whether the business owner would be required to register as a sex offender under the state and federal laws currently in effect.
- (11) A drawing of similar size and font of the business' trademark or logo that will be prominently displayed and permanently affixed on each Taxicab to be licensed under this Chapter,
- (12) A proposed schedule of fares to be uniformly charged by the business in the operation of the Taxicab business
- (13) Signed statement by the applicant as follows:

The applicant hereby does expressly agree that he or she shall follow and agree to abide by and obey all applicable laws of the State and all applicable ordinances of the City, in particular as such laws and ordinances may pertain to motor vehicles and the carrying of persons for reward. The applicant further hereby does expressly consent that any person(s) duly authorized by the City of Dickinson may enter upon the taxicab subject to this license at any reasonable hour of the day or night including all hours in which the taxicab is occupied, and at such times they shall have free access to all portions of the taxicab for the purpose of inspecting the same for any possible violations of laws of the State of North Dakota or ordinances of the City of Dickinson.

- C. Applications for a Taxicab license shall be reviewed by and subject to the approval of the Board of City Commissioners. No license shall be issued to any applicant or entity who:
 - (1) is found to have falsified any part or portion of the license application or any materials submitted therewith.

- (2) does not identify a valid business location for the Taxicab business.
- (3) does not possess a valid North Dakota driver's license if the owner of the business will be operating the Taxicab.
- (4) is unable or unwilling to provide valid evidence of insurance as required in the license application.
- (5) has a business owner who has committed an alcohol violation as identified in the application
- (6) has a business owner who has been convicted of a felony as identified in the application
- (7) has a business owner who has been or would be required to register as a sex offender as identified in the application.
- (8 refuses or fails to submit a complete and whole application as required under this Chapter.
- (9) is not licensed with the North Dakota Secretary of State to do business in North Dakota.
- (10) who is otherwise deemed by the Board of City Commissioners to be unsuitable or unfit for the occupation of being a common carrier of persons or operating a Taxicab.
- D. Licenses issued by the Board of City Commissioners shall run from January 1st to December 31st of each calendar year. The license fee shall not be prorated for applications received mid-year.
- E. All licenses issued under the provisions of this Chapter shall be given a number by the City Administrator or his designee. All Taxicabs licensed under the provisions of this Chapter shall also be given a Taxicab Identification Number specific to the Taxicab business. A record of the issuance of such licenses, trademarks and logos of all Taxicabs licensed under this Chapter shall be kept by the City and available for public inspection. If the business owner applicant will be operating a Taxicab, then the business owner applicant shall also be issued a personal identification card by the City Administrator or his designee identifying the business owner licensee as a licensed Taxicab operator. The personal identification card must be carried on the business owner licensee during licensee's operation of a Taxicab and made available for public inspection. A record of the issuance of such business licenses and personal identification cards shall be kept by the City and available for public inspection.
- F. No license issued under this Chapter shall be transferable to any other person, business, partnership, corporation, or other entity.

<u>Section 36.04.050</u> <u>Chauffeur Licensing Procedures – Driver Applicants</u>

A. Any person over the age of twenty-one (21) years may apply for a chauffeurs license from the City of Dickinson, which shall be required for the applicant to operate a Taxicab for a Taxicab business with a valid Taxicab license issued by the City of Dickinson, by submitting a fully-completed application therefore on the application form prescribed by the City Administrator or his designee, and by

- paying the license fee in an amount established by the Board of City Commissioners and incorporated in the City Fee Schedule for Chauffeurs Licenses.
- B. Along with the chauffeurs license application and fee, the driver applicant shall submit to the City the following:
 - 1. Full legal name of the person applying for the chauffeurs license, and other appropriate contact information including physical address, mailing address, phone number and email address
 - 2. Full legal name of the Taxicab business under which the driver applicant is employed or has an offer of employment conditional upon receipt of a chauffeurs license.
 - 3. location(s) where the Taxicab will be stored when in use by the driver applicant, and where any required maintenance will be performed when in possession of driver applicant.
 - 4. Statement from applicant acknowledging that the Parking of Taxicab fleets in residential zones is strictly prohibited. Heavy maintenance of any kind including but not limited to engine and transmission repair on a Taxicab or Taxicab Fleet in a residential zone is strictly prohibited.
 - 5. Copy of a valid North Dakota driver's license for the driver applicant.
 - 6. Identification of each vehicle the driver applicant seeks to license as a Taxicab within the City of Dickinson. Such identification shall be made by year, make, model, and VIN# of the vehicle.
 - Evidence of insurance for each vehicle for which the driver applicant seeks a chauffeur's license. Such insurance shall be in the form of a commercial automobile insurance policy. Individual, private, or personal automobile insurance policies shall not be acceptable. Such insurance policy shall be issued by an insurance company authorized to conduct business in the State of North Dakota, and shall provide for policy limits of not less than \$500,000 for injury or damage to one person and not less than \$1,000,000 for injury or damage in one accident. The City of Dickinson shall be listed as a Certificate Holder on each such policy of insurance. The policy of insurance filed with the City shall contain a clause obligating the company issuing the same to give at least ten (10) days' notice to the City Administrator before cancellation of the policy. Any Taxicab license issued under this Chapter shall immediately and automatically expire upon lapse or termination of said policy. Upon cancellation of the policy, the licensee shall provide documentation of the cancellation to the City Administrator or his designee.
 - 8. List of all alcohol offenses committed by the driver applicant, in any jurisdiction, in the seven (7) years immediately preceding the date of the application.
 - 9. List of all felony convictions against the driver applicant, in any jurisdiction, in the seven (7) years immediately preceding the date of the application.

- 10. Statement as to whether the driver applicant has ever been required to register as a sex offender in any jurisdiction and whether the driver applicant would be required to register as a sex offender under the state and federal laws currently in effect.
- 11. Signed statement by the driver applicant as follows:

The driver applicant hereby does expressly agree that he or she shall follow and agree to abide by and obey all applicable laws of the State and all applicable ordinances of the City, in particular as such laws and ordinances may pertain to motor vehicles and the carrying of persons for reward. The driver applicant further hereby does expressly consent that any person(s) duly authorized by the City of Dickinson may enter upon the taxicab subject to this license at any reasonable hour of the day or night including all hours in which the taxicab is occupied, and at such times they shall have free access to all portions of the taxicab for the purpose of inspecting the same for any possible violations of laws of the State of North Dakota or ordinances of the City of Dickinson.

- C. Applications for a chauffeur's license shall be reviewed by and subject to the approval of the City Administrator or his designee. No license shall be issued to any person who:
 - 1. is found to have falsified any part or portion of the license application or any materials submitted therewith.
 - 2. does not identify a valid location for the Taxicab when in driver applicant's possession if applicable.
 - 3. does not possess a valid North Dakota driver's license.
 - 4. is unable or unwilling to provide valid evidence of insurance as required in the license application.
 - 5. has committed an alcohol violation as identified in the application
 - 6. has been convicted of a felony as identified in the application
 - 7. has been or would be required to register as a sex offender as identified in the application.
 - 8. refuses or fails to submit a complete and whole application as required under this Chapter.
 - 9. who is otherwise deemed by the City Administrator or his designee to be unsuitable or unfit for the occupation of being a common carrier of persons or operating a taxicab.
- D. Chauffeurs licenses issued by the City Administrator or his designee shall run from January 1st to December 31st of each calendar year. The license fee shall not be prorated for applications received mid-year.
- E. All chauffeurs licenses issued under the provisions of this Chapter shall be given a number by the City Administrator or his designee. All licensees under this Chapter shall also be given a personal identification card issued by the City Administrator or his designee identifying the licensee as a licensed Taxicab operator. The personal identification card must be carried on the licensee during licensee's operation of a Taxicab and made available for public inspection. A

- record of the issuance of such chauffeurs licenses and personal identification cards shall be kept by the City and available for public inspection.
- F. No chauffeurs license issued under this Chapter shall be transferable to any other person, business, partnership, corporation, or other entity.

Section 36.04.060 Revocation of License

- A. No licensee under this Chapter shall obtain or accede to any property right in such license.
- B. Any Taxicab license issued by the City under the provisions of this Chapter shall be revocable for any cause which, in the reasonable judgment of the Board of City Commissioners, demonstrates that the business licensee is unfit or improper to operate a Taxicab business within the City of Dickinson. Such finding of cause by the Board of City Commissioners shall be sufficient to justify revocation of the license. Such cause shall include:
 - (1) The licensee fails to maintain a policy of commercial automobile insurance in force upon the Taxicab vehicle as required under this Chapter.
 - (2) The licensee allows a driver who is convicted of any two or more moving violations during any continuous one year period to operate a Taxicab licensed under this Chapter.
 - (3) The licensee allows a driver who is convicted of a violation, in any jurisdiction, of an alcohol offense, including but not limited to, driving under the influence of alcohol or intoxicating drugs to operate a Taxicab licensed under this Chapter.
 - (4) The licensee allows a driver who is convicted of a felony offense in any jurisdiction including any sexual offense that requires the registration as a sexual offender to operate a Taxicab licensed under this Chapter.
 - (5) The licensee is not active and in good standing with the North Dakota Secretary of State.
- C. Any chauffeurs license issued by the City under the provisions of this Chapter shall be revocable for any cause which, in the reasonable judgment of the City Administrator or his designee demonstrates that the chauffeur licensee is unfit or improper to operate a Taxicab within the City of Dickinson. Such finding of cause by the City Administrator or his designee shall be sufficient to justify revocation of the license. Such cause shall include:
 - (1) The licensee is no longer a licensed driver in the State of North Dakota, or has such North Dakota driver's license suspended, revoked, or cancelled.
 - (2) The licensee fails to maintain a policy of commercial automobile insurance in force upon the Taxicab vehicle as required under this Chapter.
 - (3) The licensee is convicted of any two or more moving violations during any continuous one year period.

- (4) The licensee is convicted of a violation, in any jurisdiction, of an alcohol offense, including but not limited to, driving under the influence of alcohol or intoxicating drugs.
- (5) The licensee is convicted of a felony offense in any jurisdiction including any sexual offense that requires the registration as a sexual offender.
- E. Sanctions or penalties under this section may not be invoked without a public hearing if requested by the licensee. Upon written notification to the licensee by the City Administrator that a penalty is being sought under this section, the licensee may notify the City Administrator's office within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification and request a hearing on the proposed penalty. Failure to notify the City Administrator within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification will be deemed acceptance of the penalty without hearing.
- F. For sanctions or penalties regarding a Taxicab license, a hearing shall be set before the Board of City Commissioners specifying the time and place of the hearing, and shall be served on the licensee in the same manner as provided by law for the service of a Summons in a civil action. No suspension hearing shall be held before the expiration of fifteen (15) days after the date of service of the notice. A record of any hearing shall be made by electronic recording device. If, upon such hearing, it appears to a majority of the Board of City Commissioners that sufficient cause exists for the penalty sanctions, the Board of City Commissioners shall make its order in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. Instead of revoking such Taxicab license, for a violation of any of the provisions of subsection B(1)-(5) above or for such other cause as to him may make such course necessary or advisable, the Board of City Commissioners may suspend such license for a period not to exceed 60 days with conditions to be determined by the Board of City Commissioners. Upon successful completion of the conditions, the licensee may apply to renew its Taxicab license. The Board of City Commissioners shall further issue its findings, conclusions and order which shall be served upon the licensee. The order is appealable pursuant to Chapter 28-34 of the North Dakota Century Code.
- G. For sanctions or penalties regarding a chauffeurs license, a hearing shall be set before the City Administrator specifying the time and place of the hearing, and shall be served on the licensee in the same manner as provided by law for the service of a Summons in a civil action. No suspension hearing shall be held before the expiration of fifteen (15) days after the date of service of the notice. A record of any hearing shall be made by electronic recording device. If, upon such hearing, it appears to the City Administrator that sufficient cause exists for the penalty sanctions, the City Administrator shall make its order in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. Instead of revoking such chauffeurs license, for a violation of subsection C(1)-(4) above or for such other cause to him may make such course necessary or advisable, the City Administrator or his designee may suspend such license for a period not to exceed 60 days with conditions to be determined by the City Administrator. Upon successful completion of the conditions, the licensee may apply to renew his or her chauffeur's license. The City Administrator shall further issue its findings, conclusions and order which

shall be served upon the licensee. The order is appealable pursuant to Chapter 28-34 of the North Dakota Century Code.

Section 36.04.070 Taximeters

Each taxicab shall have only one taximeter, which must be approved by the City Administrator or his designee. Taximeters must be activated with each taxicab trip or any time a taxicab driver accepts a fare.

Section 36.04.080 Schedule of fares

- A. Each licensee under this Chapter, before charging or collecting any fares for or with respect to the transportation of passengers, shall first file with the City Administrator or his designee a schedule of fares to be uniformly charged in the operation of all taxicabs used in the taxicab business of such licensee. The schedule of fares shall show separately the charge for the transportation of passengers, whether a flat rate or by mileage, and shall include a rate for the carriage of more than one passenger with different destinations. The schedule of fares shall be prominently displayed in all of the Taxicabs used in the operation of the Taxicab business of such licensee.
- B. A Uniform Schedule of Taxicab Fares may be adopted by the Board of City Commissioners by resolution, incorporated in the Annual City Fee Schedule, upon notice and public hearing thereon.
- C. It shall be a Violation of this Chapter to charge any schedule of fares to any person or entity that exceeds the fares designated in the Uniform Schedule of Fares on file with City, or as may be otherwise determined in a uniform schedule of fares by the Board of City Commissioners.

Section 36.04.090 Taxicab - Requirements

- A. Each Taxicab must have at least three or more doors, and have seating capacity and carry no more than six passengers.
- B. Each taxicab must be equipped with adequate and operable brakes, horn, speedometer, lights, turn signals, tires, steering gear, windshield wipers, door locks, and restraint devices, and shall be examined and tested prior to issuance of the original license and at least annually thereafter. The inspection shall be made by any vehicle mechanic operating within the City of Dickinson and licensed with the North Dakota Secretary of State and shall be evidenced by a certificate of examination and sufficiency, which shall be filed with the City Administrator or his designee before the Taxicab can be operated. The business applicant will be responsible for the cost of the inspection. A copy of such inspection shall be posted within the Taxicab, showing the date of such inspection. The City of Dickinson reserves the right to conduct a secondary inspection of the Taxicab.
- C. Each Taxicab must have a business trademark or logo approved by the City Administrator or his designee prominently displayed on the driver's door and the front passenger door of the Taxicab.
- D. Each Taxicab must have the Taxicab Identification Number issued in association with the Taxicab business license prominently displayed on the outside of the Taxicab on the right and left front and rear fenders of the Taxicab and on the

trunk of the Taxicab in a font and size approved by the City Administrator or his designee.

Section 36.04.100 Hours of Operation

It shall be unlawful for any Taxicab driver to operate a Taxicab for more than twelve (12) consecutive hours or sixteen (16) total hours in any twenty-four (24) hour period, or for more than sixty (60) hours in any seven (7) day period. A driver shall be deemed to be operating a Taxicab within the terms of this Section whenever the driver is in charge of the Taxicab and holding the vehicle in readiness to convey passengers.

Section 36.04.110 Individual Service

Any Taxicab customer who first engages service in a Taxicab shall receive individual service, unless the customer shall give consent to additional passengers being carried.

Section 36.04.120 No Delivery of Alcoholic Beverages and tobacco Products

It shall be unlawful for any Taxicab driver to pick up or deliver any alcoholic beverage or tobacco products solely for the purpose of delivery. It is not unlawful for a Taxicab driver to pick up a passenger(s) who has purchased and is transporting alcoholic beverages or tobacco products for his or her own personal use. Passengers may not consume any alcoholic beverages while being transported in a Taxicab.

Section 36.04.130 Riders Prohibited

It shall be unlawful for any Taxicab driver to permit any person, other than a Taxicab customer or licensee to ride in the Taxicab unless person is in the Taxicab to train for purposes of employment or for purposes of dispatching..

Section 36.04.140 Direct Route

Any Taxicab driver employed to transport passengers to a definite location shall take the most direct route possible over which the passenger can be carried to the destination safely and expeditiously unless passenger chooses otherwise

Section 36.04.150 No Smoking

It shall be unlawful for any Taxicab driver and passengers to smoke or use tobacco products in a Taxicab, whether or not transporting passengers.

Section 36.04.160 Non-Interference

It shall be unlawful for any driver of any Taxicab to scuffle or crowd about or interfere with any other driver with whom any person is negotiating or inquiring about the transportation of persons or baggage.

Section 36.04.170 Lost articles Delivered to Police

Whenever any package or article of baggage or items of value including but not limited to purses, handbags, backpacks, cellphones, wallets, or credit cards are left in or on any Taxicab, the driver shall, upon the discovery of such package or item, forthwith deliver the same to the Dickinson Police Department within twenty-four (24) hours, unless such package or item shall be sooner delivered to the owner thereof, on the order of such owner.

Article 36.08 Taxicab License

This Article is hereby repealed by Ordinance Number 1583.

Article 36.12 Driver's License

This Article is hereby repealed by Ordinance Number 1583.

Article 36.16 Buses and Omnibuses

Sections:	
36.16.010	"Bus" or "omnibus" defined
36.16.020	LicenseRequired
36.16.030	Schedule of Fares
36.16.040	Revocation of License
36.16.040	Alcoholic Beverages
36.16.050	Exemptions for private school buses
36.16.060	Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583
36.16.070	Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583
36.16.080	Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583
36.16.090	Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583

Section 36.16.010 "Bus" or "omnibus" defined

For purposes of this article, the term "bus" or "omnibus" shall mean any automobile or vehicle propelled by the use of gasoline or other power and with a seating capacity for the carrying of four or more passengers for compensation or hire within the corporate limits of the city. (Ord. No. 526, Ord. No. 1600, § 2.)

Section 36.16.020 License--Required

- A. No person shall engaged in the business of operating buses or omnibuses nor use or cause to be used in or upon the streets of the city any such bus or omnibus in the carrying of passengers for pay, wages or hire without such vehicle being licensed under the provisions of this article. (Ord. No. 526.)
- B. Along with the application and fee, the applicant shall submit to the City the following:
 - (1) Full legal name of the business applying for the license, and other appropriate contact information including physical address, mailing address, phone number and email address for the business
 - (2) Business location(s) where the buses and omnibuses will be stored when not in use, and where any required maintenance will be performed. Such business location(s) shall be permitted in commercial, industrial and residential zones. Parking of more than two buses and omnibuses in residential zones is strictly prohibited. Heavy maintenance of any kind including but not limited to engine and transmission repair on a bus or omnibus in a residential zone is strictly prohibited.
 - (3) Documentation that the business is registered with the North Dakota Secretary of State and is in active and good standing with the North Dakota Secretary of State.
 - (4) Identification of each vehicle the applicant seeks to license as a bus or omnibus within the City of Dickinson. Such identification shall be made by year, make, model, and VIN# of the vehicle.
 - (5) Evidence of insurance for each bus or omnibus for which the applicant seeks a bus or omnibus license, including those owned by individual drivers but which are used in the operation of the business.

Such insurance shall be in the form of a commercial automobile insurance policy. Individual, private, or personal automobile insurance policies shall not be acceptable. Such insurance policy shall be issued by an insurance company authorized to conduct business in the State of North Dakota, and shall provide for policy limits of not less than \$500,000 for injury or damage to one person and not less than \$1,000,000 for injury or damage in one accident. The City of Dickinson shall be listed as a Certificate Holder on each such policy of insurance. The policy of insurance filed with the City shall contain a clause obligating the company issuing the same to give at least ten (10) days' notice to the City Administrator before cancellation of the policy. Any Taxicab license issued under this Chapter shall immediately and automatically expire upon lapse or termination of said policy. Upon cancellation of the policy, the licensee shall provide documentation of the cancellation to the City Administrator or his designee.

- (6) A statement as to whether the applicant has any drivers who would be operating any bus or omnibus that have ever been required to register as a sex offender in any jurisdiction, and whether the drivers would be required to register as a sex offender under the state and federal laws currently in effect.
- (7) A statement as to whether all applicant's drivers possess valid North Dakota driver's licenses
- (8) A drawing of similar size and font of the business' trademark or logo that will be prominently displayed and permanently affixed on each bus or omnibus to be licensed under this Chapter,
- (9) A proposed schedule of fares to be uniformly charged in the operation of the business
- (10) Signed statement by the applicant as follows:

The applicant hereby does expressly agree that he or she shall follow and agree to abide by and obey all applicable laws of the State and all applicable ordinances of the City, in particular as such laws and ordinances may pertain to motor vehicles and the carrying of persons for reward. The applicant further hereby does expressly consent that any person(s) duly authorized by the City of Dickinson may enter upon the bus or omnibus subject to this license at any reasonable hour of the day or night including all hours in which the taxicab is occupied, and at such times they shall have free access to all portions of the bus or omnibus for the purpose of inspecting the same for any possible violations of laws of the State of North Dakota or ordinances of the City of Dickinson.

- C. Applications for a bus or omnibus license shall be reviewed by and subject to the approval of the Board of City Commissioners. No license shall be issued to any applicant or entity who:
 - (1) is found to have falsified any part or portion of the license application or any materials submitted therewith.

- (2) does not identify a valid business location for the business.
- (3) is unable or unwilling to provide valid evidence of insurance as required in the license application.
- (4) refuses or fails to submit a complete and whole application as required under this Chapter.
- (5) is not licensed with the North Dakota Secretary of State to do business in the State of North Dakota.
- (6) who is otherwise deemed by the Board of City Commissioners to be unsuitable or unfit for the occupation of being a common carrier of persons or operating a bus or omnibus.
- D. Bus or omnibus licenses issued by the Board of City Commissioners shall run from January 1st to December 31st of each calendar year. The license fee shall not be prorated for applications received mid-year.
- E. All bus or omnibus licenses issued under the provisions of this Chapter shall be given a number by the City Administrator or his designee. A record of the issuance of such licenses, trademarks and logos of all Taxicabs licensed under this Chapter shall be kept by the City and available for public inspection.
- G. No bus or omnibus license issued under this Chapter shall be transferable to any other person, business, partnership, corporation, or other entity.

Section 36.16.030 Schedule of Fares

- A. Each licensee under this Chapter, before charging or collecting any fares for or with respect to the transportation of passengers, shall first file with the City Administrator or his designee a schedule of fares to be uniformly charged in the operation of all buses used in the business of such licensee. The schedule of fares shall show separately the charge for the transportation of passengers, whether a flat rate or by mileage, and shall include a rate for the carriage of more than one passenger with different destinations.
- B. A Uniform Schedule of Fares may be adopted by the Board of City Commissioners by resolution, incorporated in the Annual City Fee Schedule, upon notice and public hearing thereon.
- C. It shall be a Violation of this Chapter to charge any fares to any person or entity that exceeds the maximum allowable fare as designated in the Uniform Schedule of Fares on file with City, or as may be otherwise determined in a uniform schedule of fares by the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 526; Ord. No. 1086, § 25, Ord. No. 1583, § 4.)

Section 36.16.040 Revocation of License

- A. No licensee under this Chapter shall obtain or accede to any property right in such license.
- B. Any license issued by the City under the provisions of this Chapter shall be revocable for any cause which, in the reasonable judgment of the Board of City Commissioners, demonstrates that the business licensee is unfit or improper to operate a bus or omnibus business within the City of Dickinson. Such finding of

cause by the Board of City Commissioners shall be sufficient to justify revocation of the license. Such cause shall include:

- (1) The licensee fails to maintain a policy of commercial automobile insurance in force upon the bus(es) or omnibus(es) as required under this Chapter.
- (2) The licensee allows a driver who is convicted of any two or more moving violations during any continuous one year period to operate a bus or omnibus licensed under this Chapter.
- (3) The licensee allows a driver who is convicted of a violation, in any jurisdiction, of an alcohol offense, including but not limited to, driving under the influence of alcohol or intoxicating drugs to operate a bus or omibus licensed under this Chapter.
- (4) The licensee allows a driver who is convicted of a felony offense in any jurisdiction including any sexual offense that requires the registration as a sexual offender to operate a bus or omnibus licensed under this Chapter.
- (5) The licensee is not active and in good standing with the North Dakota Secretary of State.
- C. Sanctions or penalties under this section may not be invoked without a public hearing if requested by the licensee. Upon written notification to the licensee by the City Administrator that a penalty is being sought under this section, the licensee may notify the City Administrator's office within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification and request a hearing on the proposed penalty. Failure to notify the City Administrator within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification will be deemed acceptance of the penalty without hearing.
- D. For sanctions or penalties regarding a bus or omnibus license, a hearing shall be set before the Board of City Commissioners specifying the time and place of the hearing, and shall be served on the licensee in the same manner as provided by law for the service of a Summons in a civil action. No suspension hearing shall be held before the expiration of fifteen (15) days after the date of service of the notice. A record of any hearing shall be made by electronic recording device. If, upon such hearing, it appears to a majority of the Board of City Commissioners that sufficient cause exists for the penalty sanctions, the Board of City Commissioners shall make its order in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter. Instead of revoking such bus or omnibus license, for a violation of any of the provisions of subsection B(1)-(5) above or for such other cause as to him may make such course necessary or advisable, may suspend such license for a period not to exceed 60 days with conditions to be determined by the Board of City Commissioners. Upon successful completion of the conditions, the licensee may apply to renew its bus or omnibus license. The Board of City Commissioners shall further issue its findings, conclusions and order which shall be served upon the licensee. The order is appealable pursuant to Chapter 28-34 of the North Dakota Century Code. (Ord. No. 526, Ord. No. 1583, § 4.)

Section 36.16.040 Alcoholic Beverages

The sale, dispensing, distribution, use, or possession of alcoholic beverages by minors

within such bus or omnibus is strictly prohibited.

Section 36.16.050 Exemptions for private school buses

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code, any person operating a private school bus or buses for the sole purpose of transporting students to and from public or private schools in the city for pay, wages or hire shall be exempt from the application of sections 36.16.010 to 36.16.040 and 36.16.060 to 36.16.080 hereinabove. Any such person or persons shall, however, comply with section 36.16.050 hereinabove providing for certain insurance requirements therein stated and shall further at all times be in full compliance with any laws, rules or regulations of the state or its departments, including but not limited to rules and regulations of the state department of public instructions. The county superintendent of schools is herewith authorized and directed to inspect such private school buses periodically to determine whether such buses and the operators thereof are in full compliance with all of such laws, rules and regulations, including this City Code, and shall report any violations thereof to the chief of police of the city. (Ord. No. 526, Ord. No. 1583, § 4.)

Section 36.16.060 Designation of territory of operation

Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583. (Ord. No. 1583, § 4)

Section 36.16.070 Regulation of time and number of trips and stopping places

Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583. (Ord. No. 1583, § 4)

Section 36.16.080 Issue of additional licenses for same route or territory

Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583. (Ord. No. 1583, § 4)

Section 36.16.090 Exemptions for private school buses

Repealed by Ordinance Number 1583. (Ord. No. 1583, § 4)

Chapter 37 URBAN FORESTRY

Last updated July, 2020

Articles:

37.10 Urban Forestry Program

37.20 Urban Forestry Related Nuisances

37.30 Penalties

Articles 37.10 Urban Forestry Program

	<u> </u>
Sections:	
37.10.010	Definitions
37.10.020	Urban Forestry Committee
37.10.030	Authority, responsibilities and jurisdiction of city foresters or designated city employees
37.10.040	Interference with officers or employees
37.10.050	Permits for tree planting on public property
37.10.060	Tree topping
37.10.070	Commercial arborists - License required
37.10.080	Commercial chemical and biological treatment applicator - Certification required

Sections 37.10.010 Definitions

Supervisor.

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Boulevard: That strip of land in a right of way the streets of the city, lying between the outside edge of the street or alley surface and the adjacent private property and grassed areas between lanes on divided streets.

Commercial Tree Trimming: A service whereby an individual or business accepts money for the trimming, pruning, or removal of trees and shrubs.

City: The city of Dickinson, North Dakota. and all City owned property inside and outside the City limits such as walking trails, airports, landfills and lagoons.

Easement: A grant by a property owner of the use of a strip of land for such public use as constructing and maintaining utilities, including, but not limited to, sanitary sewers, water mains, electric lines, telephone lines, television, or v.m. transmission lines, storm sewer or storm drainage ways, gas lines and roadways.

Forester: The person or persons assigned day to day responsibility for the operation and maintenance of the City's Urban Forestry Program as directed by

Park District: The Dickinson Parks and Recreation District.

Private Property: Property owned by a non-government entity as shown in the records held by the Stark County Register, and the owner thereof.

Property Lines: The outer boundaries of any lot or parcel of land, including boulevards.

Property Owner: The person owning such property as is shown by the county register of deeds.

Public Property: "Public property" shall be construed to include rights-of-way, boulevards and all property owned and maintained by the city or park district. **Public Trees:** All shade and ornamental trees now or hereafter growing on any public right-of-way or in any public place or park.

Right of Way: The area between property lines of every way or place of whatsoever nature, when any part thereof is open to the use of the public as a matter of right-of-way for the purpose of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, which is commonly referred to as a street or alley.

<u>Tree Topping:</u> The severe cutting back of limbs to stubs larger than three inches in diameter within the tree's crown, to such a degree so as to remove the normal canopy and disfigure the tree. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.10.020 Urban Forestry Committee

The City hereby establishes an Urban Forestry Committee to assist with programming and implementation of various urban forestry programs and projects. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3; Ord. No. 1336 § 1.)

The Urban Forestry Committee and its member shall have no supervisory role over the city forester or the forestry department. The committee shall meet at the call of the city forester.

The committee shall consist of the following composition:

One (1) member who is employed by the North Dakota State University system.

One (1) member of the Park District

Four (4) members at large, representing natural resources, utilities, educational and general public.

One (1) member of the City Commission as a liaison.

Upon initial appointment, two (2) members shall be appointed for a term of (1) year, two (2) members shall be appointed for a term of two (2) years, and two (2) members shall be appointed for a term of two (2) years. Thereafter, all terms shall be for a period of three (3) years. (Ord. No. 1691 § 1.)

Sections 37.10.030 Authority, responsibilities and jurisdiction of city foresters or designated city employees

City foresters shall be responsible for the urban forestry program activities for both the City and the Park District and shall perform all the duties prescribed by law and the ordinances of the City, as directed by their supervisor.

The authority and jurisdiction of city foresters shall be as follows:

- (a) City foresters shall be responsible for the care and maintenance of all trees located on the right of ways, City property, and Park District property and the enforcement of all laws, ordinances and regulations relating to the Urban Forestry Program. They shall also take appropriate steps to safeguard the future health and well-being of the City's urban forest.
- (b) City foresters shall follow the standards of practice governing the planting, maintenance, protection and removal of trees on the right of ways and public areas of the city.
- (c) City foresters may supervise work done under any permit or contract, issued in accord with the terms of this chapter if so directed by supervisor. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.10.040 Interference with officers or employees

It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation to prevent, delay or interfere with a city forester or designated city employees while they are engaged in the performance of duties imposed by this chapter. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.10.050 Permits for tree planting on public property

Property owners shall obtain a permit from the city prior to planting of any tree or shrub on public property. Failure to comply may result in the immediate removal of the tree or bush. All costs associated with the removal shall be the offending property owner's responsibility. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.10.060 Tree topping

It shall be unlawful for any person to top any tree on public property or within dedicated utility easements. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.10.070 Commercial arborists - License required

It shall be unlawful to do commercial tree trimming in the city without a Commercial Arborist license issued by the City. The applicant must pass a test approved by the City through which the applicant demonstrates knowledge and ability as an arborist and furnishes to the City evidence of liability insurance as required by the City fee schedule. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.10.080 Commercial chemical and biological treatment applicator - Certification required

Any person providing commercial tree chemical and/or biological treatment within the city shall be required to obtain commercial certification under the North Dakota State Pesticide Certification Program in the category of ornamental and turf certification. Failure to comply with this section shall be considered a violation of City code and subject the offender to penalties as described in this chapter. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Articles 37.20 Urban Forestry Related Nuisances

Sections:	
37.20.010	NuisancesDefined
37.20.020	Maintaining nuisance unlawful
37.20.030	Inspections and investigation of nuisances on private property
37.20.040	Abatement of nuisance on public property
37.20.050	Abatement of nuisance on private property
37.20.060	Chemical and/or biological application to abate nuisance
37.20.070	Assignment of nuisance abatement costs
37.20.080	Certification of nuisance abatement costs as special assessments
37.20.090	Nuisance abatement notice and appeal procedures

Sections 37.20.010 Nuisances--Defined

The following conditions shall be declared to be public nuisances whenever found to exist in the City:

- 1. Any living or standing tree or part thereof infected to any degree with any disease or insect which is, in the judgment of a city forester, harmful to said tree and/or other trees.
- 2. Any dead tree or part thereof, including logs, branches, stumps, firewood or any portion of any diseased tree that has not been disposed of in accordance with the regulations of the City.
- 3. Any tree, shrub or hedge, or part thereof, growing upon public property or upon private property but overhanging or interfering with the use of any public walk, street or highway, park or public place in the City which, in the opinion of a city forester, endangers the life, health, safety or property of the public.
- 4. Planting of trees which are on the city's prohibited tree list, as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners shall be prohibited for the purpose of preventing diseases or infestations.
- 5. Transporting or keeping any bark bearing elm wood within the city. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3; Ord. No. 1336 § 3.)

Sections 37.20.020 Maintaining nuisance unlawful

It shall be unlawful for any person to willfully permit any public nuisances as defined in section 37.20.010 hereof to remain on any premises owned or controlled by him/her within the City. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.030 Inspections and investigation of nuisances on private property

- (a) City Foresters shall inspect all premises and places within the city as often as practicable to determine whether nuisance described in section 37.20.010 exist.
- (b) City employees may enter upon private premises at any reasonable time to investigate the existence of a potential nuisance as defined in 37.20.010.

(c) When a city forester has reasonable cause to believe that a tree is diseased, said forester or other assigned employee may procure specimens and submit said specimens to a qualified plant diagnostician for diagnosis. No action to remove such nuisance shall be taken until positive diagnosis of the disease has been made. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.040 Abatement of nuisance on public property

In abating the nuisance on public property or public right of ways as defined in 37.20.010 hereof, the City shall cause the nuisance to be abated so as to destroy and prevent as fully as possible any tree disease or harmful insect in accordance with accepted tree care practices. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.050 Abatement of nuisance on private property

The procedure for the abatement of tree hazards on private property shall be as follows: The nuisance, as defined in section 37.20.010 hereof, shall be abated by the owner following notification of the existing nuisance. If not corrected or removed within the time allotted, the City shall abate of the nuisance. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.060 Chemical and/or biological application to abate nuisance

- (a) Whenever a city forester determines that any tree, shrub or part thereof is infected with any tree disease or harmful insect, the City may cause all such trees within a City defined radius thereof to be treated as appropriate.
- (b) In order to facilitate the work and minimize inconvenience to the public of any treating operations conducted under this article, the City may give up to 24 hours advance public notice in a manner deemed appropriate by the City when conditions warrant such notice.
- (c) When appropriate notice has been given and posted in accordance with subsection (b) hereof for any treatment conducted or contracted by the City, the city shall not allow any claim for damages to any vehicle or other property resulting from such treating operations.
- (d) When trees on private property are to be treated, the City shall notify the owner of such property of the need for treatment and proceed in accordance with the requirements of this article regardless whether City or a commercial applicator does the work. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.070 Assignment of nuisance abatement costs

The costs for abating of the public nuisances as defined in this article shall be borne as follows:

- (a) For abatement where the nuisance occurs on public land or rights of ways, the cost will be borne by the City.
- (b) For abatement where the nuisance occurs on private property, the cost shall be borne by the private owner.
- (c) The cost of treating for abatement of nuisances shall be borne by the City when such nuisances are on public property or right of way and shall be borne by the private owner when such nuisances are on private land.

- (d) The costs of removal of dead or hazardous trees on private property shall be borne by the property owner.
- (e) The cost of planting trees and shrubs on right of ways following the abatement of a nuisance shall be the adjoining property owner's responsibility.
- (f) If it is necessary for the City to remove a tree or trees from a right_of way in connection with improvements of the portion of street or highway used for vehicular traffic, the city may replant the trees or replace them, provided that conditions permit, as determined appropriate by the City. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.080 Certification of nuisance abatement costs as special assessments

If a property owner requests special assessment of nuisance abatement costs or if a property owner is billed by the City for abatement of a nuisance on that property owner's property and said bill is unpaid following a City established time period, the City may special assess the property upon which the nuisance was abated. Said special assessment shall include the cost of the abatement and accumulated late fees. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Sections 37.20.090 Nuisance abatement notice and appeal procedures

- (a) Whenever a city forester determines existence of a public nuisance or hazardous condition on private property in violation of this chapter, he/she shall give written notification to the property owner or person in possession of the property and order that said nuisance be abated within the time allotted by the City, provided, however, that if the nuisance is an imminent danger to the traveling public or property of others, the City may abate the nuisance immediately and allocate costs according to Section 37.20.070.
- (b) All orders issued pursuant to this chapter are subject to appeal to the board of city commissioners upon written notice of appeal postmarked or delivered to City Hall within ten days of the date of the order. If an appeal is not postmarked or delivered to City Hall within ten days of the date of the order, the order of the City shall be final. An appeal meeting the requirements of this subsection will stay an order issued pursuant to subsection (a) until the board of city commissioners have ruled on said order.
- (c) Upon receipt of the notice of appeal meeting the requirements of subsection b, the City Administrator shall set a date for a hearing before the board of City Commissioners. Notice of time and place for the hearing must be served upon the person, who filed the appeal not less than five days prior to the hearing. The decision of the board of city commissioners is final.
- (d) Any person who fails to comply with a final order of the city is guilty of an ordinance violation. (Ord. No. 1262 § 3)

Articles 37.30 Penalties

Sections:

37.30.010 Penalties

Sections 37.30.010 Penalties

Any violation of this Chapter 37 shall be punishable in municipal court as provided in section 11.12.010 (Ord. No. 1245 § 1). (Ord. No. 1262 § 3; Ord. No. 1336 § 2.)

Chapter 38 WATER AND SEWERS

Last updated January, 2017

Articles:

- 38.04 In General
- 38.08 Water Generally
- 38.12 Sewers Generally
- 38.14 Storm Water Management
- 38.16 REPEALED WITH ORD 1245
- 38.20 Water, Wastewater and Storm Water Charges
- 38.22 Wastewater Backup Claims (Repealed November, 2016)
- **38.24** Wells
- 38.25 Excavating Licenses

Article 38.04 In General

Sections:	
38.04.010	Improvement or special assessment districts in new additions to city (REPEALED)
38.04.020	Permits for connections where property not assessed for costApplication (REPEALED)
38.04.030	SameInspection of property; assessment of costs of construction of mains; issuance (REPEALED)
38.04.040	Costs of replacement of water and sewer mains (REPEALED)
38.04.100	Definitions
38.04.110	Penalty

Section 38.04.010 Improvement or special assessment districts in new additions to city (REPEALED)

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245, approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.04.020 Permits for connections where property not assessed for cost--Application (REPEALED)

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.04.030 Same--Inspection of property; assessment of costs of construction of mains; issuance (REPEALED)

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.04.040 Costs of replacement of water and sewer mains (REPEALED)

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.04.100 Definitions

For the purpose of Chapter 38, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them by this section:

Corporation Stop: A water service shut off valve located at the water main in the street.

<u>City service line:</u> A water service line, including the service pipes, corporation stops and curb stops from the water main up to and including the first curb stop. <u>Curb Stop:</u> A water service shut off valve located in a water service pipe near the curb or property line between the water main and the building and is used to shut off water service to a building.

<u>Fire Protection Service:</u> A private water service line, including private hydrants, tanks and other equipment, larger than 2-inches which are used to provide fire

suppression in a building. This line extends from the water main including the tap to the building.

Property Line: The point at which a service line crosses private property, whether or not such private property is owned by the Property Owner receiving water service.

Property Owner: An individual, company or Corporation which owns property in Dickinson.

Septic System: A privately owned wastewater treatment system which may consists of a tank, pump and drain field and is not connected to the city wastewater system and is used to collect and treat wastewater from a home or business.

Sewer Service Line: A sewer service line, including the wye or other connection to the sewer main.

<u>Wastewater System:</u> The lines of pipe, manholes, flush tanks, pumps, lift stations and all connections of every kind and nature now constructed or hereafter constructed and operating the wastewater system of the city.

<u>Water Meter:</u> A device which is used to measure water including the meter, register, wiring and reading equipment.

<u>Water Service Line:</u> A pipe 2-inches or less in diameter extending from the water main to the building used to provide a domestic water supply.

Waterworks System: All lands, buildings, machinery, equipment, tools and apparatus, water mains, hydrants, service connections and all other property used for the purpose of furnishing a water supply to the city and the inhabitants thereof now owned or to be owned by the city. (Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.04.110 Penalty

Any violation of this Chapter 38 shall be punishable in municipal court as provided in section 11.12.010. (Ord. No. 1245 \S 1)

Article 38.08 Water Generally

	o.oo water Generally
Sections:	
38.08.00E	Editor's note to Article 38.08
38.08.010	Definitions - REPEALED
38.08.020	Water Department Generally
38.08.030	Powers and duties and waterworks superintendent generally - REPEALED
38.08.040	Duties of city engineer generally - REPEALED
38.08.050	Permits to lay, relay, repair or tap main or service pipe
38.08.060	Installation and repair of service pipes, corporation stops, etc.
38.08.070	Construction of tap or connection to mains generally
38.08.080	Service linesConstruction and maintenance generally
38.08.090	SameMaterial specifications; connections - REPEALED
38.08.100	SameCapacity and size of service from main - REPEALED
38.08.110	SameDepth; stop and curb cocks; length of lead services from main -
	REPEALED
38.08.120	Number of consumers per service connection
38.08.130	Turning on or shutting off supply
38.08.140	Shutting off of corporation stop on abandonment of connection
38.08.150	Fire protection systemConstruction of services generally; opening service
	generally
38.08.160	SameNotice of broken seals
38.08.170	SameValves - REPEALED
38.08.180	SameUse of fire hydrants generally
38.08.190	Liability of city for failure or increase in pressure
38.08.200	Damage and obstructing access to waterworks system
38.08.210	Unnecessary wasting of city water
38.08.220	Access of employees of waterworks to premises supplied with water
38.08.230	Statement of legislative policy - REPEALED
38.08.240	Application of sections - REPEALED
38.08.250	Determination of emergency, notice thereof and restrictions and prohibited
	uses
38.08.260	Restrictions and prohibited uses - REPEALED
38.08.270	Penalty - REPEALED
38.08.280	Installation required for tapping of water main
38.08.290	Furnishing, installation, testing and repairGenerally
38.08.300	SameRefusing or neglecting to comply after notice
38.08.310	Placement
38.08.320	Removal
38.08.330	Bypassing of meters over one and one-half inches in size; valves
38.08.340	Protection from damage

Section 38.08.00E Editor's note to Article 38.08

For state law as to authority of city to maintain, etc., a system of waterworks, see NDCC, 40-05-01 (36), 40-05-02 (19).

Section 38.08.010 Definitions - REPEALED

This section was appealed with Ordinance No. 1245, approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.020 Water Department Generally

The activities of the waterworks system shall be directed and supervised by such individuals as designated by the Board of City Commissioners. (Code 1958, \S 31-5; Ord. No. 1245 \S 1.)

Section 38.08.030 Powers and duties and waterworks superintendent generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245, approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.040 Duties of city engineer generally - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.050 Permits to lay, relay, repair or tap main or service pipe

A permit issued by the City shall be obtained by the owner of a property before any person shall excavate to lay, relay, repair or tap any main or service water pipe. The owner shall first make application for a permit so to do upon forms furnished by the City. Such application shall be made by the owner of the property to which the water is furnished or to be furnished or his agent. No permit shall be issued until all delinquent fees, taxes and special assessment against the property is paid in full. (Code 1958, § 31-8; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.08.060 Installation and repair of service pipes, corporation stops, etc.

- (a) Property owners are responsible, at their expense, for the installation of the city service line and the water service line. After installation, the city service line shall be operated, maintained and repaired by the City.
- (b) Upon their installation, the Property Owner is responsible for repair and/or replacement of the property owner's portion of the service line.
- (c) Upon the city receiving knowledge of a defective service line, the property owner shall be notified. If the Property Owner fails, neglects or refuses to repair such lines within five days after notification, the city will enter upon said property to repair the defective water service line. The cost of said repairs shall be billed to the owner of the property. If the cost of repair is not paid within thirty day of the billing, the city may take action to have the charges assessed to the property in accordance with Chapter 40-28 of the NDCC, or pursue such other remedies as allowed by law. The Property Owner is also responsible for the cost of water loss caused by the defective service line, as estimated by the City. (Code 1958, § 31-9; Ord. No. 1034, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.08.070 Construction of tap or connection to mains generally

No person other than a Master Plumber or Water and Sewer Installer shall make any tap or connection to a water main. Any such tap or connection shall be inspected and approved by the City prior to being placed in service. (Code 1958, § 31-10; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.080 Service lines--Construction and maintenance generally

All water service lines and city service lines shall be constructed by licensed Master Plumbers or Water and Sewer Installers at the owner's expense in the manner and of such material or pipe as shall be designated by the policies set forth by the City, the North Dakota State Plumbing Board and the North Dakota Department of Health. (Code 1958, § 31-11; Ord. No. 588; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.08.090 Same--Material specifications; connections - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.100 Same--Capacity and size of service from main - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245, approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.110 Same--Depth; stop and curb cocks; length of lead services from main - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245, approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.120 Number of consumers per service connection

No service connection shall supply more than one water consumer, unless each consumer's service is controlled by a separate curb stop and meter. (Code 1958, § 31-15; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.130 Turning on or shutting off supply

No person, except an authorized City employee, shall shut off or turn on the water at the curb stop to any premises without first obtaining permission from the City. The City may shut off water service upon twenty-four hours' notice to the owner or occupant of the premises when leaks or defects are found in the service between the main and the meter. Mains may be shut off without notice when required for repairs or extensions, but efforts shall be made by the City to notify consumers before interruption of service. The City shall make a reasonable charge for labor and materials for shutting off and turning on services, as specified in the City fee schedule. (Code 1958, § 31-16; Ord. No. 868, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.140 Shutting off of corporation stop on abandonment of connection

Any water service line abandoned or which does not comply with the policies, regulations or ordinances of the City, the North Dakota State Plumbing Board or the North Dakota State Health Department shall be disconnected at the corporation stop. Abandoned service lines shall not be reconnected to the waterworks system until they comply with all of said requirements. (Code 1958, § 31-17; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.150 Fire protection system--Construction of services generally; opening service generally

All fire protection services shall be constructed by properly licensed Master Plumbers or Water and Sewer Installers in the manner prescribed by the policies determined by the City.

A fire protection service shall not be used to provide water service to the water consumer unless a separate water service line is provided. The separate water service line shall be on the outside of the building. The separate water service line shall be controlled by a valve located at the water main. (Code 1958, § 31-18; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord No. 1369 §1.)

Section 38.08.160 Same--Notice of broken seals

When seals on a fire protection service are broken, it shall be the duty of the owner or occupant to notify the City within twenty-four hours thereafter. (Code 1958, § 31-19; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.170 Same--Valves - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.180 Same--Use of fire hydrants generally

Only personnel of the Water Utility, Street or Fire Departments are authorized to operate a fire hydrant. The users of temporary hydrant connections shall be charged fees as determined by the City Commission in the annual fee resolution. (Code 1958, § 31-21; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord. No. 1369 §1.)

Section 38.08.190 Liability of city for failure or increase in pressure

Under no circumstances shall the city be liable for failing to provide adequate water supply or for changes in water pressure. The City reserves the right to increase water pressure at any time for fire protection or for any other purpose. (Code 1958, § 31-22; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.200 Damage and obstructing access to waterworks system

No person shall tamper with, block access to, damage, destroy or interfere with any part of the waterworks system. If any person violates the provisions of this Section, the City may immediately shut off the water service, and pursue such other remedies as allowed by law. (Code 1958, § 31-23; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.210 Unnecessary wasting of city water

No person shall permit water to continuously run from a fixture nor unnecessarily waste any water delivered by the waterworks system. Upon the discovery of such waste, the City shall notify the water user of such fact, and it shall be the duty of the water customer to make the corrections necessary to prevent such waste. If after forty-eight (48) hours the water user has failed to make the necessary corrections, the water service line shall be shut off and not turned on again until the necessary corrections have been made and the customer has paid all costs in connection therewith. The customer shall also pay for the wasted water in an amount as determined by the City. (Code 1958, § 31-24; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.220 Access of employees of waterworks to premises supplied with water

Authorized employees of the City shall have access to any premises supplied with water at proper times to inspect and ascertain the condition of the meters and fixtures or for reading meters, or for the purpose of repairs or replacement to the system, and no owner or occupant shall refuse such employees such access. If any person violates the provisions of this Section, the City may immediately shut off the water service, and pursue such other remedies as allowed by law. (Code 1958, § 31-25; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.230 Statement of legislative policy - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.240 Application of sections - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.250 Determination of emergency, notice thereof and restrictions and prohibited uses

A determination of an emergency which requires the imposition of certain water use restrictions or the prohibition of the use of water for certain purposes shall be made in the following manner:

(a) The City may declare an emergency due to inadequate supplies of water, or insufficient capacity to provide adequate water. The determination of emergency and imposition or restrictions and prohibited uses of water shall be made by such persons authorized by the board of city commissioners. The board of

- commissioners, after declaration of such emergency, may impose additional restrictions and prohibited uses of water.
- (b) The City may declare an emergency due to a mechanical or electrical breakdown which results in the inability of the Southwest Water Authority to deliver adequate supplies of treated water to the waterworks system.
- (c) Public notice of the emergency and the restrictions or prohibitions of the use of water shall be published and/or broadcast in any reasonable manner. Upon the declaration of an emergency, it shall be unlawful for any person to use water delivered by the waterworks system in any manner contrary to such restrictions or prohibitions. (Ord. No. 799, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.260 Restrictions and prohibited uses - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.270 Penalty - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.08.280 Installation required for tapping of water main

A water meter shall be installed on all water service lines to the waterworks system. The water meter shall be the size, type and kind determined by the City. (Code 1958, § 31-32; Ord. No. 486; Ord. No. 1203, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.290 Furnishing, installation, testing and repair--Generally

All water meters shall be furnished, installed, tested, repaired and replaced by the City. The cost to test, repair or replace a meter shall be paid by the City unless the property owner has violated Section 38.08.340. The property owner shall provide or modify any plumbing necessary for the installation of the water meter. A ball valve shall be installed on each side of the meter. (Code 1958, § 31-33; Ord. No. 486; Ord. No. 1203, § 2; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.300 Same--Refusing or neglecting to comply after notice

If the property owner, upon notice from the City, neglects or refuses to have a meter installed, repaired or replaced or provide or modify the plumbing necessary to install a meter, the water service shall be shut off. The water service shall not be restored until the property owner has complied with the notice and paid any fees associated with shutting off and turning on the water service. (Code 1958, § 31-33; Ord. No. 486; Ord. No. 1203, § 3; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.310 Placement

The property owner, shall provide a location for the water meter that is accessible for the purposes of maintenance, replacement and reading. If the property owner fails to maintain the accessibility of the water meter, the water service shall be shut off. Service shall not be restored

until the property owner has complied with this Section and paid any fees associated with shutting off and turning on the water service. (Code 1958, § 31-35; Ord. No. 1203, § 4; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.320 Removal

Water meters shall be removed only by authorized employees of the City. (Code 1958, §31-37; Ord. No. 1203, §6; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.330 Bypassing of meters over one and one-half inches in size; valves

All services 1 1/2" or larger shall be equipped with a valved bypass. The bypass valve shall be sealed in the closed position unless authorized by the City. (Code 1958, § 31-38; Ord. No. 1203, § 7; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.08.340 Protection from damage

The property owner shall at all times protect the water meter from damage due to freezing, back pressure, or any other damage caused by the actions or inactions of the property owner. The costs of repairing or replacing water meters damaged due to freezing, back pressure or the actions or inactions of the property owner shall be paid by the property owner.

If the property owner fails to pay the costs to repair or replace the water meter, the water service shall be shut off. The water service shall not be restored until the property owner has complied with this Section and paid any fees associated with shutting off and turning on the water services. (Ord. No. 1203, § 8; Ord. No. 1245 § 1)

Article 38.12 Sewers Generally

Sections:	
38.12.00E	Editor's note to Article 38.12
38.12.010	"Sewer system" defined - REPEALED
38.12.015	Wastewater Department Generally
38.12.020	Powers and duties of city engineer and street commissioner - REPEALED
38.12.030	Application for permit to connect with wastewater system
38.12.031	Installation and repair of service pipes, wyes, connections, etc.
38.12.040	Plans, specifications, etc., for connections
38.12.050	Depositing, draining, etc., harmful materials into sanitary sewers
38.12.060	Erection and maintenance of privies or cesspools

Section 38.12.00E Editor's note to Article 38.12

For state law as to sewage disposal in municipalities, see NDCC, § 40-34-01 et seq.

Section 38.12.010 "Sewer system" defined - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.12.015 Wastewater Department Generally

The activities of the wastewater system shall be directed and supervised by such individuals as designated by the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.12.020 Powers and duties of city engineer and street commissioner - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.12.030 Application for permit to connect with wastewater system

Any person desiring to make any connection with the wastewater system of the city must apply to the city for a permit. No permit shall be issued until all delinquent fees, property taxes and any special assessment against the property are paid in full. (Code 1958, § 31-28; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.12.031 Installation and repair of service pipes, wyes, connections, etc.

- (a) All sewer service lines including the wye or other connection to the sewer main shall be installed, operated, maintained and repaired by the property owner.
- (b) If any service line or fixture is allowed to get out of repair or is damaged in any manner and the property owner fails, neglects or refuses to repair such pipes or fixtures, the City shall have the right to repair them and charge the cost of such repairs to the property owner. If no action is taken or positive response received within 5 days after notice, the

City will enter upon said property to repair the defective sewer service line. The cost of the repair will be billed to the property owner. If the cost of the repair is not paid within thirty days of the date of billing, the City may take action to have the charges assessed to the property in accordance with Chapter 40-28, NDCC, and pursue such other remedies as are allowed by law.

(c) If the City determines that a damaged sewer service line causes an immediate health or safety concern, it may immediately enter upon said property and make said repairs, and assess the costs thereof as set forth in subsection (b), above. (Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.12.040 Plans, specifications, etc., for connections

All sewer service lines and main connections shall be constructed by properly licensed Master Plumbers or Water and Sewer Installers in the manner prescribed by the laws, rules, policies and ordinances of the City, the North Dakota State Plumbing Board and the North Dakota Department of Health. (Code 1958, § 31-29; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.12.050 Depositing, draining, etc., harmful materials into sanitary sewers

It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge, deposit, dump or drain, or cause to be discharged, deposited, dumped or drained any liquid or solid prohibited by city, state or federal regulations or polices into the wastewater system. It shall be unlawful for any person to, or cause to be discharged, deposited, dumped or drained into the wastewater system liquid or solid that by volume or concentration of contaminants causes damage or exceeds the capacity of the wastewater system or which is unable to treat by or is harmful to the processes of the City's wastewater system. (Code 1958, § 31-30; Ord. No. 413, § 1; Ord. No. 645, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.; Ord. No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.12.060 Erection and maintenance of privies or cesspools

It shall constitute and is hereby declared a nuisance for any person to erect or to maintain any privy or cesspool on any property in the city. Septic systems and holding tanks, compliant with city, state and federal regulations may be allowed where sewer and water connections are more than 200 feet from the property. (Code 1958, § 31-31; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord. No. 1369 §1.)

Article 38.14 Storm Water Management

Sections:	
38.14.110	Purpose and Policy.
38.14.120	Definitions.
38.14.130	Scope.
38.14.140	Depositing, Draining, etc., Harmful Materials into Storm Water System.
38.14.210	Application.
38.14.220	Mandatory Compliance with Other City Codes.
38.14.230	Contents of Storm Water Management Plan.
38.14.240	Storm Water Management Criteria for Permanent Facilities.
38.14.250	Operation and Maintenance Considerations.
38.14.260	Easements and Bonds.
38.14.270	Management of Site Vegetation.
38.14.310	Process.
38.14.320	Duration.
38.14.330	Conditions.
38.14.340	Standards.
38.14.350	General.
38.14.410	Storm Water Management.
38.14.420	Storm Water Management Permits.
38.14.430	Construction Activities.
38.14.440	Final Storm Water Management Plan.
38.14.510	Emergency Suspension of Permits.
38.14.520	Revocation of a Permit.
38.14.530	Notification.
38.14.540	Hearing.
38.14.610	Penalty.
38.14.620	Costs of Damage.
38.14.630	City Attorney's Fees and Costs.
38.14.640	Falsifying Information.

Section 38.14.110 Purpose and Policy.

This title sets forth uniform requirements for Storm Water management systems within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction. It is the intent of the Board of City Commissioners that the requirements and standards contained in this ordinance comply with all applicable state and federal laws. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this ordinance and the provisions of an erosion control, shoreline protection, or floodplain ordinance, or other regulations adopted by the City, County, State or Federal authorities, the more restrictive standard prevails.

The objectives of this title are:

- 1. To promote, preserve, and enhance the natural resources within the City of Dickinson, its extraterritorial jurisdiction and water sheds;
- 2. To protect and promote the health, safety, and welfare of the people and property through effective Storm Water management practices;

- 3. To protect the City's natural resources from adverse impacts occasioned by development or other activities;
- 4. To regulate land development, land disturbing, or other activities that may have an adverse and potentially irreversible impact on water quality and environmentally sensitive lands;
- 5. To minimize conflicts and encourage compatibility between land disturbing and development activities and environmentally sensitive issues (i.e. land, water, habitat, etc.);
- 6. To require detailed review standards and procedures for land development activities proposed throughout the City, and its extraterritorial jurisdiction, water sheds and to persons outside the City who are, by contract or agreement with the City, users of the City Storm Water system, thereby achieving a balance between urban growth and development, and the protection of water quality; and
- 7. To provide for adequate Storm Water system analysis and appropriate Storm Water system design as necessary to protect public and private property, water quality, and existing natural resources. This title establishes and provides for the following Storm Water management criteria:
 - a) The regulation of development through the issuance of Storm Water permits and through the enforcement of general Storm Water drainage requirements throughout the City as they relate to managing Storm Water volumes, rates of runoff, flow duration, and their subsequent impacts to downstream property and Storm Water management facilities.
 - b) The regulation of, and the establishment of criteria for, existing public underground storm sewers, existing artificial and natural open channel drainage systems, existing Storm Water detention and retention ponds, and existing private Storm Water drainage systems discharging into the public system.
 - c) Provides for a Storm Water management system user charge and the method for calculating charges for each user classification for the equitable distribution of costs associated with the administration of the Storm Water management program established herein. Procedures for rate adjustments and annual review criteria are established.
 - d) Penalties for violating the provisions of this ordinance, and the orders, rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2.)

Section 38.14.120 Definitions.

For the purpose of this ordinance and title, the following terms, phrases, and words, and their derivatives, shall have the meaning as stated in this section. Words used in the present tense include the future tense. Words in plural number include the singular number, and words in the singular number include the plural number. The word "shall" is mandatory and the word "may" is permissive.

Agricultural Land Use: The use of land for planting, growing, cultivating and harvesting crops for human or livestock consumption and pasturing or yarding of livestock.

Applicant: Any person wishing to obtain a building permit, special use permit, zoning or subdivision approval.

<u>Base Flood:</u> A flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year (e.g. 100-year flood). It is also referred to as the regional flood.

City: The Board of City Commissioners

<u>Control Measure:</u> A practice or combination of practices to control erosion and attendant pollution.

<u>Construction:</u> Any site under development which lacks vegetative or permanent cover. <u>Conveyance Structure:</u> A pipe, open channel, or other facility that transports runoff from one location to another.

<u>Detention Facility:</u> A natural or manmade structure, including wetlands, for the temporary storage of runoff.

<u>Development Properties:</u> Lands and properties located within an approved Storm Water management permit boundary.

<u>Developer:</u> A person, firm, corporation, sole proprietorship, partnership, federal or state agency or political subdivision thereof engaged in a land disturbance and/or land development activity.

EPA: United States Environmental Protection Agency.

Erosion: Any process that wears away at the surface of the land by the action of water, wind, ice, or gravity. Erosion can be accelerated by the activities of man and nature.

Erosion and Sediment Control Plan: A written description containing best management practices designed to meet the requirements of this ordinance.

Extraterritorial Jurisdiction: The extension of the City's zoning and platting authority to all unincorporated land located within two (2) miles of the corporate limits of the City as authorized by the North Dakota Century Code and any other authority granted by agreement with Stark County or the state of North Dakota regarding building and/or storm water issues.

<u>Flood Fringe:</u> That portion of the flood plain outside of the floodway.

Floodplain: The areas adjoining a water course or water basin that have been or may be covered by a regional or base flood.

Floodplain Management: The regulation of the nature and location of construction on (or other occupancy of) lands subject to inundation by flood waters, so that foreseeable (probable) flooding damages will have an average annual risk smaller than some preselected amount. Includes, but is not limited to technical and non-technical studies, policies, and management strategies, statutes and ordinances that collectively manage floodplains along rivers, streams, major drainage ways, outfalls, or other conveyances.

Floodway: The channel of a water course and the bed of water basins that carries and discharges floodwater.

<u>Hydric Soils:</u> Soils that are saturated, flooded, or covered by water long enough during the growing season to develop anaerobic conditions in the upper part of the soil profile. <u>Hydrophilic Vegetation:</u> Macrophytic plant life growing in water, soil, or on a substrate that is at least periodically deficient in oxygen as a result of excessive water content. <u>Impervious Area:</u> Surfaces, such as pavement or rooftops, which prevent the infiltration of water into the soil.

<u>Land Development Activity:</u> The construction or demolition of buildings, roads, parking lots, paved storage areas, and similar facilities.

<u>Land Disturbing Activity:</u> Any manmade change of the land surface including removing vegetative cover, excavating, filling and grading.

<u>Landowner:</u> Any person holding title to or having an ownership interest in land. <u>Land User:</u> Any person operating, leasing, renting, or having made other arrangements with a landowner by which the landowner authorizes use of their land.

<u>Local Detention:</u> Detention provided to serve only the developing area in question and no areas outside of the development boundaries.

<u>Major Storm Water System:</u> The portion of the total Storm Water system that collects, stores, and conveys runoff that exceeds the capacity of a minor system. A major storm water system is usually evaluated for the one hundred- (100) year runoff event.

<u>Management Practice:</u> A practice or combination of practices to control erosion and water quality degradation.

Minor Storm Water System: The portion of the total drainage system that collects, stores and conveys frequently occurring runoff, and provides a relief from nuisance and inconvenience. Generally, the minor Storm Water system is designed to accommodate minor (or ordinary) storms classified as two (2) to ten (10) year storms. The system may include but not limited to roof gutters and on-site drainage swales, curbed or side swaled streets, Storm Water inlets, underground storm sewers, open channels and culverts.

<u>Multiple-Purpose Facility:</u> An urban Storm Water facility that fulfills multiple functions, such as enhancement of runoff quality, erosion control, wildlife habitat, or public recreation, in addition to its primary purpose of conveying or controlling runoff.

National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit: Any permit or requirement enforced by the North Dakota State Department of Health pursuant to the Clean Water Act as amended for the purposes of regulating Storm Water discharge.

Occupant: Any person using a lot, parcel of land, or premises connected to and discharging Storm Water into the Storm Water system of the City.

Onsite Detention: See Local Detention.

<u>Outfall:</u> Any storm water outlet which discharges, into a watercourse, pond, ditch, lake or other body of water.

<u>Permanent Development:</u> Any buildings, structures, parking lots, roads, landscaping and related features constructed as part of a development project approved under a Storm Water permit.

<u>Permanent Facilities:</u> Any natural or constructed features of a Storm Water system including, but is not limited to storm sewers, infiltration areas, detention/retention areas, channels, streets, and similar features.

<u>Permittee:</u> Any person who has received a Storm Water permit from the City.

Person: Any developer, individual, firm, corporation, partnership, franchise, association, owner, occupant of property, or agency - public or private.

<u>Planning and Zoning Commission:</u> An appointed Commission of the Dickinson City Commission, which is tasked with addressing land use.

<u>Private Drainage Channel:</u> A drainage channel on privately-owned land or easements which eventually discharges into a public drainage channel or public storm sewer.

Private Storm Sewer: A storm sewer on privately owned land or easements.

Public Drainage Channel: A drainage channel located on public property.

<u>Public Storm Sewer:</u> A storm sewer located entirely on publicly owned land or easements.

Regional Detention: An area which temporarily stores storm water from more than one source.

Regional Flood: A flood that is representative of large floods known to have occurred generally in the state and recently characteristic of what can be expected to occur on an average frequency in the magnitude of a one hundred (100) year recurrence interval. It is also referred to as the base flood.

Retention Facility: A natural or manmade structure that provides for the permanent storage of Storm Water runoff.

Runoff: Rainfall, snowmelt, dewatering or irrigation water flowing over the ground surface and into open channels, underground storm sewers, and detention or retention ponds.

Sediment: Solid or organic material that, in suspension, may be transported by air, water, gravity, or ice, and deposited at another location.

<u>Site:</u> The entire area included in the legal description of the parcel or other land division on which land development or land disturbing activity is proposed in a permit application.

Stabilize: To make the site steadfast or firm, minimizing soil movement by mulching and seeding, sodding, landscaping, concrete, gravel, or other measures.

State: The State of North Dakota.

Storm Sewer: A pipe or conduit for carrying storm waters, surface runoff, street and wash waters, and drainage, excluding sewage and industrial wastes.

Storm Water Detention: Temporary storage of Storm Water runoff in ponds, parking lots, depressed grassy areas, roof tops, buried underground tanks, and other similar features, for future or controlled release

Storm Water Management Policy: City code which regulates runoff within a drainage system.

Storm Water Management Criteria: Specific guidance provided to the designer to carry out Storm Water management policies.

Storm Water Management System: Physical facilities that collect, store, convey, and treat Storm Water runoff in urban areas. These facilities normally include detention and retention facilities, streets, storm sewers, inlets, open channels, and special structures, such as inlets, manholes, and energy dissipaters.

Storm Water Retention: Permanente storm water storage designed to eliminate subsequent surface discharge. Ponds are the most common types of retention storage. **Structure:** Anything manufactured, constructed, or erected which is normally attached to or positioned on land, including portable structures, earthen structures, roads, parking lots, and paved storage areas.

<u>Unpolluted Water:</u> Any water of quality equal to or better than the effluent criteria in effect, or water that would not cause a violation of receiving water quality standards.

Urban Area: Land associated with, or part of, a defined city or town.

<u>User:</u> Any person who benefits from and/or is regulated by City storm water management policies and facilities.

<u>User Fee:</u> A fee levied on users of a public storm water management system for the user's proportionate share of the cost of operation and maintenance or replacement of such works.

<u>Water Shed:</u> the land area that drains water to a particular stream, river, or lake. It is a land feature that can be identified by tracing a line along the highest elevations between two areas on a map, often a ridge.

Storm Water Management Plan: The plan that a designer formulates to manage urban Storm Water runoff for a particular project or drainage area. It typically addresses such subjects as characterization of the site development and grading plan; peak rates of runoff, flow duration, runoff volumes for various return frequencies; locations, criteria and sizes of detention or retention ponds and conveyances; runoff control features; land parcels, easement locations, opinions of probable costs, measures to enhance runoff quality, salient regulations, and how the plan addresses them, and consistency with secondary objectives such as public recreation, aesthetics, public safety, and groundwater recharge. It is usually submitted to regulatory officials for their review for adoption.

<u>Waterway:</u> any channel, open ditch, or river which carries natural flows or storm water. <u>Wetlands:</u> Lands transitional between terrestrial and aquatic systems where the water table is usually at or near the surface or the land is covered by shallow water. For purposes of this definition, wetlands must have the following three attributes.

- a. A predominance of hydric soils;
- b. Are inundated or saturated by the surface or groundwater at a frequency and duration sufficient to support a prevalence of hydrophilic vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions; and
- c. Under normal circumstances support the prevalence of hydric vegetation. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2.)

Section 38.14.130 Scope.

Every applicant for a building permit, subdivision approval, or a permit to allow construction activities must submit a Storm Water Management Plan to the City. No building permit, subdivision approval, or permit to allow construction activities shall be issued until approval of the Storm Water Management Plan or a waiver of the approval requirement has been obtained.

Exemptions to the requirements of this section include:

- 1. Any part of a fully developed subdivision with streets, curb, and gutter for which a plat was approved and recorded with the County Register on or before June 10, 2003;
- 2. A parcel for which a building permit was approved on or before June 10, 2003;
- 3. An Administrative Subdivision or Minor Subdivision, as defined in the Dickinson City Code.
- 4. Installation of a fence, sign, telephone, and electric poles and other kinds of posts or poles; or
- 5. Construction of a stand-alone single family dwelling is exempt from filing a Storm Water Management Plan, but must provide erosion control measures while under construction;
- 6. Emergency work to protect life, limb, or property.

The Planning and Zoning Commission may waive any requirement of this title upon making a finding that compliance with the requirement will involve an unnecessary hardship, and the waiver of such requirement will not adversely affect the standards and requirements put forth in Chapter 38.14.510 to 38.14.520. The City may require as a condition of the waiver, such dedication or construction, or agreement to dedicate or construct, as may be necessary to adequately meet the said standards and requirements. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2.)

Section 38.14.140 Depositing, Draining, etc., Harmful Materials into Storm Water System.

It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge, deposit, dump or drain, or cause to be discharged, deposited, dumped or drained any liquid, solid or material which may degrade storm water quality and/or is prohibited by city, state or federal regulations or policies into the Storm Water System. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2.)

Section 38.14.210 Application.

A proposed Storm Water Management Plan shall be filed with the City Engineer. The application shall include a description of the location upon which the approval is requested, verification that the proposed use is permitted in the underlying zoning district, and adequate evidence showing the proposed use will conform to the standards set forth in this article.

Two sets of legible copies of the drawings and required information shall be submitted to the City Engineer. Applicable fees as set forth in the city fee schedule shall be paid prior to commencement of any construction activities. Plans shall be prepared to a scale appropriate to the site of the project and suitable for the review to be performed. (Ord. 1282 § 2.)

Section 38.14.220 Mandatory Compliance with Other City Codes.

In addition to this article, the applicant is responsible for adhering to the requirements of all city codes, including but not limited to the following:

- 1. Zoning regulations
- 2. The city's flood plain requirements.
- 3. Regulations governing the subdivision of land. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2.)

Section 38.14.230 Contents of Storm Water Management Plan.

All Storm Water Management Plans, drawings, specifications, and computations for Storm Water management facilities submitted for review. Any plan for developments five acres or larger shall contain a validated seal and be signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of North Dakota. At a minimum, the Storm Water Management Plan shall contain the following information:

1. Storm Water Management Plan Report. A written summary discussing pre and post development hydrology and hydraulic analysis, erosion and sedimentation control measures to be used during and after construction,

- protective measures for proposed and existing structures, and water quality concerns.
- 2. Construction Plans and Specifications. Plans and specs submitted as part of the plan shall contain the following:

a. Existing site map.

- (1) The name and address of the applicant, the section, township and range, and the north point, date and scale of drawing, and number of sheets;
- (2) The location of the tract by an insert map at a scale sufficient to clearly identify the location of the property and giving such information as the names and numbers of adjoining roads, railroads, utilities, subdivisions, towns, and districts or other defining landmarks;
- (3) Existing topography with a contour interval appropriate to the topography of the land, but in no case having a contour interval greater than two feet;
- (4) A watershed boundary map illustrating the project site location as a sub watershed within the watershed of the larger or major drainage basin;
- (5) A delineation of streams, rivers, public waters and the presence or absence of wetlands located on and immediately adjacent to the site, including depth of water, a general description of vegetative cover found within the site, a statement of general water quality, and any classification given to the water body by state or federal agencies;
- (6) Location and dimensions of existing Storm Water drain systems and natural drainage patterns on and immediately adjacent to the site delineating in which direction and at what rate Storm Water is conveyed from the site, identifying the receiving stream, river, public ditch, or wetland, and setting forth those areas of the unaltered site where Storm Water collects or passes;
- (7) A description of the soils on the site, including a map indicating soil types of the areas to be disturbed, containing information on the suitability of the soils for the type of development proposed, potential for erosion, the type of Storm Water management system proposed, and any remedial steps to be taken by the developer to render the soils suitable.
- (8) Current extent of vegetative cover and a clear delineation of any vegetation proposed for removal;
- (9) The current land use of the area in which the site is located; and
- (10) The 100-year flood plains, flood fringes, and floodways.

b. Site Construction Plan.

- (1) Locations and dimensions of all proposed land disturbing activities and any phasing or scheduling of those activities;
- (2) Approximate locations of all temporary soil or dirt stockpile areas;
- (3) Location and description of all construction site erosion control measures necessary to meet the requirements of this ordinance;
- (4) A schedule of anticipated starting and completion dates for each land disturbing activity, including the installation of construction site erosion control measures needed to meet the requirements of this ordinance; and
- (5) Provisions for maintaining the construction site erosion control measures prior to, during, and after construction.

c. Plans of Final Site Conditions.

- (1) The proposed final grading plan shown at contours at the same interval as provided above or as required to clearly indicate the relationship of the proposed changes to existing topography and remaining features;
- (2) A landscape plan, drawn to an appropriate scale, including dimensions and distances and the location, type, size and description of proposed landscape materials which will be added to the site as part of the development;
- (3) A drainage plan of the developed site delineating the direction and at what rate Storm Water runoff will be conveyed from the site and setting forth the areas of the site where Storm Water will be collected;
- (4) The proposed size, alignment, and intended use of any structures to be erected on the site;
- (5) A clear delineation and tabulation of all areas which shall be paved or surfaced, including a description of the surfacing material to used; and
- (6) Any other information pertinent to the particular project which, in the opinion of the applicant, is necessary for the review of the project. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.240 Storm Water Management Criteria for Permanent Facilities.

Storm Water control facilities included as part of the final design for a permanent development shall be addressed in the Storm Water Management Plan and shall meet the following criteria:

1. <u>Pre-versus Post Hydrological Response of Site for areas five (5) acres or larger.</u>
An applicant shall install or construct, on or for the proposed land disturbing or development activity, all Storm Water management facilities necessary to manage increased runoff so that the two (2) year, ten (10) year and one hundred (100) year storm peak discharge rates existing before the proposed development shall not be

increased and accelerated channel erosion will not occur as a result of the proposed land disturbing or development activity. In lieu of the installation or construction of Storm Water management facility. An applicant shall contribute to the development and maintenance of regional Storm Water management facilities designed to serve multiple land disturbing and development activities.

- 2. <u>Natural Features of the Site.</u> The applicant shall give consideration to reducing the need for Storm Water management facilities by incorporating the use of natural topography and land cover such as wetlands, ponds, natural swales and depressions as they existed before development.
- 3. <u>Storm Water Management Strategies.</u> Using sound and current engineering practices, the following Storm Water management practices may include but are not limited to the following.
 - a. Natural infiltration of precipitation and runoff on-site, if suitable soil and geological conditions are available. The purpose of this strategy is to encourage the development of a Storm Water Management Plan that encourages natural infiltration.
 - b. The use of open vegetated swales and natural depressions.
 - c. Storm Water detention facilities.
 - d. Storm Water retention facilities (on a case by case basis). A combination of successive practices may be used to achieve the applicable minimum control requirements specified in the above four strategies. Justification shall be provided by the applicant for the method selected.
- Adequacy of Outlets. The adequacy of any outlet used as a discharge point for 4. proposed Storm Water management facilities must be assessed and documented to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. The hydraulic capacities of downstream natural channels, storm sewer systems, or streets shall be sufficient to receive post-development runoff discharges and volumes without causing increased property damages or any increase in the established base floodplain elevation. If a floodplain or floodway has not been established by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, then the applicant shall provide a documented analysis and estimate of the base flood elevation as certified by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of North Dakota. In addition, projected velocities in downstream natural or manmade channels shall not exceed that which is reasonably anticipated to cause erosion unless protective measures acceptable to the City Engineer are approved and installed as part of the Storm Water Management Plan. The assessment of outlet adequacy shall be included in the Storm Water Management Plan and shall be certified by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of North Dakota
- 5. <u>Storm Water Detention/Retention Facilities.</u> Storm Water detention or retention facilities proposed to be constructed in the Storm Water Management Plan shall be designed according to the most current and sound engineering practices. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.250 Operation and Maintenance Considerations.

All Storm Water management facilities shall be designed to minimize the need for maintenance, to provide access for maintenance purposes, and to be structurally sound. All

Storm Water management facilities shall have a plan of operation and maintenance that assures continued effective removal of pollutants carried in Storm Water runoff. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to obtain any necessary easements or other property interests to allow access to the Storm Water management facilities for inspection and maintenance purposes. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.260 Easements and Bonds.

Easements or bonds may be required as conditions to the issuance of a permit. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.270 Management of Site Vegetation.

The applicant shall provide for the installation and maintenance of vegetation on development property in accordance with the following criteria:

1. No person shall apply fertilizer to or deposit grass clippings, leaves, or other vegetative materials on impervious surfaces, or within Storm Water systems. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.310 Process.

Storm Water Management Plans meeting the requirements of Chapter 38.14-.0210 to 38.14.270 shall be submitted to the City Engineer for review and compliance with the standards of Chapter 38.14-.0410 to 38.14.440. The City Engineer shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny the Storm Water Management Plan. If a particular Storm Water management plan involves a complex application or has the potential for significant controversy, a public hearing may be scheduled before the Planning and Zoning Commission for public input. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.320 Duration.

Approval of any plan submitted under the provisions of this article shall expire one year after the date of approval unless construction has commenced in accordance with the plan. However, if prior to the expiration of approval, the applicant makes a written request to the City Engineer for an extension of time to commence construction setting forth the reasons for the requested extension, the City Engineer may grant one extension of not greater than one year. Receipt of any request for an extension shall be acknowledged by the City within fifteen (15) days. The City Engineer shall make a decision on the extension within thirty (30) days of receipt. Any plan may be revised in the same manner as originally approved. Any denied application may be resubmitted with additional information addressing the concerns contained within the denial. The resubmitted plan is subject to all applicable fees and shall be considered as a new application. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.330 Conditions.

A Storm Water Management Plan may be approved subject to compliance with conditions reasonable and necessary to insure that the requirements contained in this article are met. Such conditions may, among other matters, limit the size, kind or character of the proposed development, require the construction of structures, drainage facilities, storage basins and other

facilities, require replacement of vegetation, establish required monitoring procedures, stage the work over time, require alteration of the site design to insure buffering, require the acquisition of certain lands or easements, and require the conveyance to the City of Dickinson or other public entity of certain lands or interests therein. The City may specify special requirements for specific watersheds within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction. The nature of these requirements will be subject to the unique environmental and natural resource environment of each sub watershed. Approval of a plan shall bind the applicant to perform all of the conditions and requirements of the plan prior to any land disturbing activities. A plan issued under this title runs with the land and is a condition of plat approval. Any owner or subsequent owner of any parcel within the plat must comply with the plan or any approval, revision or modification of the plan. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.340 Standards.

All Storm Water Management plan designs shall be designed using current and sound engineering practices. All plans submitted shall be reviewed for appropriate content described in this section. No construction may commence until the storm water management plan has been approved by the City. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.350 General.

This section describes approval standards against which proposed Storm Water Management Plans will be measured. A Storm Water Management Plan which fails to meet the standards contained in this section shall not be approved by the City. Other standards, such as state and federal standards, shall also apply. If two standards of different agencies conflict, the more restrictive standards shall apply.

It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to obtain any required permits from other governmental agencies having jurisdiction over the work to be performed. Typically, such agencies would include but are not limited to the Stark County Water Resource District, the State Water Commission, the State Department of Transportation, the State Health Department, the State Historical Preservation Officer, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.410 Storm Water Management.

It is unlawful to initiate land development, land disturbing, or other activities which result in an increase in Storm Water quantities, degradation of Storm Water quality, or restriction of flow in any storm sewer system, open ditch or natural channel, Storm Water easement, water body, or wetland outlet within the zoning jurisdiction of the City. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.420 Storm Water Management Permits.

- 1. <u>Mandatory Permits.</u> Any person proposing a development or project which involves land development, land disturbing, or other activities as defined in this title, shall obtain a Storm Water management permit before initiating those activities.
- 2. <u>Permit Application.</u> All persons subject to meeting the requirements for a mandatory Storm Water permit shall complete and file with the City Engineer an application in the form prescribed by the City and accompanied by a fee established by the City and

adopted by the Board of City Commissioners. The permit application shall be accompanied by a Storm Water Management Plan as prescribed under Chapter 38.14-.0210 to 38.14.270 of this article. The City Engineer will evaluate the data furnished as part of the Storm Water Management Plan and may require additional information. After evaluation and acceptance of the Storm Water Management Plan, the City may issue a Storm Water management permit subject to any terms and conditions deemed necessary.

- 3. <u>Permit Conditions.</u> Storm Water management permits are issued subject to all provisions of this title and all other applicable regulations, user charges and fees established by the City. Permits may contain any of the following conditions:
 - a. The user fee for a Storm Water outlet utilizing a regional Storm Water management facility.
 - b. Limits on the maximum rate of Storm Water discharge;
 - c. Limits on water quality degradation of Storm Water discharge;
 - d. Requirements for the installation, operation and maintenance of Storm Water detention/retention facilities;
 - e. Compliance schedule;
 - f. Requirements for notification to and acceptance by the City of any land disturbing activities which have the potential for increasing the rate of Storm Water discharge resulting in degradation of Storm Water quality; and
 - g. Other conditions as deemed appropriate by the City to insure compliance with this title.
- 4. <u>Permit Duration</u>. Permits must be issued for a time period specified by the City. The applicant shall apply for permit renewal a minimum of ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the applicant's existing permit. The terms and conditions of a permit are subject to modification by the City during the term of the permit as set forth in paragraph five (5).
- 5. <u>Permit Modification</u>. Permits may be modified by the City for just cause upon 30 days' notice. Just cause shall include but not be limited to:
 - a Promulgation of a new applicable state or nationwide permit standard;
 - b. Changes in the requirements of this ordinance;
 - c. Changes in the process used by the permittee or changes in discharge rate, volume, or character; and
 - d. Changes in the design or capability of receiving Storm Water facilities.
 - e. A written request submitted by the Permittee to the City and agreed upon by the city

The applicant must be informed of any proposed changes in the permit at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of change. Any changes or new conditions in the permit shall include a reasonable time schedule for compliance.

- 6. <u>Permit Transfer.</u> A permit runs with the property it covers and is transferable to new owners in its entirety or by parcel, with each parcel being subject to the permit and any conditions which apply to that parcel.
- 7. <u>Monitoring Facilities.</u> The City may require the applicant to provide and operate, at the applicant's expense, a monitoring facility to allow inspection, sampling, and flow measurements of each Storm Water facility component. Where at all possible, the monitoring facility shall be located on the property of the applicant as opposed to on

- public rights-of-way. Ample room must be allowed for accurate flow measuring and sampling and the facility shall be kept in a safe and proper operating condition.
- 8. <u>Inspection</u>. Any employee of the City of Dickinson may enter with or without notice to inspect the Storm Water management facilities of any permittee to determine compliance with the requirements of this title. The City shall be allowed to set up equipment on the permittee's premises as required for the purpose of collecting samples and flow recording. The City shall retain enforcement powers for assuring adequate operation and maintenance activities through permit conditions and penalties for noncompliance orders. Maintenance shall remain the responsibility of the subdivision and/or property owners. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.430 Construction Activities.

Construction operations must at a minimum comply with the following requirements:

- 1. <u>Site Dewatering.</u> Water pumped from the site shall be treated by temporary sedimentation basins, grit chambers, sand filters, up flow chambers, hydro-cyclones, soil concentrators or other appropriate controls as deemed necessary. Water may not be discharged in a manner that causes erosion, sedimentation, or flooding on the site; the receiving channels; or any wetland.
- 2. <u>Waste and Material Disposal.</u> All waste materials (including garbage, debris, cleaning wastes, wastewater, toxic materials, or hazardous materials) shall be properly disposed of off-site and not allowed to be carried by runoff or wind.
- 3. <u>Tracking Management At the end of each work day</u> any material placed on a public or private road shall be removed (not by flushing) to prevent sediment tracking.
- 4. <u>Water Quality Protection</u>. The construction contractor shall be required to control oil and fuel spills, and the discharge of any chemicals to prevent such spills or discharges from entering any water course, sump, sewer system, water body, or wetland.
- 5. <u>Site Erosion and Sedimentation Control</u>. Construction operations must include erosion and sedimentation control measures meeting accepted design criteria, standards and specifications. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.440 Final Storm Water Management Plan.

Upon completion of all required construction activities, the permit applicant shall submit to the City the final Storm Water Management Plan to document any change to the original Storm Water Management concept. The final Storm Water Management Plan shall contain Record Drawings showing the final configuration for all improvements as constructed. For areas five (5) acres or larger the final Storm Water Management Plan and Record Drawings shall be certified by a Professional engineer registered in the State of North Dakota. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.510 Emergency Suspension of Permits.

The City may for cause order the suspension of the Storm Water management permit and/or building permit of a person, contractor, developer or parcel owner when it appears to the

City that an actual or threatened discharge presents or may present an imminent or substantial danger to the health or welfare of persons downstream, substantial danger to the environment, or a violation of any permit conditions imposed by this article. If any person is notified of the suspension order and/or a person fails to comply voluntarily with the suspension order, the City shall commence whatever steps are necessary to obtain compliance, including judicial proceedings. The City may reinstate the Storm Water management permit and/or building permit upon proof of compliance with all permit conditions.

Whenever the City orders the emergency suspension of a Storm Water management permit and/or building permit pursuant to the emergency provisions of this section, the City shall serve notice on the permittee personally or by registered or certified mail before or after actually suspending activity depending on the individual situation. If any person is notified of the suspension order and/or a person fails to comply voluntarily with the suspension order, the City shall commence whatever steps are necessary to obtain compliance, including judicial proceedings.

Any applicant dissatisfied with an order the City issued pursuant to this section may request a hearing before the Board of City Commissioners by filing a written request for a hearing with the City, within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the order. The hearing must be held within thirty (30) days of receipt of the request, or as subject to the current meeting schedule, whereupon the Board of City Commissioners may affirm, modify or rescind the order. A request for a hearing filed pursuant to this section does not stay the order while the hearing is pending. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.520 Revocation of a Permit.

A Storm Water management permit may be revoked following notice and an opportunity for a hearing in accordance with Sections 38.1-06-03 and 38.1-06-04. The City may revoke a Storm Water management permit for cause, including but not limited to if upon permitted site there is:

- a. One or more Violation of any terms or conditions of the Storm Water management permit;
- b. False statements on any required reports;
- c. Obtaining a permit by misrepresentation or failure to disclose fully all relevant facts; or
- d. Any other violation of this title or related ordinance.

(Ord. No. 1282 § 2; Ord No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.14.530 Notification.

Whenever the City finds that any person has violated or is violating this title, Storm Water discharge permit and/or its conditions, or any prohibition, limitation or requirement contained herein, the City shall serve upon such person a written notice stating the nature of the violation. Within the time period specified, a plan for the satisfactory correction thereof must be submitted to the City. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.540 Hearing.

If the violation is not corrected by timely compliance, the City may order any permittee who causes or allows a violation to a Storm Water permit to show cause before the Board of City

Commissioners why the order of the City should not be upheld. A notice of hearing must be served on the permittee specifying the time and place of a hearing to be held by the Board Commission regarding the order of the City, and directing the permittee to show cause before the Board Commission why the order of the City should not be upheld. The notice must be served personally or by registered or certified mail postmarked at least ten (10) days before the hearing. The evidence submitted at the hearing shall be considered by the city which shall then uphold, modify or rescind the order of the city. An appeal of the city's decision may be taken according to law.

If any person commences any land disturbing activities which result in increased Storm Water quantity or Storm Water quality degradation into the City Storm Water management system contrary to the provisions of this title, federal or state requirements or any order of the City, the City Attorney may, following the authorization of such action by the Board of City Commissioners, commence legal action for appropriate legal and/or equitable relief. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2; Ord No. 1369 §1)

Section 38.14.610 Penalty.

Any person, who is found to have violated an order of the Board of City Commissioners made in accordance with this title, or who has failed to comply with any provision of this title and the orders, rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder, is guilty of an offense. Each day on which a violation shall occur or continue shall be deemed a separate and distinct offense. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.620 Costs of Damage.

Any person violating any of the provisions of this title or who initiates an activity which causes a deposit, obstruction, or damage or other impairment to the City's Storm Water management system is liable to the City for any expense, loss, or damage caused by the violation or the discharge. The City may bill the person violating this title the costs for any cleaning, repair or replacement work caused by the violation of Storm Water discharge. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.630 City Attorney's Fees and Costs.

In addition to the civil penalties provided herein, the City may recover reasonable attorney's fees, court costs, court reporter's fees, and other expenses of litigation by appropriate action against the person found to have violated this title or the orders, rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Section 38.14.640 Falsifying Information.

Any person who knowingly makes any false statements, representations, or certification in any applicable record, report, plan, or other document filed or required to be maintained pursuant to this title, or Storm Water management permit, or who knowingly falsifies, tampers with, or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring devices or method required under this chapter, shall be guilty of an offense. (Ord. No. 1282 § 2)

Article 38.16 REPEALED WITH ORDINANCE 1245

Article 38.20 Water, Wastewater and Storm Water Charges

Sections:	
38.20.010	Definitions - REPEALED
38.20.020	Monthly basis
38.20.030	Water Utility rates
38.20.040	Wastewater rates - REPEALED
38.20.045	Storm water service charge - REPEALED
38.20.046	Storm Water Service Charge
38.20.050	Statements; meter readings; adjustment of errors on estimates - REPEALED
38.20.060	Due date; failure to pay generally
38.20.065	Early Payments List
38.20.070	Joint and several liability of owners and occupants; billing and payment after notice of termination
38.20.080	Charges to constitute lien on premises; assessment and collection of lien
38.20.090	Settlement of claims of overcharging
38.20.100	Connection fees
38.20.110	Water Utility and Stormwater Fund

Section 38.20.010 Definitions - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.20.020 Monthly basis

All charges for water utilities, including water, wastewater, and stormwater, shall be billed to the owner or occupant of each property connected to the city waterworks system on a monthly basis. (Ord. No. 1403 §1)

Section 38.20.030 Water Utility rates

The owner or occupant of each property connected with the waterworks system of the city shall pay a fixed minimum charge per month, regardless of the actual amount of water consumed or metered, or the amount of wastewater or stormwater carried from the property. Such fixed minimum monthly charge shall be based upon the size of the meter. The minimum fixed monthly charge shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be in the city fee schedule.

In addition to the minimum fixed rate charge per month each owner or occupant of each property connected with the water works system of the city shall pay, for all water used, a charge per thousand gallons. The charge shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be in the city fee schedule. Such a charge may vary depending on the amount of water used each month.

The Board of City Commissioners hereby finds that the principal purpose of the city's water distribution system is to provide adequate water supply to residents of the City of Dickinson for their ordinary personal, household and commercial use. Accordingly, no person shall operate a Bulk Water Vendor or otherwise convey water in bulk for other than the ordinary personal, household or commercial use of the residents of the City of Dickinson, without special permit from the Board of City Commissioners. In the City's fee schedule, the Board of City

Commissioners may establish particular rates for users of the City's water distribution system operating a Bulk Water Vendor.

A Bulk Water Vendor shall be defined as follows: "A person or entity connected to the city's water distribution system, conveying water in bulk principally for purposes other than the ordinary personal, household or commercial use of the of the residents of the City of Dickinson, and shall specifically include any user of the city's water distribution system principally designed to fill water trucks for agricultural or industrial use."

The City reserves the right to shut off water service to any property connected to the city waterworks system if, in the sole subjective discretion of the Board of City Commissioners, that property's use of the city waterworks system, including the daily volume or total volume of water used by the property, endanger the waterworks system or the daily total maximum allotment of water to the City of Dickinson from Southwest

The water utility rate schedule applies to each owner or occupant of each residential or commercial premises connected with the water works system of the city, and the minimum fixed rate charges shall apply to each owner or occupant of residential or commercial premises, regardless of whether the water utilized by such individual owner or occupant comes from a private well.

Section 38.20.035 Penalty

Any person, who is found to have violated any provision of the foregoing Section 38.20.030, or who has failed to comply with any other provision of this title and the orders, rules, regulations and permits issued hereunder, is guilty of an offense, and is subject to penalties as set forth in Section 25.20.010 of the Dickinson City Code, as may be amended from time to time. Each day on which a violation shall occur or continue shall be deemed a separate and distinct offense.

In the discretion of the board of city commissioners, users of the city waterworks system located outside of city limits may be charged more for operation, maintenance, and equipment replacement costs than those users inside the city limits. Additional charges to users outside the city limits may be charged for debt retirement, capital improvements, and other costs not readily apportionable according to wastewater flow and strength.

The owner or occupant of each residential premises connected to the wastewater system of the city that have private wells, and do not have metered city water billings shall pay minimum wastewater charge and a charge based upon a city wide average of residential water consumption. The City shall have the right to require the well to be metered. The minimum wastewater charge shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be in the city fee schedule.

Commercial properties with a minimum of ten thousand square feet of irrigated grassed area may apply for the exception which may be capped or averaged per billing period. The minimum fixed monthly charge and the rate based upon the water consumption and cap or average shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be in the city fee schedule. Such written application shall be filed on or before April 1 of the year the exception is requested and every three years thereafter. Laundry and dry cleaning establishments may be entitled to a maximum of twenty-five percent exemption. The owners or occupants of any commercial premises connected to the wastewater system of the city that have private wells must have the well water metered to be eligible for the commercial exception or the laundry and dry cleaning establishments exemption.

When any user of the wastewater system discharges wastewater to the city system with biochemical oxygen demands and/or suspended solids in excess of those from normal residential and commercial users, the city may require the payment of additional charges for wastewater service based upon such excess strength wastewater as determined by measurement. The surcharge for extra strength biochemical oxygen demand and/or suspended solids shall be in such amounts as determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners, as set forth in the City Fee Schedule.

Authorized city officials may enter upon any property or premises at reasonable times for the purpose of sampling any wastewater being discharged into the wastewater system. Any authorized City employee may enter upon the property at any hour under emergency circumstances.

The discharge of any waters containing toxic or poisonous solids, liquids or gases in sufficient quantity, either singly or by interaction with other wastes, to contaminate the wastewater system, or to injure or interfere with any wastewater treatment process, constitute a hazard to humans or animals, create a public nuisance or create any hazard in or have an adverse effect on the waters receiving any discharge from the wastewater system is hereby prohibited.

Each user who discharges any pollutants that cause an increase in the costs of managing the effluent of the city's wastewater treatment system shall pay for such increased costs and EPA penalties and fines assessed.(Code 1958, § 31-39; Ord. No. 519, Ord. No. 597; Ord. No. 622, § 1; Ord. No. 644, § 1; Ord. No. 667, § 1; Ord. No. 697, § 1; Ord. No. 730, § 1; Ord. No. 790, § 1; Ord. No. 831, § 1; Ord. No. 923, § 3; Ord. No. 1001, § 1; Ord. No. 1029, § 1; Ord. No. 1064, § 1; Ord. No. 1086, § 26; Ord. No. 1245 § 1. Ord. No. 1403 § 2; Ord. No. 1394 § 1)

Section 38.20.040 Wastewater rates - REPEALED

REPEALED (Ord No. 1403 §3)

Section 38.20.045 Storm water service charge - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.20.046 Storm Water Service Charge

(1) <u>Generally.</u> A monthly storm water charge shall be collected for each property located within the Dickinson city limits. The storm water charge shall be collected either from each water meter connection or on a monthly billing in lieu of the water meter connection. This charge shall be based on the square footage and use of the property draining into the city's storm drainage system and served by said water meter. This charge is based on the estimated increase in storm water runoff rates resulting from property development. This increase is to be determined by subtracting the runoff coefficient for undeveloped property from the runoff coefficient of the developed property, for the purpose of determining the monthly storm water surcharge. Based upon engineering judgment, the following runoff coefficients are adopted:

Low Density Residential	0.35
Mobile Home Parks	0.35
High Density Residential	0.45
Public Buildings	0.55
Commercial	0.75

Undeveloped Land 0.15

Property within the city limits shall be assessed a monthly base charge. In addition, a surcharge will be charged for areas in excess of 20,000 square feet in all areas except low density residential and mobile home parks. The amount of the monthly base charge and surcharge shall be determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners in the City of Dickinson fee schedule. The initial monthly base charges and surcharges, until changed by the Board of City Commissioners as set forth above, shall be as set forth below:

Property Use	Monthly Base Charge	Surcharge for Areas in Excess of 20,000 SF
Low Density Residential Single Family Homes Duplexes Townhouses	\$1.25/month	None
Mobile Home Parks	\$1.25/mobile home/month	None
High Density Residential Apartments Multi-family dwellings Condominiums	\$2.00/month	\$0.08/1,000 SF/month
Public Buildings School Churches Public Buildings	\$3.00/month	\$0.10/1,000 SF/month
Commercial Commercial Industrial Fraternal Orders	\$3.00/month	\$0.15/1,000 SF/month
Vacant Land Undeveloped Areas Parks Cemeteries	None	None

The minimum monthly surcharge, for all properties subject to a surcharge, shall be \$1.00/month.

(2) <u>Exemptions.</u> The following properties are exempt from the charges imposed herein: Private or public cemeteries.

Parks.

Undeveloped areas.

- (3) <u>Credits.</u> Properties that are subject to a surcharge are entitled to apply for certain credits to allow the use of actual runoff characteristics rather than averages to determine the appropriate surcharge. Credits may also be issued for projects which reduce either the volume or discharge rate of runoff. The project must be designed by a qualified third party (architect or engineer) and subject to approval of the City.
- (4) <u>Application for Credits.</u> All applications must be submitted in writing and supported by an accurate current scaled drawing or photo of the property, together with runoff coefficients determined by an engineer or architect. Said application shall be approved by the City. If denied, the applicant may appeal said denial to the Board of City Commissioners. The credit shall be periodically reviewed and amended as necessary to account for additional site development.
- (5) <u>Runoff.</u> Any property hereinafter annexed or developed within the City shall be required to manage the runoff in a manner which will limit the runoff from its property to that which would have run off in an undeveloped state.
- (6) <u>Use of Fees.</u> All fees collected as a result of this charge shall be placed in a separate enterprise fund which will be utilized for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the storm water utility system for the City. (Ord No. 1198, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.20.050 Statements; meter readings; adjustment of errors on estimates - REPEALED

This section was repealed with Ordinance No. 1245 approved May 6, 2002.

Section 38.20.060 Due date; failure to pay generally

All bills for water utility and storm water service, labor and materials furnished each month shall be due and payable on the date of billing. Accounts unpaid at the next billing will be considered past due and assessed penalties as set by the Board of City Commission in the annual fee schedule. Unless the account is on the Early Payment List, if an account is unpaid 60 days after the billing, the water shall be shut off by the City and shall not be turned on again until all utility charges, labor and materials then due shall have been paid, together with the additional sum for establishing the service and penalties, in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall in the City of Dickinson fee schedule. (Code 1958, §§ 31-41, 31-42; Ord. No. 364, § 1; Ord. No. 438, § 2; Ord. No. 705, § 7; Ord. No. 1086, § 28; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord. No. 1323 § 2 Ord. No. 1403 § 4.)

Section 38.20.065 Early Payments List

Any account which has received a water shut off notice within any 12 month period may be placed on the Early Payments List. The property owner will be provided written notice that he is on the Early Payments List. After said written notice, any account on the Early Payments List must pay their bill in full before it becomes delinquent, or the water service will be shut off without further notice. Following shut off, the account must be paid in full, including additional fees and penalties, before service will be reconnected. (Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.20.070 Joint and several liability of owners and occupants; billing and payment after notice of termination

The owner and occupant of each premise shall be jointly and severally liable for all charges for water utility and storm water service during the period of their respective ownership or occupancy and until receipt of written notice by the City of the termination of such ownership or occupancy. All such charges having been properly billed to the owner or occupant of any premises served and not paid may be recovered by the city in a civil action in any court of competent jurisdiction against either the owner or the occupant or both of them.

Upon receipt of notice of termination of ownership or occupancy of any premises, the City shall read the meter and issue a statement of charges for all water utility and storm water service since the last meter reading and not theretofore billed. If such person moves away from the city or to some place within the city where he is not directly supplied with municipal water utility service and refuses or neglects to pay such bill within ten days after the mailing or delivery thereof, such charge shall be collectible from the new owner or occupant of the property for which the bill was rendered and the city shall take such measures to enforce collection of such bill as are provided in the case of nonpayment of other bills. (Code 1958, § 31-43; Ord. No. 438, § 3; Ord. No. 1245 § 1 Ord. No. 1403 §5)

Section 38.20.080 Charges to constitute lien on premises; assessment and collection of lien

All water utility and storm water charges shall constitute liens upon the respective lots, tracts and premises receiving water utility service; and all such charges which have been properly billed to the owner or occupant of the premises served and which are more than thirty days past due on September thirtieth of each year shall be certified by the city to the county between the first and the tenth day of October of each year; and the city, in so certifying such charges, shall specify the amount thereof, the description of the premises served and the name of the owner thereof; and the amount so certified shall be extended by the county on the tax rolls against such premises and collected by the county and paid to the city in the same manner as other county and municipal taxes are assessed, certified, collected and returned. (Code 1958, § 31-44; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord. No. 1403 §6.)

Section 38.20.090 Settlement of claims of overcharging

All bills against which no complaints have been filed with the City on or before the thirtieth day after the date of the bills shall be taken and considered as correct and shall be paid without any reduction. If billing is found to be in error, an adjustment will be made to the account. (Code 1958, § 31-45; Ord. No. 438, § 4; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.20.100 Connection fees

Every property owner who causes or permits his property to be connected to the wastewater or waterworks systems of the city shall pay and be fully responsible for a connection fee which shall be paid before waterworks and wastewater facilities may be utilized. The amount of the connection fees shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners in the city fee schedule. If a property owner replaces an existing water

service with a larger size service, a connection fee shall be paid, equal to the difference between the fee for the smaller and larger service. (Ord. No. 397, §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 758, §§ 1, 2; Ord. No. 1086, § 29; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.20.110 Water Utility and Stormwater Fund

(a) Water Utility Fund.

There shall be maintained a separate enterprise fund, hereby designated as the "Water Utility Fund," which will be used to account for all financial activities of the City water and wastewater system.

(b) Stormwater Fund.

There shall be maintained a separate enterprise fund, hereby designated as the "Stormwater Fund" which will be used to account for all financial activities of the Stormwater System. (Code 1958, § 31-46; Ord. No. 878, § 1; Ord. 1226 § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1; Ord. No. 1403 §7)

Article 38.22 Wastewater Backup Claims

Sections:

38.22.010	Wastewater Backup Fund (Repealed November, 2016)
38.22.020	Wastewater Backup Fee (Repealed November, 2016)
38.22.030	Claims for Wastewater Backup Damages (Repealed November, 2016)

Section 38.22.010 Wastewater Backup Fund

Repealed (Ord. No. 1293 § 1; Ord. 1623 § 1)

Section 38.22.020 Wastewater Backup Fee

Repealed (Ord. No. 1293 § 1; Ord. No. 1323 §3; Ord. 1623 § 1)

Section 38.22.030 Claims for Wastewater Backup Damages

Repealed (Ord. No. 1293 § 1; Ord. No. 1362 §1; Ord. No. 1571 § 1; Ord. 1623 § 1)

Article 38.24 Wells

38.24.010 Reporting existence to city 38.24.020 Permits for construction

38.24.030 Connection to service lines connected to municipal water system

38.24.040 Connection to municipal service

Section 38.24.010 Reporting existence to city

Every owner and occupant of real property within the city upon which any water well is presently located is required to notify the City of the existence of such well, providing the location, description and use of such well. (Ord. No. 444, § 1; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.24.020 Permits for construction

Any person hereafter constructing any water well within the city, before undertaking such construction, shall first make written application to the City, describing in detail the proposed location, dimensions and use of such well and shall then obtain a written permit before undertaking the construction of such well. The permit fee shall be in such amount as determined from time to time by the board of city commissioners and shall be on file in the city fee schedule. (Ord. No. 444, § 2; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.24.030 Connection to service lines connected to municipal water system

No owner or occupant of any property within the city shall at any time have or permit a direct connection from a private water well supply to the waterworks system, unless a city approved backflow preventer devise is installed. Valving between private water well lines and the waterworks system shall be prohibited and shall be in violation of this article. (Ord. No. 444, § 3; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.24.040 Connection to municipal service

No property within 200 feet of city water service shall be allowed to connect to a well for domestic use. Any property which does not conform to this requirement on the effective date of this Ordinance may continue such use, subject to the limitations of this section. If at any time city water service is extended to within 200 feet of property, such property shall convert to city water service. If a property becomes connected to the City Waterworks system, it cannot thereafter use a well for domestic use. (Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Article 38.25 Excavating Licenses

Sections:

38.25.010 Excavating license required--Application

38.25.020 Same--Approval of application; bond required of applicant

38.25.030 Same--Issuance; fee; term; renewal

Section 38.25.010 Excavating license required--Application

No person shall engage in the business or occupation of excavation of water mains, water lines, sewer mains, sewer lines or any other portion of the waterworks, wastewater or storm water system of the city without first procuring a license to do so. All applications for licenses shall be made in writing to the city. An applicant shall be required to submit, as part of the application, a copy of his contractor's license or renewal certificate, issued pursuant to North Dakota Century Code, Chapter 43-07, and a Master Plumber's License or a North Dakota Water and Sewer Installer's license, issued by the North Dakota State Plumbing Board. An excavator's license may not be issued unless the applicant has a current North Dakota contractor's license and a Master Plumber's License or North Dakota Water and Sewer Installer's license. (Ord. No. 1105, § 3; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.25.020 Same--Approval of application; bond required of applicant

If all of the requirements of this chapter are met, the City shall approve the application for a license required by section 38.25.010, which shall be filed with the City, together with a surety bond in a sum determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners for the execution of all work in strict conformity with the provisions of this chapter and the protection, indemnification and saving harmless the city from any or all loss, claim, suit or damages, direct or consequential which the city may sustain through violation of any of the provisions of this chapter, through negligence or in any other manner whatsoever. (Ord. No. 1105, § 4; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Section 38.25.030 Same--Issuance; fee; term; renewal

Upon filing of the required application and bond the City shall issue a license, as required by section 38.25.010, to the applicant upon payment by such person to the City of a fee in such amount as determined from time to time by the Board of City Commissioners in the City of Dickinson Fee Schedule. All licenses shall be for a period of one year or a fractional part thereof and shall expire as of the thirty-first day of December of each year. (Ord. No. 1105, § 5; Ord. No. 1245 § 1.)

Chapter 39 ZONING

Last updated July, 2022

			1		
Λ	r	H	n	les	3 (
$\boldsymbol{\alpha}$	L	ш	u		Э,

- 39.01 General Provisions
- 39.02 Definitions
- **39.03** Use Types
- **39.04 Zoning District Regulations**
- 39.05 Special and Overlay Districts
- 39.06 Supplemental Use Regulations
- 39.07 Supplemental Site Development Regulations
- 39.08 Landscaping and Screening Standards
- 39.09 Off-Street Parking
- 39.10 Sign Regulations
- **39.11** Nonconforming Development
- 39.12 Administration and Procedures
- 39.13 Crew Camp Housing
- 39.28 Lighting

Article 39.01 General Provisions

Sections:	
39.01.001	Title
39.01.002	Jurisdiction
39.01.003	Purpose
39.01.004	Consistency with Comprehensive Development Plan
39.01.005	Conflicting Provisions
39.01.006	Relief from Other Provisions
39.01.007	Severability of Provision
39.01.008	Prohibited Land Uses

Section 39.01.001 Title

This title of the Dickinson Municipal Code shall be known as Zoning Ordinance of the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.01.002 Jurisdiction

The provisions of this chapter shall be applicable to all property within the corporate limits of the City of Dickinson and its extra-territorial jurisdiction as provided by Chapters 40-47 of the North Dakota Century Code. The townships, sections and portions of sections within the jurisdiction of this chapter shall be as set forth in Table 1-1, Entitled "Dickinson ETZ".

In addition to zoning regulations, the application of municipal building and property maintenance codes, basic housing codes, subdivision regulations, special use licensing and fire district codes shall be enforced in the extraterritorial zoning area as well as in the incorporated area of the municipality. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1, Ord. No. 1418 § 1)

TABLE 1-1 Dickinson ETZ

Township 139 North, Range 96 West

139 North, Range 96 West
Section 1
Section 2
Section 3
Section 4
Section 5
Section 6
Section 7
Section 8
Section 9
Section 10
Section 11
Section 12
Section 13
Section 14
Section 15
Section 16
Section 17
SW1/4 and SE1/4SW1/4 of Section 1

N1/2, SE1/4, N1/2S 18 N1/2NE1/4 and SE1/4NE1/4 of Section 19 N1/2, SE1/4 and N1/2SW1/4 of Section 20

Section 21

Section 22

Section 23

NW1/4, N1/2NE1/4 and W1/2SW1/4 of Section 24 NW1/4, N1/2NE1/4, SW1/4NE1/4 and NW1/4SW1/4 of Section 26 N1/2 and N1/2S1/2 of Section 27 N1/2 and NE1/4SW1/4 of Section 28 NE1/4NE1/4 of Section 29

Township 139 North, Range 97 West

Section 1

E1/2, E1/2NW1/4, NW1/4NW1/4 and NE1/4SW1/4 of Section 2 N1/2NE1/4 and SE1/4NE1/4 of Section 11 N1/2, SE1/4, N1/2SW1/4 and SE1/4SW1/4 of Section 12 NE1/4, NE1/4NW1/4 and NE1/4SE1/4 of Section 13

Township 140 North, Range 97 West

SE1/4, E1/2SW1/4 and SW1/4SW1/4 of Section 13 SE1/4SE1/4 of Section 14 E1/2, SE1/4NW1/4, E1/2SW1/4 and SW1/4SW1/4 of Section 23

Section 24

Section 25

Section 26

Section 35

Section 36

Township 140 North, Range 96 West

SE1/4SE1/4 of Section 8

S1/2SW1/4 and NE1/4SW1/4 of Section 9

S1/2 of Section 10

S1/2SW1/4 of Section 11

W1/2, SE1/4 and S1/2NE1/4 of Section 14

Section 15

Section 16

E1/2, SW1/4, S1/2NW1/4 and NE1/4NW1/4 of Section 17

S1/2 and SE1/4NE1/4 of Section 18

Section 19

Section 20

Section 21

Section 22

Section 23

S1/2 and NW1/4 of Section 24

Section 25

Section 26

745 of 940

Section 27

Section 28

Section 29

Section 30

Section 31

Section 32

Section 33

Section 34

Section 35

Section 36

Township 139 North, Range 95 West

Section 5

Section 6

Section 7

W1/2, NE1/4, N1/2SE1/4 and SW1/4SE1/4 of Section 8 NW1/4, NW1/4NE1/4 and NW1/4SW1/4 of Section 17 N1/2, SW1/4, W1/2SE1/4 and NE1/4SE1/4 of Section 18

Township 140 North, Range 95 West

W1/2SW1/4 of Section 29 S1/2, S1/2NW1/4 and SW1/4NE1/4 of Section 30 Section 31 S1/2, NW1/4 and SW1/4NE1/4 of Section 32 (Ord. No. 1561 § 1.)

Section 39.01.003 Purpose

The purposes of the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Dickinson are to:

- a. Serve the public health, safety, and general welfare of the city and its jurisdiction.
- b. Classify property in a manner that reflects its suitability for specific uses.
- c. Provide for sound, attractive development within the city and its jurisdiction.
- d. Encourage compatibility of adjacent land uses.
- e. Protect environmentally sensitive areas.
- f. Further the objectives of the Comprehensive Development Plan of the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No.1171 § 1.)

Section 39.01.004 Consistency with Comprehensive Development Plan

The City of Dickinson intends that this Zoning Ordinance and any amendments to it shall be consistent with the City's comprehensive Development Plan. It is the City's intent to amend this ordinance whenever such action is deemed necessary to keep regulatory provisions in conformance with the Comprehensive Development Plan. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.01.005 Conflicting Provisions

The Zoning Ordinance shall be held to provide the minimum requirements necessary for the promotion of the public health, safety and welfare. If any provision of the Zoning Ordinance conflicts with any other provision of the Zoning Ordinance, any other Ordinance of the City of Dickinson, or any applicable State or Federal law, the more restrictive provision shall apply. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.01.006 Relief from Other Provisions

Nothing in these provisions shall relieve any property owner or user from satisfying any condition or requirement associated with a previous approval, special permit, variance, development permit, or other permit issued under any local, State, or Federal ordinance or statute. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.01.007 Severability of Provision

If any chapter, section, clause, or phrase of this Zoning Ordinance is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.01.008 Prohibited Land Uses

Any land use not described in this Chapter shall be prohibited, unless expressly permitted or allowed as a special use. A land use that is similar to described uses may be allowed by a special use permit. (Ord. No. 1171, § 1; Ord. No. 1195, § 1. Ord. No. 1604, § 1.)

Article 39.02 Definitions

TAT tiere 3	
Sections:	
39.02.001	Purpose
39.02.002	General Construction of Language
39.02.003	Definition of Terms
39.02.004	\mathbf{A}
39.02.005	В
39.02.006	C
39.02.007	D
39.02.008	E
39.02.009	\mathbf{F}
39.02.010	G
39.02.011	H
39.02.012	I
39.02.013	J
39.02.014	K
39.02.015	L
39.02.016	M
39.02.017	N
39.02.018	0
39.02.019	P
39.02.020	Q
39.02.021	R
39.02.022	S
39.02.023	T
39.02.024	\mathbf{U}
39.02.025	\mathbf{V}
39.02.026	\mathbf{W}
39.02.027	X
39.02.028	Y
39.02.029	${f Z}$

Section 39.02.001 Purpose

Article Two shall be known as the Definitions. The purpose of these provisions is to promote consistency and precision in the interpretation of the Zoning Ordinance. The meaning and construction of words as set forth shall apply throughout the Zoning Ordinance, unless where modified in a specific section or where the context of such words or phrases clearly indicates a different meaning or construction. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.002 General Construction of Language

The following general rules of construction apply to the text of the Zoning Ordinance.

a. Headings

Section and subsection headings contained herein are provided for illustrative purposes only and shall not be deemed to limit, govern, modify, or

otherwise affect the scope, meaning, intent of any provision of the Zoning Ordinance.

b. Illustration

In the case of any real or apparent conflict between the text of the Ordinance and any illustration explaining the text, the text shall apply.

c. Shall and May

"Shall" is always mandatory. "May" is discretionary.

d. Tenses and Numbers

Words used in the present tense include the future tense. Words used in the singular include the plural, and the plural the singular, unless the context clearly indicates contrary.

e. <u>Conjunctions</u>

Unless the context clearly indicates the contrary, the following conjunctions shall be interpreted as follows:

- 1. "And" indicates that all connected items or provisions apply.
- 2. "Or" indicates that the connected items or provisions may apply singly or in any combination.
- 3. "**Either...or**" indicates that the connected items or provisions shall apply singly but not in combination.
- f. Referenced Agencies

Unless otherwise indicated, all public officials, bodies, and agencies referred to in this Chapter are those of the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.003 Definition of Terms

For the purposes of this Zoning Ordinance, certain terms and words are hereby defined. Certain sections contain definitions which are additional to those listed here. Where terms are not specifically defined, their ordinarily accepted meaning or meanings implied by their context shall apply. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.004 A

- 1. <u>Abutting:</u> Having lot lines or district boundaries in common, including property separated by a public street or alley. Used interchangeably with adjacent.
- 2. <u>Accessory Dwelling Unit</u>: A subordinate permanent independent dwelling which has its own cooking, sleeping, and sanitation facilities and which is:
 - a. Within or attached to a single-family residential building; or
 - b. Within a detached accessory structure associated with a single-family dwelling that is smaller than the primary structure, on a permanent foundation, and is not a recreational vehicle; or
 - c. As an apartment either attached to or within an existing commercial structure for use on a temporary basis by an employee of the specific business.
- 3. <u>Accessory Structure:</u> A structure which is incidental to and customarily associated with a specific principal use or building on the same site.
- 4. <u>Accessory Use:</u> A use which is incidental to and customarily associated with a specific principal use on the same site.

- 5. <u>Addition:</u> Any construction which increases the size of a building or structure in terms of site coverage, height, length, width, or gross floor area.
- 6. Adult Establishment or Adult Entertainment Center. An adult bookstore, an adult cabaret, an adult motion picture theater, or an adult mini-motion picture theater, all as defined in Chapter 3 of this Code, or any other business the preponderance of whose activities or sales are designed to display, show, perform or depict specified sexual activities or specified anatomical areas as defined in this section, or which may otherwise be designed to sexually arouse any member of the public. Any establishment or center that displays or sells sexually oriented devices as herein defined as a preponderance of its business is also an adult entertainment center or adult establishment within the meaning of Chapter 3 of this Code.
- 7. <u>Agent of Owner:</u> Any person showing written verification that he/she is acting for, and with the knowledge and consent of, a property owner.
- 8. <u>Alley:</u> A public right of way which is used as a secondary means of access to abutting property.
- 9. <u>Alteration:</u> Any construction or physical change in the internal arrangement of spaces, the supporting members, the positioning on a site, or the appearance of a building or structure.
- 10. <u>Antenna</u>: A device used to transmit and/or receive radio or electromagnetic waves for the provision of communication services including, but not limited to, cellular, paging, personal communications services and microwave communications. Such devices include, but are not limited to small wireless facility antennas, small cell antennas, remote radio heads, directional antennae; omnidirectional antennae; and wireless access points (Wi-Fi), including strand-mounted wireless access points.
 - 11. <u>Apartment:</u> A housing unit within a building designed for and suitable for occupancy by only one family. Apartments are generally located within multi-family residential buildings.
- 12. Applicant: The party applying for a permit under this article.
 - 13. <u>Attached:</u> Having one or more walls in common with a principal building or connected to a principal building by an integral architectural element, such as a covered passageway; facade wall extension; or archway.
 - 14. <u>Attachment</u>: Includes any wireless communication facility affixed to, contained in, or placed on or in a structure within the city's public right-of-way.

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1706 § 1; Ord. No. 1728 § 1)

Section 39.02.005 B

- 1. <u>Base Zoning District</u>: A district established by this Ordinance which prescribes basic regulations governing land use and site development standards. No more than one Base Zoning District shall apply to any individually platted lot or parcel unless the lot or parcel is part of a Planned Unit Development.
- 2. <u>Basement:</u> A level of a building below street level that has at least one-half of its height below the surface of adjacent ground. A basement used for independent dwelling or business purposes shall be considered a story for the purposes of height measurement.
- 3. <u>Beginning of Construction:</u> The initial incorporation of labor and materials within the foundation of a building or structure.

- 4. <u>Block:</u> An area of land within a subdivision that is entirely bounded by streets, by streets and the exterior boundaries of the subdivision, or by a combination of the above with a watercourse or lake, and which has been designated as such on a plat for the purposes of legal description of a property.
- 5. <u>Block Face:</u> The property abutting one side of a street and lying between the two nearest intersection streets, or between the one nearest intersecting street and a major physical barrier, including, but not limited to, railroads, streams, lakes, or the corporate limits of Dickinson.
- 6. <u>Board of Adjustment:</u> A body authorized by the city commission expressly for the purpose of granting relief from situations of hardship and to hear appeals as provided by this Ordinance.
- 7. <u>Bufferyard:</u> A landscaped area intended to separate and partially obstruct the view of two adjacent land uses or properties from one another.
- 8. <u>Building:</u> A structure entirely separated from any other structure by space or by walls and having a roof and built to provide shelter, support, or enclosure for persons or property.
- 9. <u>Building Coverage:</u> The area of a site covered by buildings or roofed areas, excluding allowed projecting, eaves, balconies, and similar features.
- 10. <u>Building Envelope</u>: The three-dimensional space within which a structure is permitted to be built on a lot after all zoning and other applicable municipal requirements have been met.
- 11. <u>Building Line:</u> The outer boundary of a building established by the location of its exterior walls.
- 12. <u>Building Official:</u> The designee of the City Commission, responsible for the enforcement of the Uniform Building Code.
- 13. <u>Business:</u> Activities that include the exchange or manufacture of goods or services on a site.
- 14. <u>Business Center:</u> A building containing more than one commercial business, or any group of nonresidential buildings within a common development, characterized by shared parking and access. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610 § 1)

Section 39.02.006 C

- 1. <u>Certificate of Occupancy:</u> An official certificate issued by the Building Official, Planning Director, or his/her designee, upon finding of conformance with the Unified Building Code, and upon receipt of a Certificate of Zoning Compliance.
- 2. <u>Certificate of Zoning Compliance:</u> An official certificate issued by the Building Official or his/her designee, which indicates that the proposed use of building or land complies with the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance.
 - 3. <u>Change of Use:</u> The replacement of an existing use by a new use.
- 4. <u>Cluster:</u> A development design technique that concentrates buildings in specific areas on a site to allow remaining land to be used for recreation, common open space, or the preservation of historically or environmentally sensitive features.
 - 5. City: The City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
 - 6. City Commission: The City Commission of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 7. <u>Collector Street:</u> A street connecting neighborhoods within the same communities, designed to carry traffic from local to arterial streets.
- 8. <u>Columbarium</u>: Any building or structure used or intended to be used for the interment of cremated human remains.

- 9. <u>Commercial Vehicles:</u> Shall mean trucks, tractor cab units, trailers, used in any way as part of any commercial application, endeavor or business.
- 10. <u>Common Area:</u> An area held, designed, and designated for common or cooperative use within a development.
- 11. <u>Common Development:</u> A development proposed and planned as one unified project not separated by a public street or alley.
- 12. <u>Common Open Space:</u> Land within or related to a development that is not individually owned or dedicated for public use, designed and generally intended for the common use of the residents of the development.
- 13. <u>Communications Tower:</u> A structure situation on a nonresidential site that is intended for transmitting or receiving television, radio, or telephone communications, excluding those used exclusively for dispatch communications.
- 14. <u>Compatibility:</u> The degree to which two or more different land use types are able to exist together in close proximity, with no one use having significant negative effects on any other use.
- 15. <u>Comprehensive Plan:</u> The duly adopted Comprehensive Development Plan of the City of Dickinson.
- 16. <u>Condominium:</u> A real estate ownership arrangement that combines fee simple title to a specific unit and joint ownership in common elements shared with other unit owners. Types of units may include dwelling units, parking spaces, office spaces, or commercial spaces.
- 17. <u>Conservation Development:</u> A development design technique that concentrates buildings in specific areas on a site to allow remaining land to be used for recreation, common open space, or the preservation of historically or environmentally sensitive features.
- 18. <u>Conservation Subdivision:</u> Wholly or in majority, a residential subdivision that permits a reduction in lot area, setback, or other site development regulations, provided 1) there is no increase in the overall density permitted for a conventional subdivision in a given zoning district, and 2) the remaining land area is used for common space.
- 19. <u>Conventional Subdivision</u>: A subdivision which literally meets all nominal standards of the City's zoning and subdivision ordinance for lot dimensions, setbacks, street frontage, and other site development regulations.
 - 20. County: Stark County, North Dakota.
- 21. <u>Court:</u> An approved private right-of-way which provides access to residential properties and meets at least three of the following conditions:
 - (a) Serves twelve or fewer housing units or platted lots.
 - (b) Does not function as a local street because of its alignment, design, or location
 - (c) Is completely internal to a development.
 - (d) Does not exceed 600 feet in length.
- 22. <u>Courtyard:</u> An open, unoccupied space, bounded on two or more sides by the walls of the building. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610 § 1, Ord. No. 1728 § 2, Ord. No. 1742 § 1, Ord. No. 1754 § 1)

Section 39.02.007 D

- 1. Density: The amount of development per specific unit of a site.
- 2. <u>Drive-in Services:</u> Uses which involve the sale of products or provision of service to occupants in vehicles.
- 3. <u>Detached:</u> Fully separated from any other building or jointed to another building in such a manner as not to constitute an enclosed or covered connection.
- 4. <u>Driveway:</u> A permanently paved, surfaced area providing vehicular access between a street and an off-street parking or loading area.
- 5. <u>Dwelling Unit:</u> One or more rooms, designed, occupied or intended for occupancy as a separate living quarter, with cooking, sleeping, and sanitary facilities provided within the dwelling unit for the exclusive use of a single family maintaining a household. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.008 E

- 1. <u>Easement:</u> A privilege or right of use granted on, above, under, or across a particular tract of land for a specific purpose by one owner to another owner, public or private agency, or utility.
 - 2. <u>EMF</u>: Electromagnetic frequency.
 - 3. <u>Enclosed:</u> A roofed or covered space fully surrounded by walls.
- 4. <u>Equipment:</u> Accessory equipment serving or being used in conjunction with an antenna or wireless communication facility. Equipment includes, but is not limited to, utility or transmission equipment, power supplies, generators, batteries, cables and conduit, equipment buildings, cabinets, storage sheds, shelters, and vaults.
- 5. <u>Existing Height</u>: The height of a structure, including wireless communications facilities, as originally approved or as of the most recent approved modification. Height shall be measured from natural grade to the top of all appurtenances.
- 6. Existing Structure: A structure located in the public right-of-way and capable of supporting wireless communication facilities, erected prior to the application for collocation or substantial modification under this article. An existing structure includes a replacement of an existing structure that is proposed to accommodate the collocation of a wireless communication facility, as long as the replacement structure is substantially similar in appearance to the existing structure and is no taller that the existing height of the structure to be replaced.
- 7. <u>Extraterritorial:</u> Within the zoning or subdivision jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, but outside its corporate limits. The Extra-territorial jurisdiction of Dickinson extends for two miles beyond its corporate limits. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1728 § 3)

Section 39.02.009 F

- 1. <u>Family:</u> One or more persons living together and sharing common living, sleeping, cooking, and eating facilities within an individual housing unit, no more than four of whom may be unrelated. The following persons shall be considered related for the purpose of this title:
 - (a) Persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption;
 - (b) Persons residing with a family for the purpose of adoption;

- (c) Not more than eight persons under 19 years of age, residing in a foster house licensed or approved by the State of North Dakota.
- (d) Not more than eight persons 19 years of age or older residing with a family for the purpose of receiving foster care licensed or approved by the State of North Dakota.
- (e) Person(s) living with a family at the direction of a court.
- 2. Federal: Pertaining to the Government of the United States of America.
- 3. Floor Area Ratio: The quotient of gross floor area divided by gross site area.
- 4. <u>Frontage:</u> The length of a property line of any one premises abutting and parallel to a public street, private way, or court. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.010 G

- 1. <u>Grade:</u> The surface of the ground, court, lawn, yard, or sidewalks adjoining a building, with the established grade being one fixed by the city and which established grade shall also constitute the natural grade and the finished grade.
- 2. <u>Gross Floor Area:</u> The total enclosed area of all floors of a building, measured to the inside surfaces of the exterior walls. This definition excludes the areas of basements, elevator shafts, airspaces above atriums, and enclosed off-street parking and loading areas serving a principal use.
- 3. <u>Ground Mounted Equipment</u>: Any equipment that is affixed to the ground and extends above the natural grade.
- 4. <u>Guidelines</u> or <u>Wireless Facility Guidelines</u>: Any procedure or description from the city engineer and the city planning director, which may be modified and amended from time to time, concerning wireless facility application process and siting requirements. Any such Wireless Facilities Guidelines shall be consistent with this article. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1728 § 4)

Section 39.02.011 H

- 1. <u>Heavy Recreational Vehicles</u>: Shall mean motor coach homes, converted buses and converted trucks.
 - 2. Heavy Vehicles: Shall mean vehicles over ten tons gross empty weight.
- 3. <u>Height:</u> The vertical distance from the established grade to the highest point of the coping of a flat roof, the deck line of a mansard roof, or to the average height between eaves and the ridge for gable, hip, shed, or gambrel roofs. For other cases, height shall be measured as the vertical distance from the established grade to the highest point of a structure as herein defined. Where a building or structure is located on a slope, height shall be measured from the average grade level adjacent to the building or structure.
- 4. <u>Home Based Business/Home Occupation:</u> An accessory occupational use conducted entirely within a dwelling unit by a member of the family residing in the premises, which is clearly incidental to the residential use of the dwelling or residential structure and does not change the residential character of its site.
- 5. <u>Housing Unit or Dwelling Unit:</u> A building or portion of a building arranged for and intended for occupancy as an independent living facility for one family, including permanent provisions for cooking. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1, Ord. No. 1754 § 2)

Section 39.02.012 I

- 1. <u>Impervious coverage:</u> The total horizontal area of all buildings, roofed or covered spaces, paved surface areas, walkways and driveways, and any other site improvements that decrease the ability of the surface of the site to absorb water, expressed as a percent of site area. The surface water area of pools is excluded from this definition. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)
- 2. <u>Interference</u>: Any material and harmful impairment, physically or electronically of the operation, views, signals or functions of city property or third party property.
- 3. <u>Installation Permit Holder</u>: Any person that has obtained permission through the issuance of an installation permit from the city under this article to locate, install or place wireless facilities in the public right-of-way. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1728 §5)

Section 39.02.013 J

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.014 K

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.015 L

- 1. <u>Landscaped Area:</u> The area within the boundaries of a given lot, site or common development consisting primarily of plant material, including but not limited to grass, trees, shrubs, vines, ground cover, and other organic plant materials; or grass paver masonry units installed such that the appearance of the area is primarily landscaped.
 - (a) <u>Perimeter Landscaped Area:</u> Any required landscaped area that adjoins the exterior boundary of a lot, site or common development.
 - (b) <u>Interior Landscaped Area:</u> Any landscaped area within a site exclusive of required perimeter landscaping.
- 2. <u>Laws</u>: Any and all applicable federal and state laws and applicable local ordinances, resolutions, regulations, administrative orders or other legal requirements.
- 3. <u>Loading Area:</u> An off-street area used for the loading or unloading of goods from a vehicle in connection with the use of the site on which such area is located.
- 4. <u>Lot:</u> A parcel of property with a separate and distinct number or other identifying designation which has been created, assigned and recorded in the Office of the -- County Register of Deeds, as provided for by the North Dakota Century Code. Each individual lot is subject to the provisions of a particular base Zoning District, and shall have a minimum frontage of 20 feet, except as provided in an approved Planned Unit Development and/or Creative Subdivision.

- (a) <u>Corner Lot:</u> A lot located at the junction of at least two streets, private ways or courts or at least two segments of a curved street, private way or court, at which the internal angle of intersection is no greater than 135 degrees.
- (b) <u>Double Frontage Lot:</u> A lot, other than a corner lot, having frontage on two streets, private ways or courts. Primary access shall be restricted on a double frontage lot to the minor of the two streets or to the front line as determined at time of platting or as defined by this ordinance. (Also known as a Through Lot).
- (c) Interior Lot: A lot other than a corner lot.
- (d) <u>Common Development Lot:</u> When two or more contiguous lots are developed as part of a single development, these lots may be considered a single lot for purposes of this ordinance.
- 5. Lot Area: The total horizontal area within the lot lines of a lot.
- 6. <u>Lot Depth:</u> The mean horizontal distance measured between the front and rear lot lines.
- 7. <u>Lot Line:</u> A property boundary line(s) of record that divides one lot from another lot or a lot from the public or private street right-of-way or easement.
 - (a) <u>Front Lot Line:</u> The lot line separating a lot and public or private street right-of-way or easement.
 - 1. For an interior lot, the lot line separating the lot from the right-of-way or easement.
 - 2. For a corner lot, ordinarily the shorter of the lot lines abutting a public or private street or easement. The owner and Building Official may agree to designate any lot line abutting a public street or otherwise noted on a final plat as the Front Lot Line.
 - 3. For a double frontage lot, the lot lines separating the lot from the right-of-way or easement of the more minor street. In cases where each street has the same classification, the front lot line shall be determined by the Building Official at the time of application for the original building permit for the lot, or as may be noted on the final plat.
 - (b) <u>Rear Lot Line:</u> The lot line which is opposite and most distant from the front line.
 - (c) <u>Side Lot Line:</u> Any lot line that is neither a front or rear lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from a street, private way or court is a street side lot line. A side lot line separating a lot from another lot or lots is an interior side lot line.
 - (d) Rear Lot Lines for Corner Lots: On corner lots, the Building Official may designate the rear lot line, provided that such lot line does not define a Street Yard.
- 8. <u>Lot Width:</u> The horizontal distance between the side lot lines at the minimum required front yard setback. Lot width is measured by determining the length of a line drawn parallel to the front lot line set back at the required minimum front yard setback. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1728 § 6)

Section 39.02.016 M

- 1. <u>MAA</u>: A master attachment agreement between the city and a lessee that defines the general terms and conditions which govern their relationship with respect to particular sites at which the city agrees to permit lessee to install, maintain, and operate communications equipment on existing or new city-owned infrastructure. A map of all of the lessee's desired locations shall be submitted as part of the MAA application.
- 2. <u>Manufactured Home Dwelling or Class A Mobile Home:</u> A factory built structure which is to be used as a place for human habitation, which is not constructed or equipped with a permanent hitch or other device allowing it to be moved other than to a permanent site; does not have permanently attached to its body or frame any wheels or axles; bears a label certifying that it was built in compliance with the National Manufactured Home Construction and Safety Standards promulgated by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development; and which complies with the following architectural and aesthetic standards:
 - (a) The home shall have at least 900 square feet of floor area;
 - (b) The home shall have an exterior width of at least 20 feet;
 - (c) The roof shall be pitched with a minimum pitch of 4:1.
 - (d) The exterior material shall be or have the appearance of being wood siding or masonry, but shall not be sheet siding with a vertical orientation;
 - (e) The home shall have a nonreflective roof material which is or simulates asphalt or wood shingles, tile, or rock;
 - (f) Permanent utility connections shall be installed in accordance with local regulations;
 - (g) The home shall have all wheels, axles, transporting lights, and towing apparatus removed; and
 - (h) The home shall be installed upon a permanent foundation that is constructed and built in accordance with local regulations.
- 3. <u>Mixed Use Building</u>: A building or structure that incorporates two or more use types within a single building or structure, provided that each use type is permitted within the individual Base Zoning District in which the building or structure is to be located.
- 4. <u>Mixed Use Development</u>: A single development which incorporates complementary land use types into a single development.
- 5. <u>Mobile Homes:</u> A building type designed to be transportable in one or more sections, constructed on a permanent chassis or undercarriage, and designed to be used as a dwelling unit or other use with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities; or not otherwise satisfying the definition of Manufactured Home Dwellings.
- 6. Mobile Home Park: A unified development under common ownership, developed, subdivided, planned, and improved for the placement of mobile home units for non-transient use. Mobile Home Parks include common areas and facilities for management, recreation, laundry, utility services, storage, storm shelter, and other services; but do not include mobile home sales lots on which unoccupied mobile homes are parked for the purposes of display; inspection, sale, or storage.
- 7. <u>Mobile Home Subdivision</u>: A development subdivided, planned, and improved for the placement of mobile home units on lots for uses by the individual owners of such lots. Mobile Home Subdivisions may include common areas and facilities for management, recreation, laundry, utility services, storage, storm shelter, and other services; but do not include mobile

home sales lots on which unoccupied mobile homes are parked for the purpose of display, inspection, sale, or storage. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1728 § 7)

Section 39.02.017 N

- 1. <u>Nonconforming Development:</u> A building, structure, or improvement which does not comply with the regulations for its zoning district set forth by this Zoning Ordinance but which complied with applicable regulations at the time of construction.
- 2. <u>Nonconforming Lot:</u> A lot which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision, or amendment of this zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the zoning ordinance. No action can be taken which would I increase the non-conforming characteristics of the lot.
- 3. <u>Nonconforming Sign:</u> A sign that was legally erected prior to the adoption, revision or amendment of this zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the zoning ordinance. No action can be taken which would increase the non-conforming characteristics of the sign.
- 4. <u>Nonconforming Structure</u>: A structure which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision, or amendment of this zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the zoning ordinance. No action can be taken which would increase the non-conforming characteristics of the structure.
- 5. <u>Nonconforming Use:</u> A land use which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision, or amendment of this zoning ordinance but that fails by reason of such adoption, revision, or amendment to conform to the present requirements of the zoning ordinance. No action can be taken which would increase the non-conforming characteristics of the land use.
- 6. <u>Nuisance:</u> An unreasonable and continuous invasion of the use and enjoyment of a property right which a reasonable person would find annoying, unpleasant, obnoxious, or offensive. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610 § 1)

Section 39.02.018 O

- 1. <u>Open Space:</u> Area included on any site or lot that is open and unobstructed to the sky, except for allowed projections of cornices, overhangs, porches, balconies, or plant materials.
- 2. <u>Outdoor Storage:</u> The storage of materials, parts, or products that are related to the primary use of a site for a period exceeding three days.
- 3. <u>Overlay District:</u> A district established by this Ordinance to prescribe special regulations to be applied to a site only in combination with a base district.
- 4. Owner: An individual, firm, association, syndicate, partnership, or corporation having sufficient proprietary interest to seek development of land. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.019 P

1. <u>Parking Facility:</u> An area on a lot and/or within a building, including one or more parking spaces, along with provision for access circulation, maneuvering, and landscaping, meeting the requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. Parking facilities include parking lots, private garages, and parking structures. Vehicle storage is distinct from parking, and is regulated by provisions in Sections 39.03.070, 39.03.080, 39.03.090's, Table 4-2. Vehicle storage is also governed by provisions of Article 39.09 Parking Regulations.

- 2. <u>Parking Spaces:</u> An area on a lot and/or within a building, intended for the use of temporary parking of a vehicle. This term is used interchangeably with "parking stall". Each parking space must have a means of access to a public street by way of a driveway, access easement, or other connection. Tandem parking stalls in single-family detached, single family attached, and townhome residential uses shall be considered to have a means of access to a public street.
 - 3. Paved: Permanently surfaced with poured concrete, concrete pavers, or asphalt.
- 4. <u>Permitted Use:</u> A land use type allowed as a matter of right in a zoning district, subject only to special requirements of this Zoning Ordinance.
- 5. <u>Person</u>: Any natural or corporate person, business association or other business entity including, but not limited to, a partnership, a sole proprietorship, a political subdivision, a public or private agency of any kind, a utility, a successor or assign of any of the foregoing, or any other legal entity.
- 6. <u>Personal Vehicles</u>: Shall mean passenger cars, vans, pick-up trucks, camper shells, toppers, and other similar appurtenances intended for attachment to a personal vehicle, trailers under twenty feet in length, and boats.
- 7. <u>Planning Commission:</u> The Planning Commission of the City of Dickinson, as authorized pursuant to Chapters 40-47 of the North Dakota Century Code.
- 8. <u>Planned Unit Development</u>: A development of land which is under unified control and is planned and developed as a whole in a single development operation or programmed series of development stages. The development may include streets, circulation ways, utilities, buildings, open spaces, and other site features and improvements.
- 9. <u>Porch, Unenclosed:</u> A roofed or unroofed open structure projecting from an exterior wall of a building and having no enclosed features more than thirty-six (36) inches above its floor other than wire screening and a roof with supporting structure.
- 10. <u>Premises:</u> A lot, parcel, tract or plot of land, contiguous and under common ownership or control, together with the buildings and structure thereon.
- 11. <u>Private Garage:</u> A building for the storage of motor vehicles where no repair service facilities are maintained and where no motor vehicles are kept for rental or sale.
 - 12. Property Line: See "Lot Line."
- 13. <u>Public Right-of-Way</u>: The area on, below, or above a public roadway, highway, street, cart way, bicycle lane and public sidewalk in which the city has an interest, including other dedicated rights-of-way for travel purposes and utility easements of the city. A right-of-way does not include the airwaves above a right-of-way with regard to cellular or other non-wire telecommunications or broadcast service. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1728 § 8, Ord. No. 1754 § 3)

Section 39.02.020 Q

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.021 R

- 1. <u>Recreational Vehicle</u>: A vehicle towed or self-propelled on its own chassis or attached to the chassis of another vehicle and designed or used for temporary dwelling, recreational, or sporting purposes. Recreational vehicles include, but are not limited to, travel trailers, campers; boats, and boat trailers.
- 2. <u>Regulation:</u> A specific requirement set forth by this Zoning Ordinance which must be followed.
- 3. <u>Remote Parking:</u> A supply of off-street parking at a location not on the site of a given development.
 - 4. RF. Radio Frequency

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1728 § 9, Ord. No. 1754 § 4)

Section 39.02.022 S

- 1. <u>Screening:</u> The method by which a view of one site from another adjacent site is shielded, concealed, or hidden. Screening techniques include fences, walls, hedges, berms, or other features as may be permitted by the landscape provisions of this ordinance.
- 2. <u>Setback:</u> The distance, as required by the minimum setback(s) which establishes the horizontal component(s) of the building envelope.
- 3. <u>Sign:</u> A symbolic, visual device fixed upon a building, structure, or parcel of land, which is intended to convey information about a product, business, activity, place, person, institution, candidate, or political idea.
- 4. <u>Site:</u> The parcel of land to be developed or built upon. A site may encompass a single lot; or a group of lots developed as a common development under the special and overlay districts provisions of this ordinance.
- 5. <u>Site or Premises</u>: In the context of 39.06.012, means the area occupied by the wireless support structure, the wireless communications facility, accessory equipment, ground-mounted equipment, and the path of the wire or conduit connecting to an off-site network.
- 6. <u>Site Plan:</u> A plan, prepared to scale, showing accurately and with complete dimensioning, the boundaries of a site and the location of all buildings, structures, uses, and principal site development features proposed for a specific parcel of land; and any other information that may reasonably be requested by the City in order that an informed decision can be made on the associated request.
- 7. Special Permit Use: A use with operating and/or physical characteristics different from those of permitted uses in a given zoning district which may, nonetheless, be compatible with those uses under special conditions and with adequate public review. Special permit uses are allowed in a zoning district only at the discretion of and with the explicit permission of the City Commission, upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission.
 - 8. State: The State of North Dakota.
- 9. <u>Story:</u> The portion of a building included between the surface of any floor and the surface of the next floor above it; if there is no floor above it, the space between such floor and the next ceiling above it. A half story under a sloped roof, the wall heights of which on at least two opposite, exterior walls are less than four feet.
- 10. <u>Street:</u> A right of way, dedicated to public use, which affords a primary means of access to the abutting property. This definition is intended to be inclusive of the term as defined in North Dakota statute.

- 11. <u>Street, Intersecting and Principal:</u> In regard to a site, the principal street shall be the street to which the majority of lots on a blockface are oriented; the intersecting street shall be a street other than a principal street.
 - 12. Street, Local: A street which is used primarily for access to the abutting properties.
- 13. <u>Street, Major:</u> A street carrying traffic between neighborhoods, connecting neighborhoods with major activity centers, or accommodating major through traffic. Major streets are designated as collectors, arterials, or expressways by the Comprehensive Development Plan.
- 14. <u>Street Yard:</u> The area of a lot or parcel which lies between any street property line and the fronting walls of any building or buildings on the parcel. The street yard follows all irregularities or indentations in the building, excluding minor irregularities such as porches or steps.
- 15. <u>Structure:</u> Any object constructed or built, the use of which requires location on the ground or attachment to something located on the ground. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1728 § 10)

Section 39.02.023 T

- 1. <u>Townhouse:</u> A dwelling unit having a common wall with or abutting one or more adjacent dwelling units in a townhouse structure, with its own front and rear access to the outside, and neither above nor below any other dwelling unit.
- 2. <u>Townhouse Structure:</u> A building formed by at least three contiguous townhouses with common or abutting walls. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.024 U

- 1. <u>Use:</u> The conduct of an activity, or the performance of a function or operation, on a site or in a building or facility.
- 2. <u>Utilities:</u> Installations, either above or below ground, necessary for the production, generation, transmission, delivery, collection, treatments, or storage of water, solid or fluid wastes, storm water, energy media, gas, electronic or electromagnetic signals, or other services which are precedent to development and use of land. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.025 V

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.026 W

- 1. <u>Wireless Communication Facility</u>: Any fixed tangible asset usable for the purpose of providing wireless transmission of voice, data, images or other signals or information including, but not limited to, telecommunications, cellular telephone service, personal communications service and paging service. A wireless communications facility includes antennas and accessory equipment. A wireless communications facility does not include an underlying wireless support structure.
- 2. <u>Wireless Support Structure</u>: Any fixed, above-grade structure in the public right-of-way used to house or support wireless communications facilities and equipment. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1728 § 11)

Section 39.02.027 X

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.028 Y

- 1. <u>Yard; Required:</u> That portion of a lot which lies between a lot line and the corresponding building setback line or the required landscape area. This area shall be unoccupied and unobstructed from the ground upward except as may be specifically provided for or required by this ordinance.
 - (a) <u>Corner Front Yard:</u> The space extending the full width of a lot, lying between the front lot line as defined by Section 39.02.015, 6 (d), and the front setback line.
 - (b) <u>Interior Front Yard:</u> The space extending the full width of a lot, lying between the front lot line and the front setback line.
 - (c) <u>Rear Yard:</u> The space extending the full width of a lot, lying between the rear lot line and the rear setback line.
 - (d) <u>Side Yard:</u> The space extending the depth of a lot from the front to rear lot lines, lying between the side yard setback line and the interior lot line.
 - (e) <u>Street Side Yard:</u> On a corner lot, the space extending from the front yard to the rear yard, between the street yard setback and the street side lot line. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.02.029 Z

- 1. Zoning District: A designated specified land classification, within which all sites are subject to a unified group of use and site development regulations set forth in this Zoning Ordinance.
- 2. <u>Zoning Administrator:</u> The designee of the City Commission, responsible for the interpretation and administration of the City of Dickinson Zoning Ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610§ 1.)

Article 39.03 Use Types

	<u>./ B</u>
Sections:	
39.03.001	Purpose
39.03.002	Determinations
39.03.003	Agricultural Use Types
39.03.004	Residential Use Types
39.03.005	Civic Use Types
39.03.006	Office Use Types
39.03.007	Commercial Use Types
39.03.008	Parking Use Types
39.03.009	Industrial Use Types
39.03.010	Transportation Use Types
39.03.011	Miscellaneous Use Types
39.03.019	Pet Day Care
39.03.020	Medical Marijuana Manufacturing and Dispensary Facilities
39.03.022	Columbarium

Section 39.03.001 Purpose

Article Three shall be known as the Use Types. The purpose of the Use Types is to establish a classification system for land uses and a consistent set of terms defining uses permitted or conditionally permitted within various zoning districts. The Use Types section also provides a procedure for determining the applicable use type of any activity not clearly within any defined use type. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.03.002 Determinations

a. <u>Classification</u> of Uses

In the event of any question as to the appropriate use types of any existing or proposed use or activity, the Zoning Administrator of the City of Dickinson shall have the authority to determine the appropriate use type. A determination of the Zoning Administrator may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment. In making such determinations, the Zoning Administrator and Board of Adjustment shall consider such characteristics or specific requirements of the use in common with those included as examples of use types. Those examples, when included in use type descriptions, are intended to be illustrative, as opposed to exclusive lists. b. Records

The Zoning Administrator shall make all such determinations of appropriate use types in writing. The record of the determination shall contain a report explaining the reasons for the determination. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.03.003 Agricultural Use Types

Agricultural use types include the on-site production and sale of plant and animal products by agricultural methods.

a. Horticulture

The growing of horticultural and floricultural specialties, such as flowers, shrubs, or trees intended for ornamental or landscaping purposes. This definition may include accessory retail sales under certain conditions. Typical uses include wholesale plant nurseries and greenhouses. b. Crop Production

The raising and harvesting of tree crops, row crops or field crops on an agricultural or commercial basis. This definition may include accessory retail sales under certain conditions. c. Type I Animal Production

The raising of animals or production of animal products, such as eggs or dairy products on an agricultural or commercial basis on a site which is also used for crop production or where grazing of natural vegetation is the major feed source; or the raising of animals for recreational use. Type I Animal Production shall also include confined feeding and holding facilities consisting of no more than 20 feeder or fat cattle; no more than 20 beef cows; no more than 20 dairy cattle; no more than 50 swine, llamas, and ostriches or similar large birds; no more than 200 sheep; no more than 300 turkeys; and/or no more than 1,000 chickens, ducks, or geese. Typical uses include grazing, ranching, dairy farming, and poultry farming.

d. Type II Animal Production

The confined feeding and holding facilities consisting of between 21 and 140 feeder or fat cattle; between 21 and 100 beef cows; between 21 and 100 dairy cattle; between 51 and 500 swine, llamas, and ostriches or similar large birds; between 201 and 2,000 sheep; between 301 and 3,000 turkeys; and/or between 1,001 and 10,000 chickens, ducks, or geese within buildings, lots, pens, or other close quarters which are not used for crop production or where grazing of natural vegetation is not the major feed source. Typical uses include small commercial feedlots. e. Type III Animal Production

The confined feeding and holding facilities consisting of more than 150 feeder or fat cattle; more than 100 beef cows; more than 100 dairy cattle; more than 500 swine, llamas, and ostriches or similar large birds; more than 2,000 sheep; more than 3,000 turkeys; and/or more than 1,001 and 10,000 chickens, ducks, or geese within buildings, lots, pens, or other close quarters which are not used for crop production or where grazing of natural vegetation is not the major feed source. Typical uses include large commercial feedlots.

f. Livestock Sales

Use of a site for the temporary confinement and exchange or sale of livestock. Typical uses include sales barns. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.03.004 Residential Use Types

Residential use types include uses providing wholly or primarily non-transient living accommodations. They exclude institutional living arrangements providing 24-hour skilled nursing or medical care, forced residence, or therapeutic settings.

- a. Accessory Dwelling Units Commercial-attached accessory dwelling units allowed in commercial zoning districts through an administrative approval process. Approval of commercial accessory dwelling units are subject is effective for 12 months.
- b. Accessory Dwelling Units Residential-accessory dwelling units permitted in the Agriculture zoning district and in residential zoning districts.

- a. <u>Single-Family Residential</u>-The use of a site for one dwelling unit, occupied by one family. (NOTE: Mobile home units are not a single-family use type. See below categories for such units).
 - 1. Single-Family Residential (Detached): A single-family residential use in which one dwelling unit is located on a single lot, with no physical or structural connection to any other dwelling unit.
 - 2. Single-Family Residential (Attached): A single-family residential use in which one dwelling unit is located on a single lot and is attached by a common vertical wall to only one other adjacent dwelling unit on another single lot.
- b. <u>Duplex Residential</u>-The use of a legally-described lot for two dwelling units, each occupied by one family within a single building, excluding mobile home units.
- c. <u>Townhouse Residential-</u>The use of a site for three or more attached dwelling units, each occupied by one family and separated by vertical side walls extending from foundation through roof without openings. Each townhouse unit must have at least two exposed exterior walls.
- d. <u>Multiple-Family Residential-</u>The use of a site for three or more dwelling units within one building.
- e. Residential Commercial Zoning District-The use of levels other than the main level or ground level within LC, CC, DC and GC zoning districts.
- f. <u>Manufactured Home Residential-</u>Use of a site for one or more manufactured home dwellings, as defined in "Definitions" article.
- g. <u>Mobile Home Park</u>-Use of a site under common ownership for one or more mobile home units. Generally, the land on which mobile homes are placed in a Mobile Home Park is leased from the owner of the facility.
- h. <u>Mobile Home Subdivision-Division</u> of a tract of land into lots that meet all the requirements of the City of Dickinson's subdivision ordinance for the location of mobile homes. Generally, a lot within a Mobile Home Subdivision is owned by the owner of the mobile home placed upon such lot.
- i. Retirement Residence-A building or group of buildings which provide residential facilities for more than four residents of at least sixty-two years of age, or households headed by a householder of at least sixty-two years of age. A retirement residence may provide a range or residential building types and may also provide support services to residents, including but not limited to food service, general health supervision, medication services, housekeeping services, personal services, recreation facilities, and transportation services. The retirement residence may accommodate food preparation in independent units or meal service in one or more common areas. Retirement residences may include additional health care supervision or nursing care. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. 1244 § 1. Ord. 1604 § 2. Ord. 1610 § 2; Ord. 1706 § 2)

Section 39.03.005 Civic Use Types

Civic use types include the performance of utility, educational, recreational, cultural, medical, protective, governmental, and other uses which are strongly vested with social importance.

a. Administration

Governmental offices providing administrative, clerical or public contact services that deal directly with the citizen, together with incidental storage and maintenance of necessary vehicles. Typical uses include federal, state, county, and city offices.

b. Cemetery

Land used or intended to be used for the burial of the dead and dedicated for cemetery purposes, including columbariums, crematoria, mausoleums and mortuaries when operated in conjunction with and within the boundary of such cemetery.

c. Clubs

Uses providing meeting, recreational, or social facilities for a private, non-profit or non-commercial association, primarily for use by members and guests.

d. College and University Facilities

An educational institution of higher learning which offers a course of study designed to culminate in the issuance of a degree certified by a generally recognized accrediting organization.

e. Convalescent Services

A use providing bed care and in-patient services for persons requiring regular medical attention but excluding a facility providing surgical or emergency medical services and excluding a facility providing care for alcoholism, drug addiction, mental disease, or communicable disease. Typical uses include nursing homes.

f. Cultural Services

A library, museum, or similar registered non-profit organizational use displaying, preserving and exhibiting objects of community and cultural interest in one or more of the arts and sciences.

g. Day Care Services (Family)

This Use Type includes all classifications of day care facilities, including but not limited to facilities licensed by the State of North Dakota, providing care for not more than nine (9) individuals. This term includes nursery schools, preschools, day care centers for children or adults, and similar uses but excludes public and private primary and secondary educational facilities.

h. <u>Day Care Services (Group)</u>

This Use Type includes all classifications of day care facilities, including facilities licensed by the State of North Dakota, providing care for ten (10) or more individuals. This term includes nursery schools, preschools, day care centers for children or adults, and similar uses but excludes public and private primary and secondary educational facilities.

i. Detention Facilities

A publicly operated or contracted use providing housing and care for individuals legally confined, designed to isolate those individuals from the community.

j. Emergency Residential Services

A facility or use of a building to provide a protective sanctuary for victims of crime or abuse, including emergency housing during crisis intervention for victims of rape, abuse, or physical beatings.

k. Group Care Facility

A facility licensed or approved by the State of North Dakota or other appropriate agency, which provides for the care and short or long-term, continuous multi-day occupancy of more than three unrelated persons who require and receive therapy or counseling on site as part of an organized and therapeutic ongoing program for any of the purposes listed below. Such facilities shall exclude those uses defined as group homes. Group Care Facilities include facilities which provide for the:

- 1. Adaptation to living with, or rehabilitation from, the handicaps of physical disability.
- 2. Adaptation to living with, or rehabilitation from, the handicaps of emotional or mental disorder; or of mental retardation if such facility has an overnight occupancy of more than eight persons.
- 3. Rehabilitation from the effects of drug or alcohol abuse.
- 4. Supervision while under a program alternative to imprisonment, including but not limited to pre-release, work-release, and probationary programs.

1. Group Home

A facility licensed by the State of North Dakota in which at least four but no more than eight persons, not including resident managers or house parents, who are unrelated by blood, marriage, or adoption reside while receiving therapy, training, or counseling for the purpose of adaptation to living with or rehabilitation from cerebral palsy, autism, or mental retardation.

m. Guidance Services

A use providing counseling, guidance, recuperative, or similar services to persons requiring rehabilitation assistance as a result of mental illness, alcoholism, detention, drug addiction, or similar condition on a daytime care basis.

n. Health Care

A facility providing medical, psychiatric, or surgical service for sick or injured persons exclusively on an out-patient basis including emergency treatment, diagnostic services, training, administration and services to out-patients, employees, or visitors.

o. Hospital

A facility providing medical, psychiatric, or surgical service for sick or injured persons primarily on an in-patient basis, including emergency treatment, diagnostic services, training, administration, and services to patients, employees, or visitors.

p. Maintenance Facilities

A public facility supporting maintenance, repair, vehicular or equipment servicing, material storage, and similar activities including street or sewer yards, equipment service centers, and similar uses having characteristics of commercial services or contracting or industrial activities.

q. Park and Recreation Services

Publicly-owned and operated parks, playgrounds, recreation facilities, and open spaces.

r. Postal Facilities

Postal services, including post offices, bulk mail processing or sorting centers operated by the United States Postal Service.

s. Primary Educational Facilities

A public, private, or parochial school offering instruction at the elementary school level in the branches of learning study required to be taught in schools within the State of North Dakota.

t. Public Assembly

Facilities owned and operated by a public agency or a charitable non-profit organization accommodating major public assembly for recreation, sports, amusement, or entertainment purposes. Typical uses include civic or community auditoriums, sports stadiums, convention facilities, fairgrounds, incidental sales, and exhibition facilities.

u. Religious Assembly

A use located in a permanent building and providing regular organized religious worship and religious education incidental thereto (excluding private primary or private secondary educational facilities, community recreational facilities, day-care facilities, and incidental parking facilities). A property tax exemption obtained pursuant to Property Tax Code of the State of North Dakota shall constitute prima facie evidence of religious assembly use.

v. Safety Services

Facilities for conduct of public safety and emergency services including police and fire protection services and emergency medical and ambulance services.

w. Secondary Educational Facilities

A public, private, or parochial school offering instruction at the junior high or high school level in the branches of learning and study required to be taught in the schools of the State of North Dakota.

x. Utilities

Any above ground structures or facilities, other than lines, poles, and other incidental facilities, used for the production, generation, transmission, delivery, collection, or storage of water, sewage, electricity, delivery, collection, or storage of water, sewage, electricity, gas, oil, energy media, communications, electronic or electromagnetic signals, or other services which are precedent to development and/or use of land. Communication towers as defined in this code are considered a Miscellaneous Use Type and not a Utility Use Type. Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610 § 2)

Section 39.03.006 Office Use Types

Office use types include uses providing for administration, professional services, and allied activities. These uses often invite public clientele but are more limited in external effects than commercial uses.

a. General Offices

Use of a site for business, professional, or administrative office. Typical uses include real estate, insurance, management, travel, or other business offices; organization and association offices; banks or financial offices; or professional offices.

b. Financial Services

Provision of financial and banking services to consumers or clients. Walk-in and drive-in services to consumers are provided on site. Typical uses include banks, savings and loan associations, savings banks, and loan companies. An ATM (Automatic Teller Machine) which is not accompanied on-site by an office of its primary financial institution is considered a "General Retail Services" Use Type.

c. Medical Offices

Use of a site for facilities which provide diagnoses and outpatient care on a routine basis, but which does not provide prolonged, in-house medical or surgical care. Medical offices are operated by doctors, dentists, or similar practitioners licensed for practice in the State of North Dakota. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.03.007 Commercial Use Types

Commercial uses include the sale, rental, service, and distribution of goods; and the provision of services other than those classified under other use types.

a. Agricultural Sales and Service

Establishments or places of business engaged in sale from the premises of feed, grain, fertilizers, farm equipment, pesticides and similar goods or in the provision of agriculturally-related services with incidental storage on lots other than where the service is rendered. Typical uses include nurseries, hay, farm implement dealerships, feed and grain stores, and tree service firms.

b. Automotive and Equipment Services

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in sale and/or service of automobiles, trucks, or heavy equipment. The following are considered automotive and equipment use types:

- 1. Automotive Rental and Sales: Sale or rental of automobiles, noncommercial trucks, motorcycles, motor homes, recreational vehicles or boats, including incidental storage, maintenance, and servicing. Typical uses include new and used car dealerships; motorcycle dealerships; and boat, trailer, and recreational vehicle dealerships.
- 2. Auto Services: Provision of fuel, lubricants, parts and accessories, and incidental services to motor vehicles; and washing and cleaning and/or repair of automobiles, non-commercial trucks, motorcycles, motor homes, recreational vehicles, or boats, including the sale, installation, and servicing of equipment and parts. Typical uses include service stations, car washes, muffler shops, auto repair garages, tire sales, and installation, wheel and brake shops, and similar repair and service activities but exclude dismantling, salvage, or body and fender repair services.
- 3. *Body Repair*: Repair, painting, or refinishing of the body, fender, or frame of automobiles, trucks, motorcycles, motor homes, recreational vehicles, boats, tractors, construction equipment, agricultural implements, and similar vehicles or equipment. Typical uses include body and fender shops, painting shops, and other similar repair or refinishing garages.
- 4. *Equipment Rental and Sales:* Sale or rental of trucks, tractors, construction equipment, agricultural implements, mobile homes, and similar heavy equipment, including incidental storage, maintenance, and servicing. Typical uses include truck dealerships, construction equipment dealerships, and mobile home sales establishments.
- 5. Equipment Repair Services: Repair of trucks, tractors, construction equipment, agricultural implements, and similar heavy equipment. Typical uses include truck repair garages, tractor and farm implement repair services, and machine shops, but exclude dismantling, salvage, or body and fender repair services.
- 6. *Vehicle Storage:* Storage of operating or non-operating vehicles for a period of no more than 21 days. Typical uses include storage of private parking towalways or impound yards but exclude dismantling or salvage. Long-term storage of operating or non-operating vehicles beyond 21 days constitutes an Industrial Use Type.

c. Bed and Breakfast

A lodging service that provides overnight or short-term accommodations to guests or visitors, usually including provision of breakfast. Bed and breakfasts are usually located in large residential structures that have been adapted for this use. For the purpose of this definition, bed and breakfasts are always owned and operated by the resident owner of the structure, include no more than ten units, and accommodate each guest or visitor for no more than 7 consecutive days during any one month period.

d. Business Support Services

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the sale, rental or repair of equipment, supplies and materials or the provision of services used by office, professional and service establishments to the firms themselves but excluding automotive, construction and farm equipment; or engaged in the provision of maintenance or custodial services to businesses. Typical uses include office equipment and supply firms, small business machine repair shops or hotel equipment and supply firms, janitorial services, photography studios, and convenience printing and copying.

e. Business or Trade Schools

A use providing education or training in business, commerce, language, or other similar activity or occupational pursuit, and not otherwise defined as a home occupation, college or university, or public or private educational facility.

f. Campground

Facilities providing camping or parking areas and incidental services for travelers in recreational vehicles or tents, which accommodate each guest or visitor.

g. Cocktail Lounge

A use engaged in the preparation and retail sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises, including taverns, bars, cocktail lounges, and similar uses other than a restaurant as that term is defined in this section.

h. Commercial Recreation (Indoors)

Private businesses, or other organizations which may or may not be commercial by structure or by nature, which are primarily engaged in the provision or sponsorship of sports, entertainment, or recreation for participants or spectators. The preponderance of activities occur within enclosed structures. Typical uses include movie theaters, private dance halls, or private skating facilities.

i. Commercial Recreation (Outdoors)

Private businesses, or other organizations which may or may not be commercial by structure or by nature, which are primarily engaged in the provision or sponsorship of sports, entertainment, or recreation for participants or spectators. The preponderance of activities occur outside of enclosed structures. Typical uses include driving ranges, commercial race tracks, and drive-in theaters.

j. Communications Services

Establishments primarily engaged in the provision of broadcasting and other information relay services accomplished through the use of electronic and telephonic mechanisms but excludes those classified as Utilities. Typical uses include television studios, telecommunication service centers, telegraph service offices, or film and sound recording facilities. Broadcast towers, and their minor ancillary ground structures are classified as "Miscellaneous Use Types." k. Construction Sales and Services

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the retail or wholesale sale, from the premises, of materials used in the construction of buildings or other structures other than retail sale of paint, fixtures and hardware. This use type excludes those uses classified under Automotive and Equipment Services. Typical uses include building materials sales, or tool and equipment rental or sales.

1. Consumer Services

Establishments which provide services, primarily to individuals and households, but excluding Automotive Use Types. Typical uses include automated banking machines, appliance repair shops, watch or jewelry repair shops, or musical instrument repair shops.

m. Convenience Storage

Storage services primarily for personal effects and household goods within enclosed storage areas having individual access but excluding use of such areas as workshops, hobby shops, manufacturing, or commercial activity. Typical uses include mini-warehousing.

n. Crematorium

An establishment containing a furnace for the purpose of reducing human or animal bodies or remains to ashes by burning.

o. Food Sales

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the retail sale of food or household products for home consumption. Food sales establishments may include the sale of non-food items. Typical uses include groceries, delicatessens, meat markets, retail bakeries, and candy shops.

- 1. Convenience Food Sales: Establishments occupying facilities of less than 10,000 square feet; and characterized by sales of specialty foods or a limited variety of general items, and by the sale of fuel for motor vehicles.
- 2. Limited Food Sales: Establishments occupying facilities of less than 10,000 square feet; and characterized by sales of specialty foods or a limited variety of general items, but excluding the accessory sale of fuel for motor vehicles. Typical uses include delicatessens, meat markets, retail bakeries, candy shops, small grocery stores.
- 3. *General Food Sales:* Establishments selling a wide variety of food commodities, using facilities larger than 10,000 square feet. Typical uses include supermarkets.

p. Funeral Services

Establishments engaged in undertaking services such as preparing the human dead for burial, and arranging and managing funerals. Typical uses include funeral homes or mortuaries. q. <u>Gaming Facilities</u>

Establishments engaged in the lawful, on-site operation of games of chance that involve the risk of money for financial gain by patrons. Gaming facilities shall include the accessory sale of liquor and food, pursuant to licensing regulations of the City of Dickinson or the State of North Dakota.

r. General and Limited Retail Services

Sale or rental with incidental service of commonly-used goods and merchandise for personal or household use but excludes those classified more specifically by these use type classifications. Typical uses include department stores, apparel stores, furniture stores, or establishments providing the following products or services:

Household cleaning and maintenance products; drugs, cards, stationery, notions, books, tobacco products, cosmetics, and specialty items; apparel jewelry, fabrics and like items; cameras, photograph services, household electronic equipment, records, sporting equipment, kitchen utensils, home furnishing and appliances, art supplies and framing, arts and antiques, paint and wall paper, hardware, carpeting and floor covering; interior decorating services; office supplies; mail order or catalog sales; bicycles; and automotive parts and accessories (excluding service and installation). General Retail Services include:

- 1. *Limited Retail Services:* Establishments providing retail services, occupying facilities of 5,000 square feet or less for any single establishment or 10,000 square feet or less for a multi-tenant facility. Typical establishments provide for specialty retailing or retailing oriented to Dickinson and a local market.
- 2. General Retail Services: Establishments providing retail services, occupying facilities of more than 5,000 square feet for any single establishment or more than 10,000 square feet for a multi-tenant facility. Typical establishments provide for general purpose retailing oriented to Dickinson and its immediate vicinity.

s. Kennels

Boarding and care services for dogs, cats and similar small mammals or large birds; or any premises on which three or more animals included under this definition over four months of age are kept and maintained. Typical uses include boarding kennels, ostrich raising facilities; pet motels, or dog training centers.

t. Laundry Services

Establishments primarily engaged in the provision of laundering, dry cleaning or dyeing services other than those classified as Personal Services. Typical uses include bulk laundry and cleaning plants, diaper services, or linen supply services.

u. Liquor Sales

Establishments or places of business engaged in retail sale for off-premise consumption of alcoholic beverages. Typical uses include liquor stores, bottle shops, or any licensed sales of liquor, beer or wine for off-site consumption.

v. Lodging

Lodging services involving the provision of room and/or board, but not meeting the classification criteria of Bed and Breakfasts. Typical uses include hotels, apartment hotels, and motels.

w. Microbrewery pub and distillery

- 1. A microbrewery pub shall be defined as a brewer that brews 10,000 barrels or less per year and sells beer produced or manufactured on the premises for consumption on or off the premises, or serves beer produced or manufactured on the premises for purposes of sampling the beer.
- 2. A distillery shall be defined as a use where the owner operator may produced distilled spirits in accordance with the applicable provisions of the North Dakota Century Code.

x. Personal Improvement Services

Establishments primarily engaged in the provision of informational, instructional, personal improvements and similar services of a non-professional nature. Typical uses include driving

schools, health or physical fitness studios, reducing salons, dance studios, handicraft and hobby instruction.

y. Personal Services

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the provision of services of a personal nature. Typical uses include beauty and barber shops; seamstress, tailor, or shoe repair shops; photography studios; or dry cleaning stations serving individuals and households, driving schools, health or physical fitness studios, reducing salons, dance studios, handicraft and hobby instruction.

z. Pet Services

Retail sales, incidental pet health services, and grooming and boarding, when totally within a building, of dogs, cats, birds, fish, and similar small animals customarily used as household pets. Typical uses include pet stores, small animal clinics, dog bathing and clipping salons, and pet grooming shops, but exclude uses for livestock and large animals.

aa. Research Services

Establishments primarily engaged in research of an industrial or scientific nature. Typical uses include electronics research laboratories, space research and development firms, testing laboratories, or pharmaceutical research labs.

bb. Restaurants

A use engaged in the preparation and retail sale of food and beverages; including the sale of alcoholic beverages when conducted as a secondary feature of the use, producing less than 50 per cent of the establishment's gross income.

- 1. Restaurant (Drive-in or Fast Food): An establishment which principally supplies food and beverages in disposable containers and is characterized by high automobile accessibility and on-site accommodations, self-service, and short stays by customers.
- 2. Restaurant (General): An establishment characterized by table service to customers and/or accommodation to walk-in clientele, as opposed to Drive-in or Fast Food Restaurants. Typical uses include cafes, coffee shops, and restaurants.

cc. Stables and/or Riding Academies

The buildings, pens and pasture areas used for the boarding and feeding of horses, llamas, or other equine not owned by the occupants of the premises. This use includes instruction in riding, jumping, and showing or the riding of horses/equine for hire.

dd. Surplus Sales

Businesses engaged in the sale of used or new items, involving regular, periodic outdoor display of merchandise for sale. Typical uses include flea markets and factory outlets or discount businesses with outdoor display.

ee. Trade Services

Establishments or places of business primarily engaged in the provision of services that are not retail or primarily dedicated to walk-in clientele. These services often involve services to construction or building trades and may involve a small amount of screened, outdoor storage in appropriate zoning districts. Typical uses include shops or operating bases for plumbers, electricians, or HVAC (heating, ventilating, and air conditioning) contractors.

ff. Vehicle Storage (Short-term)

Short-term storage of operating or non-operating vehicles for a period of no more than 21 days. Typical uses include storage of private parking tow-aways or impound yards but exclude dismantling or salvage. Long-term storage beyond 21 days constitutes an Industrial Use Type. gg. Veterinary Services

Veterinary services and hospitals for animals. Typical uses include pet clinics, dog and cat hospitals, pet cemeteries, and veterinary hospitals for livestock and large animals. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. 1225 § 1, Ord. 1650 § 2; Ord. No. 1727 § 1)

Section 39.03.008 Parking Use Types

a. Off-Street Parking

Parking use types include surface parking of motor vehicles on a temporary basis within a privately or publicly owned off-street parking facility.

b. Parking Structure

The use of a site for a multi-level building which provides for the parking of motor vehicles on a temporary basis, other than as an accessory to a principal use on the same site. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.03.009 Industrial Use Types

Industrial use types include the on-site extraction or production of goods by non-agricultural methods, and the storage and distribution of products as well as adult entertainment centers.

a. Adult Entertainment Center.

Any business activity which offers the opportunity to view sexual activities or view or touch anatomical areas for entertainment purposes, depicts or describes sexual conduct. This includes the sale of viewing of visual or print materials. Typical uses include retail services or stores which are distinguished by an emphasis on activities or materials that emphasize sexual content; businesses which offer live performances characterized by exposure of specified anatomical areas; and adult theaters.

b. Construction Yards

Establishments housing facilities of businesses primarily engaged in construction activities, including incidental storage of materials and equipment on lots other than construction sites. Typical uses are building contractor's yards.

c. Custom Manufacturing

Establishments primarily engaged in the on-site production of goods by hand manufacturing, within enclosed structures, involving the use of hand tools or light equipment. This category also includes the incidental direct sale to consumers of only those goods produced on site. Typical uses include ceramic studios, custom jewelry manufacturing, and candle making shops.

d. Grain Elevators

Establishments or uses engaged in the large-scale storage or processing of agricultural products that cannot be otherwise categorized as light, general, or heavy industries.

e. Light Industry

Establishments engaged in the manufacture or processing of finished products from previously prepared materials, including processing, fabrication, assembly, treatment, and packaging of such products, and incidental storage, sales, and distribution. These establishments are characterized by having no major external environmental effects across property lines and include no unscreened or un-enclosed outdoor storage. Typical uses include commercial bakeries,

dressed beef processing plants, soft drink bottling, and apparel assembly from fabrics, electronics, manufacturing, print shops and publishing houses.

f. General Industry

Enterprises engaged in the processing, manufacturing, compounding, assembly, packaging, treatment or fabrication of materials and products from prepared materials or from raw materials without noticeable noise, odor, vibration, or air pollution effects across property lines. g. Heavy Industry

Enterprises involved in the basic processing, storage, and manufacturing of products, predominately from raw materials, with noticeable noise, odor, vibration, or air pollution effects across property lines; or a use or process engaged in the storage of or processes involving potentially or actually hazardous, explosive, flammable, radioactive, or other commonly recognized hazardous materials.

h. Oil Wells

A use involving on-site extraction of petroleum or petroleum products. The oil well site is the location at which such resources physically penetrate the plane of the ground, and includes any facilities needed for the storage or flaring of petroleum or petroleum products, but excludes underground pipes or conduits.

i. Recycling Collection

Any site which is used in whole or part for the receiving or collection of any post-consumer, non-durable goods including, but not limited to glass, plastic, paper, cardboard, aluminum, tin, or other recyclable commodities.

j. Recycling Processing

Any site which is used for the processing of any post-consumer, non-durable goods including, but not limited to glass, plastic, paper, cardboard, aluminum, tin, or other recyclable commodities.

k. Resource Extraction

A use involving on-site extraction of surface or subsurface mineral products or natural resources, excluding oil wells and the grading and removal of dirt. Typical uses include quarries, borrow pits, sand and gravel operations, and mining.

1. Salvage Services

Place of business primarily engaged in the storage, sale, dismantling or other processing of used or waste materials which are not intended for reuse in their original forms. Typical uses include automotive wrecking yards, junk yards, or paper salvage yards.

m. Vehicle Storage (Long-term)

Long-term storage of operating or non-operating vehicles for a period exceeding 21 days. Typical uses include storage of private parking tow-aways or impound yards but exclude dismantling or salvage. Long-term storage of 21 days or less constitutes a Commercial Use Type. n. Warehousing (Enclosed)

Uses including storage, warehousing, distribution, and handling of goods and materials within enclosed structures. Typical uses include wholesale distributors, storage warehouses, and van and storage companies.

o. Warehousing (Open)

Uses including open air storage, distribution, and handling of goods and materials. Typical uses include monument yards, materials yards, open storage. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1727 § 2)

Section 39.03.010 Transportation Use Types

Transportation use types include the use of land for the purpose of providing facilities supporting the movement of passengers and freight from one point to another.

a. Aviation Facilities

Landing fields, aircraft parking and service facilities, and related facilities for operation, service, fueling, repair, storage, charter, sales, and rental of aircraft, and including activities directly associated with the operation and maintenance of airport facilities and the provision of safety and security.

b. Railroad Facility

Railroad yards, equipment servicing facilities, and terminal facilities.

c. <u>Transportation Terminal</u>

Facility for loading, unloading, and interchange of passengers, baggage, and incidental freight or package express, including bus terminals, railroad stations, public transit facilities.

d. Truck Terminal

A facility for the receipt, transfer, short term storage, and dispatching of goods transported by truck. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.03.011 Miscellaneous Use Types

a. Alternative Energy Production Devices

The use of a site for the production of energy utilizing methods that do not involve the oxidation, combustion, or fission of primary materials. Typical uses include solar collector fields, installations which generate energy by harnessing the natural heat of the earth or of geological features, or water-powered mills or generating facilities.

b. Communications Tower

A structure situated on a nonresidential site that is intended for transmitting or receiving television, radio, or telephone communications, excluding those used exclusively for dispatch communications.

c. Amateur Radio Tower

A structure(s) for the transmission or broadcasting of electromagnetic signals by FCC-licensed Amateur Radio operators.

d. Construction Batch Plant

A temporary demountable facility used for the manufacturing of cement, concrete, asphalt, or other paving materials intended for specific construction projects.

e. Wind Energy Conservation System (WECS)

Any device which converts wind energy to a form of usable energy, including wind charges, windmills, or wind turbines.

f. Landfill (Inert)

The use of a site as a depository for solid wastes that do not readily undergo chemical or biological breakdown under conditions normally associated with land disposal operations. Typical disposal material would include ashes, concrete, paving wastes, rock, brick, lumber, roofing materials and ceramic tile. Inert landfills must receive appropriate State permission.

g. Landfill (Municipal Industrial or Special Waste)

The use of a site as a depository for any solid waste except hazardous and toxic waste as defined by the Federal Environmental Protection Agency and/or the State of North Dakota. Typical disposal material would include non-putrescible wastes; and putrescible wastes such as

vegetation, tree parts, agricultural wastes (garbage) and manure. Municipal Industrial or Solid Waste landfills must receive appropriate State Permission. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610 § 2.)

Section 39.03.019 Pet Day Care

Pet Day Care: A short-term care facility for pets allowed within City limits under the Dickinson Municipal Code. A Pet Day Care shall not provide overnight boarding or other kennel activities. Pet Day Cares may operate between the hours of 7 am and 7 pm, Monday through Friday. A Pet Day Care may not be permitted within 600 feet of another Pet Day Care, or within 300 feet of the following uses allowed either conditionally or as permitted uses within the R-1 district: retirement homes, nursing homes, long term care facilities, group day care, golf courses, group home, churches, park and recreation improvements, and primary education institutions. The applicant shall submit a neighborhood disruption mitigation plan that reflects concerns raised by the adjacent neighbors during a preapplication visit. The applicant shall address the concerns in the mitigation plan, but shall not be required to obtain approval of any adjacent neighbor prior to applying for the special use permit. A special use permit for a pet day care may only be applied for in the designated residential districts where the operation shall be run out of a single family detached home.

Section 2: That Table 4-2 in Section 39.04.005 shall be amended to reflect that Pet Day Cares may be operated with a special use permit in RR, R1, R2, and R3, and as a permitted use in AG, LC, CC, DC, GC, LI, and GI.

<u>Section 3:</u> That Section 39.06.005 be amended to add the following after the Convenience Storage subsection:

Pet Day Care

When permitted by special use permit in the RR, R1, R2, and R3 Districts, or as a permitted use in other zoning jurisdictions as set forth in Table 4-2 of Section 39.04.005, Pet Day Cares shall be subject to the following additional requirements:

- 1. Buildings shall be of adequate structure and maintained in good repair so as to ensure protection of pets from injury and to prevent departure of pet from designated structure.
- 2. Shelter shall be provided to allow access to shade from direct sunlight and regress from exposure to rain or snow. Accommodations shall provide safe harbor when the atmospheric temperature is below 50° F or below that temperature to which the particular pets are acclimated. Indoor facilities shall be provided for all pets.
- 3. Indoor and outdoor facilities shall at all times be provided with ventilation by means of doors, windows, vents, air conditioning or direct flow of fresh air that is adequate to provide for the good health of the pets and the prevention of offensive odor, mold, or disease. Such ventilation shall be

- environmentally provided to minimize drafts, moisture condensation, odors or stagnant vapors of excreta.
- 4. Ample lighting shall be provided by natural or artificial means or both during sunrise to sunset hours to allow efficient cleaning of the facilities and routine inspection of the facilities and pets contained therein.
- 5. Ceilings, walls, floors, furniture, and play equipment shall be constructed to lend themselves to efficient cleaning and sanitizing. Such surfaces shall be kept in good repair and maintained so that they are substantially impervious to moisture. Floors and walls to a height of four feet shall have finished surfaces. Upholstered furniture or carpeting shall not be permitted in that portion of the facility to which pets have access.
- 6. Food supplies and bedding materials shall be stored to adequately protect them from contamination or infestation by vermin or other factors that would render the food or bedding contaminated or diseased, or otherwise attract vermin or other nuisance to the site. Separate storage facilities shall be maintained for cleaning and sanitizing equipment and supplies.
- 7. Washrooms, basins or sinks shall be provided within or be readily accessible to each facility for maintaining cleanliness among animal caretakers and sanitizing of food and water utensils.
- 8. Equipment shall be available for removal and disposal of all waste materials from the building to minimize vermin infestation, odors and disease hazards. Drainage systems shall be functional to achieve the above purposes.
- 9. Facilities shall be provided to isolate any pet that becomes sick or injured to prevent the spread of disease or illness.
- 10. Outdoor pet runs and exercise areas shall be of sound construction and kept in good repair so as to safely contain the pets therein without injury or risk of escape. Floors shall be concrete, gravel or materials which can be regularly cleaned and kept free of waste accumulation. Grass runs and exercise areas are permissible provided adequate ground cover is maintained, holes are kept filled, ground cover is watered sufficiently to dilute and clean the cover to avoid disease, solid waste is removed prior to watering, and the ground cover is not allowed to become overgrown.
- 11. Any portion of the premises where pets are permitted outdoors shall have a fence of the maximum height allowed by City code. Such fence shall be maintained in good condition so as to mitigate the visual and audial effects of the operation, and to properly contain any pets permitted in that area. The permit holder may not use an existing fence if it is owned by the adjacent property owner.
- 12. The proprietor shall maintain current vaccination records on each pet permitted at the facility to ensure public safety.
- 13. The proprietor shall obtain and maintain insurance specific to the risks associated with operating a pet day care, which shall include, but not be limited to, coverage protecting the general public in the event of animal bites and property damage caused by loose or escaped animals.

- 14. Group interaction is permitted for pets that are compatible with one another. Permit holder shall not permit play which creates a hazard to the public or a nuisance such as noise.
- 15. The play area for pets shall provide for a minimum of 75 square feet per pet, provided that the maximum number of pets allowed at any one facility shall be ten, including animals owned by the permit holder. The permit issued by the City shall be displayed prominently at the site, and shall contain the calculation of the Planning Department as to the authorized number of animals.
- 16. The permit holder shall appear annually before the Planning and Zoning Commission for renewal of the permit. The Planning Department may require an annual site inspection prior to renewal.
- 17. Any permit issued under this Section shall be non-transferrable as to the permit holder and/or the premises to be permitted. A permit holder may not relocate their operation using the same permit. A permit approved at a particular location may not be transferred to a new individual or business.
- 18. Complaints regarding dog bites, nuisance animals, or excess noise shall be investigated by the Police Department.
- 19. Complaints regarding any zoning violation or any other condition of the permit shall be investigated by the Planning Department.
- 20. In the event a complaint is made, regardless of which department investigates, the Planning Department may conduct a site visit to determine whether the permit holder is in compliance with the terms of the Permit. The Planning Director may require the permit holder to appear before the Planning and Zoning Commission to address the complaint.
- 21. In the event two complaints of any nature against the permit holder are substantiated and validated through a hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission, within a rolling twelve month period, the Planning & Zoning Commission shall revoke the special use permit. Upon revocation, the permit holder shall cease operations within thirty days, or appeal the decision to the City Commission. Failure to appeal within thirty days of the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall constitute forfeiture of all rights of appeal, and the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall become final. If the permit holder appeals to the City Commission, the applicant may continue its operations until a decision has been rendered by the City Commission. If the City Commission affirms the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the permit holder shall have fifteen days from the date of the decision of the City Commission to cease operations.

Section 39.03.020 Medical Marijuana Manufacturing and Dispensary Facilities

- 1. Definitions. Unless otherwise indicated all terms in this ordinance shall have the meaning set forth in N.D.C.C. Ch. 19-24.1, or as otherwise defined and promulgated by the North Dakota Department of Health through administrative rule:
 - a. Medical Marijuana Manufacturing Facility: shall meet the definition of a manufacturing facility under N.D.C.C. Ch. 19-24.1 and be an entity registered and authorized by the North Dakota Department of Health to produce, process, and sell usable marijuana to a dispensary.
 - b. Medical Marijuana Dispensary: shall meet the definition of a dispensary under N.D.C.C. Ch. 19-24.1 and be an entity registered and authorized by the North Dakota Department of Health to sell usable marijuana.

2. Special Use Permit Required.

- a. When permitted by a special use permit in the AG, GI, LI, and GC Districts, a Medical Marijuana Manufacturing Facility shall be subject to the additional requirements set forth in section 3.
- b. When permitted by a special use permit in the LI, GC, CC, DC, and PUD Districts, a Medical Marijuana Dispensary shall be subject to the additional requirements set forth in section 3.
- 3. Additional Requirements. In addition to the requirements set forth in N.D.C.C. Ch. 19-24.1, or as otherwise defined and promulgated by the North Dakota Department of Health through administrative rule, a Medical Marijuana Manufacturing Facility or Dispensary must meet the following additional requirements:
 - a. Medical Marijuana Manufacturing Facility:
 - (1) Must comply with all applicable state laws, including, but not limited to NDCC Ch. 19-24.1.
 - (2) Any boundary line of the property on which the facility is located must be located a minimum distance one thousand feet (1,000 ft) from the property boundary of a lot or tract upon which a facility of any of the following types is located:
 - a. A public or private elementary and secondary school, multidistrict special education unit, area career and technology center, or institution of higher learning.
 - (3) Waste generated from the growing, processing, or dispensing, of marijuana that contains any element derived from the marijuana plant must be stored in a secured waste receptacle that is only accessible by agents of the marijuana manufacturing center and agents of the contracting waste collection company.
 - (4) Facility must be equipped with an air filtration system such that any odor resulting from the growing or processing of marijuana does not unreasonably interfere with the surrounding landowners use and enjoyment of their property.
 - b. Medical Marijuana Dispensary:
 - (1) Must comply with all applicable state laws, including, but not limited to NDCC Ch. 19-24.1.

- (2) Any boundary line of the property on which the facility is located must be located a minimum distance one thousand feet (1,000 ft) from the property boundary of a lot or tract upon which a facility of any of the following types is located:
 - a. A public, private, or parochial elementary and secondary school, multidistrict special education unit, area career and technology center, or institution of higher learning.
- (3) Waste generated from the dispensing, of marijuana that contains any element derived from the marijuana plant must be stored in a secured waste receptacle that is only accessible by agents of the marijuana manufacturing center and agents of the contracting waste collection company.
- (4) Facility must be equipped with an air filtration system such that any odor resulting from the storage or dispensing of marijuana does not unreasonably interfere with the surrounding landowners use and enjoyment of their property.
- (5) Dispensaries shall cease operations between the hours of 1:00 am and 7:00am.
- 4. Any permit issued under this Section shall be non-transferrable as to the permit holder and/or the premises to be permitted. A permit holder may not relocate their operation using the same permit. A permit approved at a particular location may not be transferred to a new individual or business.
- 5. The permit holder shall appear annually before the Planning and Zoning Commission for renewal of the permit. The Planning Department may require additional information or an annual site inspection coordinated with the North Dakota Department of Health prior to renewal.
- 6. Loss of registration by North Dakota Department of Health. A special use permit issued pursuant to the authority granted under this section is granted contingent on the permit holder maintaining its registration by the North Dakota Department of Health to perform the activities authorized by that registration. The City may seek to revoke any Special Use Permit granted under this section upon notification of that the permit holder has lost the registration status granted by the North Dakota Department of Health. (Ord. No. 1657 § 1.)

Section 39.03.022 Columbarium

- A. Columbarium: Any building or structure used or intended to be used for the interment of cremated human remains.
 - 1. Indoor and outdoor columbaria may be included in a cemetery when operated in conjunction with and within the boundaries of such cemetery.
 - 2. Indoor and outdoor columbaria may be allowed in conjunction with a religious assembly through the approval of a special use permit by the Board of City Commissioners.

- 3. Outdoor columbaria may be allowed in conjunction with a funeral service through the approval of a special use permit by the Board of City Commissioners.
- B. Columbaria may be established subject to the following requirements set forth below:
 - 1. Outdoor columbaria structures shall meet the setback and yard requirements of R-3 zoning districts.
 - 2. Outdoor columbaria shall be no more than eight (8) feet in height as measured from the average grade elevation where the columbarium meets the grade.
 - 3. The columbarium structure shall be consistent in material and design.
 - 4. Signage shall be limited to inscriptions on the face of a columbarium niche or commemorative plaque on the columbarium structure. Commemorative plaques may be no larger than 12 inches by 12 inches.
 - 5. Left objects, such as flowers and mementos, are permitted, but must be monitored by the governing body of the columbarium association and removed within seven (7) days of placement. The regularity of said removal can be defined in the plan of perpetual care and maintenance for the columbarium.
 - 6. An outdoor columbarium may not be permitted within 300 feet of a cocktail lounge or a liquor store.
- C. A bond to cover the cost of moving either an indoor or outdoor columbarium, at some time in the future, shall be posted by the applicant as part of the entitlement process. (Ord. No. 1742 § 3.)

Article 39.04 Zoning District Regulations

Sections:
39.04.001 Purpose
39.04.002 Establishment of Districts
39.04.003 Application of Districts
39.04.004 Hierarchy
39.04.005 Development Regulations

Section 39.04.001 Purpose

Article Four presents the Zoning District Regulations. Zoning Districts are established in the Zoning Ordinance to promote compatible land use patterns and to establish site development regulations appropriate to the purposes and specific nature of each district. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.04.002 Establishment of Districts

The following base districts and overlay districts are hereby established. Table 4-1 displays the purposes of these districts.

BAS	E ZONING	DISTRICT NAMES DISTRICTS
	AG	Agricultural District
	RR	Rural Residential District
	R-1	Low-Density Residential District
	R-2	Medium-Density Residential District
	R-3	High-Density Residential District
	MH	Mobile Home Residential District
	LC	Limited Commercial District
	CC	Community Commercial District
	DC	Downtown Commercial District
	GC	General Commercial District
	LI	Limited Industrial District
	GI	General Industrial District
	P	Public District
		OVERLAY DISTRICTS
	MU	Mixed Use Overlay District
	PUD	Planned Unit Development Overlay District
	FP/FW	Floodplain/Floodway Overlay District
	UM	Underground Mine Overlay District
1 0 1 \		-

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.04.003 Application of Districts

A base district designation shall apply to each lot or site within the city and its planning jurisdiction. A site must be in one base district.

Overlay districts may be applied to any lot or site or any portion thereof, in addition to a base district designation. The Mixed Use District may stand alone as a base district. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.04.004 Hierarchy

References in the Zoning Ordinance to less intensive or more intensive districts shall be deemed to refer to those agricultural, residential, commercial, and industrial base zoning districts established in Section 39.04.002, and shall represent a progression from the AG Agricultural District as the least intensive to the GI General Industrial District as the most intensive. The Overlay Districts shall not be included in this reference. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.04.005 Development Regulations

For each Zoning District: Purposes are set forth in Table 4-1, Permitted Uses are set forth in Table 4-2, and Site Development Regulations are presented in Table 4-3. Supplemental Regulations may affect specific land uses or development regulations in each zoning district. The applicable Supplemental Regulations are noted in Table 4-2. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Table 4-1 Purposes of Zoning District

Symbol	Title	Purpose
AG	Agricultural District	The AG District provides for and preserves the agricultural and rural use of land, while accommodating very low density residential development generally associated with agricultural uses. This district is designed to maintain complete agricultural uses within the Dickinson extra-territorial jurisdiction.
RR	Rural Residential	This district provides for the rural residential use of land, accommodating very low and low density residential environments. The district's regulations assure that density is developed consistent with: land use policies of the Dickinson Comprehensive Plan regarding rural subdivision; levels of infrastructure; and environmentally sensitive development practices. The district also accommodates developments that merge urban living with rural life.
R-1	Low-Density Residential	This district is intended to provide for low-density residential neighborhoods, characterized by single-family dwellings on relatively large lots with supporting community facilities and urban services. Its regulations are intended to minimize traffic congestion and to assure that density is consistent with the carrying capacity of infrastructure.

R-2	Medium-Density Residential	This district is intended to provide for medium-density residential neighborhoods, characterized by single-family dwellings on small to moderately sized lots and low-density, multiple-family development. It adapts to both established and developing neighborhoods, as well as transitional areas between single-family and multi-family neighborhoods. Its regulations are intended to minimize traffic congestion and to assure that density is consistent with the carrying capacity of infrastructure.
R-3	High-Density Residential	This district is intended to provide locations primarily for multiple-family housing, with supporting and appropriate community facilities. It also permits some non-residential uses such as offices through a special permit procedure, to permit the development of mixed use neighborhoods.
МН	Mobile Home Residential	This district recognizes that mobile home development, properly planned, can provide important opportunities for affordable housing. It provides opportunities for mobile home development within planned parks or subdivision, along with the supporting services necessary to create quality residential neighborhoods.
LC	Limited Commercial	This district reserves appropriately located area for office development and a limited variety of low-impact commercial facilities which serve the needs of residents of surrounding residential communities. The commercial and office uses permitted are compatible with nearby residential areas. Development regulations are designed to ensure compatibility in size, scale, and landscaping with nearby residences.
CC	Community Commercial	This district is intended for commercial facilities which serve the needs of markets ranging from several neighborhoods to the overall region. While allowed commercial and office uses are generally compatible with nearby residential areas, traffic and operating characteristics may have more negative effects on residential neighborhoods than those permitted in the LC District. CC Districts are appropriate at major intersections, at the junction of several neighborhoods, or at substantial commercial

		sub contars Outdoor storage shall be limited
		sub-centers. Outdoor storage shall be limited and screened.
DC	Downtown Commercial District	This district is intended to provide appropriate development regulations for Downtown Dickinson. Mixed uses are permitted within the DC District and are encouraged in multi-story structures. The grouping of uses is designed to strengthen the town center's role as a center for trade, service, and civic life.
GC	General Commercial	This district accommodates a variety of commercial uses, some of which have significant traffic or visual effect. These districts may include commercial uses which are oriented to services, including automotive services, rather than retail activities. These uses may create land use conflicts with adjacent residential areas, requiring provision of adequate buffering. This district is most appropriately located along major arterial streets or in areas that can be adequately buffered from residential districts.
LI	Limited Industrial	This district is intended to reserve sites appropriate for the location of industrial uses with relatively limited environmental effects. The district is designed to provide appropriate space and regulations to encourage good quality industrial development, while assuring that facilities are served with adequate parking and loading facilities.
GI	General Industrial	This district is intended to accommodate a wide variety of industrial uses, some of which may have significant external effects. These uses may have operating characteristics that create conflicts with lower-intensity surrounding land uses. The district provides the reservation of land for these activities and includes buffering requirements to reduce incompatibility.
P	Public	This district accommodates substantial public institutions or uses. It sets aside areas for conservation, public recreation, and full access public facilities.

ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS

Table 4-2 Permitted Uses by Zoning Districts

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	CC	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
Agricultural Uses														
Horticulture	P	P			S		P	P		P	P	P	P	39.06. 002a
Crop Production	P	P											P	39.06. 002a
Type I Animal Production	P	S												39.06. 002c
Type II Animal Production	S													
Type III Animal Production	S													
Livestock Sales	S										S	S		
Residential Uses														
Single-Family Detached	P	P	P	P	P	P	S							
Single-Family Attached				P	P	P	S							39.06. 003b
Duplex	P			P	P		S							
Townhouse	P			P	P		S		P					39.06. 003c
Multiple Family				P	P		S		P					
Downtown Residential									P					39.06. 003d
Mobile Home Park						S								39.06. 003e
Mobile Home Subdivision						S								39.06. 003f
Manufactured Housing Residential	P	P	P	P	P	P	S							
Retirement Residential	S		S	P	P		S		S					
Home Occupations	S	S	S	S	S	S			S					39.06. 008a
Accessory Structure	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	Note 8
Accessory Dwelling Units Commercial							P	P		P				Note: Subject to approval in

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	СС	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
														Accordan ce with Section 39.06.010 B
Accessory Dwelling Units Residential	P	P		P	Р	P								Note: Subject to approval in Accordan ce with Section 39.06.010 A
Civic Uses														
Cemetery	P	S	S	S									S	
Clubs	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	P	P	P				39.06. 004a
College/ University													P	
Convalescent Services	S	S		S	S	S	P	P	P	P				
Cultural Services		S	S	S	P	P	P	P	P	P	P		P	
Day Care (Family)	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	S			39.03. 005g
Day Care (Group)	S	S	S	S	P	S	P	P	P	P	S			39.03. 005h
Detention Facilities	S								S	S	S		S	
Emergency Residential	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	S	S			
Golf Courses (Public)	S	S	S	S	S	S							P	
Government Offices							P	P	P	P	P		P	
Group Care Facility	S	S	S	S	P	S	P	P	P	P				36.06. 004c
Group Home	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P				36.06. 004c
Guidance Services					P		P	P	P	P	P	P		
Hospitals					S		P	P	P	P	S		S	
Health Care	S	S			S		P	P	P	P	P	P	S	
Libraries (Public)							P	P	P	P			S	

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	CC	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
Maintenance Facilities	S	S						S		P	P	P	S	<u> </u>
Park and	P	P	P	P	P	Р	Р	Р	P	P	P	P	P	
Recreation														
Postal Facilities							Р	Р	P	P	Р	P	Р	
Primary	S	P	P	P	Р	P	Р	Р	P	S			P	
Education														
Public Assembly							S	S	P	P			P	
Religious	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	S			
Assembly														
Columbarium	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S			
Associated with														
Religious														
Assembly														
(Indoor/Outdoor)														
Safety Services	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	
Secondary													P	
Education														
Sports Facilities,													P	
Field, and Arenas														
(Public)			-					-	_	_	_	_		
Utilities	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	P	P	P	P	P	S	
Office Uses														
General Offices	S				S		P	P	P	P	P	P		
Financial					S		P	P	P	P	P	P		
Services														
Medical Offices					S		P	P	P	P	P	S		
Commercial Uses														
Ag	S							S		P	P	P		
Sales/Services														
Auto								S	S	P				39.06.
Rental/Sales														005c
Auto Services							S	P	S	P	P	P		39.06.
														005a,b
Body Repair								S		P	P	P		39.06.
- -														005a
Equipment										P	P	P		39.06.
Rental/Sales														005c

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	CC	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
Equipment										P	P	P		39.06.
Repair														005a
Veh. Storage										P	P	P		
(Short-Term)														
Bed and Breakfast	P	S		S	P		P	P	P	P				39.06. 005d
Business Support							P	P	P	P	P	P		
Services														
Business/Trade School								P	P	P	P			
Campground	S					S				S				
Cocktail Lounge								P	P	P				
Commercial	S						S	P	P	P	P			
Recreation														
(Indoor)														
Commercial	S								S	P	P	P	S	
Recreation														
(Outdoor)														
Communication							P	P	P	P	P	P		
Service														
Construction								S		P	P	P		
Sale/Service														
Consumer							P	P	P	P	P			
Service														
Convenience	S				S	S	S	S		S	P	P		39.06.
Storage														005f
Crematorium										S	S	P		
Microbrewery pub and distillery								P	P	P				
Food Sales							S	P	P	P	P	P		
(Convenience)														
Food Sales (Limited)							P	P	P	P				
Food Sales							S	P	P	P				
(General)													L	
Funeral Service					S		P	P		P				
Columbarium					S		S	S		S				
(Outdoor)			<u></u>											
Limited Retail							P	P	P	P				
Services														
Gaming Facility								S	S	P				
General Retail								P	P	P				
Services														

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	CC	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
Kennels	P	S								S	P	P		
Laundry Services								S	S	P	P	P		
Liquor Sales		S					P	P	P	P				
Lodging								Р	P	P	S			
Personal					S		Р	Р	P	P	Р	P		
Improvement														
Personal					S		Р	Р	P	P	Р	P		
Services														
Pet Day Care	P	S	S	S	S		P	P	P	P	P	P		39.03.0 19y
Pet Services	S						P	P	P	P				_
Research							P	P	P	P	P	P		
Services														
Residential-							P	P	P	P				
Commercial														
Restaurants							S	P	S	P	S	S		
(Drive-In)														
Restaurants	P						P	P	P	P	S	S		
(General)														
Stables	P	S										S		
Surplus Sales	S								S	P	P			
Trade Services	S							P	S	P	P			
Vehicle Storage										S	P			
Veterinary	S	S					S	S	S	P	P			
Services														
Parking Uses														
Off-Street			S	S	S		S	S	P	P	P	P		
Parking						<u> </u>								<u> </u>
Parking Structure								S	S	S	P			
Industrial Uses														
Adult														
Entertainment											S	S		Ch.3
Center														
Custom								S	S	P	P	P		
Manufacturing														
Light Industry											P	P	\mathbb{L}^{-}	
General Industry												P		
Heavy Industry												S		
Oil Wells	S											S		

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	СС	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
Resource	S											S		
Extraction														
Salvage Services												P		39.06.
and Yards, Junk														006a
Yards														
Vehicle Storage											P	P		
(Long-term)														
Warehousing											P	P		
(Open)														
Warehousing									S	P	P	P		
(Closed)														
Construction										S	P	P		
Yards														
Recycling								S		P	P	P		
Collection														
Recycling											P	P		
Processing														
Grain Elevators												S		
Petroleum	S											S		
Storage/Sales														
Stockyards	S											S		
Toxic Gaseous	S											S		Note 9
Storage	ט													Note 7
Dairy Plant										S	S	P		
Transportation														
Uses														
Aviation	P											P		
Railroad	S								S	S	P	P		
Facilities	ט								ט					
Truck Terminal										S	S	P		
Transportation	S							S	S	S	P	P		
Terminal	5							5	5	5	1	1		
Miscellaneous														
Uses														
Communications											ļ			
Tower	S	S	S	S	S	S		S	S		S	S		
Amateur Radio	Ъ	Б	Б	_	_	_	Ъ	Ъ	_	Ъ	_			
Tower	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P	P		
Construction											S	P		
Batch Plant											S	r		
WECS	P	P	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	P		

Use Types	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3	МН	LC	СС	DC (14)	GC	LI	GI	P	Add'l Reg.
Landfill (Inert)	S	S										S		
Landfill (Municipal, Industrial or Special Waste)	S												S	
Alternative Energy Production Devices	P	P	S	S	S	S		S	S		S	P		
Motorized Sports	S										S	S		Note 10

*Note: Provisions of Sections 39.06.008 through 39.06.009 apply to all use types

P = Uses Permitted by Right S = Uses Permitted by Special Permit

Blank = Use Not Permitted

ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS

Summary of Site Development Regulations Table 4-3a

D 1			D 1	D 0	D Ov
Regulator	AG	RR	R-1	R-2	R-3*
Minimum Lot Area (square feet)	5 acres	1 Acre (Note 1)*	7,500	7,000	7,000
Minimum Lot Width (feet)	300	100			
Single-Family Detached			60	50	50
Single-Family Attached			45	45	45
Other Residential			60	75 (Note 3)	75 (Note 3)
Site Area per Housing Unit (square feet)					
Single-Family Detached	5 Acres	1 Acre	7,500	7,000	7,000
Single-Family Attached				4,000	4,000
Duplex				10,000	10,000
Townhouse or multi-family up to 4 units				7,000 for the first unit and 3,000 thereafter (Note 6)	7,000 for the first unit and 3,000 thereafter

Each additional multi-family unit over 4 units					7,000 for the first unit, 3,000 for the next three units and 1,000 thereafter
Retirement Residential	(Note 10)		(Note 10)	(Note 10)	(Note 10)
Front Yard Arterial Streets	50	40	25	25	25
Other Streets	50	40	25	25	25
Street Side Yard	15	15	15	15	15
Interior Side Yard	15	15	6	6 (Note 2)	6 (Note 2)
Rear Yard	50	25	20	20 (Note 5)	20 (Note 5)
Maximum Height (feet)		40	40	SUP in excess of 65 feet	60
Maximum Building Coverage	NA	25%	40%	60%	70%
Maximum Impervious Coverage	NA	35%	50%	65%	75%
Floor Area Ratio	NA	NA	NA	NA	

⁻ Notes Accompanying This Table Appear after Table 4-3c

ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS

Table 4-3b Summary of Site Development Regulations

Regulator	MH	LC*	CC*	DC	GC*	
Minimum Lot Area (square feet)		5,000	12,000	None	12,000	
Minimum Lot Width (feet)		50	100	NA	100	
Site Area per Housing Unit		Same as	NA	500	NA	
(square feet)		R-3	1421	300	1 12 1	
Minimum Yards (feet)						
Front Yard		20	20	0	20	
Street Side Yard		20	10	0	10	
Interior Side Yard		10	0	0	0	
Rear Yard		20	0	0	0	
				SUP in		
Maximum Height (feet)		40	40	excess of	60	
				65 feet		
Maximum Building Coverage		50%	60%	100%	70%	
Maximum Impervious Coverage		70%	80%	100%	90%	
		(Note 10)	OU 70	(Note 10)	9070	

*Uses in the R-3, LC, CC, GC, LI, and GI Districts are subject to landscape and screening provisions contained in Article 39.08

ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS

Table 4-3c Summary of Site Development Regulations

Regulator	LI*	GI*	P* (Note 15, Note 16)
Minimum Lot Area (square feet)	10,000	10,000	N/A
Minimum Lot Width (feet)	100	100	N/A
Site Area per Housing Unit (square feet)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Minimum Yards (feet)			
Front Yard	20	20	None except when abutting a residential zoning district; in which case the front yard setback to a building or parking area shall be the required setback of the abutting residential district
Street Side Yard	20	20	None except when abutting a residential zoning district; in which case the side yard setback to a building or parking area is 10 feet. The required side yard setback shall be increased by one-half foot for each foot that the structure exceeds 20 feet in height.
Interior Side Yard	10	10	None except when abutting a residential zoning district; in which case the side yard setback to a building or parking area is 10 feet. The required side yard setback shall be increased by one-half foot for each foot that the structure exceeds 20 feet in height.
Rear Yard	20	20	None except when abutting a residential zoning

			district; in which case the rear yard setback to a building or parking area is 10 feet. The required rear yard setback shall be increased by one-half foot for each foot that the structure exceeds 20 feet in height.
Maximum Height (feet)	SUP in excess of 60 feet	SUP in excess of 60 feet	45 feet if abutting a zoning district with a maximum height of 45 feet or less. If the abutting zoning district allows buildings taller than 45 feet, the height of the abutting zone may be applied in the Public zoning district. If a setback of 100 feet can be provided the building height may be a maximum of 65 feet. Building heights greater than 65 feet require approval of a Special Use Permit.
Maximum Building Coverage	70%	85%	70%
Maximum Impervious Coverage	90%	100%	90%
Floor Area Ratio	1.0	2.0	

^{*}Uses in the R-3, LC, CC, GC, LI, GI and P Districts are subject to landscape and screening provisions contained in Article 39.08

ZONING DISTRICT REGULATIONS

Notes to Preceding Pages: Tables 4-2 and 4-3

Note 1:

Rural Residential development situated within one of the designated rural development areas of the Comprehensive Plan may occur on minimum lot sizes below 1.0 acres, if such development is approved by the City as a Conservation Subdivision, designed in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan, to ensure compatible installation of infrastructure and sanitary waste collection systems in the future.

Note 2:

Six feet for single-story construction, one foot for each 4 feet for any building over 24 feet in height. See Section 39.06.003 for supplemental regulations governing single-family attached and townhouse residential use types.

Note 3:

See Section 39.06.003 for supplemental regulations regarding modifications of lot width for townhouse residential use type.

Note 4:

Height limit for residential structures. 65 feet for other permitted uses.

Note 5:

Setback ten feet for single-story construction, five feet for each additional story.

Note 6:

The 3,000 square feet per townhouse unit applies for up to 10 units in townhouse developments in the R-2 district.

Note 7:

All allowable accessory buildings to a residence shall be limited to a maximum of one thousand two hundred feet (1,200) and for a maximum of three (3) detached structures for the first one acre or less. The total area of all accessory buildings may be increased by 250 square feet for each additional half (.5) acre of land area above one acre, but in no case shall the total exceed 30 percent lot coverage. Accessory buildings shall include the following: barns, stable, storage buildings, and detached personal vehicle garages.

Note 8:

Toxic Gaseous Storage: Storage facilities of toxic gaseous, materials, tanks/or bulk facilities shall not be built within (2) two miles of any residential subdivision or within (1) mile of any building for human occupancy generally, unless approved by a special use permit after a finding that storage will not pose a potential public health hazard.

Note 9:

- (1) Adequate direct road access to the site is provided with such access designed to minimize traffic congestion; and
- (2) Sufficient off-street parking areas are provided in conformance with Article 39.09, Table 9-1; and
- (3) The site is located at least one (1) mile from any residentially zoned area.

Note 10:

Density for Retirement Residential is 7,000 square feet for 4 units and 1,000 square feet for each additional unit.

Note 11:

Attached garages shall not exceed the total square footage and height of the residence.

Note 12:

Detached structures shall not exceed the height of fifteen (15) feet or the height of the primary residence, whichever is less, unless the detached structure is setback from the side and rear property line a minimum of two (2) horizontal feet for every one (1) foot in height exceeding the maximum height of the structure in residential districts.

Note 13:

Accessory structures larger than two hundred and fifty (250) square feet shall be constructed with similar materials of the primary residence or building in residential and commercial zoning districts.

Note 14:

Residential Use in multi-story structures in the DC zoning district, as well as family and group cares, emergency residential, group care, group home, religious assembly, and bed and breakfast uses will be located in the floor or floors above commercial uses.

Note 15:

In addition to the off street parking requirements in Article 39.09, parking and loading areas in the P zoning district abutting or directly across the street from a residential zoning district shall be set back the minimum front yard setback of the adjacent residential district.

Note 16:

All service, repair, processing or storage on property abutting or across the street from a residential zoning district shall be contained wholly within an enclosed building unless screened from residential zoning by a site-obstructing fence or wall. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1205, § 1; Ord. 1225 § 2; Ord. 1235 § 1 & 2; Ord. 1244 § 3, Ord. 1423 § 4; Ord. 1437 § 4; Ord. 1475 § 1. Ord. 1604 § 3. Ord. No. 1610 § 3, Ord. No. 1643 § 1, Ord. No. 1650 § 3; Ord. No. 1706 § 3; Ord. No. 1707 § 3; Ord. 1727 § 3; Ord. 1742 § 4)

Article 39.05 Special and Overlay Districts

Arucie 3	9.05 Special and Overlay Districts
2Sections:	
39.05.001	General Purpose
39.05.002	Purpose (Repealed)
39.05.003	Permitted Uses (Repealed)
39.05.004	Site Development Regulations (Repealed)
39.05.005	Amendments (Repealed)
39.05.006	Purpose
39.05.007	Permitted Uses
39.05.008	Site Development Regulations
39.05.009	Access to Public Streets
39.05.010	Application Process
39.05.011	Adoption of District
39.05.012	Amendment Procedure
39.05.013	Building Permits
39.05.014	Termination of PUD District
39.05.015	Purpose
39.05.016	Application of District
39.05.017	Permitted Uses
39.05.018	Adoption of District
39.05.019	Purpose
39.05.020	Floodplain and Floodway Overlay Districts: Findings of Fact
39.05.021	Floodplain and Floodway Permits and Administration
39.05.022	Establishment of Zoning Districts
39.05.023	Standards for Floodway Overlay District and Floodplain Overlay District
39.05.024	Floodplain Overlay District: Regulations
39.05.025	Floodway Overlay Districts
39.05.026	Request for Variances From District Requirements
39.05.027	Zoning Regulations For Nonconforming Uses
39.05.028	Definitions
39.05.030	Corridor Overlay District – Purpose
39.05.031	Corridor Overlay District – Boundaries
39.05.032	Corridor Overlay District – Permitted Uses
39.05.033	Corridor Overlay District – Application and Exemptions
39.05.034	Corridor Overlay District – Standards
39.05.040	West Villard Overlay District – Purpose
39.05.041	West Villard Overlay District – Boundaries
39.05.042	West Villard Overlay District – Application
39.05.043	West Villard Overlay District – Affected Properties
39.05.044	West Villard Overlay District – Permitted Uses
39.05.050	Downtown Overlay District – Purpose
39.05.051	Downtown Overlay District – Boundaries
39.05.052	Downtown Overlay District – Application
39.05.053	Downtown Overlay District – Affected Properties
39.05.054	Downtown Overlay District – Permitted Uses
39.05.055	Downtown Overlay District - Development Standards

39.05.056 Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport Overlay District

39.05.057 UMO – Underground Mining Overlay District

Section 39.05.001 General Purpose

Special Districts provide for base districts that allow multiple land uses and flexible development, with the requirement that a specific plan for the area be submitted by applicants. Overlay Districts are used in combination with base districts to modify or expand base district regulations. Overlay Districts are adapted to special needs of different parts of the City of Dickinson.

The Overlay Districts are designed to achieve the following objectives:

- a. To recognize special conditions in specific parts of the City which require specific regulation.
- b. To provide flexibility in development and to encourage innovative design through comprehensively planned projects. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.002 Purpose

Repealed. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord No. 1604 § 4)

Section 39.05.003 Permitted Uses

Repealed. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord No. 1604 § 4)

Section 39.05.004 Site Development Regulations

Repealed. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord No. 1604 § 4)

Section 39.05.005 Amendments

Repealed. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord No. 1604 § 4)

Section 39.05.006 Purpose

PUD PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT

The PUD Planned Unit Development Overlay District is intended to provide flexibility in the design of planned projects; to permit innovation in project design that incorporates open space and other amenities; and to insure compatibility of developments with the surrounding urban environment. The PUD District, which is adopted by the City Commission with the recommendation of the Planning Commission, assures specific development standards for each designated project. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1470 § 1.)

Section 39.05.007 Permitted Uses

Uses permitted in a PUD Overlay District are those permitted in the ordinance adopting the PUD. Any use listed in this Code as a permitted or special use may be allowed. Any other use that the Commission finds compatible with the existing and planned uses in the development and on adjacent properties may be allowed. However, each approved use must be listed in the PUD and included in the approval ordinance adopted by the Commission. A PUD may be

established exclusively for residential, commercial or industrial development or any combination of those types of development. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1470 § 1)

Section 39.05.008 Site Development Regulations

A property owner shall have the option of choosing to conform with the underlying zoning district regulations or the established PUD approval, if the PUD was adopted by the Commission prior to the adoption of this chapter. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1470 § 1)

Section 39.05.009 Access to Public Streets

Each PUD District must abut a public street for at least 50 feet and gain access from that street. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.010 Application Process

a. <u>Development Plan</u>

The application for a Planned Unit Development District shall include a Development Plan containing the following information:

- 1. A tract map, showing site boundaries, street lines, lot lines, easements, and proposed dedications or vacations.
- 2. A land use plan designating specific uses for the site and establishing site development regulations, including setback height, building coverage, impervious coverage, density, and floor area ratio requirements.
- 3. A site development and landscaping plan, showing building locations, or building envelopes; site improvements; public or common open spaces; community facilities; significant visual features; and typical landscape plans.
- 4. A circulation plan, including location of existing and proposed vehicular and pedestrian, facilities and location and general design of parking and loading facilities.
- 5. Schematic architectural plans and elevations sufficient to indicate a building height, bulk, materials, and general architectural design.
- 6. A statistical summary of the project, including gross site area, net site area, number of housing units by type, gross floor area of other uses, total amount of parking, and building and impervious surface percentages. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.011 Adoption of District

- a. The Planning Commission and City Commission shall review and evaluate each Planned Unit Development application. The City may impose reasonable conditions, as deemed necessary to ensure that a PUD shall be compatible with adjacent land uses, will not overburden public services and facilities and will not be detrimental to public health, safety and welfare.
- b. The Planning Commission, after proper notice, shall hold a public hearing and act upon each application.
- c. The Planning Commission may recommend amendments to PUD district applications.
- d. The recommendation of the Planning Commission shall be transmitted to the City Commission for final action.

- e. The City Commission, after proper notice, shall act upon any Ordinance establishing a PUD Planned Unit Development Overlay District. Proper notice shall mean the same notice established for any other zoning amendment.
- f. An Ordinance adopting a Planned Unit Development Overlay Zoning District shall require a favorable simple majority of the City Commission for approval.
- g. Upon approval by the City Commission, the Development Plan shall become a part of the Ordinance creating or amending the PUD District. All approved plans shall be filed with the Zoning Administrator. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.012 Amendment Procedure

Major amendments to the Development Plan must be approved according to the same procedure set forth in Section 39.05.005. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.013 Building Permits

The City shall not issue a building permit, certificate of occupancy, or other permit for a building, structure, or use within a PUD District unless it is in compliance with the approved Development Plan or any approved amendments. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.014 Termination of PUD District

If no substantial development has taken place in a Planned Unit Development District for one year following approval of the District, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall reconsider the zoning of the property and may, on its own motion, initiate an application for rezoning the property. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.015 Purpose

A. AGRICULTURAL BUSINESS OVERLAY DISTRICT

This district is intended to permit limited agricultural activities in combination with residential land uses. It recognizes the rural character of areas adjacent to Dickinson which may combine residential development at moderate densities with certain farm uses, including the raising of crops and animals, and the storage of agricultural products. It further recognizes that such uses should be strictly controlled in order to minimize effects on neighboring properties. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.016 Application of District

This district may be used only in combination with any zoning district. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.017 Permitted Uses

In addition to those uses permitted in the base district, the following additional uses are permitted in the Agricultural Business Overlay District:

- a. Horticulture
- b. Crop Production

c. Storage and sales of agricultural products, provided that a buffer of at least 30 feet is provided between this use and any adjacent lot within a residential zoning district. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.018 Adoption of District

- a. The Planning Commission and City Commission shall review and evaluate each A Overlay District application.
- b. The Planning Commission, after proper notice, shall hold a public hearing and act upon each application.
- c. The Planning Commission may recommend amendments to A district applications.
- d. The recommendation of the Planning Commission shall be transmitted to the City Commission for final action.
- e. The City Commission shall act upon any Ordinance establishing an A Overlay District.
- f. The Ordinance adopting the A District shall include a statement of purpose, a description of district boundaries, and a list of supplemental site development regulations and performance standards.
- g. An Ordinance adopting an A Overlay District shall require a favorable vote of a simple majority of the City Commission for approval.
- h. Upon approval by the City Commission, each A Overlay District shall be shown on the Zoning Map, identified sequentially by order of enactment and referenced to the enacting Ordinance.
- i. Any protest against an A Overlay District shall be made and filed as provided by the Century Code of North Dakota, and amendments thereto. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.019 Purpose

FP/FW FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY OVERLAY DISTRICT

It is the purpose of this ordinance to promote the public health, safety and general welfare and to minimize those losses described in Section 39.05.020 by applying the provisions of this ordinance to:

- 1. Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, or property in times of flooding or cause undue increases in flood heights or velocities.
- 2. Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including public facilities which serve such uses, be provided with flood protection at the time of initial construction.
- 3. Protect individuals from buying lands which are unsuitable for intended purposes because of flood hazard.
- 4. Assure that eligibility is maintained for property owners in the community to purchase flood insurance in the National Flood Insurance Program when identified by the Federal Insurance Administration as a flood prone community. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.020 Floodplain and Floodway Overlay Districts: Findings of Fact

Flood Losses Resulting from Periodic Inundation

Flood hazard areas of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, are subject to inundation which results in loss of life or property, health and safety hazards, disruption of commerce and governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures for flood protection and relief, and impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the public health, safety and general welfare.

1. General Causes of These Flood Losses

These flood losses are caused by (a) the cumulative effect of obstruction in floodways causing increases in flood heights and velocities, (b) the occupancy of flood areas by uses vulnerable to floods or hazardous to other which are inadequately elevated or otherwise protected from flood damages.

2. *Methods Used to Analyze Flood Hazards*

This ordinance uses a reasonable method of analyzing flood hazards which consists of a series of interrelated steps.

- a) Selection of a base flood which is based upon engineering calculations which permit a consideration of such flood factors as its expected frequency of occurrence, the area inundated and the depth of inundation. The base flood selected for this ordinance is representative of large floods which are reasonably characteristic of what can be expected to occur on the particular streams subject to this ordinance. It is in the general order of a flood which could be expected to have a one (1%) percent change of occurrence in anyone year, as delineated by applicable Flood Insurance Studies and the Federal Emergency Management Administration's Flood Insurance Rate Maps and Flood Boundary and Floodway Map, or any subsequent effective Flood Insurance Studies, Rate Maps, and Flood Boundary and Floodway Maps issued after the effective date of this ordinance and adopted by the City of Dickinson.
- b) Calculation of water surface profiles based upon a hydraulic engineering analysis of the capacity of the stream channel and overbank areas to convey the base flood.
- c) Computation of the floodway required to convey this flood without increasing flood heights more than 1 foot at any point.
- d) Delineation of floodway encroachment lines within which no obstruction is permitted which would cause any increase in flood height.
- e) Delineation of floodway fringe, i.e., that area outside the floodway encroachment lines but which still is subject to inundation by the base flood.

Land to Which Ordinance Applies

This ordinance shall apply to all lands within the jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson identified on the Flood Insurance Rate map (FIRM) as numbered and unnumbered A zone and/or within the Overlay Districts FP and FW established in this ordinance. In all areas covered by this ordinance, no development shall be permitted except upon a permit to develop granted by the City Council or its duly designated representative under such safeguards and restrictions as the City Council may reasonably impose for the promotion and maintenance of the general welfare, health of the inhabitants of the community as contained in the City Code.

Enforcement Officer

The Zoning Administrator of the City of Dickinson is hereby designated as the City Council's duly designated Enforcement Officer under this ordinance. Unless otherwise provided by the City Council, the Natural Resources Commission shall assist the City of Dickinson on interpretation of floodplain/floodway rules and regulations. The Enforcement Officer shall obtain comments from the NRC as part of his/her review of all proposed activity in this Overlay District.

Rules for Interpretation of District Boundaries

The boundaries of the floodway and floodway fringe overlay districts shall be determined by scaling distances on the official zoning map. Where interpretation is needed to the exact location of the boundaries of the districts as shown on the official zoning map, as for example where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and actual field conditions, the Enforcement Officer shall make the necessary interpretation. In such cases where the interpretation is contested, the Board of Adjustment will resolve the dispute. The base flood elevation for the point in question shall be the governing factor in locating the district boundary on the land. The person contesting the location of the district boundary shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present his case to the Board and to submit his own technical evidence if he so desires.

Compliance

No development located within known flood hazard areas of the community shall be located, extended, converted or structurally altered without full compliance with the terms of this ordinance and other applicable regulations.

Abrogation and Greater Restrictions

It is not intended by this ordinance to repeal, abrogate or impair any existing easements, covenants or deed restriction. However, where this ordinance imposes greater restrictions, the provision of this ordinance shall prevail. All other ordinances inconsistent with this ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of the inconsistency only.

Interpretation

In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this ordinance shall be held to be minimum requirements and shall be liberally construed in favor of the City of Dickinson and shall not be deemed a limitation or repeal of any other powers granted by state statute.

Warning and Disclaimer of Liability

The degree of flood protection required by this ordinance is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes and is based on engineering and scientific methods of study. Larger floods may occur on rare occasions or the flood height may be increased by man-made or natural causes, such as ice jams and bridge openings restricted by debris. This ordinance does not imply that areas outside floodway and floodway fringe district boundaries or land uses permitted within such districts will be free from flooding or flood damages. This ordinance shall not create liability on the part of the City of Dickinson or any officer or employee thereof for any flood damages that may result from reliance on this ordinance or any administrative decision lawfully made thereunder.

Severability

If any section, clause, provision or portion of this ordinance is adjudged unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected thereby.

Application for Appeal

Where a request for a permit to develop is denied by the Zoning Administrator, the applicant may apply for such permit or variance directly to the Board of Adjustment. Procedures for appeals to the Board of Adjustment shall proceed as set forth by Section 39.12.010b of this Ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.021 Floodplain and Floodway Permits and Administration

Permit Required

No person, firm, or corporation shall initiate any development or substantial improvement or cause the same to be done without first obtaining a separate permit for development as defined in Section C. hereof.

Administration

- 1. The Zoning Administrator is hereby appointed to administer and implement the provisions of this ordinance.
- 2. Duties of the Zoning Administrator shall include, but not be limited to:
 - a) Review of all development permits to assure that sites are reasonable, safe from flooding and that the permit requirements of this ordinance have been satisfied.
 - b) Review permits for proposed development to assure that all necessary permits have been obtained from those Federal, State or Local Governmental agencies from which prior approval is required.
 - c) Assure that maintenance is provided within the altered or relocated portion of said watercourse so that the flood carrying capacity is not diminished.
 - d) Verify and record the actual elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the lowest floor (including basement) of all new or substantially improved structures.
 - e) Verify and record the actual elevation (in relation to mean sea level) to which the new or substantially improved structures have been floodproofed.
 - f) When floodproofing is utilized for a particular structure, the Zoning Administrator shall be presented certification from a registered professional engineer or architect.

Application for Permit

To obtain a permit, the applicant shall first file an application in writing on a form furnished for that purpose. Every such application shall:

- 1. Identify and describe the work to be covered by the permit.
- 2. Describe the land on which the proposed work is to be done by lot, block, tract and house and street address, or similar description that will readily identify and definitely locate the proposed building or work.
- 3. Indicate the use or occupancy for which the proposed work is intended.
- 4. Be accompanied by plans for the proposed construction.
- 5. Be signed by the permittee or his authorized agent who may be required to submit evidence to indicate such authority.
- 6. Give such other information as reasonably may be required by the Zoning Administrator. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.022 Establishment of Zoning Districts

The mapped flood plain area within the jurisdiction of this ordinance are hereby divided into the two following districts: A Floodway Overlay District (FW) and a Floodplan Overlay District (FP) as identified in the official Flood Plain Study. Within these districts, all uses not meeting the standards of this ordinance and those standards of the underlying zoning district shall be prohibited. These zones shall be consistent with the numbered and unnumbered A Zones as identified on the official FIRM when identified in the Flood Insurance Study provided by the Federal Insurance Administration. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.023 Standards for Floodway Overlay District and Floodplain Overlay District

- a. No permit for development shall be granted for new construction, substantial improvement or other improvements including the placement of manufactured homes within the identified flood plain unless the conditions of this section are satisfied.
- b. All areas identified as unnumbered A Zones by the Federal Insurance Administration are subject to inundation of the 100-year flood; however, the water surface elevation was not provided. The unnumbered A Zones shall be subject to all development provisions of this ordinance. If Flood Insurance Study Data is not available, the community shall utilize any base flood elevation data currently available within its area of jurisdiction. Further, in cases of proposed development within unnumbered "A" zones, the developer's engineer shall be required to conduct the necessary studies to determine the 100 year flood elevation and its extent in relation to such development.
- c. New construction, subdivision proposals, substantial improvement, prefabricated building, placement of manufactured homes and other development shall require:
 - 1. Design or anchorage to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads including the effect of buoyancy.
 - 2. New or replacement water supply systems and/or sanitary sewage systems designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of flood waters into the systems and discharges from the systems into flood waters, and on-site waste disposal systems be located so as to avoid impairment or contamination.
 - 3. Construction with materials resistant to flood damage, utilizing methods and practices that minimize flood damages, and with electrical, heating, ventilation that are designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding.
 - 4. All utility and sanitary facilities be elevated or floodproofed one foot above the regulatory flood elevation. Such floodproofing is permitted only for non-residential properties.
 - 5. That until a floodway has been designated, no development including landfill, may be permitted within the identified flood plain unless the applicant for the land use has demonstrated that the proposed use, when combined with all other existing and reasonably anticipated uses, will not increase the water surface elevation of the 100-year flood more than one (1') foot on the average cross-section of the reach in which the development or landfill is located as shown in the official flood plan study incorporated by reference herein.

- 6. Storage of Materials and Equipment
 - a) The storage of processing of materials that are in time of flooding buoyancy, flammable, explosive, or could be injurious to human, animal or plant life is prohibited.
 - b) Storage of other materials or equipment may be allowed if not subject to major damage by floods and firmly anchored to prevent flotation or if readily removable from the area within the time available after flood warning.
- 7. Subdivision proposals and other proposed new development, including manufactured home parks or subdivision, be required to assure that:
 - a) All such proposals are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage.
 - b) All public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems are located, elevated and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage.
 - c) Adequate drainage is provided so as to reduce exposure to flood hazards.
 - d) Proposals for development (including proposals for manufactured home parks and subdivisions) of five (5) acres or fifty (50) lots, whichever is less, include within such proposals the regulatory flood elevation. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.024 Floodplain Overlay District: Regulations

Permitted Uses

Any use permitted in the underlying base district shall be permitted in the Floodplain Overlay District. No use shall be permitted in the district unless the standards of this Section are met.

Standards for the Floodplain Overlay District

- 1. Any new construction or substantial improvements of residential structures shall have the lowest floor, including basement elevated one foot above the base flood elevation.
- 2. Any new construction or substantial improvements of non-residential structures shall have the lowest flood, including basement elevated one foot above the base flood elevation, or, together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, shall be floodproofed so that below such a level the structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydro-dynamic loads and effect of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that the standards of this subsection are satisfied. Such certification shall be provided to the official as set forth in Section 39.05.023c. Such floodproofing is permitted only for non-residential properties.
- 3. All new construction and substantial improvements that fully enclosed areas below the lowest floor that are subject to flooding shall be designated to automatically equalize hydro-static flood forces or exterior walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeting this requirement must either be certified by the registered professional engineer or architect or meet or exceed the following minimum criteria: A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square

inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided. The bottom of all openings shall be not higher than one foot above grade. Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters.

(a) Below-Grade Residential Crawlspace Construction

New construction and substantial improvement of any below-grade crawlspace shall:

- Have the interior grade elevation that is below base flood elevation no lower than two feet below the lowest adjacent grade
- ii. Have the height of the below-grade crawlspace measured from the interior grade of the crawlspace to the top of the foundation wall, not exceeding four feet at any point
- iii. Have an adequate drainage system that allows floodwaters to drain from the interior area of the crawlspace following a flood
- iv. Be anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure and be capable of resisting the hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads
- v. Be constructed with materials and utility equipment resistant to flood damage
- vi. Be constructed using methods and practices that minimize flood damage
- vii. Be constructed with electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, and air conditioning equipment and other service facilities that are designed and/or located so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of flooding
- viii. Be designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeting this requirement must either be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect or must meet or exceed the following minimum criteria:
 - (a) A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided;
 - (b) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade;
 - (c) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, or other coverings or devices provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters.
- 4. Within AH zones, adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes shall be required in order to guide floodwaters around and away from proposed structures.
- 5. Manufactured Homes

- a) All manufactured homes shall be anchored to resist flotation, collapse, or lateral movement. Manufactured homes must be anchored in accordance with local building codes or FEMA guidelines. In the event that over-the-top frame ties to ground anchors are used, the following specific requirements (or their equivalent) shall be met:
 - (i) Over-the-top ties shall be provided at each of the four corners of the manufactured home with two additional ties per side at intermediate locations, and manufactured homes less than 50 feet long requiring one additional tie per side.
 - (ii) Frame ties shall be provided at each corner of the home with five additional ties per side at intermediate points, and manufactured homes less than 50 feet long requiring four additional ties per side.
 - (iii) All components of the anchoring system shall be capable of carrying a force of 4800 lbs.
- (iv) Any additions to manufactured homes shall be similarly anchored.
 b) All manufactured homes to be placed within Zones A1-30, AH and AE on the community's FIRM shall be elevated on a permanent foundation such that the lowest floor of the manufactured home is at or above the base flood elevation and be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system in accordance with the provisions of the Uniform Building Code.

c) AO Zones: Special Regulations

Located within the areas of special flood hazard are areas designated as AO Zones. These areas have special flood hazards associated with base flood depths of 1 to 3 feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist and where the path of flooding is unpredictable and indeterminate. Therefore, the following provisions apply with AO Zones:

- 1. All new construction and substantial improvements of residential structures have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the highest adjacent grade at least as high as 1 foot above the depth number specified in feet on the community's FIRM.
- 2. All new construction and substantial improvements of nonresidential structures shall:
 - a) Have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated above the highest adjacent grade at least as high as 1 foot above the depth number specified in feet on the community's FIRM
 - b) Together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities be completely floodproofed to or above that level so that any space below that level is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effect of buoyancy. Such certification shall be provided to the official as set forth in Section 39.05.023c.
 - c) Adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes shall be required in order to guide floodwaters around and away

Section 39.05.025 Floodway Overlay Districts

Permitted Uses

Only uses having a low flood-damage potential and not obstructing flood flows shall be permitted within the Floodway District to the extent that they are not prohibited by any other ordinance and provided that they do not require structural fill or storage of materials or equipment. No use shall increase the flood levels of the base flood elevation. These uses are subject to the standards and requirements of Section 39.05.023.

- 1. Agricultural uses such as general farming, pasture, nurseries, forestry.
- 2. Accessory residential uses such as lawns, gardens, parking and play areas.
- 3. Nonresidential areas such as loading areas, parking, and airport landing strips.
- 4. Public and private recreational uses such as golf courses, archery ranges, picnic grounds, parks, wildlife and nature preserves. New placement of residential structures including manufactured homes are prohibited within the identified floodway (FW) area.
- 5. In Zone A unnumbered, obtain, review and reasonably utilize any floodway data available through Federal, State of Local sources in meeting the standards of this section. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.026 Request for Variances From District Requirements

- a. The Board of Adjustment, as established by the City of Dickinson, shall hear and decide appeal and requests for variances from the requirements of this ordinance.
- b. The Board of Adjustment shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged that there is an error in any requirement, decision, or determination made by the Zoning Administrator in the enforcement or administration of this ordinance.
- c. Any person aggrieved by the decision of the Board of Adjustment or any taxpayer may appeal such decision to the City Council as provided by the Century Code of North Dakota.
- d. In passing upon such applications, the Board of Adjustment shall consider all technical evaluation, all relevant factors, standards specified in other sections of this ordinance, and:
 - 1. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others.
 - 2. The danger of life and property due to flooding or erosion damage.
 - 3. The susceptibility of proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect of such damage on the individual owner.
 - 4. The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community.
 - 5. The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable.
 - 6. The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for the proposed use.

- 7. The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development.
- 8. The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and flood plain management program for that area.
- 9. The safety of access to the property in time of flood for ordinance and emergency vehicles.
- 10. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and sediment transport of the flood waters and the effect of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site.
- 11. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems, and streets and bridges.

e. Conditions for Variance

- 1. Generally, variances may be issued for new construction and substantial improvements to be erected on a lot of one half acre of less in size contiguous to and surrounded by lots with existing structures constructed below the base flood level providing terms 2. through 6. below have been fully considered. As the lot size increases beyond the one-half acre, the technical jurisdiction required for issuing the variance increases.
- 2. Variances may be issued for the reconstruction, rehabilitation or restoration of structures listed on the National Register of Historic Places or the State Inventory of Historic Places, without regard to the procedures set forth in the remainder of this section.
- 3. Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood levels during the base flood discharge would result.
- 4. Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum necessary, considering the flood hazard, to afford relief.
- 5. In addition to the criteria for variances set forth in Section 39.12.011C of this Ordinance, variances shall only be issued upon (i) a showing of good and sufficient cause, (ii) a determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship to the applicant, and (iii) a determination that the granting of the variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create nuisances, cause fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances.
- 6. Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given a written notice that the cost of flood insurance will be commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest floor elevation. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.027 Zoning Regulations For Nonconforming Uses

Continuance of Nonconforming Uses

A structure or the use of a structure or premises which was lawful before the passage or amendment of the ordinance but which is not in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance may be continued subject to the following conditions:

- 1. No such use or substantial improvement of that use shall be expended, changed, enlarged, or altered in a way which increases its nonconformity.
- 2. If such use is discontinued for twelve (12) consecutive months, any future use of the building premises shall conform to this ordinance. The Utility Department shall notify the Building Inspector in writing of instances of nonconforming uses where utility services have been discontinued for a period of twelve (12) months.
- 3. Uses or adjuncts thereof which are or become nuisances shall not be entitled to continue a nonconforming uses.

Replacement of Residential Uses

If any residential nonconforming use of structure is destroyed by any means, including flood, it shall not be reconstructed if the cost is more than 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred within those areas identified as floodway (FW). This limitation does not include the cost of any alteration to comply with existing state or local health, sanitary, building, or safety codes or regulations or the cost of any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or a State Inventory of Historic Places.

Replacement of Non-Residential Uses

If any non-residential nonconforming use of structure is destroyed by any means, including flood, it should not be reconstructed if the cost is more than 50 percent of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred except that if it is reconstructed in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance. This limitation does not include the cost of any alteration to comply with existing state or local health, sanitary, building, or safety codes or regulations or the cost of any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or a State Inventory of Historic Places. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.028 Definitions

Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this ordinance shall be interpreted so as to give them the same meaning as they have in common usage and so as to give this ordinance its most reasonable application.

Actuarial Rates. Or "risk premium rates" are those established by the Federal Insurance Administrator pursuant to individual community studies and investigations which are undertaken to provide flood insurance in accordance with 42 U.S.C. 4014 and the accepted actuarial principles. Actuarial rates include provisions for operating costs and allowances.

Appeal. A request for a review of the Zoning Administrator's interpretation of any provision of this ordinance or a request for a variance.

Area of Shallow Flooding. A designated AO or AH zone on a community's Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) with a one percent or greater annual chance of flooding to an average depth of one to three feet where a clearly defined channel is unpredictable and where velocity flow may be evident. Such flooding is characterized by ponding or sheet flow.

Area of Special Flood Hazard. The land in the flood plain within a community subject to one percent or greater chance of flooding in any given year.

Base Flood Elevation. Elevation indicated in the official flood plain study as the elevation of the 100-year flood.

Base Flood Protection Elevation. An elevation one foot higher than the water surface elevation of the base flood.

- *Channel.* A natural or artificial watercourse of perceptible extent, with a definite bed and banks to confine and conduct continuously or periodically flowing water. Channel flow, thus, is that water which is flowing within the limits of a defined channel.
- **Community.** Any state or area or political subdivision thereof which has authority to adopt and enforce flood plain management regulations for the area within its jurisdiction.
- **Development.** Any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including but not limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations.
- *Existing Construction.* (For the purposes of determining rates) structures for which the "start of construction" commenced before the effective date of the FIRM or before January 1, 1975, for FIRM's effective before that date. "Existing Construction" may also be referred to as "existing structures".
- **Flood or Flooding.** A general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of normally dry land areas from (1) the overflow of inland or tidal waters; (2) the unusual and rapid accumulation of runoff of surface waters from any source.
- *Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)*. An official map of a community, on which the Flood Insurance Study has delineated the Flood Hazard Boundaries and the zones establishing insurance rates applicable to the community.
- *Flood Insurance Study*. The official report provided by the Federal Emergency Management Agency. The report contains flood profiles, as well as the Flood Boundary Floodway Map and the water surface elevation of the base flood.
- *Flood Plain Management*. The operation of an overall program of corrective and preventative measures for reducing flood damage, including but not limited to, emergency preparedness plan, flood control works, and flood plain management regulations.
- **Flood Protection System.** Those physical structural works constructed specifically to modify flooding in order to reduce the extent of the area within a community subject to a "special flood hazard". Such a system typically includes levees or dikes. These specialized modifying works are those constructed in conformance with sound engineering standards.
- *Floodproofing*. Any combination of structural and non-structural additions, changes, or adjustments to structures, including utility and sanitary facilities, which would preclude the entry of water. Structural components shall have the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effect of buoyancy.
- **Floodplain** (**FP**). That area of the flood plain, outside of the floodway, that on an average is likely to be flooded once every 100 years (i.e. that has a one percent chance of flood occurrence in any one year.)
- *Floodway (FW)*. The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent portion of the flood plain that must be reserved in order to discharge the 100-year flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than one foot at any point assuming equal conveyance reduction outside the channel from the two sides of the flood plain.
- *Freeboard.* A factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a flood level for purposes of flood plain management. "Freeboard" tends to compensate for the many unknown factors that could contribute to flood heights greater than the heights calculated for a selected size flood and floodway conditions, such as wave action, clogged bridge openings, and the hydrological effect of urbanization of the watershed.
- *Highest Adjacent Grade*. The highest natural elevation of the ground surface prior to construction next to the proposed walls of a structure.

Lowest Floor. The lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement). An unfurnished or flood resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage, in an area other than a basement area, is not considered a building's lowest floor, provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render the structure in violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirements of this ordinance.

Manufactured Home. A structure, transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a permanent chassis and is designed for use with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities. For flood plain management purposes, the term "manufactured home" also includes park trailers, travel trailers, and other similar vehicles placed on a site for greater than 180 consecutive days. For insurance purposes, the term "manufactured home" does not include park trailers, travel trailers, and other similar vehicles.

Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision. A parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale.

New Construction. Structures for which the "start of construction or substantial improvement" is commenced on or after the effective date of the FIRM.

100-Year Flood. The base flood having a one percent chance of annual occurrence. Overlay District. A district which acts in conjunction with the underlying zoning district or districts.

Start of Construction. For other than new construction or substantial improvements under the Coastal Barrier Resources Act (Pub. L97-348) includes substantial improvement, and means the date the building permit was issued, providing the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, placement, or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start or other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start means the first placement of permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation or the placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling, nor does it include the installation of street and/or walkways, nor does it include excavation for a basement, footings, or foundations or the erection of temporary forms, nor does it include the installation of the property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure.

Structure. A walled and roofed building that is principally above ground, as well as a manufactured home, and a gas or liquid storage tank that is principally above ground.

Substantial Improvement. Any repair, reconstruction, or improvement of a structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure either (1) before the improvement or repair is started, or (2) if the structure has been damaged and is being restored, before the damage occurred. For the purpose of this definition, "substantial improvement" is considered to occur when the first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of the building commences, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions of the structure. The term does not, however, include either (1) any project for improvement of a structure to comply with existing state or local health, sanitary or safety code specifications which are solely necessary to assure safe living conditions, or (2) any alteration of a structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places or a State Inventory of Historic Places.

Variance. A grant of relief to a person from the requirements of this ordinance which permits construction in a manner otherwise prohibited by this ordinance where specific enforcement would result in unnecessary hardship. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.05.030 Corridor Overlay District – Purpose

The purpose of Corridor Overlay District for transportation corridors identified herein is to promote and protect the public health, safety and welfare by providing for consistent and coordinated treatment of properties bordering and within the identified transportation corridors in the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, and in the City of Dickinson's Extraterritorial Zoning Jurisdiction (ETZ). The identified corridors are important transportation corridors, and will continue as such with future growth of the city. These transportation corridors are expected to carry significant volumes of traffic, making development along these transportation corridors highly visible to the traveling public. Therefore, it is the purpose of this District to ensure high aesthetic quality of development along these important transportation corridors through:

- (A) The establishment of enhanced standards for buildings, landscaping, and other improvements constructed on the properties bordering and within the identified transportation corridors; and
- (B) The establishment of development requirements which will encourage high quality of design of development of those properties and promote the quality, scale, and character of development consistent with existing and planned uses bordering and within the identified transportation corridors.

<u>Section 39.05.031 Corridor Overlay District – Boundaries</u>

The boundaries of the Corridor Overlay Districts are hereby established as follows:

(A) All structures and or lots that are within 400 feet of either side of the right-of-way (existing or future if additional right-of-way is required, whichever is greater) for the following identified corridors:

Highway 22 a/k/a 3rd Avenue West

I-94 Highway Corridor

Villard Street

I-94 Business Loop (East and West)

State Avenue

10th Avenue East

21st Street (East and West)

34th Street SW a/k/a 40th Street

30th Avenue West

 $33^{rd} \; Street \; SW$ one-mile west of the intersection of Hwy 22 and $33^{rd} \; Street$

SW

Exit 56 Truck Bypass

Highway 10

116th Avenue SW

15th Street West

12th Street West

Museum Drive West

14th Street (East & West)

2nd Avenue West north of I-94 16th Street West Western Drive (Ord. No. 1604 § 5, Ord. No. 1625 § 1.)

<u>Section 39.05.032 Corridor Overlay District – Permitted Uses</u>

The overlay district provisions apply to any base zoning district set forth in this chapter that exists within the defined overlay area. Permitted uses shall be subject to the provisions of this section and shall be further subject to requirements of the applicable base zoning district.

Section 39.05.033 Corridor Overlay District – Application and Exemptions

- (A) These standards apply to sites (including all principal and accessory buildings) that are within the Corridor Overlay District unless otherwise specified herein, and apply to all use categories.
- (B) Farm structures are exempt from these requirements provided they meet the base zoning district requirements.
- (C) Existing single-family structures are exempt from these requirements provided they meet the base zoning district requirements.
- (D) Expansions to buildings that exist on the date this ordinance is adopted are exempt from the requirements of this ordinance for any building additions that do not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the existing building square footage. If multiple building expansions are conducted after the adoption of this ordinance, the expansion that causes the total square footage of expansions to reach or exceed a 50% expansion of the original building square footage shall thereafter be required to conform to the requirements of this chapter.
- (E) If overlapping regulations appear in other sections of this Land Development Code, those regulations stated herein shall take precedence.
- (F) Unless otherwise noted in this Section, the standards of the underlying base zoning districts shall apply. (Ord. No. 1604 § 5, Ord. No. 1625 § 1.)

Section 39.05.034 Corridor Overlay District – Standards

Building Design

Building design shall incorporate materials to convey permanence, substance, timelessness, and restraint. Each building shall be constructed with one or more of the following material(s) consisting of at least fifty percent (50%) of the exterior materials.

Any exterior building wall visible from the corridor shall be constructed of one or more of the following (minimum of 50%):

- a. Clay or masonry brick
- b. Customized concrete masonry with striated, scored, or broken faced brick type units (sealed) with color consistent with design theme.
- c. Poured in place, tilt-up, or precast concrete. Poured in place and tilt-up walls shall have a finish of stone, a texture, or a coating.
- d. Architectural flat metal panels or glass curtain walls.
- e. Stucco or Exterior Finish Insulation Systems (EFIS).

Natural stone

Residential grade permanent siding provided that buildings are enhanced by the application of brick, decorative masonry, or decorative stucco surfaces in combination with decorative fascia, overhangs, and trim. Wooden siding may be used as a substitute for residential grade permanent siding.

Metal siding systems may be used along the corridor provided that metal is limited to 70% of the building face. In addition the building must be enhanced by the application of brick, decorative masonry, or decorative stucco surfaces in combination with decorative fascia, overhangs, and trim.

Additional materials may be approved by the City Planner provided that the substituted or additional materials meet the purpose and intent of this chapter and are similar in nature to those specified materials herein.

Non-decorative exposed concrete block and non-decorative metal buildings are prohibited.

Ground floor building facades of commercial and office buildings visible from identified corridors shall have a minimum of 20 percent glass windows.

Any portion of a building façade that exceeds one hundred (100) feet shall incorporate windows or architectural and design elements to break up the expanse of wall. Examples include, but are not limited to, windows, lighting, material changes, articulated wall surfaces, architectural treatments such as sculptured wall features or shadow lines, vertical accents, texture changes or color changes. Landscaping may be used in combination with the design elements listed above.

Sloped roofs shall not exceed one hundred (100) feet in length without a change in roof plane, or gable, or dormer.

Building design shall incorporate architectural characteristics that emphasize human scale design features, and minimize the mass and scale of buildings through the use of features including, but not limited to: variation in the rooflines and form, designs that visually define "tops" and "bottoms" of buildings, use of protected or recessed entries, use of vertical elements on or in front of expansive blank walls, use of focal points, inclusion of windows on elevations facing streets and pedestrian areas.

Building entrances, excluding emergency exits, shall be designed as focal points and shall be enhanced through the use of elements such as canopies, overhangs, peaked roofs, paving materials, planters, landscaping features, and outdoor seating areas.

Roof-mounted and ground mounted mechanical equipment shall be fully screened from the identified corridor. Penthouses for mechanical equipment shall be incorporated into the building façade design, consistent with the exterior building design requirements.

Exterior mechanical equipment shall be shielded in a manner that protects adjacent properties from visual impacts and noise levels.

To assist in the interpretation of the above regulations the Planning Department shall maintain a catalog of approved building designs and materials as a reference.

Multi-building or Mixed Use Projects

Prior to issuance of a building permit on a multi-building development, the applicant shall submit plans that demonstrate the use of consistent design elements throughout the project. Subsequent building permits shall conform to the design elements presented.

Multi-building developments shall include prominent focal points, which shall

include, but not be limited to architectural structures, art, historical and/or landscape features. These features shall be located at, or visible from, vehicular and pedestrian entrances to the site.

Free standing garage clusters of multiple family residential sites shall not be placed along the corridor overlay districts unless the overall appearance is similar to the primary residential building.

Site Design

Building and Parking Setbacks

Buildings on sites located at major intersections along the identified corridor (i.e. at intersections with designated future arterial roadways or traffic corridors as identified herein) shall be sited in the corner of the intersection with parking areas in the rear or side yard.

The City Planning Director shall consider all site design proposals with the requirements set forth herein. In those instances in which a prevailing setback has previously been established, the City Planning Director may require compliance with the prevailing setback rather than the provisions set forth below.

Natural Features

Significant natural or existing features, such as drainage swales, existing trees, and shelterbelts, shall be incorporated into the site design to the extent that retention of the feature allows reasonable use of the site, as determined by the City Planning Director.

Functional Site Elements

Trash enclosures and trash compactors shall be located such that they are not visible from the identified corridor.

Outdoor storage that does not consist of display of merchandise shall be located such that it is not visible from the identified corridor, by placing the outdoor storage on the opposite side of the building from the identified corridor, or by placing outdoor storage in an enclosed area that has the appearance of being integral to the building. All outdoor storage shall be fully screened from view through the use of an opaque decorative fencing material or architectural screen walls.

Loading and delivery areas shall not be located along the front or side of the building that fronts on the identified corridor, unless compliance is not reasonable feasible. Such areas shall be screened from view through the use of landscaping or architectural building elements that are consistent with the architecture and building materials used in the primary buildings.

Contractor yards, service yards, heavy equipment, salvage, and items of a similar nature shall be located away from public street frontages and shall be screened with opaque fencing.

Pedestrian Accommodations for Commercial Projects

Pedestrian walkways shall be provided between building entrances/exits and parking areas, and within parking areas to provide a designated walking area, especially where there is a need to connect dispersed buildings with parking areas.

Pedestrian walkways shall be provided between buildings and sidewalks or multiuse paths along adjacent streets.

On multi-building sites and mixed use sites, the site design shall provide functional pedestrian spaces, plazas, and seating areas between or in front of buildings. Designs shall include some areas with weather protection, such as overhangs, awnings,

and canopies to increase usefulness in a variety of weather conditions.

Canopy shade trees, landscape features, and seating, or other pedestrian amenities near colonnades, storefronts, and pedestrian routes shall be incorporated into the site.

Lighting for Commercial Projects

Pedestrian scale lighting fixtures shall be provided in areas designed for pedestrian activity (walkways, plazas, outdoor seating areas).

Lighting fixtures shall coordinate and complement the general architectural style of the development.

Decorative lighting should accent entryways and other site focal points, such as significant architectural, landscaping, or artistic features shall be provided, within the first 100' of private properties ingress/egress along and adjacent to the corridor rights of way for adherence to the decorative lighting requirement.

Administration

Submittal of plans. All plans for construction and renovation of structures within the district shall be submitted to the City Planning Director or his designee. The owner of the property to be constructed upon or renovated, or their authorized agent, shall submit two (2) full sized and to-scale plans and two (2) reduced copies of the necessary drawings to the planning staff.

Appeals

Any applicant may appeal a decision of the City Planning Director on the interpretation of the requirements herein. The appeal shall be filed with the City Planning-Director within ten (10) business days following the decision.

The City Planning Director will notify all property owners abutting the subject property prior to the Planning and Zoning Commission taking action on the appeal.

The applicant or any property owner shall have the right to appeal the decision of the Planning & Zoning Commission to the City Council.

The appeal fee shall be established by the City Commission and included in the City's Fee Schedule. (Ord. No. 1454§ 1. Ord. No. 1625§ 1.)

Section 39.05.040 West Villard Overlay District - Purpose

The purpose of the West Villard Overlay District is to allow existing residential dwelling units in commercial districts within a designated overlay district and to allow the conversion of existing single-family residential structures in commercial districts into limited nonresidential uses that support existing residential uses, and to promote connections between the subject area and the West Villard Street commercial district. (Ord. 1538 § 1; Ord. 1705 § 1)

<u>Section 39.05.041 West Villard Overlay District – Boundaries</u>

The West Villard Overlay District boundary shall be as follows: one block north of Villard Street between State Avenue and 5th Avenue West; and one block south of Villard Street between State Avenue and 8th Avenue West. (Ord. 1538 § 2)

Section 39.05.042 West Villard Overlay District – Application

All residential dwelling units in commercial districts within the West Villard Overlay District existing on the effective date of this Ordinance shall be considered to be lawfully conforming

permitted uses. No additional residential dwelling units in commercial districts shall be permitted, unless established prior to the effective date of this Ordinance. Any residential dwelling unit in a commercial district that has been converted into a nonresidential use from that point on may only be used for nonresidential uses.

Any existing residential structure that is damaged to the extent that the cost of restoration exceeds 50 percent of the replacement cost of the structure may be rebuilt as long as the structure does not exceed the existing building's original footprint. (Ord. 1625 § 1; Ord. 1705 § 2)

Section 39.05.043 West Villard Overlay District – Affected Properties

The use of the West Villard Overlay District shall be restricted to properties located on the West Villard Overlay District map maintained by the Zoning Administrator. (Ord. 1705 § 3)

Section 39.05.044 West Villard Overlay District – Permitted Uses

Uses permitted in single-family residential structures on commercially zoned properties within the West Villard Overlay District shall be limited to either residential uses and/or the following non-residential uses:

- Office uses;
- Civic uses, including, but not limited to, studios and galleries;
- Personal services:
- Limited food sales, including, but not limited to, coffee shops, small delis, bakery shops);
- General Restaurants;
- Personal improvement services;
- Consumer services:
- Limited retail services;
- Pet services:
- Business support services; and
- Accessory dwelling units

The sale and/or serving of alcohol and/or the sale of tobacco and vaping products within the West Villard Overlay District is limited to establishments with direct access to Villard Street West. (Ord. 1705 § 4)

Section 39.05.050 Downtown Overlay District – Purpose

The purpose of the Downtown Overlay District is to allow existing single-family detached residential dwelling units in commercial districts within a designated overlay district and to allow the conversion of existing single-family structures into nonresidential uses that support existing single-family uses and encourage a walkable downtown with niche retail uses. This purpose is consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan and promotes the City's Renaissance Zone

<u>Section 39.05.051</u> <u>Downtown Overlay District – Boundaries</u>

The Downtown Overlay District boundary shall be generally comprised of all commercial zoned properties located two blocks north of Villard Street between 4th Avenue East and 1st Avenue East, three blocks north of Villard Street between 2nd Avenue East and 3rd Avenue West; and two blocks north of Villard Street between 3rd Avenue West and 5th Avenue West. (Ord. No. 1628 § 1; Ord. No. 1700 § 1.)

Section 39.05.052 Downtown Overlay District – Application

All detached single-family residential dwelling units in commercially zoned districts within the Downtown Overlay District existing on the effective date of this Ordinance shall be considered to be lawfully conforming permitted uses. No additional single-family residential dwelling units shall be permitted, unless established prior to the effective date of this Ordinance. (Ord. No. 1628 § 1.)

Section 39.05.053 Downtown Overlay District – Affected Properties

The use of the Dickinson Downtown Overlay District shall be restricted to properties located on the Downtown Overlay District map maintained by the Zoning Administrator. (Ord. No. 1628 § 1.)

Section 39.05.054 Downtown Overlay District – Permitted Uses

Uses permitted in single-family residential structures within the Downtown Dickinson Overlay District shall be limited to either single-family residential and/or the following non-residential uses:

- Office uses:
- Civic uses;
- Personal services;
- Restaurants,
- Cocktail lounges;
- Consumer services;
- Limited retail services;
- Pet services:
- Business support services; and
- Accessory dwelling units. (Ord. No. 1628 § 1.)

Section 39.05.055 West Villard Overly District – Development Standards for Residential Structures in Commercial Zoning Districts

It is the intent of the overlay district to allow for the continued use of residential structures on commercially zoned properties. Development standards for residential uses on commercially zoned properties shall be those of the R-3 residential zoning district.

- a. Development standards of the R-3 residential zoning district shall apply. Maximum height shall be restricted to 35 feet.
- b. Existing single-family uses shall meet the minimum residential parking requirement of two (2) off street parking spaces per residence as found in Article 39.09 of this Code.
- c. If a single-family structure in a commercial district within the Overlay District is converted into a commercial use the parking requirements shall be those of the underlying zoning district.
- d. Single-family dwelling units on commercially zoned properties that have been converted to non-residential uses shall conform to all applicable building code and ADA requirements.
- e. The maximum square feet of non-residential uses permitted in a converted single-family structure in a commercial district shall be limited to the existing footprint of the residence.
- f. The appearance of the building/dwelling unit shall be clearly residential in nature. No commercial display windows or storefront type of building shall be permitted. No outside display, storage, or use of land is permitted.
- g. If the single-family structure in a commercial district is converted entirely into a nonresidential use a portion of the building may be used as a residence as long as it complies with the accessory dwelling unit requirements in Article 39.06 of this Code,
- h. Specific Standards for Non-Residential Uses in Single-Family Structures
 - i. No activities associated with the operations of a business, other than grounds maintenance, shall be permitted in required yards adjacent to residential uses.
 - ii. Outside lighting shall be restricted to motion-activated security lighting that meets the City's lighting requirements.
 - iii. Dumpsters shall be fully enclosed.
 - iv. Signage shall be as provided in this Code with the following exceptions:
 - Pole signs and pylon signs shall be prohibited. Ground signs shall be limited to one monument sign with a total square footage of 32 square feet of aggregate sign area and not exceeding eight (8) feet on height.
 - o Pennants and banners shall be prohibited.
 - Only one wall sign with a total square footage of eight (8) square feet of aggregate sign area shall be permitted on the

front façade of the building. The color and material of the wall sign shall match the exterior of the building.

(Ord. No. 1628 § 1; Ord. No. 1700 § 2; Ord. No. 1705 § 5)

Section 39.05.056 Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport Overlay District.

The purpose of the overlay district is to provide additional safety and protection to the users of the Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport and to the people who live and work in its vicinity.

The overlay district provisions apply to any base zoning district set forth in this chapter that exists within the defined overlay area. Uses shall be subject to the provisions of this section and shall be further subject to requirements of the applicable base zoning district.

This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the authority conferred by North Dakota Century Code Chapter 2-04. Every political subdivision having an airport hazard area within its territorial limits may adopt, administer, and enforce, under the police power and in the manner and upon the conditions hereinafter prescribed, airport zoning regulations for such airport hazard area, which regulations may divide such area into zones, and, within such zones, specify the land uses permitted and regulate and restrict the height to which structures and trees may be erected or allowed to grow. Accordingly, it is declared:

That the creation or establishment of an obstruction has the potential of being a public nuisance and may injure the region served by the Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport;

That it is necessary and in the best interest of the public health, safety, and general welfare of the City of Dickinson that the creation or establishment of obstructions that are a hazard to air navigation be prevented; and

That the prevention of these obstructions and incompatible land uses should be accomplished, to the extent legally possible, by the exercise of the police power without compensation. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.001 Definitions.

As used in this Ordinance, unless the context otherwise requires:

AIRPORT - Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport.

AIRPORT ELEVATION - The highest point of Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport's usable landing area measured in feet from sea level. Note: The airport elevation for Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport is the elevation of the Runway 25 end (2,592.2' feet above mean sea level).

AIRPORT IMAGINARY SURFACES - Those imaginary areas in space which are defined by the Approach Surface, Transitional Surface, Horizontal Surface, and Conical Surface and in which any object extending above these imaginary surfaces is an obstruction.

APPROACH SURFACE - A surface longitudinally centered on the extended runway centerline and extending outward and upward from each end of the Primary Surface.

<u>CONICAL SURFACE</u> - A surface extending 20 feet outward for each one foot upward (20:1) for 4,000 feet beginning at the edge of the horizontal surface.

<u>HAZARD TO AIR NAVIGATION</u> - An obstruction determined to have a substantial adverse effect on the safe and efficient utilization of the navigable airspace.

<u>HEIGHT</u> - For the purpose of determining the height limits in all zones set forth in this Ordinance and shown on the attached EXHIBIT A: DICKINSON THEODORE

ROOSEVELT REGIONAL AIRPORT HEIGHT RESTRICTION MAP, the datum shall be mean sea level elevation unless otherwise specified.

<u>HORIZONTAL SURFACE</u> - A horizontal plane 150 feet above the established airport elevation, the perimeter of which is constructed by swinging arcs of 5,000 feet from the center of each end of Runway 7-25 and swinging arcs of 10,000 feet from the center of each end of Runway 14-32 and connecting the adjacent arcs by lines tangent to those arcs.

<u>NONCONFORMING USE</u> - Any pre-existing structure, object of natural growth, or use of land which is inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance or an amendment thereto.

<u>OBSTRUCTION</u> - Any structure, growth, or other object, including a mobile object, which exceeds a limiting height of this Ordinance.

<u>PERSON</u> - An individual, firm, partnership, corporation, company, association, joint stock association, or governmental entity; includes a trustee, a receiver, an assignee, or a similar representative of any of them.

<u>PLACE OF PUBLIC ASSEMBLY</u> - Structure or place which the public may enter for such purposes as deliberation, education, worship, shopping, entertainment, amusement, or similar activity.

<u>PRIMARY SURFACE</u> - A surface longitudinally centered on a runway that extends 200 feet beyond each end of that runway. The width of the Primary Surface is 500 feet for Runway 7-25 and 1,000 feet for Runway 14-32.

<u>RUNWAY</u> - A defined area on an airport prepared for landing and takeoff of aircraft along its length.

RUNWAY 14-32 – An 8,900-foot runway with the following runway end descriptions:

Runway 14: Lat. N 46°48'53.894" Long. W 102°48'57.899" Elev. 2,590.9'

Runway 32: Lat. N 46°47'37.514" Long. W 102°47'54.682" Elev. 2,582.3'

RUNWAY 7-25 – A 4,699-foot runway with the following runway end descriptions:

Runway 7: Lat. N 46°47'46.487" Long. W 102°48'41.996" Elev. 2,571.7'

Runway 25: Lat. N 46°47'54.755" Long. W 102°47'35.537" Elev. 2,592.2'

<u>RUNWAY PROTECTION ZONE (RPZ)</u> - An area off the runway end used to enhance the protection of people and property on the ground. The RPZ is trapezoidal in shape and centered about the extended runway centerline. It begins 200 feet beyond the end of the area usable for takeoff or landing. The RPZ dimensions are functions of the type of aircraft and operations to be conducted on the runway.

<u>STRUCTURE</u> - An object, including a mobile object, constructed or installed by man, including but without limitation, buildings, towers, cranes, smokestacks, earth formation, and overhead transmission lines.

TRANSITIONAL SURFACES - These surfaces extend seven feet outward for each one foot upward (7:1) beginning on each side of the Primary Surface and extend upward to a height of 150 feet above the airport elevation to where they intersect the horizontal and conical surfaces. Transitional surfaces for those portions of the precision approach surfaces, which project through and beyond the limits of the conical surface, extend a distance of 5,000 feet measured horizontally from the edge of the approach surface and at 90 degree angles to the extended runway centerline.

TREE - Any object of natural growth.

<u>UTILITY RUNWAY</u> - A runway that is constructed for and intended to be used by propeller driven aircraft of 12,500 pounds maximum gross weight and less.

<u>VISUAL RUNWAY</u> - A runway intended solely for the operation of aircraft using visual approach procedures. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.002 Airport Height Restrictions Zones.

Except as otherwise provided in this Ordinance, no structure shall be erected, altered, or maintained, and no tree shall be allowed to grow in any zone created by this Ordinance to a height in excess of the applicable height limit herein established for such zone. The height restriction zones described below are shown on the attached EXHIBIT A: DICKINSON THEODORE ROOSEVELT REGIONAL AIRPORT HEIGHT RESTRICTION MAP, consisting of one (1) sheet, which is attached to this Ordinance and made a part hereof. The applicable height restrictions are hereby established for each of the zones in question as follows:

Utility Runway Approach Zone (Applicable to Runway 7-25): The inner edge of this approach zone coincides with the width of the primary surface and is 500 feet wide. The approach zone expands outward uniformly to a width of 2,000 feet at a horizontal distance 5,000 feet from the primary surface. It's centerline is the continuation of the centerline of the runway. The approach zone slopes twenty (20) feet outward for each foot upward beginning at the end of and at the same elevation as the primary surface and extending to a horizontal distance of 5,000 feet along the extended runway centerline.

Precision Instrument Runway Approach Zone (Applicable to Runway 14-32): The inner edge of this approach zone coincides with the width of the primary surface and is 1,000 feet wide. The approach zone expands outward uniformly to a width of 16,000 feet at a horizontal distance of 50,000 feet from the primary surface. Its centerline is the continuation of the centerline of the runway. The Precision Instrument Approach Zone slopes fifty feet outward for each foot upward beginning at the end of and at the same elevation as the primary surface and extending to a horizontal distance of 10,000 feet along the extended runway centerline; thence slopes upward forty feet horizontally for each foot vertically to an additional horizontal distance of 40,000 feet along the extended runway centerline.

Transitional Zones – For both runways, transitional zones slope seven (7) feet outward for each foot upward beginning at the sides of and at the same elevation as the primary surface and the approach surface, and extending to a height of 150 feet above the airport elevation (2,744.8 feet above mean sea level). In addition, for Runway 14-32 there are established height limits sloping seven feet outward for each foot upward beginning at the sides of and at the same

elevation as the approach surface, and extending a horizontal distance of 5,000 feet measured at 90 degree angles to the extended runway centerline.

Horizontal Zone - The horizontal zone is established for visual approach airports by swinging arcs of 5,000 feet radii from the center of each end of the primary surface of each runway and connecting the adjacent arcs by drawing lines tangent to those arcs. The horizontal zone is at 150 feet above airport elevation and does not include the approach and transitional zones.

Conical Zone - Slopes 20 feet outward for each foot upward beginning at the periphery of the horizontal zone and at 150 feet above the airport elevation and extending outward to a distance of 4,000 feet and to a height of 350 feet above the airport elevation. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.003 Airport Land Use Zones.

In order to carry out the provisions of this Ordinance, there are hereby created and established certain land use zones surrounding the airport. The various zones and their restrictions are hereby established and defined as follows and depicted on the attached EXHIBIT B: DICKINSON THEODORE ROOSEVELT REGIONAL AIRPORT LAND USE MAP, consisting of one (1) sheet, which is attached to this Ordinance and made a part hereof. An area located in more than one (1) of the following zones is considered to be only in the zone with the most restrictive limitations. Zone restrictions do not apply to Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport property.

A. Airport Land Use Zone Descriptions

- 1. Zone 1 Runway Protection Zone
 - i.<u>Runway 14:</u> 1,750 feet wide and 6,700 feet long, beginning and centered on a point 200' beyond the center of the existing Runway 14 end.
 - ii. Runway 32: 500 feet (start width) x 700 feet (end width) x 1,000 feet (length) trapezoid beginning 200' beyond the runway end.
 - iii. Runway 7 & 25: 500 feet (start width) x 700 feet (end width) x 1,000 feet (length) trapezoid beginning 200 feet beyond the runway ends.
- 2. Zone 2 Inner Approach/Departure Zone
 - i. Runway 14 & 32: 1,500 feet wide x 6,000 feet long, beginning and centered on the end of the runway.
 - ii.Runway 7 & 25: 1,500 feet wide x 4,000 feet long, beginning and centered on the end of the runway.
- 3. Zone 3 Inner Turning Zone
 - i. The outer boundary of the Inner Turning Zone is constructed by arcs of a 3,500-foot radius from runway ends and connecting the adjacent arcs. The Inner Turning Zone for each runway end is described in the following sections.
 - ii. Runway 14: Begins at a point on the runway centerline located 3,100 feet prior to the Runway 14 end, then extending outward 30 degrees on either side of the centerline until intersecting the outer boundary described above.
 - iii. Runway 32, 7 & 25: Begins at points on the runway centerlines located 1,500 feet prior to the runway end, then extending outward 30 degrees on either side of the centerline until intersecting the outer boundary described above.
- 4. Zone 4 Outer Approach/Departure Zone
 - i.Runway 14 & 32: 1,000 feet wide x 4,000 feet long, beginning and centered on

- the end of Zone 2.
- ii.Runway 7 & 25: 1,000 feet wide x 3,000 feet long, beginning and centered on the end of Zone 2.
- 5. Zone 5a Inner Traffic Pattern Zone
 - i. All Runways: The perimeter of this zone is constructed by arcs of a 3,500-foot radius from runway ends and connecting the adjacent arcs.
- 6. Zone 5b Outer Traffic Pattern Zone
 - i.Runway 14 & 32: The perimeter of this zone is constructed by swinging arcs of a 6,000-foot radius from a point on the extended runway centerline 4,000 feet from the runway ends and connecting the adjacent arcs by lines tangent to those arcs.

 Runway 7 & 25: The perimeter of this zone is constructed by swinging arcs of a 6,000-foot radius from a point on the extended runway centerline 1,000 feet from the runway ends and connecting the adjacent arcs by lines tangent to those arcs.

B. <u>Airport Land Use Zone Regulations</u>

A list of permitted (P) and permitted by special permit (S) uses for the five airport land use zones are provided below. Blank space indicates uses are not permitted.

	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5	A5	Add'l
Use Types	AI	AZ	AS	A4	a	b	Reg.
Agricultural Uses							
Horticulture		P	P	P	P	P	
Crop Production	P	P	P	P	P	P	
Type I Animal Production		S	S	S	S	S	
Type II Animal Production						S	
Type III Animal Production						S	
Livestock Sales						S	
Residential Uses							
Single-Family Detached		S	P	P	P	P	
Single-Family Attached		S	P	P	P	P	
Duplex			S	S	S	P	
Townhouse			S	S	S	P	
Multiple Family			S	S	S	P	
Downtown Residential							
Mobile Home Park							

	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5	A5	Add'l
Use Types	AI	AZ	A3	A4	a	b	Reg.
Mobile Home Subdivision							
Manufactured Housing Residential			S	S	S	P	
Retirement Residential						S	
Home Occupations		S	S	S	S	S	
Accessory Structure		S	P	P	Р	P	
Civic Uses							
Cemetery			P	P	P	P	
Clubs				P	P	P	
College/ University							
Convalescent Services							
Cultural Services					S	S	
Day Care (Family)					S	P	
Day Care (Group)							
Detention Facilities							
Emergency Residential			S	S	S	P	
Golf Courses (Public)						S	
Government Offices			S	P	P	P	
Group Care Facility							
Group Home							
Guidance Services							
Hospitals						S	
Health Care						S	
Libraries (Public)							
Maintenance Facilities			P	P	P	P	
Park and Recreation			P	P	P	P	
Postal Facilities			S	P	P	P	

	A 1	4.2	4.2	A 4	A5	A5	Add'l
Use Types	A1	A2	A3	A4	a	b	Reg.
Primary Education							
Public Assembly			S	S	S	S	
Religious Assembly					S	S	
Safety Services			S	P	P	P	
Secondary Education							
Sports Facilities, Field, and Arenas (Public)				S	S	S	
Utilities	S	Р	Р	Р	Р	P	
Office Uses							
General Offices				S	P	P	
Financial Services				S	P	P	
Medical Offices					S	S	
Commercial Uses							
Ag Sales/Services			S	P	P	P	
Auto Rental/Sales			S	P	P	P	
Auto Services			S	P	P	P	
Body Repair			S	P	P	P	
Equipment Rental/Sales			S	P	P	P	
Equipment Repair			S	P	P	P	
Veh. Storage (Short-Term)			P	P	P	P	
Bed and Breakfast					S	S	
Business Support Services				P	P	P	
Business/Trade School					S	S	
Campground				S	S	S	
Cocktail Lounge				P	P	P	
Commercial Recreation (Indoor)				S	S	S	

	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5	A5	Add'l
Use Types	AI	A2	AS	A4	a	b	Reg.
Commercial Recreation (Outdoor)				S	S	S	
Communication Service				S	S	S	
Construction Sale/Service				P	P	P	
Consumer Service				P	P	P	
Convenience Storage		S	S	S	P	P	
Crematorium				P	P	P	
Food Sales (Convenience)				P	P	P	
Food Sales (Limited)				P	P	P	
Food Sales (General)				P	P	P	
Funeral Service				P	P	P	
Limited Retail Services				P	P	P	
Gaming Facility				S	S	S	
General Retail Services				P	P	P	
Kennels				S	S	S	
Laundry Services				P	P	P	
Liquor Sales				P	P	P	
Lodging					S	S	
Personal Improvement				P	P	P	
Personal Services				P	P	P	
Pet Services				P	P	P	
Research Services				S	S	S	
Residential-Commercial				S	S	S	
Restaurants (Drive-In)				P	P	P	
Restaurants (General)				P	P	P	
Restricted Business							
Stables			S	P	P	P	
Surplus Sales				P	P	p	

	A 1	4.2	A3	A 4	A5	A5	Add'l
Use Types	A1	A2	A3	A4	a	b	Reg.
Trade Services				P	P	P	
Vehicle Storage			P	P	P	P	
Veterinary Services				S	S	S	
Parking Uses							
Off-Street Parking			P	P	P	P	
Parking Structure			Р	P	Р	Р	
Industrial Uses							
			C	D	D	D	
Custom Manufacturing			S	P	P	P	
Light Industry			P	P	P	P	
General Industry				P	P	P	
Heavy Industry				S	S	S	
Oil Wells	S	S	S	S	S	S	
Resource Extraction	S	S	S	S	S	S	
Salvage Services and Yards, Junk Yards				P	P	P	
Veh. Storage (Long-term)		P	P	P	P	P	
Warehousing (Open)		P	P	P	P	P	
Warehousing (Closed)		P	P	P	P	P	
Construction Yards			P	P	P	P	
Recycling Collection				P	P	P	
Recycling Processing				P	P	P	
Grain Elevators							
Petroleum Storage/Sales							
Stockyards							
Toxic Gaseous Storage							
Dairy Plant							

TI The same	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5	A5	Add'l
Use Types	711	112	113	7.4	a	b	Reg.
Transportation Uses							
Railroad Facilities							
Truck Terminal							
Transportation Terminal							
Miscellaneous Uses							
Communications Tower			S	S	S	S	
Amateur Radio Tower			S	S	S	S	
Construction Batch Plant			S	P	P	P	
WECS							
Landfill (Inert)			S	S	S	S	
Landfill (Municipal, Industrial or Special Waste)							
Alternative Energy Production Devices			S	S	S	S	
Motorized Sports			S	S	S	S	

*Note: Provisions of Sections 39.06.008 through 39.06.009 apply to all use types

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Ordinance, no use may be made of land or water within any zone established by this Ordinance in such a manner as to create electrical interference with navigational signals or radio communication between the airport and aircraft make it difficult for pilots to distinguish between airport lights and others, result in glare in the eyes of pilots using the airport, impair visibility in the vicinity of the airport, create bird strike hazards, or otherwise in any way endanger or interfere with the landing, takeoff, or maneuvering of aircraft intending to use the airport. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.004 Nonconforming Uses.

1. Regulations Not Retroactive - The regulations prescribed by this Ordinance shall not be construed to require the removal, lowering, or other change or alteration of any structure or tree not conforming to the regulations as of the effective date of this Ordinance, or otherwise interfere with the continuance of nonconforming use. Nothing contained herein shall require any change in the construction, alteration, or intended use of any structure, the construction or alteration of which as begun prior to the effective date of this Ordinance, and is diligently prosecuted.

2. <u>Marking and Lighting</u> - Notwithstanding the preceding provision of this Section, the owner of any existing nonconforming structure or tree is hereby required to permit the installation, operation, and maintenance thereon of such markers and lights as shall be deemed necessary to indicate to the operators of aircraft in the vicinity of the airport the presence of such airport obstruction. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.005 Notification of Proposed Construction or Alteration.

Federal Regulation Title 14 Part 77 establishes standards and notification requirements for objects affecting navigable airspace. Notification allows the FAA to identify potential aeronautical hazards in advance thus preventing or minimizing the adverse impacts to the safe and efficient use of navigable airspace. Any person/organization who intends to sponsor any of the following construction or alterations must notify the Administrator of the FAA:

- 1. Any construction or alteration exceeding 200 feet above ground level.
- 2. Any construction or alteration within 20,000 feet of a public use or military airport which exceeds a 100:1 surface from any point on the runway of each airport with at least one runway more than 3,200 ft.

Persons failing to comply with the provisions of FAR Part 77 are subject to Civil Penalty under Section 902 of the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amended and pursuant to 49 U.S.C. Section 46301(a).

Enforcement of Federal Regulation Title 14 Part 77 does not rest with the City of Dickinson; this section serves as a reminder to persons proposing construction or alterations near Dickinson Theodore Roosevelt Regional Airport of their potential responsibility to notify the FAA.

3. A sponsor planning on constructing any objects that are within the outlined above criteria is expected to follow the federal requirements. At the time of the adoption of this ordinance, the process required submitting a 7460 Form (NOTICE OF PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OR ALTERATION) with the Federal Aviation Administration. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.006 Administration and Enforcement.

Administration and Enforcement of this Overlay District will be performed in accordance with Chapter 39 of the Dickinson Municipal Code, with the additional requirement that the Dickinson Municipal Airport Authority shall be consulted regarding the granting of special use permits or variance requests related to this Airport Overlay District. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.007 Conflicting Regulations.

Where there exists a conflict between any of the regulations or limitations prescribed in this Ordinance and any other regulations applicable to the same area, whether the conflict is with respect to the height of structures or trees, and the use of land, or any other matter, the more stringent limitation or requirement shall govern and prevail. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.056.008 Severability.

If any of the provisions of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances are held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the Ordinance which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end, the provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be severable. (Ord. No. 1648 § 1.)

Section 39.05.057 UMO – Underground Mining Overlay District

The purpose of the Underground Mining Overlay District is to protect proposed development from potential subsidence from known abandoned coal mines. This district applies to all forms of development, including roads, utilities, and any structures. All work in connection with development, including grading, paving, and other necessary activities is subject to this section. (Ord. No. 1720 § 1.)

Section 39.05.057.001 – Location

Areas with abandoned coal mines have been documented by the North Dakota Public Service Commission Abandoned Mine Lands Division (AML). The overlay district corresponds to those areas within the City's zoning jurisdiction that have been documented by the AML and as identified in the City's Comprehensive Plan. (Ord. No. 1720 § 2.)

Section 39.05.057.002 Affected Properties

The use of the Underground Mining Overlay District shall be restricted to properties located on the Underground Overlay District map maintained by the Planning and Zoning Director. (Ord. No. 1720 § 3.)

Section 39.05.057.003 Permitted Uses

The overlay district provisions apply to any base zoning district set forth in this chapter that exists within the defined overlay area. Permitted uses shall be subject to the provisions of this section and shall be further subject to requirements of the applicable base zoning district.

Unless the developer can demonstrate that no subsidence hazards are present onsite as outlined in Section 39.05.057.004, the construction, alteration and/or enlargement of non-agricultural structures over an abandoned mine shall be prohibited. Otherwise, within the overlay district land may be used and structures may be erected, altered or enlarged for any use that is allowed in the underlying zoning district, in accordance with the site development standards of the underlying zoning district and all other applicable requirements. (Ord. No. 1720 § 4.)

Section 39.05.057.004 Additional Development Requirements

To demonstrate that no subsidence hazards are present onsite, the following shall be performed by the applicant:

- a. Coordinate with AML for documentation regarding whether or not undermining hazards exist at the proposed development site. Evidence of coordination with AML shall be submitted with any building permit application.
- b. If no documentation exists on record with AML, the applicant shall utilize an engineering or drilling firm to conduct a site evaluation. The engineering or drilling firm shall provide evidence in writing that they have coordinated with AML to account for known subsidence activity at the proposed site. A copy of the site evaluation results shall be submitted with any building permit application.
- c. If it has already been documented by the AML and/or the City that subsidence has occurred at the proposed site, no permit shall be issued until the applicant has submitted evidence the site is reasonably safe for construction. (Ord. No. 1720 § 5.)

Section 39.05.057.005 Warning And Disclosure

All development decisions made as a result of this section are the responsibility of the property owner. The City of Dickinson shall not assume the risk of injury to persons or damage to persons or property resulting from work performed as advised in this section. Pursuant to N.D.C.C. 32-12.1-03(3)(f)(1), the City of Dickinson may not be held liable for any claim relating to injury directly or indirectly caused by the performance or nonperformance of a public duty, including inspecting, licensing, approving, mitigating, warning, abating, or failing to so act regarding compliance with or the violation of any law, rule, regulation, or any condition affecting health or safety. (Ord. No. 1720 §6.)

Article 39.06 Supplemental Use Regulations

Sections:	
39.06.001	Purpose
39.06.002	Supplemental Use Regulations: Agricultural Uses
39.06.003	Supplemental Use Regulations: Residential Use
39.06.004	Supplemental Use Regulations: Civic Uses
39.06.005	Supplemental Use Regulations: Commercial Use
39.06.006	Supplemental Use Regulations: Industrial Uses
39.06.007	Performance Standards for Industrial Uses
39.06.008	Supplemental Use Regulations: Accessory Uses
39.06.009	Supplemental Use Regulations: Outdoor Storage outside of the GI Zoning
	District
39.06.010	Accessory Dwelling Units
39.06.011	Subdivision Plat
39.06.012	Supplemental Use Regulations: Miscellaneous Uses Communication Towers

Section 39.06.001 Purpose

The Supplemental Use Regulations set forth additional standards for certain uses located within the various zoning districts. These regulations recognize that certain use types have characteristics that require additional controls in order to protect public health, safety, and welfare. These regulations complement the use regulations contained in Article Four of this Ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.06.002 Supplemental Use Regulations: Agricultural Uses

Nothing in these provisions shall relieve any property owner or user from satisfying any condition or requirement associated with a previous approval, special permit, variance, development permit, or other permit issued under any local, State, or Federal ordinance or statute.

A. <u>Horticulture and Crop Production: Retail Sales</u>

Retail operation of garden centers or roadside stands associated with a primary agricultural use may be permitted in the AG District, subject to the following requirements:

1. Garden Centers

- (a) A garden center is a building or premises used for the retail sale of plant materials or items useful in the growing or display of lawns, gardens, and plants.
- (b) Garden centers must conform to all site development regulations for the zoning district.
- (c) Any garden center adjacent to a residential district must maintain a 20-foot landscaped bufferyard, consistent with the standards established in Article 39.08 of this ordinance.

2. Roadside Stands

(a) A roadside stand is a facility used on a temporary or seasonal basis for the retail sale of produce grown largely on adjacent or surrounding agricultural lands.

- (b) A roadside stand may be located within a required front yard but no closer than 40 feet to the edge of a traveled roadway.
- (c) A roadside stand may operate for a maximum of 180 days in any one year.

B. Incidental Animal Production in the RR District

- 1. Breeding and raising of small animals and fowl, such as birds, rabbits, chinchilla, and hamsters is permitted in the RR District, provided that any building housing such animals shall be at least 50 feet from any property line and 25 feet from any dwelling unit on the site.
- 2. Within the RR District, any lot of 1 acre and over may maintain one horse or llama and its immature offspring. Such a lot may have one additional animal for each additional two acres of lot area, up to a maximum total of three animals. No stable shall be located closer than 50 feet to any dwelling unit on the site.

C. Type I and Type II Animal Production

1. Location

- (a) Any new Type I or Type II Animal Production use established within the two mile Extraterritorial Jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson shall be subject to approval of a Special Use Permit, as set forth in Section 39.12.003.
- (b) No confinement area for the feeding or holding of livestock or poultry shall be located within 1,000 feet of the property lines of the parcel on which it is located; or within 1,000 feet of an existing residential structure other than that of the owner or operator of the facility.

2. Operation

- (a) Livestock wastes within a confinement area shall be removed or disposed of by spraying or spreading on land promptly followed by disking or plowing; grinding or dehydrating in properly designed dehydrators; or stockpiling in a compost plant located at least one mile from a residential zoning district.
- (b) Insect and rodent control measures must be instituted for confined areas by removal or disposal of manure; or by other accepted insect or rodent control measures.

Drainage

- (a) All ground surfaces within confinement areas shall be graded and compacted to insure proper drainage.
- (b) All ground surfaces within confinement areas shall be controlled so that no appreciable amount of soil and livestock waste is carried into any roadway ditch, drainage area, or other low-lying area.

4. Pollution Control

A confined area shall not produce a measurable increase in pollution in any public water-based recreational facility, public water supply, or in any waterway that is part of a public or private water supply and shall obtain proper State Health Department permits.

D. Type III Animal Production

- 1. No new Type III Animal Production use shall be established within the Extra-territorial Jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson.
- 2. No expansion of any existing Type III Animal Production use within the planning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson shall be permitted.

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. 1229 § 1. Ord. 1610 § 3)

Section 39.06.003 Supplemental Use Regulations: Residential

<u>Use</u>

Zero-Lot Line Single-Family Detached Residential

Within a common development, one interior side yard may be equal to zero for single-family detached residential use, subject to the following regulations:

- 1. The side yard opposite to the zero yard must equal at least twice the normal required side yard. In all cases, a minimum required separation of twelve feet for principal buildings and six feet for accessory buildings shall be maintained.
- 2. The normal side yard setback requirement must be maintained adjacent to any lot with an existing structure not within the common development; or not otherwise designated for zero lot line use.
- 3. An easement for maintenance of the zero lot line facade is filed with the Stark County Register of Deeds and the Zoning Administrator at the time of application for a building permit.

Single-Family Attached

When permitted, single-family attached residential shall be subject to the following regulations:

- 1. The site area per unit must be a minimum of 4,000 square feet in all districts where permitted;
- 2. The minimum width for any single-family attached unit sold individually shall be 45 feet.

Townhouse Residential

Where permitted, townhouse residential is subject to the following regulations:

- 1. The site area per unit must be 3,000 square feet in all districts where permitted.
- 2. The minimum width for any townhouse lot sold individually shall be 25 feet, except within an approved creative subdivision.
- 3. Coverage percentages are computed for the site of the entire townhouse common development.

Residential and Group Residential in LC, CC, DC and GC Districts

The City Commission, with the recommendation of the Planning Commission, may allow a unit specifically designed for occupancy by disabled residents at street level, subject to approval of a Special Permit.

Mobile Home Parks in the MH District

In the MH Mobile Home Residential District, which permits major mobile home residential use, such use may be configured in a Mobile Home Park or Mobile Home Subdivision. Following the effective date of this Ordinance, no mobile home shall be located

outside of a Mobile Home Park or Mobile Home Subdivision. A Mobile Home Park is subject to approval of a Special Use Permit and compliance with the following regulations:

- Minimum and Maximum Area

A Mobile Home Park shall be considered to be one zoned lot. The contiguous area of a Mobile Home Park shall provide for a minimum of 2.5 acres.

- Density Requirements
 - (a) The minimum gross site area per dwelling unit shall be 7,000 square feet.
 - (b) Each mobile home space shall have a width of at least 40 feet wide and a length of at least 75 feet.
- Site Development Standards
 - (a) Setbacks: Each Mobile Home Park shall have a minimum perimeter setback of 35 feet from all exterior lot or property lines. No space for a dwelling unit or any other structure shall be permitted in the required setback.
 - (b) Setback landscaping: All area contained within the required setbacks except sidewalks and private drives shall be landscaped and screened in conformance with Section 8 of this Ordinance. Screening shall be provided in conformance with Section 8 for any common property line with another non-residential use.
 - (c) Impervious Coverage: Impervious coverage for a Mobile Home Park shall not exceed 50 percent of the total site area.
 - (d) Open Space: Each Mobile Home Park shall provide a minimum of 400 square feet of open recreational space per unit. Such space shall be provided at a central location accessible from all parts of the park by pedestrians. Required perimeter setbacks or buffers shall not be credited toward the fulfillment of this requirement.
 - (e) Separation Between Mobile Home Units: The minimum separation between a mobile home unit and/or attached accessory structure and any other mobile home units and/or accessory structure shall be 15 feet in all directions.
 - (f) Separation and Setbacks for Accessory Buildings: An accessory building on a mobile home space shall maintain a minimum rear and side yard setback of five feet. A minimum distance of six feet shall be provided between any mobile home and an unattached accessory building.
- Street Access and Circulation Requirements
 - (a) Access to Public Street: Each Mobile Home Park must abut and have access to a dedicated public street with a right-of-way of at least 60 feet.
 - (b) Vehicular Circulation: The Mobile Home Park must provide interior vehicular circulation on a private internal street system. Minimum interior street width between edges of pavement shall be 25 feet. The street system shall be continuous and connected with other internal and public streets; or shall have a cul-de-sac with a minimum diameter of 90 feet. No such cul-de-sacs may exceed 300 feet in length.
 - (c) Separation between Units and Circulation Areas: The minimum distance between a mobile home unit together with any attached accessory structure and the pavement of an internal street or parking area shall be 20 feet.
 - (d) Sidewalks: Each Mobile Home Park shall provide a sidewalk system to connect each mobile home space to common buildings or community facilities

- constructed for the use of its residents; and to the fronting public right of way. Sidewalk width shall be at least 4.5 feet.
- (e) Street and Sidewalk Standards: All internal streets and sidewalks shall be hard-surfaced. Electric street lighting is required along all internal streets.
- (f) Parking Requirements: Each Mobile Home Park must provide at least two off-street parking stalls for each mobile home space.
- (g) Tornado Shelters: Underground tornado shelters shall be provided in the Mobile Home Park. Such shelter or shelters shall be built according to the recommendations of the Civil Defense authority and be large enough to meet the specific needs of the park and it residents.

Utilities

- (a) All Mobile Home Parks shall provide individual units and common facilities with an adequate, piped supply of hot and cold water for both drinking and domestic purposes; and standard electrical service, providing at least one 120-volt and one 240-volt electrical service outlet to each mobile home space.
- (b) Complete sanitary and sewer service shall be provided within each Mobile Home Park in accordance with the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development Ordinance.
- (c) Properly spaced and operating fire hydrants shall be provided for proper fire protection within each Mobile Home Park in accordance with the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development Ordinance.
- (d) All electric, telephone, gas and other utility lines shall be installed underground.
- (e) All water, sewer, electric light systems, streets, and sidewalks shall be private facilities within a Mobile Home Park.
- Financial Responsibility: Each application for a Mobile Home Park shall include a demonstration by the developer of financial capability to complete the project; and a construction schedule.
- Completion Schedule: Construction must begin on any approved Mobile Home Park within one year of the date of approval by the Planning and Zoning Commission. Such construction shall be completed within two years of approval, unless otherwise extended by the Commission.

Mobile Home Subdivision in the MH District

- 1. Mobile Home Subdivisions shall be developed in accordance with all standards and requirements set forth in the Subdivision Chapter of the Land Development Ordinance of Dickinson. Site development regulations shall be the same as those required in the R-3 Zoning District. Each mobile home shall be considered a single-family detached residential unit for the purpose of determining applicable development regulations.
- 2. Mobile home units within Mobile Home Subdivisions shall be built in accordance with the minimum design standards of the US Department of Housing and Urban Development and display a certification of such compliance.
- 3. Mobile Home Subdivisions shall provide an emergency management plan as required under Section 21.40.050 (J) (3) of the Code.
- 4. Mobile home units shall be permitted and inspected by the City of Dickinson as a participating jurisdiction in accordance with the regulations promulgated by the North Dakota Department of Commerce. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. 1244 § 2, Ord. 1674 § 1)

Section 39.06.004 Supplemental Use Regulations: Civic Uses

Clubs

Clubs located adjacent to residential uses shall maintain a bufferyard of not less than twenty feet along the common boundary with such residential use.

Day Care

Day care facilities are permitted by Special Use permit in the GI General Industrial Zoning District only if incidental to a permitted primary use.

Group Care Facilities and Group Homes

- 1. Each group care facility or group home must be validly licensed by either the State of North Dakota or the appropriate governmental subdivision.
- 2. Group homes are permitted in the DC District only on levels above street level except that a facility specifically designed for occupancy by disabled residents may be developed at street level, subject to approval of a special permit by the City Commission with the recommendation of the Planning Commission.

Primary and Secondary Educational and Religious Assembly Facilities

- 1. Each facility shall have a minimum lot area of one acre.
- 2. Buildings and parking shall have a minimum set back of 20 feet from property lines.
- 3. Proposed facilities shall conform to all State and federal requirements. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.06.005 Supplemental Use Regulations: Commercial Use

a. Auto Repair, Equipment Repair, and Body Repair

- 1. Where permitted in commercial districts, all repair activities must take place within a completely enclosed building. Outdoor storage is permitted only where incidental to Auto Repair and Body Repair, provided that such storage is completely screened so as not to be visible from residential areas or public rights-of-way. Screening is subject to provisions of Article 39.08 of this ordinance.
- 2. Any spray painting must take place within structures designed for that purpose and approved by the Zoning Administrator.

b. <u>Auto Washing Facilities</u>

- 1. Each conveyor operated auto washing facility shall provide 100 feet of stacking capacity per washing lane on the approach side of the washing structure and a minimum stacking space of forty feet on the exit side.
- 2. Each self-service auto washing facility shall provide stacking space for three automobiles per bay on the approach side and one space per bay on the exit side of the building.

c. Automobile and Equipment Rental and Sales

- 1. All outdoor display areas for rental and sales facilities shall be an improved surface, including paving or crushed rock.
- 2. Body repair services are permitted as an accessory use to automobile rental and sales facilities.

d. <u>Bed and Breakfasts</u>

Bed and Breakfasts permitted in the DC District must provide any sleeping facility only on levels above street level except that units specifically designed and reserved for occupancy by handicapped people may be located on the street level.

e. <u>Campgrounds</u>

- 1. Minimum Size: Each campground established after the effective date of this title shall have a minimum size of one acre.
- 2. Setbacks: All campgrounds shall maintain a 50-foot front yard setback and a 25-foot bufferyard from all other property lines.
- 3. Each campground must maintain water supply, sewage disposal, and water and toilet facilities in compliance with all City ordinances; or, alternately, be limited to use by self-contained campers, providing their own on-board water and disposal systems.
- 4. Campgrounds shall not be permitted to be used for any of the purposes as provided for in Article 39.13. Any campground containing one or more lodging units or skid units ordinarily designed for human living quarters or a place of business, on a temporary or permanent basis, which are not real property, as defined in section 57-02-04, and are not mobile homes, as defined in section 57-55-01, shall be obligated to comply with Article 39.13 and obtain a crew housing special use permit, as provided therein.

f. <u>Convenience Storage</u>

When permitted in the AG, GC, and LI Districts, convenience storage facilities shall be subject to the following additional requirements:

- 1. The minimum size of a convenience storage facility shall be one acre.
- 2. Activities within the facility shall be limited to the rental of storage cubicles and the administration and maintenance of the facility.
- 3. All driveways within the facility shall provide a paved surface with a minimum width of 25 feet.
- 4. All storage must be within enclosed buildings and shall not include the storage of hazardous materials.
- 5. No storage buildings may open into required front yards.
- 6. Facilities must maintain landscaped buffer-yards of 35 feet adjacent to any public right-of-way and 20 feet from the adjacent property lines if the adjacent properties are of a less intensive zoning district and/or unless greater setbacks are required by Article 39.08.

g. Pet Day Care

When permitted by special use permit in the RR, R1, R2, and R3 Districts, or as a permitted use in other zoning jurisdictions as set forth in Table 4-2 of Section 39.04.005, Pet Day Cares shall be subject to the following additional requirements:

- 1. Buildings shall be of adequate structure and maintained in good repair so as to ensure protection of pets from injury and to prevent departure of pet from designated structure.
- 2. Shelter shall be provided to allow access to shade from direct sunlight and regress from exposure to rain or snow. Accommodations shall provide safe harbor when the atmospheric temperature is below 50° F or below that

- temperature to which the particular pets are acclimated. Indoor facilities shall be provided for all pets.
- 3. Indoor and outdoor facilities shall at all times be provided with ventilation by means of doors, windows, vents, air conditioning or direct flow of fresh air that is adequate to provide for the good health of the pets and the prevention of offensive odor, mold, or disease. Such ventilation shall be environmentally provided to minimize drafts, moisture condensation, odors or stagnant vapors of excreta.
- 4. Ample lighting shall be provided by natural or artificial means or both during sunrise to sunset hours to allow efficient cleaning of the facilities and routine inspection of the facilities and pets contained therein.
- 5. Ceilings, walls, floors, furniture, and play equipment shall be constructed to lend themselves to efficient cleaning and sanitizing. Such surfaces shall be kept in good repair and maintained so that they are substantially impervious to moisture. Floors and walls to a height of four feet shall have finished surfaces. Upholstered furniture or carpeting shall not be permitted in that portion of the facility to which pets have access.
- 6. Food supplies and bedding materials shall be stored to adequately protect them from contamination or infestation by vermin or other factors that would render the food or bedding contaminated or diseased, or otherwise attract vermin or other nuisance to the site. Separate storage facilities shall be maintained for cleaning and sanitizing equipment and supplies.
- 7. Washrooms, basins or sinks shall be provided within or be readily accessible to each facility for maintaining cleanliness among animal caretakers and sanitizing of food and water utensils.
- 8. Equipment shall be available for removal and disposal of all waste materials from the building to minimize vermin infestation, odors and disease hazards. Drainage systems shall be functional to achieve the above purposes.
- 9. Facilities shall be provided to isolate any pet that becomes sick or injured to prevent the spread of disease or illness.
- 10. Outdoor pet runs and exercise areas shall be of sound construction and kept in good repair so as to safely contain the pets therein without injury or risk of escape. Floors shall be concrete, gravel or materials which can be regularly cleaned and kept free of waste accumulation. Grass runs and exercise areas are permissible provided adequate ground cover is maintained, holes are kept filled, ground cover is watered sufficiently to dilute and clean the cover to avoid disease, solid waste is removed prior to watering, and the ground cover is not allowed to become overgrown.
- 11. Any portion of the premises where pets are permitted outdoors shall have a fence of the maximum height allowed by City code. Such fence shall be maintained in good condition so as to mitigate the visual and audial effects of the operation, and to properly contain any pets permitted in that area. The permit holder may not use an existing fence if it is owned by the adjacent property owner.

- 12. The proprietor shall maintain current vaccination records on each pet permitted at the facility to ensure public safety.
- 13. The proprietor shall obtain and maintain insurance specific to the risks associated with operating a pet day care, which shall include, but not be limited to, coverage protecting the general public in the event of animal bites and property damage caused by loose or escaped animals.
- 14. Group interaction is permitted for pets that are compatible with one another. Permit holder shall not permit play which creates a hazard to the public or a nuisance such as noise.
- 15. The play area for pets shall provide for a minimum of 75 square feet per pet, provided that the maximum number of pets allowed at any one facility shall be ten, including animals owned by the permit holder. The permit issued by the City shall be displayed prominently at the site, and shall contain the calculation of the Planning Department as to the authorized number of animals.
- 16. The permit holder shall appear annually before the Planning and Zoning Commission for renewal of the permit. The Planning Department may require an annual site inspection prior to renewal.
- 17. Any permit issued under this Section shall be non-transferrable as to the permit holder and/or the premises to be permitted. A permit holder may not relocate their operation using the same permit. A permit approved at a particular location may not be transferred to a new individual or business.
- 18. Complaints regarding dog bites, nuisance animals, or excess noise shall be investigated by the Police Department.
- 19. Complaints regarding any zoning violation or any other condition of the permit shall be investigated by the Planning Department.
- 20. In the event a complaint is made, regardless of which department investigates, the Planning Department may conduct a site visit to determine whether the permit holder is in compliance with the terms of the Permit. The Planning Director may require the permit holder to appear before the Planning and Zoning Commission to address the complaint.
- 21. In the event two complaints of any nature against the permit holder are substantiated and validated through a hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission, within a rolling twelve month period, the Planning & Zoning Commission shall revoke the special use permit. Upon revocation, the permit holder shall cease operations within thirty days, or appeal the decision to the City Commission. Failure to appeal within thirty days of the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall constitute forfeiture of all rights of appeal, and the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission shall become final. If the permit holder appeals to the City Commission, the applicant may continue its operations until a decision has been rendered by the City Commission. If the City Commission affirms the decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission, the permit holder shall have fifteen days from the date of the decision of the City Commission to cease operations.

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1437 § 1. Ord. No. 1437 § 1. Ord. No. 1604 § 6. Ord. No. 1610 § 3, Ord. No. 1647 § 3)

Section 39.06.006 Supplemental Use Regulations: Industrial

Uses

Salvage Services

- 1. Screening:
 - (a) The perimeter of each new facility shall be fully enclosed by opaque, freestanding fencing or screen walls. Minimum height of this enclosure shall be ten feet. Any such enclosure shall be constructed behind landscaped buffer yards.
 - (b) Each existing salvage services facility shall be screened as provided above within one year of the effective date of this Ordinance.
- 2. Storage of materials within any salvage services facility may not be higher than the height of the surrounding screen fence or wall.
- 3. No Salvage Services use may be established within 300 feet of the nearest property line of a residential zoning district or of any pre-established civic use. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.06.007 Performance Standards for Industrial Uses

Industrial Uses in the LI District: Performance Standards

The following performance standards apply to all industrial uses permitted within an LI Limited Industrial zoning district:

- 1. Physical Appearance: All operations shall be carried on within an enclosed building except that new materials or equipment in operable condition may be stored outside. Normal daily inorganic wastes may be stored outside in containers, provided that such containers are not visible from the street.
- 2. Fire Hazard: No operation shall involve the use of highly flammable gases, acid, liquids, or other inherent fire hazards. This prohibition shall not apply to the normal use of heating or motor fuels and welding gases when handled in accordance with the regulations of the City of Dickinson and the Uniform Fire Code, as published by the International Fire Code Institute.
- 3. Maximum Permitted Sound Levels Adjacent to Residential Zoning Districts: No operation in the LI district shall generate sound levels in excess of those specified in Table 6-1 at the boundary of a residential district. All noises shall be muffled so as not to be objectionable because of intermittence, beat frequency, or shrillness.
- 4. Sewage and Wastes: All discharges of sewage and wastes into public sewers shall comply with all applicable City ordinances.
- 5. Air Contaminants: No material may be discharged into the air from any source in such quantity as to cause injury, detriment, nuisance, or annoyance to any considerable number of people or to the public in general; or to endanger the health, comfort, or safety of any considerable number of people or to the public in general; or to damage other businesses, vegetation, or property.

- 6. Odor: The emission of odors determined by the Planning and Zoning Commission to be obnoxious to most people shall be prohibited. Such odors shall be measured at the property line of the operation.
- 7. Gases: No release of noxious or poisonous gases shall be permitted except as provided in this section. Measurements of sulfur dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, or carbon monoxide shall not exceed 5 parts per million taken at the property line of the operation.
- 8. Vibration: All machines shall be mounted to minimize vibration. No measurable vibration shall occur at the property line of the operation which exceeds a displacement of 0.003 inch.
- 9. Glare and Heat: All glare generated by a use shall be shielded or directed so as not to be visible at the property line of the operation. No heat may be generated from an operation that raises the air temperature at the property line of the operation by more than five degrees Fahrenheit above the ambient air temperature.
- 10. Storage of Chemical Products: If allowed by Special User Permit, any above or below ground storage of liquid petroleum products or chemicals of a flammable or noxious nature shall not exceed 150,000 gallons when stored on one lot less than one acre. Such storage shall not exceed 25,000 gallons in any one tank. Storage of liquid petroleum products or chemicals of a flammable or noxious nature in excess of 25,000 gallons shall be located at least 50 feet from any structure intended for human habitation and at least 1,000 feet from any Residential or Commercial zoning district.

Industrial Uses in the GI District: Performance Standards

The following performance standards apply to all industrial uses permitted within a General Industrial (GI) zoning district:

- 1. Physical Appearance: Salvage services and similar uses and operations shall be screened from view from both streets and adjacent non-industrial properties as provided by Sections 39.06.006 and 39.08.005.
- 2. Fire Hazard: All flammable substances involved in any activity established in the district shall be handled in conformance with the latest edition of the Uniform Fire Code, as published by the International Fire Code Institute, and other appropriate federal, state, and city statutes.
- 3. Maximum Permitted Sound Levels Adjacent to Residential Zoning Districts: No operating in the GI district shall generate sound levels in excess of those specified in Table 6-1 at the boundary of a residential district. All noises shall be muffled so as not to be objectionable because of intermittence, beat frequency, or shrillness.
- 4. Sewage and Wastes: All discharges of sewage and wastes into public sewers shall comply with all applicable City ordinances.
- 5. Storage of Chemical Products: If allowed by Special Use Permit, any above or below ground storage of liquid petroleum products or chemicals of a flammable or noxious nature shall not exceed 150,000 gallons when stored on one lot less than one acre. Such storage shall not exceed 25,000 in any one tank. Storage of liquid petroleum products or chemicals of a flammable or noxious nature in excess of 25,000 gallons shall be located at least 50 feet from any structure intended for

human habitation and at least 1,000 feet from any Residential or Commercial zoning district.(Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1610 § 3.)

Table 6-1 Maximum Permitted Sound Levels at Residential Boundaries

Originating Zoning	<u>Time</u>	Maximum One Hour Leq*
<u>District</u>		(Dba)
CC, GC, LI	7:00AM - 11:00PM	65
	11:00PM - 7:00AM	60
GI	7:00AM - 11:00PM	75
	11:00PM - 7:00AM	65

^{*}Leq is the constant sound level that, in a given situation and time period, conveys the same sound energy as the actual time-varying a-weighted sound. It is the average sound level and accurately portrays the sound the human ear actually hears.

Section 39.06.008 Supplemental Use Regulations: Accessory

<u>Uses</u>

Home-Based Business/Home Occupations

Home-based businesses and home occupations are permitted as an accessory use in residential units subject to the following conditions:

- 1. External Effects:
 - (a) There shall be no change in the exterior appearance of the building or premises housing the home occupation other than signage permitted within this section.
 - (b) No noise, odors, bright lights, electronic interference, storage or other external effects attributable to the home occupation shall be noticeable from any adjacent property or public right of way.
 - (c) The home occupation shall be carried on entirely within the principal residential structure and/or within a detached accessory building approved by the City in accordance with these zoning regulations. All "External Effects" criteria in items a.1. (a), (b), (d), (e) and (f) of this subsection are applicable for the detached accessory building.
 - (d) Mechanical or electrical equipment supporting the home occupation shall be limited to that which is self-contained within the structure and normally used for office, domestic or household purposes.
 - (e) No outdoor storage of materials or equipment used in the home occupation shall be permitted, other than motor vehicles used by the owner to conduct the occupation. Parking or storage of heavy commercial vehicles to conduct the home occupation is prohibited.
 - (f) All discharges of sewage and wastes into public sewers shall comply with all applicable City ordinances.
- 2. Employees: The home occupation shall employ no more than one full time or part time employee on site other than the residents of the dwelling unit, provided that one off-street parking space is made available and used by that non-resident employee.

- 3. Extent of Use: For all residential and agricultural zoning districts, a maximum percent floor area of 30% of the dwelling may be devoted to the home occupation, inclusive of any detached accessory buildings used for the home occupation.
- 4. Signage: Signage shall be permitted as set forth for each base district in Article Ten.
- 5. Prohibited Home-Based Businesses/Home Occupations
 - (a) Beauty and Barber Shops: Barber and beauty shops are allowed only with a Special Use Permit as home occupations in the AG, R-2, and R-3 zoning districts.
 - (b) Welding, vehicle body repair, or rebuilding or dismantling of vehicles are not permitted as home-based businesses.

Permitted Accessory Uses: Residential Uses

Residential uses may include the following accessory uses, activities, and structures on the same lot.

- 1. Private garages and parking for the residential use. No garage can be constructed on any residential lot without an existing primary residential structure.
- 2. Recreational activities and uses by residents.
- 3. Home occupations, subject to Section 39.06.008 of these regulations.
- 4. Residential convenience services for multi-family uses or mobile home parks.
- 5. Garage sales, provided that the frequency of such sales at any one location shall not exceed one during a continuous, two month period or four sales during any twelve month period.
- 6. Caretaker's residences. (Ord. No. 1610 § 3.)

Permitted Accessory Uses: Civic Use Types

Guidance Services and Health Care use types are permitted in the GI General Industrial zoning districts only as accessory uses to a primary industrial use.

Permitted Accessory Uses: Other Use Types

Other use types may include the following accessory uses, activities and structures on the same lot:

- 1. Parking for the principal use.
- 2. Manufacturing or fabrication of products made for sale in a principal commercial use, provided such manufacturing is totally contained within the structure housing the principal use.
- 3. Services operated for the sole benefit of employees of the principal use.

Permitted Accessory Uses: Agricultural Use Types

- 1. Garden centers and roadside stands, subject to the regulations set forth in Section 39.06.002a.
- 2. Other uses and activities necessarily and customarily associated with the purpose and functions of agricultural uses. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.06.009 Supplemental Use Regulations: Outdoor Storage outside of the GI Zoning District

Outdoor storage is prohibited in all zoning districts except the GI General Industrial zoning district, except as provided in this section.

Agricultural Use Types

Outdoor storage is permitted only where incidental to agricultural uses.

Civic Use Types

Outdoor storage is permitted only where incidental to Maintenance Facilities.

Commercial Use Types

- 1. Outdoor storage is permitted where incidental to Agricultural Sales and Service; Auto Rentals and Sales; Construction Sales; Equipment Sales and Service; Stables and Kennels; and Surplus Sales if less than 25% of the building footprint.
- 2. Outdoor storage is permitted where incidental to Auto Services, Equipment Repair, and Body Repair, provided that such storage is completely screened at property lines by an opaque barrier, as set forth in Section 39.08.005. This provision shall apply to any Auto Services, Equipment Repair, or Body Repair use established after the effective date of this Ordinance if less than 25% of the building footprint. (Ord. No. 1610 § 3.)

Industrial and Miscellaneous Use Types

Light Industry within the DC Downtown Commercial District zoning district may not include outdoor storage.

Outdoor storage is permitted where it is incidental to Light Industry outside of the DC Downtown Commercial District; General Industry; Heavy Industry; Resource Extraction; Salvage Services; Warehousing; and Construction Yards. Any such outdoor storage is subject to screening requirements set forth in Article 39.08.

Outdoor storage is permitted where incidental to landfills. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.06.010 Accessory Dwelling Units

A. Accessory Dwelling Units in Residential Zoning Districts

- 1. An accessory dwelling unit shall be permitted in the Agricultural zoning district and in the RR, R2, R3, and MH residential zoning districts. An accessory dwelling unit is permitted in the Rural Residential zoning district if the lot size is two (2) acres or more. Accessory dwelling units are not allowed in mobile home parks.
- 2. No accessory dwelling unit shall be created, established, or occupied in a single-family dwelling unless the owner of the property occupies either a portion of the main dwelling or a detached accessory unit on the same single-family lot. For the purpose of this section, the term "owner occupied" shall be defined as full time residency within the home by the bona fide property owner(s) as shown on the Stark County tax assessment rolls.
- 3. A maximum of one (1) accessory dwelling unit shall be allowed in each owner occupied single-family dwelling, or attached to a primary dwelling unit, or in a detached accessory unit associated with a single-family dwelling.
- 4. Accessory dwelling units may be located within the main residential dwelling or in a detached accessory unit. Accessory dwelling units may be attached to either a main residential dwelling or to a detached accessory structure associated with the primary dwelling unit.
- 5. Each accessory dwelling unit shall comply with the area regulations for the zoning district in which it is located. In addition, accessory dwelling units shall comply with the following requirements. Any deviation from these regulations will require a variance as part of the Special Use Permit.

- a. The minimum building area of an accessory dwelling unit shall be 400 square feet.
- b. An accessory dwelling unit building area shall not exceed 900 square feet.
- c. Detached accessory dwelling units shall not be located in the front yard.
- d. Lot coverage shall not exceed the maximum lot coverage allowed in the underlying zoning district. A detached accessory dwelling unit shall not cover more than 10% of the lot area.
- e. A detached accessory dwelling unit shall be smaller than the footprint of the primary dwelling unit. The footprint of the primary dwelling unit does not include an attached garage.
- 6. The number of occupants of an accessory dwelling unit shall be limited to two persons.
- 7. The principal dwelling unit and the accessory dwelling unit shall have different 911 address numbers.
- 8. A single-family dwelling with an accessory dwelling unit shall provide at least two off-street parking spaces for the main dwelling unit, and one off-street parking spaces for the accessory unit, for a minimum total of three off-street parking spaces. All parking shall comply with city ordinances and regulations.
- 9. An accessory dwelling unit must provide living areas for cooking, sleeping and sanitation facilities separate from the principal dwelling unit.
- 10. All new construction and remodeling shall comply with all city ordinances, regulations, and requirements in effect at the time of construction or remodeling.
- 11. The application shall include documentation that adequate potable water, sanitary sewer and sanitation services are available to served the accessory dwelling unit.
- 12. The accessory dwelling unit shall not be sold or detached by deed or by condo plat. The accessory dwelling unit shall not be used for short-term rental. The minimum term for rental shall be 28 days.
- 13. Detached accessory dwelling units shall have a residential appearance that matches the primary residence.

B. Accessory Dwelling Units In Commercial Zoning Districts

Within the LC, CC and GC Zones (but specifically not within LI or GI Zones), attached accessory dwelling units are permitted by special exception, subject to the following criteria:

- 1. All accessory dwelling unit permits shall be administratively reviewed and approved, if meeting all permit criteria, by the Planning and Zoning Department on a designated application provided by the Planning and Zoning Department. Said application shall depict, at a minimum, property owner name(s), site address, square foot of existing or proposed principle building and accessory dwelling unit, construction type and any additional information deemed necessary by the Planning and Zoning Director. A record of all accessory dwelling units shall be stored at the Planning and Zoning Department.
- 2. If the accessory dwelling unit is an apartment within the structure housing the principal building on the lot, the accessory dwelling unit must be located within the building and not detached.
- 3. The accessory dwelling unit shall share the same sewage disposal and water supply systems as the principal dwelling unit;

- 4. Upon proper construction of an accessory dwelling unit, the Building Officer shall issue a temporary certificate of use and occupancy. Such temporary certificate of use and occupancy shall be renewed every twelve (12) months until such time as the accessory dwelling unit is required to be removed. A fee, in the amount to be set by City of Dickinson, shall be paid by the landowner upon each renewal of the temporary certificate of use and occupancy on or before January 30 of each year;
- 5. A minimum of two (2) off-street parking space shall be provided for the accessory dwelling unit in addition to the off-street parking spaces required for the principal building;
- 6. The landowner shall submit documentation on how the accessory dwelling unit will be incorporated into the floor plan of the principal dwelling unit once the accessory use is abandoned, or otherwise document how the accessory dwelling unit will be removed from the building;
- 7. The accessory dwelling unit shall be removed or modified so that it cannot function as a separate dwelling unit within two (2) months after it is no longer occupied by a person who qualifies for the use, and the landowner shall provide a statement of intended future use to the Planning and Zoning Director or designee that conforms with the Zoning Ordinance;
- 8. The accessory dwelling unit shall be occupied by a maximum of two (2) people;
- 9. The accessory dwelling unit shall comply with the minimum space and habitable living area requirements of any applicable housing, building and fire codes.
- 10. The accessory dwelling unit shall be limited to no more than one direct access into the dwelling unit from the exterior of the building.
- 11. The square footage of the accessory dwelling unit shall be a minimum of 300 square feet and a maximum of 700 square feet, excluding any garage area; provided, the square footage of the accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 40 percent of the total square footage of the principle building, excluding the garage area, as it exists or as it may be modified. (Ord. No. 1524 § 1; Ord. No. 1706 § 4)

Section 39.06.011 Subdivision Plat

Any person or firm requesting a zoning classification or a zoning reclassification other than for an "AG" (Agriculture) zoning district must file and record an approved subdivision plat of the subject parcel with the Stark County Recorder's office if all or a portion thereof has not been previously platted. The subdivision plat must have final approval prior to or concurrent with the final approval of the proposed zoning change. All plats must be in conformance with Chapter 34, "Subdivision of Land." This provision does not exempt other required plats under Chapter 34. (Ord. No. 1562 § 2.)

Section 39.06.012 Supplemental Use Regulations: Miscellaneous

<u>Uses</u>

A. Communications Towers

A structure situated on a nonresidential site that is intended for transmitting or receiving television, radio or telephone communications, excluding those used exclusively for dispatch communications. Communications towers require a special use permit and must be based, at a minimum, upon the design standards listed below:

- 1. The minimum setbacks from the tower base to any property line shall be the 1.00 times the maximum height of the tower.
- 2. The setback distance of the tower from any non-residential structure or roadway (whether existing, platted, or prescribed by statute) shall be equal to 1.25 times the height of the tower. The setback distance shall be measured from the nearest point on the base of the tower to the nearest point at the base of the existing structure or the nearest boundary of the right-of-way (as defined by this Code), as applicable.
- 3. The setback distance of the tower from any habitable residential structure shall be 1.75 times the height of the tower. The setback distance shall be measured from the nearest point on the base of the tower to the nearest point at the base of the residential structure.
- 4. Minimum setbacks may be waived by the City Commission if the developer submits the following written documents:
 - a. a fall letter signed by a structural engineer with a wet registered professional engineer's seal and signature; and
 - b. A letter of no objection signed by the affected adjacent property owner.
- 5. The maximum allowable height of a communications tower shall be determined at the time of the application for a special use permit. Determination of maximum height shall be based upon existing conditions of the site, compatibility with surrounding land uses, and applicable state and federal regulations governing the height of such facilities. The height of the tower shall include the antenna and all related and/or attached structures.
- 6. The equipment compound shall not be used for storage of any excessive equipment; hazardous waste, or habitable space. No outdoor storage shall be allowed on site.
- 7. The developer shall be responsible for all maintenance associated with the tower, the tower compound and the roads accessing the tower.
- 8. The tower shall allow for co-location of additional providers.
- 9. The developer shall provide a six-foot fence around the perimeter of the tower compound. Chain-linked fences shall be painted or coated with a non-reflective color.
- 10. Prior to building permit issuance, the developer shall submit a letter from the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) stating that the tower does not exceed the maximum height permitted under FAA rules.
- 11. Signs located at the telecommunications facility shall be limited to ownership and contact information, Federal Communications Commission antenna registration number (if required), and any other information as required by government regulation. Commercial advertising is strictly prohibited.
- 12. Unless required by the Federal Communications Commission or the Federal Aviation Authority, the telecommunications tower shall not be lighted.
- 13. Security lighting for the equipment shelter shall be confined to the boundaries tower site.
- 14. Towers shall be constructed of galvanized metal and shall be of an appropriate color

- to harmonize with the surroundings.
- 15. A site plan, drawn to a scale of not less than one inch = 100 feet shall be required to accompany any and all special use permit applications and building permit applications for a communications tower.
- 16. A photograph with a simulation of the proposed communications tower shall be included as part of the special use permit application.
- 17. Any proposed change of use of the tower, increase in height or change of location shall require a hearing before the City of Dickinson Planning and Zoning Commission as well as approval from the Dickinson City Commission.
- 18. Development of the radio tower shall be performed in accordance with all applicable County, State and Federal rules and regulations.
- 19. The service provider shall report to the Planning Director if the telecommunications tower facility is no longer in use. The telecommunications tower facility shall be removed, at the service provider's expense, within six (6) months of this notice and the site shall be restored by the service provider to its pre-existing condition.

If deemed necessary, the City may impose addition conditions to the conditional use permit. (Ord. No. 1610 § 5.)

B. Wireless Telecommunication Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way

Residents, businesses and public safety operations in the City must have reliable access to wireless telecommunications network technology and state of the art mobile broadband communications services, accommodated by the City's deployment of wireless communications facilities and services within the public right-of-way. The City also desires to minimize potential negative impacts of wireless facility placement within the public right-of-way. Nothing in this section affects the City's right to regulate users of the public right-of-way in a competitively neutral and nondiscriminatory manner. The City intends to exercise its authority with respect to the regulation, placement, construction, and modification of wireless facilities in the public right-of-way to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

1. Locating Wireless Communication Facilities

The location of any new wireless communication facility in the public right-of-way shall be, when possible, on existing structures, such as utility poles through agreement with the pole owner, or street lights, or the replacement of an existing structure as provided herein. Installation of additional wireless support structures for the purpose of supporting a wireless communication facility within the public right-of-way will be permitted only as provided for in this ordinance and the applicant must have a franchise with the city for the use of the public right-of-way, or MAA, or an encroachment agreement for that specific location and an installation permit.

2. Installation Permit Required

A. No person may construct, install or modify a wireless communication facility within the public right-of-way without having first done one of the following:

- 1. Having entered into an MAA with the City, if the wireless communication facility will be installed on city-owned existing or previously approved new infrastructure.
- 2. Having obtained a franchise from the City allowing use of the public right-of-way.
- 3. Having obtained an encroachment agreement allowing the specific occupation of the public right-of-way location.
- 4. Having entered into an agreement to co-locate with an entity with infrastructure in the right-of-way pursuant to a current franchise.
- B. <u>Installation Permit Issuance.</u> In each case, the person must also obtain an installation permit from the City as set forth in this chapter. Before a Site License, if applicable, is agreed upon and an installation permit is issued, a written application for each site must be filed with the City Engineer or his or her designee containing such information as may be required by the City Engineer or his or her designee. The application shall include the following:
 - 1. Information required to be provided by a registrant for public right-of-way use and occupancy under this chapter.
 - 2. The name and address of any retail communications service provider for which the facilities are intended to be used, if this is different than the applicant.
 - 3. Evidence that the applicant has obtained all state permits and other licenses, as well as insurance, performance and payment bonds as may be required by the City.
 - 4. A detailed statement of the location of all proposed facilities for which the permit is sought.
 - 5. A construction plan.
 - 6. Other information required by this chapter.
- C. <u>Fees.</u> The City may require payment of a nonrefundable installation permit application fee at the time an installation permit application is submitted, as approved by the Board of City Commissioners and adopted in the Wireless Facilities Guidelines, which shall not exceed \$270. Such fees shall be set to recoup some or all of the cost of permit review, processing and issuance, and will be in addition to any other applicable fee or any separate payments that may be required in the event an installation permit is granted for use of the public right-of-way or the use of city-owned structures. The City reserves the right to charge applicants for installation permits and an annual fee for their use of the public right-of-way to the extent that such charges are allowed under state law. All such fees shall be described in the Wireless Facility Guidelines and may be in addition to any fee charged for or cost associated with attachment to city-owned structures.
- D. Where the City determines that it requires expert assistance in evaluating an application, the City may procure technical and other specialized consulting services that may be necessary to promptly and

- thoroughly review the application. Reasonable fees charged by the consultant, in an amount not to exceed \$200 per site, shall be reimbursed to the City by the applicant regardless of whether the application is, or is not, ultimately approved and a permit issued. The City shall be authorized to require the applicant to deposit a sum equal to the reasonable estimated amount of consultant fees to be paid.
- E. Time for Review. The City Engineer or his or her designee shall comply with applicable federal, state and local law concerning the time period for review following receipt of a completed application to install or modify a wireless communications facility or wireless support structure in the public right-of-way. Specific timeframes shall be described in Wireless Facility Guidelines.
- F. Nondiscrimination. The City shall evaluate, issue, and deny permit applications under this article on a competitively neutral basis, with no unreasonable discrimination among similarly situated applicants and installations.
- G. The City may impose additional reasonable conditions on any installation permit issued under this article relating to time, place and manner.
- H. The City shall not impose environmental testing, sampling, or monitoring requirements or other compliance measures for RF emissions on wireless communication facilities that are categorically excluded under the FCC's rules for radiofrequency remissions pursuant to 4 CFR 1.1307(b)(1).
- I. Scope and Duration.
 - 1. Any installation permit granted pursuant to such application shall be limited in scope to the description submitted in a completed application, as modified by any further agreed-upon conditions or subsequently approved modification.
 - 2. The installation permit shall be voidable by the City unless in the City's determination the work is commenced within one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of issuance of the permit, unless extended by the city engineer. If the facility is not used for its intended use within twelve (12) months from the date of permit issuance, the City may revoke the permit.
 - 3. Within sixty (60) days following completion of facility installation as described in the permit application, the permit holder shall submit as-built diagrams in digital format and digital photographs of the Site to the City Engineer or his or her designee.
 - 4. MAAs issued under this article are valid for a period of fifteen (15) years. To extend the MAA for an additional period of ten (10) years, the permit holder shall provide proof that it continues to have the legal authority to occupy and use the public right-of-way for the purpose set forth in its permit; shall affirm that its site as it exists at the time of the renewal is in full compliance

with the applicable city permit or permits issued for the site and any current franchise agreement, and is in compliance with FCC regulations; and shall pay any permit processing fee required for renewal. Failure to submit such proof of legal authority or affirmation of compliance shall be grounds for non-renewal of the permit. The burden is on the permit holder to demonstrate that the site complies with the requirements herein.

- J. Conditional Upon Related Agreements. The City may cause a permit under this article to be made temporary or conditional upon the execution of a finalized permit application or attachment agreement further addressing the proposed installation.
- K. Proximity to Other Facilities. The City reserves the right to deny, but is not obligated to deny, any siting permit application under this chapter that proposes to install a new wireless support structure within three hundred (300) feet of any other existing wireless support structure. It is the intent of this provision to encourage the collocation of wireless communication facilities on the same wireless support structure or on existing buildings or other structures, and to sensibly limit the overall visual impact of wireless communications in the public right-of-way.
- L. Denial of Permit. Any denial of permit shall be made in writing, supported by substantial evidence that the proposed installation would be inconsistent with one or more of the provisions of this Code of Ordinances or with the health, safety and welfare of the City.

3. General Conditions

The City may approve a permit for the installation of a wireless communication facility in the public right-of-way, provided the applicant certifies compliance with the following general conditions, and subject to other use-specific conditions and other requirements set forth in this article and in any Wireless Application Guidelines.

A. General Design Standards.

- 1. The installation shall be unobtrusive, harmonious with its surroundings, and streamlined in appearance. The City engineer/planning director shall require camouflage or concealment efforts. For installations in residentially zoned areas, Downtown Commercial zoned areas, or for installations in the Downtown Overlay District, the West Villard Overlay District, and/or the Corridor Overlay District, all designs of wireless communication facilities must comply with zoning requirements and shall be approved by the City Planning Director.
- 2. The height of any wireless communication facility shall be limited to nearby structures of similar type and not more than 60 feet above normal grade unless otherwise approved by the City in the installation permit.
- 3. Antennas shall be as small as possible. To address the physical and aesthetic impact on the public right-of-way, the City

- engineer/planning director may limit the physical size and design of the antenna.
- 4. All riser cabling and wiring must be contained in conduit, affixed directly to the face of the structure, or enclosed within the hollow interior of the pole, for as long as it is technically feasible. No exposed slack or extra cable will be allowed. All improvements shall match the color of the installation structure.
- 5. No signage or advertising will be permitted, except as required by law or as specifically permitted.
- 6. Wireless communication facilities either in historic areas, or located within 300 feet or one block of historic areas, shall comply with any special requirements applicable to such areas, and may be subject to additional city review.

B. Minimizing Impacts on Adjacent Property Owners.

- A permit holder must design and install a wireless communication facility so as to minimize any impact on the adjacent property owners, and must actively mitigate any unreasonably adverse impact relating to visibility from the adjacent property; access to and from the adjacent property; intrusion of light, sound, or smell; in addition to any other cognizable unreasonable and substantial impact made known by an adjacent property owner.
- 2. No Antenna shall be within five (5) feet of a door, balcony or window nor placed in front of any window within 20 feet and located at a similar height to the antenna unit on the adjacent public right-of-way, unless otherwise restricted by the right-of-way width.
- 3. An installation shall not interfere with city operations, or the operations of preexisting third-party installations in the public right-of-way. The City will reasonably cooperate with the applicant and/or permit holder to permit activities and modifications that may effectively avoid or correct the interference.
- 4. Any installation shall aesthetically blend in with structures in the immediate area. The planning director shall determine, during the permit review period, if the installation aesthetically blends in with structures in the surrounding area.
- 5. Installation on decorative lighting shall not exceed the height of banners or interfere with banner movements.

4. Wireless Communications Facilities Upon Existing Structures

In addition to the general conditions described in this ordinance and any specification contained in the Wireless Facility Guidelines, any wireless communication facility for which an installation permit is requested under this chapter shall meet the following requirements:

A. The wireless communication facility shall not increase total existing height, including the wireless support structure, by more than 10% over other

- public utility poles in the area unless, in the City engineer's/planning director's discretion, an alternative height is accepted depending on the type and structure of the existing facility and the proposed location.
- B. The wireless communication facility shall not impair nighttime visibility in the area that result from light emanating from a utility structure and shall not otherwise interfere with the original purpose of an existing structure.
- C. The wireless facility shall not interfere with light fixtures, banners, holiday decorations, or the pole lighting plug.
- D. Electrical power. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Site License, franchise, or encroachment agreement the acquisition of electrical power shall be the sole responsibility of the applicant.

5. Attachments to City-Owned Structures

In addition to the requirements set forth in this chapter and the Wireless Facility Guidelines, the following conditions will apply to a wireless communication facility attached to a city-owned structure:

- A. The City shall require an applicant for a wireless communication facility attachment to a city-owned structure to execute a separate MAA with the city addressing such attachment.
- B. The management of attachments to city-owned structures is governed by the MAA between the City and the applicant. The MAA does not waive any zoning, building code or other public right-of-way management requirements that may also apply.
- C. The City shall require payment of rental fee, permit fee, application fee or other compensation, as set forth in the Wireless Facility Guidelines as well as in the City's fee schedule.
- D. In the event a city-owned wireless support structure is compromised or knocked down, the City and an affected wireless communication facility permit holder will cooperate to reinstall or replace the pole and restore the wireless communication facility. If it is determined the failure occurred due to installing additional weight or due to wind load the lessee shall be responsible for the cost of reinstalling or replacing the support structure. Otherwise, the City and the lessee shall share the cost of reinstalling or replacing the support structure.
- E. Training. At the request of the City, the permit holder shall host on-site training for city maintenance staff. The training will be offered semiannually or as otherwise agreed between the parties. The training shall include occupational safety, personal protection, proximity limits, emergency procedures and contact information.

6. Replacement of City-Owned Structures or Addition of City-Owned Structures

In addition to the general conditions described in this chapter and the Wireless Facility Guidelines, the proposed replacement of an existing city-owned structure or placement of a new city-owned structure shall be subject to the following requirements.

A. The replacement of a city-owned structure or the addition of a new city-owned structure shall be entirely at the reasonable discretion of the city

- engineer and at a minimum, must be able to co-locate at least one additional similar facility.
- B. New standalone poles shall meet the following criteria:
 - 1. Align with existing streetlights and street trees as to maintain organization and to keep out of pedestrian ways.
 - 2. Maintain a minimum of 10 feet from any above grade building face, including projecting windows.
 - 3. Not violate applicable local, state and/or federal laws, including the Americans with Disabilities Act.
 - 4. Maintain a minimum distance of 15 feet from a tree trunk as measured from the outside of the tree.
 - 5. Maintain a minimum distance of six feet from existing fire hydrants or from a buildings' fire connection.
 - 6. Maintain a minimum distance of 10 feet from light and safety poles.
 - 7. Maintain a minimum of three feet from bicycle racks and shall not impede the attachment of bicycles.
 - 8. Not be located within the site triangle at intersections.
 - 9. Maintain a minimum distance of 15 feet from driveways as measured from the edge line of the driveway.
- C. Before installing a new structure in the right-of-way or replacing an existing structure, the applicant must demonstrate the following, to the satisfaction of the city engineer:
 - 1. That the facility is not able to be placed on existing infrastructure. The applicant shall provide a map of existing infrastructure in the service area and describe why each such site is not feasible.
 - 2. That city functions for which the original structure was used will be preserved, improved or enhanced, as part of any replacement structure, at the applicant's expense. Replacement of lighting, electrical power, network connectivity, and any other functional purpose of, on or within the original structure shall be done to the satisfaction of the city engineer.
 - 3. In order to place a new city-owned facility, the applicant must establish to the satisfaction of the city engineer that there are no existing or replacement structures that would provide the necessary capabilities, that the new facility serves a public purpose other than wireless communication, and that placement of the facility outside of the right-of-way on private property would be unduly burdensome.
- D. Ownership. A replacement structure or a new structure under this section shall be dedicated to and owned by the city upon completion, to the satisfaction of the city. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable MAA, Site License, franchise, or encroachment agreement, the permit holder shall provide city a Bill of Sale, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances.
- E. Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Site License, franchise, or encroachment agreement, acquisition and use of electrical power to serve a

- wireless communication facility on a replacement wireless support structure or facility shall be the sole responsibility of the permit holder.
- F. Stocked Poles. To enable prompt replacement in the event of a knockdown or structural compromise, a permit holder shall provide the city with an inventory of completely assembled poles to be kept by the city. The inventory shall consist of, for each type/style of pole, one pole substantially identical to the initial city-owned replacement pole. For each set of five additional replacement poles of any particular type/style, an additional pole of that type/style.
- G. Facilities placed in the right-of-way shall be maintained in accordance with the terms of this article and as provided for in a separate agreement.
- H. An applicant shall be required to enter into such license and other agreements with the city or third parties as the city may require to affect the replacement, consistent with this section.

7. Equipment

- A. Equipment other than ground-mounted equipment shall be mounted in one of the manners described below, or as prescribed by the city engineer/planning director.
 - 1. Equipment shall be mounted in a base shroud of approved design. The base shroud should be coated or painted an approved color to match the pole and installed in a manner that does not impede the use of sidewalks or trails.
 - 2. Equipment shall be mounted directly to the pole a minimum of twelve (12) feet above the existing grade and be coated or painted with an approved color to match the pole.
 - 3. Equipment shall be mounted to the pole in an equipment box a minimum of twelve (12) feet above the existing grade. The equipment box shall be coated or painted an approved color to match the pole. This equipment shall not interfere with the cast of light, use of banner arms
 - 4. Equipment shall be attached to the wireless support structure in a manner as approved by the city engineer/planning director.

B. Ground-Mounted Equipment.

- 1. A permit for a wireless communication facility that involves ground-mounted equipment will be issued if the city engineer finds the following:
 - i. The ground mounted equipment will not disrupt traffic or pedestrian circulation;
 - ii. Space exists in the public right-of-way to accommodate the ground mounted equipment;
 - iii. The ground mounted equipment will not create a safety hazard;
 - iv. The location of the ground mounted equipment minimizes impacts on adjacent property;

- v. In any historical area, that the ground mounted equipment not detrimentally affect the historical nature of the area, to the satisfaction of the city engineer;
- vi. That no reasonable alternative exists that is more favorable to adjacent property owners and to effective use and management of the public right-of-way; and
- vii. The ground mounted equipment will not adversely impact the health, safety or welfare of the community.
- viii. All ground mounted equipment shall to the extent feasible be located either underground, incorporated into street furniture, or concealed in the base of the pole.
- ix. Ground mounted equipment either located in historic areas, or located within 300 feet or one block of historic areas, shall comply with any special requirements applicable to such areas, and may be subject to additional city review.
- 2. Underground equipment. The city engineer may require, at his or her discretion, that utilities be placed underground, and may prohibit the installation of ground mounted equipment unless technically infeasible or otherwise cost prohibitive.
- C. Any excavation required for installation of ground-mounted or underground equipment shall be performed in accordance with all requirements of the City's municipal code

8. Attachment to City-Owned Buildings

The City may permit the attachment of a facility to a city-owned building upon the recommendation of the city engineer/planning director and the approval of a lease by the city commission. An installation permit shall be required for such installations.

9. General Indemnification

In addition to and distinct from any insurance requirements required by the city of the applicant, each applicant hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the city and its officers, officials, boards, commissions, employees, agents and representatives from and against any and all damages, losses, claims and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit or defense, arising out of, resulting from or alleged to arise out of or result from the acts, omissions, failure to act or misconduct of the applicant or its affiliates in the construction, installation, operation, maintenance, repair, removal or replacement of the small cell facility. This Section shall not require the applicant to indemnify or hold harmless the city for any losses, claims, damages, and expenses arising out of or resulting from the negligence or willful misconduct of the city. (Ord. No. 1726 § 1)

Article 39.07 Supplemental Site Development Regulations

Sections:	
39.07.001	Purpose
39.07.002	Setback Adjustments
39.07.003	Height Exceptions
39.07.004	Exceptions to Site Development Regulations for Creative Subdivision
39.07.005	Fence Regulations
39.07.0055	DC Downtown Commercial District Commercial Development Standards
39.07.006	Appeals

Section 39.07.001 Purpose

The Supplemental Site Development Regulations recognize the existence of special conditions that cannot comply literally with the site development regulations set out for each zoning district. Therefore, these regulations qualify or modify the district regulations of this title and provide for specific areas of exception. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.07.002 Setback Adjustments

Exceptions to Openness of Required Yards

Every part of a required yard shall be open and unobstructed from finished grade upward, except as specified herein.

- 1. Common architectural projections, including roofs which cover porches, enclosed porches, window sills, belt courses, cornices, eaves, flues and chimneys, and ornamental features may project up to six (6) feet into a required yard, excluding the front yard, in the R-2, R-3, Commercial and Industrial Districts.
- 2. Terraces, patios, uncovered decks, steps, and ornamental features may project ten feet into a required yard. However, all such projections must be set back at least three feet from an adjacent side lot line; or ten feet from the property line bordering an arterial or collector street.
- 3. Fire escapes, fireproof outside stairways, and balconies opening to fire towers may project a maximum of 3 feet into required yards, provided that they do not obstruct the light and ventilation of adjacent buildings.
- 4. For buildings constructed upon a front property line, a cornice, defined as an ornamental horizontal projection at the top of a building, may project into public right-of-way. Maximum projection is four feet into the right-of way width.
- 5. Accessory buildings are subject to all site development regulations of its zoning district, except as provided below:
 - (a) Side yards: An accessory building may be located a minimum of 3 feet from the side lot line of the property.
 - (b) Front Yards: No accessory building may be located between the front building line of the principal building and the front property line, except for residential buildings equal to or greater than three units per building in in the R03 zoning district.

- (c) Rear Yard: The minimum rear yard setback for accessory buildings shall be 3 feet. This minimum rear yard setback shall be increased to 20 feet if the accessory building requires perpendicular vehicular access from an alley. Double-frontage lots shall require front-yard setbacks along both street frontages as set forth in Table 4-3. Easements may be incorporated into these required setbacks. No accessory building shall be located within any easement or right-of-way along the rear property line.
- (d) Street Yards: No accessory building shall be located within 15 feet from any street right-of-way line. If the accessory building requires vehicular access, it shall be located a minimum of 20 feet from any street right-of-way line.
- (e) Maximum Size: All buildings on a site, taken together, must comply with the building coverage requirements for the zoning district.
- (f) Attached Accessory Buildings: Any accessory building physically attached to the principal building shall be considered part of the principal building and subject to the development regulations of its zoning district.
- (g) No accessory building shall be built or placed upon any lot until construction of the principal building has begun.
- (h) Perpendicular multi-family garages and garages from other structures shall be required to be separated by a minimum of thirty (30) feet. (Ord. No. 1565 § 1)
- 6. Lamp posts with a maximum height of ten (10) feet, and flag poles up to maximum height of base district may be located within required yards, provided they are set back at least five (5) feet from property lines.

Setback Adjustments

1. Corner Lots

Required setbacks shall not reduce the buildable width of any corner lot to less than 24 feet. Appropriate setback adjustments shall be allowed to maintain this minimum width.

Antennas

- 1. Antennas with a surface area over 6.3 square feet and which are accessory to a primary use and are designed to receive and transmit electromagnetic signals, or to receive signals from satellites, shall not be located within any front yard of the primary use.
- 2. Such antennas shall be located no less than fifteen feet from the property line of an adjacent property within a residential zoning district.

Vision Clearance Zones

No structure, including a fence, shall be built to a height of more than 32 inches above the established curb grade on the part of the lot bounded by the inside lines of the sidewalk parallel to the lines of the streets or alleys which intersect, or driveways backing onto a public street, and a line connecting a point on each of such lines thirty feet from their point of intersection. No such structure may be built upon street rights-of-way. No landscaping shall be

planted in such area which will materially obstruct the view of drivers approaching the street intersection (Ord. No. 1171 § 1, Ord. No. 1423 § 2)

Section 39.07.003 Height Exceptions

These provisions allow exceptions to the height limit of any zoning district in certain situations.

a. Vertical Projections

Chimney's cooling towers, building mechanical equipment, elevator bulkheads, fire towers, grain elevators, non-parabolic receiving antennas, tanks, solariums, steeples, penthouses not exceeding 25 percent of total roof area, flag poles, stage towers or scenery lofts, architectural treatments, including, but not limited to, parapets and tower not to exceed ten (10) feet, and water towers may be built to any height in accordance with existing ordinances.

b. Amateur Radio Towers and Federal Communication Commission Pronouncements

- 1. Radio towers, antennas and other appurtenances operated by licensed amateur radio operators, where permitted and when, may not exceed 75 feet in height. This height has been determined by the City to reasonably accommodate amateur service communications, and further represents the minimum practicable regulation to accomplish legitimate municipal land use regulation purpose, as recognized under published guidelines of the Federal Communications Commission.
- 2. Special instances may require that amateur radio tower heights exceed 75 feet to achieve effective and reliable communications. In such cases, the City Commission may grant a Special Use Permit to a licensed amateur radio operator for a specified tower height that exceeds 75 feet. In determining whether to grant such permission, the City Commission shall consider the federal guidelines contained in PRB-1 (Amateur Radio Preemption), 101 FCC 2d (1985); codified at C.F.R. Section 97.15 (e).
- 3. Such radio towers shall not be located within any front yard of the primary use.

c. Broadcast Towers

Broadcast towers, when operated by a federally-licensed commercial or non-profit organization, may be built to any height in accordance with existing and future ordinances. This exception does not apply to radio towers, antennas and other appurtenances operated by licensed amateur radio operators.

d. Civic Buildings

Buildings housing civic use may exceed height limits for the zoning district. Such buildings located in residential districts shall be set back one foot in addition to required setbacks from each property line for each foot of height over the maximum height of the zoning district.

e. Wind Energy Conservation Systems (WECS)

1. The distance from all lot lines or any building or power line to any tower support base of a WECS shall be equal to the sum of the tower height and the diameter of the rotor. A reduction of this requirement may be granted as part of a Special Permit approval if the Planning Commission finds that the reduction is consistent with public health, safety, and welfare.

- 2. The distance between the tower support bases of any two WECS shall be the minimum of five rotor lengths, determined by the size of the largest rotor. A reduction of this requirement may be granted as part of a Special Permit approval if the Planning Commission finds that the reduction does not impede the operation of either WECS.
- 3. The WECS operation shall not interfere with radio, television, computer, or other electronic operations on adjacent properties.
- 4. A fence six feet high with a locking gate shall be placed around any WECS tower base; or the tower climbing apparatus shall begin no lower than twelve feet above ground.
- 5. The WECS is exempt from the height restrictions of the base district.

f. Special Permit Uses

The City Commission with the recommendation of the Planning Commission may grant an exception from the height limit for a zoning district for a special permit use, as part of its approval of that use. The limit or extent of this exception shall be a specific part of the special use permit.

g. Federal Aviation Administration Rules

No structure may be built in any zoning district which exceeds the maximum height permitted under the rules of the Federal Aviation Administration. These rules describe the glide angles and operational patterns for any airport within the planning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1, Ord. No. 1490 § 1. Ord. No. 1604 § 7.)

Section 39.07.004 Exceptions to Site Development Regulations for Creative Subdivision (Repealed 1/4/2016)

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1604 § 8)

Section 39.07.005 Fence Regulations

a. Location Restriction

Unless otherwise provided by this title or other sections of the Dickinson Municipal Code, no fence shall be built on any lot or tract outside the surveyed lot lines, or tract outside the surveyed lot lines.

b. Sight Obstruction

No solid fence permitted or required by this title or other sections of the Dickinson Municipal Code shall be built in any manner which creates a traffic hazard or obstructs visibility. Vision clearance zones set forth by Section 39.07.002(d) shall be maintained.

c. Residential Fences

Fences constructed within residential districts or on land used for residential purposes are subject to the following provisions.

- 1. Height: The maximum height of a fence within a required front yard or street side yard setback shall be four feet. The maximum height for any fence outside of a required front yard shall be 6.5 feet. Fences on corner and double frontage lots must have a front yard and street setback, as determined by the Planning Director or his/her designee.
- 2. Materials: Fences shall be constructed of wood, chain-link, PVC / resin, stone or masonry materials only. Barbed wire and / or electrified fences are not permitted, and

are defined as any fence that includes in its material barbs, razors, electric current or other features specifically designed to injure or abrade an individual or animal who attempts to negotiate the fence.

d. Other Fences

Fences constructed in commercial and industrial districts are subject to the following special provisions.

- 1. The maximum height of a fence for any permitted use in any nonresidential zoning district shall be 6.5 feet.
- 2. Civic Uses in Residential Districts: The maximum height of fences installed as part of Primary and Secondary Educational Facilities or Park and Recreation Use Types within Residential Zoning Districts shall be eight feet.
- 3. The Board of Adjustment may approve greater fence heights on a case-by-case basis if it concludes that such permission furthers the health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the City of Dickinson.
- 4. Barbed wire may be used in the construction of perimeter security fencing in an industrial district or for municipal facilities provided that the bottom strand of the wire shall be at least six feet above ground level. Barbed wire may be constructed for agricultural purposes in an AG District. Electrified fences are permitted only within the AG zoning district.

e. Existing Fences

Any existing fence lawfully built before the effective date of this Ordinance may remain in place without change. Any replacement or change of such fence shall meet the requirements of this section. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1604§ 9)

Section 39.07.0055 DC Downtown Commercial District Commercial Development Standards

a. Purpose

The purpose of the Downtown Commercial District is to preserve and enhance the mixed-use, pedestrian-oriented nature of the City's downtown area. The district allows a wide range of mutually supportive uses in order to enhance downtown Dickinson's role as a commercial, cultural, governmental, health or medical, entertainment and residential center. The district standards also facilitate the creation of a strong and distinctive sense of place through the inclusion of open space and public plazas. The use of design standards will maintain the historical integrity, enhance the quality of design, and preserve the human-scale development of downtown.

b. Uses

Uses are allowed in the Downtown Commercial District in accordance with Table 4-2 of Article 39.04 of the City Municipal Code

c. Dimensional Standards.

Commercial development within the Downtown Commercial District is subject to the following dimensional standards:

1. <u>Front Yard Setback.</u> There is no minimum front yard setback. The maximum front yard setback for all new construction shall be five (5) feet. Structures constructed on a corner shall be subject to the vision clearance zone requirements as they appear in Section 39.07.002 of this Code. If the development site is between two existing buildings which are both setback from the front property line, the front yard setback

may not exceed the average setback of the adjoining buildings. In no case shall a setback greater than 15 feet be allowed. Consideration shall be given to privately-owned spaces that are designed to provide space for public seating, public events, public displays, public gatherings and public performance. The area must be landscaped and incorporate streetscape elements.

- **2.** <u>Side Yard Setback.</u> There is no minimum side yard setback, unless the side property line abuts residentially-zoned property, in which case the minimum side yard setback shall be 6 feet. Structures constructed on a corner shall be subject to the vision clearance zone requirements as they appear in Section 39.07.002 of this Code
- **3.** Rear Yard Setback. There is no minimum rear yard setback, unless the rear property line abuts residentially-zoned property, in which case the minimum rear yard setback shall be 10 feet. Structures constructed on a corner shall be subject to the vision clearance zone requirements as they appear in Section 39.07.002 of this Code.
- **4.** <u>Height.</u> The minimum height for new construction is 20 feet. The maximum height in the Downtown Commercial District is 65 feet unless a special use permit is granted in accordance with Article 39.12 of this Municipal Code.

d. Design Standards.

All development within the Downtown Commercial District is subject to the following design standards:

- 1. <u>Intent.</u> The intent of the design standards is to create and maintain a high visual quality and appearance for the Downtown Commercial District. The regulations are also intended to ensure that new buildings, building additions, façade alterations, building rehabilitations, and signage are compatible with or improve the character of the Downtown Commercial District, fit into their surroundings, and blend in with the historic character of the area. It is also the intent of these regulations to stimulate and protect public and private investment through the establishment of high standards with respect to architectural design, building materials, and appearance, and to support the preservation of historically significant buildings.
- 2. Review and Approval. All new buildings, building additions, facade alterations (both structural and non-structural), demolition of existing buildings, signage, streetscape installation or modification, fences, lighting and improvements within the public right-of-way within the Downtown Commercial District shall be subject to the City's downtown design review procedures and shall adhere to existing lighting and tree planting plans. An administrative decision by the City Planning Director regarding the proposed design may be appealed to the City's Planning and Zoning Commission subject to standard hearing procedures. Any decision of the Planning and Zoning Commission regarding design standards may be appealed to the City Commission.
- 3. Remodeling of Historically Significant Buildings. Any building listed on the National Register of Historic Places, identified as being individually eligible for listing on the National Register or identified in the Local Landmark

Program, historic district, or any subsequent inventory and evaluation, is considered to be a historically significant building. For any building not identified above that is more than 50 years old, a determination shall be made by the Planning Director on a case-by-case basis as to whether or not the building is historically significant. Projects involving_the remodeling, renovation or rehabilitation of existing historically significant buildings should generally reflect the original architectural character of the building. The introduction of any new design elements should be consistent with the traditional features of the building. The rehabilitation of existing historically significant buildings is encouraged to be in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation.

- **4.** New Construction. Projects involving new construction shall consider the context of the site and be compatible with the general historic character of the downtown area. While new buildings are required to fit into their surroundings, the City will not require complete uniformity of design or dictate specific architectural styles. The overall context of the downtown area includes a variety of architectural styles and these regulations are intended to allow both flexibility and creativity in achieving compatible design solutions while preserving similar facades, with similar building materials, complementing the historic character of the downtown.
- 5. <u>Building Materials</u>. For new construction, all walls visible from any street shall be primarily faced with architectural materials such as brick, stone, glass, exterior insulation finish insulation systems, or an equivalent or better. The use of plain surface concrete block and/or simple metal siding shall be prohibited (i.e. the surface must be dimensional). The use of typical residential exterior materials shall be prohibited (i.e. residential grade vinyl siding, residential grade steel siding, composite brick). Non-transparent mirrored or one-way glass with a reflectance greater than forty percent (40%) shall be prohibited from covering more than forty percent (40%) of the exterior walls. When remodeling all original door and window cut outs shall be used to preserve the building's historic character.

All subsequent renovations, additions and related structures undertaken after the construction of an original building shall be finished with materials comparable to those used in the original construction and shall be designed in a manner conforming to the original architectural design and general appearance. For existing historically significant buildings, the sheathing or installation of another material over the facade or any wall visible from any street shall be prohibited unless deemed necessary to preserve the structural integrity of the building.

6. <u>Building Colors.</u> In order to maintain a sense of harmony within the Downtown Commercial District, color schemes used should complement the predominant hues of adjoining established and occupied buildings. Color schemes should generally be simple, using the minimum number of colors necessary to accentuate architectural features. Earth tone colors are the preferred building colors within the Downtown Commercial District. The use of extremely bright hues should generally be limited to smaller accent features of the building.

- Repainting projects which do not substantially change the existing color scheme are not subject to the building color criteria.
- 7. <u>Alignment.</u> New infill development in the Downtown Commercial District shall maintain the zero setback and the alignment of adjoining facades at the property line.
- **8.** <u>Width.</u> New buildings shall reflect the existing characteristic rhythm of facades along the street. New construction on multiple lots, including parking ramps, should respect this pattern by designing the pattern of adjacent façade widths into the new facade.
- 9. <u>Horizontal Rhythms</u>. New development shall maintain the alignment of building windows, cornices, and rooflines that dominate the block on which it will be constructed. Character and scale shall be compatible with surrounding structures through the use of materials, detailing and window placement. A clear visual division between the street level and upper floors shall also be maintained. Canopies and awnings consistent with the architectural style of the building are encouraged to accentuate the street level relationship between the building and streetscape and to provide protection for pedestrians as long as it does not conflict with existing or planned tree or lighting expansions in the public right-of-way.
- 10. <u>Entrances.</u> Main entrances to buildings shall face and be clearly visible from the street, and be recessed to maintain a coherent pattern along the sidewalk and to define the entry point. Recessed entrances shall allow operation of the door(s) without the doors extending beyond the property line into the public right-of-way. Secondary alley access shall be utilized whenever possible.
- 11. Windows. Ground floor windows shall be transparent. The original size, shape and proportion of all windows on existing historically significant buildings shall be preserved and/or restored. For new non-residential buildings, a minimum of fifty percent (50%) of first floor facades fronting the street shall be windows, doors and other transparent elements. In order to preserve the character of existing historically significant buildings, it is not the intent of this provision to require windows to be installed where none existed in the original design. However, if the exterior of an existing historically significant building is being remodeled, renovated or rehabilitated, the size, shape and proportion of the original window openings shall be restored or maintained. Replacement windows shall generally conform to the style and color of the original windows used in the building, with wood or prefinished aluminum as the finish material. White framed windows shall be discouraged unless it is part of the historical existing structure.
- **12.** Rooftop Equipment. Rooftop equipment shall be screened from ground level views with parapet walls or enclosures similar in form, material and detail to the facade of the primary structure.
- **13.** <u>Vacant Buildings.</u> Vacant and abandoned buildings shall be made to appear inhabited. Boarding up windows in vacant or abandoned buildings shall be prohibited. The placement of displays of building renovations, downtown renovations, and upcoming events is encouraged.

- **14.** <u>Demolition and Vacant Lots.</u> Any demolition shall be in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 7 of the City Municipal Code. Any lots left vacant after demolition shall be treated to control fugitive dust. If the lot is to remain vacant for more than sixty (60) days, said lot shall be landscaped, mulched and seeded or sodded to establish a perennial vegetative grass cover. The lot shall be maintained and kept free of debris and litter by the property owner.
- 15. Exposed Common Walls. If common walls are exposed due to demolition of adjoining buildings, the walls shall be treated to ensure that the walls do not become a visual eyesore and/or create a nuisance. The treatment may be temporary or permanent depending on the potential for redevelopment of adjoining parcels. Temporary alternative treatments include masonry paint or vines. Permanent alternative treatments include architectural treatment that is similar to the front façade of the building or stucco. The wall treatment shall be in place within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the date of demolition, unless a longer period is authorized at the time of approval of the demolition plans, and shall be the financial responsibility of the owner of the property upon which the demolished building was located.
- **16.** Off-street Parking and Loading. Off-street parking and loading shall be provided in accordance with the provisions of Article 39.09 of the Municipal Code.
- 17. Landscaping and Screening and Other Decorative Features. New construction and major remodeling, renovation or rehabilitation projects shall be subject to the requirements of Article 39.09 of the Municipal Code, including the installation of street trees and lighting if required. If decorative fencing, decorative lighting and any other streetscape elements are required or proposed, they shall be consistent with the City's lighting and urban forestry plans or complementary to any downtown streetscape that has already been installed.
- **18.** <u>Signage</u>. All signage in the Downtown Commercial District shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the provisions of Chapters 33 and 39 of the City Code of Ordinances. Canopies used for signage shall be consistent with the architectural style of the building and shall not interfere with the City lighting and tree planting downtown. Off-premises signs shall not be permitted within the Downtown Commercial District. (Ord. No. 1650 § 1.)

Section 39.07.006 Appeals

Denial, revocations, or cancellations of a building permit based on the provisions of this Section may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment, as set forth in Sections 39.12.010 through 39.12.012. Notwithstanding the foregoing, appeals of administrative decisions regarding proposed design in the Downtown Commercial zoning district shall follow the process found in Section 39.07.0055 of this Code. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1, Ord. No. 1650 § 4)

Article 39.08 Landscaping and Screening Standards

Sections:

39.08.001 Purpose **Applicability**

39.08.003	Landscaping Requirements
39.08.004	Landscaping Materials and Installation Standards
39.08.005	Bufferyard Provisions
39.08.006	Screening Standards
39.08.007	Tree Plantings
39.08.008	General Provisions

Section 39.08.001 Purpose

The Landscaping and Screening Regulations provide additional guidance on the development of sites within Dickinson by addressing landscaping and screening requirements. They are designed to improve the appearance of the community; buffer potentially incompatible land use from one another; and conserve the value of properties within the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.08.002 Applicability

The provisions of this section shall apply to all new development on each undeveloped lot or site upon application for a building permit, or as a condition of approval, except for the following:

- a. Reconstruction or replacement of a lawfully existing use or structure following a casualty loss; however any voluntary landscaping done in conjunction with the repair or replacement shall comply with the requirements of this Chapter.
- b. An individual requesting and receiving a reasonable accommodation from the City in accordance with the City of Dickinson Title VI Plan and relating to the requirements of this Chapter. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1651 § 1)

Section 39.08.003 Landscaping Requirements

Subject to the requirements of section 39.08.002 and the approval of the City Forester, landscaping shall be required adjacent to each street property line, and may be permitted within a public right of way to meet the requirements of this Chapter. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1651 § 2)

Section 39.08.004 Landscaping Materials and Installation Standards

a. Official List of Plant Materials

All plant material installed in the public right of way shall be consistent with the Official List of Plant Materials provided through the office of the City Forester.

b. Use of Inorganic Landscaping Materials

Artificial trees, shrubs, plants or turf shall not be used to fulfill the minimum requirements for landscaping. Inorganic materials, such as tone or decorative pavers, decorative landscape rock, and bark, may be counted toward fulfilling these minimum requirements provided that such material does not comprise more than 35% of the required landscaped area and trees are incorporated with the installation. Other concrete and/or asphalt pavement surfaces may not be used within the minimum required landscaped area, except for walkways less than 5 feet in width. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1651 § 3)

Table 8-1: Required Landscape Depth

Zoning District	Depth of Landscaping Adjacent to Street Property Line
AG	35 Feet
RR	25 Feet
R-1	15 Feet
R-2, R-3	15 Feet
MH	35 Feet
LC	15 Feet
CC	10 Feet
DC	Not Applicable
GC	10 Feet
LI	15 Feet
GI	10 feet

Section 39.08.005 Bufferyard Provisions

These provisions apply when use is established in a more intensive zoning district (District A) which is adjacent to a less intensive zoning district (District B). The owner, developer, or operator of the use within District A shall install and maintain a landscaped buffer-yard on his/her lot or site, as set forth in this section. Buffer-yard requirements apply only to those districts indicated in Table 8-2, and apply to all property lines. This buffer-yard shall take precedent over a building setback closer to a property line. Buffer-yards are not required of single-family, 2-family, duplex, or townhouse use types in the more intensive zoning district.

a. The buffer-yard dimensions set forth in Table 8-2 apply to zoning districts which share a common lot line. The dimensions may be reduced by ten feet if the uses are adjacent but separated by an intervening alley.

Table 8-2 Buffer-vard Requirements (Feet)

		DISTRICT B		(Less Intensive Adjacent District)	
		RR (Note 1)	R-1* (Note 1)	R-2 (Note 1)	R-3, MH (Note 1)
	R-3	20	20	10	
DISTRICT A	LC	10	10	20	
More Intensive District (Note 2, 3)	CC	20	20	20	10
	DC				
	GC	30	30	30	30
	LI	30	30	30	30
	GI	50	50	50	50

Section 39.08.006 Screening Standards

Application

a. Application

Screening is required between adjacent zoning districts indicated in Table 8-2 when one or more of the following conditions in the more intensive zoning district is directly visible from and faces toward the boundary of the less intensive zoning district.

- 1. The rear elevation of buildings.
- 2. Outdoor storage areas or storage tanks, unless otherwise screened.
- 3. Loading docks, refuse collection points, and other service areas.
- 4. Major machinery or areas housing a manufacturing process.
- 5. Major on-site traffic circulation areas or truck and/or trailer parking.
- 6. Sources of glare, noise, or other environmental effects.

b. Opaque Barrier

A six foot opaque barrier shall be provided which visually screens the conditions listed in Section 39.08.06 (a) from less intensive uses as follows:

- 1. An opaque barrier vinyl or higher quality fence and/or masonry fence or wall at least six feet in height.
- 2. A landscaping screen, using evergreen or deciduous materials, capable of providing a substantially opaque, hedge-like barrier and attaining a minimum height of six feet within three years of planting.
- 3. A landscaped earth berm with a maximum slope of three to one, rising no less than six feet above the existing grade of the lot line separating the zoning districts.
- 4. Any combination of these methods that achieves a cumulative height of six feet.

c. Location of Screening Wall

1. A screening wall or fence shall be installed no closer to the less intensive zoning district than one-half the width of the required buffer-yard. Fence regulations are set forth in Section 39.07.005.

d. Screening: Effect on Drainage

Screening shall not adversely affect surface water or snow drainage.

(Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1604 § 10.)

Section 39.08.007 Tree Plantings

In any landscaped area required by the Minimum Depth Requirements or the Buffer-yard Requirements, a minimum of one tree on a lot, with a minimum caliper size of one and one half inches shall be planted and maintained. Existing trees located on a lot and approved for preservation shall be counted toward satisfaction of this requirement. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1651 § 4)

Section 39.08.008 General Provisions

a. Time of Application

The provisions contained in this Article shall be applied for each individual lot or site when an application for a building permit on such lot is made.

b. Maintenance of Required Landscaping

Upon installation of required landscape materials, each owner shall take appropriate actions to ensure their continued health and maintenance. Required landscaping that does not remain healthy shall be replaced consistent with this Article.

c. Obstruction of View

Landscaping or screening installed in any landscaped area shall not obstruct the view from or to any driveway approach, street, alley, sign, or sidewalk and shall not be placed to interfere with the normal lighting of the public rights of way contrary to Section 39.07.002.

d. Earth Berm Locations

All earth berm locations shall be reviewed by the City Engineer, or his/her designee to determine how the berms shall relate to drainage, snow, and public utilities.

e. Exceptions

A development may continue with the bufferyard and screening requirements in effect at the time of issuance of its original permit, regardless of whether an adjacent lot or site is subsequently rezoned to a less intensive district which would otherwise require compliance with bufferyard or screening provisions. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1651 § 5)

Article 39.09 Off-Street Parking

Sections:	
39.09.001	Purpose
39.09.002	General Applications
39.09.003	Schedule of Off-Street Parking Requirements
39.09.004	Parking Facility Location
39.09.005	Parking for People with Disabilities
39.09.006	Off-Street Parking Design Standards
39.09.007	Off-Street Loading
39.09.008	Parking of Certain Vehicles
39.09.009	Supplementary Regulations: Storage and Parking of Unlicensed or Other
	Vehicles

Section 39.09.001 Purpose

The Off-Street Parking Regulations require that developments provide parking in proportion to the need created by each use. The regulations further establish standards for the functional design of parking facilities. These regulations are intended to accommodate vehicles in a functionally satisfactory manner and to minimize external effects on neighboring properties. (Ord. No. 1171, § 1.)

Section 39.09.002 General Applications

Applicability

Paved off-street parking shall be provided for any new building constructed; for new uses or conversions of existing buildings; or for enlargements of existing structures greater than fifty percent (50%) of the existing building footprint; or for an increase in the required parking stalls greater than fifty percent (50%) for the new use or building expansion. This provision shall include a cumulative fifty percent (50%) increase in total building footprint or required parking stalls from and after January 1, 2012.

Required off-street parking areas in nonresidential zoning districts are to be used solely for the parking of licensed motor vehicles in operating condition. Required spaces in nonresidential zoning districts may not be used for the display of goods for sale or lease or for long-term storage of vehicles, boats, motor homes, campers, mobile homes, or building materials. (Ord. No. 1688 § 1)

Exemptions

Any use within the DC Downtown Commercial District is exempt from the off-street parking, payment in lieu of parking, or loading requirements provided by Section 39.09.003. Any off-street parking facility constructed in the DC District after the effective date of this Ordinance must comply with the design standards set forth in this Article. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; 1442 § 1.)

Parking for noncommercial personal and recreational vehicles on a single lot in a residential zoning district is subject to the provisions of Section 39.09.008. (Ord. No. 1688 § 1)

Section 39.09.003 Schedule of Off-Street Parking Requirements

Parking facilities for each use shall be provided in accord with the minimum requirements set forth in Table 9-1.

Computation

- 1. When a computation of required parking results in a fraction of 0.5 or greater, the requirement should be rounded up to the next whole number.
- 2. Unless otherwise indicated, parking requirements are based on net floor area. Net floor areas for the purpose of this calculation is the total floor area within the perimeter of the inside walls of the building deducting for interior walls, hallways, stairs, closets, storage and similar features including other areas such as for the preparation of food and drink, restrooms, waiting rooms and interior space used for the parking or loading of vehicles.
- 3. When parking requirements are computed on the basis of capacity, capacity shall be determined by the building code in effect for the City of Dickinson at the time the use is established. (Ord. No. 1688 § 2)

Table 9-1 Minimum Off-Street Parking Requirements

treet Parking Requirements
Agriculture Use Types
1 space per 1,000 square feet of sales area.
No requirement
Residential Use Types
2 spaces per dwelling unit
2 spaces per dwelling unit
1.5 spaces per efficiency or 1-BR unit; 2 spaces per other units; 1 space per
2 units for elderly housing.
1 space for each two residents
2 spaces per dwelling unit
1 space per independent living unit; 1 space for each 3 units of assisted
living
2 spaces per dwelling unit
Civic Use Types
1 space for 300 square feet of gross floor area
No requirement
1 space per 4 person capacity in largest assembly space
1 space for every 4 students based on average enrollment during previous 5
years

	1
Convalescent Services	1 space for 4 beds
Cultural Services	1 space per 500 square feet of public area
Day Care Services	1 space per 5 person capacity + 1 space per employee of largest shift
Group Care Facility;	1 space per 4 person capacity + 1 space per employee of largest shift
Group Homes	
Health Care	1 space per 300 square feet + 1 space per employee of largest shift
Hospitals	1 space per 2 beds
Maintenance Facilities	See Schedule A
Postal Facilities	
Primary Education	1 space per employee of max shift
Secondary Education	1 space per employee of max shift + 1 space for each 3 11th and 12th grade
Safety Services	1 space per employee of maximum shift + 1 stall per 1,000 sq. ft.
Utilities	1 space per employee of maximum shift
	Commercial Use Types
Agricultural	See Schedule A
Sales/Service; Auto	
Rental and Sales;	
Construction Sales;	
Equipment Sales/Service;	
Surplus Sales	
Auto Service*	4 times service capacity Section 39.04: Use Types -
	"Vehicle Storage"; also,
	Section 39.06: Supplemental Use Regulations,
	"Outdoor Storage."
Body Repair*	5 spaces per repair stall; Section 39.04: Use Types –
	"Vehicle Storage"; also,
	Section 39.06: Supplemental Use Regulations,
	"Outdoor Storage."
Business Support	1 space per 500 square feet
Services;	
Communication	
Services; Personal	
Services; Pet Services;	
Veterinary Services	
Campground	1 space per camping unit
Cocktail Lounge;	1 space per 200 square feet
Consumer Services; Food	
Sales (All Types); Retail	
Services; -Liquor Sales;	
Personal Improvement	
Commercial Recreation	1 space per 2 person capacity. This standard may be reduced by
	up to 20% at the discretion of the City Administrator or designee
	if the site plan demonstrates that circulation and loading patterns
	accommodate adequate space for queuing and temporary parking
	by users during the peak hours of operation.
L	v U 1 1

Convenience Storage	1 space per 20 storage units	
Lodging, Bed and	1 space per unit + 1 space for each 200 square feet of public meeting area	
Breakfast		
Restaurants (Drive-in)	1 space per 50 square feet of customer service area	
Restaurants (General)	1 space per 3 person capacity in dining area	
Stables/Kennels	1 space per employee + 1 stall per 5,000 sq. ft. of site area	
General Offices	1 space per 300 square feet	
Medical Offices	3 spaces per staff doctor or dentist	
	Miscellaneous Use Types	
Broadcasting Tower	No requirement	
Non-Putrescible Landfill	No requirement	
All Landfills	No requirement	
Industrial Use Types		
Resource Extraction	1 space per employee on largest shift	
Agricultural Industries;	See Schedule A	
Light Industry; General		
Industry; Heavy Industry;		
Railroad Facilities;		
Salvage Services;		
Warehousing;		
Construction Yards		

Schedule A

This schedule sets forth minimum off-street parking requirements for uses with elements that have different functions and operating characteristics

Function of Element	Requirement
Office or Administration	1 space per 300 square feet
Indoor Sales, Display or Service Area	1 space per 500 square feet
Outdoor Sales, Display or Service Area	1 space per 2,000 square feet
Equipment Servicing or Manufacturing	1 space per 1,000 square feet
Indoor or Outdoor Storage or Warehousing	1 space per 5,000 square feet

Modifications For Required Parking

When the parking requirement for a use cannot be provided on the same lot as that use, the required parking may be modified on a case by case basis by the Board of Adjustment to allow shared parking and/or a reduction of the parking requirement. In addition to any other application requirements, the application for modification of required parking shall include a site plan depicting the following:

- 1. All existing and proposed buildings and all existing and proposed parking spaces on all lots affected by the proposed modification.
- 2. A schedule reflecting quantity and dimension of all parking spaces depicted on the site plan.
- 3. All areas between the lot containing the principal use and the remote lot, if applicable.

4. Dimension lines indicating the shortest straight-line route and the shortest walkable route between the lot the principle use is located on and the remote lot. (Ord. No. 1688 § 1)

Shared Parking

- 1. For sites with more than one use, the parking requirement shall be the sum of spaces required for each use, except as provided below.
- 2. The Board of Adjustment may authorize an adjustment in the total requirement for separate uses located on the same site or for separate uses located on adjoining sites and served by the same parking facility. The Board of Adjustment shall consider at least the following criteria in determining approval of such an adjustment:
- 3. (a) The characteristics and time of operation of each use, and differences in projected peak parking demand.
 - (b) Potential reduction in total expected vehicle movements afforded by multiple uses of the parking facilities.
 - (c) Functional design of the development and its parking facilities.
 - (d) The normal peak parking times of the two uses do not coincide.
 - (e) Evidence of a written agreement that provides for the joint use of parking facilities. This written agreement shall be recorded with the Stark County Recorder (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1688 § 2)

Reduction of Required Parking

- a. If the requested reduction of required parking is for no more than 25 spaces or 25 percent, the City Administrator or designee may grant permission for a reduction of required parking spaces.
- b. If the requested reduction of required parking is more than 25 percent or more than 25 spaces, the Board of Adjustment may grant permission for a reduction of required parking.
- c. The granting of a reduction of required parking either by the City Administrator or designee or the Board of Adjustment shall be consistent with the following findings;
 - i. There are restrictions of topography, title, lot design, existing building footprint, or required access on the lots that prohibit meeting of the required parking;
 - ii. The applicant has maximized the space available on the lot to accommodate the required parking;
 - iii. The proposed reduction still meets the handicapped parking requirements;
 - iv. The proposed parking reduction shall not cause a recognizable impact on traffic or adjacent land uses;
 - v. The proposed parking requirement shall not adversely affect the public health, safety and welfare; and/or
 - vi. Market data provided by the applicant for similar uses in similar situations justifies a parking demand commensurate with the

proposed reduction of required parking, including the relationship of the building footprint to the lot size.

- d. Reduction of required parking may be granted by the City Administrator/designee or the Board of Adjustment as either
 - i. A reduction of the required parking ratio; or
 - ii. A reduction in the total number of required spaces.
- e. A modification of required parking shall end upon the change or termination of the use for which the modification was granted.
- f. All modifications of the parking requirement shall be memorialized by recording the decision and findings of either the City Administrator/designee or the Board of Adjustment in the County Recorder's Office.

 (Ord. No. 1688 § 2)

Section 39.09.004 Parking Facility Location

Residential Parking

- 1. Off-street parking for residential uses shall be located on the same lot or site as the use. This provision does not include driveways for single-family or duplex residential uses.
- 2. Off-street parking areas for any multi-family residential uses shall be at least six feet from any main building; and shall not be located outside of a surfaced driveway within a required front yard or street side yard.

Non-residential Parking

Off-street parking for non-residential uses shall be located on the same lot or site as the use, or on a remote lot within 300 feet of that use if the parking site is within a zoning district that either permits the Off-Street Parking use type or allows Off-Street Parking with a Special Use Permit. Control of ownership or use rights to the remote off-street parking must be demonstrated as a condition of approval. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.) Off-site parking spaces may not be separated from the use served by a street right-of-way with a width of more than 80 feet, unless a grade-separated pedestrian walkway is provided by the owner, or unless other traffic control or shuttle bus service is provided by the owner to the remote parking area.

- a. The granting of off-street parking on a separate lot or site shall be based upon one or more of the following findings:
 - i. There are restrictions of topography, title, lot design, existing building footprint, or required access that prohibit the parking requirement from being met on the same lot as the principal use;
 - ii. The applicant has maximized the space available on the lot to accommodate the required parking;
 - iii. The handicapped parking requirement is met on the lot that the principle use is on;

- iv. Parking on the remote lot shall not cause a recognizable impact on traffic or adjacent land uses on either the lot that the principal use is on or the remote lot:
- v. Parking on the remote lot shall not adversely affect the public health, safety and welfare; and/or
- vi. Parking spaces available on the remote parking lot are not required to satisfy the required parking for any other use.
- b. Parking spaces on a remote parking lot shall be:
 - i. Secured by a lease to be in effect as long as the principal use exists; and
 - ii. Covered by an agreement providing for the maintenance of the parking spaces; and
 - iii. Posted with permanent signage identifying the principal use that the parking spaces are reserved for.(Ord. No. 1688 § 3)

Section 39.09.005 Parking for People with Disabilities

Each off-street parking facility shall provide the number of parking spaces set forth in ANSI A-117 Standards designed and designated for use by people with disabilities. Design criteria and dimensions are set forth in the Off-Street Parking Design Standards and the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act. Parking facilities for single-family, duplex, and mobile home residential uses are exempt from this requirement.

Van Accessible Stalls: One in every accessible spaces, but not less than one stall on each premises, shall be served by an access aisle with a minimum width of 96 inches and shall be designated as "Van Accessible: (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1688 § 4)

Section 39.09.006 Off-Street Parking Design Standards

Dimensions

Standard parking stalls shall be a minimum of nine feet wide and eighteen feet long. **Pavement and Drainage**

- 1. Off-street parking facilities shall be paved.
- 2. Acceptable surfacing materials shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, asphalt, concrete, brick, cement pavers or similar materials installed and maintained according to industry standards.
- 3. Off-street parking facilities shall be designed and built to prevent the free flow of water onto adjacent properties.

- 4. In the LI or GI zoning districts only, rear yard vehicular circulation areas, not including parking spaces, may be crushed concrete or similar material as approved by the City Administrator or designee.
- 5. All parking areas containing four (4) or more spaces or containing angled parking shall have the parking spaces and aisles clearly marked on the pavement.

(Ord. No. 1688 § 5)

Landscape and Screening Requirements

Unless otherwise noted, each unenclosed parking facility of over 3,000 square feet shall comply with the following regulations:

- 1. Each unenclosed parking facility shall provide a minimum landscaped buffer of ten feet along any street property line.
- 2. Each parking facility that abuts a residential district shall provide a ten foot landscaped buffer along its common property line with the residential district.
- 3. Any parking facility which abuts property in a residential district shall provide a fence, wall, landscape screen, or earth berm not less than four feet in height for the length of the common boundary. A grade change, terrace, or other site feature which blocks the sight line of headlights into a residential property may satisfy this requirement, subject to the determination of the City Administrator or Designee.
- 4. Each unenclosed parking facility of over 4,500 square feet within a street yard shall provide interior landscaped area equal to no less than 5 percent of the total paved area of the parking facility. Parking facilities within the GI District shall be exempt from this requirement.
- 5. Interior landscaping shall be credited toward the satisfaction of overall landscaping requirements set forth in Article 39.08

These requirements may be waived as part of the lot modification process described in Section 39.09.004. (Ord. No. 1688 § 5)

Entrances and Exits

- 1. Adequate access to each parking facility shall be provided by means of clearly defined and limited driveways or access points. Such driveways shall be designed to direct non-residential traffic away from residential areas.
- 2. In the downtown commercial district entrances from arterial to off street parking, facilities shall be located at least 60 feet from the intersections of the curb lines of the intersecting streets.
- 3. In all other districts, the entrances from arterial or collector streets to off street parking facilities shall be located at least 60 feet from the intersections of the curb lines of the intersecting streets.

Safety Features

1. Parking facilities shall be designed to provide visibility of and between pedestrians and vehicles when circulating within or entering or leaving the facility; and shall not create blind, hidden, or hazardous areas.

2. Circulation patterns shall be designed in accord with accepted standards of traffic engineering and safety.

Lighting

Any lighting used to illuminate any off-street parking area shall be arranged to direct light away from adjoining properties in any residential district.

Off-street parking facilities in commercially zoned properties within the corridor overlay district shall include decorative lighting within the first 100 feet of lot frontage. (Ord. No. 1688 § 5)

Maintenance

All parking facilities shall be maintained to assure the continued usefulness and compatibility of the facility. Acceptable maintenance includes keeping the facility free of refuse, debris, and litter; maintaining parking surfaces in sound condition; and providing proper care of landscaped areas.

Special Use Permits

For those uses identified in Article 39.04 as requiring Special Use Permit approval, the City Commission may approve conditions adjusting the minimum requirements of this section, in order to provide design, usability, attractiveness, or protection to adjoining uses in a manner equal to or greater than the minimum requirements of this Article. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1688 § 5)

Section 39.09.007 Off-Street Loading

Loading Requirement

Any use which involves the receipt or distribution of freight, merchandise, supplies, vehicles, or equipment as part of its typical operation shall provide and maintain adequate space for off-street loading and circulation. Loading areas shall be designed to avoid undue interference with the public use of streets and sidewalks.

Schedule of Loading Spaces

Loading spaces for each use requiring them shall be provided in accord with the minimum requirements set forth in Table 9-3.

Table 9-3 Off-Street Loading Requirements

Gross Floor Area of Use (square feet)	Number of Required Loading Spaces
5,000 or less	None
5,001 - 25,000	1
25,001 - 75,000	2
75,001 - 150,000	3
Over 150,000	4 plus one for each additional 100,000 SF

Design Standards

- 1. Each loading space shall be at least 10 feet wide by 50 feet long, with a vertical clearance of at least 14 feet.
- 2. Paving of loading spaces and access areas shall be permanent, durable, and free of dust.
- 3. Off-street loading areas are subject to the landscaping and buffering requirements for parking facilities set forth in this Article. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1688 § 6)

Section 39.09.008 Parking of Certain Vehicles

Applicability

This section permits the parking of certain vehicles on a single lot in a residential district subject to specific conditions. (Ord. No. 1688 § 7, Ord. No. 1754 § 5)

Location of Parking

- 1. Parking of any vehicle is permitted within any enclosed structure when such structure conforms to the regulations of its zoning district.
- 2. Parking of personal vehicles is permitted on a paved driveway (outside of an enclosed structure/garage) within the front yard setback but shall in no case encroach upon the public right-of-way.
- 3. Parking of personal vehicles within an interior side yard must be located on a paved surface on the garage side of the property but shall not encroach upon the public right-of-way. Surface drainage shall maintain the standards set forth in the Dickinson Municipal Code.
- 4. Parking of personal vehicles may occur in the rear yard setback provided that such parking conforms to the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. The parking space shall be provided on either a paved, graveled, or rock surface.
- 5. Commercial vehicles and heavy vehicles shall not be parked on any lot within the R1, R2, R3, and MH residential zoning districts. This section shall apply even if the commercial vehicle or heavy vehicle is not being driven for the purpose of the commercial application, endeavor or business at the time said vehicle is parked within the aforementioned zoning districts.
- 6. All paved surfaces exceeding four feet in width shall require a Driveway/Pad Permit issued by the Building Official or designee.
- 7. Street side yard driveways/pads shall not exceed half of the required setback. (Ord. No. 1688 § 7, Ord. No. 1754 § 5)

Special Provisions for Recreational Vehicles and Boats

Within the R1, R2, R3 and MH residential zoning districts, parking and storage of recreational vehicles and boats is subject to the following additional conditions:

- 1. Recreational vehicles and boats must be maintained in a clean, well-kept state.
- 2. Recreational vehicles and boats shall not be permanently connected to utility lines.
- 3. Recreational vehicles and boats shall not be used for the storage of goods, materials, or equipment other than those items which pertain to the use of the vehicle. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1. Ord. No. 1688 § 7)

Section 39.09.009 Supplementary Regulations: Storage and Parking of Unlicensed or Other Vehicles

The storage or keeping of motor vehicles not having a properly issued current motor vehicle registration and current motor vehicle license plate properly displayed, or in good operable condition, is prohibited on any lot, parcel or tract of land or part thereof, situated within

the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson; provided that conformance with the following shall not constitute a violation of this section:

- 1. The storage of no more than two unlicensed and/or unregistered motor vehicle in a fully-enclosed garage or in a fenced or screened area hidden from view of a public street or adjacent residential property.
- 2. The storage of operable off-highway farm or industrial vehicles on tracts zoned AG Agriculture or LI or GI industrial uses, and used in agricultural or industrial activity conducted on the premises.
- 3. The storage of not more than one personal vehicle in good operable condition and shielded from view of the general public.
- 4. The storage, keeping or abandonment of parts, including scrap metals, from motor vehicles or machinery, or parts thereof, is prohibited on any lot, parcel or tract of land or part thereof, situated within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, except in enclosed buildings or garages, within a permissive zoning district, or where otherwise permitted by this ordinance.
- 5. Parking, storage or keeping, other than in a fully enclosed garage of any non-operable motor vehicle is prohibited on any residential zoned lot, parcel or tract of land or part thereof, situated within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson; provided, however, that automobiles that are non-operable by reasons of repair work being done thereon may be parked on the residential lot of the owner of said automobile within the Dickinson Zoning jurisdiction under the following conditions:
 - (a) The automobile is owned by the occupier of the premises and registered to him/her at that address.
 - (b) The period of said repair work does not exceed ten days in duration.
 - (c) Repair work is at all times conducted on a paved driveway.
 - (d) No more than one automobile in need of repair is situated on the premises at the same time.

(Ord. No. 1688 § 8)

Removal of Vehicles

Before the City removes a vehicle suspected of being in violation of this section, by reason of it being inoperable, the City shall give the owner of the premises upon which the offending vehicle is situated a seventy-two hour warning notice. Notice shall be given by tagging the motor vehicle and by regular mail, postage pre-paid to the occupier of the premises on which the motor vehicle is situated. Any motor vehicle not removed from the premises within such seventy-two hour period shall be presumed to be inoperable and may thereafter be removed by the City. If he/she chooses, the owner may demonstrate operability of the vehicle by making special arrangements with the Dickinson Police Department to demonstrate operability of the vehicle within said seventy-two hour period. If operability of the vehicle is satisfactorily demonstrated, the automobile need not be removed. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; (Ord. No. 1688 § 8)

Article 39.10 Sign Regulations

Sections:	
39.10.10	Purpose
39.10.20	Definition of Terms
39.10.30	General Sign and Street Graphics Regulations
39.10.40	Basic Design Elements for On-Premises Signs
39.10.50	Basic Design Elements for Off-Premises Signs
39.10.60	Other Design Elements
39.10.70	General Permit Procedures
39.10.80	Action and Appeal
39.10.90	Permit Expiration
39.10.100	Assignment of Sign Permits
39.10.110	Non-Conforming Signs
39.10.120	Administration
39.10.130	Severability

Section 39.10.10 Purpose

This Article 39.10 provides standards for communicating information in the environment of the City of Dickinson and its zoning jurisdiction. The regulations recognize the need to protect public health, safety, and welfare; to maintain the City's attractive appearance; to provide for adequate business identification, advertising, and communication of information; and to encourage the fair enforcement of sign regulations.

Section 39.10.20 Definition of Terms

The following definitions shall be used for terms contained in this Article 39.10 that are not otherwise defined in the Dickinson City Code.

<u>Abandoned Sign:</u> A sign which, for a period of at least 180 consecutive calendar days no longer advertises or identifies a legal business establishment, product or activity.

Aggregate sign area: The total available sign area of all sides or portions of a sign.

<u>Animated sign:</u> A sign which has any visible moving part, flashing or osculating lights, visible mechanical movement of any description, or other apparent visible movement achieved by any means that moves, changes, flashes, osculates or visibly alters in appearance.

<u>Attached Sign:</u> A sign which is structurally connected to a building or depends upon that building for support.

<u>Awning:</u> A temporary or movable shelter supported entirely from the exterior wall of a building and composed of non-rigid materials, except for supporting framework.

Awning Sign: A message printed on an awning.

Banner Sign: Material with a printed message or graphic secured or mounted from a structure in such a way as to allow wind movement.

<u>Billboard Sign:</u> An off-premises sign that is principally designed to direct attention to a business, commodity, service, or entertainment conducted, sold, or offered at a location other than the premises on which the sign is located. A Billboard Sign is an off-premises sign.

<u>Building frontage:</u> The linear length of a building facing a public street right-of-way, exclusive of alleys, or the linear length of the street right-of-way, whichever is smaller.

<u>Building Marker:</u> A historic or commemorative plaque, or a building name or cornerstone carved into a masonry surface.

<u>Building Sign:</u> A sign displayed upon or attached to any part of the exterior of a building. Roof signs and wall signs are considered building signs.

<u>Canopy Sign:</u> A roof-like cover, attached or unattached, extending from the exterior wall of a building and composed of supporting framework of rigid materials upon which a sign is indelibly drawn, painted or printed.

<u>Clearance:</u> The distance from the bottom of a sign elevated above grade and the grade below.

<u>Detached Sign:</u> A sign, other than a billboard sign or digital billboard sign, which self-supporting and structurally independent from any is building.

<u>Directional Sign:</u> A sign located at the exit or entrance of a premises that has two or more driveways.

<u>Digital Billboard Sign:</u> A billboard sign that is designed to convey its message, information, and advertising copy by LED or other digital means. A digital billboard sign is an off-premises sign.

<u>Double-Faced Sign:</u> A sign consisting of no more than two parallel faces or V-pattern faces supported by a single structure.

<u>Electronic Message Sign:</u> A sign emitting an illuminated message, image or design created electronically by any light source, LED (light emitting diodes), bare electric bulbs, luminous tubes, fiber optics, or any other combination of light sources creating a message. This definition shall include time, temperature and date signs. An electronic

message sign which has copy which moves or appears to be moving, flashing, changing color, pulsing or alternating shall be considered an animated sign.

<u>Flag:</u> Any fabric, banner or bunting containing distinct colors, patterns or symbols, which is used or may be used as a symbol of a government, political subdivision, corporation, business, or other entity. A flag may also be used to express symbolic speech or for decorative purposes. For the purpose of these regulations, the message expressed by a flag shall not be relevant to the display of the flag.

Ground Sign: A sign, other than a billboard sign or digital billboard sign, that is supported by one or more columns, upright poles, or braces extended from the ground or from an object on the ground, or that is erected on the ground, where no part of the sign is attached to any part of a building with a building clearance less than three feet and vertical clearance of less than three (3) feet. Monument signs are considered ground signs.

<u>Illuminated sign:</u> An illuminated sign is one which either:

Provides artificial light through exposed bulbs, lamps or luminous tubes on the sign surface; Emits light through transparent or translucent material from a source within the sign; or Reflects light from a source intentionally directed upon it.

<u>Illumination:</u> Lighting sources installed for the primary purpose of lighting a specific sign or group of signs.

<u>Marquee:</u> A permanent roof-like shelter extending from part or all of the building face usually over a public right-of-way.

Monument Sign: Any sign, other than a pole or pylon sign, which is placed upon or supported by structures or

<u>Moving Sign:</u> A sign which conveys its message through rotating, changing, or animated elements.

<u>Nonconforming Sign:</u> A sign that was legally erected prior to the adoption of this Article 39.10, but which does not conform to the provisions thereof.

<u>Off-Premises Sign:</u> Any sign that identifies or directs attention to a business, commodity, service, or entertainment conducted, sold, or offered at a location other than the premises on which the sign is located.

<u>On-Premises Sign:</u> Any sign that (1) principally displays a non-commercial message; or (2) identifies or directs attention to a business, commodity, service, or entertainment conducted, sold, or offered at a location on the premises where the sign is located.

Permanent Sign: A sign which is affixed to a building or the ground in compliance with the requirements of the City of Dickinson Building Code and any other applicable Federal, State or local laws and in such a manner as to be immobile without the use of extraordinary means, such as disassembly.

<u>Pole Sign:</u> An on-premises sign built on a freestanding frame, mast or pole(s) with a clearance greater than three (3) feet.

<u>Portable Sign:</u> Any sign supported by frames or posts rigidly attached to bases not permanently attached to the ground or a building and capable of being moved from place to place.

<u>Premises:</u> A tract of one or more lots or sites which are contiguous and under common ownership or control.

Projecting Signs: A sign other than a wall sign that is attached to and projects from a building face.

Pylon sign: Any sign, other than a billboard sign or digital billboard sign, which is supported by structures or supports in or upon the ground and independent of support from any building with a building clearance of three feet and a vertical clearance of four feet or higher. The base width of the pylon sign shall be no less than 50 percent of the sign length. The visible support structures for pylon signs shall be enclosed.

<u>Residential Sign:</u> A small detached or attached sign located on a residential property, conveying a message communicated by the owner of the property.

Roof Sign: Any sign or part of sign erected upon, against, or directly above a roof or on top of or above the parapet or cornice of a building.

<u>Integral Roof Sign:</u> A roof sign positioned between an eave line and the peak or highest point on a roof, substantially parallel to the face of a building.

Above-Peak Roof Sign: A roof sign positioned above the peak of a roof or above a parapet or cornice.

<u>Sign:</u> A symbolic, visual device fixed upon a building, vehicle, structure, or parcel of land which is intended to convey information about a product, business, activity, place, person, institution, candidate, or political idea.

Sign Area: The entire area within the periphery of a regular geometric form, or combination of regular geometric forms, comprising all of the display area of the sign and including all of the elements of the matter displayed, but not including a sign structure that does not bear copy. The surface area of the sign shall be measured from the outside edges of the sign or the sign frame, whichever is greater. A double-faced sign shall be permitted to have the allowed area of a single-faced sign on each of the two faces of the double-faced sign.

<u>Sign Height:</u> Sign height shall be measured from the centerline of the road that provides access to the Premises, nearest the base of the sign to the highest point of the sign structure.

Sign Type: A functional description of the use of an individual sign.

Street Frontage: The length of the property line for a single parcel which runs parallel to and along each public right-of-way (exclusive of alleys) it borders.

<u>Temporary Signs:</u> A sign which is installed for a period not to exceed thirty (30) days. <u>Vision-Clearance Area:</u> An area contained within a triangle with legs of thirty feet from the point at which the curbs or edges of two intersecting streets, private ways, or courts or

an intersecting street, private way, or court and driveway, meet.

Wall Sign: A sign attached to and parallel with the side of a building.

Window Sign: A window sign is one that lets light or air through to the habitable part of the building and which is painted on, attached to or visible through a window excluding displays of merchandise.

Zoned Lot: A parcel of land in single ownership that is large enough to meet the minimum zoning requirements of its zoning district and can provide such yards and other open spaces that are required by the site development regulations.

Section 39.10.30 General Sign and Street Graphics Regulations

A. Compliance

Each sign or part of a sign erected within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson must comply with the provisions of this Article 39.10 and such other relevant provisions of the Dickinson City Code and relevant building codes including the following:

- 1. International Building Code, as adopted by the City of Dickinson
- 2. National Electric Code
- 3. Rules and Regulations Relating to the Control of Advertising in Areas Adjacent to the Interstate and Federal Aid Primary Highways (North Dakota Department of Transportation)

B. Relation to Zoning Regulations and Building Regulations

- 1. Signs, which are considered structures for the purposes of this Article 39.10, shall comply with the land use regulations for the zoning district in which they are located; provided, however, that signs may be located in a setback area required by the zoning district.
- 2. Signs located in the extra-territorial jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, for which the City does not issue building permits, shall secure a proper building permit from Stark County or such other jurisdiction or agency having authority to issue building permits in the extra-territorial area. The City may deny any application for a sign permit in the extra-territorial area in the event that the applicant therefore is not permitted to build the structure by the applicable building authority
- 3. All planned unit development districts (PUD) shall comply with either the requirements of the underlying zoning district or requirements as specified within the PUD.
- 4. Signs located on properties located within the Corridor Overlay District may be subject to additional design standards consistent with the purpose of the Corridor Overlay District.

C. Resolution of Conflicting Regulations

In the event any of the provisions of this Article 39.10 are in conflict with other applicable requirements, the more restrictive requirement shall apply.

D. Prohibited Signs

The following signs are prohibited in all zoning districts:

- 1. Any sign painted on or attached to rocks, trees, or other natural objects.
- 2. Any sign or sign structure that resembles or conflicts with traffic control signs or devices, that misleads or confuses persons traveling on public streets, or that creates a traffic hazard.
- 3. Any sign on or overhanging public property or public right-of-way, unless specifically authorized by the appropriate public agency.
- 4. Any sign that creates a safety hazard by obstructing the clear view of pedestrians or vehicles, or which obscures official signs or signals.
- 5. Abandoned Signs. Any abandoned sign must be removed within six months of date of abandonment. Removal shall include removal of abandoned structural components. If not removed by the property owner in compliance herewith, the City may proceed to remove the abandoned sign and charge the costs thereof to the property owner.
- 6. Any sign that is not clean or in substantial good repair, or is not affixed to a sound structure.

- 7. Any sign advertising activities that are illegal under federal, state, or local laws and regulations.
- 8. Awning signs.
- 9. Roof signs.
- 10. Animated signs that move or change messages and/or displays more than once every one (1) second.
- 11. Electronic message signs that move or change messages and/or displays more than once every one (1) second.
- 12. Moving signs that move or change messages and/or displays more than once every one (1) second.
- 13. Marquee signs that are not constructed of some durable material such as metal, glass or plastic.
- 14. Banners as wall signs.
- 15. Residential signs within the Downtown Commercial ("DC") zoning district.
- 16. Any sign erected or intended for the specific purpose or with the intended effect of hiding or covering from view of the public an adjacent or nearby sign.
- 17. Any sign using or employing flashing, blinking, or moving lights or lighting elements.
- 18. Any sign using or employing neon lights; provided, however, that neon tubing or LED tubing that maintains a constant light and does not have a flashing, blinking, or moving effect shall be permitted.
- 19. Any sign using or employing audio speakers, laser lights, strobe lights, searchlights, beacons, or any similar upward or outward oriented lighting or sound elements.
- 20. Any sign that creates or has the potential to create a public safety hazard.
- 21. Any obscene or indecent sign that, in whole or in part, shows sexually oriented devices, specified anatomical areas, or specified sexual activities as provided in Chapter 3 of the Dickinson City Code.
- 22. Any sign within the vision-clearance area.
- 23. Any sign or advertising device not expressly permitted under this Chapter is prohibited.
- 24. Billboard signs, digital billboard signs, and other off-premises signs are not prohibited under this Code, but shall be permitted only in compliance with Article 39.10.50

E. Exempt Signs

The following signs are permitted in any zoning district and are exempt from other provisions of this Chapter:

- 1. Bulletin boards, provided that they have a maximum sign area of twenty (20) square feet and are not located in the required building setback.
- 2. Temporary signs posted on property that is actively marketed for sale or rent with an area of less than ten (10) square feet.

- 3. Official signs authorized by a government or governmental subdivision which give traffic, directional, or warning information.
- 4. Decorations for display on private property or public property.
- 5. On-premises temporary signs placed within a parcel of property upon which construction activities of any type are being performed with a maximum sign area of ten (10) square feet in residential districts and thirty two (32) square feet in other districts. Such signs must be removed within one week after the completion of the construction project.
- 6. Works of graphic art painted or applied to building walls which contain no advertising or business identification messages.
- 7. Residential signs under two (2) square feet.
- 8. Neighborhood or subdivision identification signs under fifty (50) square feet.
- 9. Street Numbers.
- 10. Signs which are not visible from a public right-of-way, private way, or court or from a property other than that on which the sign is installed.
- 11. Building Markers
- F. Temporary and Civic Signs
 - 1. Temporary or portable signs in Commercial and Industrial zoning districts where a special event, sale, lease, or other conveyance or interest therein is held, subject to the following requirements:
 - (a) Such signs are subject to the permit procedures set forth in this Article 39.10.
 - (b) The size of such signs does not exceed the limitations set forth in Section 39.10.40.
 - (c) No more than one such sign is permitted at any single premises.
 - (d) Temporary or portable signs may be present at any single Premises for a maximum of thirty (30) days per year.
 - 2. Temporary signs are permitted in any zoning district and are exempt from other provisions of this Article, subject to the following requirements.
 - (a) Such signs are installed no earlier than thirty (30) days before the date of an event or election and removed no later than seven (7) days after the date of an event or election.
 - (b) The maximum size of such signs is thirty two (32) square feet when located in any residential and Limited Commercial ("LC") zoning district; and one hundred (100) square feet in any other zoning district.
 - 3. One temporary ground sign may be permitted for a premises that has no permanent sign, provided that such temporary sign may not be displayed for a period of more than 60 days or until installation of the permanent sign, whichever shall occur first. The 60 day period may be extended by the Planning Director if extenuating circumstances exist. (Ord. No. 1610 § 5. Ord. No. 1615 § 1.)

Section 39.10.40 Basic Design Elements For On-Premises Signs

The following on-premises signs are permitted as set forth herein:

- A. Building signs are permitted in all zoning districts except residentially zoned districts subject to the following provisions:
 - 1. Maximum height: A building sign shall not be permitted above the roofline, cornice line, parapet, or the highest point of the building facade.
 - 2. Maximum sign area: Each premises, and in the case of multioccupancy buildings, each unit, shall be permitted to display building
 sign(s), the aggregate sign area of which shall not exceed one square
 foot per each linear foot of building frontage facing a public street or
 parking lot, but in no event more than two hundred (200) square feet of
 aggregate sign area. For each unit not facing a public street or parking
 lot, the aggregate sign area shall not exceed one square foot for each
 lineal foot of unit frontage for the elevation on which the building sign
 will be installed, but in no event more than two hundred (200) square
 feet of aggregate sign area. Each premises shall be entitled to a
 minimum aggregate sign area of twenty (20) square feet.
 - 3. Other limitations: Building signs shall not project more than four feet from the building wall to which the sign is attached, nor shall a building sign project into the public right-of-way
- B. Canopy signs are permitted in commercial and industrial zoning districts subject to the following provisions:
 - 1. Canopy signs shall be allowed in addition to building signs.
 - 2. The aggregate sign area of all canopy signs and building signs combined per elevation shall not exceed the aggregate sign area permitted for building signs.
 - 3. Canopy signs shall not be permitted above the roofline of the canopy structure.
- C. Ground signs: Ground signs are permitted in all zoning classifications subject to the following provisions:
 - 1. General ground sign provisions
 - (a) Maximum Height: The maximum height of ground signs is ten (10) feet. Monument signs shall be set back a minimum of five (5) feet from the right-of-way line, but shall be permitted an increase in height of one foot for each one foot of additional setback provided from the right-of-way line up to a maximum height of twenty (20) feet when adjacent to U.S. Interstate 94 or fifteen (15) feet when adjacent to state highways, arterial roadways, collectors and local roads.
 - (b) Setback: All ground signs shall be set back a minimum of five (5) feet from the property line or rights- of-way.
 - 2. Non-Residential Zoning District
 - (a) Maximum Number:

- I. Each premises having street frontage of less than six hundred (600) feet shall be permitted to have one ground sign.
- II. Each premises with street frontage of six hundred (600) feet or more shall be permitted to have one ground sign and one additional ground sign for each additional six hundred (600) feet of street frontage.

(b) Maximum Sign Area

- I. The maximum allowable aggregate sign area for each ground sign shall not exceed one square foot for each lineal foot of public street frontage on the street where the sign is located or one hundred (100) square feet, whichever is less. A double-faced sign shall be permitted to have the allowed area of a single-faced sign on each of the two faces of the double-faced sign.
- II. If a premises is permitted to have more than one ground sign, then all allowable ground signs may be combined into a single ground sign which shall not exceed two hundred (200) square feet in aggregate sign area, and no single face shall exceed one hundred (100) square feet in aggregate sign area.
- (c) Ground signs shall be placed no closer than three hundred (300) feet apart on the same premises.

3. Residential Zoning Districts

- (a) Each residential dwelling will be permitted to have one ground sign not exceeding six (6) square feet of aggregate sign area and not exceeding six (6) feet in height. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed to permit a sign if private restrictions prohibit or restrict the display of signs.
- (b) Residential support uses: Each residential support use will be permitted to have one ground sign not exceeding thirty two (32) square feet of aggregate sign area and not exceeding eight (8) feet in height.
- (c) Residential entry signs: Not more than two ground signs are permitted to be installed or erected at each entrance to a platted subdivision, multiple family development (apartments, condominiums and mobile home parks) provided the combined aggregate sign area of said signs shall not exceed fifty (50) square feet.
- (d) Residential signs shall not be permitted in the Downtown Commercial ("DC") zoning district.
- D. Pole Signs and Pylon Signs: Pole signs and pylon signs are permitted in all Commercial and Industrial zoning classifications subject to the following provisions:
 - 1. General Pole and Pylon Sign provisions

- (a) Maximum Height: A pole sign shall not exceed twenty (20) feet in height, or forty (40) feet in height if within one hundred (100) feet of I-94 rights-of-way. A pylon sign shall not exceed thirty (30) feet, or fifty (50) in height if within one hundred (100) feet of I-94 rights of way.
- (b) Setback: All pole signs and pylon signs shall be set back a minimum of five (5) feet from the property line and/or right of way line and not within the vision-clearance area.
- (c) Vertical Clearance: All pole signs must have a minimum of ten (10) feet over sidewalks and outside of parking areas and driveways; fourteen (14) feet over parking lots; and eighteen (18) feet over alleys or driveways
- 2. Non-Residential Zoning District
 - (a) Maximum Number:
 - 1. Each premises having street frontage of less than six hundred (600) feet shall be permitted to have one pole sign or pylon sign.
 - 2. Each premises with street frontage of six hundred (600) feet or greater shall be permitted to have one pole sign or pylon sign and one additional pole sign or pylon sign for each additional six hundred (600) feet of street frontage. Pole signs and pylon signs shall be placed no closer than three hundred (300) feet apart on the same premises.

(b) Maximum Sign Area

- 1. The maximum allowable aggregate sign area for each pole sign shall not exceed one square foot for each lineal foot of public street frontage on the street where the sign is located or two hundred (200) square feet, whichever is less and no single sign face shall exceed one hundred (100) square feet in aggregate sign area. A double-faced sign shall be permitted to have the allowed area of a single-faced sign on each of the two faces of the double-faced sign. Pylon signs are allowed an additional twenty percent (20%) increase over the maximum sign area as described above.
- 2. If a premises is permitted to have more than one pole sign or pylon sign, then all allowable pole signs or pylon signs may be combined into a single ground sign which shall not exceed two hundred (200) square feet in aggregate sign area. Pylon signs are allowed an additional twenty percent (20%) increase over the maximum sign area as described above.
- E. Flags. Each premises shall be permitted to display a maximum of number of five (5) flags, and the aggregate sign area of such flags shall not be included in the calculation of building signs for the premises; provided that any flag displayed on a premises shall only be displayed from a flagpole. Additional flags may be permitted by a special use permit.

- F. Window Signs. Window signs shall be permitted, provided that such signs, in aggregate sign area, do not cover more than fifty percent (50%) of the total window surface area of the premises facing a public street or parking lot. Window signs shall not be included in calculating the aggregate sign area for building signs.
- G. On-site directional signs. No individual on-site directional sign shall exceed four square feet in area per sign face. The number of such signs shall be authorized by the local government. (Ord. No. 1610 § 6.)

Section 39.10.50 Basic Design Elements For Off-Premises Signs

Off-premises signs (including billboard signs and digital billboard signs) shall be permitted only as provided in this Section, and shall otherwise comply with all of the terms and conditions of this Article 39.10. Off-premises signs shall not be included with on-premises signs in determining the total number or size of signs permitted on any premises.

- A. Placement of Off-Premises Signs
 - 1. Prior to granting a permit for an off-premises sign, the Building Official (or other appropriate official for signs constructed in the extra-territorial area) shall verify that the off-premises sign as it is proposed to be constructed is structurally sound and complies with all portions of the International Building Code, as adopted by the City of Dickinson, including requiring engineered drawings of the proposed sign.
 - 2. The application for any off-premises sign shall be made by the owner of the sign. The applicant shall supply to the City, prior to the issuance of any permit, sufficient evidence indicating the consent of the owner of the real property on which the sign is proposed to be constructed to the placement of the sign.
 - 3. The applicant shall verify, including by means of a certificate of survey, that the proposed off-premises sign is located on private property and not within any public right-of-way and does not encroach upon such public right-of-way.
 - 4. Off-premises signs are allowed in the General Industrial (GI), Light Industrial (LI), General Commercial (GC), and Community Commercial (CC) zoning districts; provided, however, that off-premises signs shall not be permitted within the designated Renaissance Zone of the City of Dickinson.
 - 5. An off-premises sign shall be allowed only along and oriented towards roads identified as principal arterial roads within the City of Dickinson Comprehensive Plan and Transportation Plan. Designation of such principal arterial roads may be altered from time to time, as provided by law. At the time of its adoption, the Dickinson Comprehensive Plan and Transportation Plan identified the following roads as principal arterial roads:

Interstate-94
3rd Avenue West / Highway 22
Villard Street (from State Avenue to 10th Avenue East)
I-94 Business Loop West

I-94 Business Loop East

B. Size Limitations

- 1. No off-premises sign shall have a sign face area exceeding six hundred seventy two (672) square feet.
- 2. With the exception of portable signs, all off-premises signs shall have a minimum sign face area of two hundred eighty (280) square feet.

C. Height Limitations and Materials for Off-Premises Signs

- 1. Off-premises signs shall be a maximum height of fifty (50) feet if placed along and oriented towards Interstate-94; and a maximum height of forty (40) feet in all other locations.
- 2. Off-premises signs greater than ten (10) feet in height must be constructed of a steel monopole design with a tubular steel support, tubular steel framing, metal catwalk and a single display panel, and a concrete foundation. Applicant shall supply engineered drawings for any off-premises sign; and
- 3. Center mount and flag mount designs shall be allowed, along with double-faced signs. Double-faced signs shall count as one sign. Triangle face billboards are prohibited.

D. Spacing Requirements

- 1. No off-premises sign shall be placed within three hundred (300) feet of any residential zoning district, mixed-use zoning district that allows for residential use, overlay zoning district that allows for residential use, religious institution, park, or school. The spacing distance may be reduced below three hundred (300) feet upon approval of a Special Use Permit as provided in Article 39.12.
- 2. No off-premises sign shall be placed within one thousand (1,000) feet of any other off-premises sign; provided, however, that off-premises signs in existence prior to May 19, 2014, that are located within five hundred (500) feet of any other off-premises sign shall be deemed to be legal conforming signs. Except as it pertains to signs oriented towards Interstate-94, this spacing distance shall include both sides of the public right of way.
- 3. No digital billboard sign may be placed within one thousand five hundred (1,500) feet of any other digital billboard sign, or within one thousand (1,000) feet of any other off-premises sign. Except as it pertains to signs oriented towards Interstate-94, this spacing distance shall include both sides of the public right of way.
- 4. Spacing limitations provided for herein shall apply regardless of whether the measurement is made from a sign permitted under this Article 39.10 or from a sign established as a legal nonconforming use hereunder.
- 5. In the event that two or more sign applications conflict with each other, so that only one of the applications may be granted, the applications shall be considered for approval in accordance with their respective dates of filing. An applicant shall have a period of no more than ten (10) days from the date of filing to correct any deficiencies in the application. If an applicant is unable to correct such deficiencies within the time allotted, the application shall be denied. All subsequent applications shall remain

- pending until resolution of the prior application. If a prior application is granted, all subsequent applications shall be immediately denied. All applicants shall be advised in writing regarding their application status.
- 6. Signs having received prior authorization or that are a legal nonconforming use shall have priority over a later applicant in determining compliance with the spacing restrictions.

E. Digital Billboard Signs

Digital billboard signs are subject to the following additional conditions:

- 1. Hold Time. Digital billboard signs shall display a static message that may not change or be changed for a period of at least seven seconds.
- 2. Message Transitions. Transition from one such static message to the next shall occur within a maximum of one second and without the use of animation, flashing or frame effects.
- 3. Sign Brightness. Digital billboard signs shall come equipped with automatic dimming technology that automatically adjusts the display's brightness based on ambient light conditions. The brightness level for digital billboards shall not increase by more than 0.3 foot-candles over ambient levels.
- F. Prohibited Off-Premises Signs. The following off-premises signs are prohibited:
 - 1. Stacked signs.
 - 2. Signs with more than two faces.
 - 3. Building wraps.
 - 4. Any off-premises sign not specifically allowed for in this Article 39.10.
- G. Illumination of Off-Premises Signs
 - 1. Off-premises signs may not include any revolving or rotating beam or beacon of light that simulates an emergency light or device.
 - 2. Off-premises signs may not include any flashing, blinking, intermittent or moving light or lights.
 - 3. Off-premises signs may be lighted by external lighting, such as floodlights, thin line and gooseneck reflectors, provided the light source is directed upon the face of the billboard and is effectively shielded so as to prevent beams or rays of light from being directed into any portion of the public right-of-way or into any portion of adjacent properties, and the lights are of an intensity that does not cause glare, impair vision, or otherwise interfere with motorists.
 - 4. Off-premises signs may not be illuminated so as to interfere with the effectiveness of, or obscure, an official traffic sign, device or signal.
 - 5. Light fixtures illuminating an off-premises sign may not exceed 400 watts.
 - 6. Digital Billboard Signs shall not include any flashing, intermittent or moving light or lights except those signs giving public service information such as time, date, temperature, and weather. This paragraph does not prohibit an LED display, provided:
 - (a) Each change of message is accomplished in one second or less.

- (b) Each message remains in a fixed position for at least seven seconds.
- (c) Traveling messages (e.g., moving messages, animated messages, full-motion video, and scrolling text messages) or segmented messages shall not be allowed.
- H. Vehicular and Pedestrian Traffic.

All vehicles, equipment, and people used to build, service, maintain and repair the signs must confine their activity so as not to interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic on public roads.

I. Permitting

- 1. Any application for an off-premises sign permit shall meet the requirements for sign permits, and provide the following:
 - (a) Site plan indicating the proposed off-premises sign location, orientation to the roadway, setbacks, and adjacent structures, including parking areas and driveways.
 - (b) A vicinity map indicating nearby off-premises sign and digital billboard signs, and measurements from such signs up to 1,500 feet;
 - (c) Construction plans indicating sign height, dimensions and face area;
 - (d) Proposed lighting plan for the off-premises sign or digital billboard sign; and
 - (e) Written consent of the landowner for the placement of such sign on the property.
- 2. Off-premises signs shall not be permitted before the applicant has submitted to the City the following certifications from the appropriate professionals registered in North Dakota:
 - (a) Certification from a professional engineer registered in the State of North Dakota that the soil and subsoil surface is capable of accepting the projected loads; and
 - (b) Certification from a professional engineer registered in the State of North Dakota as to the structural strength of the sign;
- 3. Off-premises signs shall not be permitted by the City until a permit has been issued by the North Dakota Department of Transportation, when required.
- 4. A sign permit for an off-premises sign shall be valid for twelve (12) months. If no construction has commenced at the site within twelve (12) months of the date of approval of the permit, the permit shall become null and void.
- 5. A sign permit issued under the authority of these regulations shall in no way relieve the applicant or property owner from permitting pursuant to the Building Code.
- J. Sign Maintenance

Every sign or other advertising structure, together with all its supports or braces, shall be kept in good repair. The sign location shall be free of rubbish and

weeds. All structural members and all copy areas shall be kept painted and clean so as to prevent deterioration, oxidation, rust, paint fading, paint peeling or other unsightly conditions.

K. Sign Ownership

Each sign application shall include identification of the sign owner and the sign owner's contact information, including post office address and phone number, in order to allow for proper notification. The identified sign owner shall be responsible for all required maintenance of the sign and compliance with the terms and conditions of this Article 39.10. In the event of a change in ownership of a sign, the new owner thereof shall be responsible to notify the City of new owner's name and contact information.

L. Sign Removal

Permanent signs which are erected or maintained in violation of this Article 39.10 shall be removed after notice to do so. The City shall notify the owner of such sign in writing of such violation and provide the owner 30 days to remove the sign or to bring it into compliance with this Article. Upon the failure to remove the sign or comply with the notice, the City shall cause the removal of the sign. Any costs of removal incurred by the City shall be assessed to the owner of the property on which sign is located and may be collected in the manner of ordinary debt or in the manner of taxes, and such charge shall be a lien on the property.

Section 39.10.60 General Regulations: Other Design Elements

A. Illumination

- 1. Lighting, when installed, must be positioned in such a manner that light is not directed onto an adjoining property or onto a public street or highway.
- 2. Indirect illumination and internal illumination shall be allowed for civic uses in residential zoning districts and for all uses in non-residential zoning districts and the MH zoning district.
- 3. Electronic Message Signs shall be allowed in all non-residential zoning districts.

B. Marquee Signs

Signs placed on, attached to, or constructed on a marquee are subject to the maximum projection and clearance regulations of projecting signs.

C. Banners

- 1. A banner sign projecting from a building may not exceed the wall height of the building.
- 2. Maximum projection for any banner is five (5) feet from a building with a minimum clearance of ten (10) feet.
- 3. Maximum size of a banner is the lesser of twice the permitted size of a projecting sign or one hundred twenty (120) square feet.

D. Clocks

For the purposes of this Article 39.10, clocks are not considered moving signs.

E. Sign Design

All permanent signs permitted herein must be designed to be architecturally compatible with the building design on the site.

Section 39.10.70 General Permit Procedures

A. Applicability

Any installation, modification, or expansion of any sign which is not exempt from the provisions of this Article 39.10 shall be subject to the following permit procedure prior to installation.

B. Maintenance of Valid Sign Permit

The owner of a sign requiring a permit under this ordinance shall at all times maintain in force a sign permit for such property. Sign permits shall be issued for individually zoned lots. A sign permit may be revoked if the sign is not maintained in good condition.

C. Sign Permit Applications

All applications for sign permits shall be submitted to the Community Development Director upon the specified application form.

- D. Any nonresidential development with three (3) or more tenants shall submit a sign plan, which includes the following:
 - 1. A summary table listing the location, sign type and area of any existing and proposed signs.
 - 2. A fully dimensioned and scaled elevation drawings of any proposed sign, showing sign type, height, structure and sign area.
 - 3. For building signs, an elevation of the building, showing placement of any sign.
 - 4. If the sign is to be electrically lighted, additional information regarding the Testing Laboratory or the ETL No., and the name and address of the electrical contractor as required by the Community Development Director.
 - 5. Information regarding the type of construction, sign supports and electrical details. Fawned load calculations and footer details as required by the Building Code.

Section 39.10.80 Action and Appeal

After submission of a complete application for a sign permit, the Community Development Director shall either:

- 1. Issue the sign permit, if the sign conforms to the provisions of this Article.
- 2. Reject the sign permit if the sign(s) that is the subject of the application fails in any way to conform to the requirements of this Article 39.10. The cause for rejection shall be stated in writing.
- 3. Determinations of the Community Development Director may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment, as provided in Article 39.12.

Section 39.10.90 Permit Expiration

If a sign is not constructed in accordance with an approved permit within twelve (12) months of the date of approval, such permit shall lapse and become null and void.

Section 39.10.100 Assignment of Sign Permits

A current and valid sign permit shall be freely assignable to any successor-in-interest.

Section 39.10.110 Illegal and Nonconforming Signs

- A. Any sign erected after May 19, 2014, within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson that does not conform to the provisions of this Article 39.10 shall be deemed an illegal sign and shall be removed at the sole cost and expense of the owner thereof. The City shall notify the owner of such sign in writing of such violation and provide the owner thirty (30) days to remove the sign or to bring it into compliance with this Article. Upon any failure to remove the sign or comply with the notice, the City shall cause the removal of the sign. Any costs of removal incurred by the City shall be assessed to the owner of the property on which sign is located and may be collected in the manner of ordinary debt or in the manner of taxes, and such charge shall constitute a lien on the property.
- B. Any permanent sign in place and lawfully established as of May 19, 2014, that does not conform to the provisions of this Article 39.10 shall be deemed a legal nonconforming sign.
- C. A legal nonconforming sign that is permanently affixed to the ground or to a building may continue to be used and its copy changed from time to time; provided, however, that the nonconforming sign (a) shall not be replaced except in conformity with this Article; and (b) shall not be enlarged, altered, or reconstructed except in conformity with this Article. Such legal nonconforming sign may be repaired to the extent necessary to maintain it in a safe and sanitary condition.
- D. Any legal nonconforming sign may be reconstructed, altered, or repaired after any damage not exceeding fifty percent (50%) of its replacement cost, provided that the sign's degree of nonconformity is not increased in any way.
- E. Any legal nonconforming sign that is presently or becomes structurally damaged in excess of fifty percent (50%) of its replacement cost at the time of such destruction shall not be reconstructed, repaired, or altered except in conformity with this Article 39.10. The owner of such structurally-damaged sign shall apply for a new sign permit in accordance with this Article 39.10 in order to construct a conforming replacement sign.

Section 39.10.120 Administration

The Community Development Director or his designee shall be the administrator of this Article.

Section 39.10.130 Severability

In the event any section of this Article 39.10 is held invalid by court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity shall extend only to the section affected, and other sections of this Article 39.10 shall continue in full force and effect. (Ord. No. 1540 § 1.)

Article 39.11 Nonconforming Development

Sections:	
39.11.001	Purpose
39.11.002	Regulations Additive
39.11.003	Nonconforming Lots
39.11.004	Nonconforming Structures
39.11.005	Nonconforming Uses

Section 39.11.001 Purpose

Article Eleven shall be known as the Nonconforming Development Regulations. The purposes of these regulations are:

- a. To allow for reasonable use of legally created lots of record which do not meet current minimum requirements for their respective zoning districts.
- b. To provide for reasonable use of legally constructed structure which do not meet current site development regulations for their respective zoning districts.
- c. To allow for the reasonable continuation of legally established uses which do not meet current site development regulations for their respective zoning districts.
- d. To limit the continuation and provide for the gradual replacement of nonconforming uses. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.11.002 Regulations Additive

Regulations for nonconforming uses are in addition to regulations for nonconforming structures. In the event of a conflict, the most restrictive regulation shall apply. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.11.003 Nonconforming Lots

a. Pre-Existing Lots of Record

Nonconforming lots of record existing at the time of the adoption of this chapter shall be exempt, unless otherwise provided, from the minimum lot area in the lot width requirements of each zoning district. Such lots may be developed with use allowed by the regulations for the district and must comply with all other site development regulations set forth by the Zoning Ordinance.

b. Reductions Due to Public Acquisition

If a portion of a legally existing lot in any district is acquired for public use, the remainder of this lot shall be considered a conforming lot.

c. <u>Nonconforming Lots</u>

A nonconforming lot may be developed if a Special Use Permit is granted meeting the following criteria: (1) The lot size is not less than 25% of the minimum lot size for the district; (2) The proposed building shall be compatible in style, height, size, materials and site design of adjacent buildings; (3) The building shall meet the zoning district and all applicable development regulations, including but not limited to, setbacks and lot coverage; and (4) The property owner is not the originator of the nonconforming lot size. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.11.004 Nonconforming Structures

These regulations apply to buildings and structures which were constructed legally under regulations in effect before the effective date of this Ordinance.

a. Continuation

A lawful nonconforming structure existing on the effective date of this Title may be continued, repaired, maintained, or altered, subject to the provisions of this Section.

b. Additions or Enlargements to Nonconforming Structures

- 1. A lawful nonconforming structure may be added to or enlarged if the addition satisfies one or more of the following conditions:
 - (a) The enlargement or addition, when considered independently of the existing building, complies with all applicable setback, height, off-street parking, and landscaping requirements.
 - (b) The nonconforming building and impervious surface coverage's on the site are not increased and the building, after the addition, conforms to height and off-street parking regulations applicable to its zoning district.
 - (c) The addition projects no further into a required side yard setback than the existing building wall; and the enlarged building complies with building and impervious coverage, front and rear yard setbacks, and height regulations applicable to its zoning district.

c. Moving of Nonconforming Structures

A lawful nonconforming building or structure shall not be moved in whole or in part to another location on its lot unless every part of the structure conforms to all site development regulations applicable to its zoning district.

d. Repair of Nonconforming Structures

A lawful nonconforming building damaged by fire, explosion, storm or other calamity, except flood damages, may be repaired and reconstructed provided there is no increase in the degree of nonconformity. Repair and reconstruction within the designated floodplain shall be in conformance with Floodplain development regulations. (Ord. No. 1423 § 1.)

e. Conversion of a Conforming Building

A conforming building shall not be changed in any way that will result in a nonconforming development.

f. Applicability of Landscaping and Screening Regulations

A pre-existing structure, building, or development shall be exempt from Article Eight, Landscaping and Screening Regulations. Any expansion of such structure, building, or development or any adjacent new development onto property that is or becomes vacant on or after the effective date of this Ordinance shall be subject to Article Eight. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.11.005 Nonconforming Uses

a. <u>Continuation of Nonconforming Uses</u>

Any nonconforming use lawfully existing on the effective date of this Ordinance may continue, subject to the limitations of this Section.

b. Enlargement of Nonconforming Uses

A building or structure housing a lawful nonconforming use may not be added to or enlarged.

c. <u>Abandonment of Nonconforming Use</u>

If any structure or property used as a lawful nonconforming use becomes vacant or unused for a continuous period of one year, any subsequent use must conform to all use regulations applicable to the property's zoning district.

d. Change of Use

1. A lawful nonconforming use may be changed only to a use type permitted in a zoning district that is equal to or less intensive than that normally required for the previous use.

e. <u>Allowance for Repair</u>

Repairs and maintenance of a structure occupied by a nonconforming use may be made, provided that no structural alterations are made other than those required by law.

f. Damage or Destruction of Structures

Should a structure occupied by a lawful nonconforming use be damaged to the extent that the cost of restoration exceeds 50 percent of the replacement cost of the structure, the nonconforming use shall no longer be permitted.

g. <u>Nonconforming Uses and Conditional and Special Use Permits</u>

A lawful pre-existing use which would require a Special Use Permit in its zoning district shall be presumed to have the appropriate Permit and shall be considered a conforming use. The use shall be subject to the regulations governing lapses or revocation of Permits, set forth in Article 39.12. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Article 39.12 Administration and Procedures

Sections:	
39.12.001	Purpose
39.12.002	Site Plan Review Procedure
39.12.003	Special Use Permit Procedure
39.12.004	Amendment Procedure
39.12.005	Extension of the Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction
39.12.006	Building Permits and Certificates of Zoning Compliance
39.12.007	Schedule of Fees, Charges and Expenses
39.12.008	Planning Commission - Created; Membership – Repealed 10-5-15
39.12.009	Same - Terms; Compensation
39.12.010	Board of Adjustment
39.12.011	Powers and Duties of the Board of Adjustment
39.12.012	Appeals From The Board of Adjustment
39.12.013	Duties of Building Official, Board of Adjustment, City Commission, and
	Courts on Severability Clause
39.12.014	Severability Clause
39.12.015	Complaints Regarding Violations
39.12.016	Penalties for Violation
39.12.017	Temporary Use Permits

Section 39.12.001 Purpose

The Administration and Procedures Provisions establish the methods for implementation of the Zoning Ordinance. These provisions include procedures for reviewing specific uses within certain zoning districts; amending the Zoning Ordinance; and granting variances. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.002 Site Plan Review Procedure

a. <u>Purpose</u>

The Site Plan Review Procedure provides for the administrative review in addition to plan review required by other sections of the Dickinson Municipal Code of projects that have potentially significant effects on traffic circulation or a significant effect on land uses in adjacent neighborhoods. The procedure provides for review and evaluation of site development features and possible mitigation of unfavorable effects on surrounding property.

b. Administration

The Building Official, or his/her designee shall review, evaluate, and act on all site plans submitted pursuant to this procedure. An applicant may appeal a denial of any application to the Board of Adjustment.

c. <u>Uses Requiring Site Plan Review</u>

All uses listed below shall follow the Site Plan review procedure prior to the issuance of a building permit, unless they are otherwise subject to a Special Use Permit procedure for specific zoning districts.

d. <u>Application Requirements</u>

An application for a Site Plan Review may be filed by the owner(s) of a property or the owners' authorized agent with the Building Official. The application shall include the following information:

- 1. Name and address of the applicant.
- 2. Owner, address, and legal description of the property.
- 3. A description of the nature and operating characteristics of the proposed use.
- 4. A site plan, drawn to a scale sufficient to permit adequate review and dimensioned as necessary, showing the following information:
 - a) The date, scale, north point, title, name of owner, and name of person preparing the site plan.
 - b) The location and dimensions of boundary lines, easements, and required yards and setbacks of existing and proposed buildings and site improvements.
 - c) The location, size, and use of proposed and existing structures on the site.
 - d) The location of all proposed site improvements, including parking and loading areas, pedestrian and vehicular access, sewers, sidewalks, utilities, service areas, fencing, screening, landscaping, and lighting.
 - e) Location of any major site feature, including drainage and contours at no greater than five foot intervals.
 - f) Any other information that may be required for review by the Building Official, or his/her degree.

e. <u>Administrative Action and Appeal</u>

The Building Official, or his/her designee must act upon each complete application within ten working days of filing. An applicant may appeal a denial to the Board of Adjustment within ten days of the action. The Board of Adjustment shall consider the appeal at the first available meeting after the filing of the appeal.

f. Review and Evaluation

- 1. The Building Official, or his/her designee (or the Board of Adjustment in cases of appeal), shall review and approve the site plan based on the criteria established in Table 12-1 and conformance with applicable regulations in this Zoning Ordinance.
- 2. The Building Official, or his/her designee (or the Board of Adjustment in cases of appeal), shall make the following findings before approval of the site plan:
 - a) The proposed development, together with any necessary modifications, is compatible with the criteria established in Table 12-1.
 - b) Any required modifications to the site plan are reasonable and are the minimum necessary to minimize potentially unfavorable effects.
 - c) The site plan conforms to the Zoning Ordinance.

g. <u>Modification of Site Plan</u>

The Building Official, or his/her designee (or the Board of Adjustment in cases of appeal), may require modification of a site plan as a prerequisite for approval. Required modifications may be more restrictive than base district regulations and may include, but not be limited to, additional landscaping or screening; installation of erosion control measures; improvement of access or circulation; rearrangement of structures on the site; or other modifications deemed necessary to protect the public health, safety, welfare, community character, property values, and/or aesthetics.

h. Term and Modification of Approval

- 1. A Site Plan Approval shall become void two years after the date of approval, unless the applicant receives a Building Permit and diligently carries out development prior to the expiration of this period.
- 2. The Building Official, or his/her designee, may approve an application to modify a previously approved site plan if he/she determines that the modification does not affect findings related to the criteria set forth in Table 12-1.
- 3. The Building Official, or his/her designee may revoke a Site Plan Approval if he/she determines that the development is not complying with the terms and conditions of the approval. Such revocation may be appealed to the Board of Adjustment.

i. Approval to Run with Land

An approval pursuant to this section shall run with the land until the expiration date of such approval. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.003 Special Use Permit Procedure

a. Purpose

The Special Use Permit Procedure provides for public review and discretionary City Commission approval for uses within zoning districts which have unusual site development or operating characteristics that could adversely affect surrounding properties.

b. Administration

The Planning Commission shall review and evaluate each application and transmit its recommendation to the City Commission. The City Commission shall review, evaluate, and act upon all applications submitted pursuant to this procedure.

c. <u>Application Requirements</u>

An application for a Special Use Permit may be filed with the Planning Director or designee by the owner(s) of a property or the owners' authorized agent. The application, shall, at a minimum, include the following information:

- 1. Name and address of the applicant.
- 2. Owner, address and legal description of the property.
- 3. A description of the nature and operating characteristics of the proposed use.
- 4. Any graphic information, including site plans, elevations, other drawings, or other materials determined by the Building Official to be necessary to describe the proposed use to approving agencies.
- 5. Completed submittal Checklist with all required agency comments. (Ord. No. 1610 § 7.)

d. Approval Process

The Planning Commission, following proper notice, shall hold a public hearing on each Special Use Permit, and following such public hearing, shall recommend action to the City Commission. Notice for a Special Use Permit shall be the same as provided for rezonings, as set forth in Section 39.12.004.

The City Commission, after publication, shall act on the Special Use Permit. A majority vote of those members elected to the City Commission is required for approval. The City Commission may apply any reasonable conditions to the approval of the permit.

e. Criteria for Review

1. The Planning Commission and the City Commission shall review and approve the site plan based on the criteria established in Table 12-1 and conformance with applicable regulations in this Zoning Ordinance.

f. Scope of City Commission's Approval

- 1. The City Commission may, at its discretion, apply a Special Use Permit to a specific owner or applicant. The City Commission may establish special site development or operational regulations as a condition for approval of a Special Use Permit.
- 2. The City Commission shall not grant a Special Use Permit for any home occupation/homebased business which is otherwise prohibited under Section 39.06.008 of this Ordinance.

g. <u>Lapse and Revocation of Permit</u>

- 1. A Special Use Permit shall become void two years after its effective date if the applicant has not carried out development or occupancy during that period.
- 2. The City Commission may revoke a Special Use Permit should the operation of the use subject to such permit violate the conditions under which the permit was granted.

h. <u>Previously Approved Permits</u>

Any special use approved under regulations in effect before the effective date of this Ordinance shall be considered to have a valid Special Use Permit, subject to requirements imposed at the time of its approval. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Table 12-1: Criteria For Site Plan Review and Special Use Permits

<u>Land Use</u> <u>Compatibility</u>	<u>Criteria</u>	Applies To	
		Site Plan Review	Special Use Permit
Development Density	Site area per unit or floor area ratio should be similar to surrounding uses if not separated by major natural or artificial features		X
Height and Scale			

Height and Bulk	Development should minimize differences in height and building size from surrounding structures. Differences should be justified by urban design considerations.	X	X
Setbacks	Development should respect pre-existing setbacks in surrounding area. Variations should be justified by site or operating characteristics.	X	X
Building Coverage	Building coverage should be similar to that of surrounding development of possible. Higher coverage should be mitigated landscaping or site amenities.	X	X
Site Development			
Frontage	Project frontage along a street should be similar to lot width	X	X
Parking and Internal Circulation	Parking should serve all structures with minimal conflicts between pedestrians and vehicles	X	X
	All Structures must be accessible to public safety vehicles	X	X
	Development must have access to adjacent public streets and ways. Internal circulation should minimize conflicts and congestion at public access points.	X	X
Landscaping	Landscaping should be integral to the development, providing street landscaping, breaks in uninterrupted paved areas, and buffering where required by surrounding land uses. Parts of site with sensitive environmental features or natural drainage ways should be preserved.	X	X
Operating Characteristics			
Traffic Capacity	Project should not reduce the existing level of traffic service on adjacent streets. Compensating improvements will be required to mitigate impact on street system operations	X	X

External Traffic Effects	Project design should direct non-residential traffic away from residential areas.	X	X
Operating Hours	Projects with long operating hours must minimize effects on surrounding residential areas.	X	X

Table 12-1: Criteria For Site Plan Review and Special Use Permits

Land Use Compatibility	Criteria	Applies To	
		Site Plan Review	Special Use Permit
Operating			
Characteristics			
Outside Storage	Outside storage areas must be screened		
	from surrounding streets and less intensive	X	X
	land uses.		
Public Facilities			
Sanitary Waste Disposal	Developments within 200 feet of a public		
•	sanitary sewer must connect to sewer		
	system. Individual disposal systems, if	X	X
	permitted, shall not adversely affect public		
	health, safety, or welfare		
	Sanitary sewer must have adequate capacity		
	to serve development.	X	X
Storm Waste	Development should handle storm water		
Management	adequately to prevent overloading of storm	X	X
-	water management system.		
	Development should not inhibit	V	V
	development of other properties.	X	X
	Development should not increase		
	probability of erosion, flooding, landslides,	X	X
	or other run-off related effects.		
Utilities	Project must be served by utilities	X	X
	Rural estate subdivisions should be located		
	in designated areas which can accommodate		
	utility and infrastructure installation	X	X
	consistent with the need to protect the		
	environment and public health.		
Comprehensive Plan	Projects should be consistent with the City		
•	of Dickinson's Comprehensive	X	X
	Development Plan. (Ord. No.1171 § 1.)	7.	7.1

Section 39.12.004 Amendment Procedure

a. <u>Purpose</u>

The Amendment Procedures describe the methods by which changes may be made in the text of the Zoning Ordinance (text amendment) and/or the official boundaries of zoning districts (rezoning).

b. Initiation of Amendments

- 1. Text amendments may be initiated by the Planning Commission or City Commission.
- 2. Re-zonings may be initiated by a property owner or authorized agent; the Planning Commission; or the City Commission.

c. Rezoning Application Requirements

An application for a rezoning may be filed with the Planning Director, or his/her designee. The application shall, at a minimum, include the following information:

- 1. Name and address of the applicant.
- 2. Owner, address and legal description of the property.
- 3. A description of the reason for the rezoning application and the nature and operating characteristics of the proposed use.
- 4. Any graphic information, including site plans, elevations, other drawings, or other materials determined by the Building Official to be necessary to describe the proposed use to approving agencies.
- 5. Completed submittal checklist with all required agency comments.

d. <u>Amendment Process</u>

- 1. The Planning Commission, following fifteen (15) days' notice and publication, shall hold a public hearing on each proposed text or rezoning and, following such public hearing, shall recommend action to the City Commission. A vote either for or against an amendment by a majority of all Planning Commission members shall constitute a recommendation to the City Commission. A vote either for or against an amendment by less than a majority of all Planning Commission members shall constitute a failure to make a recommendation to the City Commission.
- 2. The City Commission shall act on the proposed amendment. On applications which receive a recommendation of approval from the Planning Commission, a majority vote of those members elected to the City Commission is required for approval.
- 3. Protest: If a valid protest petition opposing an amendment is filed with the City Administrator, or his designee, by eligible property owners, a three-fourths vote of those members elected to the City Commission is required for approval. A valid protest petition must meet the following criteria:
 - (a) Submission of the petition in the office of the Building Inspector within (14) fourteen days after the conclusion of the public hearing on the amendment by the Planning Commission.
 - (b) Notarized signatures by at least one of the following:
 - (1) The owner or owners of at least 20% of the property proposed for rezoning.

- (2) The owners of 20% of the total area, excepting public rights-of-way and public property, within the zoning jurisdiction of the city and within 150 feet of the proposed rezoning. (Ord. No. 1610 § 7.)
- e. <u>Required Notice and Publication for Rezoning, Special Use Permits, and Text</u>
 Amendments
 - 1. Prior to consideration of a rezoning or Special Use Permit, notice of public hearings shall be provided by the following methods, as determined by the City:
 - (a) Publication: At least fifteen days before the date of hearing, the Zoning Administrator shall have published in a daily newspaper having a general circulation in the City of Dickinson a Notice of the time, place and subject matter of such hearing.
 - (b) Notification by Mail: At least ten days prior to the date of hearing, the party initiating the rezoning request shall present the Zoning Administrator a certified address list of those persons who own property within 300 feet of the subject site. The Zoning Administrator shall mail notice of the time, place and subject matter of the hearing to such property owners at least ten days prior to the date of the hearing.
 - (c) Notification by Petition: The applicant shall acquire the signatures of the owners of all properties within 200 feet of the property line in question indicating their approval of the proposed rezoning.
 - 2. Prior to consideration of a text amendment, notice of public hearings shall be provided by publication as provided in Section 1204 d (1) above.
- f. Notification By Mail of School District

The Zoning Administrator shall mail notice of the time, place and subject matter of any Planning Commission rezoning hearings to the Public and Parochial School District Administrative Officials and/or Chairs of the Board of Education, within whose boundaries the subject site is located. The notification shall be submitted to the applicable official and/or Board of Education at least ten days prior to the date of such meeting. Each school district to be affected by such rezoning proposal shall be notified. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.005 Extension of the Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction

Upon the automatic extension of the one-mile Extra-Territorial Jurisdiction due to annexation, the City Commission with the recommendation of the Planning Commission shall zone properties within the newly established Jurisdiction concurrent with adoption of the annexation ordinance. The zoning shall consider the Comprehensive Development Plan of the City of Dickinson and the present use of the land. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.006 Building Permits and Certificates of Zoning Compliance

a. <u>Administration and Enforcement</u>

The Building Official shall administer and enforce this ordinance. The City Commission may direct other persons to assist him/her.

If the Building Official, or his/her designee shall find that any of the provisions of this ordinance are being violated, he/she shall notify in writing the person responsible for such violations, indicating the nature of the violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it. He/she shall order discontinuance of illegal use of land, buildings, or structures; removal of illegal buildings or structures or of illegal additions, alterations, or structural changes; discontinuance of any illegal work being done; or shall take any other action authorized by this ordinance to ensure compliance with or to prevent violation of its provisions.

b. <u>Building Permits Required</u>

No building or other structure shall be erected, moved, added to, or structurally altered without a permit therefore, issued by the Building Official. No building permit shall be issued by the Building Official except in conformity with the provisions of this ordinance, unless he/she receives a written order from the Board of Adjustment in the form of an administrative review, special exception, or variance as provided by this ordinance.

c. Application for Building Permit

All applications for building permits shall include plans if applicable in duplicate drawn to scale, showing the actual dimensions and shape of the lot to be built upon; the exact sizes and locations on the lot of buildings already existing; if any; and the location and dimension of the proposed building or alteration.

The application shall include such other information as lawfully may be required by the Building Official, including existing or proposed building or alterations; existing or proposed uses of the building and land; the number of families; housekeeping units, or rental units the building is designed to accommodate; conditions existing on the lot; and such other matters as may be necessary to determine conformance with, and provide for the enforcement of this ordinance.

One copy of the plans shall be returned to the applicant by the Building Official, after he/she shall have marked such copy either as approved or disapproved and attested to same by his signature on such copy. One copy of the plans, similarly marked, shall be retained by the Building Official.

d. <u>Certificates of Zoning Compliance for New, Altered, or Non-Conforming Uses</u>

It shall be unlawful to use or occupy or permit the use or occupancy of any building or premises, or both, or part thereof hereafter created, erected, changed, converted, or wholly or partly altered or enlarged in its use or structure until a certificate of zoning compliance shall have been issued therefore by the Building Official stating that the proposed use of the building or land conforms to the requirements of this ordinance.

e. Expiration of Building Permit

1. If the work described in any building permit has not begun within 180 days from the date of issuance thereof; said permit shall expire; it shall be canceled by the

- Building Official; and written notice thereof shall be given to the persons affected.
- 2. If the work described in any building permit has not been substantially completed within two years of the date of issuance thereof, said permit shall expire and be canceled by the Building Official, and written notice thereof shall be given to the persons affected, together with notice that further work as described in the canceled permit shall not proceed unless and until a new building permit has been obtained.
- 3. The expiration date of a building permit may be established for a period longer than two years if established at the time that such permit is issued by the City. The Building Official, or his/her designee may, at his/her discretion extend the expiration period of the building permit.
- f. <u>Construction and Use to be as Provided in Applications, Plans, Permits, and Certificates of Zoning Compliance</u>

Building permits or certificates of zoning compliance issued on the basis of plans and applications approved by the Building Official authorize only the use, arrangement, and construction set forth in such approved plans and applications, and no other use, arrangement or construction. Use, arrangement, or construction at variance with that authorized shall be deemed violation of this ordinance, and punishable as provided by Section hereof. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.007 Schedule of Fees, Charges and Expenses

The City Commission shall establish a schedule of fees, charges, and expenses and a collection procedure for building permits, certificates of zoning compliance, appeals, and other matters pertaining to this ordinance.

The schedule of fees shall be posted in the office of the Building Official, and may be altered or amended only by the City Commission.

Until all applicable fees, charges, and expenses have been paid in full, no action shall be taken on any application or appeal. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.008 Planning Commission - Created; Membership

Repealed. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1593 § 2)

Section 39.12.009 Same - Terms; Compensation

Terms for city planning commission members shall be for three years, with such terms expiring on December 31 of the third year following the appointment. Members of the planning commission as of January 1, 2000 shall continue to serve the terms for which they were appointed, with all subsequent appointments being three-year terms.

Ex officio members, county seat representatives and board of county commissioners' members shall serve for the period of their respective elected or appointed terms.

Appointments to fill vacancies shall be for the unexpired portion of that term.

Members of the planning commission may receive compensation as established by the board of city commissioners. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1200, § 3.)

Section 39.12.010 Board of Adjustment

a. <u>Establishment</u>

- 1. A Board of Adjustment is hereby established to provide relief in situations of hardship or to hear appeals as provided by this Section. The Board shall consist of five regular members, plus one additional alternate member who shall attend and vote only when one member is unable to attend for any reason.
- 2. Each member shall be appointed by the board of city commissioners for a threeyear term and is removable for cause by the board of city commissioners. Said terms shall expire on December 31 of the third year following the appointment, except that members of the Board of Adjustment as of January 1, 2000 shall continue to serve the terms for which they were appointed. Vacancies shall be filled for the unexpired term of any member whose term becomes vacant.
- 3. The Board of Adjustment shall adopt rules and regulations in accordance with this ordinance and the laws of the State of North Dakota pursuant to Sections 40-47 of North Dakota Century Code. Meetings shall be held at the call of the Chairman and at such other times as the Board may determine. Such chairman, or, in his absence, the acting chairman, may administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. All meetings and records shall be open to the public. The Board shall keep minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each member upon each question, or, if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact.

The Board shall keep a record of its examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in the office of the Board and shall be a public record. Four members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

b. Procedure for Appeals

- 1. Appeals shall be made to the Board of Adjustment through the office of the Building Official in written form as determined by the Building Official. The Board shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal and shall decide the appeal within 30 days of the date of the public hearing. An appeal stays all proceedings in furtherance of the action, unless the Building Official certifies to the Board that by reason of the facts stated in the certificate, a stay would, in his/her opinion, cause imminent peril to life or property.
- 2. The Board shall provide a minimum of ten days' notice of a public hearing on any questions before it. Notice of the hearing shall be by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Dickinson; and by written notice to the appealing party.
- 3. Upon the public hearing, any party may appear in person or by agent or attorney.

The concurring vote of four members of such board as so composed shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirement, decision or determination of any Building Official, or to decide in favor of the appellant on any matter upon which it is required to pass under any zoning ordinance, or to effect any variation in such ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1; Ord. No. 1200, § 4.)

Section 39.12.011Powers and Duties of the Board of Adjustment

The Board of Adjustment shall have only the following powers and duties:

- a. <u>Administrative Review:</u> To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, requirement, decisions or determination made by the Building Official, or his/her designee in the enforcement of this Ordinance.
- b. <u>Interpretation of Zoning Map:</u> To hear and decide, in accordance with the provisions of any zoning regulation, requests for interpretation of any map.
- c. <u>Variances to Relieve Hardships Relating to Property:</u> To authorize, upon appeal, variances from the strict application of this Ordinance where by reason of exceptional narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a specific piece of property at the time of enactment of the zoning regulations; or by reason of exceptional topographic conditions or other extraordinary and exceptional situation or condition of such piece of property, such strict application would result in peculiar and exceptional practical difficulties to or exceptional and undue hardships upon the owner of such property.
 - 1. Requirements for Granting of a Variance. No such variance shall be authorized by the Board unless it finds that:
 - (a) Strict application of the zoning ordinance will produce undue hardship.
 - (b) Such hardship is not shared generally by other properties in the same zoning district and in the same vicinity.
 - (c) The authorization of such variance will not be of substantial detriment to adjacent property and the character of the district will not be changed by the granting of the variance.
 - (d) The granting of such variance is based upon reason of demonstrable and exceptional hardship as distinguished from variations for purposes of convenience, profit, or caprice.
 - (e) The condition or situation of the property concerned is not of so general or recurring a nature as to make reasonably practicable a general regulation to be adopted as an amendment to this Zoning Ordinance.
 - (f) The granting of the variance will not cause substantial detriment to the public good and will not substantially impair the intent and purpose of any Ordinance or Resolution.
 - 2. Findings by Board. The Board of Adjustment shall make findings that the requirements of Section 39.12.011 (c.1) have been met by the applicant for a variance.
 - 3. Conditions for Granting of Variance.
 - (a) In granting any variance, the Board of Adjustment may prescribe appropriate conditions and safeguards in conformity with this Ordinance. Violation of such conditions and safeguards, when made a part of the terms

- under which the variance is granted, shall be deemed a violation of this Ordinance and punishable under Section 39.12.016.
- (b) Under no circumstances shall the Board of Adjustment grant a variance to allow use not permissible under the terms of this Ordinance in the district involved, or any use expressly or by implication prohibited by the terms of this Ordinance in said district.
- c) No non-conforming use of neighboring lands, structures, or buildings in the same district and no permitted or non-conforming use of lands, structures, or buildings in other districts shall be considered grounds for the issuance of a variance.

d. <u>Board Has Powers of Building Official on Appeals: Reversing Decisions of Building Official</u>

In exercising the above mentioned powers, the Board of Adjustment may, so long as such action is in conformity with the terms of this Ordinance, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decisions, or determination as ought to be made, and to that end shall have the powers of the Building Official from whom the appeal is taken.

The concurring vote of four members of the Board shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirements, decision, or determination of the Building Official, or to decide in favor of the applicant on any matter upon which it is required to pass under this ordinance, or to effect any variation in the application of this ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.012 Appeals From The Board of Adjustment

Any person or persons, or any board, taxpayer, officer, department, board or bureau of the city aggrieved by any decision of the Board of Adjustment may seek review of such decision by the City Commission in the manner provided by the laws of the State. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.013 Duties of Building Official, Board of Adjustment, City Commission, and Courts on Matters of Appeal

- a. It is the intent of this ordinance that all questions of interpretation and enforcement shall be first presented to the Building Official, and that such questions shall be presented to the Board of Adjustment only on appeal from the decision of the Building Official, and that recourse from the decisions of Board of Adjustment shall be appealed to the City Commission.
- b. Under this ordinance the City Commission shall have only the duties (1) of considering and adopting or rejecting proposed amendments, or the repeal of this ordinance as provided by law, (2) of establishing a schedule of fees and charges as stated in Section 39.12 of this Ordinance, and (3) of hearing any appeals from the Board of Adjustment. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.014 Severability Clause

Should any section or provision of this resolution be declared by the courts to be unconstitutional or invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the resolution as a whole, or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be unconstitutional or invalid. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.015 Complaints Regarding Violations

Whenever a violation of this ordinance occurs, or is allowed to have occurred, any person may file a written complaint. Such complaints stating fully the causes and basis thereof shall be filed with the Building Official. He/she shall record properly such complaint immediately, investigate, and take action thereon as provided by this ordinance. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1.)

Section 39.12.016 Penalties for Violation

- a. Violation of the provisions of this ordinance or failure to comply with any of its requirements (including violations of conditions and safeguards established in connection with grants of variances or special exceptions) shall constitute a misdemeanor. Any person who violates this ordinance or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall upon conviction thereof be fined not more than \$1,000.00 or imprisonment for not more than 30 days, or both, and in addition shall pay all costs and expenses involved in the case. Each day such violation continues shall be considered a separate offense.
- b. The owner or tenant of any building, structure, premises, or part thereof, any architect, builder, contractor, agent, or other person who commits, participates in, assists in, or maintains such violation may each be found guilty of a separate offense and suffer the penalties herein provided.
- c. Nothing herein contained shall prevent the City from taking such other lawful action as is necessary to prevent or remedy any violation. (Ord. No. 1171 § 1, Ord. 1746 § 2)

Section 39.12.017 Temporary Use Permits

Temporary Use Permits may be granted for the use of property, except any public street, alley, sidewalk, public right-of-way or other public grounds owned or controlled by the City, as provided in this Section.

(a) Application for Temporary Use Permit

Any applicant for a temporary use permit shall file an application for such permit with the Zoning Administrator, together with the following:

- 1. A completed application form as provided by the city;
- 2. Legal description of the property where the temporary use is to be located;
- 3. A map of the property where the temporary use is to be located depicting the location of any existing structures, parking spaces, and the temporary use itself;
- 4. A complete description of the proposed temporary use, including hours of operation, proposed method of merchandise display, proposed signage, list of all goods to be sold and material and equipment to be used in the proposed operations;
- 5. A letter of permission from the property owner pertaining to the authorized use of the site and any other facilities or services necessary to provide for the safe operation of the event;

- 6. For any use that includes the operation of a tent, a copy of the certificate of flame resistance;
- 7. For any use that involves the processing and/or sale of food products, a copy of the temporary food establishment permit issued by the State Health Department; and
- 8. Any other information deemed necessary to conduct a thorough analysis of the application.
- (b) Temporary Uses, Performance Standards
 - All temporary uses shall comply with the following performance standards:
 - 1. Temporary uses shall demonstrate the ability to display merchandise in a manner that does not create a nuisance, or adversely impact surrounding property or the visual quality of the city;
 - 2. Signage for temporary uses shall be limited to one sign, not to exceed eight square feet. The sign shall be attached to a vehicle or structure associated with the special event:
 - 3. No off-premise signs or attention attracting devices shall be allowed;
 - 4. Special events shall be located in a manner that will not cause vehicular congestion or occupy required parking spaces for another uses;
 - 5. Upon expiration of the permit, all associated materials and equipment shall be promptly removed from the property; and Other reasonable conditions of approval may be imposed to ensure the protection of the public health, safety and general welfare. (Ord. No. 1423 § 1. Ord. No. 1606 § 2.)

Article 39.13 Crew Camp Housing

Sections:	_
39.13.001	Definition
39.13.002	Crew Housing Special Use Permit
39.13.003	Crew Housing Permit Fees
39.13.004	Minimum Design Standards
39.13.005	Application for Special Use Permit
39.13.006	Grant of Special Use Permit
39.13.007	Revocation of Permit
39.13.008	Prohibited Housing Types
39.13.009	Prohibited Activities
39.13.010	Posting of Reclamation Bond
39.13.011	Conditions – Reporting Requirements

Section 39.13.001 Definitions

As used in this Article:

- 1. "Crew housing facilities" means one or more lodging units or skid units, ordinarily designed for human living quarters or a place of business, on a temporary or permanent basis, which are not real property, as defined in section 57-02-04, and are not mobile homes, as defined in section 57-55-01. A group of crew housing facilities that are connected physically or by common ownership may be treated as a single crew housing facility for purposes of imposition of crew housing permit fees imposed under this chapter.
- 2. "Crew housing permit" means a right granted by a city or county to locate crew housing facilities on property within the jurisdiction of the city or county under this chapter and to enjoy attendant services and facilities provided by the city or county.
- 3. "Skid unit" means a structure or group of structures, either single or multi-sectional, which is not built on a permanent chassis and is ordinarily designed for human living quarters or a place of business, on a temporary or permanent basis. (Ord. No. 1419 § 1.)

Section 39.13.002 Crew housing special use permit

Any person desiring to operate a crew housing facility shall first apply for a special use permit, as provided herein. Upon receipt of the completed application, the Board of City Commissioners shall have the obligation to (1) judge whether the person applying for the permit, and any owner, operator, or vendor associated with the applicant, is experienced and able to operate a crew camp in the best interests of the City of Dickinson and its citizens; and (2) judge whether the physical location and land sought to be used for a crew housing facility is appropriate for the use intended.

Any crew housing facility shall require a special use permit, and shall not be allowed in any zoning designation within the City of Dickinson or its extra-territorial zoning jurisdiction without such special use permit. Such special use permit shall be valid for a maximum period of five years from the date of final approval by the Board of City Commissioners. Any person granted a special use permit for a crew housing facility shall have the option to apply for an extension of the special use permit for an additional five years period. Any extension of the

special use permit shall be at the sole discretion of the Board of City Commissioners. (Ord. No. 1419 § 2.)

Section 39.13.003 Crew housing permit fees

The City shall impose an annual crew housing permit fee, the amount of which shall be determined on the basis of the value of services and facilities provided to the crew housing facility by the city or county, or both, and incorporated into the City's fee schedule. (Ord. No. 1419 § 3.)

Section 39.13.004 Minimum Design Standards

All crew housing facilities permitted under this Article shall meet the following minimum design standards:

- 1) Provide all ordinary urban services, to include municipal water, municipal wastewater, and urban roads
- 2) Annexation of all real property containing the crew housing facility into city limits
- 3) Provide adequate parking for any and all crew housing facility residents
- 4) Provide for adequate fire suppression
- 5) Provide for adequate access to emergency vehicles
- 6) Provide for adequate security of the crew camp facility
- 7) Meet all design standards requires by any building code, fire code, subdivision code, or zoning code adopted by the City of Dickinson
- 8) The Board of City Commissioners may further require a minimum lot size or minimum acreage for the crew housing facility.
- 9) The Board of City Commissioners may further require the land on which the crew housing facility is located to be platted as a subdivision
- 10) The Board of City Commissioners may further require any condition or restriction that in the judgment of the Board is reasonable and necessary for the crew housing facility. (Ord. No. 1419 § 4.)

Section 39.13.005 Application for Special Use Permit

The application for a special use permit for crew housing facility shall be signed by the owner of the crew housing facility, as well as by the owner of the land on which the crew housing facility is to be located. The application shall include the following information:

- (1) A complete statement of the type of business contemplated
- (2) Consent to a background investigation of the owner of the crew housing facility
- (3) Identify any vendors who are expected to provide services at the crew housing facility
- (4) The applicant's history of residency, employment, and business ownership for five years prior to the date of the application. If the applicant is a partnership, this information shall be furnished for all the partners; and, if a corporation, whether such corporation is a subsidiary of any corporation, and, if so, the name of the parent corporation, the purposes for which the corporation was incorporated and the names and addresses of all officers, directors and managing agents and the

- names and addresses of all stockholders holding more than five percent of the capital stock of such corporation.
- (5) Whether the applicant has ever engaged in the business of owning or operating a crew housing facility before; and, if so, the dates and locations of such ownership or operation.
- (6) Whether during the five (5) years preceding the date of the application, the applicant has ever been convicted of a violation of any law of the United States or of any state; and, if so, the dates, names of places and courts in which such convictions were obtained.
- (7) Whether the applicant has any agreement, understanding or intention to have any agreement or understanding with any person to obtain for any other person or to transfer to any other person the license obtained or to use the license for any other purpose other than the specific use of the applicant; and, if so, the names and addresses of such persons and the conditions of such agreements.
- (8) A description of the temporary housing units
- (9) A description of how the proposed units are to be set and/or anchored to the ground
- (10) A statement that roads to be constructed within the facility will meet city specifications
- (11) A copy of the applicant's deed and/or lease to the real property on which the crew housing facility would be located.
- (12) A copy of plot plans, drawn to scale, showing the location of housing units, additional structures, setbacks, utilities, drainage, parking, ingress, egress, screens, buffers, and fencing
- (13) A copy of the facility's house rules and regulations
- (14) A copy of the facility's on-site security plan
- (15) A copy of the facility's on-site emergency management plan, to include contingencies for fire, tornado, and other natural disaster
- (16) Any additional information deemed necessary by the City Planner, City Engineer, Planning and Zoning Commission, or Board of City Commissioners (Ord. No. 1419 § 5.)

Section 39.13.006 Grant of Special Use Permit

Any application for a special use permit as provided under this Article shall be denied to any applicant who, in the discretion of the Board of City Commissioners, is a person of questionable character or for any other cause which would, in the opinion of the Board, render either the applicant or the premises to be licensed, improper or unfit for a crew housing facility, or which would, in the Board's judgment, make the granting of the permit contrary to the best interests of the City and its citizens. In granting any special use permit under this Article, the Board of City Commissioners shall have the authority to limit the number of living units or total number of persons to be housed in such units within the crew housing facility. The Board of City Commissioners shall further have the authority to limit the total acreage or land area that may be used for the crew housing facility. (Ord. No. 1419 § 6.)

Section 13.13.007 Revocation of Permit

The Board of City Commissioners may review the status of any permit issued pursuant to this Article, and take appropriate action to suspend or revoke the same, as provided herein:

- (1) Suspension and Revocation for Cause. Any permit issued pursuant to this Article may be revoked or suspended for cause by the Board of City Commissioners for cause, which cause may include, among other grounds, the following:
 - a. When the applicant is adjudged bankrupt.
 - b. When the applicant has made any false statement or statements in an application for the issuance of such permit.
 - c. When the applicant, in the case of a corporation or other entity, manager of a licensee has been convicted of a violation of any felony crime under the laws of the United States or of any state.
 - d. When the business of the applicant at the location permitted has been conducted in violation of the health or sanitary regulations of the city or of the state.
 - e. When in the judgment of the Board of City Commissioners, the applicant has conducted his business or permitted his business to be conducted in a disorderly manner or in a manner that is dangerous or detrimental to the public welfare and morals.
 - f. When the applicant or an agent or employee of the applicant violates any term or condition of the permit or any provision of this Article.
- (2) Notice public hearing. Sanctions or penalties under this section may not be invoked without a public hearing if requested by the applicant. Upon written notification to the applicant by the City Administrator that a penalty is being sought under this section, the applicant may notify the City Administrator's office within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification and request a hearing on the proposed penalty. Failure to notify the City Administrator within ten (10) days of the date of such written notification will be deemed acceptance of the penalty without hearing.

A hearing shall be set before the Board of City Commissioners specifying the time and place of the hearing, and shall be mailed to the applicant. A record of any hearing shall be made by electronic recording device.

If, upon such hearing, it appears to a majority of the Board of City Commissioners that sufficient cause exists for the penalty sanctions, the Board of City Commissioners shall make its order in accordance with the provisions of this Article. The Board of City Commissioners shall further issue its findings, conclusions and order which shall be mailed to the applicant.

(3) No Refunds on Revocation or Suspension. When any permit is revoked or suspended for any reason, no portion of the permit fee shall be returned to the applicant. (Ord. No. 1419 § 7.)

Section 39.13.008 Prohibited Housing Types

Recreational vehicles, campers, and mobile homes are prohibited units within a crew housing facility (Ord. No. 1419 § 8.)

Section 39.13.009 Prohibited Activities

No animals are allowed on the premises of a crew housing facility. No parking shall be allowed between units. The site is to be maintained free of garbage and junk. The operator of the crew housing facility shall be responsible for establishing and enforcing any restrictions related to possession or use of alcohol on the crew housing facility premises. (Ord. No. 1419 § 9.)

Section 39.13.010 Posting of Reclamation Bond

Prior to the start of any construction on the crew housing facility, or any occupancy thereof, the applicant shall post with the City of Dickinson a valid reclamation bond in an amount to be determined by the City Engineer based upon the engineer's estimate of the costs to return the property to its original condition, permanent improvements excepted, following termination of the use of the property for a crew housing facility. (Ord. No. 1419 § 10.)

Section 39.13.011 Conditions – Reporting Requirements

The Board of City Commissioners may attach any conditions or reporting requirements to the grant of the special use permit that it deems necessary and prudent. (Ord. No. 1419 § 1.)

Article 39.28 Lighting

Sections:

39.28.060 Repealed by 1175

Chapter 40 OIL, GAS AND MINERAL REGULATIONS

Last updated July, 2022

Articles:

40.01 Oil and Gas Drilling40.02 Oil and Gas Pipelines

Articles 40.01 Oil and Gas Drilling

Sections:	
40.01.010	Declaration of policy.
40.01.015	Title.
40.01.020	Oil, gas and other minerals.
40.01.025	Definitions.
40.01.030	Conditional use permit, site plan.
40.01.035	Inspections.
40.01.040	Pollution.
40.01.042	Reclamation
40.01.045	Zoning.
40.01.050	Additional conditions and requirements.
40.01.055	Special mitigation measures.
40.01.060	Exploration and production on publicly owned lands.
40.01.065	Distance limitations and spacing requirements.
40.01.070	Access roads.
40.01.075	Oil and gas production damage compensation.
40.01.076.	Plat Recording Required.
40.01.080	Penalty.
40.01.100	Oil, Gas and Other Mineral Leases

Sections 40.01.010 Declaration of policy

It is hereby declared to be in the public interest to foster, to encourage, and to promote the development, production, and utilization of natural resources of oil and gas in the City of Dickinson in such a manner as to prevent waste; to authorize and to provide for the operation and development of oil and gas property in such a manner that a greater ultimate recovery of oil and gas be had and that the correlative rights of all owners be fully protected; and to encourage and to authorize cycling, recycling, pressure maintenance and secondary recovery operations in order that the greatest possible economic recovery of oil and gas be obtained within the City to the end that the land owners, the royalty owners, the producers, and the general public realize and enjoy the greatest possible good from these vital natural resources. It is further hereby declared to be in the public interest and for the health, wealth and safety of the citizens of the City to avoid unpleasant incidents of oil and gas production, such as dangerous fire hazards, disquieting noise of drilling machinery, unpleasant odor, annoyance from unsightly structures, and other conditions that seriously affect the surrounding land, but at the same time, to not deprive mineral owners of enjoyment of their valuable mineral rights. (Ord. No. 1122 § 1.)

Sections 40.01.015 Title

This Article shall be known and may be cited as the City of Dickinson Oil Code. "Code", as referred to in this Article, unless the context clearly indicate otherwise, shall mean the City of Dickinson Oil Code. (Ord. No. 1122 § 2.)

Sections 40.01.020 Oil, gas and other minerals

It shall be unlawful and an offense for any person, firm, corporation or association hereafter to do or perform, or cause to be done or performed, any work or labor of any kind upon or in connection with the drilling, mining, or producing of oil, gas, or other minerals within the corporate limits or the extraterritorial zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, except as permitted under the provisions of this Ordinance, and by the Laws of the State of North Dakota and the Rules and Regulations prescribed by the State Industrial Commission. (Ord. No. 1122 § 3; Ord. No. 1152 § 1.)

Sections 40.01.025 Definitions

- 1. Blow-out Preventer a mechanical, hydraulic, or pneumatic or other device, or combination of such devices secured to the top of a well casing, including valves, fittings and control mechanisms connected therewith which can be closed around the drill pipe, or which completely closes the top of the casing and is designed for preventing blow-outs.
- 2. City Inspector all officers of the City of Dickinson who have responsibility for enforcing this code, or their duly authorized representatives.
- 3. City Commission the City Commission of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 4. City Planning Staff shall include, but not be limited to the Community Development Director, The Fire Chief, The Building Official, City Engineer, the City Attorney, and the Director of Inspections.
- 5. Energy Committee a committee consisting of at least five persons, appointed by the City Commission.
- 6. Industrial Commission shall mean the State Industrial Commission of the State of North Dakota.
- 7. Service Well any well drilled or actually used for injection of saltwater or other substances into the earth.
- 8. Drilling digging or boring a hole in the earth for purposes of exploring for, developing or producing petroleum. Drilling includes all operations through the completion of a well.
- 9. Drilling Site the premises used during the drilling, maintaining, operating and producing of a well or wells located thereupon.
- 10. Oil or Gas Well any well drilled, operated, or maintained for the production of oil, gas, casinghead gas, or any of them, or their by-products or derivations.
- 11. Planning Commission the Planning Commission of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 12. Board of Adjustment the Board of Adjustment of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota.
- 13. Well any oil well, gas well, or service well, including the wellheads, tank batteries and on-site production equipment associated with the same.

(Ord. No. 1122 § 4; Ord. No. 1152 § 2; Ord. No. 1525 § 1.)

Sections 40.01.030 Conditional use permit, site plan

Subsequent to the effective date of this Article, it shall be unlawful and an offense for any person, firm, corporation or association to drill or to maintain and operate any oil, gas, or disposal well within the corporate limits or the extraterritorial zoning jurisdiction of the City of

Dickinson, North Dakota, without first having secured a conditional use permit to do so as hereinafter provided.

- **A.** Permit application Every person, firm, corporation or association hereafter desiring to drill or to maintain and operate any oil, gas or disposal well within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, shall file an application therefor in writing upon the form required by the Director of Inspections and signed by the applicant or his agent authorized to sign the same. The applicant shall be required to provide copies of the permit application which has been submitted to the North Dakota Industrial Commission with said application. Such application shall specify the quarter section, township, and range, and the location site within the quarter section thereof. The application shall also contain a site plan which must contain the following information:
 - (a) Written legal description.
 - (b) Scale drawing of the property and appropriate dimensions.
 - (c) Scale, north arrow, date, and legend.
 - (d) Name, address, and telephone number of property owner and applicant.
 - (e) Location and size of existing easements, utilities, and right-of-ways, closest distances to buildings.
 - (f) Location and dimension of all vehicular entrances, exits, and drives.
 - (g) General drainage system.
 - (h) Size of site.
 - (i) Location of all physical facilities to include proposed wells, structures, portable toilets, and relationship to all buildings within a 660 foot radius.
 - (j) The site plan shall contain a statement describing all pollution prevention equipment to be utilized; it shall be the policy of the City of Dickinson to require blow-out prevention devices on every drilling operation covered hereunder.
 - (k) Location of all mud pits and/or closed systems.
 - (l) General location of tank batteries and size of tank battery site
 - (m) Any oil, gas or water lines to be utilized.
 - (n) Location of ingress and egress to be utilized by applicant and to include all vehicular entrances, exits and drives.
 - (o) Type of screening devices or construction to be utilized around the pumping site, which screening shall be required to be of such type so as to discourage access, entry, or climbing so as to endanger life and security; all screening shall be required to meet the minimum screening standards of the City of Dickinson zoning code.
 - (p) Adequate proof of insurance.
 - (q) Location of all public streets to be utilized.
- **B.** The completed application shall be submitted to the Energy Committee for review. The Energy Committee shall review the application and submit its recommendations to the City Commission prior to the public hearing. The Energy Committee may require the applicant to appear before said committee to provide additional information or explanation in support of the application.
- C. The City Commission shall hold an official public hearing, giving at least fifteen (15) days' notice of said public hearing, the purpose of which public hearing shall be for review and consideration of approving or denying the plan as submitted. The City shall

also provide written notice of the public hearing, at least five (5) days prior to the public hearing, to residents or occupants of all occupied buildings within one thousand feet (1,000') of the proposed site. Said notice shall be sent by regular mail to the last known address of said residents or occupants. The City Commission shall act on any application within 30 days following the public hearing. All publication and notice requirements contained in Chapter 39 of the Dickinson Municipal Code for conditional use permits shall be applicable.

- **D.** The Applicant shall pay, at the time of the application, an application fee in an amount to be determined by the Dickinson City Commission.
- **E.** A Conditional Use Permit granted pursuant to this ordinance shall be valid provided the well proposed to be drilled in the application is completed within one year of the date of Commission approval of said application. If such well is not completed within one year, the conditional use shall be automatically revoked, and the applicant shall have no rights thereunder. (Ord. No. 1122 § 5; Ord. No. 1152 § 3.)

Sections 40.01.035 Inspections

For purposes of this article, the City of Dickinson, or its authorized representatives, may inspect any well location at any time after issuance of a conditional use permit for purposes of insuring conformance with the requirements of this Ordinance. Any applicant for a permit hereunder shall be deemed to have granted the agents of the City of Dickinson the right of entry onto those properties covered by the permit for the purposes of carrying out the inspections as required by the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1122 § 6.)

Sections 40.01.040 Pollution

- A. The premises upon which any oil, gas, or disposal well is drilled, operated, or maintained shall be kept free of all accumulations of rubbish, litter, or discarded materials, and other wastes insofar as the same may be reasonably done in the conduct of operations covered by this Ordinance.
- B. The permittee shall take special precautions using equipment available which meets current industry standards to avoid fire hazards, disquieting noise, unpleasant odors, annoyance from unsightly structures and other conditions that may cause pollution to the citizens of the City. In conjunction with the development plans required under this Ordinance, the applicant shall submit a detailed summary of all anti-pollution devices and equipment to be used by the applicant in the drilling and development of the site, specifically including any precautionary measures that will be taken by the applicant to prevent the emission of any hydrogen sulfide gas or similar odors from the well site. (Ord. No. 1122 § 7; Ord. No. 1152 § 4.)

Sections 40.01.042 Reclamation

- A. All lands upon which a drilling operation is or has been operated shall within a reasonable length of time, not to exceed one (1) year, be returned, as nearly as practicable to the previous original topography and natural state interests of abating erosion thereof.
- B. All mud pits shall be reclaimed within thirty (30) days after completion of the well. (Ord. No. 1152 § 9.)

Sections 40.01.045 Zoning

Oil, gas, or service wells shall be permitted in all zoning districts as a conditional use only, as provided for in this Ordinance and in the City of Dickinson Zoning Ordinance provided, however, that the Board of City Commissioners shall have the power to refuse any application for a conditional use permit by reason of the location of the proposed well and the character and value of the permanent improvements already erected on the drilling property in question or adjacent thereto, or because of the use to which the land and surroundings are adapted for civic purposes, or if, for sanitary reasons, the drilling of the well will be a serious disadvantage to the City and its inhabitants as a whole. (Ord. No. 1122 § 8.)

Sections 40.01.050 Additional conditions and requirements

- A. In addition to the conditions applying to oil well drilling operations contained herein, the City Commission hereby declares that in the interest of protecting the people of the City of Dickinson and the use and enjoyment of their property and providing for their comfort, health and safety, and general welfare, the following conditions and restrictions are adopted:
 - (1) That all well operations which are placed upon the pump shall be powered by electricity so long as electricity is available. If electricity is not available, hospital grade muffled engine will be used. All permanent equipment shall be painted, where possible, and kept in a neat condition. All production operations shall be as free from noise as possible with modern operations.
 - (2) That all power operations other than drilling and pulling units shall at all times be carried on only by means of electrical power, which power shall not be generated on the drilling site.
 - (3) That an internal combustion engine or electrical equipment may be used in the drilling or pumping operations of the well and if an internal combustion engine is used, that mufflers be installed on the mud pumps and engine so as to reduce noise to levels allowed under Dickinson City Code Article 24.12.
 - (4) That no sign shall be constructed, erected, maintained or placed on the premises or any part thereof, except those required by law or this code to be displayed in connection with the drilling, maintenance, or operation of the well.
- B. Based upon the specific site characteristics set forth above, nature of the proposed activity, and its proximity to surrounding development, and type and intensity of the noise emitted, additional noise abatement measures may be required. The level of required mitigation may increase with the proximity of the well and well site to existing residences and platted subdivision lots, and/or the level of noise emitted by the well and well site. One or more of the following additional noise abatement measures may be required:
 - (1) Acoustically insulated housing or cover enclosing the motor or engine, or compressor.
 - (2) Vegetative screen consisting of trees and shrubs.
 - (3) Solid wall or fence of acoustically insulating material surrounding all or part of the facility.

- (4) Noise management plan identifying and limiting hours of maximum noise emissions, type, frequency, and level of noise to be emitted, and proposed mitigation measures.
- (5) Requirement for electric motors only.

(Ord. No. 1122 § 9; Ord. No. 1152 § 5.)

Sections 40.01.055 Special mitigation measures

Where a well or tank battery does not comply with the required setback or other portions of this ordinance, or in areas of increased visual sensitivity determined by the City, the applicant shall submit a Visual Mitigation Plan including one or more of the following standards shall include but not be limited to:

- A. Exterior lighting shall be directed away from residential areas, or shielded from said areas to eliminate glare.
- B. Construction of buildings or other enclosures may be required where facilities create noise and visual impacts non-mitigable because of proximity, density, and/or intensity of adjacent residential land use.
- C. One or more of the following landscaping practices may be required, on a site specific basis:
 - (1) Establishment and proper maintenance of adequate ground covers, shrubs, trees.
 - (2) Shaping cuts and fills to appear as natural forms.
 - (3) Cutting rock areas to create irregular forms.
 - (4) Designing the facility to utilize natural screens.
 - (5) Construction of fences or walls such as woven wood or rock for use with or instead of landscaping.
- D. Safety Measures. Any well shall be equipped with blowout preventers during drilling. (Ord. No. 1122 § 10.)

Sections 40.01.060 Exploration and production on publicly owned lands

Any person engaged in the drilling for and production of oil and natural gas within the corporate limits or the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 38-09, N.D.C.C., with regard to the exploration and production on publicly owned lands. (Ord. No. 1122 § 11; Ord. No. 1152 § 6.)

Sections 40.01.065 Distance limitations and spacing requirements

In all areas within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson the following shall apply:

A. No well shall be located less than 100 feet from any building or structure not necessary for the operation of the well. No well shall be located less than less than 300 feet from any building or structure of any residential use, educational use, institutional use commercial office or retail use, or other place of assembly.

In the event of a pre-existing well, no building shall be constructed, and the City shall not issue a building permit or certificate of occupancy, for any building or structure not in conformance with this Section.

- B. Wellheads, tank batteries and associated on-site production equipment shall be located not less than 100 feet from the edge of any public right-of-way.
- C. The requirements of this section may be waived, in sole discretion of the Board of City Commissioners, as part of the Conditional Use Permit upon finding by the Board that such waiver is consistent with public health, safety and welfare. (Ord. No. 1122 § 12; Ord. No. 1152 § 7; Ord. No. 1467 § 1)

Sections 40.01.070 Access roads

All private roads used to access the tank battery and the well head shall be improved and maintained according to the following standards:

- 1. ACCESS ROADS. Access roads to tank batteries shall, at a minimum, be:
 - A. A graded gravel roadway at least twelve (12) feet wide and with a minimum unobstructed overhead clearance of thirteen feet six inches (13'6"), having a prepared subgrade and an aggregate base course surface a minimum of six (6) inches thick compacted to a minimum density of 95 percent of the maximum density determined in accordance with generally accepted engineering sampling and testing procedures approved by the Engineering Department.
 - B. Graded so as to provide drainage from the roadway surface and constructed to allow for cross drainage of waterways (i.e., roadside swells, gulches, rivers, creeks, etc.) by means of an adequate culvert pipe.
 Adequacy of the pipe shall be subject to approval of the Engineering Department.
- 2. No mud or gravel, except minor and nominal amounts, shall be carried onto the city streets. If mud or gravel is carried onto the city streets, the owner or operator shall insure that the streets are promptly cleaned. With the permission of the Street Department the owner or operator may make arrangements for the Street Department to clean the streets at the sole cost of the owner or operator.
- 3. No public facilities such as curbs, gutters, pavement, water or sewer lines, etc., shall be damaged by vehicles entering or leaving the site. In the event of damage the owner and operator, jointly and severally, shall indemnify the City for any reasonable repair costs.
- 4. All tank battery and wellhead access roads which intersect a paved City street or alley shall be paved to standards determined by the City Engineer from the existing paved roadway to the edge of the public right-of-way. (Ord. No. 1122 § 13.)

Sections 40.01.075 Oil and gas production damage compensation

In addition to complying with all of the requirements of this Ordinance, and in the event of any damages, any person engaged in the drilling for and production of oil and natural gas within the corporate limits or the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, shall fully comply with the provisions of Chapter 38-11.1, N.D.C.C., entitled "Oil and Gas Production Damage Compensation". (Ord. No. 1122 § 14; Ord. No. 1152 § 8.)

Sections 40.01.076. Plat Recording Required

Any person reclaiming a reserve pit after the completion of an oil and gas drilling operation shall record an accurate plat certified by a registered surveyor showing the location of the well and notice that an abandoned reserve pit may be on location within 6 months of completion of the reclamation. The plat must specify the exact legal description of the reserve pit, including the lot, block and subdivision if the well is located within a platted subdivision. (Ord. No. 1152 § 10.)

Sections 40.01.080 Penalty

Any violation of this Article shall subject the offender, upon conviction, to a fine not exceeding One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), a jail sentence not to exceed thirty (30) days or both such fine and jail commitment. Each day any violation of any provision of this Oil Code shall continue shall constitute a separate offense. (Ord. No. 1122 § 1, Ord. 1746 § 3)

Sections 40.01.100 Oil, Gas and Other Mineral Leases

The City of Dickinson shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 38-09, NDCC pertaining to leasing oil, gas and other mineral interest, except as follows:

Non-operative oil and gas leases may be executed through private negotiation where the acreage or mineral rights owned by the City is one hundred sixty acres or less.

Such non-operative leases may be made upon such terms and conditions as the Board of City Commissioners deems advisable. (Ord. No. 1204, § 1)

Articles 40.02 Oil and Gas Pipelines

Sections:	
40.02.010	Oil, gas and other pipelines.
40.02.020	Conditional use permit for pipelines.
40.02.030	Inspections.
40.02.040	Zoning.
40.02.050	Conditions and requirements.
40.02.060	Distance limitations and spacing requirements.
40.02.070	Notice of PipelinesFiling Required.
40.02.080	Excavation Requirements.
40.02.090	Reclamation.
40.02.100	Penalty.

Sections 40.02.010 Oil, gas and other pipelines

It shall be unlawful and an offense for any person, firm, corporation or association hereafter to do or perform, or cause to be done or performed, any work or labor of any kind upon or in connection with any pipes, pipelines or other facilities for the transmission of gas, oil, or other petroleum products, which are buried beneath the surface, within the corporate limits or the one mile zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, except as permitted under the provisions of this Ordinance, by the Laws of the State of North Dakota and the Rules and Regulations prescribed by the State Industrial Commission, and by all federal laws, rules and regulations. This ordinance shall not apply to any pipeline or other facility owned or operated by a utility which provides service to residential and commercial customers in the City of Dickinson. (Ord. No. 1145 § 1.)

Sections 40.02.020 Conditional use permit for pipelines

Subsequent to the effective date of this Ordinance, it shall be unlawful and an offense for any person, firm, corporation or association to install or to maintain and operate any pipes, pipelines or other facilities for the transmission, storage, or processing of gas, oil, or other petroleum products, which are buried beneath the surface, within the corporate limits or the one mile zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, without first having secured a conditional use permit to do so as hereinafter provided.

- A. Permit application Every person, firm, corporation or association hereafter desiring to install or to maintain and operate any pipes, pipelines or other facilities for the transmission of gas, oil, or other petroleum products, which are buried beneath the surface, within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, North Dakota, shall file an application therefor in writing upon the form required by the Director of Inspections and signed by the applicant or his agent authorized to sign the same. Such application shall specify the quarter section, township, and range, and the location site within the quarter section thereof. The application shall also contain a site plan which must contain the following information:
 - (a) Written legal description.
 - (b) Scale drawing of the easement and horizontal dimensions of the pipeline.
 - (c) Scale, north arrow, date, and legend.
 - (d) Name, address, and telephone number of property owners and applicant.

- (e) Location and size of existing easements, utilities, and right-of-ways.
- (f) Preliminary plat identifying the route of said pipeline and all property owners.
- (g) Description of all pipe to be buried, including type of pipe, length of each section of pipe, and the type and location of all valves.
- (h) Location of all physical facilities.
- (i) Adequate proof of insurance.
- B. The Director of Inspections shall, after reviewing said application, recommend approval or denial of the application, and shall publish a notice of public hearing before the Board of Adjustment.
- C. The Board of Adjustment shall hold an official public hearing, giving at least seven (7) days' notice of said public hearing, the purpose of which public hearing shall be for review and consideration of approving or denying the plan as submitted. The Board of Adjustment shall act on any application within 30 days following the public hearing. All publication and notice requirements contained in Chapter 39 of the Dickinson Municipal Code for conditional use permits shall be applicable.
- D. The Applicant shall pay, at the time of the application, an application fee in an amount to be determined by the Dickinson City Commission.
- E. Any decision of the Board of Adjustment may be appealed to the Dickinson City Commission and subsequently to district court, as provided in North Dakota Century Code section 40-47-11. (Ord. 1145 § 2.)

Sections 40.02.030 Inspections

For purposes of this section, the City of Dickinson, or its authorized representatives, may inspect any pipeline location at any time after issuance of a conditional use permit for purposes of insuring conformance with the requirements of this Ordinance. The Applicant shall, within 45 days after completion of the pipeline, provide written certification that said pipeline has been installed in compliance with the provisions of this Chapter. Any applicant for a permit hereunder shall be deemed to have granted the agents of the City of Dickinson the right of entry onto those properties covered by the permit for the purposes of carrying out the inspections as required by the City of Dickinson. (Ord. 1145 § 3.)

Sections 40.02.040 Zoning

Gas or other pipelines shall be permitted in all zoning districts as a conditional use only, as provided for in this Ordinance and in the City of Dickinson Zoning Ordinance provided, however, that the Board of Adjustment shall have the power to refuse any application for a conditional use permit by reason of the location of the proposed pipeline and the character and value of the permanent improvements already erected on the property in question or adjacent thereto, or because of the use to which the land and surroundings are adapted for civic purposes, or if, for sanitary reasons, the installation of the pipeline and appurtenances will be a serious disadvantage to the City and its inhabitants as a whole. (Ord. 1145 § 4.)

Sections 40.02.050 Conditions and requirements

In addition to the conditions applying to oil and gas pipelines contained herein, the City Commission hereby declares that in the interest of protecting the people of the City of Dickinson

and the use and enjoyment of their property and providing for their comfort, health and safety, and general welfare, the following conditions and restrictions are adopted:

- (1) All pipelines must be buried with a minimum of 54" of cover;
- (2) The pipe must be a minimum of SDR 13.5 (130 psi) or its equivalent, and must be rated at least $2\frac{1}{2}$ times the working pressure of the pipeline;
- (3) The application must identify the location of all valves which are capable of shutting off the pipeline. The City reserves the right to require additional shutoff devices if it determines that such devices are necessary to protect the City and its citizens.
- (4) The location of all pipelines must be consistent with the Master Plan, and must be located within the existing or proposed right of way;
- (5) For all street crossings, a profile must be provided prior to construction. City may require other pre-construction profile drawings depending on location. All hard-surfaced crossings must be bored;
- (6) All buildings must comply with the building code;
- (7) The pipeline company shall install a continuous locator tape and/or cable directly above the pipeline for the purpose of determining the location of the pipe after it has been buried. The locator tape and/or cable shall be compatible to magnetic and/or electronic sensing devices capable of accurately determining the location of the pipeline within a two (2) foot tolerance.
- (8) The pipeline company shall monitor all pipelines for leaks according to the Office of Pipeline Safety.
- (9) The pipeline company shall provide the City with reproducible drawings showing the "as-built" location of the constructed pipeline. The as-built drawing shall be at a scale not less than 1" = 100' and shall depict pipeline size and material type; centerline stationing of angle points, street crossings, section line intersections and valve locations; horizontal ties to permanent survey monuments of the public Land System at least every one-half mile (or pipeline location based on the North Dakota State Coordinate System); and name, address and phone number of the pipeline company. As-built drawings shall be submitted within 90 days of construction completion and shall also be filed in the office of the Stark County Register of Deeds.
- (10) Signage to depict the location of the pipeline must be installed pursuant to federal Department of Transportation guidelines.

Additional restrictions may be imposed in the permit if the City Commission determines that such restrictions are necessary to protect the citizens of the City of Dickinson. (Ord. 1145 § 5.)

Sections 40.02.060 Distance limitations and spacing requirements

In all areas within the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Dickinson, all pipelines must be located at least 15 feet from water mains, sanitary sewer mains and storm sewer mains (unless otherwise approved in writing by the Engineering Department). The requirement of this section may be waived as part of the Conditional Use Permit at the request of the surface owner if such request is consistent with public safety. (Ord. No. 1145 § 6.)

Sections 40.02.070 Notice of Pipelines--Filing Required

Any person or entity who receives a permit under the provision of this chapter shall, within 45 days after completion of construction of the pipeline, file a notice with the City Engineer and the Stark County Register of Deeds which specifies the following:

- a) name, address and telephone number of the owner having control of the facilities;
- b) description of the location of the facilities by township number, section number, quarter section, together with the lot and block description if the property is platted;
- c) as-built drawings which identify the exact location of the pipeline or other facilities. (Ord. 1145 § 7.)

Sections 40.02.080 Excavation Requirements

All excavations for pipelines or other facilities authorized under the provisions of this Article shall comply with the requirements of Article 33.12 of the Dickinson City Code entitled "Excavations", and the Requirements for Excavation & Installation of Underground Sewer and Water, which requirements shall be in addition to the requirements of this section. (Ord. No. 1145 § 8.)

Sections 40.02.090 Reclamation

If a pipeline or other facility permitted herein is abandoned or ceases to be in use for more than 12 months, it shall be purged and capped at least three (3) feet below ground and inspected by the City of Dickinson. The surface shall be restored to the condition it was in prior to the pipeline excavation. (Ord. No. 1145 § 9.)

Sections 40.02.100 Penalty

Any violation of this Ordinance shall subject the offender, upon conviction, to a fine not exceeding One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00), a jail sentence not to exceed thirty (30) days or both such fine and jail commitment. Each day any violation of any provision of this Oil Code shall continue shall constitute a separate offense. (Ord. No. 1145 § 10, Ord. 1746 § 4)